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1962Mathias and Anna (Strand) Faytle


1963Stephen and Jessie Clara (Falla) Fintoski


1964Dr. Edward and Grace (Parvis) Fitch


1965Clifford J. and Grace (Peterson) Grafsgaard


1966George J. and Mildred (Ney) Greb


1967Henry Robert and Edna (Nordstrum) Greb (Reed)


1968John C. and Fern (Buttrey) Greb


1969Joseph Greb Mary Ellen (Shannon) Greb Nellie (O'Donnell) Greb


1970Duwayne and Gladys (Grafsgaard) Hoyt


1971Elery and Delores (Lockner) Hoyt


1972George and Fannie (Merrick) Hoyt


1973LaVerne C. and Darlene (Harding) Hoyt


1974Leo and Eva C. (Brown) Hoyt


1975Fredrick A. and Ida Emma (Zink) Klemstein


1976Thomas and Mazdelena (Heitman) Knuth


1977Larry and Debbie (Stage) Larson


1978Lester and Sherrile (Midgley) Larson


1979Hans C. and Marie (Sandvold) Leean


1980W.E. and Cassie (Parvis) Liddle


1981Sherman and Cleo (Halvorson) Lillethun


1982Svend and Mabel (Gjesvold) Lillethun


1983Richard F. and Avis (Anderson) Lowe


1984Oscar and Mary (Berg) Mabeck


1985Thomas and Olga (Runge) McCormick


1986James and Sarah (Swann) McKinney


1987Frank and Rose (Schmaker) Merrick


1988Arthur M. Midgley Amelia (Becker) Midgley Agnes (Becker) Midgley


1989Lewis C. and Garda (Watne) Mills


1990Hans and Christina (Larson) Morck


1991Andrew and Carrie (Braaten) Nerby


1992John and Margaret (Falconer) Nicoll


1993John L. and Elizabeth (Howden) Nicoll


1994Raymond G. and Molla (Bjorgo) Nicoll


1995Frank and Frances (Schutt) Paczkowski


1996Charles and Rose (Barnes) Pewe


1997Edmund and Cleone (Stein) Pewe


1998Henry Pewe


1999Herman Pewe


2000Louie C. and Ruby (Anderson) Pewe


2001James and Betty (Fintoski) Pound


2002Herman W. and Minnie (Kronemann) Runge


2003Emil and Marguerite (LaPine) Saint


2004J.B. Saint


2005Marcel F. and Marilyn (Aasand) Saint


2006Oscar and Amy (Reed) Sandvol


2007William and Myrtle (Miles) Short


2008Anton and Alma (Delfs) Smith


2009Stanley and Betty (Becker) Smith


2010Dean S. and Margaret (Kadry) Somerville


2011Harry and Mary Ellen (Greb) Spickler


2012Frank and Hannah (Bjorge) Stafford


2013James A. and Maxine (Conant) Stage


2014James R. and Edna Pearl (Loft) Stage


2015Russet and Solveig (Stangeland) Thompson


2016Thorvel and Malinda (Johannsen) Thompson


2017Oscar and Myrtle (Hoyt) Tufte


2018Frank and Ethel Lucy (Greb) Van Steenvoort


2019Martin and Mary Ann (Dohrer) Zimmerman, Sr.


2020Martin F. and Merle (Linn) Zimmerman, Jr.


2021McKinnon


2022Dwain and Opal (Lipetzky) Ableidinger


2023Kent and Lyle (Safely) Ableidinger


2024Benjamin and Anna Mina) Chmelik


2025Daniel and Sarah (Hoggarth) Clancy


2026Daniel Clancy, Jr.


2027Rudolph and Mary (Stekl) Horesji


2028Martin and Betsy (Evanson) Larson


2029Joe and Merle (Evens) Lipetzky


2030John and Mary (Foy) Lipetzky


2031C.E. and Orpha (Claflin) McKinnon


2032Joseph and Anna (Pitra) Miklas


2033Joseph and Hattie (Kulla) Paczkowski


2034O.K. and Tilda Louise (Arneson) Ronholm


2035William J. and Alma (Ronholm) Spitzer


2036Melville


2037Henry and Violet (Hedin) Biel


2038Everett and Mary (Driessen) Blood


2039G. J. and Emma (Bohn) Bower


2040Ebenezer and Charlotte Burnham


2041Frank H. and Emma (Rorabaugh) Burnham


2042George and Bessie (Dodge) Burnham


2043Joseph and Mary (Blinsky) Caron


2044Joe E. and Lucy (Wagner) Carr


2045Herbert J. and Ida (Rice) Chadwick


2046Edwin I. and Selma (Olson) Davis


2047Erick and Margaret (Hayes) Erickson


2048Elmer and Emma (Wiley) Farquer


2049William and Sarah Jane (Beans) Farquer


2050Percy and Hilda (Kleb) Fleming


2051Fern F. and Marjorie E. (Posey) Galt


2052Lyle G. and Esther (Bettenhausen) Galt


2053William and Cora (English) Galt


2054Warrel P. and Clara (Meyers) Glass (Josephine Arrowood Glass)


2055Olaf and Lilly (Jensen) Hansen


2056Bradley and Kathy (Hove) Hertel


2057Emmett E. and Clara (Zink) Highley


2058J. P. and Jennie (Smith) Kidder


2059Kevin and Renee (Brandt) Klein


2060C.L. and Caroline (Hundley) Kyte


2061William and Sarah (Trauger) Leasure


2062William and Katherine (Oeschle) Lentz Sr.


2063William Lentz Jr.


2064Herman and Julia (Hoffman) Linde


2065Nicholas N. and Caroline (Zink) Loesch


2066Lyle L. and Esther (Chadwick) McAfee


2067John and Helen (Anwiler) Mehring Sr.


2068John Mehring Jr.


2069Albert Miller


2070Amos Miller


2071Fred and Eva (Blood) Miller


2072Myron and Bertha (Ohrner) Miller


2073Hosea and Minnie (Minkle) Page


2074Ness and Jorine (Rohr) Peterson


2075Edward F. Porter


2076Forest Burdell and Carrie (Lasher) Posey


2077Louis and Alice (Davis) Pothier


2078F. F. and Clara Alice (Waiters) Reimers


2079Robert F. and Carol M. (Fortney) Reimers


2080Anthony and Helen (Linde) Schuster


2081J. W. Shearer and Lulu (Cunningham) Shearer


2082Oscar and Clara (Sorbet) Shelly


2083John M. and Luella (Blakely) Trecker


2084William and Georgians Mae (Wiseman) Waiters


2085John C. and Rose (Mac Elroy) Warner


2086Warren W. and Edythe (Zink) Willyard


2087Obed and Petra (Krogstad) Wiseman


2088Philip and Anna (Farquer) Wiseman


2089Peter and Sophia (Zuling) Wobbema Sr.


2090August and Olive (Henry) Zink


2091Franz and Elizabeth (Pepple) Zink


2092Maurice and Donna (Beck) Zink


2093Peter P. and Theresa (Lettner) Zink


2094Peter and Ruth (Murphy) Zink Jr.


2095Russell and Cecilia (Wescom) Zink


2096Nordmore


2097Ronald and Marcella (Hoffort) Ames


2098Elmer and Carol (Cook Klemin) Anderson


2099Perry T. and Catherine (Walker) Anderson


2100Erick and Sara (Hegquist) Berglund


2101Fritz and Alma (Anderson) Berglund


2102Joe R. and Mary T. (Voglewede) Carr


2103Frank and Kathleen (Beaton) Davis


2104Leslie and Lillian (Friezen) Davis


2105Edward and Elvida (Halvorson) Edwardson


2106Eugene and Clara Ann (Reise) Edwardson


2107Johann and Ellen (Halaas) Edwardson


2108John and Bessie (Hegland) Edwardson


2109John E. and Rhoda (Wraalstad) Edwardson


2110Olaf M. and Willett (Carton) Edwardson


2111Rudolph Edwardson


2112Gerhard M. and Darlene (Hins) Ellingson


2113Emil Elton


2114Jerrold and Sue (Bale) Goheen


2115Randy and Karen (McCreary) Goheen


2116Todd D. and Tamera (Sharbono) Goheen


2117Andrew K. Gussiaas


2118Anna Gussiaas


2119Bruce and Merleen (Bickett Mehring) Gussiaas


2120Carl Gussiaas


2121Donald and Janice (Stensgaard) Gussiaas


2122Gilbert and Elvira (Pedersen Liddle) Gussiaas


2123Henry and Phyllis (Nysted) Gussiaas


2124James A. and Elaine (Kuehn) Gussiaas


2125Luverne and Beatrice (Heintz) Gussiaas


2126Norma Gussiaas


2127Olaus and Anne (Olson) Gustad


2128Aslak Halaas


2129John T. and Johanna (Furseth) Halaas


2130Lars Halaas


2131O. T. and Christine (Smith) Halaas


2132Ralph and Minnie (Shawndt) Halaas


2133Torris and Hildur (Roos) Halaas


2134Torris Alaskson and Gertrude (Johnsen) Halaas


2135Eilert and Elisa (Johnson) Hjelseth Sr.


2136Eilert E. and Lois (Graham) Hjelseth Jr.


2137John and Bertha (Roaldson) Indergaard


2138John M. and Anna (Stene) Indergaard


2139Frank H. and Christina Johnson


2140Christ F. Klein


2141Ara Landon


2142Frank and Anna (Brazauskus) Marmo


2143August and Emma (Gussiaas) Miller


2144Gordon E. and Dorothy (Simon) Miller


2145Herman M. and Hattie (Ferguson) Miller


2146Howard and Jean (Anderson) Miller


2147Wallace and Emilee (Kessler) Miller


2148Westly and Grace (Harmon) Pattee


2149Andrew Reiniger


2150Joseph and Elizabeth (Reiss) Reiniger Sr.


2151Oliver and Jeannie (Westerlund) Roaldson


2152Roland Roaldson


2153Willie and Ingartha (Edwardson) Roaldson


2154Ole and Elise (Hjelseth) Rusten


2155Walter and Susan (Landon Cook) Silkey


2156Alva Oran and Mary L. (Miller) Snyder


2157David L. and Sue (Stangeland) Swanson


2158Dennis and Mary Jean (Schroeder) Swanson


2159Irwin and Judy (Gussiaas) Swanson


2160O. L. and Lenore (McGrann) Vennes


2161Carl and Margrita (Tengberg) Westerlund


2162Rolling Prairie


2163Hans C. and Myrtle I. (Anderson) Anderson


2164Hans M. and Mille (Ihlen) Anderson


2165Niels J. and Marie (Helgeson) Andersen


2166Frank and Marilyn (Nelson) Balvitsch


2167George and Deana (Dean) Barrick


2168Robert and Kathleen (Rahlf) Bear


2169Frank and Amelia (Fornshell) Bowden


2170Victor and Marjory (Dean) Brown


2171Knud and Christiane (Pedersen) Christensen


2172Morgan and Sharon (Nelson) Davis


2173Charley and Ora Mae (Grounds) Dean


2174Wayne and Joan (Drew) Dean


2175Myron and Sharon (Bakkegard) Gader


2176Peter M. and Anna (Blomquist) Hanson


2177Charles E. and Inger (Pedersen) Hutchinson


2178Oscar and Marilyn (Topp) Knutson


2179Merle J. and Eunice E. (Forsberg) Munson


2180Tollef and Sophia (Veen) Munson


2181Andrew and Clara (Rud) Nelson


2182John and Christeen (McKinnon) Nelson


2183Gordon and Lillian (Ellingson) Pedersen


2184Henry and Mabel (Anderson) Pedersen


2185William O. and Carrie M. (Eaton) Pierce


2186Arne and Jorina (Lura) Ravndal


2187Ernest and Emma (Norheim) Stangeland


2188Lawrence and Theone Stangeland


2189Arlo and Elaine (Scheck) Stedman


2190Clarence and Anna (Nygaard) Stedman


2191Frank and Mary (Umphlet) Strouse


2192Raynard and Etta (Smith) Thompson


2193Walter and Alice (Palmer) Willows


2194Rosehill


2195Harry and Edna (O'Leary) Black


2196Ralph and Blanche (Solberg) Bort


2197Harry and Louise (Neiman) Bragg


2198L.C. and Mary (Waite) DeBolt


2199Edwin and Dolores (Pederson) Doeling


2200George and Evelyn (Krueger) Doeling


2201Herman and Minna (Zuelke) Doeling


2202Carl and Ethel (Hightower) Elton


2203Mekkel Elton


2204Nels and Emma (Balsiger) Elton


2205Ole Elton, Sr.


2206Ole and Lesa Lena (Erickson Wald) Elton, Jr.


2207Oscar and Emma (Hahna) Elton


2208Peter Elton


2209Henry S. Ewen


2210Garrett and Alice (Berg) Ferguson


2211John Ferguson


2212Kenneth Ferguson


2213Peter Ferguson


2214Peter S. Ferguson


2215Leo and Doris (Anderson) Fornshell


2216Avolt and Leisetta (Triechel) Grager


2217John A. and Annie (Ferguson) Graham


2218Henry C. and Mary (Fiebiger Boschee) Kanwischer


2219Ervin W. and Agnes (Cellmer) Lambrecht


2220Arthur Langseth


2221Helen Langseth


2222Nels and Dollie (Griggs) Langseth


2223G.T. Lund


2224Herbert and Violet (Black) Lund


2225Daniel and Eliza Jane (Railsback) Neiman


2226Malcolm and Lena (Kerlin) Nicholson


2227Herman and Annie (Pitra) Reimers


2228Albert and O'Tillie (Klingsbeil) Rosenau


2229Jack and Carol (Tuntland) Rosenau


2230Dan and Clara (Otto) Schander


2231Clarence and Lorraine (Fredrickson) Schroeder


2232Frank A. and Alice (Doeling) Schroeder


2233Wilfred and Betty (Wells) Schroeder


2234Oscar and Margaret (Richardson) Solberg


2235David and Caryl (Kleinsasser) Stedman


2236Keith and Bernice (Langseth) Stedman


2237Joe Templeton


2238Edwin and Mae (Thompson) Tollefson


2239Lars and Deana (Elton) Tollefson


2240Albert and Carrie (Peters) Triechel


2241Gustav and Anna (Lettner) Zink


2242Harold and Erna (Peterson) Zink


2243Henry and Mary (VanHorn) Zink


2244Oscar and Elaine (Elton) Zink


2245Virgil and Ilia (White) Zink


2246William and Lucite (Clancy) Zink


2247Wyard


2248Francis Lee and Mary Ellen (Butts) Aljets


2249George and DeEtta (Hagel) Aljets


2250James and Mattie (Jarvis) Barclay


2251Ralph and Lulu (Mock) Batesole


2252John William Brandt


2253Milton J. Brandt


2254Henry Bruening


2255Henry Bruening Jr.


2256Joseph Bruening


2257George W. and Elizabeth (Wyard) Burton


2258Earl Butts


2259Rueben C. and Nellie (Pebernat) Butts


2260John H. and Osneath (Packer) Carter


2261F.N. Chaffee


2263Ted and Jeanette (Laughlin) Clark, Sr.


2264Clifford W. and Ovedia (Lane) Conklin


2265George and Addie (Bissell) Hall


2266Ralph and Mary (McConnahay) Hall


2267Leo M. and Marie (Hall) Harmon


2268Ralph and Arlys (Skadberg) Harmon


2269Andrew and Sophia (Wagner) Klein


2270Kenneth and Ruth (lesser) Klein


2271William and Sophia (Vollmers) Kuehn


2272Reinhart and Evanda (Stuckle) Lange


2273Reinhold Lange


2274Henry Laughlin


2275Albert and Emma (Rosenau)Leppke


2276Arnold and Mary (Ediger) Leppke


2277Lowell and Eleanor (Dutt) Leppke


2278Elmer and Anna (Jorgenson) Lofstedt


2279David B, and Ardell (Rindy) Montgomery


2280Keith and Merrianne (McCaffree) Montgomery


2281Kenneth and Dora (McCleary) Montgomery


2282Robert and Carol (Mills) Montgomery


2283Sherman and Merl Jean (Miller) Montgomery


2284Thomas and Virginia (Grover) Montgomery


2285William, and Jessie (Buchanan) Montgomery


2286William and Grace (Farquer) Montgomery, Jr.


2287Harry and Juliette (Rogers) Page


2288John Prentice


2289Ross and Grace (Carter) Reichert


2290Halvor A. and Martha M. (Frye) Rindy


2291William and Anna (Krause) Silkey


2292James A. and Anna (Kringstad) Wenstrom


2293J. Morley Wyard


2294Walter P. Wyard


2295Patrons
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Dedication

Dedicated to the People of foster County
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Topography & Geography
Soils ‑ Rivers ‑ Lakes ‑ Hills ‑ Dams ‑ Water Resources
Long before Foster County was officially organized, the area which is now the state of North Dakota had experienced a long and dynamic history.  More than once in geologic time huge inland seas washed its surface, dinosaurs and other fierce looking reptiles roamed through the area.  Much later the continental glaciers engulfed the area.  These glaciers or ice sheets, as they were called, grew thick and then would flow outward from the center.  In North America the center was near Hudson Bay.  Ice piled up from 8,000 to 10,000 feet thick.  Moving southward, it spread over 5,200,000 acres of land.  At their height, the sheets turned so much water to ice that the level of the oceans dropped 300 feet.  As they retreated, the low areas that were gouged out filled with water.  The glaciers ground some of the rocks into fine dust which the wind blew far and wide.  This fine silt is called loess.  It took thousands of years before these glaciers retreated back into Canada.  As the glaciers were moving from the north, it pushed soil and loose rocks ahead of it like a huge bulldozer.  As the ice melted, it left behind mounds of soil and rocks which are called moraines.  The rich deposit of earth material is called drift.  Foster County is in the area called the "Drift Prairies".  It's official position is: Northern border, 47 degrees 35 min, north latitude; southern boundary, 47 degrees 25 minutes north latitude; the eastern boundary is 98 degrees 30 minutes west longitude; and western boundary is on the 99 degree 30 minutes west longitude.

It follows the rectangular system of survey.  Its elative position is extreme inland.  It is near to being the center of the North American Continent.  It is bordered on the south by Stutsman county; Eddy county on the north; Griggs county to the East, and Wells county on the west.

The County seat is Carrington, which is located in the southwest central part of the county.  It measures 36 miles wide and 18 miles long which makes it the smallest county in the state containing 648 square miles.
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 1
Soils

The majority of the soil in Foster County has been broken down and brought into the area by wind, water, or ice.  It has a darker surface than any other upland soil in the United States.  This is due to the large accumulation of black organic matter or humus in the surface soils.

The native vegetation is tall and short grasses, now largely replaced by cultivation.  The next layer is brown loam which is four to twelve inches thick.  Below this is a lime zone and below that is a layer of highly calcerous glacial drift.  In some areas the loam tends to be silty and sandy.  It is classified in the Barnes‑Parnell soil area.  The Parnell soils are water logged associates of the Barnes and occur in nearly all parts of the area in poorly drained depressions.  Most of these depressions are part of the old glacial lake bottomlands.

A soil survey was made of the Carrington area in 1905.  This survey divided the soil into ten distinct types.  They are as follows:
1. The Marshall loam: has an average depth of about ten inches, a dark‑brown friable loam, underlain usually by a grayish‑brown silt clay, becoming slightly yellow in the lower depths.  This type is found in all parts of the area occupied by moraines and in the level prairie along the courses of the streams.  It also occurs between areas of Marshall silt loam and Marshall stony loam along the James River and in the vicinity of Pipestem Creek and south and west of Carrington.  The porous subsoil gives adequate subdrainage, which is likely to be excessive in season of slight rainfall.

The Marshall loam is of glacial origin.  The principal crops are wheat, flax, barley, rye, oats, hay, potatoes, sunflowers and the hilly areas are largely used for pastures.

2. Marshall Silt Loam: ranges from 10 to 16 inches in depth consisting of a dark‑brown to black silt loam resting upon a yellowish‑brown silty clay subsoil, usually several feet in depth.  The Marshall silt loam is by far the most extensive soil mapped.  One of these bodies occupies the level land between Baldhill creek and the hilly region along the James River, and a second occupies the major portion of the prairie west of Bordulac.  That portion which lies in the eastern part of the survey has somewhat heavier soil than found west of the James River.  Near Bordulac and in the vicinity of Carrington area are found soils consisting of about 14 inches of black silt loam with a small percentage of sand.  The subsoil is silty clay, varying in color from light brown to white.  The lighter soil is not quite as productive as those of the darker color.

The origin of the Marshall Silt loam dates back to glacial times.  This type retains moisture and is one of the most valuable soils in the area.

The Marshall Silt loam has been devoted mainly to the growing of small grains; though well adapted to a variety of crops.  Alfalfa has done well, while other grasses have given excellent results.

3. Clyde Loam: soil is of a varying texture, ranging from a dark‑brown loam to black clay loam with an average depth of ten inches.  The subsoil is usually a gray drab‑colored clay about 30 inches deep below which are frequently found thin layers of coarse sand.

Clyde Loam is of wide distribution throughout the area, occurring as numerous low depressions ranging from a few rods in extent to several hundred acres.  The type marks the location of old lakebeds, lying below the general level of the prairie, always poorly drained.  Around the margin of these old lakes well‑marked beaches frequently occur to as much as 20 feet in height, composed of coarse sand, gravel and large glacial boulders.  For centuries these lakebeds have received the drainage of the surrounding prairie and have no outlets.  Evaporation is the only removal agent; hence, the salts held in solution by the waters of the lake were left behind and have collected in the low places as a white effervescence on the surface.  As a rule alkali is not in sufficient quantities to interfere seriously with the growing of crops.  The type in favorable seasons support a luxuriant growth of native grasses; but if the rains come late in the spring the grasses do not make a vigorous growth, often the soil is too wet for the grasses to be harvested.

4. Marshall Fine Sand: is an incoherent, dark brown or black fine sand slightly loamy, due to presence of organic matter.  The soil, on account of its loose texture, is easily transported by the wind.  Only a small percentage of the Marshall fine sand is under cultivation.

5. Marshall Fine Sandy Loam: to an average depth of 14 inches, is a dark‑brown or black loam or fine sandy loam, color due to amount of organic matter.  This is under laid with a yellowish‑brown find sandy loam, grading to a lighter color which may extend to depth of six feet.  This soil usually occurs in small patches in the vicinity of Pipestem creeks and another occupying parts of three sections south and west of Melville.  The soil is of glacier origin, although the winds may have been a factor in its disposition.  It is especially adapted to growing of Irish potatoes; likewise, corn does well.

6. Wabash Loam: not more than seven inches in depth, is a dark‑brown friable loam, with a considerable mixture of sand and silt, underlain by a subsoil usually of the same texture and color as the soil, but lighter in color below the second foot.  Only very small patches of the Wabash loam are found along the river.

7. Carrington Clay Loam: seldom exceeds ten inches in depth, is dark‑brown to black clay loam underlain to 40 inches with a yellowish‑brown silty or sandy clay.  Below this is a brownish‑yellow clay, with an occasional thin layer of coarse sand.  This type is found in the narrow valley of the Pipestem creek and hay sloughs in the western part of the area.  Its origin is sedimentary, usually beds of former lakes.  The Carrington clay loam is the only soil in the area seriously affected with alkali; though not in sufficient quantity to interfere seriously with the growing of native grasses.

8. Marshall Gravelly Loam: contains a high percentage of rounded quartz and granitic gravel, ranging from one‑half inch to two inches in diameter.  This type is found only in small area on the summits of the higher hills and ranges and owing to its rough topography, this type is used little for cultivation.
9. Marshall Stony Loam: is usually a dark‑brown fine sandy loam or loam, with an average depth of about ten inches.  The subsoil as a rule is a light brown silty loam or silty clay, extending many feet in depth.  Granitic glacial boulders of enormous size are to be found embedded in the soil.  In some instances, almost for a pavement over the surface of the collected in the low places as a white effervescence ground.

While the type is found in a number of irregular patches, only two areas are marked.  The largest occurs along the banks of the James River.  The next most extensive area is along the foothills of the Missouri Plateau, in the southwestern corner of Foster County.  The surface is very rough and broken.  The origin is purely glacial.
10. Meadow: is composed largely of coarse sand, underlain with gravel, shale and cobblestones, with a subsoil of loose texture.  This type is found along the James River and the southwest corner of the county.
The "Soil Analysis of North Dakota" from the "Compedius of History and Biography of North Dakota" describes the Foster County soil in this way:
1. Adaptability to readily imbibe and retain moisture.

2. Silica in it soluble state useable for plants necessary for cereal crops.

3. 4% ferric acid ‑ necessary to make clay lands more tillable

4. 8% clay ‑ important for supply of potash, lime and other substances necessary for wheat."
Soil is a thin layer at the earth's surface that will support the growth of plants of all kinds.  It is one of the most important resources of any country.  It takes thousands of years with conditions that are just right to produce soil.  Farmers have discovered the need of good conservation practices to preserve this natural resource.
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 1
Topographic Features

The topographic features of Foster County may be divided into five main regions.  They are:

1. Gentle rolling to rolling upland: Longview, Wyard, Melville.  The lower areas are drained by small creeks.  The Pipestem drains to the southeast.

2. Gentle rolling upland: the top soil is quite free of stones.  Occupies two‑thirds of Melville Township.  Located just east of region one.

3. Level to nearly level upland: remaining west of James River.  Nearly level to gentle rolling: east half Rose Hill, Nordmore.

4. Valley land with usual steep slopes extending back two miles on each side of almost level valley bottom.  Northern border from middle of Nordmore to Griggs and Nelson counties.  Drained by the James River, coulees and creeks.  Contains the highest water level in Foster County.

5. Level, nearly level, except extreme southwestern part which is described as gently undulating in Rolling Prairie, Glenfield, Eastman, McKinnon, southern half of Florence and McHenry.  Quantities of stone but no problem.

The elevation of Carrington is 1585 feet above sea level.  Compare this with Fargo which is 905 feet and Grand Forks which is 832 feet.
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Minerals

Foster County does not have a large supply of minerals other than clay, sand, and gravel, which may be found in most sections of the county.  The sand and gravel has been found to be suitable for use in concrete, stucco, plaster and roadwork.  Though a somewhat limited quantity exists, there are a number of places where usable clay is found for stabilized road building.  At one time there was talk of a brick factory being established using the clay found in Haven Township.  The test bricks were of very good quality but the venture never materialized.

Throughout the years there were some discoveries that caused some excitement at the time but did not prove to be successful.  Here are some of these stories that were printed in the Foster County Independent:
December 3, 1908:

There was a discovery of a large vein of coal in the Blocher neighborhood just east of Bordulac.  Several loads were mined which were thought to be of a better quality than ordinary lignite.  It turned out to be of short supply.
1931

A vein of lignite coal four to 13 feet in depth was uncovered by the Schaaf brothers 15 miles east of Carrington along the Kelly Creek.  The coal samples that were tried proved to burn almost free of ash.  A consulting engineer for a coal company from Minot came to the area and made tests.  They drilled and dug holes and did some stripping, in order to send two or three loads of coal to a power plant for testing.  Laboratory tests were also made.

More than thirty holes were sunk in an area of five miles.  Their prospecting showed that there was no seam of coal.  Coal and sand were mixed in the test holes.  The only definite evidence of a coal seam was discovered in a water well at the William Black farm near Grace City.  It was a three foot vein at a depth of 85 feet‑ too much of an overload to make the coal of any commercial value.

The formation in which the coal was found in lumps at Kelly Creek is known as the Lance Strata.
May 15, 1913

The story told about F.M. Clark, who was living in Bucephalia township, had discovered some iron ore in a ridge of hills along the James River on the east side of section 21‑145‑64 which was owned by Clark.

He did some prospecting on his own.  Later he called in an experienced iron ore miner.  This too, proved to be unsuccessful.

Lignite and a few gold nuggets were found on the August P. Multz farm, west half, section 17‑145‑64.
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Is There Oil in Foster County?

Speculation for oil in the area has been going on since 1926 when stocks were sold to get $50,000 to drill a test well 3,850 feet at a location 2 1/2 miles west of Glenfield.  People from New Rockford, Cooperstown, Carrington, as well as in the immediate area, raised the necessary funds to set up the rig to do the drilling.

A thorough investigation was made by a geologist who designated the area as pre‑glacial drift.  He reported that he had seldom seen ground that gave better indications of being prospective oil-bearing land.  He estimated the depth necessary to drill to strike the flow at between 3,500 and 4,000 feet.

The test hole was dug and no oil was found.

The next excitement about oil was reported in the Independent, August 23, 1928.  An instrument called a "Doodlebug" which was invented by George W. Perry of Los Angeles and was brought into the state by the Herman Hanson Oil Syndicate at Turtle Lake.  Rev. N.E. Hanson of Carrington, the son of Herman Hanson, took Mr. Perry to Glenfield to test the area with the "Doodelbug".

The "Doodlebug", a nickname for the testing instrument, is a cylinder an inch and a half in diameter and about eight inches long.  It is filled with chemicals and is suspended from a chemically treated silk cord.  It is hung in a large glass bowl to prevent any action on it by wind.  The operator can test for any mineral or metal he desires.

To test for oil: the operator takes a piece of chamois skin saturated with crude oil and places it at the top of a finger.  Around the chamois and finger he wraps a silken cord a dozen times and this supports the finger on a tripod.  He has no control over the "Doodlebug".  If there is oil directly beneath the instrument it stops swinging almost instantly.  If no oil is present it swings in the direction of the closest large body of oil even if it is hundreds of miles away.

The instrument can be varied, thus: if the oiled chamois is replaced by a copper penny, the "Doodlebug" will search for copper, even detecting a few pennies in a man's pocket nearby by its motions.  However, if the pennies are not close, the "Doodlebug" will swing in the direction of the Montana copper mines.  By using a dime, the bug is agitated by silver coins in pockets.  It oscillated slightly for one man; when a number joined hands, it is agitated very much more.

If the metal or oil or water sought is close underneath the bug, its pendulum motion stops quickly.  If the substance sought does not exist near where the bug is being worked, it will start itself to swinging without other help."
As a result of the test of the "Doodlebug" a well was put down and a river, 60 feet wide was discovered.  The feeling was that if they would get away from the river, then oil would be found.  Still no oil!

In the early 1950s seismograph crews appeared on the scene, making more tests and more reports, which stated that this area is Winnipeg sandstone and that is a most likely place for the accumulation of oil.  The rock structure too was favorable for oil bearing.  As a result of these reports drilling outfits again came to the county in 1953, drilling wells throughout the county with the results being either dry holes or else water.  Once again no oil!

In the February 20, 1974 issue of the Foster County Independent story appeared telling about the Cardinal Petroleum Company coming to drill a test well in Wyard Township.  They drilled to a depth of 2,400 feet, made the determination that it was a dry hole, and capped the hole.

In 1981 the Dover Oil Company came to the county and drilled many random holes.  Once again land was leased by various companies in the county.

Is there oil in Foster County?  That question still remains unanswered.
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Rivers, Lakes and Dams
James River

The main river which flows in general from the north to a south direction in the central part of the county is the James River.  It has been described as the "longest unnavigable river in the world".
Historians who have made a study of how names were acquired have come up with this story about the naming of this river.  (Ind. March 29, 1923)

"The Indians first called the river "Red Willow".

Dana Wright reports that it was called "Can‑so‑sa, which means "red bark tree".  A bush called "Kinninick" by the Indians or more scientifically "Cornus Stalonifera".  Some persons called this bush "red willow" of dogwood from the color of the bark in the winter.  This tree or bark is common along the river."
Another story is that a French‑Indian trapper and hunter became lost while he was out on a hunting trip.  He was overjoyed when he discovered this little river and he named it Riviere de Jacques" after himself.  Later with the coming of the English-speaking people, the name of the river took the English translation of "Jacques" to "James".

Other names used at one time or another were Tehan-sna, son of the Sioux, Dakota River, and Jim River.

"The James River flows southward through the middle of the county in a trench like valley that is cut by the great stream of late glacial times, which carried the drainage from the front of the ice after it retreated past this area to the moraines on the east and north and before it was diverted to the Sheyenne River by still further retreat.  It was for a comparatively short time a large river which cut its valley and carried away all the debris from it save the largest boulders, which are characteristic features of its bed and banks today.  The waters were diverted so suddenly that it had no time to lay down an extensive valley train of gravel and sand during its waning, thus leaving few gravel deposits and little alluvium in its valley.  The boulders form numerous riffles, and over them the small stream of summer trickles between the many detached pools and lakes that fill the lower depressions in the valley floor.  Ice in winter has shoved these boulders outward and up to form a low massive boulder wall covered with marsh and grass.  Several deep coulees, the abandoned courses of glacial streams, in which now only small streams and marsh remain, pass across the western part of the county southeastward to the James River Valley."  (Horton Report)

(Missouri River Basin Commission bulletin 1980)

"The James River flows east, then south from near Fessenden, North Dakota 710 miles to join the Missouri River east of Yankton, South Dakota Along the way, it has the flattest gradient of any river its length in North America.  From its headwaters in North Dakota to the South Dakota border (about 200 miles), the channel drops 280 feet.  The river's slope decreases rapidly at the North Dakota‑South Dakota border, so that over the remaining 500 miles of flow in South Dakota it falls only 100 feet.  It takes a full three weeks for water in the main channel to traverse the state."
The first settlement along the river was in 1871 when a group of engineers camped here.  Soon soldiers from Fort Ransom came to establish a fort for the protection of the railroad workers.  This fort was called Fort Seward.

An early attempt to prove the statement wrong that the river was not navigable was made by E.P. Wells in 1879 as reported in the LaMoure Chronicle.  Mr. Wells bought a gasoline boat and sent it down to where the river was deep enough to float a craft.  He sent a crew of men headed by Major E.T. Elliot to move the boat to a point l0 miles below the city of LaMoure.  It was the latter part of October when the party left Jamestown on their mission.  By the time the crew arrived at the location of the boat the weather turned cold and the river froze over during the night.  They unloaded the boat and began the return trip back to Jamestown.  They made the trip in spite of some of the worst blizzard conditions ever experienced.  All of the men had their faces and ears frosted.

They tried again to navigate the river in the spring but the bends and turns of the noble river did not make the venture feasible.

Another attempt was made by a Jamestown merchant, Anton Klaus, in 1880.  He had a sternwheeler 75 feet long and 14 feet wide, which he called the "Nellie Baldwin".  It operated one season on the shallow river making its run south of Jamestown.  After that year it was used as an excursion boat on the Spiritwood Lake.  The following verses written by some of the early settlers and printed in the eighties or nineties give a very good picture of life on the prairie, only that we no longer hear the threshing machine called the steamer.  
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In the Valley of the Jim

Author unknown

They are harvesting in the valley of the Jim.
I can hear the reapers clatter; sounds rather low and dim, 
See the yellow fields a wavin' and the shocks in crooked rows, 
And the house, and barn, an' mother a‑hangin out the clothes.
See the cattle in the pasture, an the poor old limpin' mule.
An the yellow heifer, standin', in the water deepin' cool.
I suppose you think me silly, an' my whim
But I wish that I was back there, "In the valley of the Jim."
Now its fall and they are threshing and a plowing up the ground, 
An the air is sort o hazy and the gulls are sailin' round, 
An the sun looks kind o yellow in the smoky afternoon;
An at even you can listen to the steamers busy time, 
See horses coming home from work and smell their sweaty coats, 
Now it growin' sort o dusky and the'r doing up the chores.
In the kitchen fires all burnin' and its chilly out o' doors, 
Oh, I wish that I was back there, "In the valley of the Jim."
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Pipestem Creek and Little Pipestem Creek

Two of the main tributaries of the James River are the Pipestem Creek and the Little Pipestem Creek.  These streams may be found in the southwestern corner of the county.  They were never very large streams but usually flowed all the time except in the very dry years.  Fishing was good along the banks.  The fish came upstream from the James River.  Tradition tells the story of how these streams were named.
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Peace Pipe

A symbol of peace between the Indians and their adversaries was the ceremony of passing or smoking the peace pipe.  This is one the legends of this action.

It is said that at a time of tribulation among the Sioux Indians, they were hungry.  The head chief instructed two of his best hunters to look for game.  As the two hunters stood on a hill suddenly a misty silvery cloud appeared before them and out of the misty cloud appeared a beautiful lady.  One of the hunters made a move toward the lady and immediately the beautiful lady caused the misty cloud to envelope the hunter.  When the cloud drifted away, only the skeleton of the hunter remained.

She then ordered the other hunter to return to camp and notify the chief that she would soon arrive, which she did just as the sun cast its first rays on the Indian camp.  She told the people, "I bring you the first peace pipe.  When you put tobacco in the pipe and light it, point to the four cardinal points of Mother Earth, and last toward the blue sky where the Great Spirit dwells.  Then say, 'Have pity on me.'  In time of hunger, war, and peace ask the Great Spirit, the giver of all things, for your temporal wants."
Then suddenly as she came, she disappeared again, leaving in her place a white buffalo calf‑ a symbol of good will, abundance and peace to the creatures of Mother Earth.  This is the legend of the beginning of the peace pipe.

In 1887 a group of 3,000 Indians gathered near these streams and passed the peace pipe among the various tribes that were there.  It was on this occasion that these streams were named Pipestem Creek and Little Pipestem Creek.

An early pioneer, Isak Olson, recalled some of his early experiences living in the area that was drained by these two creeks.  Here is one of his stories that was told in the Foster County Independent, July 17, 1958.

"In the springs of those early days the snow melted off quickly, leaving ordinarily docile or dry streams raging torrents; and it seemed that time of the year the settlers were running out of provisions and had to go to town for supplies.  The wise settler tied his wagon box securely to the wagon gear so it would not float away when the steam crossing was made.

"It was necessary to cross the Pipestem on the trip to and from Carrington.  Sometimes some narrow escapes were experienced.  With the Pipestem at its height the horses had to swim and the wagon box was large enough to float both box and gear, sometimes the current would retard the progress of the crossing, but eventually, they made it.

"One spring when the Pipestem became a raging torrent, the settlers saw a twelve foot wave coming down as the break‑up came.  It rolled over the snowbanks with an awful fury.

"In the spring of 1902 Isak Olson had reason to be more than usual concerned about the river, for it was a matter of days when Olsons' first child was to be born.  He and his neighbors, John Prentice and John

Carter would go down to the river about every day to note the progress of the stream.  On March 7 that year there came a snowstorm which lasted for three days and nights, blocking everything.  Those were anxious days as Olson and his neighbors watched the flow of the stream as that snow melted more rapidly than ever.  One day Prentice and Olson were at the stream when John Carter came along with his team and wagon.  The wagon box floated away, but Carter held the reins tightly and eventually his horses pulled him out of the water.  Getting across he went into town for groceries.  On his return the water had receded four feet and the horses did not have to swim.

"But the water was still pretty high on the day Olson had to go to town for Dr. Goss.  On the way out they forded the Pipestem but Dr. Goss had to lift his feet high to keep from getting wet.  It was night when Dr. Goss was ready to go back to town, the baby having been brought safely into the world.  When they got to the Pipestem, Olson was stumped for he could not see the spot where by daylight he could travel without dropping into a deep hole.  It was a rainy night, and lightning flashed occasionally.  That was the cue for Olson.  He waited until one flash was brilliant enough to light up the ford.  Then Olson got his bearings and crossed the stream without incident.'
During the late summer months this same stream would be nearly dry.
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Bald Hill Creek

East of the river is a gently rolling plain consisting of about 170 square miles in area.  It is in this plain that Baldhill creek's western branches have their source.  At present the stream is unimportant but during the recessional days of the ice sheet a mighty river rushed down its course cutting the broad valley with the waters from the melting ice.

Bald Hill Creek has its western headwaters in the east ten miles of Foster County and flows into the Sheyenne River in the northern part of Barnes County.  Hence, its waters eventually reach the Hudson Bay.  The Creek passes north and south through the county about three miles west of Lake Juanita and the James River.
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Lake Templeton

Lake Templeton, named in honor of Joe Templeton, an early day squatter, is located eight and one‑half miles east of Carrington on State highway no. 200.  It is a swell in Kelly Creek, fed by local springs and a ten-mile water‑shed to the north.  During high water periods it covers an area of about 2040 rods and was never known to be dry until the fall of 1935.

It has a direct connection with the Jim River.  In a draw to the southeast there is an outlet to the lake that merges into Kelly Creek and a little later joins up with the Jim.  There is a full waterway from the lake to the river in high water time.  This fact made it possible for fish to be in the lake.  In 1927 when the ice on the lake broke up in the spring thousands of dead fish were washed ashore, running from minnows to pickerel that were over two feet long.  In the fall of 1926 the water in the lake was exceptionally low, being not over two feet in the deepest part.  As a consequence the fish were killed when the water froze to the bottom of the lake.  Few people even realized that any fish were living in the lake.

Various signs found by the early settlers led them to believe that the lake was used by the Indians as a central camping point when on their annual buffalo hunting trips in search of meat and robes.  Buffalo bones were found in abundance as well as broken pieces of dishes and other equipment.  It was thought that perhaps Sibley and some of his party might have stopped here in 1863 on his trip across Foster County.

The lake served many purposes, besides being a natural water hole for the settlers' cattle.  In the summer time it was a gathering place for the bachelor homesteaders and squatters on Sundays.  This lake provided them the means to do their weekly washing of clothes and afforded them an opportunity to take a bath.

It was used by the Dunkard church for their Baptismal services.  The local people tell about the lines of buggies and wagons on both sides of the road with people waiting their turn to be baptized or just sitting there watching the proceedings.

During the wintertime the lake provided the ice that was stored for future use in the ice‑boxes in the summer season.  The water was raked clear of fungus and other debris in the fall to assure clean ice.  Storage was made at a large icehouse located near the lake.  Between 1000 and 1600 tons of ice would be harvested.  In 1932 Fred Schroeder, who was owner of the Carrington Ice and Coal Company had a crew employed to cut the ice.
Here is a story from the Independent, January 8, 1925 which tells about harvesting ice.

"Harvesting of Ice for City is Done for Year:

"None fell into water this season for first time in a dozen winters;
Weather always improves after the ice harvesting for the year is completed;

"The statement is the sworn belief of Chris Hansen, ice harvester for the Carrington community for the past decade.  Every time he starts to harvest, Chris maintains, the weather turns cold, and as soon as the ice is ploughed, hauled to the icehouse and packed, the weather turns warm and pleasant.

"During the worst weather of the 1924‑25 season, just before the Christmas holidays, Chris Hansen, who with Harry Rusk handles all of the Carrington ice business, set out with a crew of 20 men to store away the ice supply of the city for the summer months.

"In less than two weeks, in spite of the cold weather just at the hardest part of the season, the crew had stored away more than 1,000 tons of ice.

"Although most ice houses use sawdust with which to pack their ice, Hansen uses flax straw because it is cheaper, holds the ice in better condition and may be obtained nearby.  During the summer months the sale of ice in Carrington averages well over two and one‑half tons a day.

"Well, anyhow," said Chris, "in spite of the cold nobody fell in this year."
"Two men fell in' last year and this is the first season in years that someone has not gone into the water.

"All of the ice is taken out of Lake Templeton, which is spring fed and is supposed to be just as good as Carrington's water.

In 1931‑32 the ice was between 18 and 22 inches thick.  It retailed at Carrington at 501‑651 per 100 pounds.

Carrington was forced to use ice from the James River in 1935 because the lake which was usually six or seven feet deep dried up into six inches.

The lake is still there today‑ although many people probably think it is just a cattle pond or a slough hole, little realizing the important role this little body of water played in the lives of the people down through the ages.
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Lake George

Lake George, located on section 4‑9‑10 in Bordulac Township, was one of the big lakes of this region back in the early years.  The lake was two or three miles around and eight or nine feet deep.  A long arm of the lake reached past Miller's Spur and spilled into an area known as "Dry Lake".  This area had no inlet or outlet having water just at the time that Lake George provided it or from rain or local drainage.

There are a couple of stories of how Lake George received its name.  One theory is that it was named after George Palmer, who was the manager of the Carrington‑Casey Ranch, later known as the Hanna Ranch.

Another story was that it was named for Georgia Wiseman, dubbed "the prettiest girl in the township".  She married William Waiters and was the mother of Mrs. Fred Reimers.  The location of the lake inspired the naming of the town of Bordulac, which is supposed to mean "border of the Lake".
At the time this country was settled this lake with several others in the surrounding country was overflowing and at high mark.  Some of the shoreline was within 80 rods of the depot.

The lake was a favorite hunting headquarters for eastern hunting parties who came here by train from Milwaukee.  They built several cottages along the shoreline and formed an organization known as the Milwaukee Hunting Club.

About the year 1900 the lake dried up and continued to be that way until about 1912.  While the lake was dry, Mr. Thornton planted some crop on it.  A flash flood came along and destroyed all the crop.  The heavy rain accumulated some six feet of water on the dry bed.

(Foster County Independent, May 1, 1912)

"Lake George which has been dry for years and which has been farmed to some extent for the last two years is again a large body of water.  About four feet of water is in the lake which will make boat riding good for most of the summer.  Many rejoice over this fact as the lake is so close by and a number are talking about getting boats.  One boat is being built by Matt Ihringer which will be propelled by a high-speed engine and no doubt will be well equipped with plenty of lifeboats and life preservers.  The initial trip will be made the latter part of the week and will be under the supervision of R.J. Boyle."
From 1912 to 1926 a fairly good level of water was maintained.  Then the dry years hit again.  In 1934 the paper reports that the lake had completely disappeared from natural causes and that the old lake bottom was being used for farming.

About 1950‑51 heavy snow fall and heavy rains filled the lake with water once more.  It was deep enough to support fish life again.

In recent years the water level has dropped, although there is some water maintained most of the time due to the man‑made drainage projects that have diverted the water into the lake.  The surrounding area is now being farmed or used for hay.
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Kelly Creek

Kelly Creek has its source in the southwest part of Eddy County south of the James River and flows in a southeastern direction through Estabrook, Rose Hill, Haven, and Bucephalia townships.  It joins the James River about four miles north of Jim Lake.
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Lake Clare

Lake Clare, located on the Rocky Run Creek, is fed by springs.  It was dammed on the Northwest 1/4 of Northwest section, 25‑148‑67 thus closing a large kettle hole in the open prairie.  The lake has an area of about 50 acres and is 15 by 20 feet in depth in places.  Excellent facility for bathing and fishing and duck hunting‑

A number of years ago the farmers put in an earth fill and stocked it with fish.  During the spring of 1934, through a FERA project, the shorelines were straightened and dredged.  May 5, 1934, the State Game and Fish commission planted 1900 pike, perch and bullheads that were gathered from the Cedar River and put them in the lake.  Nice catches were reported in the 1935 season.
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Bowman's Ford

Bowman's Ford, one and one‑half miles north of State Highway No. 200 on section 11‑146‑64, is a point where the mail route from Carrington to Larrabee crossed the James River.  Much freighting was done over this route.  Bowman farmed and ran a roadhouse station providing meals, feed for the horses, and lodging for the passersby.
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Lake Juanita

Lake Juanita is described as a fresh water body, located in Florence Township, in the northeastern portion of Foster County.  It covers land on sections 15‑17‑19.  It contains about 531 acres of water at low water mark.  At times it has covered as much as one and a half sections of land.

If the water of the lake could speak, oh, what a story it could tell of the various people who came to visit its shores.  But since that is not possible, the next best thing is to attempt to reconstruct some of the happenings through out the last one hundred plus years.  The sources of the information being the memories of people who lived in the area, newspaper stories, as well as reports that have been gathered by State Historian, Dana Wright.
Early Visitors

From the very early years there is evidence that it was a favorite camping place for the wandering tribes of Indians.  Stones arranged in circles may still be seen in the Leo Gauderman pasture on the east side of the lake where the tents were set up.

One of the earliest recorded expeditions was the group of men led by Governor Isac Stevens, who was commissioned to make a preliminary survey of the land for the possible placement of a railroad in 1853.  In his travels across Foster County he stopped by a little stream that flowed into the northeast corner of the Lake.  In his report he described the lake "almost entirely surrounded by sloughs".
While they were camped there they were waiting for a Civil Engineer, A. W. Tikham, who was sent to the south when the party left Lake Jessie in search of Bald Hill Creek's headwaters.

(From the Report)

His failure to rejoin the party at Lake Belland, caused alarm and "three howitzer shots at sunrise were fired to let him know our direction."  As he did not return the second day, "James Doty with a company of men was left to keep up fires and to fire three rounds with the howitzer at noon and sunset."  Engineer Tinkham had about 20 men with him.  (A story told by Adline Potter to E.L. Horton):

"A cannon ball was found on the west side of the lake in a gravel pit by W.H. Potter's men, about six feet under ground during the summer of 1915.  It is thought it must have rolled into a badger hole.  Mr. Potter, Grace City, North Dakota still has the ball.  Bradley buried the cannon ball so that it could be found.

The next expedition to visit the lake was led by Captain James L. Fish, who was leading a party of men to the gold fields in Montana.  They followed approximately the same course as Governor Stevens.  In his report he states: "at 21 1/4 miles (from Lake Jessie) we passed a very beautiful lake, almost perfectly round and a mile and a half in diameter, with clear water and low white sandy beach, which he named Lake Townsend in honor of the assistant adjutant general of the United States.

"We tarried on the shore of this lake and grazed our stock and then made ten miles more before making camp on the 18th of July, 1862."
According to Mr. Wright this was the first attempt on naming the lake.
Fort Seward and Fort Totten Trail

In 1867 the Fort was established at Devils Lake called Fort Totten.  For several years it was supplied from Fort Stevenson on the Missouri River, a distance of 128 miles overland.  Mail and light supplies came cross country from Fort Abercrombie on the Red River, but either route was dangerous, tedious and at times, very dangerous.

In 1872 the Northern Pacific railroad reached the Crossing of the James River, where Jamestown is now situated.  A military post was established, called Fort Seward.  They set up plans to supply Fort Totten from this point, thus saving some 40 miles.

The trail nearly paralleled the James River north as far as Lake Belland (the new name for this lake).  It was named after Joe Belland, who was a hunter and trader.  He lived on the west side of the lake.  "Tradition credits him with keeping a road house and that he came in 1866."  He is believed to have remained until 1876 when Mr. Larrabee arrived on the scene.)

Mrs. W.H. Potter believed that Belland was one of Steven's guides, as a man by that name was with the Steven's company (from E.L. Horton report).

Dana Wright writes:

"The original rest camp was on the west side of the lake in the southeast corner of section 18‑147‑63 in Foster county, two miles west of Grace City.  The old dugout site may still be seen, near the mouth of Belland Creek and facing east onto the lake.  Belland's record was obscure.  He seems to have been a mixed blood person from Devils Lake.  Whether he was located there as a hunter‑trapper before the trail, or settled on the lake to accommodate travelers is unknown.  Nor do we know when he left.

"It was long enough so that the name, Belland, was well established and remained on the lake till 'modern' times when some one thought Juanita would be a more pleasant sounding title.  Following Belland a man called "Slothful Joe" Hayes occupied the dugout till about 1876 when W.H. Larrabee bought out Hayes and started a station about a mile and a half south on the east side of the James River.  He set up the halfway station between Fort Seward and Fort Totten for several years and many prominent people took shelter under its roof.  The building was burned about 1886 and never rebuilt."
There was also a story that one time there was a tavern on the site where the old pavilion was later built.  It was used by travelers on the "Trail" to rest overnight.

In 1882 E. Delafield Smith and his brother, Herbert, settled on the east side of the lake.  They remained several years.  As a consequence the Lake became known locally and on some maps as "Smith Lake".

(Mr. Horton writes in his report:)

About the year 1900 the name of the lake was changed (not officially) to Lake Juanita by A.L. Lowdon, McHenry editor, who had a cottage and land at the north end of the lake.  Juanita is a Spanish word which means 'Little Juan'."
Some of the older people think that Mr. Lowdon thought he was using an Indian term.

Regardless of how the name was attached to this body of water, that is the name that has remained to the present time.
Development at the Lake

Some ambitious people living in the town of Grace City in 1914, with the help of advertising and promotion of the Grace City Journal, the newspaper in publication at Grace City, made plans for the building up of the area around the lake into a resort.

A boathouse 24 x 35 was erected that had room for automobiles as well as boats.  Two 28‑foot gasoline launches were available to take out fishing parties.  The fishing was described as "the best ever".

Grace City Journal, July 2, 1914:

"The lake has a shore line of about seven miles, with a fine sandy beach where bathing parties enjoy the pastime daily.  The boat 'Empress of Ireland', owned by Dr. Owenson and Mr. Potter, 'The Mary B.' by E.R. Bradley and the outlay for docks, now that they realize fully that Lake Juanita is to be in the near future a play ground for the entire surrounding country and towns.  Senator George dug a well, donating the work, E.R. Bradley, the tile curbing, and Charles Banks, pump pipe and sand point.  Dr. Owenson and others have donated closets, etc. which are installed and campers will find at least ordinary things to make life livable."
(An article in the Foster County Independent dated July 9, 1914:)
John Diehl, J. Percy Legg, Percy Beckley, and Matt Wentland drove the twenty miles to the lake from Bordulac.  They spent the day fishing, catching some perch and pike that had been put into the lake.  While they were there they bought a life membership into the club being organized to develop the area.  This membership entitled one person to all the privileges at the lake, such as launches, boats, etc.

In 1916 C.A. Sherer built a cafe which was open during the summer.  He added improvements to the building as time went on so that eventually it could be called a summer hotel.  The rooms upstairs were used to accommodate people who wanted to stay overnight and did not have a cottage or tent.  Paul Black, a former resident of Grace City tells that the people would leave their children at the hotel while their parents would go to the dances.  The children had a comfortable place to sleep until the parents were ready to return home after the dance.

On September 6, 1917 a fire broke out on a Monday afternoon from an unknown origin.  Mrs. Sherer and the baby were alone in the building at the time.  She heard a noise down stairs.  When she investigated the sound, she noticed the fire in the front part of the hotel.  She was able to save the baby and a few belongings, the rest being a total loss.

The hotel was never rebuilt.

A large pavilion was built where dances were held weekly.  The March 30, 1916 Grace City Gazette describes what it is like to go dancing at the lake on Thursday evenings with music provided by orchestras from all over the state:

"The dances given at the pavilion seem so much better than dancing in a small hall.  Last year people from towns over a hundred miles away came to the dances, and this year it will be much bigger crowds as the dances will be better advertized far and near."
"Not less than twenty cars from New Rockford will carry people here and all the neighboring towns will be represented."
This pavilion was also the victim of a fire which destroyed it.  Another building took its place.  When the dances were discontinued this structure was sold.  Later on a large quonset was set up which still stands.

The Lake Park Amusement Club, which was the name chosen for the club, was very active.  Any money that was made was put back in the form of improvements, either buildings or planting trees.  They set up springboards for the divers and provided boats for fishing.  They set gigantic plans for the Fourth of July celebrations.  The festivities would begin early in the morning and last until late at night.  These celebrations brought people by the thousands to the lake.  Some of the activities were ball games, boat races, dances, concession stands, foot races, fat and lean man races, potato races and etc.

A big cannon that was obtained from the government through the efforts of E.R. Bradley was cleaned up for the Fourth of July celebration.  A few days before the Fourth it was hauled out to the lake and placed in a special area.  Early in the morning it was to be fired to announce to the people "that the hour is at hand and to prepare to come to the lake."
(Gazette 1916)

Plans were also made to fire it at other times during the day to help add to the noise of the day.  Paul Black said that he remembered the cannon being fired.  They put the balls in and packed it with wads of paper, and lit the fuse.  "The noise was so loud that my ears rang for a long time afterward."  The plans for firing it again were foiled by the authorities who worried about the possible danger that may occur because of the age of the cannon.

The cannon was displayed at Grace City for many years with a stack of balls in the shape of a pyramid piled next to it.  It was great fun for the kids to play around the cannon.  In the process the balls would be scattered.  Bessie Flatters Sandvol was hired by Mr. Bradley for 51 to keep the balls stacked in neat piles.

In later years the cannon was moved to Bradley, South Dakota, the town named after E.R. Bradley, where it is on display.

The Grace City Gazette spent much time and space advertising the advantages of coming to Lake Juanita.  This excerpt is taken from the May 25, 1916 issue.
"Beautiful Lake Juanita is without a doubt, the finest body of pure water to found along any line of railway, where the tourist and camper may find rest and quiet.  The beautiful lakeshore provides ample beauty spots for camping, while the splendid railway facilities of the Great Northern bring this beauty spot within a few hours ride of the cities of the east as well as Minot, Williston, and other cities to the west.  Our lake affords every opportunity to tourists and pleasure seekers to enjoy an outing in this paradise of nature.  Here the hunter, fisherman, or camper can find a full supply of everything that is required from a canoe to a fishing pole.

"Many boats ply the water of Lake Juanita where, during the summer months, one can go around the beautiful shores and enjoy the scenery which is spread out like an immense panorama.

"It has been truthfully said by hundred of visitors that 'there is no place like it in North Dakota'.

"Owing to the lake's irregular shape countless bays and inlets into which small streams flow make it splendid game resort where the feathered tribe are in countless numbers.

"Those who enjoy fishing will find the water of Lake Juanita and the streams full of several kind of fish which would have delighted the heart of Isaac Walton, could he have visited this section of the country.  Here the gamey black bass, pickerel, pike and others are to be found in abundance.

"A half hour's ride will transport one from Grace City to the very heart of nature as it has existed for many years.  Here almost any spot can be found on which to pitch a tent and where one can find rest.

"There is no hay fever here.  Nothing but the pure air and water‑ water that you can fairly revel in, it is so soft and yet so deliciously refreshing.  It is therefore not improbable that another year will see a large clubhouse built on the lake for tourists and sportsmen.  No finer place in North Dakota can be found for a sanitarium than at Lake Juanita, and we believe that the near future will see a large institution of this kind established.

"The attractiveness of this region is not alone in its superb surroundings, novel and unhackneyed as many of them are, for in Lake Juanita, can be found more fairyland loveliness, more isolation from the jostle of life, and more roaming over nature in her primitive beauty, untouched by hand of man, with less trouble and inconvenience than can be experienced elsewhere.  The climate is perfect‑ clear, pleasant days and cool nights, with pure invigorating air which brings rest to the weary, recuperation to the invalid and adds zest to the life of those who are in quest of recreation and amusement.  As before stated in season there are unlimited opportunities for capital sport with the gun both for large and small-feathered game, its waters teem with fish, and at no other resort can be found better facilities for bathing and boating in absolute safety.

"There is something peculiarly balmy, soothing and yet invigorating in the summer breeze which sweeps over this region, cooling the fevered brain and smothering the wrinkled brow of care.  To escape from the sweltering summer heat of the prairies and breathe the pure air of Lake Juanita, is like passing into the new and better state of existence and there is, indeed, no tourist spot where the traveler seeking a vacation can enjoy a better or more pleasing holiday rest."
How could anyone resist going to such a fine place as this for rest and relaxation?

As the years went by it did become a very popular spot for all kinds of things besides the Fourth of July celebrations.  It was the scene of the Farmers Institutes, Foster County Play Days, the North Dakota Livestock Breeders Association, Church services, and Political meetings and rallies.

Dances were scheduled regularly for many years.  Cottages began to be built with people coming as far away as Minot.  The lake was stocked several times with fish such as lake trout, walleye pike and rainbow trout.

The Grace City Gazette in April 1917 told the story of Mr. Urhammer of Ary, North Dakota, who had a cottage at the lake.  It is the story about an unusual catch that he found at the end of his line:

"One of the strangest freaks that has been in our city was a fish, or what you might call it, which was caught at the lake.  The fish looked a great deal like a bullhead and had legs and feet like a lizard.  Instead of having gills or a nose it had arms like an octopus.  The thing did not live very long and died Sunday.  The joke about it was E.E. Petrick, who landed him, thought it was a bullhead, and was holding him in his hand, when to his surprise the fish started walking up his hand and arm.  Some who have seen this species before call it a 'water‑dog'.

In June 1969 Duane Hoffman had another unusual experience while fishing at the lake: (Foster County Independent, June 2, 1969)

"While fishing in Lake Juanita a week ago last Sunday Duane dropped his line into the water, a triple hook attached, each hook baited with a minnow.  Feeling a tug on the line, Duane pulled it up.  Caught in the hooks was the mouth of a female mink.

"The animal put up no battle whatever, Hoffman said.  He said the animal seemed docile, probably suffering from a lack of sufficient oxygen.

"Fishing was good that day, Hoffman said.  In his party the catch amounted to 15 northerns and one perch besides the mink."
Throughout the years the lake has been stocked with perch, blue‑gills, northern pike, and black bass, thus providing hours of entertainment for many people in the summer as well as ice fishing in the winter.

Mr. Strand, editor of the Foster County Independent wrote this story on February 3, 1972:

Headline: McHenry Men Find Good Fishin' in Lake Juanita

"Lake Juanita is a bleak sight on a January afternoon.  The wind sweeps through the treeless bowl that cradles the lake unimpeded.  Standing on the frozen surface, the edges of the horizon dwindle in the expanse of ice and snow covered hills.

"Ice‑fishing houses are scattered over the lake.  The largest concentration is at the north end, where about 20 little cubicles form a kind of rag‑tag shantytown.

"With temperatures hovering in the five‑to‑below range, only the hardiest anglers were on the ice Friday.  Smoke rising from the stacks and parked pickups evidenced their presence.  A meandering trail that crosses a pasture gives access to the ice.

"Two McHenry farmers, Duane Hoffman and Russell Topp, had settled in beside their oil burners for an afternoon of fishing.  They are fisherman with differing techniques.

"Tope is a bobber‑watcher.  Sitting with his back to the stove, he keeps an eye on the two holes he is fishing.  If a bobber disappears a short pounce brings Topp to the scene of the action.

"Hoffman, on the other hand reclines into his lawn chair with the Fargo Forum and a Successful Farming magazine.  His ice‑house is as large as the law will allow, and he was fishing seven holes.  He listens for the rasp of fishing line across the floor.  He heard it twice Friday and pulled out a small Northern and a four‑pounder.

"With visions of giant fish with hooks in their mouths dancing in his head, the Independent photographer shuttled back and forth between Hoffman's and Topp's houses always just in time to miss everything.  Topp hooked two fat perch while Hoffman and his company discussed t he price of wheat.

"Settled in at Russell Topp's house, the camera shy fish below the ice teased but refused to take the bait.  The bobber danced and jigged and spurted across the diameter of the hole, but did not go under.

"Topp was not dismayed.  'One thing a fisherman needs is patience, ' he counseled.  But he was talking to a novice photographer whose passion is the clicking of the shutter.

"Suddenly the other bobber‑ the one that had been listing against the side of the hole with a thin crust of ice forming around it‑ was no longer there.  Topp pounced.

"The photographer reeled back against the far wall, thinking about aperture, shutter speed, f stop, focus, light, depth of field and wondering if he had cocked the shutter.  Some of these terms mean the same thing, but the cameraman was a little flustered.  No click of the shutter but then no fish as Topp hauled in nothing more than two well‑nibbled minnows.

"Back at Duane Hoffman's holes, there had been no additions to the two Northerns.  It was learned that Hoffman is also a trapper.  He had caught 119 foxes before the season closed, including one yearling that had migrated from Lehr North Dakota.  At $12.50 a pelt, 119 foxes represent a sizeable side in come.  He had also found a coyote in his traps, which he is having stuffed.

"Re‑crossing the ice, Topp was outside his fish-house picking something off a snow bank that looked from a distance like a huge liver sausage.  It was a Northern Pike already frozen and covered with snow ‑ a four and a half pounder.

"Caught him less than a minute after you went out the door", chortled Topp.

"Another vigil with the camera focused on the hole yielded nothing.  Both Topp and Hoffman had cattle at home that needed tending and they both had at least one meal in the creel.

"Both noted they would probably be back to Lake Juanita the next Sat. and most likely a few days after that."
Excitement about the lake calmed down and interest in the lots waned.  More than likely the reason was the dry years and the depression.  On May 7, 1945 Harold Potter decided to buy the lots for back taxes, which amounted to $81.73.  He planted some trees and made some other improvements in the area.  Gradually the interest in the lake was rekindled and people once again were willing to buy the lots.  Cabins began to appear, all sizes and shapes.  Some were built from scratch, some of the cabins came from the Rainbow Gardens tourist camp, some were old granaries that were renovated and made to serve the purpose of a cabin.  The road that once lined the shoreline was removed and replaced with a new one further up the hill.  The Soil Conservation service assisted by planting a shelterbelt on top of the hill.

The Foster County Park Board began discussion in 1963 as to the possibility of making a County park at Lake Juanita.  They decided to follow through with the idea.

In October 1974 the County Board purchased approximately eight to ten acres of land from Bill Meyers for public use.  This included over 400 feet of water front area.  They also purchased the house that was there and the large quonset.

Plans were set forth in March 1976 for the construction of a bathhouse and the board agreed to order new picnic tables.  Funds for the shelter, dock, cooking grills and playground equipment were obtained from a grant from the Bureau of Outdoor Recreation.  The bathhouse was a combination dressing room and toilet facility.  B&N Construction Company was contracted to construct the building.

Juanita Lake is still a popular place in the 1980s.  People may be found there at various times to spend a few days, afternoon, evening or whatever.  The cabins are used at various times through out the year.  Boats of all sizes and shapes can be seen on the lake, many times pulling someone behind it on water skis, or else just cruising around for pleasure.  It is an ideal spot‑ not so far away from home where peace, tranquility, and the joys of nature may still be found.  It is description as "Beautiful Lake Juanita, a hang‑out place for the tired and weary", is an apt description of this lake after all these years.
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Carrington Creek

(Independent 1934)

A creek that carried off snow water and heavy rains had a regular ‑purse through Carrington in those early days.  It started near the Old George Hall farm buildings and cut a winding course through the west side of town, turning in back of the Chaffee machine shed and flowing into a fair sized pool near the Jim Derrick house at the northwest edge of town, and another deep pool north of the coal dock.  Then it wound off in an easterly direction toward the Stambaugh farm and finally fed into the Kelly Creek in the Bordulac region.  This creek flowed for a few weeks in the early spring and then dried up for the year, except during the heavy rains.  Most of the water shed is picked up now by the city storm sewers.  (There is still some flow during the early spring.)
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 16
Dr. McLain's Lake

This small lake was located about two miles north of Melville.  It was a shallow lake about two miles around.  It is on Section 23.  The lake dried up in the early 1900s.  In seasons of high moisture water will accumulate here.
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 16
Blue Cloud Lake

Located a mile east of Grace City in Larrabee Township, section 13‑23‑24, this lake or large slough was first named by the Larrabee family when they lived in the area.  The story is that the family lived along the James River where they kept a herd of cattle.  On one occasion a blue roan cow strayed away and was missing for some time.  She was finally located on the "Blue" lake with a newborn calf.  The Larrabee's after that called the body of water the "Blue Cow Lake".

Someone in recent times saw fit to change the name to a more ritzy name of Blue Cloud.  (Dana Wright)
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Stony Lake

On the northeast edge of Lake Juanita is an old watercourse that connects with Stony Lake on sections 15‑147‑63.  Here is found an unnoticed continental Divide where the water of the Arctic drainage pass into the Upper Bald Hill Creek and the waters of Juanita and west of there go south into the James and the Gulf of Mexico.

Stony Lake is found in Florence Township on section 15 and 22.  It is the source of Bald Hill Creek.
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 16
Jack Lake

Jack Lake is a body of water found in Bucephalia Township on section 4 and in Haven Township on section 33.  When the water recedes in dry times the lake bottom turns white from the alkali found there.  It was also known as Alkali Lake.
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 16
Other Named Bodies of Water

Russell Lake, or in early times Rush Lake, Located in Longview township section 13 and 14.

Roanne Ravine ‑ Northwest Nordmore which provides drainage for that area.

Dry Lake‑ Bucephalia on section 18 and 19, Bordulac section 13‑14.

Scotts Slough‑ Travels through Birtsell, Wyard, Carrington and Estabrook.

Lake Melby‑ Larrabee Township.  Now dry.

Rusten Slough‑ Larrabee Township, sections 1819.

Lake Bonita‑ Melville Township, section 33.  Formed by the man‑made dam.

Lake Wyard‑ Wyard Township, section 19, formed by man‑made dam.
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 16
Foster County Dams

The records show that at one time Foster County had as many as eleven dams that were built on the James River, Kelly Creek, Pipestem and other small streams located in the county:

The question comes up, "Why were there so many dams built in such a small area as Foster County?"  "Who built them?"  "What was the purpose of these dams?"  "Where were they located?"
The 1930s in North Dakota have been recorded as "the dry years or years of extreme drought."  Government officials were devising plans to alleviate this drastic situation.  One of the theories that developed was that the water cycle had been severely disrupted because of lack of moisture which caused the drying up of the sloughs and potholes.  This resulted in no water to evaporate to form into clouds and eventually fall back to earth as rain or snow.

The engineering department came up with the idea that small streams could be dammed up forming ponds that could be used for recreation, such as swimming, boating and fishing.  The smaller ponds could provide water for the cattle and other livestock.  These dams could also provide a means of diverting spring floods and make water available for irrigation of small vegetable plots.

"Conserve water, dam it" became the slogan of the engineering department and they went around the area soliciting help from the newspapers and town fathers to further their projects.  The department was willing to assist the community in picking the best sites for the dams, to survey and furnish plans for suitable dams for that particular site.  The cost of the dam was to be paid by the people.

The farm dams, is what primarily interested the department.  They encouraged farmers in the townships to unite in asking for the engineering help that was needed and to be willing to donate the labor for the building of the dams which would be either earth filled or rock construction.

It was stated that North Dakota has about 80,000 square miles of land and if on every section these small dams that would flood two or three acres of land would be built, that could mean about 200,000 acres of water in the state that it did not have at that time.  The result would be increased humidity in the air, more rainfall and it would have a tendency to moderate the extremes in temperature.

At this time the United States Government was setting up a program for the American jobless, an army of 25.0,000 workmen.  North Dakota officials made an effort to secure some of this labor to help with the water conservation program.  This army was called the Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC) and was a part of the New Deal Program set up in 1933.  It provided training and employment.  Their object was to conserve and develop natural resources by such activities as planting trees, building dams, and fighting forest fires.  The program was in existence until 1942 when it was abolished.

The government set up rules to abide by with these projects

1. The government will not buy property that will be flooded or property on which the dam was to be built.

2. Community in which the dam is built is expected to provide machinery and necessary equipment for the construction work.

3. Some money may be available for cement in some cases.

4. Camps would be set up with 200 men, who received $1 a day and their subsistence.
5. The Government would furnish a limited amount of material‑ labor and materials not to exceed $90 per month.
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Engineer Suggests Dams 
In August 1932 Waldo E. Smith of Bismarck, a state engineer urged the people of Carrington to take up the project of building a dam on the Pipestem River which passes within six miles of Carrington.  The headline in the Foster County Independent of July 13, 1933, read: 
"Organize County Committee: Will Apply for Dams."
Foster County organized a committee to handle the job of obtaining CCC labor and possible federal aid money for building a number of dams in the county.

With the headquarters in McHenry, the final committee to handle the affair was 
A.C. Loder, Juanita, president; 
R.J. Murphy, Bordulac, vice president; 
C.B. Craven, Carrington, secretary-treasurer 
Other members were C.E. Bohner, Grace City, E.S. Berg, Glenfield; J.N. Kunkel, Carrington; Fred Gebner, Barlow; N.N. Loesch, Melville; W.H. Pewe, McHenry.

The committee's function was to handle the county's applications for money, labor from the Civilian Corps, surveys, plans and other requirements to put over a dam building program in the county.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 17

Recommended Sites

The first sites that were considered were: 
Juanita Lake‑ this would raise the lake four or five feet

James River, where the Kelly Creek and James River joined.  This would back up the river to 4 1/2 feet and have water for about five miles

Kelly Creek near the Martin Hightower farm 
Pipestem, about a mile east of Dover
Freshet draw near N.N. Loesch land at Melville; this would create a 40-acre lake with a depth of 16 feet.

The CCC camp was to be located at Carrington.
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 17
Pipestem Dam (Dover Dam)

One hundred twenty CCC workmen began work on the 775-foot long, 17-foot high dam, six miles west of Carrington on August 16, 1934.  The dam is located on the land belonging to Jessie A. Ramage estate on the southwest quarter of section 19 in Wyard Township.  An estimated 16,000 yards of soil was moved to construct the earth-filled dam.  County machinery was hired to help with the earth-moving task.

The dam impounds a lake one and three‑quarters miles long, with its width varying according to the contour of the hills but averaging about‑1,200 feet wide.  The maximum depth is 14 feet in the main streambed.  The average depth of the reservoir is nine feet.  (Foster County Independent)

"Lake Wyard" was the name endorsed by the Carrington businessmen for the new lake.  The businessmen collected money to spread gravel.  An area was selected for swimming on the east side of the lake, where a small peninsula juts into the water about 300 yards north of the dam.

In 1936 two bathhouses were erected, a wooden walk was constructed from the houses to the lake.  The State game and fish department planted about 2,700 perch in the lake which provided some excellent fishing for the visitors.  It became a popular spot for recreation on a hot summer's day.
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 17
Pipestem Dam (Kallberg Dam)

There is another dam on the Pipestem.  Early in the spring of 1935 when the new gravel pit was opened up in the Harold Kallberg pasture, the striplings were hauled into the creek right beside the gravel pit, and so the dam was made with no extra labor.  Since then Mr. Kallberg has made the dam higher and has hauled many loads of rock for rip‑rap work.  After the big rains fell, the water was backed up a distance to two and a half miles up to the high dam near Dover.  The lake proved a popular bathing place for visitors day and evening.
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 18
Kelly Creek Dam (Schroeder Dam)

Another CCC project was started on August 9, 1934 when the workmen began construction on the Kelly Creek Dam, a 250-foot construction located on section 36 in Rose Hill Township.  It was built on a point where a natural rock barrier had backed up a small pond in the creek bed.  At one time it impounded about 30 feet of water and backed the water in the creek for a distance of about a mile.

Eighty‑five men worked on the dam with hand tools, wheelbarrows and shovels to move the 805 yards of dirt.  The cost of the dam was $4,600, which included part of the cost of maintaining the CCC camp.  It had an eight‑foot pool close to the dam, which made it an excellent place to go swimming.
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 18
Works Progress Administration (WPA)

Another New Deal program established in 1935 by the Federal Government was called the Works Progress Administration (WPA) which provided work for needy persons on public works projects such as dams.  The emphasis on this program was to hire people in the local area where the project was being built.  Funds were provided to pay for labor, equipment and some materials.  The rest of the dams that were built in the county were built through this program.
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 18
Lake Bonita

The plans were put into action on this project in 1934.  The January 11 edition of the Foster County Independent tells the story of the dam to be built on the N.N. Loesch land, section 33, Melville Township.  The site was located in a freshet draw or coulee that drains approximately 28 square miles of land.  The area was covered with native grass and the whole lake location was well-sodded prairie.

During the spring thaws the water flowed out of the fields in torrents and then would drain into the Pipestem Creek.

The dams were constructed, the main dam had a top length of 295 feet and the other one was 200 feet long.  Thy created a lake that covered 34 acres of land and was 14 feet deep.  Mr. Loesch donated the land for the lake as well as a strip around it for a picnic area.  The lake was named "Lake Bonita" after Mr. Loesch's daughter.  The location was three miles southwest of Melville and eight miles south and one mile east of Carrington.

The construction began in June 1934.  Laborers were taken only from the town of Melville and the surrounding farms.  The working crews averaged about 12 men a day, working eight hours a day, with six four‑horse teams.  As many as 10 four‑horse teams were used at times.  The dam was completed in January 1935.
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 18
Kelly Creek Dam (Tollefson Dam)

Located a mile below the state highway in section 23, an earth type dam was constructed as a WPA project.  The site is situated between well-confined creek banks, having a partial natural spill way.  It impounds 87 acres of water.
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 18
Kelly Creek Dam (Niccum Dam)

This dam is located near the mouth of Kelly Dam on section 4 in Bucephalia Township.  The dam was constructed with WPA labor.  It was 400 feet long and backed up approximately 236 acres of water.  A crew of 12‑14 men from the Bordulac and Melville areas worked on the project.
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 18
Longview Dam (Laughlin Dam)

Just west of the Glen Laughlin farm is a dam that was built in 1936.  The water impounded was about ten feet deep with the lake being fed by springs.  This was a popular swimming hole for many years.
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Wyard Dam (Montgomery Dam)

This dam was also built in 1936 on section 32 about a quarter of a mile southwest of the R.C. Butts farm home.  It was 200 feet long of earth construction.  The lake formed was about three blocks wide and extended up stream for about a mile.
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Pepple Dam

Another dam across the Pipestem was located east of the Fred Pepple farm.  This dam was also built by the WPA crews.
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 18
Other Dams

Five other dams were constructed in Foster County: 
1. Delf's Dam located on the Northwest section 34, McHenry Township, which was built on the Bald Hill Creek; 
2. Frappier Dam, located on Northeast section 26, McHenry Township; 
3. Zink Dam, which was built on a shallow lake once known as Dr. McLain's lake.  This area had completely dried up about 1914.  The dam has held the water to form a pond.  It is on section 23, Melville Township.  

4. Jensen's Dam in Larrabee Township on Section 27, Northwest quarter.  

5. Nordmore Dam on the James River that washed out several years ago.
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What Happened to the Juanita Dam?

When the discussion about building community and farm dams on the small streams was first started and the sites were being surveyed for possible placement of these dams, the first two sites considered were the Pipestem and across the outlet near Juanita Lake that flows into the James River.  This was in 1932.  The Pipestem Dam was built‑ but what happened to the Juanita Dam?

Government surveys were made as early as 1929 of the Lake Juanita region and along the James River in connection with the Missouri River flood control program.  They stated in the report that Juanita Lake was spring fed and that it flowed into the James River.

The Foster County Water Conservation Association with A. Thompson, a Kensal surveyor, visited the area.  Mr. Thompson suggested in his report after this visit, that a dam 215 feet long and 14 feet wide should be constructed at the south end of the lake.  This would raise the lake level at that time by four or five feet, making the lake depth with the new dam about nine and a half feet.

Building of other dams in the county proceeded with every speed, but there was a hang‑up about building the Juanita Dam.  More surveyors under the supervision of the U.S. Forest Service came to the county to inspect as many as 20 different sites in 1934.  The Independent states: "It had not been determined whether or not these engineers will make a survey at Lake Juanita.  The Juanita job is being considered as a game refuge by the U.S. Biological Survey.  If they reject it as a game refuge, the survey and work may be turned over to the Forest Service and CCC workmen."
It goes on to report that the U.S. Bureau of Biological Survey was going to purchase 75,000 acres of land along the James River for breeding areas for wild fowl.  Rumors followed that the government was interested in the Lake Juanita region for a breeding area.

January 1, 1935 issue of the Independent: "No decision has been received yet from the U.S. Biological Survey. 
 The Bureau had had the project under consideration the past several months."
(September 12, 1935, Independent.)

"WPA sends application to Washington, which must be approved, to build a dam at the outlet.  These plans were for a construction of 450 foot long dam thus raising the lake 4 1/2 feet."
The next report tells that the Foster county officers were notified by Thomas Moodie, state WPA administrator, that the Juanita Dam had definitely been refused.  Mr. Moodie explained that the refusal had come from Washington, D.C.

The committee undaunted, continued to work for its approval.  Sportsman clubs, county organizations, banded together and sent resolutions and written endorsement to Mr. Moodie at Bismarck.  The result was a protest being filed by the Biological survey.

They claimed that the dam "would be a detriment to wildlife rather than an asset, because it would detract from the flow of water to the Arrowwood reservoirs below it on the James River, and would lessen the present value of the lake in producing food for wild fowl."  (Independent, December 19, 1935)

Because of this protest the state WPA refused the county's request.

Mr. Thompson wrote a report refuting the statement by the Biological survey and renewed the request for the dam to Mr. Moodie.

In October 1936 a Juanita Dam Rally was held at the lake.  Members of the Biological Survey were asked to attend as well as the district directors of WPA, Chief district engineers and the assistant director of WPA, county commissioners, officers of the Foster county committee, and Mr. Moodie.  The public was also invited to the business meeting.

At the time the meeting was held the water level in the lake was an average depth of one foot, with the deepest spots at 2 1/4 feet.  Water in the narrows was 22 inches deep when the survey was made three years before and at that time it was two or three inches deep.

A crowd of more than 150 people attended the rally.  The WPA and Biological Survey officers from Fargo and Minot were unable to attend the meeting.  Plans were made to submit the request at the regional meeting to be held in Jamestown.

Despite all the efforts of the local and state‑people, the Biological Survey won the battle.  "That is why there is no "Juanita Dam"!
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Water Supply

A water supply may be obtained from three formations: the Drift, Pierre shale and Dakota sandstone.  The shallow waters of the Drift are the more satisfactory and may be reached at a depth of 40‑50 feet.  Water is often found in the coulees and in the gravel morainal areas.  Water in small quantities and varying in quality may be obtained in the sandy layer of the Pierre shale and in the friable white Dakota sandstone.  There are a few artesian wells, which vary in depth from 80‑110 feet.  They also vary in quality of water and as a rule are located in the northwest part of the county.  In 1959 Eugene Zink, a farmer near Bordulac dug an artesian well at a depth of 1,849 feet where he hit water under internal pressure.  The driller used mud and water in the process, checked the various strata through which the drill penetrated, and upon reaching 1849 feet he decided to make a test because the sand appeared right for a good vein.  First all of the mud had to be pumped out and when that was completed, the flow of water began.  The water was soft and palatable and was at first used in the feed yard but was later also piped into the house.  It ran at a rate of seven gallons per minute.  After this success several other wells were dug in the county.
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Springs

There are only a few springs in Foster County.  As a rule they yield a small flow of good water and are generally found in the valley of the James River and along the foothills of the Missouri escarpment in the southeast portion of the county.  An exception being in the "Big Coulee" about three miles north of Carrington from which the city draws its supply.
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Grasses, Flowers and Fauna

The leading grasses in Foster County are buffalo, bunch, marsh, blue‑stem, wild barley and rye, sagebrush, prairie sage, wool, needle, quack, pigeon, alfalfa, sweet clover, brome, millet and Sudan.

Some of the common weeds of the county are barley, burdock, binder weed, bitter weed, catnip, cheat, cocklebur, chickweed, dandelion, dock, dodder, fostair, foxtail, horsenettle, ironweed, lambsquarter, mustard, mullein, morning‑glory, pigweed, peppergrass, pennycress, plantain, purslane, quackgrass, ragweed, russian, bull, and sow thistle, sorrel, wild oats, smartweed, sandbur, frenchweed, lettuce, rose, wild buckwheat, vetch, marsh elder, loco, goatsbeard, milkweed, wild hemlock and poison ivy.

Foster County is a land of flowers among which may be found white, blue and golden asters; bloodroot; black‑eyed susan; bluebells, buttercups; crocus, cactus; cotton weed; wild cucumber; closed gentain; columbine; prairie clover; daisy; dahlias; forget‑me‑not; wild flax; ferns; goldenrod; gladioli; holllyhock; Indian turnip; iris; iron‑weed; fillies; loco weed; lady's slippers; moss; mile vetch; meadow parsnip; milkweed; mint; white wild onions; peony; prairie thistle; parsley; wild rose; spiderwort; strawberry; sunflower; violet and wild sweet williams.

Among the vines may be listed clematis, lilac, honey suckle, hop, virginia creeper, wild grape, poison ivy, pea, morning glory, Japanese ivy, and virginia's bower.

The most common fruit trees and shrubs are apple, crab‑apple, plum, cherry, gooseberry, raspberry, current, grape, juneberry, chokecherry, bullberry, spirea, caragana, and Japanese bayberry:

Foster county is sadly lacking in forest, however among other trees found in the county are cottonwood; ash; red, white and ray willow; birch maple, hawthorne; boxelder; aspen; hackberry; bur oak; red oak, pine and spruce.

The fauna of Foster County has varied with the development of time.  It is possible that sea monsters once made this their home.  It is known that buffalo, "the monarch of the plains", elk, antelope and deer were numbered by the thousands.  The dog, red fox, coyote, grizzly and black bear and mountain lion roamed the prairies.  The muskrat, gopher, rat, mouse, mink, badger, cottontail, jack and snowshoe rabbit, weasel and skunk still furnish much clean outdoor sport during open seasons.

The insect life has been on the increase the past few years.  Some of the most common are ants, armyworm, apple‑twig borer, boxelder bug, blister beetle, bean and pea weavil, cabbage worm, codling moth, corn ear worm, cottonwood and willow leaf beetle, fruit fly, grasshopper, leafhopper, potato beetle, stalk borer, squash bug and borer, white grub and wire worm.

Angling in the James River, Kelly Creek and Lake Juanita, whose waters teemed with game fish furnished the pioneer with many a thrill.  The most prized being the northern pike, pickerel, perch, crappies and ever biting bull‑heads.

Birds, thousands of them live and visit Foster County annually.  The red winged and bronzed blackbirds, blue bird, bobolink, catbird, chicadee, coot (Mudhen), cowbird, cranes, creepers, crows, dove, ducks, flicker, geese, goldfinch, growhawk, grebes, grosbeak, grouse, gulls, marsh and red‑tailed hawks, hummingbird, jays, killdeer, kingbird, kingfisher, lark, loons, magpie, meadow and horned larks, oriole, snow horned owls, pelicans, plover, prairie hen, rails, redpoll, robin, sagehen, snipe, sandpiper, sparrows, swans, turns, thrashers, thrushes, warblers, wrens, woodpecker, hungarian partridge, ringnecked pheasants, and many others who visit at intervals.

There are only a few destructive rodents in the county, the most common of which are the gopher, rat, mouse and muskrat.

(E.L. Horton report)
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Foster County Before 1833
Foster County
Foster County is 644 square miles of land located in the center of North Dakota.  It is the smallest of the state's 53 counties, 18 miles by 36 miles in dimension.  It is bordered by Eddy, Griggs, Stutsman and Wells counties.

Foster is divided into 18 townships with the seat of county government located in Carrington.  It became a part of the United States when President Jefferson purchased a tract of land known as the Louisiana Purchase from France in 1803.  Very little was known about the area until an expedition led by Lewis and Clark made the trip across what is now North Dakota looking for a passage to the Pacific Ocean.

Visitors coming to what is now Foster county found prairie lands and rolling plains covered with prairie grass which provided abundant food for the herds of buffalo, deer, antelope, fox, coyotes, and other wild animals that were found in the area.  There were very few trees except along the James River and some other smaller streams.
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Indians

In the very early years it was the hunting grounds for tribes of Indians called Dakota or Sioux.  Before the 1700s they were living in the forests of Minnesota.  At that time they moved to the headwaters of the Big Sioux, James and Red Rivers on the land that is called the Drift Prairies.  Their life style changed from being expert canoe men, eating fish and wild rice, and living in bark-covered wigwams to riding horses, eating buffalo meat and tipsin roots, and living in skin covered teepees.  Horses became an important aspect of their lives, making it possible to follow the herds of buffalo to their grazing areas.

The buffalo were used in many different ways.  The meat was dried for later uses such as Jerky.  Sixteen to twenty hides formed a large teepee.  The hides were also used for blankets, beds, hats, robes, drumcovers, moccasins, saddlebags, along with being stretched over willow to make "bull" boats for river crossings.

The tough skin from the neck was used as a shield that could withstand an arrow or musketball.  The sinews were used for thread for sewing.  The stomach was used for a cooking pot and the bladder served as a water bag.  The horns were carved into utensils or used as headdresses in their costumes.  The skull was used in their religious ceremonies.  The bones were made into scrappers, knives, awls, needles, hoes, and the children used the ribs for sleds.  The brains were made into an acidic tanning paste, while the hooves were boiled into glue.  Dried dung (buffalo chips) was the main source of fuel on these treeless prairies.

Meat, fat and marrow were made into a paste and mixed with berries.  This was called pemmican.  It was long lasting and highly nutritious.  The tail was used as a fly swatter.

In 1875 the bison were so thick that a group traveling from Pembina to Devils Lake was stopped for two days behind hastily built barricades as a herd of two or three million rumbled by them.  Records show that the last great hunt was held in 1882.  The Sioux Indians from the Standing Rock Reservation were led by an Indian agent named James McLaughlin who was stationed at Fort Yates.  Two thousand men, women and children took part in this hunt.  A herd of buffalo covered a valley 15 miles long.  The first day they slaughtered 2,000 head.  The second day was spent skinning and cutting up the animals.  The third day they killed 3,000 head.  By the year 1900 only about 300 buffalo remained in North Dakota.  The large-scale slaughter of these animals was a source of some ill feelings between the Indians and the white men.

The first white man to establish trade with the Indians was LaVerendrye in 1738.  He was instrumental in furnishing horses and other supplies to the tribes in exchange for animal skins.  While he was with the Indians, there was an out‑break of small pox among his men.  This affliction spread to the Indians, causing the loss of many lives.  It affected them to such an extent that it weakened their fighting power, making it easier for wandering tribes to conquer them.  The fur traders also provided them with powder and guns and established forts in which to live.

In 1862 an uprising occurred in Minnesota which was started when three Sioux warriors became involved with some white settlers, which were eventually killed.  This triggered the gathering of the warriors to prepare for a full-scale war.  The Indians were angry with the government because they said they did not receive the payments for the land that had been promised in the various treaties: The government claimed to have given the money to the Indian agent.  Apparently it was not distributed to the tribes and many discussions were held about going on the warpath.  This incident was the spark that lit the fuse.  After several battles the Indians fled from Minnesota and many of them came to Dakota Territory.  The government commissioned General Sibley and General Sully to follow the Indians into the Northwest and punish them.  General Sibly traveled through Foster County and spent six nights in the area.

On June 14, 1863, 4,000 men with equipment left Fort Snelling, Minnesota.  They arrived four days later at Lake Jessie in Griggs County where they set up their base camp.  Leaving the heavy equipment and wounded at this camp, they traveled in a southwesterly direction stopping six miles south of Juanita.  Here they met some Chippewa half‑breeds on a hunting expedition.  They were accompanied by a priest named Andre, and led by a man called Wilkie.  One of the soldiers, George E. Brent, was accidentally shot as he was dismounting his horse.  He started back to Camp Atchinson but died about eight miles from there.  A marker may still be seen at the location of his grave.

In their journey across Foster County they made stops along the James River, Pipestem River and other small water holes.  Because of the lack of wood, the men had to collect buffalo chips which they used for fuel to cook their meals.  The chips burned well but left a distinct odor and taste to the food which the soldiers disliked.

Sibley found the Indians he sought near Big Mound.  A battle ensued and the Indians were defeated.  The soldiers followed the few Indians that escaped as far as the Missouri River and then returned back across Foster County to their base camp.

Many treaties were signed and broken with the Indians until the year 1881.  Peace finally came to the area when Sitting Bull voluntarily surrendered to the United States troops.  The tribes were tired of war and agreed to settle on the reservations.
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Railroads

In 1850 most of this land was still wilderness with very few settlers.  The United States Government and businessmen reasoned that if railroads were extended into the area, settlers would soon follow.  The railroads lacked the funds for such a project and the investors were unwilling to accept the risks.  To solve the problem, the government made a charter with the Northern Pacific Railroad to build a line from Duluth, Minnesota to Puget Sound.  The payment was a 50 million acre land grant which included 20 sections per mile or 12,800 acres in Minnesota and Oregon, and 40 sections per miles or 25,600 acres in Dakota, Montana, Idaho, and Washington.  In Foster County they were given all the odd numbered sections.

Jay Cooke, a famous Philadelphia banker, signed a contract to sell $100,000,000 worth of Northern Pacific bonds bearing 7.3% interest.  His commission was to be 12% and he was to have three‑fifths of the company's stock.  He gave much of this stock as a bonus to people who purchased the bonds.  He convinced investors of the "Fertile Belt" through which the railroad would run.  The railroad reached Moorhead in 1871, crossed the Red River on June 1872 and arrived in Bismarck, June 3, 1873.

Hjelm Hansen, a recent immigrant from Norway, was sent by the Minnesota Immigration board in 1869 to visit the Red River Valley.  He was well known for his efforts to help the laboring classes.  He was encouraged to write letters describing the opportunities in the new land for the Norwegian language newspapers.  His description of the fertile land without any stumps and stones were instrumental in attracting many Norwegians to the area.

The Northern Pacific Railroad made a determined effort to attract settlers to buy land, too.  It set up a land and immigration department in 1871.  This department set up an agency in London and sent representatives abroad to organize colonies of immigrants to come to the new land.  They distributed optimistic literature about Dakota Territory all over Europe and the Eastern United States.  They offered railroad lands on attractive installment terms, of ten percent down and seven year to pay the balance.  They built large reception houses at Duluth, Glyndon and Brainerd, Minnesota, plus free transportation to the purchaser of the Northern Pacific lands.

The Dakota Territorial Government also promoted settlement.  In January of 1871 the Legislature established a Bureau of Immigration under the direction of James S. Foster, a land dealer in Yankton.  Mr. Foster, brother of Major George I. Foster of Fargo, was living in Syracuse, New York.  In 1863 he was sent out to explore Iowa, Dakota, Nebraska, Kansas and Missouri.  He reported that the territory was favorable for settlement.  In 1864 a special train consisting of twenty cars and carrying a colony of 100 families, left Syracuse, New York and traveled to Marshalltown, Iowa, where teams were secured for the 300-mile journey overland through miry sloughs and uninhabited prairies.  It was mid May before the plains of Dakota was reached.  (Record" Vol. 1, June 1896‑No. 12)

The year proved to be bad for drought and grasshoppers and because of these conditions many people left to go to other areas.

Foster settled in Yankton and acquired a reputation of being a hustler.  He combined his private and his official activities in his efforts to sell the area to immigrants.  He distributed literature concerning the opportunities in the Dakota Territory in English and Swedish languages, mailed boomer editions of the Yankton newspapers to various areas, and offered steam boat passage from Norway and Sweden to people who would promote immigration.  In 1873 the legislature divided all of the land east of the Missouri River into 27 counties in order to give the impression that it was being settled.  The area known as Foster County was officially named during the 1873 Territorial meeting at Yankton.  This area was named for James S. Foster.

Another development, besides the railroad, responsible for the Dakota Boom of the 1800s was the improvement in flour milling.  This new process made Minneapolis the flour-milling center and created a market for hard spring wheat.  Land in the eastern states was pretty well settled and capitalists who acquired Northern Pacific bonds began to establish Bonanza Farms on the Dakota land to raise wheat.

People who held bonds or preferred stock could exchange them for railroad lands and manufacturers developed machinery capable of cultivating this vast area of level land.

All these things encouraged people to risk their lives and savings to come to a new area where nothing existed but miles and miles of prairie grass and wild animals, knowing also that they might not see other people for days and weeks at a time.
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Early visitors

The earliest recorded expedition to pass through Foster County was in 1853.  Governor Isaac Stevens was directed by the government to organize and lead an exploring party overland across this new territory to Washington State.  He was to make a preliminary survey that could be used in laying out a course for the railroad to the west coast.  A party of less than 100 men which included engineers, soldiers, necessary guides, teamsters, and helpers, started at Fort Snelling, Minnesota.  They traveled northwest, crossing the Red River at Breckenridge and then traveled across the prairies to Lake Jessie in Griggs County.  This lake was well known by the Indians and the whites.  It was first named by Lt. Freeman in 1839 when he was with J.N. Nicollet on a trip that took them to the Devils Lake Regions.

On July 11, 1853 they arrived in Foster County passing south of McHenry and probably north of Juanita.  Their guide was Pierre Bottineau.  Mr. Bottineau, a Chippewa Indian, was born in 1812 and died in 1895.  He had a very colorful career.  In one story he was described in this manner: "It was Bottineau who walked from Winnipeg to St. Paul with James J. Hill.  It was scout Bottineau who headed Jay Cooke's first Northern Pacific survey across the continent, it was the Chief Bottineau who gave his name to Bottineau County, it was the gambler Bottineau who had three queens in his hand, staked Nicollet Island, and lost."
Mr. Bottineau served as a guide for Stevens until they reached Fort Union.  He shot and dried a buffalo just north of Grace City.  Governor Stevens was amazed at the speed and dexterity of the men accomplishing this feat.  Steven's comment about the area was that there was plenty of good water and grass, but very little wood.

The Steven's party made camp on the east side of Lake Juanita.  While there he sent two men under leadership of A.W. Tinkham, a Civil Engineer, out to look for the headwaters of Bald Hill Creek.  The men did not return.  After a day's wait Stevens went on with most of the company leaving behind James Doty and a company of men with wagons with a small cannon.  He gave orders that the cannon should be fired at certain times to guide the men.  He thought that the men might have been attacked by Indians or that their horses had strayed.  It turned out that it had just taken longer than estimated for them to carry out their mission.  They continued on to join the rest of the company.
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James L. Fisk

Captain James L. Fisk led a party of gold miners across North Dakota in 1862 and 1863, following approximately the same course that Governor Stevens had taken earlier.  He was escorting the miners to the gold fields in Montana.  Many of these men were leaving to escape being drafted for the Civil War so they had their families with them, too.  A 12-pound howitzer was obtained at Fort Abercrombie and taken along to frighten the Indians.  They had little problem with them; however the latter were annoyed with the trespassers and the wanton shooting of the buffalo.

"It took 19 weeks to make the trip.  Each wagon was given a number and place in the train.  There were 117 men, 13 women, 60 wagons, 168 oxen, 8 mules, 14 teams of horses, 13 saddle horses, 17 cows and dogs 'too numerous to mention'."
"Cupid played his part by uniting the hearts of Miss Caroline Abbot, Boston, Mass., and Henry F. Tyler, St. Anthony, Minnesota on July 14th while in camp on the Sheyenne River, south of Kindred.  An army officer, using the Episcopal marriage service pronounced them man and wife.  It was a moonlit night; a dance with violin music was held on the velvety green prairie.

"A son was born August 7, 1862 in the vicinity of Ft. Union to Mr. and Mrs. Stark, who were members of the expedition."  (W. D. Powell, Spocksfield's History of Wells County, pg. 574‑77)
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Fort Totten Trail

Fort Totten on Devils Lake was established in 1867 and for several years was supplied from Fort Stevenson on the Missouri River some 128 miles overland.  Mail and some light supplies came from Fort Abercrombie on the Red River, but either route was tedious and at times very dangerous.  When the Northern Pacific Railroad arrived at the James River crossing, immediate plans were made for a fort to aid in getting supplies to Fort Totten.  This would save up to 40 miles of traveling.  The first recorded trip between the two places was in 1872 when A.W. Kelly, a businessman at Fort Totten for years, drove a herd of 130 cattle the 81 miles to Fort Seward.  The town of Jamestown was built just east of the fort.

The trail nearly paralleled the James River north as far as Lake Belland, then north past Nine-Mile Lake in Eddy County to the Bremmer Crossing on the Sheyenne River, then northwest to Fort Totten.  It would take light vehicles about two days and heavy freight about four days to make the trip.

The original rest stop was on the west side of Lake Belland, now named Lake Juanita, about two miles east of Grace City.  Joe Belland, a loner, hunter and trapper, built a dug‑out on this location.  It was a good camping place with plenty of grazing and water.  The old dug‑out site that was first used may still be seen near the mouth of Belland Creek and facing into the lake.  The lake was named after Mr. Belland until later times when it was changed to Lake Juanita.  After living there for a few years, Mr. Belland disappeared.

Mrs. Adeline Potter of Grace City wrote the following report of Belland.  She called him Henry instead of Joe.

A Frenchman named Belland came from eastern Canada, perhaps from the "Basin of Nines" to Dakota Territory in 1863.  There is some speculation that he may have been a scout with Sibley when he traveled through the area in 1863.  It is thought that he possibly came by boat, following the watercourses.  A hand made row lock, that was pounded out on an anvil, has been found and believed to have been possessed by him.

He was a hunter and trapper and made his home on the west side of the lake near many fur-bearing animals.  This place is still the home of the badger, skunk, mink, muskrat and weasel.

He was married to a squaw and lived in the area for about ten years, spending time hunting and trapping.  In later years he kept horses for the relay teams on the Fort Totten Trail.

The fact that Belland was a squaw man was possibly the reason he was unmolested during the time that the Indians were restless.  Larrabee eventually bought Belland's buildings and moved them to his place.

Following Belland, a man named "Slothful Joe" Hayes occupied the dug‑out until 1876 when William A. Larrabee started a station about a mile and a half south on the east side of the James River.
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William Larrabee

Captain William H. Larrabee was a veteran of the Civil War.  He had joined the 5th Main Regiment at the age of sixteen.  Later, he was taken prisoner and had to spend 11 months in a prison in South Carolina.

In 1865 he went to Arizona to fight in the Indian Wars there.  Three years later he returned to the east where he married Maria.  He worked as a photographer for three years and then joined the army again being stationed at Fort Totten.  About this time the regiment was to leave Fort Totten and aid General Custer in his fight with the Indians.  On March 11, 1875 Larrabee decided to desert the army.  He was captured near Lake Juanita, brought back to the Fort and court martialed.

At his court martial, Larrabee made the following statement in his defense:

"When I first came to this post, I was suffering with catarrh (inflammation of nose and throat) and a bad cold and was given a bunk within four feet of a hot stove.  At night it was kept nearly always red hot.  I could not get much sleep, and those sleeping near the doors or windows would not let them be opened.  There was no ventilation what‑so‑ever.

"My sleeping so near the stove and losing so much sleep, I think, prevented my using judgment that I otherwise would have.  And further, I heard remarks made as follows at different times:

" 'He couldn't have been very old himself eight or ten years ago.'
" 'It's him fast enough, and he shot that boy for promotion.'
"Another answered, 'It might not be the man, one was a photographer and this is a shoemaker!'
"These remarks I felt were intended to apply to me.

"About nine years ago I was acting quartermaster sergeant at Camp Bowie, Arizona Territory.  One very dark night, I think about ten o'clock, I had gone to sleep.  I was awakened by a noise seemingly from the outside of the quartermaster's building.  I arose up and took a revolver with me; being in an Indian country, arms were generally carried.  I walked out and around where the noise proceeded from.  I called out, "Who is there?  If you try to get away from here I will shoot you!"  No one made any answer and I could not see anyone there.  I thought to make sure if the window had been broken open or disturbed in any way.  I reached out to feel if the window was disturbed‑ just then someone arose up in front of me, and through a nervous movement, my revolver was discharged.  The man was shot and died.

"An inspecting officer came a few days after this affair.  I was released from arrest, and resumed my duties as Quartermaster Sergeant.

"I served 18 months after that in the same company and no one seemed to blame me.

"I heard since I have been here from fragments of conversation, that the members of the company thought they ought to get rid of me some way.  I only imagined from the conversations, that I was the subject.  Such remarks as these I heard:

"'It would be rather too cold weather now to turn a man out on the prairie' which would be answered, 'good enough for the SOB!'
"These are the causes, together with my sleeping in the hot room, which caused me to desert."
The sentence for desertion was two years in prison at Fort Totten.

Due to the efforts of his wife and some friends, he was able to get the sentence changed to "Ten years on the Dakota Prairies."  It was because of these events that he was the only one of Company L., 7th Cavalry, to survive.  The rest of the men went on to meet Custer and history finishes the story.

Larrabee decided to serve his sentence near the lake where he had been captured.  He bought the buildings from Belland's dug‑out and moved south about a mile and a half on the east side of the James River.  He brought with him his wife, and two daughters, Maud and Mamie.  He hauled lumber from Jamestown to build a two‑story frame house, the first in Foster County.  It became the half‑way station between Fort Seward and Fort Totten with many prominent people spending the night there.  The building burned in 1886 and was never rebuilt.  The Larrabee family moved back to New England.

Here are some excerpts from a letter written to a friend back east:

"At last after traveling by rail, prairie schooner, and ox team we arrived at Fort Totten to find that William's trial was on and he was found guilty and sentenced to two yeas in a Federal prison.

"I was simply crushed but‑ after talking things over with our friends here and taking their advice we got his sentence changed to ten years of life on the prairie; so my dear we will not see you for ten years for we are going to live somewhere not very far from where we are now.

"General L.C. Hunt is in command at Fort Totten and last winter several cavalry regiments were quartered here.

"We just received word that Custer and the L. Troops of the 7th Cavalry were all massacred June 20, 1876.

"This was the regiment quartered here last winter.  We are all feeling frightened and dismayed about it.

"The Indians are restless and dissatisfied and are feeling very much elated over their victory.

"This relay station was formerly kept by an old Frenchman by the name of Belland.  He was what is called by the settlers a "Squaw‑man" having bought a squaw from some Indian and living with her as his wife.

"This station is very isolated there being no settlements west of Fargo and for that reason it is very difficult to get anyone to live there.  Also the emigrants going into Montana, and Idaho to the mining camps all followed this trail prior to the opening of the posts at Jamestown and Bismarck.

Dakota Territory September 1876

Dear Patty:

A beautiful September day and at last we have left the post and are settled on the Fort Totten Trail about thirty miles from Fort Totten.  Mr. Larrabee sought out a man by the name of Joseph Hayes who owned a log house near the James River Valley.

The valley is sheltered by hills and is open to the east where the waters of Lake Belland come into the river through a little creek.  It is a good place for raising stock and that is Mr. Larrabee's intention.  We will also keep the relay station where the mail carriers and freighters can keep their relay horses.

Let me describe our surroundings.  To the east lies Lake Belland, a nice little sheet of water with a few treys on the north and south shores.  On the south and north the hills shut off the view.  The river runs out of the valley to the west.

Mr. Larrabee is very busy making hay and getting in supplies.  The relay station will use up huge quantities of this for all the supplies freighted to Fort Totten and the Indian Agency go by our door along the trail.

Herds of antelope pass near grazing as they go, in this valley, the fine grass and running water, which is not often to be found, for you may travel miles upon the prairie without finding water.  The geese and ducks and prairie chickens are here in immense numbers and sometimes they cover vast spaces.  The sand hill cranes look at a distance like huge herds of cattle.

About the lake is the breeding place of the ducks and they will remain until the frosts send them southward.

You asked me about the buffalo.  There are no buffalo here now as they left the region around Devils Lake about 1868.  They used to be very numerous about there as the grass is good and there is plenty of water but the Indians and Red River half‑breeds became so numerous and hunted them so persistently that they went west and south.  They made pemmican of their flesh in immense quantities and sold it to the Hudson Bay and American Fur Companies.

With love, 

Dakota Territory, May 24, 1877

Dear Patty, 

We have no neighbors nearer than Fort Totten except the Indians who visit us frequently and so far as I know I am the only white woman in Foster County.

We have a new baby at our house, a boy, which we have named Berkley Terry Larrabee who arrival on the 12th was very much dreaded by me because we had no doctors or nurses.

This boy so far as we know is the first white child born in Foster County.  The little girls have come in with their hands full of some beautiful flowers and wanted to know what they were called.  Hunting out my old Botany book I found that they were the Pasque flowers with their quaint furry hoods that cover the buds.  The hills are covered with them as they begin to bloom so early.  There is no grass and the leaves come after the flower.  We welcomed them eagerly as they are the first but we will have an abundance of wild flowers all summer long.

The lake is full of fish and as they go up Sluogullion Creek (so named by me because it's such a tiny stream beside our creeks at home), usually we get numbers which are a welcome change in our menu though they are not so fine as the salt-water fish at home.

Oh, how homesick I get for the sight of a white woman's face.  I have seen none since I came here in September.  The Indian women visit us frequently.

Five came a few days ago.  One is always the spokeswoman and introduces the others by pointing to them, "This Lizzie, this Fanny, this Mary".  We always have to give them lunch when they come, as they will remain until they are fed.

We had five or six fat little puppies and Mr. Larrabee gave each of them one which was received with broad smiles and great pleasure.  I was glad he had given them something that pleased them so much and mentioned it to William after they were gone, when he replied nonchalantly, "Oh, yes, they will make them into a pot of soup."  You can imagine my disgust, as this was the first time that I knew that they ate dogs.

Love, 

Dakota Territory, September 1877 Dear Patience:

Have just got settled after moving.  We moved about a mile south of our last habitation.

Mr. Larrabee has built a six-room frame house, the first one in the county where we will be much more comfortable than in the old log house.  He will move all the buildings here and there we will keep our relay station.

It is in the bottom of the valley on the banks of the river James and is much more sheltered.  The round topped hills are on the north and west and cut off our view but to the south it is open with gently rolling prairies in the direction of the river.  The trail travels along this rolling land towards the river which is called the James.

Mr. Larrabee is busy getting in hay and getting in supplies and we will be busy for we intend keeping a relay house here and he will need a great deal of provender to supply the animals.

Herds of antelopes pass near grazing as they go, for in this valley is fine grass and running water which is not often to be found for you may travel miles upon the prairie without finding water.

The geese and ducks are here in immense numbers and sometimes there are so many that they cover vast spaces.  About the Lake is the breeding place of the ducks and they will remain until the frost sends them southward.

Dear Patty:

Your letter received and was glad to get all the news from home.  There have been a few men who have come in here and stayed a few months but no one has brought their families or made any long stay and to the best of my belief I am the only white woman in Foster County.

A new baby arrived at our house on May 12th.  We have named him Charles Edward Larrabee and as his birthday is the same day as Berkley's they can both be able to celebrate their birthdays together.  We are quite sure that these babies are the first white babies born in Foster County.  As there are no county organizations I have entered their births in our family Bible.

I forgot to tell you that we receive the mail three times a week.  The name of our mail carrier is Edward Loomis.  He stops at our house overnight and keeps his relay of horses there then in the morning goes on to Fort Totten returning at night when he goes to Jamestown.

Dakota Territory, June 1879

Lake Belland is named after an old Frenchman who lived there at the time the county was surveyed.  He was what is known as a "Squaw man" having purchased a squaw from an Indian which it was easy to do for a pony or something like that.

There is a little lake northeast of here which has had no name.  An old blue cow of ours wandered up there and was lost for a few days; since then the lake is known as Blue Cow Lake.

Have seen no white women except the ones from the post in three years.

Dear Patty:

Time passes quickly even on the prairie and we have been here five years.  Two brothers named Smith, E. Delafield and Herbert, have settled on the south side of the lake.

They carry on a trade with the Indians buying furs.  This is the first white settlers near us but neither of the brothers are married.

The country looks beautiful‑ I wish you could see it.  There is some talk of a R.R. coming through the county but it will not be within twenty miles of us.

The R.R. is the Northern Pacific and there is talk of surveyors working in that part of the county brought in by the freighters and mail carriers.

If such is the case we will not be here many years longer as we will not be so prosperous after the R.R. arrives.  The travel then will leave the old trail and I scarcely know whether I am glad or sorry.

Dakota Territory, 1882 Dear Patty:

At last we have a real, bona‑fide settler.  He has taken a pre‑emption on the south side of Lake Belland and is building him a "wee brown soddy".  He is working for Mr. Larrabee and will move his family here.  His name is George Bakken.

My it seems so comfy to have some woman near even if she is a couple of miles away.  These people have some family and I am glad for the sake of the children will have some other children to play with.

It was a real fact about the R.R. and it has come in as far as Jamestown.  Another townsite is platted in this county and is called Carrington after Henry Carrington of Toledo, Ohio; of the Carrington‑Casey Land Company.

This will bring in the settlers and soon we will see a shack on every quarter section.  You may wonder what a quarter section is.  It is 160 acres of land one-half mile long and all the land here is surveyed in that way.  The mail now instead of coming from Jamestown comes via Carrington, and a P.O. has been established here with Mr. Larrabee as Postmaster.

Dakota Territory, 1881

Dakota Territory, 1883 Dear Patty:

At last Foster County is coming into its own.  The town of Carrington is booming.  New settlers are coming in droves.  Two passenger trains have reached Carrington and many who wished to come on the first train could not even find a foothold on the cars.  Men swarming over the tops of the cars and clinging to railings on platforms.

Carrington has become the greatest boomtown in the northwest.  Still you can drive all day away from the railroads without seeing a sign of human habitation‑ bush nor tree‑ shack nor stack.  There are no roads and we find our way across the prairie by reading the inscriptions showing range‑township and section placed on the surveyor's section stakes.

As I have not written to you for so long I must give you a story of the blizzard which raged here this winter.  It was one of the worst I have ever seen.  The winter has been very cold and I scarcely see how the emigrants who landed in Carrington have existed as there were no trains in there all winter.  The snow was so great that the Northern Pacific abandoned everything until spring.

A number of boarding cars were left here which the people used as homes and a quantity of R.R. ties which were taken possession of and used as fuel.  Some provisions had been left in the cars when they were abandoned and these and the jackrabbits which they managed to kill kept them alive through the winter.  If it had not been for this I think that the few who stayed would have perished as no relief reached them until March '83 when the Northern Pacific train reached there.

Dakota Territory, 1884

Dear Patty:

William and I just came home from Carrington where we went on business and called on some of the wives of the new settlers.  So many new people have come in.  There is a beautiful new hotel named the Kirkwood which is run in great style, Negro waiters and everything else accordingly.  This has been done to accommodate the class of people who are buying land as many rich people from the east are coming in to buy land.

These letters came from Paul Black, a former resident of Grace City.  The following information came from the Post Returns of Fort Totten and was also compiled by Paul Black.  Mr. Larrabee's name appeared on several entries showing that he was in confinement.

The returns also indicate that Company L., 7th Cavalry, arrived at Fort Totten on 12 August, 1875 from Fort Abraham Lincoln and returned there later, leaving Fort Totten on 10 March, 1876.  Larrabee apparently joined the company when he arrived at Fort Totten on 13 November, 1875, later deserted, was tried and sentenced, and remained in confinement at Fort Totten when Company L returned to Fort Abraham Lincoln.  A rather fortunate circumstance, since Company L was killed to a man at the Little Big Horn in the summer of 1876.

The Larrabee's home also became the first post office.  After train service to Jamestown became regular, mail would come to Fort Seward by train and then be carried by wagon train to Fort Totten.  Soon passengers began making the trip, too.  During the winter when the snow was too deep 'for the horses, dog‑sleds were used.  The trip was made three times a week.  (A story of a trip on the trail is included in an article under Historic trails and sites.)

Ed Lohnes, who lived in Fort Totten in the early years of its beginning, was the mail carrier, after his discharge from the army.  At the beginning there was a dispute with Larrabee ever some arrangements, so Mr. Lohnes established his own camp which included barns and other shelters.  It was located a mile or so down the river.  After Lohnes retired a man by the name of Bowman took over the operation.  Bowman died about the year 1885 and his family left soon after that.
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Settlers & Pioneers

Settlers come to Foster County

In 1880 settlers began to arrive in the area in the anticipation of the completion of the railroad and the arrival of more people.  Here was an opportunity to acquire land that could later be sold to the newcomers.

There were several ways to acquire land, one of which was called pre‑emption.  People who moved to unsettled areas and began to live there were called squatters.  Real estate speculators, called claim jumpers, would often work with lawyers to take the squatter's land.  Congress passed a law in 1841 that said that a squatter who lived on surveyed government land and made improvement on it, had a right to buy that land before anyone else.  When the land occupied came up for sale, he could buy up to 160 acres for $1.25 an acre.

After the Civil War, big land companies sent out "dummy squatters" who filed applications for land that they did not intend to keep as their own.  In return for cash payment, a dummy would file his claim, live on it for six months, buy it for a low price, and hand it over to his employer.  Then he would move on to another claim.  Two hundred million acres of land passed from the government‑to private owners in this manner.  The practice was discontinued in 1891.

Another method of acquiring land was through the Homestead Act which was passed in May 1862, to encourage people to go to the unsettled areas.  This provided that any person over the age of 21, who was the head of the family, could obtain title for 160 acres of land, if they lived on the land for five years and improved it.  Another provision of the act was that they could buy the land for $1.25 an acre and not fulfill the resident requirement.

From 1862 to 1900 this bill provided farms and new homes for between 400,000 to 600,000 families.  Another additional 160 acres of land could be acquired if 10 acres were planted into trees.  These grants were known as "tree claims".  The story is told that some of the settlers didn't want to bother with planting trees so they planted turnips instead!

Another way of attaining this new land was through the railroad.  When the Northern Pacific took on the project of building a railroad across the United States they were given land forty miles north and 40 miles south of the tracks.  The railroad also sold bonds to help finance their venture.  When the railroad failed on September 18, 1873 people who held these bonds were allowed to cash them in for some of the railroad land.  Consequently large bodies of land were bought by the non‑resident holders of these bonds for little or nothing.  Some of the large purchasers included Pence and Snyder of Minneapolis who bought large tracts of land in Foster and Ransom counties.  Some of this land was said to belong to two grain dealers from Toledo, Ohio, by the name of Miles D. Carrington and T.B. Casey who purchased 40,000 acres in Foster County from Pence and formed a company known as the Carrington-Casey land company.  At the start, they owned every other section of land in Wyard, Carrington and Bordulac townships.
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Why Did People Come to this Unsettled Area?

The question comes up: Why did people answer the "Call to go West"?  Some of them were businessmen with unlimited wealth that came strictly as a means of speculation.  Some came to bury their past, make new homes and maybe recuperate a lost fortune.  Others came for health reasons or just a love of adventure.  Very few of them actually came because they were farmers by profession.  The people who came West were usually a high type, peaceful, law-abiding citizens.  Cultured women who were living alone in lonely claim shacks had nothing to fear.  Life and property were safe at all times.  Doors were left un‑locked in case a lonely, weary wayfarer that may come along could find what he needed and may be satisfy his hunger.

In 1882 the construction of the railroad from Jamestown north was begun.  The county was surveyed and divided into townships.  The influx of people began in earnest.  The town, named Newport, (now Melville) was laid out by William Keepers.  His plans were to sell the site to the Jamestown Railway.  The two parties were unable to reach satisfactory terms.  The railroad was offered a free site for the town just east of the present location by the Carrington‑Casey Land Company.  The offer was accepted, the buildings were moved and the name was changed to Melville.

When the Carrington‑Casey Land Company purchased the land they had no intention of actually farming it themselves.  They started by breaking up 40 or more acres on each section so that it could be advertised as being improved land, which sold for more money.  They made deals with the purchasers of the land (settlers) that they would break up 40 acres of land per year and turn half of the crop over to the company until the price of the land was recovered.

Oxen harnessed walking plows were used to turn the sod.  The seeding was done by hand or from the back of a wagon.  The threshing was accomplished with hand weed scythes.

Under the management of Lyman R. Casey they began to crop some of the land in 1884.  At this time they had 1,500 acres in crops.  By 1896 they had 8,000 acres in cultivation.  They became the bonanza farm in this area.  Their headquarters was the farm known as "Hanna Ranch".  One of the substations was located where Doeling Dairy is at the present time.

The Carrington‑Casey Company donated land for the town site of Melville, platted the original site for Carrington, and donated land for churches, schools and a city park.  They used their influence to encourage people to come to Foster County, which they did in numbers.  In April 1883 an average of 200 people would arrive daily on the train.  Many came by wagon train from Jamestown.

The following article was printed in the 1884 North Dakota Atlas

"Carrington is the county seat of Foster, one of the four largest counties of the hundred and thirty in Dakota, and also one of the finest agricultural counties in the Territory.  Its development is somewhat remarkable, even for Dakota.  On April 2, 1883, there was not a finished dwelling or store in Carrington.  The Jamestown & Northern Pacific railroad was reopened on that day, and within six weeks there was a fine population of several hundred, with first-class stores of all kinds, a newspaper, a bank, physicians, lawyers and other professional men, besides a full representation of all mechanical arts.  A twenty‑thousand dollar hotel, one of the handsomest in the territory, was built, burned and rebuilt on the same splendid scale by the Town‑site Company.  The company also erected a handsome little school house and presented it to the town.  A church organization‑ The Congregationalists started the first Sabbath of its history, and now has an edifice of its own.  An elevator has just been erected, and a mill is about to be built.  Its population is almost entirely Anglo‑Saxon, and of the best and most desirable classes.  Railroad connection with Devil's Lake, on the north, is almost completed, and on the west is operated as far as Sykeston, in Wells County.  A new through trunk line is projected to the southeast, to connect with the Chicago system of roads.  The surrounding lands are being rapidly settled and mostly with energetic, earnest Eastern people.  It is one of the most attractive points in the Golden Northwest for intending settlers."
Many times the ingenuity of these pioneers was taxed to the utmost.  Before the surveying was completed, some of the pioneers were not sure of the location of the land they wanted to settle, so they would tie a rope around the buggy wheel and every time the wheel went around they could feel a bump.  They reasoned so many bumps would make a mile.  Some of the settlers also took a tape measure and a compass and measured from the last marked section line.  Surprisingly enough these measurements proved to be correct when the official survey was made.

Another story tells about fulfilling the requirements for pre‑emption which stated that there must be a shack six by six feet, a door, a window with glass, and a well with water.  One clever young lady lacked these requirements.  In order to rectify the situation, she coolly cut a hole in the side of the shack and hung a bottle therein.  Presto!  Glass!  A pail of water was lowered down the well.  Lo!  A well with water‑ and the claim was approved.

(From the 50th celebration)

"Tis the human touch in this world that counts, 

The touch of your hand and mine:

Which means far more to the fainting heart

Than shelter, bread and wine.

For shelter is gone when the night is o'er, 

And bread lasts only a day.

But the touch of a hand and the sound of a voice

Sing in the soul always."
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 28

CARRINGTON

1882‑ Town platted by Carrington‑Casey Land Company; railroad tracks laid from Jamestown to Carrington; Settlers began to arrive.

1883‑ Land Boom‑ Average of 200 people arrive daily on the train; first church‑ Congregational; first school; Arthur C. Halsey first postmaster; Carrington News‑ first paper edited by J. Morley Wyard; first bank; Kirkwood Hotel is built; three general stores constructed; drug store; two lumber yards; land offices; hardware store; flour mill.

1885‑ Carrington Gazette is published.

1887‑ Courthouse built, used for county affairs as well as social gatherings and church.

1898‑1921‑ Carrington Record.

1891‑ First volunteer fire department with 13 members‑ Named "Putnam's Brigade"
1899‑ Long distance and local telephone services.

1900‑ Carrington is incorporated as a city.

1902‑ First library organized by Women's Literary Club; more churches built; first class to graduate from Carrington High School.

1903‑ Cigar Manufacturing Company, cigars were rolled by hand. Didn't last long; Carrington Brick Company (Didn't last long); Main Street was graveled; Cement sidewalks were put in; Steam light plant lasted until 1925; all night street lamps.

1905‑ Northern Pacific Depot fire‑ so cold the water froze in the hoses.

1908‑ Fire destroyed downtown businesses‑ 13 lost; Fire started 11:00 p.m. ‑ 7:00 a.m.; 1500‑2000 population. 8‑10 passenger trains every day.

1910‑ Lincoln School was built. New courthouse constructed‑ Old building moved across from where Vets Club is now. The first floor was used for a basketball court; opera house and dance floor on second floor. Part of the building was used for a laundry.

1913‑ City Hospital chartered‑ opened November 27, 1916. Buchanan building and Penney store burned.

1925‑ Ottertail Power Company comes to town.

1956‑ New Addition to the Hospital.

1964‑ New High School constructed‑ old one used for the grades.

1966‑ Garrison Diversion Headquarters located north of town. New office 1972.

1972‑ Cable TV available.

1975‑ Rainbow Gardens torn down‑ area used for 24 units housing for the elderly.

1976‑ Drive begins for a Medical Clinic. Bicentennial Celebration held.
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Land Companies in Foster County

(Atlas‑ 1910)

D.S.B. Johnston Land Company: McHenry, Dewey, Larrabee, Nordmore, Birtsell, Haven, and Longview.

H.S. Halvorson Company: Dewey or Florence.

Wells and Dicky Company: Dewey, McKinnon.

National Bank, Carrington: Rolling Prairie.

Stutsman Company Bank: Rolling Prairie.

Commercial State Bank: Nordmore.

Northern Pacific Railroad: Nordmore, Rolling Prairie, Estabrook, Rose Hill, Carrington.

Foster County State Bank: Nordmore, Haven.

Carrington, Casey Land Company: Carrington, Rose Hill, Haven, Melville, Bordulac.

L.B. Hanna, and Company: Bordulac.

Metcalf Land Company: Bucephalia.

Lee and Pence Company: Glenfield, McKinnon.

McLain County Townsite: Rose Bill, Haven.

Marian Land Company: McKinnon.

Ransom County: Rose Hill, Haven, Bordulac.

North Dakota. Land and Trust Company: Eastman.

Whiting Land and Load Company: Longview.

Engberg Land Company: Barlow headquarters.
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Carrington‑Casey Land Company

In the early 1880s M.D. Carrington and T.B. Casey, grain dealers of Toledo, Ohio became familiar with the James River Valley and in connection with their business in 1882 bought 30,000 acres of railroad land from the Jamestown Northern Railway, (now the Northern Pacific).  This land, 21 1/4 sections was found in both Foster and Wells counties and cost $168,380.  The Foster county land was ‑principally in the vicinity of Melville and Carrington.  They organized the Carrington and Casey Land Company and Lyman R. Casey came to the Dakota Territory as their general manager.  It was under his advice that the company purchased large tracts of land that later came to be known as the Livingston Farms.

They had no intention of carrying on a large farm or any farm when they first started.  In 1883 they began breaking from 40 to 60 acres on each of the many quarter sections, intending to sell the lands thus partly improved to the new settlers.  They could receive more money for partly improved land.  Since sales were slow, they were obliged to crop the land and make use of the money that had been spent for breaking.  They began by cropping 1,500 acres it 1884.  The experiment proved profitable and additions were made from time to time in the amount under cultivation with profits resulting every year in spite of the low wheat price that was received.  B5 the year 1896 they had 8,000 acres under cultivation and had continued to break up to 1,000 acres additional each year.

The ranch was divided into five farms, known as the Livingston Farms.  Each farm had its own set of fine buildings and nice groves, and was connected with telephones.  Well‑built graded roads were con strutted between the farms for transportation.

Wheat was the staple crop, but flax growing was added and was found to be profitable.  They maintained a herd of about 100 cattle and 100 hogs as well as chickens.  They raised everything that was needed for food for the workers and their teams.

They had 100 head of work horses which includes about 20 brood mares, most of these horses were Percherons.  There was a barn boss who kept the horses fed, cleaned the barns, and hauled the feet that was necessary.  All the other men had to do was to harness and unharness their teams.

Several Scandinavians, commonly known as "newcomers" were employed by the ranch.  One o the farm bosses, R.P. Groves, taught these workers the rudiments of the English language in his spar time.  Peter Elton, one of these Scandinavians, was employed as repairman and troubleshooter on the spread.  He would have been comparable to today's mechanic.  Workers received about $18 per month besides room and board.  Many early settlers worker on the ranch as well as proving up their own homesteads.

The ranch had its own blacksmith and harness shops and regularly employed a baker to make bread for the laborers.

The building layout was under the direction o John W. Rogers, who became an employee of the ranch in 1889.  The buildings included a residence for the superintendent and his office, a dormitory and dining hall for the men, large barns for the stock, hog pens, machinery hall, two elevators with a capacity of 40,000 bushels each with numerous small granaries on the farm.  In 1896 the farm was using 24 binders, 7 headers, 2 threshing machines, 20 gangplows, 14 drills and many wagons.

When in full blast the ranch was a small city in itself during the threshing season as many as 200 men were employed, 350 mules and 125 horses furnished the mobile power for the ranch.  Later as many as four threshing machines were kept busy bringing the crop in.

There were two sets of buildings, the main residence and the other one located five miles away, the present Doeling farm.  The Maurice Carr farm by Bordulac was the wintering place for the cattle.  Section I in Bordulac Township was the area used for herding the cattle.

The land was summer-fallowed every fourth year.  Diversification of crops was practiced too, so the land was kept in good shape for the people who wanted to buy it.  They were always willing to sell when the opportunity arose.  The sale price of the land was between $10 and $12 an acre in Foster County.

They used coal for fuel.  This was purchased for $3 a ton from the mines at Burlington and was delivered right to the farm.

Farming continued on the ranch until 1906 when the Company decided to dispose‑ of their holdings in the county and the big ranch was sold to L.B. Hanna of Fargo and Mr. George Palmer, who had been serving as the superintendent of the Ranch.  A few months later these men sold 17 sections to Senator Pierce and his associates, who formed the Ransom County Immigration Association.  This company proceeded to become active in farming and the selling of the land for years.

Hanna and Palmer retained the land in section 3331‑29‑Northeast 1/2 of 32, which included the ranch buildings.  They continued to farm as a partnership until 1919, during which time they divided the land.  Mr. Palmer kept the home place and a section and three quarters of land with Mr. F.F. Reimers as the manager.

Mr. Hanna inherited the Palmer Estate in 1933 and it became the Hanna Ranch.  Later this portion of the holdings was sold to F.F. Reimers.

For years the farm was known as the Hanna Stock farm, the former governor having stocked the farm with Aberdeen Angus cattle.  Upon the death of the former governor, the Hanna Estate had the farm for years with K.D. Hooten as manager.  In a span of about eight years the farm had a number of owners.  First Hooten bought the farm, but soon sold it to Lyle Dawson of Mandan.  Dawson sold the farm to David Johnson and the latter sold it to Darold Anderson.  This portion of the farm consisted of 960 acres on the east side of the road.  It became known as the Bordulac Stock Farm.
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Miles D. Carrington

Carrington, a prospering, growing city.  But what of the man behind the city, the man Carrington is named in honor of‑ Miles D. Carrington.

Carrington was born in Litchfield, Connecticut, January 1, 1823.  He died at Marseilles, France, March 22, 1887.  His father was a farmer in Connecticut.

The family moved to Oneida County, New York in 1840, remaining there until the death of his father in 1846 at the age of 55.

Miles' education was limited to the district school of the neighborhood.  His literary attainments were the results of his subsequent efforts amid the activities of his life.  He remained on the farm until he was 19 years old.  In 1842 he came West.  His first stop was in Hillsdale County, Mich. where he was variously employed for two years.  In 1844 he went to Goshen, Indiana where he spent three, years as a clerk in a store.  Being age 24 he decided to enter business for himself.  He opened a general store at Middlebury, Indiana.  In 1849 Theodore B. Casey became a partner.  This arrangement was continued with success until 1854 when the partners moved to Toledo, Ohio and the firm of Carrington and Casey opened a Grain and Commission House.  This business rapidly grew.  They built up a transportation interest on the Lakes, too.

In 1861 the Toledo Board of Trade was established and Mr. Carrington was one of the first directors.

He was married November 20, 1849 to Elizabeth M. Casey, a sister of Theodore Casey.  Mrs. Carrington was active in the establishment of the Protestant Orphans' Home.  She died August 17, 1886.

They had six children: Alice, Mrs. Charles Royce, New York; Kate, Mrs. Frederick Shoemaker, Toledo, Ohio; William T., Toledo; Annie, Mrs. John S. Hannah, Chicago; Zoe and Bessie, Toledo.
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Lyman R. Casey

Lyman R. Casey was born in 1837.  He died on January 25, 1914 at his home in Washington, D.C.  He was one of the first United States senators sent to Washington from North Dakota.  He served from 1889 to 1893.

He was a highly educated man and was very much interested in scientific agriculture.  He served as a member of the board of trustees of the North Dakota Agricultural College.

Mrs. Casey was a Platt from Baltimore before she was married; one of the prominent oyster families.

Mr. Casey was a linguist with a command of many different languages.  He was sent to Foster County to be manager of the Carrington‑Casey Land Company He platted out the cities of Melville, Bordulac and Carrington.  It was through his efforts that land was made available for the courthouse and churches in Carrington.  He used his energies to convince settlers to come to Foster County to make their homes.
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George D. Palmer

George D. Palmer was born in Wayne County, Mich. March 9, 1855.  He grew up on his family farm.  He came to North Dakota in 1884.  He was engaged in farming in Barnes County for three years.  His knowledge of the business and his business ability attracted the attention of the Carrington and Casey Company and they engaged him to manage their bonanza farm near Bordulac.  He remained as superintendent of this operation for eighteen years or until 1902.  He went into partnership with L.B. Hanna in 1906.  This partnership continued until 1919 when they divided the land.

He was married to Susie Armitage in Chicago in 1887.  He died in 1927.
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Farming as a Business in North Dakota.

The Record, Vol. 1, No. 12, June 1896, 

pp. 10‑12, 

by C.A. Lounsberry 

from the Press of Grant and Cook, 

Printers, Fargo

The Cost of Growing Wheat Demonstrated Business Methods in Farming‑ Flax, Poultry and Small Products Utilized‑ Practical Suggestions from a Practical Man‑ The Carrington & Casey Farms in North Dakota.

Farming has become a business in North Dakota.  Your genuine North Dakota farmer can tell you exactly how much it costs to raise an acre of wheat and the cost per bushel at any given yield under any ordinary circumstances.  He can tell you exactly as to the ordinary life of usefulness of a plow or any other agricultural implement; what is the more profitable feed for his animals, or grain to raise, and give you the exact profit or loss in any given year and the exact amount of his expenses in every department.  He knows exactly how many crops he can profitably raise without summer fallowing his land and what is best in the way of rotation.  He does not do anything in a haphazard way, but acts, under all circumstances, with deliberation, and rarely fails on his calculations.  The hot winds of summer or the biting frosts of autumn have had little of terror for the careful farmer of North Dakota.

In the early '80s M.D. Carrington and T.B. Casey, grain dealers, of Toledo, Ohio, became familiar with the James River Valley and in connection with their associations purchased large tracts of land in that region, principally in the vicinity of Melville and Carrington, and organized the Carrington & Casey Land Company, and Lyman R. Casey came to the then Territory of Dakota as general manager for that company.  It was under his advice that the company purchased large tracts in Foster County, a part of which has since been under cultivation and known as the Livingston farms.

They began by cropping 1,500 acres in 1884 and have gradually expanded their farms until in 1896 they have about 7,000 acres under cultivation and have broken 1,000 acres additional this year.

They had no intention to carry on a large farm or any farm.  In 1883 they began by breaking from forty to sixty acres on each of many quarter sections intending to sell the lands thus partially improved to new settlers, but the times having changed they were obliged to crop these various tracts in order to utilize the money that had been expended for breaking.  The experiment proved profitable and additions have been made from time to time in the amount under cultivation, and profit has resulted from every year's operations.

As to the cost of growing wheat, Mr. Casey says:
"Wages should be charged for all labor involved, whether it be hired or contributed by the farmer himself or members of his family, and if for home labor the charge should be only for full time and necessary work.  The farmer should not value his personal services too high, for they may not have been altogether productively applied.  Time spent in talking politics and in recreation ought not to be charged to farm expense.  Interest on investment and the wear and tear of machinery and the value of domestic services should be charged as a part of the cost.  Taking fifteen bushels as a basis I estimate that wheat can be raised at an average cost of about $5.25 per acre.  For a larger yield must be added for each bushel in excess of 15 about 8 cents for threshing and 2 cents for incidentals, say 10 cents for each additional bushel per acre.  The average cost would then be as follows:

	15 bu to the acre, per bushel
	35¢

	18 bu to the acre, per bushel
	31¢

	20 bu to the acre, per bushel 
	29¢

	25 bu to the acre, per bushel
	25¢

	30 bu to the acre, per bushel
	22½¢


"Do not forget that this estimate is based on the exercise of proper economy and excludes any family expenses not within the limits of plain, substantial living.  It assumes no charges to the farm other than strictly business charges; on the other hand, some farmers with tact and others who scrimp, and still others who labor, as we say, 'day and night;' will raise wheat cheaper."
Mr. Casey continued: "Our farms have been and continue to be profitable, even with the low prices of wheat in these later years.  It is a matter of experience and close calculation.  We try to carry on our farming operations as systematically as a factory would be run, cutting corners and avoiding waste.  We raise on the farm everything possible which the farm consumes.  We seek to keep every man and our team force all the season productively occupied.  We make our employees comfortable, but we admit no fancy attachments, no frills or furbelows.  The whole outfit is for business.  We have learned as we have gone along, and I can conduct the business cheaper and easier than when I began.  We have, as a rule, paid our men higher wages than have been paid in the Red River Valley, but, while many larger farms in various parts of the state have complained of loss, we have made money farming.

Of course it is not all management.  Our lands are of superior quality, and we have escaped losses by frost and hail.  And I give great credit to the loyal and intelligent co‑operation of our farm superintendent and other assistants.

"We have made wheat our great staple, but flax growing has been a profitable feature.  It may be well to say a word about flax.

"From continued experience I am convinced that flax growing, properly carried on, is no detriment to the soil.  In fact, an occasional crop, I believe, is beneficial.  But successive crops should not be grown on the same piece of land.  Recent and exact experiments at the agricultural colleges have demonstrated the fact that flax stubble in process of decomposition is poisonous in its effects on vegetation, but much more so to flax plants than to any other.  In our experience the benefits of rotation have seemed to more than neutralize any deleterious effects on wheat.  On our farms a flax crop generally precedes summer fallowing, but in instances we have found wheat to follow flax to advantage.

Many farmers avoid flax as a crop because it is more troublesome to grow and requires more care than wheat.  Some thresher men refuse to thresh flax.  As we have our own machines that does not trouble us.  As flax becomes a more general crop owners of threshing outfits will probably find it to their interest to thresh it, as indeed most of them do now.  When we have a few tow mills in the James River Valley to consume flax straw there will be an added profit of $2 to $3 per acre in growing flax.  I believe North Dakota should become the great flax growing state of the union.  It is, in my mind, the great alternative crop with wheat for our soil and climate, and farmers should raise it for the money there is in it, as a proper diversification and by way of having eggs in two baskets rather than all in one.

"In connection with our farms we maintain a small herd of cattle and every year turn off a few hogs.  Every farmer, small or large, should raise his own meat, and the steer and the shoat should be well bred.  Nothing else pays.  Poultry is one of the most useful and most neglected adjuncts of North Dakota farms.  But scrub chickens are as bad economy as scrub cattle or hogs.

"We find the Plymouth Rocks an excellent all‑round fowl.  In any case, mixing breeds is a mistake in my opinion.  Like any other feature of the farms the poultry should have intelligent study ‑ on the one hand to get the best results in eggs and meat; on the other, to stop short of the fancy feature, which is not likely to pay the ordinary farmer.  The domestic fowl is a natural scavenger and will very nearly live on what would otherwise be wasted, while an occasional meal of eggs or chicken is a grateful change of food to the farm laborer.

"It is sometimes claimed that the large farms are an injury to the state.  I do not believe any thoughtful man, unless he is sympathetic with the advocates of the doctrine that 'Property is a crime, ' will make that claim because he must see that, while hundreds of thousands of acres of fertile land await occupancy by small farmers, it is better that the farms cultivated by large owners shall not remain non-productive area.  When the demand for homes calls for the cutting up of the large farms the case may be different.  Meantime it certainly is better that men be employed, that money be spent for commodities; teat transportation interests be made important, and that taxes be paid: all of which are incident to such industrial undertakings as ours."
The Record visited the farms of Messrs. Carrington & Casey on the 16th inst. and caused photographs to be taken of the several features of the farm.  These are presented herewith.  Last year they had 3,000 acres of wheat, which yielded twenty-three bushels per acre.  This yield, according to Mr. Casey's estimate, would cost $6.05 per acre.  The price at harvest was about 47 cents per bushel.  This would have given a profit of $4.76 per acre or 10 per cent of $47.50 per acre.

It was found that non‑resident owners of land were able to make contracts for raising wheat upon their lands at $5.75 per acre, the wheat to be delivered in the elevator at the station.  Therefore Mr. Casey's estimate of $6.05 was within safe lines.  This year they have 4000 acres of wheat and 2,000 acres of oats, barley, flax, etc., determined, as Mr. Casey said, not to be caught with their eggs all in one basket.

In the equipment of the farm there are 100 head of workhorses and among them about 20 brood mares, Percheron being the chosen blood.  There are about 100 head of cattle shown in the cut in connection of the farm of T.D. Lewis, which immediately adjoins the Carrington & Casey farms.  There are also about 100 hogs.  From 40 to 50 men are employed for the season and during the busy portion of the harvest 100 or more.  In addition to the usual farm buildings; including residence of the superintendent and his office and the dormitory and dining hall for the men, the several large barns for stock, machinery halls, hog pens, henneries, refrigerators, etc., there are two elevators with a capacity each of 40,000 bushels, and a large number of small granaries, holding a car load each, which may be moved into the fields on skids and receive the wheat directly from the machines, thus requiring less help to handle the grain during the threshing season. There are 24 binders, 7 headers, 2 threshing machines, 20 gangplows, 14 drills, wagons, harrows, etc.  There are two sets of buildings, the second being five miles away as the farm extends seven miles north and six miles east and west.  It differs from some of the other large farms from the fact that they conscientiously refrained from effort to secure control of the even as well as the odd sections, the latter having been purchased from the railroad company.  The former are occupied by settlers who secured title direct from the government.

From the beginning the Carrington & Casey have offered lands for sale.

Said Mr. Casey: "We have sold our lands in Foster County generally at $10 to $12 per acre, and purchasers from us have prospered.  In 1890, we sold one-quarter section with 83 acres broken at $10 per acre and $3 added for each acre broken.  The first crop off 83 acres was sufficient to pay for the 160 acres."
The superintendent of the farm is George D. Palmer, who comes from Illinois.  He regards the land in Foster County as wonderfully productive, fully equal to the best in Illinois.

The fuel used on the Carrington & Casey farms is lignite coal from the mines at Burlington, near Minot, on the "Soo".  It costs not to exceed $3 per ton laid down on the farm and one ton is quite equal to two cords of wood.

Hon. Lyman R. Casey was elected United States senator upon the organization of the state of North Dakota and served till the end of his term when he was succeeded by a democrat, through the fusion of the democrats and populists, aided by seven republicans.  He was a most conscientious and faithful representative.  He is now a member of the board of trustees of the North Dakota Agricultural College and in that position, as in the other, loses no opportunity to advance the agricultural interests of the state in which he is so deeply interested.
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Pioneers

First Arrivals to Foster County

What is a "Pioneer"?  The World Dictionary describes a pioneer: "1. As a person who settled in a part of the country that has not been occupied before except by primitive tribes; 2. a person who goes first or does something first, and so prepares the way for others."
What was it like to be a pioneer in Foster County?  How did they survive all the hazards of living in an unsettled area?  How did they get here from all parts of the world?  How do you make a living from land that is all covered with virgin prairie?
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Why Did They Come to Foster County?

Various reasons may be sighted why these people left the settled areas of the world to come to a remote area that had seen very few people other than Indians.  Some of these early visitors were surveyors who were mapping out the country so the railroad could build their line across the United States, thus connecting the West with the East.  As the railroad was being built, towns were plotted up to provide the facilities to keep the trains running.  People were needed to operate these towns as well as to use the railroad for the various services it could provide such as passenger and freight.  In order to get settlers to come, the Railroad put on an extensive campaign of selling the area to people all over the world.

The drop in the value of railroad stocks, which was worth little or nothing, made it possible for people who owned these stocks to exchange them for railroad land in Foster County.

"A large amount of the indemnity lands in the vicinity of Melville and Carrington had been bought some time previous to 1882 by Carrington and Casey under the management of Mr. L.R. Casey.  This became known as the Carrington‑Casey Land Company.  Carrington was platted during the latter part of the summer of 1882.  Late in the fall the lots were placed on sale and quite a large number were sold at the first offering.  Carrington was named for the senior member of the firm."  (H.A. Soliday report.)

With the enactment of the Homestead Act by the United States Government, land was made available to any one who was willing to live on it and make improvements.

Cheap land, a chance to own a parcel of land all your own; a challenge to develop a new area from scratch; an opportunity to start a new life; a way to get some money out of the worthless railroad stocks; freedom from persecution of governments in other countries, are some of the reasons the settlers came to Foster County.

While many of the first arrivals were actually homeseekers, some did not intend to make permanent homes but rather file on government lands and sell their rights for the best price obtainable and pass along to new fields.  Those that came for that purpose did not remain long.

And so they came from all states in the union of mixed nationalities and almost every country on the globe.  Some came in groups and some came individually to get settled and then send for their families.  They were genial, hospitable and generous people, alive to enterprise and ready to perform an honorable part in the promotion of the best interests of the homebuilders.  Honesty and integrity constituted the parallels between which they moved.
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How Did They Come?

Prior to 1882 there were no settlements in Foster County except two or three families on the old Jamestown and Fort Totten Trail.  Mr. Larrabee and Mr. Bowman, with their families had settled there at an earlier date.

The Jamestown Northern Railway was completed in Carrington late in the fall of 1882.  Foster County being in the Northern Pacific indemnity limits left but one half of the lands, or only the even numbered sections, available for filing homestead or timber culture entry by the home seeker.
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Some Early Reminiscences of Carrington

By Mrs. JR MacKenzie

The quotation of Horace Greeley: "Ho!  Westward the star of Empire takes its way, "directly had a great magnetism for and made a deep impression upon my father, for in my very early childhood I remember hearing him discuss with my mother the great possibilities of the west, and the advisability of moving the family to North Dakota.  Acting upon this impulse he started on a prospecting tour to North Dakota in August 1882, arriving at Jamestown and making that little town his headquarters.  So favorable was his impression of the state and its prospects that he decided to send for the family, consisting of my mother, brother and myself.  We left our home in Canton, Ohio, then a beautiful little city of 40,000 inhabitants, where I had spent most of my life, and arrived in Jamestown on a bleak November day.  We were met at the train by my father and were taken to the Dakota House, one of the pioneer hotels of Jamestown, until a suitable place of residence could be secured.  Our residence in Jamestown was to be only temporary however, as my father had already driven over Foster County and had decided to locate in Carrington, which was only a blue print at this time and a town in name only, as the lots were not yet on sale.  After seeing us comfortably settled in rooms for the winter and having secured the lots he desired at the opening sale, my father and brother, George started with two other carpenters north to Carrington, the town on paper for the purpose of erecting a building suitable for the mercantile business into which he intended to embark.  The Northern Pacific railroad at that time was built as far north as Carrington and they had been able to secure the necessary material.  They had only been gone a few days, however, long enough to erect the crudest kind of a shack in which to live, when even though a very little girl and not realizing at all the great change that had come into my life by this transplanting from the beautiful and finished state of Ohio to this seemingly barren, desolate waste and primitive country.  I could see in my mother's face a line of sadness and discontent which reached the climax when it was authoratively given out by the railroad officials, that the next train would be the last until spring.

It was January.  It didn't take my mother long to decide that it would be impossible for us to remain in Jamestown and my father and brother forty miles north with all communication cut off until spring.  Everything was hastily packed and we boarded this last train, which consisted of one freight caboose and several freight cars loaded with supplies.  There were ten or twelve passengers, all men with the exception of us, most of them coming up to put the "finishing touches" to some of their plans and expecting to make the return trip.  They proved to be a most chivalrous lot of gentlemen such as Mr. C.K. Wing who was one of them, also Mr. F.H. Anson, traveling passenger agent of the Wisconsin Central R.R. His mission up here was to see that all the squatters he had paid to squat on land and hold it for him, were squatting where he told them to, he having taken, or rather laid claim, in this way to every valuable piece of land around Carrington, including the Soliday farm adjoining Carrington on the east, on a portion of which Fairview now stands. But he was a right royal good fellow anyway and we were the best of friends.  That was indeed a memorable trip.  Everything went lovely until we struck the cut near Pingree where we encountered a perfect mountain of a snowdrift which with the facilities at hand proved to be positively impenetrable.  We therefore were forced to go back to Jamestown that night and start again the next morning with the addition of a crew of snow shovelers.  As we struck this cut the second time we again came to a stop and there we remained three days and three nights while a fierce blizzard raged without and the thermometer at the lowest point seemingly.  These poor men shoveled snow in their desperate efforts to penetrate this drift until their hands and faces were frozen.  Then the engine would make an effort to get through and then back up against the train with a terrific bump.  Fortunately there were some provisions on the train, such as they were, namely a barrel of prunes, a barrel of crackers and some fresh buffalo meat.  My mother played the part of the Good Samaritan and did all she could to provide something for these poor hungry men to eat.  Among the few treasures she brought from our Ohio home was a tea set of gold band china, that happened to be on the train, and was unpacked and brought into service; a temporary table was improvised, and as the men cut the buffalo meat into steak she fried it on top of the little heating stove in the corner of the caboose.  This constant bumping of the engine against the grain was quite disastrous to the gold band china and when we came to our journey's end only a few pieces remained.

However, after these trying three days and nights, we finally got through the snowdrift, the storm subsided and everything was as calm and serene as a morning in June.  We arrived in Carrington about nine o'clock that evening, and as we were not expected we were not met at the train, but alighted some where on the top of a snow bank, about where the section‑house now stands, and of all forlorn looking perspectives!  It was a beautiful clear, moonlight night, and there was nothing in sight but banks and banks of snow and the tops of two little miserable shanties, one of which belonged to Messrs. Warring and Harriman, two young real estate men, and the other was our future home, which stood where the Guslander hotel now is.  As there were no nameplates on the door we entered the one belonging to the real estate firm first, and found these two young men who had come from homes of plenty in the east, trying to prepare their evening meal which consisted principally of one big biscuit.  I guess you would call it a "hoe cake" which they had been trying to bake for the past two hours on the top of the stove.  The look of astonishment, yes, well I call it joy, that came into their faces, as they saw us enter and caught sight of a woman and a little girl is never to be forgotten.  They proceeded to escort us over to our new home, where we found my father and brother living in just the same way.  These same young men made their home with us the rest of the winter, and we found them such perfect gentlemen and so helpful in every way.  Of course we had plenty of provisions, but potatoes for instance were frozen as hard as brickbats and we kept them out of doors in a snow bank all winter.  All the water we had was melted snow.  As there was a stage line established after the trains were abandoned, people, that is, men, kept coming to see this wonderful town all winter, and as there was no other place for them to go "after being deposited on a snow bank", they came to our house.  Everything was free for a time until my father saw only bankruptcy ahead.  It was very expensive having provisions brought from Jamestown by way of a stage.

He made one trip to Jamestown for provisions and before the week was gone they were also gone.  I do not think the "inter state commerce law" regulated the prices on freight at that time, as my father had the stage man bring him a door from Jamestown, which he was very much in need of and for which he taxed him ten dollars freight for bringing.  Such were the conditions of the first year in Carrington, that is the winter of 1882‑83.  However, we were blessed with health and able to endure.

"In the spring of 1883 settlers began to arrive in great numbers; trains were loaded to full capacity and all manners of vehicles, usually called "prairie schooners" propelled by any kind of four footed beast, from the Texas Steer to the bucking bronco, could be seen on the plains to the south laboriously winding their way into the open lands in Foster County.  Those coining in their own conveyances usually brought their entire possessions, together with their families, making wagons their domicile until such time as they could locate a homestead and erect some kind of a building, usually a shack, to house their families and effects."  (H A. Soliday)

Some of the very first pioneers in the area rode the train as far as Jamestown, then took horses and wagons north to Foster County.  They used various methods to find the land they wanted, as the county had not been surveyed.

Peter Zink tied a rope around the wheel of his wagon.  With each revolution of the wheel a mark was made and the revolutions were counted.  They had figured so many revolutions to the mile.  When John Bort and the Holcomb brothers arrived they came as far as the Zink shack then used a tape measure to where they had decided to settle.  They had previously gone through the area and tested the soil by taking scoopfuls of land.  When the survey was completed they found that they were east of the town but otherwise were close to being correct.

Many of the settlers came by train.  What was it like to ride on these overcrowded cars?
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Emmigrant Trains

Traveling on an Emmigrant train in the "Boom" days left much to be desired.  The settlers were packed into cars for hours with no space in which to lie down to rest.  The only food they had to eat is whatever supplies that they may have brought along with them when boarding the train.  The trains that came into Carrington in those days were so packed people were actually hanging on the sides of the cars.

Willhelm Kallberg and his family boarded the train in New York for Minnesota.  They bought a small supply of food in New York but that was soon depleted.  The crackers brought with them from the boat trip across the ocean were the only food they had for the rest of their journey.

When they reached St. Paul, Mrs. Kallberg tried to buy some milk for her children.  St. Paul at this time was a settlement of log cabins.  She went from house to house with no success‑ one man did offer her some boiled potatoes, which she took gratefully.
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Traveling by Boat to the New World

Wilhelm Kallberg left Stockholm, Sweden in 1869 at the age of six with his parents.  When he first came to Foster County he worked on railroad crew that was building the tracks north of Jamestown to Carrington.  Later he homesteaded in Longview Township in 1884.  He recalled his trip across the ocean.

"Because of financial difficulties in Sweden the Kallbergs decided to leave the country and go to Minnesota Territory where there was a settlement of Swedish people.

In the spring of 1869 they sold what possessions they had and, taking only their personal belongings, embarked from Stockholm on a sailing vessel bound for America.  The boat was crowded with Swedish families emigrating to America to make new homes.  The first night out at sea a terrific storm came up, sending most of the passengers to their bunks for the remainder of the trip.

Although he was only six years old at that time, Will can still clearly recall the extreme seasickness of the passengers.  He and another boy about his age were not sick, however, and they had a great time on the boat.  They were quite free to do as they wished, as their parents were not able to watch them closely.  One day they climbed up on the cable which ran around the sides of the boat for steering purposes.  When found they were made to remember this incident in a forceful manner because one jerk of the cable would have sent them into the ocean.

The passengers were allowed a limited amount of luggage on the boat, a certain number of meals and also some crackers and water.  They were not feeling well enough to partake of much of the food so hid the crackers away in their belongings for future use.

The boat landed in New York harbor three weeks after leaving Stockholm."
(Taken from a report by Mrs. Wm. Smith)
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Transportation
Early Days

Dog Sledge: was built like a toboggan‑ with a flat bottom and guard or dashboard in the front.  It was wide enough to seat one person and long enough so he could recline if desired.  The driver could jump off and on going at high speed.

The passengers wrapped in furs which would keep them warm and comfortable up to 75 to 90 miles a day.  Usually there would be three dogs and a driver.  Some of them had as high as 25 sledges in a train.  The dogs were held in check by a strong cord attached to their heads.  They responded to a motion of a whip or hand to indicate the direction.  Every dog knew his name and all of them became attached to their master, especially if they were well treated.  They were fed a pound of pemmican a day.  The trained leader was worth $20, others from $8‑10.  Their life of usefulness on the train ran from eight to ten years.  A dog sledge could carry 400 pounds.  They were used for freight and passengers.

This type of sledge was used on the Fort Totten Trail in the wintertime.

Travois: A travois was two poles 16 feet long, fastened to a pony with the rear dragging on the ground.  A bar fastened them together and they made a comfortable carriage.  They could be used to transport up to 400 pounds.  A woman, two or three children with baggage.  They were also called traville.  The travois was often used by the Indians on their trips across the county going from one reservation to the other.

Red River Cart: First appeared in 1801.  It was made entirely of wood.  The spokes were placed perpendicularly without the least leaning outward.  They had a four-inch wheel.  It could carry 400 pounds and was drawn by one horse, or ox, or cow.  Sometimes there would be 25‑50 in a train and sometimes 300.
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Stage Coaches and Transportation Companies

They were organized extensively to furnish travel from one outpost to another.

The sleds of the pioneers were nearly all homemade affairs.  Many of them were boxed or covered with canvas and some had stoves.  When making long drives large stones kept for the purpose were heated and wrapped in blankets and placed in their rig as foot‑stools.  Some carried lanterns between their feet which kept them warm all day.

Mrs. Berg tells this story: "Dad would put fresh straw in the bottom of the bob sled and we took heated flat irons heated on the kitchen range to keep our feet warm, then we wrapped ourselves in horsehide robes.  Our horses sleigh always had bells on and sometime we kids would run along back of the sled or ride on the runners."
Riding horses was the way most people got around before the advent of the autos.  Mrs. Posey has this account:

"The boys as a matter of course rode and a girl who could not was not counted much.  That was the common mode on conveyance in those days.  It seems as I look back that we all lived quite a distance from each other and from school.

"Most of us rode to school and at noon we rode to the nearest watering place, generally racing there and back.  As there were some pretty good specimens of horseflesh our races were by no means tame affairs.  The balance of the noon hour we rode some more but this was fancy riding standing up, lying down, backwards, sideways, and on our knees or picking up something from the ground while our horses were going at a gallop: One of the girls could ride her pony full gallop standing straight up.  Although we were real envious and tried our best to follow her example, the best we could do was a trot.

"A 20 or 30 mile ride was nothing.

"Driving was another accomplishment in which girls were more proficient in the old days.  We drove anything and everything.  Our horses were mostly of the bronco breed, so we learned in the hard school but a good one.  They were just as likely to jump over the neck‑yoke or straddle the tongue, or kick everything to pieces as to go as they were supposed to.

"There were always colts to break which added to the fun but as they were partly of eastern blood, they were comparatively tame.  I remember one colt my sister and I broke to drive with a bronco pony.  We hitched them to a hayrack and away they went.  Just hit the high spots, as they say now.  We dashed into a neighbor's yard where I managed to stop about a second, when away they flew.  The farmer's wife saw us and ran yelling that we would be killed.

"By the time the men got out we were off on the prairie where the horses stopped of their own accord.  My sister was sitting straddle of the reach, the rack was up on the colt's hips, and I nearly lost my brains when the heavy standard fell on my head.  The men straightened us out and we started again.  They ran but we had no more trouble and the colt turned out to be a fine dependable horse.

"Another time I started out to take the teacher to school with a pony I was breaking to drive single.  She went all right until we reached the railroad.  She jumped the firebreak then the track, then the other fire‑break in quick succession and then let out at about a three-minute gait, spilling books and dinner pails, and I'd have lost the teacher, too, if she had not held on like grim death.  She was game and never said a word but was very glad to get out safely and did not care to ride behind that pony again.  I never did get her broken so that she was safe.

"The funniest ride I ever took, though, was on a cow.  I had taken the cattle to a neighbor's to water and when I jumped off the pony, neglected to throw the reins over her head.  When I was through drawing water she was gone.  Nothing but a young Holstein cow left.  I though I would rather ride her than walk.  I wished I had walked before I got home.  She behaved very well until I met our chore boy (he always managed to lag behind, so I would have to draw the water) with the dog.  The dog chased the cow awhile, then the cow chased the dog.

"Well, I kept sliding farther up on her neck all the time until I was sitting on her head.  Then I dropped off.  That boy certainly had a good laugh.

"Riding has always been one of my greatest pleasures and all of my girl friends rode so we had many pleasant and jolly rides together.  We never stopped for roads.  Western ponies rarely step in holes so we were safe enough.  I have been bucked off and thrown off and just plain fallen off but never was badly hurt."
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The Prairie Schooner

Westward we rolled o'er the prairie, 
Riding from daybreak till night, 
No town in which we may tarry, 
No friendly cabins in sight.

Hardship is ever before us, 
Sickness and dangers assail, 
Storms and tornadoes break o'er us, 
Still we ride over the trail.

Far from the cities we're rolling, 
Neighbors and friends left behind, 
Only the bright hope consoling, 
New lands and homes we may find.

Wagon wheels, firm and strong, 
Ride o'er desert and plain, 
All day long, roll along, 
Through the sunshine and rain.
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Prairie Schooner or Covered Wagon

Many settlers would ride the train as far as they could to a certain destination and then take a covered wagon or "Prairie Schooner" for the remainder of the trip to their new location in Foster County.

The Prairie Schooner's hull or foundation was a double box 12 1/2 feet long and usually 3 1/2 feet wide.  Some pioneers extended the upper box a foot on each side and supported it with iron braces.  A wagon wheel stretched over four or five good elm braces covered the box.

Behind the box was a packing case with front, rear or sides having slots or covered with woven wire.  This coop was used to haul maybe a dozen hens, the nucleus for a flock.  When they would stop to rest at night the chickens were let out to hunt grasshoppers and other insects.  When it was dark they would fly up to the box and they would be locked up for the night.

On top of the hen‑cop was piled chairs, stovepipes, and other light bulky articles.  Boxes were fastened outside the wagon at every convenient place to carry tools, cooking utensils and other articles.

It was not uncommon to see a cow and sometimes a hog-tied to the rear of the wagon.
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Our Trip to North Dakota

Here is a story by Gertie Whipple Schlotman and her family and their experiences traveling in a covered wagon from Holt County, Missouri.

In the early spring of 1899 Dad began to assemble the equipment to move to North Dakota.  We had two covered wagons, one with canvas over.  We had three mules and two gray mares and a bay team to pull the wagons.

The wagon that always took the lead was an ordinary wagon box with sideboards, had a canvas cover stretched over iron hoops fastened to the wagon box tight to keep out rain, wind and any weather we might encounter.  This wagon was pulled by four good sturdy mules called Kate, Jin, Snap and Cricket.  This Snap and Cricket are the young mules Alfred had broken the year before.  This wagon was loaded with dishes, bedding, some meat, canned goods and such articles.  Then a bed was made on top of the boxes for Alfred and Frank Partch who drove the second wagon; it was loaded with furniture, had a box on the side with some hens in, they laid eggs on the way.

A team of small brown mules pulled this wagon.

The third wagon was constructed a little differently; it was as wide as a hayrack with part of the bed of it set between the wheels on each side, built up a foot or so, so as to clear the wheels.  We had a cook stove, a box we called the breadbox, had salt, sugar, lard etc. in it for safekeeping.  We had a keg to fill with water for cooking and drinking.  In the back of this wagon was a bunk bed the size of a regular bed.  Dad, Mother and Ralph slept in the upper bunk, Edith, Zelna, Georgia, and I slept crosswise in the lower bunk.

We all had the three-day measles on the way; Alfred getting them first then Frank Partch.  Dad drove Alfred's team and wagon while I drove Dad's, then when Frank got them I drove his team, so the boys could stay in their bed and keep warm.  Then us girls and Ralph all had them at once so we stayed in our beds.  This all happened about the second week we were on the road.

I don't remember the exact date we left Holt County, Mo. but it must have been the 18th or 19th of April, 1899; from where we started near Squaw Creek schoolhouse across to the Missouri River bottom, was very hilly, not so many miles.  We camped near Craig, Mo. if I remember correctly.  Samuel Weavers lived near there and we camped in their yard.

Well anyway, we got a good start but it snowed and rained before we got to Council Bluffs, making the road icy and slippery going around the hill.  The two first wagons could make it all right but the road being narrow and the back wagon so wide it was hard to keep the side of the wagon from hitting the bluffs or if we got too far out, we'd go over the side down the hill.  But Dad had me drive the team that was hitched to the wagon tongue, was told to keep them as close inside as possible without hitting the ban, then he drove the lead team, swinging them out and in to keep us going.  I was glad when we got past those bluffs; we soon came to the City of Council Bluffs.  Dad decided to get the mules and horses in a livery stable to stay over Sunday until the weather cleared.  He didn't want the animals to get distemper on the start of our journey.  I remember we got the wagons in the stable also, so we were snug and warm.  Then on Monday we started north again.  We girls went window-shopping on Sunday in Council Bluffs.  It is only about 18 or 20 miles from there to Missouri Valley.  We drove right by Uncle Charlie Haight's front door, but of course didn't know them then.  We drove west of Missouri Valley to California Junction then camped overnight.  The highway from Missouri Valley goes much the same way now as it did in 1899.  At Sargent Bluffs just south of Sioux City it is exactly the same.  I think it probably was about three days journey from Missouri Valley to Sioux City.  When we were rounding a corner of a bluff a train came screeching towards us, (road was right by the railroad track) scaring Alfred's team, those young mules of his took a dive to the side of the road almost turning the wagon into the ditch.  Dad, Alfred and Frank Partch stood on the upper side of the wagon while I drove the team back up on the road.  I wasn't afraid of frisky mules those days.

Then going up over a hill into the city where the road went over the railroad on an overpass we'd call it now, an engine went puffing under the bridge just when Dad drove the team over.  Old Ellie and Dutch were the lead team.  They got so scared they turned right around by the side of the other team.  We thought the tongue would break.  Dad got them straightened out.  We went on through the city.  We thought Sioux City was a big one, it was then, and it is still bigger now.  We went into South Dakota at the northwest corner of the city, drove a few miles then camped for the night.

The Missouri River also the Big Sioux was flooding that spring of 1899.  The water was running down the ditches on the side of the road.  We camped about a mile from the river that night.  Alfred and Frank Partch went over to the river.  Great chunks of earth were falling into the water.  We could hear the roar of the water and trees falling.  The boys had just moved away from the river when the chunk they had been standing on, fell into the river.  Mother was glad when they came back to camp.  We knew how treacherous that old river is, though now in 1964 the river has been harnessed with dams so it won't do the damage it once did.

We could not go west to Yankton like Dad had planned so turned around and went back.  I think we got as far as Vermillion.  We then went north to Parker crossing Vermillion River two or three times, it was at flood stage also.  Dad would go ahead of the wagons to see if the bridges were safe, then I'd have to drive his team.  We crossed one bridge that had no banisters.  I was so scared, afraid the horse might crowd each other too far to one side, then we would go into the water, but we got across safely.  The mules always crowd to the center so wouldn't get too close to the edge.

We usually traveled along side of the railroad tracks, as that is where the road usually went, no marked out roads, just trails across the prairie.  We would pick up chunks of coal along the railroad to burn in our stove.

One night we were camped by the railroad when a train went roaring by, blowing the shrill stream whistle, scaring the horses and mules, which were on picket ropes.  They pulled the picket pins out of the ground running back down the road.  I remember Dad was afraid they'd keep going until they got clear back to Missouri; when morning came, Dad, Alfred and Frank went back to look for them.  They had stopped at a farm.  Were we ever glad to find them so soon!  We could then go on without losing much time.

I could name every town we went through for several years but now I only remember the larger ones; from Missouri, first was Craig, then Corning, Council Bluffs, Missouri Valley and Sioux City, Iowa; Vermillion, Centerville, Parker, Mitchell and Huron in South Dakota, then almost straight north for about 3 or 4 days missing about 6 towns by half a mile.  We drove into Claremont to get water for horses, camped that night.  We saw our first artesian well, but so disappointing, all of that water flowing out of the ground but tasting so much like Sulphur one couldn't drink it.

While we were traveling across South Dakota Alfred came down with what we called then Spanish American measles.  It was just after the Spanish-American War in Cuba.  Then Frank got them so I had to drive his team, then all four of us girls and Ralph got them.  We stayed in bed about three days.  We all got along good without complications.

When coming into the town of Heckla, South Dakota we saw our first horseless carriage, that was quite a thrill.  This was the latter part of April 1899.

One night in northern South Dakota, Dad tried to buy hay for the horses, but the man wouldn't sell us any so we just took enough for our horses and mules for one night; that is the only time in all of the travels we ever or at least Dad ever took anything.  We could buy grain in sacks, carry along in the wagons but not the hay.  Dad always fed his horses good, as he wanted them to be able to do a good day's work.

Then from Heckla, South Dakota we went to Oakes and LaMoure, then following the James River several little towns such as Adrian, Montpelier, Ypsilanti, Dickey, and right through the State Hospital grounds into Jamestown, on up to Buchanan going as far north as near Edmunds, then taking across country hitting towards our claim out in Haven Township, finally coming to the home of brother and sister Alfred Kreps, at that time down just west of what you children know as the Petra farm south of Niccums place, though at that times people by the name of Wagner had taken that claim.

We camped in Brother Krep's yard that night, had supper and breakfast with them.  After supper the men took pitchforks and went over to the ripples on the Kelly Creek, got enough sauger fish for breakfast.  The fish were going upstream running over the riffles.  We thought they were pretty good too, but now I'd rather have a northern.

The next morning we went on about 7 1/4 miles straight north to the claim Dad had filed on the year before and where he and Alfred had built a house in 1898, which we were to call our home."
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The Little Boy Who Hitched on Behind 

A Simple, True Tale by C.A. Stone

In a rambling old house, where the mountain slopes down 
On Connecticut's rough soil, in old Sharon Town, 
A man and wife lived, had their own little world
With a group of five boys, and three little girls.
''Hie away to the store now, " the fond mother‑ said
To the fifth of the group, a wild rattle'd head, 
"This is the season you love best of the year, "
When cousins are coming, and Christmas draws near, 
And I'm wanting some spices and raisins, to make
For you and your cousins, a nice Christmas cake.
Take your sled if you wish, no doubt you will find
Some one will invite you to hitch on behind.'
Away went the lad, light hearted and gay, 
But all of the teams passed him by on the way, 
Until an old man with a one‑horse sleigh and load
Pulled up and sat eyeing the boy by the road.
And that lad ne'er forgot his kind look when he said
"Come on, little sonny, hitch on your red sled." 
Then glanced down and smiled with eyes full of glee, 
While I bowed to him, and he nodded to me. 
And said, "Get up, Mollie, you're dreadful lazy inclined, 
But that boy can't pass us 'cause he's hitched on behind."
What a ride that boy had all the way 'round
The winding hillside, then up, up into town. 
The old man held up Mollie while the boy loosed his sled, 
And thanked him very kindly, when he laughingly said: 
"Git along to the store now, you bright little elf, 
Don't you know I was a little boy once myself 
And loved an old neighbor who treated me kind, 
For he held up his team while I 'hitched on behind."'
Then the boy fell to musing o'er an admonition at school, 
When the teacher said, "All boys should live by the golden rule." 
And wondered if the rule filled the old man with joy, 
And made him kind, and considerate to the little boy. 
And he said he was sure there would ne'er come a day
When a man of that kind passed the school with a sleigh, 
Had need to be watching, or trembling with fear
Lest a water‑soaked snow ball come biff 'against his ear, 
For all of the boys, who by nature refined, 
Loved the man who said cheerfully "hitch on behind."
My! how time flies, that little boy with the sled
Wandered out to the west, and the old man is dead, 
For many long years have rolled on since that day, 
And that little boy now is old, crippled and gray, 
Jus' "Biding his time, " while there's much he regrets
Just a trying his best, until life's sun shall set, 
But when he goes riding there comes to his mind
That old man and the little boy who "hitched on behind."
(Mr. Stone was Mrs. Walter Cruchet's father)
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Mrs. Ralph Hall Stories

Mrs. Ralph Hall writes of her experiences in this new place they call Foster County:

"The early eighties witnessed in Dakota Territory, particularly in the northern part, a development the like of which was never known before and will never be experienced again.  The Railroads exploited the new country all over the world, and the Dakota boomer worked with so much enthusiasm that he became celebrated.  One of these boomers came to our hometown just at a time when we were forced to seek a change of climate on account of my mother's health.  So what more natural than that we should try the wonderful recuperative power of Dakota pure air.

Arriving in Jamestown we were compelled to drive the rest of the way and certainly thought we had reached the Arctic region, for Carrington‑ just a few dingy buildings‑ was half buried in snow, although it was the first of April.

It was customary for every man and woman who had the right to file on as many claims as possible, and we like all the rest acquired the land fever, but every quarter with a radius of 15 miles of town was taken before the land was in market, consequently, one must purchase a relinquishment from the squatter before one could file.  So we bought our relinquishments and went to Fargo ourselves to file when the land was thrown open.  I will never forget the excited mob that poured in the night before, and how my heart sank when we went down to the land office at what seemed to me an unearthly hour, to find a long line of men and women waiting for the window to open.  It wasn't long that we had to wait because a friend, who was connected with the office, interceded for us and on account of mother we were taken in the office and allowed to file just the instant it was legal, and just as the window was open, we were spared the tedious waiting.

We returned immediately so we might establish our residence by staying overnight on the claims.  We were given a tip that they were going to be jumped.  While we didn't care for the land we were in the fight, so we hired a team and driver, and loaded up with provisions, gasoline stove, and bedding, and by the time we reached the claim it was dark, but we thought we knew the exact location of the shack and could easily find it.  After driving around for about an hour we had to return home and make the trip the next morning; when we found a jumper had demolished our shack and hauled one of his own on to the opposite corner.  And so many claims changed owners in a few hours.

The unstable character of part of the population had a bad effect on the development of the country in some things.  (The law then allowed each individual to take a pre‑emption, tree claim and homestead.)  Hundreds took up claims with the sole purpose of turning them over to a purchaser as soon as six months residence had been proven.

Money poured in from the East.  Claims proved up on borrowed money were abandoned.  Thousands of acres coming into the hands of mortgages who did not want the land and had no disposition to improve it‑ so the boom, as is usually the case, was followed by serious collapse.

Although the conditions of the territory were such as to attract the notice of bad men‑ gamblers and other undesirables‑ and saloons were too numerous, Foster County was remarkably free from crime of the more brutal sort.  From the beginning of the marvelous growth of the country, it attracted settlers of the highest class.  Professional men of established reputation came in from other states.  Men of means brought in capital and put big enterprises afoot and these, supported by the high standard of the settlers on the land, constituted such a community that there never was anything like the dominance of the rough element which was common, in the making of the West."
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 41

Zerlina Eaken

Zerlina Eakin, the first county superintendent of schools in Foster County, a true pioneer, came to Foster County with her sister in 1883.  They filed on two adjoining quarter sections of farmland near Carrington, where the Olaf Gussiaas farm is now located (1982).  Miss Eaken served eight years as superintendent of schools of Foster County, being elected first in January 1899.  She also taught school in Foster County for 25 years in Birtsell, Nordmore, Melville, Haven townships and in Carrington, She was active in the beginnings of the Carrington library and served as first librarian.  She was also a member of the Carrington chapter of the Daughters of the American Revolution and traced both sides of her family back to pre‑revolutionary days in Colonial America.

The following article was written by her in March 1933 and published in the Independent January 22, 1970:

"My land was shantied in the fall of 1882, soon after my arrival in Jamestown.  Early in 1883 my sister and I landed in Melville from the second train carrying passengers into Foster County.  Melville at that time was only a pile of railroad ties.

Messrs. Keepers and Harriman had platted the town of Newport a half mile east of Melville and refusing to give the railroad a half interest in the townsite the railway company just switched their road a half mile to the west leaving Newport high and dry.  Needless to say there were no further improvements on the deserted townsite.

Driving straight north from Melville eleven miles, being guided by section stakes, we arrived at section twelve, Carrington township, on which our claims were located.  Not knowing a thing about claim shanties, I had hoped to find a nice little house on my land but instead found a little box of a shack exactly six feet square, five feet high on west side and six feet high on the east side, thus providing the necessary slope to the board roof.

The little building was not standing up and looking the whole world in the face, for it had collapsed just like a pasteboard box and lay prone upon mother earth.  In that case, at least, it was not difficult to raise the fallen and we soon had it righted and standing alone.  No floor, no windows, no doors, just an aperture for ingress and egress.

But time brings changes and 'ere long I had a house twelve by fourteen, with a gable roof, a small lean to and the rear the style of architecture being known as a Queen Anne front and a Mary Ann back.

Once when my sister and I were spending the night on the claim we tied our team of ponies to the axle of the buggy for the night as usual.  A sudden windstorm came up and we found ponies and buggy away out on the prairie.  We secured the buggy by tying front wheels to the back so they couldn't turn and then brought the ponies into the house, after taking down the camp stove and putting it under the bed in order to make room for the ponies.  Needless to say the little house was filled with ponies and girls.

In order to make acceptable proof of our having lived on those claims it was necessary to have a well and a habitable house.  We undertook to dig a well on my sister's claim.  When we were down some seven or eight feet our neighbors, Li Holcomb and Ed Hanna, cousin of our illustrious ex‑governor, drove up to see how the well was progressing.  Ella happened to be the one at the surface and she reported we were getting along just fine now but the well being somewhat narrow, Lina had to come up and take off her bustle so she could turn around in the well.  You may be sure I was glad I was down in the well at the moment.

We had the dearest little cave about four feet deep, with a low framework of boards over it and covered with earth.  Steps cut in the earth, a door fitting the opening and we had a splendid little cellar, a refuge in case of a tornado or prairie fire.

One night there was a ring of fire all around us, coming nearer every moment.  A frosted wheat crop uncut was on two sides of the house and from the one side the fire was coming toward us.

We carried our belongings to the cave, drew all the water we could from the wells, nailed cleats on the corner of the house so we could go up and put out a fire if it would start, had wet blankets ready for an emergency, then we went to pulling wheat.  We made a broad pathway, carrying the wheat far enough from the building that the heat could not do any harm should it ignite.  All night we worked and made ready for the demon but when the fire reached the grain field, it died down.  The wheat had too much moisture in it to ignite and we were saved."
Miss Eakin was born in New Galilee, Penn. September 10, 1857.  Her mother died when she was three years old and her father a year later, leaving her an orphan.  She and her sister were adopted into the family of her mother's sister in Ohio and she made her home there until she completed school and began teaching.

They decided to come to Dakota Territory to take advantage of Uncle Sam's offer for land.
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Christian Albus

Christian Albus was born September 15, 1855 in the farm home of his parents, located in Neufratautz, Austria.  He spent his early childhood in this land of his birth, attending school.  When he was about ten years old his parents moved into Turkey.

Although he was born in Austria, Chris was a German.  His great grandfather was born in Germany and lived there until after his marriage.  At that time the emperor, Franz Joseph of Austria, was establishing a colony in Fratautz.  He offered young married couples a certain amount of land together with a small house and barn and the other necessities of farming.  The newly married Albus's took up this offer, together with many others and spent the rest of their lives in this new home.

Chris' parents who were descendents of these German "colonists" became dissatisfied with this land of theirs, wishing to follow their own religious faith instead of being dictated to regarding their beliefs.  In about 1863 they packed up their belongings and made the trip to Romania, but conditions there were no better and they returned.  A year and a half later, in 1865 they heard of a settlement of German Baptists in Turkey and again left Austria, this time settling near Gatalui, Turkey, where they secured land and began life anew.  The soil in this country was rich and the chief industry was and still is agriculture.

In 1877‑78 there was war between Turkey and Russia, the latter wishing to extend her dominion to the Mediterranean Sea.

When Chris became of age he secured land of his own and started his farming.  The farms in this country were broken into small parcels of land; it being required that a man's land should not be in one large piece but in small scattered plots.  They raised grains for the most part, doing their farm work in peasant fashion; threshing, harvesting, seeding and haying, all by hand.  Christian did well and became a leading citizen in his community; being an officer in the church and for several years the treasurer of the province in which he lived.

In about 1875 Christian Albus, Jr. and Magdalena Rodacker were married on February 24, 1877.  They had born to them a son, Christian.  A year or so later a second son, Frederick, was born and died in infancy.  This death was followed by the death of his mother.

On April 20, 1879 Christian was married to Katherina Edinger, a 17‑year‑old girl who lived across the road with her parents who had also joined the German settlement in Rumania some years before.  On March 2, 1881, a son was born named Frederick.

After this land was given to Rumania, times became more difficult.  Under the Turkish rule, they had been left alone and had had some opportunity to prosper and build up their property.  After the war they were expected to pay larges taxes to the Rumanian government; soldiers were often stopping at their farm for food and shelter and they were called upon at any time, even in the busiest seasons, to work on the roads, or other government enterprises.  They became very discouraged and wished for a better life.

Leave for America

Christian's father thought it would be well to leave this land and go to America as so many others were doing.  One day he saw the name of a man living in Dakota, near Yankton in a newspaper and he wrote, asking about securing farmlands there.  The man replied that there were great opportunities to be had, large tracts of land for very little money and the land rich and suited to the raising of grains on a large scale.  However, he advised them not to come to Yankton, as there was no land near to a town left in that vicinity.  The Germans talked it over often and became more imbued with the idea of going to America.

In the fall of 1882 a large group of them, all residents of this colony in Rumania, were ready to embark for America.  They could take with them only their personal belongings and some bedding, as there was a limit to the amount of their baggage.  Their land they could not sell as Rumanian law stated that if one moved out of the country, the land and the property would revert to the government.  However, Chris had been treasurer of his province for some years and through his secretary who was a Rumanian; he later realized a small amount on his holdings.

The group of emigrants numbered 16 adults and almost as many children.  There were Christian Albus, Sr. and his wife; Christian Albus, Jr. and his wife and two children; Frank Albus and his wife and two children; Mr. and Mrs. Jacob Lutz and their two children; William Wentland and their son Fred; Jacob Wentland and his wife and child.

With great concern and high hopes for the future, this group of Germans left Rumania from the port at Tulschca and some 14 days and nights later, landed at Maryland.  There had been a bad storm at sea in the first days of the trip and most of the passengers became very ill.  Mr. Albus, Sr. had been so sick that the crew were greatly concerned; making him a bed on deck and feeding him from the first class kitchen.  The fare of those traveling steerage was meager indeed and not so well cooked.  They were all sick to some degree, the younger men taking it the best.  However, all were glad to again be upon land.

From Baltimore, the Albus group entrained at once for the Dakotas, buying tickets as far as St. Paul.  Both in Chicago and in St. Paul they tried to find out from a real estate office just where it would be best for them to stop in the Dakotas.  They arrived in St. Paul on a Sunday in October 1882 and the offices were of course closed.  After trying for hours they found a man who could speak and understand German and he assisted them.  They had been advised by the correspondent in Yankton to go to Bismarck and were advised in this way again in St. Paul.  When buying their tickets from St. Paul to Bismarck, the agent said, "Bismarck!  Why that's the end of the world!  "
Once more on the way, they were greatly concerned over the possibility of finding homes and work for the winter.  In Fargo the train made a long stop, due to some difficulty.  On the train was a German by the name of Steinbach, who had a furniture business in Jamestown.  He heard of the car of emigrants and decided during the long stop in Fargo, to have a word with them, and to see if he could be of any assistance to them.  They were indeed glad to talk to someone they could understand.  They told Mr. Steinbach of their plans, such as they were.  He advised them to stop at Jamestown instead of going to

Bismarck.  He told them of the new railroad, which was being built north from Jamestown into new territory.  This road had been started that summer of 1882 and it would not be long before the land would be put on the market.  There were miles and miles of good, rich soil in this new territory with scarcely a settler on it.

Spend Winter at Jamestown

Immediately after their arrival in Jamestown they began making arrangements to spend the winter there.  Mr. Steinbach helped them to find a vacant house in which they could stay until they had a more permanent place.  They had practically no money left after purchasing their railroad tickets but managed to secure some lumber and build shacks on land which the town official gave them permission to live on through the winter.  This was near the river.  The Albus's - Christian, Sr., Christian, Jr., Frank, and brothers‑in‑law John Pepple and Jake Lutz - built one house and Wentland another.  The house was built of rough lumber with floor and roof of the same material.  It was unsealed and had only one door and one window in each room as they did not wish to cut the lumber more than necessary; it must be used in the spring when they found homesteads.

Life Hard That Winter

The houses were not built for comfort but these people were not used to luxury by any means, so they were ready to take what they had and make the most of it.  They had only the barest necessities, buying what food they could when they had money to do so.  They used the water from the James River that winter, there being no well nearby.

The men took any work offered them to make a livelihood, cutting wood, shoveling coal and doing other menial tasks.  Mrs. Albus did the laundry and mending for some of the workers in the brewery which was close to them.  They were thrifty people and they not only made enough money to live on through the winter but also saved a goodly portion of it, so they could buy the necessary things to start farming the next spring.

Chris, Jr. and some of the others secured work threshing that winter near.  Jamestown.  Threshing machines in those days were scarce so the farmers stacked their grain and it would be threshed whenever the threshers could get to it.  The threshing outfit on which Chris worked belonged to an Englishman and was run by one Jake Leisht.  The threshing machine was horse drawn and had steam power.  They shoveled the snow off the stacks of grain and proceeded to thresh it.  In this way the men secured seed wheat for the next year, being paid partly in grain.

Jamestown is a Busy Town

Although that winter of 1882‑83 has been said to have been the worst most settlers remember, it was not so noticeable in the valley in which Jamestown is situated.  Although they were not comfortably warm, they at least were sheltered and kept busy to keep warm.  The only one to have a cow was John Pepple and they had no other stock.

In the fall of 1882 a man by the name of Charlie Wing, who had settled in Foster County that summer and had a store in Newport (Melville), the only settlement and the only store in Foster County, called on the Albus's and Wentlands.  He told them he located people in Foster County for a certain amount of money.  Mr. Albus and Mr. Wentland then drove north with Mr. Wing to look over the country and pick out land.  He took them over the country east of Newport and near the James River.  Upon their return, each man wishing a homestead paid Mr. Wing $20 to locate him.  He was to build a small shelter on a piece of land which would be open for filing upon later, after the land was put on the market.  However, this did not work out as expected.

Jamestown in the fall of 1882 and in the winter and spring following was a very busy town.  It had a good many business places, a large number of business places, a large number of which were saloons.  There was, however, the Glandstone Hotel, the James River National Bank and Mr. Stenbach's furniture store.  The town swarmed with new settlers, people who wished to settle permanently in Dakota and a many who were promoters wishing to make money off the settlers.  There were many fine people and many rougher ones.  However, our Germans stayed pretty much to themselves, as they were ignorant of American speech and customs.

Early in the spring of 1883, Chris Albus and others in his group made ready to leave Jamestown and go north to secure land.  They drove north in March.  Each had saved enough money from their winter's work to buy a yoke of oxen, a wagon, a few sacks of flour and they had their seed wheat.  The following day they arrived in Newport in which they were met by a German‑speaking man by the name of Peter Zink and told him of their plans.  Peter Zink and his brother, Wendel, had come to Foster County the summer before and had built a shack and broken land.

When Mr. Zink found out that these people intended breaking land and putting it into seed at once he told them this was impossible on prairie land.  He explained it was a slow and difficult task to break land which was covered with prairie grass and weeds, and that it must lay a year and be plowed a second time before the seed could be planted.  They were troubled over this news.  How were they to eat and live through the winter if they could raise no crop?  Mr. Zink said that he and his brother Wendelin had broken a good many acres of land the preceding year and they did not have near enough seed to put in it.  He offered the Germans five to 10 acres of land each to sow, on a share basis.  They gladly accepted and returned to Jamestown to bring back their families, the lumber from their houses, and the rest of their property.

They put their houses on the Zink land, and seeded their wheat by hand.

With the seeding completed, they went to look over the land which Mr. Wing had located for them.  They found the land so far from a town they decided to look elsewhere.  The town of Carrington, located about nine miles north of Newport was booming and they thought it would be well to locate as close as possible to that place.  Mr. Zink advised them to go northwest of Newport in the country just north of the Hills.

In this territory there were numerous shacks, some 6 x 8 in size, put up by promoters who wanted to keep settlers off that land so they might get it later for themselves.  Mr. Zink told his new friends to ignore these shacks and if they saw land they wanted to take it, providing it was not railroad land.

Measured Own Land

This part of the country had not been surveyed in the spring of 1883.  They chose their locations and then measured off the land with a tapeline, starting at the Stutsman County line.

Then the homes on the Zink land at Newport were torn down again and hauled to the new farms, and each man started a claim shanty on his own piece of land.  There was not enough lumber to go around so they divided it and bought more lumber in Newport.

This new land was far different from their old homes.  It had only the low hills to the south and in all other directions prairie as far as the eye could see.  The thing that impressed Chris most about this new country was that the sky seemed so close to the earth, he felt as though he could reach up and almost touch the stars.  They liked their new country for its freedom and for their own large farm on which they could work and build up a future for themselves and their children.

(The above from report of Mrs. Wm. Smith)
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John G. Schmid

John G. Schmid was born in Germany, ‑coming to America in 1869 where he first settled in Wisconsin.  He came to Dakota Territory and worked in Jamestown in 1882.

Mr. Schmid took a trip north of Jamestown in the fall of 1882 to locate a homestead, paying a man in the business of locating homesteaders twenty‑five dollars to take him.  He found land that suited him north of Carrington so he took up a tree claim and a homestead on the Southwest 1/4 section 14,147‑Birtsell Township, and Southwest 1/4 on the same section.  John put markers on his land and went back to Wisconsin for the winter and to get supplies to bring back.

The first part of March 1883, Mr. Schmid shipped a car of household goods, lumber for a shack, two horses, two cows, one pig, some chickens, food supplies, about two hundred bushels of oats and seventy‑five bushels of corn to be used on his homestead.

When Mr. Schmid got to Jamestown, the snow was so deep the train couldn't get through to Carrington.  When they finally got to Carrington, they fixed themselves something to eat on the train car because the only hotel, a small shack in Carrington was short of food because of the weather.

Mr. Schmid told his wife to stay in Wisconsin until he sent for her, but one day in early April she came to Carrington on the train with their three sons, Leonhard, Frank, and George, her mother and a sister.  Mr. Schmid was surprised and had help to build onto his shack so there was enough room.

Mr. Schmid tried to get out to his homestead in April with his wagon and two horses and two mules.  The snow was still so deep that it was hard to see where he was going.  There were no roads or trails.

He tried to follow the single line of railroad survey stakes north of Carrington.  It was night of the third day since leaving Carrington when he reached his homestead.  He made a mistake and built his shack on section thirteen instead of fourteen.  When he discovered his mistake, he had to tear down, move and build over again.

He broke about seventy‑five acres of land in 1883.  He used a single bottom plow, seeding barley and oats he had brought from Wisconsin.  Mr. Schmid had a good crop that year.  He cut his grain with a cradle, bound it by hand, and made several stacks of it.  He used a flail to thresh his crop.

During 1883, 1884, 1885, 1886, prairie fires were bad.  Mr. Schmid fought them often to protect his farm.  People could pick buffalo bones and sell them for twelve dollars a ton so they would burn off the grass to find the bones easier and most of the time the fires got out of hand.

Mr. Schmid moved into the town of Barlow in 1905.  He operated a harness shop and hardware store.  His son, Ben, took charge of it in 1933.

Other settlers were Tom Wright, James Sweeney, Guptil, who had a town named after him, O'Hara, Rand and Matt Wiltschko.

Many of the early settlers came in the spring because most of them either walked or came with horses, and traveling this way was impossible during the winter.  The early settlers who came were of many nationalities.

The early homes were mostly made from lumber, however, some of them were banked with sod and some were completely sod.  There were also some tarpaper shacks.
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Ben Holcomb

Ben Holcomb grew up on a farm near the Niagara River just a few miles from the Falls and a short distance from Buffalo, New York.  When he was grown he started farming for himself.  He married Alice White and they made their home on a farm of 100 acres on which he raised small grains and had a good herd of cattle, a number of horses and other stock.

In the early spring of 1881 Malcomb Holcomb, Ben's brother, made a trip to St. Paul, to visit an old friend.  He then went on into the Dakotas of which he had heard so much.  He spent most of the season working near Bismarck.  While there he heard much of the branch of the Northern Pacific railroad which was to be started north in the spring of 1882, also of the vast acres of prairie land which would be put on the market after the railroad was built.  He was greatly impressed with Dakota and when he returned to Ontario in the fall of 1881 he told his brothers that "if you want to raise wheat, Dakota is the place to do it."
Through that winter they talked of the new country which was to be opened up soon, and became more and more enthused with the idea of pioneering into the country and getting their pick of land before it was put on the market.  Before spring came they had made up their minds to go west and see what they could do.  The idea of securing a large piece of land for very little money was very tempting.

By April of 1882 Ben, Mack and Li (Elias) were ready to start for the Dakotas.  They were accompanied by an old friend and neighbor, Jack Bort, and a cousin, Crayton Sherk.  They chartered a car in which they shipped nine horses, and a dog, a small wood stove, a few chairs and their personal belongings and household utensils.  The men rode along with the car and the trip took some 10 days, having laid over a few days in South St. Paul where they unloaded and fed the stock.

They arrived in Fargo toward the end of April and found it a typical "Wild West" town.  The winter of 1881 had been one of deep snows and the streets of Fargo were ankle deep in sticky black mud that one had to wade through to cross over to the other side.  They often saw a horse‑drawn vehicle mired deep in the mud on the main street of Fargo.

They spent a week in Fargo, putting their names in at the employment office for spring farm work.  They were told to report to the Raymond‑Green ranch north of Mapleton.  The horses were again loaded into a car and shipped to Mapleton.  The trip had to be made by train as the country between Fargo and Mapleton was all under water.

Mapleton was little more than a railroad station, a store and saloon, and the ranch was located about 12 miles north.  The Raymond‑Green ranch covered many sections and 40 men were employed during the spring seeding.  The Holcomb men were there for a month and enjoyed the work; they were well paid and well fed.

When seeding was over they prepared to resume their journey northwest.  They bought two or three more horses, two wagons and a Sulkey plow and were ready to start again early in June.  They were accompanied by two more men they met at the ranch, Ed Van Vleet and George Melton.

The first night of their trip they slept in a barn near Buffalo, staking out the horses for the night; and the second night they camped on the ground near Valley City.  On the third night they reached Jamestown, camping outside the city.

They spent nearly a week at Jamestown, camping at night and eating at restaurants.  Jamestown was similar to all other Dakota settlements with many fine people and many of the rough ones.  The town was made up of several business places and many saloons.  The railroad to the north had been started but had been built only a short distance out of Jamestown.  The men bought provisions for their trip north and started out again, about June 16.

They traveled some 35 miles that day, seeing no one and no houses until night when they arrived at Maloneys, a settler located about a mile east of Newport.  They stayed that night and the next day continued north.  There were sloughs all over the country, many of them very large.  Often they looked too large to go around so one of the men would ride through on horseback to see if it could be forded.  If he found it was possible, they would put two teams on each wagon and ford the water.

They made camp the second night on what was later section 26 of Carrington Township.  The next morning they decided to move a little further north where the land looked more satisfactory.  They arrived at section 24 and thought it was a good place to stop.  The prairie grass was rich green and miles and miles of it stretched unbroken in all directions as far as the eye could see.  The Hawksnest Hills, some 18 miles southwest, were clearly visible; otherwise all was green prairie grass in every direction.  They tested the soil and found it rich and fertile, ideal for their purpose of raising wheat on a large scale.

The James River was some 10 miles to the east and the nearest settlement of Newport about the same distance to the southwest.

The weather was cool, the sunsets gorgeous, and the distances made Ben feel like the man who said, "Gosh, I didn't know there was so much outdoors."
Buffalo trails ran all through the country, some of them deep ruts.  Buffalo bones lay all over the prairie, bleached white by many suns.  It was a grand country and a grand life for husky young men eager for adventure and unafraid of hard work.

The country was in its original prairie state with numerous large sloughs and plentiful game.  Trees were scarce with only two small clumps visible on the whole countryside.  The new group of settlers was eager to begin farming operations at once.

The land was not yet surveyed and it was necessary to know where to take their squatter's rights, so they would not be on railroad and school land when it was put on the market later.  Therefore they ran a line from the northern edge of Stutsman County to Section 12 by using a tapeline and compass and making a mound of earth every half mile.  Later when the land was surveyed they found their calculations quite accurate.  They had not allowed for the rise and fall of the land but many of their mounds were exact.

Each of the men, Ben Holcomb, Jack Bort, Li Holcomb, Van Vleet, Meton and Crayton Sherk picked his quarter of land and they began work on a sod shanty on Li's land.

While the shanty was being built they also dug a well.  They had been using slough water which would be strained to remove the wigglers and then boiled.  The well was some 14 feet in diameter and when they got down about 16 feet "hard pan" was struck.  One of the men was in the well at the time and called attention of those above to the hollow sound when he struck on this hard clay.

He then struck it a hard blow with his pick and the water shot far into the air.  He was quickly helped out of the hold, even forgetting to take the pick with him; and in an hour the well was completely filled with water and very good water it was.  The well was used for a good many years, and often town people would come out to the well as they had trouble in town with water in those earliest days.

As soon as the shanty and well were dug a sod barn was started.  This was built like the shanty but the walls were a little thicker and measured 16 x 40 feet: It also had wooden doors and a wooden roof.  The men all lived on this quarter during the summer of 1882, spending enough time on their own places to prove on them.

The other men did most of the building and Ben Holcomb did the "toting".  It was necessary to have someone on the road a good part of the time, securing provisions, mail, going to Jamestown one day and returning the next.  Ben would usually stop at Plow Lake for a meal.  Plow Lake was located about six miles east of what is now the town of Pingree, about 20 miles from Jamestown.  A family by the name of Plow lived there and it was generally a stopping place for travelers.

When the buildings were completed on Elias Holcomb's quarter so the men and horses had shelter and good water, improvements were started on the other quarters.  All the men built sod shanties except Ben who bought lumber in Jamestown and built a small temporary shack in which he spent a little time that year.  The men lived together; Van Vleet being the cook and a very good one, too.  A well was dug on each quarter and then they began breaking land and putting up hay for the winter's feed for the horses.

During the summer the men broke about 100 acres of land on the seven quarters; Ben Holcomb having about 40 acres broken on his land.  They put up some 50 tons of hay, using a scythe and hand rake for this work.  The land was well scattered with buffalo bones and these were thrown off as they worked.  The next year they were gathered and sold.

The men enjoyed hunting.  Wild game was plentiful, antelope were to be had at almost any time and it was their main meat supply.  There were also many white geese, ducks and snipe of all kinds, although prairie chickens were scarce until later when the land was seeded to grain.  Occasionally they would go to the James River where large pickerel could be caught.  Once that fall Ben went to the river and stayed at the home of William Larrabee, the first settler in the county, and paid 501 for sleeping in the barn that night.

Early in the fall Crayton Sherk returned to Canada.  He had been very lonesome.  About the first of August Li and Mack Holcomb and Jack Bort returned to the Red River Valley where they harvested and threshed at the Raymond‑Green ranch where they had worked in the spring.  Van Vleet and Merton also left that fall and never returned, selling their rights later to Ben and Li. Li, Mack and Jack Bort returned to the homestead shack in November and Ben left to spend the winter in Canada.

During the winter of 1882‑83 the men on the Carrington township homestead saw no one all winter and received no mail.  It was a winter of deep snows and continuous blizzards.  When Ben returned in the spring of 1883 the town of Carrington was in its beginning.  A building was going up to be used for a hotel run by H.A. Soliday.  There was a saloon and a few other business places.  The railroad had reached Carrington in December 1882 and a few had spent the winter there.  Mr. Soliday and his family, Bruce Waring, and L.W. Harriman who had a real estate firm and two or three cars.

Ben's cousin, Crayton Sherk returned to Dakota with him being hired to work for Ben that summer.  With the help of a third man, named McIntyre, they rebuilt Ben's house.  They made it a little larger and built it more carefully this time, although it was unsealed that first summer.

On June 1, 1883, Mrs. Holcomb and three children arrived in Jamestown.  The first thing she saw on leaving the train was the old red stagecoach leaving for Fort Totten.  The stagecoach line was discontinued shortly after that when the train went further north from Carrington.  Ben often noticed the stage road on the east side of the James River but never happened to see the stage.  It made a stop at the Larrabee's home on the east side of the river and also at a place called Eslers near Jamestown.

After his family spent the night in Jamestown and came to Carrington in the wagon the next day.  Mrs. Holcomb's impression of North Dakota was of, bareness and distance.  However she was happy to be making a home again and remained contented through the years.

After his family arrived Ben bought a cow from John E. Moore in Carrington for $50 and went southeast of Jamestown to buy a dozen hens at a dollar a piece.  Chickens and eggs were scarce in Dakota in those days.

In the summer of 1883, Ben Holcomb spent a good deal of time on the road helping Charlie Wing of Newport locating settlers.

In the spring of 1883 Ben Holcomb and Crayton Sherk planted trees on a tree claim in Lake Washington, in Eddy County now, although it was in Foster County at that time.  They planted boxelder that grew well the first summer but were killed in the unusually severe winter that followed.

In 1884 Ben summer fallowed new ground at his Carrington farm and in 1885 planted cottonwood and ash shoots.  He took very good care of them protecting them from prairie fires and having the children cultivate them carefully in the summer.  He had over 10 acres of beautiful trees, one of the nicest groves in this part of the country.  He also planted some four or five acres of trees on the homestead a few years later.  In the summer of 1883 Ben's sisters, Ellen and Evelyn came to Dakota keeping house for their brothers Li and Mack in the sod shanty that was built in 1882.  By now the sod shanties were a pretty sight, green to the roofs, warm in the winter and cool in the summer.

Carrington was booming, settlers thronging in on every train, many of them fine eastern people and permanent residents of the county, and many others here one day and gone the next.  The town had more saloons than any other business places.  During the spring of 1883 the Strong & Chase general store was opened, also Durbrow Brothers Hardware Store.  The post office was in a small frame building on main street with Mr. Halsey postmaster.  There were also many small buildings little more than shacks, housing all sorts of offices and trades, a newspaper, a bank, real estate, blacksmiths and others.

During the '80s brother, Malcomb Holcomb had married Mary Buchanan of Carrington.  In about 1911 they left Dakota to make their home in Alberta Canada where Mack died at the age of 73 years.  The other brother, Elias left Dakota about 1898 moving to Snohomish, Washington where he died in 1908.  The sister, Nell moved to Ohio in 1908.  The cousin who had come with them from Canada, Crayton Sherk returned to Canada in the fall of 1883 and died some years ago at his old home near Niagara Falls.  The fifth man to come from Canada in 1882 was Jack Bort, who stayed in Foster County for the rest of his life.
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Early and Later Observations

By W. Frank Moore (Independent, March 18, 1920)

When we first saw Carrington and its surroundings there was not much to call surroundings.  Apparently the surroundings had tired of the location and tried to steal away in the night.  Day light came too soon and only a trace of surroundings remained, and space rushing in to fill the vacancy, cooled quickly, stopped too soon, leaving much emptiness in and about the town.  The few buildings on either side of main street were quite distant to each other.  The dwellings were promiscuously scattered about and seemed to have just dropped and stuck there in defiance of the wind.

Within a few minutes after our arrival, having counted all the buildings in town, we began to make astronomical observations and duly observed in all directions the sky dropped into curtain to earth just the same distance from the town and in looking up noticed that we were exactly under the center of the sky.  Was this a coincidence?  We took a five minute walk, the ancient fire guard was our boulevard and we were impressed with the startling fact that a dozen or more roads (the natives called them trails) came from everywhere in the distance and from all directions, as the spokes of a wheel come to the hub.  This was indeed significant and adding the former observations it dawned upon us that the town was to have a great future.  Well, it is headed that way and going some.

Passing around the suburbs that sense of emptiness seemed to oppress us.  Save a few small buildings without affinity for each other, there was little.  We wanted to put a fence about the space, even the air seemed far away.  We felt miles from earth there is something real.  We felt one would probably feel a thousand miles from earth‑ there is nothing here but me, and I am very small, too small to rattle.

Well do I remember my strange feelings on going southwest into the hills and finding myself alone for the first time beyond cultivated fields, buildings, human voice, or any evidence of habitation.  There was only the sky above and the earth beneath.  It was solitude, but not unpleasant, just strange.  These must be feelings of men who have been permitted to wander far and know that no human being has even trod where they are, and no human eye has ever before seen the wondrous things spread before them.

Stop, here is something‑ a trail running over and thru the hills.  How friendly it seemed to be.  We had not parted from it many hours, but it seemed a long time and its presence soothing to our feelings, as we decided to follow along with it, just for old time's sake.  But this is different from any trail before seen.  It is cut deep into the soil, the new settlement beyond is too young to have worn the paths so deep.  When and how were they so deep?  There was but one answer, Indians, for perhaps a thousand years had traveled that trail and we were alone.  Quickly we scanned the top of every hill, looking for a painted red man, but there was none.  We tried to recall our history as to the exact time the last Indian massacre took place, as we made quick time on the back trail, never stopping until we saw in the valley below a small homesteader's shack, in the far distance and it seemed so friendly much larger than the one we passed on the way out.  It and all its neighbors beyond seemed to stand nearer than before‑ stood for protection to use, if needed."
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The Little Old Sod Shanty on the Claim

I'm looking rather seedy now, while holding down my claim
And my victals are not always served the best;
And the mice play shyly round me, as I nestle down to sleep, 
In my little old sod shanty in the West.

Chorus:

The hinges are of leather and the windows have no glass, 
While the board roof lets the howling blizzard in;
And hear the hungry coyote, as he sneaks up thru the grass, 
Round my little old sod shanty on the claim.

Yet I rather like the novelty of living in this way, 
Tho' my daily bill of fare is rather tame;
And I am happy as a clam‑ on this land of Uncle Sam, 
In my little old sod shanty on the claim.

And when I left my Eastern home, a bachelor so gay 
To try to win my way to wealth and fame, 
I little thought that I'd come down to burning twisted hay, 
In my little old sod shanty on the claim.

My clothes are plastered o'er with dough, 
And I'm looking like a fright, 
And every thing is scattered round the room;
But I would not give the freedom that I have out in the West, 
For a bauble of an Eastern mansion home.

I wish that some kindhearted girl, would pity on me take, 
And relieve me from the mess that I am in, 
Oh, the angel how I'd bless her, if this her home she'd make
In my little old sod shanty on the claim.
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Houses

First on the list of things to do for the settlers was to build some sort of shelter.  These appeared on the scene in all sizes, shapes, and forms.  Some of them lived in tents or in the covered wagons until some sort of suitable shelter could be erected.  Some lived in dugouts on the side of a hill, if there were any.  These temporary shelters had to be replaced with something more substantial that could withstand the rigors of the weather, especially in the winter.
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Sod Houses

If the settler had a plow or spade they would go to an area, perhaps a slough that had well‑rooted grass and plow strips of the virgin sod.  Some of them would plow round and round in the area where the house would stand.  He then cut the strips into two or three foot sections.  These sections were then laid into walls about two or three feet thick.  He would continue in this manner to a height of about six feet.  If there were logs or boards available, they would build a frame and then place the sod over the frame.  The roof was made of rough lumber and then covered with heavy tarpaper, slough grass and sod, or perhaps even shingles.  Some used hay or rushes placed over branches.  The size of the structure varied: such as 9 x 12, 6 x 6, 12 x 14, 14 x 16, etc.

The sodhouses proved to be cool in the summer and warm in the winter.  They were also fairly safe from the prairie fires.  Rains caused some problems, however, soaking through the roofs and dripping dirty water in the middle of the floors.  Sometimes the only dry place was in the oven.  Clocks were put there to keep them dry.  Umbrellas were placed over the beds to keep the bedding from getting wet.

The walls were cut smooth with a spade, and then plastered with a mixture of clay and ashes, or gumbo.  They might be covered with tarpaper, cotton sheeting, or layers of newspaper.  Cats were a necessity to take care of the mice that found their way into the house.

Other homes were made of rough pine boards.  Sometimes a man would be hired to build them.  They could be bought for $2.50 to $5.  The exterior was covered with tarpaper which was held in place with laths.  Layer upon layer of newspapers helped to make it wind tight, but not very warm in sub‑zero weather.

Doors and windows were bought for about $4 at the railroad station.  Few of the houses had two rooms, one for the family and one for the oxen.  Sometimes the cow would wander on top of the roof to eat the lush grass and then would fall through breaking down the structure.

It took about nine days to construct the house.  If a hillside were available on the land the house was dug into the hillside.  It was a cellar home with a front wall of sod and a roof.  Sod stables were also constructed for the livestock.
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Interior of the Sod house

The floors were covered with hay, later replaced with pine boards and covered with braided rugs.  Some of the floors were dirt that had been swept several times to give it a smooth surface.  The curtains were perhaps made of cheesecloth.  The walls were covered with lime mortar.  Sometimes there were bags of seed grain stacked along the walls.  There may have been a wooden cupboard for the dishes.

The housekeeper had little equipment to work with.  Most of the settlers had an iron range.  Many pioneers used a trunk for a table, boxes and tree stumps for their chairs.  A pole framework in a corner with ropes or thongs was set up as a bedspring and served as a bed.  Ticks filled with grass or feathers provided the mattress.

The men slept in the barn or in the haystack if the weather was decent.

The ladies collected rainwater in a wood barrel to wash clothes.  If she lived near a creek, she would carry her laundry there, heat the water on an open fire, and spread the clothes on the bushes to dry.  She made soap by boiling meat scraps, lard, wooden ashes and water in a kettle.  She rubbed the clothes on a corrugated board to get them clean.  The clothes were ironed with an iron that weighed about 10‑12 pounds that was heated on the stove.

Many times twisted hay and dried manure had to be used for fuel.

Christ Albus, Sr. built a small house to take the place of his sod-covered house.  He built the small house himself of shiplap.  He made mud bricks about a foot square and the inside was sealed with them.  They were made according to the method used in the old country and kept the house warm.  The house measured 14 x 28 and had two rooms.  He shingled it and the sloping roof kept the house dry.  It was snug and warm and was used for 12 years.

In 1897 Mr. Albus decided to build a new and larger house for his big family.  His new house was a Broom structure built of good lumber, sealed with plaster, shingled and finished off well inside.  Chris built the house himself at a cost of $750.
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Other Claim Shanties

Mrs. Helen Pearson Posey tells this story:

"Our home was a real claim shanty.  There was one spot where the roof did not leak when it rained, so that was set apart for the organ.  When it rained we set pans and kettles around on the floor to catch the water, and held umbrellas over the bed.  The men slept in a tent; we ate where the spirit moved, sometimes in the shanty, again in the tent, and when it was very agreeable weather outdoors."
Mrs. Jane Farquer tells this story:

They arrived in Foster County in 1885.

"We built a little shanty for our first home; it was less than 12 feet square and was built from odds and ends.

With six of us living in it, we had to move our beds outside in the daytime and bring our tables and chairs in to make it a living room.  Then at night the table and chairs would go back out doors and our beds would be set up again.  We lived in our shanty a year, then we built our barn and lived in the loft for several months until our new home was finished."
Will and Adah Kallberg filed on a homestead in 1884.  Here's the story of their house.

"Will and Adah built their home together in early March when the snow was still deep on the ground.  Adah would scrape the ice from the lumber and Will nailed it in place.  They built their one room 12 x 12 shack from shiplap which they purchased in Carrington from Mr. Jordan, who was a contractor and lumberman.

Will also built a bed‑stead, a table and two stools.  They bought a sheet iron stove with one lid for two dollars at the hardware store in town, also some pots and pans."
That spring they had added a small room 8 x 12 onto the house and through the summer Adah had used it for a kitchen but in the fall it had to be turned into a granary for the winter.  Tarpaper was put on the house that fall, and they banked it, too, which helped to make it warmer in the winter.

In the spring of 1886 they brought the furniture that had belonged to Adah's mother and was being stored in Jamestown to their house in Foster County.  She was now able to make her home more pleasant and comfortable than before.  She also had her mother's sewing machine with which to make their clothing, she had to do this by hand before.

The Holcomb brothers and a man by the name of Bort came in 1882.  They built a sod shanty and a stable on the Lyle Holcomb quarter.  The shanty was 12 x 16 feet walls, eight feet high on one side and six feet on the other side.  The floor was prairie sod.  In the summer the shanties were all green on the outside clear to the top.
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Observations of Early Arrivals

What did the pioneers see when they arrived in Foster County?  In stories told to their descendants they describe the miles and miles of open prairie covered with a very thick native grass.  The only landmark for miles was the Hawksnest hills.  There was not a tree in sight!  In some areas the ground was white with buffalo bones, a grim reminder of the animals that had been slaughtered years earlier.

Mrs. Thomas Posey gives this account:

"It was in the early morning of a beautiful day in October 1883, when I first saw the boundless rolling prairie of Dakota, as it then was.  I was very much disappointed and disillusioned.  Although, I was only nine years of age, I had some very decided ideas of my own as to what a country should look like.

I expected trees everywhere, and brooks and all the nice features that the country always has in the land of storybooks.  That was all I knew of the country as we had come directly from Chicago.  We spent the first winter in town, moving onto the claim in the spring."
In years later as she again was asked about the prairie:
"I do not think I could be satisfied anywhere else.  I love them.  I like trees, but when it comes to being surrounded and walled in by them, where you can't tell the wind is blowing only by seeing the top branches waving, I do not want them.  I want to see the 'prairies rolling away and away until the edge of them is lost in a quivering haze.  I want to watch the dead brown turning to a beautiful living green, first in the low spots and gradually creeping to higher places, dotted thickly with the pale Pasque flowers, or crocuses, as they are commonly called.  I thought that was a beautiful sight the first time I beheld it and think the same every spring since.

There is such a sense of freedom and unlimited room to breathe imparted to one who gazes over the prairies.  Nothing confining or cramping or narrow.  It seems as though they could not help but be big and generous and broad in every way.  How can meanness and smallness and narrow‑mindedness exist?  I did not start out to preach a sermon, so we, who love the prairies are given the privilege of having our sermons preached silently none the less effectively."
This story was submitted by Carl H. Pewe, Juanita, North Dakota.

"The following event was related to my father and me in the summer of 1912 by Mr. Andrew Nerby of McHenry, North Dakota.  It was during the winter of 1897‑98 that Mr. Nerby drove to Cooperstown, North Dakota for a load of coal.  Cooperstown was the nearest supply station.  A year before the Northern Pacific had extended the railroad to McHenry.

It took two days travel time, with a team of horses to make the round trip.  Late in the afternoon on the second day homeward, Mr. Nerby was overtaken by a severe snowstorm.  The drifts became deeper and deeper.  The horses had to be rested more often.  Mr. Nerby knowing that he would never be able to haul the load of coal home, unloaded three quarters of it in a pile on the snow‑covered prairie.  Driving onward towards home the team took him right up to the front door of the house.  Hearing the noise, Mrs. Nerby soon came out of the house with a lantern being fully clothed for cold blustery weather.  Helping her husband untie the team they were soon on the way to the barn.  After two more days of blowing and drifting, the storm as the old timers used to say went down.  Feed supplies and water being plentiful, Mr. Nerby drove out after his coal that he had unloaded.  The only thing he found was a hole in the snow bank where they coal had been and the fine dust that man could not pick up.  Only thing to do was to go to Cooperstown after another load of coal.  On arriving home in the afternoon on the second day during the daylight hours a much worried but relieved family greeted him in the yard.

After the crops had been seeded that spring Mr. Nerby went to Cooperstown after a summer's supply of coal.  His family, thinking he would be away for two days, was really surprised when Andrew drove in their farmyard in time for dinner.

A few feet away from where he had unloaded part of his load during the winter was a fresh supply of coal.  They never found out who the man was but he had replaced what he had borrowed.  Truly a sign of an honest man.
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Food for the Table in Pioneer Days

Providing food for the table was an important task for the pioneers.  Most of the food that was used was raised on the land where they lived.  Some of the commodities were purchased at the stores but not very much.  A very important source of food was the gardens which provided fresh vegetables in season as well as food for the winter which was canned or dried.  Wild game was available in quantities, too, as well as fish in the streams.

Mrs. Posey tells this story about her first garden.

"What a wonderful garden we had the first year!  It was planted on new breaking, of course, and some of the neighbors thought my mother was crazy because she planted corn and tomatoes and other such vegetables but I wonder if they did not wish they had been as crazy as she, when we reaped the reward that fall.  Great ripe tomatoes as large as a soup bowl, pumpkins, squash, citrons, enough to supply us with the lovely golden preserves all winter, and all kinds of other vegetables, too."
The Kallbergs tell this story:

"Shortly after Will left to go to work, two of his brothers came over to his farm and plowed a fire break around the house and the sod barn which Will had put up for the cow.  It was in this plowed ground that Adah made her garden and a very good one it was as she had plenty of time to spend on it.  She planted radishes, onions, turnips, carrots, beans and potatoes.  The beans, Will's mother had brought with her from Minnesota and they were highly prized.  She gave Adah a teacupful of the brown beans and a baking powder can full of the white beans.  Adah planted them carefully to be sure not to lose a plant.  When she threshed them out in out in the fall, she had a heaping dishpan full of the brown beans and two heaping dishpans full of the white beans; they had also eaten a good many green through the summer.  The other garden seeds Will had purchased in town at the Strong‑Chase store.

In 1885 crop was poor due to the dry summer, however, the garden was again a success.  They had enough potatoes for winter and other vegetables as well.  Will and Mr. King dug a root cellar, putting a floor over it.  They used this to store the potatoes and other vegetables during the winter."
Meat, not bread, was the staff of life for the frontier farmers.  Those who didn't as yet have much livestock lived largely on deer, grouse, pheasants, geese, duck, rabbits, and any other wild game that could be found.

Apple trees soon came to be grown on many farms, and this was made into cider, dried apples and apple butter, apple pie came to be the almost universal dessert.

Some farms had a cow or two to furnish them with milk.  The cream would be skimmed off and churned into butter.  Some of the butter was used but many times it was taken to the stores for some extra cash.  The going price was about 45¢ a pound.

Chickens, too, could be found on the farms.  This product too was saved to sell at the stores for about 45¢ a dozen for the eggs.

The pioneers of Foster County traveled to Jamestown to obtain supplies for the winter that they had not raised on the farm.  Here's an example of a list:

100 pounds corn meal 

100 pounds white flour 

Pail of syrup 

Dried slab of side of pork 

Baking powder 

One-ton hard coal 

Condensed milk

One‑half ton soft coal

Two loads of wood from Hawksnest

About in February they would get hungry for fresh meat.  The only thing obtainable at that time was rabbit.  They set a trap in the evening and the next morning the trap, rabbit and all were gone.  The men hitched up a team and the three men and a dog started trailing the rabbit.  They tracked it for 10 miles and finally caught it.  They took it to the shanty and dressed it, and Mr. Bort says he has never had anything taste better in his life.  (Holcomb and Bort story)

Drinking water was a problem for the early settlers.  The Holcomb brothers and Bort took water from sloughs when they first arrived.  They dipped it out then strained it through a cloth to get the "wrigglers" and toads out.  Later they dug a well about 20 feet deep.

The wells were usually shallow, dug round or square and either walled up with stone or curbed with boards.  Pumps were too expensive for the pioneers and so they used a rope and a bucket suspended from an iron pulley to draw the water from the well.

The pioneers were very hospitable people.  The C.K. Wings would have a "baked beans and brown bread supper" on Saturday evening.  All their friends were welcome to drop in and enjoy the east coast style supper.

Pork though was the most frequent meat on the pioneer table.  Hogs were produced relatively easily, since they were allowed to forage in the wilds for virtually all their food.  Salt pork was standard fare the year 'round.  Beef was a secondary meat.  Every farmer slaughtered his own animals, usually with the help of neighbors.  After the crops were harvested, the fall seeding done, the winter's supply of firewood cut and piled, butchering was in order.  
The farmers would gather on some chilly November day.  A 40‑50 gallon kettle was hung over an outdoor fire to heat water for scalding the carcasses.  Another kettle was used to prepare the lard.  The animals, mostly hogs but also oxen, old cows and sheep, were slaughtered in early morning so the meat would be hard and cold by the time it was pickled at nightfall.

Butchering was a very busy time for the farm wives.  The meat had to be pickled, smoked, dried, salted, or potted so it would keep throughout the year.  Pork was preserved in barrels of brine or in tubs packed with lard.  Hams, shoulders and sides were hung in the smoke‑house to cure.  There was sausage to make, lard to be rendered out, and tallow to save.  Hog meat was made into a tremendous variety of food products - salt pork, bacon, ham, scrapple, headcheese, cracklings, spare ribs, jowls, pickled pig's feet, and many others.  A supply of beef too was dried, corned or smoked, but the backbone of the farm fare was hog meat.

Some people used the bladders as balloons for the kids.  The brains were prepared and were considered a gourmet dish.

The standard cereal meal was corn meal.  It was consumed mainly as corn pone or hoecake, but corn meal mush and milk were staple foods.  Wheat was a cash crop and rarely used to make bread for the farmer's table.  Some used rye for their bread.

Although there were no nutrition experts in those days to tell the pioneers about vitamins, minerals and such, they well understood the need to eat quantities of fruits and vegetables throughout the year.  Pioneer families picked huge quantities of wild fruits and berries in season.  They were eaten fresh or preserved by drying and sometimes by packing in honey or sugar.

Sauerkraut was an important source of vitamins for many farm families during the winter months.  It was made by packing cabbage in salt and changing the brine from time to time as the cabbage fermented.  Sweet corn, beans, pumpkins, squash, and other vegetables were dried.

One popular way to raise money has always been to put on a dinner or supper, or breakfast of various kinds.  As early as 1884 the organization of the Congregational church was putting on an oyster feed when something rather unusual happened.  This story appeared in the Independent:

"This is the story as related publicly.  In 1884 the old Kirkwood hotel building was unoccupied.  The Congregational church had just been organized and a ladies' aid society was also formed.  The women started in at once to raise money.  A great crowd had gathered at the oyster supper.  Many stray and homeless cats had found a haven away from the winter's winds under the hotel floor.  A pail of oysters solidly frozen had been shipped to Carrington for the event by a relative in Baltimore of one of the early members of the church organization here.  The pail was placed on the stove to thaw out and while the women were busy at other tasks, one of the kittens from under the building got into the kitchen onto the stove and stuffed itself so full of oysters that it died on the spot!

The women returned to the stove to be horrified by the sight of the floating cat.  But the hungry crowd was clamoring for stew and it was decided that what a person didn't know didn't matter so the kitty was fished out and the remaining oysters dumped into the stew broth.

Several hundred people partook; most of them acclaimed the stew the finest they had ever eaten and the women who had prepared the meal just grinned inwardly and kept their tongues at half mast."
It was forty years before the story was released.  The conclusion was that women really can keep a secret!

A story in the Independent September 25, 1924 issue tells about a man by the name of B.W. Elder who was going around the region buying old horses.  He had an order to supply 4,000 to 8,000 old nags that were to be shipped to Europe to be canned.  The horses were being bought for $15 a piece.  The story prompted a member of the staff of the Jamestown Alert to a poetical prognostication of what would happen to old Fords.  This is what he wrote: 

In days of old, so we are told, 
Great‑grandpa thought it grand, 
To have an ox to haul the rocks
And journey o'er the land.

An old white nag for gand‑a' drag
the buckboard into town, 
In the ox's place, with faster pace, 
He'd turn the furrow down.

Now a new machine by gasoline, 
Takes Pa to town by sprockets 
The horse and ox both in one box
As good corn beef, to markets.

When pa departs, for other parts, 
Of which there is little known, 
He will, no doubt, no new wings sprout, 
For he will then have flown.

But who I ask, will have the task, 
This benzine rig to pickle, 
That it will go as beef, you know, 
I gladly bet a nickel.

The people were cautioned not to read the news article aloud at the dinner table.  A packinghouse was set up in Chicago to take care of the task of canning the meat and sending it on to Europe.
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Pioneer Clothing

Most of the pioneers made their own clothing except such things as shoes, hats and boots that were bought in town.  Many of the women would knit socks, mittens, caps, and sweaters that were worn by the family.  The wives would do the sewing by hand unless she was one of the fortunate ones to have a sewing machine.  Quilts and rugs for the floors were also made by hand.

Mrs. Johnson's father made wooden shoes for his children.  The tops were used, discarded leather uppers from some old and worn shoes.

Mrs. Glenn Sutherland always made her girls a new dress for Christmas.  She never had a pattern.  The girls would pick the kind of dress they liked from the Sears Roebuck catalog.  Then she would cut out the material and sew it up.

One of her girls, Mrs. H.O. Berg tells this story about one of her new dresses.

"I wanted a new dress for the Old Settlers' picnic, so I saved the eggs from our small flock of hens, to buy the material.  We had no refrigeration, and by the time I took them into the store, half of them were spoiled.  I took the eggs to the store and picked out the prettiest material I could find, and since my mother wasn't home to make it I took it to my aunt.  She sewed it for me and I wore it to the picnic, but on the way home it rained cats and dogs, as the old expression goes.  We were in an open touring car, and my father had a hard time to keep us out of the ditch.  I was trying to keep my younger sister from getting wet by holding her in my lap and wrapping her in a robe we had in the car.  I was sitting in a pool of water and was soaking wet by the time we got home, but the worst part of it was my beautiful new dress was ruined.  You see in those days, all the girls wore big, black santeen bloomers for undergarments, and the black bloomers had faded all over my new dress!  "
Mrs. Farquer tells this story:

"One of my dresses would make four of those worn by my granddaughters.  When I was a little girl we wore hoopskirts but my mother was very strict and would never let my sister and I wear them very stiff.  Other children would run wild grape vine through the tucks and make them so stiff they'd bounce if you touched them, but mother never let us wear them that way.

I remember my wedding bonnet - it was a beautiful thing.  It was made of leghorn with rows and rows of pink quilled into the front, and a big bouquet of pink flowers on the right side.  My hair was parted on one side and waved back from my forehead into one of the big nets we wore.  At the time I was married we wore the huge leg‑of‑mutton sleeves that ended in a small tight cuff, tight bodices, and a full, flowing skirt that never contained less than four widths of material."
(Mrs. Farquer was married in 1859.)
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Indians 

(Report written by Mrs. William Smith)

Even today the very word "Indian" has an adventuresome sound and the boys and girls think today's Indians as similar to those they read about.

However, in the early 80s the Indians were becoming civilized and were completely under the control of white men.  After the killing of Sitting Bull in 1890 there was little trouble with Indians in Dakota.

Sitting Bull was the Sioux chief who led many uprisings in the western states of the U.S.  After the killing of General Custer and his men in 1876 on the Little Big Horn, Sitting Bull escaped into Canada where he remained until 1881 when he returned to Dakota.  He was arrested in 1890 when an uprising threatened and was killed near Fort Yates, a short time later when trying to make his escape.

Although the Indians continually going through Foster County in the early 80s did not molest the settlers and were fairly well behaved, great fear was nevertheless felt through those early years.  Most of the pioneers, particularly the women, were in great fear of the Indians, having heard many stories of Indian massacres in their childhood.  Even now many Easterners think of Indians and Dakota as wild and unmanageable.  Several of our pioneer women who have been interviewed had told stories of their feeling toward, and experiences with, Indians in the early 80s.

Indian Trail in Farm Yard

In the summer of 1885, Mrs. Jennie Laughlin saw Indians for the first time and she was very frightened.  The trail from Fort Totten to the Standing Rock Reservation passed through the very farmyard of the Laughlins and the Indians did not change their course just because there were settlers located there.  They seemed to follow their instincts in most things and did not change their habits easily.  Often Indians stopped at the home of the Laughlins for food and drink which they never refused.  Mrs. Laughlin hoped to be rid of them sooner by complying with their wishes.  However, vicious looking many of them were.  They did not steal or molest anything belonging to these pioneers.

Mrs. Laughlin says that most of the Indians dressed in native garb to some extent, wearing shawls or blankets wrapped around them and tied in below the waist with a cord or piece of rope.  Their hair was usually parted in the middle and hung over their shoulders in two thick braids, the part painted a bright red and often a feather for an ornament.  Occasionally there would also be an Indian with a full feather headdress.  If they had beads or other ornaments they would be bedecked with them.

Mrs. Laughlin remembers well her first experience with the Indians.

A Lesson in Etiquette

One day in the summer of 1885, Mr. and Mrs. Laughlin and their children had just finished their noon meal when Mr. Laughlin noticed two Indian bucks carrying guns, riding toward the house from the north.  His wife begged him not to leave the house until the Indians were out of sight and they stood at the window watching the two men as they rode up to the house and dismounted.  Mr. Laughlin then went outside to waylay them, but they held out their hands in friendly fashion and asked in their sign language if they might have food.  They then stood their guns against the house and followed Mr. Laughlin inside where he asked his wife to feed the men.  She quickly set the table with their simple dishes and silverware and was glad that she had on the stove a large kettle of cabbage and another of potatoes, also plenty of bread which she had baked that morning.

She heaped serving dishes with food and the Indians sat down at the table.  However, they completely ignored the plates and silverware and ate from the serving dishes, one eating by handfuls of the cabbage and the other handfuls of the potatoes and then exchanging.  The bread disappeared like magic; Mrs. Laughlin kept replenishing the bread plate but all would soon be gone.  When she had given them almost three loaves of bread she decided she would watch and see if they were actually eating it; surely two men would not consume that much food.  It was then that she saw that they would empty the plate and tuck the bread in their blankets.  She decided she would give them no more and was chagrinned that she had given them as much as she had, for there was little left for the family.  Later she learned that it is "Indian manners" to take all that is set before them and that this showed appreciation.

Smoke Pipe of Peace

When the two men had finished their meal, the Laughlins breathed a sigh of relief, but in vain, for they sat by the stoves and drew out their pipes, which had stems one foot and a half long.  They sat there and smoked contentedly, every so often offering a pipe to Mr. Laughlin who was unable to smoke without becoming ill.  He finally made them understand that he could not smoke, and they seemed reconciled and took their leave.  The offering of their pipes had been their way of showing their thanks for the meal and friendship toward their benefactors.  Mrs. Laughlin afterward berated her husband for not smoking as the Indians might have become angry.

These Indians had not been gone more than fifteen minutes when a lone Indian rode into the yard and up to the house.  He was very different in appearance then the other two had been; being clean and well dressed in a navy blue suit with brass buttons which looked like a uniform.  He told them partly in English and partly in sign language, that he would like some food.  There was nothing left now from dinner, but Mrs. Laughlin set the table as before and gave him bread and butter, and tea.  He ate with the manners of a white man, using the plates and silverware in the approved manner.  He then asked the Laughlins regarding the direction the other two men had taken and was quickly on his way also.  Often the Laughlins wondered what his interest in the other two Indians had been and whether or not he was some kind of officer but they were never able to find out.

Unwelcomed Guests

Mrs. F.N. Chaffee said that Indians were the bone bf her life the first summer that she lived in Dakota, in the year 1885.  Sometimes they would go through the country in large bands and again in two's and three's.  Mr. Chaffee was friendly with the Indians and believed in treating them with kindness, telling his wife to let them have what food they wished and all the water they, needed.  As a result of Mr. Chaffee's kindness, their homestead became a regular camping ground for the Indians, much to his wife's disgust.  Sometimes they would buy all the food she had on hand and once a group of Indians drained their well dry, watering some hundred head of their stock.

The first night the Indians camped on their place, Mrs. Chaffee sat up all night and watched them much to her husband's amusement as he had become accustomed to the Indians in his two years in Dakota.  However, the Indians did not touch anything belonging to the Chaffees and often asked to buy food rather than to beg it.

There was a stipulation made to the Indians camping on the homestead of the Chaffees.  They must make their camp on the plowing so that the house and barn would not be endangered by their fires.  The Indians usually traveled in wagons, but sometimes were on horseback or afoot.  The women carried the luggage and small children and if anyone walked, they did.

Mrs. John Connolly Sr. had many experiences with Indians in the early 80s.  She spent the first three years of her life in Dakota at Fort Sisseton and Fort Totten, and at both places Indians were numerous.  They seemed very frightful to her at first as she judged them by stories she had heard from her father and mother who were settlers in Minnesota in 1862, the time of the great massacre that was recently commemorated.

Soon she became accustomed to the Indians and really interested in their customs and language.  She learned to speak "Indian" quite fluently.  Even after Mr. Connolly left the army in the fall of 1884 and took a homestead on the Sheyenne River some 15 miles northeast of New Rockford.  Indians were constantly at their door.  The reservation was just across the river from them and often the Indians were real pests.

Indians Celebrate July Fourth

On July 4, 1884 a sham battle was held at Fort Totten and great preparations were made for the celebration.  A few days before the 4th, a long caravan of Indians from Fort Yates arrived to put on the show.  They were given a cleared spot, some half mile in diameter, where they might camp until it was time to perform.  In this camp they reverted to their native customs.

The day before the Fourth Mrs. Connolly went with Captain Bennet, his wife and daughter, to the camp to see the Indians in their native habitat.  Several sights of that camp are still vivid in Mrs. Connolly's mind.  In one place were several Indian men and women around a large bonfire roasting a quarter of beef on poles set up for the purpose.  In another place an old Indian squaw was mixing flour and water to be baked in the stone oven into the hard biscuits which the Indians love.  A short way off a group of Indian bucks in full war dress were preparing for the morrow's battle and finally came the scene which impressed Mrs. Connolly the most.

At a small fire two Indian women were roasting a dog; at the time they were singeing the hair from the animal preparing to roast it.  Clinging to one of the women's skirts was a small and dirty child, crying lustily.

Shot in Sham Battle

The next day, July 4th, the sham battle was held with a large crowd attending.  The Indians were in full wardress and, with loud shouts and war whoops and much flourishing of weapons, they gave a most realistic imitation of Indian battles of yore.  Some of them not so far in the past either.

There was one Indian, dressed in civilian clothes, who was the interpreter, conferring between the white men and the Indians and explaining the details of the battle.  During the battle he rode with the others, being conspicuous in his civilian clothing.  The Indians carried rifles and used blank cartridges.

At the very crisis of the fight, the Indians turned as one man and fired at the interpreter who fell to the ground.  As soon as it was known to the spectators that the interpreter had actually been shot pandemonium reigned.  The interpreter was dead.

Nothing could be proved on any certain Indian or Indians even though the killing was before the eyes of many people.  It was impossible to ascertain which of the Indians had used blank cartridges and which had used real shell.  It had been planned perfectly and carried out the same way.  The Indians had undoubtedly been jealous of the higher education and position of the interpreter.

An Indian Dude

As was the case of the other pioneer women, Mrs. Ben Holcomb was intensely afraid of Indians when she first came to the west in the summer of 1883.  The Indians from Fort Totten followed a trail to the Sheyenne River, then down the Jim River, cutting off at what was known as Bowman's Crossing and then crossing Foster County to the Hawksnest.  Many of them stopped at the Holcombs asking for food and drink and often for tobacco.  Sometimes they were fed and sometimes they weren't according to the provisions at hand.

During the early years there was one Indian who came to the Holcombs quite often and often stayed there overnight.  He lived north of Devils Lake and had been educated at the Carlisle Indian School.  He was the son of Chief Ironheart, who was said to be a most cruel looking Indian and who lived up to his name.  However, his son whom Mrs. Holcomb believes was called Charlie, was very nice in appearance, talked English fairly well and always was polite and mannerly.  He dressed well and upon his visits to the Holcombs the children were fascinated with him.  He rode a beautiful horse which had a beaded saddle and always wore highly polished black boots.  He amused Mrs. Holcomb very much when he would leave in the early morning as he walked very gingerly through the wet grass in order to protect his boots.

Mr. Holcomb said his chief impression of Indians was that they always had a lot of dogs following them for which he had much pity.

These and many other stories have been told of the Indians in those days of the 80s.  They traveled through the county in a stream during the spring and fall of the year, going from one reservation to another.  Although they were not nearly as wild and malicious as the settlers had imagined they would be, still many thought them most interesting.

This report by Leslie J. Strand, Independent, June 4, 1975)
"The wagon trains sometimes stretched out for a mile or more.  In spring and fall, the farmers along the trail would occasionally see as many as 50 wagons moving in single file across the prairie.  They rolled along with haste, at a slow trot, passing by and then vanishing into the south or north.  ‑

The travelers were the Indians‑ Sioux tribesmen moving between Fort Totten and the Standing Rock reservation.  For many years, they used a trail that took them along the western edge of Foster County.  Traces of their wagon tracks still remain in the untouched sod of the Hawksnest.

The exact route of the trail is not remembered‑ it paralleled the Wells‑Foster county line coming south from New Rockford and then circled toward the Hawksnest, meandering between favorite camping spots on the Pipestem Creek.

Farmers also used the trail.  Portions of the Indians' route later were included in the Green Trail and still later, in the North Star Trail.  Old‑timers will remember these as the first marked trails running through the area.  They were dirt trails but also the first highways.

To the farm children, the Indians in the wagon trains looked little different from the farmers.  Usually, two Indian men sat in the front of the wagons.  The women, wrapped in blankets, bounced along on the wagon floors, facing the back.  They wore white‑man's clothing‑ everyday work clothes for the men, long dresses for the women.  There was nothing fancy about what they wore or their equipment.  Their horses were generally thin; their harnesses were of the simplest kind.

"The things I remember more than anything else was the dogs‑ there was always a bunch of dogs and four or five loose horses following along," Tom White recalled.  His memories go back to around 1910, when he was a boy living along side the trail.

The Indians passed by barely noticed by the farmers: 'We never paid any attention to them, ' he said, 'They were just travelers.'
Farther down the trail to the south, Emil Smith lived, near a grassy meadow on the east bank of the Pipestem.  His family called it Pleasant Valley.  It is a sheltered spot and was a regular stopping place for the Indian Travelers.

"I have seen that plot of ground nearly covered with tents‑ at least 20, maybe more", Emil reminisced.  His earliest memories are from the 1890s‑ a time when the prairie was being transformed into farmland, with amazing speed.  From the farmyard, about 40 rods from the meadow, Emil would watch them set up camp.  He watched, but because he was just a young boy, he never visited camp.

The Indians were not hard travelers.  20 miles a day is about what they averaged although miles probably did not much concern them.  They moved in accordance with the sun.

"They made camp early," Emil said, "so they would be all settled in before sunset.  And when I would get up in the early morning, they would be gone."
Their tents were canvas.  Neither Tom White nor Emil Smith can recall ever seeing the Indians use the traditional teepees.

However, Toady Zimmerman presents a considerably different picture.  He grew up in the Hawksnest, just east aways, on what is now the Ray Klein farm.  Looking back to about 1910, he remembers that a spring to the northeast of the Hawksnest was another favorite campground.  (The spring still flows; its approximate location is marked by a motel unit from the old Rainbow Gardens.)  This was apparently known as a spot for trading horses.  The Indians usually stayed there four or five days, living in teepees, and many farmers would come to compare horseflesh and dicker on a trade.

Toady recalls that the men did wear the fringed leather clothing and beaded moccasins.  The long hair was, however, no longer worn by the Indian men.  Emil also remarked on this point that "It was not shoulder length, as I can recall; if it had been our folks would have said something about it."
Other than horse‑trading, it seems that there was very little personal contact between the Indians and the white settlers.  There were older settlers who were apparently accustomed to receiving the Indians as friends.  Emil mentioned the names of Jack Middleton, Tom Crow and Joe Buell as men who were on familiar terms with the Indians.  Tom White's grandfather, James Sweeney, had fought in the Indian Wars in Florida and Texas before eventually homesteading in Foster County.

"He had quite a little respect for Indians," Tom remembered.  Many Indians knew Jim Sweeney or knew of him: "If you happened to be along the road, they would stop and want to talk to the older people‑ my granddad was an old man then".
"My grandparents were not the least bit afraid when the Indians came", Emil said.  "The Indians were very quiet‑ they didn't speak more than a few words of English."
When they camped at Pleasant Valley, Indian women regularly walked to the farm to ask Emil's grandmother for milk for their ailing infants.  "Me papoose sick, " they would say.  As there was no firewood on the prairie, they would also go to his grandfather for wood.  The firewood was purchased in Carrington in cord lengths and stove lengths for the cook stove.  Ties were also available from the railroad.  There was no fuel oil in those days, according to Emil.

"My grandmother was always glad to give them milk, and some bread, too.  It was sort of a courtesy on the part of the Indians because they knew it would be given in a courteous way.  They were always friendly‑ just like anybody else‑ and thankful for the milk and bread and wood", Emil said.

Not everyone, however, had a high regard for the Indians.  Tom White speculated that one reason that they avoided towns was the possibility of harassment.  A mistrust and bitterness towards the Indians was still present at the time of settlement here although the Sioux had long since ceased hostilities.

Tom White commented: "I think that maybe quite a few people had a little fear of the Indians, they just didn't know what they were going to do; however, nobody ever tried to antagonize them".
Emil Smith has one memory of the Indians celebrating at Pleasant Valley: "One evening they danced in the ravine with bells clanging.  They kept on until midnight‑ I thought the Indians were going on the warpath."  He laughed at his childish thought because in 1895, or thereabouts, there was no likelihood that they would ever attempt to fight the white men again.

In 1890 according to government figures there were 8,174 Indians living in North Dakota.  By the same year, the number of white men had swelled to 191,000.  There was a leap of more than 1,000 percent from 1878 when there were only 16,000.  In 1873, the William Larrabee family settled near Lake Juanita, becoming the first permanent white family in Foster County.  In that year, there was more than one soldier for every adult Indian male in the state.

The Indian way of life was already a part of the past when the white settlers began breaking up the sod here.  The buffalo had disappeared‑ none of the pioneers in this area saw a wild bison although the prairie was littered with buffalo bones.  The picture of the proud Sioux warrior was almost as much a memory for the pioneer generation as it is for us.

The Indians who journeyed across the prairie in wagon trains were a conquered people.  At the time when the earliest childhood memories of Emil Smith, Tom White and Toady Zimmerman were formed, only the oldest Indians could look back to the time when these grasslands were their hunting grounds, thus, it is hardly surprising that the settlers took the Indians for granted.  Like the grass and the hills, they had always been here.  But the settlers' attention was elsewhere‑ focused on their own changing world.  , 

The wagon trains continued until horses were phased out by automobiles.  Tom White remembers the last group he saw: four young fellows who stopped for water while driving a bunch of horses north to Fort Totten.  That was in 1925.

"We can't say they were happy, but they were gentle people‑ there was a dignity about them", Emil remarked.  He discerned a special feeling in the Indian while they were free to travel and camp on the still‑open prairie.  "The remnants of their joy", he called it.
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Buffalo Bones

By LeRoy Barnett, North Dakota History Journal of the Northern Plains

"At one time one of the major exports of the region was buffalo bones.  The business of buying and selling buffalo bones started about 1868 with the booming of the railroad.  It made it profitable to ship the bones to Eastern Carbon and fertilizer factories.  Piles of bones began to appear near the railroad stations.  Railroads were happy to have a payload for the return trip.  The total quantity of bones collected in one year filled 5,000 boxcars.  The average freight car charge was $100 because this business was a good source of income for the railroads.

The farmers could collect about $8 a ton for gathering the bones.  It literally became the first crop gathered for many pioneers as they worked to plant the soil.  With so many people gathering the bones it took less than a decade before they were all collected.  During the short period of time more than two million tons were sold to the eastern factories for rendering into charcoal filters and manurial phosphate.  $40,000,000 was brought to the Great Plains area.

Michigan Carbon Works of Detroit in 1873 started to distill bones into animal charcoal which was used for filtering and purifying sugar syrup.  After the buffalo bones were no longer available the raw materials were imported from Europe."
This advertisement appeared in the New Rockford Transcript.  It was placed in there by J.G. Moore of Carrington

"Buffalo bones: I am prepared to buy buffalo bones and will pay $8 per ton for the same delivered at New Rockford."
The gathering and sale of buffalo bones assisted many of the pioneers of this area to get the necessities of life.  None of the new settlers of this section were blessed with much money and as winter approached many of them were hard pressed for the where‑with‑all to buy coal and provisions for themselves and their families.  Mr. Olson, editor of the Transcript remembered when he and his two brothers plodded over the prairies north of Carrington dragging a heavy homemade cart and picking up the massive bones and putting them in piles which were later thrown in a lumber wagon, hauled to Carrington and sold to the same J.G. Moore.  This was in the summer of 1883 and the 80 odd tons collected by the Olson family that summer helped materially to keep the wolf from the door until the crop was harvested the next year.  Many of the pioneers, in fact nearly all of them, kept the younger members of the family busy collecting the bones of these animals.  Thousands of dollars were paid.
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Some Beauty Aids Used in the Past

Most beauty aids were natural resources, especially plenty of soap and water and plenty of outdoor exercise with their bodies covered.  The style at that time was to have white skin, the whiter the better, that's why they wore bonnets and covered up when they went outside.  One tablespoon thick cream was used for face and skin conditioner.

To remove wrinkles: Melt together one ounce of white wax, 2 oz. strained honey, 2 oz. of juice of lily bulbs.  The foregoing melted and stirred together will remove all your wrinkles.
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Home Health Remedies

Onion Cough Syrup: One large onion cut up fine.  Put in pan with a little water, about three tablespoons sugar and let simmer for about 30 minutes until it is medium syrup.  Take as needed.

Whiskey Cough Syrup: one-tablespoon whiskey, a tsp. sugar.  Stir sugar in whiskey until dissolved and swallow.

Chest Colds: Mustard Plaster: Two tablespoons Lard (Hog), 1 tablespoon ground mustard.  Mix well.  Put on wool red flannel.  Put on chest and keep covered up.

Spring Tonic: 4 or 5 pieces of sassafras bark in pan of water.  Boil until a good dark color.  Take 1/2 cup every morning.

For Upset Stomach: One-tablespoon Watkins Horse liniment in glass of hot water and 1 tsp. sugar.

Flax seed Lemonade Cough Syrup: This is from a doctor's book in 1889.  2 tbsp. flaxseed in a pint of boiling water.  Let stand until cool and strain.  Add the juice of two lemons and two tbsp. honey.  Stir well.  Give as needed.
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Old Settlers' Association of Foster County

10th Annual Picnic

Holcomb's Grove, July 12th, 1916

Program of the Day

10:00 a. m.‑Ball game, Bordulac vs. Melville.  Purse of $5.00, given by the Bordulac State Bank.

1:00 p. m‑Invocation.

Music‑Carrington band.

Vocal music‑Mixed voices.

Address‑Gov. Hanna.

The platform contests follow:

Prettiest baby under 10 months old: First prize, $2.50; second, $1.50; third , $1.00. Prizes by the Commercial Sate Bank, of Carrington.

Shot guessing contest, for ladies. Prize by Putnam‑Miller Company, of Melville.

Largest family at the picnic: First prize, $7.00 time certificate of deposit by the First National Bank; second prize, $2.00 and 5 pounds bacon, given by the Live Stock Meat & Produce Company.

The oldest lady settler. First prize, ladies umbrella J. G. Reitsch Dry Goods Co; second, pair of wilk hose, by C. K. Wing; third, pair silk gloves, by Carrington Mercantile Company

Heaviest baby under 1 year old. Prize of $5.00 to be deposited in savings bank for the baby, given by the Foster County State Bank.

Heaviest old settler. First prize, pair of $4.00 Douglas shoes, by Wallace‑Galehnuse Company; second prize, flesh reducer, by A. J. Smith.

Oldest settler at picnic: First prize, smoker set. by Leon Galehouse; second, box cigars by R. J. Boyle, Bordulac.

Contests

Ladies foot race, for ladies over 18 years of age, 25 yard dash. First prize. aluminum set, by Record Printing Company ; second, pair of shoes, by E. A. Roach Bordulac.

Boys' foot race, for boys 16 and under, 50 yard dash. First prize, catchers snit, by the Carrington Drug Company; second, boy's watch, by Sivertson & Lee.

Throwing baseball. First prize, base ball; second, bat, by Buchanan & Sons.

Boys' foot race, for boys of 14 and under. First prize, knife; second, knife; by Walker & Company

Girls' race, for girls of 16 and over. First prize, by J. P. Kidder, Melville; second, Melville.

Girls' race, for girls of 14 and under. First prize by K. K. Gorgeness pair of sandals.

Relay race, three men. Prize $3.

Potato race First prize $1.50 ; second, $1.00; third, 50¢.

Oldest settler, coming the farthest distance to picnic. Prize, year's subscription to the Foster County Independent.

The best matched team at the picnic. $5.00 in merchandise, by Angus Ferguson, Bordulac.

Board jump. First prize, sweater, by Shaw & Co , Bordulac.

There will be ten special prizes given by the Beck Clothing Company See the special cards.

Judges of the platform contests:  W. M. Cruchet, W. J. Doyle, Chas. Hansch

Judges of the highway contests:  C. S. Holiday, Martin Murphy, E. L. Beaty
Marshals of the day‑Avery Morgan and Ralph Hall.

by J. Shearer, 

Independent Publishing Company Carrington, North Dakota.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 63

First Old Settlers Picnic

June 20, 1905 

The First Annual Picnic of the Old Settlers' Association of Foster County was a Grand Success

Many miles, many miles, 
Many miles Westward.
Away from their childhood's home
Came the Old Settlers.
Forward for weal or woe‑
Live or die‑ who could know?
Came the Old Settlers.
Westward they pressed and brave‑
Chancing a home, or grave!
Breasting life's ocean wave‑
Bravely and manfully!
Friends may have questioned why, 
Theirs not to stop and sigh‑
Onward! their beacon cry, 
Cheerfully, painfully, 
Labor to right of them!
Labor to left of them!
Obstacles in front of them‑
Wilderness round them!
Each one and all must work, 
Useless the task to shirk, 
Who then could wonder that
Happiness soon should lurk
Near, as it found them!
Plows with the soil to cope, 
Sowing and reaping hope, 
No wonder wealth should drop‑
Who would have hindred it?
Into their meadows!
Industry sure must bring
Crowns for each labor king‑
Homes for the Conquering‑
Hope for even these, 
Under death's shadows.
Then let us welcome them‑
Those that are left of them‑
Encourage them, cherish them, 
Honored Old Settlers.

‑Selected.

The Old Settlers' first annual picnic held on the 20th at Holcomb's grove, which is an ideal place for holding it, is now a matter of history.  The day was auspicious for such an event and a large share of the populace of the county was present, the gathering numbering nearly 2,000.  The McHenry band, a high-class musical organization, was present and furnished music during the day.  The program, with a few exceptions, was carried out.  A gentleman from McHenry County brought greeting from the Old Settlers' association of that county.  After the program came a dinner such as only Old Settlers can provide.
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The Sports

The Whites beat the Reds at basketball, score 5 to 1.

The basketball team of which Walter Keyes was captain won the boys' game, score 14 to 2.

George Herman's pony, Frank Elske up, won the pony race.

The Shetland pony race was won by Harold Wing's pony, ridden by himself.

The foot race for boys, 13 years old their last birthday, was won by Hugh Putnam.

The race for men over 60 was won by Joseph Sheehy.

Morris Keeler carried off the prize for climbing the greased pole.

The tug‑of‑war was not carried out as advertised, but Peter Zink said if he could not win the foot race he could pick up the winning side of the tug‑of‑war and his side won, so Pete evidently knew what he was talking about.

Next came the ball game between Carrington's second nine and a team composed of players from Barlow and Rose Hill.  It was the best game of ball seen in a long time in this vicinity and was won by Carrington in the last half of the eleventh inning, score 4 to 3.

The officers and especially the president, H.A. Soliday, and the secretary, T.N. Putnam, are to be congratulated on the success of the affair, as it is always the first picnic that is the hardest to conduct, and valuable experience was acquired for future guidance.

The officers elected at the business meeting held in the afternoon are as follows

President, Geo J. Backen

vice‑president, commissioner first district, John Murphy

Second district, A.D. Parker

Third district, John Indergaard 

Secretary, E.T. Halaas

Treasurer, John Buchanan, Sr.
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Notes

One little boy was run into by one of the ball players and got quite a bump.
One lady fainted on account of the heat, but soon recovered and suffered no ill effects.

The first child born in this county was not decided and the affair is in the hands of a committee.  It is thought that Miss Helen Barnes, daughter of Ellery Barnes, is the winner.

Some one, said to be from one of the neighboring towns, opened up a blind pig near the grounds.

The next picnic management will do well to take steps to see that the law is rigidly enforced.  This is the one place where it ought to be said that a man can take his family and go home sober in the evening.  Make it so hot for the sellers that it will not be wise for them to try it again.  If a man is so hard up he has to get money this way, take up a collection and make him a present of a purse.  Women and little children attend these picnics; let all future ones be sober ones.  Don't think from this that it was a drunken crowd‑ far from it, only a few were intoxicated, and part of the few took their own supply with them, something the management can't prevent, but they can, the minute a man shows the least sign of drunkenness, have him fired off the grounds.
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List of Old Settlers and Date of Arrival in Territory

	George Beier
April 2, 1892
	Martin McWethy
April 6, 1878
	Alice Cole
October 10, 1883

	John Connolly, Jr.
March 21, 1891
	Charles Thompson
June 9, 1888
	Mrs. John Prentice

	Mayme Connolly
March 21, 1891
	Charles Hendrickson
	Mrs. Jennie Laughlin, 
November 21, 1884

	Angus Ferguson
February 1, 1900
	John Johnson
	O.C. Reppard
April 6, 1883

	Mrs. Angus Ferguson, 
February 1, 1900
	T.E. Thompson
	R.D. Lemert
1886

	Isaac Harbottle
1892
	Preston Garland
1882
	Mrs. R.D. Lemert
1886

	Anna Harbottle
1892
	Louisa Garland
1884
	Susie Walton
1889

	John E. Halaas
November 1, 1890
	Carl Westerland
July 1885
	J. B. Walton
1888

	Maime Halass
	Margarita Westerland
	G. L. Walton
1888

	Eilert Hjelseth
November 1, 1893
	Ole B. Rusten
June 1886
	Mrs. L.L. Walton

	Elise M. Hjelseth
	Elise Rusten
May 1891
	J. J. Walton
1883

	John C. Graham
April 3, 1893
	Borger O. Rusten
June 1886
	J.E. Walton
1888

	Herman Brown
July 1, 1893
	A.J. Halaas
	N.A. Page
1893

	Kenneth Ferguson
March 21, 1890
	Mrs. A.J. Halaas
	John Bruening
1884

	Ingeborg Ferguson
May 20, 1893
	T.A. Halaas
	Katherine Bruening
1884

	J.A. Graham
1893
	John Halaas
	L.L. Walton
1882

	Mrs. J. A. Graham
1893
	George M. Ackerman, 
July 20, 1885
	C.L. Garland
1889

	C.M. Iron
1898
	Mrs. G.M. Ackerman
	E.T. Porter
1882

	Nettie A Iron
	George Schmid
1883
	E.M. Dingman
1886

	Hugh R. Putman, 
February 22, 1892
	Thomas Turner
1886
	Mrs. E.M. Dingman
1887

	H.P. Chaffee
December 4, 1891
	Martin O'Hara
1884
	Lloyd Dingman 
1887

	Mack Nichelson
March 23, 1889
	Mrs. Martin O'Hara
	O. W. Wiseman 
1882

	Lena M. Nichelson
May 14, 1894
	John O'Hara
1883
	Mrs. G.H. Balding
1889

	Albert Treichel
	Julie O'Hara
1883
	Mrs. Charles Ferguson
1891

	Carrie Treichel
	Nancy Kelly
1883
	Mrs. Sam Fawcett
1883

	Christen Saxlund
March 15, 1894
	Pierce Roberts
1883
	Ella Henry
1889

	Ingeborg Saxlund
1898
	Mrs. Pierce Roberts
	John Henry
1883

	A.J. Smith
March 20, 1882
	Wynn Roberts
1883
	Mrs. Abbie Henry
April 14, 1883

	Margaret Smith
March 20, 1882
	Mrs. Wynn Roberts
	Alta Farquer
October 29, 1883

	John Nichelson
March 4, 1891
	Leonhart Schmid
1883
	August Wiltschko
1883

	Janne Nichelsen
	Liedia Schmid
	William Wischmo
1883

	Henry Miller
March 21, 1898
	Margareta Wiltschka
1883
	John G. Schmid
1883

	Susan Miller
	Ed Hamilton
1886
	Mrs. John G. Schmid
1883

	J.W. Plock
April 2, 1889
	Edwin Oliphant
1884
	Frank F. Schmid
1883

	Sadie Plock
1903
	Mrs. C.C. Phelp
	Mrs. Frank F. Schmid
1883

	H. Nels Johnson
July 5, 1891
	Ethel Phelps
	John A. Hallberg
April 19, 1882

	George Black
March 20, 1891
	Gilbert Roaldson
1883
	Mrs. John A. Hallberg

	Mrs. George Black, 
March 20, 1895
	Sivert Roaldson
July 1883
	Josephine Hallberg

	Miss Kattie Nichelson
	John T. Jondal
April 17, 1883
	Emily Hallberg

	Lorraine Teague
1885
	Elling E. Osey
April 28, 1883
	Mrs. Mary Holcomb

	D.S. Neuman
1883
	Olaus Gustad
July 18, 1883
	M.C. Holcomb
June 17, 1882

	Mrs. D.S. Neuman 
1883
	Mrs. O. Gustad
July 18, 1883
	Mrs. Elisebeth P. Fisk, 
April 11, 1884

	F.P. DeBolt
1884
	Christianna Gustad
July 18, 1883
	Mrs. Mary A. Dodds
May 7, 1883

	Mrs. F.P. DeBolt
	Sam T. Jondal
April 19, 1886 
	Ida M. Dodds
August 21, 1884

	Olive R. Neuman
	Mrs. Sam Jondal
March  24, 1895
	Mrs. Maud P. Smith, 
March  24, 1889

	John Pepla
1882
	Mrs. R.E. Edwardson, 
April 7, 1888
	Jack Buchanan Jr.

	Mrs. John Pepla 
1882
	R.E. Edwardson
April 7, 1888
	John Bissett
1883

	William Bradford
April 1, 1885
	Andrew G. Nelson
April 12 1885
	B.L. Russell
July 1886

	John Bradford
April 1, 1885
	Mrs. Andrew G. Nelson
	Mrs. B.L Russel
April 3, 1885

	Herman Johnson
1886
	Oscar Elton
April 3, 1884
	H.A. Page
August 1885

	Anton Johnson
July 15, 1886
	Mrs. Oscar Elton
	Mrs. H.A. Page
April 9, 1890

	Gustof Johnson
July 15, 1886
	John Semmens
October 27, 1884
	Car Lewis
November 1884

	Carl Erickson
June 1, 1886
	Lewis Mortensen
April 1887
	Mrs. Car Lewis
November 1884

	John Anderson
July 5, 1886
	Mrs. Lewis Mortensen
	Mrs. Mary Williamson
1886

	Thomas Hoggarth
1887
	Mrs. E.A. Semmens, 
October 27, 1884
	Ella B. Williamson
1886

	Edward G. Johnson
	William Teague
	E.L. Beaty
August 1889

	E. Torgerson
March  28, 1889
	A.G. Covill
April 1883
	Mrs. L.M. Beaty

	Hiram Bond
	Mrs. E.C. Covell
1881
	John Prentice

	T. Bradford
April 1, 1885
	Theron Cole
	Henry Laughlin, 
November 21, 1884

	Joseph Buell
March 14, 1886
	Mrs. F.G. Barlow
	W.F. Halliday

	J.W. Laughlin
February 24, 1885
	George H. Sweetland, 
	Mrs. W.F. Halliday

	Beugto Kallberg
July 30, 1885
	L. W. Harriman, 
	Zerlina S. Eakin

	Pete Lundberg
March  24, 1883
	Charles Sharkey, 
	E. Delafield Smith

	Christina Lundberg
	Joseph McKecknie, 
	Norman Nicholson

	George H. Lowery
April 3, 1883
	A. Miller, 
	Mrs. Norman Nicholson

	Mary K. Beaty
June 1889
	Mrs. J.H. McDermott, 
	Leon Galehouse

	Elizabeth Laughlin, 
October 24, 1886
	Mrs. J.H. Robertson, 
	Mrs. Leon Galehouse

	L.H. Cleveland
May 1885
	Harry M. Durbrow, 
	George Hall

	Mrs. B. Swinton
May 1885
	Lamonte Durbrow, 
	Mrs. George Hall

	Mrs. W.M. Moore
May 1885
	Dr. B.D. McLain, 
	G.S. Newbery
April 20, 1883

	Mrs. T.F. Morton
April 1883
	Mrs. D.B. McLain, 
	Mrs. G.S. Newbery

	Laura J. Esenhuth
May 28, 1884
	E.S. Leavenworth, 
	Mrs. Myra Strong

	F.D. Laughlin, 
November 21, 1884
	Mrs. Emma Leavenworth, 
	W.M. Cruchet

	H.A. Soliday
1882
	E.M. Appleby, Old Bridge, New Jersey
	Mrs. W.M. Cruchet

	Mrs. H.A. Soliday
1882
	Robert E. Turney, Seattle, Washington
	Martin Murphy

	J. Lemert
March 1886
	James Hamilton
	Thomas Doughty

	Joseph O'Leary
March 1883
	Mrs. James Hamilton
	Mrs. Thomas Doughty

	Mrs. Joseph O'Leary
March 1883
	Ellen Bredesen
	Jessie Soliday McKenzie

	C.E. Galehouse
April 1884
	Mary Roaldson
	Alexander McKechnie

	William Leasure
1884
	Nellie M. Peabody
1883
	Edna L. McKechnie, Daughter of Alex

	Mrs. W. Leasure
	Mrs. A.T. Johnson
1879
	Anna L. Walker
July 6, 1891

	Mrs. Martin Murphy
	John A. Dodds
1883
	T. W. Baker
March 20, 1883

	John W. Murphy
May 14, 1878
	Blanche R. Beaty
1889
	

	Mrs. John W. Murphy
	Emily J. Latta
1882
	Mrs. J. O. Robertson, 
March 20, 1883

	Joseph Ihringer
1882
	Marrietta E. Garland
1889
	Lillie Robertson

	Mrs. Joseph Ihringer
1882
	Myron Miller
July 2, 1882
	J. Ed Galehouse, Jr.
April 4, 1885

	George H. Estabrook, 
April 15, 1882
	Mrs. Myron Miller
August 1883
	Mrs. Anna Galehouse

	Mrs. G.H. Estabrook, 
April 15, 1882
	Mary E. Fitzgerald,
	Mrs. Hattie M. Hogue, 
September 15, 1889

	T.N. Putnam
March 1886
	daughter of John Fitzgerald
	E.T. Halaas
April 1, 1883

	Clara B. Putnam
July 1886
	Elizabeth F. Owens
	Mrs. Lina Halaas
July 1886

	James Williams
March 1885
	D.J. Butts
1882
	James Derrick
April 6, 1883

	Adam Bond
July 1882
	G.A. Estabrook
	Mrs. Nellie Derrick, 
March 10, 1883

	Mrs. Adam Bond
	Mrs. Elizabeth Burton
	C.K. Wing
April 2, 1882

	T.M. Page
April 15, 1885
	Winona M. Cruchet
	Mrs. Hatie J. Wing, 
February 1, 1885

	Mrs. T.M. Page
April 15, 1884.
	Teena M. Wentland
	L.C. DeBolt
1886

	C.J. Page
April 15, 1885
	Andrew H. Wentland
	Mrs. L.C. DeBolt
1894

	Mrs. C.J. Page
April 15, 1885
	Mathew A. Wentland
	H.P DeBolt
1887

	A.K. Speer
March 1883
	Mrs. Ruth Tanson (Barlow)
	Mrs. H.P. DeBolt
1887

	E.1, Walton
1883
	George D. Palmer
	M.E. DeBolt
1887

	Mrs. E.I. Walton
	Mrs. G.D. Palmer
	Miss Pearl DeBolt
1887

	A.R. Beaty
August 1887
	Thomas McCreary
	Julus Kleb

	Mrs. A,R. Beaty
	Mrs. Thomas McCreary
	Ralph Hall

	O.P. Peterson
May 1881
	A.D. Clark
1883
	Mrs. Marie Hall

	Karl H. Smith
October 1880
	Chappel
Maude A., 
September 15, 1883
	James Rusk

	Mrs. Karl H. Smith
April 1887
	Chappel, Charles L.
	Wallace Galehouse

	Thomas Buchanan
May 1884
	Remer, C.R.
July 26, 1909
	Mrs. Phoebe A. Rusk

	Mrs. Myotte Buchanan, 
March 24, 1889
	Remer, Clara M., 
	Daniel D. Sullivan
March 1882

	David S. Buchanan
1884
	John T. Summers
July 22, 1898
	Patrick Sullivan
March 1880

	Mrs. Carrie Buchanan
	Katy J. Summers
March, 1898
	Jerry Harrington
April 1882

	A.P. Holstead
July 3, 1883
	George W. Wiley, 
March 31, 1898
	M.J. Harrington
June 1883

	Mrs. A.P. Holstad
April 1884
	Anna Wiley
March 31, 1898
	Maggie Harrington, 

	Hon. L.A. Casey, 
Honorary Member
	O.A. Wiley
March 31, 1898
	Julia L. Harrington, 

	T.D. Slater, 
	Fred Beier
April 2, 1892
	Gustav Zink
April 1888

	Manley Cleveland,  
	Kate Beier
April 2, 1892
	Anna Zink
April 1899

	C.E. Gregory
	Russel W. Parker
June 16, 1883
	A.D. Parker
May 1, 1883

	A.O. Elder
	Charles A. Parker
May 1, 1883
	Mrs. A.D. Parker; June 16, 1883

	Mrs. A.O. Elder, 
	Rudolph Schroder
	Edna E. Parker, 

	Heber McHugh, 
	Mrs. Augusta P. Miller
	Andrew A. Parker, 

	George W. Soliday, 
	Mrs. Ella Auringer
	Walter W. Lee
June 1883

	Mrs. George W. Soliday, 
	E.A. Auringer
	Robert Schulz

	R.C. Jordan, 
	Marion Auringer
	Mrs. R. Schulz

	Ole T. Halaas, 
	George Auringer
	W.S. Dodd
September 1885

	Mrs. E.D. Strong, 
	Leslie R. Putnam
	Mrs. H.E. O'Niel
March, 1883

	Mrs. E.M. Chase, 
	Walter M. Moore
	H.E. O'Niel
February, 1904

	P.M. Nelson, 
	George J. Backin
June 1883
	Emil Elton
May 17, 1888

	Nels Hergg, 
	Mrs. George J. Backin
	H.A. Hogue
August 27, 1881

	O.G. Meachem, 
	John Buchanan
	C. A. Hunt
April l4, 1880

	Clara B. Hayden, 
	Mrs. John Buchanan
	Stephen A. Lewis, 
November 7, 1883

	J.E. Galehouse, 
	Charles Kleber Wing
	Frank Harper
1888

	E.T. Guptill, 
	L.C. Green
	C. S. Holiday
April 15, 1886

	E.H. Holcomb, 
	Mrs. L.C. Green
	Mrs. A.L. Holiday
April 1, 1887

	Philip O'Hara
March 10, 1883
	B.J. Holcomb
June 15, 1882
	Theresia Zink,

	Mrs. Philip O'Hara
	Mrs. Alice Holcomb
	R.E. Walters
1882

	J.W. Hicks
April 22, 1884
	Crayton W. Holcomb
	Mrs. R.E. Walters, 

	R.A. Bill
July 3, 1879
	M. Greitl
April 1883
	John E. Indegard
1883

	Elizabeth E. Bill
	F.G. Greitl
June 1883
	Bertha Indegard

	Lucie M. Bill
July 3, 1879
	Mrs. M. Greitl,
	Joseph Sheehy
March 15, 1880

	Robert Haven
April 15, 1887
	C.F. Hauch, 
September 1, 1888
	Mrs. Joseph Sheehy

	Cora Haven
April 15, 1885
	Mrs. C.F. Hauch
	Mathew Hussey
April 20, 1882

	L.K. Estabrook
April 15, 1882
	O. B. Tanson
April 15, 1884
	J.H. Ihringer, Jr.
April 25, 1884

	William Farquer
March 16, 1883
	Mrs. O. B. Tanson
	Windelin Zink
April 1, 1883

	Sarah I. Farquer
	J. R. Engberg
July 10, 1886
	Mrs. Windelin Zink

	Bernhard Larson, 
August 20, 1878
	Mrs. J. R. Engberg
	Erhardt Lettner
April 10, 1885

	Mrs. B. Larson
May 1876
	P.A. Blomquist
June 1885
	William Hussey
April 15, 1885

	A.E. Ireland
May 11, 1883
	Charles Blomquist
June 1882
	Mrs. W. Hussey

	G.L. Farnham
March 4, 1884
	Mrs. Maria Blomquist
June 1885
	Peter Elton
May 14, 1884

	Martha A Farnham
April 1, 1885
	Pat Byron
June 1883
	Dave Kaller
April 16, 1882

	Patrick O'Hara
March 10, 1883
	Mrs. Pat Bryon
	Hanse Kaller
April 18, 1882

	Martin Tenborg
March  24, 1888
	John Eggleton
March 12, 1882
	P. C. Peterson
April 1, 1885

	William Robertson, 
March 25, 1882
	August Swanson, 
August 27, 1886
	Hannah Peterson
May 6, 1885

	Julia Etta Tenborg, 
April 27, 1892
	Mrs. August Swanson
	John Ferguson
March  21, 1890

	John Guslander
July 3, 1877
	John Connolly
May 10, 1870
	Gena Ferguson
April 1, 1885

	R.E. Walker
April 1, 1885
	Mary Connolly
	John Nicholson
March  20, 1888

	Olaf Johnson
June 24, 1888
	Frank Miller
	Jennie Nicholson, 
March  21, 1888

	J.P. Johnson
April 1883
	Maud Miller
1884
	Mack Nicholson
March 18, 1889

	Mrs. Evan Ebner, 
September 1885
	George W. Elwood
April 15
	Mrs. Mack Nicholson, 
April 1, 1886

	Evan D. Ebner
April 1895
	Sapharious Kerlin
April 1, 1886
	Signard Lund
December 9, 1886

	Jerome Butts, 1882
	R.D. Kerlin,
	Emma Lund
June 14, 1889

	Reuben C. Butts
1882
	Laura Kerlin,
	G.T. Lund
July 23, 1884

	R.H. Wikey 
1884
	Thea Lund
April 1, 1885 arrived in Hillsboro, Dakota Territory July 22, 1885
	Olianna Lund
April 1, 1885

	R.J. Atkinson
1882
	
	Ole Elton
May 9, 1884

	Mrs. R.J. Atkinson, 1904
	H.C. Leean
July 22, 1885 arrived in Foster County, Dakota Territory 
June 2, 1886
	Lina Elton,

	C.S. Atkinson
May 1880
	
	Nels Elton, 

	Mrs. C.S. Atkinson, 
September, 1902
	Mrs. H.C. Leean
August 4, 1892 arrived in Dazey
	Deana Elton
September 25, 1887

	C.V. Varnum
April 28, 1883
	
	

	Mrs. C.V. Varnum
March, 1899
	V.P. Horn
April 15, 1885 Arrived in Fargo
	

	Mrs. Z., Varnum
April 28, 1883
	
	

	R.T. Griffiths
April 3, 1882
	F.R. Cruden
September 8, 1886
	

	Mrs. M. Griffiths
	James Nelson
April 1, 1886
	

	Griffith Lewis
1886
	Mrs. James Nelson
April 1887
	

	Mrs. G. Lewis
1893
	John Clark, 
	

	Chas. Stewart
March 1882
	J.P. Johnson
April 1885
	

	P.E. Brosell
1883
	Mrs. J.P. Johnson
April, 1903
	

	R. Wikey
1880
	H.P. Hanson
May 6, 1888
	

	Mrs. R. Wikey
1884
	J.W. Johnson
April 1885
	

	F.D. Butts
June 1882
	G.F. Johnson, 
	

	Mrs. F.D. Butts
1886
	A.K. Johnson, 
	

	Thomas Lacy
June 1887
	Henry Nelson
April 1, 1886
	

	Alis Lacy
June 1887
	Martin Clark, 
	

	P.F. Mathews
April 1883
	Mrs. Martin Clark, 
	

	Mrs. P.F. Mathews, 
August 1, 1893
	Carl J. Norheim
April 1885
	

	William Lavin
April 1, 1885
	Mrs. Carl J. Norheim,
	

	Mrs. William Lavin,
	Ed Johnson
April 1885
	

	Bert T. Legg,
	Mrs. Ed Johnson, 
	

	C.J. Schmitt
May 1, 1883
	G.W. Kallberg
April 10, 1882
	

	Mrs. C.J. Schmitt   
	Ada R Kallberg
October 6, 1882
	

	John Bohlin
	John Middleton
1882
	

	Mrs. John Bohlin
1882 
	W. X. Quarton
March  23, 1882
	

	Bert Cole
April 1884
	A.M. Quarton
April 1883
	

	Lenora Cole,
	Isak Olson
	

	Thomas Lutz
May 6, 1885
	Sophie Olson
April 1883
	

	Fred Wentland
1882
	V.E. Kallberg, 
	

	Susana Wentland, 
	Julia Kallberg
	

	C.H. Albus
November 1882
	Carl A. Berg
	

	Lena M. Albus
1889
	Amanda Berg
April, 1, 1883
	

	Norman J. King
1882
	Peter Anderson
1883
	

	P. J. Kallberg
April 11, 1883
	Idonia Harper
April 3, 1883
	

	Mrs. P.J. Kallberg,
	Fred H. Albus
November 1883
	

	Mathilda Kallberg, 
	Philip Wiseman
May, 1882
	

	H.S. Ewen
Spring of 1881
	Chris Hisky
September 1889
	

	Mrs. H.S. Ewen
Spring of 1881
	J.P. Kidder
April 5, 1885
	

	George F. Peabody
	Mrs. J.P. Kidder, 
	

	Mrs. George F. Peabody
	P.P. Zink
1882
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Timelines & Firsts

1641‑ Earliest recorded white history and formal control of land including Foster County.  All the Mississippi Basin was claimed by DeSoto for Spain.

1680‑ LaSalle claims the same area for France.

1700‑ Yanktonai and Teton Dakota Indians move from Minnesota to the Drift Prairies of land now called North Dakota.

1738‑ LaVerendrye establishes trade with the Indians.  Interest in the fur trade leads to more exploration of the area.  He may have crossed present area which includes Foster County enroute to the Missouri River.

1762‑ France transfers her American land claimed by LaSalle to Spain.

1801‑ Spain grants her American possessions back to France.

1803‑ France sells a parcel of land known as the Louisiana Purchase to the United States.  The area including part of Foster County became known as the District of Orleans.

1804‑ Lewis and Clark are sent on an expedition in the newly acquired area to chart information and to look for a route to the Pacific Ocean.

1834‑ Area including Foster County forms a part of Territory of Michigan.

1835‑ Hudson Bay Company hunters pass through the county.

1837‑ Michigan is admitted to Union.  Area including Foster County becomes part of Wisconsin.

1838‑ June 12‑ Iowa is made separate territory and includes Dakota Territory.

1840‑ Red River Valley Buffalo hunters pass through the county in pursuit of game.

1849‑ Eastern part of Dakota Territory including Foster County becomes Minnesota Territory.

1853‑ Government railroad surveyors come to area led by Isaac Stevens, who was Governor of Washington territory.

1861‑ Civil War.  Dakota Territory created on March 2.

1862‑ Gold was discovered in Montana.  Forts were built to protect miners from the Indians.  Emigrant wagon train, led by James Fisk stopped to camp in the county on the way to Idaho.  Indian War in Minnesota forces many tribes to come to North Dakota.  Homestead Act passed by Congress providing an opportunity to acquire land easily.

1863‑ General Sibley is sent to track down the Indians.  He and his troops spent six nights in Foster County.  Dakota Territory opened for Homesteading.

1864‑ Congress charters the Northern Pacific Railroad and gives it a grant of 50 million acres of land to enable it to build from Duluth to Puget Sound.  Jay Cooke, a Philadelphia banker, was commissioned to sell bonds.

1866‑ Joe Belland, a loner, hunter and trapper, became the first white man to reside permanently in area.  He built a house on the west bank of Lake Juanita, which was formerly known as Belland Lake.

1867‑ Fort Totten established as an Indian Reservation.

Mail route from Fort Abercrombie to Fort Totten established.

1868‑ James Lee, who lived on Jim Lake, opened heavy freight transfer line through area enroute between Fargo and Fort Totten.  It sometimes stopped at Belland's place.  Railroad completed to Jamestown.  Fort Seward established.

1871‑ Old Ox Cart Stage Coach Trail was formed between Fort Seward (Jamestown) and Fort Totten.  Mail route is established.  Railroad reaches as far as Moorhead.  James Foster was put in charge of settling Dakota Territory.

1873‑ The 10th Territorial Legislature meeting in Yankton establishes Foster County.  This was made from the land which was a part of the Pembina and Buffalo counties.  It included land that is now known as Foster, Wells, and Eddy counties.  First mail route was established.  It ran from Fort Seward to Fort Totten.  It followed the James River through Foster County.

1875‑ Bonanza farming started in North Dakota.

1876‑ Captain William Larrabee and his family settled on the west bank of James River, just south of Juanita Lake.

1876‑ First white family to locate in county was that of Lieutenant William H. Larrabee, his wife, and two daughters, Mamie and Maude.

1877‑ First white child born in county is Berkley Terry, son of Lieutenant and Mrs. Larrabee; born in a small cabin on east bank of James River just south of Lake Juanita.

1880‑ Squatters coming to county in larger numbers.

1881‑ Engineer, J.F. Donnelly, surveys route for Northern Pacific Railroad branch line from Jamestown northwest through county.

1882‑ Northern Pacific starts construction of roadbed between Jamestown and Leeds.  Newport, first town in county, begun.  Ed Leavenworth is named the first postmaster.  Site was laid out by William Keepers.  Range and township lines surveyed.  Melville and Carrington platted on the railway line.  Dispute between Keepers and the Railroad over the price of the site for the depot.  Railroad picks the site now known as Melville.  All Newport buildings moved to this site.

1883‑ Foster County organized: Charter board of County Commissioners is appointed.  Carrington named as temporary county seat.  Newport post office discontinued.  Leavenworth becomes postmaster at Melville.  On February 15, Arthur C. Hasley was named postmaster at Carrington.

July, Volume 1, Number 1 of the Carrington News, a weekly paper, appears.  It was edited by James Morley Wyard.  September, prairie fire breaks out near Melville and sweeps to the northwest.  Mr. Ossian A. Lemereaux and Miss Florence N. Steadman were the first couple to be married.  Carrington and Casey Land Company began breaking up sod, 40‑60 acres in many quarter sections so they could sell it.

School districts organized in Melville and Carrington.  Average of 200 people arrive by train a day.  Kirkwood Hotel, first in Foster County is ready to serve public.  Venison on regular menu.  Buffalo bones furnish cash income to settlers.  Section lines surveyed.

1884‑ First County election.  Railroad replaces the stage coach line that had been operating for 13 years. Freak electrical storm that was followed by a severe snowstorm.

Barlow community settled. School district organized in Estabrook, Birtsell and Larrabee townships. Mr. Joseph Farquer was elected first County Superintendent. County Commissioners employ William D. Nickens to transfer records from Stutsman county to the Foster County files.

1885‑ Dispute between Carrington and New Rockford over the permanent location of the county seat results in splitting the area into two counties of Foster and Eddy, March 31.

Prairie fire burned through western part of county. School districts organized in Longview and Eastman townships. Carrington Gazette, a weekly paper, makes initial appearance.

1886‑ School district organized in Bucephalia and Lake George. Severe blizzard passes through county in November. Severe drought, farmers cut hay on Arrowwood Lake bottom.

1886‑ Severe blizzard.  May 18‑ Carrington, Casey Land Company donate site for new courthouse.  February 1‑ Northern Pacific branch line train is snowbound.  Large group of Indians were encamped by Pipestem River.  School District organized in Wyard.

1888‑ Rose Hill Township is named and school district organized.  April 6‑ County Commissioners accept new courthouse.  Spanish‑American War.

1889‑ Foster County becomes part of the state of North Dakota on November 3.  School District organized in Glenfield Township.  Melby, a rural post office on a star route from Cooperstown is established.  Mail is received once a week.

1890‑ School District established in Melby.

1891‑ December 2‑5; one of the worst blizzards to visit the county depleted fuel bins.

1892‑ Sioux Ste. Marie (Soo Line) arrives in area as part of the Valley City to Harvey route.  Bordulac springs up at this time.  March 8‑ severe blizzard rages through county.

1893‑ First bank failure; O.G. Meecham's institution, first in county closes doors.

1895‑ "Billy" Sunday plays baseball with the Foster County nine.  Ed Sunday, a brother, resident of the county is team manager.  Fire breaks out in Sheyenne River Valley, threatening town of Sutton.

Loaded wheat wagons in ploughed field are consumed near McHenry.  Chihuan (Bordulac) is platted and lots sell rapidly.  Post office is established.

1896‑ Amish‑Mennonite group come to Guptil area to homestead.  They didn't stay long.  Left to go to Texas.  Blizzard at Thanksgiving time trapped Sioux in the Hawsknest area.  They finally made it to George Hall residence where they received provisions.  Tents were set up by the Kirkwood Hotel.  Carrington‑Casey Ranch has 8,000 acres under cultivation.  April 9‑ Dunkards arrive in area.  Dunkard elders look over Foster County with view of colonizing.

1898‑ George Palmer imports mules to work the land.  Haven and Campbell school districts organized.

1899‑ Northern Pacific Railroad extends from Cooperstown to McHenry.  Telephone service (local and long distance) established in Carrington.

1900‑ Carrington is incorporated as a city on October 1.  McHenry becomes a major grain-shipping center.

1901‑ December 25‑ Berkley Terry Larrabee, first white child in Foster county marries at Greenville, New Hampshire.

1902‑ January 14‑17 severe blizzard rages with heavy loss in county.  (Stock)

1903‑ McHenry incorporated as a city on June 30.  First tractor shipped into North Dakota is unloaded at Carrington.

1905‑ early settlers organize under name of "Old Settlers Organization."  262 acres in Foster County still available for homesteading.

1908‑ Large part of the business section of Carrington consumed by fire.

1910‑ Foster County builds second courthouse.

1912‑ Great Northern Railroad builds Fargo‑Surrey cut‑off through Foster County.  Its route following closely that of Gov. I.I. Stevens in 1853.  This branch went through Glenfield, Grace City, and Juanita.

1914‑ Rolling Prairie is organized as a school district.

1917‑ United States enters WW I. Enlistments and draft take many Foster County men to war.

1920‑ First County Agent, Charles C. Lake is hired.

1923‑ December 15‑ Bus route between Devils Lake and Jamestown via Carrington is opened.

1929‑ Depression hits!  Crop failures and dust storms also occur.

1931‑32‑ Grasshoppers appear‑ doing much damage.

1932‑ Dedication of Methaney Airfield at Carrington.

1934‑ Minot‑Fargo bus lines begin operation through county.

1935‑ Works Project Administration established by U.S. Government provides work for needy persons on public works projects.

1937‑ Auto Booster Club travels to 19 towns - covered 250 miles.  November 11‑ Arrowwood and Jim Lake go completely dry for the second time in 51 years.  CCC planted wild onions and wild rice on floor of Jim Lake.  A person could walk across Arrowwood Lake to the Observation tower.

1938‑ Tri‑County Electric formally chartered to provide electricity to rural areas; includes Foster, Eddy, Griggs counties.  A.I. Sharpe, first manager.

1941‑ U.S. enters WW II.  National Guard again called into service.

1944‑ Soil Conservation District was created.  Promote better soil and water management.

1951‑ Dakota Central Rural Telephone Cooperative is established to provide telephone service in rural areas.  Howard Wolle, first manager.

1959‑ Experiment and Irrigation station set up by the North Dakota State University.  Manager is Howard Olson.  Experiment and grains, also livestock to utilize hay and other products grown.  Record yields in county small grains.  School reorganization‑ Rose Hill, Haven, Bucephalia, and Lake George join Carrington District.  Racetrack laid out near Barlow.  Stock car races in summer and snowmobile races in the winter.

1960‑ Viet Nam Conflict.  Many residents again asked to serve their country.

1961‑ Northern Pacific suspends passenger service through Carrington.  Lose of revenue and mail contracts.

1966‑ Carrington is chosen as the site for the Garrison Diversion Headquarters.  Severe blizzard‑3 days.  Vernon Cooper, first manager in Carrington.

1967‑ Post office at Melville closes its doors.  Area becomes part of Route 3 ‑ Carrington.

1972‑ New Garrison Headquarters built north of Carrington.

1974‑ McHenry celebrates 75th Anniversary.  Rural mail service from Bordulac discontinued‑ became part of Carrington system.

Weather Modification equipment set up at Matheney Air field, Carrington.  Planes stationed at Harvey, Cooperstown, Valley City, Jamestown, and Carrington.

1975‑ Foster County joined Eddy, Wells, Benson and Sheridan and formed Multi‑County Special Education Program.  Foster County representatives are A.K. Johnson, Mrs. Avis Lowe, McHenry and Joseph Vlack, Glenfield.

1976‑ Bicentennial Year.  Celebrations held throughout the county.

1981‑ Carrington High School Football team captures the State "B" Championship.

1983‑ Foster County celebrates its Centennial Year.

2076‑ Bicentennial "Time Capsule" that holds records of the community is to be opened.  A fiberglass tank is buried on the corner of the lot by the swimming pool.
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Some Firsts for Foster County

As collected by E.L. Horton

Independent February 25, 1937

First resident in county: Joe Belland, trapper 1867

First automobile: Charles H. Davidson, former banker

First automobile in Larrabee Township: C.F. Bohner

First automobile in Rose Hill Township: Henry Ewen

First banker: O.G. Meechem

First cash income: buffalo bones

First cash crop: Norman Nicolson, flax 1883

First white child: Berkley Terry Larrabee, born May 12, 1877.

First church service: H.A. Soliday home, spring of 1883.

First church: Congregational church, Carrington.

First county superintendent of schools: Hiram N. Cornish, 1883.

First Corporation: Carrington‑Casey Land Company, 1882.

First doctor: David B. McLain, 1883.

First editor: J. Morley Wyard, 1883.

First Express: Wells Fargo Company, late '70's.

First family to make home in Rose Hill: Dan Nieman.

First farm radio: Albert Mayers, 1923.

First Flourmill: New Rockford Roller Mill, Sylvanus Marriage, 1884.

First hotel: Walter hotel, Newport, opened in 1882 by R.L. Walters.

First Carrington hotel: Kirkwood, 1883.

First kindergarten: Mrs. C.K. Wing, private kindergarten, early '90's.

First literary society: Carrington Dramatic Club.

First merchant: Leavenworth and Wing, Newport, 1882.

First minister: Rev. Hiram N. Cornish, Tiffany's, 1881.

First meeting of commissioners: October 11, 1883.

First motive power: mostly oxen, a few horses.

First ox trail: Fort Seward to Fort Totten.

First post office: Larrabee.

First postmaster: William H. Larrabee.

First paper published: Carrington News, July 1883.

First railroad: Northern Pacific, 1882.

First real estate firm: Waring and Hamman, 1882.

First settler, trapper and roadhouse: Joe Belland, 1867.

First settler family: William H. Larrabee, 1876.

First settler in Rose Hill Township: Charles Warner.

First teachers: Mrs. George J. Becken and Mrs. Amelia Wilder, by subscription the summer of 1883.

First town: Newport, 1882.

First white woman: Mrs. William H. Larrabee.
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First White Children Born

In Foster county: Berkley Terry Larrabee, May 12, 1877, Mr. and Mrs. William Larrabee.

In Barlow: Lena (Bloomquist) August 27, 1884, Mike and Mary Greitl.

In Carrington: Alice Cole, 1883, Mr. and Mrs. Joseph Hamel, Sr. and Phoebe Carrington Smith, 1883, Mr. and Mrs. Charles Smith.

In Glenfield: Gleneve Louise Syverson, November 8, 1912, Mr. and Mrs. Dave Syverson.

In Grace City: Arthur Aarestad, October 20, 1910, Mr. and Mrs. J.J. Aarestad.

In Juanita: Frances Marcott, April 24, 1912, Mr. and Mrs. Fred Marcott.

In McHenry: Sigfred Jensen, 1898, Mr. and Mrs. Anton Jensen.

In Melville: Franz Zink, Mr. and Mrs. Peter Zink.  (1885)

In New Port: Helen Barnes, June 12, 1883, Mr. and Mrs. E.J. Barnes.

In Rose Hill: Carl Elton, December 23, 1888, Mr. and Mrs. Ole Elton.

William and Maria Larrabee, first white settlers in Foster County near Lake Juanita

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 71

Unusual Events in Early Days

Collected from the Independent

May 24, 1894: Austerman is one of the finest Percheron stallions to come into Foster County.  He was imported to this country from France in 1887.  Terms of service are $15.  Farmers placed their name on the list for his services.

June 6, 1894: Big bay team of mares of James Rusk ran away yesterday and in the flight managed to run into C.M. Porter's bicycle which was standing in front of the Post office completely smashing the wheel to pieces.  The team finally wound up in the cellar where the house of J.G. Moore was burned two years ago, where they were captured none the worse for the run.

Johnny Elshi, son of William Elshi died last night at 10:30.  The boy went to Lake George to celebrate the Fourth of July there when in the evening became thirsty and picked up a bottle off the floor which contained strychnine dissolved in water, thinking it was beer, drank two teaspoonfuls.  When it became known what he had done, Dr. McKenzie was called and he gave him an emetic but it was too late and the boy died.  A coroner's jury brought in the verdict of accidental poisoning and carelessness.

Mr. McLain lived north of Melville.  In the early years he piled furniture up against the door at night to keep wolves out.  Then the wolves would put their feet on the windowsills and howl.

March 24, 1898: They are in town: 15 coaches of people arrived in town today.  500 land seekers came over the Northern Pacific to buy land in the vicinity of Carrington.  More settlers are coming from Ohio, Indiana, Pennsylvania, and Virginia.  Another train arrives tomorrow from Nebraska, Missouri, and Kansas.  Over 700 new arrivals to date.  The streets are really crowded.

April 14, 1898: Theron Cole left Melville with a team the same time as the north bound limited on the branch and beat it to Carrington by five minutes.

February 19, 1914: In a talk on correct and graceful dancing, Mr. and Mrs. Castle advised against "the turkey trot", "grizzly bear" and the "bunny hug" as ugly and out of fashion.

Mrs. H.O. Berg recalls this story:

"There was a real closeness between parents and children in those days.  I remember my father always wanted me to go with him in the evening to milk the cow.  I always accused him of being afraid to go alone in the dark, but he always said he just wanted me along for company.  It was pleasant to see the kerosene lantern swinging from a wire strung the length of the barn, the frost on the walls of the barn, and the milk making pleasant music as it hit the pail.  There was the pleasant smell of alfalfa hay that the horses were contentedly munching on, and my father and I would make small talk that brought us closer together, I never had any brothers‑ just two sisters‑ so I was the boy he never had.

(Little House in the Back)

The little house out in the back that we had to trot to even when it was forty below.  We had to brush the snow off the seat, and pick up the Sears Roebuck catalog and shake the snow out of it before it could serve its purpose.  Another source of paper supply came when the crate of peaches were purchased.  These were usually wrapped in paper which was much softer than the catalog.

The early settlers helped the new arrivals to find land.  

This report from Mrs. Smith:
One day in the spring of 1883, Ben Holcomb was in Jamestown and met three young fellows from Illinois.  They asked him about land and he told them that if they would look him up when they came to Foster County, he would be glad to help them.  They told him they would be up in a few days and paid him $100 in gold in advance for his services.  He deposited the money in the Jamestown bank where he had his account and never heard of the young men again.  He often wondered if they had been injured or robbed, as they seemed to have plenty of money on them.

Another time a man asked help to locate.  Ben drove him around for a good many days, finally satisfying him with a fine piece of land.  When he was settled, all the man had was 251 in his pockets.  However, they had all sorts to contend with, some of the best and some not so good.

Carrington was booming, settlers thronging in on every train, many of them fine eastern people and permanent residents of the county and many others here one day and gone the next.  The town had more saloons than any other business places.  During the spring of 1883 the Strong & Chase general store was opened, also Durbrow Brothers hardware store.  The post office was in a small frame building on Main Street with Mr. Halsey the postmaster.  There were also many small buildings, a little more than shacks, housing all sorts of offices and trades, a newspaper, a bank, real estate, blacksmith and others.

Ben made his first trip north to Carrington in the spring of 1883 when he met three men in Jamestown who wanted to be taken to Fort Totten.  One of the men was an army officer and the other two seemed to be promoters.  Ben agreed to go, and they reached the Sheyenne River on the first night of their trip.  Between Carrington and the river there was a sod shack used as a home and post office, run by old man Barlow.  There is now a town of the same name nine miles north of Carrington.  At New Rockford there were two or three buildings.  One was a store, post office and home combined, run by Mr. Peoples.  The men forded the Sheyenne River at Borings Crossing, camping that night on the other shore.  They continued on to Fort Totten the next day by the Indian Trail.  It was a wild country, uninhabited except for the Indians on the reservation.  The next day Ben returned to Carrington by the stage trail, ‑traveling down the James River to Bowman's ford and then crossing to his own homestead.

While Ben was locating settlers with Mr. Wing, in the summer of 1883 his cousin, Crayton Sherk, worked for him at the homestead putting up hay, breaking land and gathering buffalo bones.  The bones were hauled to Carrington and sold for $10 a ton and brought enough to pay Sherk's wages for the entire summer.

One time when Ben was gathering buffalo bones he found many near Templeton Lake some five miles east of his place.  On the east side of the lake was a whole wagon load of skulls and on the other side another wagon load of shoulder blades."
The biggest problem the settlers had was loneliness.  It was described in this manner: "Traveling through the valley of the shadow of death without the comfort of minister, doctor and nurse."  The settlements at first were so far apart that it was difficult to get together.

January 1, 1907: A.O. Snyder writes a letter to home paper in Indiana, Hamilton County:

I made up my mind that my chances for every getting a home of my own in my home state were slim, so I gathered my few belongings together, made sale and in the spring of 1889 started for Carrington, North Dakota.  I landed in Carrington on March 27, 1889 with $330 in cash.  The fall of 1889 I purchased 160 acres of raw land at $8 an acre on the crop payment plan for five years.  I had but $50 to pay down.  I rented 160 acres beside it that was broken up so I could put in a crop the following year.  I moved a small house out there and put up a sod stable, went into debt for horses, machinery, and went to work.  The fall of 1904 I finished paying for my land and built a barn the same year.  That year I purchased 160 acres some adjoining my own at $15 per acre.  At the present time I have 320 acres of as good land as lays out of doors besides a good new house, just finished, a good barn, granary, buildings cost me something over $3000.  The buildings are paid for.  Have a grove of trees around the buildings of something over 3,000 trees, some of them 20 feet tall.  I have a beautiful home and am proud of it.  I am involved in the last 160 of land but that doesn't worry me.  I have 14 head of horses, 18 head of cattle, 17 head of hogs, all stock doing well, run out on the prairie every day.  The weather is fine; the roads are good.  We have had no cold weather to speak of and no snow until today.  It is snowing some.  Land ranges in price from $20 for good improved land, to $25 to $40 for good improved land close to town.  I think this is a country for a poor man or a man of some means.  There are splendid chances for renters, some good farms for rent also some good bargains for sale.  I would like to see some Hamilton county renters come to Foster County and take some of the land and make a home for themselves.  I am not selling land and my farm is not for sale.  I am located 12 miles northeast of Carrington, our county seat.  Times are good although the crops were short this year.  We had a splendid crop until about 10 days before harvest when we had a hailstorm that did considerable damage, had some hail insurance.  I had 410 acres in crop and had $1850 worth of hail insurance.  This is the shortest crop I've had since I farmed in the state.  I will close by wishing all a Merry Christmas and a Happy New Year.  I hope this will escape the waste basket."
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Climate
Weather Average and Extreme
Average

Atmospheric conditions and all the other elements that make up what is called "weather" plays a significant role in the lives of the Foster County residents.  The fact that this is an agricultural community, good or bad weather can make a vital difference in the income of the whole area.

The climate of Foster County is quite varied.  In winter the temperature has fallen 43 degrees below zero while in summer it has registered as high as 116 degrees giving an extreme range of 150 degrees.  The summer months are usually pleasant, the temperature seldom rises above 90 degrees and the nights are usually cool.  The average mean temperature for June, July and August is 65.7 degrees.  The spring and fall months are usually characterized by high winds, which often begin in the morning and abate with the setting sun.

Foster County has an average of 179 days of sunshine, 76 days partly cloudy and 110 days per year cloudy.  The average precipitation from 1898 to 1936 was 16.53 inches and from 1930 to 1981 it was 17.60 inches at the Carrington station.  The average snow is 33.5 inches.  The greatest amount of moisture was 1957 with 23.81 inches and the least was 1936 with 6.52.  The Foster County moisture comes chiefly from the Gulf of Mexico and the Atlantic Ocean.

The average recorded date of the last killing frost in spring is May 16th.  While the average date of the first killing frost in autumn is September 21st, which gives an average growing season of 128 days free from killing frost.  The latest recorded date of killing frost in spring is July 2nd and the earliest record date of killing frost in autumn is August 24th.

The above statements are the averages, but what about the extremes?  What type of disasters to life and property has unusual weather caused?
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Extremes
Rain, Hail, Sleet, Snow

Moisture is definitely one of the important ingredients in raising crops of any kind.  When and in what manner this moisture arrives may very well make a difference in whether the harvest is bountiful or a complete failure.

Along with the summer rain, many times the conditions are such that the area is hit with hail and some damage from lightning that may come with these summer thunderstorms.

August 15, 1907:

Hail hits northern part of county.  Reports came in from the Barlow area and extended south and east as far as Henry Ewen farm 10 miles east of Carrington, Buchanan and sons were said to have lost 1700 acres out of 1800 acres in the storm.

September 19, 1915:

Hail hits area three miles wide and four miles long north and east of Carrington.  The storm lasted for about an hour dropping hailstones the size of walnuts.  Foot drifts along the buildings could still be seen the next day.  Loss of livestock and chickens were reported.  Halaas and sons reported 2,000 acres lost.

July 16, 1914:

Hailstorm that lasted 15 minutes cut a path three miles wide, destroying crops, windows and other damage to buildings.  Estimated damage was $400,000.

July 2, 1957:

Crops never looked better around the Carrington area, and the community had considered itself fortunate to have escaped the summer storms, and then it happened.

At about 4:45 p.m. Tuesday afternoon, Carrington was in the midst of a severe hail and windstorm that left a path of destruction about 9 miles wide and extending for an undetermined distance east and west.  The storm came up from the west, and when it hit Carrington light rain first fell, this followed by hail, which battered away at crops, trees, gardens and buildings for five lurid minutes.  With the hail came a high velocity wind and a rainfall estimated at near two inches.

An appraisal of the storm damage was begun by local citizens as soon as the storm subsided.  They found trees blown down; power lines were down; some roofs were badly damaged; almost every building had broken windows on the west side, some buildings suffering heavy glass loss; gardens were leveled, and fruit trees were left devoid of fruit.

And on investigating outside the city limits, it was a sickening sight, for the crops were leveled by the hailstorm.  Field after field suffered total loss.  The storm covered an area from about four miles south of Carrington to 4 to 5 miles north.  In the immediate Carrington area the farm buildings were not damaged to any great extent, although some grain bins were crushed and carried away.

The lush crops looked as though they had been mowed with a mower.  Even the straw was gone with just a short stubble remaining.  Wheat and barley were the heaviest losses with some damage to the flax.  The storm was known to have extended far past the eastern boundary of Foster County.

August 3, 1979:

About 90,000 Foster County cropland acres lost 75 to 80% total crop loss.  Hail stones the size of golf balls and some the size of baseballs fell down doing the damage.  Winds up to 60 miles an hour.  The storm lasted about 15 minutes.

August 3, 1980:

A storm cut a path across the county hitting some area with 100% loss.  A flash flood occurred in Carrington.  Damage was done to windows, buildings, and vehicles.
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Lightning

Summer storms also brought another hazard, lightning.  Some of the damage that may result from this condition is found in the following stories

September 7, 1916:

George Posey, who was living in the eastern part of the county, was struck by a bolt of lightning on his farm.  He had noticed a threatening cloud but continued to work.  A bolt struck a wire fence and leaped across to where he was standing.  He was knocked to the ground senseless.  The horses became frightened and started to run, several hoofs bruising his body as the horses ran over him.  Aside from an unnatural feeling in the head for a time, there was no ill affect from the experience.

July 4, 1935:

Lightning struck the Catholic Church in Bordulac.  Several boards knocked off and loosened some of the plaster.

June 8, 1943:

Carpenters working on a new barn on the Isak Nystad farm were frightened when the barn was stuck by lightning.  The bolt did considerable damage to the barn, splintering some of the rafters and tearing away some of the boards.

Mr. John Lindstrom was raking his hay crop one Sunday morning.  He quit as noon leaving the rake in the field.  A storm came up.  Lightning struck the haystack and set it afire.  The hay burned to the ground, together with his stacking machine beside it.

After that Mr. Lindstrom thought twice about working on Sunday!

August 8, 1973:

Lightning struck a barn on the Raymond Klein farm in Longview Township.  The barn burned to the ground.

June 27, 1979:

Lightning stripped a tree of its bark in the yard of Clifford Silkey.
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Sleet Storms

Frozen rain or sleet did its share of damage to the area too.  Most of it to the telephone and electric systems.  Many trees were also hurt.

April 16, 1930

Sleet caused big damage Mon. and Tues. morning.  The telephone company was the heavy loser and damage impossible to estimate.  Of the 20 running out of the city about one was working.

February 27, 1958:

Sleet storm occurred as the rain fell and froze on the trees and power lines.  Tri‑county Electric lost 845 poles that required replacement between Carrington and Woodworth.  Telephone facilities were stopped in Carrington for 2 1/2 days.

1977:

Frozen rain covered lines of 2,000 customers of Tri‑County Electric.  They were without power a week before Christmas.  Estimated damage was $750,000.
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Severe Winds, Dust Storms, Whirlwinds

Severe Winds

According to climatologist, "the prevailing winds for Foster County are from the southeast and southwest during the growing season and the northwest during the winter months."  At times the atmospheric conditions were such that strong, damaging winds hit the area and caused destruction of property.  Here are some of the worst storms that were reported in the Independent.

May 11, 1911:

Storm started out with cyclone and copious rainfall.  The sky became darkened about suppertime.  Many residents went to their basements.  The storm raged for a few minutes and was then followed by .61 inches of rain.  Roofs were blown off barns and granaries.  It also caused damage to other farm buildings.

June 11, 1914:

High winds caused damage throughout county.  Harry Smith house, Haven Township, was turned upside‑down.  Barns were moved off their foundations.  Seven railroad cars belonging to the Soo Line Railroad were started in motion, eventually pushing the end one off onto the siding.  Many roofs were blown off too.

June 24, 1915:

Evangelical Lutheran Church in Nordmore Township was destroyed by high wind.  Estimated damage was $2,000.

July 8, 1923

Lack of power sent residents to restaurants to get coffee or food.  A metal tank used for watering stock was sailed three miles to another farm.  Rain blew in around windows in homes causing damage from the moisture.

July 3, 1935:

Storm struck a narrow strip of farmland 15 miles long between Melville and Bordulac.  About 15 barns, windmills, sheds and small buildings were destroyed.  Damage to barns estimated to be $50,000.

July 12, 1943:

Twenty‑five percent of the barns in Foster County were leveled.  Power was out for 18 hours.  Wind velocity was clocked at 75‑80 miles an hours.  1.71 inches of rain fell with the storm.  Five persons were injured.  The wind hit about 10 p.m.  Some of the people were injured from the flying glass.  Many trees were jerked out by the roots.

1969:

Wind destroyed some buildings in the county.

1974:

Buildings were knocked down by the high winds.

June 29, 1977

Tornado touched down on the Dan Gross, Sr. farm, six miles southeast of Carrington.  It destroyed a 60' x 96' pole barn.  It struck about 7:45 p.m. and lasted about five minutes.
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Dust Storms

During the years of little moisture the wind had a tendency to blow, too‑ with the result being severe dust storms.  They usually occurred during the spring and fall.  At times the air was so full of soil that cars had to turn their headlights on.  Even with that approaching vehicles could not be seen until they were within ten feet in mid‑day.  Places near summer fallow were often covered to a depth of from a few feet to several inches‑ especially along the fence lines.  Some of the more severe ones were:

May 1931:

Described as the worst dust storm.

June 18, 1933:

Hot winds‑ temperature ranged from 106‑116 degrees.

May 1934:

Cattle suffocated while moving along the highway.
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Whirlwinds

By Ross Bloomquist

When the conditions were right, warm, sunny days and light breezes, whirlwinds could be seen crossing the dusty fields.  There were seldom any seen before 11 o'clock in the morning, were most prevalent from two to four in the afternoon and rarely present later when the air began to cool.  Somehow or other the uneven heating of the ground by the sun starts the air moving in vertical eddies which often persisted for many minutes.  In the fields their structure and motion can be followed by the dust they sucked up from the ground.  When a whirlwind is observed in the vicinity coming toward one, it is best to try to stay out of its way.

Once to satisfy my curiosity I deliberately drove my horses and implement into a whirlwind I saw approaching in the west.  The whirling clouds of dust was about 30 feet in diameter and rose 50 feet in the air.  Besides rotating as a whole I could see several small and higher velocity vortexes spinning along the periphery of the large one.  I halted my rig in the expected path of the disturbance, closed my eyes and hung onto my cap.  The whirlwind hit with a high-speed blast so thick with dust that I could not see for a moment.  Almost immediately a cold wind struck from the opposite direction.  It was gone in an instant leaving me in warmer calm air.  It was an experience I would not care to repeat except for scientific purposes.

Whirlwinds can occur almost anywhere in places where a bright sun warms the ground.  I have seen miniature ones traveling down a city street picking up sand, leaves and paper as they gyrate violently for a minute or two going down the block or across a playground.  I have seen them in fields of waving grain.  The gentle undulations of the pliable wheat or oats stalks are interrupted by an invisible vortex in the air which flattened the grain in a moving circular pattern.  I have seen them rush through a farmyard carrying straw and paper high into the air and blowing the chickens about and ruffling their feathers.  Huge ones must exist in the clear warm air where hawks soar upward indefinitely without moving a single feather.  The glider pilots call them thermals which lift their fragile crafts miles high in a silent world.  The clear air turbulence so feared by airplane pilots may arise from whirlwinds spawned on the ground.

The whirlwinds spinning across the dusty fields on a spring afternoon are not all alike.  The one I passed through had a complicated structure, whirlwinds within whirlwinds.  The most spectacular ones have a simpler tubular form.  They appear to be cylindrical columns of rising rotating air with diameters of 30 to 50 feet going up vertically as much as several thousand feet.  Observed from a distance they moved along sedately in the directions of the prevailing breeze.  The rotation of the column of air continued all the way up at the same speed with a counterclockwise direction.  Apparently warm air close to the surface is pulled in at the base of the column and rises in the vortex.

While working in the fields on a spring like afternoon, I noticed a well-formed whirlwind where the upward motion of the air was evident.  The vertical tube made visible by the dust from the plowed field a mile or so away to the southwest extended several hundred feet into the air.  It was moving in a generally eastward direction when it encountered and started to pass over an unplowed field where there was no dust to pick up.  The dusty column continued to rise and appeared to be separated from the ground.  The grassy field was crossed and the column was again picking up dust from another field.  When the whirlwind was directly to the south on my position the clear interval half way up the column and kept rising higher and higher slowly while the visible part maintained its tubular conformation.  The total height must have been at least a thousand feet when it passed away to the southeast.  I was unable to observe its final dissipation.

The uneven heating of the air near the ground produces another atmospheric phenomenon worth watching while working in the fields.  Ordinarily, however, it was ignored because it had no effect one way or the other on the work.  On sunny days the level land at the far end of the field appeared to be covered with shimmering waves of water.

Sometimes the grove a mile or so away seemed to be floating in a broad lake.  On approaching the apparently wet places receded farther away into the distance.  The identical phenomenon is observed nowadays on the paved highways where the road ahead seems to be covered with water and the upside down reflections of the oncoming vehicles are seen in the water.  It is all an optical illusion caused by the warmer air close to the ground.  The light rays coming to the eyes are bent or reflected by this air acting as a sort of lens or prism and what appears to be water is actually sky.  The heated air is not all uniform and consequently the ordinary distinct line of the horizon is broken up into a confusion of waves and ripples.  They proceed in the same direction as the wind.  As one scans the horizon there are two points in exactly opposite directions that the moving air is coming from and going to.  These effects are generally absent in the early morning but usually persist until sundown.  No waves along the horizon are present on cloudy or rainy days or when the wind velocities are high.
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Blizzards

World Book Dictionary describes a blizzard as a "violent, blinding snowstorm with a very strong wind and extreme cold."  American English: variant of dialectal English blizzer something sudden, sharp, especially a blow, shot, or choking, or blizz violent rainstorm.

All these words may be used in describing the sudden storms that occur on the prairies of North Dakota during the winter season.  The unexpected fierceness of these storms throughout the years has caught many people unprepared, thus causing the loss of lives for some and narrow escapes for others.

Which storm was the worst and caused the most hardship to the residents, never ceases to be a topic of conversation.  Some of the reports of these "blizzards" appeared in the Independent.  Some of them were collected from personal histories of families that were living in Foster County at the time.

From His Report on Living on the Farm During the Winter, " Ross Bloomquist:
"The thermometer hanging on the wall at the northeast corner of the house gave us an idea of what the rest of the day was going to be like but it was a poor predictor of tomorrow's weather.  The forecasts in the daily paper were useless since they always came a day late.  The weather wisdom gained from years of living on the prairie was helpful.  A knowledge of the wind direction and speed, the appearance of the clouds particularly at sunrise and sunset, and the way the air "felt", were useful but less than reliable guides.  The daily weather predictions of the farmer's almanac or the drug store calendar were always consulted but never really believed.  There was one principle always to be followed: "Never challenge the elements".  And I suppose our overall philosophy was "Hope for the best but prepare for the worst".  A morning could be warm, bright and sunny but by afternoon a howling blizzard might be bearing down on the country.  Just the opposite could occur too, it may be zero at bedtime but by morning the Chinook winds from the southwest will have melted enough snow to fill the farmyard with puddles.  There was one thing we could be sure of: the wind would always be blowing from one direction or another.

Extremely low temperatures, 20 to 40 below, caused little trouble if there was no wind except, possibly in starting the gasoline engine which pumped water for the stock.  The animals in the barn, pigpen and chicken house were never endangered by the cold.  The heat they generated kept the interior of the buildings above freezing at all times except along the floor where drafts from under the door crept in.  There was little that could be done to conserve the heat in the barn except to pile manure against the drafty north door and to cover the feedholes in the haymow floor to prevent the animal heat from escaping to the haymow.  The moisture from the animals breathing condensed and froze on the cold outside walls.  This feathery deposit of frost added to the insulation.

The blowing snow of blizzard combined with subzero temperatures did present problems.  Sometimes the barn 100 feet north of the house was barely visible on account of the snow in the air but it was never too hazardous to make the trip to feed the stock.  The animals were not always let out to be watered but if they were released now two at a time to drink their fill, none tarried long at the watering trough; they were glad to return to the warmth of the barn.

Since there was no windbreak of trees to the north and west the full fury of the storms struck the chicken house, pigpen and house.  The highest drifts were deposited four or five feet away from the northwest corners of the buildings.  The area around the well was usually cleared of deep snow but some accumulated against the south barn door.  It was always good practice to leave a shovel outside so that this snow could be dug away.  Sometimes a similar pile lay against the doors to the pigpen and chicken coop but it was always possible to gain access since both doors opened in.  The back (north) sides of these buildings were often completely covered by the snow.

The wind driving the new fallen snow often swept the plowed fields clear only to deposit it near any obstruction such as weeds, uncut grass, or a farm implement, would cause the snow to collect as a drift in the leeward direction.  The drift would be no wider than the obstruction and the higher the wind the longer the drift.  Trees and shrubbery did not deflect the wind but slowed it down and the snow was deposited more or less evenly in and around the trees.  When the wind approached a haystack, building or other high obstruction it was reflected back before the air made its way around.  Consequently the snow was swept away leaving a clear space close to the obstacle and the highest drift formed a few feet away to the windward.  When it became nearly as high as the obstruction the open area filled with loosely packed snow and the flow of the air was no longer impeded.  The stack or low building became buried in the snow.

During the height of the blizzard the air‑borne snow could be seen swirling and whirling in complicated eddies and vortexes around the drifts and buildings.  The shapes and locations of the drifts were unpredictable and if the winds shifted during the course of the storm the drifts might be completely restructured.  As long as the storm continued the snow carried along by the wind acted as an abrasive and drifts would be eroded away to wavelike grooves and crests on their surfaces.  Sometime these forces sculptured the snow into fantastic shapes which were never the same twice.  "White as the driven snow" did not always apply to the drifts left by the blizzard.  If the amount of fallen snow was light and the wind velocities high the plowed fields were first swept free of snow.  Dirt as well as snow was picked up by the wind and the drifts around the buildings were often a dirty gray combination of snow and black soil.

The snow driven by the wind packed solidly enough to support the weight of a man.  It could be cut with a shovel into hard but friable blocks.  More than once I tried to build snow houses from the chunks of snow.  I think it was during the winter of 1918‑1919 that an exceptionally high drift formed just north of the house; it was so high that I could not see over it when I stood on the back door‑steps.  The height of the drift diminished to the east and the easiest access to the barn was to make a roundabout trip by the well where the snow was never more than six inches deep.  I dug into the drift and made a sort of stairway in the drift so one could walk up and over it directly to the barn.  Another blizzard came along a few days later, my steps in the drift filled in and I left them that way.  The same storm left a drift about six feet high between the barn and chicken house and I cut a grade level path between the two buildings."
One of the early settlers, Ben Holcomb, related this story.

"Some of the hard times we went through during those early days were as bad as I want to see.  We had to store up our winter supply of food and fuel every fall, and go through the winter on that.  One time I just escaped being caught out on the open prairie in one of the biggest blizzards I remember.  I had seen that buffalo near where New Rockford is now, and my brother and I started out with a team to get it.  Three miles from home one of the horses stuck his foot through a badger hole and went lame and we had to turn back, reaching home just before the big storm struck."
Some of the worst winters as reported in the Independent:

1882: The snow was four feet deep on the level prairie and it lay like waves on the ocean.  The snow piled up over the roof of the shanty and a good many mornings they had to get up on the roof through the chimney hole and shovel snow inside the shanty to get out and then shovel snow to reach the door.  A week seldom went by without a good genuine blizzard.  It was bitterly cold and whole winter through, but the men had no way of knowing how cold.  "
1883: On March 7, the Holcombs ran out of food supplies.  They decided to hitch up the team and try to make it to Jamestown, so they left John Bort with the dog to care for the stock and set out.  On the 9th of March a blizzard set in and lasted for three days.  A stack of hay was located near the stable; Mr. Bort had to tunnel out 40 feet and cover his path with poles, wire and hay.  He carried the hay through this tunnel by walking sideways; as the blizzard was so severe he could not face it.  The storm lasted for two days.

Luckily the Holcomb boys had reached Jamestown before the blizzard struck and had not started on their return trip.  They reached home the second day after the storm ended.

This blizzard was called the "Wiggins Blizzard", named after the man who predicted it.  The pioneers awoke in the morning to find the beds and everything in the shack covered with snow.

Around the 25th of March, the weather broke and the whole prairie turned into a lake.  Mr. Bort and one of the Holcombs drove to Jamestown to buy seed.  They got as far as the west side of Jamestown and had to wait there three or four days before they could get into the city as the high water had washed out the bridge across the James River.  They bought seed oats but couldn't plant until early in May because of the water.

1886: Hans C. Leean wrote this report about some homesteaders that attempted to visit their claims and were caught in the blizzard.  (Translated from Norwegian to English by Borghild Black).

"It was in the middle of November 1886, that Forstern J. Elvrum, Levi Sem, Hans H. Moen, Iver A. Elvrum, and I left with a horse team and wagon from Blanchard in Traill County, going west to Glenfield, Foster County to spend a few nights on the land.  We had provision for three days, when we left Cooperstown, which is 24 miles from our claims.

In the evening of November 18 we all gathered in Forstern Elvrum's shanty, planning to leave in the morning for Blanchard.  But during the night a fierce storm (snow) blew up from the Northeast, so that the snow blew in between the boards of the shanty.  We could hardly get out to the little sod‑stable which was almost snowed under.  Our provisions were almost used up, and we divided up the last crumbs in the evening.  We had no wood or other fuel, no water and no food, except about a peck of small half‑frozen potatoes and a cup of salt.

Yes, the evening of November 19 came, and the storm grew in strength so that we were afraid that the shanty would blow over.  We were hungry and in a sinking mood.  We all had fur coats so we dressed ourselves in those and went down in the cellar and lay down side by side on the bare ground.

Naturally we couldn't sleep, because we expected any minute that the shanty would blow away and we would be buried in the snow.

On the morning of November 20 it was even worse; it snowed and blew continuously.  We held a counsel and the outcome was that we decided we would either go out and find people or we would die out on the prairie.

About 10 o'clock in the morning the wind swung to the Northwest, and according to our reckoning we would, in about an hour and a half going with the wind, find the home of two Americans.

We put Iver A. Elvrum, who was 60 years old, in the wagon and the four of us marched single file in front, we found no trail‑ only prairie.  We went with the wind, and finally came to a plowed field.  We followed this and found the home of the two Americans, but they had no food, either.  They were planning to leave, but the storm prevented that.  They must have had a little food, because they didn't want to join us.

There was nothing else to do but to press ahead.  By using the wind as a compass, we kept going, and about 12:30 p.m. we glimpsed a house ahead, and found another American, who lived there with his family.  The wife put the potato kettle and frying pan on the stove and also the teakettle.  Our appetite must have been good, because it cost each of us thirty‑five cents.

After we had rested a bit, the storm began to subside, and the sun came out.  Now we could see a shanty here and there, and since our host had no room for us we had to go out again.  About 5 p.m. the same evening we came to the home of a German and there we stayed overnight.

It took us exactly six days to go 75 miles back to Blanchard, because we only had a wagon to drive and much snow fell.  The following spring all went back to their claims, and most now have good and pretty farms."
This story was told at the Olaus Gustad Golden wedding

The Gustad tarpaper shack saved three men in the 1886 blizzard:

The men had left the wagon about 12 feet from the door of the tar box house.  The next morning when they woke there was two feet of snow and a blizzard so thick that they couldn't see the wagon.  Towards evening they mustered enough courage to try to reach the stable to feed the few animals that were there.

The storm came from the northwest, and going with the wind we made the stable all right but coming back was a different thing.  Blinded by the snow, we walked until we struck a bare spot and discovered it was the firebreak north of the house.  We had completely missed the house.  We stood on the firebreak cleaning the snow out of our faces.  I happened to stand facing in a straight line toward the house and all at once I noticed a small black spot, then it disappeared.  I did not dare turn my head.  I started to run and yelled to Olaus and John to follow me.  We all bumped up against the house before we ‑saw it.  The storm continued for three days with the temperature 20 to 35 below zero.  We could never have lived in that storm.

Mr. Ed Johnson will never forget the blizzard of 1886.  "It was a bad one.  It was late in the fall and a nice day.  Mr. Jordan, the carpenter, told Ed's dad that they should get the stock in because a real blizzard was coming.  They had to drive the stock to the James River for water, as it was too big of a job to pump water for the 103 head of stock.  They lost five head of cattle in that blizzard.

Mr. G.T. Lund described the winter of 1886 as the worst that he had seen since he had come to Foster County.  He went to town one Friday morning and didn't get back home until Thursday of the next week.  His family was at home in the sod house.  They had run short of wood and had to use twisted hay for fuel.

1887‑1888: (J.P. Kidder of Melville tells this story)

"Coming from the east I had no real idea as to what a blizzard was.  My first experience with blizzards was a severe one.  I moved onto a homestead a week before Thanksgiving.  It was on a Thursday that I moved.  It was a warm day.  On Sat. it commenced to get colder and a strong northeast wind came up.  The wind blew all day Saturday.  Sunday it began to snow and by Monday morning there was about two feet of snow.  My claim was five miles from the nearest neighbor.  There was a closer claim but the parties had gone for the winter.  I had a team and a cow.  When I went to the stable Monday morning the snow had blown in until the stock had their backs against the joists.  It stood me in hand to get them out of there.  I knew of a neighbor's claim where there was a better stable and where there was some feed.  I had to go a mile and a half in one direction, cut a hole in the ice in a slough to get water for the stock, and then go one‑half mile in the opposite direction to get to the stable mentioned.  It was all right until I started to return.  There was a strip of plowing to cross.  When I went to make the return trip I couldn't find the road that crossed the prairie to my shack.  This may sound foolish to a tenderfoot (that was what easterners were called) but the old‑timers knew exactly what it means to be on the prairie without a road in a blizzard.

"I finally found my road and you can guess I was relieved when my shack came into sight.  The thermometer dropped to 40 below zero on Thanksgiving Day and it did not get warm enough to melt the snow from the roof of the shack for over two months."
Mrs. Tom Posey told the story of a man and his nephew.

"The two were out doing the evening chores.  They became so bewildered that they lost their sense of direction entirely and wandered away from the buildings.  After walking for some time through the blinding storm, they ran into a straw‑stack.  The man making a hole in the stack, pushed the boy in first and followed him, stuffing up the opening the best as he could, and there they waited until daylight.

"The storm had abated and they started for home.  The boy beyond being cold and numb was none the worse for his adventure, owing to his uncle having sent him in first and then protecting him with his own body, but the latter had not fared so well.  His hands were badly frosted and his feet frozen, the scars of which he carried all of his life.  It was a terrible trip.  The boy was so drowsy he lay down several times and literally had to be whipped to his feet by his uncle, who was in such agony he could scarcely walk.  They finally reached the house to find the wife nearly crazy.  She had walked the floor all night and had about given up all hope of seeing them alive."
Joseph Hamel, Sr. a veteran railroad man relates this story:

"During this time one winter's day when it was 42 degrees below zero, we had to go north of Carrington to fix a broken rail.  One man went on north to look over the track to see if it was safe and he told me if a train came along to flag it.  I walked around in that awful cold to keep from freezing.  The air was so full of frost that most anything looked a lot bigger than it was.  As I saw what I thought was a train just coming up over a hill.  I flagged for all I was worth but was soon surprised to see it was only the man who had gone on ahead to inspect the rails."
1893: (Kallberg report)

There was a blizzard in the spring of the year, one day in March.  Mr. Kallberg and a friend drove to town.  They went in the friend's sleigh as there was at least two feet or more of snow on the ground.  During the day it had been thawing and the snow was heavy.  On their way home it began to get colder; they were hurrying along to get home before dark.  The friend, Mr. Elwood, lived a good many miles further west in Wells County.  They had quite a lot of lumber in the back of the sleigh which they were taking to Will's parents' home.  All of a sudden the blizzard struck with such force as to tip the sleigh, lumber and all, over onto the horses.  The men were thrown clear but the horses were frightened and ran.  They were extra fine horses, belonging to Mr. Elwood and the men tried to follow them.  The snow was heavy and deep.  They could only step in the horses tracks, which sunk way down.

After some time the snow became so thick that they could see almost nothing.  The accident had happened some two miles from the Kallberg's house so they decided they had better go in and take no more chances on getting lost.

The next morning it was clear and when they looked out the horses were some 50 feet from the house.  One horse had tripped and gone head first into a drift, breaking his neck, and the other horse, harnessed to the first one and not able to get away, had frozen to death.  It was a great loss to Mr. Elwood as horses were scarce then and expensive to buy.

1895:

A record blizzard raged at Carrington all day Thanksgiving Day and the Friday following.  The air was so filled with snow particles that a man could not see a foot in front of him.

When the storm abated the north side of Main Street had a drift that extended to the tops of the store buildings and men sat on the cornices and dangled their feet on the top of the drift.  It sloped southward to the opposite side of the street where the snow was not as deep.

A tunnel was dug on the north side of the Main street extending from the Galehouse Drug store half a block to where Sears is now located.  This tunnel was used for a month.

1896‑1897:

October 28, 1896: Many old‑settlers remember that winter as the winter that "gave the state its reputation that dozens pf elegant winters since have failed to overcome.

Mr. Isak Olson recalled that it was a winter of deep snow.  The climax of that winter came on Thanksgiving Day.  Starting out with a pleasant afternoon, soon after the turkey had been put away the wind came up and was soon a howling blizzard.  It raged for three days.  Few people even left their homes while it continued.

The winds whipped the snow into a blinding mass that made it impossible for one to keep his eyes open more than a minute or two after he had ventured outdoors.

"It was fine as flour, that snow", said J.P. O'Leary.  "It would form a crust over your eyes in a minute.  For those three days I was in the Kirkwood Hotel.  Once I ventured out with a few others to go to the post office.  We got only as far as the corner, a half block away.  After the blizzard there were 25 bushels of snow in the attic of the Kirkwood that had come through a nail hole in the west wall."
There was little stock in the country in those days, practically none except horses and most of these were out on the open prairie.  Most farmers did not get to their barns for the three days that the blizzard raged.  John Rogers of Bordulac recalls that he made the attempt on the third day.  He had to go west only a short distance to the barn and after he had walked the distance he thought should have brought him there, he found that he was headed south instead of west, getting his bearings from the creaking of a windmill.  He returned to the house and was thankful he had not been lost while out only a few rods from it.

Judge Graham said that during the blizzard enough snow would come through a key hole on the west or northwest sides of the building to fill a room.

A group of Indians, making their annual trek from Standing Rock to Fort Totten got caught in a three-day blizzard at the Hawksnest.  So deep was the snow it was impossible for the people to travel in their crude horse‑drawn vehicles.  The horses were turned loose, and the Indians sheltered themselves in their tepees.  There were about 200 of them, men, women, and children.  Because of the fierceness of the blizzard, the Indians lost about 100 of their horses.  The Indians had plenty of firewood so managed to keep warm enough and no humans perished.

Word got to Carrington of the plight of the Indians and immediately help was sent to them.  Three sleighs were recruited from draymen and farmers each with a double team hitched to it, and an expert driver on each sleigh.  The three outfits drove to

Hawksnest and loaded the Indians and their equipment in the boxes and sleighs.  Not all the Indians got into the boxes but the women and children and old people were hauled, while the younger men walked.  In Carrington they were given shelter and food and they remained there until a train arrived to haul them to Minnewauken.  (Isak Olson told the above account.)

George Hall tells this version of the story when he, was interviewed for the Independent.

When my brother, Ralph, was Indian agent up at Fort Totten he let a party of Indians go off on a visit to the Pine Rock reservation pretty late in the season.  On their way back they got caught in a blizzard out in the Hawknest hills and were snowed in and I had the tribe of 750 Indians on my hands for three weeks.

Their chief Irish Mike came up to my house about 10 o'clock at night to get help.  We got them into Carrington and they put up their tents behind the Kirkwood hotel.  I sure had my hands full with them.  They would come prowling around and looked in the windows, they'd be around the house at all hours of the night, and they had the kids just scared to death.

It cost me $1500 just for grub for the bunch the three weeks I had them here.  They'd come and ask me for coffee and tea and sugar and tobacco, and then hide it under their tents.  I get hell for giving them everything they asked for, after the reservation men came, but they had to pay the bill.

The balance of the winter after Thanksgiving, old settlers recalled while talking over the blizzard remained cold with much snow that packed as hard as ice.

It was the regular thing, they said, for teams to drive right over huge snowdrifts, so tightly was the snow packed.  One man, a few days after the blizzard, was seen poking a pole into the drifts near the Putnam lumberyard.  A query to him brought the reply that he had a haystack covered up somewhere near there and was prospecting for it.

(Doctors and Blizzards‑ Soliday report)

1898:

Dr. MacKenzie and Dr. Maclachlan were called out to see James Hamilton about five miles north of town, who was lying critically ill with typhoid fever.  One of the worst blizzards of the season developed that day and while only five miles from town they were forced to remain three days until the storm subsided and all the neighbors helped to make a new trail.  The old one had entirely disappeared.  There were no telephones or communication and much concern was felt about their safety.  A searching party was about to be organized when they appeared.  Many times has he come home with frozen fingers, toes and nose; and icicles all around his face.  Remember one time he came in and it took me almost five minutes to unfasten the safety pins that dear old Grandma Nicholson had pinned around his head as a protection.

Other stories collected by Dorothy Quenemoen.

March 20, 1902:

The storm began Friday afternoon and continued throughout the night.  By Saturday night it had reached its height so all day Sunday the wind blew a perfect hurricane.  There was not a team on the streets.  The blizzard was described as far worse than the memorable one of 1896 because the wind was stronger and kept up longer but not as much snow fell.  The trains on both the Northern Pacific and the Soo were stalled.

No trains arrived on the Northern Pacific until Wednesday afternoon.  The rotary snowplow came up to break a trail and got only as far as New Rockford.  Many houses in the city were completely snowed in and the occupants had to be shoveled out.  Main street was filled with snow and completely blocked.  On the north side of Main street the snow was heaped up in front of the stores up to 12 to 15 feet high in some places.

Reports came in of livestock loss and many cattle strayed away from the farms.

1907‑ January 10:

John Rheist, an employee of Geiger Brothers went out in the blizzard of last Thursday to haul straw.  The storm became so bad he unhitched the team and started for the house.  The horses got stuck in the snowdrifts and finding that he was lost abandoned the horses and wandered around until he came to a telephone pole.  He followed the line for one and a half miles and arrived at the home of Erick Hjelseth from where he telephoned home and relieved the anxiety there which had been occasioned by his long absence.  The horses were found the next day several miles east and south of the place where they became lost.

Other early experiences‑

Mrs. Dan Neiman told about the storm that lasted a week.  The weather had been exceptionally nice until around Thanksgiving time.  They had fixed up for winter but had put off hauling coal and winter supplies.  On the day that Mr. Neiman had planned to go to town, a blizzard came up and raged for a week.  Before the week was over they had to burn hay.  Their kerosene gave out and Mrs. Neiman put a twisted rag into a dish of lard to make a light.  They ground flour out of wheat in a coffee mill to make bread.  When the blizzard stopped, Mr. Neiman went to Melville where he had to haul his grain and do his trading, and brought back coal, oil, and other provisions.

Gus Zink said that many storms lasted three or four days.  He told about one trip to Bordulac.  It took him two days to get to the Casey Ranch (present Doeling Farm).  He shoveled the team through most of the way.  He was gone five days before he came back with supplies.

One time Ole Elton had heard about some hunters who had gone to hunt antelope along the James River.  As Ole was interested in seeing them hunt, he decided to go on horseback to see them.  A terrible storm came up suddenly.  He got lost.  After getting to the river, he followed it until he came to a shack, but no one was living there.  He went further north until he came to a lake where he found some buildings.  He stayed there all night and went home in the morning.  His pioneer wife had spent a very worrisome night as she was alone with their two children.

One time when Mr. Willoughby, who was mail carrier at the time, got as far as the Ewen post office on his mule, he decided that he could go no further because of a bad storm.  As he and Mr. Ewen started for the barn with his mule, they became confused in the directions.  Mr. Willoughby convinced Mr. Ewen that they were going the wrong way, so they changed their course and finally found the barn.

Another episode happened when Mr. Thornton was walking from Carrington carrying the mail.  A bad storm came up, and when he did not return to his home his wife became alarmed and sent one of their sons to look for him.  He walked to the Ole Elton farm about ten miles from Carrington and asked someone to go to look for his father.

When Ole and Pete Elton started out, they stopped at a shack on the Saxlund farm.  There was no one there, so they went to a sod house on the Westad farm.  There was no one there, either.  Since they were then about six miles from home, they decided that Ole should go back home.  When Peter went on to the Larrabee post office, he found Mr. Thornton there waiting for the weather to get better.  They went home the next day.

In the winter of 1893, when John Nicolson was loading some coal at the Putnam Lumber Company in Carrington, a terrific blizzard arose.  Even though Mr. Putnam tried to convince Mr. Nicolson that he shouldn't attempt to drive home, Mr. Nicolson felt that he had to go home as his wife was at home along with a small baby.  On the way hone, the storm was so bad that he could not even see his horses.  He felt many times that he was lost.  Finally his horses stopped.  When Mr. Nicolson went to investigate, he found that their heads were against their barn door.

One time when the Henry Ewen family was attempting to go home from an evening meeting in Carrington, they became lost.  It had been a beautiful evening.  There was a haze in the western sky but it was bright and nippy.  When they reached the McIntyre corner, the moon became clouded over.  A blizzard struck and they could see nothing.  Nellie Ewen Wiltschko who related this story said that her father hoped that the horses knew the way home.  After ages, it seemed, the team stopped near a building.

When her father got out, he found that they were at the Kenneth Ferguson homestead on the shores of Templeton Lake.  Her father saw an outline of the house and made a dash for it; Mr. Ferguson got up and lit the lantern.  They brought the family into the house.  The children slept on the floor while the grownups sat up all night drinking coffee.

The above stories collected by Dorothy Ferguson Quenemoen

(Joseph Hamel, veteran railroader reports about train activities)

The winter of 1906‑07 will never be forgotten.  One day a train got through the cuts from Jamestown to Carrington and brought in a short train of coal, Carrington being almost out of fuel.  When it got here, the engine was about out of water and they cut the train to run up three miles north to the water tank.  When they got about 1,000 feet north of the Soo crossing the engine got stuck in a surface drift and we were called to "snow them up."  We kept that up until the next day when another engine was sent up from Jamestown.  It got within about 200 feet of the one we had been working on and got stuck.  Then we had both on our hands for two solid weeks.  We shoveled snow into the manholes night and day and the engineer sent in steam through the hose to melt it.  Draymen from Carrington hauled out coal to keep the fires going in the boilers.  None of us got any sleep, you might say, for those two weeks.  While we were at this work, the passenger train was on the sidetracks at Sheyenne for 14 days.

1909‑ January 7

Worst storm in years with 35 below zero and strong northwest winds.  Few if any buildings were warm.  School was dismissed because it was impossible to heat the building.

1910:

It snowed all winter with six or eight feet on the level.  The trail to town was so packed and so high that the horses would stumble off it.

1932‑ February 18:

Worst blizzard in years with drifts up to 20 feet.  Storm lasted for two days.

1936‑ February 20:

Blizzard struck late Sunday with the temperature in the lower '20's.  The blinding wall of snow swept the country all day Monday carried by a freezing wind.  The storm gradually died out Tuesday forenoon and the temperatures went up close to the zero mark by 6 o'clock.  A new low record was set Friday night, when the temperature dropped to ‑43 below.

According to the Fargo Forum, the only weather story that hadn't been reported yet was that the hot stove froze when the Melville Fixit club was in session.  The Forum says that when the club members saw their weather stories freeze, they put them in cold storage for the rest of the winter and will release them at the July session.

1941:

Blizzard hit suddenly.  Many cows wandered away from the farms.  Some were found as far as three miles away from their farm.

1950‑ March 30:

The worst storm of 1950 came after the first day of spring, blocking roads, leaving people stranded, isolating towns and causing some misery.

Rain, snow and wind beginning Sunday morning combined to give this area and a greater portion of the state and other states, too, as it gained in intensity throughout Sunday afternoon and night and most of Monday.  Rain fell for most of an hour Sunday afternoon, threatening this area with power loss because of ice‑laden wires.  But the temperature was high enough to prevent the freezing and later as the temperatures did go lower snow fell heavily.

The winds reached high velocity late Sunday and raged furiously throughout Monday beginning to abate that night.

The wet snow did not move as readily as in previous storms consequently all highways and country roads were blocked, and it was not until after Tuesday that some of the roads could be traveled on again.

1966:

The heaviest snowfall of the year fell in early February.  About seven inches were recorded.  This was to appear but a drop in the bucket after that received in the following month.

March brought the blizzard with 19 inches of snow.  The blizzard lasted three days with many roads blocked.  The run‑off from the heavy snow's eventual thaw caused a washout of the Northern Pacific tracks six miles west of Carrington resulting in a train wreck.

1967‑ May

A late storm brought nine inches of snow to area.  Damage to power lines and telephone lines.  Some freakish lightning accompanied the snow. Schools were closed on May day. Little travel on the highways.

1975‑ January 9‑10‑11‑12, Snirt Storm

Blizzard left hundreds of cattle dead in the area.  High winds with snow mixed with dirt was the cause of the problem.

A Bordulac mother and her three children were stalled in a pick‑up from about 9 p.m. Friday till about noon on Saturday.  Neighbors were out searching for them from various directions.  The visibility was so bad that rescuers drove right by them without seeing them the first time.  Sleeping bags and snowmobiles suits kept the family from freezing.  They were found in good condition other than a few cramped muscles.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 77

The Blizzard 

by Mrs. E.A. Beckley (Pub. Independent March 22, 1917)

While the family circle gathers, 
On a cold and wintery night, 
And without the storm is raging, 
All within is warm and bright.
And we pass around the popcorn
And the apples, not a few, 
And by ten o'clock the mercury
Goes down to 42.
And we say before the morning
She'll be down to 45.
And we wonder how our neighbors are
And if they are all alive.
To be caught out on these prairies, 
With a terrific wind so high
Would only mean to lose one's way, 
To perish and to die.

Oh! these storms in North Dakota, 
They are bad enough no doubt, 
And these long and cruel winters
Eastern people read about.
And they gather round their firesides
And it seems they cannot rest, 
As they think about their relatives
Away in the west.
And they wonder if they're warm enough
And have enough to eat, 
While the rain against their window panes
Is turning into sleet.

These North Dakota blizzards
They are almost sure to come, 
We may as well get ready for them, 
Stay a little more at home, 
In the summer when it's lovely, 
And the going is so grand, 
Put some time in on the buildings, 
Fixing up with careful hands, 
Always best to have things ready, 
Than to be behind instead
Then when winter comes 'twill find you
All prepared with naught to dread.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 86

Dangers and Hardships of Pioneer Life

The following account of a North Dakota blizzard was given by Mr. Ellis Willoughby of Grace City.

During the winter of 1893, I lived on section four in this township (Larrabee) and carried the mail from there to Carrington.

On the morning of January 31st I went to get the mail at Warrens on section twenty‑five that is where Ole Peterson now lives.  It was a warm morning.  The wind was in the southeast and a little snow was flying about eight o'clock, the wind changed.  In less than three minutes it blew violently from the northwest.  With the wind came a wall of snow so dense that it was impossible to see in any direction.

I had one mule hitched to a small sleigh and I generally sat on top of the box.  When the storm came, I got down and led the mule, I felt for the trail with my feet.  It hurt me to breathe.  I had to stop frequently to wipe the ice from my eyes and nostrils as well as the mules.

When I had gone two miles, I lost the trail, but continued on in what I though was the right direction and reached a garden where there were a few corn stalks.  I recognized the place as Henry Ewens as he was the only one who had corn in that vicinity.  I reached the house with difficulty and stayed there all night.  It had taken me five hours to go six miles.

Mr. Ewen (Evans) and I started out after supper to do the chores.  When we got outside, I stayed where I could see the house and he went to find the barn.  I shouted to him so that he could find his way back to me.  He had to try two or three times before he could discover it.

The blizzard ceased about twelve that night.  It was the worst I have seen in my life.

I went to Carrington the next morning.  The first man I met was Leon Galehouse.  He told me it was fifty‑two degrees below by the Government thermometer.

I left Carrington on Wednesday and stayed overnight at Westads.

I arrived home on Thursday at about five o'clock.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 86

Unusual Weather

1884:

Frost every month of the year except July.  On many mornings the people brought their oil into the house to warm it up before they could oil their machinery.

Mr. Bort and the Holcombs went out to sack up some grain one evening to have it ready to take to town the next day.  While they were working their lantern went out.  When they examined it they found that the cold had turned the kerosene slushy and it would not burn.

Freak electrical storm was followed by a severe snowstorm.

1886:

Severe drought‑ Feed, however, was plentiful and enough seed was obtained for the next spring crop.

1888:

Ice cut from Pipestem measured 63 inches in diameter.

January 12, 1888:

"Terrible blizzard" many people lost their lives.

September 18, 1913:

A cold drizzling rain fell in the forenoon, coming down much harder in the afternoon.  It was quite cold and at times there appeared to be snow falling with the water.  Some people assumed that it was the equinoctial storm period.  The next day was very wet with fog.

July 1936:

Record temperature of 119 degrees recorded.  The two week period‑of July 5‑18.  Everyday during that time the temperature climbed to at least 100 degrees or higher.

August 19, 1937:

Temperature reached 116 degrees for ten minutes shortly after midnight.  Then the wind came in from the southwest at 1:30 a.m. bringing a cloud of dust.  Elmer Kriewald, night officer, checked the thermometer at the Phillip 66 station.  It registered 116 degrees.  A cool wind came up and the temperature dropped to 92 degrees.  The lowest the temperature got that night was 85 degrees.  Many people thought it was the end of the world.

July 18, 1973:

How hot was it last Wednesday?  Hot enough to fry eggs?  Exactly.  If you thought that well used saying was just a saying, then Adam Malinski proved otherwise.  He put an egg in tin foil on the sidewalk of Carrington's Main Street and waited for the results.  Although it didn't quite sizzle, the egg soon began to solidify.

The thermometer registered 105 degrees at its highest point Wednesday.  With a strong south wind people meant it when they said it was like walking into an oven.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 86

Severe Droughts

1886

1889‑1890 ‑ grain didn't germinate throughout the state.

1891

1900‑ poor crop 
1901‑ fair crop 
1910‑ poorest crop of early years 
1921‑ partial crop

1928‑ all crops light

1935‑ Martin Berg, who lived in McHenry, reported that he had observed seven frogs that had drowned in a pool in the gravel pit.  The pool occurred after a heavy rain.  Martin figured that because of the dry conditions the frogs didn't have any water and so hadn't learned how to swim.  "Now that's dry!"
1936‑ Broke all records with 6.52 inches of moisture for the year.

1961‑ Dry conditions caused concern about the cattle ' grazing on crops because of the possibility of nitrate poisoning.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 87

Other Causes of Crop Loss

Rust 

Worst years on record were: 

1898 

1916 

1928 

1934 

1935

Early Frost

1888 

1889 

1915 

1937

Grasshoppers

1931‑32‑ The grasshoppers ate everything in sight even the handles on the pitchforks.  Some problems in other years too but this was the worst one.

Prairie Fires

One of the worst disasters that the pioneers had to face was the prairie fire.  They were quite prevalent in the '80s, especially during the fall of the year.  The high dense prairie grass would become very dry, catch fire and spread very rapidly.  The new settlers were frightened when they experienced their first fire but as the fires were frequent occurrences they learned how to protect themselves and their property and how to fight against them.

The following are stories about some of the fires from the personal experiences of the settlers.  They were collected from the reports in the Independent and from a report of Mrs. William Smith that was prepared for the State Historical Society:

1883:

Fire broke out in Melville vicinity and burned on in a northwesterly direction, taking everything in sight.

Prairie fires could rage for weeks, some six or more.  Each day the smoke would become more dense so that the sun would be blotted out.  After it was over there would be thousands of acres of black which gave the area a very dismal look.

The fire in 1883 was the first experience of this kind for Ben Holcomb.  Ben was well protected against it.  He was working one day, that fall, on his sister's homestead when the fire came up quickly from the south.  They were fighting fire near the barn when his brother remembered the oxen were picketed in the slough in the direct path of the fire.  He jumped on a horse, rode through the fire and brought the oxen to safety.  Ben lost little through prairie fires.  Many times, however, during those early years he would get up in the night, hitch up the horses and plow a new fresh furrow around the buildings when a fire could be seen far off in the Hawksnest.

Nellie Van Meter (now Mrs. Thomas H. Cousins, Sr.) came to Dakota Territory in the spring of 1883.  One day in the fall of that year she had ridden horseback into Carrington, some nine miles away and while she was gone a prairie fire had completely obliterated the trail to the north and east of the Van Meter home.  There were no roads at that time.  Her father and brothers had gone west of Sykeston that day and would not be back until the following day so she and her mother were alone.

They were awakened in the night by a bright light shining in the window and were startled to see that there was a prairie fire to the south of them.  It was some distance away but creeping toward their buildings.  They were badly frightened and wished the men were there, but knew that they must do something and at once.

Nellie saddled her horse and set out to try and find the nearest neighbor, some mile and a half away.  She was a girl of 16 at that time and her mother did not like having her go off in the middle of the night to find help as the trails were wiped out due to the fire of the afternoon.  However, there was nothing else to do.  Mrs. Van Meter put a lamp in the window and there was a straw stack burning straight north of them, so, guided by the two lights, the neighbor's shack was soon reached.  He returned at once with Miss Van Meter and worked most of the night fighting the fire with set sacks and brooms.

When the fire was completely extinguished Mrs. Van Meter had a good meal waiting for their neighbor.  They were indeed grateful to him for saving their buildings.  The barn contained all of their stock and their newly threshed crop.

1884: (Mr. and Mrs. G.W. Kallberg who homesteaded in Pleasant Valley, now Longview)

"One Saturday night they returned late from Carrington and heard that there was some trouble with a prairie fire in the hills.  Mr. Kallberg was working in town that summer, as their homestead had not as yet been broken and ready for seeding.  He did not like to go back to his work the next night without leaving his wife and the farm safeguarded from the fires, so he and Mrs. Kallberg changed into working clothes, hitched their team of oxen to their walking plow and began making a firebreak.  They worked most of the night, as it was difficult plowing that hard virgin soil with only a walking plow.

They plowed a piece some four feet wide around their house and sod barn, left a ten‑foot piece unplowed and then plowed another four‑foot strip.  In the morning Mr. Kallberg burned out the space between the plowing and then had a very good firebreak.  He left for Carrington that night.

The next morning when Mrs. Kallberg awakened she saw a prairie fire coming from the direction of Hawksnest.  It was the first one she had ever seen and the most frightful one she ever did see, although there were many through the next years.  The flames leaped some 25 feet high into the air where the grass was the highest and the fire extended as far as she could see from the Pipestem Creek west.

She was alone but felt fairly safe with the newly plowed area.  However, she was not sorry when two of Mr. Kallberg's brothers hurried over to help her.  She and the boys carefully burned a wide space around the haystack in an endeavor to save that also, as it was the winter's feed for the cow.

Mr. and Mrs. Kallberg lost nothing in that fire due to their preparedness but one of their nearest neighbors became panic‑stricken and as a result their crop, hay barn and chickens were burned.  These people left their home and followed the creek, intending to fight the fire before it reached their property, not realizing that this would be too much for them to do.  They had not protected their property nor were they prepared to fight the fire when it reached them.

The Hawksnest was the source of many fires in that locality as it was a favorite hunting spot and any carelessness on the part of the hunters was certain to cause great damage and hardship to the nearby farmer."
1885:

Ralph E. Walker came to Dakota in the spring of 1884 filing on a homestead in the eastern end of Foster County where he spent the summer living in a claim shack.  In the fall he obtained work on a threshing crew working south of Carrington.

One day it was reported that there was a prairie fire in the vicinity of the Hawksnest headed their way.  The men worked fast to get the teams, the threshing rig and themselves to safety in a nearby plowed field.  The threshing machine was drawn by horses and was rather awkward to move quickly, but working as fast as possible, the men barely had time to get everything to safety before the fire was upon the very place they had been working.  When there was a little wind behind one of those fires they would burn fast and furiously, sweeping a field clean in no time at all.

Mrs. Ed Johnson's home was south of Kensal.  Her young brother, seven years old was herding his dad's stock.  He got very cold so decided to warm himself by burning a little grass.  A gust of wind blew it into the high grass.  This fire went northeast past Kensal, then turned northwest and burned a lot of shocked grain for Christian Johnson, Ed's father in Bucephalia township, then it burned north to Devils Lake and back again to just east of Kensal.

Chris Eriksen tells this story:

"One of my wife's memorable events was helping a friend in Haven Township, Mrs. Isaac Nysted, after the birth of one of her children.  A neighbor came with his team and lumber wagon to get her.  Soon after they left the shanty home they saw a prairie fire to the north.  They met it near where is now the Ambrose Abledinger farm, three miles north of my place.  The grass was tall and thick and the flames rose 10 feet high or more.  The horses were at full gallop trying to get to the James River before the fire crossed the winding wagon trail.  For a time it burned right along side of the wagon wheels.  Finally there was a break and they drove through the flames onto the black waste of burned prairie.  Many prairie fires were seen after that but this came the closest to threatening horses and people."
Zerlina Eakin tells this story:

"We had the dearest little cave about four feet deep, with a low framework of boards over it and covered with earth.  Steps cut in the earth, a door fitting the opening and we had a splendid little cellar, a refuge in case of tornado or prairie fires.

"One night here was a ring of fire all around us, coming nearer every moment.  A frosted wheat crop uncut was on two sides of the house and from the one side fire was coming toward us.

"We carried our belongings to the cave, drew all the water we could from the wells, nailed cleats on the corner of the house so we could go up and put out a fire if it would start, had wet blankets ready for an emergency, then we went to pulling wheat.

We made a broad pathway, carrying the wheat far enough from the building that the heat could not do any harm should it ignite.  All night we worked and made ready for the demon but when the fire reached the grain field, it died down.  The wheat had too much moisture in it to ignite and we were saved."
Isak Olson tells this story:

"Worst enemy of the early settlers was the prairie fires.  It took its toll annually.  Mrs. Olson's people, especially, had some trying experiences.  P.J. Kallberg, Mrs. Olson's father, was shocking grain one time when a prairie fire came racing toward him.  Kallberg ran to keep ahead of the fire, and he ran hard almost losing the race.  He was sick for a week afterward, suffering from the efforts of overexertion and smoke."
The prairie fire could accelerate its own momentum and create its own draft, reaching speeds of 40 miles an hour.  Sometimes horses couldn't run away from it.

Peter Anderson was almost caught by one of those fires.  He was out on the prairie when a fire raced toward him.  With presence of mind, he reached for his matches and set a backfire.  That saved him.

Farmers plowed wide firebreaks in the hope of saving their property from the fires and this was at least partially served its purpose.  One time a fire leaped a firebreak and threatened the home of Henry Laughlin, another early settler.  Neighbors helped save the home by quenching the embers as they fell on the roof.

Some used wet gunnysacks to beat out the flames.

Mrs. Nellie Templeton lived about nine miles east of Carrington near the Templeton Lake.  This is her story.

"Returning to Carrington one day we saw there was a fire at our shack, when we were three miles away.  We became afraid as the Indians at Devils Lake were on the warpath.  We turned around and went back to the Holcomb place where we stayed all night.  In the morning Mr. Holcomb and my husband drove to our place, and found only an ash pile.  Later we heard the fire had been started by the big Norwegian we had hired to plow for us.

"It was the first of September and Joe had left me and the baby, who was about 13 months old and a very bright child, to stay with his sister, Mrs. Railsback, at the latter's claim two miles from ours.

"A fire started on the prairie while I was at Railsback's and all the men in the neighborhood were away.  It came to where I was staying, and destroyed 90 acres of fine oats which were ready to thresh.

"I feared for our crop, so I put my babe in her little buggy and started home ahead of the fire, running nearly all the way.  I got to a big hill and there was the fire on the other side, but I made it over the hill, the fire after me.  When I got half a mile from our claim, the fire turned north.

"I reached home and took the oxen, Johnnie and Archie and staked them inside the five acres of firebreak.  Then I stayed to watch the fire.

As soon as Mr. Railsback learned of the fire, he came to our place on his horse, expecting that I might have been burned on the way.  He made his horses jump strips of fire to reach me, and insisted that I go back with him but I refused, saying that I must stay to watch the fire near our house.

"Two days later the fire was burning north of our claim and by noon it got to the river.  On it came to jump our firebreak and get to the big stacks of hay and oats.

"I worked with a wet broom and threw water on the fire but as soon as I got one side out, it came to the other side.

"I ran to the shack, got the baby and a few things, the dogs, Nero and Frisk, and took to the cave.  Not long after we were there the fire got to the garden and burnt everything but the little shack.  It was so dark I couldn't see the sun.

"Joe had heard on his way home from his tree claims that a prairie fire was all around his claim; so he started for home, standing up on the buggy and driving my pony in a lope all the way.  I was sitting out in front of the shack with the baby.

"Other neighbors near our claim were the Neimans, the Holcombs, McIntyres, Burns, and the Railbacks."
1889:

Lewis Mortenson who lived near Barlow fought a fire for 24 hours and was severely burned.

1891:

Julius Engberg lost $5,000 worth of wheat, four horses, four binders, and 100 acres of oats.

Ole Elton lost all his crops, his barn, hay, harnesses, as well as all of their home furnishings.

Nearly destroyed Lund farm.  They saw fire coming as all got pails of water and gunnysacks and backfired by burning small area around the buildings.  This was the way they were saved.

Nellie Ewen Wilschko told the story of one prairie fire which swooped toward their buildings and three stacks of bundles.  His father came to the house, told her mother to take all the children to the plowed field east of the buildings.

1894:

Wallace Bemis on 145‑62 lost his barn.

1895:

The fires spread through McHenry consuming wagons that were loaded with wheat.

1897:

Fire destroyed barn, 75 tons of hay, 29 head of hogs, six work hoses, full-blooded stallion on the E.T. Halaas farm in Estabrook Township.
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A Prairie Fire of Thirty Years Ago

By R.J. Boyle

In the early days or about thirty years ago, such a thing as a prairie fire especially in the fall of the year, was a very common occurrence, and at that time they were destructive as there were such large areas of unbroken stretches of prairie.

I have seen fires that burned for a continuous period of two weeks or until they were extinguished by rain.

At night during the fall it was common to see a string of fires, a distance of twenty miles unbroken along the grow of Katos (a range of hills) ten miles west of the town of Melville, North Dakota.

Whole towns would turn out on occasions when fire, swept by a northwest gale, would sweep down upon towns and railroads, as there was no gravel on the track at that time and long grass grew right up to the edges to trees.  Hundreds of ties would be afire after fire had crossed and continued on its journey.  It looked like a great torch light procession and employed many shovel and lots of dirt to smother the fire or it would strike on several miles at the same rate.

I had matches and I was unable to set the grass afire.  But my effort was fruitless.

The fires in those days were truly exciting and lovely sight to see at night.
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Story of Heroism

In the fall of 1883 Peter Zink, Sr. of Melville, lost his home in a prairie fire.  Mrs. Zink and her husband were in a nearby field plowing.  Mrs. John Kleb, a neighbor woman, was in the house sewing for the Zink family.

As she sat there sewing she smelled smoke.  She looked up and saw the fire nearly at the door.  She tried to save the furnishings.  She succeeded in getting the sewing machine, a bed, and four chairs out.  In doing so she received several burns on her face and arms.

Mr. Zink had a shed built so as to join on the house.  In this he stabled his two mules and one cow.

The animals were saved for they were in the field.  Mr. Zink immediately went to Jamestown for more lumber to build a new home for it was in the fall.
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Agriculture & Livestock
Soil and Its Uses

Foster County's main resource is the soil.  In the area of 644 square miles, there is 411,960 acres of land.  It was the availability of this land and the ability to acquire it at a reasonable price that attracted people to come to Foster County.  Some came to farm, some came to provide the goods and services that the farmers may need, and some came to speculate‑ after they made their transactions, they moved on to greener pastures.

Soil and its uses has been a concern of mankind for centuries.  Here is an excerpt from a sermon that was delivered in the Federated Church in Carrington several years ago:
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Consider the Soil

"It lies as far as the eye can see.  It covers millions and millions of acres around the globe, yet it is a rare thing and cannot be replaced.

This soil is a living thing.  Yet it can be destroyed.  This soil is a fruitful thing.  Yet it can be sterile.  This soil is God's gift to mankind, given unto our stewardship.  Yet it can be spoiled and wasted.  This soil produces crops and verdant grasses and trees.  It cannot be supplicated by chemistry or physics.  This soil is an intricate house of myriad elements.  Yet it is so commonplace as to be known as dirt.

It fills the flowerpot in Manhattan, serves as a garden in Minnesota and produces an orchard in California‑ this thing called soil.

It is the spectacle of the Grand Canyon, the flatness of the Plains, and the rolling convolution of the Shenandoah Valley‑ this thing called soil.

It is the source of our nourishment; it provides the means of our protection.

God has willed we can live with it; we cannot live without it.  Consider this soil.  Consider it well."
' A good man leaveth an inheritance to his childrens' children. "
Proverbs 13:22

The people who are in charge of this resource, soil, are called farmers.  When a person thinks of the word "farm" they usually think of it as a place where vegetables are grown, cows are milked, and hens lay eggs.  But how is it, in that case that "to farm out" anything means to rent or lease it for a certain period at a fixed price?

Independent, September 20, 1928:

"The word "farm" is really very interesting.  In its earliest meaning it had nothing to do with vegetables or cows or hens.  It meant, according to Webster's New International Dictionary, "sum fixed in amount and payable at fixed intervals by way of rent, tax or the like".  A farm then, was originally a sum of money, paid as rent.

The next step in the history of this work brings to mind the "farming" of revenues or taxes.  It came to mean the practice of letting out taxes for a fixed amount to someone authorized to collect and keep them.

The present meaning of the word begins to appear when a "farm" was a district of country or section of land leased or farmed out for the collection of government revenues.  Then, logically following from this, a farm was any piece of land leased for the purposes of cultivation.  Today it is possible for a farmer to own his farm, of course, and still call it a farm.  It now means any piece of land used for agricultural purposes."
What about the person whose task it is to care for this plot of land?  From the publication, 'Call of the West' which was published in 1908 we have this article
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Importance to the Farmer

In the first great day the earth was made and Adam, the first farmer, was set therein to care for it‑ and make it possible for the millions, past, present and future, to live.  All food came direct from the soil.  Today the nation's prosperity rises and falls, just as the farmer prospers, with each succeeding crop.  Each of you, in your seeming obscure corner, yield and influence; politics and Wall Street do not make values.  Value alone comes from the sea, the forests, the mines and the farm.  The farm is of the greater importance, and the very foundation of wealth.

Your class produces each year in the United States an unthinkable value, equal to the products of all the mines from the earliest of times.

In the great wheel of industrial activity, the farm makes up the hub.  From it in all directions project the many various spokes of enterprise; remove the hub and each dependent spoke, lacking the support must fail.  You are the impelling force that drives every wheel of industry.  If each of you should stop for‑ work for a single year there would be no business, no need for cities or railways.  One‑half of the world would starve and the other half be naked.  Desolation everywhere would be as complete as the desolation of earthquake‑stricken Italy.

The nations and the great commercial enterprises are forced to return to the fountainhead and constantly draw from the farm new blood and energy to manage the affairs of state and man.

Since the farmer's calling was the first, and is the biggest, the best, the most important and the most necessary upon earth; since the Ruler and nature have done so much for you in soil preparation and laid upon you the responsibility of feeding the present day multitudes, it is but fitting that you should enjoy the quiet and peaceable possession of a portion of the virgin soil, the very cream of Mother Earth, before you return to her and claim your perpetual right to the portion that will be assigned to you for your long and quiet home."
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Early Days: 1880‑1900

One of the provisions of the Homestead Act was that the land had to be improved.  To do this the settlers had to "break‑up" the sod that was covered with prairie grass.  Walking plows, which had no seats, and were pulled by oxen or horses, were one of the early methods used to break‑up the sod and expose the rich, deep, dark loam soil that had the qualities to retain moisture, never bake, or heave, and a fertility that seemed to be inexhaustible.  Later gangplows pulled by horses were used.

The next step was to seed the land which was done sometimes by hand and sometimes with a seeder that was hooked behind a wagon.  When the latter method was used, they could seed up to 50 acres a day.  The land was then dragged.

When the grain had matured, it was cut down by using a scythe and gathered into bundles by hand.  Flails and other methods were used to loosen the grain from the chaff.

As the years went along, more machinery was to appear on the scene.  The larger the machinery the more horse power it required‑ also the more land that could be worked in a shorter period of time.  Evidence of these facts was very apparent when the bonanza farms were in operation.  After these farms reached their peak, the land was divided into smaller units and sold to individual farmers.

The main crop was wheat.  Gradually other crops were introduced to the area, such as barley, oats, flax, and later corn.  Grasses, too, were planted to be used as forage for the livestock.  Potatoes as well as other garden vegetables and fruits were also grown.  Just about every farm would have a few cows, pigs, chickens, and maybe a few ducks, geese, and turkeys.  The farms were very self‑sufficient as far as producing the materials necessary to keep a person alive.  As time went on more and more products were purchased from the local stores that once had been raised on the farm.
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1910‑1925

After the Bonanza farm era was over and the land speculation siege was completed, the people who were still on the land were there because they primarily wanted to be there and farming became their means of livelihood which they took very seriously.

What was it like to live on a farm at this time?  Ross Bloomquist tells of his personal experience while living on a farm about 1915.  Here are portions of his story:
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Spring

By Ross Bloomquist

As February and March pass by the days become longer and the temperature starts to rise, the farmer begins to think of lining things up to go to the field.  The first order of business is preparing the seed that had been saved from the previous crop and was stored in the granary.  The grain usually contained some foreign matter such as wild oats, cracked kernels, imperfect heads, etc.  This had to be removed before the seed was put into the ground.

The grain cleaning equipment was set up in an empty bin next to the stored grain.  A small opening in the wall allowed the grain to flow into the bin that continued the fanning mill.  This machine blew the lightweight material from the denser kernels.

The hand‑cranked "Hero" mill was a contraption about four feet square and 4 1/2 feet high.  Most of the parts were wood or sheet metal.  At the top a hopper holds the grain to be cleaned.  The grain flows down through apertures in the hopper and baffles spread the kernels over a stack of reciprocating screens.  These screens have round holes just large enough to let the wheat kernels drop through but retain the longer but slimmer wild oats kernels and imperfectly threshed heads.  A single screen of this type is not 100% efficient and the stack of four or five similar screens are needed for a complete separation.  The oversize material is discharged from the end of the screen in a pile on the floor.

The wheat kernels passing through the stack of screen fall through a long slot to encounter a gentle blast of air from a two-foot diameter flat bladed fan the width of the machine.  Hence the name "fanning mill."  The falling kernels are freed thereby of light fluffy material such as chaff and dust.  The kernels land on and move down another sloping reciprocating screen with long but narrow interstices.  Small but dense seed such as those of pigeon grass and shriveled or cracked kernels pass through this screen.  The cleaned wheat retained on the screen is shaken off the end onto the floor and then scooped up in a bushel basket.  When the basket is exactly full it is dumped into a small temporary bin.  As each bushel is emptied a tally is made on the smooth flat side of a studding.  The tallies are short vertical strokes made side by side with a dull pencil or possibly a nail.  The fifth tally is marked diagonally across the other four.  The total can be obtained easily by counting the groups of five.

Sometimes the grain was run through the mill a second time for better cleaning.  Turning the crank is tiring work since considerable energy is expended in supplying the power needed to keep the fan turning at a fairly fast and constant rate and the screens oscillating properly.  Usually the mill was operated only 3 or 4 hours in the afternoon after all the morning chores had been done.  The hired man turned the crank while someone else filled the hopper, handled and tallied the clean grain and bagged the rejected material.  This stuff was fed to the chickens.  When the ground conditions were such that the field was ready to plant the first task was to prepare the seedbed for the seeds.  The hard surface and clods left by the previous year's plowing and by the winter snows had to be broken up before the seeding could proceed.  A spike tooth harrow, always called a drag, was the implement used.  A spring tooth harrow was sometimes employed if the ground was exceptionally hard or in other seasons to destroy the growth of weeds.  The spike tooth harrow consists of a number of sections of wood framework with metal teeth to dig into the ground as the implement is pulled (dragged) over the surface.  Each section is a wood latticework made of three-inch square hardwood members about 4 feet in overall dimensions.  At 6 or 8 intervals the teeth, actually square metal spikes about 10 inches long protrude from the bottom of the framework.  The teeth are 3/4 inches square and taper to a rounded point.  The sections are parallelogram shaped and the teeth so arranged that they are not in line as the section is pulled forward over the ground.  A single section is light enough for a man to live by the side when it is necessary of clean out the debris that sometimes collects around the teeth.  The usual drag is comprised of five sections all attached through short chains to a draw bar made of wood and reinforced with metal along the edge.  A five-section drag works a strip about 30 feet wide.  It is pulled by five horses walking abreast.

The practice in those days was to drag the field twice, once in the same direction as it had been plowed and then crosswise before seeding and once again after the seed was in the ground.  Dragging was a relatively fast operation and an 80-acre field by one fourth mile could be gone over in a day if 10 round trips were made morning and afternoon.  It was easy enough for the drag to keep ahead of the seeding operation.  Dragging was a lonely, boring job.  There was little to do except to guide the horses and watch out for stones that might have heaved up in the winter.

As soon as 40 acres or so of a field had been dragged the seeding of the wheat began.  The farmers usually operated the implement which was always called a "drill".  He seldom delegated the job to the hired man whose rows might wander away from the straightness which was always a mark of a good farmer.  The noun drill refers to an implement for planting seeds in a row.  The implement was drawn by four horses hitched side by side and was about 12 feet wide and seeded a strip 11 feet wide.  The seeding mechanism was supported on a frame with two large iron tiered wheels at either end.  The seed was contained in an elongated hopper with multiple outlets spaced seven inches apart which discharged the seed into the ground through a metering device.  At the lower end of the outlet a rotating grooved roller carried away a small number of kernels in each groove and dropped them into a flexible tube made of helices of spring steel.  The rotary motion of the rollers, all on a single shaft, is powered by a chain and sprocket wheel arrangement from a large supporting wheel on the drill.  The rate of delivery of the kernels is controlled by the width of the grooved roller in contact with the kernels in the hopper.  This adjustment is made by a lever which caused a sleeve to cover all or part of the grooves.  The lever had an indicator for setting the rate of delivery of the kernels to compensate for their size and for the amount to be seeded per acre.

The seed drop into a narrow trench formed by either "shoes" or "disks".  The shoes are arranged in a line 7 inches apart; each one consists of a pair of hardened steel plates which gouge a u‑shaped trench several inches deep in the soil and packed the ground at the bottom of the trench.  The seeds dropping from the metal tube into the trench are covered with dirt by a chain alternating large and small round links attached to the rear of the shoe.  The depth of the trench was adjustable to some extent by the lever which raised and lowered the entire shoe.  This lever also disengaged the feed mechanism when the implement was being moved from field to field and while turning around at the edges of the land being seeded.

The operator of the drill walked behind the implement in the early days.  The somewhat newer disk models had a substantial shelf or platform about a foot wide raised about the same distance above the ground and attached to the frame of the drill and independent of the disks.  The driver standing on this platform could guide the outside horse in the track of the previous round and still step off easily without halting the horses.

The clean grain stored in the granary was sometimes brought out to the field in a grain tank.  A more convenient method was to bag the grain and bring it to the drill in sacks.  In the evening or during the noon hour sufficient grain was shoveled into bags in the granary.

After all the rounds had been finished in a field the turning space at either end was seeded by a trip crosswise back and forth.  After dragging again the work in the field was complete until harvest time three months or so later.
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Harvest 

By Ross Bloomquist

According to the dictionary harvest is the gathering in of the crop but to the Dakota farmer, it has a more restricted meaning.  The harvest is the process of cutting the grain and shocking it in readiness for threshing.  The latter is considered a separate operation after the harvest is finished.  It was a time of hard work for all since the ripe standing grain could be damaged in a number of ways.  Once in the shock, however it can withstand the rigors of wind, rain and hail even if the threshing might be delayed for several weeks.  Harvest; therefore, was a time of tension as well as a time for long hours of work in the hot August sun.  The men were occupied with the grain cutting so it was up to the women to take over the chores such as milking the cows, feeding the hogs, and attending to the other livestock.

Usually the oats ripened first, then the barley and finally the wheat and durum.  Flax was not ready for harvesting until early September several weeks later than the other crops.  Until the advent of power farming, two binders each drawn by four horses were required for the 480-acre farm with about 400 acres in cropland.  A binder, or more correctly a reaper although it was never so‑called, is a complicated piece of machinery with many moving parts and intricate mechanisms.  Fundamentally the binder cuts the standing grain in such a way that the straws are all aligned in the same direction, collected into a bundle of convenient size for a man to carry, tied it with a cord, twine, and finally pushed the bundle off a carrier to be dumped into a pile.

The driver‑operator sits on a high seat attached to the frame of the implement about five feet above the ground at the right end of the platform.  From this seat he drives the horses, manipulates three or four levers and works a pedal with his foot to dump the bundles from the carriers.  The levers serve to adjust the height of the stubble, the position of the reel, the size of the bundles and the location of the band tied around it.  These adjustments are necessary since the height of the grain usually varies somewhat from place to place in the field.

The four horses needed to pull the binder are hitched abreast to the machine by a rather complicated arrangement.  The binder operator controls the horses by reins so strung up that he can guide them precisely along the edge of the grain being cut.  To urge them along should one lag he has a "binder" whip long enough to reach the rumps of the horses.  Often it was just a tender bamboo pole with a thong at the end.

The twine used to tie the bundles was made from the coarse amber fibers of the tropical sisal plant.  It came in tightly wound cylindrical "balls" weighing eight pounds.  The twine had been treated with an insect repellent compound which gave it a distinctive aromatic odor.  Eight balls in a coarse dark brown sack formed a bale.  The sacks, always called "gunny sacks", and the 20 feet of rope with which the bale was tied had many uses on the farm when the harvesting was over.  On the binder the twine was supplied from a metal container holding two balls.

As soon as four or five rounds have been cut there were enough bundles to begin the shocking.  This task required a little skill.  The bundles were made into shocks to facilitate the final drying out of the straw and heads of the grain and to keep them off the ground so they will not become wet and moldy when subjected to rain and damp weather.  As a start two bundles are picked up by the bands and set upright in the stubble with the heads of the grain up and made to lean against each other.  Then about a dozen more bundles are placed against the first two to form a round symmetrical structure.  A shock should be large enough to be stable but not too large to prevent air from circulating freely between the bundles.  A properly made shock sheds water in a downpour and does not topple in high winds.

Shocking is slow back‑breaking work in the hot August sun.  Each bundle must be lifted off the ground and placed individually by hand.  The straw tends to be harsh and scratchy; the bearded varieties, durum and barley, are the worst.  The individual beards break off and work their way through clothing and cause intense itching.  Besides having to stoop over to pick up the bundles one has to walk, walk, walk, to get them.  Shockers dislike poorly dumped rows or bundles dropped off the carriers away from the windrows.  Shocking should be done as promptly as possible in case a sudden shower should come up.

It was always necessary to hire outside labor to do the shocking.  In the years before World War I plenty of migrant labor was available.  In those days there were Finns, Poles or Slavs who worked in the cities or logging camps in the winter and then followed the harvest and threshing in the summer and fall.  The hobos, "bos" or bums as they were commonly known, started with the harvest in Texas and Oklahoma in June and proceeded north through Kansas, Nebraska and the Dakotas to Canada and then back to the Corn Belt for corn husking.  They traveled from place to place riding the freight trains on the flat cars and atop the boxcars.  They made no attempt to hide for riding the freights was an acceptable custom.  Once I saw the cars of the local Northern Pacific freight going through Barlow infected with at least a hundred hobos, there was scarcely room for another one.

When the hobos became tired of traveling or saw a likely looking town they would hop off the train and proceed to the jungle.  The jungle of communal living abode of the men was the stockyards located along the railroad tracks.  The yard consisted of a couple of pens and a loading chute provided by the railroad for use when cattle were being shipped.  The hobos lived there between jobs or when there was no work to be had.  Sometimes they bought their food from the local stores but more frequently begged from the townspeople.  When they wanted work they would loiter on the main street or sit on the wood sidewalk in front of the stores.  If a farmer wanted help he would accost a likely looking pair and offer them a job at the going rate.  Most of the men knew how to shock but occasionally one was so inexpert that he was fired on the spot.

On most of the farms the shockers were never allowed in the house except for meals since there was always a chance that they were lousy.  Some farmers let their transient help sleep in the hay in the barn.  The practice caused some problems because of the fire hazard.  Most of them "rolled their own" with Bull Durham tobacco and Riz LaCroix cigarette paper.  Some shockers were quartered in an empty bin in the granary where old iron bedstead with a mattress, comforters and blankets were set up.  Facilities for washing were set up on the shady north side of the house.  A pail of hot water was provided for clean up before meals.

During the years 1917‑1918, shockers were hard to get and wages got up to the then unheard of rates of 75 and 80 cents an hour.  This was due in part to the inflated prices brought about by the war but also by a loose knit organization, the IWW, the Industrial Workers of the World.  Instead of the ignorant and semi‑literate immigrants, a more articulate and better class of men began to drift in.  They were the "Wobblies," card carrying members of the IWW.  Their philosophy was not clear to me then.  The farmers believed that there was a "Communist" slant to the Wobbly doctrines and consequently they were much resented.  A new factor had entered into the primitive employer‑employee relationship which had not existed heretofore.  In the presence of a leader called an "agitator" the migrant worker could and did present a somewhat united front against the farmer.  Strikes and possibly sabotage did occur during the war years alleged to have been inspired by the IWW and the backwash of these accusations was felt even in the farming community.

About the year 1905 an effort was made to unite all the laborers into one organization called the Industrial Workers of the World.  They were most active during the time before World War I until the early 1920s.  The AFL consisted mostly of craft unions and accepted the capitalist system.  The IWW sought to form one union of all workers and set up a socialist government.  It used sudden strikes, Blowups, and sabotage, and refused contracts and collective bargaining.  They used scare tactics to get people to join the union.  The union spread into the migrant worker camps and attempted to get the men to join the organization.

The August 26, 1915 Independent published the following article

"Town is postered with demands made of farmers by the IWW Organization: The IWW's will get $3.50 a day for their work this season, if they can.  The officers are advising the men not to go out for less and the jungle camps and telephone poles in Carrington had had the following notices posted:

'Agricultural Workers Organization of the IWW makes the following demands for harvest workers

'A minimum wage of $3.50 a day of not more than 10 hours.  $.50 for each hour overtime worked above the 10 hours constituting a day.

'Good clean board.

'Good clean places to sleep in with plenty of bedding.

'No Discrimination against union men.  (IWW)

The above demands apply to North Dakota

'To all workers‑ enforce the above demands where ever and whenever possible.  $3.50 per day as a minimum wage is not a cent too much.

Ten hours a day is long enough for a mule‑ why not for men and women!

'Do not work more than ten hours a day.  This will make more work and allow more men employment.  Your job will last that much longer.  We want as many days work as possible.

'Make your job last!  If you do not get the above demands, make your motto: Little Pay‑ Little Work, or Bum Pay‑ Bum Work.

'To the farmers of North Dakota ‑ The above demands are asked of you, and if granted, satisfactory work will be done.  Harvest work is seasonable and unsteady and must receive consideration.  Common laborers are paid in many places 35 to 40 cents an hour on steady employment.  $3.50 per day and board is only 35 cents an hour, not a cent too much‑ in fact it is too little for seasonable work.

The October 14, 1915 issue tells the story of iron strips and pipe placed in the bundles and the promise of strikes.  "The canvases in C.W. Reichert's threshing machine were wrecked Sat. afternoon when pieces of iron and gas pipe, put in grain bundles by an IWW man, were fed into the machine.  The thresher was put out of business three times during the afternoon.  The last time a big piece of gas pipe went into the cylinder and it was necessary to work much of the night to get it repaired.

Tuesday morning at 9, Mr. Reichert's crew, with the exception of one man, struck for $4 a day.  The bunch was fired without ceremony.

The Footitt boys came near having an accident with their machine a few days ago.  A long piece of gas pipe painted red and with an IWW poster pasted around it was found by one of the field men.  The pipe was so long that it stuck out one end of the bundle.

Trouble with IWW men has been incipient this fall.  It promises to get worse yet this fall and during each succeeding year.

Ted Frazer, who spent several weeks agitating on the streets for the organization and was sent to jail for two weeks, was released last week, but is still in town.  "
The men that arrived for the 1921 harvest were asking for $3‑4‑5 per day.  They were offered $2, $2.50.  Police officials were kept on their toes to keep order in the area.  The organizational drive for members was still going on as late as 1921 in Foster County.  The July 28, 1921 Independent tells this story:

"The IWW are becoming active in this county and in Carrington, Sunday night an agitator of the longhaired Russian type, started his lusty declamations down on the railway flats by the Chaffee Implement company warehouse.  His talk was addressed to the core of us and about 300 townspeople who assembled to hear his talk.  The police official of the city and county were conspicuous, keeping watch in order that no trouble might be started.  The man kept his talk within bounds and told the story of the one big union, the struggle between capital and labor, and the right of every working man to a living.  He said that he and every working man believed in the doctrine of the Russian revolution, "He that does not work, neither shall he eat".  He closed his talk with a plea that people read the IWW literature.

The IWW has been holding secret meetings west of Carrington in the stockyards and near the Northern Pacific railway flats.  When anyone approaches they demand to see the union cards.  Those not able to produce the customary piece of cardboard are thrown out.  "This is, a private meeting", one townsman was informed when he tried to get in.

The activities of the organization were definitely kept as secret as possible which always causes distrust.  Some of the tactics were reported in the Independent issue of August 18, 1921.

"Headline: IWW throw Man off Car at New Rockford:

Charles Thomas, 36, laborer from North Carolina kicked off train:

Charles Thomas, 36, former service man of North Carolina was kicked and thrown off a freight train on which he was riding last Friday near New Rockford by a crowd of 10 IWW.

The injured man was picked up by the freight crew, taken to the next town and from there to New Rockford on the Passenger where he caused the arrest of two of the men that assisted in throwing him off the train.  He is now convalescing in the Cass county hospital waiting to testify against William Dawson, 35, an IWW organizer from Baltimore, Maryland, and Harold Brott, 19, of Clinton, Iowa, who are being held in jail on warrants sworn out by states attorney, William C. Green on a charge of assault with intent to kill.

"The trouble started when I refused to sign the IWW card", said Thomas in the hospital today.  I was told by members of the gang that I would have to join the IWW if I wanted to ride on the train and when I refused they threatened to kill me.  They searched me but found that I had only 15 cents:

"When they started to throw me off I protested saying that if they would wait and give me a fair chance to investigate their organization I might join.  But they were insistent and were about to cast me off, when a big fellow told them to wait until they came to a pile of ties.  'Then throw him off, ' the big fellow ordered, evidently with the idea of killing me.  I missed the ties and was not badly hurt."
Thomas' injuries include bruises where he was kicked by the IWW, a long scar on his left leg inflicted when he was thrown from the train, and cuts on his right hand, which he says one of the gang inflicted with his foot when he attempted to hold on to the car from which he was thrown off."
After the war the influence of the IWW waned but as late as 1922 there still were some IWW organizers around.

A typical day in the span between 1910 and 1921 was about as follows: Dad is the first to get up in the morning around half past five.  He calls the hired man and then starts the fire in the kitchen range and puts the coffee water on to boil.  He goes to the barn to give the horses their morning ration of oats and hay.  The shockers are called on the way to the barn and the harnesses are put on the eight horses needed for the two binders.  By 6:15 Mother has the breakfast ready and all sit down together for a meal of cooked cereal, fried eggs and bacon with toast and coffee.

Without much delay the shockers go to the well to fill their water jug and proceed to the oats field west of the farm buildings.  They will have about a day's work since the straw is heavy and so are the bundles.  There had been only a little dew during the night and the binders can be started immediately.  The horses are bridled in the barn and turned out to the water trough for a drink which will have to last them until noon.  While they are drinking the hired man fills the earthen jug with fresh water from the well to take along to the field.  When the horses have drunk their fill from the full trough they stand there taking occasional swallows.  Soon it is off to the field for a full day's work.
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Threshing

In the early days all the outfits were large and unless a threshing run of at least two weeks could be had it was uneconomical to own and operate a threshing machine.  Only four or five days were required to thresh three quarters and it was necessary to do the threshing of others to get the full value from the investment in the machine.

A threshing outfit, rig, or in every day talk "machine", and its peripheral equipment required about 20 men and women for its functioning.  The heart of it all was the separator which separates the kernels of grain from the straw and chaff.  The power required to operate the separator was supplied by a mobile steam engine or, in later years, by an internal combustion tractor.  The separator was mounted on wheels so it could be moved from field to field by the engine.  The shocked grain was hauled to the machine by bundle haulers who loaded the shocks into bundle racks.  Ten or twelve haulers were needed to keep the separator in continuous operation for eleven hours a day.  The thresher's responsibility ended when the grain poured out of the spout of the separator.  The farmer had to provide wagons to transport the grain to his granaries or to the elevators in town.

The outfit was a self‑contained operation and in some respects resembled a traveling circus when it went along the road from one job to another.  It was not a well-organized procession.  The bundle haulers and their racks came first; some were towing a second rack since some of the teams were otherwise employed.  The engine, puffing black smoke, pulled the combination coal and water tender and the separator at a speed of no more than three miles an hour.  The separator man rode with the engineer keeping watch that the separator remained on an even keel.  The cook car came next, some distance behind, pulled by two of the bundle hauler's teams.  In most cases the bunk car, pulled by a single team ended the procession.  Occasionally a grain tank or two was in the line of march.  Some outfits which had threshing in fields a distance away from buildings and wells had a feed rack and watering trough for the horses to complete the retinue.

The cook and bunk cars were essential parts of the outfit since the thresher had to provide meals and sleeping quarters for his crew.  The food was prepared and eaten in the cook car, a combination kitchen and eating area on wheels.  This car was usually stationed on the farm where the crops were being threshed.  The cooks lived and slept in the car during the season.  There was no typical cook, some were men, others middle‑aged women and sometimes a pair of young girls, but all liked to cook and to provide huge amounts of well‑prepared food for the hungry crew three times a day, with a substantial lunch in the afternoon.  Most of the crew slept in the bunk car which was similar to the cook car.  It had bunks for twelve men.  Sometimes the overflow was allowed to sleep in the haymow of the barn.

On the flat Dakota prairies this rig could be seen for miles.  As the men finished up the field which was evidenced by a huge straw stack and no shocks left, the outfit would pack up and move to the next place.
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On the Farm in Winter

By Ross Bloomquist

Fall time was used in making preparations to protect the livestock and themselves from the rigorous weather that was sure to come later.

Outside chores included milking the cows, morning and evening, cleaning the barn, and putting fresh bedding down daily, feeding the pigs ‑ and chickens, and bringing fuel in for the kitchen range.

The hired hand's job was to bring in the hay and straw that was needed for the livestock.  The afternoons were considered "free time" until the animals needed to be fed again.  A trip to town was made in the buggy when the ground was bare of snow or in the bob‑sled or single seater sled when there was sufficient snow cover.  This trip provided an opportunity to pick up mail, the daily paper, and other reading material for the long, winter evenings.

A stone boat was used to clean out the barn.  This was a homemade contrivance like a low sled comprised of a 4 by 6 platform on one inch boards mounted on the side of two sturdy round fence posts set parallel about three feet apart.  It had a hitch for two horses but was light enough to be moved about by hand when not loaded.  The stone boat was used to clean out the barn.  It was dragged by hand into the driveway of the barn and loaded up with the manure.  The team was then hitched to the stone boat and the load pulled away to be spread on the garden spot or some other area of unplowed land.  If the weather was miserable the load may be dumped in a slough that was nearer the barn.

The stone boat was so‑called because its original use was to transport stones and boulders out of the fields.  It had a number of uses around the farm such as hauling gasoline engines and moving sacks or barrels of feed.

Preparations for winter:

Screen enclosing for the porch was taken down and replaced by a "storm shed".  It consisted of two panels of ceiling lumber.  This area could be used for temporary storage and to hang.  The shed was dark and not much warmer than the outside but it was, nevertheless, insulation for the inside rooms.

Screen from the windows were also removed and replaced with storm windows.  "Banking" the house and the chicken coop was another task that had to be done to help conserve the heat.  Some people would pile dirt around the foundations of the buildings to shut out the cold but manure if one disregarded the smell, was a better material for the purpose.  The manure piled along the walls served as excellent insulation; it even supplies a little heat from the decomposing of the organic matter.  Actually no smell of the manure was ever noticeable in the house except in the cellar on warm days.  It was hauled away in early spring when the danger of below zero temperatures was past.

Winter Supplies

One of the preparations for winter was to stock up on the supply of hard coal for fuel for the house.  The houses usually had a coal bin in the cellar about five feet square that would hold enough coal to last until spring.  The coal came in by rail from northern Penn.  The price was about $18 to $20 per ton.  This hard coal was anthracite.  A ton or two of soft coal which came in lumps of a variety of sizes was also stored in a bin in the buggy shed: The large lumps had to be hammered into smaller pieces before it would be put into the fireboxes of the kitchen ranges and other heaters in the house.

Groceries

Flour and sugar were purchased in 100-pound bags and coffee in 25-pound drums.  We butchered our own meat, always pork and sometimes beef.  Mother churned butter and rendered out the lard.  The chickens laid enough eggs in the late fall to supply us until the hens began laying again in February or March.  There were some home canned peaches and vegetables and plenty of potatoes stored in the cellar.  In some years two or three boxes of Washington State apples were purchased in the fall.  Fresh fruits were obtained from the grocery whenever a trip was made to town.  The kerosene supply for the lamps and lanterns might possibly become depleted during a protracted blizzard since it was purchased five gallons at a time.
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Farm Programs‑Federal Government Lends a Hand

As the years went by farmers began to search for better methods to farm in order to receive better return for their labors.

In 1914 the United States Government passed the Smith‑Lever Act that provided for Agricultural Extension work.  With funds from the federal, state and county governments, Extension specialists were trained in the Agricultural colleges or universities.  Most of the workers in North Dakota were trained at the State University in Fargo, which was established in 1889.  The specialists would provide information to the farmers and set up organizations that would provide education to the people.

The first specialist to arrive in Foster County was William M. Jackson, who arrived in May 1917 and stayed one and a half years.  No records have been found as to his duties while he was in the area, but it is commonly believed that he worked mostly with garden projects.

In 1921 C.C. Blake came to the area.  At this time two farm clubs were organized called the Community Club, at Jaunita and the McKinley Farmers Club located near Kensal.  Besides using these clubs as a means of education, they became a source of recreation, too.  Some of the things they did for a good time were foot races, three‑legged races, merry‑makers or clowns, riding circus, bucking mules, horses races, boxing, and providing small horses for the children to ride.

A need for diversification was stressed by Mr. Blake.  He stated that his was a method that could be used to combat the weed problem that occurred when large tracts of land were farmed year after year.  Other work was done to control the weeds and the rodents that were destroying the crops.  Farmers were encouraged to build up their livestock and to test them for, tuberculosis which was found in the area and causing some losses.

Shows or fairs were started to give the people an opportunity to exhibit their products.  This competition was an incentive to improve their efforts for the coming season.

T.N. Putnam and sons built a potato warehouse in Carrington to store potatoes for the winter.  The structure was built at a cost of $625 which included the materials and labor.

Another project was the planting of trees as windbreaks and to improve the appearance of farmsteads.

The Agricultural College sent Mrs. Ann Lowdon to the county for six months.  While she was here she organized three women's clubs and a girls' club.

The projects that were discussed were clothing, food preservation, home gardens, hot lunches, labor saving equipment in the home, balanced meals, and interior decorations.

Mr. Blake spent three and a half years in the county at which time it was decided because of various conflicts to discontinue the service.
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1925‑1940

During the later part of the '20s and through the '30s things were really tough for everyone including the farmers.  The depression hit the country as well as a period of very dry years when the yield was down.

During the '20s wheat sold locally for 26 cents per bushel, barley could not be sold at all.  Many farmers went into debt.  In the 1930s few farmers owned their land.  Taxes and interest combined with rock bottom prices drove many of the people from the farms.  At one point Foster County owned 400 quarters of land that had gone back to taxes.

A new principle emerged saying, "We don't own the soil, we're only custodians for a short time."  Topsoil that piled up along the fences was a startling fact that something had to be done and right away to conserve this very important natural resource.

There were few shelterbelts at this time.  It was a common practice to burn the stubble on the fields rather than enrich the fields by plowing the stubble under.  These were some of the practices that were changed with the assistance of the federal government who assisted with educational programs as well as incentive payments to encourage the farmers to try some of the new farming methods and to plant shelterbelts on their farms.

In 1933 the U.S. Government passed the Agricultural Adjustment Act.  In order to control farm production in the U.S. farmers were offered contracts to reduce their output of designated products, which in Foster County was wheat.  It paid farmers from the processing taxes on these products and made loans to farmers who stored their crops on their farms.

To administer this plan a secretary of the Commodity Association was employed by the Association, USDA and the North Dakota Extension Division.  In return for payment of his salary, the Commodity Association released the agent to do extension work.  He was under the supervision of the State County Agent and Director of Extension.

The agent sent to Foster County to serve in this capacity was Mr. H.G. Lewis.  Under his direction and with the assistance of the Kiwanis Club of Carrington, the 4‑H program was started in earnest in the county.
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4‑H Program

The 4‑H is an organization composed of boys and girls, ages 9‑19.  The purpose of the organization is to assist these young people to prepare for careers and to develop into good citizens and leaders.  The motto of the organization is:

"To make the ‑best better."  The 4‑H is explained in the Pledge

"I pledge my Head to clearer thinking, 

My Heart to greater loyalty;‑

My Hands to larger service, and

My Health to better living for

My club, my community, my country, and my world."
The symbol is the four‑leaf clover and the colors are green and white.  The green is symbolic of living and growing things; white is symbolic of purity and character.

The method of teaching is through the use of group and individual projects.  There are 50‑100 projects that maybe selected.  These projects have been expanded to include the youngster from the city as well as the rural area.  The member receives a booklet that explains the requirements for the project.  It also contains information to help to learn about his subject.  The leaders and county agents help to teach more about the particular topic through monthly meetings, judging events, and demonstrations.  The climax for the year is to take the completed project with the record book explaining the steps followed for completion to the County Achievement Day or Fair.  Here it is judged and awarded ribbons with an explanation of the good and poor points of the work.

The clubs are organized with their own officers who conduct the meetings, thus providing training in parliamentary procedure.

Other incentives to do the best that they can are scholarships to other functions that may be earned.  Some of these are 4‑H Conservation Camp, 4‑H Conference held at Fargo, 4‑H Club Congress, Chicago; 4‑H Conference held in Washington, D.C., and participation in the International Farm Youth Exchange, as well as pins for the amount of time spent in the club.

The State 4‑H Conference is held on the NDSU campus in Fargo.  In 1980 400 delegates spent five days attending classes and discussions and special recreational activities.  Delegates are chosen by the accomplishments they have achieved since belonging to a 4‑H club.

The 4‑H Club Congress meets in Chicago just after Thanksgiving vacation.  Delegates to this meeting are determined by various activities held on the state, district or national level.  While at the congress the young people discuss problems that affect the youth in the U.S.  They also hear speeches from leaders in Agriculture, government, industry and science.  As many as 1600 delegates attend the congress.

Washington, D.C. is the site for the National 4‑H Conference.  Approximately 250 delegates attend a week session to help plan the nation wide 4‑H program.

The National 4‑H Foundation manages the

National 4‑H center whose headquarters are in Washington, D.C. Club members may come here for summer courses on leadership and citizenship.  It also sponsors the International Farm Youth Exchange (IFYE) program.  This is a program of exchange of youth from the U.S. to visit foreign countries.  During the same period equal number of young people from other countries come to the U.S. Representatives are chosen by the work they have done in their clubs.

The Foundation is supported by contributions of various businesses.

To help administer and plan the 4‑H program there is the 4‑H council and the 4‑H Leaders organizations.

Milking on a winter evening.  (Ross Bloomquist)

After supper was over Mother and Dad dressed in their outdoor clothing, lit the kerosene lantern and went out to do the milking.  Sometimes I went along.  As we stepped out into the darkness the winter stars sparkled in the pitch-black sky.  My dog Snookum appeared from somewhere and greeted us with vigor, tail wagging.  As we walked the 100 feet to the barn the dim light of the lantern cast queer extremely elongated shadows of our legs on the snow.  When we slid the barn door open just wide enough for us to creep in, Snookum always went first.  The horses paid little attention to us; they knew that they were not going to be fed.  As we walked to the back toward the cow stalls the light of the lantern did little to illuminate the recesses of the stalls.  However, when Dad hung the lantern on the high peg the cows in their stalls showed well enough.

Mother picked up the one‑legged milk stool, sat down at the right side of the cow and the streams of milk began to make a rhythmic sound against the side of the tin milk pail.  The three cats, the black and white tomcat, the calico female and the half-grown red kitten watched intently knowing that they soon were going to be fed.  The tomcat sat on his haunches begging for a stream of milk to be directed at him.  Finally Mother relented and aimed the milk at his face.  It hit him in the mouth and he drank in what he could while the rest spattered all over his nose and eyes.  One squirt did not satisfy him but he had learned that that was all he was going to get.  He walked off a little way and started to lick up what he could from the splashes on his fur.

When the cow was stripped dry Mother stood up and as she walked away the cats clustered around her mewing.  She filled their tin dish as they arranged themselves around it and lapped up the milk quickly without quarreling.  As soon as all was drunk they went off a ways, sat down and started washing their faces.  The cats repeated their performance when milking the second and last cow was finished.

In the meantime Dad checked the horses to see that all were properly tied.  I played with the cats and sometimes for fun climbed on the back of one of the cows.  They did not mind but their backbones were a little sharp to sit on.  Dad carried the pail of milk and Mother held the lantern as we left the barn.  We tried to coax the dog to stay in the barn but he preferred to be outside where he could keep watch over the farmyard.  I stopped midway between the barn and house to take a good look at the star filled sky."
From the beginning in 1933 there were 11 clubs organized with a total membership of 158.  In 1983 the membership was 175 in 11 clubs.
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Juanita Community Club

In handling the Extension work in Foster County thus far, there has not as yet been organized a bounty Extension Organization.  The various communities have always had committeemen or local leaders on projects carried on in the community.

We hope that it will be possible to develop a County Extension Organization, for in this way we believe the local communities can be brought closer together.

This season a Community Club was organized at Juanita, North Dakota and this club promises to be a good one.  We hope that the time will cone when each community will have local organizations such as the McKinley Farmers' Club.  We believe that without a question, it is the best locally organized group of farmers in the County.  They discuss farm problems and they also have a little play mixed in with their work to make life enjoyable.  The following are a few views of this club taken at one of their annual picnics.

Left to right: Albert Hanson, Christ Erickson.  Thomas Nihill, Ambrose Ableidinger, Andrew Mikleson, Ed Johnson, Ed McKinnon, Garfield Johnson
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Homemakers Clubs

To solve the problems in homemaking the Extension Service set up a group of clubs for women called the Homemakers Clubs.  Usually these clubs are under the supervision of a specialist called the Home Extension Economist.  Some of the topics that are discussed are: 
Consumer education; Instruction on nutrition (selection and preparation of food for a healthful diet, preserving food by canning or freezing.); improvement of clothing, family relationships; health; sanitation; money management; interior decorating; family estates and wills; and child care.

Some clubs have special projects as quilting bees and sponsoring health clinics.  The first club in Foster County was organized in 1921.

Extension activities in the county:

1921‑ Foster County Home Products Association‑ purpose to stimulate raising better crops at home and acquaint the outside world with Foster County.

1934‑ Livestock Show‑ held in Thompson Yard lumberyard shed.  L.R. Putnam, manager.  Home exhibits displayed in the old Post office building.  Achievement banquet held.

1936‑ 4‑H Council organized to help plan program and coordinate efforts.  Foster County Agricultural Conservation Association began.  Wool Growers Association set up to market wool.

Voters agree to continue extension work.  Purebred Sire program set up by North Dakota Livestock Mutual Aid Corporation to set up loans for farmers to purchase bulls.

1937‑ Clinics on grain cleaning.  Garden club organized.  Incorporation of Rural Electric Cooperative.

1939‑ 400 farmers practice erosion control and water conservation methods.

In 1935 Lars A. Jensen and W.P. McDonald were co‑agents in the county.  Extensive programs were established in the area of weed, rodent and insect control.  Farm accounting was the subject that created interest for 30 farmers who participated in a special activity.  They agreed to keep careful records each month which were sent to the office to be processed by a recording secretary.

A potato tour brought farmers from the southern part of the U.S. to inspect the potatoes grown here.  As a result of this tour seed potatoes were sent to these states.

To advertise the Junior Fair, a caravan of 25 cars traveled 250 miles.  Posters were set up and the band played at the various stops.  Their efforts were effective as the fair that year was the largest up until that time.
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Electricity in the Rural Areas

In the early 1920s a growing number of farm leaders were starting to insist on rural electrification.  Their interest was spurred on by the success of the Ontario Power commission in Canada which extended rural electric service to some 28 thousand Ontario farmers in 1920 at an approximate cost of five cents per kilowatt.

In 1923 a committee with the cooperation of government agencies and equipment manufacturers set up a project for study near Red Wing, Minnesota where a six-mile rural line was built to serve farm homes.  It wasn't long before these farm people could report life was indeed happier and healthier.

The major stumbling block to rural electrification, at this time, was the cost of the lines was excessive.  The lines built at that time were designed for city distribution and did not lend themselves as well to economical rural distribution.

Therefore, with the high cost of construction and low density, rural electrification remained dormant for the next ten years.  In 1934 less than 11% of the U.S. farms were receiving central station service.  Because of this slow progress the Federal Government decided to step in and lend a hand.

The Rural Electrification Administration was created by executive order of the president on May 11, 1935.  Morris L. Cooke, an engineer and advisor to the Power Authority of the state of New York, was appointed the first administrator.

It was determined that REA would be a lending agency thus transferring it from relief agency to a bank type of operation in which self‑liquidating, interest‑bearing loans would be made for the construction of rural electric distribution lines.  At this time 89% of the farms in the U.S. did not have power.

During 1935 Mr. Cooke spent his time and energies trying to induce private power companies to borrow money under this program to extend power to the rural area.  He had little success.  In Mr. Cooke's words, he said, "It became apparent that the industry was not going to use even a substantial portion of the funds available for rural electrification.  At this time farm organizations, of a cooperative character, forged to the front as the principal borrowers under the REA Program."
To provide guidelines and uniformity in forming these cooperatives, legal staff from the Rural Electrification Administration drafted a model law for states to consider called the Electric Cooperative Corporation Act.  This act not only gave the cooperative power to organize and build but specifically exempted them as cooperatives from regulation of the Public Service Commission.  North Dakota passed the Act on March 12, 1937.
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Tri‑County Cooperative

Tri‑County was incorporated on February 7, 1938 after two years of correspondence with REA.  Information was mailed to Mr. William F. Short and Mr. C.L. Christensen, both of Juanita, North Dakota

On January 20, 1937, W.P. McDonald, Foster county agent, asked that information be mailed to 37 people in the Glenfield, Sutton, McHenry, Grace City, Juanita areas.  The Glenfield Commercial Club also became involved.  On March 26, 1937, Mr. McDonald submitted an application for a loan signed by the officers of the Glenfield Commercial Club.  This application included 78 miles of line construction to serve 390 signed applicants in Eddy, Foster and Griggs counties.

The application ran into delay at the main office.  The reason given that the funds had been depleted for 1937 and that it would have to wait for the 1938 appropriations.

At this time the power supplier to the towns of Glenfield and McHenry was the Otter Tail Power Company Their rates were $2.50 per KW demand charge and a 1¢ per KWH energy charge which was considered too high for the project.

These villages decided that they would discontinue service from the supplier if power could be obtained from some other source.

Tri‑County became incorporated with the following officers:

President C.F. Bohner, Grace City

Vice‑President F.H. Stafford, McHenry

Secretary-Treasurer W.R. Bronaugh, Glenfield

Directors: K.A. Olsen, Sutton Charles A. Hazlett, Juanita Anton Stene, Brantford Joseph Kreps, Barlow

Attorney C.B. Craven, Carrington

Acting Manager Andrew I: Sharpe, Carrington.

Administrative Order No. 252, dated May 27, 1938, signed by Administrator John M. Carmody, gave approval for an allotment of $102,000 to the Tri-County Electric Cooperative, Inc. subject to the following conditions:

1. "Substantial reduction in wholesale rates quoted by Otter Tail Power Company shall be made."  Monarch Elevator Company shall discontinue service to the town of Glenfield, and elevator and town residents shall become customers of the cooperative."
Bids on "A" section were opened on July 25, 1938, for the construction of 81 miles of line to serve 402 members.  Rue Construction Company, Bismarck, was the low bidder.  The first section of this contract was energized at 6:00 p.m. February 17, 1939.  This went from Barlow to Sutton.

The first minimum rate was established at $1.50 per month for which 10-kilowatt hours were allowed.  Other farm minimums were established up to $15 per month depending on the distance from the line. 

Otter Tail Power Company reduced their original price for the wholesale power so they became the supplier of the power.  The first wholesale power bill paid to them was $178.69 for 12,000 kilowatt hours to 280 members for an average use of 43 kilowatt hours per ‑ member for March 1939.

The venture was such a success that construction began to mushroom out in all directions, until the war in 1941 caused a shortage of materials.  During 1947 an extensive study was set up by Ulteig Engineering Corporation of Fargo for further development.  At this time Tri‑County had 321 miles of line serving 950 members to 4,200 member connects in 1952.  In 1963 3,500 miles of lines were in service. 

Major problems to the cooperative have been ice storms.  In 1958, 1300 poles were lost.

Some of the services that the cooperative provides are:

Calculate and advise on electric heating installations and estimate annual costs of operation.  Promote the use of electric appliances through the local appliance dealers and encourage proper service by dealers at a savings to members.

Offer mercury vapor yard lighting service on a cost of service basis.

Provide free planning service on wiring, water and sewer systems, feed processing and all applications of electric power on the farm and in the home.

Help membership obtain financing on water systems and appliances.

Free advice on electrical problems.

Work with rural area development groups and associated organizations in making the Tri‑County area a better place to live and work.

Assist 4‑H groups, vocational agriculture and home economics departments in providing educational projects.

Work with county extension agents in providing planning assistance for things involving the use of electric power.

Attend meetings with our membership to better acquaint them with their organizations, the Tri County Electric Cooperative.

What changes did electricity bring about in the lives of the rural population?  All one needs to do is look around the premises and see the part electricity plays in the person's every day life, or just think of the time when the power was not available due to a sleet storm or some other problem.

Besides the lights, heat, appliances that are used in the homes, electricity is important in many other operations on the modern day farm.  It has taken much of the hard work and drudgery from farm life and has made it possible for farm families to raise their standard of living.
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1940‑1960

The early 1940s saw the United States involved in World War II.  This war affected every one in one way or another.  Shortages of common items occurred.  People of all walks of life were asked to make changes.  This included the people on the farms too.  One of the problems facing the farm was the short supply of labor to harvest the crops.  The county agent requested assistance from the State Labor Office.  As a result of this request troops of southern workers were moved into the state.  100 of these troops came to Carrington where they set up camp and a headquarters.  Workers were sent out in groups of seven in a truck to the farms.  These troops shocked up to 15,000 acres of grain at a cost of 45 cents per acre to the farmers.

The War Mothers' Club furnished pies and doughnuts for the soldiers.  A dance was provided on Saturday night with an atmosphere similar to the USO's.

The city cooperated by opening the library and the use of the showers in the school.  It also furnished water, grounds and other available materials for proper housing.

The southern workers went to the Glenfield area.  The next year help was received from a group of Mexican Nationals.  Here's a story from the Independent:

Farmers Find Mexican Nationals Excellent Harvest Laborers:

"As good help as I have ever had on the place", is the way one farmer in the Carrington vicinity expresses his satisfaction with the Mexican laborers who are assisting with this year's harvest.

Several farmers have remarked on the politeness of the men from "South of the Border".  Most of the Mexicans will not sit down at the table until the family is seated and will not take food until the family is served, they say.  Some of the laborers are thoughtful enough to stack their dishes when the meal is over.  One woman said they thanked her for the meal afterward, something no hired help she had known had ever done before.  There is a story that the Mexicans are accustomed to eating with their hats on, but, with broad smiles, pulled their hats off when they observed that the Americans took theirs off.

One farmer said he, in the usual harvest‑time rush, gave his hands and face a hurried dab before eating, and was almost ashamed of himself when one of the Mexicans after washing threw the water out and then got fresh water and washed again.  Some of the laborers, farmers said, change their shirts when they come in from working, then change back to their working clothes before going back to the fields.

Almost all men using the Mexican laborers are satisfied with their work.  One farmer has this story to tell of the obedience of one of them.  He took the laborer to the field and showed him how to set up a shock, then, as the farmer will, he walked around the shock to see how it looked.  All afternoon, after he had set up each shock the Mexican walked completely around it before starting another.

The Mexicans have proved that they are not "fussy" about what they eat, but because their food is usually more highly seasoned and North Dakota farmwomen may like to prepare their native dishes; the NDSU Extension Service has issued a folder containing Mexican recipes.

Many North Dakotans will have a new picture of Mexico and the Mexican people as a result of this migration of labor which has carried the Mexican national almost completely across the U.S. and they, perhaps, will have a new picture of the American Northwest."
Here are some of the Extension Office's activities during this time:

1941‑ Dairy Day established under the sponsorship of Jaycees.  Four Holstein calves were given away in a drawing to some lucky boys or girls.

1942‑ Neighborhood War Service Leaders organized to coordinate war effort on the farms.  Six leaders in each township chosen to pass on the information.

Homemakers Council organized.

Frank Johnson becomes County Agent.

1943‑ Severe wind swept through the county knocking down trees and destroying buildings.  A portable saw was located to cut up the trees.  One farmer salvaged approximately 80,000 board feet of wood.  Assistance was also available for cleanup and repair of the damaged buildings.

1944‑ Fox drives were held to cut down the fox and coyote population.  50‑100 men participated.

1945‑ Foster County Livestock Association started.  Goal to improve the livestock industry.

1947‑ George Stewart becomes agent.  Two large cattle barns built on the fair grounds.

1948‑ Mable Coyne is added to staff as Home Economist.  Crop Improvement organization started.  Purpose to improve yield and quality of grain.

1949‑ Purebred sales begin.

1950‑ Advisory Committees formed to help Extension Agent.

I. Livestock and Major products 
Banks and other diseases 
Marketing feeder cattle 
Marketing 4‑H beef 
Improving livestock quality 

II. Crops and Soils 
Insects 
Barley improvement 
Pure seed crop varieties 
Miscellaneous 
Seed Conference
Weed Control

III. Farm Home and Improvement 
Horticulture and gardens 
Forestry 
Water and sewage 
Water systems 
Testing 
Sewage disposal

Veterinary arrives for start practice, Dr. Edward Jakobsen, who had previously been employed with the Livestock Sanitation Board.

1951‑ Wet grain that was left in the swaths causes much interest in grain dryers being set up on the farms.

1952‑ Laverne Zink, Bordulac, is chosen as IFYE student to Costa Rica.  Soil train visits county.  Exhibits show all phases of soil structure and types to effects of rainfall and erosion.  Also effects of irrigation, use of commercial fertilizer and evolution of soil from glacial period were shown by charts and graphs.

Farm tour visits 10 farms illustrating various farming methods.  First sprinkler system installed on Lloyd Butts farm three miles north of Carrington.  It was used on an alfalfa field.

1953‑ Water Development Committee formed to study irrigation possibilities.  Soil testing started to determine need for commercial fertilizer.  Trench silos were being built to replace upright silos easier to use with tractor and scoop.  Artificial breeding is started.  300 cows are bred.  Makes it possible to build up herds.

1955‑ Dairy Herd Improvement Association.  Some methods of improvement were to keep record on the herd, provide tester to spend one day a month taking records, weighing milk and testing for butterfat.  Soil Bank Law passed‑ a method to reduce wheat acreage.  Leif Peterson, IFYE from Denmark arrived to spend some time in area.  Wilfred Rosenau was the host family.  Dwayne Erickson of Glenfield was a Farm Youth Trainee to England.  This program was sponsored by the Farmers Union and the United Kingdom Authority.

1957‑ Horticulture Society is formed.  Area is divided into districts with a representative in each one.

1958‑ Largest crop in history‑ one reason much of the land was in fallow because of the large amount of hail the previous season.

1959-Testing wells in county is inaugurated.  Tests were done by Public Health office in Devils Lake.  Rural telephone service installed‑ some farms without phones for 25 years.  Preliminary plans for Irrigation and Experiment Station under the auspices of NDSU were set up to be located four miles north of Carrington.  Test pumps were able to remove 1,400 gallons of water a minute with a quick recovery.  Farm Home Development was set up to assist farmers who were in need of help.  Work was done with 12 families.

1960‑ Duaine Dodds, native of New Rockford, appointed county agent due to resignation of George Stewart.  United Fund started.

1961‑ Farmers played hosts to the businessmen who have been helpful and supportive to agriculture throughout the years.  A beef barbecue was held at Juanita Lake.  Over 2,000 farmers, businessmen and their families were there to feast on 900 lbs. of choice beef that had been cooked in an open pit.

Rural Area Development Committee organized.  Divisions:
1. Agricultural Committee
Farm Management

2. Recreation and Wildlife
Raise water in Juanita Lake and set up county park there.

3. Ground Water Survey 

4. Industries Committee 

5. Education
Adult Classes

1964‑ Miss Ute Ringeling IFYE from Germany arrived to stay at the Tom White home.

1965‑ Mary Hartl‑ IFYE destination Japan.

1966‑ Commercial fertilizers introduced to area.  After many trial plots, 1000 tons sold for upcoming season.

1967‑ Beef Buyers banquet started to say thank you to businesses and individuals who purchased calves at the 4‑H Fair sale.  Money was used from 4‑H premiums to pay for the supper.  Three farmers grow sunflowers.  133 acres are planted.  Yield 1200 pounds.

1968‑ 4‑H Junior Leader organization started.  Special programs for the older 4‑H members on the county level.

Cargill promotes growing of oil sunflowers.  Mrs. John Sellie becomes area Home Economist.  She works in Eddy, Wells, and Foster Counties.  4‑H Newsletter is established so members may be better informed.

1969‑ Ag Improvement establishes beef drawing contest.  4‑H members sell the tickets, the association in turn sponsors wind‑up banquet.  Beef is given away during the fair.

Another project was performance testing of livestock which was introduced in 1957.  Calves were weighed at weaning time and again at the end of a feedlot period.  Grading and scoring the calves for type, thus assembling data on which to base judgment of the sire or dam to build up the herd.

A drill box survey was conducted on several farms.  Wheat and flax were taken from the drill boxes and checked for seed cleaning, treating, whether seed was certified or not, whether seed was purchased or home grown, and if it had been tested for germination.

A system of grain bonding was set up to protect farmers from losing grain through theft.

The farmer would pay $10 for a bag of "Confetti", which was a small slip of paper on which three numbers were printed.  The first designating the state, second the county, and the third the farm.  The "confetti" was scattered through the stored grain.  Publicity about the project was hoped to be sufficient to discourage anyone contemplating loading up some grain.

Prairie Printers of Cooperstown printed the "confetti", assigned code numbers, kept them on record and sent copies to the local elevators and sheriff offices.

A new method of branding was introduced to identify livestock.  It is called "freeze branding".  Dry ice is used in the process.  The hair in the area turns white, thus making it easier to read the brand.
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Combines

As the years went by the threshing machine was replaced by the combine.  This machine was capable of moving across the field, cutting and threshing in one operation.  This combined harvester and thresher was either self‑propelled or was pulled by a tractor.  The combine threshed the seed from the stalks of straw, collected it in a tank or sacks and then left the straw lying on the ground.  The first combine was used in Michigan as early at 1837 but it did not come into general use until about 1917.  They were first used on the large wheat fields.  Later smaller machines were manufactured which were suitable for use on the smaller farms.

The modern combine is equipped with different types of pick‑ups or heads.  The grain may first be cut with a wind‑rower or swather that cuts the grain and places it into long rows.  The combine then comes along and "picks up" the grain and threshes it out.  This method is used most often rather then straight combining because the grain has to be "just right" as far as maturity is concerned to cut with the combine.  Windrow allows the farmer to cut the grain sooner and then it dries out while in the windrow.
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Custom Combiners

As the migrant workers followed the harvest so do the custom combiners.  As the combines became more sophisticated, so did the cost of purchasing a machine begin to rise.  A small farmer could not afford to own a combine for his operation so he would hire a custom combiner to harvest his crop.  This could be one of his neighbors or it could be someone from Missouri, Oklahoma or some other southern state who had completed harvesting his crop in the south and had followed the harvest working his way north.

One man by the name of Pappy Shier first came to Foster County in 1949 and continued to return each year for 29 years before he decided to retire.  He started out from Texas that season and by the time he had, reached Carrington they had only threshed 288 acres of grain because of the adverse weather conditions along the way.  His first machine cut 10‑12 foot swaths.  In 1978 his machine was cutting a 24-foot swath.  He was operating four combines at the time.  They would arrive in the area when the first grain was ready to cut in late August and stay until about October 15.  Some combiners stayed in the area later than that with the sunflower crop becoming more popular in the county.

Some of the custom combiners from Foster County left Carrington in June to travel to the South and work their way back home.  Chester and Cecelia Malinski joined the combining fraternity in 1965 traveling as far south as Texas in June and working their way across Oklahoma, Kansas and South Dakota usually returning about August 4.

Custom combining costs depend on the crop conditions.  In 1980 Malinski charged 12‑12‑12; $12 per acre, 12¢ per bushel, 12¢ per mile hauling.  Overall, the best crops are in Kansas yielding him $25 per acre, poor crops went down to $13.50 per acre.
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Railroads ‑ Businesses ‑ help farmers

The Railroads played an important part in the settling of the county.  They were also interested in keeping the people here and making a living so they could in turn pay for the services made available by the railroads.  The lines were actively involved in various types of educational projects.  An article in the Independent 1930:

"Soo Line railroad brought in exhibits in the Soo Line Better Dairy Sires train.  They were reviewed by over 900 people.  An auction was held where four purebred shorthorn bulls of the milking strain were sold to local farmers.  Prices ranged from $85 to $140.  This was part of an effort on the part of the railroad to endeavor to improve the dairy herds in the county.

The farmers and their families were guests of the Carrington businessmen at a free lunch.

The mock trial of 'Soo Line Susie' and 'Scrubus Bullus' a mechanical talking cow and bull was a popular entertainment feature.  Loud speakers inside of the animals amplified their voices, which could be heard from the interior of the railroad cars.  Twelve local farmers acted as jurors, convicting "Scrubus ‑Bullus' of being public enemy for siring low producing off spring and sentenced him to be made into bologna.

The dairy sire train consisted of five cars which contained charts and exhibits and a number of purebred cattle.  One feature showed six generations of cattle.  By the use of the purebred sires the butter fat production was raised from 244 to 385 pounds by the fifth generation."
In 1931 a Soo Line Crop Improvement demonstration train came to town.  The Agricultural Department of the railroad was making an effort to educate the farmers on the necessity of using good and pure seed, smut control, and other methods to improve their yields and eventually realize higher financial returns.
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Farm Institute

The first Farm Institute was held in 1912.  Topics slated for discussion were grain growing, grasses, clover, forage crop, dairying, livestock growing, forestry, farm management.  Speakers were brought in from the Agricultural College in Fargo.

These institutes became a yearly affair.  Discussion on weed eradication, better livestock feeding, and other topics that were of an interest to the farmers.  It proved to be a good way to learn about new practices and an opportunity to visit with other farmers and perhaps gain some insight into solving some of their problems.

The people on the main streets of the various towns and villages in the county were very much interested in the success or failure of the farmer in this area.  They realized that it was necessary for the people who tilled the land to have success, so that they, too, may continue to grow and succeed.  The more people that were forced to give up their farms meant fewer people that would need the goods and services that these businessmen were equipped to provide.

A very early sponsor of the 4‑H club program was the Kiwanis club.  They have an agricultural committee that is working to find ways in which to be helpful.

In 1921, three banks, First National Bank, Foster County State Bank, both from Carrington, and the Security National and Farmers Merchant Banks of Kensal, sponsored a Holstein project.  It was felt that it was necessary to get some good milk stock started in the county.  Three carloads of cattle were shipped in that consisted of 59 cows and 4 purebred Holstein bulls that were purchased in Wisconsin.  Eighteen farmers received the cattle.  They formed an association and kept track of the results.  Some of the cows produced well but some didn't do as well as the native cattle.

In 1952 the North Dakota Bankers Association and other firms sponsored a winter short course that was held from the first Monday of the year to the first of March at NDSU.  Some of the subjects that were offered were: 
Livestock feeding
Beef production
Crops

Soil shop
Personal and home living
Communications and physical education
James Skadberg from Birtsell Township attended this course in 1955, being sponsored by the Foster County State Bank.

In 1958‑59 the Foster County Bank sponsored the 4‑H Leader recognition banquet.  It was felt that these adults that were willing to give of their time to help the young people with their projects should have some kind of recognition.  Awards were presented for their years of service.  This banquet is still being held.

In 1969 an award called "Scissors Award" was established by the businessmen to be given to some girl who has had some outstanding accomplishments during her 4‑H career.

The businessmen also came to the fair to purchase animals of the 4‑H members or to pay a premium that goes to these boys and girls for their efforts during the year.
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Obstacles Farmers have to Face

If one were to believe the ads that appeared in the beginning of the settlement of the county telling of the wonderful land just waiting to be tilled and consequently would be on the way to fame and fortune.  Unfortunately, this wasn't quite as easy as it was stated.  Many forces had to be taken into consideration.  First of which was the weather‑ ideal growing conditions with moisture at the right time as well as no moisture at the right time, with adequate sunshine or the right temperature, depending on the needs of that particular crop at that stage of growth are necessary for success.  Efforts to change the moisture situation were tried with the use of irrigation.  This worked fine in some areas but not in others.
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Irrigation

In 1959 preliminary plans for an Irrigation and Experiment Station under the auspices of the NDSU were set up to be located four miles north of Carrington.  Test pumps were able to remove 1,400 gallons of water a minute with a quick recovery.  The 640 acres of station land is used to study various aspects of farming such as the effects of hail on crops to the comparison of the growth of cattle fed in irrigated pastures and in dry lots.

Experiment stations of this type were scattered through out the country because of the different climates, topography, and soil types.

The station in Carrington under the management of Howard Olson concentrated on dry land and irrigation in the south central part of North Dakota.  They have trial stations at Jamestown, Wishek, and Steele.

The stations' functions may be divided into four main categories

1. Agricultural research‑ testing new varieties of seed under dry land conditions as well as with irrigation at various stages of growth of the plants.

2. Provide facilities for graduate students and professors to run trial plots:

3. Conduct tours during the summer to give the information collected to interested people.

4. Seed increase‑ provide new varieties to the farmers.

Another project that station deals with is cattle production.  This involves about 100 Hereford cattle which are divided into two groups.  One is fed from a dry lot, and the other group is allowed to feed on a field of irrigated alfalfa.

The two groups are then compared as to their gain per day and the quality of carcass at slaughtering time.  The dry lot method has been proven to be a more efficient way of feeding cattle.

After the data is collected, analyzed, and summarized it is then relayed to the public through the county agents and county Extension service.

This project enabled a better use of the forage crops by marketing them by feeding them to the cattle first.

Another "first" is a solar hay-drying shed.  The structure is 40 x 100 feet rectangular shaped roof constructed out of solar, panels, which are similar to a green house's panels.  The sides are stack panels.

The aim is to produce high quality feed at a low price.  With the solar hay drying shed there will be no more two or three days for the hay to dry.  This will also eliminate the baling process.  The hay will be chopped and moved into the shed.  Most of the hay's protein is in the leaves.  When alfalfa dries the leaves become brittle and break off when hauling.  Therefore, the sooner the hay can be removed from the ground the better quality it is.

The solar drying shed has about 150-ton storage capacity.  The hot air is pulled down from the roof by ten horsepower fans at each end of the building and forced into a drying duct running through the middle of the building.  The duct is two feet wide at the top and four feet at the base plus large enough for a man to walk through.  As the hay is distributed over the duct, the hay will be dried from the inside out.

A conveyor belt will carry the chopped hay to the ceiling where it will be distributed throughout the building in a spinning fashion.

The building cost about $35,000.  Time will tell if it is a successful practice.

Field Day at Carrington on July 1980, featured a sun oil extractor in action and a tractor that was operating on sun‑oil mixture.

Testing herbicides and their affect on the crops is another phase of the operation.

Experiments with new equipment such as air seeders are also carried out.  This machine may be used in the spring as well as in the fall.  Tests show that this type of seeding works especially well in a dry season.  Fertilizer and seeds are placed in the ground at the same time.

Another concept being tested is the practice of no-till for spring planting.  This is another way to conserve moisture and conserve energy.  No‑till or minimum till of row crops both on dry land and irrigated lands has been proved to definitely save both time and fuel.  Corn and sunflower crops were being tested throughout the state.  Pre-emergence broadcast sprays were used to control the weeds.  The crops were then cultivated at least once during the growing season for further control of weeds.  Data is still being collected.
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Weather Modification

Another method to change the weather was weather modification.  When the clouds appeared that were the correct kind with moisture, an airplane would fly through them seeding them with silver nitrate.  This was supposed to create or cause the rain to fall.  Sometimes it was successful and sometimes it wasn't.  Foster County for a time belonged to this group.

Evidence is easy to find that these conditions weren't always present.  There were the "dry years" when nothing would grow except a few weeds which raised havoc with many a beginning or existing farmer.  Then there were hailstorms that would occur with little warning and wipe out the entire crop for that season.  To prove the point, here's a poem that was published in the Grace City Gazette, September 28, 1916.  (It was sent in by one of the readers.  The publisher didn't know if it was original or not.)

Farmer Jones arose one dawn, 
And slipped his greasy jumper on, 
And said, "When I get back from town, 
I'll start to cut that durum down. 
I'll get a whip and oil and twine, 
And saw her down and then she's mine. 
Wow! The wind is going to blow, 
Guess I'll hurry up and go."
Farmer Jones drove into town 
And tied his horses gray and brown, 
And got the whip and oil and twine 
And said, "My wheat is pretty fine, 
Wheat this year'll be out of sight, 
But mine'll be down by night:"
Farmer Jones drove out of town; 
Drops of rain were falling down. 
Thunder clouds so big and black 
Swiftly following his track. 
Then with a sudden burst and roar, 
Downward came the awful pour! 
Rain and wind and dirt and hail, 
Darkness coming with the gale.

Farmer Jones then saw a light-
At a neighbor's spent the night. 
But he arose again at dawn, 
Trembling, slipped his jumper on. 
Homeward drove to see the field, 
(Well, he knew what it would yield!) 
"Yes, " he said, "I'm always right, 
Got my durum down last night! "
Besides the problems with the hailstorm, too much rain during the harvest season would cause the grain to mold and in some cases to sprout and start to grow in the shock or windrows before it could be picked up.

Other obstacles were the ever-present weeds.  An extensive program to fight these pests has been inaugurated with the spraying of chemicals.  Dockage at the elevators was such a problem that it was necessary to do something drastic, hence the spraying program.

Grasshoppers, aphids, potato beetles, armyworms, cutworms, spider mites, web‑worms, and others did their share in destroying the grain after it had begun to grow.  These pests were present in the early days of farming and are still a menace today.  To cut down the loss it is sometimes necessary to spray for these pests too.  Stored grain may be affected from these insects making it necessary to fumigate.

Rodents became a special worry to the farmers, especially the gophers.  Records show that they were capable of destroying all the crop in a given area.  In 1921 with the help of the county agent, the townships worked together in a cooperative effort to try to combat the gophers.  Boys and girls were given money for the gopher tails that they could collect.  Thousands of pounds of poison was set out each season to cut down the population of these pests.

Rabbits too, became numerous and were causing problems.  To aid on controlling them, rabbit drives were organized.  In 1939‑1940 one of the drives covered 220,640 acres of land destroying some 4,810 rabbits.

Raccoons became a problem in 1968.  They were going into the self‑feeders that were set up for the calves.  Besides eating the feed, the raccoons would dirty the remaining feed so that the calves wouldn't eat it.

Rats and snakes too were a menace in some areas.  With the help of the county agent they managed to control them.

If the crops happened to survive, the next problem the farmer had to face was marketing his product.  The price they received was affected by supply, demand and politics.  These prices may fluctuate, up or down, in a matter of minutes, hours, days or weeks.  When to sell can truly be the "sixty‑four dollar question".  If they are able to do this wisely, they may make enough to pay the expenses and have some money left over to finance the operation for another season.

Because farmers were having problems with receiving a low price for their products and paying a high price for their purchases, a need arose for some way to put pressure on the legislature for laws affecting farmers.  The farmers got together to discuss their problems.  As a result farm organizations were formed, such as the Farmers Union Educational and Cooperative Union of America, The Farm Bureau, the Grange, and the National Farmers Organization.
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Farmers Union

In 1902 the Farmers Union was organized.  Besides being an educational organization, it became concerned with the problem of marketing and the expense of buying the repairs and other things that were needed to operate their farms.

The idea of cooperative buying and selling was started in a village in Rochdale, England in 1844.  A group of weavers pooled some money together and started a store that sold flour, sugar, butter, and oatmeal, at wholesale prices.  They set up a guideline for cooperatives, known as the Rochdale Principles, which all true cooperatives follow:

1. Membership is open to all.

2. Each member has one vote no matter how many shares he owns.  This is to insure democratic control.

3. Any money earned by the business is given back to the members in the form of savings.

4. A limit on the amount of interest paid on shares of stock‑ frequently 4%.

5. Trading is on a cash basis.

Following these principles the Farmers Union members proceeded to set up cooperatives in the businesses that they felt would assist them the most.  The three main kinds of cooperatives are consumer, marketing, and service.

The marketing cooperative grades, processes, and sells the farm produce at the highest prices that may be obtained.  They usually specialize in a single product, such as wheat or other grains, dairy products, and livestock.  There are two types of marketing co‑ops: Combined or federated type which consists of an association of previously independent cooperatives.  The other type is an association which serves an entire region from one central office.  Some examples are the G.T.A. elevator and the Farmers Union livestock agency at West Fargo.

Consumer co‑ops buy products at wholesale and sell to the customers at retail.  Any profits are returned to the 'people who participate.  Oil companies, grocery stores in some areas, fertilizer plants are some examples.

Service co‑ops provide for other needs, such as insurance, electricity, telephone, credit union for loans for money.  All these services may be obtained in Foster County.

The educational aspect of the Farmers Union is carried on through a system of local, county, and state organizations.  Information is provided in various aspects of farm living.  They also provide information on legislative happenings in state and national levels.
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Farm Bureau

The Farm Bureau was formed in 1920 in Chicago.  Its purpose is to protect and advance the interests of farmers and ranchers by supporting educational programs, and promoting favorable legislation.  It promotes research to find new uses for farm products in home and industry.

They have set up insurance cooperatives and group purchasing of farm supplies, cooperative marketing of farm products.  They were very active developing legislature during the 1930s.
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National Farmers Organization (NFO)

The purpose of the NFO is to work for higher, more stable prices for farm products.  Farmers who belong to the NFO agree to let the organization bargain with the buyers for prices and marketing conditions of dairy products, grain, and meat.  Sometimes they hold products off the market to limit the supply, thus raising the prices.  It was started in 1955.
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National Grange

The National Grange is the oldest farm organization, being formed in 1867 by Oliver Kelly.  He became frustrated with the plight of the farmers so he established a fraternal organization called the Grange.  The main purpose was to have an opportunity to teach advance-farming methods to the farmers.  It was very active in the battle with the railroads and the high cost of transportation for freight.  They also wanted an income tax, laws against trusts, and other measures which later became laws.  They provide a program of recreation and education for its members.  Its national headquarters is located in Washington, D.C.
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1980 Farmer

What about the 1980s farmer?  What qualities does he need in order to be happy and successful in his chosen field?  What knowledge must he have in order to have an efficient operation that will get the most product out of the land at the least expense and still preserve the soil for future generations.

If a person wants to be a farmer, he must be close to God and the things of God that is called nature.  He must be willing to work long hours in all kinds of weather and in all kinds of adversities.  If he wants to raise grain, he has to be able to acquire, operate and take care of large machinery.  Knowledge of mechanics, welding, and other related fields is necessary to keep down the cost of repairs.  He has to know about the composition of the soil in his fields so that the proper amount of fertilizer may be applied for the greatest amount of yield.

After the grain is harvested, the big decision of whether to sell the grain or store it has to be ‑made.  If the grain is stored, it has to be checked to make sure that it isn't being damaged by insects or moisture.  He has to be familiar with wise conservation practices such as contour plowing, rotation of crops, and summer fallow to preserve this commodity that we call soil.
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Specialized Farming

Perhaps to utilize all of his land, there might be some area that is not suitable for raising grain.  One solution is to raise some livestock that will excel on the native grasses.  This opens up a whole new group of things that the farmer must be aware of.  In the early days each farm had a few cattle, milk cows, sheep, hogs, chickens, and maybe some ducks and geese.  Now there is more specialization and concentration in these areas.
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Livestock

Beef

The beef cattle operation can follow two ways of operation.  Purebred cattle may be raised for breeding purposes.  On some farms they have what is called a cow‑calf operation.  The cows have the calves in the spring, are then put out into the pastures until late fall, at which time the calves are sold and the cows are wintered, usually near the buildings.  Some farms may pen the calves up and give them special feed rations for a given number of days before they are sold to a feedlot where the finishing is completed and they are ready for market.  Butts feedlot north of Carrington finishes calves in this manner.

Some of the changes in the beef operation is the raising of "Exotic Cattle".  The Independent, May 1, 1974 has this story:

"It used to be that if you wanted to see Chianina, Blond D'Au uitaine, Maine‑Anjou, Tarantaise, or Semmental, you had to go to Europe‑ supposing first of all, that you knew that these are names of cattle breeds."
Now these exotic breeds may be found in the Carrington area.  They are known as "Exotics".  Cattle men have found that by crossing the standard breeds with the exotics they can produce a "stretchy" animal with more "gain ability".

Vernon and Richard Topp started in the Charolais business as early as 1964.  These white cattle were soon accepted in breeding circles so they were no longer considered an exotic breed.

Cattlemen on the lookout to improve their herd were looking for a higher weaning and mature weight and with some experimenting decided that using the "exotic breeds" was the answer.

The United State prohibits the importation of live cattle, so the Exotics came to this country in bottles or ampules which contained frozen semen from the exotic bulls with which homegrown cows were artificially inseminated.

Many cattle breeders mixed up the ampules to provide a variety of crosses of breeds.  A walk through a modern day pasture may provide an interesting sight where the calves may be colored reddish, chocolate brown, yellowish‑red, or spotted white and fawn.

Careful records were kept so that improvement may continually be made in their herds.
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Dairy Industry

Independent June 9, 1976‑Ann Montgomery

The complexion of milking cows has changed considerably throughout the years.  From the early days when each farm had a few milk cows it has grown to a specialized business.

One operation is Mark Anderson who lives near Grace City.  In 1976 Mark had 26 Holsteins that were confined in stanchions during the milking operation.  Milk is transported through a system of pipes and into a bulk tank.  Every other day a worker from Lakota empties the tank into a truck tank and the milk is taken to be used in the making of cheese.

Artificial insemination is probably one of the most important improvements for the dairy industry.  It has made it possible for the farmer to improve the production of his herd in a drastic manner.

AI schools were provided to teach the dairymen the proper method to be used.  The main benefit of AI is that the dairy farmer can count on the quality of offspring from the cows and hopefully increase his production.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 113

Doeling Dairy

Doeling Dairy is located north of Bordulac.  In 1976 they were milking 110 Holstein cows.  Their operation also included raising all their own feed.

They utilize a milking platform equipped to handle 7‑9 cows at a time.  The milk is pumped through stainless steel pipes into bulk tanks.  From there some of the milk passes a clarifier to separate the cream from the milk; a pasteurizer, to remove micro‑organisms and prevent fermentation; a homogenizer, to break up the grease particles so the cream will not separate from the milk; and then to a cooler and then into a holding tank.

After this the milk is put into cartons and bottles to be taken out on the route.  In 1979 Doelings had 330 to 400 customers on the delivery route.  The Doeling label can also be seen at the grocery stores in Carrington and Barlow.  They also furnish products for the nursing homes and schools.  Their list of products include whole milk, skim milk, one percent milk, two percent milk, chocolate milk, whipping cream, half and half, orange, grape and fruit drink.  Other products that are not produced at the farm such as ice cream and cottage cheese are also delivered by Doelings through Fairmont.  They have eggs, too, that are produced on the farm.

The 425 gallons of milk which is produced daily cannot all be used for the products that are delivered on the route, so the surplus is picked up every other day by the Knetter Cheese factory in Lakota.

Ronald Dreher milks 25 cows on his farm near McHenry.  His produce goes to Mid‑America Milk Company at Valley City.

The Dairy operations in the state are very carefully controlled by strict inspections on a regular basis.  These visits are conducted 3 or 4 times a year without prior notice.  The inspector checks the conditions of the barns and milk rooms.  The bacteria count is also checked.

Dairy farmers also have to be careful to monitor the kind of feed their cows are receiving.  One farmer's cows had gotten into a patch of garlic!  What a flavor that milk must have had!

In 1921 there were 2,930 milking cows producing 122,000 of butterfat.  In 1982 there were 500 milking cows producing an average 371 pounds of butterfat.
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Horses

The horse has been one of man's most useful animals for thousands of years.  They once provided the fastest, surest way to travel on land.  Hunters on horseback chased animals and killed them for food or sport.

It is well‑suited for working and running.  It's wide nostrils help it to breathe easily.  They have a good sense of smell, sharp ears, and keen eyes.  They have strong teeth, but they eat only grain and plants.  Long muscular legs give the horses the strength to pull heavy loads or to run at fast speeds.  They also use their legs for protection.  Many a kick from a horse has seriously injured a man.

They are eager to please their masters.  Most horses have good memories and can easily be trained to obey commands.  They learn to respond to whistles, the slightest movement of the rider's legs or hands.  The quick and willing obedience of the horse has helped to make it one of man's most valuable animals.

Horses have been bred for various purposes such as workhorses, buggy horses, and racehorses.

Saddle Horses: Many people ride horses for pleasure or raise them as a hobby.  Some popular breeds are American Saddle Horse, Tennessee Walking Horse, Morgan and Quarter Horse.  Morgans were originally used as harness horses for pulling carriages and for harness racing.

Quarter Horses used by the cowboys for cutting (sorting out cattle) from a herd and other ranch work.  They can start, stop, and turn quickly.  They respond swiftly to the slightest shift of the cowboy's weight.  They are sure‑footed and have great endurance.  They received their name from running a quarter mile race.

Draft Horses: Tallest, heaviest and strongest of the group of horses.  They are descendants of the great war horses that heavily armored knights rode into battle.  These horses provided the power that has been replaced with heavy trucks and tractors today.  Some breeds are Clydesdale, Belgian, and Percheron.  Percherons have gray or black coats and were the all around general-purpose horse.  This breed was found on most of the farms in Foster County.

Color: Some horsemen grow horses according to color type instead of breed.  Horses of mixed color have various names.  Piebald horse has a black coat with white spots.  A Skewbald is spotted with white or any color except black.  And Piebald or Skewbald may be called a Paint or Pinto.  A Pied horse has a solid‑colored coat with a few small spots.  A roan is a solid color, but white hairs grow throughout the coat.

Groups: Palominos have golden coats and light blonde or silvery manes and tails.  No white except on face and on the legs below the hocks and knees.

Appaloosa have dark brown or black leopard spots on a roan background.  They have white rimmed eyes.  Black and white stripes cover the hooves of most Appaloosa horses:

Albinos are horses that have no color in its eyes, hair or skin.  The horses that are born black and they turn white as they grow older are not usually con​sidered Albinos.

Horses need food at least three times a day.  Its stomach is small for the size of its body.  They do not chew a cud as does a cow and deer.

A thousand pound horse that works 3 or 4 hours a day needs about 14 pounds of hay, five pounds in the morning and the rest at night.  They like oats, but it is necessary to watch them carefully or they may eat it too quickly and become sick.  Working horses consume 4‑12 quarts of oats.  Water should be given before eating.  They will drink 12‑20 gallons a day.  They also need salt in the diet to replenish the salt that is lost through sweating.

The decline of horses was brought about with the development of railroad, tractors, trucks, and the automobiles.  American farmers owned about 20 million horses in 1910.  Early in the 1970s there were about 8 million.  Most of these horses are used in racing, and other pleasure type things, and on the ranches and farms that still raise cattle.

In Foster County Leo and Lola Zink raise paints and quarter horses.  At the present time they had 15 brood mares.  They raise their horses for breeding, selling and showing at the horse shows that are held around the country.  Their entries are to be seen in a number of parades too.  At the present time they have 35 horses on the farm.

Horse Shows: A means of entertainment developed through the years is the Horse Show.  Show horses and their riders compete for prizes in many events such as barrel racing, Western pleasure and Western Horsemanship.

Horse Races provided hours of entertainment in the events that were conducted around the country.  As early as 1924 local residents were purchasing high-class saddle horses to be used in the races.

Buggy races too were popular.
Jockey: Foster County has a jockey that grew up in the county, Dean Kutz.  He spends his time riding thoroughbreds.  He started riding when he was about 16 years old.  He travels with his father who was at that time training racehorses.  His father was his principle coach and instructor.  Dean got his start racing at county fairs.  He gained much of his ex​perience riding in the races at Winnipeg, Canada.

This article appeared in the Aug. 14, Independent:

Be Merciful to Beast These Days: They Feel Heat Same as Humans:

If a horse could talk he would have many things to say when summer comes.  He would tell his driver that he feels the heat on a very warm day as much as if he could read a thermometer.

He would say "Give me a little water many times a day, when the heat is intense, but not much at a time if I am warm; if you want me to keep well don't give any grain when you bring me warm into the stable, just a half dozen swallows of water, and some hay to eat until I am cool.

"Don't water me too soon after I have eaten my grain, wait an hour.  Especially do I need watering between nine and ten at night.  I am thirstier then than at almost any other time of the day.

He would say "When the sun is hot and I am working let me breathe once in awhile in the shade of some house or tree; if you have to leave me on the, street leave me in the shade if possible.  Anything upon my head, between my ears, to keep off the sun, is bad for me if the air cannot circulate freely un​derneath it, unless it is a sponge kept cool and wet.

"If you do clip off my foretop and treat me as you would yourself, you need not have much fear of losing me by sunstroke.

"If on an extremely warm day I give evidence by panting and signs of exhaustion that I am becoming overcome with the heat, unharness me, take me into the shade and apply cold water or even broken ice, wrapped up in a cloth or put in a bag, to my head, sponge out my mouth and go over my legs with a cold wet sponge.

He would tell of the luxury of a fly net when at work and of a fly blanket when standing still in season, and of the boon to him of screens in the stable to keep out the insects that bite and sting.

He would plead for as cool and comfortable a stable as possible in which to rest at night after a day's work under the hot sun.

He would suggest that living through a warm night in a narrow stall neither properly cleaned nor bed​ded is suffering for him and poor economy for the owner.

He would say that turning the hose on him is altogether too risky a thing to do unless you are looking for a sick horse.  Spraying the legs and when he is not too warm on a hot day, he would find agreeable.

He would say "Please sponge out my eyes and nose and dock when I come in tired and dusty at night, and also sponge me with clean cool water un​der the collar and saddle of the harness".
And so it was with the horses.  They played an im​portant part in the lives of many of the people in Foster County.  Many a buggy or sled was taken safely home during adverse weather because of these fine animals.  One can only imagine the coun​tless acres of sod that their power helped to turn in​to tillable acreage.  The horse, indeed, was an impor​tant part in our history.

Hogs

During the early years when most farms had a few milk cows they also would raise a few pigs to help provide a variety of meat for the table.  The milk was processed in a separator that would separate the cream from the whole milk.  The cream was then sold in town for cash which helped many a family purchase the necessities of life that were not produced on the farm at the local store.  The product left over called "skim milk" was then fed to the pigs.

An article in the December 17, 1925 Independent:

50 Pigs yearly to Pay for 160 Acres of Land:

It goes on to say that Mr. William Reip, who owned land six miles south of Bordulac, would accept a contract for 160 acres of land by which he would accept 50 pigs a year in payment for the land.  The contract was made with Mr. George Willows.  The exact number of years in which Mr. Willows took to pay for the land depended on the size of the pigs furnished.  At that time the contracting parties figured about five years would suffice to fulfill the transfer.  250 pigs at $10 each were worth $2500, considered a low price for land then but not unreasonable.

Mr. Reip was a buyer of pigs for serum purposes at Anandale, Minnesota. 
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Modern Operation

Larry and Philip Lura decided to go into the pig industry in a larger manner.  In 1973 they set up a structure using the old Birtsell schools and modernized them into a complex that would hold 800 feeder pigs.  The pigs were kept in total confinement and fed and watered through an automated system.  Feed grain mixtures were ground and mixed on the premises and distributed mechanically to each pen.  Water was piped into each pen and the pigs drank through nipples.  The floors of the pens were slotted in a third of the area.  The slots allowed the manure to collect in a pit, which was emptied about every 2 1/2 months.

The Luras expanded their operation in 1974 so that they could farrow the pigs and continue the process until the pig was ready for market. 40‑45 hogs were loaded in the early morning to be hauled to Fargo pork market.

Under the roofs of two barns the hogs were bred, farrowed, weaned and finished. The complete cycle of the life of a market hog which took about six months. The market weight was approximately 230 pounds.

Other farmers still raise a few hogs but not as extensive as this. People still like to have some pork meat around to add to their diet.
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Chickens

Chickens, too, were found on most of the farms. Some farmers, such as the Albert Leppkes, decided to make chickens and eggs their main source of income.  The Independent reported in December 5, 1963 issue the story about their business.

At that time the Leppkes raised 6,000 Leghorn chickens and supplied the eggs to most of Carrington and surrounding vicinity:

The hens that laid 3,600 eggs daily were kept in four coops, but the eggs were processed centrally.  After the egg was laid, it rolled onto a conveyor belt and moved to the egg room to be washed, sanitized, cooled, graded, and packed.  The work is done by hand, except the grading which is done electrically.  It took about 10 hours a day to process the eggs.

The chickens ate one ton of oats, millet, corn, and concentrate daily.  The biggest problem was finding a market for their eggs.  60% of the eggs were sold in the area, the rest were shipped to New York.
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Turkeys

Another product raised on the farms was turkeys.  The February 18, 1926 issue of the Independent: tells the story of a woman from Melville who paid a debt of nearly $400 to one of the local banks, the entire amount coming from the sale of turkeys that she had raised that year.  The bank held a note that officials felt could never be repaid.  The lady felt that she could repay the note if the bank would loan her an additional $25 with which she would use to start the turkey business.  The loan was allowed and in the spring of 1924 the lady purchased white Holland breeding stock of good quality.

The first season the weather was against her and she was just able to pay the $25 back to the bank and retain the breeding stock for the next year.  That fall she sold her turkeys for $15 apiece and was able to pay the old debt.  She still was able to keep enough stock to keep her in business which provided some extra cash for a few other things that were needed on the farm.

In 19 the O&M Elevator tried raising turkeys on a farm seven miles east of Carrington.  The barn was renovated and shelters were put up to house the turkeys.  The feed was processed at the Elevator.  The venture lasted for only a couple of years for several reasons, one of which was a heavy rainstorm which caused the fatality of many of the birds.

Independent, January 3, 1929: tells the story of the value of turkey feathers.  They were marketed principally in the East.  The quill feathers being used for feather dusters and the down feathers for beds and pillows.  This was another source of a little hard cash.
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Peacocks

Raising peacocks became a hobby for Mike Murphy of Bordulac when he was a young boy.  He was fascinated with the birds that were seen on his grandfather's farm.  At age 14 he bought his first pair.  He enjoyed watching the birds, as they would frequently admire themselves in the mirror that he had placed in their cage.  This practice would stop in late summer, however, when the birds began to molt.  They would retreat to hide under the wagon boxes or other buildings.

The peahen is quite plain in her attire and blends easily into her surroundings.  She is a good mother and is an expert protecting her young.

The peacock is at least three years old before he acquires the grand plumage that can be spread out in a fan shape, displaying the many brilliant colors.  This four-foot tail may be quite a load when wet.  In spite of this weight they are really graceful while in flight which they don't do unless forced into a corner.

The peacocks eat corn, oats, sunflowers, and lettuce as a treat.  They also love watermelon.  They don't require much care roaming about the farm at will.  They have a habit of, emitting a shrill crow about 4:00 a.m. in the summer.  The peacocks survive well in the North Dakota winters because they have the natural instinct to protect themselves in bad weather.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 117

Pheasant Farm

When Wes Miller moved to a farm four miles east of Carrington in 1973, one of the things he wanted to do was to try his luck at raising pheasants.  He started his enterprise in 1974 by purchasing 100 pheasant Blue Ribbon chicks from a hatchery in Bismarck.  He lost 75 birds right away.  Out of the 25 that survived he kept seven hens and two roosters.  The hens laid between nine and ten eggs apiece.  The eggs were hatched and it was from this beginning that his operation is now grown to handling about 1,000 hens annually.  He also raises wild turkeys, rheas, which are like a small ostrich, and guineas.

The eggs are set in an incubator.  He sells the chicks in April all over the country, including some that were sent to Australia to some people who were vacationing in the area and decided it would be interesting to have some pheasants.

Mr. Miller keeps about 2,000 birds which are butchered and sold to various restaurants or organizations that want to serve a gourmet meal to their members.  Some of the hens are also dressed in about July.

The feathers have been in demand the last few years, especially in California, where they are made into hatbands.  In the early years they were made into ladies' hats.  Iowa and Chicago provide a market for the guinea feathers.
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Canaries and Lovebirds 

Independent, January 24, 1929:

Mrs. H.T. Hayashi bred and raised canaries and lovebirds according to the story in the Independent.  Nearly 30 birds including a red Cardinal and a pair of king birds were kept in the Hayashi home.  The birds were valued at $10 to $12 each and were housed in separate cages.  The only problems she had with loss was when her very young son swatted two of the baby birds with the fly swatter.

Some of the best singers were taken to the cafe that the Hayashi's owned in Carrington, where they provided entertainment for the diners.
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The Past, Present, and Future of The American Buffalo

By Nora Nystad Miller

Don and I were both born and raised in Foster County and still being residents of the county and owners of these native North American animals we were asked to write a short article of our past and present American heritage, the Bison.

To start this story we will go back centuries when the American buffalo roamed the plains of the earth.  It has been estimated that the buffalo was the largest ton mass of mammal that roamed the earth at one time.  Experts say there were anywhere from 60 to 120 million.  Studies show that the buffalo was on the verge of extinction in the 1880s and 1890s with only 300 left on earth.  Bison experts say the buffalo changed American history, as the Indians wouldn't stop fighting the white man because the animal provided food for them.  It wasn't until the buffalo were killed that the Indians gave up.  In American Indian societies, the rarely seen white buffalo was most sacred of all animals in the world and the owner of a properly prepared white buffalo robe was the most esteemed person in the tribe and no danger was too great to risk obtaining such a robe.  There are no white bison existing today, however several surveys noted white calves in 1961, 1963, and 1973 in the Big Delta, Alaska.  Unfortunately none of these animals survived.  Statisticians today say that perhaps one in five million buffalo births will be white.

Now in the year of 1981 there are an estimated 50,000 to 60,000 buffalo being raised on ranches across the country with more than half of this number raised in South Dakota.  Buffalo ranchers reach as far north as Alaska, south to Florida, east to New York and west to California.  There are two major buffalo organizations in existence.  The American Buffalo Association and the National Buffalo Association both dealing with the main purpose of promoting buffalo.  Throughout the Midwestern states there are numerous buffalo auction sales each year, but the real highlight of auctions is held every January at the National Western Stock Show in Denver, Colorado.

Don and I first got interested in buffalo about 1972 when we purchased some buffalo meat from George Torrison, a rancher near Warwick, North Dakota As the years passed by we kept buying this delicious meat from him and have become very close friends.  Then one day in 1978 Don's cousin Roger Miller was talking with us about buffalo and we decided we should try raising a few of these mysterious creatures.  Don and I had thought about doing this many times but living in the city presented a problem for us.  So when Roger said he had some pasture and would go partners we jumped at the chance.  We started with one cow and our herd now has raised 25 head.  About the American buffalo from our three years of experiences:  The buffalo can weigh up to 2,000 pounds.  He can jump with all four legs as graceful as a deer, he can run faster than a horse and will angrily charge a human without a moment's notice.  Buffalo do fine on grass and hay, and in the wintertime, unlike cattle, will graze right through the snow and get to the grass.  Buffalo, unlike domestic cattle, will not try to put their heads through the fence to find green grass; however, they could easily jump over a six-foot fence if they had a notion to.  Our fence is six feet high consisting of five strands of barbed wire and we are still in the process of making corrals and loading chutes.  Buffalo are a herd animal, so very seldom does one stray off by itself.  This makes it easier for corralling and working these animals.

Buffalo are susceptible to disease, such as pinkeye, congested lungs, worms and brucellosis.  However, they can be treated with proper medications.  Scientists and researchers are not studying the American buffalo as a possible cure for cancer.

And about the buffalo products‑ the meat is delicious, lower in cholesterol and saturated fats while higher in protein than domestic beef.  Being lower in fat it cooks in less time with a lower heat.  It is also non‑allergenic.  Many weight‑watching groups throughout the country are using buffalo meat in their diet.  Many restaurants are putting buffalo meat on their menu including the Chieftain in Carrington.

Other products on the market from the buffalo are mounted heads, skulls, robes, hides, leather, ashtrays made from the hoofs, bookends, and wall plaques made from the shoulder blades.  Virtually most everything on a buffalo can be put to some form of use.

Most buffalo ranchers throughout the country welcome visitors to their ranches.  We, too, welcome visitors to view our buffalo, but please keep in mind that the American Buffalo are still a wild animal and always will be a beast of the prairie.

Now for a short look into the future.  We are hoping for a good calf crop next summer‑ this will be our first calves.  (Buffalo don't usually breed until they are at least two years old, but have been known to calve until they are over 35, usually calving every year.)

We are also hoping our demand for meat expands.  We have sold buffalo meat to the VFW Club in Bismarck, the Carrington Fire Department, customers from Fargo, Leeds and numerous area buyers.

Last, but not least, we are hoping in the future the American Buffalo truly finds it's way back on the face of this earth bountifully to give other people the enjoyment and beauty of watching these creatures and the natural goodness of their meat and byproducts.

We would like to thank the community and a special thank you to Lucile Zink for the opportunity to share the American Buffalo.

Miller Buffalo Ranch RR No. 1, Box 30

Carrington, North Dakota 58421

Located 5 1/2 miles east of Carrington on Highway 200.

(All references taken from the American Buffalo Journal, Buffalo World and our own experiences.)
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Fish Farming

Another type of farm in Foster County is a fish farm operated by Harold Erickson.  Mr. Erickson started his project as an experiment which began in his living room in 1967 and has now been developed into 40 acres of fish‑producing ponds which now hold 150,000 fish.  (1979)

In 1966 Erickson decided that his salty land would not produce the grain crops he was trying to grow, so he started looking around for some other crop he could raise on his land.

The only experience Erickson had had prior to this was working in a fish processing plant for a time.  He spent a lot of time reading books on the subject.

The same thing that makes land bad for grain is very good for raising fish.  The water was very high on his land; the water very often would seep through the ground.  The evaporation of the water would leave the salty residue.  He has three electric pumps to keep the ponds filled with fresh water.

Independent, August 22, 1979

"Erickson's fish producing process involves a network of fish ponds which range in size from 20 feet in diameter to two acres.  He keeps brood fish from which eggs are hatched.  The fry from these eggs are then raised on the farm until large enough to put into stock ponds.  He furnishes fish for ponds in North Dakota and Minnesota.  He raises mainly rainbow trout, but also has some black bass and blue gill fish.

His fishing industry is split between his fish farm six miles north of Carrington and another farm near Stanton, North Dakota.

The Stanton farm is another experiment.  One of the problems Erickson faced was the seven months of winter when the trout could not grow because of the cold weather.  If the temperature is below 40 degrees the trout will not grow.‑

The Basin Electric plant called Leland Olds plant is located near Stanton.  At this plant energy is produced with steam heat.  The water is heated 27 degrees higher than it is before it came through the plant.  Two‑thirds of this steam is released to the atmosphere as waste heat.  The company was looking for a way to use this waste heat.  Erickson made an agreement with the plant to use this warmed water in the winter for his fish industry.

This warmed water from the plant is mixed with river water to keep the temperature for the ponds at 58 to 62 degrees.

The experiment has proven successful.  In Carrington the trout would grow about seven inches from ice‑off to freeze up.  At Stanton they will grow from 12‑14 inches during the winter months.

Erickson travels between the two farms, while his son, Chip, manages the farm at Stanton.

The Carrington farm is now used for a hatchery.  In the fall the four to six inch fish are transported to Stanton by aerated tanks.

The fingerlings are fed by hand with commercial trout pellets which are given to the fish three times daily.  The fingerlings are at first placed in a tank covered with wood to prevent sunburn.  Some of the tanks were covered with nets for protection from the birds.

Erickson has expanded his operation to furnish his fish to restaurants and grocery stores.  They are now easily available to anyone that is interested.
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Rabbits

(Independent July 11, 1978 ‑Ann Montgomery)

Some people living in the rural area occupy their time and energies to other things besides tilling the soil.  One such enterprise was a rabbit farm that was operated by Carol Caudle in 1978.

Rabbits were used for food as far back as in the days of the caveman who learned to hunt and cook rabbits for their meals.

Carol's Ranch was located northeast of Carrington.  She pointed out that, though both domestic and wild rabbits may be used for foods, domestic rabbits have some major differences from their wild counterparts.

"Domestic animals are wholly white meat, for instance, where as wild rabbits are all dark meat.  Domestic rabbits also have more meat on their carcasses and carry no known diseases transmissible to man."
"Carol described the uses of rabbits as 'food, fur, and fancy'.  She explained that a fryer sold for about $1.20 per pound, she sells the pelts for fur, live rabbits for pets, and rabbit dung for fertilizer, which she says is the most useful and rich domestic fertilizer available."
Some rabbits are also sold to laboratories for experimental animals.  Angora rabbits furnish fur for coats, pickled rabbits feet are relished as a culinary delight by some.  The feet may also be used for makeup brushes for performers in a theater, not to mention the charm for "good luck".
The fancy come in with special breeds and rabbit shows sponsored by the American Rabbit Breeders' Association.  This provides a market for breeding stock.

Some advantages of rabbit is that they have more meat on their carcasses.  The meat is low in cholesterol and is often times recommended by doctors to people who can't eat other sources of meat.  It ranks high in percentage of protein in comparison to other meats.

Two or three does and one buck rabbit should be able to produce 350‑500 pounds of live rabbit fryers per year.  After loss is figured for dressing them out they still provide 200‑300 pounds of good eating.

Most does have eight or nine babies.  It takes about eight weeks for the does to raise the rabbits to the fryer stage.  They weigh about 4‑4 1/2 pounds live and dress out about 60%.
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Trapping for Furs

Independent, December 8, 1976‑Ann Montgomery

Long winter months provide some of the area residents with another type of diversion, trapping fur-bearing animals.  With a demand for furs on the market, besides being interesting, it also provides extra cash for the trapper.

Some of the skins in demand are mink, fox, muskrat, beaver, raccoon, and rabbit.  Fox pelts were bringing $75‑$100 per pelt in 1980.

A good trapper must know the habit of the animal for proper placement of the traps.  He must also know the effectiveness of different lures and baits and should check traps daily.

Most traps are set to grab the animal by the leg so it is likely that the trapped fur‑bearer will be alive when the trapper arrives to collect it.  Various means may be used to kill the animal, just as long as it doesn't damage the pelt.  Favorites are shooting it in the head, or "bopping 'em over the head" with the butt of the gun, hammer or other heavy instrument.

Traps are set along the riverbanks or tracks used by the animals.

The animals are usually sold "in the round" (unskinned) to a dealer.

Winter months provide the season for this sport, that is the time when the fur is the thickest.  Fashion determines the price of the various furs.  It was the demand for these furs that brought people to the unsettled areas and as a result set the stage for settlers to follow.
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Honey Farm

Do you like honey?  That, too, is produced in the Foster County area.  Dewey Robson is the owner of the Honey Farm in Carrington.  He represents the third generation of bee‑keepers in his family.  He has been involved in stocking his hives with only hybrid queen bees and is also concerned with developing good queen bees.

The hives are placed out on the local farms near fields such as alfalfa, sweet clover, and sunflowers.  While the bees are busy gathering the nectar for honey, they are doing the big job of pollinating the crops.  The productivity of the crops have been known to increase as much as 29% when the bees are in the area.  "In recent studies it was indicated that about 90 crops in the U.S. depend on bees at least to some extent."
Besides the benefit of pollination the farmer also receives some honey for allowing the hives to be placed on his land.

Mr. Robson is also one out of 10 people who formed a corporation known as the Hybri‑Bee Corporation.  The purpose of the organization is to breed better queen bees.  They have customers around the world.  "About 500 bees are sold each year according to Mr. Robson.

As early as 1924, honeybees were found in Foster County.  Graves and Moore farm east of Carrington had nineteen colonies of bees, nearly 200,000 of them.  They reported that about 2,000 pounds of "the best honey in the world" had been gathered from a field of sweet clover.  At this time honey was selling for about 25a a pound.  Moore and Graves estimated that 6,000 pounds of honey could be gathered from 200 acres of sweet clover.

Independent, November 20, 1924

Dr. R.L. Webster of the Ag College stated that honey was more economical than alcohol for use to prevent automobile radiators freezing during the wintertime.

He said that, "While the cost of the strained honey was more than the same volume of alcohol, it was never necessary to replace the honey as it does not evaporate, making it more economical."  He stressed the necessity of having all connections very tight so that the sticky substance is contained and that the radiator should never be allowed to boil over.  He recommended that the honey and water be boiled together prior to putting it in the radiator.

Who knows if there be other interesting uses for honey!
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Conservation

"Conservation is the protection and wise management of the environment.  People practice conservation so that the environment can provide for their needs and the needs of other living things.  Without conservation, all the resources necessary for life‑ air, animals, energy, minerals, plants, soil and water would be damaged, wasted, or destroyed."
Eight main kinds of conservation are: 

1. Soil 

2. Water 

3. Wildlife 

4. Forest
5. Grazing land 

6. Mineral 

7. Recreation 

8. Urban areas

Soil Conservation: "Most of the food that supports life comes from the soil, either directly or indirectly.  Theodore Roosevelt once said, "When the soil is gone, man must go.  And the process does not take long."
The earth is a great ball of rock about 8,000 miles in diameter.  But its thin surface of soil averages only 2 or 3 feet thick.  The depth of the topsoil, the fertile top layer is usually thin enough to be measured in inches.  It takes several hundred years to build one inch of top soil, but erosion can wash or blow away this inch in a few years or even weeks.  Rain falling on an acre of barren, sloping land can wash away as much as 60 truckloads of soil in a year.  Water can also carve gullies in hillsides.  Wind may blow the top soil off both sloping and level land.  In the U.S. erosion has destroyed an estimated 50 million acres of farmland since colonial times.

Other processes besides erosion can make soil lose its fertility.  Heavy rainfall can leach out the materials plants need to grow.  Fertilizing the crops has become necessary in recent years.  Wise farmers add chemical and natural fertilizer to maintain the food supply for the growing plants.  Animal manure and green plants can increase the food supply for plants.

Plant rotation is an important way of keeping soil fertile.

Contour plowing where the farmer plows his furrows across the slope, rather than up and down, provides furrows that catch the water and hold it, instead of allowing it to run down the hills.

Stair‑step terraces also help prevent erosion.

Planting trees or grasses help prevent deep gullies on hill sides and are the best way to keep land covered with these closely grown plants.

Strip cropping‑ raising different crops on alternating strips to prevent erosion.

Flax strips placed on fall plowing, help hold snow as well as prevent erosion.

Conservation was seen to be on the increase on the national level in the 1930's and 1940's.  During the depression thousands of unemployed men and youths worked on federal conservation projects.  These CCC men were employed to plant trees and build dams.  In 1935 the Soil Conservation Service was set up under the Department of Agriculture.

Conservation Districts were set up to enlist the cooperation of the county, city, town and village in the problem of conserving our natural resources.  These districts are sponsored by state and federal government.  Farmers join soil conservation districts to get technical assistance and to work out efficient farm management plans.  In the U.S. more than 2,700 districts are organized.
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Foster County Soil Conservation Service District

The county organization came into existence in 1944.  The first technician was Norton Stangeland.  One of the projects of the district was to plant trees.

When the pioneers first came to Foster County there was not a tree in sight in any direction that he might look.  Some of the early farmers planted trees to take advantage of the tree claim act which provided a method to acquire more acreage if 10 acres were planted into trees.

In 1915 the State School of Forestry at Bottineau was making an effort to provide trees to the prairies.  They sent out cuttings, seedlings, and shrubs, for the price of transportation.  75,000 were sent out the first year.  They also carried on an extensive educational campaign urging residents to plant trees.

In 1916 Frank Moore was advertising the value of planting groves on the farmsteads.  One of the most popular groves was the one that was planted by Ben Holcomb about 3 miles east of Carrington.  Mr. Moore figures that the value of Mr. Holcomb's land was raised to $8000 more just because of the trees.

Holcomb's Grove was a popular spot for picnics such as the "Old Settlers' Picnic" and the annual 4th of July celebrations.  Many young people considered it a favorite place to go on a Sunday afternoon.

Some of the advantages of planting trees besides providing beauty and shelter to the farms was the products that the trees produce.  Some of them were used for posts, braces, poles for straw sheds, and wood that was necessary for the stoves.

Popular varieties that were planted were cottonwood, ash, willow, and some fruit trees, such as apple, plum, gooseberries, currants, chokecherries, and June berries.  These fruit trees, besides being a source of fresh fruit, provided the juices necessary for making jams, jellies and syrup to add to the menu.

Besides these three some of the farmers also planted evergreen trees, such as Scotch pine, in their groves.

In 1937 WPA crews planted trees in Birtsell and Estabrook townships.  4‑H clubs used tree planting as one of their projects.  They planted such varieties as Blue spruce, Scotch pine, and Ponderosa pine.

When the Soil Conservation Service came to be, they took over the project.  A tree-planting machine was acquired to assist in planting the trees.  Personnel advised the farmers of the best type of grove to plant and helped them to get the trees.  They have supervised the planting of over three million trees since it was first organized.

So as you drive along the country roads and see the beautiful trees‑ just try to imagine what it was like back in 1883 before these trees were planted!
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Other projects

1. Encouraged the use of field cultivators which are designed to work the soil, at the same time keeping the stubble above the ground to hold the soil in place.

2. Planting flax buffer strips and cover crops on the cultivated land.

3. Moldboard plows, a prominent farm implement, leave the field totally black.  Conservationists advised the means for holding such ground by leaving the field as rough as possible.  They suggested spreading fields with crop residues.

4. Water conservation: Gully erosion was remedied by establishing grassed waterways.  Diversion of water from potholes.

5. Watering ponds‑ to provide water for stock in the pastures.  Cost sharing for making the ponds.  The ponds were also useful for wildlife and could be stocked with fish for recreation.

All practices in the program are planned in the local soil conservation district office, and approved and administered by the Board of District Supervisors.  The Soil Conservation District is a local entity, while the Soil Conservation Service is a government agency.  The latter is federally funded and from it comes the cost share payments to cooperating farmers.

Cost sharing includes the practices mentioned.

In 1949 an Achievement program was inaugurated to honor the farmers who were willing to follow good conservation practices.  A group of judges travel throughout the county selecting the winner.  The county winners are then invited as guests to the State SCS meeting.

At this time they are presented an aerial painting of their farm.  Another copy of the painting is displayed in the meeting room of the Foster County State Bank.

Winners of this award are: 

1949‑ H.H. Lyman, Arnold McDaniel, Claus Otto 

1950‑ Ervin Topp, Wallace Topp, William Spitzer 

1951‑ Walter Larson, Lloyd Butts, Paul Black 

1952‑ Eugene Zink, Arnold Leppke, Gustav Miller 

1953‑ F.F. Reimers 

1954‑ Soren Clausen 

1955‑ W.A. Rosenau 

1956‑ L.E Ellingson 

1957‑ Henry Zink 

1958‑ Edwin Gussiaas 

1959‑ Darold Anderson 

1960‑ Ralph Harmon 

1961‑ Leo Gauderman 

1962‑ William Zink 

1963‑ Robert Montgomery 

1964‑ Clamats Gader 

1965‑ Leonard Norheim 

1966‑ Lawrence Utke 

1967‑ Woodrow Topp and Merlin 

1968‑ A.J. Mullenberg

1969‑ Paul Brandt
1970‑ Joe Reiniger 

1971‑ Ernest Walen 

1972‑ John Murphy 

1973‑ Bernard Kramer 

1974‑ Olaf Gussiaas 

1975‑ William Black 

1976‑ Einer and Arvid Ellingson 

1977‑ Glenn Lindstrom 

1978‑ Kermit Skadberg 

1979‑ Stanley Smith 

1980‑ Douglas Schmid 

1981-

1982‑
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Pure Seed 

Otto Klindworth‑ Pioneer in this Field

In 1931 Klindworth started his work with seed improvement.  He saw a need for pure durum and there wasn't any available.  He developed the Klindworth Kubanka Durum and a flax known as Walsh flax.  Up to this time there was literally no one in North Dakota developing or experimenting with pure seed.

Klindworth saw the necessity of developing a seed that was resistant to rust, a very big problem and also had a good milling quality.  So he made a cross of two strains from a variety of durum that came from Kubanka, Russia.

In 1937 grasshoppers were a real problem which led to the developing of Walsh flax.  It had a heavy stem and the grasshoppers would eat everything else in sight before it would attack this variety of flax.

Following graduation, Klindworth taught school at NDAC at Fargo, instructing students in Agronomy and elementary electricity.  He took over the family farm at Fessenden in 1920.

In 1937 he expanded his certified seed business by buying and processing field inspected seeds and marketed them.  In 1945 he sold the family farm and purchased three sections of land in the Carrington area and started the Klindworth Seed and Supply Company in Carrington in 1947.  The business specialized in the growing and purchasing of field inspected seeds, processing and selling certified seeds, fertilizers, chemicals and insecticides.

He sold the business in 1976 which was located where Rosenau Seed and Supply presently stands.  Klindworth was instrumental in developing the state seed department.  As farmers began to demand better seed the business continued to expand, selling seed all over the country and in Canada.

He also was a promoter of chemical weed control, being one of the first to control weeds in this manner.  He is credited with helping to design the Sinox Sprayer.

Otto Klindworth has been the recipient of numerous state and national awards for his seed work.  He received the Distinguished Service Award from Crop Improvement Association for his contribution to North Dakota farming.  He also had the U.S. Championship Hard Red Spring Wheat in 1933.  He was a leader in collecting funds for the Casselton Agronomy Seed farm.  He served on various committees for the federal government.

Mr. Klindworth stated, "Today's farmers have to know what they're doing or they're not in business.  Farming today is a science"
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New Products

The 1980s heard the cry that it was necessary to conserve energy.  Politics in the eastern oil producing nations raised the price of oil and gasoline so high that other sources of energy were being explored.  One of these is a product called Gasohol.

It was first made available in the area on February 1, 1980 at the Farmers Union Oil Company in Carrington.

"Gasohol is a trade name for a fuel mixture of gasoline and ethyl alcohol (ethanol) and is a mixture of 90% gasoline (usually unleaded) and 10% alcohol.

No adjustments were necessary to engines or timing with this mixture.

The alcohol is made primarily from grain crops such as wheat and corn, but can also be made from sugar beets and other crops."
Some advantages were that the engines were reported to run smoother and no de‑icer was needed in the winter season because the alcohol content took care of the moisture.  It is a cleaner fuel, reducing engine dirt and deposits and produces few exhaust problems, particularly carbon monoxide.

Gasohol was being researched because it could reduce dependence on foreign oil.  Also, the alcohol content is a renewable resource.  Ethanol is produced from crops, which unlike fossil fuels can be cultivated to replace spent stocks.

Some by‑products of gasohol are animal feed, and carbon dioxide which are also useful products.

Tests are still being conducted to find out the feasibility of the product.
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Sun Oil: A Possible Farm Fuel

Independent, August 13, 1980

Sunoil is being tested as an alternative fuel for diesel fuel.  NDSU extension associates cited the reason for the test was that the number of sunflowers being grown in North Dakota and the process of extracting the oil is easy compared to making gasohol on farm stills.

He points out that diesel and sunflower oil are quite similar so that using it would not require any modifications to the tractors.

"Sunflowers are about 40% oil and of that about 75% can be extracted with a small machine which works similarly to a meat grinder.

The basic difference is that the Sunoil is thicker than diesel fuel which could cause some problems in winter.  Sunoil also produces a lower BTU than diesel.

Tractors are being tested that have used this type of fuel.  Who knows; maybe this will be the fuel of the future!
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Solar Power (December 3, 1980)

Due to the sky rocketing cost of fuel to heat their homes, people started experimenting with other means of heating.  Some of them turned to the sun.  Collectors were built out of two fiberglass sheets, an aluminum sheet, insulation and fans.  The panels constructed by Bill Goter of Carrington were 4x8 shallow rectangular boxes, painted a heat absorbent black inside and covered with fiberglass, all at a cost of about $100 to construct.  Fans which turn on automatically when temperature is 10 degrees distribute the gathered heat which is enough to warm 1,400 square foot house.

In summer time the collectors are removed and replaced by screens.

Other people in the area are using this type of heat.  Experiments are being conducted for methods to store heat, partially to heat water before it goes into the water heater and other uses.
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Computers

A new system being used in the farming business is called the Homestead Farm Management System which allows farmers to deal with farm management from their own offices with the use of computers.  The system provides an effective tool to assist the farmer in basic accounting, record keeping, and planning functions required for the operation of a modern, efficient and profitable farm enterprise.

Three benefits are:

1. Save time‑ proper bookkeeping and accounting takes lots of time.  Reports on financial statements are available within a matter of minutes.

2. Improve Farm Performance Records.  Historical records on crops and livestock easily kept and are accessible.

3. Increase profits ‑ ability to improve planning and decision making easier with information that is easily accessible.

Besides all of the things that were mentioned before, a farmer has to be the type of a person that can take pride in his accomplishments, such as a field of golden grain, straight corn rows, straight sunflower rows free from weeds, cattle that look good and are in demand by the buyers when they are taken to market.  He is constantly looking for better and more efficient methods in his particular operation.  He has to be willing to try new methods of doing things and be able to face disappointments such as crop failure, to put that aside and begin to plan for the next season.  They, the farmers, are the stewards of the soil.  It is their responsibility to use it with care in the best manner that they can so that it may be an inheritance for their children's children.
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Stories Collected from the Foster County Independent

1890 ‑ A large herd of antelope had been found on the east side of the county.

1894 ‑ Excellent crop‑ threshing 8‑9 bushel‑ 21 bushel wheat crop.

1885‑1899‑ Moore and Graves‑ influx of farmers from Corn Belt brought seed along but wasn't suited to area so didn't even tassel.  Thought farm was dairying.

1908‑ Farmers Institute‑ speakers from college‑ Ag agents from railroad‑ diversified farming stressed.

1910‑ $1.01 wheat‑ bad year‑ scarcity of feed.

1911‑ Lectures‑ recommend 10 acres of corn every section‑ threshing done in snow.

1896‑ Working oxen $85‑$125 per animal.

1884‑ Murphy brothers bought 8 horses the first year, worked 240 acres for crop in 1884.  The crop made 29 bushels to the acre.  This paid all expenses, obtained title to their first nine-quarter sections.

1896‑ Murphy brothers had 46 head of horses with a Black Percheron at its head.  They also had 130 head of cattle.

Ben Holcomb broke 10‑15 acres each quarter a day.  Hay was cut with "Armstrong mowers", a scythe and sach ‑ raked with hand rake ‑ about 50 ton put up the first summer.

A yoke of good oxen were the cheapest and best breaking team, as they would make sixteen miles per day with a fourteen-inch plow, with only the green grass for feed.  (Spokesfield)

After virgin prairie was broken during the spring months the sod dried out and rotted.  In the fall it was packed and disked and made ready for the crop.

1891‑ Considered the big wheat year in this community.  The crop went 40 bushels to the acre that year.  Mrs. B.L. Russell remembers vividly the car labeled with letters large enough to be seen a long distance, "40 bushel wheat" which hauled some of that grain away.

1915‑ A hobo opened a boxcar in the Northern Pacific railroad yards at Carrington.  A bull being shipped from Melville was quartered in the same car, and when the animal caught sight of the intruder he rushed him.  The 'bo got the door open and both fell to the ground below, where the chase continued.  The train crew saw what was happening and tried to help the endangered man, but when the bull turned on them they were chased back to their train.  It was rumored at the depot that the train didn't overtake the hobo on the trip north.

Headlines read: Apples shipped out of Carrington: Usually apples are shipped into Carrington but the apples crop on the Stambaugh farm was so good that he shipped some of his produce to Illinois.

1913‑ Farmer finds Black Gopher: Otto Anderson has a curiosity in the way of the gopher.  Instead of having the usual color of tan the animal is jet black.  In other ways the little pest resembles the ordinary animal.  This is the first one of that kind to make its presence in these parts.  McHenry Tribune

1921‑ Eggs for Next Winter should be Pickled now: Home preservation of eggs should be attended to this month (May) if the task has been neglected so far in the rush of other spring work.  Various methods have been tired, but authorities on the subject agree that water glass (sodium silicate) gives the best results.

Eggs used for preserving should have clean whole shells and should not be more than a week old.  A stone jar makes the best receptacle, but wood, porcelain or glass can be used.  Distilled or freshly caught rainwater is best; hard water should never be used.  The following directions are recommended.

Boil water, then allow it to cool and add water glass (one part water glass to nine parts water by measure).  Beat mixture thoroughly with a wooden paddle and place mixture in receptacle.  Add eggs, rejecting all that have a tendency to float.  The solution must cover the eggs completely.

Cover receptacle closely to prevent evaporation.  Examine eggs occasionally and if necessary, add more water, so that eggs will be at all times completely covered.

1929‑ Holstein 'Cows: Calves were given out to young boys during Market Day program in 1929.  A 13-year-old boy, Lawrence Sperling won one of these purebred calves.  It grew to be one of the best milkers on the Sperling farm.  Over a period of nine years, they felt that the calf had brought them over $800 in income.  Lawrence used the money to help with his college education.

1925‑ (June) Alfalfa history in Foster County dates back as far as 1890.  A.Z. Peterson, who lived in Longview Township, likely planted the first seed in this county.  He received a small package of seed and planted it in his garden.  A few plants grew and remained a few years.  This first alfalfa was a long growing yellow variety, called Lucerne.

The first alfalfa planted in any quantity was sown by William Quaton, living south of Carrington.  He secured seed from a friend in Utah and put in about two acres.  In spite of cold conditions it survived for several years.  Mr. Quaton was probably the first man to recognize the real merit of alfalfa.

1927‑ Horse's Tail ties Up Rig for Season: (September) Switching his tail rapidly to free himself of flies Tuesday afternoon an old dobbin hauling bundles for the Jake Krueger rig west of town got his caudal appendage between the drive belt of the separator and the main drive pulley.  The drive belt was thrown off and before the machine was stopped the separator was so badly damaged that Mr. Krueger does not believe he can obtain repairs in time to resume threshing again this season.

The elevator of the separator, a main drive shaft and several other important parts were wrecked.

The horse's tail was uninjured although he lost a few long hairs.  The accident was, however, as much of a surprise to the nag as it was to the crew.

1929‑ (January) Unloading the first tractor in Carrington in 1903 caused quite a stir: The engines at that time were extremely large, weighing from 15,000 to 20,000 pounds and caused a tremendous vibration while they were in operation.  The machines were made of iron and were very large and crude.

R. Gadberg of the International Harvester Company at Aberdeen told of the unloading of the tractor in Carrington:

"The time today came when they were ready to unload, and as the inhabitants of the town had learned that it was to be unloaded by its power about 1,000 people were on hand to witness the great spectacle.  Many men volunteered their services in helping to unload the tractor and efforts were made to start it.

At that time tractors were started by spinning a large flywheel on the side of the machine.

The men were busily turning the wheel and the machine had made no efforts of starting.  I was very young at that time and had become somewhat rattled due to the large audience and noticed that I had forgotten to turn on the ignition switch.  I immediately did so and the supply of gas which had accumulated in the huge exhaust pipes which acted as mufflers to prevent scaring all the horses in the country, ignited and an explosion took place that sounded like the discharge of a large cannon.

I turned to see what effect this incident had had upon my curious friends and all that I saw was flying heels and coat tails! ! ! ! !

The use of the tractors in those days could not be compared to the uses that are found for them in later years.  The primary purpose of them at that time was to replace the steam tractor ending in operating the separator during the threshing season.  The use of the steam tractor engine for plowing was not unthought-of at that time but had had little success.

1929‑ Vodka Cows in Pewe herd get Official Names: "Vodka" the Russians' pet name for white mule had been chosen by Pewe Brothers of McHenry, as a trademark name to identify their herd of registered Holsteins.  The trademark used as a part of the name of every animal in the herd, indicates the farm at which it was bred.

Vodka cows may be all right in Soviet Russia, but the Pewe Brothers may find the prohibition agents on their heels if they try to sell their milk and cream on this side of the Canadian line.

1930‑ 130,000 Plants are Bought for Big Onion Farm: Two acres of onions that are expected to yield about 1,500 bushels of the crop if the growing season is favorable, will be planted in the field north of the courthouse this spring for Otto Suelsorf and A.E. Ireland.  
A shipment of 130,000 green onion plants is expected to arrive by April 18.  The two men are advertising for a crew of 30 to 35 helpers to set out the young plants.  The green plants are being shipped in from the Texas and Colorado states.  Most of them are of the Sweet Spanish variety.  They expect $1 to $1.25 per bushel.

1931‑ Bowser Grows His Tobacco in Back Yard: A back yard patch of smoking tobacco‑ add that to your list of unusual Foster County crops.

M.C. Bowser, retired farmer at Carrington, has his own patch of smoking tobacco.  He has been raising the plants for the last 15 years, and reports that he has never had a crop failure.

His little patch of about 50 plants stands waist high this week.  About 25 pounds of mature leaves have already been picked and are drying in a little storage shed in his garage, and he expects to harvest almost that much more from his garden.

Tobacco is a real North Dakota product, if people here could only realize it, Mr. Bowser believes.  He raises just enough for his own use and for a few friends, but thinks there should be real profit in an acre or so of tobacco.  He raises his plants from his own seed, starting them indoors in March and setting them out in the garden about the time the tomato plants go out.  As the plant grows, only about a dozen of the huge leaves are allowed to grow, and the rest are pinched off as they bud.  Mr. Bowser believes that an acre of tobacco is about all one man could handle, because of the attention each plant demands.  He has never watered his tobacco patch, he reports and even during the hot, dry weather this summer it has flourished and made a good crop.

1931‑ Farmers Donate Four Tons Spuds to Drought Region: Four tons of potatoes and vegetables collected from homes in Wyard and Carrington townships in a drive conducted by the Farmers Union were shipped out of Carrington by truck Friday morning.

1933‑150 Watermelons raised in Grace City Garden Patch: Mrs. Edwin Bonderud raised a watermelon crop of about 150 fully ripened melons this year, another proof that we can raise almost anything here if properly cultivated and some study given to the subject.  Many of these melons weighed as high as 28 pounds.  There was a big demand for these melons as the quality was excellent.

1933‑ Hay stacker picks up 90-pound Rock: Heaves it at head of McHenry man: Thursday evening just before six o'clock, Torkel Aarstead, farmer two miles west of town, met with a painful accident while in the hay field.  Mr. Aarstead and sons were stacking hay, Mr. Aarstead being upon the stack.  A 90-pound rock went upon the haystack with the hay loader and hit Mr. Aarstead upon the head.  Mr. Aarstead was on one end of the stack.  The rock hit the left side of the head, neck, and shoulder.  Mr. Aarstead was knocked unconscious and fell from the haystack.  No bones were broken but the neck and shoulder were badly bruised and a number of stitches were required for the head wound.

1934‑ Dwarf Cow, at Melvin Farm weighs 280 pounds: A dwarf cow that carnival companies have offered to buy as a freak attraction is owned by Pierce Melvin of McKinnon Township near Kensal.

The cow is 27 months old and weighs 280 pounds.  A normal six-month-old calf will weigh 300 pounds.  The dwarfed cow is of Holstein and Red Poll parentage.  It is perfectly formed but is more angular than normal and has spindly legs.

It has quit gaining weight.  Melvin didn't pay any particular attention to the cow until it was about a year old and quit growing.  He fed it grain all the first winter, expecting it to develop like an ordinary heifer, but got no results.

The owner had had offers from carnival companies that winter to buy the animal.  He may accept an offer from the Midwest Carnival company to join them in South Dakota this month and travel with the show exhibiting the cow.  Other carnival companies have advertised as the "smallest cow in the world" an animal that weighs 450 pounds.  Melvin has received other letters from farm publications and government agencies, where he has written for information showing interest in the animal.

1934‑ Rosehill Farmer Grows Whiskers, but Nothing Else: John Schlotman, in explaining to a neighbor why he had let his whiskers grow said, "In times like these I believe we should let everything grow that will grow!"
1935‑ Hawksnest Eagle Preys on Lamb: An eagle, believed making its headquarters in the Hawksnest Hills, is causing considerable losses among the sheep flocks in that neighborhood.

During the past few weeks the eagle killed 14 lambs at the William Biloff farm and six at the Adolph Huff farm.  It is said that the sheep, being accustomed to barnyard fowls at home, do not become frightened by the eagle and scatter and run as they do when attacked by dogs or coyotes.  The killer has an easy time of it striking down one lamb after another, picking out their eyes, eating a small part of the flesh, and seemingly killing just for the sport of it.

The eagle had been seen several times but never close enough to use a shotgun.  The bird is small.  One farmer, who saw it sitting on a fence thought it was a turkey until it flew away.

Eagles have been seen off and on, for several years at the Hawksnest.  One Longview farmer reports that he has lost at least $100 worth of lambs from this one over a period of years.

1937‑ Grain yield cut badly by hoppers‑ early reports 2‑8 bushel from durum.  Some received 10‑15 bu. fall plowing to kill hopper eggs and cut worms.  Wheat loss from hoppers set at 33%.

13,000 gopher tails collected at Barlow on May 12, 1938.  They received 30 a tail.

1935‑ Melville Ewe has eight Descendants in Year's time: The increase of a ewe purchased by Moore and Graves by Mrs. N.N. Loesch in 1933 established a record that is hard to beat.  On April 15, 1934 she gave birth to three ewe lambs and on February 20, 1935 she had two lambs and one on April 6, 1935, the first three ewe lambs each gave birth to one lamb, making a total of an increase of eight head in the space of less than a year.  We have the animals here to back up our claim; and all doing nicely, thank you.

1932‑129 Days from egg to egg is pullet's record.  Just 129 days from egg to egg‑ that is the record achieved by a young pullet belonging to Mrs. George Norby of near Carrington.

The chicken was hatched out on April 8th and cackled gaily over its first egg on August 15, just four months and seven days later.  The existing record for early layers as far as Norbys know is 142 days.

1915‑ Farmers May Well Curse Their Life: How miserably rotten it is to spend life in Foster county is easily proven: Foster County farmers are aroused, their condition of life must be and will be changed.  Every day adds numbers to the militant agriculturalists who are about ready to serve notice on the grain trust, the merchants, the banks, to all the world, that they demand their rights as men and opportunities to bring up their children as an American child should be reared.  It will be a bloodless revolution mainly, but a revolution, yes or no.

Franz Zink, living on the south county line is about ready to show up the men who have fattened on the Foster County farmer.  He will show them who really got fat for he is now nearly completed one of the most modern farm homes in town or country we believe in this part of the state that has a vacuum cleaning system built into the house.  It will have hot and cold running water throughout with sewerage connections.  It will be lighted by electricity and electrical current used for many household purposes besides lighting.  The home will have the largest porch in the country, 14 x 40 feet, and two stories with massive pillars.  The vacuum system is operated from the cellar, it is guaranteed to pick up a silver dollar in any room of the house and deliver it to the box in the cellar.  B.M. Gurfield has the building contract.  The home will be completed within a few weeks.

For a farmer living in this poverty-stricken and forsaken country such a home needs protection from the frigid 11 months winter and one month of cold weather which many easterners like to credit to North Dakota.

1950‑ Farm Families Resort to Boats for Transportation in Rosehill Township: (May 18) Boats are fast becoming a popular means of transportation in Rose Hill vicinity due to the numerous washouts in the graded roads.

Members of the Lars Tollefson family take a boat from their home on Kelly Creek and sail three fourths of a mile to highway Number 7, where their car is parked.

The George Doeling and Ervin Lambecht families, living within two miles of Bordulac drive 69 miles a day in transporting their children to the Bordulac School.  This is due to the high water in Lake George, causing the Bordulac road to be flooded.  They recently obtained a motor boat which delivers them to the depot at Bordulac.

Mr. and Mrs. Leslie Ferguson have been marooned on their farm since the first thaw this spring because of road washout.  Mr. Ferguson has been able to travel on horseback only.

1958‑ (November) Strawberries in November!  That's right.  Strawberries in November raised right here in Carrington in a garden plot.  The grower of strawberries at this time of the year is Mrs. Ada Linderman.  She is able to pick some every day.

Mrs. Linderman has been carefully tending her garden plot all fall, operating a small cultivator.  She has diligently watched the strawberry plants, and her efforts have brought results.

1958‑ Buck shot by Del Soholt was estimated to be the granddaddy of them all.  He was estimated to be one 20 years old and it weighed 341 pounds.  It was believed to be the buck that was commonly seen around the Hawksnest area.  It took three shots to bring him down.

What was happening around the world in 1883 when Foster County was being organized?  Following are some of the events shown in the 1910 Atlas.

China: Sacking of European quarters in Canton.

India: International exhibition at Calcutta opened.

Russia: Coronation of Alexander III, Czar of all Russia.

Turkey: Total destruction of Hicks, Pasha and army in Sudan.

Greece: Serious fire at royal palace in Athens.

Italy: Discovery of site of celebrated Antruim at Rome on November 6.

Spain: King Alfonzo visits Frankfurt to witness military maneuvers.

France: Arrest of Prince Napoleon who was accused of desertion.

Austria‑Hungary: Raab, Hungary was inundated by the rising of the Danube and many lives were lost.

Germany: Death of William R. Wagner, a German composer at age 69.

Great Britain: confederation of colonies and annexation of Papua, New Guinea.

Canada: Marquis of Landsdowne appointed governor general.

United States: Civil Service reform bill passed; Presidential succession bill passed; Burning of the Newhall House in Milwaukee caused 59 lives to be lost on January 10; Great flood in Ohio River which left 50,000 people homeless; tariff and tax amendment passes both houses; death of Peter Cooper at age 92; cyclone at Beauregard, Miss., 83 lives lost, tornadoes in Iowa and Georgia; opening of Brooklyn suspension bridge; Pendleton Civil Service Act passes; steamer Proteus of the Greel Relief Expedition crushed by ice in Smith's Sound; Terrific tornado in Rochester, Minnesota, caused lives to be lost; Northern Pacific Railroad formally opened on September 8; General Sherman relinquishes command of army‑ Sheridan succeeding him; two‑cent letter postage goes into effect; Festival in honor of Luther's birth‑ 400 anniversary; 48th Congress organized.
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Allis-Chalmers 20-35

When the Going is Hardest

STUBBORN soil doesn't worry the Allis Chalmers owner.  His powerful valve‑in‑head motor gets right down into the traces and pulls ‑ hour after hour.  And it's fresh enough at the end of the day to continue into the night if threatening weather demands that the work be done.

There's a reason behind such service, too.  The Allis‑Chalmers water air‑washer always supplies the carburetor with cool, moist air‑keeps the motor running smoothly even in the dust‑heavy days of a scorching summer.  An oversize copper fin‑and‑tube type radiator positively prevents overheating.  Even low-grade fuels are thoroughly vaporized and reach the cylinders as a highly‑explosive mixture.

No Excess Weight to Rob Motor of Power

Seven years of proving and improving made Allis‑Chalmers tractors so far advanced over others in design.  Throughout every model you find an absence of all unnecessary parts which only add to the weight and subtract from performance.  An unusually high percentage of power is converted into pull at the drawbar.  And besides, every Allis‑Chalmers tractor can develop and maintain a power surplus at least 25 per cent in excess of its rating.

Farming will be easier, more pleasant and far more profitable when you are the owner of an Allis‑Chalmers tractor.

The $42,500,000 Allis‑Chalmers Company has authorized us to sell A‑C perfected tractor on time in our territory.  One easy down‑payment, then we make delivery at once!  'Phone, write or come in today and ask as for the details.  No obligation whatever.

Cummings Bros. Garage

Phone 217

Carrington
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This Date in North Dakota History: 1883

July 2: 
Bismarck became the capitol of Dakota Territory, replacing Yankton.

July 4: 
The first train arrived at the site of Devils Lake and was met by the steamboat "Minnie H."
July 8: 
The first meeting of the Cavalier county commissioners was held.

July 9: 
Minnewauken, the seat of Benson County was incorporated.

August 7: 
Fort Stevenson was abandoned, the buildings later being utilized as school by the Fort Berthold Indian Reservation.

August 15: 
The contract was let for the first University of North Dakota building‑ Old Main.

August 29: 
The famous fur traders, William Sublette and Robert Campbell arrived at the mouth of the Yellowstone River in western North Dakota to establish Fort Williams in competition with the American Fur Company, Fort Union.

September 5: 
Ulysses S. Grant laid the cornerstone for the new territorial capitol at Bismarck.  Among those present were James J. Hill, of the Great Northern; President Henry Willard, of the Northern Pacific; newspaper publisher Joseph Pulitzer, Sitting Bull, General H.H. Sibley and W.D. Washburn, and Chicago merchant Marshall Field.

September 7: 
Theodore Roosevelt arrived at Little Missouri, now known as Medora, for the first time on a buffalo-hunting trip.

September 17: 
Roosevelt killed his first buffalo.

October 8: 
Sargeant County was organized.

October 11: 
Foster County was organized.

November 1: 
Washburn was designated as the McLean County seat, on the day the county was organized.

November 6: 
Towner County was organized.

November 9: 
Emmons County was organized.

February 2: 
John M. Hancock, who became a nationally‑known industrialist and financier, was born at Emerado, North Dakota

March 3: 
Sargeant County was created.  It was formed out of parts of Ransom County and the Sisseton and Wahpeton Indian reservations.

March 8: 
Towner was formed from parts of Cavalier and Rolette counties.

March 19: 
Grafton, the seat of Walsh County was incorporated.

April 3: 
A special territorial commission meeting as prescribed by law in Yankton, approved removal of the capital to Bismarck.  Engineered by the legendary figure, Alex McKenzie, the commission was on a special train which steamed into Yankton in the wee small hours.  Within the city limits on the still moving train, the commission met, acted and adjourned, thwarting those who were determined the capital would remain in Yankton.

April 26: 
A Red River flood crested at 42.2 feet at Grand Forks.

June 2: 
The Dakota territory Capitol Commission meeting at Fargo awarded the Territorial capital to Bismarck.

June 9: 
Benson County was organized.  It was named in honor of B.W. Benson, a member of the legislature and was formed from parts of Ramsey and DeSmet counties.

June 9: 
Nelson County was organized.  It was named in honor of N.E. Nelson, a member of the 1885 legislature.

June 13: 
Steele County was organized.  It was named for Franklin Steele, president of the Red River Land Company and an early Fort Snelling trader.

June 16, 1882: 
Griggs County was organized from parts of Traill and Foster counties.  First called Ole Bull County, it was later named in honor of Captain Alexander Griggs, founder of Grand Forks, a member of the constitutional convention and one of the first navigators of the Red River.

June 24: 
The party of Prince Maximillian of Neuwied, including the great artist of the west, Carl Bodmer, arrived at Fort Union for a year of scientific research on the upper Missouri River.

June 24: 
Fire wiped out most of the original townsite of Larimore.

July 9: 
Minnewauken, seat of Benson County was incorporated.

October 2: 
The cornerstone for the original University of North Dakota building in Grand Forks was laid.

January 25: 
Ramsey County was organized when Gov. N.H. Ordway appointed three commissioners.

February 2: 
Industrialist John M. Hancock was born at Emerado.  He died in 1956.

April 5: 
A party of German Evangelical church members became the first settlers in New Salem.

May 12: 
The Northern Pacific Refrigerator Car Company was founded by the Marquis deMores to transport meat of cattle slaughtered at Medora to eastern markets.

May 12: 
Michigan City (now Michigan) was platted.
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Sights and Sounds of the Prairies 

By Spokesfield

The mere fact that one could look as far as the eye could reach in every direction for miles and miles and know that there was no habitation beyond, especially when the terrible prairie fires or fierce blizzards were raging‑ left a strange feeling and a peculiar fascination akin to the courting of danger which will never again be felt or realized by anyone.

Mirages, rainbows, northern lights, sundogs, and halos were some of the beautiful sights we often witnessed.

The mirage is an optical effect sometimes seen on the ocean but more often on land, especially in desert regions, and is due to total reflection of light at the surface common to two currents or air differently heated.

The reflected image is commonly seen in an inverted position while the real object may or may not be visible.  When the surface is horizontal and below, the appearance is that of a sheet of water in which the object is seen reflected.  When the reflected surface is above the eye the object is seen reflected against the sky.  From our old farm near Cathay I have often seen the Coteaus south of Heaton, and Bowdon came up in one of these mirages so they appeared only a mile or so away, although they were about 15 miles distant.  At other times I have seen the towns of Carrington, New Rockford, and Sheyenne reflected so that we could actually distinguish different buildings in the towns and even see smoke coming out of the chimneys.  New Rockford especially often appeared clear and distinct and not far distant.

The hills along the Sheyenne River in the northeast corner of the county seemed to appear bold and clear and beyond these hills Sheyenne appeared at the horizon.  This strange phenomenon was usually seen on a clear and frosty morning before nine o'clock when the weather had suddenly moderated from extreme cold to the beginning of a bright warm day.  In the summer one would often pass over a small hill or ridge when driving and see what appeared to be a lake at a distance of a mile or so but which would later suddenly disappear and on reaching the spot he would find it absolutely bone‑dry.

We saw the most beautiful rainbows in Wells County in the early days.  The rainbow is caused by refraction and reflection of the sun's rays on drops of falling rain.  The density of the green fields and the prairies blended with the hues of the sky so that every prismatic color and tinge was brought out in its most beautiful manner and with the Coteaus for a background made a most beautiful sight.

Sun‑dogs were usually indicative of extreme cold weather, while halos around the sun or moon were apt to warn of approaching storms.
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The Gulls

The many gulls that followed the breaking plows in pioneer days, soaring and circling around in an excited manner over the breaking outfits, sashaying about in the air, swooping suddenly to catch the bugs, grubs, worms and grasshoppers in the newly made furrows, awning up again and sailing on ahead only to repeat their actions, were the Franklin Gulls.  They are named in honor of Sir John Franklin, the noted English Arctic explorer who with all members of his expedition sailing in the British ship Resolute perished above the Arctic Circle while searching for the North Pole 

 The Franklin gulls plumage is white with a grayish mantle.  A dark slate colored hood covers the neck and head.  The wings are tipped with black, and a pale exquisite rose blush is seen on the white under parts.  They fly with their wings tilted in all degrees, vertical, horizontal and angled.  They are of the prairie variety and the Dakota prairies in early days were their nesting places although they range over the dry prairies and marshy lakes north of the barren lands of Canada and winter in Central and South America.  They build their nests in marshy places. The nests partly floating easily rocked by the ripples of the waves. Besides their usefulness in ridding the prairies of insects, their tameness and familiarity was pleasing. Their eggs are a drab blue, heavily marked in black.
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Killdeer

The Killdeer or upland plover was noisy and restless and always flying about.  It is marked with a white and black ring around its neck and a white band and a black band across its breast.  It is always emitting its shrill cry, "killdee, killdee" when rising or alighting, and has a trait of holding or stretching its long wings up above the back when it alights as if to get the wrinkles out before gently folding them.

The long‑legged Jacksnipes were always near and wading in the ponds.

The robins and meadowlarks were busily engaged in looking for food.

The Leconie or ground sparrow was common.  Its hind head is chestnut and gray.  The sides of its head, throat, breast and blanks are a rich buff; its song is a grasshopper‑like squeaking; its nest is made of grasses in hollows in the ground on the prairies; its eggs are greenish white, thickly speckled with brown.

The Dakota song sparrow has a brown face and throat of black, a white breast, arid its back is buff; in winter the back areas are mottled with gray.  Its song is a series of musical piping whistles.  Its eggs are whitish, thickly spotted with brown.

The buffalo or cowbirds‑ the male is a glossy greenish black with brown heads and the females are a dull gray‑ were commonly seen, sedately walking about the cattle often perched on their backs.  They are the only birds that we have that neither build a nest nor care for their young.  The female slyly deposits her eggs in the nest of a small bird when the owner is absent, leaving further care of it to the new owner.  These birds become very tame and they have been known to light on a person's shoulder and eat crumbs from their hands.

The snowbirds of winter were ever present in small flocks, and were busy flying about and seeking kernels of grain for food.  Many of the settlers adopted the Norwegian custom of placing a sheaf of oats or wheat on a pole in the barnyard for food for their feathered friends.

The prairie chickens were numerous.  It was a pretty sight in the early morning to see the males of a large covey congregate, drumming and strutting about emitting their "boom, boom, boom".  They had a way of stretching their heads and ruffling their tail feathers so that at a short distance it was impossible to tell which end their heads were on and which way they would go when they began to drum.  People often found this good sport to bet on which was the head end of the bird and which way they would go when they started to strut‑ it was amusing sometimes to see the bird start out in the opposite direction from what was expected and under a delusion that he was backing up.  The hens made a noise similar to a lady's laugh.

The grebe, commonly known as the helldiver or swan angel, was common, and always found alone in some secluded spot in a rush bordered slough or pond where it had its, water‑soaked nest.  Its cry was "sou‑pump" and it always lightened its avoirdupois as it rose on the wing.

The coots or mud hens were common around every mud hole or shallow lake.  They were not fit for food and were more bold than ducks.  The mother coots would often swim about with their brood perched on their backs and when they wanted them to learn to swim they forced them into the water by flapping their wings.

The whooping cranes flew fast and very high and in a straight line.  They could glide for long distances without any apparent movement of the wings.  Their call was a guttural sound which was heard as distinctly at a distance as when near at hand.
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Gophers

Gopher is a French name and means any burrowing animal.  There are three kinds of gophers found on the North Dakota prairies, gray, pocket and striped.  The gray gopher is most numerous and a pest to the grain fields: They have a habit of standing up on their haunches at frequent intervals and giving a sharp, quick whistle.  With each whistle their tails flip up and down and as they disappear into their burrows they give a quick whistle and flip of the tail which gives them the name flicker‑tail.  The Dakota Indians called them Pinsa.  They are classified as the Richardson ground squirrel.

The striped gophers have a dozen light and dark stripes on a yellowish background which extend the whole length of their backs.  The pocket gophers live in burrows slightly underground and live on roots and herbs.

The jackrabbits were always springing up which the dogs would chase until caught or the rabbit succeeded in hiding under the newly turned furrow.

The badgers are common and their holes were many and sometimes meant pitfalls for the teams to flounder in.

The grasshoppers and the butterflies of many hues added color to these nature settings in the wild of the prairie lands, and the caroling of the birds made music everywhere.
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Geese

A frequent sight in those days, always to be remembered, were the large flocks of wild geese that nested each summer around the lakes and sloughs and fed during the fall in the stubble fields.  Sections of land were covered white as snow with the density of these flocks.  Hunters often built "blinds"
in the fields and used decoys to attract the geese; but more often they would hunt with a horse and buggy‑ working in as close as possible to the flocks and when the geese started to rise on the wing, run under them and begin shooting broadcast.  A bag of 25 or 30 geese was not an unusual occurrence.  Canadian gray geese or "honkers" were also common.

There were many kinds of wild duck, including the Mallards (greenheads), pintails, teals, redheads, blue gills, canvasbacks, shovelers or spoonbills.

Also grouse, prairie chickens, Killdeers, Jacksnipes, cormorants, pelicans, crows, swans, blue herons, loons, grebes, coots, hawks, owls, screech owls, snowy owls, eagles, night hawks, buzzards, sand hill and whooping cranes.  The quacking and squawking of the ducks and geese around the watering places during the nesting periods was almost deafening at times in the early years.

There were many kinds of birds: The Dakota song sparrow, the ground sparrow, the snow‑blake, the bobolink, the buffalo‑bird, the whip‑por‑will, the catbird, the robin, the meadow lark, several varieties of blackbirds, including the red‑winged and yellow‑headed kinds, lark bunting, often erroneously called the white‑winged blackbird, the oriole, skylark, lapland longspur, bluebird, White winged junco, wren, thrush, blue jay, wild yellow canary, Franklin gull, and morning dove.

The common garter snake and the lizard were the only local representatives of the reptile family.  Field mice were common but rats were unknown until later.  Bats were often seen.

The Pasque flowers appear in early spring.  Its blossoms soon gave the prairie the appearance of a dense, pale purple colored velvet carpet.  To see these downy flowers pushing up through fresh falls of snow on protected hillsides was always a pleasant and welcome harbinger of spring for they brought delight to the prairies before the last winter winds had roared farewell.

Opinions differ as to how the Pasque flower received its name.  Some say that before the Gregorian revision of the calendar that it was the most abundant flower at Eastertide; hence its name.  Others claim that it was so named because a dye for coloring Easter eggs was obtained from it.  Some call it Sone Lily.  The Indians call it the Twinflowers because they say that when it appears spring is born.  It is commonly but erroneously called the crocus.

Some of the plants that were used for medicines were: (roots only) Pasque flower, boneset or Indian sage, black or pussy willow, burdock, chokecherry, common yarrow, dandelion, horse mint, Indian psychic, poison ivy, ragweed, rosin plant, Seneca or snake root, the root of the cone flower, wild hops, wild mustard, wild peppermint.
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Mosquito

Another prairie product is the mosquito.
 There was a yellow variety with striped legs that attained nearly twice the size of the small black ones and they were found in great numbers.  They were ever ready for battle and well equipped with a forty‑two centimeter boring apparatus which resulted in a bearing down sensation that was never appreciated by the tenderfoot.

Mosquito hawks with their large transparent wings were ever busy darting over the prairies in pursuit of their prey.  Bumblebees and flying ants were common but fleas were unknown.  The prairie grass was filled with bugs: crickets, beetles, Potato bugs were numerous, and many anthills were found.

Every pond and slough filled with water in the spring and remained so until mid‑summer, which gave the frogs an ideal habitation and their croaking at evening time was loud and joyous.  This, with the crickets chirping all around while the lightning bugs were flying about emitting their electric flash, made a happy and colorful setting for the end of a perfect day.

The pioneer settlers usually had a buffalo skull or two stuck up around their shack and a pair of antlers nailed up over the door or window.  Many of them had their shanties lined with different kinds of skins and furs and bordered with striped gopher hides and other skins.  Badger, coyote, and fox hides were commonly used for rugs and cushions.

A pioneer custom always followed by many of the settlers, was to keep a lighted lamp burning near the window facing the road during a blizzard or extremely cold weather, so that anyone lost on the prairies might be guided to shelter and to safety by this beacon light at night.  Some times lighted lanterns were placed on high poles and kept burning each night during a storm period.

The mere fact that one could look as far as the eye could reach in every direction for miles and miles and know that there was no habitation beyond, especially when the terrible prairie fires or fierce blizzards were raging‑ left a strange feeling and a peculiar fascination akin to the courting of danger which will never again be felt or realized by anyone.

Digging 150 bushel per acre on N. Loesch farm, Melville, 1922
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Establishment of County as Government
The Origins of Foster County

Foster County was established by an act of the Tenth Dakota Territorial Legislature in Yankton on January 4, 1873.  This act partitioned the eastern two thirds of the territory into rectangular blocks containing 42 to 56 townships.  Foster County and its 42 townships lay just north of the 11th Standard Parallel and between the 8th and 9th Guide Meridians and comprised Ranges 60 to 66 of Townships 145 to 150 inclusive.  The county name was derived from that of a resident of the territory since 1864, James F. Foster, the Commissioner of Immigration for the territory.  The land was not yet open for homesteading since the township boundaries and section lines had not yet been surveyed or marked.

At this early date there were very few settlements in the northern part of the territory except in the Red River Valley and along the Northern Pacific Railroad which had just been built across the state.  In 1881 Griggs County was organized and to give Cooperstown a more central location the two eastern ranges of townships in Foster County, 60 and 61, were split off.  The southern 8 townships became a part of Griggs and the northernmost 4 were added to Nelson County.  In compensation for the loss of these townships two Ranges, 67 and 68, 12 townships, were taken from Gingras, now Wells County, and consolidated with then unorganized Foster County.

By 1882 the Jamestown and Northern Railroad branch line north from Jamestown had penetrated into Foster County as far as Carrington where the first settlements were made in 1882.  The area around it had just been surveyed and opened for homesteading on March 1, 1883.  The residents and homesteaders of the then booming area petitioned Nehemiah Ordway the Governor indicating their desire to organize the county and requested him to appoint three residents to serve as commissioners.  The governor signed the enabling act on September 17, 1883 and appointed E.W. Brenner, Horace M. Clark and Lyman M. Casey to act as commissioners.  The first two were residents of the northern part of the county, Casey of the Carrington and Casey Land Company, a resident of Carrington.  They met for the first time on October 11, 1883 in the real estate office of Appleby and Urquhart, real estate agents in Carrington with Will J. Urquhart as secretary pro tem.

Foster County was now a functioning governmental unit and commissioners proceeded to designate Carrington as the provisional county seat until the succeeding general election.  The legally mandated offices were filled by appointment: Register of Deeds; William D. Nickeus who was also County Clerk, O.G. Meecham, treasurer, J. Morley Wyard, Public Printer, Official Newspaper; The Carrington News, Assessor; C.W. Culver, Superintendent of Schools; the Rev. Hiram Cornish, Judge of Probate; H.A. Soliday, Coroner; Willis H.B. Eisenhuth, County Attorney; E.W. Camp.  All of these were from Carrington or nearby except Culver who was from New Rockford and Cornish from Tiffany.  In these early days there was no auditor.  The salaries of the various officers were not stated except in the case of the Attorney who was allowed $400 a year and the County Superintendent $50.

Rooms of the second floor of Robert Hunter's building and in the McLain Building on Main Street were rented as temporary offices.  Furniture was purchased for the offices together with a ton of coal for heat.  A seal and a safe to store the records were ordered.  When received the bill for the seal was $15 and for the safe $467.60.

Constables and Justices of Peace for the various localities were named after they had procured satisfactory bonds.  The Register of Deeds was empowered to copy the records of the legal transactions of the Foster County area which had already been recorded in the Stutsman County Courthouse.  The county was divided into three commissioner's Districts: 
No. 1, 14 townships, the southern two tiers including Carrington, 
No. 2, the northwest 12 townships including New Rockford and 
No. 3, the remaining 16 townships in the northeast where Tiffany was located
On October 23, 1883 the commissioners divided the county into school townships corresponding to the most part to the Congressional townships.  The numbering of the townships commenced with No. 1, Township 145, Range 62 (now Eastman) in the southern corner of the county and continued back and forth across the county.  Melville was No. 5, Carrington No. 10, and Birtsell No.‑20.  Townships 7 and 8, Hawksnest and Bilodeau in Range 68, were soon to become a part of the still to be organized Wells County.  These numbers have continued in use to the present day to designate the school districts.

As soon as the organization of the county was complete one of the first orders of business was the regulation of the liquor traffic.  On January 7, 1884 the commissioners set the fee for a license for the sale of liquor at $500 per year and required also that a bond be accompanied with at least two sureties in the penal sum of $500 certifying to the county that a strict obedience of the laws now in existence or enacted during the term of the license and the payment of all fines imposed by the courts for violation.  Licenses were to be issued for not less than six months.  The first license with the required bond was issued to Eugene Foley and James Clair; the second went to Myron Miller of Melville.  Nine more liquor licenses were issued during the year.

Roads and bridges were also a concern of the commissioners.  Petitions were received and approved for the construction of bridges across the James River at New Rockford and at Larrabee and across the Pipestem and for a road from Carrington to Tiffany.  Work on all these was at least started in the summer of 1884.

During the summer of 1883 or 1884 the railroad tracks were laid as far as Sykeston 12 miles to the west.  Settlement of the land in that area had begun through the promotions of the Richard Sykes Land Company.  Already there were enough settlers and homesteaders on hand to petition for the organization of another county.  Dispute over the location of the county line arose from the rivalry of the Carrington and Casey Land Company and the Sykes interests farther west.  The new Wells County wanted the two ranges of townships, 67 and 68, which had been taken from Gingras County and added to Foster County when Griggs County was formed.  Without these townships the new county seat, Sykeston, would have been situated at the extreme eastern edge of the county.  Both sides were probably abetted by the Northern Pacific Immigration Agents who were anxious to bring more and more settlers into the area.  Two counties looked better than one.  The final solution was a compromise: Range 68 was restored to Wells while Range 67, comprising Longview, Wyard and Birtsell Townships was to remain forever an integral part of Foster County.

Taxes for the year 1885 were levied by the commissioners at the September 1, 1884 meeting: County Fund, 6 mills; Schools, 2 mills; Sinking Fund to pay for outstanding warrants, 2 mills and a $1.50 poll tax was assessed on every male between the ages of 21 and 50.

On the same day the commissioners divided the county in 10 precincts for the coming general election: Larrabee, Melville, Bilodeau, Carrington, Barlow, New Rockford, Tiffany, Donaghue, Tomlinson and Gates.  Shortly thereafter the county attorney called the board's attention to the fact that the commissioners were required to reside in the district they represented and that several of the precincts out across the boundaries of the commissioners' districts.  On October 2 the commissioners redefined the precincts and created a new one, Hellwig, Townships 149 and 150 in Range 65 out of Tiffany precinct and adjusted the boundaries of several others.  This revision would be of no particular importance except for the prominent part this precinct was to play in the coming election.

The 1884 presidential election was a mud-slinging contest between Republican James G. Blaine and Democrat Grover Cleveland.  The latter was attacked as the candidate of the party of "Rum, Romanism and Rebellion".  Cleveland won by a narrow margin of the popular vote and by 219 to 182 electoral votes.  Dakota in 1884 was only an organized territory and not a state.  Consequently the citizens could not participate in the election of the president.

The precincts in each Commissioner's District, the polling places and the judges and inspectors of the election were as follows

First District

Larrabee at the W.H. Larrabee house, W.H. Larrabee, Herbert B. Smith, J.G. Backen
Melville at the schoolhouse in Melville, E.F. Porter, Cary Mayfield, Peter Zink
Carrington at the schoolhouse in Carrington, A.D. Parker, I.H. Flagg, Joseph G. Duff
Bilodeau at the Charles Bilodeau house, Charles Bilodeau, E.A. Van Meter, Spencer Cole
Second District

New Rockford at the schoolhouse in New Rockford, Frank Dunham, A.S. Hadley, Dr. E.S. Miller
Barlow at the F.G. Barlow house, George Estabrook, John G. Schmid, C.B. Branson
Tomlinson at the Tomlinson Post Office, J.M. Patch, M.O. Rollins, O.S. Buell
Gates at the Gates Post Office, Philip Brand, Ole Hendrickson, Samuel Erickson
Third District

Hellwig at the house of Julius Hellwig, Julius Hellwig, August Kehlow, Robert Pomranke
Tiffany at the schoolhouse in Tiffany, N.H. Cornish, J.A. Hickey, William Brown
Donaghue at the house of John F. Donaghue, George E. Woodward, John Doty, Sr., John E. Morris
Nearly 700 votes were cast in the election.  Preliminary figures for the county seat vote were carried in both the Carrington and New Rockford newspapers, these have not been preserved but the Jamestown Alert for Sunday, November 9, 1884 carried stories about the election

"The New Rockford Transcript is jubilant over the result of the election in Foster County especially on the subject of the county seat.  It says that if the Carrington papers need any more proof that the northern part of the county contains the most votes it is furnished in the fact that every candidate who declared themselves opposed to the removal of the county seat were defeated and those in favor of New Rockford elected.  J.W. Hayes, editor of the Transcript was elected superintendent of schools and is well qualified for the office in every essential procedure.
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Foster County Election 

The Foster County News contains the following on the election in Foster County: "As the results come in from the distant points it looks as though on the county seat question that Carrington has been defeated by a small majority of probably 25 or 30 votes.  The result certainly surprised a great many in Carrington, possibly a great many more in New Rockford.  Until the full vote of the county is officially canvassed it does not seem desirable or profitable to discuss the mode on conducting the election or the manner in which the result is at present understood has been accomplished.  It remains to be seen whether or not Carrington has been honorably defeated by New Rockford.  If it is proved to be the case that Carrington has been really outnumbered by a preponderance of voters favoring New Rockford there remains nothing more than simply to congratulate our neighbor on the efforts and the demonstrated fact that New Rockford is indeed the chosen seat of government of the county.  This much may be stated however in the interim some 75 people voted at Tomlinson of whom it is said at least 40 were railroad laborers who from their length of residence had no legal status in the county.  No doubt this matter will be scrutinized.  We cannot afford to lose that which may rightfully belong to us by any such means as this.  Neither can New Rockford afford to obtain a victory in such a questionable manner but we prefer to wait until the canvassing board has pronounced upon the question before discussing this aspect of the case."
The New Rockford Transcript of November 14, 1884 gives the unofficial vote precinct by precinct with the note that the returns for Hellwig precinct were incomplete.  The vote for county seat is reported as follows:

	Precinct 
	For Carrington
	For New Rockford

	Carrington 
	170
	10

	New Rockford 
	3 
	106

	Tomlinson 
	½
	75 ½

	Gates
	12
	31

	Bilodeau
	10
	11

	Melville 
	88
	1

	Barlow 
	30
	6

	Donaghue
	1
	27

	Tiffany 
	1
	55

	Larrabee
	10
	3

	Hellwig 
	
	34

	Total 
	325 ½
	359 ½


New Rockford appears to have won by a substantial majority.  It seems, however, as mentioned in the Alert story that the total vote is higher than might have been expected for an area that had been settled for no more than two years.  For example, the Barlow precinct, consisting of three well-settled townships, polled only 36 votes while Tomlinson, of about two townships north of the James River and Hellwig, two townships also north of the river, had 80 and 34 electors respectively.

According to the unofficial returns in the New Rockford Transcript for November 14, 1884 the total of the votes cast for each of the various candidates for county officers was:

	Commissioner, First District
	

	Soliday
	125

	Jordan
	60

	Commissioner, Second District
	

	Braman (incomplete)
	

	Commissioner, Third District
	

	Henderson
	481 ½

	Buell
	96 ½

	Flint 
	78

	Register of Deeds
	

	Canfield
	350

	Waring
	335

	District Attorney
	

	White
	287

	McHugh
	360

	Superintendent of Schools
	

	Hayes
	448 ½

	Faequer
	223 ½

	Judge of Probate
	

	Cleary
	436

	Cochrane 
	213

	Treasurer
	

	Meacham
	313 ½

	Leavenworth
	438 ½

	Assessor
	

	Neasmith 
	381 ½

	Culver 
	30

	Sheriff
	

	Hall
	581

	McDermott
	104

	Surveyor
	

	Chausse
	302

	More
	19

	Heinze
	140

	Coroner
	

	Lewis
	524 ½

	Templeton
	65 ½


In the same issue of the Transcript, November 14, the editor and successful candidate for superintendent of school editorializes at length:

"From its inception to the time of the election there was more strongly opposed by the north part of the county than the primary.  Now we doubt whether there are stronger opponents to the system than those who first advocated and fought for it.  That Carrington beat itself by the primaries cannot be denied.  In the election of October 11 they attempted to gobble up everything, would not give north a single officer.  One of her papers decried the distribution of officers but as time rolled by it is clearly shown that it meant only distribution to Carrington and Melville.  With such a spirit so strongly shown in the primary the north was thoroughly aroused and determined by all fair means to get a redress for such outrageous and the ring is broken.

"One of the bitterest enemies of the north and especially of New Rockford and our candidate is elected but it is only through the magnanimity of the north.  Strenuous efforts were made to down every northern man.  The result is that every northern man is elected, three, Neasmith, Cleary, and Hayes, by a large majority.  Though it is elected by a small majority the greatest victory for the county office and for the candidate for register of deeds, Chauncy C. Canfield.  All the odds were against him.  But the victory that overtops them all is that for county seat.  New Rockford has a county seat by a 29 majority.  Carrington has made efforts to lead us to believe that she had 250 votes and that Melville had 150.  The combined vote of the two makes only a little more than the first number.  She told us we had but 30 votes which statement might have caused us to feel sick …"
No record of the October 11 primary election mentioned in the editorial has been found in the commissioners' proceedings or elsewhere.

Two members of the old Board of County Commissioners, Casey and Brenner, acting as a canvassing board met as required by law 18 days after the election but only met in Carrington on November 19, 1885, to canvass the votes.  Horace M. Clark of New Rockford, representing the Second District did not appear to be present at the proceedings.  The final results certified to the territorial officials and the county Commissioners were quite different from the unofficial tabulation in the Transcript.  Chauncy Canfield had lost his bid for Register of Deeds to Bruce Waring of Carrington and Carrington, not New Rockford, was the voters' choice for county seat!  The Commissioners' minutes contain the report of the canvassing board:

Proceedings of the Board of Canvassing in Session November 19, 1884

Territory of Dakota)
County of Foster   )ss.
On Wednesday the 19th day of November 1884 being the 15th day after the close of the general election of officers in and for said county I, Will Nickeus, county clerk in and for said county took for my assistance at my office in the town of Carrington a majority of the Board of County Commissioners in and for said county to wit: Lyman R. Casey, Chairman of said board and Ernest W. Brenner, none of said persons named being candidates for office at said election, as canvassing board the returns and to make abstracts of the votes cast at said election as provided by law. All the returns of said election on file at my office being then and there opened and abstracts made there of as provided by law.  The results of said canvass were as follows:

Delegates

	Delegates
	

	Oscar F, Gifford
	654

	John R. Wilson
	80

	J.B. Raymond
	3

	Council
	

	Johnson Nickeus
	551

	Charles Richardson
	468

	James Bellows
	62

	W.E. Jones 
	30

	Register of Deeds
	

	Bruce Waring
	334

	Chauncy T. Canfield 
	318

	Will D. Nokeus
	6

	District Attorney
	

	Heber McHugh 
	361

	Charles L. White
	290

	County Assessor
	

	George E. Neasmith
	330 ½

	C.D. Barwell
	188 ½

	B.J. Holcomb
	1

	C.H. Culver 13
	13

	Judge of Probate
	

	Joseph Cleary 
	436

	C.C. Cochrane 
	213

	Sheriff
	

	Ralph Hall
	548

	J.H. McDermott 
	103

	Coroner
	

	C.D. Lewis
	524 ½

	John A. Templeton
	96 ½

	J. O'Leary
	11

	A.M. Greeley 
	1

	E.F. Porter 
	1

	Treasurer
	

	E.S. Leavenworth
	436 ½

	O.G. Meacham 
	215 ½

	Superintendent
	

	J.W. Hayes 
	392 ½

	William Farquer 
	251 ½

	C.D. Lewis
	1

	J.D. Hayes
	2

	County Surveyor
	

	Walter Chausse
	394

	Walter B. Moore
	41

	H. Heinz 
	137

	P.B. Tilden
	3

	Commissioner, First District
	

	H.A. Soliday
	201

	Lamonte Durbrow 
	98

	R.C. Jordan 
	

	Commissioner, Second District
	76

	Paul G. Brauman
	76

	E.W. Brenner
	3

	Commissioner, Third District
	

	E. Hendrickson
	52 ½

	W.H. Fling
	78 ½

	O.S. Buell
	96 ½


"The following are listed as certificates of election by me then and there made.  The town of Carrington having a majority of all the votes cast in said county at said election for county seat I made a certificate in due form to the Board of Commissioners that said town of Carrington was the county seat of said county and for county officers as follows:

	Bruce Waring
	Register of Deeds

	Heber McHugh
	District Attorney

	George E. Neasmith
	Assessor

	Joseph Cleary
	Judge of Probate

	C.D.U. Lewis
	Coroner

	Ralph Hall
	Sheriff

	E.S. Leavenworth
	Treasurer

	J. W. Hayes
	Superintendent of Schools

	Walter Chausse
	Surveyor

	H.A. Soliday
	Commissioner, First District

	Paul J. Brauman
	Commissioner Second District

	O. S. Buell
	Commissioner, Third District

	Porter Churchill
	Justice of Peace

	John Loudon
	Justice of Peace

	John C. Warner
	Justice of Peace

	A.C. Halsey
	Justice of Peace

	John F. Donaghue
	Constable

	T.W. Baker
	Constable

	John Harrington
	Constable


Signed Will D. Nickeus 

County Clerk"
In the New Rockford Transcript for November 18, 1884 the editor comments on the action of the canvassing board.  He begins by quoting from the Carrington News

"We do not know that there is any particular necessity for jubilation over the results of the official canvass and its bearing upon the county seat.  Carrington had the capital of the county.  That really seems to be about all there is to be said.  In the meantime Carrington claims to have conducted the election honestly and the finale was simply what we expected, namely, that Carrington retains the county seat from the News (Carrington)"
Continuing the Transcript editor presents his views

"Really, now how modest he is.  No particular reason or necessity for jubilation.  How strange it is that the News does not care to state the manner in which Carrington was declared the county seat.  It is not worthwhile, he thinks, it would not lie or steal yet countenanced one of the worst steals ever committed.  The News is satisfied that the county vote was in favor of Carrington regardless of how such a declaration was brought about.  This made it accessory to a terrible crime.  We heard it said on the day of the canvas that the Newsman stated that he washed his hands of the action of the canvassing board that day but it was all a mistake.  Its assent to this action and its sense of shame goes only so far that it will not publish the manner in which the county was declared.  When the News declared that Carrington had the majority of bona fide votes it heaps insult on the majority of votes stating that it was believed but cannot be proved.  They say that a number of railroad men voted illegally.  It can be said with just as much reason that these votes were not illegal and have no right to be judge in the matter and give decisions before proof is advanced.  Such scandalous reports as have been made in the Carrington paper have been patiently endured.  The cry was natural and was to be expected.  Carrington endeavored to get out that railroad vote itself and failed so it is perfectly natural that they should kick.  An outrageous steal was made and resulted that Carrington holds the county seat for a short time if it can take any enjoyment for the honors obtained as they were then there.  There is more depravity in its midst than some have given due.  'Tis short lived we rest in security that right will be maintained at no distance time.  We can scarcely pity those execrations that rest and will forever rest on the thieves.'  "
If the depth of feeling expressed by the editor of the New Rockford newspaper is at all indicative of the sentiments of the northern part of the county it seems that some drastic action was inevitable.  It is unfortunate that the contemporary newspapers for the ensuing months have not been preserved.  They may have given some indication as to the reason for the discrepancies in the count of the votes for county seat.  It should be pointed out that the railroad men mentioned were probably the laborers engaged in the construction of the tracks of the Jamestown and Northern Railroad being laid north from New Rockford towards Leeds.  The eligibility of these temporary residents was certainly questionable.

A partial and probably biased account of what may have happened at the meeting of the canvassing board appeared two years later in an editorial in the Transcript for October 1, 1886.  The editor was opposing the candidacy of Lyman R. Casey who was running for election as representative in the Territorial Legislature from the district comprising Foster and Eddy counties.  The lengthy editorial is quoted in full:

"In our last issue we promised our readers a little of the record of Lyman R. Casey, the man Foster County would ask us to support as representative for the legislative district.  The history we promised is nothing new to many of our readers only a slight reference to the facts in the case will bring it clearly before them again.

"This time we have reference to the public life of Mr. Casey about two years ago when he was chairman of the board of commissioners of the county.  The question of locating the county seat was then agitating the public mind and the election was called to decide whether New Rockford or Carrington was to be the future hub of Foster County.  The political wire pullers of both towns were doing their utmost to gain supremacy and frauds were reported in both opposing factions but the greatest and by far the boldest fraud, a fraud which had it been prosecuted instead of compromised would have undoubtedly caused the Foster candidate to have been asking for freedom from iron bars and a striped suit rather than for legislative honors at the present time.

"The part that Mr. Casey took in this contest was a most important one.  When the election was over the ballot boxes of the different precincts were taken to Carrington at which place the County Commissioners were to review the count.  In the morning of the day that the county was to be reviewed Mr. Casey and one of the other commissioners with Mr. Dodge of Jamestown and a few others of like ilk secured the ballot boxes for several precincts and long before daylight retired to a private room locked and barred the door so effectively as to exclude all other persons.  At the regular hour of the meeting of the board and at the time agreed upon at the former meeting for the review of the ballots the third commissioner as at hand but was denied admission and quietly informed that his services were not required on this particular occasion.  Many demands were made for admission but all met with refusal until after the count had been finished and the Hellwig precinct thrown out and Carrington declared the county seat.  The count of Hellwig's ballots would have changed the result of the election and lost the county seat to Carrington.  On pretense of fraud Lyman R. Casey, the man asking for a position of honor or trust in our hands, appointed himself judge, jury and chief executor and declared the vote of that precinct forfeited without even a pretended investigation or the slightest knowledge of the validity of a vote.

"This is not all, the Hellwig ballot box was afterwards demanded of Mr. Casey by the law but he refused to produce it and we have not the slightest doubt that the upright and honorable gentleman had broken the box and destroyed the ballots of the Hellwig precinct, thus disenfranchising as honorable and intelligent a class of citizens as cast a ballot in the bounds of this territory, which act was afterward compromised for by a division of the county.  The facts existing as they do, could any person with the slightest regard for honor or justice ask the people of Eddy County to support such a man?"
A comparison of the unofficial returns as published in the Transcript and the votes certified by the county commissioners indicate that there is at least a grain of truth in the editor's story and allegations.  If the county for Hellwig is subtracted from the unofficial totals the vote for county seat becomes: Carrington 331 1/2, New Rockford 325 1/2.  Carrington wins!  These diminished totals differ from the official tally by exactly one vote for each city.

Further examination of the returns for some of the candidates for county offices also suggests that the Transcript allegations are not too far a field.  For example, the unofficial tally for Register of Deeds gives Canfield 350 and Waring 335 votes while the official abstract shows Canfield 318 and Warring 334.  The respective difference 32 and 1 are only one vote off from the unofficial figures on Hellwig Precinct.  Similar differences obtained for the other candidates but it is only in the case of the county seat and Register of Deeds where the missing votes would have changed the election rules.

The ‑ newly elected Board of County Commissioners were scheduled to meet for the first time on December 3, 1884 but only Soliday was at hand.  Consequently no business could be transacted since two members of the board are required for a quorum.  Braman from the second district put in an appearance the following day and was chosen to act as temporary chairman.

The first order of business was the approval of the bonds for the several newly elected county officials.  The ' next was the adoption of the following resolution:

"Whereas the Canvassing Board of Foster County decided that Carrington had the majority of votes at the election of November 5, 1884, be it resolved Carrington be the County seat of Foster County and the sheriff is and is hereby ordered to put in place notice of said election of Carrington at several places in each precinct of the county on or before December 19, 1884."
No other business was transacted and the meeting was adjourned to meet again on January 5, 1885.

The commissioners' minutes are silent as to the goings on in the northern half of the county during the early months of 1885, but on March 9 of that year the Legislative Assembly of the Territory of Dakota approved an "Act Creating Eddy County and Defining its Boundaries."  The first three sections of the act define the boundaries of the two counties as they exist today and designate Carrington and New Rockford as the county seats.  The fourth and fifth sections state that the question of the creation of Eddy County and the division of Foster County is to be submitted to the voters at a special election to be held on March 31, 1885.  The ballots contained a single question: "For the creation of Eddy County and the division of Foster County, "Yes" and the same question again with the answer "No".  A simple majority was all that was needed.  The results were to be canvassed by the county clerk, treasurer and judge of probate of Foster County and the abstract of votes submitted to the Territorial authorities.  If the vote is in favor of the division the Territorial Governor will appoint three commissioners for the new Eddy County and only two for Foster since Soliday would be a resident of the divided Foster County.  The remaining sections of the act provided that the Register of Deeds of the new county copy pertinent records from the register of deeds office, and that the division of the indebtedness was to be in proportion to the assessed valuation of the counties.  The tenor of the entire act is such that it appears to be a ratification of the secession that had already been agreed upon by residents of Foster and Eddy County, more particularly by the latter.

All three commissioners, Buell, Braman and Soliday were present at the first meeting of the new year.  Buell was elected chairman.  A great deal of routine business had accumulated since the last meeting and three days were, required in approving liquor licenses, paying salaries, and the rent on the county offices scattered in various buildings in Carrington.  At the next scheduled meeting, February 4, only Soliday was present, the same was true on February 18 until Braman appeared in the afternoon.  At this meeting the bid of J. Morley Wyard to do county printing was accepted and various bills were allowed.  There was no quorum at the next meeting again only Soliday was at hand.  Braman appeared at the meeting of April 7; the only business he and Soliday transacted was the approval of three liquor licenses.
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Surveying the County

Foster County in east central North Dakota near the northern boundary of the Louisiana Purchase was acquired from France in 1803 for $3,000,000.  The huge tract comprised all of the land between the Mississippi River and the Rocky Mountains except for Texas.

Since the land other than that which was to become the state of Louisiana had never been surveyed, this step was necessary before the vast expanses could be opened for settlement.

The survey was begun in 1815 using a system or procedure devised by Thomas Jefferson and first used in the survey of the Northwest Territory.  Starting from a Base Line and a Prime Meridian the land was laid out in townships six miles on each side lying squarely within the true N, W, S and E directions.  The townships are numbered in sequence north or south from the Base Line and in Ranges east or west from the Prime Meridian.  For example, Carrington Township is described as "Township 146, Range 66 west of the Fifth Prime Meridian".
The townships in turn are divided into 36 sections each containing 640 acres.  The sections can, as necessary, be further subdivided into 160-acre quarters and so on into 40's and 80's.  The sections are numbered starting with section 1 at the northeast corner and continuing alternately left and right to 36 at the southeast corner.

Since the section lines and guide meridians running true north and south converge slightly to the north due to the curvature of the earth additional base lines (standard parallels) are laid out at 24-mile intervals north and south of the Base Line.  Similarly auxiliary (Guide) meridians are laid out every 42 miles east and west along the standard parallels.  In making the survey the section lines are run so that all the deficits in area due to convergence of the north‑south lines were thrown into the sections along the west and north boundaries of the township which are termed the "auditor's lots."
The starting point for the survey of the Louisiana Purchase is located in southern Arkansas.  This point, where the Fifth Standard Meridian and the Base Line intersected, was established in 1815.  As the years went on the survey was extended north and west through Arkansas, Missouri, Iowa, Minnesota, South Dakota east of the Missouri River and all of North Dakota to the Canadian boundary.

According to an 1879 map of Dakota Territory only the counties along the Red River and the route of the Northern Pacific as far as the Missouri River had been subdivided into sections at the time.  However, in the eastern half of the state all the Standard Parallels and the Guide Meridians were marked in the early 1870's.  In Foster County the 11th Standard Parallel, the southern boundary of the county was surveyed in September 1873.

Stakes were placed at half-mile intervals at the section corners and at the quarter lines.  The Ninth Guide Meridian, the line between Longview Melville, Wyard‑Carrington and Birtsell‑Estabrook townships, was marked out similarly in July and August the following year, 1874.  Probably the members of this surveying party were the first to set foot on what was to be the townsite of Carrington who knew exactly where they were.  The stakes along the Standard Parallel were used by the early settlers, the Zinks, Holcombs and others, who arrived in the area before the section lines had been marked.

Copies of the surveyor's notes for the government survey of Foster County are kept in the Auditor's office and the maps, one for each township, drawn from these notes are in the Register of Deed's map collection.  Each map gives the measured distances in chains (one chain‑ 66 feet and 80 chains ‑ 5280 feet, one mile) of the distance between any two markers different from 80 chains.  The area of each section is given, usually 640 acres, except along the north and west boundaries.  In these sections the exact acreage (parcels, auditor's lots) of the nominal 40 acres along the boundaries is given as well as the total for the section.  The deficiency in acreage of these boundary 40-acre subdivisions is not insignificant.  For example, Section 6 in Birtsell Township at the extreme northwestern corner of county contains only 610.90 acres "according to the government survey thereof."  In other words this section is 4.55 percent smaller than the full size 640-acre section.

All bodies of water, streams with running water and dry water‑courses are shown on the maps, as are swampy areas.  Bodies of water in Township 147, Range 63 (Lake Juanita), Township 145, Range 65 (Lake George) and several others then and now still unnamed in other townships are shown on the map.  The locations of the edges of the lakes (meander lines) are shown together with the acreages of the small (nominally 40 acre) subdivisions which border the lakes.  Numerous smaller watercourses are shown on the maps; most of them were dry at the time of the survey.  Only two of the streams are named: the Dakota (now James across the county) and the Pipestem in Wyard and Longview Townships.  The valley of the Dakota and several other prominent hills are shown by mapmaker's crosshatching but no elevations are indicated.

The map also shows the location of structures, sod houses and shacks and with the occupant's names if any were at home when the surveyors went by.  Some of these recorded names are incorrectly spelled.  Plowed land is indicated wherever encountered.

The only platted settlement shown is Newport in the southeastern corner of Section 36 in Melville Township.  The village of Melville is located farther west in the same section.

The maps also give some idea of the progress of the construction of the Jamestown and Northern branch line north of Jamestown.  In map of Melville Township which was surveyed in late September 1882 the railroad grade had been built across sections 32, 29, and 30, not quite reaching the east boundary of Carrington Township and the Carrington townsite.  Two years later, July 1884, the map of Estabrook Township shows that construction was proceeding north along the west boundary of the township toward the county line.

In Wyard and Longview Townships there are several trails across the prairie going in a generally northwesterly direction, another leads towards the Carrington townsite.  The Jamestown‑Fort Totten Trail is shown following the Dakota River to W.H. Larrabee's place south of Lake Juanita.  The trail then leaves the river to proceed overland northerly into Eddy County toward the Sheyenne River.

Dates of Survey of Subdivisions Foster County Townships

1. T‑145 R‑65 (Bordulac)

1882 July 20 ‑ 28 

2. T‑145 R‑66 ( Melville )

1882 July 23 ‑ August 4 

3. T‑146 R‑67 ( Wyard)

1882 September 22 ‑ 26 

4. T‑145 R‑66 (Carrington) 

1882 September 26 ‑ 30 

5. T‑145 R‑66 (Rose Hill)

1882 September 29‑October 5 

6. T‑147 R‑64 (Larrabee)

1882 October 5 ‑13 

7. T‑146 R‑64 ( Haven )

1882 October 14 ‑ 21 

8. T‑146 R‑63 (Rolling Prairie)
1882 October 23 ‑ 30 

9. T‑145 R‑62 (Eastman)

1882 October 31‑ November 5 

10. T‑147 R‑63 (Florence)

1883 August 23‑September 5 

11. T‑147 R‑67 (Birtsell)

1884 July 19 ‑ 21 

12. T‑147 R‑66 (Estabrook)

1884 July 22 ‑ 24 

13. T‑145 R‑65 (Nordmore )

1884 August 1‑ 3 

14. T‑145 R‑64 ( Bucephalia )
1884 August 5 ‑ 7 

15. T‑145 R‑67 (Longview)

1884 August 11‑13 

16. T‑145 R‑63 (McKinnon)

1884 August 30 ‑ September 3 

17. T‑146 R‑62 ( Glenfield)

1884 September 4 ‑ 7 

18. T‑147 R‑62 (McHenry)

1884 September 13 ‑18
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Planning and Building a Courthouse for Foster County, 1907 ‑1912 

By C. Ross Bloomquist

The present Foster County Courthouse is the second such structure in the county's century of existence.  Created in 1883, Foster County consists of eighteen townships and is located in central North Dakota; Carrington, the county seat, is only six miles from the western boundary.  The county's first courthouse, a frame building erected in 1887, was located in the "center of town" adjacent to the Northern Pacific Railway station and across the street from the Kirkwood Hotel and the business establishments along Main Street and Fifth (now Central Avenue).  On a sub‑zero night, January 17, 1907, the depot caught fire and burned to the ground.  The courthouse, no more than 50 feet distant, was in imminent danger; fortunately, the winds carried the flames in another direction.

Local residents realized immediately that the courthouse was not a safe depository for the county records, and within a few weeks agitation for an up-to‑date, fireproof courthouse began in earnest.  Several stop‑gap plans were suggested to the commissioners, such as building exterior fireproof vaults or an addition to the building.  Carrington businessmen formed a committee to promote erection of an entirely new courthouse on a different site.  They petitioned the county commissioners to call a special election to approve a $75,000 bond issue for that purpose.  The three commissioners, Wendelin

Zink of Bordulac, Kenneth Ferguson of Rose Hill Township, and Homer S. Ballard of McHenry, unanimously agreed that a new, fireproof courthouse was essential.  A special election on June 28, 1907, was ordered by the commissioners to decide the proposition of approving the issuance of bonds in the amount of $75,000 for a new courthouse and jail.

The Carrington businessmen were enthusiastic supporters of a new courthouse building.  Three weeks before the election twenty agreed to bond themselves in the amount of $2,000 to "convey and deliver" to the county a tract of land consisting of one city block suitable for a courthouse, provided, of course, that the proposed bond issue carried the June 28 election.  However, strong opposition to the bond issue came from residents of the county's eastern townships.  They declared that the cost was too high, but the fact that they were so far distant from the county seat may also have influenced their opinion.  There was no direct railroad connection between McHenry and Carrington, and the 30‑mile trip with horse and buggy consumed two days of travel time.

The election on June 28, 1907, resulted in approval of the bond issue by a narrow margin, 585 to 498.  Clearly, the residents of Carrington carried the day; voters in rural precincts opposed the measure by 2 to 1.  In fact, the county's nine eastern townships were nearly unanimous in voting "no" (17 to 399).
The opposition did not accept the defeat without a fight.  Almost immediately the legality of the election was challenged in court.  On August 7, 1907, Glenfield Township landowner George P. Cross filed a complaint alleging that the present courthouse was adequate and not exposed to extraordinary risk from fire, that the Chairman of the Board of County Commissioners had not signed the resolution ordering the auditor to proceed with the Special Election for the approval of the bond issue, that the wording of the question on the ballot involved two questions (courthouse and/or jail) and the voter could therefore not exercise any independent choice, and that the proposal of the Carrington businessmen unduly influenced the voters. Cross asked the Court to restrain the county commissioners from issuing or selling the bonds.  The commissioners, of course, denied all allegations.

The case tried before Judge Charles A. Pollock of the Third Judicial District at Fargo.  The plaintiff, George C. Cross, was represented by attorney Sidney E. Ellsworth of Jamestown; in the action Cross was joined by two sureties, Halvor S. Halvorson, and Francis R. Cruden, both from the McHenry area.  Thomas F. McCue of Carrington and Foster County States Attorney John W. White represented the county.  Their arguments led to a decision dated December 28, 1907, in which Judge Pollock held that the Foster County Auditor lacked authority to call the special election because the Chairman of the Board of County Commissioners had failed to sign the authorization at the proper time and place.  Moreover, the Court declared that the election notice and ballot violated the voter's right to make any independent choices.  The decree ignored the other allegations of Cross' original complaint.  It did restrain and enjoin the commissioners from selling the bonds.  The courthouse proposition was dead.

The courthouse proposition did not return to life until May 1909.  Then, a Board of Commissioners consisting of Ferguson, Ballard and new member John Norden of Pleasant Valley called an election for June 29, 1909, to consider the questions of issuing $75,000 in bonds for a new courthouse, jail, and sheriff's residence.  Voter participation in this election was not as large, but the majority in favor of the bond issue was greater, 487 for and 282 against.  The eastern half of the county still opposed the proposition, and some half‑hearted attempts were initiated to obtain an injunction to restrain the commissioners from selling the bonds.  When the matter was put before Judge E.T. Burke of Valley City, he refused to enjoin the bond sale.

The commissioners got to work as soon as the votes were counted.  At a meeting on July 14, 1909, they ordered the auditor to solicit bids for the purchase of the $75,000 bonds.  Only two bids were received and when they were opened on August 14, both were rejected.  The commissioners then negotiated with the Board of University and School Lands, and a deal was consummated on August 28.  The commissioners engaged Buechner and Orth, St. Paul architects, to draw up plans and specifications for the buildings at this meeting.

The plans submitted by Buechner and Orth were a simplified version of those the firm had already developed for courthouses in Traill and McHenry counties; the resulting building differed only in ornamentation and minor details from other courthouses built in North Dakota and elsewhere between 1904 and 1928.  All were inspired by the Beaux Arts Classical Revival developed for the World's Columbian Exposition of 1892‑93 in Chicago.
The building that resulted from the plans, the Foster County Courthouse, is a strictly symmetrical structure, 91 feet 6 inches by 62 feet 8 inches, with the tip of the finial of the central dome approximately 83 feet above grade level.  The two‑story with raised basement building is constructed of reinforced concrete, a method of construction used for the first time in the city.  The exterior walls from grade level up are faced with buff Hebron brick containing darker flecks.  The pediment over the front entrance facing south is supported on each side by single columns with capitals of mixed style.  The architect's sketch also shows clock faces on the four sides of the octagonal drum supporting the dome, but they were not included in the final specifications.  The light coming through the drum windows and the circular apertures at the base of the dome falls into the rotunda through a central skylight of stained glass in shades of green and brown.  The skylight is surrounded by four oil paintings depicting the early history of the county.

The precise symmetry of the exterior is carried over to the interior of the first floor.  Short corridors lead east and west from the spacious rotunda to the offices of the Auditor, treasurer, County Judge, Clerk of Court, and Registrar of Deeds.  The last has a smaller adjoining room for abstracters, and a Commissioners' Room is placed at the opposite end of the corridor between the treasurer's and Auditor's offices.  The entire west side of the second floor is the courtroom, with judge's chambers and jury room along the north side.  Offices for the Superintendent of Schools and the States Attorney occupy the remainder of the floor.

All the corridors and public spaces of the first and second floor have terrazzo surfaces and marble wainscoting.  The east side of the basement floor provides offices for the Justice of Peace and the County Surveyor.  The entire west end is an open space for a public meeting room.  Restrooms and additional storage vaults are also located on this level of the building.

The sheriff's residence and jail, a two‑story structure faced with buff brick matching that of the larger building, stands inconspicuously to the north, but is completely separated from the courthouse.  The northern part of the residence contains living quarters for the sheriff and his family; it is a conventionally‑arranged residence with three bedrooms and bath on the second floor.  The main entrance through a porch is on the north with a rear door on the west side.

The jail is constructed of reinforced concrete with four cells and additional space for the sheriff's office and equipment on the first floor.  A secure space on the second floor is for additional prisoners.  The outside entrance to the jail part of the building is on the east side.  There is no passageway between the jail and the courthouse except through the public corridors of the latter building.  The heating plant for both structures is located in the basement of the jail.  An octagonal stack about 45 feet high stands along the west wall of the building.

On August 28, 1909, the auditor was ordered to advertise for bids for the construction of the courthouse, and jail and sheriff's residence.  Two separate bids were requested: one for the complete structures, including the dome, and one for the dome separately.  Seven bids were opened on October 1, 1909.  For the complete structure, the bids ranged from $73,546 to $60,462; for the dome the highest was $2,600 and lowest $1,250.  The bid from Alex Nelson of Perham, Minnesota, for $59,235 without the dome was accepted.  Although two bids were lower, the commissioners apparently accepted Nelson's because he was ready to start work immediately.  At the same meeting the commissioners also awarded the contract for iron work in the jail to the Diebold Safe and Lock Company for $3,849.

Initially, questions within the city of Carrington about the site cause some discussion.  The old site, though much too small, was considered because even in 1909 no other plot was available near the business district.  A second site on Main Street, west of the Northern Pacific Railway tracks, was offered but after investigation the commissioners found that adjoining property belonged to a speculator.  Charles W. Reichert offered a location in the southeastern part of town for $1.00, but it was also rejected.  Some even suggested building at a rural location elsewhere in the county; this idea, however, led Carrington businessmen to propose to underwrite purchase of a site in the city for no more than $3,000.  The commissioners accepted the offer and decided to build five blocks (one third of a mile) north of the old Main Street courthouse in a virtually empty part of town.

The chosen location consisted of Blocks 103 and 104 in Moore's Addition to the Original Townsite.  The street, Fifth Avenue (now Central Avenue), between the two blocks was vacated by the Carrington City Council to provide a space 300 by 666 feet.  The courthouse was to be placed in -the center of the site so that the front entrance faced south; from the op​posite direction, the building was to appear- sym​metrical with the center of the street.

This location brought much criticism.  Critics thought the site was too far from the center of business activities.  However, the editor of the In​dependent, a little more far-sighted than most, saw the possibilities as soon as the dome was taking shape.  "Nothing definite can be done for several months," he wrote, "The Independent suggests that at a proper time the city officials of Carrington and the property owners along Fifth united to make the avenue a beautiful shaded approach to the new court​house".  He went on to suggest improvements and grading of the dirt street and shade tree plantings, asserting that the courthouse "could make a stately magnificent background for the Appian Way.",

Alex Nelson, the contractor, began excavations for the courthouse in September 1909.  By mid November all foundation work had been completed.  Work was suspended for the Winter, and began again during the first week of April 1910.  Progress was delayed slightly at times due to slow delivery of bricks too, difficulties in obtaining the proper facing brick from the factory necessitated that the commissioners make a trip by train to Hebron.  The selected brick was described as "a slight buff color with large black specks and will give the new building a beautiful appearance."  All problems, however, were overcome.  Early in May a date was chosen for cornerstone laying ceremonies, and programs showing the old and new courthouse struc​tures were sent to every taxpayer in the county.

The cornerstone ceremony was a gala affair at​tended by about 2,000 people on May 25, a warm late Spring day, After opening prayers, music by the New Rockford Cornet Band (the Carrington Band was disorganized and leaderless), and selections by the High School Girls' Chorus, the Reverend Robert Paton of the Congregational Church read a history of Foster County written by early settler Henry A. Soliday.

Edgar R. Bradley, representing the county's eastern townships which had opposed the new court​house, also spoke briefly; he noted that the former opponents would take defeat graciously and remain boosters for the county.  "Grace City," said Bradley, "is engaged in laying out blocks and one had been reserved for courthouse purposes."  To Bradley's way of thinking, "it is only a matter of years when the taxpayers will be called upon to stand the expense of moving the new Temple of Justice to Grace City."
Governor John Burke gave the main address of the day and extolled the virtues and resources of the state.  After the Governor's speech, Homer S. Ballard, Chairman of the Board of County Commissioners, placed the cornerstone.  It contained copies of the five Foster County newspapers, coins of all denominations, and a list of state and county officials.  The names of the county commissioners, the architect, and the contractor are engraved on the stone.  The festivities continued into the evening with a reception for the Governor and his wife, speeches, singing, refreshments, and dancing.

By the summer of 1910, construction had proceeded far enough for the commissioners to bid installation of plumbing and heating, ventilating, electric wiring, and telephone conduits for the new building.  The first bids were all rejected on recom​mendation of "Ed" Buechner, the architect.  New bids were opened on June 24.  John E. Holt of St. Paul was awarded the contract for the heating, ven​tilating, and plumbing for $7,000 and the McQuay Electric Company of Aberdeen, South Dakota, received the contract for the wiring at $737.  The commissioners also authorized Alex Nelson to proceed with the construction of the dome at the bid price of $2,600.  The editor of the Independent agreed with that action, saying "[The] Dome will give the courthouse a much more imposing appearance and will be worth the cost."
By July, the exterior began to take shape, and at least one local writer was most impressed.  "The Coun​ty is getting the very best in material and workman​ship," he commented, and he went on to note that contractor Nelson had refused delivery of the cut granite caps for the entrance pillars because the stonework was incorrect.

The reinforced concrete roof of the courthouse was completed in September and brick work on the dome commenced.  Interior work began at about the same time.  The plastering contract had been awarded to A.S. Randolph of Detroit, Michigan, in July.  Discussion about lighting the building reflected general community feeling that the rates of the local, privately‑owned Western Electric Company were too high; both gas and a private electric light plant were considered, but in the end the decision was made to obtain the electricity from the city light plant.

The last major contract lettings took place on December 10, 1910.  Bids were opened for fixed and movable furniture for the offices and courtroom, electric light fixtures, and decorating.  The Newtown‑Hoit Company of Chicago obtained the furniture contract for $3,937.57; the wood was to be 5-ply golden oak finish throughout.  The electric light fixture contract went to the Lloyd‑Garrett Company for $2,200; this corporation agreed to supply brass work to harmonize with the general scheme of architecture.

The decorating contract was let to Odin T. Oyen of Lacrosse, Wisconsin, for $2,500.  Oyen submitted a plan for interior elevations decorated colorfully, including four oil paintings in the dome.  The Independent described the plans as including a "typical Foster County farm" and "state resources and industry or episodes in the development of the commonwealth."  Other decorating included old gold green color with "fancy scroll work worked around the room for a border with a handsome design on the ceiling," in the courtroom.  The corridors were to be ivory or bronze; the rotunda colors were to be gold and brown, and offices for the county officials were to be decorated in neutral shades.

Another detail involved connection with the city of Carrington's water and sewage systems.  Though probably not part of the original plans, on December 10, 1910, the county surveyor was instructed to draw specifications for the connections; bids were opened on January 20, 1911, and the contract was awarded to George A. Palmer.  The commissioners postponed the work until spring when the ground was no longer frozen.  The connections were finally completed on June 1, 1911.

By the end of 1910 all interior work had been completed except final decorating of the hallways and offices.  One other minor matter, however, escaped the commissioners' attention until offices in the building were about to be occupied.  Then it became evident that all the large windows needed blinds to block glare from the bright winter sun.  The commissioners requested bids for this necessity at the January 3, 1911, meeting.  When the bids were opened on March 9, longtime Carrington furniture and hardware dealer Walker and Company obtained the contract for $250.  The job was finished by the end of the month.  This brief episode marked the only participation by a local concern in constructing, decorating, and furnishing the courthouse.

The sheriff's residence was ready for occupancy in January 1911, and Sheriff James J. Atkins, his wife, and eight‑month‑old son moved in late that month.  Other county officials occupied the courthouse early in February.  Although the accommodations were spacious compared to those in the old building, the other amenities were far from perfect.  The new furniture was not yet at hand, necessitating that the old desks, tables, and files had to be moved in for temporary use.  The sewer and water were not yet connected, and any lighting had to be done with lamps because the electric fixtures were still on the way.  There was only one telephone for the entire staff of officers and deputies and, of course, there were no curtains to shut out the glare of the late winter sun.

As might be expected, there were complaints from the townspeople.  The volume of mail greatly increased; a letter with a two cent stamp was preferable to the walk or drive of five blocks from Main Street since there were no sidewalks and Fifth Street was still unsurfaced.  [Local bus line operator James McCoy offered to furnish special service (by horse drawn cab) to ease the problem during district court sessions.

The deficiencies were handled one by one.  In March the jail cells were completed; the first occupant was Lee Miller, who had been in the Stutsman County Jail awaiting arraignment for the alleged murder of his father, Ezra J.D. Miller, a prominent farmer and inventor of Nordmore Township.  In April the office and courtroom furniture and brass electric fixtures were being installed and the decorators were at work on the rotunda.  Practically all work was finished early in May, and the balances due the contractors except for the jail work were paid.

Perhaps the most striking feature of the courthouse was the rotunda.  In May 1911, the editor of the Carrington Independent published a lengthy description of the newly‑completed segment under the title, "Paintings in Courthouse Dome Portray Four Decades of Progress:"
Foster County's tremendous development in the past four decades has at no time been more forcibly depicted than by the four large oil paintings that have just been put in place in the courthouse.  The first painting shows a band of naked Indians in pursuit of a herd of buffalo, ready for the slaughter with bow and arrow.

Then is pictured the arrival of the first settlers in prairie schooners pulled by oxen bringing the few personal effects of the pioneers who would start the civilization in the county.  A typical farm scene of the homestead period occupies the third position.  The sturdy young farmer is shown plowing the first few furrows in the virgin soil.  In the background is the familiar one‑room shack and nearby is a sod barn.  The fourth painting is one of a present‑day Foster County farm with a comfortable home and a big red barn.  The painting is true to life with the buildings on the T.D. Lewis farm near Bordulac.  Prominently in the foreground is shown a group of peaceful dairy cattle.  The paintings are well‑executed and have been admired by scores of citizens this week.  The work is by [Axel E.]  Soderberg of LaCross Wisconsin.

The balance of the decorating of the dome and rotunda will be finished this week.  Roman gold, ivory and terra cotta are the colors being used in the panels while the four supporting columns of the dome will be finished in imitation of the Masota marble that is used for the wainscoting and base boards in the building.

In the four panels at second floor level mottoes are to be engrossed.  The four selected are:

'With malice toward none, with charity for all.'
'Justice to give every man his own.'
'Without labor nothing prospers.'
'The farmers are the founders of civilization and prosperity.'
The mottoes are quotations of Lincoln, Aristotle, Sophocles, and Webster, respectively.  Illuminated seals of the United States and the State of North Dakota, two each, have been painted on the dome between the panels containing the oil scenes.  The work of the artist that is now being done will give the magnificent new building its crowning beauty."
Final settlement of the heating and plumbing contracts was not made until the systems proved to function properly.  The last finishing touch on the building was probably the installation of the ornamental light standards on either side of the front entrance steps in August 1911.  Landscaping was delayed until the next year when the commissioners contracted with the Northwest Nursery of Valley City to furnish and plant trees and keep them up for two years.  This final act established the modern courthouse grounds and ended construction activity.

There were no ceremonies or an open house to celebrate completion of the new courthouse.  From inception of the idea that a safe, fire‑proof location for the county records was essential to the final landscaping took just a few months over five years.
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Epilogue: The Courthouse in 1982

The Foster County Courthouse is one of the thirteen Buechner and Orth courthouses in North Dakota named to the National Register of Historic Places by the secretary of the Interior in 1980.  The building, both inside and out, has remained virtually unchanged during its 70 years of service to the citizens of the county.  Its stark outlines are now obscured and softened by trees which reach as high as the pediment over the front entrance.  It no longer gives the impression of standing isolated on the flat prairies; residences have been built as close as across the street on two sides.  The exterior brick and stonework show only a minimum of weathering and wear, and there are no obvious cracks or uneven settling of the structure.  The copper sheathing of the dome, now covered with aluminum paint, still shines from the distance on sunny days.

In the interior of the rotunda the four paintings still illustrate the early history of the county, but light from the windows in the dome no longer filters through the stained glass skylight.  The dome has been floored to conserve heat in these energy conscious days.

The four corner offices on the first floor remain as originally shown in the architect's plans, but the sheriff now occupies the space designated for the county judge.  The second floor courtroom furniture - judge's bench, jury box, and spectators' seats, remain exactly as they were when the first term of court was held in the spring of 1911.  The frieze decorating the walls is visible, but somewhat dim.

There have been changes in the functions of the offices on the second and basement floors, but none have involved any structural alteration.  The dark wood framing of the doors and windows, the marble wainscoting, and the terrazzo floors are still in excellent condition.  Original lighting fixtures in the offices have been replaced by more efficient fluorescent lights, except in the courtroom where the brass chandeliers still supply illumination.

Most significantly, none of the offices have become overcrowded by the voluminous county records and no difficulty has been encountered in finding space for county functions not envisioned when the building was planned.  The Social Service offices, the County Extension Office, and the Office of Tax Equalization have been accommodated without disrupting the others.  The Farmers' Room on the ground floor has been reduced to one‑third of its original area by offices and a corridor to the west entrance.  The room finds occasional use as a hearing room and by the state's Motor Vehicle Department for driver's license functions.  A few private organizations hold regularly scheduled meetings there in the evenings.

The building, however, has never become a focal point where people meet spontaneously‑ one visits the courthouse only when one has business to transact.
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Foster County Commissioners 1883 ‑1983

	1883 -1884 
	L.R. Casey, app. 

	
	L.M. Clark 

	
	E.W. Brenner

	1884 -1894 
	A.O. Elder 

	1884 -1888 
	H.A. Soliday 

	1884 -1890 
	F. G. Barlow 

	1890 -1892 
	James King 

	1889 -1890 
	T. N. Putnam 

	1891-1896 
	B.J. Holcomb 

	1894 -1900 
	T.D. Lewis 

	1893 -1902 
	E.T. Halaas 

	1897 -1902 
	J.J. McKechnie 

	1901-1910 
	Wendelin Zink 

	1917 -1924 
	Wendelin Zink 

	1903 -1915 
	Kenneth Ferguson 

	1905 -1910 
	J. C. Warren 

	1911-1915 
	John Norden 

	1911-1911 
	H.S. Ballara 

	1911-1918 
	Marcus Delfs 

	1923 -1931 
	Marcus Delfs 

	1917 -1931 
	J.R. Rusk

	1919 -1922 
	H.H. Pewe

	1925 ‑1933 
	Chris Erickson

	1932 ‑1946 
	John Bruhn

	1932 ‑1942 
	Willie Roaldson

	1933 ‑1940 
	Gilbert Bower

	1940 ‑1948 
	C. W. Jorgenson

	1943 ‑1947 
	Glenn Anderson

	1947 ‑1958 
	Lars Tollefson

	1947 ‑1949 
	G.C. Black, app.

	1949‑1956 
	Math Wetzstein

	1949 ‑1952 
	Claus Otto

	1953 ‑1954 
	Sam Schmid

	1954 ‑1958 
	Zeller Schmid

	1957 ‑1972 
	Ted Kollman

	1959 ‑1978 
	Avolt Grager

	1959 ‑1962 
	Odin Topp

	1963 ‑1965 
	Einer Wold

	1967 ‑1976 
	Lannes Ellingson

	1977 ‑1983 
	LeRoy Johnson

	1973 ‑1983 
	John Murphy

	1979 ‑1982 
	John Scanson

	1983 
	Owen C. Thurlow


Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 149

Foster County Sheriff 1883 ‑1983

	1883 ‑1890 
	Ralph Hall, app. 1882 

	1891‑1894 
	James Derrick 

	1895 ‑1898 
	Nels Sorum 

	1899 ‑1900 
	J.D. McKechnie 

	1901‑1904 
	Nels Sorum 

	1905 ‑1908 
	James Nelson 

	1909 ‑1912 
	James Atkins 

	1913 ‑1916 
	A.E. Morgan 

	1917 ‑1919 
	Theron Cole dc.  1919 Kenneth Ferguson finished the term.  

	1920 ‑1927 
	Allen R. (Pat) Hall

	1925 ‑1928 
	Frank L. Cusack 

	1929 ‑1933 
	Orville Dawalt 

	1934 ‑1936 
	M.J. O'Neill 

	1941‑1942 
	M.J. O'Neill 

	1937 ‑1940 
	Victor Hanson 

	1943 ‑1948 
	Martin Hjelseth 

	1953 ‑1960 
	Martin Hjelseth 

	1949 ‑1952 
	George E. Aljets 

	1961‑1969 
	M. W. Anderson 

	1969 ‑1974 
	John Schaffer 

	1975 ‑1983 
	James Dunn
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Foster County Treasurer 1883 ‑1983

	1883 Olney 
	G. Meacham, app. 

	1884 ‑1885 
	E.S. Leavenworth 

	1886 ‑1887 
	E.D. Strong 

	1888 ‑1889 
	E. F. Porter 

	1890 ‑1891 
	James Murphy 

	1892 ‑1896 
	T.N. Putnam

	1897 ‑1898 
	E. G. Cushen, dc.  

	1898 ‑1902 
	B.L. Russell 

	1903 ‑1906 
	Edward T. Halaas 

	1907 ‑1910 
	James R. Rusk 

	1911‑1914 
	Joe Hamel Sr. 

	1915 ‑1918 
	W.E. Thurston

	1919 ‑1920 
	A.L. Walen 

	1921‑1922 
	R.E. Walker 

	1923 ‑1925 
	Alice Cole 

	1935 ‑1938 
	Alice Cole 

	1926 ‑1929 
	Edna Hall 

	1931‑1934 
	M.P. Roberts 

	1939 ‑1942 
	A.O. Snyder 

	1943 ‑1946 
	A.W. Erickson 

	1951‑1954 
	Lyndin McCreary 

	1955 ‑1966 
	A.H. Ebentier 

	1967 ‑1978 
	Florence Smith 

	1978 ‑1893 
	Dorothy Peterson
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Foster County Judge 1883 ‑1983

	1883 ‑1884 
	Henry A. Soliday, app. 

	1944 ‑1962 
	M.P. Roberts 

	1884 ‑1885 
	Joseph Cleary 

	1885 ‑1891 
	George Estabrook 

	1898 ‑ 1904 
	George Soliday 

	1904, ‑1905 
	W.E. Hooper 

	1905 ‑1909 
	Joshua Lemert 

	1909 ‑1914 
	E. S. Campbell 

	1915 ‑1926 
	J.A. Graham 

	1927 ‑1938 
	Christin Saxlund 

	1939‑1943 
	W. F. Boyland, 

	Judge also became ex‑officio clerk of court
	

	1944 ‑1962 
	M.P. Roberts

	1963 ‑1980 
	Henry Kirchoff 

	1980 ‑1981 
	Roger Schlotman 

	1981‑1983 
	Mary Emerson
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Foster County Clerk of Court 1883 ‑1935

(Office removed January 1, 1935)

	1889 
	John Murphy 

	1891 
	H.C. DeBolt 

	1893 
	H.P. Fisk H.A. Hogie 

	1897 
	T.M. Page 

	1907 
	S.J. Malen

	1911 
	E.L. Beaty 

	1917 
	Herbert Hall 

	1922 
	Lily Nelson 
Anna Dawalt 

	1927 ‑1935 
	Alice Cole
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Foster County States Attorneys 1883 ‑1983

	1883 
	Edgar W. Camp, app.

	1884 ‑1890 
	Heber McHugh

	1891‑1892 
	Ron Borton

	1893 ‑1894 
	George H. Estabrook

	1895 ‑1901 
	George A. Soliday

	1901‑1904 
	W.E. Hoopes

	1905 ‑1906 
	E. C. Leslie

	1907 ‑1908 
	John W. White

	1909 ‑1914 
	Carl B. Craven 

	1915 ‑1921 
	Chilo W. Burnham 

	1941‑1948 
	Chilo W. Burnham 

	1922 ‑1925 
	James Morris 

	1926 ‑1936 
	Chilo W. Burnahm 

	1937 ‑1940 
	G. Dale Reimers 

	1949‑1959 
	T.A. Roney 

	1960 ‑1983 
	Fabian Noack
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Foster County Register of Deeds 1883 ‑1983

	1883 
	William Nicheus
Bruce Waring
G.L. Farnham

	1891 
	Ralph Walker

	1897 
	John O'Hare

	1901 
	L.K. Estabrook

	1907 
	Preston Garland

	1912 
	R.J. Howden

	1913 ‑1938 
	Richard Tenborg

	1939 ‑1942 
	George Skeie resigned 8‑4‑42
position filled by Myrtle Rogelstad

	1943 
	W.F. Boyland, Dec. 10‑14‑43

	1944 ‑1962 
	M.P. Roberts 

	1962 ‑1980 
	Henry Kirchoff resigned 7‑1‑80
position filled by Roger Schlotman

	1981‑1983 
	Mary Emerson
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Foster County Superintendent of Schools 1883 – 1983

	
	Hiram Cornish

	
	E.E. Henderson

	
	J.W. Hayes

	
	William Farquer

	1889 
	Laura Eisenhuth

	
	Mrs. L.C. Campbell

	1901 
	Zerlina Eakin

	1911 
	Mary J. Cain

	1915 
	Mary K. Beaty 

	1923 
	Joseph W. Hogan 

	
	Anna Donovan

	1927 ‑1932 
	Helen Thompson 

	1933 ‑1934 
	Jean Willman 

	1935 ‑1953 
	Edna Cusack 

	1954 ‑1968 
	Dorothy Quenemoen 

	1969 ‑1982 
	Doris Bronaugh – resigned 12‑31‑82
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Foster County Auditor 1883 ‑1983

	1889 
	George Soliday

	1891 
	W.M. Mare

	1899 
	J.D. Faxon

	1903 
	C.M. Porter

	1909 
	C.W. Burnham

	1915 
	William Wiltschko

	1917 
	Kenneth Ferguson

	1919 
	E.F. Johnson

	1921 
	E.K. Shaeffer

	1922 ‑1936 
	J.B. McWethy

	1937 ‑1942 
	Ellen M. Endergard

	1943 ‑1970 
	Lyman Robertson

	1971‑1982 
	George Walton

	1983 
	Roger Schlotman
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Township Histories
Birtsell Township

Township Officers

AN ACT to Amend Chapter 306 of the Session Laws of 1911, relating to the Election and Appointment of Township Officers and Their Terms of Office, and to Repeal Section 3111 of the Revised Codes of 1905.

Be it Enacted by the Legislative Assembly of the State of North Dakota:

1. AMENDMENT.  That Chapter 306 of the Session Laws of 1911 be amended and re‑enacted to read as follows:

Chapter 306.  There shall be elected at the annual township meeting in each township one supervisor for a term of three years; one township clerk, one assessor, one treasurer, two justices of the peace, and two constables shall be elected once in two years, except to fill vacancies.

In the event that the county commissioners have not at their regular meeting after April 1st appointed a county superintendent of highways, then the board of supervisors shall appoint one overseer of highways for each township, which shall hold his office during the pleasure of the board.

At the first annual township meeting in each township after the taking effect of this Article, there shall.  be elected at large for each township, three supervisors, one to serve until the first annual township meeting, one to serve until the second annual township meeting and one to serve until the third annual township meeting thereafter; provided, that the provisions hereof shall not affect the terms of supervisors elected prior to the taking effect of this Act.

The board of supervisors at the first regular meeting shall elect one of their members as chairman to serve for a period of one year.

2. A REPEAL.  That Section 3111 of the Revised Codes of 1905 shall be, and the same is hereby, repealed.

Approved March 13, 1913.
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Birtsell (Birtsal) Township

Birtsell township is bordered on the north by Eddy county; East by Estabrook; south, Wyard, and west by Wells County.

The land is fairly level with some low spots that form sloughs.  One area is called Scotts Slough that may be found on Sections 27, 28, 35, and 36.  Rocky Runn, a small stream, crosses the northwest corner of the township.  There is a gravel pit on section 28.

The Soo Line Railroad crosses the southwest corner, the Northern Pacific and Highway 281 cross the township north and south.

Lemert is located on Section 31.  It was an old post office from 1893 to 1900.  It was named for Judge Joshua Lemert, a Foster county pioneer and a long time judge of the county court.  There was also an elevator at this location.

The town of Barlow is located on the northeast corner of section 12.

The survey report for Birtsell Township was filed at Huron, Dakota Territory, on September 18, 1884.  The subdivisions were established by Scott and Sturtevant in 1884, the north, west, and south lines by Milton Nye in 1882 and the East line was surveyed by George Beardsley in August 1874.

Settlers in the area before the survey were:

	C.M. Bloomquist
	Northwest 4

	James King
	Southeast 4

	N. Kelly
	Southwest 2

	Agnes Dickie
	Southeast 2

	E. Elmquist
	Southwest 8

	Charles Smith
	Southeast 14

	August Wiltschko
	Northwest 22

	Dan McVey
	Southeast 30

	August Wiltschko
	Northeast 26

	Arthur Buchie
	Northeast 12

	Martin O'Hara
	Southwest 12

	Patrick Bryon
	Northeast 10

	M. Flemen
	Northwest 10

	Maria McVey
	Southeast 16

	William Brenderfelt
	Northeast 24

	Mathias Wiltschko
	Southwest 24

	James Sweeney
	Southeast 28.
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Township Organization

The first township election was held in Barlow on May 24, 1921 for the purpose of organization.  Officers elected were: 

	treasurer, 
	Thomas Kjos

	Supervisors, 
	G.A. Walton, 
August Wiltschko, 
Andrew Roth, Chairman

	Clerk, 
	William Wiltschko

	Justice of the peace, 
	John Eggelton.


The township was named after Charles Birtsell, a bachelor, who lived on a hill about two miles south of Barlow.  He was elected Justice of the Peace at one time.  Current officers:

	Clerk‑treasurer 
	Douglas Schmid

	Assessor, 
	Frank Lemert

	Supervisors, 
	Harold Schmid, Larry Lura, and John Holth.
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School District

The Birtsell School District was organized July 11, 1884 by County Superintendent, E.E. Henderson.

School officers were:


	J.W. Birtsell, 
	clerk

	Peter Roberts, 
	director

	Malcomb Nicholson, 
	Treasurer.


Four schools were built in the township.

School No. 1 ‑ Southwest section 28 built in 1884.  Sold to Ben Zeller in 1927, who used it for lodging for the hired man.

School No. 2 ‑ Section 26.  Rebuilt in 1926.  Later moved to section 28 and used with school No. 4 as a hog house.

School No. 3 ‑ Northeast Section 10.  Burned and never rebuilt.

School No. 4 ‑ S section 8.  Built in 1926.  Later moved with No. 2 on section 28.

District reorganized with Carrington

Ethel Phelps was the first teacher.
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Historic Site

Indian mounds have been found one and one half miles southwest of Barlow.  The trail called the Standing Rock Trail between Stony Run and Fort Totten passed through this township.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 152

Land Acquisition Birtsell Township

Birtsell Township 147-67

	Year and Name
	Section

	1887
	

	John C. Kelly
	2

	Charles Holquist
	4

	James King Jr.
	4

	Charles E. Blomquist
	6

	Michael Greitl
	14

	James Derrick
	26

	John G. Evans
	32

	Elwin Oliphant
	32

	
	

	1888
	

	John Lindahl
	4

	Frank Fhelander
	8

	Edwin Scott
	10

	Arthur Ritchie
	12

	Malcolm Nicholson
	20

	William Breidinfelt
	24

	August Wiltschko
	26

	William Elshe
	28

	Edwin Oliphant
	32

	Patrick O'Hara
	34

	Emma Vennum
	36

	Patrick O'Hara
	36

	Celestine Bourgeouis
	36

	
	

	1889
	

	Alexander Reid
	2

	Patrick Byron
	10

	William Farrell
	10

	Martin O'Hara
	12

	George Seikolot
	18

	Agnes E. Mickleson
	20

	Mathew Wiltschko
	34

	James Sweeney
	28

	William Duggan
	30

	James McCoy
	30

	Daniel McCoy
	30

	
	

	1890
	

	Nancy Kelly
	2

	Charles E. Elmquist
	8

	John Schvischwitz
	14

	Christin Bonch
	18

	August Kawalski
	22

	Matthew Wiltschko
	22

	Alfred Rand
	26

	Charles C. Phelps.
	34

	Halvor Olson
	36

	
	

	1891
	

	Frank Fhelander 
	8

	Malcolm Nicholson
	20

	
	

	1892
	

	Michael Greitl
	12

	John George Schmid
	

	
	

	1893
	

	John O'Hara
	34

	
	

	1894
	

	Hans E. Anderson
	6

	William Eske
	22

	Peter Roberts
	28

	John G. Evans
	32

	
	

	1895
	

	Charles Holquist
	4

	Frederick G. Barlow
	12

	John G. Schmid
	

	Ellen McVay Byron
	

	Patrick McVey
	

	
	

	1896
	

	John Heringer
	10

	
	

	1897
	

	Johnaan Marker
	

	
	

	1898
	

	Malcolm Nicholson
	20

	
	

	1899
	

	Nancy Kelly
	6

	Patrick O'Hara
	

	
	

	1903
	

	Carl J. Carlson
	6

	Matthew Kelly
	6


Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 153

Birtsell Township Land Ownership in 1910 and 1980

Birtsell Township 147‑67

Section

	Section
	1910
	1980

	1
	Chaffee & Davis
	Richard B. Davis

	2
	Patrick Byron 
Theodore Rayan 
Chaffee Davis 
Michael Greitl
	Kenneth Anderson 
Francis Kaal 
E. Wayne Kelly

	3
	H.K. Peterson 
Ellen Byron 
Charles Bloomquist
	Philip Lura 
Darlene Skaar 
Marguerite Anderson

	4
	C.M. Hottquist 
H.K. Peterson 
Alfred F. Carlson
	Elmer Lura 
Larry Lura 
Edith Zeller

	5
	Carl J. Carlson 
John Schultz
	Elmer Lura 
John Lura

	6
	Carl J. Carlson 
Hans E. Anderson 
Nancy Kelly
	Kermit Skadberg

	7
	A.W. Engborg 
C.M. Hottquist 
H.C. Christinsen
	Judy Semmens & Sonja Neumiller 
Jerold Skadberg 
Walter Roth

	8
	Adolph Carlson 
G.M. Carlson
	Lena Anderson 
Edith Woodruff 
Walter Nystuen

	9
	Alfred F. Carlson 
Michael Greitl 
G.M. Carlson
	Edith Zeller 
Edwin Lura

	10
	Herman Peterson
James Hunter 
John Herringer
	Earl Anderson 
Marguerite Anderson 
Douglas Schmid

	11
	J.D. Lundington 
Hugh Peoples
	Edith Zeller 
Tom Montgomery

	12
	Michael Greitl 
Albert K. Johns 
E. Edinger 
J.S. Shaffer 
Barlow (town)
	E. Wayne Kelly 
Gladwin Sheldon 
Glenn Linderman 
Barlow (town)

	13
	J.R. Engborg 
John B. Chagey 
Albert Meyers 
Milton Hostler
	Douglas Schmid 
John Lies 
Harold Schmid

	14
	Michael Greitl 
John G. Schmid
	Edith Zeller 
Samuel Schmid

	15
	E.H. Weigman 
Leonard Schmid 
George Schmid
	Jerrold Skadberg
Norma Schmid 
Harold Schmid

	16
	Leonard Schmid 
Frank Schmid 
E.H. Weigman
	Norma Schmid 
Lila Linderman

	17
	M. Gedrose 
J.H. Kline
	Edwin Lura 
Ole Lura

	18
	Smith, Whitaken & Vogel
Martin O'Hara 
Christ Seibold
	Walter Roth 
Donovan Meier

	19
	G.A. Walton 
Jeanette Linderman
	Dale Linderman 
Kent Linderman

	20
	Caroline Nicholson 
Herman Rothfork
	Dale Linderman 
Kent Linderman

	21
	C.A. Garland 
N.H. Stone
	George M. Garland 
Dale Linderman 
Ellen Garland 
Helen Carroll & Lucille Wright

	22
	D.S.B. Johnston Land Company
P.H. Bronnaugh 
William Elske 
Patrick McVay
	George Garland 
Tom White 
Peggy Stern & Jay Linderman & Cheryl Dunwoodie 
Frances Kaal

	23
	John H. Auders 
William McVay 
John G. Schmid
	Roy Holth 
Duane Schmid 
Harold Schmid 
Frances Kaal

	24
	August Wiltschko 
Mathias Wiltschko 
William Wiltschko 
Margaret Wiltschko
	Roy Holth 
Lawrence Linderman

	25
	George Eppers 
John Bos 
Jennie Myers
	Walter Larson 
Arlys Harmon 
Larry Quesenberry

	26
	Martin O'Hara 
First National Bank, Cgtn. 
Thomas Lacy 
John Ramage
	Butts Farming Assn. 
Walter Larson 
Henry Van de Hoven

	27
	P.H. Bronnaugh 
Wynn Roberts 
Patrick O'Hara
	Michael Van de Hoven 
Harry Linderman 
Lloyd Erickson

	28
	Peter Roberts 
Walter A. Ayers 
W. Roberts
	Ione Roberts & Frank Lemert 
Ellen Garland 
Lloyd Erickson

	29
	J.M. Ridgeway 
W. Roberts 
	Richarson & Blair, trustees 
Lloyd Erickson 
Dale Linderman 
Henry Van de Hoven

	30
	James Sweeney 
A.D. Matheny
	Frank White 
M. Kearnes & D.M: McGreagor

	31
	Mrs. J.M. Ridgeway 
W.H. Stone 
R.D. Lemert
	John Holth 
Frank Lemert 
Robert Rindy

	32
	R.D. Lemert 
H.A. Page
	Frank Lemert 
Frank Laber 
Lloyd Erickson

	33
	Pierce Roberts 
F.M. Trullinger 
Wynn Roberts 
Amelia Bronaugh 
	Ione Roberts 
Frank Lemert 
Lloyd Erickson

	34
	Patrick O'Hara 
C.C. Phelps 
John O'Hara
	Ralph Harmon 
Lloyd Erickson 
Butts Farming Assn.

	35
	C.E. Perkins 
John Ramage 
Willima Montgomery
	Henry Van de Hoven

	36
	Ralph Hall 
Frederick Culp
	Arlys Harmon 
Ralph Harmon
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Barlow

Indian and buffalo hunters may have traversed the land where the village of Barlow now stands but the first recorded mention were surveyors who laid out the north‑south line between townships 146‑147 across what was to be Foster County in August 1874.  They left their mark in the form of markers at mule or half mile intervals along the township boundaries.

Settlers started to come in 1883 when the construction of the Jamestown and Northern Railway had progressed as far as Carrington.  Among the early settlers were an Arthur Ritchie and his wife who homesteaded the northeast quarter of section 12, Birtsell Township and Frederick George Barlow who did the same diagonally across the section line in the southwest quarter of section 6 in what is now Estabrook Township.  They and a number of others had settled before the townships were surveyed and the section corners marked.

By the late summer of 1884 the railroad had been built as far as New Rockford and the four corners where Ritchie's and Barlow's land met was a logical place for a settlement just halfway between Carrington and New Rockford.  The 1884 survey showed that there was a house on Barlow's land near the southwest corner of his quarter east of the railroad track.  Barlow maintained a store and sold wood and coal.

Frederick G. Barlow was born in New Hampshire on a farm in 1839.  His folks later moved to Canada where he received his education.  He began teaching school when he was twenty‑two years old.  He taught school for two years.  He then went to Wisconsin and located on a farm near Eau Claire.  Barlow was elected to the Wisconsin Legislature in 1878.  He came to North Dakota in 1883, spending some time in Carrington before he erected his 12 x 16 foot shanty on his farm near Barlow.
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Railroad Arrived

The Northern Pacific Railroad was built through this locality about 1885 and the station was named for Mr. Barlow.  Mr. Alvia Niccum was the Depot Agent.  The depot served an important function in the town from 1901 to 1969.  Mr. Niccum made his home in the quarters that were provided in the depot.

For years the activities at the Barlow depot were a familiar routine as a small train unit consisting of a diesel engine and an all purpose car arrived each morning.  Arrival time might be as early as 9 a.m. sometimes as late as noon.  Return time was between 3 and 6 p.m.  In later years this unit, nicknamed "the Goose", went from Jamestown to Leeds and back.

This train carried mail, express and passengers.  Freight came by another train scheduled several times a week.  Grain cars and for many years carloads of livestock were picked up at Barlow on the return trip to Jamestown.

When the daily train arrived at the depot, the routine was a familiar one.  Mail bags were dropped off to be taken to the post office, parcels and smaller articles shipped by train were unloaded, and passengers, if any, stepped down from the coach to be met by someone waiting.

Then mail would be placed aboard the train, occasionally a passenger got on and articles waiting for express shipment were loaded.

For years a principal commodity shipped by train from towns like Barlow was cream.  Most of the farmers kept herds of milk cows to supplement family income.  The milk was separated and the cream was taken to the train.

The cream was transported in cans of five, eight and ten gallon capacities.  Many farmers timed their delivery of cream just before train arrival time; however, since that was indefinite, often cans of cream stood in the summer heat many hours before being taken into a warm train car.  Some of the cream was sent as far as the Twin Cities, and likely none sent from here was graded sweet on arrival.

This was a situation duplicated at most towns on railroad branch lines in North Dakota.  Arrival of the train was a highlight of the day.  The services provided were essential to the comfort and well-being of the community residents.

On a few occasions when the train failed to come, because of mechanical trouble, mishap on the tracks or too much snow, it was a disappointment of the day for most local residents.  It was the day's main topic of conversation.

On November 26, 1970 the long familiar depot at Barlow was loaded and moved to a new site.  The building was acquired by the Central Racing Association and was moved east of Barlow along Highway 281.  The Racing Association disbanded and now the depot may be found at the residence of Dr. Wagner just north of Carrington.

Mr. Barlow walked all over the county getting signers so a Post Office could be started.  The first Post Office and store were located near his shanty just north of the present site of Barlow On June 3, 1884.  Mr. Barlow was the first postmaster and the station was named after him.  It cost 151 to rent a post office box for three months in 1909.

Mr. Barlow was a staunch Republican.  He was elected to the first legislature of North Dakota.  He also served as a Senator.  It was through the untiring efforts of Mr. Barlow that North Dakota entered the union as a dry state.  He was also county commissioner and held many township offices.  He built a small store in Barlow which was the first building there.  He ran the store from 1883 to 1889.  He died April 1, 1901.

As the population grew, many businesses started.  "The Barlow Enterprise" was the village newspaper.  A.S. McMillian was the publisher.  The subscription rate was $1.50 per year, payable in advance.  The first paper was published September 4, 1907, and the last issue was February 3, 1911.

The telephone office in Barlow served 135 families on its lines that went as far as the Brantford and McHenry areas.  Gust Swanson was the manager and Lena Greitl (Bloomquist) was the first operator.  The exchange was in the Swanson home, a cement blockhouse.  Lena Greitl was the first white child born in Birtsell Township.

The Hotel‑Cafe was operated by Mr. and Mrs. Melby.  Barney Engberg owned the jewelry store.  Arthur Swanson was the first president of the Farmers State Bank in Barlow.  There was also a Security State Bank.  Fife and Turner started a general store in 1902.  John Eggleton was the photographer and took most the early pictures of this area.  A1 Steele owned and operated a three‑chair barbershop.  Chaffee and Hansch and Pete Peterson owned and operated the other General stores.  Iver Roaldson managed the Bovey‑Schute lumberyard and Pete Person also owned his own lumberyard.  Andrew Beck operated an icehouse and also ran the dray line.  The two livery stables were managed by Joe Edinger and Charlie Tomlinson.  Frank and John Fahrer owned and operated the meat market.  John G. Schmid owned and operated the hardware store.  He also opened a tire shop later when the horseless carriage became popular.  This store opened in 1905 and continued in business until 1942.  In later years, it was owned and operated by John's son, Benjamin Schmid.

The two real estate offices were located here too.  John and David Geiger managed one and J.B. Ewald managed the other.  There was also an insurance and loan office.

Mr. Stewart operated the pool hall and bowling alley.  They used wooden balls when bowling.  The village blacksmith was Fred Hanson.

John Holth came to Barlow in 1905.  He told his children that he was citizen number 701.  This was the time when the population of Barlow was at its peak.  Mr. Holth had a wood‑working shop.  Some entries in his daily ledger in 1916 showed he charged 251 for the handle and putting it on the shovel.  He also charged 251 for working on a gasoline engine for the Farmers Elevator.  Twelve 8 x 10 inch pieces of glass cost $1.25.  He sharpened a lawn mower for 251

He also began what was then called an "Auto Livery".  Today, we would call it a taxi service.  In 1910 he purchased a one cylinder Cadillac which went 12 to 20 miles per hour, depending on the wind.  There were three steps to go up to get into the back seat.  When he went by the Mike Greitl farm in his car at 15 miles per hour, Mrs. Greitl would say, "That man will kill himself driving so fast!"
In 1914 he sold the Cadillac and bought a model "T" Ford.  With this car, he drove the trails to Jamestown and Devils Lake taking salesmen to their destinations.  He also got doctors from Carrington and New Rockford and took them to sick people.  He would get $5 for a round trip to Jamestown or Devils Lake.  Sometimes it took 12 hours or more because he would get stuck in the mud or fall asleep at the wheel.  Sometimes, he got lost at night because cars only had kerosene lights then.

Carpenters were important people during this time because of all area buildings going up and homes in Barlow.  Some of the pioneer carpenters were William Keller, Sam Massier, John Walters, John Holth, John Weippert, Albert Frizzle, and Lewis Bergum.  When Ole Lura came to the Barlow area in 1913 from Norway, he worked as a carpenter before starting to farm.

Because Barlow is located in one of the best agricultural areas of the state, grain was also a big business in Barlow.  There, five grain elevators handled about 500,000 bushels of grain a year.  The Farmers Elevator was managed by Mr. Jewett.  Axel Nelson managed the Powers Elevator.  Anon Jancobson ran the Monarch Elevator and O.B. Tauson managed the Acme Elevator.  The name and manager of the fifth elevator cannot be remembered.  People from as far east as Brantford and McHenry brought grain to Barlow.  This would be a two‑day trip.  The men would bring it over one day, sell it, stay overnight, and start home the next day.

During the prohibition days every town had "Blind Pigs" which were business places that also sold liquor illegally.  For a while liquor was sold this way at the pool hall.  When they would get caught the operation would be moved to another place.

Religion was an important part of the community.  The people held church in the driveway of the Farmers Elevator from 1889 until the Congregational Church was finished in 1903.  The first minister was Rev. J.R. Beebe.  He also held services in New Rockford.  The church had an active Ladies Aid and Sunday school.  A beautiful stained glass window in the church was dedicated to Mr. Barlow.

Barlow became a school district by a special act of the legislature.  It had eight sections - four taken from Birtsell Township and four from Estabrook Township.  The first school in Barlow was built in 1902 on the west side of town.  This school burned in 1908.  A cement building was built in 1909 on the east side of town.  This school had two grade rooms as well as high school rooms offering two years of high school studies.  This school stood until 1952 when it was struck by lightning.  A new one-room school was completed by January 1953.  In 1920 when Caroline (Holth) Greitl was in grade school in Barlow, there were 48 students in the four lower grades and 37 in the four upper grades.

In 1957 this school was closed for lack of students.  The district decided that it was cheaper to pay tuition for the six students to go to another school.  The schoolhouse was sold about 1962 to Elmer Lura who used it as an addition to his home.

Sickness and epidemics were a part of early Barlow, too.  Dr. McNamera was the physician and dentist.  Mr. Buck, who was a four‑foot midget, was a pharmacist and operated a drug store.

In 1908, a typhoid fever epidemic went through the area.  Caroline Martinson was one who became very ill with typhoid fever.  She was taken to the Fargo hospital in the baggage car of the train.  In those days, the baggage car was where sick people or ones who had died were placed.

In 1918 a very bad flu epidemic known as the "Spanish Influenza" hit Barlow and many other towns.  Many people died.

Barlow believed in law and order, so a jail was built.  Mr. Swanson was the first chief of police.  The only person every to occupy the jail was a transient laborer who was found dead in a wheat field.  He was kept there overnight until he was identified.

Barlow had many people who are still remembered for doing good deeds to others and overcoming extremely hard circumstances to make a living.  Mary (Mrs. Mike) Greitl was one of these, she was known as the "Mother of the Community".  When trouble or sorrow came to any family, she was the first one there to help.  Her family once counted 131 babies she had helped to bring into the world and there were more after that.

Dick Stokke Thorson, known as "Blind Dick" came from Norway to Barlow to live.  He planned to send for his wife whenever he had enough money.  Before he was able to do this, he became very ill and lost his eyesight.  After he regained his health, he started a small gasoline station even though he was blind.  He used the dry hose type of gasoline pump on his driveway, and thus was able to set the stop for the amount of gasoline ordered.  He kept an accurate record of the gasoline he sold by a "Pebble can" system which he devised, one can containing a number of small pebbles which equals the gasoline he has on hand.  The other can was empty when he began his week.  For every gallon of gasoline sold, he would transfer a pebble to the empty can.  He recognized silver money by his highly developed sense of touch and he never accepted currency from a stranger unless someone he knew was present to verify the denomination.  He kept track of these bills by placing the largest denomination on the bottom of his stack, then relying on his memory, which rarely failed him.  He could tell who most of the people were that came by the sound of their cars or by their footsteps.  People claimed that he was cheated out of very little money.  Twenty years after he first came here, he was finally able to send for his wife.
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Organizations

Barlow had many organizations.  The Barlow Cemetery Association was organized in January 1901.  Mr. Barlow was president, William Lichty, secretary, and John G. Schmid, treasurer.

The Barlow Lodge No. 106 of the Independent Order of Odd Fellows was organized January 2, 1907.  The first presiding officer was C.F. Hansch.

Barlow Lodge No. 26 Degree of Honor and Barlow Camp No. 11112 Modern Woodmen were all active groups in those days.

The 4‑H Busy Bee Club was organized in October 1933.

Mrs. George Schmid was the first leader.

The Barlow Dramatic Club was organized November 21, 1933 with James Linderman as president.  The club had a membership of 29.

Barlow Friday Club came into existence on May 20, 1920.  The club began as a Homemaker's club then later evolved into a study club with a literary emphasis.  It joined the Women's Federation on April 8, 1924.

One of the main purposes of the organization was to keep the city of Barlow neat and clean.  Various projects were initiated to accomplish this goal.  It was decided that there was a definite need for a facility where the community could gather for meetings and other social activities.  The club members took on the responsibility in 1973 to work on the project, as did other members of the community.  The club at that time had 13 active members.

Young people of the community were involved with this project too.  It was their responsibility to keep the plantings and the grounds well groomed.  They gathered rocks for a flower garden and helped collect native plants and shrubs.  The facility is used for many community activities.

At one time the church had a thirty-voice choir.  There was a fifty-piece band, an active civic club and a music club.

One of the largest Fourth of July celebrations of that time was held in Barlow in 1908 with people coming from all surrounding areas.  On October 2, 1976 Barlow held a Bicentennial Celebration with a crowd estimated at 600 folks.  A very interesting parade which included several old cars, tractors, buggies, etc., and the 7th Cavalry.  The 1916 "king" touring car, originally owned by pioneer, John G. Schmid was a big attraction with many youngsters and even some oldsters enjoying riding in it.  It is a "seven passenger" car, with two fold down seats.  Many former residents were on hand to enjoy the celebration.

Barlow was a well-kept town.  There were boardwalks all over town.  Some can still be found but are quite over‑grown with grass.  There were also streetlights.  Every homeowner had a pole with a bracket and each night a gas lantern would be lit and hung out.

The Northern Pacific Railway coming through Barlow helped it grow to a busy, thriving town, but another railroad, the Great Northern was a reason for it losing people and business.  In 1912 the Great Northern came through New Rockford with towns going up all along the line.

Some of the businesses stayed in Barlow but others moved up to New Rockford and Brantford.  It was thought that these would be the big booming Lena Delange places, then.  1844‑1922

The coming of better highways and cars facilitated more convenience in traveling and was one of the reasons for Barlow becoming smaller.  In 1973 Barlow had about fifty residents.  The post office closed November 19, 1965, when the last postmaster Bayard Amundson retired.  He had been Postmaster since November 15, 1934.

The church was moved to a different location and converted into a Community Hall.

There is a very busy locker and meat processing plant owned and operated by George and Diane Ziegler.  This plant was first started by Ken Garland and Leslie Hollingsworth.  They would buy cattle from the farmers, butcher the animals, and wrap the meat for sale to the public.  Later Bayard Amundson ran a grocery store in one part of the building.  Now the meat is processed for the customer's own use only because of the government regulations.

An interesting place called the "Coach" may also be found in the town.  Its arrival goes back to about 1933 when Art Anderson traveled to St. Paul and purchased a used car that the railroad was no longer using.  He brought it back on a flat car and placed it where it is still standing today.  It was partially remodeled for use as a tavern.  The plush seats were still intact until later owners remodeled it.  Mac McMillian painted the outside pink and put a sign up along highway 281 to entice people to come to the "Flamingo Club".  Present owners are Mr. and Mrs. Pete Wobbema.  It is again known as just plain "The Coach

There is one elevator in Barlow today, the Barlow Grain and Stock Exchange.  The former facility burned in 1970 and this new modern structure was built in its place.  Barlow is still one of the busiest grain handling places in the area.

(Information from: Mr. and Mrs. John Holth, L.E. Greitl, Mr. and Mrs. Hamlin Garland, John W. Schmid, Historical Society, Bismarck Y.C.L Barlow school, and Patrice Lura; Ross Bloomquist, Foster County Independent.)
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Barlow Cemetery

Section 6 ‑ Birtsell Township

	Christina Schutz

	28 Sept. 1856

	6 May 1912

	wife of John

	Johann Schutz

	1850-1936

	

	Julius Engberg

	8 Aug. 1857

	12 Feb. 1907

	Anna Engberg

	23 Jan. 1864

	3 Feb. 1893

	

	Eltzo Buss

	1870-1944

	Ben Buss

	1902-1916

	

	Lena Delange

	1844-1922

	In Buss Plot

	Ernest Marriage

	1883-1884

	

	Lenora Johnston,

	1 Mar. 1886

	18 Feb. 1908

	Mathias Wiltschko

	24 Nov. 1815

	27 Jan. 1903

	

	Carl Greitl

	27 Jan. 1903

	8 Feb. 1965

	Jack Greitl

	13 Dec. 1895

	25 May 1954

	Fred Greitl

	3 June 1891

	20 Nov. 1918

	Roy Greitl

	15 Sept. 1879

	8 Feb. 1930

	Michael Greitl

	1854-1928

	Mary Greitl

	1862-1928

	

	Anton Winberg

	1888-1913

	

	Olive Anderson

	1914-1935

	wife of Arthur

	

	Karoline Martinson

	1878-1966

	Gustave Martinson

	30 May 1871

	6 Mar 1925

	

	Olson

	

	Elvey Nelson

	31 Mar. 1903

	13 Jan. 1907

	Raymond Nelson

	5 Dec. 1905

	20 Aug. 1906

	

	Martha Engberg

	1879-1944

	Barney Engberg

	1869-1933

	

	Carlson

	

	Carl Anderson

	10 Oct. 1882

	13 Sept. 1936

	

	Raymond Gross

	31 Mar. 1912

	1 Apr. 1931

	Mary 1884 -1947

	Emil 1880 -1957

	

	Ludwika Massier

	1881-1969

	

	Frederick Ga Lenzoski

 Lenzoski

	1891-1969

	

	Benjamin Schutz

	19 Jan. 1916

	5. Feb. 1916

	

	Heringer:

	Emil 1894 -1971

	Elizabeth 1898

	John 1860 -1936

	Ludwicka 1866 -1954

	

	Andrew Becht

	1845-1924

	

	Moline:

	Albert 1887 -1943

	Rose 1893 -1962

	

	Gladys Speck

	1896-1918

	

	College:

	Edward 1858 -1930

	Lydia 1859 -1918

	

	Leo Gregory

	9 Oct. 1907

	23 Oct. 1908

	

	Anna Johnson

	25 June 1872

	21 Aug. 1914

	

	Anderson:

	Stina 1846 -1922

	Hans 1847 -1926

	

	Jennie Hear

	1857-1918

	

	Hazel Holth

	1911-1915

	Minnie Holth

	5 Apr. 1881

	15 Nov. 1913

	Thressa Holth

	1889-1971

	John Holth

	1881-1970

	

	Samuel Schmid

	1863-1969

	

	Frank Ellsworth

	23 Jan. 1864

	8 June 1918

	

	Frances Crosswait

	2 Jan. 1906

	11 June 1906

	

	Emma Hanson

	13 Mar. 1876

	18 Jan. 1916

	wife of H.F.

	

	Eliese Schmid

	1851-1930

	John 1849 -1940

	

	Charles Bloomquist

	1849-1925

	Maria Blomquist

	1848-1916

	

	Herman Peterson

	1871-1938

	

	Katharine Schmid

	8 Apr. 1878

	17 Mar. 1919

	Frank Schmid

	23 July 1877

	18 Sept. 1963

	Carrie Schmid

	18 Jan. 1887

	23 June 1956

	

	F.G. Barlow

	26 July 1839

	28 April 1901

	

	Susie (Massier) Galenzoski

	1975

	

	Tressa (Massier VandeMerst

	1976

	

	Dorothy Schmid (Mrs. Sam)

	1976

	

	Jennie Buss (Mrs. Eltjo)

	1976

	

	Herman Rothenhagen

	1911

	

	Violet Grace Hanson

	12-6-1908

	

	Frank Crosswait

	5-10-1919

	

	Christ Schutz

	12-22-1943

	

	John Schutz Jr.

	1-28-1905

	

	Ira Thomas (baby still born)

	7-1919

	

	J.H. Walters (baby stillborn)

	3-1911

	

	F. Miller (baby stillborn)

	2-14-1909

	

	Mary Streid

	3-15-1906

	

	Van Riper Child

	1906

	

	Guy Engberg

	10-13-1919

	

	Axel Nelson

	10-24-1908

	

	Mrs. M. Wiltschko

	12-4-1924
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BORDULAC Township

Bordulac Township 145‑65

(Once Known as Lake George Township)

Bordulac Township was listed as Lake George Township on the 1904 atlas.  It is bordered on the north by Rose Hill; east by Bucephalia; south by Stutsman county; and west by Melville.

The land is level to nearly level with some gentle rolling areas.  It is drained by Lake George on section 10 and 49, Kelly Creek, and a portion of Dry Lake on sections 13‑14.

A deposit of coal was found on the Schaff brothers' land which at one time was thought that it could be developed for commercial use but the plan was abandoned.

The Soo Line Railroad crossed the township and a black top farm to market road crosses the township north to south.

There is a landing strip on the Steve Reimer's land sections 30‑31.  Bordulac Stock Farm section 33; this was the Carrington Casey Land Company headquarters when they were operating a bonanza farm.  Their farm station was located on section 33 in Rose Hill Township.

St. John's Lutheran Church and cemetery is located on section 1.  Bordulac town is on the Southwest section 9 and West Bordulac is on the Southeast portion of Section 8.

The Milwaukee Gun Club was located on section 10.
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Surveying Report

The survey report was filed in Yankton, Dakota Territory on March 6, 1883.  The township lines were surveyed by Milton Nye in June 1882; the south line established by George Beardsley in September 1873.  The subdivisions and meanders were surveyed by Scott and Sturtevant in July 1882.

Settlers in the area when it was surveyed:

	Elan Schultz
	 Northwest 8

	L. Steinmitz
	 Southwest 8

	Mary Seipke
	 Northwest 30

	David Haler
	 Northeast 30

	Peter Bahmann
	 Southwest 30

	Fred Utzi
	 Northwest 18

	Julius Kleb
	 Northeast 18

	Anton Ohmer
	 Southwest 18

	Andrew Ohmer
	 Southeast 18

	W.L. Smith
	 Southwest 32

	Emma Oine
	 Northeast 20

	Theresa Huphen
	 Southeast 20

	Joseph Sheehy
	 Southwest 28

	James McAloon
	 Southwest 26

	G.L. Keepers
	 Southeast 32


Bordulac Township contains 22,191.54 acres of public land and 778.87 acres of water surface, giving it a total of 22,970.41 acres.
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Township Organization

Bordulac was organized as a civil township on December 9, 1906.  The following were elected: 

	E.A. Roach
	chairman

	A.H. Wentland 
	treasurer

	J.H. Ihringer
	Clerk

	Supervisors 
	Erhart Lettner, Mike Shieb, and M.C. Murphy

	Henry Bowman 
	Assessor

	E.A. Roach and P.E. Morris 
	as Justices of the Peace

	H.J. Shaw and Frank Multz 
	as constables

	J.W. Roger and Matt Ihringer
	as road overseers


Present officers are: 

	Vincent Schmit 
	Clerk

	John Ihringer
	Treasurer

	Larry Schroeder 
	Assessor

	Supervisors
	Gary Rosenau, Jerome Wolf, and P.L Beckley, chairman
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Lake George School District No. 4


Lake George School District No. 4 was organized January 23, 1886 by William Farquer, County Superintendent. 
Officers were: 
	Cory Mayfield
	Clerk


	Thomas Lewis
	Director


	J.W. Murphy
	Treasurer



The first school was built on the Southwest quarter of section 16.  The next school was moved to town in 1894.
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Other Events

Tom Lewis and Wendelin Zink introduced Hereford cattle into the Bordulac community.  They brought the first breeding stock from Chicago, and were able to distribute them to the farmers in the area.  Zink was the father of the late Mary Beckley of the Bordulac vicinity.

The Hon. L.B. Hanna, Ex‑governor had a number of farms in the Bordulac, vicinity.  He maintained show herds of Aberdeen Angus cattle and Percheron horses.  The house and barns were all modernly equipped.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 170

Bordulac Township Land Ownership in 1910 and 1980

Township 145 65

	Section
	1910
	1980

	1
	Ransom County Immigration Company
	George Golz

	2
	Martha Morris
James Morris
Rudolph Schroeder
	Gordon Veen 
Paul Schroeder

	3
	Ransom County Immigration Company
	Francis Pierce Jr. 
Henry Kanwischer 
Frank & Richard Erickson

	4
	John W. Murphy 
Thomas McCrary Jr. 
Hope DeBolt
	John Murphy 
Harold Zink 
Wilfred Schroeder

	5
	Ransom County Immigration Company 
Riley Marsden 
August D. Brandt
	Virgil Zink 
Kathleen Doeling 
James Seitz

	6
	Michael Scheib 
John W. Murphy
	John Murphy

	7
	John W. Murphy 
Dennis Murphy
	John Murphy 
Orville Harrison

	8
	Richard & Joseph Boyle 
Josephy Ihringer
	John W. Ihringer 
West Bordulac

	9
	J.W. Rogers 
John Hoffman
	Maurice Carr 
Bordulac (town)

	10
	T.D. Lewis
	James Seitz

	11
	Ransom County Immigration  Company
	Rachel Bauer 
Gordon Veen 
Richard Erickson

	12
	Thomas D. Lewis 
E.A. Roach
C.H. Ross
	Richard Erickson 
Lynn Schroeder
LeRoy Hart

	13
	Thomas D. Lewis
	Richard Erickson

	14
	Thomas D. Lewis
John Wilson
P.E. Morris
	Paul Schroeder
James Seitz
Howard Haman

	15
	Ransom County Land Company
	Darrell Wolsky

	16
	G.D. Newberry
Alex Durpt
P.E. Morris
	Gary Rosenau
Jack Rosenau
Jerome Wolf
Howard Haman

	17
	Ransom County Immigration Company
	Howard Haman
Jerome Wolf
Lambert Hoch

	18
	Wendelin Zink
Julius Kleb
	Gerald Zink
Margaret Davis

	19
	Ransom County Immigration Company
	L.S. Reimers

	20
	Peter Zink
Emma Zink
Theresa Hamplin
	L.S. Reimers
Eugene Zink
Lawrence Zink
Gary Rosenau

	21
	Charles and John Anderson
D.A. Murphy
Ransom County Immigration Company
	Richard Erickson
Arvel Glinz
Shirley Giffhorn

	22
	P.E. Morris
Henry Buhman
	Howard Haman
Richard Erickson

	23
	Ransom County Immigration Company
	Stephen Schmit 
Vincent Schmit

	24
	Myron Miller
Frank Multz
	Eleanora Seiler
Rosalia Howey
John Murphy & Percy Beckley

	25
	Susan Palmer
Peter Zink
	Mary & Percy Beckley
Ted Van Ray

	26
	F. Letner
George D. Palmer
	LaVerne Brandt
Mary & Percy Beckley

	27
	Ransom County Immigration Company
	L.S. Reimers
Arvel Glinz
Robert F. Reimers

	28
	M.C. Murphy
Joseph Sheehy
	Richard Erickson
Darold Anderson

	29
	L.B. Hanna & Company
	Margery F. Hanna

	30
	Henry Buhman
	L.S. Reimers

	31
	L.B. Hanna
	L.S. Reimers
Margery Hanna

	32
	Grace B. Leasure
William Leasure
Sarah Leasure 
L.B. Hanna & Company
	Margery Hanna

	33
	L.B. Hanna & Company
	Darold Anderson
Margery Hanna

	34
	Margery Hanna
William Hussy
Thomas Hussy
	Marvin Brandt
Robert Reimers
A.A. Brandt
Brandt children

	35
	Ransom County Immigration Company

	Howard Haman
O.W. Ihringer

	36
	School Land
Franz Lamm
Peter Zinks
	Francis Lamm
James, Dennis & Darrell Wolsky
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Bordulac Township Land Acquisition 
	Year and Name
	Section

	1883 
	12

	George A. Sweetland
	20

	Theresa Huphan
	22

	Mary J. Mumford
	24

	Eugene Miller
	24

	Clara Miller
	24

	Myron Miller
	24

	Louis C. Berdey
	32

	
	

	1884 
	

	John W. Murphy
	6

	James Murphy 6 
	6

	Thomas D. Lewis 10 
	10

	Adam Schroth 
	14

	F. Jutzei 
	18

	Emma Zink
	20

	Charles G. Jayes
	28

	Kabb Cochrame 
	32

	George Keepers 
	32

	James S. McClosky 
	22

	
	

	1885 
	

	none
	

	
	

	1886 
	

	James A. Murphy
	6

	Joseph Sheehy
	28

	
	

	1887
	

	Thomas D. Lewis 
	10

	Archibald Spur 
	26

	Robert West
	30

	
	

	1888 
	

	Joseph Ihringer
	8

	William Lewis 
	10

	James Copeland
	26

	John A. Burke
	26

	
	

	1889
	

	George Sweetland 
	

	William Meder
	

	
	

	1890
	

	Frank Miller
	24

	Johanna Connors
	28

	Maria Buhmann
	30

	William Losure
	32

	
	

	1891 
	

	Samuel Schulz
	

	
	

	1892 
	

	David Morris 2 
	2

	Hope DeBolt 4 
	4

	James Murphy
	6

	Julius Kleb
	18

	John W. Murphy
	28

	Dettler Kahler
	30

	
	

	1893 
	

	Joseph Farquer 
	8

	Adam Schroth 
	14

	Heler McHugh
	18

	Charles J. McHugh
	20

	Mary Hussey 
	34

	Thomas Hussey
	34

	
	

	1894 
	

	George Wilder  
	12

	Peter F. Buhan 
	30

	
	

	1895 
	

	Peter F. Buham  
	22

	Hans Kahler 
	34

	
	

	1897 
	

	Thomas D. Lewis
	10

	Hans Kahler 
	34

	
	

	1898 
	

	Rudolph Schroeder
	2

	David Morris
	2

	Lewis Steinmitz
	8

	Samuel Schulz
	12

	Price E. Morris
	22

	
	

	1899
	

	Joseph Futterhoff
	12

	
	

	1905
	

	John L. Wilson
	

	
	

	1907
	

	Thomas McCreary Jr.
	4
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Bordulac

By Mae Tollefson

Bordulac, North Dakota, is situated in the south central part of Foster County on the main line of the Soo Railroad.  The rails were laid in 1892.  The site was originally called "Chenaun" or Chihaun, an Indian name.  The present name is descriptive of its location and is French‑ "bord‑du‑lac" meaning, "border of the lake."  It was so named by Mrs. George Palmer, wife of the superintendent of the Carrington Casey Land Company  The town was then near Lake George, which covered a much greater area than at the present.  It was once quite deep, and could sustain fish life.  The lake is said to have been named for George M. Palmer, a county pioneer, manager of the Carrington‑Casey Ranch.  The town site was laid out in 1895, and had a steady growth from the first.  Bordulac is in the center of a very productive farming community.

In 1892 Porter's store was established and a blacksmith shop was put up by J.W. Wilson.  A few years later Bordulac boasted of 4 grain elevators.  One of the elevators was owned by the Casey Ranch.  The Casey "ranch" was widely known for its expanse and operation.  Power to operate the Casey elevator was supplied by mules on a tread barrel (akin to the treadmill).  The mules were worked alternately to keep the barrel rolling to transmit power to move the elevator cups on a belt.

By 1912 there were still four elevators. 

1. The Ransom County Immigration Association managed by H.V. McCully

2. the Bordulac Farmers Elevator, which was incorporated in 1908 with 
Wendelin Zink, president 
G.A. Wentland, secretary 
A.H. Wentland, treasurer and 
H.A. Aker, manager

3. Osborne McMillan Elevator Company, manager was Armstrong

4. Atlantic Elevator owned and managed by E.A Roach.

An Independent article tells the story that over 250,000 bushels of wheat were marketed by these elevators.  The farmers would haul their grain into town after the ground froze.  As many as 27 teams were seen lined up waiting to be unloaded.  The drivers would spend the time while they were waiting in the local cafe catching up on the latest news.

The Bordulac First State Bank was a cement structure with full basement, furnace heat, etc.  They had a capital stock of $10,000 and deposits amounting to $90,000.  They had a surplus of $3,000.  Their specialty was collections, insurance and real estate loans.  The officers were: 

N.E. Landeene, president

E.A. Roach, vice‑president

A.H. Wentland, cashier

G.A. Wentland, assistant cashier
E.A. Roach had a hardware and general store, which was managed by J.C. Diehl.  There was a livery barn operated by R.G. Boyle.  Charles Bowers had the town's meat market; Frank Schieb ran a restaurant and pool hall.  Besides serving meals he had a good line of tobaccos and soft drinks.  Angus Ferguson had an implement business.  In one year he sold 67 binders.  He carried a full line of farm implements, buggies, plows, binders, threshing machines, gasoline engines and other farm necessities.

The livery barn, managed by C.H. Schultz, was filled with good horses and rigs.  The Salzer Lumber Company was built about 1904 and was managed by Joe Ihringer.  In later years it was managed by Ben Johnson.  They had a very satisfactory business handling coal and wood as well as lumber.

Celia Levelle had a confectionary store; and after World War I they had two blacksmith shops.

John W. Shearer from Melville started a general store in the early years of Bordulac.  He operated it for a few years and then sold it to H.J. Shaw.  In 1908 it was doing a thriving business which lasted until 1910 when fire destroyed the building.  It was at this time that the H.J. Shaw and Company was incorporated with a stock of $15,000, 
H.J. Shaw was president

H.A. Aker, vice president 
A.H. Wentland, treasurer

J.P. Legg, manager
Later the stockholders sold out to Matt Wentland and J.P. Legg in about 1900.

J.P. (Percy) Legg did not devote all of his time to the general store.  In 1918 he and Matt Wentland sold 54 cars, selling any make that was available.  He also bought and shipped live chickens and potatoes.  A hunter of renown, Percy Legg hunted every type of wild animal on which there was an open season.  In the early days of the area, he was called upon to hunt down coyotes and wolves that threatened the early settlers' sheep.  He once was called to the Isak Nystad farm where he succeeded in shooting down a large timber wolf.

In 1928 the store was sold to Rose and Ted Kollman who kept the store open until July 1, 1978.  The store was dubbed as the "forget store" because people came into buy the items that they forgot when they shopped in other places.  The Kollmans decided to close the doors because it was difficult to compete with the larger retail stores and they were ready to retire.  The store was sold to honey producer, Mitch Charles.

On his return to Bordulac after World War I, O.W. Ihringer opened a garage business, later entering the bulk oil business.

The Bordulac Land Company was incorporated in 1912 with the following officers: A.H. Wentland, E.A. Roach, Angus Ferguson, and R.J. Boyle.  The company would buy and sell land.  The capital stock was divided into 500 shares of $50.

Like many other towns, Bordulac suffered fire loss.  Where once there were four elevators, in 1959 there was only one.  A fire in the late thirties took two elevators and the depot, and in 1968 the fire leveled the Farmers Grain Elevator causing an estimated loss of $85,000 to $100,000.  This was the last of the wooden structured elevators.

Today Bordulac has the Farmers Elevator Inc., Post Office, Safari Club, Doeling's Dairy, Mitch Charles Honey Extracting Plant, Schroeder Auctioneering, Kollman Coffee Shop, Duursma Construction and Wolf Custom Butchering.
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West Bordulac

Plat books have indicated a "West Bordulac", this area being on the west side of the section line road which runs north and south through the town.  The schoolhouse is located here as well as several dwellings.  This group of houses was once called "Smoky Row", getting its name from the curls of smoke rising from each house in the wintertime.
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Churches

At one time there were three churches serving the Bordulac area worshippers.  The Holy Rosary Catholic Church was moved to Bordulac from Carrington in 1903.  It was brought by sled on the snow pulled by an extraordinarily large team of more than 20 horses.  Wendelin Zink was the head driver.  The church was originally built in 1887.  The sacristy and west addition were built in 1904‑05.  The first priest was Father Galloway, and the last priest was Father Felix Lubas.  The Holy Rosary Catholic Church closed its doors in 1982.  Before the church was moved into town, Mass was celebrated in private homes.  Mrs. Joseph Ihringer was the first funeral Mass held in the new church.

About ten years after the start of the Catholic Church, a Congregational church was built.  It was moved to Carrington about 1950 to be converted into a dwelling.  The church bell for the Congregational church was donated by John Roademan, who farmed about six miles from town.  He promised to buy the bell on one condition, that it would be a bell he could hear at his place on Sunday mornings.  Such a bell was found, and when the church was moved to Carrington, the bell was donated to the Holy Rosary Church.

A Lutheran Church was built on Section 1 east of Bordulac.  The Lutheran Church was eventually moved to Grace City, where it burned in the summer of 1982.  There is a Lutheran Cemetery left on the section 1, church site.
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Post Office

Two Bordulac rural mail carriers received recognition for their many years of service to their patrons.  In 1956, Henry Bergman retired after 36 years.  Mr. Bergman could boast proudly of a 35-year safe driving citation presented by the U.S Postal department.  Thirty‑five years without even a minor accident, in all kinds of weather, over questionable roads.  In 1973 Homer Grove was honored at a retirement party.  His total years of service with the post office came to just four months short of 20 years.

The post office was established in 1895.  One of the earliest Postmasters was E.A. Roach.  He was followed by: 
Kathleen Moriarity, 
Rollie Beckley, who had the post office in his lumberyard where he also bought cream, 
A.M. Pepoon, 
Harry Ferguson, and now 
Lucille Liebig.
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Organizations

In the early 1900's Bordulac's first band was organized.  It was a group of 17 members who were organized under the direction of Mr. Cummings, the minister at the Congregational Church.  They performed for Decoration Day Celebration in Carrington.  The Kirkwood Hotel was still in operation and some of the band members stayed overnight there.  This band disbanded.

Later O.W. Ihringer, Chet Roach, Fred Ihringer, and Vick Beckley would get together at the Ihringer house just to play for the fun of it.  At that time the Valley City College had hired a man by the name of Albert Perfect from Chicago to be the music instructor at the college.  Mr. Perfect agreed to go to different areas to help teach music for the local bands for $5 per day, food, and transportation to the next town.  The bands from Bordulac and Barlow decided to take up the offer.

One of the problems Mr. Perfect found when he came to Bordulac was that all the players wanted to play the melody for the songs.  He succeeded in teaching them how to play the harmony parts and the band was ready to perform at the Chatauqua in Valley City.  They competed against a group that was passing through Valley City from the Lutheran College.  The Bordulac Band with its 12 pieces was the smallest group to perform.  The judges awarded the first place prize of $75 to the Bordulac Band.  They were especially pleased with the bass section which was composed of Walt Sutherland on the baritone, Vick Beckley on the drums, and O.W. Ihringer on the tuba.  This occurred in 1910.

The band broke up again during World War I.  After the fellows returned home they joined a group called the Million Dollar Band at Kensal.  Mr. Liberte, a trumpet player with the Chatauqua agreed to come to Bordulac for one day of instruction and a concert for $120.  Again the fellows dug in their pockets.  Mr. Liberte played to a packed house that evening.  He said later that he had added more songs to his program because of the enthusiasm of the audience.

The band played for many of the public functions that were held in these early days.

Other organizations that were active in Bordulac were the Community Club, Royal Neighbors Lodge, Farmers Union Local, and the Modern Woodsmen Lodge.  The goat that was used for initiations for this lodge may be seen at the museum in Sheyenne, North Dakota.

In earlier years Bordulac was the hub of a large productive wild game area.  Lake George game reserve abounded in ducks and geese, and was ideal cover for upland birds.  The area lured hunters from far and near.

The Milwaukee, Wisconsin, Hunting Club was well represented among the sportsmen.  The club purchased right‑of‑way from T.D. Lewis, the rights extending from Bordulac to the shore of Lake George.  Hunters came every year on the Soo Line.  Many hired teams and wagons to transport groups to the hunting grounds.  The wildlife slaughter was exceedingly heavy.  Out‑of‑state hunters each paid a $25 license fee.  A clubhouse was built by the Milwaukee sportsmen as a headquarters and for storage of supplies.
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Lake George District No. 4

School District History

In 1892, the first school was located on the Southwest 1/2 of Section 16.  The first building was moved to Southeast 1/4 of Section 28 on the Martin Murphy farm.  The first teacher was Mrs. Leisure.  The school was moved several times and finally into Bordulac in 1894.  The new schoolhouse which was built is the old town hall now.  Arthur Lowden was the first teacher in the town hall, and Mrs. Morris.

In 1907 the township consolidated and built a two story brick school building in 1909.  There were five classrooms, a laboratory, a library and a full basement.  Five teachers were employed.  On Christmas morning 1929 this school burned.  In 1930 a $40,000 modern brick structure was erected, the best in the county at that time, having a large auditorium and gymnasium.  This school burned in 1971.  A new school was ready for occupancy in the fall of 1971.  The Bordulac school district was dissolved by process of annexation in September 1981.  The properties were divided between Kensal and Carrington.

The 1908 school board was composed of O.C. Murphy, president, W.H. Sutherland, clerk, Hope DeBolt and Angus Ferguson.  The last school board was composed of Gene Doeling, Maurice Carr, Caroline Wolf, and Helen Rosenau, clerk.

The 1980 eighth grade class of 5 students was the last to be graduated from Bordulac.  The first graduate of Bordulac High School was James Morris, who became a lawyer and went on to be Chief Justice of the North Dakota Supreme Court.  R.P. Groves was his high school teacher.  In 1976 there was an all school reunion in Bordulac.  In 1908 there were 50 student, 1958‑ 100 students, 1971‑ 41 students, 1977‑ 28 students and 1978‑ 24 students.

At one time high school students came from Rose Hill, Bucephalia, Melville, and some from Edmunds to attend school.
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Bucephalia Township

Township 145 ‑ 64

Bucephalia is bordered on the north by Haven; east by McKinnon; south by Stutsman County; and west by Bordulac.  It was originally named Johnson Township after Christian Johnson, who homesteaded in 1884 on section 26.  The name was changed when the area became organized as a civil township.

The land is gentle undulating with some hills along the James River.  It is drained by the James and Kelly Creek.  Jack Lake is located on section 4.  An area, known as Dry Lake, is found on section 18‑19.  Niccums Dam Reservoir is found on section 4.

The Soo Line Railroad goes through the southwest corner.  A switching station called Miller's Spur is on the Northwest corner of section 19.  The remains of an old stone house that was built by Frownfelter may still be seen on section 21.

Iron ore was found on the ridge of hills along the James River on section 21 about the year 1915.  There was some prospecting done but no success resulted.  A gravel pit is located on section 3.

The survey report of the area was filed in Huron, Dakota Territory on November 10, 1884.  The subdivisions were surveyed by Charles Scott and E.S. Sturtevant in August 1884.  They also measured the meanders.  The north and east boundaries were established by Scott in October 1882; the south boundary by George Beardsley in September 1873; the west boundary by Milton Nye in June 1882.

There are 22,777.45 acres of public land, 245.49 acres of water surface and total acreage of 23,022.94.  In 1900 there were 36 open quarters.
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Township Organization

The area was organized into a civil township January 22, 1920 and was renamed Bucephalia at this time.  The following officers were elected: 

Supervisors: Samuel Schulz, chairman
Ambrose Ableidinger, C.J. Norheim

Clerk, N.J. Mead

Treasurer, H.P. Hanson

Assessor, T.R. Quam

Justice of Peace, J.P. Johnson

Constables, W.V. Clark

Road Overseers, Peter Reimers and Chris Erikson.

1982 officers are: 
Clerk, Lynn Schroeder

Treasurer, Henry Schulz

Assessor, Robert Mack

Supervisors, Ervin Messmer, Charles Bata Jr., and Alfred Jorgenson
The township hall is located on Southwest 23.
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Schools

Bucephalia School District was organized August 1886 by William Farquer, county superintendent.  School officers were: 

Clerk, M.A. Seymour

Treasurer, Edward McKinnon

Director Christian Johnson.

The first school was built in 1886 by Comstock and Jordon, who were two contractors from Carrington.

Schools were located on Southwest 23; Southwest 29; Northwest 11.
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Historical Site

The Fort Totten Trail entered Bucephalia Township about 30 rods east of the west side of section 35 a short distance west of a bush, east of the old H.P. Hanson place, now owned by Robert Timm.  There is still a trace left at that place on the east‑west section line, and was never farmed.

It passed the old Ed Johnson farm, now owned by Joe Lipetzky, about 10 rods west of the buildings.  It ran on the east side of the quarter line through section 11, and is still visible west of Bucephalia School No. 2 on the south side of the east‑west highway, south of the stone house once owned by Frownfelter.

This trail went straight north through the Ambrose Ableidinger field, east of the James River.

Sibley's army camped on the northeast corner of Frownfelter's field, just west of the Fort Totten trail.

The Sioux Indians were the ones that came from Fort Totten.  There was an Indian grave on a high hill west of Ed Johnson's buildings.  One day when Ed went to show it to his daughter, Ruby and husband, he found it had been dug up.  This was in 1930 or so.  
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Miscellaneous

The nearest town was Melville which had the railroad station and post office.  The first car was a "Case" owned by Ed Johnson.

At first this area was called Johnson Township but when it was organized into a civil township the name was changed to Bucephalia, a name which was already being used by the school district.

Several stories of where the name Bucephalia came from have come up.  One is that there was a settler by that name.  (Any records that have been researched have not found such a settler).

Another story (One person said it was a German, another that it was a Norwegian) is that a man was riding a horse by a name of Buce.  As he was riding through the township Buce died.  He said "Bucephalia" which meant, "Buce, you failed me!"  (Be it German or Norwegian!)
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Bucephalia Township

This story of early days in the background of the Johnson family was written by Mrs. Gena Pearson, wife of James Peter Johnson, from whom she got this information.

The old Johnson farm on Section 26 in Johnson Township used to be quite a gathering place in the early years.  It was homesteaded in 1884 by Christian Johnson, who with his wife Bodil Christine, five sons and one daughter moved here from Maple Valley, Wisconsin in 1883.

The first year the family lived on a rented farm near Pingree, but homesteaded the next year close to the James River.  They brought cattle, horses, machinery and lumber from Wisconsin‑ enough lumber to build the big farmhouse, which is still used by the Myron Florhaug family, present owner of the farm.  The five Johnson brothers were James Peter Johnson, Edward W. Johnson, John W. Johnson, Anton K. Johnson, Garfield F. Johnson, and the daughter Emma, who later married Julius Frederickson.  A sixth son was born after the family came to North Dakota, but he lived only a few days.  His father baptized him‑ he was given the name Young West, his name was appropriate, as his father said, "He was young and he died in the West."  He was buried in the Melville, North Dakota cemetery.

All my information about the early days I have from my husband, James Peter Johnson, the oldest of the five brothers.  I did not come to this country till the spring of 1903.

He related how he herded the cattle along the river that first year when he was thirteen years old and how his brother Edward hauled all the lumber over from Pingree.  He was a lad eleven years old at that time and managed to haul four horse loads over the James River hills.  Melville was the nearest town for many years and the boys used to take turns to walk the twelve miles to Melville every week or every other week to get the mail.  Sometimes they had to carry a two-gallon can of kerosene home also.  My husband also told of a trip he made to Melville one winter day to get the doctor for Mrs. Carl Norheim, their neighbor to the east.  He rode a white mule and it was late on a winter day when he started from home, and there was a lot of loose snow on the ground.  The wind came up and soon he could not see where he was going, but somewhere west of the river he stopped at a farm and got his bearings.  He rested awhile and started out again.  He had traveled a long ways he thought when he came in view of another farm light, but it turned out that he had gone in a circle and come back to the same place as before.  He finally got to Melville early in the morning, roused the doctor and drove back with him with a team and sled.

In the early days people from all over the neighborhood came to the Johnson house for parties and dances and gatherings of all kinds.  A lot of young people made their home there while attending the school in the schoolhouse built in 1880, just a half-mile south of the Johnson place.

A lot of butter and cheese was made on the farm and taken to Melville and exchanged for groceries, when the crops failed that was the source of income.

Christian Johnson died suddenly of a heart attack in the spring of 1889.  He was buried in the Melville Cemetery.

His widow later married Albert Hansen and in her later years was known to everybody as Grandma Hansen.  Grandma was a help and inspiration to everybody with whom she came in contact; in the early years she helped as a midwife and practical nurse.  There is hardly a home around here where she had not been called to when babies were born and when there was illness in the homes.  In her later years she lived in Kensal.  She passed away in February 1932 at the age of 84 years.  She is buried in the Kensal Cemetery.

When Johnson Township was organized the name was changed to Bucephalia.  Bucephalia was not named after some early settler, as mentioned some other places.  The school district was named Bucephalia in the early days by Christian Johnson and was named after the horse Bucephelus.  There is a story in one of the early readers about the horse Bucephelus.
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Bucephalia Township Land Acquisition

Township 145-64

	Year and Name
	Section

	1887
	

	George Johnson
	32

	Christian Johnson
	26

	
	

	1889
	

	Stetson Lyons
	6

	
	

	1890
	

	Christin Bredall
	34

	
	

	1891
	

	Paul A. Edwards
	18

	Eugene Miller 
	30

	Martin Larson 
	34

	
	

	1892
	

	Carl Nordheim 26
	26

	Myron Miller 30
	30

	Calra Miller 30
	30

	
	

	1893
	

	Thomas Marvis
	6

	
	

	1894 
	

	Martin Clark
	32

	
	

	1895
	

	Hans Hanson
	32

	
	

	1897
	

	Alber Hanson
	34

	
	

	1898
	

	Richard Ness 
	20

	Christian Johnson
	26

	
	

	1899 
	

	Martin C. Murphy 
	4

	Joe Silve 
	6

	Flemming L. Ketchner
	14

	George McIver
	20

	
	

	1900
	

	Franz Lamm
	6

	
	

	1902
	

	Henry Christiansen
	

	Christin Erickson
	

	Mary Maculer
	

	
	

	1903
	

	Ambrose Ableidinger
	

	Alfred Kreps
	

	Daniel Leedy
	

	Theodore Engledinger
	

	Albert D. George
	

	Vincent Abledinger
	

	Edward Johnson
	

	Patrick Clark
	

	Andrea Mickelson
	

	James P. Nelson
	

	
	

	1904
	

	Christ Engledinger
	

	Victor Lonske
	

	Conrad Schaefer
	

	Henry P. Hanson
	

	John T. Clark
	

	
	

	1905
	

	James B. Johnson
	

	
	

	1906
	

	John Stanton
	

	David H. Niccum
	

	Rena Pederson
	

	Miles Vinegard
	

	
	

	1907
	

	Thomas McCreary Jr.
	

	Charles Strand
	

	Paul W. Edwards
	

	
	

	1908
	

	Christin Blocker
	

	Wesley N. Clark
	

	Mary J. Eaton
	

	
	

	1909
	

	William F. Kritzel
	

	
	

	1910
	

	Albert Dobrenz
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Bucephalia – Johnson Township Land Ownership in 1910 and 1980

Township 145-64

	
	
	

	
	1910
	1980

	1
	Metcalf Land Company 
Joe Petra
	Charles Bata
David Somsen

	2
	S.C. Shockley
L.S. Frannfelter
Ambros Abledinger
Christ Engeldinger
	Carl Stangeland
John Nihill
Carl Stangeland

	3
	Metcalf Land Company
	John Nihill

	4
	David Niccum
Alb Trechel
E.A. Roach 
James H. Walker
	Lynn Schroeder

	5
	Herman Hibbleman
W.F. Halliday
	Soren Clausen 
Grace Thurlow
Hilton Clausen
Jean Day

	6
	Hermand Grager 
William Grager 
Henry Reimers 
Peter Reimers
	Harold Schroeder 
Soren Clausen 
Gladys Madsen 
Virgil Hart

	7
	L.B. Hibbard
	Norrine Boen 
Marian Wehdahl 
Virgil Hart 
Agnes Burchill

	8
	Paul Edwards 
Albert Trechel 
Alfred Krepp 
A.M. Niccum 
Ellen Edwards
	Keith Jensen 
Soren Clausen 
Annie Reimers

	9
	Alfred Krepp 
O.M. Young 
Albert Trechel
	Annie Reimers 
O. W. Ihringer 
John Murphy

	10
	John Umphlet 
James Wilson 
Clinton Blocker 
C.H. Reimers
	Robert Mack

	11
	Albert Vorack 
Peter O. Stetton
	Glen Abledinger 
Charles Bata

	12
	Anton Petra 
Vitor F. Jonski 
Theodore Engeldinger 
Vincent Abledinger
	Francis Pitra 
Bernard Kramer 
Glenn Ableidinger

	13
	Victor F. Jonski 
Paul Herr
Andrew Michelson
	Bernard Kramer 
Alfred Jorgenson 
Paul Haarr

	14
	S.B. Claflin
Edward Johnson 
L.S. Frannfelter
	Kenneth Spitzer 
Roy Litpetzky 
William Wehrmacher

	15
	W.H. McElbunney 
W.W. Pike
	Mary & Percy Beckley, Jr.

	16
	School Land
	John Murphy 
State of North Dakota 
Percy Beckley

	17
	Frank Multz 
Ed Johnson
	Ervin Messmer
Earl Hart

	18
	Gustav Brummond 
Conrad Schaffer
	Dennis Hart

	19
	Myron Miller (Miller's Spur)
	Janet Olson 
William Liebig 
Leonard Linde

	20
	Patrick Clark 
Myron Miller 
Albert Dobrenz
	Paul Lechner 
Lynn Schroeder 
Earl Hart

	21
	 Sam Shockley 
Frank Clark
	Earl Hart 
William Zink

	22
	R.M. Clark 
W. Clark
John B. Clark 
Henry P. Hanson
	Oscar Zink 
Evelyn Doeling 
William Zink
Alfred Jorgenson 
Robert Timm

	23
	Edward Johnson 
Metcalf Land Company 
Carl J. Norheim 
Henry Johnson
	Gary Lipetzky 
Myron Florhaug 
Ann Jorgenson 
Leonard Nordheim

	24
	Mary J. Eaton 
Rena Pederson 
Andrew Mickelson 
Christian Eriksen
	Anna Jorgeson 
Bjerge Ericksen

	25
	John W. Sterling 
Christian Erikson
	Bernard Kramer 
Leonard Nordheim 
Marie Eriksen

	26
	J. R. Johnson 
Carl J. Nordheim
	Myron Florhaug 
Leonard Nordheim

	27
	Albert Hanson 
James Nelson 
	Mabel Mead 
William Mead

	28
	Earl A. Gwynn 
W.E. Kritzel
F.W. Kritzel
J.W. Johnson
	L.S. Reimers

	29
	Samuel Schulz
Wells & Dickey
Helmer & Clark
	Lynn Schroeder
Henry Schulz
L.S. Reimers
John Lutman

	30
	Myron Miller
Samuel Schutz
	Edward Linde
Henry Schulz

	31
	Samuel Schulz
Joseph Eppler
	Theodore & Samuel Schulz
Henry Schulz

	32
	Bridget Clark
J.T. Clark
H.C. Hanson
	L.S. Reimers

	33
	Earl Gwynn
Samuel Schulz
Mark Clark
Myron Miller
James Nelson
	L.S. Reimers 
Henry Schulz 
Grace Thurlow 
William Mead

	34
	James Nelson
Swan Holm
T.D. Houis
	William Mead 
State of North Dakota 
Ludolph Leckner

	35
	John T. George
John A. Lovely
	Robert Timm 
Kent Florhaug

	36
	State Land
Well & Dickey
O.C. Johnson
	Carl Stangeland 
Robert Sherlock
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Carrington Township

Township 146‑66

Bordered on the north by Eastbrook, east by Rose Hill, south by Melville, and west by Wyard; Carrington Township is the site of the County seat of Foster County.

The land is level to nearly level.  It has an aquifer that runs through the township.

The survey report was filed at Yankton, Dakota Territory on February 27, 1883.  It has a total of 22,979.46 acres.  The subdivisions were surveyed by Scott and Sturtevant in 1883.  The south, east, and north lines were established by Milton Nye in June 1882 and the west line by George Beardsley in August 1874.

Settlers in the area when the report was filed were:

	Herman Holt
	 Southwest 6

	August Wiltschko
	 Southwest 4

	J.W. Clover
	 Southwest 2

	Henry McCline
	 Northeast 2

	A. Scott
	 Northwest 8

	F.O. Hall
	 Northeast 18

	John Harrington
	 Northwest 34

	Margaret Byers
	 Northwest 14

	George W. Milton
	 Northeast 14

	G. White
	 Southwest 14

	B.J. Holcomb
	 Southeast 14.

	William Gushing
	 Northeast 20

	William J. Vogel
	 Southeast 36

	Cornelius Harrington
	 Northeast 34

	E. Holcomb
	 Northwest 24

	William Lahin
	 Northeast 24

	Edward Vanvlick
	 Southwest 24

	John Bort
	 Southeast 24

	E.E. Holcomb
	 Northwest 26

	Ellen Holcomb
	 Southeast 26

	M.E. Holcomb
	 Northeast 26.


In 1900 there were seven open quarters.

The following places may be found in Carrington Township.

	Butts Feed Lot
	 Section 6

	B&N Construction
	 Section 3, House a renovated red barn.

	Carrington Sunflowers Inc.
	 Section 5

	Carrington Livestock Sales Ring
	 Section 5.

	Garrison Diversion Office
	 Section 18.

	Carrington Cemetery
	 Section 8.

	City of Carrington
	 Sections 17‑19‑20‑30‑29.

	Peavey Elevator
	 Section 34.

	Holcomb's Grove
	 Section 14.


Northern Pacific and Soo Line railroads cross through the township.  Highways 281, 52 and 200 also cross the township.

	1910
	1980

	Shifley Farm, Southeast 2
	James Straley

	Overdale Farm, South 1/2 16 Baxter
	Marlin Stokes

	Niagara Farm South 1/2 14 
B.J. Holcomb
	Lola Sheehan Carr, Southeast 
Sylvia Stambaugh

	Morning Star Farm North 1/2 Fritz
	James Carr

	Faugaboher Farm North 1/2 Harrington
	F.W. Carr
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Township Organization

The township was organized as a civil township in January 1908, with the following officers: John Stambaugh, C.W. Holcomb, Thomas McCreary, C.M. Porter, B.J. Holcomb, the first treasurer was L.M. Thomas.

Present officers are: 

Marie Gussiaas, Clerk-treasurer 

Assessor, Ruth Bort

Supervisors, Don Davis, James Straley, Edward Fandrich
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School Organization

School District No. 10

School District No. 10, Carrington Township, was organized November 13, 1883 under the direction of County Superintendent H.W. Cornish.  A.D. Parker was named clerk, Archibald Miller, treasurer, and Lemonte Durbon, director.

The first school was built on Section 19 in the area where the grade school is now located.  This school known as Number one was first taught in December 1883 by Lucy Mitchell.  In 1885 the district bonded for $2500 to build a two-room school.  In 1892 an addition was built on.

In about 1887 school classes were held in a small building on the Adam Bond farm on the northeast corner of Northwest 1/4 of section 26.  The first teacher in this school was Eve Flater of New Rockford and the only pupils were Bessie, Fern, and Crayton Holcomb.  A school was built in 1889 and it was known as school No. 2.  This school burned about 1891.  While a new building was being constructed school was held at the Ed Hanna house located down the road a little way from the Holcombs.  The new school was finished in 1894.  This building was later moved to Carrington.

School No. 3 known as the Shiflet School was first built about 1897 on section 11.  It was rebuilt in the summer of 1907.  This school was later sold to Rose Hill Township where it was used until reorganization.  It was then moved to the Fairgrounds where it stands at the present time.

School District No. 10 was reorganized into a Special School District June 5, 1902.  Present board members are Jacqueline Burbank, Howard Miller, Ernest Steinman, Illa Zink, and Wayne Loosen.  Herman Doeling is the clerk.

The town of Carrington was established in 1882 at the junction of the Devils Lake and Mouse River branches of the Jamestown Northern Railway now the Northern Pacific.  It was named for M.D. Carrington, vice‑president and general manager of the Carrington‑Casey Land Company  In the summer of 1882 this company for $168,380 bought some 30,000 acres of railroad land in this area and in Wells county and operated a bonanza farm south of the town site.  They platted, named and gave sites for a public park, school, churches and the courthouse.  The post office was established February 15, 1883 with Arthur B. Halsey, postmaster.  The village was incorporated as a City in 1900. 
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Carrington Township Land Acquisition

	Year and Name
	Section

	1883 
	

	Rice Engles 
	2

	Jacob Berg 
	2

	Rolus E. Turney
	2

	Francis A. Carter
	8

	William A. Seymore
	8

	Benjamin F. Manning
	10

	Edward S. McCalmont
	10

	M. Henry Murphy
	10

	Ella M. Eakin
	12

	Robert Hunter
	14

	Freeman O. Hall
	18

	Marvin K. Bowen
	18

	James Clair
	20

	Edward M. Chase
	22

	Norman Nicolson
	22

	William L. Miller
	28

	Theodore Branch
	28

	William Beidleman
	28

	Enos P. Cook
	30

	Charley Thurston
	30

	Francis Button
	32

	
	

	1884
	

	Augusta Hutchen
	2

	Ina M. Carter
	6

	Wilmer D. Nicholson
	6

	David W. Carter
	6

	Thomas D. Slater
	14

	James Hamilton
	18

	Elias Holcomb
	24

	John E. Bort
	24

	Adam Bond
	26

	William F. Metz
	28

	Lyman R. Casey
	30

	Edgar W. Camp
	32

	
	

	1886
	

	Thomas Collins
	18

	Gottfried Lund
	24

	Henry Rolder
	32

	
	

	1887
	

	Lamant Dubrow
	30

	
	

	1890
	

	Thomas McCreary
	20

	Elias Holcomb
	24

	
	

	1891
	

	Herbert Austin
	

	
	

	1892
	

	Zerlina Eakin
	12

	Ella Klaus
	12

	D. Carr Griffin
	12

	Benjamin Holcomb
	14

	John Bissit
	32

	
	

	1893
	

	Henry Solliday
	8

	William Cushen
	20

	
	

	1894
	

	Elmer Farquer
	

	
	

	1895
	

	Harlow W. Fisk
	10

	
	

	1898
	

	T. Jason Slater
	26

	
	

	1901
	

	Jacob  Berg
	2

	
	

	1902
	

	Norman Nicolson
	22
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Carrington Township Land Ownership in 1910 and 1980

	Section
	1910
	1980

	1
	C.H. Davidson
	James Carr

	2
	T.N. Putnam
A.D. Parker
J. W. Shiflet
	Jerry Goheen
Earl Straley
James Straley

	3
	T.N. Putnam
Charles Sprague
J.E. Thomas
	Mervin Gussiaas

	4
	Robert Hunter Est.
T.N. Putnam
B. F. Kepner
	Gary Rosenau
Mervin Gussiaas
Frances Kaal

	5
	Fred Berle
	James Carr

	6
	Ralph Hall
P.D. McKenzie
Robert Hunter est.
	Butts Farming Assn.
Butts Feed Lots
N.A. Graves

	7
	R.E. Walker
C.B. Craven
	Harry Tenborg
Judson Tracy

	8
	Fran Kepner
W.C. Perry
H.A. Soliday
	Larry Quesenberry
Sheldon Quesenberry
Stanley Linderman

	9
	Northern Pacific R.R.
M.A. Rhoades
	Gary Rosenau
Erling Stokes

	10
	Frank Moon
E.W. Whinnery
H.P. Mary B. Garver
John J. Grothe
	Edward Fandrich
Otto Klindworth

	11
	C.H. Davidson
W.E. Cummings
J.W. Shiflet
	Jerry Goheen
James Straley
Becker, Partlow, Silkey

	12
	Ella Klaus
Farnham Davidson
Z.S. Eakin
	Robert Theis
Olaf Gussiaas

	13
	Alfred & Alex Duncan Helander
B.J. Holcomb
Duncan McNabb
Carrington & Casey Land Company
	James Carr
George Stambaugh
James Straley
Leo Fornshell

	14
	Robert Hunter est.
Alfred & Alex Helander
B.J. Holcomb
	James Carr
Lola Sheehan
Slyvia Stambaugh

	15
	E.W. Whinnery
John J. Grothe
	Edward Fandrich
James Carr
Otto Klindworth

	16
	C.K. Wing
Charles D. Baxter
	Marlin Stokes
Erling Stokes

	17
	Carrington & Casey Land Company
J.W. Stambaugh
G.W. Stambaugh
	Ila Quesenberry
City of Carrington
Ruby Roberts

	18
	C. Kallberg
John G. Moore Est.
	William Radke
John Rusk

	19
	City of Carrington
	City of Carrington

	20
	Isaac Thomas
H.A. Soliday
J.W. Coleman
Thomas McCreary
	City of Carrington
O'Neil Gedrose
Erman Stokes 
Helen Olson

	21
	Edith M. Baxter
Thomas McCleary
	John H. Rusk
Andrew Klein 
Jack Rosenau

	22
	Ira L. Fritz
Morman Nicholson
	James Carr
L.S. Reimers

	23
	George W. Wales
T.N. Putnam
R. Long
	N.A. Graves
Mark Anderson 
Joe R. Carr

	24
	J. Buchanan Jr.
William T. Trager
	Raymond Miller
George Reimers 
Clarence Miller

	25
	J.E. Bort
J. J. & R. H. Atkins
	Ruth Bort
Bernice Waldon

	26
	Norman Nicholson
B.J. Holcomb
N.E. Landeene
	Mary Anderson
James P. Carr

	27
	Norman Nicholson
John Cline
Jerry Harrington
	L.S. Reimers
Linda Felchle

	28
	Thomas McCreary
William Beeleman
E. McMillen
	George Semmens
Clarence Cook 
Fritz Carr

	29
	Thomas McCreary
H.J. Holloway
Atkins Brothers
	Otto Klindworth
Robert Reimers 
Helen M. Olson 
Gordon Olson

	30
	James P. Rusk
Atkins Brothers
	Elmer Okert
Ellabelle Klindworth

	31
	John Deidy 
W.G. Perry
Ida L. Sands
	Roy Clark
Elmer Okert

	32
	B.S. Russell
Thomas Buchanan
Buhman & Hermon
	William Page
Luther Paulson 
Bernice Page Elwell

	33
	S.E. Hiekes
H.J. Holloway
William Awalt
	Clarence Cook
William Page 
F.W. Carr

	34
	Jerry Harrington
John Buchanan
Patrick Sullivan
	F.W. Carr
J. Maurice Carr

	35
	W.E. Hooper
	Linda Felchle
Donald Nicholson

	36
	C.K. Wing
Daniel Sullivan
Peter P. Zink
	James Carr
Bernice Waldon


Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 192

Carrington

First Child at Carrington Recalls Days of No Playmates But Big Plans.  Being Made for Metropolis of City: (Independent, September 20, 1928)
Mrs. Jessie Soliday Mackenzie, first child at Carrington:

When you first saw Carrington in the fall of 1882 what was here?

The townsite was entirely covered with a blanket of snow.  Many places six, eight, and ten feet deep depending on how hard and which way the wind blew, pulling it in drifts

Was there a sidewalk or a brick building in town?

No, indeed.

How many houses?

Two or three rudely, roughly constructed shacks.

Where were the business places located?

There were no business places until the spring of 1883.  They were mostly located on Main Street as now.

Was obtaining drinking water a serious problem?

Yes, the first winter melted snow was used exclusively for drinking water.  For several years one, fine faithful, old well known as the "section house well", supplied the drinking water.  It was hauled in barrels by Peter Johnson who had complete control of the water supply in Carrington at that time.  This was our only means of getting water.

How long before another family with children for you to play with, came to Carrington?

Six months.  The O.G. Meachem family moved here from Milwaukee, Wisconsin, at that time.  Mr. Meachem was the first banker here.

When was the first religious service held and how was it inspired?

The first religious service was held in the dining room of the Park House in the spring of 1883, conducted by Rev. Wirt, an early missionary.  This was the first organization of the Congregational church here and was inspired, as usual by the desire and yearning of some of our earliest settlers for a place where they could worship God and receive the benefits and consolation they had in their former Eastern homes.  Pretty much the same desire that inspired the Pilgrim Fathers to establish religious worship in their new home.  Some of our earliest settlers came from that sturdy New England stock.  One of the prime movers in this was J. Morely Wyard.

How soon was a school established and where and how, and how many pupils?

The first school in Carrington was known to a very few.  It was little.  The teacher was a widow, Mrs. Amelia Wilder, who now lives in Long Beach, Cal.  There were not more than a dozen pupils.  It was, as I remember it, sort of a kindergarten.  Our fathers, of course, financed it.

The first public school was established in the fall of 1883.  There were only 20 pupils enrolled; all the children there were in town at that time.  The teacher was a widow, Mrs. Mitchell.  The site and building had been donated by Carrington & Casey, the original owners of the townsite.

What was done that first winter for amusement?

The early settlers of Carrington and community were of an unusually high class coming from refined, cultured homes in the east and elsewhere.  The amusements and entertainments were along the usual lines.  After the erection of the first Kirkwood hotel, some attractive social affairs were held there including one very elaborate ball.  There were concerts and church affairs such as suppers, pink teas, donation parties, etc. and I think some card "fiends" were in town as far back as that; believe whist and eucher were the popular games then.  There were also some plays given and the ever-present road shows of one-night stands.

Was there plenty of fuel on hand?

Yes, I never knew of any lack except the first winter when we were compelled to burn railroad ties.

What do you recall about the issuing of the first newspaper here and is a copy of that issue still in existence?

The first newspaper was The Carrington News a rattling good newspaper too.  Clean, live and well set up; perfect English.  The first copy with a printed card bearing this inscription: "Mrs. H.A. Soliday, the first copy of the Carrington News, presented to the first lady resident with the publisher's compliments."  This card which was tucked away in the family Bible at the time of presentation has reposed there ever since, but regret that the paper seems to have been lost or destroyed.

Do you remember the first fire in Carrington and what was used to fight it?

Yes, the first fire in Carrington was the fine, practically new Kirkwood Hotel which in short order was reduced to cinders and ashes, also all of its contents.  The facilities for fighting fires were very meager, consisting of a volunteer bucket brigade.  There was very little water available.  Everyone offered suggestions as to what should be done but were unable to do anything.  From all that I have heard about that fire, the roles enacted there would have been material for a good movie.  There was both tragedy and romance.  It has been the subject of reminiscence ever since, in groups who lived here at the time and always provokes much laughter.

Do you remember the county seat fight and the separation of Eddy and Foster counties?

I remember hearing my father talk about it.  He seemed to be on the inside so to speak.  The reason, of course, for the division was a quarrel between the rival towns of Carrington and New Rockford, both in one county at the time as to which should be the county seat.  County commissioners at that time were E.W. Brenner and H.M. Clark of New Rockford and L.R. Casey of Carrington.  The quarrel resulted in the division of the county in 1884 in the center from east to west making it necessary to reorganize Foster County.  This was done by the appointment of A.O. Elder, F.G. Barlow, as county commissioners and L.R. Casey the holdover.

What are your recollections of Mr. Casey and Mr. Carrington the founders of the town?

Mr. Casey in the picture I have in my memory of him, stands out as one of the most dignified; charming men I have ever known; always a gentleman.  I know whereby I speak, for as a child it was my privilege to have as my playmates the Casey children, son, Cary and daughter, Theodora, and I spent much time in the Casey home.  He was at one time an unsuccessful candidate for United States senator.  North Dakota would have had a representative to be proud of had he been successful.

I never knew Mr. Carrington; think he was known here only by name.

About what time, in your estimation did Carrington pass from a pioneer western settlement into a city of homes and settled conditions?

Of course many pioneers' residence here was of short duration.  Carrington passed through two or three boom periods.  At one time several carloads of people were induced to come here through railroad immigration agents.  Either we did not measure up to their expectation or they didn't measure up to ours for practically none remained.  Apparently.  I think Carrington really passed from a pioneer town or settlement at the time it was organized as a city, at which time we gave up some of our primitive modes of living for more modern ones.

Who was the first physician here?

Dr. P.O. Hackleman.  In looking through an old photograph album recently I saw his autograph there.  I remember him well.  He attended me through a siege of illness when I was a little girl and purchased a new dress for my doll and gave me 10 cents as an inducement to take bad medicine.

When did Dr. McKenzie locate in Carrington?

In the early fall of 1893.  He was 23 and had just graduated in medicine from the University of Toronto.

What were the ideas of the first settlers as to Carrington's future?  Was it considered then that the city was located favorably for greater growth that it has had?

The early settlers were very optimistic as to Carrington's future.  Some of their hopes and dreams I am afraid never materialized.  At that time it was considered a mistake that it was not located on Lake George, nine miles southwest of here; at that time an attractive lake, but it has since disappeared entirely.

How long was your father in business?

About thirty years.  Father retired about 15 years before his death in 1923.

Who were others of the early day merchants and professional men?

Strong & Chase were very successful pioneer merchants here, both New Englanders

Mr. Chase from Boston and Mr. Strong from Vermont, Durbrow Bros. (Lamont, Harry, and George from New York)

A.G. Covel, now of Sykeston

Porter Churchill, hardware

D.M. Smith and J. Buchanan Sr.

Dr. W.B. Warren, second physician here

Warring & Harriman, real estate

Heber McHugh, lawyer

Urquart & Appleby, law and real estate

Startis & Ballack, lumbermen

I am referring only to the very first ones.

With the great influx of settlers in the spring of 1883 were nearly all farms settled upon?

No, I think not.  Most of the more valuable pieces around town were settled upon, but greater distance between neighbors in the county existed then than now.

Did many of the pioneers bring money with them?

Some brought capital but not all.  Have in my possession the deposit book of Bank of Carrington which closed in '93 giving the exact amount of all depositors at that time.  There were not startlingly large amounts.  Father was receiver of that bank.

What did they do in winter for pleasure ‑ any big community gatherings?

They did the usual thing.  There was a very fine friendly spirit existing then than in this more modern age.  We saw more of each other.

Was there much suffering from cold and hunger among the pioneers? 

I never knew of any.  Suffering from hunger and cold has never been permitted in this community for, as the scripture says, "The poor we always have with us, " but those more fortunate have always seen to it that the less fortunate ones were taken care of when the cases were brought to their attention.  There were some deaths from freezing within a short distance from here but they were usually caught out in a storm and unable to reach home.  I can think of only one specific case.  Two men between here and Cathay, one's name was Hardy.  I do not recall the other.

How long was it before homes as opposed to small claim shacks became reasonably general on the prairies around Carrington?

As people prospered they improved their surroundings and built better farm homes.  The J.W. Murphy home near Bordulac was one of the earliest and best farm homes.

Was there a tree in sight when you first saw Carrington?

No.

Do you recall the pioneer who first ventured to grow trees?

O.G. Meachem was the first to plant trees in their own.  Also to experiment with fruit.  He planted currant bushes many, many years ago.  The trees he planted are still beautiful and are to be seen on what is known as the Wing property on the west side.

Are any of the original buildings here still standing?

The first courthouse built in 1887 now used as a laundry is one.  My father was county commissioner at the time and had much to do with its planning and construction.  A few residences, the house owned and occupied by Mrs. B.L. Russell was one of the very earliest, then known as the Dearborn house; and also the house built and occupied by the Meachem family the first year.  It was moved on another lot at the time the Wing's built their new home.  One other house on the west side which was built the first year known as the Phelps and Oliphant house; one a block or two north of the Congregational church, known as the C.D. Smith house.  He was the first postmaster here.  Part of my own house known as the old Soliday homestead was also built this first year.

Were oxen much used for farm work in early days?

There were some, but I really think not as generally as one might imagine.  They were soon supplanted by horses and mules.  We never had them on our farm; my father was not possessed of that much patience.

Were people more contented then than now?

I believe they were.  We didn't live the rapid pace we do now.  There was more home life; the pleasures were simple ones, with old Dobbin and the rubber tired buggy.  We couldn't wander so far away from our home environment in a few hours.

Coming down from New Rockford a few evenings ago, as I watched the big red, full moon, slowly rising in the east, I remarked to a pioneer who was with me, "That reminds me of the "mornings" we used to arrive home after attending a dance in New Rockford when I was a girl; but it was the sun that came up instead of the moon.  The lateness was usually due to the fact that we had to ford the big slough near the Ralph Hall farm.  We had breakfast and then went immediately to our schools and taught all day.

What are some of your most vivid recollections or impressions of the very early days here?

In answering the previous questions I have injected some of my most vivid recollections of the early days here.  As these were the days of my childhood and youth my memory is filled with the happiest recollections and I can truthfully say the happiest moments of my life were spent in this environment and atmosphere.  No matter where I wander in the future these memories will always stay with me.  No one ever had a happier childhood and girlhood and I am truly thankful for the privilege of having lived in this fine community so many years of my life.

How much land did the average farmer work during the first years?

Each farmer was entitled to 480 acres of land if he wished that much‑ pre‑emption homestead and tree claim, each 160 acres.  Many availed themselves of that privilege and farmed a portion of each piece, as the law required it in order to hold it but no one farmed on a large scale.  They did not have the facilities for doing so.
Has Carrington become a larger, more beautiful and more important town than you had reason to believe it would in those early days of 45 years ago?

No.  If we are optimists we are always wishing and hoping for better things.  Carrington's growth and development has been satisfactory but slow.  Think it was the hope of the pioneers to make this town a real metropolis.

What, in your estimation, have been the main influences in giving Carrington its personality?

The quality of its citizens and its high moral standards.  Always supporting and standing back of every uplifting movement; not only in our own community and state but nationally as well; not only responding to requests made of us in times of stress and strain, but more than that "going over the top".  That is a good record for any town.  "By our deeds we are known."  Another great influence in giving Carrington its personality is the fact that we believe the future history of America will be shaped in a large measure by the character of the homes.  If we continue to be a home‑loving people we shall have the strength that comes only from a virile family life where the influence is healthful and inspiring, teaching responsibility, usefulness, thrift, and modern demands for pleasure, all necessary to any people that hope to develop a lasting civilization.

Would people, raised amid present luxuries, go back to the sacrifices of men and women of 50 years ago who first settled new countries?

No, we are either progressive or dead.  It seems to be humanly natural for us to want to live as comfortably and easily as possible.  Great as has been the improvement in living conditions yet there are still greater improvements coming.  Bring them on!

What do you think has been the greatest advancement for human comfort or well‑being since 1882 when Carrington was born and when electricity in any form was almost unknown and unused, the auto had not been dreamed of, radio and wireless had not been thought of, sanitary and health conditions were given little thought‑ in fact, nearly all the present day luxuries and necessities were yet to be born?

This question answers itself.  The home with all the modern appliances electricity affords‑ frigidaire, electric washers, ironers, kitchen ranges, grills, toasters, curling irons, reduce labor I should say 75% .  The improvements in sanitary and health conditions by replacing the "Saturday night bath", taken in the wash tub in the kitchen where one hopped out and another hopped in, by running water and the modern bath which the humblest home now supports.  The radio and automobile have both been a Godsend to people living in the rural districts, particularly women and children.

A few years ago a check‑up on patients in the insane hospital at Jamestown showed that a large proportion of the inmates came from the rural districts, pent‑up so many months with no contact with the outside world.  Their lives were so gray and monotonous and many couldn't stand up under such conditions and broke down mentally.  The automobile and radio have helped this condition.  The family can be loaded in the automobile and travel far from the confines of the home in one day and back; coming home with new hope, courage and inspiration inspired by change of scenes.  Driving through the country one sees on the humblest cottage a radio attachment.  This, to my mind, is the greatest boon yet to be offered to the rural districts.  The radio is a great educator, best sermons, lectures, latest press news, and last but not least, the greatest football games and World Series reported.

Walter Danrosch, until recently director of the New York Symphony Orchestra, said, he "was thrilled with thought that his audience was now composed of millions instead of a few thousand, due to radio."
Did the building of the Soo railroad through here in the '90's stimulate the growth of Carrington?

Yes, Carrington immediately began to grow when a competitive railroad was built through here.

What was the longest drive by team that Dr. MacKenzie was ever called upon to take?

It was not unusual for Dr. MacKenzie to make 40 or 50 mile drives by team.

Do you recall some of his thrilling experiences in making early day calls?

Dr. MacKenzie always reminded me of old Dr. MacClure in "The Bonnie Briar Bush" by Ian MacLarin in his long drives and ministrations to his patients in the rural districts.  Doctor had some close calls and narrow escapes from freezing.  One particular outstanding instance was in about 1898, I think.  One Thanksgiving day he and Dr. MacLachlan were called out to see James Hamilton about five miles north of town, who was lying critically ill with typhoid fever.  One of the worst blizzards of the season developed that day and while only five miles from town they were forced to remain three days until the storm subsided and all the neighbors helped to make a new trail.  The old one had entirely disappeared.  There were no telephones or communication and much concern was felt about their safety.  A searching party was about to be organized when they appeared.  Many times has he come home with frozen fingers, toes and nose; and icicles all around his face.  Remember one time he came in and it took me almost five minutes to unfasten the safety pins that dear old Granma Nicholson had pinned around his head as a protection.  There were many sad, also amusing incidents, in these young doctors' lives.  Remember doctor getting a call one night in mid‑winter from a farmer way down in the Hawk's Nest Hills saying, "Doctor, come quick!  I ain't no doctor, I don't know, but I tank my wife he be damned bad sick."
Are winter blizzards today as severe as in the first few winters?

No, the planting of trees and civilization seems to have tempered the winds.  Think that is the history of all prairie countries.

Was the work and sacrifice of the pioneers' worthwhile?

Yes, most emphatically.  It was a great character developer.  In the first place they came in contact with people from all over the globe, a genial, hospitable and generous people, alive to enterprise and ready to do their part in building this community.  History and integrity constituted the parallels between which they moved.
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The Beginning of Carrington

When the Carrington and Casey Land Company purchased their extensive tract of land in the southwest part of what is now Foster County in 1882, Section 19 of Township 146, Range 66 (now Carrington Township) was reserved for a townsite.  This section was chosen because it was to be the temporary terminus of the Jamestown and Northern branch line coming up from Jamestown in a northwesterly direction.  The tracks were being laid north from Melville in the summer and fall of 1882.

The name Carrington was given to the townsite by Lyman R. Casey, the resident manager of the land company in honor of the president of the firm, Miles D. Carrington of Toledo, Ohio.

During the summer of 1882 there were already a few settlers in the area of the townsite but as late as August there were no buildings on the location.  Mr. Will Reed of Anoka, Minnesota who visited Carrington in 1932 said in an interview that there was not a building to be seen when he reached the site in August 1882.  He built a shack on land just west of the townsite in the next township (Wyard) and he said he helped one or two others build.  Of these he remembered only the Solidays, Henry A. and his son George and Jack Middleton who had a shack over in Wells County.  A few others came a little later that year but most of them left before the winter set in.

In September 1882 the Government surveyors marked the corners of the sections of what was to be Carrington Township.  The townsite of Carrington was laid out at about the same time to form the square Original Townsite of 64 blocks, 300 feet to the side with 66-foot wide streets between them.  The townsite platting may have preceded the government survey since the center of Main Street does not correspond to the quarter line.  The Railroad tracks reached the townsite on December 2, 1882 but no trains were run during the winter.  The story of the last train to run that year is vividly recounted in Mrs. J.R. McKenzie's Reminiscences.  When she and her mother arrived at the end of the tracks in the midst of a blizzard there were only two shacks where the town was to be.  Both were located on or near the present site of the J.C. Penney store on Main Street (Block 36 of the Original Townsite).  One of the shacks was occupied by the Solidays who were planning to establish a general store to take care of the needs of the flood of immigrants expected when the train service began in the spring.  The other shack was the quarters of two young real estate men, Bruce Waring and Loren H. Harriman.

The following is the account by Mrs. J.R. MacKenzie:

The most popular musical ballad at that time was 'The Little Old Sod Shanty on the Claim' which bore the refrain: 

"Oh ‑ The hinges are of leather and the windows have no glass, 
and the board roof lets the howling blizzard in, 
and I hear the hungry coyote as he sneaks up through the grass, 
in my little old sod shanty on the claim."
My mother very much enjoyed telling her guests that the soup which they were partaking was made of a stock soup bone for the foundation, which she put out of doors every night to feed the hungry coyotes, and brought in every morning for the soup kettle.

This trying winter passed however and the spring of '83 dawned; the railroad again resumed operations, and the fame of this little city had evidently spread over land and‑sea, for people began pouring in from seemingly every state in the union, particularly the eastern states; also from foreign countries, England, Scotland, Norway, Sweden, and Germany were all represented.

The boom was on.  Everybody was as busy as a bee.  The music of hammer and saw was to be heard everywhere and buildings seemed to spring up like mushrooms in the night, and soon many lines of business and seemingly every branch of industry established.  These new comers represented every station in life.  There were peasants, mechanics, business and professional men.  Many of the choicest people of which Carrington has ever been able to boast of, came in these early days, coming from cultured homes in the east and bringing their talents with them.

Carrington society has from the beginning been good.  One of the most cultured families was the one of Mr. Lyman R. Casey who was associated with his brother T.B. Casey of the Carrington‑Casey Land Company that owned and controlled not only the townsite of Carrington but also a large portion of Foster County.  Mrs. Casey was a most refined and beautiful woman, having been brought up in luxury and elegance, being the daughter of the wealthiest and most prominent family of Baltimore, namely the Platts of oyster fame.  She was active and a moving spirit in church and society during their several years residence here.

Mr. Casey was without exception the most polished gentleman I have ever met.  He was a linguist, speaking several languages, and had traveled extensively.  It was during one of their tours through Switzerland that their beautiful daughter, Theodora, was born.  Mr. Casey was dignified, genial and gracious to everyone.  This is one of many of our fine pioneer families.

There were numerous social gatherings, the first of which was a "house warming" given in the fall of 1883 at the Meachem home and it was a delightful affair, as the Meachem family was also a choice one.  Mrs. Meachem was a beautiful type of womanhood, a college graduate and also active in church and society, in so far as her health would permit.  Her early death was a great sorrow to us all.

After the construction of the first Kirkwood Hotel, which was really a beautiful hostelry and named for one of the pioneer residents, Mr. Kirkwood McConnahay, brother of Mrs. Ralph Hall, and it was owned and operated by Dr. David B. McLain of Sheeling, West Virginia.  That was the scene of several brilliant social gatherings such as full dress balls, etc.  I have never seen any gowns since equal to those worn by the ladies on these occasions, many of them décolleté and the men in full dress.

There were, in addition, others in the county during the winter of 1882‑83; the Holcomb brothers in their sod shack east of town, Charles K. Wing, Edgar Leavenworth and Peter Zink at Melville, the Larrabee family and E. Delafield Smith and his brother Herbert in the Lake Juanita vicinity.

Train service to Carrington began on April 2, 1883 on the Jamestown and Northern branch line.  Almost immediately there was an influx of all kinds of people, homesteaders, business and tradesmen of many occupations as well as a few eager to make a quick dollar and then move on.  The Carrington and Casey Land Company with Lyman R. Casey as the resident manager had put up the lots of the platted portion of the townsite for sale and many of them had bought lots sight unseen.  The even numbered sections in the newly surveyed townships were open for homesteading on March 1, 1883.  The odd numbered sections in the grant to the Northern Pacific Railroad were also for sale but nearly all of these in Melville and Bordulac Townships and part of those in Carrington and Rose Hill Townships had been purchased in 1882 by the Carrington and Casey Land Company for their bonanza farm.

Another account of the early days of Carrington is contained in a diary for the year 1883 kept by Alton Giles Covel, a 29‑year‑old attorney who left his home in Corry, Pennsylvania to establish himself as a lawyer in Dakota Territory.  The diary contains entries for nearly every day of the year telling briefly of his activities, expenditures, letters written and received and usually the weather.

Covell arrived in Carrington by train at noon on Tuesday, May 1, 1883 with his partner Charles L. White, also from Pennsylvania.  Their first order of business was to file on claims.  With the help of Bruce Waring the two located claims in what is now Superior Township, Eddy County.  Covell chose the Southeast 1/4 of Section 16 and the adjoining Northeast 1/4 of 21 in Township 148, 66.  After a shack had been built on the land he and his partner rented an office in the Durbrow Block on Carrington's Main Street.  They bought the bare necessities for the office and Covell built some of his own furniture.  He used the office for sleeping quarters and made most of his own meals.  He says little about the activities of his partner and his own law business did not appear to keep him busy.  He attended church regularly, the first time on May 11, 1883.  He often recorded the text of the sermon in his diary.  He wrote frequently to his family and friends back in Pennsylvania.

He made friends easily and among those mentioned more than once are Will Flagg of the lumber company, H.A. Soliday of the Park Hotel and his son George, Willis H.B. Eisenhuth, proprietor of the town's pharmacy and the McKechnie brothers.  He went hunting and fishing with his friends on a number of occasions.  He traveled extensively throughout the Territory, to Barlow and the James River on foot, by stage to Fort Totten on the Fourth of July holiday and also visited various people in the Sheyenne River area and by train to Jamestown and Cooperstown.  He sat up all night with a sick man, Mr. Chancy, who died on July 1, 1883 during a 100-degree hot spell.  He noted that he attended the funeral at 7 p.m. the same night and also that the man was the first to die in Carrington.

Covell's legal business consisted mainly of drawing up legal papers for homesteaders and townspeople.  On November 19, 1883 he sold out the Brogan and Haley Saloon to satisfy a chattel mortgage for the Churchill Webster Company.  His fee for the job was $10.00.  All in all, he did not really prosper during his first year in Dakota Territory; at the end of his diary he gives an accounting of his financial condition and he found himself considerably poorer than when he arrived eight months earlier except for his 320-acre claim 16 miles north of Carrington.

It is to be regretted that the diary of A.G. Covell did not continue beyond December 31, 1883.  According to Wells County History, he remained in Carrington only three years and then moved to Sykeston where he was active in city and county affairs for many years.

Although no mention is made of it in his dairy Covell's law office was surrounded by the hustle and bustle of the new town growing up on the prairie.  At first a tent city, it gradually changed over the summer into hastily constructed frame buildings, many with false fronts to confuse the people into believing that the facade concealed a two-story structure.  During the summer there was no place for the new arrivals to stay.  Henry Soliday converted his building intended for a general merchandise store into a hotel, The Park House.  The first church services in Carrington were held in the Park House dining room on April 15, 1883.

Accommodations remained meager until the Kirkwood Hotel on the north side of Main Street just east of the railroad tracks, opened for business on November 5, 1883, it burned down a few weeks later on December 15, 1883.  The hotel was rebuilt the following year.  The story of the first and second Kirkwood hotels is told elsewhere.

The town grew enough during the summer that practically everything needed by the homesteaders and townspeople was readily at hand on Main Street.  These facilities included restaurants, saloons, a drugstore, implement dealers, lumberyards, livery stables, coal and wood yards, law and real estate offices, general merchandise store, a meat market.  Dr. W.B. Warren, a physician, was an early arrival and J. Morley Wyard commenced the publication of the Carrington News in the summer of 1883.  In the late summer a petition was circulated and signed requesting permission from the Territorial Governor to organize the local government in the 36-township area which had been designated as Foster County ten years earlier.  The Enabling Act was signed on September 17, 1883 and the formal organization was completed on October 11 when the newly appointed county commissioners met for the first time.  The story of the events in connection with the organization, changes in the county boundaries and the division of the area into Foster and Eddy Counties is related elsewhere.

The following list of commercial establishments in Carrington in 1884 has been compiled from two sources: Andreason's Historical Atlas of Dakota Territory published in 1884 and an article in the Independent for June 25, 1931 quoted a copy of the Carrington News for June 25, 1931.

1. Ellis W. Appleby and W.J. Urquart, real estate, loans and insurance
2. Lamonte Durbrow, hardware, farm machinery, furniture.

3. Willis H.B. Eisenhuth, druggist and grocer.

4. L.H. Flagg and Son, lumber, farm machinery.

5. John Green, lumber

6. Rober W. Hunter and Archibald Miller, lumber, coal, wood, flour, grain, buyer of buffalo bones.

7. J.H. McDermott, liquor merchant.

8. O.G. Meacham, Bank of Carrington

9. J.H. Sarles, A. Ballack & Company, lumber and paints.

10. Charles D. Smith, liquor merchant.

11. Edson D. Strong, and Edward M. Chase, general merchandise.

12. McKechnie Brothers, carpenters and contractors, well diggers.

13. F.J. Cravath, livery stable, feed, hay, grain, implements.

14. R.C. Jordan, contractor.

15. T.W. Baker, livery stable.

16. John G. Moore, livery stable.

17. Henry A. Soliday, Park Hotel, no liquor sold.

18. Porter Churchill, mechanic, tin ware shop.

19. John Buchanan and Brewitt, meat market in house
20. A.G. Covell and Charles White, Attorneys
21. Dodge and Camp, Attorneys.

22. Bruce Waring and H. McHugh, Attorneys.

23. Flyn H. Woodward, Attorney.

24. C.E. Gregory, Attorney.

25. A.T. Smith and Son, harness and ox yoke maker.

26. Hicks & Company, C.B. Turner, manager, coal and wood yard.

27. W.B. Warren, physician.

28. Henry Rolder and A.L. Holt, mason and plasterer
29. TY French, surveyor
30. Nathan Flater and William Cushen, blacksmiths
31. Harry Elski, shoemaker

32. Burton Halbert, baker.

33. A.C. Halsey, postmaster.

34. J. Morley Wyard, editor of the Carrington News.

Several businesses have added to the wealth of

Carrington over the past 100 years.  The following are acknowledged because of their contributions to the community‑ either past or present.
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Rainbow Gardens

North Dakota's first real motel, the Rainbow Gardens, Carrington, constructed in the spring of 1930, was a tourist attraction for many years.  The facility was built by Harry and Anna Hayashi.

Harry Hayashi came to the United States from Japan when he was 16‑years‑old and worked in a millionaires Club in Spokane, Washington.  He came to Carrington in the spring of 1921 and worked in a bakery.  In 1922 he opened his own business, the Hotel Cafe, which was located in the Buchanan Hotel.  Anna Firlus was a young waitress there and two years later she and Harry were married.  They bought a five-acre tract of barren prairie land at the west end of Carrington.  It was on this tract of land that Harry brought to reality his dream of a garden that would remind him of his homeland, Tokyo, Japan.

It took many months of hard work to make his dream come true.  Trees were planted, there were flowers everywhere, a quaint, ten-story birdhouse that provided homes for 108 families of birds.  The birdhouse stood seven feet tall and was mounted on a pole in a flower garden.

Dozens of gold fish were placed in a big lily pool that contained water lilies planted in boxes.

An artificial waterfall was constructed with an electric motor that provided the power to send a stream of water gushing over a 10‑foot stone waterfall that was built into the side of a little hill.  The water then flowed over the rocks into a rock-bordered creek which wound its way through the rock garden and finally emptied into the lily pool, which was about 150 feet in size.

Odd little trolls standing eighteen inches to two feet in height were found scattered throughout the rock garden.  There were queer gnomes with long beards dressed in bright red or green, with smiling elfin faces.  Three of them had fishing poles and sat fishing or smoking at the big pool.  Another gnome sat smoking by the waterfall.  Others were scattered through the garden.  A big yellow frog had a stream of water spraying out of his mouth into the big lily pool.  The rock garden itself was a well-balanced arrangement of rocks, flowers, and tiny fir trees.

The rocks were native prairie boulders and big flat mossy rocks that were shipped from the Minnesota Lake region.  They were beautifully arranged around the lily pool, on the tiny island, on the hill and waterfall, and scattered through the rest of the park.  The hill had tiny fir trees growing between the rocks and behind the hill stood a big Dutch windmill.  Off to one side was an open veranda with lounging chairs.  Every once in a while, when the visitor least expected it, he would find another of the odd little whiskered gnomes sitting under a tree or beside a rock.

When the lily pond was first built, a flock of thirty pelicans tried to land while the crew of workman stood by and watched them.

A wading pool 16 by 30 feet was provided for the children as well as playground equipment, such as swings, teeters, and a steel acrobatic rack, and a toy merry‑go‑round.  For a dime any youngster could find plenty to keep him busy for a long time.
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Buildings

All the buildings in the camp were in the Spanish style of architecture.  The cabins had double porticoes to protect the tourist cars, and were finished with red tile roofs.  The stucco walls were painted with paint sprayed on under pressure.  The 28 cabins alternated in colors, with bright yellow, red, green lavender and rose the predominating shades.  Every building had its base trimmed with a contrasting color.  The overall view helped to inspire the name "Rainbow Gardens".
It was like a fairyland and people came from near and far to see this beauty spot.  The 28 units were always full and the crowds came and the Gardens thrived.

Then things began to change.  In December 1941, Japan bombed Pearl Harbor and the United States was involved in World War II.  Harry had not completed his citizenship course at the North Dakota University.  So in February 1942, he was taken into custody as an alien by the Federal Officers.  Later he was transferred to Fort Lincoln near Bismarck where he was detained until the day peace was declared, despite efforts of the Carrington businessmen to get him released.  During Harry's absence the Gardens was closed.

After the war, Harry returned to Carrington and began renovating the Gardens so it could again be opened for the public‑ which it was by May 1945.  After three years, Harry decided to sell the Gardens.  His health had deteriorated and he no longer wanted to manage the enterprise, so he sold the facility to Claire Ihringer of Carrington.
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Fire

On April 30, 1953, about 1 p.m. Mr. Ihringer arrived at the Gardens for work.  As he approached the buildings he noticed smoke rising from the roof.  He called the local fire department, who discovered that the entire attic was in flames.  It appeared the fire had started in the ceiling of the building, and had been ignited by open wires which were shorted by water from rainfall that day.  Ihringer said the wires were exposed because of the remodeling job that was in progress.  The ballroom and cafe portion of the facility was completely destroyed.

Reconstruction was started immediately with some improvements or changes in the older building.  The dance floor was enlarged to 50 feet wide and 100 feet long.  The kitchen area was shaped like an L with modern kitchen at one end and the dining space at the other end.  Leather upholstered booths were located along the outside walls and tables were placed elsewhere.  Many of the trees were removed and the land leveled to provide parking space.

Dances were held once a week with bands coming from all over for the one nightstand.  Some of the bands were Whoopee John, Wayne King, 6‑Fat Dutchmen, Louie Armstrong, Duke Ellingson, Conway Twitty, Lee Williams, Lem Hawkins, Jan Garber, Tes Beneke, Blue Barron, Buddy Murrow, Jimmy Dorsey and Tiny Hill.

The facility was used for other meetings, banquets, wedding receptions, and roller skating every Sunday afternoon and evening.

The end of the Rainbow Gardens occurred in December of 1972 when the area was cleared to make room for 24 units of low cost housing for the elderly.  Under the direction of HUD (Housing and Urban Development), the units were of single bedroom construction and covered a two-block area.  The cabins were sold to individuals, some of them finding a new home at Juanita Lake where they are used for cottages.

Thus ended the colorful "Rainbow Gardens".
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Kirkwood Hotel

With the coming of the railroad in 1883, train after train was loaded with settlers who came to claim the land that was opened for Homesteading.  There was a great need for housing until these people were able to settle on their claims.  Mrs. Catherine Kirkwood McConahey (Ralph Harmon's great grandmother), her son, Kirkwood (Kirk), a druggist, and Dr. C.B. McLain, built the hotel, which was opened for business November 5, 1883.  It stood on the site where the Farmers Union Oil Company is now located.

The building was a three-storied affair, containing 52 rooms.  The staff consisted of twenty men and women who worked in various departments of the hotel.  The hotel was, even for its day, "an elegant, sumptuously furnished hostelry with black waiters," and was considered one of the finest hotels in Dakota Territory.

It was named for Mrs. McConahey's grandfather, Captain Kirkwood, who had served with Washington during the Revolutionary War, and her son, Kirk.

A banquet which was largely attended by delegations of leading citizens from many of the principal northern Dakota cities was given for the Grand Opening.  The hotel was the scene of several brilliant social gatherings, such as full dress balls with the ladies attired in gowns that were never equaled, many of them décolleté, and the men in their full dress.  This formal event was spoken of as the event to be remembered.

On December 11, 1883 this splendid structure was entirely destroyed by fire.  There was some speculation that it might have been of incendiary origin.  Old-timers recalled that most of them had been gathered at the post office.  There had been no mail for a week, the railroad being blocked by a blizzard.  Just after the welcome train had arrived the hotel burst into flames.  At that time, there was a saloon in the building, too.

The Insurance companies, rather than pay the policies decided to rebuild the structure under the direction of Dr. McLain.  The men worked that winter in the cold which registered from zero to 40 degrees below.  In the following June 1884, the hotel, almost an exact duplicate of the first on the outside was opened.  The furnishings, however, were not as grand as those in the first one.

Dr. McLain was a dentist.  He and his wife were great friends of Mrs. McConahey and came with them from Wheeling, West Virginia in April 1883 when Dakota was experiencing a real estate boom.  He had come to Dakota in 1882 and invested extensively in land.  During the Civil War he was a musician in the Ohio Volunteer Infantry.

Once again the hotel became the center of many happy social gatherings, with something doing most of the time.

Mrs. MacKenzie says this in her story:

"There was a general feeling of good will and public spiritedness manifested in society at that time and the result was many happy social gatherings.  There were many talented musicians and concerts of a high order from a musical point of view were not uncommon.  One of the most noted early musicians was Mrs. W.J. Clapp, who lived here with her family which consisted of husband and seven children.  They came here directly from London where she received her musical education, being a graduate of the Royal Conservatory of London.  After leaving here she moved to Minneapolis where she was recognized as a most talented musician and an instructor of rare ability."
The following is a newspaper report of a concert given in the Hotel back in 1885.  The report was taken from the Independent published in Carrington at that time by J. Morley Wyard.

The old newspaper clipping is copied below in full.  The Miss Wiseman of Melville mentioned in the article is Mrs. Waiters who made her home with her daughter, Mrs. Ferdinand Reimers near Carrington: Miss Marie McConehay is now Mrs. Ralph Hall of Carrington

C.A. Merck was a minister at Melville

Mr. Porter was state senator

Mrs. Z.A. Clough was the wife of a teacher here

Mrs. Clara Briggs was a sister of the Durbrow brothers who operated a store in Carrington

Mrs. Chase was the wife of E.M. Chase of the Chase and Strong store in Carrington

J. Morely Wyard was the newspaper editor and Walter Wyard was his nephew. 
Mrs. C.K. Wing was a bride in 1884 and remained a resident of Carrington for many years.

Little Phoebe Smith, who managed to break up the program at the end of the evening was the daughter of the Carrington postmaster.  As one of the few children in the new town she was the favorite of the whole community.

"Last Thursday's concert was a deservedly successful and enjoyable entertainment, one of which we may well feel proud, as indicating most unmistakably the culture and refinement of the community, manifested in arranging and rendering the program and in a quick and hearty appreciation of the performance.  An evening spent in such an assembly would at once convince the visitor or the newly arrived home‑seeker that he had not yet reached the frontier of the cowboy or savage.  It is not claiming too much to say that the talent of the performers and the intelligence of the audience were equal to the most favored localities in the old home states.

"The opening number, a pianoforte duet, 'Les Dames de Seville', afford the first opportunity of hearing Mrs. E.M. Chase and Mrs. Clara Briggs, two young married ladies who have recently made their home in Carrington, the former an accomplished Boston bride, the latter, also highly endowed, coming to us from New York.  Their brilliant rendering of this well‑known selection elicited prolonged applause.  Mrs. Z.A. Clough's highly cultured and magnificent soprano voice was heard to good advantage in the lights and shadows of 'The Wood Nymph's Call', a beautiful aria; and to many of the audience it was a very happy introduction to Mrs. Clough as Cantatrice.  A recitation, 'The Legend of the Organ Builder', offered a debut to Miss Minnie Perrin.  While this young lady's voice is not naturally well adapted to public elocutionary effort, yet the recitation evinced a thoughtful and intelligent appreciation of the sentiment of the poem and a more ordinary degree of study and training.  Miss Perrin only just escaped an encore.

"Mr. M.M. Durbrow rendered 'The Swedish Wedding March' with much ability and acceptance, showing the powers of his instrument and his own skill as a performer.  The audience awakened to a rousing encore under the next item, and old English glee, 'The Red‑Cross Knight', Mr. and Mrs. Clough and Mr. J. Morely Wyard being the trio of vocalists, with Mrs. Clough as accompanist.  A portion of this spirited composition was repeated at the demand of the audience.

"Mrs. Charles K. Wing, another bride only recently captured in Vermont by one of our prosperous young merchants, in her turn captivated the audience with a piano solo, 'The Sunrise Mazourka', and for an encore played variations of 'The Old Oaken Bucket'.  The first part of the program was brought to a close with Mr. Walter Wyard's humorous rendering of 'Mr. and Mrs. Brown', the storm of applause that followed fairly shaking the stately Kirkwood with its heartiness.  His encore was a frolicking song, 'Three Jolly Sailor Boys' equally well sung.

"Mrs. Briggs and Mrs. Chase again favored the audience with a pianoforte duet, 'L' Elsire d' Amore', which was much admired.  These ladies will be assured of an enthusiastic welcome whenever they may appear before a Carrington audience.  Mrs. Wing's 'Bride Bells', and the encore, 'When the Robins Nest Again' displayed her talent as a vocalist as well as an instrumentalist, both songs being tastefully and tenderly interpreted.

"Professor Clough very strangely in his case manifested a slight nervousness in singing 'The Old Sexton' and so scarcely did himself justice, but plainly succeeded in pleasing the audience.  Mr. E.W. Camp, for the promised 'Magdalene' substituted 'Father Blake's Subscription List'.  One could almost fancy that for the time being he was seated in the little Irish chapel listening to the sonorous criticisms of the Reverend Father himself.  In response to the encore, Mr. Camp gave a widely different illustration of his capabilities as an elocutionist in Longfellow's poem, 'The Day is Done'.  The song, 'Two's Company, Three's None' delicately rendered by Mrs. Chase, compelled some of the young gentlemen to admit mentally that they had 'been there themselves'; and the pathetic ballad, 'Darby and Joan' given as an encore, appealed with equal force to some of the older members of the audience.  Mrs. Chase played cleverly and sings charmingly.

"Mr. J. Morely Wyard's song, 'Wing of the Winter Night' seemed a little unreasonable on such a fine spring evening, but obtained an encore, when he sang, 'The Friar of Orders Grand'.  Mrs. Briggs Archery Waltz was a fine piece of instrumentalizing, her encore being, 'The Wayside Chapel'.  The closing number of the concert, a duet by Mr. and Mrs. Clough, 'Master and Pupil' was summarily brought to a close, during the encore by little Phoebe Smith who had the freedom of the floor inviting admiration of a new garment she was evidently very proud of herself, bringing down the house amid roars of laughter, the wee pet being all unconscious of her share in inspiring the mirth.

"To Mrs. Chase for the use of her handsome new piano, and to Mrs. Clough for her Estey organ, both performers and audience are all greatly indebted.  The concert committee consisting of Mrs. Briggs, Mrs. Chase, Mrs. Wing, and Mrs. Clough, aided by Messrs. Chase and Wing may be congratulated upon the result of their labors, and should certainly be retained in office to arrange for another such musical festival before the winter is over.

"Mr. and Mrs. J.H. McDermott, at some considerable inconvenience to themselves very kindly and generously tendered the use of the spacious dining‑hall of the Kirkwood, which gave a feeling of pleasant sociability to the affair it would not otherwise have obtained.  About a hundred and twenty were present, and the proceeds will be a welcome contribution to the funds of the Ladies' Aid Society.  A party of Melville elite drove up to the concert - County treasurer and Mrs. Leavenworth, Rev. C.A. and Mrs. Mack, Mr. Harry Hogue, Mr. Porter, Mr. Wiseman, Miss Wiseman, Miss Marie McConehay; and were afterwards invited to partake of refreshments by Mrs. McDermott."
The Hotel was successful until early in the morning March 18, 1920, a fire started in the basement.  It was thought that it had smoldered there for a few hours then burst into flames.  It was discovered about 10:30 p.m. by the night clerk, Jack Flynn.  Three hours later the big three-story building lay in a mass of ruins.

Between 60‑70 guests were registered at the Hotel, many of them had retired for the night, but all escaped unhurt except for a few minor bruises and cuts.  The term of district court was in session and had brought scores of visitors to Carrington which filled all the rooms in the hotel as well as cots that had been placed in the halls to accommodate the guests.

The fire ended the prosperous career of the Kirkwood Hotel, the social and business center for the surrounding area in those early years.
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Galehouse Drug

Back in 1883 this drug store was started originally by a Jamestown drug company that employed H.B. Eisenhuth as its manager.  Later Mr. Eisenhuth bought out his employers' interests and continued in business for himself.  Dr. Warren and T.W. Baker bought the business a few years later and moved it to a new site where Dr. Warren managed the business.  On May 10, 1890 Leon Galehouse purchased the business from Dr. Warren, the bill of sale was drafted on a piece of wrapping paper.  Leon Galehouse, Jr. took over the business after his father retired.

In 1975 Mr. Galehouse sold the business to Tom Seaburg who came to Carrington from Moorhead, Minnesota. 
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Carrington Boarding House

Local Landmark Being Torn Down: (independent, May 16, 1963)

Old timers are saying that Carrington's first hostelry is the building on the corner across the street north of the post office, which is now being torn down, soon to be an automobile display lot for Carrington Motor Company
If that old building could talk it could have related numerous incidents in the history of the town.  It was in this building that a Carrington policeman was shot while in the line of duty.  It was here that a transient was shot and died while resisting an officer.  The policemen, incidentally was Carl Nelson, a brother of Mrs. O.D. Dawalt, Carrington.

The building, the top story of which burned off, was a building‑of‑all‑trades having served as a seed store, a blacksmith shop, a garage, a used clothing store, a Salvation Army headquarters, a plumbing shop, a radio shop and machinery storage.

Independent, May 23, 19631:

Once a rooming house, this building was the scene of shootings in October 1915 which resulted in the death of a police officer, Carl Nelson, and of an outlaw "Blackie" Davis.

Mrs. Lena Nicholson of this city recalls that she and her husband Mack Nicholson bought this house from the Sheehy estate in the spring of 1906 and ran a boarding house there for four years.  They then rented the building to Mr. and Mrs. Isaac Day.

Gilje's Column:

The year was 1915.  The time of the year was October.  Locale of a brutal slaying was the building which was the first rooming house in Carrington.  C. H. Reimers, one of our oldest old timers, thinks the building came into being about 1883, the year the railroad came.  It was a two‑story structure, with probably six rooms for wayfarers.

This building which played a prominent role in the history of the city of Carrington was not only the place where an outlaw dies of gunshot, and a police officer was mortally wounded.  It was the birthplace of at least two of our prominent people.

Genevieve Walker, who was born in that building, and who has lived here most of her life, except for schooling outside this city, and absences due to her teaching career, told us that her father, R.E. Walker, bought the building in 1891, the same year he brought his bride Anna Morgan to Carrington from Oshkosh, Wisconsin The first three Walker children Genevieve, Hallie, and Ralph, Jr. were born there.  In 1900 the Walkers sold the house to a Sheehy family and moved to a farm one mile north of Carrington, residing there until 1906, when they built and moved into the house which is now the home of Mrs. A.E. Donker.

The Mack Nicholsons moved into the house not long after the turn of the century, and they operated it as a rooming house.  In 1909 they had a son born to them in that house, and then named him Ervin.  He is Carrington's chief of police today.

Isaac Day later became operator of the rooming house, then known as the Kilby house, and was the host there when guns rang out in rooms therein on Saturday night, October 9, 1915.  (He was the father of Dewy Day, Carrington painter.)

All of this is recalled now that the building which has stood on the corner across the street north of the post office, is being razed, the lot to be an automobile display space.

A fire changed the appearance of the building soiree time, believed to be before 1920, the top story being destroyed.  There after the building became in succession several different things, from a second hand store to a garage.  Just recently it has been used for machinery storage and welding shop.

Thanks to our files of Independents of past years and to Mr. Reimers who gave somewhat of a first hand account, the tragedy of the rooming house happened this way:

Four masked men held up a group of men in the James Hopkins pool hall about 10:30 or 11:00 p.m. on that Saturday night.  Hopkins was relieved of $150 to $160 and $50 to $60 was taken from others in the room.  An Independent story said Nate Getty had just come in to get a cigar, and he had just a few cents in his pockets to turn over to the gunmen and he was struck over the head by one of them.  The bandits escaped through the front door of the pool hall and were shortly out of sight.

Because transients were known to leave town on Soo freights, local men who went out searching for the bandits in the vicinity of the way north of town, where the Soo always stopped before crossing the Northern Pacific tracks.  At about the time the train was due, four men appeared from out of the darkness‑ it was now about midnight‑ and ordered "hands up".  One young fellow in the posse, Ed Burch, was shot in the back by one of them.  Two others in the posse threw down their guns, and another, James Gilstrap, the blacksmith of Carrington, had his gun in his hand as he obeyed the "hands up" order.  His gun was taken from him and he was slugged on the head.

The paper story related the bandits went back to town that night instead of going out on the freight.

About 1: 30 a.m. a transient, suspected of being one of the four hold‑up men went to the Owl restaurant and ordered a take‑out lunch for four.  Joe Phillips, who happened to be in town and who was a rather inquisitive nature, followed the man to the Kilby rooming house.  He reported to authorities.  Subsequently, Police Chief Carl Nelson, George Hubbard, the night watchman, and Deputy Sheriff Ralph Walker decided to enter the rooming house to apprehend the suspects.

Isaac Day, in charge of the rooming house, reported four men had gotten into the building via the back door and had apparently made it upstairs to bedrooms.  Day went with the officers to the rooms.  As lights were flicked on; in the hall, gunfire started.  The first shot caught Day in the fleshy part of the upper leg, and another shot grazed his temple.  The Independent reported:

"It is thought that the leader of the gang, Frank Davis, fired the shot that so seriously wounded Chief Nelson and the chief is generally given credit for killing the bandit.  The latter died instantly having received a perfectly placed shot through the heart.  One of them stuck a gun against Deputy Walker's breast and ordered him to back up.  Walker was not recognized as being an officer, and he was only a foot or two from Chief Nelson when he was shot.

The police chief was presently under care of R. MacKenzie, who ordered that he be taken to Minneapolis for hospital care.  A special train was dispatched out of Harvey, and the trip from here to Minneapolis was made in seven hours and thirty minutes.  The trip was in vain, however.  Chief Nelson died on Wednesday, his liver having been pierced by the gunman's bullet.  
Reimers and others have reported sidelights:

A posse was pressed into service for the purpose of tracking down two of the gunmen, who got away after the shooting.  "Blackie" Davis lay dead, and one other of his party remained in the rooming house where he was taken into custody.  Reimers recalls that he was deputized for the search, and Hugh R. Putnam also recalls he was given a deputy's badge.  Also in the posse were G.W. Wiley and Ortho Wiley, and Alvin Doering.  The story is told that Henry Stambaugh, then a lad in his early teens, was out gopher hunting with a rifle.  A bullet whizzed near him and he lit out for home, scared a‑plenty.  But the suspects were not found, according to follow‑up stories in later issues of the paper.

A man named Morgan was sheriff at that time.  He was a brother‑in‑law of Deputy Walker.  He did not answer the summons for help that Saturday night because of illness.

Reimers recalls that transients‑ they called them hobos or hoes back in those days‑ came to the community during the harvest and stayed through the threshing season.  They didn't care much about work but they liked to be around when threshers came to town with their pay, for then they could engage in poker games, and thus the boys got harvest money which they did not earn.  Also hold‑ups were quite common, the victims being innocent hard‑working men who had their pay in their pockets.

As mentioned in a news story on the tearing down of the building, Carl Nelson was a brother of Mrs. O.E. (Anna) Dawalt.  His wife was the former Lily Semmens.  They had one son.
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Buchanan Hotel

Built in the early 1920s, the Buchanan Hotel was constructed to provide a place for laboring men to stay at a time when there was lots of traffic through town, a time when a bed, dresser and a place to wash your hands was welcome and sufficient.

On the site where the hotel stands, John Buchanan owned a frame building which was first built in 1894.  His first business was a line of groceries and a meat market.  He was known to advertise the specialty of furnishing large quantities of provisions for the threshing outfits and their crews.

In 1896 he took his three sons, Thomas, David, and Jack into partnership and the firm was from then on known as J. Buchanan & Sons.  The first quarters were soon outgrown and in 1898 he built a new store building.  This structure was enlarged and remodeled several times to provide space for the growing business.  In its final form it was a two-story frame structure with space on the upper floor for offices and an auditorium with a raised stage.  It was called the "Buchanan Opera House".  Over the years entertainments of all kinds, social affairs, lectures, school exercises, plays, both amateur and professional, and early motion pictures were shown in this hall.  The building also housed other businesses: The W.O. Crane Jewelry, Smith's Restaurant, and on the second floor doctors' and lawyers' offices.

The merchandizing of groceries, dry goods and hardware continued in this Main Street building until December 1, 1912 when a fire starting in a second story hallway consumed the building.  At this time the building also housed the William Smith Restaurant, Hjellum's Carrington Tailoring and the Sivertson and Lee Jewelry.  All three as well as the Buchanan stock suffered complete losses.  No attempt was made for some time to continue the general store or to fix the site, an immense hole in the ground.  Tentative steps were made several times towards rebuilding but World War I interfered.

Finally in 1920 the Buchanans undertook the construction of a three-story brick building for stores, offices and a hotel on the Main Street site.  A new hotel had been needed to serve the traveling public and salesmen even before the Kirkwood Hotel burned down early that year.  The 140 x 50 foot building erected at a cost of $100,000 was completed late in 1921 and opened for business in 1922.  It faced north on Main Street with additional entries for three stores on the west side.  Early in 1922 the J.C. Penney Company moved to the large space facing Main Street.  The Hotel lobby, the Hotel Cafe, Harry Hayashi, proprietor, and Edna Pearl Anderson's millinery Shop filled the three rooms facing Central Avenue.  The front rooms of the second floor were occupied by Dr. F.B. Peik, dentist and C.W. Burnham's law office.  The four doctors of the Carrington clinic, J.R. McKenzie, J.A. Rankin, E.L. Goss, and H. Vande Erve, had a suite of rooms on the west side of the second floor.  There were 60 hotel rooms, some with baths, in the remaining space on the second and third floors.  Besides the heating place in the basement, a pool hall with tables and a lunch counter, a three-chair barbershop with baths, and an office took up the rest of the basement area which was under the J.C. Penney store.  Rooms could be rented from 75¢ up to $2 or $3.

In 1948 George Engstrom bought the hotel and fixtures from the Buchanans.

Mr. and Mrs. George Aljets became the new owners of the hotel in 1967.  The Aljets operated the business until 1980 when they decided to sell the building because of a declining need for that type of facility.  The building was sold to Tom Seaburg who proceeded to remodel the building to house his drugstore and a craft shop.  The furniture and miscellaneous items from the hotel were sold at auction.  The new Seaburg Drug was opened for business April 7, 1982.

The basement, too, was renovated to house a new Community Youth Center to provide a place for the young people of the area to get‑together.
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Chieftain Motor Lodge

Located on Highways 281, 52, and 200, The Chieftain, which is a motel, lounge, restaurant and steak house in one, has an atmosphere that is uniquely its own.  Its name and the majestic 24-foot Indian statue in front is an indication of what to expect.  An Indian motif characterizes the Chieftain.  The architecture, paintings, displays and general decor reflect an Indian style.

The Chieftain was constructed by Jud Tracy in 1963 opening for business the next year.  Dispersed throughout the entire building are authentic Indian artifacts, most of them collected by Tracy.  For instance, the steak house, which seats about 60 people, has Indian made Navaho blankets hanging from the tepee‑like beams.  Plus, on the wall hangs paintings of great Indian leaders and in a display case an Indian mannequin wearing an original buckskin outfit can be seen.  Also Chief Sitting Bull dressed in his regalia, stands guard in the corner of the room.

In the Tepee room, one of three convention rooms, can be seen a painted buffalo robe, lances and spears that adorn the walls along with a painting by artist, Jon Metcalf.  There are a number of the famous artist's paintings hanging in the facility.  In the Pow‑Wow lounge Metcalf did a mural depicting a midnight prairie scene in florescent paint.  The bar stools in the lounge were specially made to resemble Indian drums and the menu items bear Indian names‑ "The Big Chief, " "Sitting Bull", and "Rain Cloud".

Besides offering a number of services‑ catering, banquets and room for wedding dances, the Chieftain is somewhat of a tourist attraction.  There are a number of Indian and western artifacts displayed in the hallway.  Plus there is the novelty shop where belts, dolls, spoons, jewelry and western related souvenirs are sold.

The Big Chief statue that guards the doorway is a 24‑foot tall Indian with his right arm outstretched in the "How" sign.  The figure of fiberglass was manufactured in California and is anchored in a slab of concrete.  This statue has proved to be a landmark and is very popular background for pictures taken by the tourists.

The Chieftain employs about 50 full time employees.  The business was sold to Chris and Betty Klein in 1973.  The Kleins and members of their family do a variety of jobs around the motel.  There are now 51 rooms available.  The Kleins estimate that as many as 750‑1000 people pass through the Chieftain on an average day.  In a year they average about 400‑500 meetings with about 30 percent of that number being conventions.
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The Early Law

It is not known for certain that there was a lawyer on the first train to arrive at the Carrington townsite in April 1883.  If not on the first train, however, there was one very soon after.  As soon as the homesteaders began filing on claims, lots in the townsite purchases and businesses established there was an immediate need for legal services.  Among the earliest (1884 ‑1894) were E. W. Camp, Charles L. White, Alton G. Covell, Heber McHugh and S.E. Ellsworth.  Camp was appointed States Attorney when the county was officially organized in September 1883.  Charles L. White and Heber McHugh ran for the office in the general election in November 1884, the latter won.  The County Commissioners allowed him a salary of $400 a year.

None of the above-mentioned men remained permanently in Carrington and all were long since gone at the turn of the century.  S.E. Ellsworth remained in Carrington until 1894 when he joined another attorney to practice in Jamestown.  Alton G. Covell moved to Sykeston about 1888 where he was postmaster, practiced law and was active in Wells County affairs.  A dairy written by Coven has been preserved and excerpts from this diary are included elsewhere.

The early day attorneys did not devote themselves exclusively to the practice of law; they usually had many other profit making interests.  They not only "dabbled in real estate" but also formed companies or corporations for the exploitation of the vast amounts of free and railroad land still available at the turn of the century or even later.  They also sold all kinds of insurance - life, accident, fire, and hail.  Some were abstracters of title and all were active in local and state politics.  They devoted much time to local civic and fraternal causes and only too ready to speak or orate at any and all occasions.

All the lawyers got plenty of courtroom practice if the calendars of the yearly sessions of the District Court in the early years of this century are an indication.  These sessions usually held in the late winter often listed 30 to 50 cases to be tried before the District Judge.  A panel of some 30 jurors, some from each of the townships, would be drawn by lot by the Clerk of Court.  Unless excused by the judge all would remain in Carrington at the call of the judge until the session neared its end.  These sessions were always an exciting diversion for the townspeople and high school students who often filled the spectators' seats in the courtroom to overflowing.

There was always a wide variety of cases, both civil and criminal at the District Court Session although the former were by far the most numerous.

The amounts involved were often trivial by modern standards.  A suit to recover damages of $50 was not uncommon.  Suits over the collection of bills, for personal or property damage, quieting the title of property and an occasional divorce were typical civil actions.  Criminal suits included such things as selling mortgaged property, illegal sale or manufacture of alcoholic liquors during Prohibition days, and rape once or twice, were tried before an impaneled jury with the states Attorney as prosecutor.  The calendar of cases up for trial was published in the Independent a week before the session began.  A typical calendar not as long as some was reported in the Independent for February 21, 1918.

Short Term of Court to Begin

Jurors summoned to appear Monday to try few cases ready for settlement

Three State Cases

Some cases will be of general interest but term is much shorter than usual.  Not expected to last longer than a week.

Civil Cases

Carl Westerlund vs. G.S. Newberry and the First National Bank

Shore‑Muller Company, a corporation vs. Joe Sandvold, J.S. Daughtman, et al.

Roy Reichert vs. C. W. Reichert

E.R. Bradley vs. the McHenry Telephone Company, a corporation, and J.L. Nicholl, E.J. Harris and S.J. Patterson

H.A. Rindy vs. H.A, and Julie Page

C.K. Wing vs. Thomas White

William Hubert Greenhead vs. Frank Hazlett

F.B. Peik vs. E.T. Halaas

John Foreman vs. Dan Nicholson

Andrew Felt vs. William Turner and M. Turner

J.B. Tweeton vs. H.E. O'Neil and G.W. Grotewald, co‑partners as O'Neil and Grotewald
J.B. Howard vs. E.R. Bradley

Frank Lucht vs. W.F. Beardsley

Walker & Company, a corporation vs. Frank Brown and Wyard Township, a municipal corporation

J.P. Zimmerman vs. H.E. O'Neil

Katherine Johnson vs. Peter Johnson

Farmers and Merchants Bank, a corporation vs. W.E. Hoopes

George F. Fahrer vs. E. Delafield Smith, R.E. Walker and T.N. Putnam

Carl Bostrom vs. Alfred Johnson et al
Hewitt, Lea, Funck and Company, a corporation vs. Hattie J. Wing, executrix of the last will of Charles K. Wing, deceased

Criminal Cases

State of North Dakota vs. H.E. O'Neil

State of North Dakota vs. James Sheeham

State of North Dakota vs. George L. Briner

By the end of the week there had been some action on practically all of the cases, some were continued to be tried at a later date, some were dismissed on motion by one of the attorneys, and some were settled out of court as the time for trial neared.

It will be noted in the calendar that several names appear more than once.  These individuals appear again and again over the years: among them were E.R. Bradley of Grace City and E. Delafield Smith of Carrington.  The tatter's complicated and sometimes devious deals were such that he sued or was sued in practically every session of District Court during the first quarter of the century.

The litigants were not always satisfied with the decisions of the District Court and would appeal the cases to the State Supreme Court.  In one not too typical case a Barlow carpenter, John Massier alleged that a motorist, Henry Bruening, coming towards his stopped rig frightened his team throwing him out of the vehicle causing him to injure his leg.  He sued Bruening for damages and the jury awarded him $550.  Neither Massier nor his attorney E.P. Kelly liked the verdict and the case was appealed to the State Supreme Court which ordered a retrial.  After the second District Court trial the case was again appealed to the Supreme Court where the claim was finally settled for the original figure, $550 together with some costs and interest.

In another long drawn out case begun in 1893 F.G. Barlow sued the Northern Pacific Railway for damages incurred when the railroad was being built along the edge of the Barlow homestead (Southeast 1/4 Section 6, Estabrook Township).  Since the case involved the railroad's original patent for the so‑called "indemnity lands" the case came under the jurisdiction of the Federal Courts.  An appeal to the United States Supreme Court followed by another trial and a second appeal were needed before the final resolution was finally reached in 1912.  By that time all the original attorneys and F.G. Barlow were long since deceased.
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Chilo Webb Burnham

Chilo Webb Burnham, lifelong attorney in Carrington was born on a farm near Johnstown, Vermont, August 19, 1879.  His parents were Frank H. and Emma (Rorabaugh) Burnham who with their two sons immigrated to Dakota Territory in 1883 and homesteaded on the south half of Section 30, Melville Township.  Chilo attended the local schools and completed his high school courses at a Minneapolis Academy so he could matriculate at Carleton College, Northfield, Minnesota.  He obtained his degree in academic subjects with a year of law schoolwork.  He returned to Carrington in 1905 and in 1908 ran for and was elected County Auditor.  He took office in 1909 and held the office until 1915.

During this period he studied law at night and in 1913 successfully passed the bar examinations and was admitted to the practice of law.  He ran for States Attorney for following year and was elected to succeed Carl B. Craven.  He held that office for three terms (1915 ‑ 1920) and was succeeded by James Morris.  During these years he had built up a clientele and in 1921 established himself in offices in the new Buchanan Building where he continued his practice of law with his wife as secretary.  After James Morris' second term of office expired, Burnham was again elected State Attorney and he continued in this office from 1925 to 1936.

Chilo Burnham was a charter member of the Carrington Kiwanis Club and in 1940 Governor of the Minnesota‑Dakota District.  He served on the Carrington School Board and was active in the Federated Church.  He married on January 29, 1907 Jemima Buchanan, born in 1882 in Scotland, the youngest daughter of Mr. and Mrs. John Buchanan, Sr. They were the parents of three children: Chilo W., Jr. who practiced law with his father for a time and two daughters, Jeannette (Mrs. R. William Westfall) and Lucille (Mrs. Garfield Stafford).  He died August 13, 1960 aged 80 and his wife February 9, 1971 aged 89.
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Carl Beaconsfield Craven

Carl Beaconsfield Craven came to Carrington to practice law in April 1902.  He was born March 30, 1880 at Kellogg, Iowa, the son of Amos Belden and Almira Craven, both of English ancestry.  He obtained his law degree from Drake University, Des Moines and practiced a year in Thomson, Iowa, before coming to Carrington.  Before his arrival here he married in 1904 the former Lucy Mae Alvey born March 14, 1883 in Fayette County, Iowa.

Besides his law practice in Carrington he conducted a real estate, insurance and collection business and was the first abstracter in the county.  In partnership with E.D. Lum he purchased the Foster County Independent from the Estabrooks in 1907.  The latter was the editor until the newspaper was sold to George P. Collins in 1906.  In 1908 Craven and Lum moved their offices and newspaper plant to the basement of the building on Central Avenue which today is the Independent office and printing establishment.  Attorney Craven maintained his offices on the upper floor of the building until 1925 when he purchased the old Foster County State Bank building on Main Street.

Carl B. Craven was a leader in the political, civic and fraternal affairs of the city, county and state.  He was appointed States Attorney in 1908 when the incumbent John W. White resigned.  He then served as an elected officer for three terms (1909 ‑ 1914).  He was mayor of Carrington from 1917 to 1919.  His special interest in community affairs was in fire prevention.  He was chief of the Carrington Fire Department for many years and for a term president of the State Firemen's Association.  He served as president of the Kiwanis Club, was a member of the Chamber of Commerce and promoter of the Annual Junior Fair.  He was a member of the Masons, Knights Templar and a Shriner.

Carl B. Craven married Lucy Mae Alvey at Forest City, Illinois, in 1901.  They had six children: Lucile (Mrs. John Harper), Alvey, Bruce, George.  Their eldest son Lyle, born in 1902, died December 12, 1909.  His first marriage ended in divorce and he married Minnie Pepple November 3, 1921; they were the parents of three children:  John, James and Barbara.  Carl Craven died in 1941.  The first Mrs. Craven married as her second husband Charles Page of Carrington; she died August 3, 1955.
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George H. Estabrook

George H. Estabrook was an 1882 settler in Foster County where he lived on a farm one mile east of Barlow in the township which bears his name.  He was born October 5, 1830 at Springfield, Illinois.  He had volunteered early in the Civil War and attained the rank of Major by the end of the conflict.  Several of his war reminiscences are reported in the Independent.  He maintained his farm on Section 8 in the township and a law office in Carrington.  He was appointed County Judge when the separation of Eddy and Foster Counties occurred in 1885 and held the office by election through 1892.  In that year he was elected States Attorney and served one term (1893 ‑1894).

He and his son Lewis assumed the ownership of the Foster County Independent in 1904 when the paper experienced financial difficulties under the ownership of H.H. Palmer.  Palmer dropped out of sight from the area indebted to nearly everyone including the Estabrooks.  The newspaper continued publication with another Estabrook son, G. Albert, as editor.  In April 1907 the paper was sold to attorney C.B. Craven and E.D. Lum.  The latter was a newspaperman with some experience.

The Estabrooks retired in 1908 to the state of Washington where they lived with their son Albert who had moved to Edmonds, WA.  George H. Estabrook died July 17, 1916 and is buried at Chippawa Falls, Wisconsin, the home of his daughter Mrs. W.H. Bailey.
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Charles E. Leslie

Charles E. Leslie came to Carrington in 1900 to be a partner with T.F. McCue.  While by profession a lawyer it appears that his main occupation was developing the telephone system which had been started by C.L. King of Harvey.  Leslie took over the company in 1901 when King was declared bankrupt.  With the assistance of his two sons Myron and Charles, the system in Carrington and the surrounding area was extended and improved.  Leslie continued the management of the telephone enterprise until 1906 when it was sold to a Valley City concern.  The development of the telephone system is told in detail elsewhere.

In 1904 Leslie ran for and was elected States Attorney.  He held that office for the one term and after disposing his telephone interests moved to Minneapolis in 1906.  Later he was practicing law in Hillsboro.

Besides his two sons the Leslies had a daughter Ruth.  As a senior in high school, Class of 1905, she competed in and won the state declamation contest at Grand Forks.
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Jone W. White

Jone W. White, born in Virginia, came to Carrington from Des Moines, Iowa, in September 1902 to be a partner of C.B. Craven.  The partnership lasted for two years and he practiced on his own until he ran for and was elected States Attorney in 1906.  He resigned from that office in 1908 on account of pressing business affairs in his Virginia home.  He was succeeded by C.B. Craven, who was appointed to fill out the term.  He returned to Carrington briefly to resume his practice but left again to go to Twin Falls, Idaho.  A year or so later he moved back to a practice in Des Moines, Iowa.
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Robert Heinley

Robert Heinley was born and spent his early years in Ransom County.  He attended school at Lawton and Edmore, graduating from high school in 1946.  He attended University of North Dakota where he graduated with a B.A. in 1950 and received his J.D. in 1956.  After graduation he spent nine years working for an oil company traveling in Montana and Wyoming.

In 1966 he came to Carrington and started his practice.  His office is now at 1405 Main.

Bob Heinley and Beverly Nash from Buxton, North Dakota were married in 1950.  They have four boys, Bob, Bevin, Tim, and Wes.  Bob likes to collect and work on antique cars.
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Thomas Aljets

A native of Carrington, Thomas Aljets, the son of George and Dorothy Aljets was born August 29, 1953.  He attended school in Carrington, graduating in 1971.  He received his B.A. in 1975 and his J.D. in 1978 from the University of North Dakota.  He spent two years working with the Court system in Bismarck.  He was also an assistant professor in Law School for a year.  He started practice in Carrington in 1980.

Mr. Aljets married Louise Rensch of Makoti, North Dakota.  They have a child, Katie Marie.

Thomas likes to play golf and softball.  He also does some farming during the summer.
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Buelah Rathe

Buelah Rathe, Legal secretary for Heinley, Kunkel and Aljets, was born and raised at Buxton, North Dakota.  She attended college at Ellendale, graduating with an Associate Degree in Business.

She married Marvin Rathe of Fullerton in 1949.  Marvin was an Industrial Arts teacher, teaching in Montana, Cando, and then coming to Carrington in 1966.  He retired from teaching after 24 years and went into business at the High‑Way Off-Sale.

The Rathes have five children: Kathleen, Mark, Dean, Ross, and Paul.  They have three grandchildren.

Buelah likes to sing, dance, sew and play cards.
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William Kunkel

William Kunkel was born at Fessenden, North Dakota in 1914.  He moved to Carrington in 1925 and graduated from high school in 1932.  He attended the University of North Dakota receiving his degree in 1936 and his law degree in 1938.  After graduation he took over the practice of C.B. Craven in 1941.  In 1945 he sold this practice to Darrell Topp, who sold to T. A. Roney, who later sold it to Fabian Noack.

Bill worked with the Foster County Selective Service in World War II in positions ranging from Clerk to the United States Government Appeal Agent.  He served as Foster County Justice from 1961‑1966.  Mr. Kunkel resumed private practice in 1961, taking over the late C.W. Burnham offices.  He became an associate of Robert Heinley in 1966 where he maintains an office although he is now retired.

He married Marcella McGinn of Excanba, Michigan in 1939.
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Fabian Noack

Fabian Noack was born June 18, 1930 on his grandfather's homestead near New Rockford, North Dakota.  He graduated from New Rockford High School in 1948 and then went to the University of North Dakota, Grand Forks, graduating with a Bachelor of Science Degree in 1952.  He served in the United States Air Force during the Korean Conflict and was discharged as a 1st Lieutenant.  He then returned to Grand Forks and the University Law School where he received his Juris Doctor Degree in 1957.

He came to Carrington in 1959 and purchased the law practice of T.A. Roney.  Since that time he has served as States Attorney and Carrington City Attorney.  He is a member of the Board of Regents of Mary College, Bismarck, North Dakota.

Fabian Noack and Janet Homuth were married in 1956.  They have three children: Jo Marie, Steve, and Rebecca.

In his spare time Mr. Noack likes to hunt, fish and play golf.
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Robert E. Manley

Robert E. Manley of Rushford, Minnesota and a graduate of the University of Minnesota, came to Carrington early in 1898 to hang out his shingle at the Carrington State Bank.  When the Spanish American War was declared shortly thereafter on April 24, 1898 he enlisted in the Jamestown contingent.  He saw service in the Philippines and after the war's end remained in the Islands except for occasional visits to the States.  He was, interned by the Japanese during World War II and died shortly thereafter from the effects of his imprisonment.

(The information concerning R.E. Manley's career in the Philippines was supplied by his nephew, Attorney R. I. Manley of New Rockford.)
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Wendell Huston

Wendell Huston of Blandsville, Illinois came to Carrington in August 1909 to open a law office; he had just been admitted to the bar.  Besides his law practice he also dealt in farmlands and for a time was associated with T.F. McCue's American Land Securities Company.  He was a trustee of the Congregational Church and active in the Sunday school.  Little more about him appears in the records except that he was married, his wife's maiden name was Wallace and there were two children:  Wallace and Susan.  He is last mentioned in the Independent in 1918 and he and his family apparently moved away about that time.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 218

James Morris

James Morris, probably Foster County's best-known attorney, was born in Bordulac Township January 2, 1893 on his father's homestead on Section 1 of that township.  He was the son of David T. and Martha (Henderson) Morris; his father of Welsh descent died in 1903.

James Morris attended the local schools until the age of 16 when he and his mother moved to Cincinnati, Ohio where he finished his high school courses and entered the University of Cincinnati Law School.  He graduated with the LL.B. Degree in 1916 and returned to North Dakota the next year.  After passing the bar examinations he began the practice of law in Bordulac.  Shortly thereafter he came to Carrington and joined the C.B. Craven practice.

He spent about a year and a half in the armed forces in World War I returning to Carrington in 1919.  In 1920 he ran for and was elected States Attorney and served two terms (1920‑1924).  In 1928 he was appointed assistant Attorney General for North Dakota and in 1928 he was elected Attorney General.  After serving one term, returned to private practice in Jamestown.  In 1933 he was elected Justice of the North Dakota Supreme Court and served until he retired in 1964.  He served for a time as a member of a three-judge war crimes tribunal at Nuremberg, Germany in 1947.

James Morris was a charter member and the first Commander of the Carrington American Legion Post and active in veterans' affairs.  He was a member of the Masonic Lodge, the Kiwanis Club and the Disabled American Veterans.  After his retirement he and his wife lived in Bismarck.  He married Ameba N. Nagel of Cincinnati in 1917; they had one daughter Janette Fay (Mrs. Floyd Reynolds).  He died July 20, 1980 and is buried at Sunset Memorial Gardens, Bismarck.
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Thomas F. McCue

Thomas F. McCue came to Carrington from Emmetsburg, Iowa in October 1897 to establish a law practice.  Besides his practice he was also land agent for the Northern Pacific Railroad and the D.S.B. Johnston Land Mortgage Company of St. Paul.  The latter firm had purchased large tracts of the railroad land in the northern part of the county and was promoting the sale to settlers.  Lawyer McCue also became active immediately in civic, political and financial affairs of the city and county.  Together with C.E. Leslie, another attorney, they compiled a set of "abstract books" listing the ownership of all the land in the county.

On January 1, 1903 he was appointed secretary of C.H. Davidson's Farm Mortgage Loan and Trust Company.  He held this position for less than a year and, in November 1903 bought a controlling interest in the Foster County State Bank shortly after E. Delafield Smith had relinquished control.  At the same time he also purchased F.N. Chaffee's insurance business.  Being the president of the bank gave him backing for the American Land Securities Company which he formed with his brother‑in‑law A.E. Swanson, president of the Security State Bank of Barlow.

The real estate and banking business were eminently prosperous undertakings but did not fully occupy his time.  In 1906 he ran for and was elected Attorney General for the State of North Dakota.  During his term of office he represented Professor Ladd of the Agricultural College in Fargo in his crusade for Pure Food Laws.  In one of the cases the milling interests sued to enjoin the enforcement of the law which mandated the labeling of flour if it contained bleached flour made from inferior quality of wheat.  The millers gained a partial victory in this action but Ladd continued his crusade in behalf of the Pure Food Laws.  It has been stated that the North Dakota legislation was the model for some of the laws later enacted by the United States Congress.

T.F. McCue served only the one term (1907‑1908) as Attorney General.  He ran for a second term in 1908 but was defeated by his former deputy Andrew Miller.  He returned to Carrington to continue his varied activities.  In 1910 he relinquished the presidency of the bank but retained his seat on the board of directors and the insurance department.  Besides his law practice and his real estate and insurance interests he still had time to pursue his literary ambitions.  His first efforts, "Vicky", ran serially in the Foster County Independent in four installments.  His second, "The Conquest of Inez Ripley", was published by a Boston, Massachusetts firm in 1912.  No further mention of the work appeared in the press and no copies are known to exist locally.  As far as can be ascertained these two pieces of fiction were the extent of his published efforts.

In 1909 T.F. McCue started the construction of a two-story dwelling, a mansion in the eyes of the Carrington residents, at the far eastern edge of town and situated on Lots 3 and 4 of Block 4 of Soliday's Addition.  It was not quite as large as the C.H. Davidson house built a few years earlier a block west on Main Street.  At the time it was built, the house was, and still is, one of the best-appointed residences in the city.  It is now (1980) owned by Eldo Lee.

The McCue family left Carrington in 1918 and McCue joined a law firm in Great Falls, Montana.  His Carrington residence was sold to Chris Albus, a Pleasant Valley Township pioneer.  As well as his law practice he had an interest in the oil boom in the northeastern corner of the state.  In 1925 he was accused of mishandling some of his clients' money and a disbarment action was initiated against him.  The complicated case continued for several years before the Montana Supreme Court before he was finally vindicated and retained his right to practice law.

In his later years he moved to California where on January 22, 1937 he was killed as he was getting off a suburban train in Beverly Hills.  He was 72 years old at the time of his death and still practicing law as counsel for the Mexican Consul at Los Angeles.

His wife, the former Miss Morris died during their stay in Montana.  He was survived by two sons, Leo and Harold who grew up in Carrington.
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Robert A. Bill

Robert A. Bill, a pioneer Jamestown attorney, came to Carrington in 1897.  He was born in New York State March 29, 1847, moved to Iowa in 1868 and to Wisconsin in 1876.  He was graduated from the University of Michigan Law Department in 1876 and came to Jamestown, Dakota Territory in 1879.  He practiced law there until he moved to Carrington in 1897 where on June 7, 1900 he married as his second wife Elizabeth Pinney.  Besides his law practice he was Justice of Peace.  He died October 27, 1909 and is buried at Jamestown.  He was survived by his second wife and a daughter Lucy by his first wife who married Bill McLean of Pisek, North Dakota in 1909.
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George W. Soliday

George W. Soliday, born February 22, 1868 at Doylestown, Ohio, was the son of Henry A. Soliday who settled in Carrington in the winter of 1882‑83.  He came with his mother and sister Jessie in April 1883.  They were the first children to arrive at the townsite.  The story of the Soliday family is recounted elsewhere.  He was educated in the local schools, Jamestown College, and Northwestern University, Evanston, Illinois.  He received his law degree from that university in 1893.  He opened a legal practice in Carrington and was elected and served three terms as States Attorney from 1895 to 1901.  In that year he resigned his position to engage in law practice in Chicago.  A few years later he moved to Seattle, WA, where he continued to practice law until his death August 23, 1950.

He was married to Mrs. Virginia Rutledge Warren the widow of Dr. W.B. Warren, one of the first physicians in Carrington.
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C.A. Kvello

C.A. Kvello of Enderlin came to Carrington in 1898 after passing the Bar examinations.  He stayed in the city for only a short time and in June 1901 left to take a position with a real estate firm in Fargo.  A year or two later he started a law practice in Sheldon and in 1903 moved to Enderlin.  He was also in the newspaper business there until he retired from the ownership of the Enderlin Highlight in 1901.  Some years later he was again in the newspaper business in Oklahoma.
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George H. Stillman

George H. Stillman of Council Bluffs, Iowa came to North Dakota in February 1910.  He had been practicing law since 1886 and admitted to the bar in the states of Iowa, Illinois, Missouri and New York as well as North Dakota.  It is believed that he practiced for about a year and a half in Courtenay before establishing his partnership with Attorney W.E. Hoopes in Carrington.  During that time he was also associated with Hoopes and Homer Postlewaite, formerly with the Foster County State Bank, as purchasers of the Carrington "Pop factory".  The business managed by Postelwaite was incorporated for $10,000.  It was sold later in 1910 to Thomas White of Birtsell Township.

Attorney Stillman continued his law practice with Hoopes until 1917 when he sold his interest in the collection business to him.  He left to establish a practice in Minot.  He was found shot to death in his Minot office in August 1921 under mysterious circumstances.  The first report was that he had committed suicide but the coroner's jury concluded that his death must have been by persons unknown and not a suicide.
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William E. Hoopes and C.H. Olsen

William E. Hoopes and C.H. Olsen of Rock Rapids, Iowa came to Carrington to open a law office in 1900.  Attorney Hoopes was appointed States Attorney in August 1901 to complete the term of George W. Soliday who had resigned.  The partnership with Olsen was dissolved at this time and Olsen, who was not an attorney, retained the real estate, loan and abstract business.  Olsen was a stenographer as well and in 1906 was appointed court reporter for the Fifth Judicial District at Valley City.  Mrs. Olsen was a sister of Howard A. Wolf, longtime Carrington resident.

Hoopes was elected States Attorney in 1902 and served for two terms, (1903‑1906).  After his time as States Attorney he continued his law, loan and real estate business at various locations.  After the March 1908 fire he built a two story brick building on the south side of Main Street (Lot 4, Block 28) adjacent to the Commercial State Bank Building.  He occupied the building from February 1911 until 1913 when it was sold to Sivertson and Lee, jewelers; but he retained the second floor for his offices.  In later years he occupied quarters on the second floor of the First National Bank building.

Over the years W.E. Hoopes had several young lawyers start their careers with him.  Among them were G.H. Stillman, P.W. Lamer and Edward A. Stevens.  Stillman, after some years practice, moved to Minot.  P.W. Lamer, after a year or so with Hoopes, practiced for a short time in Kenmare and then in Jamestown and Fargo.  E.A. Stevens started by reading law in Hoopes' office and was admitted to the bar in 1929.

W.E. Hoopes married Grace Labaugh of Fairfield, Iowa September 19, 1902.  They had no children.  Their residence was on North First Street opposite the Carrington Motor Garage and show room.  As a hobby, Hoopes raised Toggenburg milking goats in his backyard.
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Ernest Everett Kelly

There have been two attorneys with the surname Kelly in Foster County but their tenures did not overlap.  There have been occasions, however, when the two were confused.

Ernest Everett Kelly, the brother of Mrs. W.H.B.  (Laura)  Eisenhuth appeared in Carrington in 1897 as a graduate of the Law Department of the Lake Forest University of Chicago.  He was also an experienced telegrapher.  At the start of the Spanish-American War he enlisted in Company H of Jamestown; his knowledge of telegraphy got him an assignment in the Signal Corps.  He saw service in the Philippines where he was given a battlefield commission and decorated for conspicuous bravery.  He had waded across shallow Cavite Bay under fire to string wires to restore communications with the Army Headquarters.

After the end of the war Kelly returned to Carrington, passed his bar examinations and hung out his shingle as attorney‑at‑law with offices in the old Courthouse.  He ran against incumbent George W. Soliday for the office of States Attorney in the General Election of 1900 but lost.  He left the area shortly thereafter and after a year or so of traveling established himself in a law office in Blackfoot, Idaho.  During World War I he held the rank of Major in the Signal Corps and was again decorated for his efforts.
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Physicians

In the earliest histories of Foster County there is no mention of medical practitioners in the county or in Carrington.  The Dr. D.B. McLain, the first manager of the Kirkwood Hotel, was a dentist.  There was, however, at least one doctor here in the latter part of 1883.  A Dr. W.H. Warren was practicing in the city in the latter part of 1883 according to the minutes of the Board of County Commissioners.  When the county was organized he was offered, but declined the office of coroner.  This doctor is mentioned several times in Alton G. Covell's diary.  Dr. Warren did stay a number of years because in 1885 he was finally appointed coroner and in 1890 was a member of the Board of Health.  Several other doctors are mentioned in the commissioners' minutes.  In 1885 Dr. E.S. Miller was a member of the Board of Insanity.  In 1887 Dr. T.W. Dysinger was paid $3.00 for attending a pauper.  In the early 1890's the names of Dr. Alfred Richmond and Dr. W.T. Gerish appear in the minutes; the latter was paid small sums by the county for services rendered the poor, serving on the Board of Health, and recording births and deaths.  In 1894 a doctor fresh out of medical college came to Carrington to remain permanently.
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John Ross McKenzie

John Ross McKenzie, a Canadian by birth, received a medical degree from the University of Toronto in 1894 and came to North Dakota immediately thereafter.  He was born October 8, 1871 at Drumbo, Oxford County, Ontario; the member of a prominent family.  His father had emigrated from Scotland in 1837.  After his arrival in Carrington he became an active member of the business and social scene of the area.  He was in the true sense of the word a "horse and buggy doctor".  He was known affectionately to his friends and patients as the "Little Doc" on account of his short stature.  He delivered many babies in farm homes by the light of a kerosene lamp.  More than once operations were performed on a hastily improvised table‑ some, but not all, were successful.  A 1915 paper lists the families of the twins he had delivered: Walter Wyard, George Hall, B.J. Holcomb, F.L. Cusack, James McHenry, Joe Hamel, W.E. Thurston, R.C. Butts, Albert Footitt, Jim Fornshell, C.W. Reichert, Bert Noble, Pat Carr and E.H. Moriarty‑ 19 in all.

His marriage to Jessie Soliday on September 10, 1903 was the social event of the season.  She was born July 14, 1878 at Canton, Ohio, the daughter of Henry A. Soliday, one of the earliest settlers in Carrington.  About this time the doctor built his residence at the location which is now 717 North First Street.  Their only child, a son, George Lachlan, died at the age of 6 in 1910.  Dr. McKenzie served briefly in World War I as a Lieutenant in the Medical Corps but he did not see overseas service.  He retired shortly after the end of the war and he and his wife lived in California until his death April 6, 1928.  Mrs. McKenzie survived him and died October 23, 1967; aged 95.
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J.J. Hamilton, M.D.

J.J. Hamilton, M.D., came of Carrington with his family in 1898.  He practiced here until 1902 when Dr. E.L. Goss bought out his practice.  Nothing further is known about him except for the notice of his death in September 1911 at Rolfe, Iowa when the Independent states that he left Carrington about 10 years ago.
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R.N. Howard, M.D.

R.N. Howard, M.D. came to Carrington from Tower City, North Dakota late in 1898.  His first office was on the second floor of the Buchanan store.  In the late fall of 1900 he had fitted up a new office in the Grand Hotel when, just returning from an out‑of-town trip, he dropped dead in the Eisenhuth Drug Store.  The burial took place at Tower City.
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Edwin Lincoln Goss, M.D.

Edwin Lincoln Goss, M.D., came to Carrington in 1902.  He was born at Morris Illinois and a graduate of Rush Medical College, Chicago.  He practiced for nine years at Sheffield, Iowa before he came to Carrington and bought Dr. J.J. Hamilton's practice.  For years thereafter his professional card in the newspaper read "E.L. Goss, Physician and Surgeon, Successor to Dr. J.J. Hamilton".  In later years his card read "eyes tested, glasses fitted" but in his practice he tended to specialize in obstetrics, possibly because his first wife died in childbirth.  He had a brother who lived in Eddy County and his nephew Perry Goss was the owner of the Dakota Electric Company in Carrington for many years.  Dr. Goss' first wife, the former Sarah Vincent died while he was practicing in Iowa leaving two sons, Robert and Rollin.  In 1905 after coming to North Dakota he married on January 15, as his second wife Nellie Standish the daughter of Miles Standish of Underwood, ND.  She had been a teacher in the Carrington Schools and was prominent in Women's Club and the D.A. R.  They had a daughter Dorothy.

After 47 years in Carrington, Dr. Goss, who had started out as a "horse and buggy doctor", drove by automobile to his retirement home in Portland, Oregon.
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Henry Van De Erve, M.D.

Henry Van De Erve, M.D., a graduate of the University of Michigan and Rush Medical College in Chicago, came to Carrington in 1908 as a substitute for Dr. Marsden during his absence.  He and his brother Walter were at the time practicing in Pingree.  In 1908 he purchased Dr. Marsden's practice but in the same year he sold it to Dr. O.W. McClusky of Cleveland, North Dakota.  Dr. Van de Erve returned to Pingree and in 1910 moved to Dickinson and later to a practice in Sherwood.  He came back to Carrington in 1919 to practice with Dr. McClusky and Matthaei.  In 1921 he and Dr. Donker of Sykeston purchased the McClusky practice and with the two other doctors in Carrington, McKenzie and Rankin, formed the Carrington Clinic with offices in the new Buchanan building.
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C.S. Marsden, M.D.

C.S. Marsden, M.D., a graduate of the University of Michigan, came to Carrington in June 1905 to be an associate of Dr. McKenzie.  The association lasted only a year and Dr. Marsden set up his own office over the Peterson and Tabraham store.  Later his offices were on the second floor of the Buchanan building and still later over the Beck Clothing store.  In 1905 he went to Chicago for several months graduate work in ophthalmology and subsequently his profession card read, "Eyes Tested, Glass Fitted".  He was absent again for the same purpose in 1908 and Dr. H. Van de Erve of Pingree took over his practice temporarily.  Dr. Marsden returned to Carrington only briefly to sell the practice to Dr. Van de Erve.  He then established an eye, ear, nose and throat practice in Grand Forks where he was a prominent physician for years.
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O.W. McClusky, M.D.

O.W. McClusky, M.D., a graduate of the Rush Medical College in Chicago, came to Carrington late in 1908 from Cleveland, North Dakota where he had been practicing for several years.  He purchased the Dr. Van de Erve practice where he had offices in rooms over the Beatty restaurant on the south side of Main Street.  In 1910 he built a house with office space on Main Street.  The house was moved from the site which is now a part of the facility of the Foster County State Bank.  For a short time, 1916‑1917, Dr. Milton Graham, newly graduated from Medical school, was associated with Dr. McClusky, but after his service in World War I, took up his practice elsewhere.  McClusky also served in the Army Medical Corps as a Captain for about six months.

In 1921 he sold his Main Street home and office to Dr. Smebak, a chiropractor, and his practice to Drs. Van de Erve and Donker.  He left Carrington permanently in October 1922 for postgraduate study and subsequently continued his practice of medicine in Kenosha, Wisconsin.
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J.A. Rankin, M.D.

J.A. Rankin, M.D., came to practice medicine in July 1915 and in 1921 with Drs. McKenzie, Goss and Van de Erve formed the Carrington Clinic with office in the Buchanan building.
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Milton Graham, M.D.

Milton Graham, M.D., the son of J.A. Graham of Rose Hill Township and County Judge was the first native of Foster County to obtain a medical degree and practice locally.  He was a graduate of the University of North Dakota and Chicago Medical College.  He started his practice in Carrington with Dr. McClusky after he had passed the North Dakota State Medical Board Examination in July 1916.  He was the first to perform an operation in the Carrington Hospital only a few days after it began admitting patients.  He volunteered for service in the Army in May 1916 and served for the duration of the war in the Second Regiment Hospital Corps.  He did not return to his practice in Carrington but with some other Medical Corps doctors established a practice in Aberdeen, WA.
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William Matthaei, M.D.

William Matthaei, M.D., practiced in Fessenden before he came to Carrington in 1917 to take advantage of the superior facilities of the newly constructed Carrington Hospital.  He practiced with Dr. McClusky until 1919 when he returned to his former Fessenden practice.  He married while in Carrington Hortense E. Fagan, the daughter of Mr. and Mrs. I.H. Day, long time residents of Foster County.
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Adrian E. Donker, M.D.

Adrian E. Donker, M.D., born May 23, 1882, was a graduate of the University of Michigan.  He started his practice at Richardton, North Dakota in 1913 and in 1914 purchased Dr. Moore's practice in Sykeston.  After the opening of the Carrington Hospital late in 1915 he started to bring his patients to Carrington and made almost daily visits to the hospital by the branch train from Sykeston in the winter.  In 1921 with Dr. Van de Erve he bought Dr. McClusky's practice but he continued to live in Sykeston until 1924 when he purchased the R.R. Walker house at 734 Second Street North.  He continued to practice in Carrington until he retired in the early 1950's.  His first wife, the former Mattie Van Brockhurst, died in 1925 and he married secondly in 1928 Helen Kraemer of Harvey.  He had three children by his first wife, two daughters, Marguerite and Dorothy and a son Aldrich who drowned accidentally in 1925 shortly after his mother's death.  Dr. Donker died July 29, 1957, survived by his second wife.
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Reuben W. Meadows, M.D.

Reuben W. Meadows, M.D., began his practice in Carrington in 1931.  He was born October 8, 1879 at Thamesford, Ontario and graduated from the Western Ontario Medical School at London, Ontario.  In 1904 he began his medical practice at Maddock, ND, and in 1911 he became the medical director of a hospital in Medicine Hat, Alberta.  He returned to North Dakota in 1915 and practiced at Sheyenne until 1929.  He spent two years as a physician in New Rockford and came to Carrington in 1931 where he practiced until illness forced him to retire.  He married, on May 10, 1905, at Maddock, Sara Teigen who was born July 11, 1879 in Norway and came to America with her parents in 1890.  Dr. Meadows died March 26, 1953 and his wife July 8, 1968.  They had two children: Mayo, owner of the Carrington Drug Store and Mrs. Robert (LaVerne) Fryberger.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 224

Dr. Robert F. Gilliland

Dr. Robert F. Gilliland, 1946‑1952‑ Dr. Gilliland earned his B.S. and B.A. degrees from the University of North Dakota and his M.D. from the University of Illinois.  He was a regimental surgeon and commanding officer of the Medical Company assigned to the European theater during World War II.  He received a promotion to Captain and was stationed at France and Germany.  He was discharged in 1946.

He was a member of the organized reserve until 1949 when he accepted a North Dakota National Guard Commission as battalion surgeon.  He was assigned as regimental surgeon in January 1951 when the 164th was recalled to active duty in Korea.  In September 1952 he left Carrington to be associated with the Dickinson Clinic at Dickinson.  Later he joined the staff of the Veteran's Hospital in Sioux Falls, South Dakota.
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Dr. Archie Gray

Dr. Archie Gray, September 1951‑1954‑ Dr. Gray came to Carrington from Rollette.  His office was located in the Buchanan building.  He was a native of Winnipeg.  He practiced a year at Langdon before coming to Carrington.  His plans were to go to England for postgraduate study after he left Carrington.
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Dr. Robert Burns

Dr. Robert Burns, 1954‑ ‑ Dr. Burns graduated from the University of Manitoba with special training at the Children's hospital in Winnipeg.
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Dr. H.A. Fandrich

Dr. H.A. Fandrich, September 1957‑April 1967‑ Dr. Fandrich was a native of Goodrich, North Dakota community.  He took his medical training and internship at Loma Linda, Calif.  He practiced medicine at Medina before coming to Carrington.  He was health officer at the time of his departure.  In 1967 he moved to Plaine, Montana where he was associated with a medical clinic.
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Dr. Guy Montgomery, Jr.

Dr. Guy Montgomery, Jr., 1966‑1969‑ Dr. Montgomery received his M.D. at the State University of Iowa and served his internship in Denver.  His office was on the second floor of the Buchanan building.  After leaving Carrington he went to Jamestown.
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Dr. Young C. Joe

Dr. Young C. Joe, 1970‑1971‑ Dr. Joe came to Carrington from Glen Ullin.  He had his office in the medical building constructed by Mayo Meadows.  7r. Joe was originally from Seoul, Korea where he received his training.  He and his family came to America in 1965.  He specialized in ear, nose, and throat at Greater Baltimore Medical Center and Johns Hopkins Medical School.  Mrs. Joe was a high school music teacher and professional pianist.  Dr. Joe left Carrington to do research and work on advanced degrees at the University of Washington, Seattle.
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Dr. Imelda Fua

Dr. Imelda Fua, 1972‑ ‑ Dr. Fua came to Carrington from Gackle.  She was a native of the Philippines where she received her medical degree.  After leaving Carrington she went to Jamestown.
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Dr. Mohammed Said

Dr. Mohammed Said, 1974‑1976‑ Dr. Said received his medical education in Madrid, Spain.  He completed his internship in general practice at Ottawa General Hospital, Ottawa, Ontario.  Dr. Said was an Arab born in Palestine and he lived in Saudi Arabia.  After leaving Carrington he went to work at the Veteran's Hospital in Fargo and also did some teaching in Pre‑medical School.
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Dr. Rick Geier

Dr. Rick Geier, 1978‑ ‑ Dr. Geier, a native of Pettibone, received his medical education at the University of North Dakota and at the Bismarck hospital and Hettigner where he was associated with a mufti‑practice physician clinic, and one year at St. Luke's Hospital in Fargo.  He opened his practice in the new Foster County Medical clinic.
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Dr. Ron Wagner

Dr. Ron Wagner, a native of Carrington, received his medical training at the University of North Dakota Medical School.  He completed three years of residency at the Family Practice Center in Bismarck.  He began his practice at the Foster County Clinic August 1, 1981.

He is married to Sherry Stewart and they are the parents of four children.

Dr. Wagner is interested in sports and is often seen at the various activities with his camera in hand.  He is a member of the Chamber of Commerce Youth Committee and was instrumental in helping to obtain the school facilities for "open gym".
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William C. Voglewede

William C. Voglewede: Born in Decatur, Indiana.  He was the youngest in a family of nine.  He went through high school in Decatur.  He took college pre‑med education at University of Notre Dame in South Bend, Indiana and went to Medical school at Loyola University in Chicago.  During this time World War II was in progress so Dr. Voglewede was in the Naval Reserve.  After receiving his med degree he interned at the San Diego Naval Hospital for nine months, during which time he was married to Rosemary Durivage in 1944.  Rosemary was born in Toledo, Ohio and received her education there.  She received a college degree in Art and Education.

After leaving San Diego, Dr. Voglewede was sent to the Pacific theater, in the Admiralty Islands and on board a hospital ship.  He returned home in May of 1946.  He took his Indiana State Board and North Dakota State Board and then decided to establish a practice in Carrington.  Dr. and Mrs. Voglewede came to Carrington in January of 1947.  Dr. Voglewede bought out Dr. Meadow's practice.

Dr. Gilliland left to serve in the Army in 1950 and then decided to settle in Dickinson, leaving Dr. Voglewede alone.  A few doctors came for a short time and then left: Dr. Gray, Dr. Fandrich, Dr. Joe, Dr. Fua, Dr. Said.

Dr. and Mrs. Voglewede have 14 children, 13 of whom were born in Carrington.
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Bertha Seitz Murphy

Bertha Seitz Murphy‑ Family Nurse Practitioner‑ Bert received her nurse's degree from St. Alexius School of Nursing in Bismarck.  She served as a registered nurse for 22 years.  Then the opportunity for the program called Family Nurse Practitioner came along and she accepted the challenge.  The program consists of comprehensive training for 11 weeks at Grand Forks, Minot, and Fargo.  After training the Practitioner works under the sponsorship of a doctor who oversees and directs the practitioner.  Mrs. Murphy is sponsored by Dr. William C. Vogelwede.  The practitioner is trained in these special disciplines: 1. Physical assessment of the patient, 2. Diagnosing illness, 3. Treatment of minor illnesses.  Mrs. Murphy graduated in September 1976.
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Local Doctors

Before the Carrington Hospital opened in 1916 the residents in need of better diagnosis and treatment or surgical procedures went to Fargo, the Twin Cities or the Mayo Clinic in Rochester, Minnesota.  Often the local doctors referred their patients to certain specialists of whom they had confidence or association.  Others went directly to the medical centers and hospitals in the larger cities and certain clinics developed a local clientele with certain physicians.  Among them were the three Drs. Rindlaub in Fargo, Dr. Darrow also of Fargo and Dr. W.J. Humphrey in Moorhead.  The Mayo Clinic was also a favored place to go for serious disorders.  This tendency to go elsewhere for medical care has continued to the present day because the expensive facilities needed for treatment are not and cannot be available locally and these referrals are still necessary for the optimum medical care.

The local doctors who had the respect and confidence of the community were not the only source of medical assistance at hand.  In the early days of the century the doctors not only made house calls but specialists from the larger centers would come from Fargo and the Twin Cities to assist the local physicians when they were uncertain of the diagnosis and the proper treatment or surgical skills beyond their capabilities or facilities.  One such case occurred in 1910 when Dr. J. Ross McKenzie's son George became critically ill with pneumonia.  Dr. Walter Ramsey of St. Paul was called in for consultation but the specialist was of no avail and the boy died.  In another case, Dr. W.J. Humphrey of Moorhead was called to Barlow in 1916 to treat Mrs. Michael Greitl who was also ill with the same disease.  When he came, accompanied by a nurse, he found that her condition was such that to tap her lungs, he had to remove a section of a rib.  The emergency operation was performed at the farm home and had to be done without anesthesia.  Mrs. Greitl was a long time recovering, but regained her health and lived many years; dying in 1928.  There were probably many other undocumented cases of similar nature during these years before there was a local hospital.

In the early days there was still another source of medical aid in the county and surrounding area.  Shortly after 1900 traveling doctors would advertise their coming to one-day stands at the Kirkwood inviting any and all with medical problems to come in for consultation, treatment and medication.  The first of these for which there is a record came in July 1900, ‑ when a notice appeared in the Independent informing the public that Dr. E.J. Barnes of the Fargo Sanitarium would be at the Kirkwood Hotel Wednesday July 11, 1900 and stating that he "cures all kinds of diseases".  This doctor never made a second appearance but on June 16, 1902 Dr. 0.  Jacob Berg and staff of the same Fargo address were at the Kirkwood from Monday noon June 16 to Tuesday noon the following day.  He and his staff will cure curvature of the spine, diseases of the brain, epilepsy, heart trouble, etc., etc.

Dr. Charest, also of Fargo started coming in 1906 and making a number of one-day visits until 1911.

Dr. Doran, "America's Popular Specialist", advertised, "Hypodermic injection fluid for the treatment and cure of cancer, tumors, tuberculosis, gland, goiter, variocele, hydrocele and other exterman abnormal growths".  He was at the Kirkwood for one day only November 21, 1907.  His tour covered these North Dakota cities: Neche, Cavalier, Langdon, Park River, Lakota, Devils Lake, Cando, Rugby, Carrington, Minot, Valley City and Jamestown.  This same doctor came back again on January 23, 1908 but his name does not appear again in the press.

Dr. McLachlan, celebrated specialist, visiting North Dakota at Carrington, Kirkwood Hotel, Thursday January 12, 1905 until 12 o'clock January 13.

We cure quickly, safely, surely, J. R. Charest, M. D. formerly of Paris, T. M. McLachlan, M. D. formerly of New York.

We cure all curable cases including ear, eye, nose and throat, lung trouble, bronchitis, consumption, catarrh, stomach and bowel rheumatism, neuralgia, diseases of the brain and nerves, kidney, liver, bladder trouble, sore eyes, weak and running eyes, cataracts, granulated or thickened lids, female complaints and weaknesses, blood, skin and private diseases, diseases of men, dizziness, vertigo, lost memory, sexual weakness, drains and losses and diseases tending to permanent insanity quickly and permanently cured, cancerous tumors, warts, moles and all malignant growths quickly cured without the knife and absolutely without pain by an entirely new method lately discovered in Pans, France Electro Medical Institute and Hospital, Inc. 612 Front St, Fargo.

In 1911 and 1912 the United Doctors and the Associated Doctors made frequent one day stands at the Kirkwood.  The visits slackened somewhat during World War I but a Dr. Mellinthin took over the trade in 1917.  In the February 14th, 1917 Independent he lists all the conditions he can cure.

He came frequently during the ensuing years.  Once or twice business was good enough for him to devote two days to his stay in town.  Sometimes he advertised in the local paper the date that he would be in either Harvey or Jamestown when he omitted a Carrington visit.  His last trip here as far as can be ascertained was in 1922.

The regularity and frequency that these doctors, quacks maybe, showed that they filled a need for the local and nearby residents.

There is no record in the newspapers, however, of any condition alleviated or cures affected.

Another kind of doctor, the eye specialists, made regular appearances during these years.  Ordinarily they did not stop at the Kirkwood; their usual headquarters were in the Galehouse Drug Store.  Among them were Dr. E.W. Brokaw, F.W. Soule, and O.B. Hayden, who tested eyes and prescribed glasses.  They apparently performed well enough for they returned many times in spite of the availability at most times of either an optometrist, Andrew Lee, or for a while, Dr. Marsden, an ophthalmologist, or Dr. Goss, practicing in Carrington.
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Medical Center 

Dedicated group instigates center

By Darlene Stromstad‑Boe 

October 3, 1979, Independent

A story on the Foster County Medical Center starts with a group of dedicated people who saw the need for a central medical facility in the county.  They were willing to do something about it and now the clinic is one‑year‑old.

A few years ago some Carrington area residents discussed the need for an additional doctor in the community.  The reasoning was twofold: first, the demand for medical care far exceeded available staff in the city, and second, a lack of patients at the hospital could jeopardize its existence.

The situation had been discussed for years but it took this group of dedicated people to get action.  They beloved one way to attract an additional doctor to the city was to build a clinic.  Besides, there was no central clinic in Carrington or the county.  Thus the idea for the Foster County Medical Center was born.

A committee consisting of Lloyd Case (who has since moved to Fargo), Lee Aljets, Alan Butts, Alan Willyard and Jim Erickson did the groundwork for initial planning.  This group was later expanded to include Peggy Smith, Jolene Haugen, Tom Seaburg, Kermit Skadberg and Harold Spickler.

Before the committee committed itself members visited other clinics in the state, studied how they operated, looked into the feasibility of such a clinic and found "it would really be an asset to have the clinic here," said member Peggy Smith.

"We'd talked about it so long", she said.  "We felt we'd better do something or we may lose our hospital."
The next step was to determine if local funding would be behind the project because the clinic would be an impossibility without community backing.

Organizations, clubs, businesses and banks were approached and the committee found that those contacted were behind their effort and would donate finances.

Members of the committee and about 15 to 20 helpers went door to door collecting pledges.  "Hopefully we hit everybody in town," Smith said.  Funds were also solicited in surrounding communities and towns in the county.

When the committee felt they had enough pledges to get started, construction began in the fall of 1977.  In August 1978, office space was rented to Dr. Richard Geier, a native to the area, and the clinic opened for business.

In one year, the clinic staff has seen over 8,200 patients, or roughly, nearly 40 a day.  "The clinic sees lots of patients that ordinarily were going out of town," Smith said.  Previously people from outlying areas headed to Harvey or Jamestown for medical care and the clinic has brought them to Carrington.

The clinic was built to accommodate four doctors.  Two doctors' cubicles, which include four rooms each, have yet to be finished.  And the city is still in need of an additional doctor.  The clinic committee felt when the blue prints were drawn the community could use four doctors.  That feeling still exists but in rural areas doctors are hard to come by.  Two committees in town are presently trying to bring an additional physician to Carrington.

The building: efficient, convenient

The Foster County medical Center is a 6,600 square foot structure, constructed at a cost of $280,000, and is one of the few, if not the only medical center in the state built entirely by community donations and pledges.

The clinic began operating August 1978, and since that time 8,217 office calls have been handled by Dr. Rick Geier, who joined the hospital at its opening.  The clinic's patient load is 2,884.

The building is equipped with rooms to accommodate four doctors, with each doctor's office surrounded by three exam rooms.  The doctor's office and exam rooms are located in four separate units.

Two halls run east and west on each side of the building with two doctor's units on each side.  The exam rooms are 10 feet by 12 feet.

The laboratory is on the east end and the minor surgery room is on the south side.  The traffic flow is designed to allow patients to be transferred from that room through the connecting corridor to the hospital.

Additional rooms include a 19‑foot by 14‑foot waiting room on the west end and a nurses' station and doctor area.  Approximately half of the doctors' space and exam rooms have not been completed.

General contractor for the building was Roland Sharbono General Contractors.  Sherman Plumbing and Heating took care of the mechanical construction and James River Electric was in charge of the electrical work.

Managed by a board of directors, clinic space is rented to Dr. Rick Geier.

In addition to providing additional medical care to the area, another doctor has created an influx of patients at the Carrington Hospital.

Sister Francine Janousek, administrator of the Carrington and New Rockford Hospitals, said hospital patient load is directly related to the number of practicing physicians, because more doctors mean more people seeking medical care in the city.

The influx of patients from a third doctor to the city could mean the necessity of building on to the city's hospital.

But not all is a success story for the clinic.  Alan Butts, Carrington, chairman of the clinic committee, stated, "We're short a considerable amount of money.  The committee is short "roughly $30,000 to $40,000.  We need that amount to pay the debts and finish the building.   The clinic cost about $280,000", he said.

"We've talked about it (another fund drive) but it's hard to get going.  We'll get started sometime," said member Jolene Haugen.  "We have to."
In addition to those rooms not completed, the parking lot has yet to be paved.

The shortage comes from those people pledging money during the fund drive and not honoring them.  Also pledges by people that have left the community, in many instances, have gone unpaid.

"We have a big stack of no‑payments, " Haugen said. "  The furnace hasn't worked right since day one," Haugen continued.  And the air conditioning has created problems.

The committee is definitely "a non‑profit organization", Smith said, adding that initially they hadn't planned "on being this much of a non‑profit organization".
Although the committee collected "quite a lot" from residential areas, Smith said, "we hoped they'd be larger than they were."  Many of the larger pledges are to be paid over a period of years, she said.  "And those that aren't paid don't help any," she concluded.  The community was very generous in their donations, she said, "but we still need more".
The clinic committee bought the basics needed for the clinic while other items were donated as gifts.  Some persons and organizations contributed money to pay for the furnishings of one room.  A couple hundred dollars were given anonymously.

Calling the committee "a group of very dedicated people," Smith recalls that "we all looked at each other when it came to signing our names on the dotted line.  We thought that if we didn't get enough (money) we'd find it somewhere."
Carrington continued to grow throughout the years.  Its location in the center of the state led it to be called the Central City.  With the construction of buildings to provide facilities for meetings for organizations it has become known as an ideal location for conventions and other statewide meetings.  Two railroads eventually went through town as well as highways 281‑200 and 52.  It is a distribution center‑ providing opportunities for various kinds of businesses which found it profitable to locate here.  It has been a training center for personnel of some of the businesses.  The people come here to work for a time and are then moved to other locations to be managers, foremen, etc.  Consequently there are people moving in and out of town all the time.
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The City of Carrington ‑ 1983

Carrington is the county seat of Foster County, in the east‑central section of North Dakota.  It is the "Central City" of the state, due to its location.  Within a 120‑mile radius from Carrington are North Dakota's four major cities‑ Bismarck, Fargo, Grand Forks, and Minot.

Three major highways are routed through Carrington: U.S. No. 281 north and south is the international highway from Canada to Mexico; the Old West Trail follows No. 281 through Carrington

U.S. No. 52 is an alternate north‑south route

Highway No. 200 is an east‑west highway from Duluth to Spokane.

Carrington's population has grown steadily since 1930.  Between 1950 and 1960, Carrington jumped from 2,101 to 2,438, the third highest percentage of growth among all North Dakota communities.  Contrary to the general trend of population loss in small towns from 1960 to 1970, Carrington showed a slight increase, to the present census figure of 2,491.

Carrington derived its name from M.D. Carrington, vice president and general manager of the Carrington‑Casey Land Company.  In the summer of 1882, this company purchased 30,000 acres of railroad land, from which they developed a bonanza farm and platted a townsite.

Records show this first plat contained areas for public parks, school, churches, and the Foster County Court House.

Carrington's post office was established in 1883, with Arthur C. Halsey as postmaster.  In 1900 the village was incorporated as a city.

In 1908 a major fire destroyed most of the buildings on Carrington's Main Street.  Out of those ashes has emerged a modern business district, along with new churches and schools, modernized water and sewer systems.

The town has progressed from mud streets to pavement, from the old swimming hole to a heated pool, from the chemical fire carts to modern fire trucks and equipment, and from arc lights to the bright "Silver Mile White Way".
As a result of progress in updating and improving community facilities and services, Carrington was winner of the 1961‑62 Community Betterment Contest, awarded by the North Dakota Community Betterment Program, among cities of 1,500‑5,000 population.
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Municipal Services

Carrington has a mayor‑council form of government.  Mayor and aldermen are elected for 4 years; treasurer and municipal judge are elected for 2 years.  All city department heads are appointed.

The City's Planning Commission in 1970 completed a comprehensive plan for Carrington, with the aid of an urban planning assistance grant.  As a result, zoning regulations and subdivision controls have been adopted to provide long‑range, flexible guides for orderly growth in line with future needs of "The Central City".
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Sanitation

A lagoon is used for sewage disposal, and although land is available for enlargement of lagoon cells, the present system is being operated at a level far below its capacity.  Surface run‑off water is handled by a system of storm sewers.
Garbage collection is a city operation.  Collections are made twice weekly.  The sanitary landfill of 43 acres is projected to meet the city's needs for years to come.  As a beautification measure, tree planting has been made at the site, and the area, two miles out of town, has been fenced.
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Fire Protection

Forty volunteers make up the city's fire department.  All men are trained and annually attend the state fire schools.  Over half of the men have completed the Red Cross Life Saving Course and Civil Defense Medical Self‑Help Course.

Fire protection equipment consists of five trucks, with a combined pumping capacity of 2,500 gallon per minutes, including a 1970 fire‑attack truck and foam induction equipment.  In severe emergencies, the department also has access to the special apparatus of the locally based utility companies.

The city fire department is under contract to provide protection to 13 1/3 surrounding townships.

Annual inspection of all business buildings is made by officers of the fire department.
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Police Department

Four full‑time officers provide 24‑hour police protection in the city.  Annually, the department acquires a new radio‑equipped patrol car.  Continuous radio contact is maintained with all law enforcement agencies, as well as with the Carrington School bus system.
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Streets

Carrington has a total of 28 miles of streets.  About half of them are hard‑surfaced.
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Youth Council

Carrington's Youth Council is a municipal project of note.  Originally formed by the City Council in 1961, the 12‑member group, appointed by the mayor, is made up of 6 adults and 6 young people.  The Youth Council acts as a liaison between the young people of the area and the City Council.  The group plans and conducts a summer recreational program and sponsors the Teen Canteen.
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Library

The city's Public Library contains 7,000 volumes.  Financed by city appropriation, it is staffed by a qualified librarian.  The spacious, well‑lighted, and carpeted library on the lower level of the Armory is also used for numerous group meetings.
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Carrington Post office
Commissioned Postmasters: 

	Arthur C. Halsey 
	February 15, 1883

	Charles D. Smith
	September 2, 1885

	James Murphy.
	June 2, 1887

	Wallace Galehouse 
	November 5, 1889

	Donald M. Smith
	November 7, 1893

	Wallace Galehouse 
	April 1898

	James E. Galehouse, Jr. 
	October 4, 1905

	E.T. Halaas
	January 22, 1910

	John W. Stambaugh 
	March 11, 1914

	James E. Galehouse 
	March 1, 1923

	John Stambaugh
	March 22, 1933

	George J. Boley
	April 10, 1935

	Pied A. Sommars
	August 16, 1941

	Miss Mollie M. Stambaugh 
	February 1, 1942

	Harry C. Dunttey
	June 16, 1944

	William A. Kunkel 
	June 16, 1944

	Wesley D. Kahl 
	August 18, 1961


Rural Free Delivery: Routes were established as follows with name of carriers: 

No. 1 established August 1, 1904 John Canada 

No. 2 established (later) George Lowery

No. 3 established September 1, 1911 Ed Blake

No. 4 established December 1916 Howard Kreiwald

Carriers in 1933:

No. 1 Charles Evert

No. 2 Frank Brown

No. 3 Ivan Sheets

No. 4 James T. Brady

City carrier service was established July 1, 1928.  District carriers were:

No. l Arthur Albus

No. 2 John Garland

Substitute Jerald Tollison.

On May 22, 1932 the U.S. Post office Department erected a modern fireproof, brick building with ample floor space.  Charles Legns was construction engineer.  John Stambaugh was the first postmaster to occupy the new building.
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Health Care

The 28‑bed Carrington Hospital is owned and operated by Sisters of the Presentation.  All staff nurses have had coronary care training.  Modern equipment includes a monitoring system and portable x‑ray unit.  A hospital lay advisory board has been organized to serve the hospital and the community in an advisory and public relations capacity.

Completed in 1970, the new Carrington Clinic houses 2 doctors and 1 dentist at the present time.  Office space will accommodate another dentist in the near future.  The clinic has been a community project, with numerous organizations providing furnishings.

Golden Acres Manor, 60‑bed nursing home, is owned and operated by Assemblies of God Homes for the Aged.  Full nursing care provides for the physical, social and spiritual needs of residents.

Holy Family Guest Home, adjacent to the hospital, is also owned and operated by Sisters of the Presentation.  The 38‑bed extended care home is licensed for Medicare.  Volunteer members of the Home and Hospital Auxiliary provide special services at both nursing homes and the hospital.
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Housing

Ninety percent of the homes in Carrington are owner‑occupied.  A number of apartment buildings have been constructed in the last few years, including a new 18‑plex.  The average purchase price of a typical 2‑bedroom home in Carrington is $17,000.  Rental for 2‑ and 3‑bedroom apartments ranges from about $100 to $150.

"The Central City" has two mobile home parks with a total of 30 lots.  The two motels provide 57 rooms.
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Annual Events

The "Central City" is the scene of many and varied events throughout the year.  The Foster County Fair, held each fall, is primarily educational, aimed at promoting 4‑H Club work, home economics activities, and agricultural development.

Annually, the Foster County Historical Society sponsors a historical one‑day tour to sites of interest in the area.

Other annual affairs in Carrington include a Chamber of Commerce‑sponsored auto show and the Central Dakota Coin Club show.  Frontier Days, a snowmobile derby, and a farmers' appreciation banquet are yearly Jaycees' projects.
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Transportation

Motor: With three major highways through Carrington, the area has excellent trucking service provided by half‑a‑dozen interstate companies, as well as local haulers.

Jet Base Shortway Line schedules daily bus service to Carrington, which runs from Jamestown to Minot and in turn makes connections with air and rail terminals at each point.

Rail: Carrington is served by two railroads.  The Soo Line maintains main line service from Chicago through Carrington to Portal, North Dakota, on the Canadian Border.  There are four freights daily.

The Burlington Northern maintains a branch line, with two freights a day from Jamestown through Carrington to Leeds, North Dakota, and a branch from Carrington west to Turtle Lake, North Dakota.

Air: Matheny Field is located one‑half mile from the west edge of Carrington.  Two well‑drained, paved runways lie northeast‑southwest and northwest‑southeast.  The field has a rotating beacon light, gas, telephone, and hangar facilities.

Nearest commercial airfield is at Jamestown, 42 miles south, where Northwest Airlines has scheduled daily flights.
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Recreational Facilities

Carrington maintains two public parks, both equipped with playground apparatus, baseball diamonds, picnic tables, and fireplaces.  Both parks permit camping.  Carrington City Park is a 16‑acre tract at the south edge of Carrington, adjacent to the highway.  A swimming pool, tennis and horseshoe courts, rifle and pistol range, as well as a trap range, are included.  Court House Park is a 1.2‑acre area bordering the Foster County Court House lawn.  The city provides supervised recreational programs, which include swimming lessons, softball, and baseball.

A nine‑hole, grass green, privately owned golf course is located on the southern limits of "The Central City."  A clubhouse is provided on the 60‑acre site.

Winter sports include snowmobiling, skiing, tobogganing, and ice-skating.

Carrington also has an eight‑lane bowling alley.
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Garrison Diversion

Carrington, North Dakota's "Central City," will be the hub of the Garrison Diversion Unit‑ one of the most outstanding mufti‑purpose water resources projects in the nation.

Now under construction, the Garrison Diversion project, when completed, will provide the means to bring Missouri River water from Garrison Reservoir into central and eastern North Dakota for irrigation, municipal and industrial use, fish and wildlife purposes, recreation, and other needs.

The operation and administration of the project will be directed from the Garrison Diversion Conservancy District headquarters, which is located at Carrington.

Providing water for irrigation will be the principal function of the Garrison Diversion Unit.  Initially, 250,000 acres‑ and ultimately, well over 1,000,000 acres of high‑quality North Dakota land will be irrigated with water furnished by the project.
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Carrington Irrigation Branch Station

In addition to being the headquarters for the Garrison Diversion Unit, Carrington is destined to become the irrigation center of North Dakota.

The Carrington Irrigation Branch Station, located four miles north of the city, was established by the North Dakota Legislature in 1957 and provides the only irrigation research facility in the state.  Valuable information relating to irrigation is obtained from the Station's research work by the North Dakota Agriculture Experiment Station technicians and cooperative projects with the Agricultural Research Service and the Bureau of Reclamation.

As irrigation development expands in North Dakota under the Garrison Diversion Unit and other individual and group projects, the Carrington Irrigation Branch Station will become recognized more and more as the irrigation focal point for the state.

All of the following are organizations.
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Carrington Newspapers

The Carrington News was established the spring of 1883 by J. Morley Wyard, who lived on the farm now owned by J.R. Rusk and for whom Wyard Township was named.  The Carrington News occupied a small building in the vicinity of the present Thompson Yards and the entire staff consisted of Mr. Wyard and his "printer's devil" Herb Trubshaw, who later published the Courier at Cooperstown with his brother Perry Trubshaw.

In the following year of 1884 a second newspaper was started in Carrington.  This was called the Foster County Gazette owned and edited by one Knute Fanning and located in the block in which the Carrington Laundry now stands.

The two papers became bitter enemies and the two editors argued back and forth through their respective publications.  Early papers were not censored but printed ideas, facts, events and all news in the raw or as the editor saw it.

Mr. Wyard was a very tall man with a red beard and a yen to "start something!" and he was blessed with a brilliant mind.  He was a deacon of the Congregational church, Carrington's only church for some years, and was rabid in his view of right and wrong.  He was very set in his political ideas and set them forth in a most dramatic manner.

Mr. Farming's ideas in regard to the political and social affairs of the territory and community and also in other things, did not agree with those of Mr. Wyard and he did not refrain from airing his sentiments freely.  The battle between the two papers made reading them most interesting and the editorials were relished by the town.

In about 1887 or 1888 the two newspapers were sold and combined into one.  This new paper went by both the name of the Foster County Independent and the Carrington Weekly under different editors and was a continuation of the Carrington News and the Foster County Gazette.  The Foster County Independent serves its town, county, and state today as it has done throughout the years.

Another newspaper of the city of Carrington was the Carrington Record originated about 1900 and continued for some 21 years when it was discontinued.

(Report by Mrs. William Smith)
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Congregational Church

Early in the history of Carrington there were many different denominations.  After establishing their homes they felt the loss of their home church.  There were Congregationalists, Methodists, Catholics, Baptist, Dunkards and others.  They gathered together and studied the different creeds of each denomination and finally agreed the Creed of the Congregational Church was acceptable to all.

On April 15, 1883 the first sermon ever preached in Carrington was delivered by C.H. Semmons in the dining hall of H.A. Soliday to an audience of about 70 people; mostly men.  After the sermon the congregation voted without a dissenting voice to organize a Congregational Church in Carrington.  A Sunday school was organized immediately with J. Morley Wyard as Superintendent.  Rev. W.E. Sutherland supplied the congregation until May 27, 1883 when Rev. C.S. Lane of Hartford Seminary was sent by the American Home Missionary Society as a regular supply.

For a time the preaching service of this church was held in the Kirkwood Hotel.  On October 28, 1883 the congregation was moved to the new schoolhouse which was used until the first church building in town was completed.  Before that other places for the services were the saloons and the store buildings too.

They had their first service in the new church June 15, 1884.  There was a small cottage organ and Lizzie Wyard was the first organist.  The Ladies Aid had an oyster supper to raise money to buy lamps for the church.  This church was used for 22 years.  Later it was sold to the school district to be used for school purposes.

In 1902 Rev. Robert Paton was the pastor and he was interested in having a new church built as they had outgrown the small church.  The building was just across the road and was built of concrete blocks under the direction of Joseph P. O'Leary.

In 1914 plans were made to purchase an organ for the church.  Andrew Carnegie was contacted and he agreed to match the funds that could be raised which was $2500.  The church was the center of community activities such as Commencement exercises, lectures, concerts, etc.  Mrs. Thomas Cousins was the moving spirit in getting the organ.  After the money was raised she went to New York City to a music college and consulted with the president who drew up the plans for the organ.  As he gave her the plans he said, "Follow these plans exactly as they are here and you will have one of the finest organs ever made".
As the town grew rapidly the people gradually organized their own churches.  The Methodists built their church in 1898, the Catholics in 1888.

Discussion started in 1914 about a federation of the Methodist and the Congregational.  This came to be in 1938.
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Nazarene Church

On October 16, 1938 under the direction of District Superintendent Rev. S.C. Taylor and a small band of dedicated Christians, the First Church of the Nazarene was organized in Carrington.  One year later a site was selected and a church building purchased and moved into a location at 13 Ave. and Main St.  The total cost of purchasing and remodeling was $3,000.  Until this time the members of this young church were holding Bible studies and prayer meetings in the homes.

The original church stood at the location of 13 Ave. and Main St. until 1976 when construction was completed on a new sanctuary seating 250 people at the corner of Joal Drive and Golf Course Road.

Rev. Pearl Hamel was the first pastor of the church of the Nazarene in Carrington and during the 44 years of ministry of the church in Carrington there has been fourteen pastors until the present pastor, Rev. Chleo Brown.
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Grace Lutheran Church

History, Growth and Development

The history of this congregation goes back to the year 1939, when a group of Lutheran Church, Wisconsin Synod pastors decided to establish a Lutheran Church, Wisconsin Synod in Carrington.

The Wisconsin Synod purchased the vacant Methodist Church building located at 890 South First Street and Ninth Avenue for this purpose.  Grace Lutheran Church was established at this time as a mission congregation.  The first service was held July 28, 1940 with Rev. J.B. Erhart of Jamestown, North Dakota as minister.  The congregation was known as St. John's Evangelical Lutheran Church.  The founding officers were: 

President, Rev. Albert Sippert

Treasurer, Raymond Westerland

Secretary, Gordon Paulson

Elders and Trustees, Albert Paulson, Gordon Paulson and Raymond Westerland.

On January 29, 1941 this congregation was incorporated and became Grace Evangelical Lutheran Church‑ Wisconsin Synod.  The first communion service was held on June 29, 1941 with eight members communing.  At this time the members included 45 souls, 11 communicants, and five voting members.

In October 1950 the congregation agreed to withdraw its membership from the Wisconsin Synod and apply for membership in the Missouri Synod.  The purpose of this was to be better served by a Missouri Synod minister, and possibly become a parish with a sister congregation.  The name of the congregation was then changed to Grace Lutheran Church, Missouri Synod.  A parish was formed with Emmanuel Lutheran Church in New Rockford.

In 1965 a new parish alignment took place with St. Paul's Lutheran Church, Sykeston, North Dakota with the minister to live in Carrington.  With an average Sunday attendance at this time of 192 and Sunday school enrollment of 93, the church growth and attendance had grown to the point that the present facilities were becoming very crowded.  A committee was named to investigate the possible sale of the church property and the relocation on a new site, with a new house of worship.  Although the committee worked and planned, investing many dedicated hours into the project, their findings were not approved and the committee was dismissed in May 1967.  The next time of talk of improvement came in 1975.  Another committee was appointed to serve on the building committee.  In August 1977 plans were approved by the voters assembly to build a new house of worship on a new site, on the east side of the city from Mr. Percy Engberg.

The Groundbreaking ceremony was held on April 23, 1978 and the construction work began immediately there after.  The cornerstone setting ceremony was held on October 8, 1978.  The congregation moved into the new building and held its first service there on January 28, 1979.  The membership of Grace Lutheran church as of January 1, 1979 was 257 communicant members and 326 souls.  The seating capacity of the new structure is 250 in the pews, and approximately 150 in the overflow area.

Ministers serving this church:

Rev. J.B. Erhart‑ July 1940‑September 1940

John Wentland‑ September 1940 ‑ December 1940 

Albert Sippert‑ first installed minister‑ December 1940 ‑ August 1947 

Howard Birkholtz‑ August 1947 ‑ May 1948 

Henry Lange‑ July 1948 ‑ October 1950 

William Christian, vacancy pastor‑ January 1951‑ August 1956 

Edgar Greve‑ July 1957 ‑ June 1961 

August W. Mommens‑ April 1962 ‑ July 1965 

Thomas K. Spahn‑ July 1965 ‑ July 1969 

Paul Rowley‑ 1969 ‑ August 1971 

Daniel Jurkovic‑ January 1972 ‑ June 1974 

Carlyle Roth‑ 1975 ‑ presently serving 

Organizations: 

Lutheran Women's Missionary League 

Lutheran Laymen's League 

Walther League 

Active Christian Teens 

Grace Lutheran Adult Choir 

Grace Lutheran Girls' Choir 

Grace Lutheran Children's Choir 

Three Bible classes
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Bethel Chapel

Bethel Chapel was built in 1976.  The beginnings of this new congregation goes back to the days when Pastor D.H. Waggoner filled the pulpit for the country Baptist Church known as the Germantown Baptist Church, which was located east of Fessenden.  When this group disbanded and the church was moved, the congregation of Bethel Chapel was organized and services were held in the Carrington Adventist Church while plans were being made for a new building.

After Rev. Waggoner retired, the position was filled by Rev. David Davidson, a native of Indiana.

The church is an interdenominational group affiliated with the Assembly of God, especially in regards to its camping program.

First service at new Chapel Sunday

(Independent, April 14, 1976) 

Carrington's newest church will begin using its facility Sunday, April 18.  Sunday school will start at 10 a.m. with morning worship at 11.  A special musical program will be held at 7:30 p.m.

The beginnings of this new congregation go back to the days when Pastor D.H. Waggoner filled the pulpit for the country Baptist Church known as Germantown Baptist Church, which was located about nine miles east of Fessenden on Highway 15.

Following the closing down of that group, the church building was moved to Carrington and is currently being used by Faith Baptist Church.  The congregation of Bethel Chapel was organized and services were held in the Carrington Adventist Church while plans were being laid for a new building.

The construction firm of Braunberger Brothers of Finley was contacted for the new structure.

The official dedication of the new building is being planned for this fall, which will allow time to finish a lot of outside work - lawn, parking area, etc.

The Chapel is planning an open house at that time, but the public is invited to come and look over the building at any time.
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Lutheran Church in Carrington

In the May 20, 1908 edition of the Independent there was an article about Rev. Gutnecht, who would be living as a resident in Carrington.  He was to have services in English in the courthouse starting on June 6, 1908.  The Reverend was also going to conduct services at Bordulac, New Rockford and Melville.  He stayed in the area until 1910 when he was called to be a minister at Lyndeville, New York.

The next history of the Lutheran church goes back to 1915, when 15 families of German descent banded together to organize the "German Lutheran Church of the Ohio Synod."  Because of the difficulty of keeping a minister they joined the Missouri Synod in 1920.  This continued until 1924 when the congregation was discontinued.  Some of the families continued to worship in New Rockford.  All services were conducted in the German language.  William Zebell was the pastor in 1917.

Lutherans of Norwegian descent also gathered in worship and started the First Lutheran Church in 1922 as a congregation of the Evangelical Lutheran Church.  Services were held in the Baptist Church, at the courthouse, and in the theater.  Pastor Tollefson served in 1928.

A significant forward step was taken for the ministry of the Lutheran Church in Carrington with the arrival of a young pastor named Alvin L.C. Kelley, who had been ordained into the ministry of the American Lutheran Church.  He arrived in 1932.  Under his leadership members of the German Lutheran Church joined the group, meeting as the First Lutheran Church in the hope that a new congregation could be started by these two groups working together.  Dr. Stoeve, District president of the E.L.C. called a meeting of the First Lutheran Church (E.L.C.) and the German group of the A.L.C. on September 14, 1932, to consider which church body should remain in Carrington.  By a one-vote majority the group decided to affiliate with the American Lutheran Church, and the Reverend A.L.C. Kelley was called by the Mission Board of that synod to organize a congregation.

This united group worshipped every Sunday in the courtroom of the Foster County Court House.

On February 23, 1933 the group decided to reorganize the congregation and also change the name from the First Lutheran Church of Carrington to Trinity Lutheran Church.  Also at this first meeting the first officers were elected: 

President, Mr. Paul Nelson

Secretary, Mr. O.B. Smebak

Treasurer, Mr. Charles Froelich

Trustees: A.C. Otto, Mr. Richard Schoen, and Mr. Grover Hobson. 

Other business at this meeting was the reading of the constitution of the American Lutheran Church by Pastor Kelley.  This was accepted by the members and incorporated in the congregation.

Rev. Kelley was formally called by the members of this new congregation to serve as pastor.  His salary was paid by the Mission Board, because the congregation was not self‑supporting at that time.

With Pastor Keller's aggressive work and the optimism of the officers and some of the members another meeting was called in March of the same year to reopen discussions regarding the building of a church.  At this meeting it was decided to request a loan from the church building board.  However, during the year 1933, no further progress was made on the building, so services were continued in the courthouse.

The two dominant groups, the Germans and the Norwegians, and people of other backgrounds had merged as a unified congregation.  They had learned to worship, to pray, to sing, and to work as brothers and sisters in Christ, our Lord.

Building the Church

In the spring of 1934, it became evident that the courthouse would no longer accommodate the congregation, and it became imperative that a building be erected.

Plans were drawn and building costs estimated by the congregational president, Paul Nelson, and treasurer, Charles Froelich, who were both building contractors.  Although the Building Board did not as yet have the money to loan, it was decided that the congregation borrow the money locally as a start to finance the building.  Previously the Norwegian Lutheran Church in Carrington, with the effort of Mrs. O.D. Dawalt, had raised about $1,000 by the Ladies Aid.  This money was used to help finance the new church.

After some consideration and discussion the present site was selected and purchased (on Main street) from Mrs. Lee Harmon.  On August 14, 1934, ground was broken for the new building and the process of building the new church began at once.  The work was both difficult and interesting since it was decided to build the church by donated labor, with Mr. Nelson and Mr. Froelich and Mr. Schoen supervising the construction.  It was hoped that the building might be completed by Thanksgiving Day, but delays caused by bad weather and failure of materials to arrive held up the building operation, so that the church was not ready for occupancy until December 16, 1934.  During the year of 1934 the farmers had a complete crop failure due to drought, and the country was in the middle of a deep economic depression.

Stained glass windows were given as memorial gifts several years later.  The Dedication Service of the Church Art Windows took place on Easter Sunday 1948.

As the need for more Sunday school facilities became more urgent a Building Committee was elected in 1950.  Dedication of the new addition was May 1952.

New Church

As the years went by it was decided to build new facilities for the Trinity Lutheran Church.  Ground was broken on Sunday October 1, 1978.  The building price tag was quoted to be about $400,000.

The first services were held on December 23, 1979.  Formal Dedication Services were conducted by Bishop Nelson F. Preus on April 13, 1980.

The bell that hangs in the front of the church was donated by the James River Lutheran Congregation.  It weighs 950 pounds and was purchased by the James River congregation in 1919 at a cost of $85.  It formally rang at the church along highway No. 200, twelve miles east of Carrington.

Trinity Lutheran Church has grown from the fifteen original families in 1915 to a present membership of about 300 families in 1982.

Ministry

Those ordained from this church were Rev. Sylvan Lee, Rev. Fred Moberg, Rev. Jerry Miller and Rev. Dwight Penas.  Omar Bonderud received a theological education and entered the publishing field, writing Christian educational materials.  Alvin Kuehn was killed while serving as a missionary in New Guinea.

Trinity became involved in the theological education of pastors when it entered into the Intern Program in 1973.  Each of the students spends one year in the congregation fulfilling various duties.

Interns serving at Trinity were: 

Paul Johnson, Brooklyn, New York‑1973‑74 

Jim Knudson, Sioux Falls, South Dakota‑1974‑75 

Jeff Martinson, Milwaukee, Wisconsin‑1975‑76 

Fandall Nicolai, Bismarck, North Dakota ‑1976‑77 

Tom Dunham, Sioux Fals, South Dakota‑1977‑78 

Jonathan Dorum, Moorhead, Minnesota‑ 1978‑79 

Jan Peterson, Manitowoc, Wisconsin‑1979‑80 

David Engelstad, Aneta, North Dakota‑1980‑81 

Bob Koepp, Belle Plain, Minnesota‑ 1981‑82 

Arland Braaten‑Lee, Decorah, Iowa‑1982‑83

Ministers:

Rev. A.L.C. Keller‑ September 1932 to April 1941 

Rev. H. Meske‑ April 1941 to June 1944

Rev. E.E. Lang‑ June 1944 to November 1956 

Rev. Rialto Roesler‑ November 1956 to 1966

Rev. James Schoeld‑1966 ‑1974

Rev. Gordon Berntson‑ July 1974 ‑ serving at the present time (1982)

Organizations 

Ladies Aid started 1933 

Lutheran Daughters of Reformation 

Lutheran Brotherhood‑ Men's Club 

Trinity Lutheran Church 

Women Luther League 

Junior League

Ladies Aid was organized January 1933 at the home of O.B. Smebak with 18 members present.  The first officers were: 

Mrs. Frank Deede, president

Mrs. A.C. Otto, secretary

Mrs. Nels Swenson, treasurer

The first dinner was held for dedication services on September 22, 1935.  The price of the meal was 35 cents for adults and 25 cents for children.

One of their projects is to serve meals at the Foster County Fair.  The first group to serve there prepared the hamburgers on an oil stove in a small tent located across from the main exhibit tent.  The ladies have continued to serve meals at the county fair each year.

Kindergarten

A kindergarten, which was open to the community, was established in 1961 under the leadership of Mrs. Roesler, who served also as the teacher.  She was the wife of the minister at that time.  These classes continued until 1981 when kindergarten became a part of the public educational system.
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Sacred Heart Catholic Church

Settlers started to arrive in the county in 1881‑1882.  There were four or five Catholic families in this group.  Bishop Marty would make a trip to visit these families two or three times during this period.

In 1887 the Sacred Heart Catholic Church was established as a member of a circuit which was served with priests from Jamestown.  Rev. Father Cassidy was assigned as priest for this area.  At this time the number of Catholic families had grown to about 30.  The following year the first church was completed in 1890.  It was attended by Father Cassidy until 1891.  Services were held once a month.

The first resident priest was Father Powers.

In 1902 a new church was built with a seating capacity of 180 at a cost of $7,000 under the direction of Father S.A. McDonald.  The old church was moved to Bordulac where it was renovated.

The parochial residence was erected by Father Murphy in 1896.

The present church, a brick structure, was built in 1959 with an auditorium connected to it.  It has a seating capacity for 400 persons.  The cost of the construction was about $225,000.  A new residence also built of bricks was constructed in 1974.  It provides facilities for the pastor as well as visiting clergy.  Educational rooms are located in the basement.

Many of the furnishings of the church were donated by the parishioners.

1980 saw the installation of stained glass windows, a remodeling of the entryway, and the reconciliation room.  The windows are designed to tell the story of Jesus while he was here on earth; starting with his birth, continuing with his years of teaching, his death and burial, and finally his resurrection.

One window depicts five of the miracles that Jesus performed; number three tells about five parables that Jesus told while preaching.  Other windows depict the story of the Beatitudes, Crucifixion, resurrection and the establishment of the Church.

The remaining windows tell the story of the sacraments that Jesus gave to us to help us to get to heaven.  The windows above the altar show that God came to us with His grace and our striving to reach Him.

Ministry:

Rev. Powers‑1893 ‑1895 

J. Murphy‑1895 ‑1896 

Asst. Rev. B. Kaus‑ December 1897 

J.A. McDonald‑ 1898 ‑1911 

Michael J. Harte‑1911‑1957 

Peter Bannon‑ 1957 ‑ 1958 

Martin J. Brennan asst. 1938 Pastor‑1957 ‑1970 

Felix J. Preske‑1970 ‑ presently serving.

Intern Program

The Intern Program was established in 1973.  The program is set up for seminarians to spend six months in a parish to assist with the various duties of the parish as a part of their education.  Those coming to Sacred Heart were:

Robert Laliberte, Fargo‑ 1973.  Stayed for two months, He had a teaching position in fall.

Robert Dalzell, Walhalla‑ 1977 ‑ 78 

Jack Evans, Fargo‑ 1978‑79

Sister Borgia Sondag came to Carrington in September 1980 to assume duties as director of religious education and church music.  She is a native of Sykeston and a member of the Sisters of Presentation in Fargo.  She came to the parish with many years of experience in teaching in the various schools in North Dakota.

When Father McDonald came to the area he was placed in charge of 22 missions in Benson, Eddy, Foster, McLean, Wells, Kidder, and Burleigh counties.

He would ride the Turtle Lake Branch train to the various parishes.  In 1907 he was given the parishes of Carrington, Bordulac, and Fessenden.

Father McDonald was originally from Prince Edward Island, where he grew up and attended school.  He was teaching in Quebec when he received an urgent call in 1898 from, Bishop Shanley of Fargo to come to North Dakota.

During his career he built ten churches.  He returned to his native land in 1911 because of ill health.

He was described as one of the most popular clergymen, both with Catholics and non‑Catholics, that Carrington had ever known.  Coming here in an early date he had a prominent part in the development of the community and underwent all the hardships that are required of a priest in a pioneer country by the many demands of his people.  He died in 1915 in Canada.

Rev. Michael J. Harte was born January 22 1880 in Ireland.  He came to New York at the age of seventeen, eventually going to St. Paul, Minnesota to attend college.  He was ordained a priest in 1910 and served as an assistant in a Fargo parish until moving to Carrington in 1911.

In his early days in Carrington, Father Harte also served congregations at Bordulac, Fessenden, Denhoff, and McClusky, traveling by horse and buggy.

He served the Sacred Heart Church until 1958 when he retired and moved to the Holy Family rest home.  He died in 1968.

Replacing Father Harte was his nephew Rev. Martin J. Brennan.  He was a native of Ireland, too, and had spent some time in the area from 1933‑37 as an assistant.  He took over his duties in 1959.  While he was pastor, a new church was constructed.

He was pastor at Neche before coming to Carrington.  He retired in 1970 and returned to Ireland, where he died in 1971.

Rev. Felix J. Preske, a native of Indiana, was named to succeed Father Brennan.  He was ordained in 1948 at Evansville, Ind., and then came to the Diocese of Fargo.  He served as an assistant at St. Anthony's parish in Fargo.  Following this he served as assistant pastor in Langdon.  He was pastor at Marion, Verona, before coming to Sykeston in 1963, where he stayed until 1969.  At that time he went to Grafton until coming to Carrington in 1970.

Father Preske is an active member in community affairs as well as serving on committees on the state level.

Organizations:

Ladies Aid organized in July 1898 Ladies Benefit Society 1907

Children's Sodality 1908 Knights of Maccabees June 21, 1894

Confraternity of Christian Doctrine CCD 1969 educational program grades 1‑8

Catholic Youth Organization CYO 1969 Educational program grades 9‑12

Knights of Columbus 1960

Knights of Columbus

Council No. 4951 was chartered on April 10, 1960 with 68 charter members.  In 1980 the roll consisted of 106 members.  The first Grand Knight was John Bujalski and the first financial secretary was Morris E. Martin.

The Knights carry on various programs during the year to assist people in the community in a secular as well as a religious manner.

Their colorful attire and actions have also been a part of special celebrations that may be held in the church during the year.
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Faith Baptist Church

Faith Baptist Church came into existence on December 31, 1969, meeting in the Lawn and Garden Center directly across the road from the Prairie Inn on Highway 281.

Charter members were: Clarence and Ann Cook, Jim Cook, Perry and Clara Pepple, Lowell and Eleanor Leppke, Cynthia Leppke, Albert and Emma Leppke, Arnold and Mary Leppke, James and Kerrine Oshanyk, and Wallace and Loetta Sellner.

The Church purchased land from Rex Miller in 1971 for the purpose of building a church building and a parsonage.  The parsonage was completed in October 1971.

On October 1972 bids were submitted for the purchase of Germantown Baptist Church, which was located north of Cathay on Highway 15.  The bid of $1500 was accepted.  This was the cost of the building in 1892.  The church building was moved to Carrington onto the corner of 2nd Ave. Northeast and Faith Road in December 1972.  The first service was December 18, 1972, which was the first Sunday School Christmas program.

A dedication service was held June 10, 1973, dedicating the Church to the Lord.  Approximately 200 people attended.

Ministers: 

Pastor Jack Christensen‑ December 31, 1969 ‑ September 30, 1972 

Richard Ferrell‑ November 1, 1972 ‑ April 24, 1977 

Pastor Ron Thompson‑ June 15, 1977 ‑ June 12, 1978 

Pastor Monte Tickson‑ August 17, 1978 ‑ August 8, 1979 

Pastor Richard Ferrell‑ January 20, 1980 ‑ to present (1982)
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Dunkard Church

German Baptists, or Brethren congregation, the name Dunkard was applied to them because of their manner of baptism which is by dipping.

The church was organized in Germany 1708 by Alexander Mack and seven others who were not satisfied with the prevailing religious creeds and forms of worship.  They banded themselves together to study the sacred scriptures and as far as possible found a church strictly according to their understanding upon Apostolic precedents.

They decided that the New Testament was the only Christian creed, that it should be obeyed literally as to command and injunction, and that relative to church government it afforded every rule governing faith and conduct essential to good citizenship in this world and salvation in the world beyond.  (The Record Magazine, 1896)

They believed in Triune immersion for the administration of baptism.  Triune immersion was performed by forward action, believing that Christ's commission, 'Go ye therefore, etc.' can only be reconciled to a triune act, and as Christ bowed his head and gave up the spirit on the cross, and as baptism is, 'in the likeness of His death', he bowing forward not backward, therefore their practice and belief that the candidate should be plunged forward in the Act of Baptism.

They observe the Lord's Supper as a full meal partaken of in the evening of the day, and partake of bread and wine as a separate institution, but connected with and immediately succeeding the supper.

They are non‑resistant and will not take up arms in case of war, do not believe in litigation and seldom appear in a law‑suit except as defendant and not then unless forced by circumstances to do so.

They care for their own poor, never sending them to county or state institutions, and in their church government have a complete system for raising funds for caring for their helpless and for settling all difficulties arising between their members, and between them and 'men of the world.'
Their church government is rigidly enforced and embraces pretty nearly every phase of rule or law that human conduct requires to keep it within the bounds of Dunkard propriety.

The fashions of the world are strictly prohibited and the ladies wear, plain sunbonnets and their dresses must be plain and devoid of flounces, ruffles and ribbons.  Hats are expressly indicated for ladies.  The male members are not so rigidly circumscribed, but are expected to wear their hair long and parted in the middle or combed straight back over the head.

The moustache must be shaved and the beard worn full length, though a full beard is permissible.  Broad brim, low crowned, soft hats and the standing collars cutaway coats constitute the main peculiarities of the Dunkard uniform.  They are peculiar; they aim to be.  It is a part of their religion.  They believe they can best maintain 'nonconformity' to the world' through uniformity of dress outside of the fashions.

Whenever they have gospel commands or injunction they follow them literally and implicitly; wherever they have no specific gospel to direct them in matters they think essential to church property or obedience to its authority, they make laws in their annual convocations 'according to the gospel.'  Their annual meetings are legislative in character, and the delegates constituting them are elected by the laity.

The people are generally of the agricultural class and were held in high esteem‑ as law abiding, rigidly honest, non‑speculative in business, and religiously apposed to extravagance of any kind.  They were good colonizers.

In 1896 about twenty families came to Foster County, purchased 60 quarter sections of railroad land.  The price ranged from $3 to $7.50, the higher price was close to Carrington.  Agents from the railroad helped them find land and employment.

Subscriptions were opened for the building of the German Baptist Church.  They were assisted by the Northern Pacific Railroad, W.J. Barney and Company, Carrington‑Casey Land Company  The church was to cost about $2,000.

Among the officers there were three grades, the elder being the highest, the first grade are licensed to preach but cannot administer the sacrament of the Lord's communion or solemnize marriages.  The minister of the second degree administer communion, solemnize marriages in the absence of the elder.

The elder who has attained full ordination, has executive powers and administers the law of the church and disciplines the members or other elders when occasion demands.  It is their duty to look after the spiritual material welfare of the people in every way.

The Brethren church was dedicated June 10, 1896. 

First trustees were: 

Dave Gerger

David Snowberger

L.M. Thomas. 

First pastor: 

David Nicum 

Charter Members: 

J.P. Bagle and wife, 

Mr. and Mrs. Eli Beagle, 

Mr. and Mrs. David Nicum, 

Albert and Thomas W. Thomas and wives, 

Mr. and Mrs. David Settle, Frank Settle.

Brethren Sunday school was organized in 1896.  The first superintendent was Dave Snowberger.

Brethren Ladies Aid was organized in 1917.  Charter members: 

Medames A. Kreps, John Newton, John Ploch and L.M Thomas
The Brethren church disbanded because of the small membership and joined other churches in the community.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 239

Episcopal Church

The Cathedral Car of North Dakota was built in 1890 for William D. Walker, the first Episcopalian bishop of North Dakota.  It served as a chapel for small destitute towns and as bishop's seat until 1896.

Walker resigned in 1896 and went back to New York.  About 1898‑1899 the car was brought to Carrington where it remained to two years.  "Carrington had a fairly established congregation but not enough money to build a church.  The cathedral car was to remain there until the congregation could build a chapel."
An ornamental window pictured at the central top of the car was not real, but was placed on the car and not built into it.

The altar work in the car was later salvaged and placed in an Episcopalian church at Guelph.

A cabinet pump organ was placed in the center of the car, possibly because it wasn't loud enough to be placed at one end.  While stationed in Carrington, it is believed local persons provided the music.

Other than the altar work, the car looked like an ordinary railroad car.  Seating was provided by straight back chairs, not pews.

In 1901 the Carrington Episcopalian congregation had raised enough money to build a church which was located across the street from the Congregational Church.  The congregation eventually faded away and the church is no longer standing.

At one time according to Leon Galehouse, Jr., Episcopalian services were held in Carrington in a small car pulled by horses, known as "The Church on Wheels."  A Rev. Smith officiated at these services.  The interior of the car resembled a chapel, but couldn't hold many people as it was about the size of old cook cars.

Although the dates that this pull‑car was used were not available, it could possibly have been used from 1896 to about 1898 during the time the cathedral car was in storage before it came to Carrington.

April 7, 1899 issue of the Carrington Record reports that Episcopalian services were held at the M.D. (Methodist‑Episcopalian) with Rev. J.H. Sheridan officiating.
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Amish Settlement

Daniel Beer led a group of Amish‑Mennonite settlers to Carrington April 10, 1896.  They settled on land, 307 acres of railroad land that had been previously purchased by Mr. Beer near Barlow.

The Amish settlers were identified by some of their customs of dress, such as wearing clothes that were fastened only with hooks and eyes, broad brimmed hats and the full beards worn by the men.  They took pride in being absolutely accurate in their speech and in their personal habits.

The Amish form the most numerous body of Mennonites in the United States.

In religion they more nearly resemble the Presbyterians than any other denomination of Evangelical Christians.  They reject infant baptisms and usually baptize at about the age of 18.  They are non‑resistant and abstain from oaths and therefore avoid office.  They regard honesty, industry, and plainness in dress and manners prominent Christian duties.  The Lord's Supper is celebrated in most churches twice a year, preceded by feet washing.
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Jehovah's Witnesses

By Allen Linderman

The Carrington congregation is among the first to be established in North Dakota, though their work had been done much earlier in the state.  The congregation was established in April 1938.  Prior to this traveling ministers came through and held Bible studies.  The Witnesses, who base their name on Isaiah 43: 10‑12, met in homes until about 1942 when leased places were used to meet in.  Later in about 1944, a one-room school building which was moved to Carrington to be used as a home, was purchased and remodeled for a Kingdom Hall, as their meeting places are called.

A man by the name of Art Fischer came to Carrington, and helped start the local congregation.  He conducted the first meetings held.  In 1941 Otto Hjorlein came and helped progress.  Many new members became associated, and still others came to serve at Carrington.  Many have come and gone over the years, moving elsewhere, particularly the young ones.  Many drove 30 miles or more to attend meetings, Walter Hall of Brantford being one of those.  Meeting attendance grew to some 75 persons.  Merritt Landon has been a member since 1938.

In 1964 a new building at the same location, 12th Avenue and 4th Street North, was constructed by a local contractor.  Hundreds of people have attended at this new Hall, many from other states on their way through.  Three meetings are held each week.  House to house ministry is the trademark of Jehovah's Witnesses, as it was in Jesus' day.  There are now about 44,000 congregations in 206 countries.  One family formerly from the local congregation, the parents and their three sons and their wives serve at world headquarters in New York State.  Their three daughters are now serving as missionaries in Columbia, South America. 

A main part of their faith is in the ransom sacrifice of Christ Jesus, love of God and love of neighbor, and the importance of taking in Bible knowledge.  They support their worldwide work on voluntary contributions only, not on solicitation of money or membership dues.  They do not have a clergy‑laity distinction, in that all members are taught everything about the scripture and how they can apply it in their lives.  They believe the earth will be here forever and not burned up or destroyed.  The earth will always be populated by mankind.

The rural congregations may seem small, yet they are all members of a worldwide association, all believing the same way.  You will be interested to know Jehovah's Witnesses publish over 35 million magazines per month in 102 languages.  They use all translations of the Bible, and have placed hundreds of millions of Bibles and books throughout the world.  They have published one book with the widest distribution of any book in the world next to the Bible, a book entitled "The Truth Shall Make You Free".  100 million copies in many languages have been placed with people of the world.  The Carrington congregation had part in this work.  They meet at a local level; however, the largest meeting they ever held was in 1958 where they filled Yankee Stadium and the Polo Grounds in New York, to capacity including the playing fields, with 253,922 persons from around the world.  Many from the Carrington congregation attended.

Much more could be said about the history of Jehovah's Witnesses in the Carrington area though this will give some information about them.  A book could be written about the congregation.  It is their wish to contribute peace and good will in this community.  Everyone is welcome and all meetings are free.
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Calvary Baptist Church

Calvary Baptist Church is the ancestor of the Pleasant Valley German Baptist Church, the first German Baptist Church established in North Dakota.

In the autumn of 1882 a small group of immigrants arrived from Rumania and settled in Jamestown, North Dakota for the winter.  In the spring of 1883 they moved up around Carrington to an area later called Longview Township.  They immediately started Sunday school in their sod homes.  A few years later they moved to a schoolhouse.

In 1900 a church building was built out in the Pleasant Valley District but was not officially organized until 1909.  The church showed steady growth but soon people began to move to Carrington for business and retirement.

In 1918 a building was purchased in town and used as a church until it was too small.  In 1920 the present church site, which has always been a church, was purchased from St. John's Lutheran Church.  It was during this time that services were being held both in the country and in town.

The building soon became too small as well.  The old church in the country was pulled down and the lumber used to enlarge the church in town.

The church has continued to show steady growth and in 1944 more building was done.  In 1945 the name was officially changed to Calvary Baptist Church.

It was in 1962 that the building was enlarged to its present capacity.  Since 1975 the present structure was refurbished both inside and outside.

Seventeen pastors have served and contributed to the growth over the nearly 100 years of existence.

The current church contains material from three churches: the Pleasant Valley German Baptist Church, the German Brethren Church, and the original building which stood on the present site since 1906 at the corner of Eighth Avenue and First Street North.

That building's story goes this way.  The Congregational Church sold its original building, erected in 1884, to the school district.  The school district didn't need a church building, so they sold the building to the Progressive Brethren.  They moved the building to the present site.  When the Progressive Brethren disbanded, they sold the building to St. John's, who in turn sold it to the Pleasant Valley Baptist group.

Organizations:

Baptist Ladies Aid was first organized in 1919 by Rev. Itterman at the home of Mrs. John Pepple Sr.  The present Women's Fellowship Missionary Groups are: Mary‑Martha Group and Joy 'N Us Group.

The Baptist Young People's Union was organized by Rev. N.E. McCoy on October 24, 1930 with William Sherman, president.  The present day organization is called "CBY" Commission Baptist Youth.  There are three clubs for the younger children: Space Club for pre‑school; Whirley Birds, grades 1‑2‑3; and Jet Cadets for grades 4‑7.

There is a Worship Choir and the Calvary Chimes, a hand bell choir which was started in June 1980 under the direction of Janel Edinger.
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Swedish Lutheran Church

Late in the winter toward spring, 1883, the people of the vicinity held church services and then saw more of one another.  There were many Swedish families in Pleasant Valley Township and they were all of the Lutheran faith.  They held services in the home of P.J. Kallberg.  Those generally attending were the Hallbergs, several Kallberg families, P.M. Nelsons, Nels Haues, William Johnson, and others, whether Lutheran or not, who wished to attend.

Mrs. P.J. Kallberg had brought with her from Sweden her Bible, History of the Bible and Mrs. P.M. Nelson would lead the singing.  Mrs. Nelson was a fine singer and had led the choir in her church in Sweden.  After the service they would have their coffee and a little social time.

Adah Kallberg understood little of the church service so she would memorize the chapter from the Swedish Bible which had been the sermon for the day.  When she reached home she would read the corresponding chapter in her own Bible and in this way understood what had been heard that day.  Many people asked why she did not attend the church service of the American church in town; she replied that she would not think of doing that as she loved these people and respected their devotion to their faith and to each other and had made them her life, therefore she would do things in their way.

Services were held in the home of the elder Kallbergs until 1886 when the schoolhouse was built.  P.J. Kallberg donated land for the schoolhouse and it was located just a few rods from the house.  After the school was built the church services were held there and a church organization was formed.
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St. Agnes Chapel

St. Agnes Chapel was a small building‑on the Northeast corner of block 19 south across the street from the red brick schoolhouse.  A newspaper story of April 4, 1915 tells that Bishop Tyler was in charge of the service assisted by Rev. Brayfield.  Communion service was to be at 7:30 p.m.
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American Association of University Women

(AAUW)

In April of 1981, a. branch of the American Association of University Women (AAUW) was chartered in the New Rockford‑Carrington area.  The newly formed New Rockford‑Carrington branch is a part of the largest and oldest national organization working for the advancement of women.  Members are committed to five areas of continuing interest: women, international relations, education, cultural interests and the community.  The AAUW is open to all women holding college degrees.  The organization offers a support system, continuing education through workshops, seminars and special programs and is a means to become actively involved in achieving equality for women.

The New Rockford‑Carrington branch officially began in September 1982.  The two topics for the biennium are "Money Talks" and "Taking hold of Technology".  Among the programs this first year were a stockbroker, an MDU representative, a social security spokesman, a history of AAUW, and a discussion of Women's Rights in North Dakota with emphasis on the displaced homemaker.

The fifteen charter members of the New Rockford Carrington branch of the AAUW are: Kathy DeBolt, Alicia Vorland, Cathy Hjelseth, Lois Schafer, Pam Egbert, Linda Meyer, Joan Miller, Lenore Hegland, Pat Boyum, Lorna Bye, Margaret Roney, Rose Nilles, Sharon Duval, Joanne Backlund, and Shelly Weigel.  Joining as members during the first year were: Gail Steele, Sandra Lutovsky, Renel Bubach, Judy Meier and Mavis Vogel.

The AAUW meets the second Monday at 8:00 p.m. alternating months between Carrington and New Rockford.
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I.O.O.F. and Rebekah Lodges

By Esther Aljets

The Independent Order of Odd Fellows or Odd Fellows, as the lodge was commonly called, was instituted in Carrington in 1908.  It was the good times that first drew the Odd Fellows into the brotherhood of the order.  The men who joined were good friends within and without the lodge.  The lodge grew rapidly at first because they had so much social activity such as progressive whist parties, banquets, dances and family parties which included the whole family.

The noble intentions of the order which has been taken seriously throughout its history is to visit the sick, relieve the distressed, bury the dead, educate the orphan and protect the widows.

Odd Fellows take credit for pioneering the idea of homes for senior citizens and children's homes.  There is the I.O.O.F. home in Devils Lake that is maintained by the Odd Fellows and Rebekah lodges.

They are sponsors of the World Eye Bank and a Visual Research Foundation.  They sponsor the annual Youth Pilgrimage to the United Nations, in which young people visit the United Nations in an educational journey.  They provide low cost educational loans and there is a long list of the good things they do.

The Rebekah lodge is an auxiliary order for women.  They share the same goals and principals.  The Carrington Rebekah lodge was instituted in February 1910.

The degrees of both orders are intended to teach the spiritual principles.  They are taken from both testaments of the Bible and deal with eternity, friendship, and brotherly love.
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Men's Literary Club

The Carrington Men's Literary Club was organized October 16, 1907.  The following officers were elected: 
P.A. McMillan, president

Rev. R. Paton, vice‑president 

Father McDonald, treasurer 

George Peabody, Secretary

W.F. Moore, Corporate Secretary

Preamble to Constitutions and by‑laws

"In order to develop the power of logical thought and its expression; to secure by discussion and comparison of ideas and intelligent and balanced concept of all topics of current interest; to gain stimulus to mental action by association with one another; to cultivate love of good literature, and in general to promote the intellectual and moral well being of ourselves and others."
W.F. Moore, corresponding secretary from the very first to the time of his death, was one of the most devoted members, and the continued progress of the club is largely due to his ability.  He was ever securing men of unusual ability and talent to appear on programs.

The club was instrumental is securing speakers for various occasions, such as dedication of churches, Memorials, Commencements, and other special gatherings.  It also served as host in welcoming visitors of note.

Programs consisted of one paper of thirty minutes' length being read which treats some suitable subject, together with two oral current topics, each of ten minutes' length, being discussed.

The club was limited to 20 active members with the superintendent of public schools and the resident clergyman eligible to membership in addition to the 20 elected to such membership.  The limiting of the membership, it was thought and experience seemed to justify, created a deeper interest and a greater feeling of responsibility on the part of the members.  The club was in existence in 1940.
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Women's Literary Club

In the year of 1897, on the seventh day of October, a group of Carrington ladies met to consider forming a study club.  The Women's Literary Club was organized, and today it is the oldest club in Foster County.  In 1904 the club united with the Federated Clubs of the State.  The Club joined the General Federation in February 1914.  The present club motto is "No Nation is greater than its women."  The club colors are pink and green, and the wild rose is the club flower.

At the club's meeting held on October 21, 1905, the decision was made to establish a library.  The meeting was held at the W.J. Doyle home.  Letters were sent to other women's groups, asking for books.  That venture wasn't too successful, for some of the books received were not good books for a lending library.  The Club purchased a few books to add to those donated and acceptable.  A bookcase was purchased for two dollars, and the Carrington Library was opened for service.  Shifted about from one location to another, from the early Commercial Clubrooms to the old courthouse, to various homes, the library eventually became established in the City Hall.  Club members took turns serving as librarian; then Mrs. B.L. Russell consented to be the first librarian, a position she held for eight years.  It is her picture which hangs above the dictionary stand, a fixture presented to the library by the Club, in her memory.  Financing the library was accomplished through projects such as bake sales, sponsoring lectures, and community dances known as "Germans".  Finally in 1916 the maintenance became too much of a financial operation for the club; and the library was turned over to the City of Carrington.  Women's Literary Club continued the library as its number one project and interest.

The club purchased a set of the World Book Encyclopedia for the library in 1962.  The money came from a special club community fund, accumulated from savings from a general fund, proceeds from an annual silver tea which the Club sponsored each spring during Library Week, and a memorial given for Mrs. N.A. Graves, Sr., one of the charter members of the Club.  Several other books have been purchased by the Club; and in 1975 the Club presented the library with a bookcase in honor of the retiring librarian, Ella Mae Hargrave.

One of the outstanding projects of the Club in 1917 was the furnishing of the sunroom of the new Carrington Hospital, and serving refreshments on the day of the hospital opening.

The October 1956 Club meeting centered its program entirely on the life and work of Mrs. B.L. Russell, a fifty‑year member of the Club.

In July 1958 Carrington celebrated its Diamond Jubilee.  Women's Literary Club had a float in the Jubilee Parade, depicting the first library in the city.  Several club members also attended the pageant at Medora, "Old Four Eyes" during the Theodore Roosevelt Centennial.

In 1968 the Women's Literary Club, Fine Arts Club, and the City of Carrington won two hundred dollars in the North Dakota Community Improvement Program.  This was part of a national contest sponsored by the General Federation of Women's Clubs and the Sears Roebuck Foundation.  Ella Mae Hargrave was in charge of making the scrapbook for this project.  In 1975 the two hundred dollars was used toward purchasing carpet for the Foster County Historical Museum.

Women's Literary Club and Fine Arts Club together sponsored a Hobby and Antique Show in 1970 and again in 1972, held in the Carrington Armory.  Proceeds were used for community summer art classes for interested school students, grades one through 12, and other community projects.

In 1971 the Club entered art and literary works of several Carrington High School students in the Fine Arts Poetry and Art Contest conducted by the North Dakota Federation of Women's Clubs.  Two of our entries were winners and received cash awards.

The club celebrated its seventy‑fifth anniversary in 1972 and honored three of its long-standing members: Mrs. Mayo Meadows, Mrs. George Swanson, and Mrs. Leon Galehouse.

On February 16, 1975 Women's Literary Club, Fine Arts Club, and the City of Carrington Library Board sponsored a reception and program honoring Ella Mae Hargrave for her forty years of service as the city librarian.  She was Carrington's "Sweetheart" that day and received many Valentine greetings from far and wide.

When school started in September 1975, the Club helped sponsor a teachers' welcome reception at the Carrington Golf Clubhouse.

In 1976 a short history of the Club was placed in the Carrington Bicentennial capsule which was buried July fourth, and is to be opened in the year 2076.  The Club had a float in the Carrington Bicentennial Parade.  Several Club members purchased Bicentennial commemorative plates.

Harvey Sletten, former Carrington teacher and now the author of several books, was guest at the Club's Library Tea in April 1978, and again in 1980.  Club programs over the years have consisted of book reviews, travelogues, music, North Dakota history, study of other countries, conservation, family life, health, community problems and citizenship.

For many years the Club has given a spring tea or reception for the girls in the Senior Class of Carrington High School.  The Club members have had "Arthritis Breakfasts" to raise money for arthritis help.  The Club purchased furniture for the nurses' dining room of the new Carrington Hospital in 1956.  Donations over the years have been made to Care, Florence Crittendon Home, Children's Home, North Dakota State Hospital, sponsoring students to the International Music Camp, sponsorships to Camp Grassick, and to help restore the museum at the Statue of Liberty.

A number of members of the Club have reached positions of honor.  Some of these are: 
Mrs. O.W. McClusky was president of the State Federation.

Mrs. C.W. Burnham, corresponding secretary of the State Federation

Mrs. Farnham became a writer of short stories and children's books.

Mrs. James Morris was National president of the Legion Auxiliary.

Mrs. Louise Kelly was a painter; one of her canvasses hangs in the high school library.

Several members have served as Foster County Superintendent of Schools.

Edna Kelly, Historian
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Fine Arts Club

Fine Arts Club of Carrington which is a member of the Federated Clubs of America was organized on November 13, 1913 as a Homemakers Club with its first president being Mrs. W.E. Wheeler.  This club celebrated its 65th anniversary on November 20, 1978.  Women who have been members of the federated clubs over 50 years are: 

Edna Alme, 57 years

Ella Mae Hargrave, 56 years and
Anna Garland 55 years
During the past 65 years the Fine Arts Club has undertaken many projects for the betterment of their community including such projects as Child Welfare, Christmas lighting, raising funds for community buildings, as libraries and peace gardens, and more recently the beautification of the downtown area, also sponsoring girls for girl's state and students to music camps
They stress safety, mental health, crime control and control and cure of diseases.  For these projects they have received many certificates of proficiency.  The Fine Arts Club started a Milk Program in 1929 for the children in the lower grades.  Always interested in civic projects, the members assisted wherever there was need such as an eye clinic at the school, vaccination of children, etc.  One of the big events of the year was the Milk Fund Dance.

In one year the Club paid children one cent for every 10 flies caught and 10 cents for a pint of flies.  This soon depleted their funds, as dues in those years were 25 cents per member.  So they decided to give $1 for the most pints one child brought in.
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Westerners' Corral

The Chieftain Westerners' Corral was organized February 1979.  This was the first corral to be formed in the state.

The Westerners is an International organization based in Tuscon who have some 90 corrals located all over the world.  Their main interest is to gather together men and women who have an interest in Western history so they can meet socially and organize themselves into corrals which offer very high standard educational type Western history programs.

The corral meets every six weeks for refreshments and dinner.
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Masonic Lodge of Carrington

From what can be learned it appears as though there was a Masonic Lodge at either Carrington or Guptil, prior to the organization of the Carrington Lodge which now exists, but that the lodge lost its charter, and no records are now in existence at Carrington regarding it.

History of Aurora Lodge 56 A.F. and A.M. as given by Harold Kively, lodge historian, and William Harvey, only charter member available, is as follows: In the fall of 1899 some Masons talked about founding a lodge in Carrington; they assembled in what was known as the Buchanan Hall in December of that year.  The exact date is not recorded or known.  They kept no minutes, but their visitors' records show that the following Brethren were present at this informal meeting, and the following is what appears on the record: "Informal meeting of Masons in Carrington and vicinity, when petitions for dispensation were signed, afternoon of December 1899.''
The Buchanan Hall where these first meetings were held as the home of the Masonic Lodge until January 1, 1911 when they moved to their new home over the Galehouse Drug Store, where they have since continued to meet.

The lodge grew to a membership of two hundred and thirty‑five in 1920 but due to hard times it declined to 125 in 1937.

The lodge sponsors the High School oratorical contest each year here at Carrington, and also donated to the Florence Crittendon Home at Fargo.
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Holy Family Guest Home

Holy Family Guest Home, which is operated by the Presentation Sisters, opened its doors on May 25, 1964.  The Home is licensed for 38 beds by the North Dakota State Department of Health, for skilled and intermediate care.  The Home, a non‑profit institution is operated and owned by the Sisters of the Presentation of the Diocese of Fargo.

Holy Family serves all people regardless of race, color or creed, with 15 double rooms and 8 single rooms.  The rooms have modern furnishings, with sufficient space for each individual's belongings.  Each room has a nurse's call and intercom room telephone and paging system.

Holy Family is attached physically to Carrington Hospital.  When any resident needs hospitalization, he or she is transferred to a hospital bed.  Holy Family is served by three excellent doctors; it has about 35 full and part‑time workers.

The Activity Room is a busy place.  Presided over by an experienced activity director, the residents are engaged in doing woodwork, ceramics, sewing and other handiwork.

Volunteers work in many ways, including hairdressing, grooming for the residents and shopping trips with residents.

A great concern of the residents is the religious aspects of their lives.  The Chapel in the building is open to all and Catholic Services are held daily.  Ministers from the community take turns in holding services each Wednesday.

Residents are recognized as individuals who have ideas of their own about the Home operation.  A resident council has been organized for several years.  The group has a right to express its opinions, offer suggestions and enter into the planning of activities each month.
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Arts and Humanities Council

Arts and Humanities Council was organized in February of 1976 under the leadership of Rosemary Voglewede.  Most of the committee members had formerly been affiliated with the Community Betterment Contest in which Carrington had participated.

In addition to the Betterment contest, the Council has sponsored Art Shows, stage productions, including support of Foster Fantasy Factory, the local stage group.  It sponsored Arts in the Park for the young people in the community for one week in the summer time, as well as bringing art into the classroom by hosting guests to come to the schools.

The council is fully organized and incorporated so that it is qualified for grants and other gratuities from outside sources.
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Quarter Miler Racing, Inc.

Quarter Miler Racing Inc. was incorporated in June 1959 under the laws of the State of North Dakota with its principal offices in Carrington.

The purposes of the organization was to establish and unify racing enthusiasts in the state and to enter into National Racing competition, bringing races and racing cars into the area; to stress safety in driving and car construction, and to publicize the sport in the true light, showing the real picture of fellowship, craftsmanship, and ingenuity that can and does exist with racing everywhere.

Property was acquired north of Barlow along High way 281 where a track was set up and the Depot from Barlow was moved to the location to provide facilities necessary for the operations of the races.  Races were held for approximately ten years when it closed for lack of interest.

Officers and Directors were: 

Verdie Nelson, president - Carrington 

Calvin Bader, vice president - Carrington 

Richard Johnson, secretary - New Rockford 

Helmer Nelson, treasurer - Carrington 

Gordon Hanson, Director - Carrington 

V.F. Slayton, Director - Stanton 

Jack Rosenau, Director - Carrington 

Gilbert E. Norton, Director - Jamestown 

C.A. Johnson, Director - Jamestown
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Senior Citizens

In 1976 a group of volunteers got together to renovate a vacant building on Central Ave. S. to be used as a recreation and meeting center.

Members joined together every other Wednesday for a meeting which sometimes includes a potluck lunch.

One of the projects for the club is the Senior Citizens Band which was started in 1978 by Tillie Hoggarth and Esther Laughlin.  The band is somewhat patterned after the Melville Homemakers Kitchen band which existed several years ago.

The band is made up of various types of instruments, pipes, bellows, reeds, and many articles that are most often found in the kitchen.

Alvin Paulson, who plays the accordion, is "leader of the band."  He said he may have to settle for the harmonica, as his instrument seems to be getting heavier.  A strong back up for Al is Eldon Laughlin who is adept at playing the violin.  Myrtle Anderson, once pianist in Short's orchestra plays the piano in the band.

Esther Townsend is another accordion player and Thelma Rafferty chords on the piano at times.  She also plays the garden hose with funnel, the teakettle, kazoo or whatever is handy. 

Edythe Willyard plays the small glass washboard

May Willy, at 85 the oldest member of the band, plays the large brass washboard

Carl Pedersen beats the washtub
Ed Meyer is on the chimes which he made in his own shop, and also blows into the brown jug

Martha Lange handles the ebony sticks 
Clara Meyer manipulates the "karakas" and blows a small horn

Frances Welk shakes the plastic bottle with beans

Gladys Munson shakes and strikes the tambourine

Tilly Hoggarth performs with Tambourine and kazoo

Annie Haugen, bells

Esther Laughlin, chicken fryer lid with wooden spoon, coffee pot, kazoo or whatever is in reach.  

Toady Zimmerman once played the saxophone with the group, and his sister, Babe Malinski played the piano for a while.

The group besides having fun just practicing have performed for various organizations in the community.  It is truly an unusual band that really enjoyed themselves as well as providing entertainment for others.
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Foster County Historical Society

Groundwork for the establishment of the Foster County Historical Society was set at a meeting in March 1967.  Mrs. R.W. Hargrave was named temporary chairman, Mrs. Dorothy Quenemoen, acting secretary‑treasurer and Paul Black of Grace City, Historian.

The next meeting was held in September 1967.  Elected officers at this time were: 

Cliff Flegel, president, Paul Black, vice president

Mrs. Hargrave, secretary and 

Norton Bjorke, treasurer.

Aims and purposes of the organization were to preserve the historical facts concerning the county, collect and preserve artifacts, and preserve the historical sites in the county.

One project was to interview pioneers on tapes which then are filed for future generations.

Through the efforts of the society a building was constructed to house the various artifacts that were collected.  This was completed in 1974.

In 1976 Avolt Grager, Hugh Putnam, Tom White and John Schmid spent many hours of work toward beautifying the grounds.  High school students assisted by planting 1200 petunias.  A flagpole was a gift from Ernest Steinman and the flag was obtained through the efforts of Senator Young.

The museum is open on Sundays from two until five and other times by appointment.
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Library

It was 1900 that men of the city first felt the need for a library.  After an organization meeting, books from a traveling library were ordered and these were here for six months.  This plan was in operation for three years.

In 1902 the women's Library club organized and opened a library in the First National Bank room; later used the old courthouse.  In 1904 they moved to the W.H. Swinton home; from there to the Chaffee Flats.  Mrs. B.L. Russell was the first librarian and she served for eight years.  This library was in existence until 1916 when the present location was secured in the City Hall.  At first the library received small appropriations from the city each year.  Now through the library fund raised through tax levy, the library gets about $1,200 a year.

The Carrington library benefits from the Carnegie Institute's library program.  An International Mind Alcove of 100 books has been presented to the library and is consulted often by students and other people engaged in research of one type or another.

Children of the community are most numerous among the library's patrons.  The librarian, Mrs. Hargrave, credited Miss Edna Hallberg, local sixth grade teacher for arousing interest in books among young people.  Each year she directed her pupils to the library to obtain books for reviews.

There are many volumes covering art, poetry, fiction, science, government, and general reference work.

Librarians since city operated:

Miss Zerlina Eakin 

Mrs. Russel 

Edna Parker 

Lula Walton 

Mae Swinton 

Mrs. R.W. Hargraves 

Mrs. Blanche Stangeland
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Kiwanis Club

One of the smallest cities to get International Alliance, Carrington Kiwanis was organized May 23, 1923 and received its charter in September 1923.  New Rockford club received its charter at the same time.  Officers were: 

G.S. Newberry, president

J.C. Hoffert, vice‑prescient
Dr. J. Ross McKenzie, treasurer

The idea behind Kiwanis is that it is composed of representatives of business and professional men of the city in which it is located and may not have more than two members from any classification in business or profession in that city.  Its object is to encourage principles of fair dealing and practices and the observance of the "Golden Rule" in private, civic, social and business life.  Through its weekly lunch meetings a spirit of cooperation, good fellowship, fraternalism is developed among its members, while the science of business building and community development is part of the program.

They have strict observance of the luncheon hour 12:29 to 1: 30 p.m.

It has backed many worthy movements for the community.  One of the greatest achievements being the 4‑H Club organization which has resulted in the Foster County Junior Fair Association.  Other worthwhile moves were: Christmas baskets; inducing the North American Creamery to locate here instead of New Rockford; Armour Buying Agency to locate in Carrington; services to the underprivileged children seeing that they receive medical and hospital care; donating 200 books for the county school circulating library, Hawksnest Park; college scholarships; Senior Citizens Day, just to mention a few of the accomplishments of this group of men.
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Carrington Quarterback Club

The Carrington Quarterback Club was created in the fall of 1973 for the purpose of supporting sports activities in the community.  The original officers were: 
Neil Pederson, president

Merle Bauer, vice president

Thomas Paintner, secretary

Marvin Rathe, treasurer

Directors, Wayne Loosen, Gary Miller, and Marvin Scotland.

The first project was the purchase of the videotape machine.  The club donated $1000 to the school district for the purchase of the machine.  The remaining cost was picked up by the school district.  The machine was to be used for athletic and educational purposes.

Put up supplemental lighting system on the football field for $5,675 and $300 for a pitching machine for the baseball team.

Bicentennial Stadium‑ Stadium "76", loud speaking system for gym, set up track, new score clocks for school gym, signs advertising the state champions put up, other projects such as pep buses, "Big Bird" etc. to help promote the athletic program in Carrington.
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Golf Club

Plans for the existing Golf Course were first set into motion in September 1924 under the leadership of J.R. McKenzie.  Sixty acres of McCreary's pastureland were leased for five years on the southeast edge of town.  The greens were made of fine sand mixed with oil.  The course was approximately 2,600 yards long.  The distances between the holes were as follows: 461‑331‑196‑300‑273‑238‑240‑229‑262‑262.

Names of officers were: 
J.R. McKenzie, president

F.B. Peik, vice‑president

George A. Murphy, secretary‑treasurer

Board of directors C.C. Carnaham and George P. Collins
A clubhouse was added with several additions made throughout the years.  Various hazards were added too to make the game more interesting: In 1966 the sand greens were replaced by grass greens.

Membership in the club in 1982 was 135 active family members and 65 social members.  Both the men and ladies have an active organization holding meetings once a week during the season and conducting various tournaments.

The clubhouse facilities are also rented out to private groups for wedding receptions and other meetings.
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Boy Scouts

Independent, January 5, 1928

It was organized by the Congregational Church with 12 boys and the Methodist Church with 16.  

Membership was open to all boys that were interested.  There were plans for hikes to the Hawksnest area and Arrowwood Lake during the summers.  They learned the scout laws and instruction in the easier phases of camping life, woodcraft and other related arts.
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Half Way House

Owned by Mrs. W.Y. Quarton Independent, October 27, 1927

Before the Pingree‑Wilton branch of the Northern Pacific was built in 1900, the Quarton home, eight or ten miles southwest of Carrington was known as the "Half Way House'' where chilled and hungry travelers could stop on their way over the snow covered prairies for a dinner or a night's rest, and find a word of cheery welcome from its mistress.

Halfway between the town of Carrington and the Hawksnest Hills it was also used as an overnight stop by the Hawksnest farmers on their three‑day trips into Carrington.  Making the trip with horses and a sled, they would spend the night at the Half Way House, starting out early in the morning on the second lap of the trip into Carrington, returning late at night for a second stop before starting on the long drive back home.  In the summer the round trip across 40 miles of prairie could be made in a single day.
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Community Club

In December of 1914 a project was presented by E.P. Kelly of fixing up the building that was formerly occupied by the Courthouse.  The 50 x 80 basement floor was remodeled into a modern gym facility and also used for dances.  The second floor was fixed into an auditorium opera house with a sloping floor to seat about 500 people.  The building was also to contain a library, reading room and a farmers' rest room.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 251

Hospital and Homes Auxiliary

Hospital and Homes Auxiliary was organized March 1965 with:

Chairman, Mrs. R.H. Kyle, 
Mrs. Sherman Montgomery, vice‑president

Mrs. Claude Zweber, secretary and Mrs. J.H. Rusk, treasurer
Purpose of the organization is to set up various volunteers to perform such duties as hairdressing, writing letters, etc. that will aid in the comfort of the residents in the homes and the hospital.
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Red Cross

The Foster County Chapter of the Red Cross was organized the first time in 1898 with George Soliday as president.

On June 9, 1917 it was reorganized with Guy Cook, as chairman.  Many committees were set up with eight branch chairmen in the eight towns in the county.

Some of the committees were Military relief, Civilian Relief, propaganda, finance, and surgical dressings, as well as membership.  All these committees were active until the end of World War I.

Mrs. Putnam was in charge of surgical dressings and other clothing.  The following report was made: 721 sweaters, 3,211 pairs of socks, 218 mufflers, 30,472 pieces of surgical dressings were made and sent to the men in the service.  Old clothing was gathered and sent to the needy overseas.

A committee was set up to take care of any emergency that may arise among the civilians.  The organization continued to do its share during the recent decades whenever it was called upon to do so.
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King's Kids

King's Kids, a group of young people who enjoyed singing were organized in the spring of 1976 by the "kids" themselves.  It started from an idea of Doris Waggoner and Linda Doeling to bring the group of area young people from various denominations together to sing gospel songs.  They sang for more than 75 concerts until the group broke up and the members went away to different colleges.

They also cut a record called "A Quiet Time" which was put on sale.  There were seventeen singers in the group.  The group received special managerial help from Ron Waggoner as their gospel singing engagements took the group to many churches throughout the state.
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Shrine

The Mid‑State Shrine Club, which includes members from Foster, Eddy and Wells counties, is a part of El Zagel, one of the two temples organized in the southern half of North Dakota and part of Minnesota.  This club was started on December 17, 1962.

This Shriners club was originally started by Masons who wanted to get together for "the fun of it" but that turned out to be just part of the organization.  The Shrine is involved in raising money for Shrine‑operated crippled Children's hospitals, and three Shrine‑operated burn institutes.  Another project is to send the fifth grade students in the county to the Shrine Circus.  This project is looked forward to by the children when they reach the fifth grade.
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Women's Christian Temperance Union

W.C.T.U

W.C.T.U. was first organized in 1896.  Two ladies that were involved were Mrs. Annie Beatty and Mrs. Maude Smith.

It was reactivated in October 1927.  Mrs. Wilder from Fargo came to Carrington and delivered her organizing speech.  She said that the W.C.T.U. was not an organization whose sole purpose was to reform drunkards or hunt up blind pigs.  They also endowed child research bureaus, had departments of public health, one of social morality, child health centers, parent centers and an Americanization department, and it carried on foreign missionary work.
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Ancient Order of United Workmen

The fraternal organization known as the Ancient Order of United Workmen was first organized in the Carrington area in 1894.  The object of the organization was to bind together in a strong fraternal brotherhood and mutually protect workingmen and their families.  The order was open to all, rich or poor, high or low, what ever their vocation or calling, providing the applicant was of good moral character, capable of earning a living for himself and those dependent upon him, and provided he was between twenty‑one and forty‑five years of age.

The mission of the Workmen was to aid its members in sickness and distress; to unite man to man in a bond of fraternal brotherhood, and to pay to the widows, orphans of its deceased members the sum of two thousand dollars.
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Sons of Norway

Organized in March 1973, the Sons of Norway, Lodge 527 came into existence with 45 members who claimed ties to Norway.  Otis Dahl was chosen to head the new unit, with 

Eldo Lee, vice‑president 

Mrs. Val Berglund, social director

Kermit Skadberg, counselor

Mrs. Julia Noracker, financial secretary

A.K. Johnson, treasurer, and Norma Gussiaas, secretary
The basic principle of the fraternal organization is brotherly love and its motto is "Freedom, Fraternity and Progress".
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Carrington Commercial Club

Carrington Commercial Club was organized in January 1907 with these goals: to form a closer bond of friendship among its members, the citizens Carrington, to develop social qualities, promote good fellowship and secure the happiness which emanated from such endeavors, to promote the commercial and business interests of the city, to promote and advance the growth and welfare of the city, and so forth.

Officers for the first year were: 

A.C. Smith, president;
W.J. Doyle, vice‑president

G.S. Newberry, secretary and

N.E. Landeen, treasurer

One program that was presented was a paper on the question of a better farming expert for this county and levying a 1/2‑mill levy tax for supporting the expert.
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Women's Suffrage Club

Women's Suffrage Club was organized in March 1914 with the assistance of Mrs. M.M. Hopis of Fargo.  Named officers were: 

President Mrs. E.L. Goss, 

Vice‑president Mrs. Wallu

Secretary Mrs. W.E. Hoopes

Treasurer Mary J. Cain.
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Knights of Pythias

An organization of the Knights of Pythias was active in 1914 in Carrington.
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Community Club

An organization called the Community Club was in existence in 1913.  J.G. Reitsch was the president.
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Civic Club

A group calling themselves the Civic Club was meeting in 1914.  Mrs. Harry Page was the president.
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Mothers' Club

Organized in November 1913 Mrs. Willis Wheeler was the president.  The first meeting had a presentation of a paper on "Adenoids and Mouth Breathing" by Mrs. Craven.
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We Care Program

We Care Program, started in 1976, was sponsored by the 4‑H organization.  It was designed to involve young people in a wide range of activities from recycling papers and aluminum cans to educational tours and a foster grandparent program during the summer months. 

Some of the tours took them to the City water and pumping plant, Steinman Manufacturing Company, Weather Modification station, watching a sale at the Carrington Livestock Sales.  Some of the group was able to tour the Capitol, museum, and zoo in Bismarck in connection with the Foster County Social Services department. 

They sponsored a car wash, bike‑a‑thon, and bake Carrington Commercial Club sale to raise proceeds that were donated to the Medical Center fund.  Some of the money was used for a camping trip to Lake Juanita where the participants had an opportunity to water ski, swim, sing around a campfire and collect aluminum cans for recycling.

Calling themselves "Foster Friends" they spent some time at the Holy Family Guest Home visiting the "adopted" residents as grandparents and presenting a musical program for them.

Work was done in the city park, such as painting the bleachers, trashcans, bike rack, and back stop at the softball diamond.

A similar program was carried on involving young people from Glenfield, Sutton, McHenry and Binford areas.  This group raised funds that were donated to the Glenfield Lutheran Church building fund.
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Grand Army of the Republic

John A. Logan Post No. 25

The records show the "date of muster into the G.A.R. the following names in March 1888, which undoubtedly was the date that post was started. 

George Estabrook

John H. Robertson

Lewis C. Lischy

Thomas L. Edwards

A.M. Campbell

Alsfred C. Mayfield

George H. Hall

J.W. Birtsell

J. Lemert

L.L. Walton

C.C. Phelps

Ebenezer Burnham

Joseph G. Duff

E.T. Guptil

D.B. McClain

William Farquer

John X. Wilson

Hiram C. Warren

Andrew J. Heaton

William H. Flint

Adam Schroth

James King

James Haley

Norman J. King.

The above list completed the 24 veterans of the Civil War whose names are listed of the G.A.R. post.  Several others joined later but were not included with this list.
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School Days

School Days, 1924: 

(Front row)  Kenneth Rusley, Richard Hubbard, Harry Caylor, Clifton Johnson.  Jack Clark, unknown, Thomas Putnam, Calvin Irvin, Alan Trullinger

(Second row)  Geneva Trullinger, Frances VandeErv, Ruth O'Keefe, Clara Parker, Dorothy Cusick, Faye Hamel, LaVerna Olson, Zone Olson, Marian Morton, Virginia Galehouse, Marian Miller

(Back row)  Mike Catalano, Alvin Paulson, Jack Atkins, Ed Winterer, Gen Walker, Bruce Craven, unknown, Leta Reichert, Mae Hjellum, Erick Neilson.
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National Guard 

Carrington Company "F" 164 Infantry

By Wallace Emerson

It was during the fall and winter of 1921‑22.  Dr. J. Ross McKenzie, pioneer physician‑surgeon in Carrington at that time, had read a personal account of the proposed National Guard reorganization within the state.  McKenzie was a Major in the E.F. and believed that a National Guard Unit should be stationed in Carrington.  He swung into action with a petition of request which was signed by over 100 young men of the community.

Federal Recognition Ceremonies for Carrington Company "F" 164 Infantry was held in the high school gymnasium.  (A wooden structure that has since been demolished and was located on the present grade school block - it was often referred to as the sheep shed.)  The date was January 29, 1923.

The unit's first officers were all veterans and residents of the community: Captain George Beier, 1st Lt. Monroe Shenkel, and end.  Lt. Frank L. Putnam.

That's how it all started over 60 years ago but it's in times of war that the Unit is probably best remembered.

Carrington's Company "F" 164th Infantry was inducted into Federal Service on February 10, 1941 when the winds of war were drifting toward the United States.  Captain Harry Tenborg was in command of the unit and he, along with Sgt. Porter B. Hall, was the only remaining charter members of the original company.  I remember that the Carrington schools were dismissed so that they might attend the departure of the guard unit for what was to be a 30 to 60 day encampment at Camp Claborne, Louisiana.

The unit trained at Camp Claborne and participated in the Louisiana maneuvers and then they were selected from the 34th division by the Department of the Army to participate in the Carolina Mechanized Maneuvers as an infantry company assigned to a General Headquarters Experimental Tank Destroyer Group and the 30‑60 day encampment that had launched the whole thing had now stretched into a month of December, 1941.

The unit arrived back at Camp Claborne, following the Carolina Maneuvers, dog‑tired and listless.  It was December 6, 1941 and the next day the Japanese bombed Pearl Harbor.  The company was immediately ordered to Fort Ord, California for embarkation to the Philippine Islands, where the United States had lost control of the sea and air, however, the mission was cancelled and the company spent the next three months guarding railroad bridges and trestles in Montana and Idaho.  Many guardsmen avowed that this was plush duty . . . guarding bridges.  The work wasn't taxing and the chow was tremendous . . . and it was quiet and peaceful.

But it didn't last long.  Company "F" embarked for Australia on March 8, 1942 and arrived at Melbourne on April 6th.  From Australia the unit was transferred by a small ship to New Caledonia where it set up defenses and continued its training.

The "real show" began on October 8, 1942 for Company "F".  It was ordered to the island of Guadalcanal (which most of them hadn't heard of prior to World War II).  They were to reinforce the First Marine Division in its conquest of the island.  It was on Guadalcanal that the unit began to learn what war was all about.  They were plunged into jungle warfare and participated in the battles of Lunga River, Koh Point, and Point Crus.  The men of the unit were becoming as thin as sparrows and it wasn't Havery Nicholson's cooking that was causing the emaciation.  It was the hot, wet stinking climate and a thing called battle fatigue.

The small unit lost some of its men on Guadalcanal . . . Clarence D. Bonderud, James L. McCreary, Clyde G. Morgan, Arthur J. Hanat and Miles O. Shelley on Bougainville and Eugene A. DeBolt at Cebu City, Philippine Islands.

Before the War was over the unit had campaigns in Guadalcanal, Bougainville, Cebu, Leyte, and Arm Occupational Forces in Japan to their credit.

The company returned to the United States and was demobilized early in 1946 and was reorganized at Carrington on June 30, 1947 under the command of Alvin A. Paulson.  It was again called into Federal service on January 16, 1951 for the Korean Conflict.  It shipped to Camp Rucker, Alabama as part of the 164th Regiment where it became a training company.  Personnel of the 164th were utilized as replacements and of the 66 men assigned to Company "F" at the time 29 were sent to Korea, 6 to Japan, and 1 to Europe.  Losses during the Korean Conflict were Allen Hewitt, Robert O. Haugen, and James Clark.

It was converted and reorganized and redesignated Company "A", 142nd Engineer Battalion under the command of 1st Lt. Ernest Steinman on April 16, 1955.

The National Guard works on "helping hand" projects, such as assisting City, County, and park systems, to name a few.  It is a strong helping hand they have when it comes to heavy-duty equipment and manpower.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 254

Societies and Clubs in 1894

K of P‑ B.L. Russell and T.N. Putnam

G.A.R.‑ John A. Logan Post No. 25, A.M. Campbell, Commander

W.R.C.‑ Melissa Campbell and Fannie Durbrow

A.O.O.W.‑ D. Smith and William Cruchet Modern Woodmen‑ May 24, 1894

W.C.T.U., 1896‑ Mrs. Annie Beaty and Mrs. Maude Smith

Red Cross, 1898‑ George W. Soliday, president
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Clubs and Societies in 1900

Pioneer Club‑ Doc. 20, 1900, businessmen's club for the purpose of promoting commercial interests in the city.  S.S: Doyle, president, L.K. Estabrook, Secretary, and Ollie Robertson, treasurer

Boys Club‑ Boys between 8‑18

Philharmonic Club‑ organized October 17, 1907

Commercial Club‑ Organized January 31, 1907, A.S. Smith, president

"Entre Nous Club"‑ 1904, meeting at W.E. Hoopes

Young People Dancing Club‑ 1904, Pierce and Roberts of Lemert furnished the music.

Junior Dancing Club‑1904

Q.A.M. Dancing Club‑ 1908, Quit in the Morning.  Dances held at Buchanan Hall.

"40" and * or Boxcar Society‑1927 Lady Maccabees

Dramatic Club‑ put two or three plays on every winter.  They would take plays to Jamestown, New Rockford, and Sykeston.  Mrs. C.K. Wing was the traveling agent and main actress.  They bought the piano for the courthouse.

Moscovite Club‑1928

Homesteaders‑1914

Toastmasters‑ charter granted 1967‑ Robert Durbin club president.
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Band Mothers

Band Mothers was organized October 1937 with 33 members.  Throughout the years various projects were undertaken to raise funds to purchase equipment, uniforms, and instruments for the bands.

One project to raise money was a minstrel show called "Captain Harry's Showboat."  The money from this project was used to buy new uniforms.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 255

7th Cavalry Unit Company C

By Arnie Gilje Independent, November 24, 1982

Central North Dakota has an organization which gives members opportunity to relive history and to meet for training and recreation.  Referred to here is Company C., a Seventh Cavalry unit, which has a membership of 29 men and women from an area extending from Steele north to Perth.

Company C was organized under the direction of Cliff Flegel, back in 1968, and has been active ever since.  The purpose of the organization is to carry on in the tradition of Company C. of early days of Dakota.  It was this company, then of Devils Lake, with Captain Tom Custer as commander, which hit the trail from Devils Lake, up over Hawksnest and to Fort Lincoln, to join General George Custer and his company on the ill‑fated trek which ended with the Little Big Horn massacre.  That Company C was made up of young farmers eager for patriotic duty.

This unit has no official status in the military, it has no commission from the state governor, and it has no commitment to act in any emergency.  It is one of five units in North Dakota, Companies M, I, E, D and C.

The company meets on the second Tuesday of each month at the Eagles Club at New Rockford.  At their sessions the members practice drills with their horses and indulge in target practice using 45‑70 rifles.

Most of the members, both men and women, have horses of their own, their mounts being used in activities which are upholding the traditions of the Cavalry, which played an important role in the nation's earlier wars and uprisings.

Company C has a buggy for transporting nurse (female members) who don't have horses of their own.  There are also two horse‑drawn covered wagons for transporting supplies and ammunition.

The unit is very popular when it comes to parade time in the surrounding area.
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Carrington Hospital

(Horton)

The Carrington Hospital is a private, registered institution of three hundred and fifty stockholders.  It was chartered September 23, 1915.  It is a fireproof brick two‑story building with a capacity for 25 patients.  There are from five to eight registered nurses employed (1935).
First officers were: 

J.E. Galehouse, president

P.C. Petersen, vice‑president

W.H. Swinton, secretary

C.B. Craven, treasurer
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Degree of Honor

The Degree of Honor was organized December 11, 1898 by Kate Blewett of Jamestown.  The first presiding officer was Mrs. L.C. Cambell.  At the time of organization there were 35 members.  They would meet the first and third Monday except for the months of July and August.  This was strictly a social order with no insurance involvement.
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Foster Fantasy Factory

Under the leadership of Lynne Peterson and Pat Boyum, a group of people from the Carrington community gathered together February 22, 1977 at the City Library and formed an organization that was later named the Foster Fantasy Factory.

The purpose of the organization was to involve members of the community in the actual production of a play.  It was a sharing of work and ideas that parts were cast, sets built, costumes and props were accumulated, photos taken, lighting, publicity, ticket sales, babysitting services, and rehearsal arrangements were made.

All the jobs were done by volunteers from many walks of life and many different ideals and beliefs.  It was this involvement that made it possible to present four plays for the community to enjoy.  The sites for the performances were a dinner theatre at the Carrington Golf Club and other performances were presented at the Carrington Grade School.

The plays presented were: 
"The Drunkard", 1977

"Harvey", 1978

"Fantasticks", 1979 and
"Once Upon a Mattress" in 1980
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Central Performing Arts Concert Series

Interested persons from around the county joined together in January 1978 with the purpose of forming an organization that would be able to bring artistic talent to Carrington for concerts.  An affiliation was formed between this group and the Allied Concert Series from Minneapolis which was responsible for setting up the concerts and finding the talent.  The name chosen for the new organization was the Central Performing Arts Services.

Admission to the concerts was through membership only.  The talent was chosen from a list of performers that were available to go out on tour for a specified amount of money.  Some of the performers were: 
"St. Olaf's Orchestra", 
"Mennonite Children's Choir" from Winnipeg

A guitarist, Jorge Morel from Brazil

"Annapolis Brass Quintet", 
Kathy Kienzle, a harpist

Robert Guralnik in "Chopin Lives"
Barberi, a bass soloist

Jack and Sally Jenkins with a program from Gershwin

Jerome Kern

Cole Porter and others
The Central Performing Arts disbanded after the 1981 season mainly due to the high cost of getting the artists and the lack of people interested enough to buy membership.  The consensus of the people who attended the concerts was that it was a very rewarding experience to be able to attend concerts of this caliber.

The first officers were: 

Lucile Zink, president

Linda Butts, vice‑president

Mary Middleton, secretary

Dr. Ed Tuhy, treasurer.  There were 24 people that served as a board of directors.
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Homemaker Home Health Aides Service

Co‑sponsored by the Foster County Social Services department and the Lake Region District Health Unit at Devils Lake, the purpose of the Homemaker Home Health Aide service is to provide minimal care at home for families or individuals who need some assistance but who do not require or desire to enter a nursing or foster home for full time outside care.  All residents of Foster County who are in need of the service are eligible.

A Home Health Aide is a person who has completed two separate 40-1/2 hour courses at Bismarck, according to state regulations, to learn health aide skills and familiarize himself with the extent to which he can provide service in a client's home without overstepping the bounds of the authorized home care program.

After the completion of the course a person qualified in the program can provide services such as light housekeeping, doing laundry, childcare, shopping, preparation of meals and family nutrition and providing information about other community resources.

After completing the full 80 hours, Homemakers move into the category of Home Health Aides and are permitted to provide more personal and extensive services.  Home Health Aides may assist clients in home exercise programs (range of motion), give baths, plan nutrition, assist with walkers, canes or crutches, and provide specific health care and personal care services.

Part of the value of the program lies in the fact that it allows personal communication with visitors to those people who do not otherwise receive visitors, however, services go well beyond the benefits of social visits.

Funding for the program, begun in 1966, is provided through federal monies (75%) and state and county monies (25%).  Cost per client depends upon the number of people in the family, income level and ability to pay.

A service agreement and application are written up for each client, specifying the services that may be provided for that client.  Some service work constitutes nearly a full‑time job, while other commitments amount to only several mornings or afternoons a week.  Every client is visited at least once a week.  The maximum number of visits per week, under the program is three.
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Carrington Clowns

The first group of men to form the Carrington Clowns was organized in 1958 by Charley Yoder and Ken Wheeler under the sponsorship of the Carrington Fire Department.  The personnel at this time were Orvel Baldwin, Bob Durbin, Floyd Engbrecht, Laverne Kollman, and Percy Hambrick.

These fellows were later joined by Marvin Hoye, Ron Hambrick, Melvin Zaun, Harry Hicks, James Dunn, Ernie Steinman, and Forrest Bold.  These fellows performed around the state and at many state Firemen conventions.

Later Percy's Five-Spot took over the sponsorship of the group and their assignments increased to the Frontier Day Parade, as well as parades in other communities, School Carnival, and Santa Claus Day.

Rod's Sportsman Bar was the sponsor for the Clowns during the Bicentennial Celebration.  Performing at this parade were Rod and Joanne Baaken, 

Judy and Wilber Hoehn, Rueben Sebastian and Ron Hambrick
The present sponsor is the Five-Spot again.

The question comes out what is a clown?  A simple question, but it really has a complex answer.  It takes a special type of person to be a clown.  Someone who is willing to take time out from their work to put on silly looking outfits, spend time and energy covering themselves with some sticky, gooey, make‑up and then go out to entertain the public.  Besides entertaining, they usually have a more important function to perform.  If the assignment happens to be a rodeo, the clown is there to protect the riders of the animals from harm by diverting the attention of the animal from the person they have just thrown to themselves so that the rider may get to safety; thus putting their own lives in jeopardy.

What if the assignment is a parade?  Here too the clowns have another important job.  It is their function here to keep the crowd back so that none will get in the way of the vehicles in the parade and get hurt.  They also help to keep the parade moving, thus helping to provide a pleasant sight for the spectators.

Carrington has been fortunate, indeed to have this list of very special people that have done a great job for the community.
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Archers

A regulation archer course was set up in the old gravel pit one mile north of Carrington by Jim Smith and Jerry, Dwayne and Donald Miller in 1959.  Complying with regulation of the National Field Archers Association, they have built a 14-target course with their own time and funds.  The course was open for use by the public free of charge.

Targets range from 80 yards away to shorter distances.  Each has a bull's eye or a picture of an animal backed up by flax bales furnished by Bill Trecker.  Plans were made for an archery club.  Instructions were also given to anyone who was interested.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 258

Trapshooting Club

Trapshooting before the start of the hunting season is the aim of a newly formed non‑profit organization of Carrington men, August 1973.  Ground was broken for construction of trapshooting facilities behind the Fireside Inn north of the city.

Facilities being installed include a concrete apron and penalty lanes for five shooters, a small building for clay pigeon throwing equipment and bleachers for spectators.  The club is open twice a week.  Regular turkey shoots, ladies shoots, and shooting teams to represent the club in competition were formed.
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Veterans of Foreign Wars of the U.S. 

McCreary‑Bonderud Post No. 3524

The objects of the organization of the Veterans of

Foreign Wars are fraternal, patriotic, historical and educational.

To preserve and strengthen comradeship among its members; to assist worthy comrades to perpetuate the memory and history of our dead, and to assist their widows and orphans; to maintain true allegiance to the government of the U.S. of America, and fidelity to its constitution and laws; to foster patriotism; to maintain and extend the institutions of American freedom; and to preserve and defend the U.S. from all her enemies, whomever.

The McCreary‑Bonderud Post No. 3524 was instituted in January 1944.  The post was named after Lt. James L. McCreary and Lt. Clarence L. Bonderud who were the first two men to lose their lives in combat in World War II.  Lt. McCreary was killed by Japanese machine gun fire while trying to rescue one of his men who was wounded out in front of the front lines on Guadalcanal, November 4, 1942.  He was serving with "B" Company of the 164th Infantry.

Lt. Bonderud was killed with a direct bomb hit while sleeping in his tent on Guadalcanal, January 14, 1943.  He was serving with "K" Company, 164th Infantry.

At first the club met at the armory.  In August 1945 it was decided to start a club in the Pollman building basement, which now houses the Coast-to-Coast store.  The club was managed by Lyndin G. McCreary and James R. Smith as assistant manager.

In 1960 the lots where the present building stands were purchased from Marjorie Buchanan.  In February 1970 the club was moved to the new building that now stands.

On August 26, 1947 a charter was issued to Cootie Pup Tent No. 5 with 26 charter members.  The purpose of the Cooties is to assist the Post in membership and other activities deemed necessary and to entertain any Veterans that may be in the hospital.  Their motto is "Keep Em Smiling in Beds of White".

The first commander of the post was Harry R. Tenborg.  They received a perpetual charter February 3, 1975 with 26 life members.  This means that the post will never become defunct.  At present there are 64 life members.
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Veterans of Foreign Wars 

McCreary‑Bonderud Post No. 3524

Auxiliary

The Ladies Auxiliary to the Veterans of Foreign Wars was instituted April 12, 1945 with ninety‑two charter members.  Instituting officer was Myrtle Burton, District president.

Meetings are held once a month at the V.F.W. Hall in Carrington, the fourth Tuesday of each month.  The organization belongs to District 7 of the North Dakota V.F.W. Auxiliary.

To be eligible for the Auxiliary one must be a mother, wife, widow, sister or half‑sister, daughter, foster daughter, grandmother, or granddaughter, a citizen of the United States of America, not less than 16 years of age and join on the veteran who has served in the Armed Forces of the United States, whose service therein entitled him to a Campaign Badge issued by the government of the United States, and who had foreign service in time of war or during a campaign or expedition of the Armed Forces of the United States for which a campaign badge has been authorized and who are in possession or entitled to an honorable discharge.

The objects of the organization are fraternal, patriotic, historical and educational and to assist the Post members and their families and its own members whenever possible.  The work is for the welfare of all veterans and their families.  Special attention is paid to those veterans who are hospitalized in the Veterans' Hospitals and who are confined to their homes through illness or disabilities.

The Annual Buddy Poppy sales are held to further the program for help to these veterans.  Forget‑me-nots for the Disabled Veterans are also sold.  The organization believes in helping the living by remembering those who have given their all in defense of their country.  It is also concerned with other community activities.
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American Legion

John Raymond O'Hara Post No. 25

The American Legion was founded March 15‑17, 1919 at a meeting in Paris, France, attended by representatives of the various outfits of the American Expeditionary Force of World War I.  The organization has since opened its ranks to veterans of World War II, the Korean War, and the Vietnam War.

Membership in the American Legion gives the veteran an opportunity to respond to the needs of the community, state and nation through the Legion's many and varied programs.

The Legion sponsors such local programs as Legion baseball, Boys State, Girls State, and International Band Camp.

American Legion

John Raymond O'Hara Post No. 25

John Raymond O'Hara Post No. 25 of the American Legion was organized June 19, 1919 with 40 members being signed up.

Auxiliary Post

May 11, 1920 a group of 30 ladies met to organize the Auxiliary.  Mrs. T.N. Putnam was elected president.  They received their charter May 22, 1922.

Some of the projects carried out through the years were: Flowers for the graves on Decoration Day; Poppy Day; banquet for veterans and members; sent boxes and other gifts to veterans' hospitals; learned flag etiquette and parliamentary drill works; tree planting project; Washington essay contest in schools.

Made wreaths for Memorial Day; supported delegates to Boys State and Girls State; grave markers; first aid classes; blood donor clinic; storytelling hour for children; polio drive; remembered Gold Star Mothers on Mothers Day; donation for band uniforms; made favors for nursing homes; donation to International Music Camp; flags were given to the schools.
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Chamber of Commerce

On January 23, 1963 a group of business and professional people gathered in the community room of the Foster County State Bank and learned what a Chamber of Commerce was, how it worked, and a decision was made to form such an organization in Carrington.

T.A. Roney was instrumental in the organization of Carrington, and was elected the first president.  He launched the action needed by polling the needs of the Community and then organizing committees to work towards fulfillment of those needs.

Some of the projects were to update travel guide pamphlets on the things to see and do in Carrington.  Also a guide was published to be given to prospective newcomers to the city to help them to locate here.  The Chamber established various projects to encourage people to shop in town.  One of the latest projects is the formation of a Youth Council that is responsible for setting up a facility as a Youth Center for the community.  They are also arranging a schedule for the use of the gyms in town for intramural games and other activities.

Junior Chamber of Commerce
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Jaycees

Incorporated in June 1938 when a group of young men joined together to form an organization called the Junior Chamber of Commerce.  The purpose of the organization is to provide the younger business and professional men of the city of Carrington a medium for training in citizenship and Chamber of Commerce work, to promote the civic, industrial, and educational activities of the community, to secure and disseminate accurate information relating to legislation, to cooperate with other civic organizations of the City of Carrington in advancing a program of usefulness to the city, state, and nation.

Paul S. Cruchet was elected the first president.  This organization received its charter from the North Dakota Junior Chamber of Commerce on April 25, 1940.  There were 54 charter members at this time.

Throughout the years various projects were carried out to make Carrington and surrounding area a better place in which to live.

Some of these projects were trade promotion days, clean‑up and paint‑up, Boy Scout program, holiday lighting program, contributing toward purchase of flood lights for football field, athletic banquet, Dairy Days, Teenage Road‑e‑o, polio clinic, civil defense unit, beautification committee, Farmers‑Businessmen picnic, 75th Jubilee, bingo at the Fair, Halloween party for kids, baby chick project for 4‑H members, free shows for the kids, atomic energy exhibit, sponsor for Girls State and Boys State, swimming pool, Rainbow Rollercade.

Legion Auxiliary, date not mentioned on photo, (from left): Morton, (71 Penning, Luverne Olson, Latee Mae Suckut, Zone Mae Eleanor Johnson, Helen Schutt, Jean Wheeler, Guy Cook, Marjorie Olson, (7), Virginia Galehouse, Frances Van de Erve, Jean Swinton.

Patient lift for the hospital, Cub baseball, Flying Farmer Convention, disposal cans on Main Street, Junior Bowling League, Name the home contest, "Golden Acres Manor", Frontier Days.

In 1959 the name was changed from Junior Chamber of Commerce to the Jaycees.  The ladies formed an organization known as the Jayceettes on April 9, 1959.  Joanne Garland was named president.  These ladies were involved in helping the men with many of their projects.

Both organizations are still active in Carrington and are lending their efforts to make Carrington better in any way they can.
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Bowling Associations

Bowling became more popular in Carrington with the remodeling of the building known as Tommy's Tavern in 1938.  Before this time the lanes were located in the east half of the building and the tavern was on the west half.

In June 1938 the building was lengthened to a full 140 feet to provide space for four alleys.  The new alleys were sound‑proof with noiseless ball returns and automatic pinsetters.  Leagues for men and women were formed and the alleys were kept pretty busy.

In 1951 the women joined the Women's International Bowling Congress and the North Dakota Women's Bowling Association.

Steve Wenaas built a new bowling center on Main Street in 1958 with the lanes in operation the fall of 1959.  He boasted of six new lanes and later added two more lanes, automatic pinsetters, tele-scores, subway ball returns, and a lunch counter.

When the women organized that fall they had enough women to form two leagues of eight teams each; one bowled at 7 o'clock and one at 9 o'clock on Thursday nights.

In 1962 the women decided to form one league of 16 teams bowling alternating shifts at 7 and 9 o'clock.

A new league called the Tuesday Nighters was formed September 12, 1967 under the direction of Lucile Zink.  Officers elected were 

Verney Jorgenson, president

Joan Thompson, vice president

Lorrice Edwardson, secretary

Mary T. Carr, treasurer

Connie Danielson, Sgt.‑at‑arms.

These leagues are going strong in 1982.
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Carrington‑New Rockford Area Music Club

Music has played an important role in the lives of the residents in Foster County throughout the years.  The inspiration for the present music club was brought back from the state of Washington by Mrs. Arthur C. Anderson in 1951.  During a visit with her sister, she attended a concert that was sponsored by an organization called the "Tri‑City Music Club".  Her thoughts were, "Since Carrington and New Rockford were such fierce rivals in sports, it might be a good idea to combine the two cities in a peaceful, common interest, MUSIC."  She went on in her thoughts that a logical choice for a director would be Mrs. Harry (Margry) Knott, a Carrington music teacher and director of the Federated Church choir.  Mrs. Anderson contacted her and the ladies set in motion the organization of the Carrington‑New Rockford Music Club.  They invited ladies who would like to sing just for the "fun of singing" to join.

About a dozen ladies from each town responded.  Monthly meetings were held mostly at Director Knott's home with members providing lunch, with lunch money going to purchase sheet music.  The first intention of the meetings was just to have fun and fellowship through singing, but soon the group was asked to perform for many organizations in the two towns and surrounding areas.

As the club grew to include the neighboring towns of Cathay, Grace City, McHenry, and Glenfield, the name was changed to the Carrington‑New Rockford Area Federated Music Club.  At the present time it is serving the communities in giving of time and talent in various ways including the Christmas Carol Festival, Easter Cantatas, and other musicals with money being received used for scholarships for students attending the International Peace Gardens Music Camp.  They also perform formal and informal concerts for community and church groups, retirement homes and the senior citizens group.

Accompanists have been: 

Mrs. Lloyd Beardsley, New Rockford

Mrs. Russell Andrews, Carrington

Mrs. Albert Haas, New Rockford

Mrs. Arthur Johnson, Carrington and 
Mrs. Albert Reddig, Cathay

Directors were Mrs. Harry Knott, Mrs. Darrell Otto, Mrs. William Starke, and Mrs. Howard Olson.
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Daughter of the American Revolution

DAR

Organized October 25, 1923 with 16 charter members, the organization called the Daughters of the American Revolution (DAR) came into existence.  To be eligible to join, a prospective member had to furnish indisputable proof that she was a direct descendant of a Revolutionary solider whose record she had available.

The Carrington Chapter was organized by Mrs. Ralph Hall and was one of eight chapters in the state.  One of the principles of the organization was to educate young people to love their country, honor their flag, support the Constitution and to defend it against all enemies.

One of the cherished awards given by DAR was to the high school girl who was outstanding in history.

It was called "The Good Citizen Award."  For the first few years the winner was given a trip to Washington, D.C.  Later that was changed to a $100 certificate.

The group disbanded after a few years as a number of the members had passed away and many of the others had moved away.
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Order of the Eastern Star

Ruth Chapter No. 40

On Friday evening, March 13th, 1903, a group of some 20 wives and brother Masons met in the Masonic Lodge Rooms in the old Buchanan store building.  The purpose of this meeting was to organize a Chapter of the Order of the Eastern Star, the first chapter to be organized in Carrington.

The Chapter was informally opened by Most Worthy Grand Patron D.C. Moore.  The obligation was administered by him upon 

Sister Clara B. Putnam

Mae Green

Georgiana Barnes

Margaret Smith

Mae Cousins

Elizabeth Bill

Clara Burfield

Cora Haven

Mae Craven

Eliza Tillson

Lizzie Reichert

Eliza Horney

Brothers C.E. Tillson

A.F. Barnes

William Homey

Robert Haven

C.D.U. Lewis

B.M. Burfield

C.C. Chaffee and 

Carl B. Craven.

The work was conferred in full upon Brother F.A. Cousins by the Most Worthy Grand Patron D.C. Moore, who then declared Ruth Chapter No. 40, under dispensation, duly instituted and organized.

On October 14, 1903 the Chapter of Ruth Chapter No. 40 was read and the following officers elected.

The first officers of Ruth Chapter were:

	Worthy Matron 
	Clara B. Putnam

	Worthy Patron 
	C.E. Tillson

	Assoc. Matron
	Mae Green

	 secretary
	C.B. Craven

	 treasurer
	Mae Cousins

	Conductress 
	Georgiana Barnes

	Assoc. Cond
	Margaret Smith

	Chaplain
	A.F. Barnes

	Adah
	Mae Craven

	Ruth
	Eliza Tillson

	Esther
	Clara Chaffee

	Martha
	Lizzie Reichert

	Electa 
	Eliza Horney

	Warder
	Elizabeth Bill

	Sentinel
	W.M. Homey


In 1911 the meetings were held in the new hall which was located on Main Street over the Galehouse Drug Company and the First National Bank.  This continued to be their meeting place until late in 1949.  In 1949 the present building was built which is the Masonic Temple at 82 Central Ave. N.  The building was completed in time to start the new year 1950 in this location.
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Other Organizations

Farm Bureau 

Republicans 

Democrats 

Horticultural Society

Carrington Coin Club 

TOPS 

Weight Watchers 

Retired Teachers
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First Resident Here is Dead at Age of 87

H. A. Soliday, First to Locate at Carrington, Expired Friday Morning Last

HELD MANY UNSOUGHT OFFICES IN COUNTY

During 41 Years in City, He Had Much to Do With Development of the County
First Settler, Landlord, Building Owner Passes

After an illness that started last October and from which he slowly grew weaker during the winter, H. A. Soliday, first resident of Carrington, passed away Friday morning at 7:30.  Thus ended a life that will always be revered at Carrington and in Foster County where Mr. Soliday has passed 41 of the 87 years of his life.  He had always enjoyed the best of health, physically and mentally, but during the past few months the active machine had been wearing out. 

The funeral was held from the home Sunday afternoon and was largely attended, the floral tributes from old time friends being numerous and beautiful.  The service was in charge of Rev. William Preston Kelts of the Congregational church who was assisted by Rev. W. L. Bennett, of the Methodist church.  Sylvania claimed him a native son, his Pennsylvania, where they were reared 

Helped to Build City

Carrington's development is attributed in notable measure to the efforts of Judge H. A. Soliday, who along many lines on substantial improvement has aided in the building of the city which justly accounted him one of its foremost and honored residents.  Pennsylvania claimed him a native son his birth having occurred in Williamsburg, Blair County, that state, on the 27th of February 1816.  His parents, Abraham and Catherine Soliday, were natives of Pennsylvania, which they were reared and married, and about 1846, they moved to Wayne County, Ohio.  The father I was a, millwright by trade and followed that pursuit throughout his active life.  He and his wife continued their residence in Ohio until called to the home beyond.  Judge Soliday was reared under the parental roof and pursued his education in the public schools of Wayne County.  In his youthful days he learned the millwright's trade under the direction of his father and was associated with him in the contracting and milling business for several years. 

Came Here in 1882

In 1861 he turned his attention to merchandising in Doylestown, Ohio, and subsequently he transferred his business operations to Akron, Ohio, while later he became a merchant of Canton, Ohio, there remaining until 1882, when he moved to North Dakota and settled in Carrington at the time of the building of the railroad.  The town was platted but there were no buildings completed and Judge Soliday erected the first store building in the new town.  As the settlers were coming in large numbers, however, and there was no I place to shelter them, he allowed his store to be used by them and supplied meals to them for some time.  Subsequently he converted his store into a hotel, but did this only as a temporary expedient toward the exigencies of the case.  In 1883, he filed on a homestead adjoining the townsite and proved up on that property.

Landlord of First Hotel

In 1834 after the new Kirkwood hotel was built by the townsite company, he was induced after much persuasion to take charge and conduct the hotel, which was turned over to him free of rent.  He carried on the business for five years and thus was an active figure in hotel circles during the early days of the town's developments.

Two Children Survive

The first flourmill of Carrington was erected, by Judge Soliday, C. H. Davidson and G. T.  Farnham, but soon afterward they sold the property.

In 1890 Judge Soliday established a store and for the succeeding fifteen years was prominently identified with the commercial interests of Carrington, conducting a growing and profitable business.  In 1905 he disposed of his mercantile interests and has since given his attention to the supervising of his real estate investments.

In 1860 Judge Soliday was united in, marriage to Miss Sarah Anna Galehouse, of Wayne county, Ohio, by whom he had four children, two of whom survive, George W. of Seattle Washington, and Jessie A., the wife of Dr. J. R. Mackenzie.

In politics Judge Soliday has been a staunch Republican since the organization of the party.  He did not have a vote, however, until the campaign of 1860 when Abraham Lincoln was the presidential nominee, far whom he cast his first vote. 

Helped Build Court House

He was a member of the first board of county commissioners which was regularly elected in Foster County and was chosen chairman of the board which built the first courthouse.  On organization of the county he was appointed the first county, judge and he was also appointed by Governor Miller a member of the board of regents of the state penitentiary.  However, he has never been an office seeker and all of his political preferments have come to him unsought.  By nature he was honest and upright, gracious, tender, sympathetic and kind to all.  His vigor and mental keenness were remarkable to the last.

"While the snows of winter were on his head,

The flowers, of spring were in his heart."
There is an old age that grows stronger and better mentally and morally as the years go on and gives out of the rich stores of its wisdom and experience for the benefit of others, and such has been the record of Judge Soliday.  He knows every phase of Foster county developments and up building and in the work of progress and improvement has indeed borne a helpful part.  "His house was set in order when the summons came to him Friday morning, April 13th at 7:30, and his spirit passed peacefully on as was his wish to join that of the beloved wife and mother, who had preceded him four years and a half ago. 
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Eastman Township

By Agnes Lipetzky

The landscape in Eastman Township is farmland which is partly level and some rolling or hilly, which drains into the Sheyenne River.  There are no gullies, lakes or railroads in this area.

On August 17, 1906 there was a special township meeting held at the Syverson School House which was located on Northwest 1/4 Section 26‑145‑62 in Eastman township, Foster County, North Dakota The meeting was called to order by A.J. Gorthy as acting chairman and E.A. Buss was chosen clerk of the meeting.  August G. Brockmeyer, H.P. Fugelstad and Henry Larson were chosen judges.  A.L. Ede was chosen moderator of the meeting.  The moderator specified the purpose of this meeting.  Thirty-four voters signed a petition asking to be established as a civil township.  Nine voted the township be called Jones and twenty‑four that it would be named Eastman.  The first homesteaders in Eastman Township came from the town of Eastman, County of Crawford, State of Wisconsin, so we think this is why they chose this name.  Also, the schools had been called Eastman.  Election of officers was held: 
A.G. Brockmeyer for supervisor until March 1907
A.L. Ede for supervisor until March 1908
A.J. Gorthy for supervisor until March 1909 
E.A. Buss for clerk until March 1907 (He held this job until the fall of 1942 at which time he sold his land and moved from the township) 
H.E. Flewell and Falk Larson as Justice of the Peace until March 1908. 
Christ Nilson and C.M. Posey as Constable until March 1908. 
It was designated that there would be three places for the posting of the legal notices: 
1. Cenery of the south side of Section 34‑145‑62

South west corner of Section 23‑145‑62 and 
2. southwest corner of Section 19‑145‑62
On March 19, 1907, J. H. Hutchinson was elected as supervisor for the three years.  S.M. Posey was elected treasurer, Martin McWethy was elected assessor.  Falk Larson and John Johnson as overseer of highways.  These were new offices except for the supervisors.  It was decided at this meeting to divide the township into two districts through the center being divided north and south.  Thus the east side being District No. 1 and the west side District No. 2.  At this time it was decided to levy a road and school fund.  Commissioner of Conciliation was Ira Hays, H. Fuglestad, Roy Bemis and F. Larson.

On March 26, 1907 a meeting was held at the home of the township clerk.  It was determined that the bond to township officers be ordered.  There were forty‑eight voters (all men) in the township at this time.  The pay for one day's service (sitting at election) was $2 and $3.50 for taking poll books and ballot box key to Carrington.

July 1, 1907 the Eastman Township board met with the Griggs County board and divided the county line.

June 20, 1908‑ Eastman and Glenfield township boards met and divided the line.

June 27, 1908‑ Eastman and Corrine Township line (which is a county line) was established.

April 29, 1933‑ The boards of McKinnon and Eastman townships met and divided the township line.  (Thomas Hutchinson, chairman)  Also decided Eastman would maintain the north three miles and McKinnon the south three miles.

On September 14, 1907 the board selected three jury members.  They were Heunick Larson, William Pierce, and William Beach.

In March 1909 the annual meeting was held at the Bemis schoolhouse.  At this time the board appointed a postmaster which was John Hendrickson.  On June 13, 1911 the supervisors employed the county surveyor, William Heinemiller to establish the south line on Section 27.

July 14, 1911‑ Some section corners were located and marked by placing rocks and stakes by E.A. Buss and J.H. Hutchinson and witnessed by Anton Johnson and Chs. Thompson.  (Section 6‑145‑62 and Southwest corner of Section)

In March 1913 the township started to help support a welfare patient.

July 6, 1914‑ We granted a franchise to the McKinley Rural Telephone Company to build a line of telephones in Eastman Township.  Poles to be placed thirty‑three feet out from section lines.

March 17, 1914‑ Road districts were established.

June 23, 1914‑ E.A. Buss and Martin McWethy located government stakes on Southeast corner of section 10 and placed a gray granite stone on all corners, also on Section 22.

In the summer of 1914 many sections were staked out.  On June 30, 1915 they staked out the Southeast corner of section 29 and on July 1, 1915 they did the Southwest corner of section 19.  Then the last recording was done on July 17, 1917 which was Northeast corner of Section 14.

In March 1928 it was voted on whether to purchase a building for a town hall.  They decided to use the Kienast schoolhouse which is Eastman school, District No. 2.  The county road crew built six miles of road on the south side of section 20.  This was a township and county road.

Whitney Tucker was appointed clerk in February 1943.

The historic site in the township is the Eastman schoolhouse No. 2 and the cemetery located on Section 14‑145‑62.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 268

The Eastman Cemetery

The first records of Eastman Cemetery are of May 6, 1903.  W.W. Bemis and wife Ella, Levina Syverson, and Christ Olson were trustees of the Eastman Free Methodist Church and Cemetery, which covered about three acres. 

The oldest graves in the cemetery are: Walter Olson, 1895 and Ethel Syverson, 1898. 

The following names appear on the stones: 

Johnsons

Syversons

Bonds
Erlandsons

Klimpel

Hutchinsons

Councilman

Ozora

Bemis

Andersons

Olsons

Poseys

Hendricksons

Ericksons

Pramhuss

Zelthas

Gorthy

Hopwoods

Palm

Willow

Allen

Tracy

Walker

Fread and 

Harby 

On April 27, 1944, the church was sold to Louis Anderson.  This church is in use today known as the St. Peter and Paul Catholic Church in McHenry.  (A storm had taken their other church.)  The parsonage was sold to Bill Johnson on May 5, 1944.  The cemetery is in use as of today and well kept up.
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Eastman Schools

Eastman school district was organized on July 12, 1885 by William Farquer, county superintendent of school with the following named persons as school officers: 
Clerk, William Jones, 
Director Posey, 
Treasurer Leon Syverson until June 30, 1886 for District No. 1
S.M. Posey deeded three acres more or less, which was a part of Southwest 1/4, Section 27‑145‑62.  The deed was drawn up on December 30, 1898.  The first records we could find showed: 
S.M. Posey, treasurer on June 30, 1900. 
Teachers could have been S.M. Posey, Bell Maner, Gracey Welles, Alida Olson, and Myrtle Smith. 
There were only three schools in the township.  They were the Hutchinson, Syverson and Bemis schools. 
The Hutchinson school which was located on Section 2 was moved onto Section 20 in 1924 and was known as Eastman School District No. 2. (Better known as the Kienast School).  This school is being used as the town hall.

The Syverson School was located on Section 27.  This school was moved to Section 26 when the district was reorganized.  It was moved to Glenfield for a shop room. 
The Bemis School was closed many years before.  This school was moved to S. Olson's farm and used as a granary. 
Eastman closed its school in 1960.  Some of the students went to Kensal and some went to Glenfield.  This was due to school reorganization.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 270

Eastman Township - 1982

The people living in Eastman Township in 1982 are: 

Roy and Agnes Lipetzky and family
Herman Hockert, Craig and Bonnie Hoggarth and family

Gorden and Patty Lampert and family

Edna Hoggarth

Leon and Mel O Dee Blakke

Brent and Janice Anderson and family

Vernon and LaVonne Anderson and family

Roy and Vivian Anderson

DeWayne and Elna Anderson and girls

Steve and Jean Fors

Milton and Verna Walen

Douglas and Bernice Anderson and girls

Wayne and Diane Anderson and family and 

Karl and Dandrea Huss and girls
The Eastman Township Officers in 1982 are:

Supervisors Brent Anderson, Milton Walen, Roger Hoggarth

Clerk, Gorden Lampert, Jr. 

Treasurer Agnes Lipetzky

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 270

Eastman Township Survey Report

Eastman Township was surveyed by Charles Schott and E.S. Sturvevant in 1882.  The south line was established in 1873 by George G. Beardsley.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 270

Eastman Township was surveyed by Charles Schott and E.S. Sturvevant in 1882.  The south line was established in 1873 by George G. Beardsley.

People living in the township when it was surveyed were:

	Loren Syverson
	 Northwest 26

	Dennis Syverson
	 Southwest 26

	Joseph E. Clark
	 Southwest 26

	W.A. Williams
	 Northwest 34

	W.J. Syverson
	 Southwest 34

	Daniel Syverson
	 Northeast 34

	S. Syverson
	 Southeast 34.


The total number of acres in Eastman Township is 23,034.56 acres.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 270

Eastman Township Land Acquisition 

Eastman Township 145‑62

	Year and Name 
	Section 

	1886
	

	Stephen M. Posey
	34 

	
	

	1889
	

	William Syverson
	34

	
	

	1890
	

	John Posey
	28 

	Sarah Jones 
	32 

	Amanda Hunter
	34

	
	

	1892
	

	William Johnson 
	2 

	Stephen Posey
	28 

	Arthur Edgecomb
	30 

	William Jones 
	32

	
	

	1893
	

	Christoffer Olson
	 14 

	Edward McKinnon 
	 14 

	Sophie E. Johns 
	18 

	Adrian Larson
	24 

	Loren Syverson
	 26 

	William Jones 
	32

	
	

	1894
	

	Charles E. Jones 
	 6 

	Loren Syverson
	26

	William A. Bond
	26 

	Hegekish Morterson
	28 

	William Syverson
	

	
	

	1897
	

	Emaline Posey
	 28 

	Nathanial P. Hatch
	

	
	

	1898
	

	William Watson
	 2 

	George Young 
	 4 

	John Hutchinson
	 6 

	John Nihill
	6 

	Anders Person
	 10 

	Per O. Ostland
	10 

	William Grussa
	 12 

	Danile Ohnmier
	22 

	John P. Larson
	 24

	
	

	1898
	

	Henrick Larson
	 24

	
	

	1899
	

	Thomas Moore
	 2

	Frederick Grauser
	 12

	Hans Hanson
	 14

	Frank W. Lawrence 
	18

	Ellen F, Miller
	 20

	Malcolm Turner
	20

	Emil Elton
	 22

	Samuel J. Turner 
	 22

	
	

	1900
	

	Christ Nilson
	 2

	Mary Roaldson
	8

	Edwin Wright
	20

	Hans Fuglstad
	

	
	

	1901
	

	Frank E. Peterson
	

	Isabella Moore
	

	Nils P. Fuglstad
	

	
	

	1902
	

	Nils Nilson
	 8

	Charley Hendrickson
	

	Wallace Bemis
	

	
	

	1903
	

	John Johnson 
	 8

	Frank Clark 
	 8

	
	

	1904
	

	William Jones 
	32

	
	

	1905
	

	Thomas H. Richarson
	 4

	William Pierce 
	 6
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Eastman Township Land Ownership in 1910 and 1980

Township 145-62

	Section
	1910
	1980

	1
	North Dakota Land & Trust Company
H.W. Tucker
K.A. Knutson
	Bruce Goplen
Donald Retzlaff
Ernest Walen

	2
	Francis A. Kellogg
Christ Nilson
Thomas Moore Est.
	Minnie LaMotte
Ruth Anderson
Kermit Olson

	3

	Hammer & Condy
William Howarth
Christ Nilson
	Milton Walen
Robert Johnson
Ruth Anderson

	4
	George Young
Frank E. Peterson
	Marian Peterson


	5
	John Hutchinson
Gustave Johnson
Carl Erickson
	Wilmar Johnson
Gust Erickson
Barton J. Johnson

	6
	William Pierce
John Hutchinson
	Gust Erickson
Herman Johnson

	7
	John Nihill

	Gust Erickson
Leon Hoggarth

	8
	Mary Ronaldson
John Johnson
Nils Nilson
	Lawrence Utke Trust
Rose Loder
Lester Anderson

	9
	John Johnson
W.W. Bemis
Geo. Young
John Hendrickson
	Lawrence Utke Trust
LeRoy Johnson
Marian Peterson
Douglas A. Anderson

	10
	Hammer & Condy
Joe Hendrickson
J.H. Hutchinson
	Robert Johnson
Arnold McDaniel
Minnie Alley

	11
	Christ Nilson


	Wayne Anderson
Richard Anderson
Douglas A. Anderson

	12
	M. Kirkeby
Christopher Olson
Martin Wethry

	Mildred Kirkeby
Milton Walen
Stanley Kirkeby
Kermit A. Olson

	13
	Christopher Olson
John W. Firo
	Vernon Kirkeby
Marian Peterson

	14
	G.W. Bemis
W.W. Bemis
Christopher Olson
	Judy Zimprich
Leonard Anderson
Vernon Kirkeby

	15
	H.N. Tucker
Maynard & Ames
	Joan Anerson


	16
	S.F. Sherman
August Brockmeyer
	Arthur Olson
Craig Hoggarth

	17
	William Jones
Kensal Imp. Company
E.A. Buss
	LeRoy Loder
Donald Fors
Verne Hoggarth

	18
	John Nihill
William Jones
	Roy Lipetzky
Gorden Lampert

	19
	D.C. Clancy
E.P. Wells

	Vern Hoggarth
Herman Hockert
Robert Hoggarth

	20
	D.C. Clancy
Emma E. Buss
E.A. Buss
	May Jane Smith
Gordon Lampert
Verne Hoggarth

	21
	E.A. Buss
S.M. Posey
Maynard & Ames
	Verne Hoggarth
Leonard Anderson
Milton Walen

	22
	Maynard & Ames
S.M. Posey
Nils P. Fuglstad
Loren Syverson
	Joan Anderson
Milton Walen



	23
	W.W. Bemis
Loren Syverson
	Robert Bailey
Roy Anderson

	24
	John P. Larson
Hendrick Larson
A.F. Larson
	Robert Bailey
Roy Anderson


	25
	Hendrick Larson
A.L. Ede
A.F. Larson
Otto Thorsgaard
	Leonard Anderson
Fern Tucker
Robert Johnson


	26
	Loren Syverson
H.P. Englestad
A.L. Ede
	Roy Anderson
Alfred Anderson
Fern Tucker

	27
	Charles Posey
S.M. Posey
H.E. Kempes
Julius Hedenhaus
	Arthur Anderson
Vivian Anderson
Donald Fors


	28
	Charles Posey
S.M. Posey
	Arthur Anderson
Vivian Anderson

	29
	William Jones

	Joseph Hoggarth
Elmer Bakke

	30
	N.P. Hatch
John Nihill
	Turner Children
Joseph Hoggarth

	31
	William Jones
John Crawford
	Bob Reimer


	32
	William Johnes
	Elmer Bakke

	33
	S.M. Posey
Griggs & Foster
	Bryn Family Partnership


	34
	S.M. Posey
A.J. Forthy
	Bryn Family Partnership
Lester Anderson

	35
	Julius Hulehaus
George G. Powers
A.L. Ede
	Harold Tucker
Vernon Anderson
Lester Anderson

	36
	A.L. Ede
Thomas T. Marshall
Otto Thorsgaard
D.E. Stoddard
Hendrich Larson
A.F. Larson
	Jack Barnes
Jerold Smith
Leonard Anderson


 


Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 271

Estabrook Township

Township 147 ‑ 66

Estabrook township is bordered on the north by Eddy county; east by Nordmore Township; south by Carrington township; and Birtsell township on the west.

The land is level to gentle rolling. 

The area is drained by Kelly Creek and a branch of the James River. 

A swamp area called Scotts Slough is found on sections 22‑27‑33‑32‑28‑ and 21. 

There is a gravel pit on Section 34.

The Northern Pacific Railroad follows the western boundary

Highway 281 also crosses the township going north and south. 

The Quarter Mile Racing Track was located on Section 6.  It is no longer in operation.

Erickson's Fish Farm is on section 19. 

Section 18 is designated as a Duck Nesting Area. 

Polled Shorthorn cattle are raised on the Lloyd Becker farm on section 22.

Guptill station which consisted of a large elevator was on section 30.

Part of the town of Barlow and the Barlow cemetery are on Section 7.

The Irrigation Farm, a branch of North Dakota State University, is located on Section 31

The Fireside Inn is on Section 32.

The township was named after an early settler on Section 8 called George H. Estabrook.  He was the editor of the Independent from 1904 to 1907.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 273

Eulogy to the Wishing Tree

By Agnes Olson 

The Wishing Tree was located on section 29 in the east ditch of Highway 281 about five miles north of Carrington.  It stood for years as a landmark.  The tree was about 50 feet tall.  In May 1976 it was pushed over in preparation for widening the highway.  In memory of the Wishing Tree Agnes Olson wrote the following

On Highway 281, the Wishing Tree stood
A sentinel grand, just doing us good. 
Scarred by vandals, we painted his side
He was our friend, whatever betide.

Many a traveler rested there
A pause refreshing, from the sun's hot glare. 
Every child ‑ and didn't you
Make a wish for it would come true? 
The salesman tooted as he sped by
'Twould bring good luck, he'd give it a try.

Now in the ditch, the proud monarch lies
No more to bring our petitions to the One on High. 
The road must be built, that's progress today
In our memories, forever, the Wishing Tree will stay.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 273

Township Organization

At the Commissioners' meeting January 1922, a petition was presented signed by A.B. Nelson and others asking that Estabrook Township be organized.  The following officers were elected: William Hamilton, clerk

Stanley Copenhaver, treasurer He served for 51 years in this office

Supervisors, Stephen Copenhaver, Pete Hanson, and Gust Moberg
Present officers are: 
Patrick Copenhaver, Clerk and treasurer 

Supervisors Lloyd Becker, James P. Carr, and Duane Mullenberg
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 273

School District No. 19 Estabrook Township

The School district was organized July 10, 1884 by E.E. Henderson, county superintendent.  Named officers were: 

Emery T. Guptill, clerk

George H. Estabrook, director

Sam Peabody, treasurer.

School No. 1 or the Hamilton School was built on section 32.  Later on it was moved into Carrington and used as part of a house.

School No. 2 or the Halaas School was built on Section 26.  In 1900 Miss Zerlina Eaken taught this school.  She was very interested in nature.  She tried to instill an interest in the child the beauties of nature.  She brought butterflies to the schoolroom so that the students could watch them obtain nectar from the houseplants.  In the spring she brought water from the slough that contained some frog eggs.  It was with eyes of wonder, that the children saw the eggs turn into tadpoles and then the tadpoles to frogs.  This school was bought by Clarence Miller.

School No. 3 or the Nelson school was built on section 11.

On March 12, 1918 the schools in Estabrook were consolidated and a facility was built on section 21.  In 1920 a ninth grade was added; in 1925 they had ten grades, and in 1930 they offered three years of high school.  Basketball was an important activity.  The enrollment started to decline by 1938 when they cut back to eight grades.

The Estabrook School closed on November 4, 1973 and the students were then sent to Carrington.  Dissolution of the district was completed on July 1, 1975.  The building still stands on the same spot.

Estabrook Township once had a club called the Live Wires Literary Society organized among the young people of the community.  Meetings were held every Friday evening in the consolidated school.  Many different programs were presented.  One newspaper account in November 1917 stated that the program would be a discussion on the organization of the township as well as a violin duet, readings, songs, and the debate.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 273

Survey Report

The survey report was filed at Huron, Dakota Territory on September 18, 1884.  The subdivisions were surveyed by Scott and Sturtevant in July 1884.  The west boundary was measured by George Beardsley in August 1874.  The north, south, east lines were established by Milton Nye in June 1882.  The township contains 22,942 acres.

The following people were living in the area when it was surveyed:

	H.R. Patterson
	 Northeast 6

	Julia Gere
	 Southeast 18

	James Hamilton
	 Southwest 20

	E.S. Halaas
	 Southwest 24

	Samuel Peabody
	 Northeast 20

	John Bucman
	 Southeast 20

	E.T. Guptill
	 Southwest 30

	J.M. Watkins
	 Southwest 4

	Mary E. Thurer
	 Southeast 4

	F.L. Peabody
	 Southwest 16

	W.H. Rice
	 Northwest 16.

	E. Vandernork
	 Southwest 30

	L. Vandernork
	 Northeast 30

	W.S. Blake
	 Southeast 30

	F. Randall
	 Northeast 8

	G.H. Estabrook
	 Southwest 8

	F.G. Estabrook
	 Southeast 8

	Robert Richmond
	 Southwest 22

	J.O. Hale
	 Northwest 28

	G.M. Hale
	 Southwest 28

	J.P. Stewart
	 Northwest 32.


Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 274

Estabrook Township Land Acquisition

	Year and Name
	Section

	1885
	

	Henry R. Patterson
	6

	Fredrick Barlow 
	 6

	Henry R. Patterson
	 6

	Frank Rundell
	 8

	Archibald Miller 
	 8

	Virginia Deaver
	 18

	George Brown 
	 18

	Samuel Peabody 
	 20

	John Buchanan
	 20

	William Derrick 
	 20

	Robert Richman
	 22

	Walter Moore
	 24

	Walter P. Wyard
	 26

	James Wyard 
	26

	Elizabeth Wyard 
	   26

	George H. Hale
	  28

	Sim Vandermark 
	30

	Izra Vandermark
	 30 

	Marianna Morris 
	 30

	William S. Blake 
	 30

	Daniel W. Carter
	 32

	Edwin Scott
	32

	Maggie Robertson 
	34

	
	

	1886
	

	George S. Baker 
	 2

	Mike Jenson
	 2

	Andrew Nelson 
	 2

	Seibert Roaldson
	12

	John Indergaard
	14

	May E. Estabrook
	18

	James G. Wyard
	22

	
	

	1887
	

	George F. Peabody
	 4

	James Watkins
	 4

	Martin Martenson
	10

	William H. Rice
	16

	
	

	1887
	

	Edward Halaas
	 24

	Joseph Robertson
	34

	William Robertson
	 34

	
	

	1888
	

	James Semmens
	 14

	
	

	1889
	

	George H. Hale 
	 28

	Francis A. Carter 
	32

	
	

	1891
	

	Fred G. Estabrook
	

	Sam Hetherington
	

	
	

	1892
	

	William West 
	 6

	James Hamilton
	28

	
	

	1893
	

	Samuel Peabody
	 4

	John Indergaard
	 14

	Walter Moore
	24

	James Hamilton
	28

	William Robertson
	 34

	George Wilder
	 8

	Walter P. Wyard
	 18

	
	

	1894 
	

	
	

	Seibert Roaldson
	10

	John Buchanan
	22

	
	

	1895
	

	Ralph E. Walker 
	 8

	
	

	1897
	

	Alexander H. Turk 
	 2

	George H. Peabody
	 20

	
	

	1899
	

	T. Jason Slater
	 26

	
	

	1899
	

	George S. Peabody
	4

	
	

	1900
	

	David B. Miller
	8

	
	

	
	

	1901
	

	Peter A. Hanson
	10
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Estabrook Township Land Ownership in 1910 and 1980

Township 147-66

	Section
	1910
	1980

	1
	John G. Moberg
Andrew Nilson
P.M. Goodin
	Sydney Hoveskeland
William Hall


	2
	L. Martinson
Eugene Lucey
Johanna Nilson
	Dorwin Aas & Adelaine Schmall
Glenn Linderman


	3

	L. Martinson
J.E. Indergaard
Eugene Lacey
	Dorwin Aas & Adelaine Schmall
Glenn Linderman


	4
	Laura Peabody
John Indergaard 
G.F. Peabody
	Montgomery Trust
Kenneth Montgomery


	5
	Northern Pacific Land Company
Lewis Martinson
	Aloysius Mullenberg


	6
	Charles Davis
F.G. Barlow 
Ditwiler & Ditwiler
	Hamlin Garland
Homer Linderman
Quarter Mile Racing Inc.

	7
	Barlow (town)
A.R. Johns 
Alma Schaffer 
Robert Meyers
Northern Pacific R.R.
	Barlow (town)
Allen Linderman 
Gladwin Sheldon 
John W. Schmid


	8
	George H. Estabrook
	Aloysius Mullenberg 
John W. Schmid

	9
	Alfred Krepps

	Duane Mullenberg
Alfred Kreps

	10
	Bertha Indergaard
John E. Endergaar 
Peter A. Hanson
	Kenneth Montgomery 
Allen Linderman


	11
	J.K. Wheeler
J.N. Putnam
	Duane Mullenberg 
LuVerne Gussiaas 
Andrew Reiniger & Laurence

	12
	Andrew Wilson
Ingeborg Roaldson 
Sivert Roaldson
	Andrew & Laurence Reiniger 
Stanley Roaldson 
Ronald Roaldson

	13
	P.E. Rudal
Thomas Buchanan
	Alfred Borth 
Kent Gussiaas 
Don Gussiaas

	14
	James Simmons
Mrs. James Simmons
 E.T. Halaas
	Merlin Miller 
George Garland 
Merland O. Indergaard

	15
	Peter A. Hanson
E.D. Smith
	Allen Linderman


	16
	Eliza Simmons
C.E. Winguire 
John Buchanan
	Alfred Kreps 
Aloysius Mullenberg


	17
	Sarah A. Soliday
James Mulvaney 
B.B. Kinchi
	Alfred Kreps 
Aloysius Mullenberg


	18
	Mary E. Estabrook
Wells Dickey 
C.F. Bibow 
Luica L. Reimers
	U.S.A. Duck Nesting 
Sheldon Coe 
7th Day Adventists


	19
	David D. Beer
R.A. & H.H. Flowers


	Lillian Erickson 
Harold Erickson 
Walter Larsen 
Otto Klindworth

	20
	Alex Collier
E. Miller
John A. Hale Est.
	Lillian Erickson 
Butts Farming Assn. 
Duane Mullenberg

	21
	John Buchanan
John A. Hale Est.
	Vernon Mullenberg 
Lloyd Becker

	22
	John Bucanan
John A. Hale Est.
	Lloyd Becker


	23
	Clara B. Putnam
John Buchanan 
E.T. Halaas
	Mervin Gussiaas 
Norman Edwardson 
Lloyd Becker

	24
	E.T. Halaas
J.M. Bloomer 
Norman A. Wicks

	Elvin Edwardson 
Gordon Miller 
Edwin Gussiaas 
Ervin Seten

	25
	Norman A. Wicks
A.F. Landis
	Coleen M. O'Brien 
Lenore Vennes

	26
	E.T. Halaas
Johanna & Anna Robertson


	Patricia A. Lies 
Mervin Gussiaas 
Clarence Miller 
James Gussiaas

	27
	C.K. Wing
Northern Pacific Railroad Company
	Merritt Landon 
Stanley Copenhaver

	28
	James Hamilton
S.H. Copenhaver
	Romel Theis 
Butts Farming Assn. 
Jerold Goheen

	29
	John Lynn
James L. Hawley
	L.T. & E.H. Lechner & Adeline

	30
	C.W. Stauffer
Ralph Hall
	Earl Stauffer


	31
	Kipner & Meyers
Ralph Hall
	State of North Dakota Irrigation Farms


	32
	C.W. Reichert
James Hamilton
	James Carr 
Paul D. Miller

	33
	Edwin Stenfelt
S.H. Copenhaver


	Romel Theis 
Louis Torsher 
Stanley Copenhaver 
Frances E. Kaal

	34
	C.H. Copenhaver
James Hunter
Hugh Peoples
	John W. Brandt 
Stanley Copenhaver 
Merrit Landon

	35
	A.F. Landis & H.L. Winterer
T.W. Baker
	Olaf Gussiaas 
Gilbert Theis

	36
	C.K. Wing
A.T. Parker
W.E. Cummings

	Lena Theis 
Earl Straley 
James P. Carr 
Dale Pretzer
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Florence (Dewey) 

Township 147‑63

Florence Township is bordered on the north by Eddy County, east by McHenry Township, south by Rolling Prairie and west by Larrabee.

The land is level to nearly level.  Some areas are gentle undulating.  There is a quantity of stone but they do not present a serious problem.

The area is drained by: 
Juanita Lake which is located on sections 8, 17, 18 and 19

Stony Lake on sections 15, 16, 21 and 22, which flows into the Bald Hill creek
Burlington Northern Railroad crosses the southwest corner of the township.

The town of Juanita is located on the Southwest corner of section 34.

The township survey report was filed at Huron, Dakota Territory on February 13, 1884.  The south, east and north lines were established by Charles Scott on October 1882.  The subdivisions were surveyed by E.S. Sturtevant in August and September 1883.  He also measured the meanders at this time.  The western boundary was surveyed by Scott in 1882.

There are 22,347.27 acres of land; 583.04 acres of water; for a total of 22,930.31 acres.  In 1900 there were 52 quarters that had not been settled.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 278

Township Organization

The township was organized in 1920 with the following officers: David Vining, Herman Pewe, and John Burke.  It was named for Florence Vining, the first white child born in the area.  Up to that time the area had been known as Dewey Township.

Present officers are:
Clerk, Kevin Black

Supervisors: Alf Stangeland, Leo Gauderman, and Dick Vining.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 278

Dewey School District

Dewey School District was organized in 1913.  The first school was the Bower's Lake school just north of Juanita.  In 1914 the Dewey District consolidated school was built in Juanita.  Buses were used to bring in the rural students.  This school was closed in 1958 through reorganization with McHenry, Grace City and Glenfield.  The 1904 Atlas shows a schoolhouse on Northeast 1/4 of Section 19; the 1910 Atlas shows a schoolhouse on the Southeast section 22; and West 1/2 of 20.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 278

History of Juanita, North Dakota Community 1909 ‑1974

By Mrs. Howard Spickler

Sixty‑five years ago Juanita, named after Lake Juanita to the northwest, began to stir and build.
Interwoven with its history are facts from state and national history.  The first Dakota boom was due to improvements in flour milling, and with Minneapolis the flour-milling center of the United States creating a market for wheat.  Railroad construction made the Red River Valley the chief supplier of the market.  The mills called for more and more hard spring wheat.  James Hill threw his railroad across the black northern prairies and thousands of pioneers rushed to take up land.

The settlement of North Dakota was completed by a second boom which started in 1898 and continued to World War I.  A flood of new settlers poured in to North Dakota.  From 1898 to 1915, according to statistics, there were 250,000 who entered the state.  The first settlers in Florence Township were the George J. Backen family, the Smith brothers and George, Fred and Balger Bauer.  Roy Spickler came to New Rockford from Illinois in 1896 and to Haven Township a couple years later.  These were all early day homesteaders coming here between 1887 and 1898.  Other early day settlers were Albert England and his brother John coming here in the '90's.  His rough board shanty and lean‑to was sodded up on the outside walls to a height of three feet to help keep out the wintry blasts.  Mr. England owned and farmed the Southwest 1/4 of 14‑147‑63.  Only a small grave is left to mark the former homestead site.

Outsiders gave North Dakota a railroad network, and by 1915 these outsiders had invested $100 million, but sparse population limited their profits.  Because of railroads there was a rush of settlers eager to get free or cheap land.  This speculative rush increased land values and their rise made wheat farming less profitable.  From the years 1898 to 1915, the railroad mileage of North Dakota almost doubled, increasing from 2,662 to 5,226 miles.

In 1911‑1912, the Great Northern inaugurated service on the Surrey Cutoff‑ 208 miles from Fargo to Surrey in Ward County.  (See clippings.)  The railroads were built cheaply; oftentimes old boxcars were converted into stations.  Juanita's first station was a boxcar which stood on the north side of the track in line with Mrs. Parker's house.  Juanita's first depot agent was Walter Krei.  He was followed by C.W. Wold, Art Eberhardt and Vivian Wold Anderson.  The depot was sold and moved to a farm.

The Great Northern capitalization was $78,000 per mile.  Railroads were seeking profitable returns on their investment, and so North Dakotans had to pay high freight rates.  High freight rates reduced the standard of living and were a serious obstacle to development of a more diversified economy.  Wheat was the king crop of North Dakota and from 1898 to 1915 the wheat acreage doubled.  Flax was another cash crop‑ a crop for virgin land‑ and a gamble.  Oats, hay and barley were also raised, largely for feed.  The most valuable livestock were the horses.

There were two lumberyards in Juanita in the early days to promote building.  A Mr. Lund was manager of the Crane‑Johnson Lumber Yard, and a Mr. Black managed the Wells Independent Lumber Company  The Wells Company lasted only about a year.  The building stood where Albert Larson's house now stands.  Roy Spickler bought the scales when this yard quit business.

The Crane‑Johnson Company was later managed by A.K. Sorvick, and an old Indian fighter named Ellingson who ran this place till it was closed.  (The Indian fighter was said to be very religious; Simon Sampson is quoted as saying he believed his religion was mostly on the walls‑ referring to religious mottos on the walls.)

Sorvick's carpenter shop, with living quarters in the rear, stood about where Larson's garage is now.  Later it was moved alongside Crane‑Johnson's Lumber Yard, and finally it was moved to the Ravendal Bros. farm for use as a farm shop.

The first public building in Juanita was Greenheck's Store; groceries were hauled from McHenry until the railroad came through Juanita.  Greenheck's in Juanita in 1911 handled groceries and hardware.  Two brothers, Bill and Hub, operated the business.

The Greenheck General Store was bought in 1912 or 1913 by Howden, Lucht and Mansfield.  Clerks were Frank Stevenson, Percy Haney and Chris Engh.  (The children all loved Chris Engh; he gave them the most candy for the nickels and dimes.)

When Mansfield came in, a hardware store was put in; the two stores were bought out by Mansfield.  Mansfield sold out to the Farmers' Cooperative, and it was operated in the early '20's as a Farmers' Store under the management of Elmer Anderson.  The store went into receivership and Knutson bought it.  Later Resler came in as a partner.  Upon Knutson's death it became Lou's Market.

Jim McDaniel had a hardware store in Juanita in those early days.  He also sold meat in Mac's Butcher Shop located on east Main Street.

Sloan's Hotel was run by Aunt Nancy Sloan.  Later Jim Potters operated it.

Hazlett had a Meat Market across from Sloan's Hotel.

Uncle Billy Hazlett's Confectionery Store was built after the meat market started, and Uncle Billy Hazlett had the post office in the confectionery store.  Uncle Billy Hazlett was Juanita's first postmaster.  After Mrs. George Burk retired as Juanita's postmistress, Charlie Hazlett (Uncle Billy's son) became postmaster.  He operated both the store and the post office.  Hazlett's Confectionery was managed for a time by Wilfred and Percy Haney.  After Charlie Hazlett took over, a grocery store was set up and a cooler installed, and at one time it was a Red Owl Store.  Ernie Pewe worked for Charlie sometime during this period.

Charlie Hazlett sold out to Frank Rypka, and he and Mrs. Rypka operated the store and post office for several years.  Mr. and Mrs. Roy Nelson became later owners, and Mrs. Nelson, now Mrs. Georgia Benson, became the postmistress, a position she still holds.  A fire in October 1958 burned both Nelson's and Resler's store.  (Wold owned Resler's then) and that was the end of Juanita's Main Street.  Nelson's moved the store and post office to their home‑ the former Congregational Church, later Community Hall‑ this building having been remodeled into a home.  (This building is remembered for many enjoyable Community Club programs, plays, movies, dances, etc.  Modern Woodmen meetings were also held there.)  It still served as Juanita's only store and post office.

Greenheck was mail carrier between Juanita and McHenry in the early days.  Herb Niles was the first mail carrier from Juanita, then Bill Short, and Mr. Buck was probably the last.  After that, Glenfield took over Juanita's rural mail delivery.

The First State Bank was run by Gus Raibel; later it was sold to Kirwan.  This bank was in operation in 1912‑ a 30-day note at 12% interest verifies this.  The bank was placed in the hands of a receiver, possibly in June 1929.

The Juanita Bank building was moved to Glenfield to be used as a barbershop by Ralph Glassner.  It burned in the '30's.

Ralph Glassner was a barber first in Juanita.  For a short time Ralph Menzies, also known as Shorty Baker, barbered in Juanita.

In 1913 the North Dakota Legislature passed a county agent law.  Mr. Lake was Foster County's first county agent.  He must have been very active, for he is remembered for his contributions to Juanita and the county by so many people.  A book compiled by him and others shows many of the rural activities, early farmsteads and livestock operations at this time.

Agricultural experts advocated summer fallow, better seed, crop rotation, but when Better Farming enthusiasts talked of Livestock, they meant dairy cattle, not beef herds.

Creameries were established, but they had to gather cream from a large area, and they paid only a poor price.  Farmers shipped cream or sold it to cream buying stations.  Both Knutson and Hazlett operated cream buying stations.  A five-gallon cream can brought perhaps $3 or $4.

If a farmer's wife made butter to sell, she may have received 8 cents per pound for it.  There was little profit in dairy cows.  For the farmer's wife there was the daily chore of separation and milk pails and strainer to wash morning and evening, and for the men folk the twice‑daily extra chore of feeding and milking the cows.

The farmer's wife in the early '30's kept a few turkey hens, raised poults to sell on the Thanksgiving and Christmas markets.  These young turkeys in the fall were killed and dressed at home, cooled all over the house, packed in barrels, and sold in New Rockford or Cooperstown, or shipped to eastern markets.  How welcome those turkey checks to eke out the meager income, and to provide a few luxuries for the Holidays!

Every farm had its chicken flock for eggs to use, and to sell at the local store in exchange for the necessary groceries.

The farmer's wife set a few broody hens, or possibly she ordered baby chicks to raise for fryers for a July 4th treat.  Some spring chickens were marketed at the North American in Carrington, another source of income for the farm family when every penny counted.

The credit system was a heavy burden on the farmers.  Interest and expenses averaged 8.7%, and the mortgage ran for five years.  Few farms were paid for in 5 years (1914‑15).  Besides, the farmers had to buy farm machinery and supplies on credit‑ either a bank loan for 8 or 9 months at 10.75% interest, or credit from a store.  Merchants commonly gave a discount of 7% for cash.  The Juanita Bank closing was brought about by the low prices paid to farmers for their grain, uncollectible notes, mortgage foreclosures and such.

The '30's brought drought and depression.  North Dakota suffered more than much of the rest of the nation.  Thousands lost their farms; more than one third lived on relief; many people left the state.  Farmers left the community of Juanita.  Florence Township's 44 farmsteads of these early days dwindled, until now at the present time there are only 15 farmsteads left.

The crises brought about in the dry, dusty thirties produced a bold leader‑ William Langer.  Using his authority as governor to stop foreclosures on farms, and to raise the price of wheat, he gave both economic aid and some emotional security.  (Some time during Langer's time, he spoke to a large crowd at Juanita Lake.)

The drought of the '30's from 1929‑1939 was a period of less than average rainfall.  June 1929 was one of the driest on record; in 1930, hot winds cut down crops.  In 1931, light rains in spring and searing heat withered vegetation, so truly the whole state seemed to be drying up.

In 1934, dust storms made travel by plane or auto hazardous, and kerosene lamps had to be lit in the middle of the day.  Dust sifted into every corner of the house.  Drifting soil covered fences, ditches, farm machinery.  In 1934, we had the driest year on record so far, and grass made no growth - 9 1/2 inches of rain.

The federal government began buying livestock, playing $4 for calves and $20 for cows.  Many cattle died from lack of feed, and from dust in their lungs and stomach.

Russian thistle was used for hay for the cattle; dry Russian thistle piled up against fences, driven by gusty winds, breaking down fences, pushing fences across roads, and such.

In 1936, the coldest year with Parshall recording 60 degrees below zero on February 13, and the hottest with 121 degrees at Steele on July 6, and the driest with 8.8 inches.  From July 5 to July 18, temperatures reached nearly 100 degrees every day.  No prairie grass grew outside the Red River Valley.

Throughout the 1930's, grasshoppers were bad and farmers had to spread poison bait.  County control was ineffective, however, and finally the Greater North Dakota Assn. took action and federal funds were obtained for a control program.

Drought years were depression years.  In 1932, North Dakota farmers sold wheat for 36, a bushel, oats for 91, barley for 141, potatoes for 23¢, flaxseed for 87¢ and beef cattle for $3.30 per hundred.  Prices recovered some, but still wheat sold for only 53¢ per bushel in 1938.

In 1940, most farm homes lacked electricity, running water, indoor bathrooms, mechanical refrigeration and central heating.

In 1933, the low year‑ per capita personal income in the United States was $375; in North Dakota it was only $145.  So North Dakota went through much greater hardship than did the nation as a whole.

Low income brought a decline in land values, delinquent loans and foreclosures, unpaid taxes, increased tenancy, growing public ownership of land, a large number of people on relief and a great movement of people out of the state.  From 1930‑1944, probably one‑third of the farm families lost their farms by foreclosure‑ this in North Dakota.

Relief programs were organized with a Public Welfare Board using state and federal money.  In 1935, the state legislature passed a sales tax to provide money for its work.  The W.P.A. would give work relief.  In the late 1936, half the population was on relief.  The W.P.A. alone, between July 1, 1935, and June 30, 1942, built highways, bridges, overpasses, etc., distributed surplus commodities, conducted literacy classes, repaired books (Grandma Short did this in Juanita) and much else.

There is the question about who had the first blacksmith shop.  Norman Sloan?  Mork?  In later years‑ in the 1920's, August Hoefert built and operated his shop.  After the Hoeferts moved to Montana, Russell Nelson took over.

Two grain elevators were built during the summer of 1912.  Mr. Sutherland may have operated the Farmers' Elevator.  George Allen ran the Farmers' Elevator before 1915.  The Minnekota Elevator was operated by Ralph Linger.  Ralph Kempf lived in the George Burk house and managed the Minnekota Elevator before Jess Pierce.  Mr. Omdahl also managed this elevator.  Lloyd Nelson managed this elevator in the '30's.  Fire destroyed the Peavey Elevator in 1950.  This was the former Farmers' Elevator.  The Peavey Company rebuilt, but a few years later it was moved to Glenfield.

The Sloan Livery Barn and Dray Line was located where Sampsons live now.  Johnny Sloan and Julius Knuth bought this and operated it until Julius Knuth was called into service in World War I. (Julius Knuth was wounded in the battle of Argonne.)

Where Sampson's house now stands was a building put up by the township to store school buses.

In those early days there were two bulk oil companies in Juanita‑ the Independent Oil Company and the Standard Oil.  Henry Lucht ran the first Standard wagon.  Chris Sampson, World War I veteran, operated the Independent Oil Company for three years.  This business folded and its tanks were moved out.

In 1922, Mr. Sampson took over the Standard Oil setup and operated this for nearly twelve years.  E.O. Johnson was Standard Oil man for a time.  Chris Christianson was Standard Oil man in the '30's and '40's.

Chris Sampson also ran a livery stable, dray line, farmed and reared a large family.  He has the reputation of having unloaded more carloads of coal than any other man around.  During the winters of deep snow he could be seen with four horses on a Fresno bucking snow off the Great Northern right-of‑way.
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The First School

Bower's Lake School was a one‑room country school located north of Juanita.  It is now Darrel Otto's shop.

In 1914, the Dewey District Consolidated School was built‑ a wooden structure with four rooms, the two rooms in the basement serving as classrooms for the seventh‑eighth grades and the high school.  This school was replaced by a modern brick building in 1927.  Now it serves as a granary and machine storage shop for Stangelands.

Ida Burns (Mrs. Lloyd Nelson) and Jessie Lauder were the first teachers in the consolidated school.  Orin Brewer is remembered by many early students as a principal, a very fine teacher, and one who served many years in McHenry and Juanita schools, as well as in many other North Dakota schools.  The first high school graduates were Esther Potter Luttschwager, Ardath Moore Anderson, and Roberta Moore Franzen.  They had the chance to study French one year and were very proud to display their knowledge of this language.

Buses were put on, and Mullendore is mentioned as one of the bus drivers; John Miller from McHenry, was another‑ he picked up the Jim McDaniel children when they lived east of Juanita.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 284

Personal recollections:

I taught in Juanita from 1925 to 1927.  I taught under Mr. Brewer in 1925 in McHenry and he introduced me to the Juanita school.  Salary, $140.  At that time people enjoyed having the teacher for the extra income‑ and Mrs. August Hoefert prevailed upon me to come and board with them.  Mr. Hoefert was the blacksmith at that time; he also had charge of the electric light plant.

Some of the teachers during this time were: Florence Kinney, Anne Kjelland‑ 7th and 8th; Margaret Kinney, primary; Miss Kappel, intermediate.  Janitor: Mr. Keene (he enjoyed conversing with himself); Bus driver: Patty Ryan.

Some of my pupils were: Arnold and Beryl McDaniel, Elsie Ravendal, Delphine McDaniel, Vera, Edith and Ray Harrington, Lucille Jones, Myrtle and Erling Omdal, Ernest and Hilda Pewe, Doris Christianson, Martha Hegvik, Raymond Dreher, Dale Potter, Mary Koenig, Deana Vining, Georgia Otto, Geraldine Burleson.

Extra‑curricular activities of that day: County declamation contest, one‑act play contests, play day.

Two churches were started in Juanita, the Congregational and the Methodist.  The Congregational Church was short‑lived.  This church building later became the Community Hall.

Some of Juanita's early inhabitants listed in the Juanita Methodist Church History are: 
Hazlettes - Uncle Billy was the first postmaster.

Polings‑ Mrs. Frank Hazlett's folks.  They left on the first Great Northern passenger train for Indiana.

Gus Raibels‑ he was the first cashier of the bank.

Bud Free, John Pewes, Louis Anderson, Parkers, Potters, Burks, Mr. and Mrs. Walter Willows, Harry Andersons, Frank Cooper, Grandma Cooper, Lunds, Mullendores, Jim McDaniels.

Greenheck‑ started the first general store.

Jim Sloan‑ had the hotel.

The first Sunday school ever held in Juanita was started by Amos B. Poling, Mrs. Frank Hazlett's father.  Sunday school classes were first held in the granary on the Forquer place just south of town (Harringtons lived here and later McDaniel).  Poling was superintendent.  Pastor Harry Hines served the church from September 1, 1909 to September 10, 1910.  Listed as probable value of the church at this time ‑ $75.  Amount spent for building and improving that year ‑ $75.  The Sunday school had 5 officers, 21 scholars and $9 in expenses.

Rev. Hines came from Kensal and helped select the site for the church; he helped get it started.  At this time competition was strong among some of the churches‑ Methodists, Presbyterians, and Congregationalists‑ all trying to get a head start in new communities.  According to History of Methodist Churches in North Dakota, Rev. Hines was a good man.  He left the ministry to get his brother out of debt, and then returned to the ministry.  Joseph Chester, the next pastor, served only from June 1, 1911 to September 1, 1911.  He started the church building campaign.

Services were held in a temporary church.  The picture gives you an idea of the building and shows the beginning of the church.  The digging of the basement was voluntary labor.  Rev. Armstrong drew the blueprint for the church.  Mr. Sorvick built the church

Rev. Armstrong and Mr. Dahl, a deaf man who worked with Mr. Sorvick, helped.  Rev. Armstrong served as minister from 1911‑October 1914.  W.W. Hazlett, Uncle Billy, served as janitor, and did everything else that had to be done.

Later a parsonage was built by Mr. Sorvick.  It seems that Juanita was trying to be first in providing a home for the minister.  In addition to serving Juanita, Rev. Armstrong was also preaching in Brantford, and then drove thirteen miles to Tiffany for evening services.  He was living in Grace City during this period.  Rev. Armstrong and Mrs. Roy Spickler succeeded in borrowing money for the parsonage from some fund.

The first trustees were: 

R.H. Spickler, appointed in 1910

James McDaniel

Frank Brown

W.D. Mullendore, appointed in 1915

W.W. Hazlett.

Stewards were: 

H.L. Free, appointed in 1915

W.D. Mullendore

Ernest Cooper

Mrs. Roy Spicker

Mrs. W.W. Hazlett.

According to church records kept by R.H. Spickler, the community must have been canvassed for money for the church building.  Names included on these lists are: Frank Brown, H.S. Free, John Pewe, Lewis Anderson, R.H. Spickler, Howard Spickler, Posey boys, Ole Peterson, A.K. Phileo, E.O. Johnson, Walter Willows, Lee Dunbar, A. Berg, W. D. Mulledore, John Brown, Norman Sloan, Charles, Frank and Howard Hazlett, C.A. Parker, Frank Ayers, H.C. Barber, Daniel Tschantz, Oscar Solberg, James Potter.  There are two listings of contributions.  Duplication of names indicates that some contributed twice.  The list dated July 16, 1912, amounted to $510; and the other list, $530.

The Ladies Aid held a chicken pie social in Greenheck's building in the spring of 1912 to raise money for the church.  Mrs. Roy Spickler was the first Ladies Aid president.
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Some firsts

Phyllis Mildred Burk, baptized August 17, 1913.

Clinton Blocker of Carrington and Maybelle Strouse of Juanita married in the M.E. parsonage by Rev. Armstrong, January 15, 1913.

Funerals

November 2, 1912‑ Baby Solbert, 9 months, McHenry.

May 9, 1914‑ Baby Marcotte, Juanita

March 1, 1913‑ Arthur Edward Olson, Juanita, age 24‑ froze to death.

There are three people buried‑ 2 babies and Arthur Olson, east of the road, across the railroad tracks, southeast of Juanita (perhaps mostly east).

The first baby born in Juanita was Frances Marcotte.

Some of the early organizations in Juanita

Modern Woodman Lodge; In 1910, there was a Women's Federation Club with Mrs. Lloyd Nelson, president; In the 1930's, a Homemakers' Club was organized, Mrs. Howard Spickler, first president.  The Community Club was organized when Mr. Lake was County Agent.  John Burk was its first president.

The town of Juanita had its own electric light plant at one time.  Juanita also had a telephone exchange complete with a switchboard operator.  Grace Krei was operator.

At one time, Juanita had a very good baseball team when playing on the home diamond or out of town.  All business places, except the post office, closed to follow the team.  The names of the players were: 
Otis Rohr, catcher

Ralph Olinger and Ralph Koenig shared pitching honors

Jimmie Jones played first base

Deafy Dahl, second base

Ernie Cooper, third base

Johnnie Sloan, right field

Howard Hazlett, center field

John Brown, left field

Charlie Hazlett, shortstop  

Always on hand to help out in case of injuries, was Will Sloan, who played several positions well.

Juanita people claim they had the first outdoor movie theater in the state, if maybe not in the nation, with a large wooden screen painted white; the show was put on by the businessmen, and was free to all viewers.  It brought many to town on Saturday nights and all business concerns profited.  Mr. Kirwan, O.A. Brewer and Art Hoefert operated the projector.  Later C.J. Wold did.

Town records were destroyed by fire in 1958.  The peak population of Juanita was possibly 112.

Moonshiners operated in Juanita‑ after dark and in the shadows.  Old Dad Koonfare was the most famous of these.  The revenuer arrested him and brought him to trial in district court.  The jury sampled the evidence and Old Dad was turned loose for lack of it (Carl Pewe's story).

During the fall, gamblers and poker players were numerous.  They preyed on the harvest hands and threshing crews.  Many were the men who lost the hard‑earned summer wages to these.
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History of the Juanita Methodist Church by C. Spickler

The history of Juanita and the Juanita Methodist Church goes back to the year 1909.  In that year the town had two lumberyards and its first public building was Greenheck's General Store.  Groceries and supplies were hauled by team from McHenry until the Great Northern Railroad came through Juanita in 1912.

The first Sunday school in Juanita was started by Mr. Amos B. Poling, who served as the first Sunday school superintendent.  Classes were held in a granary on the Elmer Forquer place just south of Juanita.

Ministers who served Juanita in the early days are listed in the "Pastoral and Statistical Record".
Listed first is Harry Hines from September 1, 1909 to September 1910.  The probably value of the church is listed as $75 and the amount spent for building and improving the church that year was $75.  The Sunday school had five officers and teachers, 21 scholars and $9 in expenses.

Reverend Hines came from Kensal and helped select the site for the church, and helped get it started.  At this time, competition was strong among some of the churches with Methodists, Presbyterians and Congregationalists all trying to get a head start in new communities.  According to History of Methodist Churches in North Dakota, Reverend Hines was a good man.  He left the ministry to get his brother out of debt, and then returned to go on preaching.

Joseph Chester was the next pastor, serving only a short period from June 1, 1911‑September 1, 1911.  He started the church building campaign.  He was an Englishman, single and a wonderful violin player.  He was a member of the largest group of Deacons and Elders ever to be ordained at a session of the annual Conference.  Reverend Chester and Reverend Armstrong were both ordained as Deacons on October 22, 1911.

The value of the church was listed at $400, and expenses for building and improvements totaled $75 with a debt of $325.  There were five Sunday school teachers and officers, 20 scholars and $8 for expenses.  The minister's salary was $100.  Five dollars was paid the District Superintendent.

Reverend Armstrong served as minister from 1911 to October 1914.  Services were held in a temporary church.  Reverend Armstrong drew the blueprint for the church; men with teams dug the basement‑ all voluntary labor.  Mr. Sorvick built the church and Reverend Armstrong helped, as did Mr. Dahl, a deaf man who worked with Mr. Sorvick.

W.W. Hazlett ("Uncle Billy") served as church janitor‑ and did anything and every thing else that needed to be done.

During the first year that Reverend Armstrong preached after leaving school, he lived in Grace City where the morning services were held.  He preached in the afternoon at Brantford, and then drove 13 miles to Tiffany for the evening services.  He must have preached in Juanita on alternate Sundays.  A team of horses knew the way home and delivered him safely on many a dark night with coyotes howling menacingly and snow obscuring the road.

During the time before the Juanita parsonage was built, Reverend Armstrong and his wife lived in a farmhouse two miles out of Grace City.  When spring came, the farmhouse was needed by the farmer who operated the land.  The Brantford people then converted a small barn into a parsonage.  Their son, Richard, was born there on April 12th.  Mrs. Armstrong, with her husband away days working on the Juanita and Grace City churches, had to carry the drinking water and wash water, pushing a baby buggy about three blocks and doing all the washing by hand.  Sunday collections were the only cash they had; purchases had to be charged if collections did not bring enough to pay the bills.  His salary, according to the records, was $100 the first year and $R00 for the next year.

A parsonage was built in Juanita by Mr. Sorvick in 1913.  It seems that Juanita was trying to be first in providing a home for the minister.  Reverend Armstrong and Mrs. Roy Spickler succeeded in borrowing money for the building from some fund.

Reverend T.J. Chappel served also as minister during these early days.  He was not only a preacher, but also an inventor.  Because he had to drive on muddy roads, he invented a tire chain that could be put on while the tire was down in the mud.  He sold it to a tire company, but the chain did not sell for gravel and paved roads had begun to replace dirt roads.

The record of the official members includes these names:

The first Trustees were R.H. Spickler, appointed in 1910, James McDaniel, Frank Brown, W.D. Mullendore, appointed in 1915 and W.W. Hazlett.

Stewards included these: H.L. Free appointed in 1915, W.D. Mullendore, Ernest Cooper, Mrs. Roy Spickler and Mrs. W.W. Hazlett.

Reverend Armstrong, who had done so much for the Methodist Church in Juanita, and much for Methodist churches throughout the state, made this statement.  "No history of Methodism in North Dakota could adequately tell the story of these pioneer women."  He was referring to the Ladies Aid groups that were organized to serve as an aid to the pastor in carrying out the work of the church.  Suppers and bazaars helped financially and socially.  Juanita, too, had its Ladies Aid organization, and Mrs. Roy Spickler was its first president.  Memories of the Aid activities linger in the minds of some of the older women of the community.  One occasion, especially memorable, was of a chicken pie social in Greenheck's building to raise money for the church.  This was most likely in the spring of 1912, and the Aid was organized shortly after this.

According to the records during Reverend Armstrong's service, the church was valued at $3000 and the parsonage at $1100 in 1913.  Current expenses came to $105.  The Sunday school had seven officers and teachers.  Twenty were enrolled.  The total expense was listed at $7.

It is interesting to note that this is the first time that money was sent for foreign missions and home mission‑ $27 for foreign and $23 for home missions.  The pastor's salary was $300.

The record of members in full connection were these: Mrs. C.A. Armstrong, pastor's wife, April, 1913 Mr. and Mrs. George Burk, April, 1914

Mr., and Mrs. Walter Krei, April 1913

Mrs. Roy Spickler, October 1912

Mr. and Mrs. A. Thaine, October 1913

Lyman Wilcox, November 1912.

Early baptism:

Phyllis Mildred Burk was received into the church August 17, 1913, when baptized by Reverend Armstrong in the Methodist Church, Juanita.

Following this, there were several members of the Thane family baptized by Reverend Armstrong - George, Rose, Christine, James, Joseph, Ethel, Charles.

First marriage record:

On January 15, 1913, Clinton Blocker of Carrington and Maybelle Strouse of Juanita were married at the M.E. Parsonage by Reverend Armstrong.

On February 20, 1913, Raymond Culver of McHenry and Flora Letford of Minnesota were married at the parsonage.

Funerals listed during these early years of Juanita's Methodist Church are:

November 2, 1912‑ Baby Solberg, 9 months, McHenry
March 1, 1913‑ Arthur Edward Olson, 24, Juanita.

May 9, 1914‑ Baby Marcotte, Juanita
Other ministers who served in the Juanita Methodist Church

Job Moore served from October 1914 to October 1916.

Noble F. Browning, from October 1916 to October 1917.  A note indicates that he went to the Congregationalists.

Also, there were 7 teachers and officers in the Sunday school, 60 scholars and an average attendance of 26.

His salary was $500.  There was nothing for foreign missions.  Records indicate there were many baptisms‑ many in the Parker School house.  McDaniels and Stephensons were some of those mentioned.  Reverend Browning owned a car.

J.W. Hilborn served from October 1917 to October 1919.  There were 12 full members, two baptisms and two deaths recorded for this period.

Reverend C.B. Thomas served from October 1919 to February 1921.

Reverend Dale A. Crites is listed for 1921 - February 1921.

Reverend Thure Johnson served from April 1926 to October 1927.  He went to South Dakota.  His salary was $900.  There were eight teachers and officers in the Sunday school and 65 scholars.  He left a note saying that the Sunday school was "as good as can be found in the county".

Reverend Tittemore, Carrington, a Nazarene, served when the church was without a regular minister.

Other ministers who served in the Juanita Methodist Church are: 
Reverend A.E. Place‑1934
Reverend J.K. McNeil from 1938 to 1942.  He helped beautify the church and the church grounds.

Reverend Harold Eastburn served from 1946 to 1947.  Grace Huck, the first woman to become a member of the North Dakota Conference, and the second in the nation to be so honored, served in 1947 to 1948.

Reverend D.B. Kelley served from 1950 to 1951.

Reverend R.H. Marshall served during 1953.

Reverend Donald Gool served from 1954 to 1957.

Reverend Harry Williams served from 1959 to 1961.

Caine, Meier and Williams also served as ministers, and then there were some who helped fill in when there was no regular pastor.  These included Harte and a college boy, Larson.

Darrell Otto was the last Sunday school superintendent.

Reverend Clarence E. Palmer served the church until it closed on May 30, 1976.
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Florence Township Land Acquisition

Township 147-63

	Year and Name
	Section

	
	

	1885
	

	William Larrabee
	 30

	
	

	1890
	

	Edward D. Smith
	 18 

	Julius Backen
	 32

	
	

	1893
	

	Balcer Bauer
	 26

	
	

	1895
	

	John Burk
	 18 

	David Vining
	 24

	
	

	1897
	

	Christin Hiskie
	 20

	
	

	1898
	

	Balcer Bauer
	 26 

	George Backen
	30

	Frederick Bauer
	 34

	
	

	1899
	

	Lucy M. Backen
	 8

	
	

	1900
	

	John England
	24

	
	

	1902
	

	Albert D. Clark 
	 6 

	Nils Davidson
	  12 

	Peter J. Tange
	 12

	
	

	1904
	

	Edward J. Clark 
	18

	
	

	1905
	

	John L. Burk
	 18
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Florence – Dewey Township Land Ownership in 1910 and 1980

Township 147-63

	Section
	1910
	1980

	1
	T. Ellingson
George Weber
	L.E. Ellingson


	2
	State Land
John Morsel
J. Elling
	Robert Ellingson
Sherman Ellingson
L.E. Ellingson

	3

	Michael Shimon
Fred Shimon
Frank Shimon
	Lester Dreher
Lynn Topp


	4
	State Land
C.M. Brown
	U.S.A. Wildlife
Wayne Topp

	5
	Joseph Topp
	Royce Topp

	6
	William Kuhfus
State Land


	Glen Dreher
Marilyn Swart
Jeannette Lauttschwager
Roger Lyman

	7
	W. Ellingson

	Dean Dreher
State of North Dakota

	8
	Geo. Bakken
State Land

	Ralph Wallbridge
Patricia Otto
Roger & Raymond Topp

	9
	Gorthy & Johnson
J.W. Ellingson
	Ralph Wallbridge
Anthony & Louis Kuhry

	10
	State Land

	Robert Ellingson
Duane Hoffman

	11
	H.S. Halvorson
	Stanley Tufte

	12
	Ellingson & Lowden
T. Ellingson
State Land
Jr. Karnes
	Myron Luttschwager
Duane Hoffman
Ronald Luttschwager
Stanley Tufte

	13
	D.S.B. Johnston Land Company
H.S. Halvorson Company

	Ronald Luttschwager
Dave Short
Myron & Ronald Luttschwager

	14
	State Land
Albert England

	David Short
Ronald Dreher
R.D. Short

	15
	J.W. Johnson
Charles W. Taylor

	Dave Short
Jonathon Short
Darrell Otto

	16
	School Land

	LeRoy Erickson
State of North Dakota

	17
	J.W. Ellingson
Charles Burk
	Leo Gauderman


	18
	John L. Burk
Foster County St. Bank
	Gary Stedman
Leo Gauderman

	19
	Charles Burk
	Leo Gauderman

	20
	G. I. Bell
H.A. Soliday
J. Berg
	Marshall Gates
Arlo Stedman


	21
	Paul T. Bibon
D.S.B. Johnston Land Company
Frank E. Davis
Harriet B. Nelson
	Myron & Ron Luttschwager
Edward Meyer
Merlyn Topp
Alton Hegvik

	22
	State Land



	Florence Topp
Duane Hoffman
Raymone Koenig
State of North Dakota

	23
	E.M. Venning
Missionary Society


	Ronald Dreher
Dick Vinning
U.S.A.
Selma Moss

	24
	David Venning
John Pewe
Julius Schmid
	Dick Vining
Ronald Dreher
Alfred Frappier

	25
	Herman Pewe
John Boe
Jennie W. Heaton
	Carl Pewe
Thorval Thompson
Walter Wheeler

	26
	State Land
B. Bauer
H.S. Halvorson
Henry Bauer
	Selma Moss
Howard Topp



	27
	C.W. Grothe
	Laura & Jeannien Grothe

	28
	State Land


	Dean Dreher
Leo Gauderman Jr.
Louie Pewe

	29
	Charles Harper

	Arlo Stedman
Alf Stangeland

	30
	State Land
Joseph Schneidewand
Geo. J. Backen
	Leo Gauderman
William Black


	31
	Peterson & Farnham
	H.F. Spickler

	32
	George J. Backen

	Leonard Topp
ElRoy Ellingson

	33
	George D. Ritz
T.A. McGrew
	Darrell Otto


	34
	State Land
F. Bowers
McKlire Hendrickson
	Florence Topp
Frederick Dreher
Gustav Pewe

	35
	
	

	36
	School Land
Well & Dickey
	Franklin Ellingson
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Glenfield Township

Glenfield Township 148-62

School District No. 4

Glenfield Township is bordered on the north by McHenry; east, Griggs County; south, Eastman; and west by Rolling Prairie.

The land is level to nearly level with quantities of stones that do not cause any real problems.

Highway No. 200 crosses from east to west and Highway No. 20 crosses from north to south.  Burlington Northern Railroad cuts across the township.

The town of Glenfield is located on section 21.  At one time schools were on sections 11, 8, and 29.  There is a cemetery on section 24.

The survey report was filed on October 20, 1884 at Huron, Dakota Territory.

The subdivisions were established by George W. Phillips Jr. in 1884.  Charles Scott measured the east, south, west, and north lines in 1882.  There were no settlers when the area was surveyed.  Total acreage is 23,000.08 acres.

Description:

Level‑ nearly level‑ quantities of stone but no problem

Cemetery‑ W 24

Schools location in the 1910 Atlas:

Southwest 11

Southeast 8

E 29

Glenfield village located on Northeast 21
Great Northern Railroad crosses sections: 7‑18‑17‑21‑22‑26‑25 and 36.

Highway 200 (7)

State Highway 20

Township supervisors 1981:

Clerk‑treasurer‑ Raymond Walen, McHenry

Assessor‑ Lowell Lutz, Glenfield

Supervisors‑ Thomas Edland, McHenry 

Jerome Eli, McHenry

Barton Johnson, Glenfield, Chairman.

City of Glenfield

Mayor‑ Harland Erickson

Aldermen: Ken Althaus Noel Drummond Theodore Johnson Robert Balvitsch

Auditor: John M. Halvorson

Police Magistrate: Alvin Soma

Assessor: Ninie Brandvold
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Glenfield Township Land Ownership in 1910 and 1980

Glenfield Township 146-62

	Section
	1910
	1980

	1
	Mary E. Stokes
J.E. Featherstone 
John Dyboad
	Robert Dybwald
Hassen Eli Jr.

	2
	Fred Johnson
Ira Bunnel
	Charlie Alley
Allen Palmer Jerome Eli

	3

	Lee and Pence Company

	Leander Walen
Raymond Walen

	4
	Wells & Dickey Company
J.H. Ployner

	Ernest Walen
Leander Walen 
Raymond Walen

	5
	Christ Delfs
Lee & Pence Company
	Harvey Hoyt
Raymond Walen

	6
	State Land
John T. McDaniel
	John Edlund
Marvin Johnson

	7
	J.S. Halverson
Carl McDaniel 
Albert McDaniel
	Marvin Johnson
Ernest Alley 
Tom Edland

	8
	Albert McDaniel
Conrad H. Thiebe 
H.M. Tucker
	Tom Edland
Theodore L. Johnson 
JoAnn Simenson

	9
	Lee & Pence Company
	Carl Johnson

	10
	S. Christianson
Conrad H. Thiebe 
A.H. Berg
	Simone Asmael
Leander Walen 
Clamats Gader

	11
	A. H. Berg
W.H. Thurlow

	Clamats Gader
Delahlah Alley
Hassen Eli, Jr.

	12
	Iver Elvrum
W.H. Thurlow 
R.L. Russell 
Emma Horn
	William Eli
Burton Harrington 
Ted Simenson


	13
	Lee & Pence Company


	Reno Pierson
LeRoy Erickson 
Marian Peterson

	14
	W.H. Thurlow
E.J. Horn

	August Walen
Frances Paczkowski 
Gustava Hoggarth trust

	15
	Frank McDaniel
H.J. Bond
	Leander Walen
Ruth Bond

	16
	Hammer & Condy
W.A. McCord 
Melvin Harding
	Walfred Johnson
Quentin Johnson 
Gustava Hoggarth trust

	17
	C.H. Thiede
Lee & Pence Company
	Clamats Gader


	18
	George Cups
Erickson, Berg & Larson 
Conrad Thiede
	Lowell Lutz
Archie Olson 
Kenneth Walen

	19
	Lee & Pence Company
	Stanley Gulstad

	20
	Even Torgerson
Dan Clancy 
August W. Johnson
	Stanley Gulstad
LeRoy Johnson


	21
	Andrew H. Berg
August W. Johnson

	Kenneth Walen 
Glenfield (town) 
Lawrence Utke trust

	22
	William Turner
Malcom Turner T.E. Hutchinson
	Arnold McDaniel
Lee Lampert

	23
	S. Bond
Lee & Pence Company

	Julie Richardson Trust
William Richardson 
Wilmar Johnson

	24
	Christ Ryum
C.B. Still
	Allen Palmer
LeRoy Erickson

	25
	Christ Ryum
H.M. Tucker
	Allen Palmer
Hassen Eli

	26
	John Erickson
J.B. Nelson
W.E. Allen
	Harry Walen
Kenneth Walen


	27
	N. Harding
Lee & Pence Company
	Ragnar Halvorson
Manley Halvorson

	28
	August Johnson

	Charles Gader
Lawrence Utke

	29
	John Hoggarth
Tolof Thompson
August W. Johnson
	David Utke



	30
	William Hoggarth
First National Bank, Cgtn
Herman Johnson
August Erickson
	Norman Papenfuss
LeRoy Johnson
Algot Erickson


	31
	Carl Erickson
Herman Johnson

	Elsie Johnson
John Johnson
Herman Johnson

	32
	Regina Thompson
Charles Thompson
Lars Helling
Gustav Johnson
	Lawrence Utke
William Johnson



	33
	Lee & Pence Company
Anton G. Johnson

	Ruth Rudel
Marion G. Smith
Joel McDaniel

	34
	Thomas Bradford
Grace Bradford
William Bradford
	Jean Kiefer
Esther Turner


	35
	Louis H. Larson
W.W. Sloan

	Ragnar Halvorson
August Walen
Andrew Walen

	36
	W.W. Sloan
Erickson, Berg, and Larson
	Maynard Walen
Albert Walen
Andrew Walen
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Glenfield Township Land Acquisition 

Township 146-62

	Year and Name
	Section

	
	

	1890
	

	Torsten Elvron
	24

	
	

	1891
	

	William Bradford 
	34

	Robert Bradford 
	 22

	John Hoggarth
	20

	Evay Horn
	12

	
	

	1892
	

	Paul Rostad
	

	Hans L. Ryum
	14

	Sevi Semm
	26

	Anna Anderson
	30 

	August Abrahamson
	 32

	
	

	1893
	

	William Thurlow 
	12 

	Charles B. Still 
	24 

	Maria Anderson 
	 28

	
	

	1894
	

	Bella Turner (Bradford)
	 22 

	Carl Erickson
	 28

	
	

	1895
	

	Hans C. Leean
	 10 

	Lars Helling
	 32 

	1896
	

	Samuel Longford 
	14

	Charles B. Still 
	24

	Alexander Turk
	 26

	Grace Bradford
	 34

	
	

	1897
	

	John Reed 
	 2

	Gustaf Johnson 
	32

	
	

	1899
	

	Iver A. Elvrum 
	12

	Valmer P. Horn
	14

	Thomas Hoggarth
	 30

	
	

	1900
	

	Andrew Johnson
	10

	Nils Olsson
	20

	William C. Strong 
	22

	James M. Posey
	 22

	William Bradford 
	34

	
	

	1901
	

	Andrew Ryum 
	 8

	Hendreathe Ryum
	 10

	William Hoggarth
	 30

	August Erikssen
	 30

	Charles Thompson
	 32

	
	

	1902
	

	Albert Thurlow
	 2

	Fred Zollner
	8

	
	

	1903
	

	John T. McDaniel
	 6

	Stephen Hamilton
	18

	Conrad Thiede
	8

	Even Torgerson
	18

	George Cupps
	 20

	John Erikson
	 26

	Melvin Harding
	28

	
	

	1904
	

	Ina Bunnell
	 2

	Peder Pehrson
	 4

	Stephen Hamilton
	 18

	1906
	

	Daniel Niccum 
	 4
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Glenfield

By Doris Bronaugh

Just before the time when Dakota Territory became a state, the eastern end of Foster County began to be settled.  This area would become the township and village of Glenfield.  Staking tree claims and homestead claims, immigrants came from Norway, Sweden, Iowa, Minnesota, and Pennsylvania and settled on the barren countryside.

Among the first were Iver Elvrum, who arrived in 1886 and settled on Section 12, Township 145 N, R62W, and Valmer P. Horn who settled on Section 14 the same year.  In 1890 came Torsten Elvron and, in 1891, William and Robert Bradford, John Hoggarth and Evoy Horn.  By 1900, all the even‑numbered sections were taken and by 1910 every section in the township had been settled.  Names of the people who were to remain and to keep the lands were the Bradfords, John Dybwad, Ira Bunnell, H.S. Halverson, Carl McDaniel, Conrad Thiede, H.M. Tucker, A.H. Berg, William Thurlow, H.J. Bond, Dan Clancy, A.W. Johnson, William Turner, T.E. Hutchinson, Carl Erickson, and Herman and Anton Johnson.

On June 30, 1906, thirty voters in this township petitioned the Board of Commissioners to make this Congressional township a civil one, and so was passed the resolution "… that the Congressional township 146, 62W is hereby organized as a civil township to be known as Glenfield Township and the first township meeting is called for August 4, 1906."
Thus was organized the governing body which has been responsible for the township ever since.  Among those who have served the longest over the years on this board are: 
Arnold McDaniel 
LeRoy Johnson and 
Lars Walen
Current members are:

Barton Johnson, Tommy Edland, and Jerome Eli, supervisors

Ray Walen, clerk and treasurer and
Lowell Lutz, assessor
To serve the needs of the farmers in this new township in eastern Foster County, it was necessary that a more convenient business district be established.  On May 16, 1912, appeared the following notice in the Carrington paper: "Third new town started, Glenfield: Lots go on sale Monday.  The following businesses will be established: two lumberyards, two general stores, restaurant and hotel, blacksmith shop, bank, hardware store.  It will be located in the center of Glenfield Township about twenty miles from Carrington.  "
And so, chartered in 1912 and established in the newly‑laid Great Northern Surrey Cut‑off on Section 21, the new town Glenfield (named, like the township in which it is located, from the topography of the area) sprang up, almost like magic.

The first merchant was Dave Syverson, who moved a building in from nearby Courtenay and began a general store.  He was immediately joined by Carl McDaniel (general store), Melvin Hardin (Hardware store), T.J. McCanley (pool hall), and Pete Adolph (barbershop).  Before the year was out, Glenfield also had a restaurant, a confectionery store (Gusta Johnson's), an implement shop (A.W. Johnson), a lumber company (Crane Johnson), a dray line, a livery and feed barn (Garrett Johnson), and a butcher shop.

The First State Bank, with Frank J. Heaney as cashier, opened on June 13th (it was to close later during the economic crash of 1929).

The Congregational Church was built, with the Rev. Kellogg the first pastor.  The Farmers Elevator, with Paul Engstrom as manager, opened in October; and the Minneapolis Elevator Company, with Elmer Walen as buyer, opened the same fall.  Grain came in at the rate of 10,000 bushels per day during the very first threshing season.

Although a post office had been established in this area on December 15, 1886, with Robert Clendenning as postmaster, but discontinued October 31, 1902, now Lottie Posey was commissioned postmaster in this new town of Glenfield, receiving her commission on December 30, 1912.  She was to serve in this capacity until her retirement 46 years later.  During most of these 46 years, she combined the post office with her confectionery business and was one of Glenfield's very staunchest supporters.

New businesses continued to be added.  Mr. Meinke opened a meat market in the Thiede building, which had been moved to Main Street in 1914, and E.L. Buck moved a building from Courtenay and opened a blacksmith shop the same year Jay Robinson began operating the first garage in 1916 and Mr. Olinger opened a pool hall in the first hardware store in 1917.

The Glenfield Cooperative Company organized a fuel and lumberyard in 1918, with Ole Hedgeland manager.  Some changes were also made, the meat market being sold to Henry Brown, the hardware store to William and Albert Alley, who made a grocery and general store of it, and the Syverson store sold to Alfred Loken in 1922.  Indeed business flourished and Glenfield prospered.

In 1923 Andrew I. Sharpe of Shepard and John Berg of Cooperstown bought the Farmers Elevator, renaming it the Glenfield Grain Company.  This purchase was a boon to the village, as Mr. Sharpe added generators to the elevator's steam engines and began furnishing electricity to the entire town (from dark until midnight and all day Mondays and Tuesday‑ laundry days).  This would be the town's source of electricity until Rural Electrification would bring the medium to both farms and villages in the late 1930's.  This elevator, after several changes ‑ the last purchase by the Peavey Elevator Company ‑ and many, many additions; became one of the very largest grain‑buying centers in the Northwest.  A.I. Sharpe was the manager until his retirement 34 years later.  Harland Erickson was manager from that date (1957) until 1982.

During the early 1920's, two state highways, No. 7 (now 200) and No. 20, were surveyed, built, and graveled, their intersection placed at Glenfield.  Carl Nierenberg opened the town's first filling station at this point in 1926.

Glenfield gained a bit of notoriety throughout the state, and visitors flocked in droves to see the tall derrick‑type oil well that was drilled in 1927.  Although a water flow of 2,000,000 cubic feet, laced with a bit of oil, was reached at 3,000 feet in March 1928, the well had to shut down in July when Precambrian rock strata prevented further drilling.

Another newsworthy event occurred in 1928, when the First State Bank was robbed of $800 at gunpoint.  Bert Urban, the cashier, and Lee Dunbar, a customer, were found locked in the vault the next morning.

Although the economic crash of 1929 with subsequent depression followed by drought, ceaseless winds, and unequaled record heat waves meant disaster for the farming communities, somehow this town of Glenfield continued to grow.  Charley Thompson opened a harness shop in 1929 and A.J. Smith of Carrington opened a hardware store in 1931, with William R. Bronaugh as manager.

But then on May 10, 1932, the worst disaster of all struck as fire destroyed six buildings on Main Street: The Anderson Eat Shop, Smith's Hardware, Robichaud's Pool Hall and Barber Shop, Loken's Store, the Pramhus Cafe, and Thompson's Harness Shop.  The little town never did quite recover, though a few hardy individuals did start up new business in spite of the severe depression.  Alfred Loken moved a building into town for his grocery store

William Bronaugh brought an old building over from Melville and started his own hardware store

Myrl Posey set up a cream station and
Frank Glassner opened a barbershop.  Years later, and in better times, two liquor stores were added to Main Street„ and Andrew Sharpe built a new building for his insurance business.

The indomitable spirit of the pioneer has been a vital characteristic of the businessmen in this little community throughout its history, and that is undoubtedly why it survived economic crash and depression, drought, fire, and transportation improvements that took trade to larger centers.  The first of several promotional organizations was the Glenfield Community Club organized in 1934, with Lester Roach, Superintendent of Schools, as president.

In 1936 a Commercial Club was organized, its object to help make Glenfield Township and the village of Glenfield a more progressive community and sell ideas of cooperation and fellowship not only to local residents but to others in the surrounding territory."  E.E. Monagin was the first president

Ed Anderson the first "Tail‑Twister" or "emissary of good will" ‑ in other words, in charge of advertising and promotion.

A group of Glenfield townsmen were also instrumental in the organization and establishment of the Tri‑County Rural Electric Association which would make electricity available to rural residents of three counties (Foster, Eddy and Stutsman) hence its name.  It was incorporated on February 7, 1938, with its headquarters located in Glenfield in a small white frame building north of the elevators.  Five years later the headquarters would be moved to Carrington, a more centralized location.  Local men who devoted many hours and much effort to obtaining loan money from the Federal Rural Electrification Association to establish the local cooperative included A.I. Sharpe, W.R. Bronaugh, LeRoy Alfson, and Fred Berger.  A.I. Sharpe, in recognition of his great efforts in promoting and establishing the project, was named the first manager; he also served as a director for 25 years.  On the original Board of Directors were:

C.F. Bohner, W.R. Bronaugh, Jos. Kreps, Kermit Olsen, F.W. Stafford, Anton Stene, and Charles Hazlett.  It is almost hard to imagine in today's energy‑driven world, what a miracle that the first available electricity would seem to farmers in their trade‑ and, in fact, to all people in their day‑to‑day lives.

Following several years of planning and promotion, Glenfield was incorporated as a village in 1953, the first council members‑ Christ Christiansen, Andrew I. Sharpe, and James Bronaugh‑ being elected in 1954.  Upon the resignation of Christiansen, Lawrence Utke was elected to the council and was then named mayor in 1957.  He served as mayor until his death in 1972, and Harland Erickson, appointed in his place, has served as mayor ever since.  John Halvorson presently serves as auditor.

The tax benefits of being incorporated as a village have been many to Glenfield.  They have meant improvements like mercury street‑lighting, improved grading and graveling of streets (finally hard surfaced in 1982), city well‑ and sewage‑systems (meaning modern plumbing for all the homes), city fire department, low‑cost housing units, and improvements on its beautiful city park (the same park that was plotted by Lars Walen and planted by John Overbeck and Andrew Sharpe during the 1920's).

A Town and Country Club was organized in 1962, the promotion of community and good will its main goal.  It is known throughout the neighboring counties and over many states for the Harvest Festival it sponsors each July.  Kenneth Walen was the first president and Lawrence Utke the first secretary treasurer.  Currently LeRoy Johnson serves as president and Pamela Kolpin as secretary treasurer.

A Community Development Corporation was formed in 1975, its object to channel and to make use of federal funds for establishing new business in local communities.  Under its sponsorship these new industries have added to the growth of Glenfield: E&J Repair Shop, the Tufte Brothers, Manufacturing Company, and Wayne's Market.  Kenneth Walen is chairman of the corporation and Darold Anderson, Milton Walen, Herman Johnson, and Theodore Johnson serve on the board.

Another bond that has cemented the community and kept its life‑blood flowing is the intense interest in education from the earliest times and on.  The Glenfield School District was organized in May 1899, with three One‑room School houses to be built on Sections 8, 11, and 29 of those treeless plains.  By order of the County Commissioners, the first election was in October 1890, with Joseph Hoggarth chosen the first school board president.  Earliest records show that the school terms were short and held during the spring, summer, and fall months, with Maggie Walker, Alida Olson, and Ada Swank among the first teachers.  The first pupils listed were: 

School No. 1‑ Hilda, Ida, Clara, and Alma Ryum 

Bert, Elsie, Ralph and Paul Bonny

Dena, Lena, and Clarence Sandvold

Wesley, Flossie, John, Grave, and Edward Thurlow

School No. 2‑ Harry Walker

Agnes, Minnie, and Willie Johnson

Esther and Elvira Erickson

Thea and Thorvel Thompson

Martin, Mabel, Thea and Anne Torgerson

Amy, Isa, and Mattie Harding

Robert and William Turner and
Herbert Strong

School No. 3‑ Velma, Verna, Sarah, and Harry McDaniel

Joe, Lizzie, Alice, Elmer, and Tommie Ahern and
Nellie Cupps
After several years of short and indefinite terms of school, it was decided that now, with Glenfield a thriving community, consolidating the three rural schools into one large one would provide better education for the children.  Following an election in June 1913, the Thiede School was moved into town and used as the first consolidated school of Glenfield School District.  The first term was conducted from January until June 1914, and by November 1914, a new, imposing brick structure was ready for all the children in Glenfield Township.  Lottie Posey, postmaster, was hired to teach the first and second grades

Minnie Moffit, the upper grades; and in January 1915, Percy Heaney was added to the staff.  To provide transportation to school for the outlying rural students, horse‑drawn buses were implemented‑ wagons in the spring and fall, and sleighs in the winter.

Two years of high school were added in 1918, with Esther Johnson the teacher.  A third year was added in 1927‑28, and in 1930 the first senior class was graduated.  Members of this first class were Dorothy Dunbar, Clara Halvorson, Elva Hendrickson, Margaret Johnson, and Hazel Martin.

As the population of the community increased, so did the enrollment grow, and the original schoolhouse became too small.  The first of several additions was built in 1928, and in 1930 the old Congregational Church across the road was purchased for use as a gymnasium.  In 1952 a new gymnasium, which at long last meant modern facilities for the entire schoolhouse, was added, built largely through the volunteer labor of deeply interested patrons.

Reorganization of school districts in North Dakota became the trend in the 1950's, and Glenfield, with its now‑dwindling enrollment, was no exception.  A final election in 1961 combined the school districts of Glenfield and neighboring Sutton into one, the first six grades placed in Sutton and grades 7‑12 in Glenfield.  A modern, well‑equipped addition was built at Glenfield with curriculum, activities, and facilities greatly expanded.  Glenfield‑Sutton earned an accredited rating among the schools of North Dakota, which it has maintained ever since.  Ray Starks was the superintendent through these years of change and improvement.

Because of still‑declining enrollments and scarcity of money, further changes have had to be made these last years.  The grades at Sutton were moved to Glenfield in 1978, and in 1980 the school began a trial merger with the McHenry School District, the grades being located in McHenry and the high school classes in Glenfield.  The Glenfield‑Sutton-McHenry School (G‑S‑M) is still offering excellent education to its children.

Historically, every change made in the school has been done with the children in mind.  Providing them with the best possible education within their means has been the responsibility of the consecutive school boards‑ Joseph Hoggarth was president of the board when the school district was organized

John Dybwad, August Johnson, and Carl Erickson were board members when the district was first consolidated.  Pat Biggerstaff, Andrew Sharpe, Lars Walen, and Elmer Walen were board members who served the district the greatest number of years.  Harland Erickson, who has been clerk continuously since 1946, has served the greatest number of years of all.

As education was important, so has been the church in providing strength and stability to the community throughout its history.  Although the Congregational Church did not survive, the Lutheran Church did, and it remains a vital spiritual entity today.  Meeting first in the schoolhouse, the Lutherans had their church built in 1917, calling‑it the Glenfield Lutheran Church.  The first board was composed of John Broten, John Dybwad, Lars Walen, and Elmer Walen.  These families, plus the Andrew Dybwads, the A.L. Walens, the Henry Walens, Adolph Walens, and Christ Larsons comprised the list of charter members.  Because the congregation was so small, it was served by ministers from neighboring parishes like Cooperstown, Binford, and McHenry, and regular Sunday services were difficult to maintain.  When the Reverend M.B. Ordahl moved to Glenfield in 1934, services were conducted more regularly, but keeping the minister in Glenfield lasted but a few years.

In 1957, however, following the organization of a new three‑point parish, the churches of Glenfield, Grace City, and James River purchased a home in Glenfield to be used as a parsonage, and a minister has lived in town ever since.  The first minister to serve these three churches was the Reverend Harry Tuff, and it was during his ministry that a new church was built.  An attractive, modern structure seating 175 at a cost of $40,000 was voted upon in July 1959, and completed by the end of the year.  The Reverend Don Newman is the present pastor of this strong and thriving congregation.  In all areas, growth and improvement have been the hallmark of the Glenfield people and the Glenfield community.

In a final retrospective, then, this brief look at the history of Glenfield, seemingly such a small dot on the vast North Dakota prairies, can be seen, in reality, to be a mirror of the broader history of all Foster County‑ and America in general.  It is a history of people who came to a barren plains and built progressive, thriving towns and lush grain bearing fields.  It is a story of poor, non‑English-speaking immigrants who established schools and churches and newspapers and libraries that their children might be among the best‑educated in today's world.  It is a tribute to the spirit and courage and determination of these pioneers who made a better life for themselves and a better world for all of us.
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Haven Township

Haven Township is bordered by Larrabee to the north, Bucephalia to the south, Rolling Prairie to the east and Rose Hill to the west.

The township was named after Joseph Haven, a soldier in the Civil War, who came to the area March 27, 1894 to homestead on Section 18.

The landscape is valley land with the usual steep slopes extending back two miles on each side of an almost level valley bottom.

The James River flows through the township.  The River provided fish for the early settlers.  Mr. R. Spickler tells this story:

"There were lots of fish in the river.  The spring of 1899 people would go to the creek that runs from the Lake Juanita to the river and throw them out with a fork."  This proved to be a great asset to the early pioneers' diet.

Kelly Creek also is found in the area and provided drainage.  Jack Lake, a small body of water is located on Southeast 33.

Highway No. 200 crosses the township from east to west.  The James River Lutheran Church is located on Section 23 and the James River Brethren

Church was located on Section 20.

Special Farm Names

	1910
	1910 
	1980

	Fairview Farm N 6 
	John Schlotman 
	Ralph Schlotman

	Sunnyside Farm Northwest 22 
	David Graham 
	Glenn Lindstrom

	Willow Grove Farm Southwest 21 
	John Newton 
	Clifford Thurlow
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Township Organization

Haven was officially organized March 18, 1919.  The first officers were: 
Chris Saxlund, Chairman; 
Sigvart Holland, E.A. Randklev, supervisors

Gus Berglund, Clerk.  He moved away and Harry Black was appointed clerk.  There was some discussion as to whether or not Mr. Black could serve because he was 18 years old.  He went on to be clerk for years.

Present officers are: 
Clerk, Arnid Ellingson

Treasurer Clifford Ellingson

Supervisors, Bill Scanson, Glenn Lindstrom and Owen Thurlow
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Haven Schools

Haven School District was organized August 2, 1898 with the following officers: 
Directors, C.A. Parker, Jay Blakely, Robert Haven, president 

Mrs. E.E. (George) Black, clerk and
Mrs. Jane Haven, treasurer 
The first term was four months in 1899 with Miss Ruby Roland, the teacher.  The schoolhouse was built on the south side of section 17.  The girls of the school named it "Violet Mudhole" as it was a flat, muddy playground with lots of violets in the spring.

This school was moved to Section 29 in 1910.  In 1919 a new consolidated school was built at a price of $6,000.  Miss Alice Tucker was the teacher.  The old building was sold to the highest bidder.  Classes were held in this building until the district reorganized in 1960 with the Carrington School District.  It is now used for township elections.

The school served other functions, too.  The James River Brethren Church used this facility for services and for their Sunday school.  The community also held programs, spelling bees, and was the scene of the meetings for the Literary Society.

In later years a Summer Ecumenical Bible School was conducted by Miss Helen Langseth for the young people in the community.  As many as five different religions were represented.  Some of the older children would assist with the teaching of the classes.  Besides learning about the Bible they learned songs and games, and made different craft articles.  The school would last for a week in the summer.

Haven No. 2 held its first term in 1900 on Section 12.  The first teacher was Miss Johnson.  Classes were held in the Sigvart Holland home in 1903.

Mrs. Daniel Leedy and Mrs. Albert Harding organized a Sunday school and church services were also held in this schoolhouse, as well as ice cream socials and box lunch parties.

Haven No. 3 was built on Section 8 in 1910.  The first term lasted for six months with Miss Sanburg the first teacher.  This part of Haven School District organized with Grace City in 1950.
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Historical Sites

The Fort Totten Trail followed the James River through Haven Township.  The Trail crossed the River at Bowman's Ford which was located just south of where Billie Scanson now lives.  Mr. Bowman kept a tavern and a half‑way house here for the comfort of the people traveling on the Trail.  Parts of the Trail are still visible south of Highway No. 200 a short way along the River.

There have been found square stones placed in the earth at regular intervals, outlining a square 16 by 16 feet where stood the tents of Sibley's men as they camped on their way to fight the Indians.  These tents were placed straight with the world according to army regulations.  It was located just south of the highway along the River.
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Material Discovered to Make Bricks

In 1913 excitement ran high in Haven Township when an inexhaustible deposit of material that could be used for making bricks was discovered.  The shale deposit was tested and found to be the type to make the highest grade of pressed brick, with a possibility of forming the highest ingredient of Portland cement.

The shale deposits covered some 200 acres on sections 19 and 30.  It extended at least 70 feet down.  The soil cover varied from two to twenty feet.

Working on the project was Henry Ewen, Jay Blakely, and T.N. Putnam.  Mr. Ewen took several hundred pounds to Chicago and had the material made into bricks.  They were pale red in color, smooth and of as fine a quality as made anywhere.

Reasons are not clear why the development of the brick factory was curtailed.  Some speculation was the lack of funds or the distance from the railroad.  For whatever reasons, the deposit was never developed.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 303

Survey

The survey report was filed at Yankton, Dakota Territory on February 27, 1883.  The area was surveyed by Charles Scott and E.S. Sturtevant, subdivisions, and north, south, and east lines in October 1882.  The west line was measured by Milton Nye, June 1882.

There are 23,007.26 acres in Haven Township.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 304

Haven Post Office

The first Rural Post office for Rose Hill and Haven townships was established at Henry Ewen's corner in section 36, Rose Hill in 1893.  It was discontinued in 1895.  Then it was re‑established at Joseph Haven residence on Section 18 in Haven Township on October 3, 1896 and was named after Mr. Haven.  It continued at this place until April 25, 1901 when it was moved to Frank Settle's home 1/2 mile east on Section 18 and was named Maria in 1902, but the order rescinded in 1902.  It was the moved to Daniel Leedy home on Section 8, March 4, 1904 and was discontinued January 21, 1905.  Then it was at Christian Saxlund's home on Section 8 for two months.  It then went to the C. A. Parker home on Section 12 and was named Annie April 11, 1905.  Mrs. Parker was the postmistress.  It was discontinued in 1907.

Rural Route 3 out of Carrington was started with Mr. and Mrs. Blake, .carriers.

Ivan Sheets carried mail for Blakes in 1911‑1913.  In December 1919 Ivan Sheets became the regular carrier.  He carried until retiring in 1959.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 304

James River Lutheran Church

James River Lutheran Church was organized July 31, 1918, Pastor Eidbo presiding.  A few years before this church was organized they had services at the Haven No. 3 schoolhouse as a Mission Point.  Rev. F.A. Haugen was the first regular pastor.

The church was built in 1919 and on Section 23 of Haven district.  It was formally dedicated by the Rev. Dr. David Stove, president of the Evangelical Lutheran church of the North Dakota District.  They also organized a Ladies Aid, Sunday school and Luther League.

Pastors were: 
Rev. T.A. Haugen 
H.N. Waugen 
G.L. Halmorst 
E.E. Eidbo 
John Meling 
Raymone Boagard 
A.C. Balog 
Harry Tuff

There were 27 charter members, some of whom were: 
Mr. and Mrs. John Munson, 
John Munson, Jr.

Mr. and Mrs. Sigvard Holland

Mr. and Mrs. Joe Busch

Mr. and Mrs. John Bushy, 
Fanuel, Gunder, and Ingvald Ellingson

Mr. and Mrs. Arne Ravendal, 
Mr. and Mrs. Martin Nevland

Harold Nevland

Mr. and Mrs. Isaak Nysted and
Mr. and Mrs. Nels Anderson

Mr. and Mrs. Chris Erickson
The church was closed for regular services in August 1968.  It still stands there, not in use.  They also have a cemetery there.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 304

Church of the Brethren, Foster County

From 1896 until 1902 the church of the Brethren was just one large church with two mission points, one in Wells County where Elders George Clapper and William McCann served the group.  Elder D.H. Niccum would drive out to Haven No. 1 schoolhouse to preach for a group until 1902.  He moved to a farm in Bucephalia Township.  In 1902 the members of Carrington church and mission points decided to circulate a petition to see if a church should be organized at both mission points.  John W. Schlotman circulated the petition in the east district, the Bordulac Road being the dividing line between Carrington and James River Church.  It was decided by all members to organize three churches.  In 1902 the James River church was organized with Elder D.H. Niccum, the first pastor.  Christian Blocher and Daniel Leey were deacons.  Mr. Alfred Kreps was elected to the ministry in 1903 and John N. Whipple and Alfred Whipple were elected deacons at the same time.

Daniel Leedy was the first Sunday school superintendent.  The group continued to meet in Haven school No. 1 until about 1905 or 1906 when a church was built and dedicated August 25, 1907 on Section 20 Haven township.  Elder S.N. McCann preached the dedication sermon.  He was a missionary to India.

Charter members were Mr. and Mrs. Daniel Leedy, daughters, Effie and Florence

Mr. and Mrs. Alfred Kreps

Mr. and Mrs. Frank Settle

Mr. and Mrs. John N. Whipple

Alfred and Gertrude Whipple

Mr. and Mrs. William Boyd

Mr. and Mrs. Christian Blocher and sons, Clinton, and Chris

Alfred Pratt

Mr. and Mrs. D.M. Graham

Elder and Mrs. Niccum
Services were held continually until about 1940.  In 1917 this Sunday school and church was the second largest in Foster County - the Methodist in Carrington being larger.

Many members of other churches attended this church.  In 1943 the church was wrecked by a tornado.  A new fence was put around the cemetery in 1969.

This Brethren church merged with the one in Carrington from then on.  That church was sold to the Calvary Baptist congregation.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 304

Church of the Brethren Cemetery

Section 20 Haven Township
George W. Fogle b. February 2, 1849 d. June 1904 

Robert Hightower b. 1872 d. 1931 

Ellen Blakely b. 1853 d. 1940 

Mary K. Graham b. 1860 d. 1912 

Sarah Spacht Blocher b. July 11, 1844 d. August 18, 1910 

John Umplhlet b. 1843 d.1916 

Lyndon Raymon Graham b. December 8, 1908 d. July 31, 1913 son of Levi Graham 

Arthur David Graham b.1918 d.1918 baby of William Graham 

Louis Dugan 

Mr. Reed 

Althea Schlotman d.1941 baby of Glenn Schlotman 

Lucy Whipple b. June 19, 1880 d. March 7, 1904 wife of Alfred Whipple 

Duane Stone baby 

John Fenneman b. February 8, 1870 d. July 7, 1912 

Alfred Pratt b. 1857 d. January 20, 1913 

Nelson French Ida Pratt b. 1858 d. May 8, 1920 

Merty Black b. January 2, 1880 d. March 24, 1902 

Paul Elton Baby 1911 

Henry Beaver b. December 7, 1829 d. December 13, 1897 

Marian Beaver b. September 7, 1837 d. March 28, 1912 

Edith Pratt b. July 6 d. Aug. 18, 1907 

Hubert Ruble b. July 9, 1905 d. September 11, 1906 

Leona Pearl Stedman b. February 10, 1920 d. April 30, 1926

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 306

Haven Township Land Acquisition

Township 146 ‑ 64

	Year and Name
	Section

	1883
	

	Oscar Mark
	6

	Julia Olsen
	 6

	
	

	1884
	

	Frank Settle 
	 16

	
	

	1892
	

	Sevi Semm
	

	
	

	1899
	

	Fred M. Van Bergan
	10

	
	

	1900
	

	Jay Blakely
	 30

	Walter Haven
	 30

	
	

	1901
	

	Christin Saxland
	8

	Moriah M. Beaver 
	 10

	William Boyd
	18

	Herman Pergand
	18

	
	

	1902
	

	Jacob McGrew 
	 2

	Elizabeth Harbottle
	 8

	Andrew Bonderude
	14

	Mrs. E.L. Blakely & Charley Lynn 
	 20 

	George W. Haven 
	 32

	
	

	1903
	

	Daniel M. Horney
	 2 

	Jacob McGrew 
	2 

	Peter Bonderude
	 4 

	John Whipple
	 4 

	Ed Randklev
	 4 

	Columbus A. Foster 
	 12 

	James S. Potter
	 12 

	Augustine Millman 
	14 

	Frank Settle
	 18 

	Isac B. Nystad
	 20 

	Segvart Holland 
	 22 

	Clarence Ayars
	 24 

	Lizzie Wilman
	 28 

	Michael Williamson 
	 28 

	William Sohm 
	 28 

	Christin Blocker
	 32

	
	

	1904
	

	Claude E. Phelps 
	10 

	Clarence Parker 
	 12 

	Joseph Hamel
	 14 

	Sarah A. Briggs 
	 24 

	Charles Campbell
	 26

	
	

	1905
	

	James Wentworth
	 12 

	Elgin B. Lichtenwalter
	22 

	Gregory Bachman
	 26 

	Albert Harding
	 26

	
	

	1907
	

	Alfred M. Whipple
	 4

	Isac M. Merkel
	4

	John Schlotman 
	4

	Claude E. Phelps
	10 

	Paul W. Edwards
	 10 

	Nels Christiansen 
	14

	Jacob Gilbertson
	22

	James Harding
	26

	
	

	1908
	

	David M. Graham 
	22

	
	

	1909
	

	John Newton
	10

	Fred Johnson 
	28

	
	

	1910
	

	Christian B locker
	

	
	

	1911 
	

	Aaron Blocker
	28


Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 306

Teachers Haven Township

1914 - 1915

Rudolph Schmidt $60

Audrey Copper $55

Margaret Johndahl $65

1915 - 1916

Albert Johnson $60

Martina Severson

Ruth M. Hubbard $65

1916 - 1917

Jeannette Yaeger $65

Audrey Copper $60

Byron Metcals $55

1917 - 1918

Jeannette Yaeger $70

Audrey Copper $62

James Buer $75

Beth Peterson $62

1918 - 1919

Lillian Novacek $75

Beth Peterson

Florence Maynard

Eileen Murphy

1919 - 1920

Alice Tucker $80

Eileen Murphy

Lillian Larson

Henry Braudkorst $90

1920 - 1921

Veronica Pinter $95

Beth Peterson $125

Edna O'Leary $105

1921 - 1922

Donald Ferguson $110

C.B. Clark

Esther Priess

Grace Penoyer

Mildred Burk

1922 - 1923

Alpha Amundson $90

Ruth Johnson

Carl Hightower

1923 - 1924

Ina Brown $90

Lillie Wallen

Allie Hightower

1924 - 1945

Lillie Walen $85

Idella Florhaug

Ina Brown

Anna Nysted

1925 - 1926

Iva Brown $80

Irene Corbe

Anna Nysted

1926 - 1927

Anna Nysted

Myrtle Schmid

Anna Ferguson

1927 - 1928

Cecelia Gauderman $85

Ethel Nysted

Marie Triechel

1928 - 1929

Mildred Pierson $85 

Geneva Jones

Ethel Nystad

Cecelia Gauderman 

1929 - 1930

Cecelia Gauderman $85

Mary Grove

Betsy Odlund

1930 - 1931

Lillian Haugedahl

Rose Elton

Alta Thompson

1931 - 1932

Gladys Schlotman $85

Alta Thompson

Rose Elton

1932 - 1933

Alta Thompson

Gladys Schlotman

Gladys Smythe

1933 - 1934

Elsie Rovndal $60

Alta Thompson

Gladys Smythe

1934 - 1935

Myrtle Eriksen $60

Dorothy Ferguson

Geneva Jones

Elsie Rovndal

1935 - 1936

Marjorie Dean $65

Lawrence Jacobs

Geneva Jones

1936 - 1937

Lawrence Jacobs $65

Marjorie Dean

Dorothy Johnson

1937 - 1938

Dorothy Johnson $65

Lawrence Jacobs

Eileen Pederson

1938 - 1939

Dorothy Johnson $75

Eileen Peterson

Lawrence Jacobs

1939 - 1940

Edna Swearinger $70

Mildred Swearinger

1940 - 1941

Mildred Swearinger

Edna Swearinger

1941 - 1942

Lyla Nelson $70

Bernice Langseth

1942 - 1943

Helene Footitt $95

Selma Neuman $90

1943 - 1944

Dorothy Lowe $115

Dorothy Schafer

1932 - 1933

Alta Thompson

Gladys Schlotman

Gladys Smythe

1933 - 1934

Elsie Rovndal $60

Alta Thompson

Gladys Smythe

1934 - 1935

Myrtle Eriksen $60

Dorothy Ferguson

Geneva Jones

Elsie Rovndal

1935 - 1936

Marjorie Dean $65

Lawrence Jacobs

Geneva Jones

1936 - 1937

Lawrence Jacobs $65

Marjorie Dean

Dorothy Johnson

1937 - 1938

Dorothy Johnson $65

Lawrence Jacobs

Eileen Pederson

1938 - 1939

Dorothy Johnson $75

Eileen Peterson

Lawrence Jacobs

1939 - 1940

Edna Swearinger $70

Mildred Swearinger

1940 - 1941

Mildred Swearinger

Edna Swearinger

1941 - 1942

Lyla Nelson $70

Bernice Langseth

1942 - 1943

Helene Footitt $95

Selma Neuman $90

1943 - 1944

Dorothy Lowe $115

Dorothy Schafer

Marian Schafer

Dorothy Posey

1944 - 1945

Dorothy Posey $175

Dorothy Quenemoen

Einar Pedersen

1945-46

Helen Zarn $135

Edna Swearinger $140

Julia Burenbaum $150

Mildred Ferguson $140

1946-47
Winnifred Scanson $140

Julia Birabaum $150

Mrs. Lucille Rotz $140

Edna Swearinger $140

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 306

Haven Township Land Ownership in 1910 and 1980

Township 146-64

	Section
	1910
	1980

	1
	Moody & Woodford
R.H. Speckler
	Elroy Ellingson


	2
	Edward Annis
R.H. Speckler
W.T. Holliday
	Elroy Ellingson



	3

	D.S.B. Johnston Land Company
	Billie Scanson

	4
	P.O. Boderud
Ed. A. Randklev
J.N. Whipple
A.M. Whipple
	Orville Holland
Ray Hoffman
Cecelia House


	5
	First National Bank, Cgtn.
M. Saxland
George Meadowcraft
	Ray Hoffman 
Gary Stedman 
Elsie Saxland

	6
	John Schlotman
George Ruble
H.S. Ewen
Max McMiller
	Ralph Schlotman 
Jack Rosenau 
Elsie Saxland


	7
	H.S. Ewen
Christian Saxland
	Jack Rosenau 
Elsie Saxland

	8
	Christian Saxland
D. Leedy
Isaac Harbottle
E.A. Roach
	David Stedman 
Ray Hoffman 
Clifford Ibsen

	9
	J.N. Whipple
Alfred M. Whipple
Foster County Bank

	Ray Hoffman 
Clifford Ibsen 
Ole Holland 
Orville Holland

	10
	C.F. Bibow 
C.K. Wing 
Amos F. Norton 
M. Boulone
	Leo & James Fornshell 
Orville Holland 
Glenn Lindstrom


	11
	George Heaton
	David Manz

	12
	Ed A. Johnson 
Preston Garland 
C.A. Parker
	Carl Stangeland 
Emma Stokes


	13
	Moody & Woodford


	Allan Scanson 
Leo Gauderman 
Edward Gauderman

	14
	C.G. Bibow 
James Hannel 
Preston Garland 
W.C. Christianson
	Allan Scanson




	15
	Sigvert Holland
	Glenn Lindstrom

	16
	School Land

	Bernhart Nysted 
Owen Thurlow

	17
	O.P. Enerson



	Clifford Grager 
Clifford Ibsen 
Larry Schroeder 
Owen Thurlow

	18
	Oscar Elton 
Alfred Kreps 
Chaffee Brothers Company 
Herman Pergande
	Keith Stedman




	19
	Carrington & Casey Land Company
Isac Nysted 
Alfred Pratt
	Richard Nysted
Jeff Jensen 
Howard & Myron Reimers

	20
	Joy Blakely
Isac Nysted 
Mrs. E.L. Blakely 
Lydia Moody
	Evan Brown 
Bernhart Nysted 
Marvin Hoffman


	21
	McLain County Townsite
John Newton 
Katherine Hahna
	Clifford Thurlow



	22
	David Graham
E.A. Roach 
Sigvart Holland
	Glenn Lindstrom 
William Zink


	23
	Sigvart Holland
D.A. Langworthy

	Glenn Lindstrom
David Manz
Richard Topp

	24
	John T. Ayars 
Marion Ayars 
Strong & Kerr 
Thomas J. Sabey
	Vernon Topp
Clifford Ellingson



	25
	Thomas J. Sabey 
H.M. Tucker
	Einar & Arvid Ellingson
Clifford Ellingson

	26
	C.S. Campbell 
I.E. Merkel 
Albert Harding 
J.W. Harding
	Einar & Arvid Ellingson




	27
	H.H. Preston
	William Zink

	28
	A.L. Blocker 
Christ Blocker 
William Sohm 
Lizzie Wellman 
George Sohm
	Clifford Thurlow
Owen Thurlow




	29
	Gustav Zink 
R.S. Luchenwaller

	Harold Zink
Marvin Hoffman
Annie Reimers

	30
	George Black 
Jay Blakely 
Mertie Black
	Evan Brown
Howard Myron Reimers


	31
	Ransom County Immigration Company
	Gary Rosenau

	32
	Lydia Blocker 
J.H. Fueger 
Christian Blocker 
Marian Hightower
	Leo Zink
Soren Clausen
Clarence Schroeder


	33
	Adams Whitaker & Haiden
	Henry Zink

	34
	Katherine Hahna 
Fred Neck 
H.G. Pratt 
C.F. Bibow 
A.T. Johnson
	Charlie Gader





	35
	H.N. Tucker
	Charlie Gader

	36
	School Land


	Richard Topp
Charles Bata Jr.
Einar & Arvid Ellingson


Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 307

Larrabee Township 

Township 147‑64

Larrabee Township is bordered on the north by Eddy County, east by Florence, south by Haven and west by Nordmore.

The landscape is valley land with the usual steep slopes extending back two miles on each side of almost level valley bottom.  It is drained by the James River, which flows through the township.

Blue Cloud Lake is located on Sections 13‑23‑24.  Rusten Slough is found on Sections 18‑19.  The Northeast quarter of section 19 is designated as the State Game and Fish Land.

The Great Northern Railroad passes through the township.

The survey report was filed at Yankton, Dakota Territory on February 27, 1883.  The subdivisions were surveyed by Charles Scott and E.S. Sturtevant as well as the north, south and west boundaries, in October 1882.  The west boundary was measured by Milton Nye in June 1882.

There are 22,916.22 acres in the township.

William Larrabee, who lived on the Southeast 25, was the only settler here when the land was surveyed.  In 1900 there were 56 open quarters.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 310

Township Organization

On January 16, 1919 a petition signed by 61 legal voters was presented to the County Commissioners stating that they wished to become a civil township.  It was the eleventh township to be so organized.  The first officers were: 

Supervisors: E.G. Scanson, J.J. McGrath, and Gus Luttschwager. 
Treasurer, G.C. Gury

Clerk, G.C. Black

Constables, F.A. Trembley and Earl Molyneaux

Justices of the peace, C.F. Burk and G.K. Ness
1982 officers are: 
Clerk‑treasurer Joan Heckaman

Supervisors, Dwight Wright, Ervin Topp and Mark Anderson, Chairman

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 310

Larrabee Schools

By Bessie Sandvol

Little is known of the first schools but we do know that Mrs. Larrabee taught her children and later some of the neighbors' children.  The first schoolhouse was a log house built on what is now the Spickler farm and one of the first teachers was Mrs. Hiram D. Warren.

Larrabee School District was organized March 19, 1884 with William H. Larrabee, George Backen and Herbert Smith as school officers.  The district consisted of all of Dewey (Florence) township and that part of Larrabee north and east of the James River.

Sometimes the school houses would be moved a mile or two so that children wouldn't have so far to walk.  The schools were numbered and named as follows

School No. 1, Backen: located south of what is now Leo Gauderman farm.

School No. 2, Black: located 1/4 mile west of Ervin Topps, it is part of the Lloyd Jensen farm home.

School No. 3, Lowden: On Russell Otto's land 1/2 mile east of what is now Mark Anderson farm
School No. 4, Larrabee: 1/2 mile north of Grace City on what is now Merlin House land.

School No. 5, Simpson: located near what is now the Carl Pewe farm on Section 22‑147‑63.  It had a two-acre schoolyard.

The first school census was in 1899 with 24 pupils.

On the 10th of May 1913, a petition signed by 49 of the legal voters in the district was presented to the school board asking that an election be called to vote on the question of bonding the district for $7000 for the purpose of building a consolidated school at Grace City.  The election was held and passed on June 3, 1913.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 310

Larrabee Township

By Paul Black

Here in this part of Foster County some of the earliest and most interesting history has taken place.  One of the reasons for this is the geography of the area.  There are the hills, Lake Juanita, and the James River.  Also the first so-called highway in the county, the Fort Totten Trail was first used through here in the early 1870s.

The earliest recorded expeditions passing through Foster County was that of Gov. Isaac I. Stevens, who in 1853 was on his way to the west coast.  They passed just north of Grace City on their way west.  Also in 1862 Captain James L. Fisk led a party of gold miners through here using much the same route as Stevens.  They camped at the north end of Lake Juanita and gave the lake its first name of Townsend after an U.S. Army officer.  Lake Juanita has had four names, Townsend, Belland, Smith and Juanita.

The name Belland came from Henry Belland who was supposed to be the first white man here to live in Foster County.  He was a squaw man and lived in a dugout on the west side of Lake Juanita.  The dugout can still be seen.

The name Smith came from E. Delfield Smith and brother Herbert who lived on the east side of the lake in the early 1880s.

Later it was changed to Juanita by the editor of the McHenry Tribune.

In the early 1870s a military road was established between Fort Seward at Jamestown and Fort Totten.  Eighteen miles of this went through Foster County and was called the Fort Totten Trail.  It entered Foster County on the south edge of section 34 in Bucephalia Township.  Going north it followed the James River on the east through Haven Township to Lake Juanita where the Larrabee relay station was established.  From there the trail forked, one going on the west side of the lake and the other on the east.  They met then in Eddy County going on north.

In 1876 a small distance south of Lake Juanita, on the Northeast part of the Southeast 1/4 of section 25‑147‑64 the Larrabee relay station was built.

Here in the first frame house built in Foster County, lived the Larrabee family.  They were the first white family here and Mrs. Larrabee was the only white woman in the county for three years.  On May 12, 1877 the first white child in the county was born to the Larrabee family.  His name was Berkley Terry Larrabee.  Mail and passengers were carried through on the Fort Totten Trail.  At that time, the only post office in the county was at Larrabee's.

In the early 1880s a schoolhouse was built near the Larrabee station.  The first school board in 1884 consisted of W.H. Larrabee, Herbert Smith and George Backen.  The school district consisted of all of Dewey and the portion of Larrabee Township north of James River.

Settlers coming up on the Fort Totten Trail found places to live nearby but many left when conditions got tough.

In 1885 the Larrabee house burned down and the family moved east.  Today the place is just a bare field.

Before Larrabee left he sold his holdings to Hiram Warren, a Civil War veteran.  He became the postmaster of the area and had a store selling supplies to the settlers.

When the railroad came into Carrington and Devils Lake in the early 1880s, the traffic on the Fort Totten became much less and the road was used mostly by settlers moving into the area.

Some of the early settlers arriving in Larrabee township in the period between when Larrabee left through 1900 were the families of Hans Westerlund, Ellis Willoughby, Ole Elton, Helmer and Hans Bonderud, Andrew Jenson, Henry and Ed Scanson, George Fogel, Perry and Elmer Molyneaux, O.A. Dahl, Burt Anderson, William Black, Old Peterson, Jerome Warren, John Look, George Trembley and James Haley.

The next period 1900 through 1910 families coming were Guttrom, Scanson, George Emhoff, George Steadman, Walter and Grover C. Black, John Lindstrom, Olaf Melby, Charles Bohner, Fred Fenneman, Tom and Alvin Dahl, Frank Burk and Ed Taylor.

Mail to the area was first brought up from Jamestown to the Larrabee relay station.

After 1882 mail was carried to inland post offices from Carrington.

The Larrabee Post office was established in the home of different settlers.  The names of the postmasters up until the Grace City post office was established were: 

William Larrabee, 1882

Herbert Smith, 1886

Hiram Warren, 1887

Jerome Warren, 1896

William Black, 1906 and
Ole Bonderud, 1908
In 1910‑1920 more settlers came including Dan Flatters, Claus Otto, Gus Luttschwager, Milo Halsey, Ernest Johnson, A.R. Kistler, William Miller, Dave Martin, Clarence Chapman and Carl Thorton.

In the township as elsewhere, the early houses were made of sod, some tar paper shacks and a few frame houses.

In 1887 James Haley built a frame house on his homestead northeast of Grace City.  When Haley sold out, Ellis Willoughby bought the house and moved it on his homestead.  The house, which was added onto, now stands on the Calvin Topp farm and is the oldest building in Larrabee Township.

Larrabee Township had three country schoolhouses built around 1900.  When the township was consolidated into the Larrabee school district in 1914, these school buildings were not used so were sold.

W.W. Potter bought one and was moved to Brantford; Andrew Jenson bought one and built it onto his house.  The schoolhouse next to Grace City was moved into town and used for a Catholic Church for a few years.  Later it was moved out and used for a granary.  It is now on the Gary Stedman farm where it was fixed up and used for housing for hired help.

In 1910, the Great Northern Railroad started constructing the roadbed through the township and by 1912 the rails were laid.

In the Melby Hills in Larrabee township is a graveyard that was found.  The graves are placed in rows with crosses in the earth between the graves.  These graves might be those of white men who had died in fighting the Indians.  Skeletons have been unearthed here.  Beaded bags of Indians have also been found here.

School district organized 1884.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 310

Grace City Poem

 (From the Grace City Gazette, March 2, 1916 Northeast 1/4 section 15 except for the 18.29 acres the edition: Poem by gentleman visiting P.A. Gordon by Great Northern purchased. the name of Mr. Johnson) 

Take me back to dear Grace City
Where the air is pure and sweet; 
Where the people are so pleasant
They will meet you with a greet.

Where the water is so healthy, 
And as cold and clear as ice; 
Come and make your home among us, 
You will think it very nice.

Come and camp at Lake Juanita, 
Where fishing is so fine, 
Catching perch and pike and pickerel, 
With some bait, hook and line.

Here are ducks and geese and chickens, 
That will make the hunter smile, 
When you see the game before you, 
You will want to stay awhile.

If you are a hustling farmer, 
And are seeking for some land, 
Here is black loam in plenty, 
Minus Alkalai and sand.

(This was a promotional edition trying to entice settlers to come to this area.)

Grace City

By Bessie Sandvol
(From Abstract)

A patent given by United States by Grover Cleveland, president, M. McKena, secretary to Northern Pacific Railroad Company.  

Patent Book "D" Deeds page 400, Dated December 26, 1895.  

Filed December 31, 1895 at 3 p.m. Range no. 64 containing 640 acres and other land.

After all claims are quieted the northeast No. 15 was sold to D.S.B. Johnston Land Company, a corporation for $660

Dated September 7, 1901; Filed October 10, 1901.  D.S.B. Johnston Land Company gave a Warranty Deed: Dated August 20, 1901; Filed September 6, 1901 consideration $13,200 to John William Bennett.

John William Bennet and Lana, his wife gave Warren Buck a Warranty Deed November 26, 1901 filed December 2, 1901, Consideration $3,125.

A Warranty deed, dated April 5, 1910 filed April 13, 1910 was given by Warren T. Buck and M.J. Buck, his wife, to Dakota and Great Northern Townsite Company, a corporation, consideration, and $3,200.

The Dakota and Great Northern Townsite Company gave a deed dated May 10, 1910 filed May 19, 1910 to the Great Northern Railway Company and corporation, 18.29 acres.

Dakota and Great Northern Townsite Company gave Deed dated May 12, 1910 consideration $1 to the Foster County Realty Company the south 1/2 of the Northeast 1/4 Section 15 except for the 18.29 acres the Great Northern purchased.

The Foster County Realty Company

A corporation

By Harry C. Sexton, president

To
Public

Plat Book "1" of plats page 18 Dated June 16, 1910

Filed June 16, 1910 at 6 o'clock p.m.

Two witnesses,

Corporate seal

Acknowledged June 17, 1910 by Harry C. Sexton,

President before J. Harry Johnson, Notary Public,

Eddy County, North Dakota

This is to certify that the Foster County Realty Company, a corporation, proprietor of all that part of the southeast 1/4 of section No. 15 township no. 147, Range no. 64 described as follows: Commencing at the Southeast corner of said quarter section, thence north on the east line of said quarter section 1278.21 feet to the northerly line of the right of way of the Great Northern Railway Company thence north 58 55 feet west on said right of way line 1182.19 feet to an iron monument at the point of beginning of land to be described, thence north 58 55 feet west on said right of way line 1472.69 feet to the north line of said quarter section; thence south 89 55 feet east on said north line 1719.23 feet thence south 30 05 feet west 885.47 to point of beginning containing 14.978 acres. Also all that part of the northeast 1/4 of afore said section described as follows: Commencing at the southeast corner of said section line thence north on the east line there of 1278.21 feet to the northerly line of the right of way of the Great Northern Railway Company thence north 58 55' west on said right of way line 2655.88 feet to the south line of afore said Northeast 1/4 section line being the point of beginning of land to be described

thence north 58 55' west on said right of way line 70 31 feet in an iron monument

thence north 32 05' 1164 feet thence South 58 55' east 1534 feet

thence south 31 05' w. 278.53 feet to the south line of the said northeast 1/4 section

thence north 89 55' west 1719.23 to point of beginning 26,280 acres, has caused the same to be surveyed and platted and hereafter known as Grace City, Foster County, North Dakota as shown by this plat and hereby dedicated.

I hereby certify to having surveyed and platted the property as described on this map as Grace City, Foster County, North Dakota and have placed iron monument as shown on this map and the same is correct.  F. Milton Fowble.

Acknowledged June 9, 1910 by F. Milton Fowble, before H. Dougan, Notary Public, Ramsey County, Minnesota. 

Foster County Realty Company,

A corporation

By T.W. Larson, president

To
The Public

Plat Book "2" of Plats, on page 3

Dated April 26, 1913 at 1 o'clock p.m.

Corporate Seal

Commencing at the iron pin, at the westerly corner of the townsite of Grace City, Foster County, North Dakota, as is shown on the recorded plat on file in the offices of the Register of Deeds in Carrington, North Dakota (Abstracted at entry No. 34 hereof) thence N 59 W along the northerly line of the Great Northern Railway right of way, thence hundred fifty one and four tenths feet to the quarter line running north and south through Section 15, township 147‑64 thence north along said quarter line 1104.89 feet thence east 295 feet

thence south 59 E 668.7 feet, to the westerly line of said townsite of Grace City, thence S 51 W along townsite, 1089 feet to place of beginning.  Have caused the same to be surveyed and platted as Tracy's Addition to Grace City, Foster County, North Dakota, as is shown on the annexed plat, and do hereby donate and dedicate to the public use, forever all streets, avenues and alleys shown on the annexed plat.

Acknowledged April 26, 1913 by T.W. Larson, president, before M. O'Neill, Notary Public, Kandiyoke County, Minnesota.

Certificate of G.W. Henimiller, Foster County Surveyor, acknowledged January 17, 1913 before C.W. Burnham, Notary Public, Foster County, North Dakota.

The abstract for the southeast of the original of Grace City, North Dakota Patent in Book "D" of deeds on page 400 dated December 20, 1895, filed December 31, 1895 United States of America by president Grover Cleveland to Northern Pacific Railroad 320 acres.  D.S.B. Johnston Land Company (deed) September 26, 1899.  Filed December 8, 1899 $440.

Henry S. Leonard (H.L. Leonard) (Warranty Deed) July 8, 1899, August 7, 1899, $1300
Oveda A. Trembley (Warranty Deed) January 14, 1905, January 20, 1905, $3600
E.R. Bradley (received warranty deed) March 14, 1910, March 15, 1910, $3200
Dakota and Great Northern townsite Company, a Minnesota Corporation, February 16, 1910, March 15, 1910, $3200.

(Conveys the North 1/2 Southeast 1/4 of Section 15, township 147, Range 64, subject to the right of Oveda A. Trembly to remove the buildings there on at any time within 90 days from May 1, 1910. )

Acknowledged February 16, 1910 by E.R. Bradley and Grace E. Bradley, his wife, before Charles G. Rudd, Notary Public, Barnes County, North Dakota.

Mrs. Oveda Trembley sold the North 1/2 Southeast 1/4 of section 15 township 147, Range 64 reserving five acres lying south of the right of way of the Great Northern Railway Company.  They moved their house and barn which set in the vicinity of what is now the Dewey Heckaman lots and this became the Trembely addition to Grace City.  (The house was moved with block and tackle and one horse.)

There was also a first and second addition added to the east side of Grace City but I do not have dates.  Must have been 1910 or before Otto Topp built his house about that time.

Foster County Realty Company had 35.258 acres in original townsite, the public was given forever all the streets, alleys and avenues.

The choice of lots was first sold on June 8, 1910; first lot to the Grace City State Bank for $500.  Total amount of sales was around $4000.

June 8, 1910, Foster County Realty Company sold to G.C. State Bank, Lots 1‑2 Block 12 for $500.

August 18, 1910, Foster County Realty Company sold to James K. Bank, Lots 4‑5‑6 Block 12 for $650.

August 18, 1910, Foster County Realty Company sold to James K. Bank, Lots 1‑2 Block 11 for $500.

November 17, 1910, James K. Banks sold to Independent Lumber, Lots 4‑5‑6 Block 12 for $650.

November 17, 1910 James K. Banks sold to Farmers Merchants Bank, Lots 1‑2 Block 11 for $500.

August 22, 1910, Foster County Realty sold to Otto Topp, Lot 6 Block 11 for $300.

November 13, 1911 Foster County Realty sold to Ada L. Upson (M.E. Church) Lots 5‑6 Block 4 for $100.

November 25, 1911, Foster County Realty sold to Swane Dufua, Lot 9 Block 11 for $300.

November 10, 1911, Grace City Bank sold to Union Investment Company Lots 1‑2 Block 11 for $1.

February 21, 1912, Union Investment Company sold to John C. Nelson Lots 1‑2 Block 11 for $1000.

March 18, 1912, John C. Nelson sold to First State Bank, Grace City, Lots 1‑2 Block 11 for $1000.

April 13, 1912, Foster County Realty sold to L.R. Willis Lumber Company, Lots 7‑8‑9 Block 9 for $650.

March 26, 1912 Foster County Realty sold to C. E. Lange, Lots 1‑2 Block 4 for $300.

April 18, 1912, Foster County Realty sold to Charles G. Banks, Lots 2‑3‑4‑5 Block 14 for $400.

March 21, 1912, Swane Dufua sold to L.D. Hart first addition, $1450.

June 25, 1912, Foster County Realty sold to Independent Lumber Lot 8 Block 10 for $300.

July 2, 1912, Charles G. Banks sold to William Goddard 3N 2/3, 4, 14 for $1

July 2, 1912, Charles G. Banks sold to James K. Banks 2N 1/3, 4, 14 for $1.

August 3, 1912, Foster County Realty sold to James K. Banks Lot 9 Block 10 for $300.

John Aarestad sold 22 binders in 1915

Grace City Church, 1912

Residence street, 1922

August 3, 1912, Foster County Realty sold to James K. Banks Lot 1 Block 14 for $150.

August 7, 1912, James K. Banks sold to Independent Lumber Lot 9 Block 10 for $1.

December 4, 1912, Foster County Realty sold to J.J. Aarstad Lot 1 Block 9 for $125.

September 27, 1912, L.D. Hart sold to Claud Kumerine Lot 9 Block 11 for $1700.

November 2, 1913, Foster County Realty sold to Hans Aarstad Lots 3‑7 Block 11, for $300.

November 18, 1912, Foster County Realty sold to G.C. Hardware and Implement Lots 3‑4 Block 11 for $650.

February 3, 1913, Foster County Realty sold to S.A. Rood Lot 1 Block 12 for $200.

November 18, 1912, Foster County Realty sold to J.J. Aarstad Lot 2 Block 9 for $150.

February 5, 1913, Foster County Realty sold to S.J. Patterson and Grace Bradley Lot 10 Block 11 for $350.

February 12, 1913 Claude Kumerine sold to Rhode L. Kumerine Lot 9 Block 11 for $1.

February 13, 1913, Foster County Realty sold to J.M. Haberlein Lot 16 Block 10 for $250.

May 1, 1912, Foster County Realty sold to Orville Frink Lot 3 Block 15 for $100.

March 15, 1913, Orville Frink sold to Roy McDonald Lot 3 Block 15 for $1200.

September 9, 1912, Foster County Realty sold to Grace Bradley Lot 3 Block 10 for $300.

May 22, 1913, First State Bank sold to C.F. Bohner Lot 2 Block 11 for $600.

July 3, 1913, L.D. Hart sold to Emmanual Hildbrandt Lot 1 Block 1 for $50.

Mr. Bradley told me that when the surveyor started to work they had a plan for laying out the town but that Mr. Bradley had his ideas and told the surveyor that if he would use Bradley's plan and name the town Grace for his wife that he would give them a keg of beer.  They agreed hence the name Grace City.  I don't know when Mr. Bradley first owned land in Larrabee Township but do know that he did in 1904.  He was an ardent promoter for Grace City and in 1914 put out a booklet "A North Dakota Ranch".  Its buildings and new equipment in which he exploits the virtues of North Dakota

"A look backward after 12 years in North Dakota"
In issuing this little booklet it is my one wish and desire by speaking through the accuracy and truth of the camera, to break through the crust of prejudice that apparently exists through the East and South in regard to North Dakota.  I am a thorough believer in the virtue of the great state of North Dakota as a panacea for the ills of poverty, and as this conditions exists to a larger degree in the congested district of the South and East than it does in the West, I hope to draw out toward the Sunkist prairies of North Dakota, those who desire a better heritage for themselves and their children.  I do not want you to grasp the idea from this booklet that North Dakota is the place that the Irishmen who landed in New York City thought existed in America.  Passing up Broadway, his companion stopped to pick up a dollar he saw in the street when Pat exclaimed, "Mike, don't waste your time with trifles, wait till we reach the pile."  North Dakota is a state where opportunities are unlimited, but nothing but a resolution to labor and determination to succeed wins out.  The state has a larger wealth than any state in the Union, yet is in its very infancy.  The climate is ideal and very healthful; the death rate per capita being lowest."
He also states: "The North Dakota Year Book issued by the Department of Agriculture for 1941 has the following to say of Foster County: "It is thrifty little Foster County that has done more than its share in securing to North Dakota its title "Granary of the World".  For though next to the smallest county in the state both in regard to size and population, it nevertheless produces far more proportionately than probably any other county in the state."
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 314

Grace City

Grace City at one time had:

2 banks 2 hardware stores

2 general stores 2 implement houses

2 blacksmiths 1 drug store

2 lumberyards 2 pool halls

2 livery barns 2 hotels

1 flourmill 1 school

2 restaurants 2 telephone exchanges 1 depot (operators worked all night) 2 elevators 1 church

Records of the Post Office Department:

(From National Archives from Milton Young, U.S. Senate, September 29, 1930)

"The records of the Post Office Department in the National Archives show that a post office was established at Larrabee, Foster County, North Dakota, on September 4, 1882.  Its name was changed to Grace City on September 26, 1910.  The names of the postmasters who served at this office through 1929 and their dates of appointment were:

William H. Larrabee, September 4, 1882 (Section 25‑14764)

George J. Backen, September 25, 1885 William H. Larrabee, October 22, 1885 Herbert Smith, April 30, 1886 (Section 19‑147‑64) Hiram D. Warren, November 4, 1887 (Section 14, 147‑63) Jerome C. Warren, October 31, 1896 (Section 10) William Black, April 11, 1906 (Section 29) Ole Bonderud, July 18, 1908 (Section 20) Charles G. Banks; November 24, 1914 Ida L. Bonderud, January 10, 1919

Successor appointed on August 31, 1959 and there at present: Deloris Potter House

Rural Carriers: Fred Melgard, Thomas House, Donna Otto, Henry Hendrickson, Roger Kolpin.

The post office has been located in many of the buildings on Main Street, Grace City.  Banks, hardware store, O.H. Bonderud Store, Drug Store, and for many years now is in the building formerly the Farmers and Merchants Bank.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 318

Grace City Incorporates

Vote to incorporate was held October 27, 1981.  It carried 47 to 33 and the following officers were appointed by the County Commissioners.

Mayor: James Johnson

Auditor: Joan Heckaman

Council Members: Marie Pfeifer, Joyce Topp, Alice Scanson, Marilyn Bucholz.

First election to be held April 6, 1982

Grace City again has a bank, a branch of the Farmers State Bank of Carrington, which opened its doors January 11, 1982 with Sharon (Mrs. Morgan) Davis in charge.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 319

Grace City M.E.

(Methodist‑Episcopal)  Church

Grace City M.E. church, later United Methodist, met in a schoolhouse north of Grace City with Rev. Joseph Chester and before this by missionary pastors in the homes.  The Lutherans held services in their homes with Rev. Oien and Rev. Larson coming from McHenry.

The Congregationalists organized in 1911 and made arrangements to build in 1912; before this was accomplished the Methodists under the persuasion of District Superintendent Vermilla began building in late 1911.  On November 13, 1911, Ada L. Upson received a deed for Lots 5‑6, Block 4 for the sum of $1 from Foster County Realty Company and gave it to the Methodist church.  She also lent them monies.  All material was purchased in McHenry and hauled by team.  Original cost was $2800.  Charles Burk and Rev. Chester gave two of the strained glass windows which bear their names.  The carpet for the platform was donated by Mrs. James Hill, the wife of the president of the Great Northern Railroad Company
Dedication was held September 8, 1912.  Bishop Luccock delivering the dedication sermon with the assistance of Rev. Vermelyea of Minot, North Dakota and Rev. Asher of Carrington, North Dakota.

Services were held in the church basement winter 1911‑1912 with Rev. Cleveland A. Armstrong coming to serve October 23, 1911.  He came with his bride.  He helped to build on the church.  In later years he related to me how times were so hard when he was in Grace City he was paid very little money and at times got little produce.  He was flat broke, not even money for a stamp to write home for money.  His wife finally persuaded him to borrow some money.  He finally borrowed $2 from a good parishioner and his wife wrote home for money and supplies.  But before the money came Rev. Armstrong paid back one dollar to the lender and the very same dollar he had borrowed.  Rev. Armstrong said he had planned it that way so as to stand in good grace.

Some early workers for the church were the families of Charles Burk, Homer Ballard, Harvey Barber, Charles Banks, P.T. Anderson, Otto Topp, O.E. Eller, Claus Otto, and Ole Bonderud.

Ladies Aid Society

The Ladies Aid Society was organized July 10, 1912

First officers were: 
President, Mrs. James Banks

Vice president Mrs. Frank Burk

Treasurer, Mrs. William Potter

Chaplain, Mrs. Charles Burk
First members besides above mentioned: 
Mrs. Charles Banks
Mrs. Collins
Mrs. John Mitchell
Mrs. S.A. Rood
Mrs. Otto Topp
Mrs. O. Melby
Mrs. Ernest Johnson
Olga Melby
Florence Horn
Mabel Burk and

Emma Burk
First infant baptism: Estella Topp, 1912, second child born in Grace City.

First Wedding: John Burk ‑ Florence Horn, 1912

First funeral: Walter Edward Dreher, March 18, 1913

First pianist: Mabel Burk

First treasurer: John Burk

First trustees: John Burk, O.E. Eller, Mrs. Hugh Free, Otto Topp

First Stewards: Mrs. Charles Burk, Frank Burk, F.A. Christianson, Henry Hanson, Claus Otto

First young man to enter the ministry: Arthur Scanson.

A windstorm in 1943 severely damaged the steeple and it was removed, leaving the pigeons with no homes.  The church interior was extensively remodeled in 1963‑64.

In the fall of 1966 a new outside entrance to the sanctuary and basement were added to the east side of the church.  A fellowship room on main floor and a kitchen, restrooms, well dug, and sewer system installed in 1974.

We received the "Church Bell" from the Juanita Church Congregation when their church disbanded and the church sold and in 1981 a bell stand incorporating the bulletin board was built to the east side of the church's main entry way.  It was dedicated in the spring of 1982.  Materials, etc. for building were given in memory of Harley Topp.  In the winter of 1982 the basement was remodeled with new windows, ceiling and carpeting and the main entrance enlarged.

Sunday School
Sunday school was first organized in 1911 by Rev. Kellog, a Congregational minister and for a long time was a Union Sunday School.  It was first held in the schoolhouse north of Grace City and in 1912 moved to the Methodist church where it continued to function.  A young peoples' society has also been formed.  Superintendents of the Sunday school have been: 

Otto Topp

Mrs. Perry Anderson

Posco Power

Mrs. Otto Topp

Mrs. O.J. Melgard

Frank Burk

George Stedman

Lester Wright

Kenneth Topp and at present
Leslie Greger
Ministers of Methodist Church

Harry Hymes 

Harry Auger 

Roshea

Joseph Chester – 1910

Chestger A. Arthur – October 1911

J. C. Moore – October 1914

Arthur Edwards ‑ October 1916 

J. W. Hilburn ‑ October 1917 

C.B. Thomas ‑ October 1919 

Dale Crites ‑ February 1921

S. Brooks ‑ October 1922 

Thure Johnson ‑ October 1925 

Axel Lendstrom ‑ October 1927 

T.L. Chappel ‑ October 1931 

Johnstone ‑1932 

C.M. Brown ‑1933 

M.N. Young ‑1937 

C. W. Bauman ‑1938 

Howard Rice ‑1943 

Harold Eastburn ‑1946 

Grace Huck ‑1947 

Stanley Caine ‑1948 

David Kellogg ‑1951 

Robert Marshaoo ‑1952 

Edwin Stanford ‑1953

Donald Goold ‑1953 

Harry Williams ‑1957 

Wesley Hart‑1961 

Larson ‑1962 

Dwight Meier ‑1962 

Roger Casperson ‑1965 

Elmer West ‑1965 

Jerry Fike ‑1965 

Roy Williams ‑1967 

Robert Colliet ‑1968 

Dennis Boe Clarence Palmer ‑1972 

Bill Anderson ‑1976 

David Wu ‑1976 

Lionnel Muthiah ‑1976 

Donald Glass ‑1977 

Alex Peterson ‑1978 

Peder Anderson ‑1979

Methodist Parsonage

One of the oldest houses in Grace City was purchased in 1948 for a parsonage.  Stanley Caine was the first pastor to live in it.  Through the years much monies and improvements were put into it but we still had an old building.  So in March of 1978 it was decided to build a new parsonage.  Lots were already owned to the north of the church and after cutting down a big cottonwood tree, building was started.  Pledges were received and bids let. 

Hager Construction, cement work

McVille Builders, putting up the shell

Brantford Hardware (Ludwig), plumbing
Groundbreaking was held July 24, 1978 and the parsonage was completed May 20, 1979.  Then on June 23, 1979 Rev. Peder Anderson moved in.  Much of the work on the parsonage was done by the members of the congregation and they are to be commended on the wonderful job done.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 319

Grace City Catholic Church

At first the Catholics in the community planned to build a church but finally decided to buy an old school house that stood north of Grace City.  It was the one in which the Methodists had held services first.  Mrs. George (Oveda) Trembley purchased it and moved it onto her land south of the railroad tracks.  Before this residents had gone to Carrington and New Rockford to attend services.  It was remodeled and the steeple placed on it June 28, 1917.

The first services were held in it July 18, 1917 with many from the country coming in.  Services were held at 8:30 a.m. with Father Cokren of New Rockford conducting.  When the weather got colder the services were held in the home of Mr. and Mrs. George Trembley.

In June 1918 there was a heavy rain and windstorm and the church was moved off its foundation.  No one seems to remember any services being held there and in later years the church was bought by Neal Stedman and moved to his farm and used for a hired man's house where it is today.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 320

Grace City Lutheran Church

As far as is known the first Lutheran services in Grace City were held with Pastor Thorin Wipred officiating in 1899.  He came from Fessenden and services were held in the homes and schoolhouses.  Most of the Lutherans lived south of the James River and as a child I remember the folks saying the Norwegians (Lutherans) lived south of the James River and most spoke Norwegian at home, and the German (Lutherans) lived north of Grace City.  Pastor Wipred officiated until 1900 when H.H. Proct became pastor.  He held services until July 1903 in the area.  J.H. Oien from McHenry was the next pastor.  Services were held in the Norwegian language.

For a time the Lutherans held services in the Methodist church then they joined with the "Northern James River Evangelical Lutheran Church, which stands on a hill south of Grace City on Highway No. 200.  This church was built in 1919.

The first organized Lutheran congregation in Grace City was August 14, 1956 when Grace Lutheran was organized as an E.L.C. (now A.L.C.).  Services were held in the school gymnasium, also Sunday School classes.  Rev. Don Thorson from New Rockford first served.

St. John's church from northeast of Bordulac was purchased and moved to a site on the east side of town.  It was dedicated May 26, 1957.  Dr. Tallackson, president of the North Dakota District, Evangelican Lutheran churches and Rev. F. Olderr of Maddock were the speakers.

A temporary organization was set up on August 14, 1956 with the following officers. 

Trustees: John Munson, Ernest Gjerdevig and Woodrow Topp

Deacons: Kennard Scanson, Lawrence Dungan and Lawrence Larson

Treasurer, Ray McDaniel

Secretary, William Meier

Mrs. John Munson, superintendent of the Sunday School.  Serving on the building committee were Paul Black, Odin Topp, David Meier, Mrs. Elmer Hovland and Mrs. Vernon Topp.

Permanent officers were elected on November 11, 1956: president, Odin Topp

Vice president, Paul Black

Secretary, William Meier

Treasurer, Ray McDaniel

Financial secretary, Vernon Topp

Superintendent of the Sunday School, Mrs. John (Jennie) Munson

Deacons: Lawrence Larson, Wendell Whipperling, Dave D. Meier

Trustees: Woodrow Topp, John Monson, Ernest Gjerdvig

Board of education: Leo Gauderman, Mrs. William Meier and Mrs. Lawrence Dungan.

Present superintendent of Sunday school, Mrs. Loyd (Joanne) Leichtman

Trustees: Glenn Lindstrom, Billie Scanson, and Elroy Ellingson

Deacons: Topp, Joan Anderson, and Marilyn Bucholz.

Grace Lutheran joined with Glenfield‑James River parish in 1957 with pastor living in parsonage in Glenfield.

Rev. F. Older served as Interim until Rev. Harry Tuff became pastor in 1957.

Ministers 

Rev. Harry Tuff ‑1957‑1960 

Dr. J.E. Farup ‑1960‑66 

Rev. John P. Gorklo ‑1966‑70 

Rev. David Monge ‑1971‑1973 

Rev. Dale Hauck ‑1973‑77 

Rev. Vernon Holte ‑1977‑1981 

Rev. Don L. Neuman ‑ present pastor

First wedding: Irene Dungan to Joe Troske, January 12, 1958

First baptism: Joe Meier, September 1958

First funeral: Mrs. Ed (Minnie Scanson) Randklev First Golden Wedding celebration: October 19, 1958 ‑ Mr. and Mrs. G.C. Black

Grace Lutheran celebrated its 25th Anniversary on October 11, 1981.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 320

Women's Missionary Federation

This organization was formed in November 1956 with the following officers: president, Mrs. Paul Black

vice‑president, Mrs. Vernon Topp

Secretary, Mrs. William Meier

Treasurer, Mrs. Odin Topp
Present officers: president, Mrs. Ray (Betty) Hoffman

Vice president, Marvel Lindstrom (Mrs. Glenn)

Secretary, Mrs. Wayne (Phyllis) Topp

Treasurer, Mrs. Bill (Erma) Scanson
Many improvements have been made on the church with members participating.  This year new windows were installed.

This church burned in August 1982 and was replaced with a new structure in December

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 321

Grace City Through the Years

The land where Grace City now sits went through many hands in April 1910.  Mr. and Mrs. Warren Buck, Mr. E.R. Bradley, and Mrs. George Trembley sold land to Dakota and Great Northern Townsite Company who sold to the Foster County Realty Company.  It was then platted for a town.  Mr. Bradley persuaded them to name it Grace City in honor of his wife Grace.  The coming of the Great Northern Railroad was the reason for the towns being built along it.  There was a station every six miles.  All nationalities came but the Scandinavians predominated.  The first lot was bid in by the Grace City State Bank for $500.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 321

Banks in Grace City

Farmers and Merchants Bank of Grace City formed Articles of incorporation the last week in August 1910 with a capital of $10,000 divided into $100 shares.  James K. Banks of Sheldon, North Dakota, the principal shareholder having 50 shares

W.C. Goddard of Leonard, North Dakota 40 shares and A.M. Goddard of Leonard, North Dakota 10 shares.  Bank to start September 1, 1910 and continued 25 years.  Mr. W.C. Goddard moved to Grace City in 1912 and became cashier.  Alvin and Thomas Dahl hauled the lumber from McHenry for the building, the first lumber to come into Grace City.  In 1919 they sold the bank to H.S. Halverson and Hammer of Cooperstown and O.J. Melgard took over as cashier.  The Bank closed its doors in 1928.

First State Bank of Grace City opened for business the first week in April with John Topp, president, and J.C. Nelson, cashier.  In April of 1913 it reorganized: 

John Topp, president

G. Bruce Wallace, vice president

Odin Ramsland of Faith, South Dakota, cashier
It closed its doors in 1931.

J.J. (John) Aarstad started up his hardware and implement store in 1910.  H.O. Hanson became his partner.  He also built the first house in Grace City.  He was also a cattle buyer and shipped out 1,100 hogs on December 8, 1915.  They ran it until 1925 when John's brother, Gust, ran it for a year.  The doors were closed for a while, and then Roy Topp became manager in the fall of 1928.  Odin Topp took over in 1946 and ran until 1967, when the doors closed and never reopened.

Otto Topp built his General Merchandise Store in 1910.  His motto "Where Your Dollar buys the Most."  He and his family lived in the back of the store for two years while his home was being built.  His oldest daughter Esther was born there.  She was the second child to be born in the town of Grace City and the first to be baptized in the Methodist Church.  (The first baby born here was to a railroad construction worker and I never got the name.  Mr. Topp ran the store until he sold out to Ernest Steward in 1942.

Alfred Anderson was Mr. Topp's partner for five years.  Elaine (stepdaughter of Ernest Stewart) ran the store until 1955 when Mr. and Mrs. Herman Arneson bought it.  In 1960 he sold it to Mr. and Mrs. Lawrence Scanson who sold out to Y. Moorhouse in 1962.  Then after Mr. Moorhouse decided to retire Mr. and Mrs. Vincent Schaack bought it in April of 1963.  Mrs. Schaack has continued to run it since the death of her husband in 1976.  She has enlarged the living quarters in the Topp Store and moved out of the basement of the Moorhouse store and is still running her store in the Moorhouse building.

The Schaack store was built by D.H.A. Owanson in 1912.  L.K. Vick had his drug store in the front with Ole Aspmo and Ben Blinderman two of the early pharmacists.  Later on they sold out to McGrath Brothers, who ran it as a general merchandise store.  They sold their stock out to a Sutton merchant and closed the doors and the First State Bank took over 1919.  In 1922 Abe Abraham took over and ran it until he sold out to Y.M. Moorhouse, who had run a pool hall in Grace City for a few years.  He ran it until 1963.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 321

Early Businesses and Business Down the Years

1912

The Independent Lumber Company owned by W.C. Goddard was on the west side of Grace City; while the Christianson Lumber Company was on the east side.  W.C. Goddard bought out Christiansons in February of 1918 and the Christianson yard was turned into a house.  The Goddard Lumber Yard burnt in the fall of 1936.  He had moved to New Rockford and P.T. Anderson was running it.

1912

Roy McDonald started a lunchroom and pool hall; sold out to Erik Tysk September 16, 1919.  Later owners were I.A. Flaters, Earl Hall, Glenn Anderson, James Potter, Ben Kuhry, and Stanley Haakinson.

1910

Swan Dufua had a restaurant (he wore fancy ladies combs in his hair).  He also had a hotel.  At one time there were three hotels in Grace City, two on the west side of the street and one on the east.  Some of the managers were Claude Cumerine, F.S. Chandler, C.A. Sherer, Jack Melherick, Black, James Potter, E.R. Bradley, Ham Chandler, Powers and Reed, Berstrom, Green, I.A. Flatters.  All had restaurants attached.

In 1980 Kenneth Topp built a large building to enclose a restaurant, bank, insurance agency and storage.  In September 1980 the Sunflower Cafe was opened under the management of Alice Scanson and has been a big improvement to the town with people coming from a distance to enjoy it.  It is built to the south of the tracks and is easily accessible to truckers.

Hardly had the rails been laid when several carloads of lumber were shipped in to build an elevator and it was opened for business.  Equity Elevator in September 1912.  A second elevator, the Farmers Elevator, was soon built from July 1915 to March 1916.  The two elevators had handled over 52,000 bushels of grain.  On August 3, 1917 at midnight one elevator was struck by lightning and Martin Haverlein took two fire extinguishers and went to the top of the elevator and put it out.  It had been started during a rain and lightning storm.  It is almost unbelievable that one man could do such a thing, but it was related in the Grace City Gazette.  Some of the managers of the elevators were Isaackson, Perkins, John Alfstad, Jorgenson, William Black, George Allen, Jack Anderson, Lane, Lloyd Jensen, and Kenneth and Orin Topp.

Kenneth and Orin Topp bought the elevator after one burnt in 1965.  They were just going to use it for their own business but were finally persuaded to open to the public and thus became "Farmers Elevator".  They moved the west elevator to where the east one had burnt; the first of a mammoth construction and improvement plan.  They now have a capacity of 2,000,000.  Sunflowers have been one of the big crops and they have had to pile them on the ground in the fall of the year.  They have boxcars with their logo on and have sent out a trainload of grain at a time.  This has been a big help to the town.
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Grace City Newspapers and Telephone Exchange

The first newspaper was established in 1912, "The Grace City Journal", R.T. Mitchell, editor.  I do not have the dates that it ran.  The "Grace City Gazette" started in January 1916 with Julius D. Peterson, editor.  G.K. Ness took over the editorship in August 1917 and ran until late 1919 with a weekly paper.  On January 7, 1918 the Gazette was moved from the basement of the McGrath store to a building on the east side of the street.  The Journal was in a building just south of what is now the Scanson garage.  There was also a telephone exchange in the building.  Another telephone exchange was just north of the First State Bank; Mrs. Olga Melby Haberlein ran it.  At that time nearly everyone had telephones but as times got tough and in the dirty thirties only the Bell phone in the Hotel and the privately owned Topp line stayed in existence until the R.T.A. came in.
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Drey Lines

William Potter had the first drey line and also ran a livery barn where the farmers could put up their horses and have them fed and watered.  The drey men were kept busy for everyone burnt coal and everything came in by rail.  They also plowed the gardens in the spring.  Later men in the business were John Thompson, Robert Jenkinson, John Alfstad, I.A. Flatters, H.B. Rust, Eugene Willoughby and Clarence Alfstad.
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Ice Houses

Ice was a big thing back in those days as there was no electricity and every one had their own icebox which had to be filled by the iceman, usually the drey man.  Two icehouses were here in Grace City, one back of Otto Topp's store and one back of Ernest Petrick's meat market.  There were also two ice pits, one in the yard where Pfeifers now live and one in the Molyneaux farm beneath the dairy house.  The ice was cut either at the James River or Juanita Lake.  There was a layer of flax straw on the bottom and then the ice packed in solidly and flax straw packed on 'the sides and over the top.  On July 20, 1916 the Grace City Pharmacy had a carload of ice shipped in from Minneapolis.  When the ice was hauled for the icehouses nearly every household would have a load hauled to their house for it was used to wash clothes and for baths, etc.  Little do we realize today that ice was so important in those days.
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Blacksmiths Shops

J.M. Haberlein came in 1912 and started up a blacksmith shop.  It was located on the lot east of what is now the Scanson Garage.  He manufactured a crane early in his work to lift heavy objects.  In 1916 he had the first gas welder.  He did some garage work too, but blacksmithing was his main business, shoeing horses and sharpening plowshares.  Another blacksmith was started in 1912 on the west side of town by Sever Rood.  He was one of the first I ever saw forge weld.
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War Veterans

We have two Civil War vets from Grace City, George Trembley, who is buried in New Rockford, North Dakota and Louis Whitman, who is buried in the Grace City Cemetery.  Mr. Whitman was never prouder than when marching in a parade on Memorial Day.  He lived alone in a little house and raised a garden and raspberries, which he picked and sold.  I can still remember him chewing tobacco.  We had soft gum erasers in school in those days shaped like an old man's head and we used to squeeze them and say it looked like Granddad Whitman chewing tobacco.  The first men called to the colors June 1917 were Richard Robichaud, Otto Lambrecht, Peter Christofferson, Chalmer Smucker and Enoch Molyneaux.  We never lost a man to the war but Henry Palmer and John Flatters both died in Army camps of the flu in October of 1918.  Both are buried in the Grace City, Cemetery.  Many served in the Army, Navy, Merchant Marines and the C.C. and National Guard.  On June 5, 1917, 44 men from Grace City registered for draft.
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Campbell Construction

May 23, 1918, Al Campbell started grading the road south of Grace City through the hills.  The Commercial Club appeared before the Board of

County Commissioners and the result was we will have the road.  The farmers along the river are very happy about this.  Mr. Campbell and his son, Archie, continued to build roads through the 70s for Archie, but his dad moved to Texas when he retired.

Grace City has always been baseball minded and I am sure there was a team when it first started but the first records I could find was in 1916.  Some of the managers were Christianson, Ernest Johnson, Walter Luttschwager, and Eugene Willoughby.  Some of the early players were Workman, Matt McGrath, Harble, Leo McGrath, Greatsinger, E.S. Buck, Phil Koenig, Gene and Cal Willoughby, Hules, Henry and Alfred Jensen, Ballum, Egentier, O.J. Melgard, Bob Harpkey, Roy Topp, Dutch Scanson, Glenn and Dale Flatters, Fred Melgard, Jennings Aarestad, and John LaFrance.  Dr. Owenson was the manager of the later ones named.  Jack Hurley played with the team in 1919.  He was later a nationally known fight promoter.
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Community Betterment Committee

In 1978 a Community Betterment Committee was formed consisting of 

Wallace Topp, Chairman

Vice Chairman, Mark Anderson

Treasurer, Almyra Topp and
Kaye Topp, secretary
Other members are Cindy Johnson and Lorris Sandvol.

They made plans for a City park with two ball diamonds, a tennis court, with basketball hoops and a park with tables and grills.  They raised $5,000 with a supper and dance and later received a grant.  At present nearly all is completed.  With trees planted to the south, the park is located directly east of the schoolhouse.  Ronald Bucholz donated some of the land for the picnic area.

Grace City once had fire protection.  Two 400-gallon chemical engines were brought from a Fargo firm in 1918.  They worked but never heard of them being called to a fire.

1916‑ Grace City had an AOUW Fraternal and Insurance Lodge.

1918‑ A Commercial Club was organized.

Milk cows were tethered out by many of the residents who sold milk to those who had none.

We had a very active Red Cross Organization during the war.

Juanita Lake was stocked with fish as early as 1913.

We had good fishing in Juanita Lake in 1917.

Rabbits and gophers were very numerous in 1916.

Grasshoppers were bad in 1919 as well as in the 30's.

Hunting limits of grouse and prairie chickens in 1919 were 10 each day, and on ducks and geese it was 15 per day.

Grace City had a Farmers Club, a Community Club and P.T.A.

Barbers in Grace City were Richard Robichaud, Maude Barber, P.A. Gordon, Riggs, Lee Frederick and Guy Canfield to name some.  Pat Otto had a beauty shop.  Lee Fredericks used to set women's hair. 

Postage on a letter went up from 2¢ to 3¢ October 25, 1917 and back to 2¢ July 1, 1919.

A cannon stood on Main Street for many years finally taken to Bradley, South Dakota

Midwives around Grace City were Mrs. Oveda Trembley, Mrs. Maria Rood, Mrs. O.A. Dahl, and Mrs. Joe Sandvol.

Gypsies camped on the ball diamond and were asked to leave.

The Ku Klux Klan were in the hills south of Grace City.

Joe Sandvol had a harness and shoe shop in his home basement 1917.

James Henderson ran a cream station as did Andy Flatters, Sharbono, Royal Graham.

Kistler ran a big 4 gas tractor for Bradley in 1917.

Carpenters were Fred Lambrecht, Hildebrandt, Art Trembley, Andrew Arntson, and C.H. Bradbury.  Bradbury bought a prefab house from Sears Roebuck.

John N. Carlson and Hack Malherick were painters and paperhangers.

Sonja Wold Topp is our only pharmacist and works for Seaburg Drug, Carrington.

Arthur Scanson, our only minister, is in Dickinson, North Dakota

Meat markets were run by E.E. Petrick, Bert Dahly, 1918 and Hilding Miller, 1931.

The "Economy Market" was run by Harold Burk in 1935.

Cora Stedman Dreher had her book of poems "Lyrics with a Lift" published in 1962 and filed in the Library of Congress.

Cora Spickler won many articles in contests she entered.

Grace City Choir sang on TV.

Mr. and Mrs. George Trembley celebrated their 50th Wedding Anniversary April 25, 1919.

Grace City was on daylight saving time 1919.

Fur buyers were Andrew Bonderud, 1912, Jess Alan, 1917, Royal Graham, 1928.

There were 23 spinsters in Grace City March 1917 and nearly as many bachelors.

68 children were in Grace City in April 1917.

Calvin Willoughby won the school debate in Hannaford and debated in Jamestown March 1917.

Grace City had a Women's Club chartered in 1913 and Federated in 1913.  It disbanded in 1936.

Grace City still has a Homemakers Club but the first one was started in 1921, one of the first three in the state.

Space will not permit the thanking of each one individually for the information received in obtaining the history of Grace City.  Many have gone to their reward as I have collected since a kid but you know who you are and I want to say thanks.  My only hope is that I came near enough to the truth on everything to please all

Bessie Sandvol
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Great Northern Railroad at Grace City

The Great Northern Railroad Company received a deed from Dakota and Great Northern Townsite Company on May 10, 1910 and it was surveyed and work begun.  Mrs. Alvin (Lena Sandvol) Dahl cooked for the surveyors when they were here.  They lived on Northwest 1/4 section 9 where Russell Otto now lives.  The steel was laid in 1912 and came through Grace City June 2, 1912 at 10:30 a.m.  A large crowd was on hand to watch the big machinery lay ties and rails.  They laid two miles of rails per day.  Trains soon came bringing in lumber and supplies.  First passenger train came through the last of July with railroad officials on a tour of inspection.

The first depot was a boxcar.  We had our first depot agent September 5, 1912.  The depot was built that fall.  It blew down in a storm in 1942 and a smaller one was moved in.  It was sold to John Topp when services were discontinued and is on his farm today.  In 1912 a pump house was built 1 1/2 miles west of Grace City on the James River and water piped to a wooden water tank south and west of the depot with a standpipe between the tracks.  There were three tracks‑ main, passing, and industrial.  Water could be taken from both the main and passing tracks.  In October of 1917 a dam was built south of the pump house to insure an adequate supply of water.  Most trains stopped in Grace City for water.  Bill Clellan, Joe and Jerome Sandvol were some who ran the pump station.  It was shut down and moved out in 1939.  The railroad also built a loading platform, stockyards, (the last shipment of stock to go out of Grace City was by Ralph Leichtman in 1967), a section house for the section foreman which was sold and moved out in 1960.  The section men used a handcar for transpiration.  This was an open car driven by either 2 or 4 of the section men.

Railroad Guide for Traveling Public

West Bound Time

No. 3 - 9:46 a.m.

No. 199 ‑ 11:52 a.m.

No. 27 - 4:55 p.m.

No. 603 - 3:15 p.m.

East Bound Time

No. 28 - 1:56 a.m.

No. 604 - 7:16 a.m.

No. 200 - 2:30 p.m.

No. 2 - 8:20 p.m.

Number 27 and 28 carried mail and express only and did not stop. They kicked off the mail sack and the Fargo Forums from the east. Number 603 and 604 carried local freight and male passengers with proper transportation (men rode in the caboose; they would go when they shipped stock.) Number 3 stopped for passengers beyond Williston and number two stopped for patients only. One could take 199 west to New Rockford and shop and catch 200 back the same day.

The coal shed at the elevator held ten different kinds of coal and wood, a favorite pastime of the young folk was walking the tracks and walking the rails. Many a house was kept warm by the coal that was picked up along the tracks that fell of the tender and cars as they went by. With the speed of the trains today one seldom sees anyone walking the tracks. Bums were a regular sight and sometimes whole boxcars full would go by especially in the dirty 30's. In the early days it was fun to see the immigrant trains go. They would have all their household belongings, farm machinery and stock and families in one car. There have been many derailments and hot boxes on trains. One of the larger ones was March 1, 1972 when a pin broke and 29 cars derailed west of town and tore up a half mile of track. The train was snowbound in the cuts for a few days. The longest the trains were ever held up was in 1966 when the train was nearly completely covered with snow.
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Grace City School

Election held June 3, 1913 with 47 votes for and none against. On July 2, 1913 bids were opened for a new building and heating plant. J.A. Trembley bid of $7,965 for frame construction was accepted. No bids accepted for heating plant and bids again called and opened October 2, 1913 at which time F.L. Spencer secured the bid at $1,290. On July 14, 1914 bids were called for completion of second floor and again J.A. Trembley secured the bid at $2,000. Bids for basement opened February 1917 went to Andrew Arnston, $192.

School was held in the church basement until mid term when they moved into the new school. Violet Stedman Topp and Marie Kistler Stedman Pfeifer still live here. Dan Flatters and Joe Sandvol were first school bus drivers. Driving with horses, one wonders at the time students put in on buses in those days.

The first school graduates were Constance Potter, Raymond and Alice Trembley.

In the spring of 1948 a special election was called for the purpose of bonding for $16,000 to erect a gymnasium adjacent to the school building. Up to this time programs and basketball games were held in the hall uptown.

For many years the Christmas programs, graduations and declamation contests were held in the Methodist church. This election was held June 29, 1948 and failed by 18 votes of having the necessary 2/3 majority.

In November 1948 the P.T.A. requested the school board to again call for election for the gymnasium vote.

This was held in January of 1949 and this vote failed by 27 votes. In January of 1951 the school board called a meeting of taxpayers and school patrons, including those who had pupils attending this school on a tuition basis. Purpose of meeting was to discuss building plans and methods of financing. Owner of hall uptown had refused the hall for another year.

Orin Topp had a plan for a Rilso Rafter building and stated that Thompson yards of New Rockford gave a proposed estimate of $8,268 and Schultz Lumber of Carrington of $10,000.

Again an election was called February 5, 1951 for a bond of $14,000 to build a gymnasium. This vote carried 95 to 13.

Bids were called for sale of bonds and the Bank of North Dakota bought them for 2 1/2% interest for a term covering 14 years. Building material bids went to Thompson yards for $10,175; to Odin Topp Hardware for plumbing and heating $1,492 and for wiring, $299.54.

Volunteers turned out in record numbers. The first rafters were raised on Thursday a.m. and by Saturday evening the building was enclosed and shingled. There were 60 men working that day of the rafter raising and shingling. The shell of the building, foundation and floor were completed between May 15 and June 18, the interior not worked on until after harvest.

In 1965 after several informational meetings and bus trips to Guelph, North Dakota to view the new school there, an election was held to vote on a $155,000 bond issue for a new school building. 85% of the voters turned out and the issue carried the first time with 82% in favor.

Reorganization of the school was in 1959 when areas of Columbia, Cherry Lake, Haven, Florence, Rolling Prairie, and Nordmore united. The school board membership was changed from a three member board to a five member board.

The new school was dedicated May 1, 1966.

Financial Report

	General contract 
	$93,748.00

	Electrical contract 
	13,305.00

	Architectural contract
	9,080.00

	Plumbing contract 
	35,226.00

	Cost of new desks 
	725.00

	Attorney's fees: 
	1,002.00

	Advertising bonding
	846.54

	
	$15,732.54


Grace City School held an all year reunion June 25, 26, 27, 1976 which for these days greatly increased the population of Grace City as former students came back to their alma mater along with friends and interested persons.

A parade of 40 units wound through the streets coming to a conclusion at the school. Attendance at the banquet was 438 and at the picnic 625. One family, the Russell Ottos, were unique in that both Russell and Donna and their children, Kent, Terry, and Kathy had all spent their entire school career here , all graduating. Cleole Ridgeway Bonderud of St. Paul, Minnesota, being the oldest teacher coming. She taught here in 1911‑1912. Sunday morning June 27, a large crowd attended a combined church service with a mass choir of 35 people. Serving as minister, a former Grace City graduate, was Rev. Arthur Scanson of Minot, North Dakota '
Grace City School students have always taken part in play days. One year it was held at Juanita Lake Park. There were declamation contests, County play contests. In 1934 "Grace City Won County Play Honors" with a cast of four characters. Fern Willoughby, who took the part of the grandmother in the play, "The Old Fashioned Way" was chosen the best actress. Grace City has had a basketball (boys) team which was started in 1927. In 1931 both boys and girls won the county tournament. Around 1940 the boys had a good six‑man football team. They defeated Tuttle 54 to 12 in the regional tournament. Then they played West Fargo at Hannaford in the state class C tournament. Players were Dwight Wright, Russell Otto, Tommy House, Bob Melgard, Jr. Topp, L. Swart, Myles Anderson, and Harland House.

At present the high school has a speech team. They won two speech tournaments. Those taking part were: Joan Ellingson, Peggy Jensen, Kelly Bjornson, Tim Tag, Mary Fast, Shannon Topp, Teresa Topp, Paula Topp, Camelle Kulsrud, Leanne Lindstrom, Karol Bjornson, and Cindy Tag. Their coach is JoAnn Spickler. The school also takes part in music festivals. At one time they had a band but not at present.

I nearly forgot. Does any one remember the old school fence? It was a wooden fence and a favorite pastime was balancing or fence walking. Guess it was a way of practicing for the balance board, a contest for girls on Play Day. By the way, the boys had chinning as one of their contests.

Some of our early athletes were Merle Stedman, who one year practically brought home the top trophy himself. Boys basketball players were Ernest Scanson, Dale Flatters, Roy Brown, Lyle Baker, Harold and Lloyd Burk, Coach Morris Sweeney.

First six‑man football team: John Flatters, Glen Lindstrom, Norvin Black, Frederick House, Russell Otto, Harland House and Dwight Wright, coached by Hans Rosvold.

Girls Basketball organized by Merle Thompson, 1929 players were Alice and Mary Huiting, Myrtle Topp, Irene Johnson, June Trembley, Billie Goddard.

List of early teachers but the children of Mrs. Larrabee told us that their grandmother taught school and also Mrs. Grace Austin said that her grandmother, Mrs. Hiram Warren taught school in a log building on what is now the Spickler ranch.
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Boys and Girls Clubs

On December 6, 1917 Connie Potter entered her canning at the Boys and Girls Institute at the Agriculture College in Fargo, North Dakota and won first. She again entered her sewing in August 1919 and took second prize. Marie Kistler also won first prize on her eggs. Connie attended the Institute in 1917. Later on they had corn clubs and in 1924 Elizabeth Hersent chaperoned a group of young people to the A.C. including Mary Huting and Tony Hersent from Grace City. In 1927 Ruth and Bessie Flatters wrote to the A.C. for literature on 4‑H Clubs.

A club was organized with I.A. Flatters as leaders. All literature came out of the A.C. The club ran for two years. Members were Jennie Black, Fern, Lucy and Anna Willoughby, Margaret and Anna Huiting, Ruth, Bessie and Alcie Flatters, Constance Enstad and Lillian Kluck.

In later years the Grace City Live Wires were formed in 1937. The boys also had the Grace City Livestock Club and even had a cooking club for boys. Mrs. Roy Topp was a leader for 10 years and Mrs. Lorris Sandvol for 25 years. Girls winning National Trips were: Betty Topp, Verdus Sandvol, Fern Topp, Judy Black, Muriel House, and Marilyn Topp.

Many of the boys and girls went to state events, entering stock and judging, clothing, cooking, canning, etc.

The Merry Stitchers 4‑H club was organized and chartered in 1934 with Mrs. C. Otto, leader.

Larrabee Homemakers Club was organized in 1933.

The Farmers Club was a continuation of the Non-Partisan Club. The name was changed June 1925 with Mrs. E.F. Johnson, president. Some of the projects were to donate $25 to each of the following: school library, Ladies Aid, and the Cemetery Association.
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Scanson Cemetery

The Scanson Cemetery is located on the section line in the Northeast 1/4 section 33 township 147‑range 64. The first person buried there was Ole Anerson Bonderud who was born April 17, 1931 and died October 1, 1908 (?) . There are not many graves there but Esther Scanson does a wonderful job taking care of it.
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Grace City Cemetery, March 1914

The Grace City Cemetery located two miles north of Grace City in the northwest corner of the southwest 1/4 of section 2. It was organized by the men of the community. The following officers elected: 

W.C. Goddard, president

J.C. Nelson, secretary-treasurer on March 5, 1914.

Grace City, North Dakota March 5, 1914

Received from the Grace City Cemetery Association five dollars to apply on the purchase of three acres of land, to be used as a cemetery, and upon the payment of an additional $295, I hereby agree to deed, free from all encumbrance, four acres of land described as follows: beginning at the Northwest corner of the Southwest 1/4 of Section 2‑147‑64 thence 20 rods east thence 32 rods south, thence 20 rods west thence 32 rods N to point of beginning. Deed to contain clause setting off one acre, as a donation from E.R. Bradley and wife for the purpose of burial of the poor.

The' right to burial in said acre to be left to any minister or priest.

F.B. Keene 


E.R. Bradley

witnessed: Ellis Willoughby

April 25, 1918‑ Woman's Club bought and men planted 125 trees at Grace City Cemetery. Gust Luttschwager, Gust Topp and Otto Topp planted the trees.

The women took over the organization in 1923 with 

president Mrs. O.E. Eller

vice president, Mrs. Gus Topp

secretary-treasurer Mrs. Fred Topp. 

Mrs. E.F. Johnson completed the board. 

Evergreens were bought and planted, flower garden started etc. on April 7, 1914, both Margaret Trembley and Walter E. Dreher were buried and others who had passed away earlier were removed and laid to rest in the cemetery. ‑Minnie (Mrs. Roy) Topp was secretary-treasurer for 36 years. Mrs. Lorris Sandvol mowed for 28 years.

Present officers are: 

president Joyce (Mrs. Wallace) Topp

vice‑president Margurite Topp

secretary-treasurer Margery Meehan. 

Board members: Vera Topp and Marie Pfeiffer. 

An annual meeting and supper are held the second Wednesday in May in the evening. The Memorial day program and pot luck dinner are held annually.
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Larrabee Township Land Acquisition

Township 147-64

	Year and Name
	Section

	1884
	

	Proctor Hurit
	 22

	John Molin
	 22

	
	

	1887
	

	Mary E. Slater
	4

	Maggie Duck 
	4

	Ole Elton
	 32

	
	

	1888
	

	John Look 
	10

	James Healy
	 14

	
	

	1889
	

	Ellis Willoughby
	10

	
	

	
	

	1892
	

	John G. Moore
	30

	
	

	1893
	

	Edward T. Halaas
	 9

	
	

	1894
	

	Helmer Bonderud
	20

	
	

	1895
	

	Ellis Willoughby
	 4 

	Arthur L. Lowdon
	 8

	
	

	1897
	

	Lena Tenborg
	34

	
	

	1898
	

	Ellis Willoughby
	 2 

	Lucy Wilson 
	10 

	Jerome C. Warren 
	10

	
	

	1899
	

	Hiram 0. Warren 
	 28

	
	

	1901
	

	Anders Jensen
	28 

	Henry Molyneaux
	22 - 14

	
	

	1903
	

	Olaus A. Dehl
	 6

	
	

	1904
	

	Henry Scanson
	 20 

	Edwin Scanson
	 26 

	George Fogle
	32
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Larrabee Township Land Ownership in 1910 and 1980

Township 147-64

	Section
	1910
	1980

	1
	Lowden & Ellison



	Roger Lyman 
Jeannette Evenson Donna Rodacker 
Roger Lyman

	2
	State Land 
E.R. Bradley

	Royce Topp 
Merlin Topp 
Theodore Topp

	3

	E.R. Bradley
	Calvin Topp

	4
	State Land
J.R. Austin 
E.S. Taylor
	Wallace Topp 
Paul Black


	5
	McCraw Johnson, Sample & McKlearie
U.S. Blaugh 
E.R. Bradley
	Ed Schatz 
Royce Topp 
Russell Otto

	6
	McCrae Johnson, Sample & McKlearie 
O.A. Dahl
	Darwin Willoughby 
Mark Anderson

	7
	John W. Oard
A.H. & Perry Anderson 
George McFarland 
H.L. Greenwood
	Mark Anderson 
Clifford Grager



	8
	E.R. Bradley
State Land
	Gary Stedman 
Russell Otto

	9
	E.R. Bradley
Jessie M. Kohr 
John Henry
	Raymond Topp 
Russell Otto 
Fredrick House

	10
	Frank & Charles Burk
	Mark Anderson Ed Schatz

	11
	E.R. Bradley 
F.B. Ballard 
John Nicoll
	Edgar Mattson & Wm. Lies
Ray House
Merlin House

	12
	State Land

	Merlin Topp
State of North Dakota

	13
	H.S. Ballard 
Grant Waldorf
	William Meier
Wallace Topp

	14
	John Nicoll 
Perry Molyneaux
	Merlin House
Marie Pfeifer

	15
	Warren Buck 
O.A. Trembley
	Merlin House
Town of Grace City

	16
	School Land


	State of North Dakota
Merlin House
Dwight Wright

	17
	Emily Lawdon
D.S.B. Johnston Land Company
	Marie Pfeifer
Russell Otto

	18
	Hans 0. Bonderud
State Land
	William Lies
Norman Glinz

	19
	Ole B. Rustin 
D.S.B. Johnston Land Company

	Margaret Aam
Olga Steinke
Bernice Stedman

	20
	H.O. Bonderud 
State Land

	Dwight Wright
Lester Wright
State of North Dakota

	21
	William Black
D.S.B. Johnston Land Company
	George Topp
Ervin Topp
Lester Wright

	22
	E. Molyneaux State Land 
E.R. Bradley
	Dwight Wright


	23
	Bradley & Patterson 
P.T. Anderson
	Gary Stedman


	24
	State Land
	William Meier

	25
	Peterson & Farnham
O.P. Pederson
	H.F. Spickler


	26
	State Land
Edwin G. Scanson
	Gary Stedman


	27
	E.R. Bradley
H.G. Scanson
E.G. Scanson
	Gary Stedman



	28
	William Black
Anders Jenson
G. Goelickson
H.G. Scanson
	Gary Stedman




	29
	S. Zwight
M. Weibler
	George Topp
E. Tilman Scanson

	30
	State Land
E.L. Goss

	Margaret Aam
State of North Dakota
Odes Scanson

	31
	G.C. Steman
Frank McMiller
George Imhoff
G.H. Finnerman
	James Gussiaas
Ray Hoffman
Mervin Gussiaas
Odes Scanson

	32
	George Imhoff
State Land
G. Lund
	James Gussiaas
E. Tilman Scanson
Odes Scanson

	33
	G.O. Scanson
Gustav Zink

	Jerry Goheen
Ray Hoffman
Glenn Lindstrom

	34
	State Land
Ole Elton
	John Lindstrom


	35
	Peterson & Farnham
	H.F. Spickler

	36
	School Land
Peterson & Farnham
	Harold R. Spickler
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Longview Township 

Township 145 ‑ 67

Longview township is located in the southwest corner of Foster County. It is bordered by Wyard on the north; Melville on the east, Stutsman County on the south; and Wells County on the west.

The land is described as gentle rolling to rolling upland. The lower areas are drained by little creeks that join to make the Pipestem Creek. A small lake called Rush or Russell Lake is located on section 13 and 14. There are two dams on the small streams, one on Southeast 30 and the other on Southwest 32. There is a gravel pit on section 27.

The survey report was filed at Huron, Dakota Territory on November 10, 1884. Charles Scott and E.S. Sturtevant measured the subdivisions in August 1884. The western boundary was retraced by E.S. Sturtevant in August 1882. The north and west boundary lines were first surveyed by Milton Nye in July, 1882. George Beardsley established the south line in September 1883 and the east line in July 1874.

There is 22,936.99 Acres of public land and 105.10 acres of water, giving the total of 23,042.09.

Settlers in the area when the land was surveyed were

	Francis Dodd
	 Southwest 6

	John Olsen
	 Northeast 6

	F. Wentland
	 Northwest 24

	W. Wentland
	 Southwest 24

	J. Wentland
	 Southeast 24

	W.Y. Quarton
	 Southwest 2

	P. Frasier
	 Southeast 2

	J. McClellan
	 Northeast 12

	J. Pepple
	 Northwest 14

	C. Albus Jr.
	Southwest 14

	C. Albus
	 Southeast 13.
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Naming the Township

Francis Dodd lived on the southwest quarter of section 6. One day as he was looking across the plain or valley, he thought about the pleasant view which his eye beheld. Therefore, he suggested that this township be called "Pleasant Valley". This was accepted by the residents of the township. When the township was legally organized in 1920, it was found that there was another township in the state which had the same name. So this township was named "Longview". Mrs. Harry O'Neil (formerly Mrs. Francis Dodd) was responsible for changing the name from Pleasant Valley to Longview.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 320

Organization of the Township

From the proceedings of the Board of County Commissioners of Foster County, November 5, 1919. A petition was received, signed by B.R. Purcell and 23 other, legal voters of Congressional Township No. *145‑67 asking that said Congressional Township be organized into a civil township.

The first township meeting was held on November 22, 1919. Appointed to the respective offices were: 

Supervisors, C.G. Albus, H. O'Neil, B.O. Purcell

treasurer, Frank Trullinger. This was in June 1920.

Elected the following March were: Fred Pepple, Chairman

Clerk, Christian Pepple

treasurer, L.J. Kriewald

Assessor, Frank Albus

Supervisors, B.R. Purcell and H.E. O'Neil.

The township hall is located on Southwest 23.

1982 officers are: Clerk, Theodore Taylor

treasurer, Raymond Klein

Assessor, Math Wetzstein

Supervisors, Virgil Hennings, Daniel Gross, and Marvin Hallwachs.

The population in 1890 was 102; 1900, 119

and 1910, 156. In 1900 there were 23 open quarters.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 320

Schools

The Pleasant Valley School District was organized June 13, 1885 at the home of Francis Dodd. Officers elected were: John Hallberg, treasurer

Henry Laughlin, director

and Francis Dodd, Clerk.

School No. 1 was built in 1886 on Northeast 1/4 of section 8. This school served the community not only as an educational, but also a recreational and religious center. Church meetings by the Swedish Lutheran denomination, weddings and funeral were held here. One winter Mr. King, a civil war veteran, gave an oyster supper to the whole community. A dance followed the supper.

The school opened on May 10, 1886 with Dora Robertson as the teacher. It continued for four months. She was paid $30 per month.

About the year 1905, the building was sold to the Brethren Church congregation. They moved it away and used it for some time. Then Christ Stevens bought the building and moved it to his homestead in Wells County. When Mr. Stevens quit farming, he sold his land to Loren Willey who moved the building to his farm, where he used it for a general storage place. Later it was destroyed by fire, which was caused by a defective kerosene burning brooder.

The present building of Longview School No. 1 was built on the southeast quarter of section 5 immediately after the old building was moved away.

Longview No. 2, known as the Pepple school, was built in 1886 on the southeast corner of Northeast 1/4 of section 14. The building was a wood frame structure. Kate Quarton was the first teacher. Through the efforts of Harry O'Neil the school was rebuilt in 1906 on the southwest corner of section 23.

Longview schools numbers 1 and 2 served the Pleasant Valley township until 1918 when it was decided to build another school. Longview No. 3 was built in 1919 on the northwest corner of Northeast 1/4 of section 29.

The School District reorganized February 11, 1960 and the district was annexed to the Carrington School District.
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Germantown Baptist Church

The first visit to the settlers in Pleasant Valley township was in November 1883 by Rev. J.C. Grummet. Living in the area then was August Liebig, Albus, Pepple and Wentland. The church was organized as the First German Baptist Church of Carrington, North Dakota on November 2, 1884.

On September 4, 1885 it was reorganized by the Northwestern Conference. The first officers were: William Wentland, lay minister and Christ Albus, clerk. A Sunday School was organized about two months later. There were thirteen charter members. Later the congregation built a church in Wells County.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 321

Baptist Church

This church was built in Longview township in 1902 or 1903, on Northeast 1/4 of section 34.

The building was a frame structure. The first salaried minister was John Jaeger, who was serving in Wells County. He came to Pleasant Valley once a month.

Ministers 

Joe Jaeger 

William Paul 

John Miller 

August Kraemer 

Albert Itterman

Albert Krombine 

N.E. McCoy 

Erick Bonikowski 

Alfred Weisser

Soon after 1943 the church was moved to Carrington to the present location of the Baptist church. Some of the members were: Pepples, Albuses, Lutz, Van Meters, Dodds, and Wentlands.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 321

Seventh Day Adventist Church

In 1895, Mr. Dirksen came to the area and conducted a revival meeting. The Wentland family accepted the Adventist faith. They, along with the Gustav Hoffman family; decided to join the church: They conducted services in various homes during the early 1900s. Later Adam Hoffman, Adolph Huff, and William Biloff joined the group. They later became members of the New Home Church.

In 1919 Elder John Roth and Julius Dertz conducted a series of meetings in Longview No. 3 school. The company was called the Pleasant Valley Sabbath School. This functioned until the Seventh Day Adventist Church at Cathay was purchased and moved to the Southeast 1/4 of section 20 about 1939 or 40.

In 1952 a new building was built in Carrington. The Pleasant Valley Church was dissolved and the Carrington Seventh Day Adventists church was organized in January 1953.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 321

Interesting Facts

John Nordeen, a resident of Longview township was one of the first commissioners of Foster County. He held this position when the courthouse was built in Carrington. His name appears on the cornerstone.

The first one to own a car is said to be William Kallberg. He bought a Ford from Mr. McCreary in 1944.

Charlie Wing was the claim spotter and also the first auctioneer in this county.

In a newspaper story written in 1936: "Several young daring men from Longview joined in the search for the lion that was causing so much worry all over the state. They beat the brush through Hawksnest, didn't see the beast, but bagged about 15 jackrabbits that would have come in handy to throw out to the enemy in case they had met him."
This story from the 1939 Independent:

"Longview Cows Still Shiver at Narrow Escape"
"This happened two weeks ago at the Wilford Berg farm but it still makes the chills run up and down those cows' back whenever they think of their narrow escape. The wind was blowing a good stiff breeze and the windmill was keeping tune to it at a lively clip, pumping water into the tank. Exactly half a minute after those two cows had finished their early morning drink and started slowly back to the barn to join the rest of the herd that had been at the tank before them, something happened.  The main shaft broke and the rapidly revolving windmill wheel struck the ground at the exact spot where those two cows had been standing while drinking. Nor did it stay there but kept up its spinning motion and rolled halfway to the barn before coming to a stop.

And now this week, Ire Hubbard of Carrington is out there hammering that badly battered wheel into shape, making other repairs and putting things back on their dizzy perch."
The first white child born in Longview township was Jacob Albus, son of Christian Albus and Catherine Edinger Albus on May 20, 1883. The Albus family then lived on the Southwest 1/4 of section 14.

Will and Andrew Kallberg, pioneers from Longview worked on the railroad from Jamestown to Carrington in 1883.

Service Men:

Ferdnand Pepple WWI

Henry Wetzstein WWII

Chaplain Leslie Albus

Gustav Lutz (died while in service)

Joe Kautzman

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 321

Historic Sites

Camp Kimball located on section northeast quarter of section 16. This was one of the stops made by General Sibley in 1863.

In Longview township there were found the remains of breastwork thrown up during the skirmish between Sibley and the Indians. This plot of ground has been purchased by the State Historical Society and the D.A.R. of Carrington and they have placed a marker on the area.

Indians would cross section 28 on their way to the Hawksnest.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 322

Pleasant Valley ‑ Longview Land Ownership in 1910 and 1980

Longview Township 145‑67

	Section
	1910
	1980

	1
	Windeth Huston
	Ferdinand B. Peik

	2
	F.M. Trullinger 
W.Y. Quarton 
B.L. Russell 
J.H. Doty
	Ted Ripplinger
Lydia Suckut



	3

	G.W. Kallberg 
J.P. Doalson 
W.Y. Quarton
	Butts Farming Assn.
Ted Glaser 
Robert Theis

	4
	B. Kaliberg 
J.A. Kallberg 
Henry Laughlin
	George Aljets
Anton Waliser
Butts Farming Assn.

	5
	P.M. Nelson 
Jennie Laughlin 
B. Kallberg
	LeRoy Butts
Anton Waliser 
William Voglewede

	6
	P.M. Nelson 
Mrs. H.E. O'Neil 
K. Heigg 
Peter Lumberg

	Peggy Nelson &
Margy Buchler
Elton Leppke 
Emma Leppke 
Alfred Weisser

	7
	H.E. O'Neil 
Peter Anderson 
Isabell G. O'Neil
	Emma Leppke



	8
	Peter Lunberg 
P.J. Kallberg 
V.E. Kallberg
	Joe & Ted Taylor
Janice Widicker &
Phyllis Roeh

	9
	V.E. Kallberg 
Lucy Smith 
J. A. Kallberg
	Janice Widicker & Phyllis Roeh
Robert Lake


	10
	G.W. Kallberg 
C.K. Wing 
John Pepple
	Ted Glaser
Wildred Schroeder


	11
	Christiana Albus


	Edward Meyer
Dennis Unruh
Werner Neuman

	12
	T.B. Buchanan 
Nordeene & Whitaker 
Fred Wentland
	Werner Neuman
Jerome Miller
William Voglewede

	13
	Christiana Albus 
Fred Wentland
	Mineard Stolz
7th Day Adventist

	14
	Caroline Pepple 
Christopher Albus 
John Pepple 
Fred Albus
	Dennis Unruh
7th Day Adventist
Gary Rosenau
Dennis Montgomery

	15
	C.K. Wing 
Richard Sykes 
G.W. Kallberg
	Wilfred Schroeder
Dennis Montgomery


	16
	School Land


	Carl Sudelgte
State of North Dakota
Wilfred Schroeder

	17
	Whiting Land & Loan Company 
First National Bank of Fargo 
Mary A. Taylor
	Joe & Ted Taylor
Patricia Hagel 
Delight Laughlin

	18
	John & Harold Nordien
	Herman Neuman

	19
	Wheelock & Wheelock
	Raymond Klein

	20
	Robert E. Taylor 
W.J. Taylor 
Preston Garland 
Herbert Peabody
	Delight Laughlin
Joe & Ted Taylor



	21
	C.S. Warth


	Joe & Ted Taylor
Marvin Hallwachs 
Willis Biloff 
Jerome Miller

	22
	Fred Albus Dakota Land Company 
Christ Albus 
Caroline Pepple
	Jerome Miller
Dennis Montgomery


	23
	Caroline Pepple 
Jacob Lutz 
Fred Wentland
	Daniel Gross



	24
	Fred Wentland 
William Wentland 
Ole Johnson
	7th Day Adventist
Daniel Gross


	25
	Ole Johnson 
Joseph Wallace 
F.H. Burnham
	Leslie Albus
Mineard Stolz


	26
	John Pepple 
Thomas Lutz 
	John Kautzman


	27
	Gustoff Hoffman 
D.S.B. Johnson Land Company 
Jacob Lutz 
Caroline Pepple
	Math Wetzstein
Mildred Hoffman 
Daniel Gross


	28
	Henry Dexter 
H.H. Clark 
Gustoff Hoffman 
Winterer‑Husacker
	Andrew Klein
Arnold Hoffman 
Math Wetzstein


	29
	D.S.B. Johnston Land Company
	Andrew Klein
Marvin Hallwachs

	30
	Nathan Honer
Maggie Heigg
Charles Honer
Martin Haba
	Ted Clark




	31
	D.S.B. Johnston Land Company
	Ted Clark
Marvin Hallwachs

	32
	C.T. Boyd
Adam Hoffman
Theo Tobias
State Land
	Marvin Hallwachs 
Louis Hoffman



	33
	D.S.B. Johnston Land Company
	Arnold Hoffman 
Louie Hoffman

	34
	Daniel McCoy 
Ernest Paul 
O.W. Wilson 
Thomas Lutz
	Virgil Hennings 
Math Wetzstein 
Daniel Gross


	35
	Thomas Lutz 
Jacob Lutz 
B.L. Russell
	Edward Meyer
Virgil Hennings 
Daniel Gross

	36
	School Land
	Jerome Miller 
Henry Neumiller 
John Schock
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Land Acquisition:

Longview Township 145‑67

	Year and Name
	Section

	1885
	

	John McCelland
	

	
	

	1887
	

	Michael Pepple
	 12 

	George Pepple
	 12 

	Jacob Lutz
	 26

	
	

	1888
	

	Robert Jordon
	 2 

	Mark Trevenor
	 2 

	Francis Dodds
	 6 

	Peter Lundberg
	 6 

	Charles A. Peterson
	10 

	Frank W. Johnson
	10 

	John Pepple
	14 

	Christin Albus Jr.
	14

	
	

	1889
	

	Peter Karlsson
	 8 

	Andrew Kallberg
	 8 

	G. William Kallberg
	10 

	Peter Seibolt
	 22

	
	

	1890
	

	George H. Hale 
	 4 

	Karine Heigg
	 6 

	Samuel Pit. 
	 22 

	Jakob Wentland
	24

	
	

	1892
	

	William Courton
	 2 

	Peter Nilson
	6 

	Nils J. Heigg. 
	18

	
	

	1894
	

	Bengta Kallberg
	 4 

	John Heigg
	 18 

	Jacob Lutz
	 26

	
	

	1895
	

	John A. Hallberg
	 4 

	John Pepple
	10 

	Wilhelm Wentland
	24 

	Jacob Wentland
	34

	
	

	1896
	

	Barbara Courton
	 2 

	Samuel Langford
	14

	Hannah Heigg 
	18

	Thomas Lutz 
	26

	
	

	1897
	

	Christin Albus
	22 

	Thomas Lutz
	 26

	
	

	1898
	

	Henry Laughlin
	 4 

	Peter Lundberg
	 8 

	John Bissit
	 12 

	Nils J. Heigg
	 18

	
	

	1900
	

	Catherine Seibolt
	 34

	
	

	1901
	

	Patrick Hopkins
	 8

	
	

	1902
	

	Herbert Peabody
	 20

	
	

	1903
	

	Gustaf Hoffman
	28

	
	

	1904
	

	August Gehlenbick 
	 28

	
	

	1905
	

	Charles Coffey
	 20 

	Maggie Heigg
	30

	
	

	1906
	

	Henry Dexter
	28

	
	

	1907
	

	Adam Hoffman
	 32

	
	

	1908
	

	Lidya Duval
	32

	
	

	1909
	

	Frederick Albus
	22 

	Charles Honer
	30 

	Theodore Tobias
	32

	
	

	1910
	

	Harriet Standish
	28 

	Nathan Honer
	30 

	Cyrus T. Boyd
	32

	
	

	1911
	

	Martin Haba
	30
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McHenry Township 
Township 147 ‑ 62

by Avis Lowe

The survey report was filed at Huron, Dakota Territory on December 23, 1884.

The township lines were surveyed by Charles Scott in October, 1882. George W. Phillips measured the subdivisions and meanders in September 1884.

There is 22,507.34 Acres of Public land and 460.08 acres of water surface, giving the township a total of 22,967.42 acres.

In 1900 there were 61 open quarters that had not been settled.

McHenry township is located at the extreme northeast corner of Foster County, Range 62 West 147 North.  Named after the village, McHenry, which, in turn, was named in honor of the chief civil engineer for the Northern Pacific railroad company; in charge, when a branch line brought service from Cooperstown to McHenry, in 1899.

The land is level to nearly level with some gently undulating hills. There is a large slough, "The Alkali", which covers large portions of sections 8 and 9 and part of 16 and 17. The Bald Hill Creek meanders through sections 32, 33, 34, 25, 26 and 27. The northern half of the township has many acres of swampy undrained land. The Federal Government has purchased nearly three hundred acres in sections 1, 5 and 6, as a wildlife preserve. Many other acres, in this upper tier, are presently in the "Water Bank" program; because it is an ideal setting for game cover as well as "Production Set‑aside". The southern half, more readily, drains into the Bald Hill Creek. On this creek there are two dams, one on the Northeast quarter of Section 26 and the other on the Southeast quarter of Section 34; the Paul Frappier and Julius Delfa farms, respectively. These dams were built from 1934‑36 as a W.P.A. project. The main labor force was made up of low income local villagers and area farmers with their horses and equipment. Both of these earthen dams are still retaining water, though they are in only fair to good condition.

The Northern Pacific railroad runs through the south halves of sections 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5, ending with a unique "turn around loop" at the end of the line in section 5. Burlington Northern now owns this trackage but has abandoned the thirteen miles of line from Binford to McHenry. The City of McHenry, through long negotiations, finally obtained the lease to all the right of way, to and through, the loop from highway No. 20. The trackage was an outright gift. This "Loop" is a Historic Site.

Highway No. 20 runs vertically through the center of the township. The county has built a hard top road which runs horizontally along the upper sections, leading to Binford and Grace City. The remainder of the county roads are graveled and in excellent condition; generally passable throughout the year. There is one Air Strip; 2300' east‑west sod runway, located on Section 4.

McHenry township had two rural schools. I asked for help from Carl Pewe, whose father John Pewe, was an early township resident, so this report is a direct quote from him. "The Paulson school was located on the southeast corner of Section 19‑147‑62 West. Teachers there throughout the years were (maybe not in this order) as I recall them: Mrs. Chris Delfs, Clara Tams, Lottie Posey, Alice Arndt, Milly Baily (later married Arthur McLaughlin) and Anna Ibsen. This school was consolidated with McHenry school about 1913. Pete Rorvig and Haro Gregory were the first school bus drivers. Pupils in the school were: Charlie Delfs, Josie and Luella Werner, Albert, Edmund, Alma and Florence Paulson, Willie, Elsie and Leona Pewe, Harry and Dora Rothforth, Lorretta Knuth, Arthur, Frank, Cicel and Mae Fessler, and during the winter months, Alma and Carl Pewe. This school building was later moved and used for a garage, only to burn, taking a brand new Buick with it."
This school report is written by Gustav Pewe, brother of Carl. "My first grade teacher was Beth Peterson of McHenry. I wonder how she managed to get a kid who only understood and spoke low German to learn English; this must have been quite a challenge for her, it was for me. However, by the time I was in second grade, another McHenry lady was the teacher, Pearl Greb, but by that time I had really taken hold in school and enjoyed my education from then on. As I recall in naming the pupils attending, they were: Alma, Herman and Henry Delfs, Harry, Donald and Carroll Cole, Wilmar Ramstead and my sisters, Freida and Ella and myself, Gustav Pewe. There perhaps were others who attended before we arrived at the Runge farm, but they were unknown to me. The school closed its doors as the district reorganized with McHenry in 1913 and we were bussed there from then on. When I drive down that road, occasionally, it still brings back memories of long ago." The school house was moved to the Tony Smith farm. A special thanks to the Pewe gentlemen for their help.

The organizational meeting for McHenry township convened early in 1902, with Ernest Hohneck, pro tem chairman and William Werner, K.J. Alfstad and H.S' Culver as meeting judges. This first meeting was held at the "Country School", located just outside of McHenry. Candidates for the upcoming election were chosen as well as voting sites. The March elections were held at the McHenry Post Office, the John Paulson and the Culver schools. Twenty citizens came to vote and the following offices were filled.

Charles H. Leach, Supervisor and chairman John Paulson, Supervisor

S.C. Keller, Supervisor W.H. Niemeyer, Clerk K.J. Alfstad, treasurer E.M. Brown, Assessor

H.H. Williams, Justice of Peace

William Werner, Justice of Peace Len Gander, Constable

Marcus Delfs, Constable

Fred Johansen, Overseer of Highway H.S. Halvorson, Overseer of Highway Charles 0. Benson, Pound Master.

Supervisors were paid $35.00 per year. The first assessment called for $800.00 for Township purposes and $500.00 toward the erection of the City Jail. Total budget $1,300.00. The voting participation in this township fluctuates wildly. In 1905 there were 57 ballots cast, in 1920 only 7, 1924‑ 50, 1934‑ 53 and 1944 down to 16. In the last ten years we have averaged less than ten votes for each election.

The minutes give few clues to analyze these variances, but I suspect, by the increase of candidates in those "high county" years, that there was extra interest in roads, the assessors position and law and order. A low vote may indicate contentment. The present officers are:

Alfred Frappier, Supervisor and chairman Elery Hoyt, Supervisor

Richard Lowe, Supervisor Lester Dreher, Assessor

Edmund Pewe, Clerk Richard McDaniel, treasurer Supervisors are paid $75.00 per year in 1982.

As I read documents to prepare this history, I came upon some of the judicial records. In this case the defendant had bought an item for $33.50. He defaulted so the prosecutor brought him to court. As a result of the litigation he was charged the court costs and the original indebtedness. These costs were itemized:

Summons 
.50 

Docket 
.25 

Filing 
.20 

Judgment 
.50

Officers fee for summons 
1.05

Transcript 
1.00

Attorney fee 
5.00
Legal Fees
8.50

Debt
33.50

Judgment
42.00

McHenry village lies within the boundary of McHenry township. I have not included information about the town because we have another history of the towns in this book.

McHenry township has twenty‑five residences, with about one half of these in the full time business of farming. The real estate is held by fifty different land owners. Of these fifty, several live in McHenry and augment their other businesses with agricultural pursuits. Other land owners have farm residences in neighboring townships and we have two out of state owners. We have a total rural population of seventy‑six. One third of our households are headed by widows. There are no widowers. We have only two families still living on farms in McHenry township who had parents or grandparents who homesteaded here, they are the Delfs and the Pewes.

The farming in this area is diversified. We have both dairy and beef cattle, a few chickens for home use and some hogs. The typical grain cropping includes wheat, barley, oats, corn and rye, but in the last ten year the new and most successful cash crop has been sunflowers. Wild hay has given way to the more productive alfalfa, sweet clover and tame grasses. We have no irrigated fields.

McHenry township residents are supportive of the local fire department, community organizations, their schools and churches, their village and most of all, to each other.
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McHenry Township Land Acquisition

McHenry Township 147-62

	Year and Name 
	Section

	1888
	

	Justin Holm
	 24

	
	

	1890
	

	Christin Melby
	 12

	
	

	1891
	

	Bell Norgard
	6

	
	

	1893
	

	Christin Melby
	2

	Martin Borgum
	 32

	
	

	1894
	

	Knute Alfstad
	 4

	
	

	1895
	

	Jacob Wendland
	 4

	Slick Helling
	 32

	
	

	1897
	

	Knute Alfstad
	48

	
	

	1898
	

	Ole Ranum
	

	
	

	1899
	

	Torstin K. Ragne
	2

	
	

	1900
	

	William Williams
	 24

	
	

	1901
	

	Jacob Berg 
	2

	John A. Carlson
	 6

	Albert England 
	 30

	
	

	1902
	

	Bert Phipps
	26

	
	

	1903
	

	Christ Rund
	24

	Michael Williamson 
	28

	
	

	1904
	

	Herman Rothfork
	 32

	
	

	1905
	

	Frederick Johanson
	34

	
	

	1906
	

	Marcus Delfs
	 34

	
	

	1907
	

	Willy Pewe
	 22
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McHenry Township Land Owners 1910 and 1980

	Section
	1910
	1980

	1
	M.B. Blewiff
J.M. Shannon 
Beach & Magen 
Knud Thompson
	Lawrence Larson




	2
	J. Appleton
F.W. Kimitt 
S.J. Sloddard 
Andrew Nerby
	Richard Aasand
Edson G. Larson



	3

	A.V. Carlson
A.B. Nerby
	Richard Lowe


	4
	Hammer & Condy
A.D. Alstad

	Charles Aasand
Arnold McDaniel 
Lester Dreher

	5
	D.S.B. Johnston Land Company

	Arthur M. Midgley
Alfred Anderson

	6
	John E. Wison
Ellingson & Lowden 
Carrie Berg‑Martin Berg 
E.N. Brown
	Edward Meyer
Rodney Leir 
Marguerite Ramey 
Duane Hoffman

	7
	J.M. Shannon
W.E. Kurtz‑res.
	Stanley T. Smith


	8
	Maggie & Mayme Crohen
H.H. Hannson Company
U.S.
	James Stage
Charles Aasand 
Arthur Olson

	9
	Albert Hanson
	Arnold McDaniel

	10
	John G. Harudman
State Land

	Stanley & James Peterson, Jr.
State of North Dakota
Herman Brandt

	11
	D.S.B. Johnston Land Company
Andrew Ellingson 
Andrew Nerby
	Norvin P. Black
Edson G. Larson


	12
	A.B. Nerby
Albert Larson
State Land
	Edson G. Larson 
Lyle Black


	13
	D.S.B. Johnston Land Company
	Elmer Bakke

	14
	School Land


	Stanley & James Peterson 
John Brandt 
Roy Brandt

	15
	D.S.B. Johnston Land Company
John O. Johnson
	Janet Brandt 
Richard McDaniel

	16
	P.T. Pewe
M.D. Dybvik

	Roy Brandt 
Lester Dreher 
John Brandt

	17
	D.S.B. Johnston Land Company
William Werner 
J.A. Maynard 
Carl Erbach
	Dwaine Hoyt 
Stanley & James Patterson 
Stanley T. Smith 
John Edland

	18
	State Land
Henry Pewe, Jr.
George W. Wiernet
	Stanley T. Smith



	19
	Henry Pewe, Jr.
Herman Delfs 
John Paulsen 
William Werner
	Alfred Frappier
Russell Thompson 
Melvin Thompson


	20
	William Werner 
John Paulsen 
F.W. Werner 
Hans Werner
	Wayne Bergan
Russell Thompson 
Melvin Thompson


	21
	Herman Guestorf
William Werner
Henry Pewe, Sr.
H.H. Pewe
	Oscar Tufte
Edmund Pewe



	22
	State Land
Lewis Swanson 
Charles Pewe 
Willie Pewe
	Edmund Pewe
Julius Delfs



	23
	H.C. Wagern
D.S.B. Johnston Land Company
L. Dana
	Stanley & James Patterson
Alfred Frappier 
Franklin Jorgenson

	24
	C.H. Leach
Frank Tuttle 
Hammer & Condy
	Franklin Jorgenson



	25
	C.H. Leach
	Clarence Frappier

	26
	State Land
Bert C. Phipps
	State of North Dakota
Paul Frappier

	27
	Roda Culver
Andrew G. Henderson
	Betty Pound
Herman Delfs

	28
	H.L. Culver
	Harold Seielstad

	29
	John H. Hancher



	Walter Hoyt
Oscar Hoyt 
Harvey Hoyt 
Elery Hoyt

	30
	John Boe 
W. H. Niemeyer 
Henry Liedebur
	Stanley & James Patterson
Melvin Thompson


	31
	J.M. Shannon

	Franklin Ellingson
Thomas & Roger Edlund

	32
	Paul Christiansen 
State Land Thomas Knuth
	Elery Hoyt
Herman Johnson

	33
	W.W. Culver
Paul & Thomas Christiansen
	George H. Foster
Herman Delfs

	34
	Marcus Delfs
J.T. Johansen Fred Johannson
	Julius Delfs
Myron Gader

	35
	William Hauer
O.W. Carnahan
	Alfred Frappier
Paul Frappier

	36
	V.M. Tuttle
	Ada Bergstad
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City of McHenry

McHenry was established in 1899 on Section 15‑147-62, when the Northern Pacific railroad company extended the line from Cooperstown. The town was named in honor of E.H. McHenry, who was the chief civil engineer for the railroad, at the time. This extension was the direct result of the national economic boom, after the depression of the 1890's. Railroads expanded their trackage and equipment, European immigrants poured into the nation, urban populations increased and the national wealth more than doubled. There was land and opportunity available in North Dakota and in 1899 the end of this branch line became what today is our village.

There were needs to be met, for these settlers, and McHenry attempted to meet them. Typical of the times; this village grew rapidly. By 1910 the population had peaked at five hundred and in the few years that followed we had more than our share of businesses and churches. This small area boasted four churches and seven grain elevators and about fifty other businesses. This was too much of everything and by 1933, mid‑depression, the population had dropped drastically. There were now only two hundred McHenry citizens and the businesses had also declined. We had only three grain elevators; by 1940 we had only one. One church had disbanded, leaving us three, and we lost several other valuable commercial assets. Both newspapers failed, the Free Press lasted only four years and the McHenry Tribune served for twenty‑six years. Others that were eliminated were: a creamery, two hotels, real estate offices, photography shop, three clothing stores, a millinery shop, a book store and two banks. We continued to have a medical doctor and a veterinarian for a few years, but no longer had drug store services. Some of the businesses that were added in these twenty plus years, were: service stations and automobile dealerships, a light plant and the telephone office. Our population continued to decline (except for a temporary increase in the forties) so that, to date, McHenry's census stands at one hundred thirteen, with two churches and ten businesses.

What happened to McHenry might have been predictable, but in this early 1900 era of abundance; to entrepreneurs, caution seemed out of vogue. Shortly after 1910, the Great Northern railroad company had established the town sites of Grace City, Juanita and Glenfield on their main line. Each of these towns had their own grain handling facilities, blacksmith shops and grocery outlets. Our trade area to the south and west was severely curtailed. To the east, in Griggs County, lay Mose and Binford; four and twelve miles away respectively. They were on our branch line and had every grain facility we offered. We still had comfortable and uncompetitive grain hauling distances to the north, but there was another problem. The land radiating around McHenry was

not particularly suited to bonanza wheat farming. Milk and beef cows, pigs, sheep and chickens were necessary to provide a living on these farms. More oats, corn, barley and hay was raised; wheat became the cash crop, but not the life sustaining crop. The need for the service of grain elevators fell away, and with them went one of the economic bases for supporting our village. At present, we have no commercial grain buying service in McHenry.

The settlers around McHenry, were, in the main, of German and Scandinavian descent. They were, because of their backgrounds, ambitious, politically aware, religious people with a concern for the education of their children. There were two township schools but McHenry village had its own one room school, which opened in 1899. It stood on the outskirts of McHenry, had a small enrollment, and was known as the "Country School". In 1902 a new two room school house was built; enrollment had increased to about fifty students. This was located in the west part of town. We still use part of that building as our Village Hall. We soon outgrew that facility and a new school building was completed in 1909, at a cost of $35,000. It sat on the spot of the present school building and had a full basement, seven class rooms on the first and second floors and a library‑office combination.

In the early years only two years of high school were offered. Later three years, then in 1920 the fourth year of high school was added. Two students graduated from McHenry High School in 1921. Because McHenry had a four year high school, some students from Glenfield stayed in McHenry during the school year to finish.

The two rural schools mentioned before were consolidated with McHenry school in 1914, and transportation became a problem to be solved. Horse drawn buses were used to bring children to town. Later, the homebuilt canvas bodies of the horse drawn buses were placed on trucks. This up‑dated form of transportation made it possible to send the students and teams to other towns for basketball games.

October 5, 1939 the McHenry school building was destroyed by fire. At the time one hundred fifty students were enrolled. The building and contents, valued at $50,000, was declared a complete loss: During the period following the fire and until the rebuilding of the school was completed by a W.P.A. crew, composed mostly of local men, students attended classes in churches and halls in the village. The cement building, that now serves as McHenry's school, received its first students in the fall of 1942. , 

In 1958 Juanita reorganized with the McHenry district and in 1960 Colvin, Cherry Lake and Paradise districts became a part of the district.

In the spring of 1980, possibly, the last senior class graduated from McHenry High School, as in the fall of 1980 the high school students began attending the Glenfield‑Sutton School. The trial merger of these three schools continued. McHenry houses and educates Kindergarten and the first six grades while Glenfield provides for the six upper grades.

An inland Post Office, established by Knut Melby in 1890 was the first to serve this area. It was located east of McHenry on what is now the Richard Lowe farm site. When McHenry was established, this post office was moved into town. The first mail was received in April, 1900. At that time, only second and fourth class mail was received. Rural Free Delivery began in 1908 with three routes initiating from the McHenry post office. These routes were twenty‑six, thirty‑two and thirty‑four miles long. We still have a post office but only one rural route which is one hundred thirteen miles long.

The first train came to McHenry October 25, 1899. August 1st, 1891 this branch line, that once brought life to this prairie town, was officially abandoned by its new owner, Burlington Northern railroad company. With this abandonment came an opportunity for our village to create a historic monument for all the people of this nation, who have an interest in the transportation development of our country. At the end of this branch line, Northern Pacific had built a "turn around loop" which enabled the trains to switch directions. This method was wasteful of land loop contains about twenty‑two acres) so railroads soon devised other methods to turn trains around; they used turn tables, the "Y", or round houses. Other "turn around loops" were built, but have been destroyed and to our knowledge, this intact facility, is unique to our nation. The city of McHenry, through long negotiations with Burlington Northern, finally obtained the lease of all the right of way, to and through the loop from Highway No. 20. The trackage was an outright gift. An organization has been formed to exploit this facility and make it a National Historic Site.

Building a city is an invigorating and exciting time. It was no different in McHenry. Businesses boomed and flourished, but the majority died. Itinerant laborers brought with them another cultural facet to add to the mixture of the stolid farmers and local impresarios. Some "City Slickers" saw McHenry as a place to make a financial killing. More than one difference of opinion ended in physical fights; we had our share of murders. Law officers and jails were a necessity. Prohibition brought to McHenry the same clandestine scenes that all other communities encountered; the law made "out‑laws" of many good citizens who were required to justify their purchases of alcohol "for medicinal purposes" while being in perfect health. The sugar used in home brew and the malt for beer, became a grocery staple in many homes. Home town entertainment was in style; large bands, dance bands, singer, actors, fiery political and religious speakers, made up typical celebration programs.

The McHenry of 1982 has been distilled into a very special community. The businesses and organizations have made our lives comfortable and compact. A well stocked meat market and grocery store, plumbing and heating, television sales and repair, paint and appliance store, a service station, a bar and an aerial spray service are our private enterprises. The cafe, summer movie theater and beauty shop were purchased and are managed by the "Town and Country Club". This club is made up of rural and village community members who all donated cash to promote these businesses; and continue to support them through a yearly fund raiser. Two of our local men invented a gear puller a few years ago. At this time we have the "Posi‑Lock" gear puller assembly plant in McHenry. Five local farmers have purchased the defunct grain elevator facilities. It is their plan to accommodate the public's need for grain cleaning services. We have an outstanding, privately owned museum. The Senior Citizens have a newly decorated and modern meeting place. We have an active fire department and ambulance, with dedicated crews to man them both. We are organized into groups of Homemakers, American Legion and its Auxiliary, Band Mothers, 4‑H clubs, Square dance instructors and callers, Ball players and Picnickers who enjoy our new village park. There is a closeness here that others may envy. Our churches, Catholic and Lutheran, have congregations that extend the arm of love so that an outsider would have difficulty identifying one sect from another at a fund raiser or in a time of need; for each supports the other financially and spiritually. We like McHenry and enjoy sharing it with others.

In 1974, McHenry celebrated its 75th anniversary. An excellent history and pictorial display was compiled into a book. If anyone is interested in more detailed information, I would suggest reading that book; available at the local post office.
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Melby School District

Melby School District came into being in the spring of 1890. The following information was taken from records on file in the office of the Foster County Superintendent of Schools.

"April 29, 1890‑ Pursuant to the order of the County Commissioners the first election for school officers for Melby School District was held at the house of Ole Melby April 29, 1890, and resulted as follows: For directors Knude Melby, Knude Alfstad, and C.C. Rogne. For District treasurer, Ole Melby.

"After the polls were closed and vote canvassed, board organized by electing Knude Melby president of the school board and J.K. Rogne district clerk.

"June 8, 1890‑ At the regular election for school officers the following officers were elected. 

Director for one year Knude Melby. 

Director for two years K. Alfstad. 

Director for three years C. Rogne. For district treasurer Ole Melby. Board organized by electing Knude Alfstad president and appointing J. Rogne clerk.

"June 1893‑ No election held‑ the officers continue to serve‑ the reason of their being no election was that the men were all away out of the district working on the "Soo" Railroad.

"In February following, Tollef Robley and Knute Melby resigned and Andrew Johnson and Carl Benson were appointed directors. The clerk Ole Melby also resigning, Knute Alfstad was selected Clerk, Company treasurer, and acting treasurer."
According to early settlers in the district, the first schools were scattered around the district. One school was located south of town and another in the southwestern portion of the district.

School terms varied in length. Some lasted two months, some longer. There apparently were several terms of school during a given year.

The following quotes were taken from several copies of the Foster County Tribune printed in McHenry at the turn of the century.

December 8, 1899‑ Miss Ida Kaasa reports 18 pupils enrolled in the school and not all of the children have begun to enroll.

Miss Nordhaugen, mother of a young lady who taught here last summer, died at her home in Cooperstown.

March 16, 1900‑ First quarter taxes to Melby were apportioned.

June 28, 1900‑ Mrs. Helen Alfstad reports an enrollment of 30 pupils.

July 26, 1900‑ If people want to bond the township to build a new school, they must go through a certain procedure 

 It will soon be too late to do anything this year and unless the question is decided, work will have to go over until next spring.

August 2, 1900‑ School board bought a house to be moved into the southwest corner of the township to be used for school purposes.

The people of this district have decided to wait until next spring before issuing bonds for a new school for the town.

October 25, 1900‑ School may not start as early as expected because furniture wasn't provided.

November 8, 1900‑ School in the village district will start Monday with O.E. Wood twirling the ferrule.

November 15, 1900‑ Minnie Tamms finished a very successful term of school in the school south of McHenry.

November 15, 1900‑ It is expected that school will start in the village district next week. J.W. Ellingson has been engaged to teach. (O.E. Wood couldn't begin the term as teacher due to other job commitments. Mr. Ellingson was to become the husband of Gertie Bjorgo and the father of Lannes and Robert Ellingson, Dora Delfs and Shirley Bergan, all of whom reside in the McHenry community, and Custer and Ellsworth, deceased.)

November 22, 1900‑ J.W. Ellingson began a two month's term of school in the village district on Monday with an attendance of 12.

January 3, 1901‑ Prof. J.W. Ellingson dismissed school in the village district during Christmas and New Year's weeks.

March 14, 1901‑ The winter term of the village school closes on Friday.

March 28, 1901‑ Minnie Tamms is expected to begin teaching a spring and summer term of school in the Werner district south of town about April 1.

The town school for which villagers were trying to get bonds issued in the summer of 1900 went into operation in 1902. This school was located in the southwestern part of the village. After a few years of operation, it was used in the construction of the Opera House which is now the "show hall" located on Main Street.

According to records Melby became a special district April 9, 1907, in a special election‑ carried by 6 votes.

The second village school was a brick building that was completed in 1909 at the cost of $35,000. It sat on the site of the present building and contained a full basement for recreation, lavatories, janitor room and later a workshop for manual training. The first floor was composed of four classrooms and the second floor housed the assembly, science room, eighth‑grade room, and a library‑office combination.

In early years only two years of high school were offered. Later, three years were offered until 19191920 when the fourth year was added. Winnifred Fitch and Florence Dierdorff were the first students to graduate from McHenry's high school in the year 1920.

In 1914 McHenry Township consolidated with McHenry School bringing in such students as the Delfs, Pewes, and Werners.

After McHenry began operating a four‑year high school, some students from Glenfield such as the Dybwads stayed in McHenry in order to finish high school.

On October 5, 1939, the community was stunned to see that their school had been destroyed by fire. At the time there were about 150 students enrolled. The building valued at $50,000 was a complete loss.

During the period following the fire until the third village school was completed by a WPA crew composed mostly of local men, students attended classes in churches and halls in the village. The cement building that now serves as McHenry's school received its first students in the fall of 1942. Those who began first grade that year were Elton Fadness, Walter Fadness, Patty Gilbertson, Donald Haakenson, Lorraine Hayden, and Leroy Miller. Their teacher was Eleanor Nogosek. The first class to graduate in the spring of 1943 consisted of Ruth Aaker, Burton Aarestad, Wilfred Aarestad, Marjorie Beal, Therese Fadness, Gladys Hoyt, Merhe Knauss, John Leahy, Elsie LePine, Shirley Rath, Emil Saint, Jeanne Thompson, Lawrence Tufte, Paul Vance, and Robert Wixom.

In 1958 Juanita reorganized with the McHenry District, and in 1960 Colvin, Cherry Lake, and Paradise Districts became a part of the district.

In the spring of 1980 possibly the last senior class graduated from McHenry High School as in the fall of 1980 the high school students began attending the Glenfield‑Sutton School. All the district's elementary students will still attend school in McHenry along with Glenfield‑Sutton students in grades five through eight.

Students comprising the Class of 1980 were Ricky Bartlett, Mark Becker, Louanne Black, Douglas Briss, Mary Ellingson, Michael Erickson, Judy Frappier, Ardys Hoyt, Jean Larson, Annette Saint, Jennifer Saint, and Marlys Twedt.

Since the consolidation in 1914, several people have served as superintendents of McHenry School District No. 15: 

1914 - Raymond McLees, 

1915 - A.G. Somermeyer, 

1917 - Mable Zimmerman, 

1918 - Lillian Musseeter, 

1919 - Florence Fitzgerald, 

1920 - William Bublitz, 

1921‑ Jas. Hagen, 

1922 - Ann Franklin, 

1923 - J.W. Hogan, 

1924 - O.A. Brewer, 

1926 - Carl Finkbeiner, 

1928 - T.A. Bosworth, 

1934 - Arthur Simson, 

1938 - Hildor Braa, 

1942 - Fred Cink, 

1943 - Merle Zimmerman, 

1944 - Warren Peterson, 

1945 - Hovey Simon, 

1946 - Fred Nunn and Mrs. Ruth Frajola, 

1947 - Robert D. Smith.

1953 - Neland Haavig, 

1956 - Loyd Olson, 

1959 - Clair Bergenne, 

1967‑ Ray George, 

1969 - David Horlacher, 

1970 - John Feichtner, 

1974 - Aanen Gjovik, 

and 1976 - Danny Buckle, still superintendent in 1982 and 1983.

Listed below are people in addition to those mentioned at the beginning of this history who have served as school officers of the Melby and McHenry School Districts. They are named during the year they were first elected or appointed.

June 1894 - Ole Michaelson, director; Alick Helling, clerk; and C. Benson, president. 

1895 - A.N. England, who filled out the term of C.O. Benson who removed from the district. 

1896 - E.N. Brown, clerk. 

1897‑ A.B. Nerby. 

1900 - K.J. Alfstad, C. Benson, and William Werner, president.

1901‑ Ellis Willoughby. 

1902 - H.L. Culver. 

1906 - John Paulson. 

1907 - H.T. Holverson, John Paulson, R.R. Raymond and Anton Jensen. 

1908 - H.M. Runge, F.R. Cruden. 

1911‑ Oscar Moebeck (appointed), S.N. McQuat. 

1913 - Rev. N. (or W.) Larson, I.D. Allison, John Faytle, J.A. Dierdorff, W.O. Lowden, O.E. Mobeck. 

1914 - H.F. Cole. 

1915 - Paul Christiansen. 

1917 ‑ D.C. Best.

1920 - E.M. Metz. 

1922 - M. Zimmerman, John Knuth. 

1923 - E. M. Saul. 

1924 - E.A. LeBien. 

1925 - John Whalen. 

1926 - J.B. McWethy. 

1927 - Charles Pewe. 

1928 - G. Nelson, E. Culver. 

1934 - Ludvig Leir. 

1935 - Anton Johanns, treasurer. 

1938 - Clarence Messmer, Bennett Nerby, A.M. Midgley, Robert Hickman. 

1942 - Louis Pewe, Thorval Thompson. 

1943 - Emil Lowe. 

1944 - Tony Smith. 

1946 - A.0. Haugen. Sherman Lillethun, clerk. 

1947 - Mrs. Laura Lowe, Mrs. Sara Rath, clerk. 

1948 - Arthur Brown. 

1949 - Leo Overbeck, Robert Smith, clerk. 

1951‑ Herman Delfs.

1952 - Edward Swanson, clerk. 

1953 - Paul Brandt. 

1955 - Alfred Anderson, Edmund Pewe, M.F. Saint, clerk, Arthur Olson, treasurer. 

1958 - Alf Stangeland. 

1960 - Stephen Balvitsch, Melvin Haven, Robert Christiansen. 

1963 - Arthur Olson, Norvin Black, Ed Pewe, treasurer. 

1964 - Wilbert Luttschwager, Elaine Anderson, treasurer. 

1965 - Myron Kjelgaard. 

1967‑ Kenneth Stangeland. 

1971‑ Marlin Erickson.

1972 - Richard Aasand, Richard McDaniel. 

1973 - Alf Stangeland.

1974 - Arthur Twedt, Peter Becherl. 

1975 - Avis Lowe, clerk. 

1976 - Jonathon Short, Roylene Herbert, clerk. 

1978 - Lyle Black. 

1979 - Leslie Gregor. 

1980 - James Rasmussen. 

1980 - Yvonne Aasand, clerk.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 342

McKINNON Township

McKinnon township is bordered on the north by Rolling Prairie, south by Stutsman County, east by Eastman, and west by Bucephalia.

The landscape is level to nearly level with some places gently undulating. There is a quantity of stones but they don't present a problem.

The survey of the township was filed at Huron, Dakota Territory on October 20, 1884. The subdivisions were surveyed by George W. Phillips August‑September 1884. The southern boundary was surveyed by George G. Beardsley, September 5, 1873. Charles Scott established the west, east, and north boundaries in October 1882.

There were no settlers in this area when the surveyors arrived. The total acreage is 23,060.06 Acres.

The township hall is located on the Northeast quarter of section 18.

The township was formerly known as McKinley township. The name was changed in 1918 because there was another organized county of McKinley in North Dakota. The township was named after Edward McKinnon and his family who came to the area in 1886 from Wisconsin.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 348

Township Organization

McKinnon became a civil township on March 16, 1919. The first officers were: 

Tom Nihill, Chairman

Tom 0. North, David Zimmerman, and J.E. Jones.

Present officers in 1982 are: Clerk, Kent Ableidinger

treasurer, William Chmelik

assessor, John Paczkowski

supervisors: Paul Lipetzky, William Blahna, Dwain Ableidinger, Chairman

The township board bought the town hall located on the Northeast quarter of Section 32 from the McKinley school district for $150. It was later sold to Joe Vlack who moved it to his farm.
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McKinnon Township Land Acquisition

Township 146-63

	Year and Name
	Section 

	
	

	1890
	

	Larks B. Larson
	 2 

	Ralph Walker
	10

	
	

	1891
	

	Donald McKinnon
	 2 

	Hanna Larson
	 2 

	Erick Nordstrom 
	12 

	Edwin Bean 
	14 

	Fred W. Bertz
	20

	Daniel Clancy
	24 

	Malcolm Turner 
	24

	
	

	1892
	

	Gustaf Anderson
	12 

	John Guslander
	34 

	
	

	1893
	

	Donald McKinnon
	 2 

	Ralph E. Walker 
	10 

	Wallace Bemis
	 14 

	Daniel Clancy
	24 

	John Guslander
	24

	
	

	1894
	

	John A. Jones 
	 10 

	Merrit McKinnon
	12 

	Edwin Bean 
	22 

	Lincoln Bean
	 22 

	Thomas 0. North
	 26

	
	

	1895
	

	George E. O'Neil
	 4 

	Leon Galehouse
	12 

	Ella Gradeson
	30

	
	

	1896
	

	Olaf Anderson 
	30

	
	

	1897
	

	Arthur Edgecomb 
	32 

	
	

	1898
	

	Rolla Bean 
	 14

	
	

	1899
	

	Nicolas Romelfinger
	22

	
	

	1900
	

	Olaf Anderson 
	28

	
	

	1901
	

	Carl Ericsson
	14 

	Thomas Nihill
	28

	
	

	1903
	

	Peter Jensen
	 18 

	Alonzo Horn
	20 

	Charles E. McKinnon
	

	
	

	1906
	

	Fred W. Greb
	8

	James E. Jones
	10
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Schools

There were four schools in McKinley District:

Number one ‑ Northeast quarter section 18. Used as a town hall. Sold to Joe Vlack.

Number 2 ‑ Northeast quarter of section 32. Sold to Joe Vlack.

Number 3 ‑ Southeast quarter of section 10. Sold to Joe Vlack.

Number 4 – Southwest 1/4 of section 23. Built in 1916. Sold to Joe Vlack.

The school district was reorganized June 30, 1960.

Sibley and his men camped on Section 4 of McKinnon township and from here drove the Indians to the Hawksnest

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 348

 Teachers

McKinnley ‑ McKinnon

1914 ‑15 

Myrtle Syltman $50 

Marie Cummings 

1915 – 16 

Marie Pitra $55 

Marie Cummings $60 

Elsie Fitzgerald 

Marie Fitzgerald 

1916 ‑17 

Marie Pitra $60 

Frances Tanner 

Clara Horsarger 

Marie Fitzgerald 

1917 ‑ 18 

Mary Pitra $75 

Frances Tanner 

Mae Lee 

Anna Cummings 

1918 ‑ 19 

1919 ‑ 20 

Helen Murphy $85 

Teresa Murphy 

Ellen House 

Margaret Cassidy 

1920 ‑ 21 

Johanna Pederson $100 

Isabelle Norlander 

Margaret Cassidy 

Ida Dudley $105 

1921‑ 22 

Elizabeth Thompson $105 

Ethel Black 

Bert Fredrickson 

Mary Cysewski 

Jeannette Laughlin 

1922 ‑ 23 

Lillian Keller $95 

Alice Packard 

Anna Herke 

Bert Fredrickson 

1923 ‑ 24 

Mayme Broeder $85 

Alice Nordheim 

Richard Magin 

Edna Hendry 

Bert Fredrickson 

1924 ‑ 25 

Richard Magin $90 

Edwin Fallon $85 

Ruby Zimmerman $75 

1925 ‑ 26 

Kate Peterson $90 

Madge Nihill $75 

Laura Taylor $85 

Alma Ronholm $85 

1926 ‑ 27 

Kate Peterson $85 

Violet Batosh 

Margaret Clancy 

Alma Ronholm

1927 ‑ 28 

Violet Bartosh $90 

Pauline Florhaug $85 

Dorothy Relmet 

Luella Olson 

Gertrude Thortinson 

Harvey Lillestol 

1928 ‑ 29 

Ruby Burleson $85 

Glenn Reichert 

Dorothy Rehmet 

Violet Bartosh 

1929 ‑ 30 

Ruby Burleson $90 

Lucille Walsh ‑ $85 

Cecelia Nogosek 

Pearl Aljets 

1930 ‑ 31 

Cecelia Nogosek $90 

Gladys Ronholm $85 

Ruth Roush 

Frances Schults 

1931‑ 32 

Ruth Roush $85 

Pearl Aljets $85 

John Schauer 

Frances Paczkowski 

1932 ‑ 33 

Gladys Ronholm $65 

Olga Mickelson $75 

Frances Paczkowski 

1933 ‑ 34 

Gladys Ronholm $60 

Frances Paczkowski 

Olga Mickelson 

1934 ‑ 35 

Anna Graham $65 

Gladys Smythe 

Frances Paczkowski $45 

Ursula Paczkowski $60 

1935 ‑ 36 

Ursula Paczkowski $60 

Mary Nihill $65 

Marian Walsh $60 

1936 ‑ 37 

Mary Nihill $65 

Opal Lipetzky $60 

Ursula Paczkowski 

Lucille Nordeen 

1937 ‑ 38 

Ida Monson $60 

Olga Mickelson 

Opal Lipetzky 

Ursula Paczkowski 

1938 ‑ 39 

Olga Mickelson $65 

Opal Lipetzky 

Lorraine Lampert 

Ursula Paczkowski

1939 ‑ 40 

Lorraine Lampert $65 

Eleanor McGuire 

1940 ‑ 41 

Joyce Johnson $65 

Lorraine Lampert 

Opal Lipetzky 

1941‑ 42 

June Haga $79 

Elaine Johnson 

Beatrice Benson 

1942‑43 

June Haga $88 

Frances Sabinash 

Elaine Johnson 

1943 ‑ 44 

Mrs. Gust Erickson $110 

Harriet Nogosek 

June Haga 

William Taron 

Mrs. Wayne Petrick 

1944 ‑ 45 

Irene Nogosek $120 

Mary Lorraine Fredrickson 

Mrs. Gust Erickson 

1945 ‑ 46 

Irene Nogosek $130 

Lucille Topp $120 

Mrs. June Johnson $140 

1946 ‑ 47 

Lorraine Spitzer $130 

Marian Schafer 

1947 ‑ 48 

Lorraine Spitzer $150 

Marcella Bien

1948 ‑ 49 

Lorraine Nogosek $165 

Dorothy Mae Zimprick 

1949 ‑ 50 

Maxine Herzog $175 

Leah Lipetzky $175 

1950 ‑ 51 

Mrs. Kenneth Spitzer $195 

Jeanne Paczkowski $175 

Leah Lipetzky $185 

1951‑ 52 

Mrs. George Kulla $200 

Jeanne Paczkowski 

1953 ‑ 54 

Darlene Schwalk $225 

Marion Smith 

1954 ‑ 55 

Mrs. Henry Pederson $240 

Leone Perkins $235 

1955 ‑ 56 

Leone Perkins 

Mrs. Mabel Pederson 

1956 ‑ 57 

Marlys Holm 

Lavira Knapp 

1957 ‑ 58 

Marlys Holm 

Lavira Knapp 

1958 ‑ 59 

Mrs. Edwin Wolsky 

Mrs. Ed Watne 

1959 ‑ 60 

Mrs. Edwin Wolsky 

Mrs. Ed Watne
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McKinley Hall 

by Agnes Lipetzky

The Board of Directors of the Farmers Hall Association held a meeting at the McKinley School No. 2 on June 17, at 8:00 p.m. in 1915. Officers elected were: 

president James Nelson, 

vice‑president E. McKinnon

Secretary J.W. Johnson

treasurer Henry Bredahl. 

The seal of this Corporation bears the words as "Farmers Hall Association, Kensal, North Dakota" The charter was No. 5936 issued on June 8, 1915. There were 28 members.

On July 1, 1916 stock certificates were ordered issued. J.S. Johnson, C.W. McDonnell and Tom North were appointed to draw up said constitution and by‑laws of the Corp. They were adopted on April 10, 1920. The McKinley Club Hall was built in 1917. Grand opening was held on June 14. So every year on June 15 for many years, people would come from many miles for a big celebration which included a family picnic, races, horseshoe games, and many activities. There was always a dance in the evening.

In 1921 the rent for political meetings was five dollars. School meetings or school activities were free.

In 1925 stock was sold for five dollars for an electric light plant. The sale of stock was $200. The Delco Light System was bought on July 18, 1926 for $125.

By January 30, 1926 there were 436 shares sold at $5.00 each. $2,180 worth of stock was issued.

On May 4, 1928, the members decided to share the hall with the McKinley Farmers Union members.

On July 18, 1931 they decided to dispose of the barn by selling it by sealed bids. The wind blew the barn down before it was sold. One of the farmers near by used the lumber.

The last minutes were read on July 22, 1942.

There were many activities besides the meetings, such as dances, card parties, plays and Christmas programs. There were two occasions that many people remember, a play that was given at the hall brought here from Minneapolis. A three day blizzard on February 23, 1923. It was a beautiful evening, so many people went to the Valentine dance at the hall. At this time many people brought their children along. Around midnight a bad storm came up. Some people started for home which took them a long time to get there as the storm was really bad. Some went home the next day. They all went on the third day either to their own homes if not too far or to the places close by. It was still snowing and blowing on the third day. Food was scarce. While at the hall, people would play cards, dance and take a snooze sitting up.

The McKinley Club Hall burned on November 23, 1970.
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McKinley's Farmers' Club

(Independent, August 16, 1917)

Four miles from Kensal, the nearest town, and placed right on the level prairie is the white and comfortable looking club house of the McKinley's Farmers' club. It was erected by the members themselves in four days and furnished by the ladies, who gave a series of entertainments to pay for the furniture which they have installed. The club was first organized in 1914 when eleven farmers gathered together and planned to do something to improve the social conditions of the community, and to establish a place where men could discuss their common problems. Now there are over five hundred members living within a radius of twelve miles of the club hall. During the first two years of its existence the club held meetings in the country school but the membership increased so rapidly that it was soon found necessary to erect a special club house of its own. They formed a sort of a stock company, each member subscribing, and having thus secured the money with which to buy the material, they donated their labor and built the hall. The main hall has a generous sized stage and seats several hundred people. In the basement is to be found a kitchen, dining room, and ladies' rest room. While the men are meeting upstairs discussing farming problems the ladies hold a meeting of their own in the basement, and later they all join for lunch and then they spend the rest of the evening playing games, dancing or perhaps witnessing a home talent play. The ladies also have installed a gas lighting system and the men have bought a hot air furnace to be used during the bitter winter months when the mercury coils up in its tin tube as though forgetting the days when it reached the majestic height of 106.

The young members of the club frequently give concerts, present plays or take part in debates and hold socials. A few weeks ago Mr. Arnold's Little County theater players who visited forty towns in the state, were secured to present their play, "Back to the Farm". Delighted with the prospect of securing this attraction the club organized a Boosters' trip and accompanied by the Kensal Cornet band they started with twenty automobiles on an advertising tour. As a result the players were forced to five, two performances and the evening crowd was so large that spectators were placed in the open windows. After the play was over the members of the club held a dance and it is safe to say that no one was happier that evening than the old folks who gathered at the edge of the dancing floor and watched the young people, thankful that they had driven out the monotony of farm life which had been so discouraging to them when they came to the wilderness as pioneers years ago.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 353

Club Cooperation

The club also has a practical side. Not only do they work for better schools and good roads but they cooperate in the buying and selling of farm products and together purchase their coal, twine, lumber, seeds and blooded stock. Constantly flying over the club is a fine new American flag, for the members, every one, are Americans, although they have gathered together from Germany and France, Norway and Sweden, Poland, Bohemia, and Ireland. Last year the club members planted five hundred trees about their country club and in the years to come this building which is now located on the barren prairie will be surrounded by a beautiful grove. When we recall that this country club has been planned and erected by farmers miles away from any village, the graveness of its lesson seems all the more apparent. Our state is so tremendously large, the farms so far apart, and the cities so few that we can never really have a rural society life until some such effort is made to break down the barriers of the past, and establish country clubs in the country for country people.
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Melville Township

Melville Township is bordered by Carrington to the north, Bordulac on the east, Stutsman County to s so‑s2 the south and Longview on the west. The land is described as gentle rolling to rolling upland over two‑thirds of the township. The land is drained by small creeks, the Pipestem is found in the southwest corner. Lake Bonita is located on Section 33 and Dodds Lake on Section 18 on the Northeast quarter. Two dams were built on Lake Bonita during the WPA days. It provided a recreational area for many years. Another dam was built on Section 23. Highway 281 and 52 go through the township north and south. Paralleling the highway is the Northern Pacific Railroad. Highway No. 9 follows the southern border of the township. The Soo Line railroad crossed the Northeast corner of Section 1. The survey report was filed at Yankton, Dakota Territory on March 6, 1883. The total acreage being 23,049.40 Acres. Scott and Sturtevant surveyed the subdivisions, Milton Nye established the north and east boundary and George Beardsley the west and south boundaries in 1882. Settlers in the area when the surveyors came were:

	D.C. Giffin
	 Northwest 2

	G.G. Chandler
	 Northeast 2

	D.F. Sexton
	 Southwest 2

	E.S. Leavenworth
	 Southeast 2

	Donald Graham
	 Southwest 14

	John Logan
	 Northeast 22

	Duncan Graham
	 Southwest 22

	J.P. Davis
	 Northwest 30

	C.M. Lockwood
	 Northeast 30

	Mrs. Keepers
	 Northwest 36

	W.L. Keepers
	 SW36

	A.G. Elder
	 Southeast 36

	J.J. Berkey
	 Southwest 12

	J.C. Warner
	 Southeast 12

	W.K. Bowing
	 Southwest 18

	Frank Dodge
	 Northeast 24

	L.W. Harnmen
	 Southwest 24

	Peter P. Zink
	 Southeast 24

	John Riley
	 Northwest 28

	D.W. Redfield
	 Southwest 28

	E. Burnham
	 Northwest 26

	Calvin McGraw
	 Northeast 26

	John McElroy
	 Northeast 34

	George McElroy
	 Southeast 34

	Thomas McElroy
	 Southwest 34


Newport was located on the Southwest corner of Southwest quarter of section 36.
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Township Organization

Melville became a Civil township on April 6, 1907.

Officers were: 

J.W. Shearer, clerk

George Balding, 

George Ackerman, and Frank Thurston, supervisors

Road supervisors were Edwin Thorson and John Henry.

Many farms were given special names. Here are some with their owners in 1910 and the present

owners.

	
	
	1910
	1980

	Fairview Farm
	Section 2
	P.M. Carr
	Edward Carr

	Maple Leaf
	Section 1
	Erick Erickson
	Eugene Zink

	Sunnyside Farm
	Section 22
	Lauetta Blinsky
	O.F. Merkel

	Grand View
	Section 26
	W.E. Thurston
	Fern Galt

	Meadow Lawn Farm
	Sections 30-32
	George Ackerman
	William Neuman & 
Ervin Neuman


1982 Supervisors and officers 

Clerk: William Page

treasurer, Marjorie Galt

Assessor, Jerome Miller

Supervisors: Fern Galt, Russell Zink, Elvin Gedrose.
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Melville, North Dakota

by Esther Laughlin

As homesteaders settled on the prairies, little shacks popped up all over the area. New Port was built in 1882 on Southwest 1/4 of Section 36 145‑66 on land owned by Elizabeth and William Keepers and named for Col. R.M. Newport, treasurer of the Northern Pacific railroad. Post Office established July 24, 1882. Edgar Leavenworth first postmaster.

The Northern Pacific Railroad wanting to purchase land for the first railroad coming north from Jamestown. Keepers would not agree on price of lands, so they accepted Lyman R. Casey's offer of free townsite on section 35 one half mile west, naming the town Melville after Howard Melville Hanna, a major stock holder in Carrington Casey Land Company Melville is the oldest town in Foster County
All buildings were moved from New Port. These were Leavenworth & Wings store, Robert Waiters Hotel and Antonio Ohner's saloon. Edgar Leavenworth became postmaster May 2, 1883 in Melville.

Phillip and Obed Wiseman organized first bank in 1907. Deposits were $87,000, officers were Obed Wiseman, president, Peter Zink, Sr., vice president, Anna Zink, Asst Cashier and Phillip Wiseman, Cashier. The bank was robbed on September 28, 1916 of $4,205. Closed 1927 because of clerical error in charter. Wiseman Bros. later bought Leavenworth's Store.

Land was obtained by pre‑emption, squatters rights, tree claim and Homestead. They came by covered wagon, horseback, ox‑team. Every odd numbered section was owned by the Railroad, which could be bought. Section 16 was school property. Mr. and Mrs. Martin Clark were first passengers on train in 1883. He was the section foreman. Bill Sorenson was early depot agent.

The town school was built on land given by Peter Zink. There was on Southeast 1/4 of Section 11 145‑65, a county school earlier. They at first had school four months in the summer, later six months in the summer and three in winter. The first winter was so bad they had five days of school (June 15, 1961 Melville School joined the Carrington School District).

Mrs. Pete Zink (Theresa Lettner) was the first woman to come to Melville.

The Congregational Church was built in 1886 by local subscription and labor. They had a regular Pastor until 1922. The parsonage was built by Ladies Aid in 1890, the church burned about 1935. The first town hall was built in 1896 and burned 1924. There were four grain elevators, 3 burned and one was moved out. Businesses in town were: General stores

Leavenworth, Kidder, Shearer, McElroy, Hill, hardware store and Putnam & Miller Lumber Company Implement dealer, George Ackerman, later August Zink and Gilbert Bower. Pool hall, Louis Pothier, Wagon maker, John Robertson, Hotel, Ohner 1883, Blacksmith, A.K. Speers 1884. Dr. Richmond lived at Edmunds, Garage, Zink and Bower, Livery Stable, Wiseman Bros. The Fraternal lodges were December 3, 1896, Woodmen 3536, first presiding officer T.H. Burnham was noted for champion degree team in the state. Charter members, George Ackerman, J. Copeland, J. Douglas, Joe Dodd, J. Dodd, C. Ferguson, R. Farquer, William Hussy, Ed Miller, Frank Schieb, M. Schieb, William Seely, J.C. Willyard, F. Winsch and Wendelin Zink. Other lodges were Rebekah, Royal Neighbors, McKinley IOOF organized February 1, 1903 by O.L. Bobo, C.A. Benneth, F.A. Dodge, and William Wescom. Each lost their charters, IOOF being the last.

Social: Ladies Aid, Community Clubs, Whist Clubs, Sewing Circles.

Dramatic: Home talent plays and a kitchen band, male quartette.

Athletics: Ball team best in state.

Boy Scouts started by Bob Heyer (depot agent) still in existence headed by William Trecker. Roller skating, camparees, and craft and archery. They have won many awards for outstanding work. 4‑H girls started by Esther McAfee, latest leader Carol Reimers.

The greatest years for Melville were 1910 to peak 1915. In 1912, 170 lots were sold, many going to Peter Zink and Wiseman Bros., it was called the best small town between Jamestown and Leeds, North Dakota, end of railroad.

The greatest loss was by fire, several stores, two town halls, 2 livery barns, 3 elevators, two hotels, pool hall, creamery and many, homes, and the church.

Buildings by the dozen were moved out. Lumber Company, one elevator, one store, depot, hardware store and schoolhouse, and many homes. At the present time it is like a ghost town, only 5 houses occupied and about 10 people remain, no businesses.

All of us that once lived in Melville were proud of our town and enjoyed life there.

When the Pingree‑Wilton branch of the railroad was built in 1912 business territory was cut off from Melville. It started a great decline a couple years later.
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Melville Township

The township homesteaders made Melville a good place to live. Many squatters came before 1882. After the territory was opened the first ten homesteaders to prove up on their claims were in 1883, Alfred Elder, James McElroy, Vincent Wavra, Adeliah Mitchell, George Wordrop, Loren Harrington, Margaret Byers, Myra Strong, John Wilson, and Edgar Leavenworth. Homesteaders continued to prove up until 1909. Every odd numbered section was railroad property which they could use or sell. Section 16 was school property.

The first white boy born in Melville Township was Franz Zink.

John H. Potter worked for Surveyor George C. Beardsley who surveyed lines north of Jamestown. Merritt Wiseman also helped Beardsley. He had squatted on land pre‑empted 1872 ahead of U.S. Public Land Survey.

The first teacher is unknown but Lulu Page Russell was one of the first. She later became first librarian in Carrington, Phillip Wiseman also taught.

The Carrington Casey Land Company's largest ranch, 20,000 acres used 150 mules and horses, 35 binders working at one time and about 75,000 bushels of grain was raised, mostly wheat, selling for 45¢ per bushel. Lyman Casey was one of the first two Senators from North Dakota to the U.S. Senate. He named Bordulac.

Land sold for less than $3.00 per acre.

Peter Zink, a large landholder, had at one time 15 sections of land. He married first girl that came to Melville, Theresa Lettner. He gave property for the town school, was very active in the community affairs. Mrs. P. Zink's niece, also Theresa Lettner, married Wendelin Zink two years later. Frank Burnham being a mason by trade built the largest house in the township (1883 ) . It was 16 x 24 feet on Section 30, a place for many parties. He was the father of George, Chilo and Pluma. Chilo became an attorney in Carrington.

Many homes had no floors, no door and no windows. They were lived in for six months in the summer for 5 years until proved up on claim. Those that stayed over winter suffered from cold. Many gathered buffalo bones for cash and buffalo chips for fuel. There were no trees except near rivers.

John C. Warner entered a claim on Section 16 in 1882, raised in a sod shanty. His farm was named "Garden Farm of Foster County". Built first building in Carrington for Mr. Halsey and was first Sheriff of Foster County
Edward Porter, Company treasurer in 1886, State Legislature in 1894 and Senator in 1898.

Gypsies and Indians visited the settlers, mostly all were friendly.

Mrs. Myron Miller, first woman to ride the train to Spur before depot was built. A Spur is a loading platform. Doctor D.B. McLain was a dentist and carpenter, came in 1889. He built the Kirkwood Hotel in Carrington and the store occupied by Strong and Chase.

Nicholas Loesch grain buyers, helped to get electricity to Melville, a music lover, he played violin and piano. Col. Charles Lee Kyte came in 1904 and wrote a weekly column sparked with wit and philosophy for the paper, the Foster County Independent. He was rated one of the best in the nation. In 1935 Emmet Kyte and Ira Kraft counted 30 dead horses along the Pipestem River, changeable winter weather killed horses and cattle in the area.

William Farquer accidentally met L.R. Casey and was persuaded to come to Melville in 1883 on Section 2, he built from scrap wood a 12' x 12' house, named it Halfway House because it was half way between Carrington and Melville. They moved the table and chairs out at night and brought in beds. The next year they built a barn and lived in the loft until their new home was built several months later. They had a family of six. He was a Civil War veteran.

Good driving horses were a luxury. It took four hours to drive to Jamestown. Wiseman Bros., Joe Maher and John Reight kept driving horses. Fire on August 20, 1908 took the lives of 11 of the 15 horses in the Wiseman barn. New Buggies and harnesses gone besides about 45 tons of hay, about a $5,250.00 loss.

There were lots of good times. Helping hands from neighbors and good fellowship. Also there were the sorrows, 5 year old son of Chas. Fritz drowned in well in 1901, 4 year old son of Mark Neiman drowned in well about 1914. There were men frozen to death when they left their sleds. There were murders, several suicides, divorces and accidents. There were drunken brawls and a few dirty deals, but the settlers were a hardy lot and came through these times stronger than ever.

In the 1930's they were hit with droughts, crops dried up in the field, the strong winds covered crops with sand. Russian thistles and blowing sand covered fences. The government bought horses for slaughter (5.00) and milk cows for $10.00 each. Then in about 1935 the grasshoppers came. The heads of wheat looked like cattails, the hoppers were so many on each head. You drove a car only several miles before the radiators were blocked and they became hot. Fields of grain would disappear over night. The heads gone. Fine dust sifted into every house.

Many homesteaders were Civil War veterans, their sons and grandsons were in the wars that followed.

Agnes Olson's school (on Section 7) burned. She sent children to the barn. She tried but couldn't put out the fire, that was in 1929. In 1932 Chester Martin, a pupil was killed by lightning in his home. Esther McAfee was the teacher and had always taken Chester and his brother Richard to and from school. Joe Carson was a carpenter (1900‑1920) who helped build many homes.

In prohibition days a salesman found an elevator

man darning socks (cost 10, a pair) and drinking $5.00 home brew of "Moonshine".

Water at city well had so much alkali that it ate off the cylinder every two years. Not fit to drink.

There was a 15 mile per hour speed limit sign, but it disappeared one night.

There was a man‑made dam on Bonita Lake, foreman when being built was Herbert Chadwick. He died a couple months later from cancer.

There is a very small part of Pipestem River crossing in southwest corner of township. The Soo Line Railroad crosses the northeast corner of the township.

Bonita Lake is a Historical sight where Sibley camped.

The first crops were seeded by hand, called broadcasting. Harvesting was cut with a scythe, tied by hand. The grain was hand fed into the threshing machine, grain was caught in a sack. The straw carried away by a conveyor and pitched into a stack. The best average was 1,500 bushels per day. The grain wagons held from 20 to 50 bushels. The McCormick binder was a great improvement.

Mrs. John Shearer was well‑known nurse and midwife.

The last passenger train was called "The Goose", its last trip was November 8, 1960. It was a one car unit, motor in front, mail and light freight in center and back part for passengers. From that date all mail was trucked from Jamestown, North Dakota. The Post Office was officially closed March 17, 1967, Esther McAfee Laughlin was the last postmaster. Wayne McAfee was first to own a plane.

Prairie fires and blizzards took their toll of property and lives.

Melville was the home of persons with interesting last names. Here are some: Glass, Kyte, Fawcett, Miller, Balton, Blood, Hill, Fischer, Shearer, Layne, White

Brown, Zink, Posey, Barr, Bohn, Goodman, Wiseman, Beach, Bower, Wolf, Brimm, Cody, Arrowwood, Brakey, these were there in the 30's. Other times there were: Heyer, Moon, Hussey, Wing, Porter, Elder, Keepers, Strong, Warner, Byers, Barnes, Baker, King, Nobile, Dye, Day, Ryder, Graves, Inland, Kidder, Dodge, Speer, Bower, Chase, Wing, Hall, Lilley, Stern

Cole, Carr, Page, Russell, John Henry Davenport, Works, Huff, I doubt any township can match this list.

A hundred pound meteor fell on the Sam Fawcett farm, it stayed too hot to move for a few days. He gave this meteor to the Rainbow Gardens in Carrington in 1933 when he moved to Melville.
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MELVILLE TOWNSHIP Land Acquisition:

Township 145-66

	Year and Name 
	Section

	1883
	

	Edgar Leavenworth
	 2

	Myra Stong
	8

	Margaret Byers
	14

	George Wardrop
	24

	Loren W. Haruman
	24

	Adelial Mitchell
	26

	Veneen Wavra
	32

	James McElroy
	34

	Alfred Elder
	26

	
	

	1884
	

	John Bissitt
	4 

	Luther Wilson 
	6

	Margaret Byers 
	6

	John Wilson
	6

	William Williams
	8

	John Robertson
	8

	James Berkey
	12

	Gary C. Noble
	12

	Charles F. King 
	14

	James Hamilton 
	18

	Lewis Baker 
	18

	David McLain
	26

	Tom McElroy
	34

	
	

	1885
	

	William Ryder 
	4 

	Hattie Dye  
	12

	Ebenezer Burnham
	 26

	William Keepers
	36

	
	

	1886
	

	D. Carr Griffin
	2 

	John Robertson  
	10

	Elizabeth Keepers 
	36

	
	

	1887
	

	Harry Dubrow
	 4

	
	

	1888
	

	Alfred Elder
	22 

	Lambert Stockford
	 22 

	Edson Burnham 
	28

	
	

	1889
	

	John Fehsefelt 
	14

	Duncari Graham
	22

	Peter P. Zink
	24

	David McClam 
	26

	Frank Burnham 
	30

	Vincent Wavra
	 32

	
	

	1891
	

	Rosa Ohner
	32 

	John McElroy
	

	
	

	1892
	

	Stephen Graves
	10

	
	

	1893
	

	John Wilson
	 6 

	Martha Burnham
	 28 

	John McElroy
	34

	
	

	1895
	

	Mary A. Dodds
	 18

	Vincent Wavra
	 32

	
	

	1897
	

	John Robertson 
	 8

	J.C. Warner 
	12

	
	

	1899
	

	Monica Norton
	 22

	Frank Burnham 
	30

	
	

	1900
	

	John S. Hemry
	 10

	
	

	1902
	

	Mrs. E.L. Blakely
	20

	Ellery Barnes 
	20

	
	

	1903
	

	Othlow Wihlitz
	 4

	William Clark
	28

	
	

	1904
	

	Augustine Millman 
	 10

	
	

	1909
	

	Hugh McCreary
	18

	Robert Lynn
	20

	John Wendland
	 30

	
	

	1910
	

	Charles Riechert
	 16

	James McCreary
	 16

	Nels Landeene
	 16

	Ren. J. Runscheki 
	16
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Melville Township Land Ownership in 1910 and 1980

Township 145-66

	Section
	1910
	1980

	1
	Ida Harrison
Erick Erickson
	Timothy Zink


	2
	P.J. Carr
S.H. Hall & Charles Nash
	Edward Carr
F.F. Reimers

	3

	Nellie Derrick
Carrington & Casey Land Company
	Elvin Gedrose
Andrew Klein

	4
	William Byers
Joseph Ames
Wing & Wallow
	William A. Page



	5
	Ed Thorson
William Byers
C. Vande Hoven
	Gustaf Miller
John Paulson


	6
	Mrs. John K. Wilson
Robert Graves
Margaret Byers
	William Voglewede
Ferdinand Peik, Jr.
John Held

	7
	Fred & Henry Shelley
John H. Kline

	Gustaf Miller
Jerome Miller
Roy S. Clark

	8
	Myra Strong
Ed Thorson
	Kevin Klein
William Lentz, Jr.

	9
	Water Fox & Andrew Lewis
E.R. Moon
Lawrence Kennedy
	Kevin Klein
Bernice Elwell
Elvin Gedrose

	10
	Ed Chase
John Henry
L.B. Hannah
S.L. Archer
	Edward Carr




	11
	P.J. Carr
E.P. Tinkham
	Edward Carr
Joe E. Carr

	12
	Nash & Hall
Lockwood & Appleby
	Joe E. Carr


	13
	Carrington & Casey Land Company

	Joe E. Carr
Charles & Neomi Zink

	14
	Wendelin Zink
	Ruth Zink

	15
	E.R. Moon


	William Page
Gerald Zink
Merle Bickett

	16
	School Land

	Louis S. Reimers
O.F. Merkel

	17
	F.H. Burnham
Nelson & Gutsche
	Peter P. Zink
Howard Wede

	18
	F.T. Day
Hugh McCreary
Alberts & Stubble
	Peter Zink
Maude March


	19
	George B. Burnham
E.R. Moon
	Carl Meisser
Lewis March

	20
	R.H. Lynn
C.H. Lynn
F. Zielieckey
James R. Brazell
	Harold Hertel




	21
	F. Zielieckey
T.W. Shearer
Nelson & Gutsche
	Steve Reimers



	22
	Monica Harvey
Louretta Blinsky
J. W. Gritt
Norman Nicholson
	Merle Bickett
O.F. Merkel
Howard Haman


	23
	George McLain
	Russell Zink

	24
	Peter P. Zink
	Russell Zink

	25
	Peter P. Zink
	Russell Zink

	26
	W.E. Thurston
E. Thorson
	Fern Galt
James Morris

	27
	W.E. Thurston
George Goff

	Fern Galt
Edythe Willyard
Lillie Hansen

	28
	Louretta Blinsky
W.A. Clark
Henry Blinsky
	Bert Eidsvoog
Bernard Eidsvoog
Edythe Willyard

	29
	Carrington & Casey Land Company

	Howard Wede
Bernard Eidsvoog

	30
	E.H. Burnham
L.L. Rennus
	Bradley Hertel


	31
	George M. Ackerman
	Neuman children

	32
	George M. Ackerman
	Ervin Neuman

	33
	Peter Zink
Ransom County Immigration Company

	Bernard Eidsvoog
Ervin Neuman
Edwin Hanson

	34
	Peter P. Zink
J.C. Buchanan
	Robert Reimers


	35
	George Balding
Ransom County Immigration Company
Melville (town)
	Robert Reimers
Lillie Hansen
Melville (town)

	36
	A.O. Elder
Edward Thurston
Wendelin Zink
	William Loesch
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Melville Township Teachers
1920-21

Stella Beach $100

Mrs. H.L. Hall

Belle Packard

Mrs. J.G. Duncan​

Alice Packard

Kathleen Moriarty

Mrs. T.E. Posey

Mrs. O. Wiseman

1921-22

Ruth Robinson $110

Frances Hensel

Maurine Schieb

Susie Wiseman

1922-23

Pearl White $100

Louise Lilley

Alda Richardson

Maurine Schieb

1923-24

Olive Peterson $105

Luella Trom

Louise Lilley

Eleanor Ellis

1924-25

Olive Peterson $100 
Helen McManus 

Agnes McCann 

Luella Trom 

1925-26 

Olive Peterson $100 

Luella Trom 

Maurine Schieb

Susan Stambaugh

Vera Wiley

1926-27

Elsie Duncan $100

Olive Peterson

Sara Wolf

Luella Trom

Beatrice Sannon

1927-28

Esther Kramer $100

Agnes Holth

Edna Mae Adams

Sarah Helen Wolf

Beatrice Shannon

1928-29

Helen Bardu

Sarah Helen Wolf

Cecil Peterson

Eileen Peterson

Agnes Holth

1929-30

Agnes Olson

Sarah Helen Wolf

Eileen Peterson

Alta Puckett

Cecil Peterson

1930-31

Benita Grimm $100

Eileen Peterson

Catherine Lentz

Esther Chadwick

David Shearer

1931-32

Eileen Peterson $95
Katherine Lentz
Erna Peterson
Esther Chadwick
1932-33
Mabel Thompson $85
Katherine Lentz
Esther Chadwick McAfee

Erna Peterson

1933-34

Mabel Thompson $65

Johanna Smith

Erna Peterson

Lettie Eastman 1/2 year

Ellen Thompson 1/2 year

1934-35

Rena Highley $65

Johanna Smith

Earl Shearer

David Shearer

1935-36

David Shearer $65

Mavis Unruh

Madelyn Laughlin

Rena Highley

1936-37

Mavis Unruh

Rena Highley

Bernice Langseth

Madelyn Laughlin

Johanna Smith

1937-38

Katherine Lentz $65

Rena Highly

Elmer Krueger

Edna Golz

1938-39

Warren Johnson $67.

Johanna Cole $65

Dorothy Quenemoen

Katherine Lentz

1939-40

Julia Gaffney $70

Johanna Cole $70

Dorothy Quenemoen $65

Katherine Lentz

1940-41

Julia Gaffney $75

Katherine Lentz $65

Eunice Dolve $70

1941-42

Alta Puckett

Harriet Pitra

Fathe Thacker

1942-43

Mrs. Myrtle Dunfey $75

Harriet Pitra

Mrs. Fathe Thacker

Evelyn Holuska

1943-44

Mrs. Myrtle Dunfey $115

Elaine Johnson

Agnes Olson

1944-45

Mrs. Myrtle Dunfey $135

Agnes Olson

Loretta Stern

1945-46

Loretta Stern $135

Sylvia Nohrenberg

1946-47

Mrs. R.W. Brown $150

Agnes Olson $147

Sylvia Zink $140

1947-48

Agnes Olson $175

Madelyn J. Brown

1948-49

Agnes Olson $200

Madelyn Brown

1949-50

Agnes Olson

Luciele Clark

Doris Skadberg

Hattie Lueck

Berl Ginsback

1950-51

Agnes Olson

Lorraine Nogosek

1951-52

Agnes Olson $210

Joanne Putnam

1952-53

Agnes Olson

Joan Miller

1953-54

Mrs. Laverne Blinsky $250

Mrs. Harold Stein $270

Joan Miler $250

1954-55

Mrs. I.G. Noracker $250

Mrs. H.V. Soli

Milton Brandt

1955-56

Julia Noracker

Maisie Trecker

Milton Brandt

1956-57

Julia Noraker

Lucile Zink

Mary Ann Carr

1957-58

Julia Noraker

Lucile Zink

Mary Ann Carr

1958-59

Julie Noraker

Lucile Zink.

Mary Ann Carr

1959-60

Julia Noraker

Lucile Zink

1960-61

Agnes Olson

Julia Noraker

1961-62

Rose Ardis Lulai

Julia Noraker
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Melville Cemetery

Northeast 1/4 

Section 35 

Melville Township

Clarence Neiman

1 Dec. 1881

11 Jan. 1883

Earl Neiman

13 Jan. 1887

24 May 1889

son of Lillie & Martin

Leah

76 yrs., 7 mos. 24 days

D.S.

24 Mar. 1849

22 Apr. 1918

Harley Henry

7 May 1885

29 Mar. 1889

son J.S. & A.F.

Jenny Henry

1 Nov. 1886

30 Mar. 1889

August Zink

1888-1968

Olive Zink

1892-1964

Losie Farquer

1898 -16​

Marlin Nelson

27 Jan. 1881

1 Sept. 1895

son James & Anna

Page

Hansen

Christian Jahnson

d.14 May 1889

41 yrs. 8 mos. 10 days

John Guild

1850-1922

______et Anderson

Nels Peterson

Frank Clan

2 graves Unknown

Anton Ohrner

11 Feb. 1894 age 67

George Ohrner

7 Jan 1889 30 yrs.

Celia Ohrner

5 Apr. 189817 yrs.

above children of

Anton & Bertha

Wm. Harrison

1862-1956

Annie Harrison

1875-1961

Bertha Ohrner

1854-1934

Frank Mehring

4 Apr. 1873

7 Oct. 1947

Thersia Mehring

1881-1926

Ella -1920​

Ernest Tuel

27 Nov. 1892

16 Aug. 1966

Charles Meyers

Sarah Meyers

Ida Chadwick

1881-1958

Herbert Chadwick

1879-1934

Wildred Chadwick

1918-1920

Clara Glass

1897-1932

Clarence Pederson

12 Apr. 1909

8 Sept. 1913

Forest Posey

18 July 1885

3 May 1919

Eugene Fritz

13 Jan. 1897

19 Sept. 1901

Campbell Baby

Rolla Campbell

20 Sept. 1878

15 Sept. 1901

Frank 1883 -1932

Unknown

Ervin Eidsvog 1918

Edward Edwards

21 Jan. 1868

20 Apr. 1902

Richard Edwards

13 Aug. 1881

30 June 1906

Mother: 1839 -1927

Scarbeck:  Baby

Doris Petersen

15 Aug. 1921

21 Nov. 1924

Ness Petersen

1879-1957

Jorine 1885 -1974

Vince Perry

1879-1971

Minnie Perry

1876-1960

Otis 1872 -1939

Lottie 1896 -1914

Sarah Wilson

1869

29 Dec. 1902

Harry Wilson

31 Mar. 1895

17 Aug. 1895

Ethel Ferguson

10 Dec. 1894

9 Apr. 1895

Gertrude Graben Kamp

1867-1915

Peterson:

Alfred 1904 -1916

Christina 1867 -1950

Carl 1895 -1963

Doris Baars

11- 26 May 1931

Wm. Walters 1869 -1950

Georgia 1864 -1935

Obed Wiseman

1866-1938

Lois Cooper

28 Sept. 1900

4 Aug. 1908

Mary Wiseman

age 53

Merritt Wiseman

5 Nov. 1838

23 July 1892

Orelle Wiseman

Baby Wiseman

J.C. Hundley

Martha Burnham

16 Aug. 1866

3 Dec. 1889

dau. Ebenezer & Charlotte

Raymond Barnes

13 Mar. 1895

2 Mar. 1806

son Ellery & Edna

Albert -

28 Mar. - Aug. 1891

Lottiee

11 June 1881

4 Apr. 1883

Robert Dodds

14 Apr. 1886

49 yrs. 1 mo. 13 d.

Joseph Dodds

1874-1901

Bill Fletcher

1865-1952

Vernal Fletcher

1888-1928

John Fletcher

1861-1941

Carey Fletcher

12 Sept. 1890

24 Oct. 1918

James MacDonald

-1922​

Gladys MacDonald

1939-1940

Ellen 1899 -1915

Walters

Alice 1847 -1918

Robert 1843 -1913

Wilson:

Scott 1849 -1910

Charles 1881-1909

Boy Learned

31 Jan. 1905

4 Mar. 1905

Thoreson:

Emma

15 Oct. 1893

17 July 1909

Emil Thoreson

21 Feb. 1891

28 Sept. 1908

Elba Dingman

29 Jan. 1840

24 Oct. 1910

Caroline McElroy

1864-1948

Edward 1869-1933

Layne:

Martha 1875 -1963

Furman 1889 -1959

Rosemary

20 - 25 Jan. 1912

Frank Miller

25 July 1858

17 June 1903

Mamie Leasure

6 Apr. 1891

18 yrs. 10 mos.

Sarah Leasure

21 June 1899

53 yrs. nee Trauger

W.H.

5 Dec. 1830

11 Aug. 191o

Harold Zink

1914-1917

son August & Elsa

Mae Miller

Frank Miller

3 July - 3 Oct. 1895

son Carsa & Mary

Minnie

3 Sept. 1866

21 Aug. 1892

wife of Carsa

Maty

24 Nov. 1879

1 yr. 9 mo. 9 days

Carsa

24 Sept. 1903

41 yrs. 6 mos. 10 days

Amos 1875 -1935

Nellie 1866 -1959

Martin Yost

1850-1926

Lillian Merkle

1916-1968

Leroy Johnson

1904-1924

Glyness Lewis

-1895​

Clark:

Patricia 1925 -1931

Ida 1882 -1926

Walter 1855 -1943

Mary 1859 -1921

Wm. Copeland

11 Nov. 1897

2 mos. 5 days son

J.H. & Emma

Jennie

1 June 1894

27 July 1894

Etta Driesen

1865-1895

Anthony

7 Oct. 1890

10 Nov. 1938

Hial

25-27 Sept. 1921

Ellen Warner

8 Sept. 1888

27 Apr. 1894

Seth Warner

26 Apr. 1887

22 Apr. 1894

Unknown

Irma Trapp

29 July 1922

12 Nov. 1922

dau. Effner & Stella

Louis Pothier

29 Apr. 1871

7 Mar. 1949

Alice Pothier

14 Mar. 1881

13 Aug. 1946

Wilfred Pothier

28 Dec-1917

10 Mar. 1938

Arthur

22 May 1909

6 July 1932

Galt:

Wm. 1881-1965

Cora 1879 -1957

June

4 Mar 1907

Julius Buhmann

1882-1952

Larry Highley

29 Aug. 1938

6 Aug. 1949

Alfred Willyard

1892-1966

Edward Willyard

-1941​

son W.W. &Edythe

Judson 1860 -1932

Hattie 1855 -1949

John Shearer

25 Oct. 1868

5 Mar. 1938

Percy Flemming

1888-1955

Hilda 1893 -1942

Geraldine 1934 -1935

Walter 1884 -1961

George Posey

29 June 1843

25 June 1932

Co. A. 20 Wis.

Infantry

Mrs. George Posey

1845-1933

James MacDonald

1870-1947

Grace MacDonald Clark

1879-1971

Fred Miller

1899-1966

Roland Miller

9 Aug. 1930

15 Nov. 1972
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Melville Salutes You

by C. L. Kyte (Independent, October 29, 1936)

Melville! One of the oldest towns in Foster county, located almost on the southern county line, and on highway 281 and 52, noted for its beautiful ladies, charming widows and amiable housewives. Its beautiful homes which all need paint, its well‑kept streets, festooned by Russian thistle, sweet clover and quack grass; its sightly cellar holes of former buildings, which we keep to show our former greatness. And of the men, all I need to say is that none of them has ever fallen in one of these former basements when going home after a wee bit too much of 3.2 or Montana dew.

We have a fine school and an efficient teacher. Church services and Sunday school every Sunday, two general stores, a hardware store, and three filling stations, an elevator, bulk oil station, and one of the best rummy and freeze‑out games in the state. Our town is also the headquarters of the celebrated Fixit Club. We also have two republicans who make their home here and are treated as equals by the rest of us. We have one of the finest township halls in Foster county, and the past few months a bulk oil station; a new post office and a city well have been completed. There is not an empty house in town.

On the second Wed. of each month we have a community meeting and dance, which is largely attended and to give you an idea of our importance and popularity, when the democratic show wagon or "sound truck" or whatever they call it went through town it stopped two minutes and gave out one campaign button to the only person living in town who is not a citizen and has no vote. The Republicans ballyhoo wagon has not even called on us. But when you want a good time and wish to meet real people, come to Melville.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 363

Melville Fixit Club 

Featured in Forum story:

Melville and its Fixit club members were the subject of a half‑page feature story in the Sunday Fargo Forum by the Forum's special writer, Alma Riggie. Six pictures illustrated the article. Most of the story centered around C.L. Kyte, Melville postmaster and the secretary of the club, whose newspaper writing received one of the six "country correspondent" prizes offered in a national contest by the Country Home magazine. Mr. Kyte's weekly report on Melville news, and comments on state and national affairs, is a regular feature of the Foster County Independent.

Every small town has its group of men who drift together in front of one of the stores in the summer time, and around a hot stove in the winter time, and proceed to settle every question‑ local or national that is in the public eye. In Melville, this is the "the Fixit Club". Colonel Kyte reports on these meetings in his own inimitable manner in his weekly news letter. And the Fixit club is becoming famous.

Some interesting Melville history was brought out in the feature article. Melville started out to be Newport in 1883, located a mile south, but the railroad company and the owner couldn't agree on the price of the townsite so the company accepted a free site from Lyman R. Casey, a bonanza farmer, who changed the name from Newport to Melville, honoring Melville Hanna.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 363

Shot Guns Used At Melville When Crap Game Winner Fails to Divvy Up Spoils:

(Independent, October 9, 1924)

Jim Davenport, transient, accused Sam Dean of coming to home armed‑ but Jim got first shot in;

It took‑two firings from shotguns (no one hit) to clear the atmosphere at Melville Monday following a home brew‑crap game party in the Dobrenz garage there that afternoon that had left a decidedly cloudy feeling. Just what happened and why and how will be brought out more fully in Carrington next Wed. when Sam Dean, 42, a transient, will be given a preliminary hearing charged with shooting with intent to kill.

Jim Davenport, a threshing laborer from Scotland, South Dakota is the complaining witness and he acknowledges that he was not only the heavy winner in the dice game that afternoon but that he fired his shotgun first that evening at the Chas. Grabencamp farm home at the west edge of Melville.

It goes like this:

Tells of Dice Game

Davenport says that several men were indulging in a dice or crap game in the Dobrenz place Tuesday afternoon. He admits he cleaned several of the players. A considerable sum was won. One man lost $200. There was home brew, he says‑ one man brought a gallon. Davenport won so much that the game ended. He started out, he says. Then according to his story, Mrs. Dobrenz stuck a rifle in his ribs and demanded that he give her $100 of his winnings. He says he "kidded" her along and later was able to grab the rifle. He says she grabbed at his roll of bills and tore the corners from two twenties.

Got Away, Loses Coat

Then according to Davenport, Dobrenz and Dean pitched onto him as he was getting out the door. He says he got away but left his mackinaw and cap and $20 in silver on a table. He went to the Grabencamp farm where he is employed and Mr. Grabencamp offered to go to town to get his clothes, he claims. He states that they got as far as the depot, then listened.

They returned to the farm and later, it is asserted, Dobrenz and Dean came to the place. They asked if "Jim" was there. Grabencamp answered and insisted on wanting to know who was there. Some words were exchanged and Davenport says he later opened the wooden door and the screen door, armed with a shotgun.

Both Guns Discharged

He says that a little later Dean stuck his head and the little single barreled shotgun through the door. Davenport says he fired. He thinks the report of his gun startled or shocked Dean that Dean's gun also went off. Mrs. Davenport, who is up here with her husband, says that the Dean gun's charge went into the woodwork of the room. She says she can not understand why her husband's charge missed Dean. A voice outside was heard to say: "We'd better go."
Davenport and his wife came to Carrington and swore out a complaint about 8 o'clock Tues. evening and got a warrant for Dean's arrest. Sheriff Allen R. Hall went to Melville and found Dean asleep in the Dobrenz garage. He brought him to Carrington and the hearing has been set for next Wed. morning at 10:00.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 363

Melville

(Independent, July 17, 1913)

A party of gypsies passed through here the latter part of last week. Some of the young men went down to the camp and had the chief sight seer repeat to them their past and tell them of the wonderful wealth in store for them in the future, and the beautiful young lady away off somewhere waiting to become their bride. The young men paid a dollar apiece and went home happy in the thought that they had the worth of their money.

(Independent, May 29, 1913)

Thursday last a six horse team belonging to the Wiseman Bros. ran away with the drill. They started in the field where they were at work and ran to the barn with the driver sitting on the drill, and hanging on for dear life. When they arrived at the barn the drill was minus both tongues; otherwise everything was intact. The driver, M.A. Brown, says he is going to apply for a position with some circus as driver in the chariot races.

Last Thursday was an exciting day with the Wiseman Bros. First the runaway of the six horses, then another horse of theirs not wishing to be outdone strolled on the lots where the old Melville livery barn stood, walked over an old forgotten well, broke through the rotten planking and came near going to the bottom but managed with help to get out. The well was thirty‑five feet deep with ten feet of water. It was fortunate, after all, that it was found or some person might have broken through the rotten planking and lost his life. The well is now being filled as it should have been several years ago.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 365

Melville Meteor Added to Rock Garden at Camp

A 100 pound meteor that fell at Melville in 1882 had been added to the collection of odd stones and rocks at the Rainbow Gardens Tourist Camp.

The stone was presented to R. Hayashi by Samual Fawcett of Melville. Mr. Fawcett was one of Melville's first pioneers. Late one evening in the spring 50 years ago, while he stood outside his homestead shack he saw what he supposed was a shooting star. It came nearer and kept getting brighter, and finally it struck the earth a short distance from his house.

In the morning he went to investigate. He found a rock that weighed about 100 pounds, with its bulk embedded in the prairie. He tried to move it and found it was still too hot to handle. A few days later he got help and dug it up, moving it to his home where it remained until he moved into Melville, then he brought the rock along and placed it in his yard:

The rock, ‑ Mr. Fawcett believes, is a‑ real museum piece. He visited the Rainbow Gardens in Carrington a few days ago for the first time and was so pleased by the beauty of the place that he gave the rock to the owner.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 365

$15,000 Fire Wipe Out 4 Buildings on Melville Main Street: 1933

Town Hall, Bohn Restaurant, Pothier Pool Hall and Layne Cafe destroyed in Sunday morning blaze.

The fire was kept from spreading further by the Melville volunteer firemen helped by the Pingree firemen and the chemical truck from the Carrington fire department. The fire was the worst in Melville's history.

The fire broke out in the Otto Bohn house about 10:30 Sunday morning during the absence of the family in Devils Lake. The fire started on the second floor, presumably from a defective chimney or an overheated stove pipe. When the fire was first discovered smoke was pouring out of the second floor. Melville men broke their way into the building but found the fire had gained too much headway to control. Emergency alarms were sent into Carrington and Pingree, and the men went to work carrying out part of the family's belongings from the first floor and saving the neighboring buildings. The fire then spread to the other buildings.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 365

Melville 

(Taken from the Grace City Gazette, 1916)

From Woodrow Rustler: "The writer paid his first visit to Melville last Friday evening. It is one of the first towns in Foster County. The population is made up of retired farmers, widows, politicians, Jack Highly, and Nick Loesch.

"Melville is noted for its beautiful girls. The town is one of the most progressive in Foster county. For excitement they have a change of postmasters every fort night."
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 366

Melville Bank Robbed, September 28, 1916

Safe was broken into. $4,205 $2,300 in currency the rest in negotiable paper. Everything of value was taken. The robbery was discovered by the cashier when coming to work. A hole had been drilled through the vault door and the lock worked. The safe inside was blown to bits.

Grace City Gazette (September 28, 1916)

Yeggs Get Big Haul from Melville Bank: Total amount of currency and silver taken from bank amounted to over $2,000.

No trace has been found of the yeggmen who blew the safe in vault of the Bank of Melville, securing $4,205, $2,300 in currency and silver, the balance negotiable paper. Everything of value in the safe was taken.

The robbery was not noticed until the cashier came to open up for business in the morning. A hole had been drilled through the vault door and the lock worked. The safe inside was blown to pieces. Nitroglycerine was used so indicating that experienced men had done the job. It is believed the robbers came in an automobile.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 366

Nordmore Township 

Township 147‑65

Nordmore township received its name from the region from which the first pioneers to the area came, which was in Norway. The name means a place of quiet and peace.

Nordmore is bordered on the north by Eddy county, east by Larrabee, south by Rose Hill, and west by Estabrook.

The landscape is described as valley land with the usual steep slopes extending back two miles on each side of an almost level valley bottom. The rest of the land is level to nearly level upland with some land gently rolling.

It is drained by the James River and Kelly Creek which flow through the township. Roanne Ravine meanders through the northwest portion of the township joining the James River on Section 9. There is a gravel pit on the south half of section 4.

The surveyor's report was filed in Huron, Dakota Territory, on September 18, 1884. The total acreage is 22,785.98 Acres.

Scott Sturtevant surveyed the subdivisions in August 1884. The township lines were established by Milton Nye in June 1882. Nordmore was the last area to be surveyed. The story is because of this they received all the errors from the other surveys. These errors were placed in the Northwest 1/4 of section 6 giving it short acreage.

Settlers that were in the area at the time of the surveys were: Charles Jansen, Southwest 6 and 0. Gustad, Southeast 6.

In 1900 Nordmore had 34 open quarters that were not settled.

The Burlington Northern Railroad crosses section 1.

Nordmore had a post office by the name of Cline. One story is that a bachelor by the name of Cline would bring the mail out to a home in Nordmore for the Goshos, Berglunds and others. Sometimes he would be riding a bicycle. It was later established as a post office and they decided to call it Cline after this fellow. It was located 1/4 mile north of the Henry Gussiaas farm on what is now Gordon Miller land. Cline ran the post office for awhile then it was moved to the Andes place and was run by Dave Andes. This is now the Henry Gussiaas farm.

In about 1900 the post office was moved 1/4 mile north on the corner. Many may remember the red granary that stood on that corner and in later years was moved to the Gordon Miller farm. Henry Miller ran the post office then. It went out of existence in 1904. (Material collected by Phyllis Gussiaas. )

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 368

Township Organization

Nordmore township was organized as a civil township in March 19, 1907 with 30 petitioners requesting the action. The first officers were:

Officers in 1982 are: clerk: Howard Miller

treasurer, Dennis Swanson

assessor, Eugene Edwardson

supervisors: Merlin Miller, Gerhard Ellingson, Luverne Gussiaas, Chairman

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 368

Schools

The first school in the area was built in Estabrook township around 1884. Ellen Mattson was the first teacher. She later ran the Mattson Hotel in New Rockford. In 1894 this school (No. 1) was moved to Nordmore on Section 18 just south of Kvernes church.

In 1899 there was only one school. The county superintendent was Zerlina Eakin. The teacher's salary was $34 per month. They had one dictionary, and no library books.

In 1900 summer school was held in three schools

No. 1 taught by Carrie Roaldson

No. 2 by Nellie Sheehy

No. 3 by Miss Mayo Hennessy.

School officers in 1894 were: clerk and president, William Thormasgaard.

1894: Ole Rusten, director

Olaus Gustad, treasurer

A.T. Halaas, clerk

John Jondal, president.

In 1900 three schools were built by Jeans Ugelstad. No. 2 was built on section 29 just across the road from the Olaf Edwardson farm. School No. 3 on section 26 about 1/2 mile south of James Gussiaas farm later it was moved south to the corner 1/2 mile west of what is now the Jerry Goheen farm. School No. 4 was built on section 11 one mile north of the Herman Miller farm. School was conducted mostly in the summer months those first years. Because the boys had to help with the work, they, seldom got to go to school very long. When school was held in the winter months students would be of all ages. Ted Berglund recalls Louis Forseth, a middle aged man, who went to school when Dave Andes was teacher, to learn to read. He always carried a syrup pail to spit his moose in.

In 1951 Nordmore started having nine month school terms. In 1958 the district decided to build a centralized school and sell the four one room schools. It was decided the site should be on the Bordulac road, a well‑graded road with easy access for most patrons. A.K. Gussiaas donated land on section 17 for this purpose. The four schools were sold: School No. 1 to Edwin Gussiaas is used as storage and bunk house; School No. 2 to Mervin Gussiaas and is used as a garage; School No. 3 to James Gussiaas used as housing for hired help; School No. 4 to Alan Willyard and is used as a garage.

In 1962 part of the district reorganized with the Carrington school district. Some northern sections organized with New Rockford school district and some of the eastern sections went to Grace City.

The school was used as a township hall and community gathering place until 1981 when it was remodeled into a modern home for Mr. and Mrs. Dennis Swanson.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 368

Kvernes Evangelical Lutheran Church

In 1884 the people of Nordmore township got together and organized a church by the name of Kvernes Lutheran Evangelical Church. The name Kvernes comes from Norway and means a quiet point of land where a church and cemetery were maintained for many years. The Nordmore church was patterned after this church in Norway.

At first the meetings were held in Nordmore No. 1 school. Some of the first members were T.A. Halaas, Sivert Roaldson, Olaus Gustad, and Arne Olson. In 1900 it was decided that it was necessary to build a church. It is located a mile and 1/2 north of Nordmore No. 2 school. The building was blown down in a severe storm in 1915. A new building was erected and dedicated in 1916. The first pastor was Rev. Thormodsgaard, who took office in 1886 and served for seven years. He often traveled between his congregations by ski.

Because the Sheyenne parish consisted of five churches scattered so far apart, it was decided to form a new parish. In December 1954 Kvernes and Stavanger of rural Cathay formed the new parish with the parsonage in New Rockford.

On March 12, 1961 on a Sunday afternoon the church burned to the ground. Everything was lost. The next evening the congregation met to make future plans. A decision was made to rebuild the church which was ready for use on July 23, 1961 and dedicated on November 19, 1961.

Ministers 

O.A. Solem 1884 

P.J. Reinerton 1885 

H. Thorsmodgaard 1886 ‑1893 

E. T. Quan 1894 ‑1908 

0. J. Hungness 1909 ‑1937 

M.T. Bratrud 1937 ‑1945 

G.W. Mathre 1945‑1949 

H. V. Thorsen 1949 ‑1952

Fredricks Kramins 1952 ‑1953 

K.S. Mickelson 1953 ‑1955 

Donald Thoson 1955 ‑1959 

Richard Erickson 1959 ‑1963 

Arthur Ree 1964 ‑1965

Tom Gabrielson 1966 ‑1972 

Gary Stangeland 1972 ‑1975 

Walter Wolff 1975

The first person baptized in this organized congregation was Gilbert Roaldson, baptized by T.A. Haiaas.

The first marriage was E.T. Halaas and Eline Rusten in 1887.

The first funeral was Ole Silseth September 14, 1886 by Phyllis Gussiaas

Through the years, Kvernes has been a much‑loved spiritual home and the heart of a fine community

The Rev. Halaas was ordained in the Kvernes Church.

In 1919 a group of 19 farm boys under the direction of John Kinder, another farmer, got together and formed a band. They met every Monday night at the various farm homes to practice for their performances at dances and special celebrations. During the winter some of the neighbors would come to listen to them practice. The band became an official organization after two years of existence with these officers: Harvey Kinsler, president

Torris Halaas, vice-president and manager

Clarence Anderson, secretary/treasurer and Perry Anderson, Band leader.

Money that was taken in was used to buy music and to hire an instructor, W.H. Dingle of New Rockford to give them some instructions in the art of music. The community was very proud of their band.

Members were: Perry Anderson, Dewey Anderson, Gene Anderson, Mike Anderson, Clarence Anderson, and "Plut" Anderson of Brantford

Carl Kinsler, Floyd Kinsler of Brantford

Lars Halaas, Harold Halaas, LaVerne Halaas, and Torris Halaas, of Carrington

Martin Hjelseth, Olaf Edwardson and B.F. Roush of Carrington.
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Nordmore Township Land Acquisition

Township 147-65

	Year and Name
	Section 

	1885
	

	Charles J. Johnson 
	6

	Anne Olson
	 8 

	Ole T. Halaas
	 18 

	John Bowie
	 20 

	Charles E. Galehouse
	 28 

	Ellen T. Halaas
	 30 

	Ole Gorseth
	32

	
	

	1886
	

	Frank E. Johnson 
	 8 

	Edmund Baker. 
	20 

	Carl Westerland
	22 

	Torris A. Halaas
	30 

	Esol Halaas 
	30 

	Christin Arneson
	32

	G.T. Lund
	34

	
	

	1887
	

	John Nordin
	14 

	Christian Jacobson
	 20 

	Christopher Knudson
	 28 

	Lewis Ellingson
	28

	
	

	1888
	

	Sam T. Johdall
	 18

	
	

	1889
	

	Carl Westerland
	22

	1898
	

	Christianna Gustad
	 6

	Frank Johnson
	 10

	
	

	1894
	

	Morgan A. Moore
	 8

	
	

	1895
	

	Nils Sorum 
	12

	John Nordin
	14

	John T. Johdall
	 20

	Ole O. Silseth
	 22

	Ole Rustin
	24

	
	

	1896
	

	Ellen T. Edwardson
	18

	A.T. Halaas
	32

	G.T. Lund
	34

	Torris Halaas
	32

	
	

	1899
	

	Hiram Bond 
	22

	Ole Rustin
	24

	
	

	1901
	

	Hannah Carlson
	 6

	Alfred Bergland 
	26

	Martin Indergaard
	 26

	John E. Halaas
	28
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Nordmore Township Land Ownership in 1910 and 1980

Township 147-65

	Section
	1910
	1980

	1
	W.W. Patee 
P.T. & A.H. Anderson
	Eugene Weisenberger 
Gerhard Ellingson

	2
	State Land 
E.J.D. Miller
	Edwin Weisenberger 
Howard Miller

	3

	G.K. Gullickson 
Hans J. Christenen 
John A. Dolle
	R.J. Anderson 
Elizabeth Wilson 
Christ Klein

	4
	Henry Pederson 
State Land
	Carol Roaldson Luverne Gussiaas

	5
	D.S.B. Johnston Land 
Iver Roaldson 
Rudolph Edwardson
	Ben Kuske 
Roland Roaldson 
Stanley Roaldson

	6
	Hanna Carlson 
John E. Indergaard 
Olaus Gustad
	John Aaland 
Edwin Gussiaas 
Orval Kuske

	7
	Myron Landis 
Olaus Gustad 
E.T. Halaas
	Luverne Gussiaas 
Pauline Sirl


	8
	Rudolph Edwardson 
E.T. Halaas 
Marie Davidson 
J.E. Royer
	Dennis Swanson 
Shirley McCarter 
John E. Edwardson


	9
	R. Mitchell Mattie 
O. Sutherland 
Hans J. Christensen
	Wesley Miller 
Thelma Landson


	10
	John E. Indergaard



	Thelma Landon 
Maxine Roaldson 
Hattie Miller 
State Land

	11
	E.J.D. Miller
D.S.B. Johnston Land Company
	Albert Utke 
Hermand Miller

	12
	E.J.D. Miller
Dakota State Land

	Gerhard Ellingson 
Margaret Aam 
Mark Anderson

	13
	Ervin Forbes
	Jerry Goheen

	14
	Joe Sutherland
State Land
	Wallace Miller 
Howard Miller

	15
	Merlin E. Miller
C.H. Reimers
	Mattie 0. Sutherland
Irwin Swanson

	16
	I.E. Sutherland 
H.J. Christiansen 
Commercial State Bank

	Thelma Landon
Merlin Miller
Leslie Davis
Irwin Swanson

	17
	M. Thomas & Lizzier O'Hair
W.L. Winterer
Andrew Gussiaa
	Anna & Norma Gussiaas
John E. Edwardson

	18
	John T. Jonsdal
Halvor Thomisgaard
Ellen T. Edwardson
	Gilbert Gussiaas 
Don Gussiaas


	19
	N.A. Wicks
H.A. Soliday
E. Hjelseth
	Edwin Gussiaas



	20
	G.A. McGowan
E. Hjelseth
Foster County State Bank
	Gilbert Gussiaas 
Eilert Hjelseth


	21
	Minnie L. Halaas
Buchanan & Halaas
Otto W. Landeen
F.R. Putnam
	Gilbert Gussiaas
Luverne Gussiaas



	22
	C.H. Reimers
Carl Westerlund
Ella 0. Bonderud
	James Gussiaas
Anna & Norma Gussiaas
Irwin Swanson

	23
	Ella 0. Bonderud
E. McMiller
	Hattie Miller
Joseph Reiniger

	24
	State Land
Ole B. Rustin
	Ronald Ames


	25
	E. McMiller
Ole B. Rustin
Northern Pacific Railroad
	James Gussiaas
Emma Oehlke
Ray Hoffman

	26
	Carl Westerlund
Alfred Bergland
	Norman Glinz
Jerry Goheen

	27
	F.B. Slusher
Lee Dickerson
	Herbert Swanson
Clarence Miller

	28
	John E. Halaas
Henry Miller
A.O. Snyder
	Leslie Davis
Maxine Roaldson
Frank Davis

	29
	T.N. Putnam
Henry Miller
	Gustav Miller
Gordon Miller

	30
	A.T. Halaas
J.T. Halaas
Ellen T. Edwardson
	Lenore Vennes
Eugene Edwardson


	31
	A.T. Halaas
John Edwardson
W.E. Cummings
	Joseph Carr
Willett Edwardson


	32
	John T. Halaas
J.H. Kline
E.L. Andis
	Anna & Norma Gussiaas 
Martin Hjelseth 
Joan & Bruce Skjonsby

	33
	Fred R. Putnam
D.L. Andes
C.H. Davidson Jr.
	Gustav Miller
Henry Gussiaas 
Joseph Reiniger

	34
	Charles Reiniger
State Land
	Joseph Reiniger
H.R. & A.B. Tenborg

	35
	Alfred Bergland
Mary Roadlson
	Jerry Goheen
David Stedman

	36
	School Land
Alfred Bergland
	Jerry Goheen 
Norman Glinz
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Rolling Prairie Township 

Township 146 ‑ 63

Bordered on the north by Florence, the south by McKinnon, east by Glenfield, west by Haven, this area was first called Roosevelt township.

The land is a rolling prairie which inspired the name when it was changed at the time it became a civil township.

The Great Northern Railroad crossed the northeast corner of the township. Highway No. 200 crosses east and west through the middle of the township.

The survey report was filed at Yankton, Dakota Territory on February 27, 1883. The surveyors were Charles Scott and E.S. Sturtevant, who surveyed in October 1882. They found no settlers at the time of the survey.

In 1900 there were 62 quarters that were not settled. By 1910 the population was 196.
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Township Organization

The area was organized into a civil township in 1914. At this time the name was changed to Rolling Prairie because another Roosevelt township was in existence. Andrew Pedersen suggested the name that was used.

Members of the first board were: Sven Stockland, Jim Potter, Torger Aarestad, Jens Pedersen.

Officers in 1982 are: 

clerk, Arlo Stedman

treasurer, Edith Johnson

assessor, Russell Christiansen

supervisors: Franklin Ellingson, Mark Pedersen, Conrad Nisstad.

The township hall is located on the Southwest 29.
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Schools 

by Gordon Pedersen

Campbell School District No. 13 was organized July 14, 1898 by order of County Superintendent L. C. Campbell. The district was named in honor of an early homesteader, Archibald Campbell.

The first officers were: 

Ole C. Austad, president

Jens Pedersen, clerk

Knud Christiansen, treasurer

directors: Mads P. Christiansen and Alech Helling.

Campbell No. 1 was built in 1898 and was opened on July 1 with Flora Meyers as the first teacher. School term lasted for about seven months in the summer and fall months.

There were 18 students. The, teacher was paid $30 per month. When the school was no longer needed it was moved to the Edward Johnson residence and used for a garage for awhile.

Campbell No. 2 was built about 1901 on the Southwest 1/4 of section 11. Flora Meyers was the first teacher with 15 students. When it closed it was remodeled by Charley Hutchinson into a milk house and part granary.

Campbell No. 3 was built in 1907 on Section 8. It was later moved to section 5. After reorganization the school was bought by Joe Vlack and Russell Nelson and moved to the farm. The first teacher was Dora Hamm, who was paid $50 per month. She had 14 students.

Campbell No. 4 was built on section 29 in 1909 and was the last school to be used. It was larger than the other three with a furnace and basement. It is still standing on the original site. The first teacher was Inyce Arndt with 21 students.

The Campbell School District No. 13 was reorganized in June 30, 1958. It joined the Glenfield School District.
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Historical Site

Evidence of the Indians here are on what is called Pedersen's Hill. Indian beads, tomahawks, trails and mounds have been found here. It has not been established whether or not there are bodies in the graves. On land owned by Mrs. Henry Pedersen (section 33) there are holes dug where Forties of Sibley's expedition and his 2500 men stayed overnight on July 20 and 21, 1863. The indentations are assumed to be where the soldiers slept. There is also an Indian grave here, possibly killed in a skirmish in those days.
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Service Men

Louis Pearson WW I 

Albert Vlack WW II 

Gordon Nelson 

Ellert Stangeland 

Morris Nelson 

Jasper Ravndahl 

Leonard Topp Korean War

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 375

Rolling Prairie Land Acquisition

Township 146‑63

	Year and Name
	Section 

	1887
	

	August Abrahamsom 
	 22 

	
	

	1891
	

	Edward D. Smith
	 8

	
	

	1892
	

	Ole C. Austad
	 22

	
	

	1894
	

	Knud Christiansen
	 23

	Archibald Campell
	 34

	
	

	1895
	

	John Salberg
	 22

	Tollef E. Thompson
	 26

	Peter M. Hanson
	 26

	Stephen M. Posey
	

	
	

	1897
	

	Alfred Olson
	 32

	
	

	1901
	

	Alick Helling
	 26

	
	

	1902
	

	William Meiers
	 2

	Abraham Posey
	 10

	Mikall Semmons
	 14

	John Nelson 
	 18

	Mils Molkjer
	 20

	Anton Pederson
	 20

	
	

	1903
	

	George G. Merrit
	 2

	Cage M. Brown
	 4

	John 0. McIntosh 
	 4

	Fred McDaniel
	 10

	Harvey Anderson 
	 22

	Jens P. Pedersen
	 32

	
	

	1904
	

	Frank B. Brown 
	4

	Carl C. Pederson
	20

	Mads P. Christiansen
	20

	Daniel Grumen
	28

	
	

	1908
	

	Frank J. Milman
	18

	James H. Sloan
	18
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Rolling Prairie Land Ownership in 1910 and 1980

	Section
	1910
	1980

	1
	Maynard Crane
George Cupps
	Alf & Kenneth Stangeland 
Marvin Johnson

	2
	Ed Johnson
Wells & Dickey 
George Cupps
Halverson, H.S.
	Herman Johnson 
Alf & Kenneth Stangeland 
I. Sharpe‑Franklin Ellingson 
Russell Thomson

	3

	H.S. Halverson


	Annabelle Loose 
Vera Knuth 
I. Sharpe

	4
	H.S. Halverson
State Land
Frank B. Brown
	Annabelle Loose 
State of North Dakota 
Noran Olson

	5
	James McDaniel
Perston & Farnham
	Conrad & Arthur Nisstad 
Howard Spickler

	6
	J.S. Potter
State Land
	Leon Wright 
ElRoy Ellingson

	7
	Sarah Jensen
	Jasper & Henry Ravndal

	8
	State Land
A.G. Randall
William Sloan
	Jasper Ravndahl 
State of North Dakota


	9
	Thomas Jones
Robert Simpson
Hans H. Bergland
	Carol Griffey & Phyllis Slavik 
Arlo Stedman


	10
	John Nihill
Frank Glassner

	Frank Balvitsch 
Marguerite Topp 
Leonard Topp

	11
	James W. Simpson
Chester McDaniel
	Marilyn Topp
Lowell Lutz

	12
	A. Jenson
Jim McDaniel
Howdeon & McCall
State Land
Abraham Posey
	Alf & Kenneth Stangeland
Vernon Anderson 
Marvin Johnson 
Lowell Lutz


	13
	George Cupps
Conrad Thiede

	Ruth Renfrow
John Edland 
Fatme Kadry

	14
	John Nihill 
O.C. Anstad 
Elizabeth McDaniel
	Frances Paczkowski
Dean Somerville 
Allen Palmer

	15
	Frank Glassner John Nihill

	Myron Gader
Leonard Topp

	16
	Thomas Jones 
M.C. Christiansen 
William McDaniel 
Knud Christianson 
	Arlo Stedman
Richard & Vernon Topp 
Clarence Stedman

	17
	A.G. Randall 
James Jones
	Joe Vlach
Carol Griffey & Phyllis Slavik

	18
	J. Heald 
A.G. Randall 
James Sloan 
Fram Millman
	Clarence Stedman
Lester Ellingson



	19
	Strong & Kerr J.H. Sloan 

	Clifford Ellingson
Clarence Stedman

	20
	M.P. Christianson 
Nels Molkjer 
Anton Pederson 
Knud Christianson
	Joe Vlach
Frank Bowden



	21
	Knud Christianson 
John Nihill 
Northern Pacific Railroad Company 
	Arlo Stedman
Myron Gader 
Richard Topp

	22
	John Salberg 
O.C. Anstad 
H.M. Anderson
	Richard Topp
Frank Balvitsch


	23
	North Dakota Trust & Loan Company 
Wells & Dickey
	Frank Balvitsch
Allen Palmer

	24
	Hamer & Condy 
Tolef Thompson

	Vern Hoggarth
Myron Gader 
Bruce Gader

	25
	First National Bank, Cgtn.
Peter Hanson 
George Young 
John Nihill
	Bruce Gader 
LeRoy Johnson



	26
	State Land 
H.S. Halverson 
Tolef Thompson 
Peter Hanson
	David Somsen
Russell Thompson 
Kennery, Duane, Gerald & Thomas Hoggarth

	27
	B.H. Bunnell 
Anna Nelson 
Andrew P. Pedersen
	Gordon Pedersen
Franklin Ellingson 
Gordon Pedersen

	28
	T.E. Thompson 
Knud Christiansen
	Mark Pedersen
Robert Bear

	29
	Nels Molkjer 
Anton Pedersen 
T.E. Thompson

	Joe Vlach
Frank Bowden 
Mark Pedersen 
Arlo Stedman

	30
	O.C. Anslad 
State Land 
Nels Molkjer
	Lawrence Stangeland



	31
	John E. Strong

	Carl Stangeland
Clarence Olson‑Carl Olson

	32
	Jens Pederson & Knud Christianson Jens Pederson 
J.P. Pederson
	Edith A. Johnson
Andrew Nelson


	33
	Ann T.E. Thompson 
Hugh Peoples

	Andrew Nelson
Franklin Ellingson 
Arlen Pedersen

	34
	Anna Nelson
Knud Christiansen 
Stutsman County Bank 
Anna Nelson
	Franklin Ellingson
Gorden Pedersen 
Chester Nelson


	35
	Hammer Condy 
T.J. Soby 
Peter Hanson 
Halverson & Condy
	I. Sharpe‑Franklin Ellingson 
William Blahna 
David Soms


	36
	Frank Glassner 
Alex McIlling 
Herman Anderson 
Carl Erickson
	Leonard Anderson 
LeRoy Johnson
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Rose Hill Township 

Township 146 ‑ 65

Rose Hill Township is located in the middle tier of townships. It is bordered by Nordmore to the north, Bordulac to the south, Haven to the east and Carrington on the west.

Its land is described as being level to nearly level upland, with gentle rolling in the eastern portion that leads toward the river. The area is drained by Kelly Creek and a branch of the James River. Templeton Lake, which was used for many things in the early days, is located on section 22. During the WPA days two dams were built, the Tollefson Dam on the Kelly creek, section 23 and the Schroeder Dam on Southeast of 36. The dams provided water for the stock as well as facilities for fishing and swimming.

The survey report was filed at Yankton, Dakota Territory on February 27, 1883. The subdivisions were measured by Charles Scott and E.S. Sturtevant in September and early October 1882. The Township lines were established in June 1882 by Milton Nye. They found 22,835.71 Acres in this township.

The only settler that the surveyors found at that time was O.J. Foley on Southwest 32.
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How It Got Its Name

Rose Hill was named when they had their first school meeting in 1888. Some of the people wanted to name it after the first settler, but they could not agree on any of the names suggested. At last Rev. Burns, who was looking out of the window, saw a hill covered with wild rose. He said, "Let us call it 'Rose Hill"'. All of the men agreed, so ever since it has been called "Rose Hill".
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Township Organization

According to the minutes of a meeting of the Foster County Commissioners on January 11, 1907, a petition signed by twenty‑six legal voters petitioned the County Commissioners asking to become a civil township.

On February 2, 1907 a meeting was held at the school house on section 30 and the township was organized with the following officers: 

supervisors‑ P.C. Peterson, D. McNabb, and John Ferguson

clerk, J.A. Graham

treasurer, Gus Zink

assessor, L.C. DeBolt

road overseers, Oscar Elton and G.T. Lund.

Officers in 1982 are:

Clerk, Carol Rosenau

assessor, Keith Jenson

supervisors: William Zink, Chairman, Clarence Schroeder, and Edson Lund.

Through out the year many projects were given on various subjects as well as many community service projects, such as making quilts during World War II, also knitting socks, scarves, mittens, etc. for the service men. Donations for worthwhile charities and serving lunches during auction sales that were conducted by the neighbors. The Homemakers also sponsored social events, such as card parties and showers for the community members.

At one time there was the Rose Hill Literary Society which held its meetings in the schoolhouses. One of the forms of entertainment was debates. Much merriment was caused by a "newspaper" which was written by one of the members. These always succeeded in "lampooning" some of its members who were in the audience.

The Merry Maids 4‑H Club was organized in 1945 with Liesetta Grager and Eunice Ibson as leaders. It is still in existence.

The boys belong to a Pig Club in 1942 and then expanded to a Beef Club. Eventually these groups became known as the Rose‑Haven Variety Club. The first leaders were Ralph Bort and Liesetta Grager.
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Miscellaneous

The first white child born in this township was Carl Elton.

The first automobile was owned by Henry Ewen. It was purchased from Sears‑Roebuck.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 379

Servicemen

Ross Ferguson 

Carrol Peterson 

Leon Lund 

Myron Reimers 

Wilfred Schroeder

Harris Peterson 

Keith Jenson 

Dick Doeling 

Clarence Schroeder 

Ed Tollefson

The population in 1890 was 53

1900, 190

1910, 230.

In 1900 Rose Hill had 20 quarters that had not as yet been settled.
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Township Hall

On October 1911, plans were put into action to build a township hall on the Northeast quarter of section 21. Lumber was purchased for $150, furniture, $3, stove for $7, and $42.50 for painting the structure.

The hall served for many years as a gathering place for the community for social events as well as a place for public elections and other meetings. Many a night the walls rang with the sound of music that was provided by some of the local fiddlers, accordionists and the pianists. Some of the musicians were Herb Lund, Bernhardt Nystad, Wilfred Rosenau, who Tended their talents on the fiddle.

Other music makers were Ted and Elsie Berglund, who ventured to the hall from Nordmore township.

Other activities were card parties and showers for the new brides in the community. When the school district was reorganized in 1960 the township hall became a granary and the other functions were transferred to the school on section 30.
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Organizations

The Rose Hill Farm Club was organized February 12, 1914 with twenty‑four members. The object of the organization was co‑operation for social, educational, and financial purposes. Executive officers were: 

president, D.S. Neiman

Vice president, Gustav Zink

secretary, J.A. Graham

and treasurer, Oscar Elton.

The first club organized for the ladies was a Birthday Club. When one of the ladies was celebrating her birthday, they would meet and each members would bring a block that she had made for a quilt. By the time the club dissolved each lady had enough blocks to make a full size quilt.

When this group broke up, the ladies joined with the ladies from Haven Township in a group called "The Helping Hand". There, projects were to be available to anyone who needed help.

Eventually this group dissolved and the ladies formed the Everglad Homemakers Club, which was organized April 16, 1941 with eleven members. The Club was named by using the first initial from the names of some of the club members.

The first officers were: 

president, Mrs. Avolt Grager

vice president, Mrs. Nels Elton

secretary-treasurer, Mrs. Clyde Jones.
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Rose Hill Schools

The Rose Hill School District was organized August 4, 1888 by William Farquer, County Superintendent of Schools. The first school board members were R.S. McIntyre, D.S. Neiman, Calvin D. Barren. The treasurer was A.M. Campbell. The clerk was Mrs. A.M. Campbell.

The name for the new district and township was decided at this first meeting.

The first school house was built on the Northwest 1/4 section 28 south of the stone church. There were three pupils in this school: Katie Campbell, Renie DeBolt and Florence Neiman. Lizzie McKenzie was the teacher and was paid $30.00 per month. They had a four month school term beginning about the middle of May.

The schoolhouse was 12 feet by 28 feet, painted an oriental drab for the body with olive trimming. The carpenter was G.D. Warthrop for a bid of $475. The furniture was $161 and the stove was $27, with $5 for school supplies.

Henry Carrol was hired for $405 to build School No. 2 on the Henry Ewen farm Southeast 1/4 of Section 14.

School No. 3 was built by Hans Peterson for $427 in 1900 on Section 4. The land was donated by Hans Peterson.

During the next few years there was discussion about moving the schools so that they would be more centrally located. The problem was finally resolved with the decision to build a new school on the Northeast corner of Section 30. Roy Burton was hired for $1506 to do the construction. This school became known as No. 4.

The old schoolhouse was moved to a site on Southwest 1/4 of Section 12.

In March 1959 Rose Hill School District was reorganized and became a part of the Carrington School District.

Number 1 became the Township Hall of Rose Hill.

Number 2 was destroyed by a cyclone in 1943.

Number 3 was sold to John Marmo in 1940 for $540.

Number 4 was destroyed by the cyclone in 1943. A different building was purchased from the Carrington School District. It was later moved to the Foster County Fair Grounds in Carrington to house relics from pioneer schoolhouses. It now houses the school exhibits from the Foster County Fair.
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School Census

School census of pupils between the ages of six and twenty‑one in Rose Hill school district from the year 1898 with new names added until the year 1902:

1898 

Hattie Brallier 

Emery Brallier 

Jesse Brallier 

Blanche Brallier 

Nels Elton 

Carl Elton 

Gena Lund 

Sigvart Lund 

Arnt Lund 

William Dulling 

Nellie Ewen 

Nea Young 

Elmay Young 

Archie Young 

Louisa Neiman 

Clarence Neiman 

Annie Neiman 

Anus Nicolson 

Jessie Nicolson

Charley Brallier 

Henry Brallier 

Claude Brallier 

Oscar Elton 

Deana Elton 

Paul Elton 

Thea Lund 

Emma Lund 

Herbert Lund 

Anna Dulling 

Mabel Ewen 

Lew Young 

Lina Young 

Clive Neiman 

Florence Neiman 

Carl Neiman 

Pearl DeBolt 

Rex Hightower 

Dora Hightower

1900 

Hazel Barnett 

Johnnie Nicolson 

Clarence Pierce

Charley Pierce 

Anfield Shiftlett 

Philip Porter 

Jeanette Porter 

Ethel Tomlinson 

Lonnie Tomlinson 

John Carter 

Evelyn Holcomb 

Ernest Perece 

William Shiflett 

Eddie Shiflett 

Flossie Belcher 

Clara Porter 

Milton Porter 

Frank Tomlinson 

Floyd Ankrum 

Charles Norton

1901 

Rhoda Kerlin 

James Morris

Susie Kerlin

1902 

Pearl Peterson 

Milton Graham 

Annabel Graham 

Lottie Norton 

Walter Reichert

John Graham 

Robert Graham 

George Conrad 

Roy Reichert 

Rose Reichert
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Rose Hill Congregational Church

Before the church was built in 1895 services were held in different homes of the neighborhood.

The township had not been settled more than a year or two before the settlers began to think of religious matters. Mr. Burns, a minister, had taken up a claim on section twenty‑four. In 1884 or 1886 Mr. Burns began preaching in the homes of the settlers and a Sunday school was started. When the schoolhouse was built, the Sunday School met in it. A church was organized and they began to consider a building as a home for worship. Four hundred dollars was secured from the Congregational Home Building Society, but this amount would not pay for the lumber for the church, so each donated a few days' time and the rock was hauled from the surrounding prairies. The money secured paid for the stone mason and material for plaster. Archie Nicolson and J.W. Perkins did the stone work and Duncan McNabb finished the inside work. So the stone church so long a land mark was built in 1895 on Section twenty‑one. Sunday school was held in the afternoon at 2 p.m. and worship services at 3 p.m. According to church records about 50 people attended.

The church was dedicated in August 1896 with appropriate ceremonies. The cost of construction was $1,118. In 1913 the congregation transferred to the Bordulac Church.

After its abandonment, the stones from the church were later used for road repair work along the Kelly Creek road.

Ministers: 

1890 ‑ J.C. Jones 

1891‑ W.H. Bimblett 

1898 ‑ J. Lincoln Jones 

1899‑1901‑ Rev. Johnson 

1903 ‑ Rev. McKinnon

1904‑1906 ‑ C. W. Smith 

1907‑1908‑H.T. Gardner 

1909 ‑ Rev. Snape Rev. Cummings Rev. Savage

The following excerpts are from a letter written by Mary Black Smith, a former member of this church:

"The stone church‑ Rose Hill Congregational‑ is another of my bright memories. We drove there to church in the afternoon, my sister, Goldine, sitting in the front seat of the double buggy and I sitting with the dear grandma in the back seat. How I hated a windy day! We were sure to be plastered with hair from the shedding horses and tobacco juice from Pa's chewing and spitting.

"To me, the church was a temple with its deeply recessed windows. Looking back, I give thanks to those homesteading fathers of ours, who, as soon as they filed on their homestead, built a church. Schools were next.

"Now looking back on those wonderful days, my heart is filled with appreciation for those folks who came from fairer lands and pleasanter climates and who helped make a God's country, as it is today of the barren prairie.

"The one church on the 'south road' was made of the beautiful native stone with six deeply recessed windows. The Church served as a community place, also.

"I remember one Sunday afternoon in August, the wheat crop hung golden and ripe and the man who farmed the land behind the church was cutting grain. The day was hot and the flies were swarming and the man on the binder had his troubles handling four or was it six horses. He had a vocabulary. The congregation was singing "Bringing in the Sheaves, " a fitting hymn for harvest time. The windows were open and intermingled with "Lo, the harvest fields are smiling, With their waves of ripened grain." Outside it was the driver's "G__ D___ Bunch of $#@!"  "Lord of mercy bring forth reapers, Hear us, Lord, to you we cry. Send them forth the field to gather, Ere the harvest time pass by!" We God‑fearing folk who never broke the Sabbath couldn't see the humor in the situation.

"I wonder, if our children, now grown, with families of their own, enjoy their Christmases much as we, the children of homesteading pioneers.

"Those Christmas Trees‑ as the gatherings were called, were a visit of fairyland and Paradise combined. A few weeks before Christmas the ball was rolling. Two women with a man driving the team on the sleigh would make the rounds of the community and collect the necessary funds. Some time, somewhere, by someone‑ I later realized‑ sacks of bright red and green mosquito netting would be 'run up' on someone's sewing machine. These sacks would be filled to the top with candies and nuts and always a big orange. That was the only time we children ate an orange, at Christmas.

"Christmas trees and oranges were connected in my childish mind.

"The Christmas Tree was usually in the Rose Hill Church on an afternoon shortly before Christmas.  The shades were drawn and inside the church it would be as dark as night. Of those earlier gatherings 52‑53 years ago, I can recall only the tree. Standing in the northeast corner of the church, tall and green, a symbol of the life everlasting our Savior promises, not the pagan's god and ritual as modern sophisticates say.

"The candles were lit and the tree stood a thing of dazzling beauty! It was trimmed with the gifts, mostly dollies for the little girls here and there on the branch trips, drums and mouth organs for the boys and handkerchiefs for the women. A big barrel of rosy red apples and a basket of snowy white popcorn balls were distributed. Also those gay sacks of candies, etc. for the children. I can't recall Santa Claus visiting nor do I remember the program that preceded the lighting‑ of the tree. But when I was only 3 or 4 the dazzling beauty of the tree filled my little mind.

"I remember the joint Christmas programs given a few times at the church when the Haven No. 1 school and the 'Graham' and 'Nicolson' Rose Hill schools would combine their programs. There would be dialogues, drills, and recitations. There was always a tableau at the end. It would be built around 'Away in the Manger', 'Little Town of Bethlehem' or maybe 'We Three Kings'. Then the powder would be ignited and the eerie red or blue light would dramatize the settings‑ beautiful and impressionable.

"After a program of 'pieces' and songs Santa Claus came bouncing jingling a string of musical sleigh bells with a bulging sack on his back, ruddy and frosty from his long journey. He was shouting 'MERRY CHRISTMAS, EVERYBODY'.

"After the wonderful evening we'd come home in the bob sled filled with clean straw and warm blankets‑ warm from having blanketed the faithful team that waited patiently on our pleasure that evening. We had a star‑filled sky to gaze on and the frosty creak of the sleigh runners, accented occasionally by the soft breathing of the horses as a rhapsody."
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U.S. Mail

A post office called "Ewen" was established at Ewen's farm in 1893 and discontinued in 1895. It was moved to Joseph's Haven farm on October 3, 1895 and its named was changed to "Haven" on June 19, 1896.

Mail would be carried once a week from Carrington to Larrabee Post office. This is where the Spickler ranch is now. The carrier would stop at Ewen post office on his way.

Each of the mail carriers would have his own method of transportation. Mr. Willoughby rode a mule in carrying the mail. One time when Mr. Willoughby got to the Ewen post office there was such a terrible blizzard that he decided that he could go no further. As he and Mr. Ewen started for the barn, they became lost, Mr. Willoughby persuaded Mr. Ewen that they were going the wrong way. They changed their course and finally found the barn.

At one time, when Mr. Thornton was walking from Carrington to Larrabee with the mail, a bad storm came up, and when he did not return home his wife became alarmed and sent one of their sons to look for him. He walked to the Ole Elton farm (about ten miles from Carrington) and asked someone to go to look for his father. Ole and Peter Elton started, they stopped at a shack on the Saxlund farm. There was no one there, either. Since they were then about six miles from home, they decided that Ole should go back home and Peter went on to Larrabee Post office. He found Mr. Thornton there waiting for the weather to get better. Peter and he went back home the next day.

R.F.D. No. 3 was established on September 1, 1911. The first mail carrier was Ed Blake. The first route was twelve miles east on the "south road", then three miles north, then west two miles and south for two miles back to the "north road" then the ten miles to Carrington making a total of thirty‑one miles.

Other mail carriers on this route at various times were: Mrs. Ed (Lottie) Blake, Bert Noble, Theodore Halaas, Scott Snyder, Frank Brown, and George Wiley.

Ivan Sheets became the mail carrier on February 2, 1916 and continued until January 18, 1918, then started again in December 1919 and continued until he retired on June 1, 1958. After Ivan Sheets retired, Glenn Sheets was temporary carrier. John Paulson became the regular carrier in February 1959 and is still serving.

When Ivan Sheets first started, he traveled with horses, using a buggy or a sled as the weather warranted. At times, it was necessary to walk and pull a hand sled.

Before the roads were improved he became stuck many times in the mud and often slipped off the muddy roads, many times into the side ditches which were often filled with water. It was a common experience to become stuck in the snow. In 1917, he began to use an automobile. He recalls that on one trip it was necessary for him to make thirty‑one extra miles in order to deliver the mail.

This route was changed to Route No. 1 in 1942. The route was extended to 56 miles. Later more miles were added making it 64 miles. It is now 77 miles long. To give you some idea of the changes over the years, thirty of the farms which were on Mr. Sheet's first route have since disappeared. At one time, there were eight mailboxes at the Haven Schoolhouse corner. There are now only three there.

Mr. Sheets had many interesting experiences during his term as carrier. He recalls that on one trip he had a run‑away with his horses. He did not find his horses that day, but the next morning a farmer found them in a stubble field with the lines frozen in the snow. The temperature that morning was thirty degrees below zero.

He appreciated the assistance that was given to him by his patrons who helped him many times in delivering the mail.
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Rose Hill Township Land Acquisition

Township 146-65

	Year and Name
	Section 1884

	William F. Miller 
	 6 

	Fred Pergande
	 8

	Charles Ries
	 8

	Henry Boulton
	8

	Duncan McNabb 
	18

	John Logan
	18

	
	

	1885
	

	Wallace Galehouse
	 6

	Perry 0. Chambers
	 6

	Albert D. Cark
	20

	Dan Nieman
	26

	Calvin Barrell
	 30

	Lewis Leechay 
	32

	
	

	1886
	

	Eveline Holcomb
	10

	Sam Nicolson
	20

	Charles E. Warner 
	 32

	
	

	1887
	

	Mary E. Slater
	 4

	William Levin
	 10

	Cyrus T. Chase 
	32

	
	

	1888
	

	R.S. McIntyre 
	 20

	A.M. Campbell
	28

	1889
	

	John C. Ewen
	

	
	

	1890
	

	James R. Rusk 
	 4

	Frank Verbridge
	12

	G.T. Lund
	 14

	Dan Nieman
	 26

	Ole Elton 
	 22

	Lewis McLeichay
	30

	Frank DeBolt
	34

	Herber McCue
	 34

	
	

	1892
	

	Henry Waite
	 2

	Margaret J. Byers 
	 10

	H.S. Ewen
	 14

	Alfred Elder
	 18

	Lewis C. Lischay
	32

	Cass DeBolt
	34

	
	

	1893
	

	William Henderson
	 24

	A.M. Campbell 
	  28

	Joseph Farquer
	 28

	Martin Nieman
	34

	
	

	1899
	

	Albert Trichel
	 12

	Frank DeBolt
	 30

	
	

	1901
	

	Gus Johnson 
	 8

	Kenneth Ferguson 
	 22

	Anna Ferguson 
	26

	
	

	1902
	

	Mack Johnson 
	 4

	
	

	1905
	

	Don Nicolson
	22


Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 383

Rose Hill Township Land Ownership in 1910 and 1980

Township 146-65

	Section
	1910
	1980

	1
	E. McMiller
McLain County Townsite
H.N. Johnson
	David Stedman



	2
	Mary Roaldson
W.H. Sutherland

	David Stedman
Joseph Reiniger 
Edson Lund

	3

	Andrew J. Haines

	Howard Miller
Wallace Miller

	4
	J.H. Kline
Kenneth Ferguson
Hans Peterson
M. Nicolson
	Benedita Reiniger
Mark Reiniger 
Henry Gussiaas 
Agnes Fogarty

	5
	J.H. Kline
T.F. McCue
Margarette McKinzie
	James Straley
Merlin Miller


	6
	W.E. Cummings
M. McKenzie
G.L. Farnham
Wallace Cablehouse
	Joseph Carr
Merlin Miller



	7
	C.H. Davidson
Northern Pacific Railroad Company
Duncan McNabb
	James P. Carr
Betty, Avis, Maryls & Deborah Froelick


	8
	Louise M. Allen
R.H. Coffin
George D. Palmer
	Joseph Carr
Edson Lund 
Bill Zink

	9
	M.L. Shuck
W.K. Burns
John H. Kline
	Justine McCrea
Roger Vande Hoven 
Agnes Fogarty

	10
	M. Nicolson
Mary G. Newberry

	Justine McCrea 
Agnes Fogarty 
Benedicta Reiniger

	11
	W.H. Sutherland
Isaac Harbottle
G.T. Lune
	Ray Grager



	12
	Isaac Harbottle
Nels Elson
Albert Triechel

	Ray Grager 
David Stedman 
Iva & Lynn Langseth 
Dollie Langseth

	13
	Nels Elton
Oscar Elton
Ole Elton
	Iva & Lynn Langseth 
Keith Stedman 
Jack Rosenau

	14
	H.S. Ewen
Ole Elton
G.T. Lund
	Edson Lund 
William Zink 
Annie Reimers

	15
	J.H. Kline
Nellie Derrick
	Christ Vande 
Hoven Leon Galehouse II

	16
	R.H. Coffin
Malcom Nicolson
C.K. Wing
Reinhold Zoller
	William Zink 
Leo Zink 
Dollie, Arthur, Helen Langseth 
Keith Stedman

	17
	C.W. Reichert 
C.F. Bibow
	William Zink


	18
	Duncan McNabb 
P.D.V. Vidder 
Kenneth Ferguson
	Virgil Zink 
Dorothy Quenemoen 
Betty, Avis, Marlys & Deb Froelich

	19
	William Tague
W.W. Sloan
Kenneth Ferguson
John Nicolson
	Clarence Miller 
Virgil Zink 
Wilfred Schroeder


	20
	R.S. McIntyre
Samuel Nicolson
Angus Ferguson
	William Zink
Wilfred Schroeder
Virgil Zink

	21
	Carrington Casey Land Company
Angus Ferguson
Vera Huseradt
	Leo Fornshell
Leo Zink
Peggy Smith

	22
	Don Nicolson
Christ Horton
Ole Elton
	Christ Vande Hoven
Howard & Myron Reimers
Edwin Tollefson

	23
	Fred R. Schlotman
H.S. Ewen
Albert Rosenau
	Howard & Myron Reimers
Wilfred Rosenau


	24
	Ole Elton
Albert Rosenau
Robert Hightower
	Leo Fornshell
Wilfred Rosenau


	25
	D.S. Neiman


	Jack Rosenau
Wilfred Rosenau
Jeff Jensen

	26
	Annie Graham
David Morris
Eliza J. Neiman
	Leo Zink
Gary Rosenau


	27
	Ransom County Immigration Company
	Henry Zink

	28
	Gustav Zink
	Henry Zink

	29
	Ransom County Immigration Company
	Wilfred Schroeder

	30
	John Nicolson
E.A. Roach
W.W. Sloan
P.C. Peterson
	Virgil Zink




	31
	Carrington & Casey Land Company
Ransom County Immigration Company
John Ferguson
	Robert F. Reimers
Harold Zink
John Murphy

	32
	P.C. Peterson
John Ferguson
Martha Morris
	Wilfred Schroeder
George Doeling
Ed & Gene Doeling

	33
	Ransom County Immigration Company

	Ervin Lambrecht
George Doeling

	34
	J.H. Kline
L.C. DeBolt


	Ed & Gene Doeling
Clarence Schroeder
Paul Schroeder
Henry Kanwischer

	35
	Ransom County Immigration Company

	Clarence Schroeder
Paul Schroeder

	36
	School Land
Rudolph Schroeder


	Wilfred Rosenau
Jack Rosenau
Jeff Jensen
Harold Schroeder
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WYARD Township

Wyard Township is bordered on the north by Birtsell, on the south by Longview, east by Carrington and west by Wells County.

The landscape is described as gentle rolling to rolling upland. Drainage is provided by the Pipestem Creek and Scotts Slough on the Northeast corner of section 1.

The survey report was filed by Yankton, D.T. February 27, 1883. The north, south, and west lines were established by Milton Nye in 1882. The east line was surveyed by George Beardsley in July 1874 and the subdivisions by Charles Scott and E.S. Sturtevant in 1882.

Settlers living in the township before the survey were: 

O.J. Foley on Southeast 12

W.H. Edwards on Southeast 10

A.S. Gregory on Northeast 14

and E. Holbrook on Northwest 24.

In 1900 there were only five open quarters in the whole township.

Wyard was reorganized as a civil township on December 18, 1906.

The Carrington airport is located on Northwest quarter of section 24. The Northern Pacific and the Soo Line railroads pass through the township as well as state highways 200 and 52.

Located on a 40 acre plot six miles west of Carrington on Highway 200 is the Wyard Campsite which is open from May 1 to November 1. There is room for 15 trailers and 60 tents. The Wyard Dam on the Pipestem Creek backs impoundment of water within 100 yards of the Campsite. Some lucky fishermen have been able to catch Northern pike and pan fish in this water.

The township hall is located on the Northwest quarter of section 22. Montgomery Angus Ranch may be seen on section 27.

The Carrington Turkey farm, which was first started by the North American Creamery Inc., and managed by Homer Engberg, was located in this township, two miles south of Carrington. As many as 10,000 bronze and white turkeys were raised here. The poults were bought from commercial factories. The bronze turkeys were ready for market as early as August while the white birds that were easier to pick were kept for the holiday season.

The farm was formerly owned by Elmer Lofstedt. It was comprised of three acres. Aside from turkeys, beef cattle and small grains were also raised.

After several years Mr. Engberg purchased the farm and became sole owner and manager.

Indian mounds and many Indians relics have been found in this township. In 1887 a large group of Indians estimated as high as 3000 by early settlers, were encamped on the Pipestem in this township. They passed the pipe of peace about among the different tribes gathered. At this time they gave the name of Pipestem to the small stream that meanders through the township.
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A History of the School and Township Organization

At a meeting of the Board of Commissioners of Foster County held at Carrington on June 10, 1887, a school‑township election was ordered held July 10, 1887 for the organization of township 146‑67. The polling place to be at the house of J. Morley Wyard, in said township. J. Morley Wyard was appointed to make signs and post notices thereof.

Pursuant to the above order, an election was held at the residence of J. Morely Wyard, section 24‑146‑67. The said district was to include the whole congressional township 146‑67.

J. Morley Wyard was elected clerk and P.D. McKenzie was elected judge of the election. The following ten electors voted on this occasion: J. Morley Wyard, W.P. Wyard, F.N. Chaffee, J.H. McDermott, G.W. Wilder, P.D. McKenzie, J.G. Duff, Preston Garland, D.W. Wyard, Charles E. Walton.

The director for the sub‑district elected was J.H. McDermott. For directors at large the following were elected: Charles E. Walton, Frank N. Chaffee and George W. Wilder. P.D. McKenzie was elected treasurer. They voted to name the township Wyard.

The board of Wyard school‑township met in the homes of the members. The first meeting was held at the residence of Charles E. Walton on July 25, 1887, with all board members present.

At this meeting the sub‑district director, J.H. McDermott, was instructed to purchase the necessary books for the district. The clerk was to take a school census, to be reported to the County Superintendent by July 10. The property was to be evaluated and a levy made for school purposes. A two mill levy was levied; which amounted to $71.53. The treasurer was bonded. In the early years the mill levy was from one to five mills.

The district had no schools so some children went to school in Birtsell district and some to Carrington. The township agreed to pay Carrington fifty cents a week for the scholars. In June 1888 tuition to Carrington was $20.45. The cost for books was $11.00.

In May 1890 the board decided to have 3 months of school if a suitable room could be found. In 1895 school was held for three months in the Wilder building on the Northwest 1/4 of Section 8. School was held for several summers. The teachers were paid $30 a month. Later the salary was $35. By June 1892 a schoolhouse had been built and all the equipment was reported in good condition.

In 1895 Anna Tenborg taught summer school.

Others who taught in the early years were Mrs. Ella Ellsworth, Mrs. Rogers, Miss Libbie Walton, Mrs. Barnes, Mrs. Harry Page, Miss Gertrude Nicholson and others.

In 1889 T.M. Page became clerk and served for many years.

In 1902 there were nineteen books in the school library.

The first regular term of nine months was in 1909

1910 in school number 2 and was taught by Mrs. J.T. Sines.

Wyard School district ceased to exist on October 14, 1969 and became a part of the Carrington School District.

Prepared by Pearl Linderman
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Wyard Township Land Ownership in 1910 and 1980

Township 146-67

	Section
	1910
	1980

	1
	Minnie Hall
Ralph Hall
	Ralph Harmon
Marie Harmon

	2
	John O'Hara
Annie C. Edwards
W.B. Brison
	Butts Farming Assn.
J.H. Rusk


	3

	John Guslander
Roy Arninger
W.H. Stone
	Butts Farming Ass.
Henry Vande Hoven


	4
	C.J. Page
O.C. Spear
A.K. Spear
	Robert Montgomery
Dorothy Ibsen


	5
	T.M. & H.A. Page

	Robert Rindy
Roger Rindy

	6
	F.M. Trullinger
	Sol Yarowski

	7
	Jessie A. Ramage

	Lena Johnson
Earl Miller

	8
	Henry Bruening
John Bruening
	Robert Montgomery
Earl Miller

	9
	C.J. Page
Henry Bruening

	James Watson, Jr.
Ardell Montgomery
Robert Montgomery

	10
	P.D. McKenzie
F.N. Chaffee
	Robert Reimers 
James W. Watson, Jr.

	11
	A.O. Hallister
Nary W. Gorney
F.N. Chaffee
	Percy Pepple 
Butts Farming Assn. 
Mary Nierling

	12
	Swan J. Peterson
Simon Grimer
	Butts Farming Assn. 
Russel Sherman

	13
	T.W. Baker



	Magnus Johnson 
Nina Footitt 
First National Bank, Fargo 
Ellebelle Klindworth

	14
	F.N. Chaffee
L.J. Eisenhouth
T.W. Baker
	Marcella Kunkel 
Kenneth Klein


	15
	T.N. Chaffee
R:H. Bean
E.P. Kelley
	Christ Hagel 
Harlow Hagel 
Gary Rosenau

	16
	Patrick Hopkins
Frank Garland
'T.N. Chaffee
	Ardell Montgomery 
Harlow Hagel 
State of North Dakota

	17
	Nels Olson
	Montgomery Angus Farm

	18
	John Hafner
P.P. Franzel
	Frieda Hafner
Franklin Wenstrom

	19
	Jessie A. Runge
Wood Zall Est.
	Camp Wyard
John Klocke

	20
	E.W. Wells
Frank Garland
	Anton Bachmeier
Reinhold Lange

	21
	James Runge
	Gary Rosenau

	22
	Amelia L. Wilder
T.N. Putnam 
F.A. Cousins
	Christ Hagel
Dorothy Bleanger & Mary Reed


	23
	Laura J. Eisenhouth
A.C. Young
	Kenneth Klein
John W. Brandt

	24
	T.W. Baker
R. Rusk 
George Hall
	Carrington Airport
Bohnet Children 
Kenneth Klein

	25
	E.D. Smith
C.W. Hanson 
Garratt Tenborg
	John Brandt
E. Dacatur Mitchell 
Ray Hager

	26
	A.C. Young
Joseph Wallace 
John Buchanan 
Leon & L.E. Galehouse
	Milton Brandt
E. Dacatur Mitchell 
John W. Brandt 
Reinhart Lange

	27
	James S. Ramage
J.W. Laughlin 
Joseph Wallace
	Dale Linderman
Earl V. Butts 
Reinhart Lange

	28
	A.W. Zeigler
William Montgomery 
Preston Garland 
Era Oliphant
	E. Decature Mitchell
LeRoy Butts 
Earl V. Butts


	29
	William Montgomery
Frank Garland
	John B. Hafner
Arnold Leppke

	30
	Ella Brederson
M.P. Nelson 
John Prentice
	Reinhart Lange
Reinhold Lange 
Douglas Skadberg

	31
	Wood Zall est.

	Sam Prentice
Arnold Leppke

	32
	William Montgomery 
Nels W. Nelson
	LeRoy Butts
Arnold Leppke Earl Butts

	33
	Wood Zall Est.
William Montgomery 
B. Kallberg
J.M. Knight Adm. of H. Laughlin
	Esther Aljets
Earl Butts 
George Aljets 
LeRoy Butts

	34
	F. Batesole
Thomas Anderson
	Butts Farming Assn.
LeRoy Butts

	35
	Garrett Tenborg


	Loren Patne
Gary Rosenau 
George Aljets

	36
	J.E. & Leon Galehouse
	Mabel E. Rusk
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Wyard Township Land Acquisition

Township 146-67

	Year and Name
	Section 

	
	

	1883
	

	Francis Button
	 2 

	Walter Morse 
	 4 

	Frank Trubshaw 
	 4 

	Rice English
	

	Charles E. Watson
	 6 

	Anna S. Gregory 
	 14 

	Mary Utley
	22 

	Lizzie A. Sullivan 
	22 

	Charles E. Johnson 
	24

	 John Middleton
	24

	James McDermott 
	26 

	Charles D. Smith 
	26 

	Christian Garland 
	 34

	
	

	1884
	

	Eliza Smith
	 2

	Knute B. Olson
	 8

	William M. Williams
	 8

	Walter Moore
	 10

	Fred C. Stevens 
	 10

	Charles P. Flint
	 12

	Eugene Foley
	 12

	Gardner Farnham 
	 20

	J. Morley Wyard
	 24

	Charles N. Hunt
	 26

	Christ Hendrickson
	 34

	
	

	1885
	

	Eliza Smith. 
	 2

	Anne Edwards
	

	Ozia Burdick
	 12

	Olney Meachen
	 32

	
	

	1886
	

	Anna Gregory 
	 14

	
	

	1887
	

	Luther L. Walton
	 6

	George Hall
	 24

	Heli Harrison Brown 
	 30

	
	

	1888
	

	Joseph Duff
	 14

	George Wilder 
	 22

	John Hutchinson
	 32

	
	

	1889
	

	Frank N. Chaffee
	

	
	

	1890
	

	Frank V. Garland.
	20

	Preston A. Garland 
	 28

	Eva Oliphant
	 28

	Claude Garland
	 28

	Mary Gallup
	 32

	
	

	1891
	

	Charles E. Walton
	

	Joseph McKnechie
	

	
	

	1892
	

	Charles E. Walton
	 6

	Mary Cleveland
	 34

	
	

	1894
	

	Peter McKenzie
	 10

	George Hall
	 22

	Charles Garland 
	 28

	Claude Garland
	 28

	Nels. W. Nilson
	 32

	
	

	1895
	

	Gardner L. Farnham 
	 20

	Ella Bredeson
	 30

	
	

	1896
	

	Charles J. Page
	 4

	Charles C. Phelps 
	 26

	Thomas Anderson
	 34

	
	

	1897
	

	James Wyard
	  18

	John Prentice
	30

	
	

	1899
	

	Ida Vande Bogart
	 20

	
	

	1900
	

	James Wyard
	18
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Historic Sites
Steven's Expedition

A. Steven's Expedition:

This expedition camped here on July 10, 1853 on the end of Lake Juanita. It was the same spot where Nicollet had rested on July 25‑26, 1839. Water and grass was good according to Steven's report but there was no wood. A bad storm washed out their fires. While they were there, Pierre Bottineau, one of the guides, killed a buffalo cow. Stevens was amazed at the "speed and dexterity with which the men cut up the buffalo.
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Fisk Expedition

B. Fisk Expedition:

He visited approximately the same place as Stevens in 1862. Whey ate lunch and grazed the stock by the shores of Lake Juanita.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 391

Sibley Expedition

C. Sibley Expedition

1. Camp Forbes: located on section 33‑146‑63, six miles south of Juanita. Here on July 20, 1863 500 cavalry and 1400 Infantry made camp on their trip across the county. They threw up shallow trenches for protection. It was the custom to make camp early in the afternoon in order to pasture the cattle as well as the hundreds of horses and mules used to haul the supplies and as mounts for the cavalry and officers.

From a diary written by George Brackett, one of the soldiers on the Expedition: (July 20, 1863) "We marched twenty miles through a beautiful country but the lakes were dry and we suffered for water. Late in the day about 125 men from the Red River hunters' camp, an armed band of Chippewa half-breeds, rode in with a man by the name of Wilkie as their leader. They carried the U.S. flag and were accompanied by a priest, named Andre, who acted as interpreter. He had with him a boy ransomed from the Indians, who was captured at Old Crossing above Breckenridge last year, where his parents were murdered. These hunters have their families along with them, and they dry the buffalo meat and make pemmican. Their camp and carts, as well as themselves, are curiosities. They report the Indians twenty or more miles distant and that they will fight for Little Crow and his band."
Dana Wright told the story about the first death in the county which occurred while Sibley and his men were in the area. "One of the soldiers, George E. Brent, went to visit the camp of the Chippewa Indians, enemies of the Sioux, who had a camp three miles west‑ on the west side of the James River. "When the Indians returned to their camp that evening, several of the soldiers went back with them. Evidently there was liquor for one soldier in dismounting from his horse on his return to the soldier camp, caught his riding spur in his carbine and discharged it, the ball passing through his body.

He started back to Camp Atchinson, near Lake Jessie, the permanent camp for Sibley's men, but he died before they had gone but a short distance, dying within the territory that is now Foster County. He was buried near Jessie. "
When they broke up camp the next morning they stopped at the hunters' camp where the soldiers had an opportunity to trade for moccasins, dried meat, and buckskin garments before they proceeded on their journey.

The Camp was named for Captain William H. Forbes. It was the custom of General Sibley to name each camp along the trail for officers in the expedition.

2. Camp Olin: Established July 21, 1863 on Section 33‑145‑64. It is located a mile below where the Kelly Creek comes into the James River. They crossed Kelly Creek on a pontoon bridge‑ not because the water was too deep but the banks were high and by using pontoons the expedition was able to cross in an hour. As bear as can be determined, they made camp about on the spot where the Soo Railroad now crosses the James River just north of Arrowwood Lake‑ but there is no evidence remaining today.

There was no wood available in the area for cooking so they had to use buffalo chips for fuel. Grazing for the stock was good and there was some water. It is recorded that some of the men were uneasy at being camped in a valley surrounded by bluffs that would have made an enemy's approach easy. However, they were not disturbed.

This camp was named for Rolin C. Olin, who was assistant adjutant general on the staff of General Sibley. He was only 22 years of age when he was appointed 2nd Lt. in Company B of the 3rd Minnesota Infantry. He served with his regiment in the Civil War in Tennessee. His regiment was captured by the Confederates on July 19, 1862. The men were paroled and sent back to Minnesota where they were formally exchanged and released. He was promoted to Captain, May 11, 1863, and served on General Sibley's staff through operations to the Missouri that year. He was a very young man to hold the position that he did, but he showed considerable ability.

3. Camp Kimball‑ July 22, 1863 is located at the fork of the Pipestem on Section 16, Longview township. Trenches were thrown up and shallow holes dug to prepare for an attack by Indians. Pickets were posted every night.

From Mr. Brackett's diary:

"We crossed the James River and its branch now known as the Pipestem. Very little water in either stream. Mail today with St. Paul papers to July 11, but there was no word of the great victories won at Gettysburg and Vicksburg some days before."
While at Camp Kimball the Indian scout with Sibley got extremely nervous, sensing the nearness of the Sioux although the Indians had not seen any of the Sioux warriors. It turned out that the Sioux were camped just south of Pettibone.

(Dana Wright)

It was while they were at this camp that some wagons were sent to the Hawksnest for wood for cooking purposes. The cooks did not like using the buffalo chips if at all possible. The teamsters were badly deceived as to the distance and found it nearer five miles than two which they had estimated it to be. There is in Carrington an old cavalry saber which was found a short distance north of this camp site and which was probably lost by one of these cavalry men.'
(Independent, April 2;1925)

John G. Grems of Maryville, Mo. who was a member of the Sibley expedition met F.M. Trullinger of Carrington at a Masonic Lodge meeting. When he found out Mr. Trullinger was from North Dakota they began talking about his experiences while with Sibley. Mr. Trullinger told him about the sword that was dug up on the Kallberg land by John Imler, who was breaking up the land, in 1902. Mr. Grems believed that the sword once belonged to Lt. Beaver.

The true story of the sword has never been known but it laid on the prairie probably 40 or more years and it was over a year after it was found before soaking in kerosene permitted removing the sword from the scabbard. Mr. Trullinger had described the sword as best he could and the old veteran of the expedition felt confident that it was the extra fine sword that had been carried by Lieut. Beaver. (The sword is now in the museum of the Masonic temple at Fargo.) Beaver was ambushed near Apple Creek by the Indians and riddled with arrows. His fine horse was also killed.

Captain William H. Kimball, whose name was used on the camp was assistant quartermaster for Sibley. He had charge of the pontoon train, which was equipped to lay temporary bridges over streams. They had little to do that dry summer. Little is known of the officer's personal history.

That camp now has a marker stating that it is a Historic Site.

Sibley's Return Trip

1. Camp Hall: August 7, 1863‑ Section 24‑145‑66 Melville township near McClain's Lake where the army had stopped earlier to water the animals. Decayed tent pegs and other equipment was found in the area by Dr. McLain, who homesteaded the land.

Brackett's Diary:

"Marched sixteen miles through fine country covered with curled buffalo grass. Sergeant Tuttle shot but not killed by a cavalry picket who suddenly wakened, fired into camp thinking he was firing at an Indian outside."
Camp Hall was named for Thomas G. Hall from Minnesota. He was appointed Captain of Company E., Minnesota 7th Infantry on September 24, 1862. He commanded that organization on the march to the Missouri. He served in the south in the remainder of the Civil War. He left the service on March 30, 1865.

2. Camp Carter: August 8, 1863‑ spot where Kelly Creek joins the Jim River. They stayed here for two days. It is located on Section 2‑145‑64. Rifle pits were found by Mr. Frownfelter, who homesteaded the land. The Chippewas were still in Camp there.

Brackett's Diary:

"Marched to the James River. Fell in with the Red River hunters again. They had secured large amounts of buffalo meat and hides, and had a herd partially guarded to be killed when their present stock of meat and hides were cured. Crossed both branches of the James River. Captured three warriors and twelve squaws and children, going West. They were Minnesota River Indians. One of them was tried and acquitted last fall. They were taken along as prisoners."
"A cold, uncomfortable day. We are only three miles from a large camp of the Red River hunters. This is a fine county for settlers, lacking only wood."
This camp was named for Captain Theo. G. Carter who entered the service as a 1st Lt. with Company K of the 7th Minnesota Infantry on September 2, 1862; promoted to Captain, February 24, 1863 and discharged August 16, 1864.

Brothers on Sibley Expedition

John, Hans, Kristian, Peter and Nels Peterson, five brothers who came from Norway in 1856 settled near Willmar, Minnesota in 1859. They answered Lincoln's call for volunteers by enlisting as privates in Troop D., 1st Minnesota Cavalry, with Sibley who was sent to Dakota.

The brothers in pursuit of the Indians passed through what is now Foster County both in the pursuit and the return to Camp Jessie. August 1, 1863 Sibley broke camp for home. Hence all soldiers had to be moved. Kristian Peterson was sick that morning. The day's march was short. Yet, too much for the sick man.

The common burial of a soldier was a blanket and shallow grave. The Peterson brothers constructed a rude casket from an old wagon box, wrapped the body in a buffalo robe, dug a deep grave, and had a religious rite for the dead brother. The grave was marked with stones. Years later the grave was discovered and a fitting memorial service was held under the auspices of the Cooperstown and Hannaford post of the American Legion in 1929. There are now ancestors of the John Peterson family living in Foster county.
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Fort Sewart - Fort Totten Trail 
D. Fort Sewart‑ Fort Totten Trail
1. Fourteen Mile Lake‑ located on the south edge of section 26. It was named this because it was fourteen miles from this spot to Belland Lake. (Juanita Lake)

2. Eleven Mile Lake‑ southwest corner of Section 14. The trail passed on the east side of the lake or pond.

3. Bowman's Ford‑ on James River, Northwest section 11. Here the trail crossed River on a stony ripple.

4. Lohnes‑ Bowman Dugout‑ north edge of 1‑14664‑ about 500 feet west of main Totten Trail. Ed Lohnes was a mail carrier on the Trail. He arrived at Fort Totten in 1867 when the first soldiers were stationed there. He helped build the original log fort on Devils Lake and after discharge from the army, obtained employment as a mail carrier, first on the Abercrombie line then on the Fort Seward line.

At first Lohnes stopped at the Larrabee station but there was a difference of opinion about services so Lohnes moved down the James River a mile or two and established his own camp or systems of barns, dugouts, and other shelters. This was located on the old William Bowman farm on the East bank. It is quite possible that Bowman took over the Lohnes location when the latter gave up his travels on the trail. Bowman died about 1884 and the family left soon after.

5. Larrabee Station‑ The only shelter for years on the trail on Section 25‑147‑64. It was half way station between Seward and Totten and many prominent people took shelter under his roof. Larrabee arrived in 1876. He bought the "improvements" from Joe Hayes and set up his station.

At first it was strictly mail arrangement but soon both mail and passengers were carried. Most of the time a round trip was made three times a week. A spring wagon or buckboard when traffic was light, otherwise by stage, in winter a dog train was used.

Larrabee Station was a regular stopping place for soldiers that were traveling from one fort to the other. Berkley Larrabee as a small child, recalled sitting on General Sherman's knee.

6. Belland's Dugout‑ 1866 was the original rest stop on the Trail. It is located on the Southwest corner of 18147‑63, two miles east of Grace City. It is situated near the mouth of Belland Creek and facing east onto Juanita Lake. Belland's record is obscure. He seems to have been a mixed‑blood person from Devils Lake. Whether he was located there as a hunter‑trapper before the trail, or settled on the lake to accommodate travelers is unknown. Nor is it known when he left.

Following Belland was a man called "Slothful" Joe Hayes who occupied the dugout until 1876 when Larrabee came on the scene.

7. Historic marker for Trail‑ located one mile north and 1-1/2 miles east of Grace City.

Reads:

Foster County Historic Site

Fort Totten Trail

Looking North can be seen the ruts of the first highway to pass through Foster County. Established in 1872 and used through the 1880s. This road was used to haul freight, passengers, and mail between Jamestown and Fort Totten.

A story written by C.H. Foster, an editor of the Jamestown Alert:

"Having an opportunity to ride to Fort Totten in an ambulance sleigh that brought the paymaster down from the Fort where he had just paid the soldiers at the post, we concluded to make our intended visit to that place, leaving here March 13.

"To say that the trip was cold and blustering would be doing the question our poor justice, a four or five degrees below zero and a Dakota zephyr blowing deserves a superlative degree of comparison; but we met the storm securely fortified in a canvas covered four horse sleigh, warmed by a well fed camp stove, and well bundled in furs, and sitting on the lee side of our portly friend, T.S. Harris of this place, we stood the battle well, but must confess that the wintry blast was hard on the driver and team.

"Leaving Jamestown we passed out upon the prairie, away from the signs of civilization, with the undulating, treeless plain stretching away as far as an eye could reach and heading toward the North Star, pushed on for the Fort, which is 84 miles from here.

"Twenty‑two miles out we were going to stop at Jack Clayton's dirt ranch, but its owner having severely frosted himself on the last New Year's Day, and being in the hospital at the post, and there being no wood to cook or warm with, no grub cooked and but little to cook and there being an excessively good prospect for a cold sit up all night if we stayed, the crowd of us very unanimously agreed to pull for Larrabee's ranch near Lake Belland, 26 miles further on, at which we arrived before dark.

"Mr. Larrabee and wife are comfortably located half way between here and the fort, having a good farm home, all plastered, with shingled roof and all the fixings except a mortgage, as well as a comfortable log house (the old ranch) and very good stabling for stock, are well prepared to accommodate those who travel over the road, and they do it in good style. Doubting Davies are requested to interview the traveling quill driver of the Jamestown Alert or Judge T.B.H., the gentlemanly station agent at this place who was one of the party.

"Mr. and Mrs. Larrabee have a growing family of fine children, who were petted somewhat by the passengers. The judge and a soldier belonging to the Fort, each have a little girl on their knee playing horse. Says the Equestrienne on the judge's knee to the other, "My horse has got the best harness". This to the other little lass, was a comparison most odious; to which she rejoined, "Yes, but your horse has to have blinders on", referring to the judge's glasses, you know.

"Mr. Larrabee has to haul his wood from Lake Doe, 14 miles to the north."
An Old Ox Cart and Stage Line used the same trail. This line was established in 1871 but not surveyed before 1881.
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Wells Fargo Express

E. Wells Fargo Express: 

 (by E.L. Horton)

The Wells Fargo and Company Express was incorporated in 1852. William Frederick Hamden said to his friend, James W. Hale, "I want to make a mark in the world." Mr. Hale replied, "Why don't you run errands between New York and Boston?" Carrying small pieces of valuable freight that people don't like to entrust to unknown agents."
Equipped with a modest carpet bag, he approached bankers, brokers, business men and volunteered to carry valuable letters, greenbacks, jewelry, heirlooms, and etc. It was from this humble beginning that the great Wells Fargo Company emerged.

There was an urgent need of such service for the great Railway Express today has over 50,000 employees instead of a single messenger as the Hamden's express began. (1930s)

The Wells Fargo Company Express Line between Fort Seward and Fort Totten crossed Foster county north and southwest of the James River almost paralleling the Old Stage Coach Trail, leaving Jamestown west of the Jim River and east of Pipestem passing about two miles east of Buchanan, two miles east of New Port (Melville) seven miles east of Carrington and passing into Eddy county.
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Continental Divide

F. Continental Divide:

Located on the northeast edge of Lake Juanita is an old water course that is connected with Stony Lake on Section 15‑147‑63. It is an unnoticed continental divide where the waters of the Arctic drainage pass into the Upper Bald Hill Creek while the Juanita water goes south into the James and the Gulf of Mexico.
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Signal Hill

G. Signal Hill:

A high peak of the James River bluffs one‑half mile north of State Highway 200 on Southeast 1/4‑16‑146‑64. It is from this point the Indian smoke signals were sent up. The U.S. Geological Survey erected and operated a signal tower at this point in the fall of 1934. The tower is still standing. The land is owned by Sigvart Holland, Juanita, North Dakota
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Melby Hill

H. Melby Hill:

A bold promontory one and one‑half mile south and two miles west from Grace City on Northeast 1/4 Section 29‑147‑64. On top of this hill are three well worn rings or circles. One large and two small. The drawing indicated the shape and dimensions. Evidently an old Indian pow‑wow ground. Possibly, Indian Spirit dance ground. Ed Halaas, Carrington was possibly the first white man to view this hill. In 1884, while gathering buffalo bones went over this hill. The U.S.

Geological survey in 1934 erected a signal tower on this hill.

The unknown people who toiled on Melby's Hill erected two memorials. One, a mound forty feet in diameter. The other an embankment four feet high and one hundred feet long extending to the northwest. It was here that the Sioux Indians burned various Council fires during the last half of the seventeenth and the first half of the eighteenth centuries between the Yankton and Yanktonai Sioux who lived along the upper course of the James River in the early historic period, and the Sioux nations of the western Great Lakes region, when attacks were being planned against the Mandan, Hidatsas, Cheyenne, Arikara and the Chippewa nations. It was in the middle of the seventeenth century that the white man brought firearms to the Chippewa, the traditional enemy of the Sioux. Thus the Chippewa were able to hold the forest while the Sioux were forced to take to the prairie which they held as far west as the Missouri and White rivers.

Flint arrowheads, scrapers and broken fragments have been found in a number of places in the county. Yet, no local flint quarries are known. Many of the arrowheads, well shaped and polished are from the western quarries. Some are very crude, evidently brought in by Indians from the North. (Hartosa)

Other names for Melby Hill are "Brogus Haugen", or "Miller's Point". It rises about 100 feet above the surrounding prairie. (Hortan's report)
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Indian Campsite‑Leo Gauderman pasture

I. Indian Campsite‑Leo Gauderman pasture:

On the east side of the Lake Juanita are where large numbers of Indians camped for many years. Quite a few relics have been found here through the years but only these tepee rings are left of many that have been here. These rings of stones were used to hold down the edge of wigwams.

A general camp ground evidently was maintained at Lake Juanita, possibly for centuries, but the findings do not warrant that an ancient village site ever existed at that point. Pieces of flint, crushed bone tipi rings are quite numerous. The boulder‑ring effigies are undisturbed. More than likely they were buried by soil erosion hundreds of years ago. During the late dust storms they have been unearthed to the present generation. This particular field has been under cultivation for possibly 40 years. The owners did now know of the boulder‑rings until in the 1930s. The dust storms removed the soil to a depth of from a few inches to two or more feet in places.
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Indian campsite‑ Hoffman's pasture

J. Indian campsite‑ Hoffman's pasture

Here in Hoffman's pasture can be seen three teepee rings. This must have been a good camping area for the Indians.
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John Aarestad Museum‑ located in McHenry

K. John Aarestad Museum‑ located in McHenry:

A large and most interesting museum in the county. Many collections have been gathered from Indian relics to a steam engine.
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Foster County Museum‑ Historical Society

L. Foster County Museum‑ Historical Society:

Located in Carrington near the Fair grounds is the Foster County Museum. It houses many articles that have been collected throughout the county.
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Indian Trail from Fort Totten to Standing Rock Reservation

M. Indian Trail from Fort Totten to Standing Rock Reservation

This trail followed the line between Foster and Wells counties. Long lines of Indians with their carts, horses, children, end dogs would be seen passing by.

Every year the Indians traveled between Standing Rock reservation and Fort Totten. Their travel was as near a bee line as possible especially southwest of Hawksnest. The trail came right over the Hawksnest Hills out of the southwest, and then circled over to a line which is about the Wells‑Foster counties border now. Then they continued almost due north, angling a little east to reach Fort Totten. They forded the streams they encountered on the trail with little difficulty. On these annual treks of the Indians, in the early years traveled by travois and later by wagon they used to carry tainted meats, green and untanned skins and dried roots making a stench that prompted one to know that his five senses were active and in perfect working order. (school report of Peggy Zink)
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Ox Cart and Stage Line

The old Ox cart and Stage line used the same trail from Ft. Totten to Fort Seward. This line was established 1871 but not surveyed before 1881. The Government mail which had previously been carried over the East route was now transferred to the shorter stage line which passed through Eddy county from north to south.

Beginning where it passes from Foster County and proceeding to the north: Sections 31 of township 148‑63

Sections 36, 25, 35, 26, 23, 14, 12, 1 of township 148‑64

Sections 32, 29, 20, 19, 18, 7, 6, of township 149‑64 and Sections 36, 35, 34, 27, 15, 10, 3 of township 150-64.
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Signal Hill

Signal Hill, a high peak of the James River bluffs one‑half mile north of State highway No. 7 on Southeast 1/4 i6‑146‑64. It is from this point the Indian smoke signals were sent up. The U.S. Geological Survey erected and operated a signal tower at this point in the fall of 1934. The tower is still standing. The land is owned by Sigvart Holland, Juanita, North Dakota.
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Melby Hill

Melby Hill, a bold promontory one and one half mile south and two west from Grace City Northeast 1/4 Section 29‑147‑64. On top of this hill are three well worn rings or circles. One large and two small. Drawing to left indicates shape dimensions. Evidently an old Indian pow‑wow ground. Possibly, Indian Spirit dance ground. Ed Halaas, Carrington, was possibly the first white man to view this hill. In 1884, while gathering buffalo bones went over this hill. The U.S. Geological survey in 1934 erected a signal tower on this hill. Same was put into use at once, then removed.
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Bowman's Ford

Bowman's Ford, one and one‑half miles north of State Highway No. 200, Section 11‑146‑64. This is the point where the mail route from Carrington to Larrabee crossed the James River. Much freighting was done over this route. Win. Bowman farmed and ran a road house station, providing meals, feed and lodging.
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Indian Ceremony Ground at Grace City Investigated

Dana Wright, well known historian, describes work of Mound Builders there. Burial mound, huge stone ring are found. Relics of Past ages found on top of Melby Hill near Lake Juanita.

The remains of what was evidently an old Indian ceremonial ground, on Melby Hill southwest of Grace City was the subject of a feature article published in the Sunday Forgo Forum by Dana Wright of St. John, North Dakota.

An Indian mound about 40 feet in diameter, connected with a broad, low embankment that runs about 100 feet to the northwest; and a large stone circle adjoining it were discovered there

 These are shown in Mr. Wright's map. The insert at the upper right corner of the map shows a rock with a crude picture carved on its side. Mr. Wright found the rock west of Lake Juanita.

A Tribal Monument?

Mr. Wright is a member of the parks committee of the North Dakota Historical Society and for years has been active in research into the state's early history.

He had not tried to explain the meaning of the Grace City mound. It must have required a great deal of toil to build it, with little engineering knowledge and only the crudest implements, he says.

The mound builders may have commemorated some great tribal victory with services on the elaborate shrine. The stone circle, with its break for an entrance, admitted attendants at some sacred ritual performed on the mound. Perhaps the work was a tribute to the great hero, an unknown soldier of the dim past.

Traces of First Whites

Mr. Wright believes that not only the remains of Indians or early mound builders are available, but also evidence of early white travelers and explorers. He mentioned the first railroad survey, headed by Governor Stevens, passing through the territory in 1853

Captain Fisk and his Montana gold seekers following a similar train in 1862 and 1863

Joe Belland, the trapper who built a cabin on the west shore of Lake Juanita in 1866 where later he was succeeded by Larrabee, who kept a road house or stage station at the lower end of the lake.

Hill 100 feet High

Melby Hill, the hill examined by Mr. Wright, is described as a conspicuous butte whose highest point is about 100 feet above the prairie. To the north and east it‑'slopes gently toward the valley of the James River, a mile or two away.

"The people who toiled on Melby Hill, " Mr. Wright said, "constructed two types of lasting memorials. The most conspicuous is an earthwork on the highest point of the hill. It consists of a mound about 40 feet in diameter at the base and three or four feet high running away to the northwest is a broad low embankment nearly 100 feet in length. On the mound and the embankment are loose stones, which have probably been displaced from their original positions by careless people who have a curiosity to 'dig up an Indian' and mutilate signs and remains that might be significant to an archaeologist. Several holes have been dug in the ground and vicinity and human bones removed.

Settler with Age

"The earth in the mound has settled with the ages till it is hard as the prairie about it. It is grass grown and solid, and of great age; nearby are a number of old unidentified depressions, resembling graves.

"Connected to the earth mound is a curious arrangement of stones so located that from the air it might look like a bubble on a clay pipe. The 'bubble' is about 150 feet in diameter and consists of a circle of stones set in the ground, similar to the smaller rings on the prairie which are commonly called 'tipi rings.'
Stones are Sunken

The stones which form the 'bubble' are of various sizes but all small enough so they could be readily handled. They vary from 10 to 100 pounds in weight and have sunk deep into the ground from the work of ants below and dust settling above. Some of the stones are almost below the surface of the prairie. They are slightly out of line so do not form a perfect circle but they are within a foot or two of each other and can be readily traced from the starting point at the mound and back to the point of beginning.

Curious Break

There is a curious break at the southeast part of the 'bubble'. The break of about six feet would form an entrance, for two parallel lines of stones start away from the big circle or bubble. They do not extend far but the lines can be recognized by the most casual observer. The whole 'bubble' lies on a gentle slope to the south and is well preserved in the sod of the prairie and has been little disturbed.

Curious people dug into what may have been burials or graves inside the line of stones, but many depressions are still there awaiting careful study.

Many Remains Untouched

"Fortunately for the student of North Dakota history, many of these old remains are located on high hills, and on rough ground not easily cultivated and many an interesting remains may still be identified and preserved. On a rough chain of hills just west of Lake Belland (Juanita) a crude picture has been found carved on a prairie boulder, probably there are other such monuments unnoticed and unidentified on our prairies."
First to call attention of the state historical society to the remains in Foster county was Mrs. Adeline Potter, Grace City. She assisted Mr. Wright in the survey.

Similar Remains Common

Similar remains may be found in several other sections of the state. Mr. Wright said. "Melby hill is near a point in the river where a series of broad shallow pools, devoid of timber, was enough to attract the primitive people. To the east at Red Willow Lake, and along the timbered reaches of the Sheyenne, numerous mounds and other earthworks may be found. They are common about Stump and Devils Lake and about Hawks Nest, but are rare at points far from timber.

"The North Dakota historical society is attempting to co‑operate in identifying the remains. Any community close to historical sites may place the title in the state and receive its protection and limited financial support. A local committee in each case, may render valuable service to the state by caring for those interesting sites linking the 20th century with the past.
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World Wars

World War I Facts 

(Independent April 7, 1976) 

Hugh Putnam

Just 59 years ago yesterday president Wilson declared war on Germany and her allies. I think it fitting and proper that the young man whose number 258 was first drawn in Foster County should be called upon to give us the history of that era. That young man happens to be Hugh R. Putnam.

As a veteran of World War II have been asked to prepare this article on the great conflict and the part Foster county played in its successful conclusion in 1918.

In 1917 the European war had been going on three years. America was a neutral nation but was shipping vast quantities of material to the allied countries‑ England and France. Germany under the leadership of Kaiser William ordered unrestricted warfare by their submarines against all shipping and was destroying America's trade. War with Germany and her allies was inevitable. When a submarine sank the SS Lusitania which was loaded with American tourists bound for England it was the crowning act of piracy that aroused the nation and president Wilson declared war on Germany and her allies on April 6, 1917.

Hysteria was rampant in the nation and Foster county was no exception. Men from every part of the county were enlisting. Edna Thurston was appointed recruiting officer and the Independent says. "She wore a natty blue uniform and a white hat."
Some of the early volunteers were Fred Sutherland, Monroe Shenkel, Jacob Wagner, Charles Barrett, Ralph Horney, Rollin Goss and Lois Lemert. War gardens were being planted by town and country families alike and Harold McCue and John Buchanan were putting in 10 acres of beans.

Congress ordered a draft of all men 20‑30 years of age and they were to register June 5th. When that day arrived every young man went to his polling place and registered. Carrington played host to all registrants with a parade, speeches and dedication of the new 100 foot flag pole and the raising of a huge 14 by 18 foot flag which had been brought by the school children. Over 700 men registered that day.

The same day of registration a Red Cross chapter was organized and soon after there was a chapter in every community in Foster County. Rain late that day dampened the fireworks display for the evening, but the dance was well attended.

As I recall that day an incident stands out in my mind very clearly. When the flag was raised and the band played the national anthem people sat around on the grass or walked around talking to friends, children ran to and fro making considerable noise. Then Mr. Fred Bier Sr. a foreign born, but

naturalized citizen rushed to the bandstand and called for quiet. He looked at them for a minute and then gave them a stirring lecture on patriotism and the proper respect for the flag.

He reminded them of the many blessings and the freedoms that the flag represented. You don't sit around on the ground talking to your neighbor when the flag goes by or the national anthem is played. You stand up at attention and salute.

A second regiment of the North Dakota National Guard was being recruited in the state and Carrington was asked to organize Company F. The 65 men needed to qualify quickly enlisted and officers elected. Edward Kelleran, Captain, Gordon Turner, 1st Lt., John Knoen, 2nd. Lt. The line officers were appointed by Gov. Lynn J. Frazer and were Maj. Frank White, former Governor of North Dakota as colonel Dr. R.J. McKenzie as 1st Lt. of the hospital corps. All other line officers were veterans of the Philippine War. Mobilization was to be about September 15th.

By the middle of June 1917 the first of some two million men had reached France under the command of General John J. Pershing. They were marines and regular army troops and were filtered into the trenches with French or English troops in quiet zones for training.

July 19‑20 were exciting days in the country for the results of the draft were received. Every draftee had a number and that number had been put in a capsule and a man, blindfolded had drawn out the numbers in Washington, D.C. The first number drawn was 258. That number drafted a man in every county in the U.S. Here in Foster county that number belonged to Hugh R. Putnam, who had the distinction of being the first man drafted in Foster County. Number 2 was for Arthur K. Olson of Glenfield.

Draft boards had been set up and quotas assigned to each county, but enlistments were usually more than the monthly quota. Soon after receiving my draft status I enlisted in Company F. The company was quartered in ‑the basement of the court house and drilled in the adjacent area.

In September the company was mustered into federal service. Dances, dinners and parties were held for the soldiers and on October 1st with bands playing, flags waving, wild cheering and with many tears the troops entrained for Camp Greene, North Carolina.

On arrival in camp the entire Second North Dakota regiment was broken up and the various companies designated as ambulance, engineer or hospital corps. Company F became the 16th Field Hospital, 116th Sanitary Train, 41st division. Medical officers were assigned to the company and our training took on a different type of work. Our time was spent in classes on first aid.

On October 25th we moved from Camp Greene to Camp Mills at Hempstead, Long Island, New York. We were quartered in tents and with winter coming on, we were not very comfortable although each tent had a Sibly stove that burned wood. Our main past time for those cold days was lying on our cots watching for holes in our tent. Sparks from our wood fire would fall on the canvas and set the tent on fire. You had to be fast to crawl up the corner of the tent and put the fire out before it got a good start.

By December 15th we were ready to go overseas. Some 5000 troops boarded the SS Covington and we set sail for France arriving at Brest December 30th. The night of December 31st, we entrained for LaCourtine in French box cars. The cars were about 20 foot long and had four wheels and 40 men were in each car. It was a two days and nights trip.

After a short stay at LaCourtine we moved north to Gondecourt and our first assignment. We took over a 150 bed hospital. For a month prior to this we had sent details each week to work in the wards. As Sergeant in charge of the detail I was not assigned to any hospital work. As a result I went to the Dispensary and worked with the pharmacist. He showed me how to mix ingredients and liquid medicines. There was no such thing as pills for every ailment. After a month of this work the 1st. Division hospital corps moved out and we took over. As the work assignments were posted I found that I had been ordered to run the dispensary. I told my son, Robert, that it took him 4 years to become a pharmacist and I did it in 30 days. That didn't go over too good.

I would like to say this about Company F. It was made up of 80 men picked up off the streets and farms and all with a limited education‑ high school or less; yet in the 8 months we tended the sick and wounded there was no incident when a man was derelict in his duties to a patient.

July 1st we were relieved of hospital duties and ordered to field duty at Chateau Thierry.

It was the first major conflict that American Troops participated in and helped turn the tide of battle.

During this time the home front was doing its duty in the war effort. All Red Cross units were busy making bandages. Liberty Loan sales were exceeding the quotas. One incident at home marred Carrington's patriotic image. Mr. O.F. Elliot, a painter, was arrested for making unpatriotic remarks about the government.

From the time of our arrival in Chateau Thierry we were on the move every week or 10 days following the battle fronts. We went back across France to the Nance Bulge battle then followed through the Argonne battle to the signing of the Armistice. Following the Armistice we were ordered to follow the troops through Luxemberg and into Germany. We crossed the Rhine River at Coblentz on December 15 and settled down for occupational duty in German barracks until March 1919 when we were

ordered home via Marseilles, France. We arrived in New York aboard the SS Sophia in May and were discharged at Des Moines, Iowa on June 19, 1919. After nearly two years of active service we received a royal welcome home.
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World War II

Company F called into action February 10, 1941. They went to Guadalcanal, Solomon Islands and other Pacific conflicts. Sent off from the station with a crowd of 1500, school band and rest of students dismissed for that reason.

Victory gardens, Red Cross, women rolled bandages, knitted socks and sweaters.

Commodity rationing, gasoline, speed limit 35 m.p.h., tires, sugar, butter, meat, coffee and shoes. Unavailable‑ appliances, cars, radios, nylons, rubber articles, tin foil.

Recycling: string, tooth paste tubes, tin foil, newspapers, paper of all sorts, grease and fats.

Drives held for scrap iron, phonograph records, old tires, milkweed pods.

Women took jobs in defense plants, shocked grain and other farm jobs, telegraph operators for radio.

Harry Hayashi, Japanese born. In 1941 after Pearl Harbor, his business was seized by the federal government and his bank accounts temporarily confiscated. Despite testimony to his loyalty he was sent to internment camp in the western U.S. for the duration of the war. Though his business was returned they had declined and never returned fully to their former success.

War ended 1945‑ 18 men from Foster County lost their lives.
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Rural School Days

Education

(This is taken from an article in complaint of the Educational System in 1903. It closed with this poem from a Newark, New Jersey, newspaper.)

"They taught him how to hemstitch and they taught him how to sing 
And how to make a basket out of variegated string 
How to fold paper so he wouldn't hurt his thumb. 
They taught a lot to Bertie but he couldn't do a sum 
They taught him how to mold the head of Hercules in clay, 
And how to tell the difference 'twixt the bluebird and the jay, 
And how to sketch a horsie in a little picture frame. 
But strangely they forgot to teach him to spell his name. 
Now Bertie's Pa is cranky and went one day to find 
What was it they did that made his son backward in his mind. 
"I don't want Bertie wrecked, " he said, his temper far from cool, 
"I want an educated boy!"  so he took him out of school."
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Rural School Days  1914‑1921

A Personal Reminiscence 

by Ross Bloomquist

This story of my days in a one‑room rural school in Birtsell Township, Foster County, North Dakota, has come almost exclusively from recollections of those days. I have not consulted others or the existing official records except to confirm my memories; I have, however, used the few mementos in my possession which have survived. As the writing proceeded one recollection brought on another and the final draft has turned out to be much longer than I had anticipated. I am sure I have omitted many interesting and diverting anecdotes. My intent has been rather to describe the milieu in which I received my elementary school education. The period included World War I; it cannot be considered pioneer days in any sense of the word. The activities of the farming community had already settled down to a pattern which remained virtually unchanged during my seven years in the school. The school had been in existence for at least 20 years when I started in 1914. There was a succession of teachers, no one stayed more than two terms, but the environs and methods of instruction varied only slightly over the years.

Changes nevertheless, were in the air. At least half a dozen of the farms of the community changed ownership or occupancy during the period and the methods of farming were in transition. Tractors were beginning to displace horses and automobiles on improved roads were enlarging the community.

Radio soon came to widen the horizons even more. The Depression of the 1930s slowed down the changes, World War II accelerated them and the 1950s the rural school was a dying institution. It is my hope that I can recreate at least partially the educational aspects of these days of more than fifty years ago.

Once I started going to school I liked it. In my preschool days I was of a different opinion. I stated quite emphatically that I would Never go any farther than the telephone pole at the corner of the front yard. Nevertheless, even at that early age I had learned my letters from the inscriptions on the nickel‑plated base burner in the living room and the combination wood‑coal range in the kitchen. Neither alphabet was complete. Just below the isinglass windows of the base burner a shiny ledge spelled out "PENINSULAR." The range had an oval medallion on the oven door which proclaimed the stove's name "KALAMAZOO." There was a fascination in the letters but they had no message to convey to me.

In the spring of 1914 I was a few months over six and really anxious to begin school. On my first day, late in April, Mother escorted me the quarter of a mile to the schoolhouse just before one o'clock. She talked briefly with Miss Wightman, the teacher, who assigned me a small desk at the rear of the file and near the door. I cannot really remember what happened that afternoon. Mother brought me again the next day but on the third I was impatient and walked by myself on a dreary damp day to arrive during the morning recess. The next day I was ready and waiting and joined the Carlson girls, Edna and Verna, as they passed by our house on their way to school. I had committed myself wholeheartedly to the process of being educated.

I have many memories; most of them pleasant, of the seven years I spent in School No. 3, Birtsell School District No. 20. I progressed normally except that I missed either the second or third grade. I passed the eighth grade examinations in the spring of 1921 and started high school in Carrington the following fall. My descriptions of the schoolhouse, its environs, the children and teachers, the school administration and methods of instruction, the games we played and the programs and events which were a part of our activities are as I recall them. They were, I think, typical of the one‑room rural schools of the day, although I believe that we had a somewhat richer but no more progressive environment than some.

Birtsell School District No. 3 did not take in all of the six mile square Birtsell Township. Several sections surrounding the settlement at Barlow in Birtsell and Estabrook Townships had been separated to form a special school district, Barlow No. 21. Early in the 1900s there were enough families in the village and nearby to establish a two‑room school. There were two other schools in the Birtsell District: School No. 1 in the southeast part of the township was closed, no children were living in that area. School No. 2 east of Lemert and five and a half miles away from No. 3 by road was open. In the middle 1920s there was a considerable increase in the school population of the district and three new schoolhouses were built. The Birtsell No. 3 schoolhouse burned down in 1929; It was never replaced.

The Birtsell No. 3 schoolhouse was old even when I started in the first grade in the spring of 1914. My mother had gone to school in the very same building when it was located farther east on the road to Barlow. I do not know why or when it was moved to the location at the northeast corner of the northwest quarter of section 10 in Birtsell Township, two and a half miles west of Barlow, and a quarter of a mile east of the Bloomquist farm buildings.

The school yard of somewhat more than an acre was virgin prairie, not absolutely level since the northeast corner next to the quarter line collected water after a heavy rain or during the spring thaws. During vacation time many species of prairie flowers managed to grow and bloom in spite of the children's efforts to wear out the grasses and plants during playtime. Among the flowers blooming in the summer were two types of legumes or vetches with pale purple blossoms and bean‑like pods which I have never encountered elsewhere. We called them "buffalo beans." Later in June there were even a few ripe wild strawberries hiding in the grass.

Besides the schoolhouse there were three other structures on the school grounds. The ramshackle barn near the south boundary had in years past stabled the horses of children who rode or drove to school. I do not recall that it was ever used for this purpose during my days of attendance. In the distant past it had been painted red but most of the color had long since weathered away. Its unshingled board roof sloped to the south. Two doors faced north toward the schoolhouse and road. The one to the west opened into a partitioned off space used for a coal bin. The other opened to a space without mangers or stalls but some worn out straw on the dirt floor gave the place a slightly horsey odor. It also smelled of skunk for these wandering predators had sometimes raised their young in dens dug under the barn. More than once the Bloomquist hen house was raided by the skunks to find fresh meat for their kids. We played in the barn occasionally on rainy days but its main use was as a place to hide behind during recess and noon time hide‑and‑go‑seek games. It was always forbidden but the larger boys thought it daring to climb up on the roof from the lower south side and then jump off onto the ground or in winter into the softer snow drifts below.

The two outhouses, boys' and girls', were situated along the west boundary of the school yard. The girls' was directly west of the schoolhouse and the boys' about 30 feet farther south. The rear of the two little houses also served as hiding places during games.

The schoolhouse itself was a simple frame structure about 20 by 30 feet with a shingled gable roof with a belfry at the east end. The windowless entry facing east also had a smaller gabled roof. The exterior had been painted white with red trim around the windows, eaves and corners. It was never repainted during my days there. Both the north and south side had two windows placed symmetrically, the east wall had two flanking the entry. The west wall was blank except for the brick chimney protruding from the west gable.

The entry was windowless except for the transom over the door, had hooks and nails to hang coats and caps. The lunch pails were set on the floor before the cold of winter set in. A small bench held a water pail with a dipper and the wash basin we all used.

There was a hole in the ceiling through which there should have been the rope attached to the bell. The rope had long since worn out and was never replaced.

In spite of the windows on three sides of the interior, the schoolroom was dark and uninviting when school was not in session. The wood walls and ceiling painted a bluish gray were sometimes cleaned but never repainted during my years in attendance. No permanent pictures relieved the monotony of the dull walls. The floor was dark and splintery. A six-inch high platform projected about five feet from the west wall. It stuck out a little farther in the center to give just enough space for the teacher's desk and the wastepaper basket.

A huge shiny black circular coal stove occupied a considerable portion of the north wall. I have never seen another quite like it. Basically it was a large potbellied stove enclosed in a sheet metal casing about five feet in diameter and the same height The cast iron doors of the fire box and ash pit were flush with the case. Sharp, serrated or crown‑like points decorated the upper edge of the case. Around the bottom at floor level vents which could be opened or closed by slides controlled the flow of heat around the firebox so that the room was heated by convection as well as radiation. The casing itself was a protection for the children; it never became too hot to touch. No child was ever burned by coming into contact with the stove. Within the casing the dome over the firebox had a flat top. In winter when the stove was in use water in a pan or pot set on it would come to boil in a few minutes. The hot lunches were prepared there.

The pipe from the stove to the chimney came out only a few inches from the north wall. Protective metal plates shielded the pipe from the wall and ceiling. In a year the paint on the shields would become blistered by the hot gases radiating from the stove pipe. The shields failed to protect the walls one night in 1929, the walls caught fire and the building burned down.

The stove pipe angled across the room to the chimney in the center of the west wall. The base of the chimney was supported on a wood platform about six feet above the floor. A cupboard under the platform was used to store spare textbooks. Slate blackboards on either side of the cupboard occupied the rest of the west wall. Several composition boards were attached to the other walls.

The teacher's desk on the platform was placed so that she faced the children sitting at their desks. The desk had a shallow center drawer where she kept her records. Chalk and supplies for handiwork and her personal belongings filled the side drawers. A row of textbooks held in place by bookends were lined up on the side of the desk toward the children. Six kindergarten‑size chairs stood in a row on the platform to the right of the teacher's desk. The children sat in these chairs when they were reciting.

The pupils' desks of the combination style were new the fall before I started school. They were bright and shiny with a heavy durable coat of varnish which resisted the children's efforts to mar them. The backs and seats were light colored wood, the cast iron metal frames were black. The desk tops were reddish brown with a groove for holding pencils and a never‑used inkwell. Below the sloping tops each desk had a level shelf large enough to hold a half dozen textbooks, a few pencils, tablets of writing paper, crayons and a paint box. Most of the desks had a hinged seat in front so that they could be arranged in files from front to back. There were in all about 25 desks of graduated sizes to fit all from the tiny first graders to the near adult eighth grade pupils. The arrangement of the desks depended on the teacher's wishes. Usually they were screwed to the floor in 3 or 4 files with the seated children facing the blackboards on the west wall. One teacher liked the desks of similar sizes paired to allow for wider aisles.

A four‑shelf bookcase with glass doors stood along the south wall. The bottom shelf held an old three volume encyclopedia with "teaching aids." During my time in school a new twelve‑volume "World Book" was added to this shelf. The three other shelves held a miscellaneous collection. Only a few were actually children's books; many were what is nowadays called adult fiction. I remember reading "Robinson Crusoe, " Dickens "Tale of Two Cities" and "David Copperfield, " Scott's "Ivanhoe, " Maculay's "Lays of Ancient Rome, " Bulwer-Litton's "The Last Days of Pompeii, " Mark Twain's "Prince and the Pauper." Others were "Mrs. Wiggs of the Cabbage Patch, " "Anne of Green Gables" and sequels, "Little Women" and "Little Men, " several bird books and an oversized "Mammals of North America." An authorized biography of Billy Sunday and one of Gypsy Smith, the English Evangelist, were somewhat out of place in the collection. The dozen or so books added almost every year made the library at the school one of the best in the county.

The tattered and dog‑eared Webster's Unabridged Dictionary had a shelf of its own. On rainy recesses the children often amused themselves by looking at the inset illustrations. It was rarely used for definitions or spellings.

A twelve inch globe suspended from the ceiling over the teacher's desk helped a little to dispel the gloom of the school room. The suspension consisted of a cord running over pulleys attached to the meridian of the globe and the wall to a counterweight. By raising the weight the globe could be lowered so that the varicolored countries and the oceans could be inspected at the children's level. A case with maps on rollers hung over the south blackboard. There were maps of each of the continents and one showing the states. The divisions into countries was obsolete but not as old, I think, as those of my father's geography where Nebraska, Kansas and Oklahoma were labeled the "Great American Desert." While I was in the upper grades, a large new map of North Dakota made its appearance. The counties showed plainly and the teacher thought it worthwhile for all of us to memorize the names of the 53 counties in sequence. We learned them in columns up and down starting in the northeast corner: "Pembina, Walsh, Grand Forks . . ." and so ending . . . "Golden Valley, Slope, Bowman." We practiced until we were able to recite the names of all without hesitation in a sing‑song fashion.

A reed organ of unknown vintage standing along the south wall was a prized possession of the school. Some of the teachers could play fairly well and were musical enough to lead up in singing many songs during the day, hymns, Civil War songs, and Christmas carols. None of the children's playing abilities had advanced beyond "Chopsticks."
The phonograph purchased from the proceeds of the whistle social in 1920 stood next to the organ. It had a polished mahogany case with space below for records and a hinged lid over the playing mechanism. It played only 78 rpm records, the microgroove 45's and 33's were 40 years in the future. In my day there were no more than a dozen records. I can recall only a single selection, Brahm's Waltz in A Flat as a violin solo with piano accompaniment. Both the organ and the phonograph were lost in the 1929 fire.

Compared to the classrooms of modern schools Birtsell No. 3 was a rather dreary place when school was not in session. The teachers did all they could to liven the atmosphere. They made curtains to cover the bottom third of the lower sashes on the windows. Colorful pictures drawn or traced by the primary children were tacked along the walls and blackboards. On sunny days the light pouring in the east and south windows made splashes of glaring illumination on the floor and desks. The light reflecting from the shiny desk tops made bright spots here and there on the walls and ceiling and sometimes in the eyes of the children. On cloudy days the light coming in from three sides made dark and light areas haphazardly across the room changing as the day progressed. In midwinter the sun was near setting by the time school closed for the day and the room was becoming immersed in shadow.

The children came from an area within a radius of about two and a half miles around the school. Only seven, including me, were attending when I began in the spring of 1914. A few years later the number of children increased to 20 or 25 since the Birtsell school was also accommodating children from Rosefield Township in Eddy County. There were too few children just over the county line to make a school worthwhile in the southern part of the township.

One student, Aljot Pearson, age about 20 and a recent immigrant from Norway, was attending only to learn a little English. Later the Rosefield township had their own school so the population of Birtsell No. 3 decreased.

Most of the children lived within a two‑mile distance from the school, with a couple that were near three miles away. The teachers always lived (boarded) with the Wigams which was about a mile away. They usually lived in homes that had an extra room for them. The maximum tenure of the teachers during my attendance at Birtsell No. 3 was two terms. All were young, usually just out of high school with no more than a term or two at normal school. They had only provisional teaching certificates and most of them were required to take "teacher's examinations" at the County Superintendent's office to gain certification. I have no idea of the content of these examinations, but they were not easy. My eighth grade teacher failed the examination and was no longer permitted to teach. I was sorry to see her go. She was not a poor teacher or overwhelmed by the children, although I think she was better suited for teaching the primary grades‑ I know the little kids loved her. A former teacher substituted for the remaining two or three months of the term.

In trying to recall my thoughts and impressions of the series of teachers of almost sixty years ago, I find my memories are often vague and confused. Speaking generally, however, there was none that I really disliked. I respected all of them, they treated me kindly and my later experiences tell me that I was well taught, drilled or what have you in the fundamental subjects, reading, writing, spelling, arithmetic, geography, history. There was some misinformation handed out but I was usually acute enough to know when such was the case. By modern standards, I suppose, all of my teachers were inadequately prepared for teaching children.  Nevertheless, all of them knew the subject matter they were trying to teach and were able to transmit it onto their pupils. None of them lacked the ability to maintain discipline and to dominate the classroom. Serious conflicts between teacher and student never developed and her authority was never challenged. I do not remember that anyone was ever spanked or struck by the teacher. I do recall, however, one who used to put one of the little boys in a corner with a dunce cap on his head when he failed to meet his teacher's expectations.

Some of the beginning pupils started school with little or no knowledge of English. The teachers took this deficiency in stride, no point was made of it and the children were given no special instruction. In a few months the children's use of English and their accents were no different from the rest.

During my attendance at the Birtsell school all of the teachers except one came from an area at some distance from Foster County. Consequently they had somewhat different cultural backgrounds and viewpoints. Most of them grew up in small towns rather than rural areas. All of them opened a window for us to a world a little larger than our immediate surroundings. They taught us more than the specific subjects required by the official course of study. As far as I was concerned their efforts to teach us to speak correctly was the most important and lasting. We were drilled to avoid "ain't, " double negatives, the John‑he construction, the use of them instead of these and those and others which contributed to the sloppiness of the local speech.

To the students the teacher appeared to be an absolute monarch over the school and its students. This attitude was encouraged by the parents but she was actually subject to the authority of the County Superintendent and the elected school board which paid her salary. The three‑member school board was chosen by the voters of the district early in June. The members were elected for three years in overlapping terms. A treasurer for the district was also chosen at the same time. The board appointed a clerk, or secretary, to record the minutes of the monthly meetings and to make the required red tape reports to the school superintendent, county auditor and treasurer and to make out the warrants to pay the teacher's monthly salaries. The school board's responsibilities were defined by law. They prepared a budget, suggested the levy for taxes, hired the teachers, purchased supplies, textbooks and fuel, provided transportation for the children, if necessary, and supervised the maintenance of the school buildings and grounds. When it became necessary to make major decisions, as for example building a new school house or making extensive repairs, the directors referred the issue to the voters in a special election before going ahead.

The school board was not directly involved in the curriculum mandated by the state or in teaching methods. These were the province of the Superintendent of Schools elected by the voters of the county. Usually a teacher with considerable teaching experience, the superintendent had the responsibility of overseeing the activities of the individual teachers and served as a liaison with the State Department of Education. There was also a deputy superintendent to run the office in the Courthouse. Each of the teachers submitted monthly and end of the school year annual reports to the superintendent's office and received teaching aids, notices of regulations and meetings. The superintendent visited each school once or twice a year, set up weeklong "teachers' institutes" in the Courthouse to present new teaching methods, resolve problems, show new textbooks and the like. She also determined if the teachers met the minimum requirements for certification. It is my impression that the superintendent was there to help and guide the teachers rather than to make them "tow the line."
For several years there was a school nurse for the county, a Miss Zimmerman. She was not well liked. She spent most of the day at each school once a year giving us cursory physical examinations, testing eyes, looking for cavities. If she found any condition which she thought needed further attention she filled out a bright red card describing the condition of the child to take to his parents. I am not sure why she was disliked, it must have been her abrasive personality. She was not replaced by another school nurse.

According to the state law the school term was 180 days, holidays included. School usually started the Tuesday after Labor Day and continued five days a week and terminated just before Memorial Day, May 30. Thanksgiving and the day after were the only holidays which broke into the school week. At Christmas and the New Year there was a two week vacation; from then on school continued without a scheduled break until the end of the school year. There was no time off at Easter. School was not in session during the teacher's institutes or examinations and on the state mandated eighth grade examination days for all except the examinees. School sessions were not suspended during fall or spring work on the farms as had been the case during earlier years when children were needed at home. In 1918 the school was closed for two weeks at the height of the influenza epidemic. Several school families including the Bloomquists, were not affected by the plague. The lost days were made up by sessions on Saturdays for a number of weeks in the early spring. I did not like the idea at all and considered going to Sunday School during these weeks unnecessary‑ seven days a week in school was too much.

Since I lived only a quarter of a mile away I always walked to and from school regardless of the weather. It was a pleasant trip most of the time but another matter in winter. A time or two I got a little frost bitten on my face walking home in below‑zero weather when a brisk northwest wind was blowing. All the other children walked except in wet or stormy weather. In the pleasant spring and fall mornings I would watch for the children approaching from the west, their lunch pails glistening in the sun. My dog, Snookum, and I would join them as they walked past our front yard and we would proceed leisurely but not quite as slowly as Shakespeare's schoolboy: "With his satchel and shining mornings face, creeping like a snail, unwilling to school." Oft the road we could see the teacher and the kids from the south coming over the slight elevation on the quarter line. We all converged at the school ground about 15 minutes before the hour of nine. We put our lunch pails, books and homework in the entry and talked or ran about haphazardly until the ding‑dong of the teacher's hand bell summoned us to our seats.

Usually there were opening exercises to settle us down but no Pledge of Allegiance or canned prayer were recited. Some of the teachers would read several pages from some story book or other. I first became acquainted with L.M. Montgomery's "Ann of Green Gables" in this fashion. The more musically accomplished teachers led us in two or three songs, all stanzas, while she played the organ. We had several song books of the community sing type, a Sunday School hymnbook from the Congregational Church in Barlow, and a paperback school song book of the turn of the century. Over the years we became familiar with a number of patriotic and Civil War songs, Stephen Foster melodies, Christmas carols and a few popular songs of the day. The list is too long to recount here. One tune we sang many times and never heard in the years between became a popular song on radio 35 years later. When General MacArthur gave his farewell speech before the joint houses of Congress on April 19, 1951, he concluded by quoting the old army song: "Old Soldiers Never Die, They Just Fade Away." When the networks took up the song I recognized the tune; we had sung it to the words, "Kind Words Will Never Die."
The opening exercises took about 15 minutes and as soon as everyone was seated the nitty‑gritty of education began. The school day was broken up by a 15‑minute recess from 10:30 to 10:45, noon time from 12:00 to 1:00 and a final recess from 2:30 to 2:45. School closed at 4:00 p.m. Occasionally some children had to "stay after school" for some infraction of the rules, or failure to respond properly in class or to complete homework. Ordinarily staying after school was a punitive, rather than a teaching, experience.

The schedule of classes will be described as I recall it when I was in the upper grades. No attempt will be made here to describe or comment on the methods by which we were taught and educated. The first session was devoted to reading starting with the primary grades and continuing grade by grade. The teacher announces "First Grade Reading, " the children rise from their desks, walk up to the platform and seat themselves on the little chairs and the 10 or 15 minute instruction period begins. Usually the child stood while reading from his book. In the intermediate and upper grades the instruction for two classes was often combined, as for example 4th and 5th, 7th and 8th, depending on the number and maturity of the children in the grades. The children not reciting were expected to remain in their seats studying and not communicating, "whispering, " or passing notes to their neighbors.

If a student needed 'to leave his seat for any reason, sharpen his pencil, get a book from the bookcase, go to the outside toilet he raises his hand. When he gets the teacher's attention she addresses him by name and he states his request. For example, he asks, "May I leave the room?" The teacher nods assent unless someone is already out for a similar reason. If so, the child has to wait until the return of the other. One teacher decided arbitrarily‑ no leaving the room during class time. The inevitable happened, a little pool appeared under the seat of a weeping first grader. The rule was rescinded forthwith.

Recess at half past ten helped to release some of the excess energy the children had stored up during the hour and a half spent at their desks. As soon as recess was announced the children hurried from their seats to go to their lunch pails for a snack, half a sandwich or a cookie. Someone says, "Let's play hide‑and‑go‑seek, " the rest agree and the game begins. Often the teacher joins in and all get so engrossed in the game that the recess stretches to 20 to 25 minutes. When the weather was rainy, snowy or extremely cold games were played at the blackboard or at the seats. The same general procedure was followed after noon time lunch and during the afternoon recess. A wide variety of games were played; rules will be given in the discussion extracurricular activities.

Game playing was not the only occupation of two of the older boys. Often they were asked to get a pail of water from the Bloomquist well. There was no source of water on the school grounds and no opportunity to bring it in the morning when everyone walked to school carrying books and lunch pails. The water carrying job was not difficult and the 15 minute recess was plenty of time to make the half mile round trip. Filling the 12‑quart pail at the well was easy, only a dozen strokes up and down on the pump handle was sufficient. The difficulties came when two boys holding the pail started the trip back. Whether in step or not the motion of the boys set the water sloshing back and forth and soon the water was splashing over the edge. By the time the boys had reached the schoolhouse the pail was never more than half full. This small amount of water was usually enough except on the warmest of days when the boys would have to make another trip after lunch.

The interval from recess to noon was devoted to numbers and arithmetic. Most of the time the various grades had been assigned problems to work during their free time at school or as homework. These were handed in to be corrected later and more problems were worked at the board during class time. By the time the upper grades had finished everyone was pretty well exhausted and it was time for lunch. In good weather grades 1, 2 and 3 were excused half an hour early and allowed to play by themselves in the school yard.

Everyone brought lunch in some sort of a metal container, never in a paper bag. One or two quart "syrup" pails were the most common. Those whose fathers used tobacco often had oblong tobacco boxes with handles and lids and so designed that they were satisfactory lunch boxes. My lunch usually consisted of two or three sandwiches, jelly, egg or peanut butter, a piece of fried chicken or a cold wiener, an apple, pear, orange or banana, cookies and sometimes a piece of cake or pie. There was always enough for snacks at recesses. In good weather we ate outside in small groups, the boys separate from the girls. On inclement days we sat at our desks talking freely with each other and the teacher. We never ate in a hurry, there was plenty of time for play. In winter during later years we had a "hot" lunch usually prepared on the flat top of the stove. When everyone brought milk we had cocoa, sometimes there was soup or a vegetable. My recollections about hot lunches are not clear, possibly because I never felt that they filled any great need.

The afternoon session began at one o'clock with more reading instruction for the primary grades. Spelling for all was the next activity. It, penmanship and art occupied the time until the afternoon recess at half past two. The hour and a quarter after the recess was devoted to classes for the upper grades. The younger pupils were kept busy with various kinds of handicrafts. History, geography, physiology, hygiene, civics and even agriculture were the fare of the upper grades. Not all were taught every year and some were scheduled on alternate days. Even so, it is difficult, looking back, to see how a tether could fit all these subjects into the five hours of class time instruction. It was done somehow and in my case, at any rate, I learned enough to make my high school studies and even some college course much easier. For example, when I took American Government in high school and a course in Political Science in college the feeling deja vu persisted‑ I was familiar with the subject matter from my eighth grade classes in Birtsell School No. 3.

The school term was divided into nine periods roughly corresponding to the months. On the last day of each period the teacher made out and gave each child his report card. Numerical grades were given for each subject and department; days absent and times tardy were also recorded on the card. The grades given by the teacher were fair, I suppose, but somewhat arbitrary. A child would be happy if he had gained a point or two in a subject or had exceeded his classmate by a like amount. The report cards were taken home to be signed and returned to the teacher. If a child's performance during the school term was satisfactory the final report stated that he was promoted to the next higher grade. I do not recall that anyone was ever "held back" although there was always this threat if his performance were poor. In some years pink certificates were sent out from the county superintendent's office to the child who had maintained a perfect record with no absences or tardiness during the month. Attendance at school was usually good and in some years I did not miss a single day.

For the successful completion of the eighth grade curriculum in the rural schools the students had to pass the examinations prepared by the State Department of Education. These examinations were uniform throughout the state and given on a designated day. The examinations were fairly difficult and tested the student's knowledge reasonably well. The passing grade was 60. The questions had to be answered by a paragraph of discussion or by a completed worked out problem. True‑false, and multiple choice questions had not yet arrived on the educational scene. Consequently the ability to express one's ideas in words and to spell correctly was an important part of the test. Usually seventh graders were permitted to take the examinations in three or four subjects. If one passed no further instruction in these subjects was required in the eighth grade. I passed the examinations in Orthography (spelling), Geography, Physiology, and Agriculture near the end of the seventh grade. The following year I completed the list: Reading, Writing, Grammar, Arithmetic, U.S. History, and Civics. My grades ranged from 68 in Geography to 85 in Arithmetic. The teacher corrected the papers and then sent them on to the County Superintendent's office for verification of the teacher's grading. In a week or two the official grades were returned to the teacher. None of my contemporaries failed the examination and graduation was finally at hand. I still have the Certificates of Completion of Studies signed by Mary K. Beaty.

In my graduation year, 1921, the Barlow and Birtsell school districts held joint graduation exercises in the Odd Fellows Hall in Barlow. The graduates were seated on chairs in front of the audience of parents and friends. All participated in a lengthy program. The Rev. Mr. Bennett, minister of the Methodist Church in Carrington gave the commencement address and Mary K. Beaty presented the diplomas. Contrary to current custom there were no refreshments at the end of the program.
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School in Winter

The severe winters of the Dakota prairies seldom slowed down the activities of the country schools. Extreme cold, even 20 or 30 below zero, was not enough to close the schools unless blizzard conditions prevailed. School was called off only when the blowing snow reduced visibility so as to make traveling hazardous. On stormy days I considered it too bad if I could not see the schoolhouse a quarter of a mile away. The call canceling school usually came from the Heringers (John Heringer was school director). When the storm abated, however, we would have school regardless of the thermometer reading. In mid‑winter the sun had barely risen when we started toward the schoolhouse. The snowdrifts carved into ridges and grooves by the wind were blue in the shadows and rosy where illuminated by the sun low in the southeast. The sleds, some with jingling sleigh bells, converged at the schoolhouse where the area around the school building was free of snow. The drifts always accumulated a few feet away from the building.

The school room was icy cold and only slightly warmer than the outside air when we came in on the day after a storm. The condensation from our breaths showed plainly when we blew on our cold hands. The stove is as cold as its surroundings since the banked fire had long since burned out and the firebox filled with ashes. Steps to start the fire begin immediately. The boys shake the grate free of ashes and carry them out to the pile behind the barn. All the coal scuttles are filled from the bins in the barn and brought into the schoolhouse. A layer of scrap paper from the wastebasket and a little wood kindling are placed in the fire box. A half cup of kerosene is sprinkled on top and a lighted match is dropped in cautiously on top of the kindling. The kerosene flares, the paper ignites, flames brightly and the wood starts to burn. Larger pieces of wood are added and as soon as this fuel had subsided into a layer of embers a small shovelful of the hard coal is spread thinly over the fire. It ignites slowly with a bluish flame and a little heat begins to be perceptible close to the stove.

The children, still dressed in their outer clothes and mittens, stand around stamping their feet to keep warm. As soon as the wood is burning briskly they bring up the small chairs and sit with their feet on the base of the stove. The children remain clustered around the heater when the teacher calls school into session and the reading classes go on as usual while the others study. By half past nine the warmth is radiating from the stove and scarves, coats; overshoes and mittens begin to be shed. Soon the children are going to their seats in the rapidly warming room.

Additional coal is added to the fire from time to time and by recess time the room is almost comfortably warm. The bright sun helps to maintain a cozy atmosphere at lunch time and in the early afternoon. Later near closing time the room is often too warm and many of the pupils, including me, become a little drowsy.

A schoolroom cold enough in the morning to freeze water is not a pleasant place to start the day's instruction. To keep the room warm overnight the fire was banked by filling the heater with as much hard coal as it would hold. To slow down the combustion the sliding drafts at the ash door are shut and the damper in the stove pipe partially closed just before everyone leaves. By morning the fuel is almost completely consumed except for a bed of glowing coals. The schoolroom is chilly but not too cold for the children to sit at their desks. As soon as the drafts are opened and coal added the schoolroom becomes comfortably warm.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 411

Play‑ Inside and Out in a Rural School

At recesses and noontime we played outside whenever the weather permitted. I suppose the teachers were glad to have some time free of children but often she joined in the games or taught us new ones. Our level schoolyard was an ideal place for recreation. It was large enough so that we did not have a closed‑in feeling, sometimes two games could go on simultaneously. In winter, even after a blizzard, the snow was never deep except for drifts on the north sides of the schoolhouse and barn. In spring after the thaws began water collected in puddles near the schoolhouse where the ground had been worn down by the children's feet. Water also collected in the northeast corner of the yard which was a foot or two lower than the rest and in the ditch along the road. If there was a hard freeze after the thaw the ice was ideal for "sliding." None of us had ice skates but we played on the ice by running and then sliding with stiff legs until we tumbled over. Sliding was difficult with our rubber soled overshoes so these were always removed. In some years the slight depression in Peterson's field just south of the schoolyard collected melting snow water and we had a somewhat larger area of ice for sliding. Often the ice firm enough in the morning to support us softened in the bright sunshine by noon so that it cracked under our weights and was unsafe. The worst that could happen was to break through and get soaked to the knees.

For a number of years the schoolyard was not our only playground. The Heringer half section had 20 acre strip of virgin prairie just to the southeast of the school. A crop of hay was taken from it every summer but the land still harbored many of the native flora. The west end had a slight rise which sloped to a slough hole almost a quarter of a mile to the east. Crocuses (Pasque flowers), buttercups, red torch flowers and violets flourished in the grass. Wild strawberries grew in abundance in late June after school was out. Gophers, both the gray (Richardson's ground squirrel) and the thirteen striped, dug their holes here and there in the prairie sod. They preferred the higher ground near the road. Badger holes sometimes appeared but I do not remember ever catching a glimpse of this carnivore. The prairie was a delightful place to run about on the spring days. Sometimes the boys tried to snare or trap the gophers. They had little success. About 1920 or possibly a little earlier the Heringers broke up the prairie and we could no longer play on this fascinating piece of land.

Hide‑and‑go‑seek was a favorite game. The south wall of the entry was home base. "It" hides his face against the base and counts by fives, "Five, ten, fifteen . . . ninety‑five, ONE HUNDRED!" in a loud voice. While he is counting the children scatter and hide behind the barn, outhouses and the far side of the schoolhouse. "It" then turns about and yells, "Anyone 15 feet from the base is caught." This announcement prevents anyone from sneaking around the corner to reach the safety of home base. He then goes to hunt for the children who peek out to see where he is. If he gets far enough away from the base the hider "Joe" can make a dash for the base. There is a race, if "It" gets there first he pounds the base, "One, two, three for me, " and is safe. While "It" is occupied the others try to streak to the base to declare themselves safe. If "It" can see the whole figure of a hider he can declare them "out" by running to the base and banging the wall as before. So it goes until all are caught. The first player caught is "It" for the next game. Hide‑and‑go‑seek was usually a recess game, it lacked variety for there were only four places to hide.

Pom‑pom‑pullaway was a tag type of game. An "It" is chosen and the rest of the children divide into two equal groups. One side lines up along the south side of the schoolhouse and the other at the south edge of the grounds about 75 feet away. "It" stands halfway between the two groups and when all are in position he shouts, "Pom‑pom‑pullaway, if you don't come I'll pull you away." At the signal all the children run across to change sides while "it" tries to tag (touch with his hand) anyone he can. For a second go around "it" and those tagged stand between the two sides and yell, "pom‑pom‑pullaway" again. "It" and his companions catch some more and so on until all have been tagged.

Fox and Geese could be played only on mornings when an inch or two of snow had fallen the night before. At recess the game starts by everyone following the leader in file to make a circular path in the snow about 40 feet across with two diameters at right angles to each other to make a figure in the snow like a wheel with four spokes. When the figure is complete "It" stands in the center while the rest of the players walk or run around the outer circle as they wish but always in the same direction between the spokes. "It" darts out along one of the spokes hoping to trap and tag one of the children in the place where he cannot change direction. If he is tagged he becomes "It." The child can avoid capture only by going into one of the spokes which are "safe" territory. Usually by noon the light snow had melted and no more fox and geese could be played until some new snow had fallen.

Cross Tag played only occasionally, was rather disorganized. With the children standing around in no set position "It" starts to chase one of them trying to tag him. If the chased can run so that another player is between him and the chaser this child becomes the new quarry. The person finally tagged becomes the new "It."
Drop the handkerchief was really a kindergarten game but we all enjoyed it occasionally. An "It" was chosen and the rest of the children joined hands to form a circle. Everyone faces toward the center and dropped his hands while "It" carrying the handkerchief circles behind the children's backs. Then quietly he drops or places the cloth behind someone's feet hoping that it will not be noticed.  He then keeps circling. As soon as the child becomes aware that the handkerchief is behind him he runs around the circle trying to catch "It". If "It" reaches the child's place the child now lacking a space in the circle is the new "It". If the child tags "It" he regains his place in the ring and "It" tries again. To maintain interest the children try to divert the child from noticing that the handkerchief has been placed behind him.

Skip‑to‑my‑Lou introduced by Miss Loomis in 1920 was somewhat similar to drop the handkerchief. The children stand in a circle singing the old folk song:

"Rats in the sugar bowl, two by two 
Skip to my Lou, my darling.
I'll get another as good as you, 
Skip to my Lou, my darling."
"It" skips around the circle finally choosing one of the children, then the two side by side, skip the whole way around the ring and "It" takes the vacant place. The new "It" skips around and chooses himself a new partner. This game was the only one which has even the slightest sexual implications. It was easy for a participant to feel left out if he is never or rarely chosen to make the circle with a partner.

Can played only by the boys was quite different from the other games. The equipment needed was an empty tin can and a stick or board sturdy enough to bat the can around. Each player except "It" has a shallow hole just large enough to hold the can arranged in a circle 10 or so feet in diameter with an additional hole in the center. Each player keeps his stick in his hole unless he is hitting the can. "It" tries to hit or push the can into the center hole while the other players try to prevent him from doing so. When he gets the can into the center hole he holds it here and says, "Upset the fruit basket." All the players are forced to exchange holes and "It" tries to get his stick into one of the holes during the exchange. If he is successful the player without a hole is the new "It". I do not know who invented the game, I have never encountered it elsewhere. "Can" would be a good game if the rules were a little more definite and stricter. Two or more players could gang up against "It" and it would be virtually impossible for him to ever gain an advantage.

London Bridge was a game for the primary children, those in the upper grades never played it. Two children who are to be the bridge each choose a world for the caught children to make a choice. For example, one chooses oranges and the other bananas. The two children then form a bridge by facing each other joining their outstretched hands. The rest of the players go round and round under the bridge one by one stooping low as the children sing:

"London Bridge is falling down, falling down, 
My fair lady.
Sticks and stones will build it up, 
My fair lady."
As the last word is sung the child under the bridge is caught between the outstretched arms of the bridge. He is led a little distance away and quietly asked to which he prefers, "Oranges or bananas". The child chooses one or the other and stands aside while the game goes on until all are caught. The final step is a tug of war between the two members of the bridge and those who have made the corresponding choices. As they pull they all fall in a heap. Then other children form a bridge anew and the game starts over again.

Statues was also played by the younger children. "It" takes each child by the hand and whirls him about and releases him to fly away. He is supposed to stay in the position he has when he stops and remain as a "statue". After all have been turned into statues "It" chooses the one he likes best to be "It" for the next game. Sometimes the statues are unstable and allowed to topple over before the end of the game.

In bad weather when it was impossible to play outside we played in the schoolroom at our desks or at the blackboard. I am sure the teacher would have preferred not to have the children underfoot during recesses and noon time break. I do recall one damp morning when we were asked to go outside. We all went to the old barn where we played school! That was not really a successful way to pass the time.

Cat, really tic‑tac‑toe, was played on the blackboard. We called it "cat" because we said the cat got it when the game turned into a draw. Many of us became adept at the game and the recess was over in no time at all when a game of cat got started.

Dots was another two person game. To start a square or oblong field of dots, say 5 up and 6 across or even larger, was marked on the blackboard. The first player drew a line connecting two of the dots and then the other alternated until it was to make a complete square between four dots somewhere in the field. The player writes his initial in the square and is allowed to draw one more connecting line. The game goes on until all the possible square are complete. Each player counts his initials and the one with the most wins.

Hangman was a letter and word game for two players. The first thinks of a word and puts as many dashes on the blackboard as there are letters in the word. The other player tries to guess the letter and then the word. If he guesses the correct letter it is written on the proper dash. If not a circle is drawn on the board as the start of the figure of a man. He guesses again, and when the guesses are incorrect his opponent draw in succession the eyes, nose, mouth, ears, neck, body, buttons, two arms, and two legs and a rope around the neck. If the rope gets drawn before all the correct letters have been guessed he loses. The game had an educational value although we did not consider it as such when we were playing it. The trick was to choose a word that had an unusual combination of letters.

Snapping Apples, not a game, but a lunch time pasttime, was introduced by one of the teachers. If one had an apple in the lunch pail you asked a friend to snap the apple and at the same time think of the name of someone of the opposite sex. After the apple has been eaten the seeds are counted. Each number of seeds had a significance: 

"One I love, two I love, 
Three I love they say.
Four I love with all my heart 
And five I cast away.

Six he loves, seven she loves, 
Eight both love. 
Nine he comes, ten he tarries, 
Eleven he courts, twelve he marries; 
Thirteen they quarrel, 
Fourteen they part, 
Fifteen they died with a broken heart."
There was plenty of room for kidding when the snapper revealed the name. If four seeds were found in the core "I love Johnny with all my heart" might or might not be an acceptable fortune. I do not know the source of the rhyme and have never seen the whole sequence elsewhere.
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Busy Work

The lower grades had considerable time free of studies. Various types of handi‑ or busy work were devised by the teachers to occupy their time. Most of the materials needed brightly colored construction paper, sewing cards, plastic modeling clay, raffia, library paste which were supplied by the school. Each child had to furnish his own pencils, crayons and .paints. A couple of pairs of blunt scissors were shared by all.

Sewing cards were a favorite with the younger children and even the clumsiest were able to sew the cards without difficulty. The 4 or 6 inch cards had the outline of a picture or design with the hole punched along the outline at short intervals. A darning needle threaded with a colored yarn was passed through the holes to cover the printed lines. When completed the card was a brightly colored yarn picture to be displayed on the wall or taken home to show the parents. Some of the simple designs had no more than a dozen holes to make the picture of a flower or simple object. The more complicated cards with smaller holes made elaborate pictures of the type illustrating the stories or poems in our readers such as Jack and Jill, Little Miss Muffet and Little Red Riding Hood.

Weaving with strips of paper to make mats was another busy work occupation. Sheets of heavy paper about 10 inches square with slits half an inch apart but not quite to the edges were interlaced with strips cut from a similar sheet but of a different color. Variations in the under and over patterns were possible and sometimes tried.

Plasticine, a non‑drying modeling clay, had a somewhat kerosene‑like odor. We tried, not too successfully, to form figures of people and animals with the material. More often we shaped small and medium sized balls and ropes which we stuck together to form three dimensional figures. Plasticine left an oily smelly residue on our hands which had to be washed off before we could start on another task.

Raffia, a vegetable fiber, came in long strips which softened and flattened when soaked in water. Flat cardboard rings were wrapped with the strips to make frames for pictures. One year the Christmas presents for our parents were snapshots mounted in raffia wound frames.

Tracing pictures by overlaying a soft sheet of paper with a design, picture or figure was a frequent pastime. Carbon paper, when available, was used to transfer the picture but usually the impression from the pencil along the outline was deep enough to be visible. The faint gouges in the paper were then outlined with a pencil, and the picture was colored or painted as the child desired. Designs to trace were a little hard to come by. We were not permitted to trace the pictures or diagrams in text or library books. The best source was our teacher's "Normal Instructor and Primary Plans" mentioned previously. Every issue contained a double page spread of line drawings by Bess Cleveland. The pictures usually were of animals and children, native and foreign, just right for tracing. The outlines were traced onto white or tan construction paper, colored, cut out and pasted onto a large sheet to make a fair‑sized poster.

Painting with water color paints was a somewhat more creative activity but we were never really allowed a free rein. I do not recall ever starting with a clean sheet of paper and depicting whatever my fancy dictated. We used Prang water color paints in boxes containing four cakes of color, black and the three primary hues. With these four we could, at least theoretically, obtain orange, green, purple, and intermediate hues. It never worked quite satisfactorily because the blends of the primaries were always muddy and lacked brilliance. I tried and tried but was never able to get an acceptable brown.

Paper folding of some sort had been familiar to all of us from pre‑school days. Everyone knew how to fold an oblong piece of paper into a hat or boat. Miss Roneson, my 7th grade teacher, brought to us some unfamiliar techniques in paper folding starting with a square piece of paper. In her previous training she had prepared a scrapbook containing many samples of paper folding which were different from anything I have seen elsewhere. The final forms were not at all like those made by Japanese origami methods. As I recall the square sheets were folded in the middle and each half folded again. Then the sheet was turned 90 degrees and folded in the same way a second time. The result was a sheet creased with the folds all in the same directions into 16 squares. The other squares on all four sides were folded back to the center mitering the corners. Further manipulation and folding produces picture frames, tables and other designs imperfectly remembered.

Valentines were the one opportunity we had to be creative and get away from the stereotyped busy work activities. On the afternoon of February 14 the Valentine box was opened and the teachers distrusted the Valentines we had dropped surreptitiously in the box. Practically all the heart shaped Valentines were made by the children out of red, pink and white construction paper. Purchased Valentines were a novelty and usually reserved for the teacher, who, of course, got Valentines from everybody. The designs varied but most of them were double red hearts with "Be My Valentine" printed on the outer side and opened to the verse: "Roses are red, Violets are Blue, Sugar is sweet, and so are you." Drawing a free hand heart was difficult; the easiest way was to fold a piece of paper and cut out the heart shape and then make any adjustments to form the conventional symmetrical but somewhat subtle heart shape. The number of Valentines received was considered a measure of the child's popularity.
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Special Events

It must not be assumed from the foregoing that going to school was a dreary succession day after day and month after month of day long classes broken only by recesses and noontime games. We anticipated and prepared for what we called "programs". The programs differed from year to year but always included the traditional Christmas and last day of school events. Thanksgiving, Halloween, and Mother's Day were sometimes but not always celebrated. The parents were always invited to these programs, usually held on a Friday afternoon. The mothers sometimes brought picnic lunches.

Every child had a part and all participated in songs, recitations, drills, dialogues, skits, short plays, and last sometimes in costume. It was important for both the children's and parents' prestige that all have some part in the hour long entertainment. Rehearsals were required for all these performances and for a few days preceding the regular schedule of classes was set aside. The platform at the west end of the school room was a ready made stage. Wires strung across the room supported bed sheet curtains which could be pulled open and shut. Other curtains shut off the corners of the room for a "backstage" and for entrances and as a place to hold needed costumes and props.

The programs began with a song by all the children accompanied by the teacher on the organ. Recitations, usually a humorous poem by the younger children followed. Sometimes the boys and girls separately sang a song. I remember participating with the other boys in blackface in singing Fosters "Old Uncle Ned" and the girls at another time singing the soprano and alto parts of the Sunday School hymn "Love Lifted Me." Dialogues were brief plays by groups of children. One I remember satirizing a schoolroom where the pupils through jokes managed to outwit the teacher until she was rescued by her boy friend. He arrived in the nick of time and as she collapsed in his arms sobbing "I'd rather make b‑b‑biscuits."
In my one fling at acting I was a country bumpkin calling on a girl and her mother. I was trying to arrange a date but during some desultory conversation I managed to upset an open ink bottle. In my embarrassment I sopped up the spilled ink with my handkerchief. The situation kept going from bad to worse when in desperation I had to mop my brow. The ink saturated handkerchief made black streaks all over my face and when I realized how I looked I made a hasty exit. This experience and some later ones convinced me that I was not cut out to be an actor.

The most elaborate production number staged while I was in grade school was a two‑part girls' chorus singing "Star of the East", a schmaltzy turn of the century waltz tune. The seven or eight girls in filmy white angel costumes and tinsel 'head bands made pantomime gestures following the words as they sang. I suppose they did well because a repeat performance was given at the Christmas Eve program at the Barlow church.

Soon after the start of the school year in 1920 our teacher, Gladys Loomis, had the idea of having a Halloween social to raise money for the school. If enough were obtained we would purchase a phonograph to be used for music appreciation, accompaniment for drills, marching, etc. The custom in the past had been to hold basket socials for such a purpose. Each of the girls and women would prepare a lunch in a decorated box to be auctioned off to the highest bidder. In principle the baskets had no visible name attached but the young men often had an idea how their girl's baskets were decorated. Consequently there could be spirited bidding among rivals for certain baskets. Miss Loomis had another suggestion: Ask each girl behind a curtain to whistle a tune and auction off the whistle.

A huge jack o' lantern in the east window of the school greeted the crowd of parents, neighbors and people from the Barlow community. I do not recall much about the program except that this was the occasion when the boys in black face sang "Old Uncle Ned". After the program the girls assembled behind the curtain and the whistle auctioning began. Roy Burton, the storekeeper in Barlow was the auctioneer. He was not experienced in the trade and the bidding was slow and draggy. Not all the girls could whistle a tune and I believe that Mrs. Mike Greitl substituted for a number of them. After a dozen or so whistles had been sold there was a lull in the bidding and Dad suggested that I bid for the next whistle. Mine was the only bid and I got it for 75 cents. All the whistles were sold finally and we found out whom we bought. My partner turned out to be Minnie Buss 8 or 9 years older than I. Ill at ease eating her lunch of sandwiches and fried chicken, I was glad when it was all over. Financially the social was a success. The receipts of the whistle auction were about $90, sufficient for the purchase of a cabinet phonograph and about a dozen records.

Arbor Day in the middle of April was not a school holiday but we celebrated it anyway by cleaning up the school yard. At this time of year all the snow was melted and a little green was just beginning to show among the grasses of the previous year. With garden rakes brought from home we spent the morning collecting the dead grass and trash that had accumulated during the winter. The raked up stuff was burned. The clean up job was finished by noon and the rest of the day spent in fun and games and practicing for Play Day.
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Play Day

Play Day, an all‑county athletic event for the rural schools held in Carrington, took place late in May shortly before the school year ended. Each of the schools was asked to enter boys and girls in various events such as 50 and 100‑yard dashes, sack and potato races and broad (now long) jumps. A trophy was awarded to the school which won the most events. The parents of each school prepared picnic lunches which we ate in the basement of the Methodist Church. Early in the afternoon we repaired to the field at the west edge of town (now the Fair Grounds) for the athletic contests. Birtsell No. 3 was not strong in these competitions and I do not remember that any individual of our school ever received even third place.

The Declamation Contest was another all‑county event. The students of both the rural and city schools competed in the recitation of poems and dramatic readings. The children competed in groups consisting of two or three grades. Between each classification there was a musical selection by a small group, usually girls, from one of the schools. I can recall attending only one of these contests, I never participated. In 1921 the contest was held in Bordulac on a hot and windy Saturday in May. Several parents, including my father, took three or four cars of children and teachers of the Birtsell and Barlow districts to the contest. The event was held in an unused store building with poor acoustics. Child after child, many of them, shaking with stage fright, recited their selections in small voices almost drowned out by the noises of the restless audience. I listened for a while but became bored by the nearly inaudible recitations. The final group of dramatic readings held my attention until our folks decided it was time for us to go home.

Christmas program on the last day before the holiday vacation was always the highlight of the year. We seldom had a live Christmas tree and Santa Claus wasn't always expected but what we did exemplified the true spirit of Christmas better than the present day commercialization. The program consisted as usual of recitations by the little children, a skit or two by the upper grades and carol singing by ‑all. There was no exchange of gifts as such but each child or family had a present for the teacher. The presents were simple, a nice handkerchief or something handmade, crocheted or knitted. There was popcorn and apples for all. I am sure that the program at the start of the Christmas vacation was an emotional experience for the teacher. After four months of day‑to‑day contact with her pupils whom she had grown to love she was leaving for a while to return to her home and family. It would be interesting to know the stories she had to tell back in Minnesota, Wisconsin, pr Iowa about her children in the flat Dakota prairies.

The Last Day of School Program was usually a simple one. Sometimes there were only a few songs and recitations, in other years there was a picnic and games in either the schoolyard or in the Weigman/Holth grove. I can remember best my first last day of school exercises. The mothers and children gathered in the afternoon on the Weigman front porch. We presented our songs and recitations from the porch while the mothers sat in chairs on the grassy lawn. My part was a four line recitation imperfectly remembered: "Pa, he sat down on Ma's old hat‑" and ending "‑That's just the style!" I don't remember what we had for lunch, probably cake and lemonade, but I do recall that afterwards we sat in the luxuriant grass looking for four leaf clovers.  I couldn't find any but others did.

As with all children our thoughts on the last day of school were directed to the summer months free of books and lessons. Our teacher's thoughts may have been quite different. They may have been, "Thank goodness, it's over, " or "I hope I will see all these lovely children again, and soon." I rather think it was the latter and over the years there had been some slight contact with some, and looking back, I wish there had been more. Most precious of all is the presence in the neighborhood of my first grade teacher, Miss Wightman, now Mrs. Marie Richter.
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Teaching in a Rural School in the Early 1950s 

by Lucile Clancy Zink

What was it like to be a teacher in a rural school in the early 1950s‑ I was one of those teachers and here are some of my experiences.

With the advent of better cars and roads people became more mobile and were able to travel longer distances to fulfill their needs. This fact had an effect on the educational system in the rural communities. Also during the late forties and early fifties there were fewer farms which resulted in fewer students attending the rural schools. A shortage of personnel that was willing to teach in these school was also a problem. To alleviate this shortage the North Dakota Legislature established a Rural Scholarship program, which provided a $300 scholarship to anyone who was qualified to attend a teachers' college for one year. If the recipient taught one year in a rural school, the money did not have to be returned. If this was not done, the $300 plus 3% interest had to be returned to the state. After completing this year in college the student was issued a First Grade Elementary Certificate, which allowed them to teach for three years. How did all this affect me?

As I was finishing my last year of high school, like the rest of my classmates, I was attempting to make some plans for my future. I really wasn't too sure as to what I wanted to do, except for the fact, I really wanted to go to college. Being the sixth child of a family of eight and being reared during the depression years, found me in a situation where there just wasn't any extra money to send me to college. I heard about the rural scholarship and decided to apply for the grant, which I received.

The money was used for tuition and books. I was able to stay with my grandmother at no expense to me. She also fed me breakfast and supper. My noon meal was acquired by working at the cafeteria at the college. This also gave me a little spending money for incidentals. Thus I was able to complete my first year in college.

The next step was to find a school to teach so I could fulfill the requirements of the Scholarship. After sending out several applications, I received an answer from Birtsell Township, Foster County. I was eighteen years old and really didn't know where Foster County was, not to mention Birtsell township! One of my fellow students was from this area.

With her encouragement I set out with shaky knees to meet with the chairman of the Board for an interview. Within a few days I received a contract to teach Birtsell No. 4 School for $210 a month. My duties included doing janitor work and supervising the play during the recess time. I was offered a place to stay with a farm family that lived about a quarter of a mile away from the school.

The school was modern compared to many of the rural schools. It had indoor toilets and a stoker furnace that worked fine if it was kept filled with coal. The floors and other equipment were in good shape so it wasn't too difficult to keep clean. I did find a nest of mice in the teacher's desk, but I handled that without too much trouble.

Before long it was time for the school term to start. This was to be my first experience with a rural school. When I was a child we lived on a farm, but we attended school in town. My practice teaching was in a small town that had graded rooms with two grades in one room. Here I was in a school all by myself. There were six students with five different grades! Two first graders, one second, one fourth, sixth and eighth. How in the world do you get all those classes in one day? How will I keep their interest when there is no competition? What can we do to keep them from being too bored? How will this Norwegian community accept a teacher that had an Irish Name of Clancy?

I learned early in life, where there is a will there is a way. If you really work at it, and maybe a prayer or two along the way‑ you can come up with some solution to almost any problem that may come along.

The County Superintendent was in charge of the rural schools. She was helpful with suggestions on methods of teaching, setting up the schedule and solving any special problems that may arise. She would make periodic visits to see if you were having any problems and to offer her assistance. It was really reassuring to know that she was there to help, if it was necessary.

As the days progressed I discovered that these students were very adept at understanding the various subjects. They were able to complete the required work in record time, which would leave extra time for doing other things. I also found out that they liked to sing and put on programs, so that is how we filled in the extra time.

The first production was a skit on the United Nations. The students made flags representing the five nations who were members of the Security Council. (By this time the number of students had dropped to five as one of the girls moved away.) These were placed in front of stools. Each member dressed as closely as possible to the style of clothes that was worn in the country he represented. With the assistance of the narrator and each member, the story of the United Nations was told: How it started; the purpose of the organization, the various divisions, etc.

Songs were also sung from a special book on the United Nations. The parents came to watch the program. After which they joined in some folk dances from various countries and a very special lunch. A repeat performance of this program was requested at a later date.

Halloween was the next celebration with a special witch as a surprise guest, (this was one of the mothers). The students made masks out of paper bags, bobbed for apples, pinned the tale on the donkey or cat, and other Halloween games. Some little members of the community were also special guests.

The next production was the Christmas program. This included solos, a play "A Christmas Cinderella, " and "A Living Christmas Magazine." The five students took the various parts, changing character by changing costumes. Behind the scene was really a riot. I had to hope for the best as I was out front playing piano!! Kids are really something if they are involved in a project they really want to do!

Programs for the guests were made out by hand with art work done by the students. Lunch was served to the capacity crowd by some of the mothers.

A Valentine party was held in February. The students had a good time making old‑fashioned Valentines during the art classes.

This Irishman just couldn't let St. Patrick's Day pass without some celebration in spite of the fact that this was a Norwegian community. The children and the parents went along with the idea. It's surprising, when you dress up a little boy or girl in Kelly green, teach them some Irish songs, the Irish jig, and a few Irish jokes. It's really difficult to tell that they are little Norwegians!! The highlight of the program was the rhythm band number entitled "Clancy's Rhythm Band" with music taken from "McNamara's Band" and the words changed to fit the occasion. The final verse stating that they were the strangest Irishmen ever seen because they were all Norwegians!

During the year the county would have some activities for all the rural schools. These were the Y.C.L. (Young Citizen League) convention and the music festival. The Y.C.L. convention was conducted by the students who held the various offices. Those who wished to run for office gave campaign speeches and other activities to get their fellow students to vote for them. Election followed steps the same as in the national or state election. Schools were invited to participate in the program. Birtsell No., 4 was asked to give their performance of the United Nations program.

The music festival was also held in Carrington. Each school was to prepare some numbers for this event. Judges were present and would write comments on the various numbers presented. Birtsell

No. 4 presented three numbers: a rhythm band selection, a tap dance in costume, and a Russian folk dance in costume. The comments were favorable and the students were pleased with their efforts.

To celebrate Mother's Day the boys and girls invited their Mothers to school for a special "Mother's Day Tea." After some appropriate readings and songs the Mothers were served tea with fancy sandwiches and cookies. It was quite a festive affair.

At the end of the school year, the seventh and eighth grades were required to take a State examination. These were really tough because the questions were sent in from all over the state. Then certain ones were chosen to be placed in the test. The text books that the schools in the state had were certainly not all the same, so some of the questions could very well not have been discussed in your particular school. It was definitely a time of nervous preparation for the teacher as well as the student. Upon digging through some old boxes I found some old exams. We reviewed these plus the year's work and hoped for the best. My students came through with flying colors!!

Some of the customs in the rural school was opening exercises which was the "Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag", an inspection of the hands and nails to see if they had been properly cleaned. The results of the inspection were dutifully recorded on a chart that hung on the wall; clean hands received an ivory bar, if they were questionable it was a yellow dot, and if they were really bad, a red dot.

Other charts around the room were for reading tests, spelling tests, and the amount of library books that had been read throughout the year. If the required number of extra books had been read then the student would receive a "reading certificate" at the close of the term.

This completed my first of what turned out to be a career of ten years of teaching. It truly was an experience that I shall never forget.
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Nordmore School

Nordmore School No. 3 (Berglund School), May 27, 1919; Back Row: Rose Reiniger, Mrs. Joe Reiniger, Sr., Mary Reiniger, Laura (Snyder) Anderson, Esther Snyder; (front) Clara Reiniger, Evelyn Anderson, Elizabeth Reiniger, Borghild Ruston; teacher was Howard Nelson.

Nordmore School No. 3, October 30, 1913; included in picture are Mary Reiniger, Esther Snyder, Oleine Meyer, Rose Reiniger, Verna Slusher, Emma Ruston, Lena Reiniger, Olga Ruston, Margaret Ruston, Tillie Reiniger, Audrey Slusher, Fred Snyder, Henry Reiniger, Edwin Ruston, Burl Slusher; teacher at right is Lidwina Wiemals.
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Entertainment & Recreation

Preface

There was no lack of cultural and entertainment goings‑on in Foster County from the very earliest days. An "Opera House" built in Carrington in the late 1890's was the center for these activities until it burned down in 1912. There were all types of dramatic performances and variety shows playing at least once a week, amateur theatricals, concerts, lyceum series, lectures, school exercises and political meetings besides dances and masquerades. A traveling Chatauqua spent a week in town every summer beginning in 1914 continuing into the 1930's. Medicine and other tent shows came too, even "Uncle Tom's Cabin." Circuses came often, but not every summer.

The first city band was organized in 1896 and continued with a few interruptions until these activities were taken over by the High School Band. The city band gave concerts and played every Saturday night in the summer in the bandstand in the little city park.

Motion pictures were shown irregularly during the first decade of the 20th century, but the first and only permanent movie house, the "Grand, " did not open its doors until 1914. It ran continuously from then on until it closed permanently in 1980. As the years went by, home entertainment, first radio and later television, became increasingly popular.

With the coming of automobiles and all‑weather roads the small villages in the county began to decline and Carrington became more and more the "Central City." The one‑room schools closed one by one and the children are now bussed to one of three centralized schools.

For a long time the only park in the city was the little plot with a band stand on Main Street across from the hotel. After a Park Board was formed a park area with recreational facilities was developed at the edge of town where there are playing fields, tennis courts, a swimming pool and skating rink. Across the road a nine‑hole golf course with a clubhouse was built in the 1950's.

After the first few decades of the Twentieth Century Carrington's growth has been slow, but there has never been a step backward. The rural population, on the other hand, has declined steadily as the farms have grown larger and larger. Most of the business activity in Carrington has some relation to the agricultural economy of the area‑ elevators, feed and seed, fertilizers, farm implements, automobiles and trucks and all the other necessities for a good life. A few industries have been started in the city, grown larger and then faded away. Among them were the brick plant, a cigar factory and the creamery. Now there is only one manufacturing facility in the city‑ it makes specialized farm equipment.

Over the years there have been many special occasions to celebrate in the city and county: The Old Settlers Picnic and the Fourth of July in past years, but no longer; Homecoming after World War I; Dedication of the airport and subsequent Air Shows; the 75th Anniversary Celebration; and the Bicentennial in 1976. An annual fair with emphasis on 4‑H projects is held in the fall. Frontier Days in the summer is a Chamber of Commerce promotion.
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Entertainment

The unavailability of newspapers from the early years of Foster County makes it difficult to learn much about the entertainment and recreation opportunities during the first decade of its existence. It is known from Mrs. J. R. McKenzie's reminiscences that there was an active social life in Carrington from the very beginning and at no time was the city devoid of cultural and social activities. In an interview published on September 20, 1928, she states, "The amusements and entertainments were along the usual lines. After the erection of the first Kirkwood Hotel some attractive social affairs were held there: one very elaborate ball. There were concerts and church affairs such as suppers, pink teas, donation parties, etc., and I think some card fiends were in town as far back as that. I believe that whist and euchre were the popular games then. There were also some plays given and ever‑present road shows one‑night stands." In another place she mentions, "We had an organized dramatic club and produced from two to three plays of merit every winter. The first piano in the court house, then our place of amusement, was purchased by this club. The greater portion of the proceeds of these entertainments were devoted to charity. Like all amateur dramatic performers we were possessed with the desire 'to go on the road' and these played were also produced at Jamestown, New Rockford and Sykeston, with Mr. C.K. Wing our advance agent as well as one of our star performers."
The rural people, some of them a long way from town, could not participate much in these activities. Their social life, such as it was, consisted of get-togethers in their homes and schoolhouses whenever blizzards and storms in the winter and the hard work of raising their crops did not interfere. The reminiscences of some of the pioneers often mention such affairs. Weddings were usually celebrated with a dance, and sometimes with charivaris (shivarees).

As early as 1883 Alton G. Covell recorded in his diary that he attended a professional variety show in Jamestown on July 10, 1883, for which he paid 25¢ for admission. Files of newspapers are on hand from 1894 on, except for 1895, and these are the chief sources of information concerning entertainment, cultural and otherwise, since then. There were many kinds‑ road shows, plays, minstrels, vaudeville, concerts, lectures, chautauquas, medicine shows, Tom shows, dances, circuses and performances by local people staged by groups not only in Carrington but also in the smaller towns as well. Many of these "Home Talent" shows were not reported so any story is necessarily incomplete.

Two notices of entertainments are found in the 1894 newspapers. A magic lantern show was given at the courthouse by a Mr. Reitson on May 31. The admission was 15 cents for adults and ten cents for children. On June 14 the Independent reported that Reed and Wantling's Colored Jubilee Singers gave a good performance.

Nothing is known of happenings in 1895, but in 1896 a number of programs presented are mentioned in the Independent: On January 25 Leo Johnston's Plantation Minstrel Show appeared; on July 6 the Hope Concert Troupe performed at the Courthouse and later that month the Oregon Indian Medicine Company performed in Bisset's Hall. The August 7 issue reports that "They gave a good performance and sold quite a lot of medicine." The location of Bisset's Hall has not been ascertained. (John Bisset, born in Scotland, was an 1883 arrival in Carrington and managed pool halls and hotels until his death in 1905, aged about 55. ) Later that year, on September 30, Professor Ferguson "The noted elocutionary artist" gave a performance at the hall, admission was 10 and 25 cents. The Moore and Worth Comedy Company presented a minstrel show in the Courthouse: "Some of the singing was good and the whole performance was as good as colored troupes give." The incomplete file of the newspapers for 1897 report only one entertainment, an open air concert by the Tress Company on April 8.
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Buchanan Opera House

In the fall of 1898 the Buchanans completed their two-story retail store building at the Southeast cor​ner of Main Street and Central. Avenue (Lots 1 and 2, Block 28 of the Original Townsite). The second floor equipped with a small stage at one end became the Buchanan Opera House. The first performances noted were on December 17 and 18, 1898, when the Sanford Dodge Company gave two dramatic per​formances. Unfortunately the titles of the plays presented were not mentioned this time.

The Buchanan Opera House continued to be the entertainment center of the city for more than a decade. Improvements were made from time to time. In October 1900, a new drop curtain was in​stalled which had been designed by Olaus Bendixson. It had a painted scene in the center with advertisements of local businesses along the border. Electric lighting with footlights was installed as soon as power from the generating plant became available in the fall of 1903. Dances were held oc​casionally after the stage performances and for years scarcely a week passed by without some sort of an entertainment or social event at the Opera House.

The following performances at the Opera House in the years around the turn of the century have been noted:

Mar. 3, 1899 - Mrs. Charlot's Waxworks together with musical and literary selections

Feb. 1, 1900 - The Nix Family Jollities, Columbia Cornet Quartette and Mandolin Quartette

January 5-8,1901- Sanford Dodge Troupe Nov. 24,1901- Cosgrave Concert Company Dec. 12, 1901 - Sanford Hall and Company in "Virginius," greatest acting tragedy of modern times

Dec. 16, 1901 - Burleigh Cash, baritone; Arthur and Irene Sales, song and dance team; Blanche Turver, Sweet singer; Harry Knapp, juggler. Admission 251, 301 and 501.

May 1, 1902 - "Mr. Buchanan received word that the Sadie Raymond Dramatic Company will shortly ap​pear at the Opera House early in May."
May 8,1902 - "Missouri Girl" "This is one of the best plays on the road. The company carries special scenery.

Oct. 19, 1902 - The Truesdale Minstrel Company "The dog and monkey show was a new feature here and very much appreciated. A special feature was the work of 'Frosti' the song illustrator."
Oct. 29, 1902 - The Raymond Company in "Old Arkansaw"
Nov. 29, 1902 - Sanford Dodge Company with "The Gladiator"
Nov. 11, 1902 - Joy of New York, Best Comedy Com​pany. Grand Street Parade at 12 o'clock. Review: "Played to a packed house last night. The music was fine. After the show the company gave a concert followed by a dance."
Nov. 12,1902 - Columbian Concert Opera Company Dec... 8, 1902. - The Orpheus Colored Concert Com​pany. "The singing was of the highest order."
Dec. 12,1902 -The. Three Girl Company

During the rest of the decade shows of many kinds kept coming to the Buchanan Opera House- min​strels, vaudeville, farces, comedies, concerts, lec​tures, magicians, a few serious plays, even Shakespeare. The Independent for December 31, 1903, reports: "Sanford Dodge and his excellent company were here last night and presented "Hamlet." Their rendering of the difficult master​piece of Shakespeare's was splendid. Mr. Dodge should be congratulated." "Romeo-Juliet" played on November 28, 1906 and "Twelfth Night" on January 11, 1911, when the admission was $1.75, $1.50 and $1.25. There were many good shows and comments after the performances sometimes appeared in the newspapers. The Independent for November 26, 1905, states, "The Missouri Girl was here this week and better than ever. The company was here twice before and this time was greeted by a packed house which showed that their efforts were appreciated." The Record of November 21, 1907, liked the West‑Henry Company and remarks " . . . in the city two nights last week played to poor houses. The company is A‑1 and deserves credit. All the players were good, the costumes better than those many city stock companies put out."
There were bad shows, too. In a review of the "Man from Sweden" which played on January 19, 1905, the editor of the Independent stated: "they gave a vaudeville entertainment after the regular show which was the worst ever. Mr. Buchanan said they gave it without his knowledge or consent and he will see that nothing like it occurs again." After the November 29, 1907 appearance of the Alfa Stock Company the Carrington Record notes, " . . . it seems to be a mystery to all who attended it. The show was well advertised, too well, probably, for the turnout it received, but one bad show is all Carrington can stand in one week."
Minstrels with black or blackface performers were always popular entertainment. Street parades up and down Main Street when alighting from the train or just before the show were a common practice. On January 17, 1907, another kind of a black troupe performed under the auspices of the Methodist Ladies Aid. They were the Canadian Jubilee Singers composed of the children of slaves who escaped to Canada during the Civil War. "The old plantation melodies and orchestral works will be specially interesting."
Often there were dances after the show when the troupes performing carried an orchestra. There were dances and balls, too, with local orchestras. Ara Amadon, the local band leader, also presented concerts and dances at the Opera House. One of these was the St. Patrick's Day Masquerade on March 17, 1909. Admission was one dollar and costumes could be ordered ahead of time from the Buchanans. The dance was well attended, the Independent reports, "but too few were in costume. Fred Beier was dressed up as Uncle Sam."
In 1908 the Buchanans threatened to close the Opera House since they said it was not a remunerative enterprise and the space would be rented to the Masonic Lodge. The deal fell through and entertainments continued in much the same way as previously. They installed motion picture equipment and showed films occasionally, but this effort was no great success. The hall, however, over the years held a number of important social affairs. In August 1901, the cantata "David, The Shepherd Boy, " was rendered by Carrington talent under the direction of Professor Moore. In December 1905, James Davidson, brother of C. H. Davidson and president of the First National Bank, lectured on his experiences in the Orient and Greenland. He had been United States Consul in Manchuria at the time to the Russo‑Japanese War and later participated in Admiral Perry's Arctic expeditions. The lecture was sponsored by the Women's Literary Club for the Library Fund.

One of the longest‑remembered social events occurred on May 25, 1910, when the ladies of Carrington gave an evening reception in honor of Governor Burke and his wife. The governor had been the main speaker at the afternoon ceremonies for the laying of the cornerstone of the new Foster County Courthouse.

In 1911 the frame building of the Opera House was beginning to show signs of age. A huge crowd had gathered in the hall to hear H. W. Campbell speak on "Scientific Farming." Workmen in the basement noticed that the floors were sagging. While there appeared to be no imminent danger the floor was reinforced temporarily with railroad ties which were later replaced by heavy timbers. The next year, on December 1, 1912, a fire starting on the second floor consumed the building and the Buchanan general store and the Opera House were no more.
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The Bruening Opera House

The old downtown courthouse building became vacant early in 1911 when the new one was occupied. The building, no longer of use, was advertised for sale by the County Commissioners with the provision that the building had to be moved from the site. The bid of $1600 by John Bruening of the Wyard Township family for the structure, not including the heating plant, was accepted. The building was moved during the summer of 1911 to a lot on First Street South next to the Buchanan warehouse (Lots 2 and 3, Block 27 of the Original Townsite). The second floor courtroom became the auditorium with a stage and a seating capacity of about 200. The lower floor with most of the partitions removed and a new hardwood floor installed became a skating rink which did not open until November 1912.

An advertisement in the December 12, 1911, Independent announced the opening of the Bruening Opera House on December 15: "Madame Sherry to open new Opera House December 15. The company to present the tuneful show here is said to be as good as any on the road producing the celebrated opera. Remember a few seasons ago 'Every Little Movement Has a Meaning All Its Own' was originally sung and given popularity in the Madame Sherry original production in New York City. A strong chorus is carried by the company." The admission was the previously unheard of price of $2.00.

During 1912 shows continued at about a biweekly rate with a few showings of motion pictures. After the Buchanan Opera House was destroyed by fire in December 1912 it became the only theater in town for a while. The presentation of plays, minstrel shows and vaudeville and the like continued in 1913 with George Tabraham as manager. He had previously been the proprietor of a harness shop. Late that year J.A. "Happy" Abrahamson took over the management in April 1913 and was in charge until 1915 when he became associated with the local electric generating plant.

During 1914 and 1915 the newly opened motion picture theater, The Grand, began to compete with the Opera House and road shows became fewer and farther between. The last performance noted took place on Saturday night, October 31, 1914, when the Western Music Company's "The Tango Girl, " a "big fun show" played. The next issue of the Record reported: "The Tango Girl show at the Opera House last week was about as bad as a show can be, but the company is trying to make a living so we will not be too hard on them." The vaudeville acts at the Grand in conjunction with the two‑ and three‑reel films were at this time sufficient to supply the audience's need for live entertainment.

The roller skating rink on the lower level was moved to the upper floor when the lower was rented to the Carrington Steam Laundry managed by C. S. Holiday. The manager, Bill Jack, tore out the stage and the Bruening Opera House was no more. Dances were held in the hall occasionally for a year or so. In the early 1920's the hall served as a temporary basketball court for the high school before Ewen Hall was built on the school grounds. The laundry, operated by E.A. Johnson remained in the old courthouse building until 1943 when he remodeled it into apartments.
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Carrington on Film

The city has been portrayed in motion pictures at least twice. Once scenes for a promotional film for the Soo Line and The Canadian Pacific Railway were shot in Carrington. Actors were brought in to film an elopement sequence. The bride and groom were filmed escaping from a second story window of the C. H. Davidson house on Main Street and fleeing by horse and buggy to the Soo station to arrive there just in time to catch the Soo Flyer on its way to western Canada.

In late June 1916 an announcement in the Independent to the effect that June 26 was to be "Movie Day": "The town should be packed to see how motion pictures are made." There is no indication as to who was to make the pictures. It is suspected, however, that it was Holmboe of Bismarck, who was making similar films of other North Dakota cities at the time.

The sun shone on Movie Day but the crowds were disappointingly small since the muddy roads caused by. recent rains had made traveling into town difficult or impossible.

The films were shown on August 15, 1916. The Independent reports: "Home movies at the Grand filled the playhouse three times. The pictures were better than many expected although the company would have made a more popular set, we believe, if they had taken more close-ups of local people. It was buildings the film showed clearly, but the people were so small as not to be recognized. It was the close‑up pictures of the people we know that would have made it a bigger hit." It is believed that this film or some parts of it are in the collections of the State Historical Society.
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Traveling Motion Picture Shows 

(A Personal Reminiscence)

Motion pictures in the early part of the century were not an exclusively Carrington entertainment; traveling shows made frequent appearances in the smaller communities. Word would go out to the residents on the farms around the neighborhood that the moving picture man was in town putting on a show that evening. The exhibitor who came on the afternoon train would have his projector and screen set up when the audience started to arrive as soon as supper was over and the evening chores done. I remember seeing shows of this sort in the Odd Fellows Hall over Fife's store in Barlow. I suppose it was during the period just before and during World War I. At any rate I was old enough to read the subtitles as they flashed by on the screen. At Barlow, anyway, there was no music for the shows (no piano) but the operator would often make a running commentary and supply sound effects as he turned the crank on the projector. I have only dim recollections of the pictures or actors we saw but I think the pictures were usually what we call "westerns" now with lots of shooting, ambushes, and chases over the hills and around the rocks. One reel I do remember showing Buffalo Bill's troupe performing their trick riding stunts in an arena where they went round and round.

I have no definite idea who may have presented these shows. According to the newspaper records a Mr. R. R. Mooney was making one night stands in the villages in 1910. A little later, 1917, the Independent for November 18, 1917, reported: "Meirbach and Abrahamson who have been buying junk here purchased a moving picture outfit this week and started giving shows along the Turtle Lake Branch. They plan to make the towns weekly." Without a doubt these are the individuals who showed the movies in Barlow.

There is one other movie I remember seeing in these early days, probably the middle teens. A medicine show set up its tent in the vacant lot across the road from the Northern Pacific depot in Barlow for, I suppose, a week's stand. It seemed to me to be an elaborate affair with a stage with draw curtains at one end of the tent and bleachers along the sides as well as reserved seats in the center. The troupe consisted of four or five people including a clown.

The show started with a number of vaudeville skits before an intermission when the pitch for the medicine was delivered. As the pitchman made his spiel the clown hawked the medicine to the audience with the promise of moving pictures after a sufficient number of bottles had been sold. I was anxious for my father to buy at least one to insure my seeing the movie. Dad, however, did not fall for this line; but the movies, of course, were shown anyway. It, too, was a western with a Mexican or Spanish setting. The one thing I remember specifically about the show was the effect of time passing by being able to see the cactus along the wall of the fort grow visibly taller as we watched. After the show I questioned Dad about the growing cactus and he assured me that it was all just trick photography.
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Circus

The first traveling circus to pitch its tents in Carrington came on July 1896. The advertisement in the Independent the week before states: "It is the consensus of public opinion that Bond Brothers World's Best Shows presents the greatest array of circus and hippodrome performers ever congregated. Its many pleasant innovations and extraordinary first‑time ever exhibited commend themselves to an appreciative public and it is conceded the very best show in America. Every country and clime contributed to its arenic grandeur for popular favor. The Bond Brothers are said to exhibit many rare wild animals never before seen by American audiences. Its ethnological congress is of deepest interest introducing many remarkable specimens for the first time in this country. The performances of the wonderful educated horses furnish a theme for study and awake a new interest in the noble equine. Newspapers wherever the mammoth beasts have been spread are enthusiastic in praises and said to attract the largest assemblages ever seen at a tented show.

The following week the editor of the Independent has some comments: "Last Thursday was an eventful day in Carrington, it being the first time a railroad show ever visited our little city. Bond Brothers show is not one of the largest which travel but has some very good features and some that were not good. The entire outfit was run by gamblers who made a specialty of roping in the innocent sucker and strange to say they reaped their harvest in Carrington. If we should publish the names of the parties who patronized their thimble rig game it would be a great surprise to the people of Foster County. Men never known to gamble a cent in their lives were the ones who were roped in for the largest amounts. The most disgraceful part of the whole matter was that a number of people of the county acted as coppers for the gamblers, thus roping in their friends. The people of this county have been taught a lesson that will last a lifetime and the chances that they will not soon be up against a sure thing.

Two years later on July 26, 1898, the Leman Brothers Circus came to town. Some of the attractions were: Three Ring Circus ‑ Five Continent Menagerie ‑ Trained Wild Animal Exhibition ‑ Real Roman Hippodrome ‑ Free Horse Fair ‑ The Mighty Bovalopus, the rarest, awfullest, mighty monster of the deep ‑ Rajah, the biggest brute on earth, .the towering giant, the lord of beasts, taller, longer, weighs more, costs more than any elephant ever captured, bigger than the famous Jumbo ‑ Captain Santiago High Diver ‑ Little Edna, the girl wonder, only girl turning forward and backward somersaults on the back of a horse ‑ Racing Steers, Wally Krueger ‑ Whole herd of animals, giant camels, long maned and tailed horse ‑ baby hippopotamus, baby lions. Free Grand Street Parade at 10 a.m. High Dive at 10:30. Tents waterproof. Doors open at 1:00, performances commence at 2:00. Afternoon performance only.

The next one appeared on Saturday, June 14, 1902. "Campbell Brothers Great Consolidated Shows will exhibit at Carrington, Saturday, June 14. Monsters, Majestic Spectacular Fine Street Parade at 10 a.m. Menagerie Museum, Exhibitions of trained animals. The last of its kind, the only BEHOMOTH of Holy Writ known to exist, as large as an elephant.

A year later, Friday, July 10, 1903, the Great Sells and Downs United Shows came to town. "The most original, modern, up‑to‑date amusement enterprise on earth. World's Best Circus talent. The immensity, uniqueness, novelty, originality of this show excels all other shows. Trained animal department showing remarkable acts demonstrating the brute intelligence of educated elephants, baboons, monkeys, dogs, ponies, goats, pigs, donkeys. 10:00 Grand Street Parade. A glorious combination of street carnival, spectacular street fair."
1:16 and 7:15 P.M. Prof. Neal Concert Band, the renowned soloist musicians in a 45‑minute grand concert on center stage.

2:00 and 8:00 All feature performance begins, comprising multitudinous, overwhelming, indescribable acrobatics, spectacular aerial and trained animal hippodrome events.

The Great Canada Franks Shows came to Carrington on August 4, 1904, but the details concerning the performances are lacking. The first of several visits of the Gollmar Brothers, "The Greatest American Shows, " was on June 17, 1905: "Most refined tented enterprize on earth, Gollmar Brothers' Shows. Million Dollar Menageries and Roman Hippodrome, 100 Premier Acts given in 3 big rings, Elaborate Acts in Mid‑air, 30 Clowns, 10 Champion Riders, the Famous Petit Family, Europe's Greatest Acrobats, the Flying Mazettas, the London Troupe of Statue Artists, the Maxwell Troupe of Acrobats, a Herd of Ponderous Elephants, Daisy, the Playful Baby, the Black Vlock Vark from Africa, the Only Sacred White Camel, the Only Living Black Hippopotamus from the River Nile. At 10 o'clock the largest and most magnificent free street displays in the world. Seven open dens of most savage beasts, a massive steam piano, a score of bands, ten kinds of historical characters. Two performances daily, doors open at 1 and 7 p.m. for inspection of the menagerie.

After the performance the Independent noted: "It rained a little on Circus day but not enough to spoil the fun." The Gollmer Circus returned on July 2, 1906, and again in 1908, 1910 and 1912, the last to Carrington; it played in New Rockford in 1913.

Besides the biannual appearance of the Gollmar Brothers Shows other circuses came along: The Campbell Brothers in 1907 and 1908, Norris and Rowe in 1909. The last had what have been an exciting misfortune when "At noon the menagerie tent ballooned in a sharp breeze from the south. Two of the elephants were caught in the canvas and in their efforts to free themselves overturned the cage of tigers but the animals did not escape." No circuses made their appearance in 1913 and 1914, but a new company, the Yankee‑Robinson Shows played on June 10, 1915. It was scheduled to come again two years later, 1916, but kept postponing the date and it never did appear. Finally, however, two years later this circus played on the old race track grounds on June 28, 1918.

After World War I a number of traveling tent shows continued to appear in Carrington: Heber Brothers on July‑30, 1919, with the World's Largest Bactrian Camel (two humps), Campbell Brothers Trained Animal Show, June 30, 1920, Klowe‑Van Amberg Circus, June 10, 1920, Howes London Circus, June 1921, and Patterson's Wild Animal Circus, June 1925, Robbins Brothers Four Ring Wild Animal Circus with Ponca Bill's Wild West, Mammoth Pageant, Historic Review of North America. The last one noted in the decade of the 20's, Zellmar Brothers Circus, came June 16, 1925. It was in trouble, the second largest tent blew over in a high wind and was wrecked just before the evening performance, which consequently, did not take place. In addition, the show was being sued for damages in the amount of $21,500 on account of a fight with a roustabout during a performance in Medina. The circus was held in Carrington until they were able to post bond and released to go to Cooperstown.
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Motion Pictures

by Ross Bloomquist

The first mention of pictures being projected on a screen one by one so rapidly that the illusion of motion is obtained was an exhibition at the Buchanan Opera House in November 1899 by the American Cineograph Company. An item in the Independent after the performance noted that, "A number of people attended and those who saw it were well satisfied." There is no mention of the nature of the pictures on the screen; the fact that the

images moved was probably novelty enough. A year passed before there was another: the May 10, 1900 newspaper announces: "At Buchanan's Hall on May 15 there will be given an exhibition of Edison's famous animated moving pictures representing scenes from large cities, different parts of the world, narrow escapes on the railroad, hurricanes at sea and other scenes of fun, interest and excitement, the Corbett‑Fitzsimmons fight, the battle of Santiago and many other war scenes." The admission was 25¢, children 15¢.

There is no mention of motion pictures in the press in 1901 but the next year, on May 22, 1902 the following notice appeared in the Independent: "Brady Brothers will give an entertainment of moving pictures in the Opera House next Saturday night. This is not to be confounded with the cheap movies heretofore but it is first class in every way. They show over $30,000 pictures and play in all the larger cities."
For the next several years there is no mention of motion pictures in the newspapers. Either there were none or the newspaper men were indifferent to this new form of entertainment. Also there is no indication that the editors of either  of the two Carrington newspapers even were in attendance at any of the earlier exhibitions.

On November 14, 1904 Adjutant Wakefield of the Jamestown Salvation Army came to Carrington to show 3000 feet of moving pictures of the International Congress held in London, England at the Buchanan Opera House. In the next issue of the Independent it is reported that the "pictures were excellent."
Finally in 1907 motion pictures came to Carrington to stay although the going was not easy for the first few years. The first Saturday afternoon shows came that year: "On Saturday afternoon at 2 o'clock on February 23, 1907 the performances were "arranged with the view to allow our little ones as well as the older ones to attend." The subjects were not announced and the theater or hall not specified but it was not the Buchanan Opera House. The newspaper remarked in the next issue; "The motion pictures was reported to be good." Later, in 1908 and 9 the Opera House was showing movies with illustrated songs three. nights a week during the Holiday Season, under the management of E. A. Cline of Iowa. He is quoted in the newspaper as stating: "Nearly every city in this state has theater of the sort which provide instructive and entertaining diversions at a reasonable rate. The pictures are the same as those shown in Fargo and Grand Forks and Minneapolis theaters and strictly high class." The first entertainment takes place this Thursday evening (December 31, 1908) and will continue for the rest of the week. The prices will be adults 25¢, school children 15¢.

In the same issue of the Independent, December 31, 1908, it is stated: "Carrington is going to have a "Builders of a Nation" play presented March 19, 1920 included Mrs. Harry Chaffee, Mrs. Jim Morris, Mrs. L.R. Putnam, Mrs. C. Carnahan, Miss Aiken, Mrs. Con Healy, Mrs. MacKenzie and Mrs. Hollett.

Bijou, we are right in line with the larger cities of the state." The last is a little confusing, it is not certain if the Opera House productions are being referred to or to the new theater which opened for business late in January 1909. It was not, however, called the Bijou, it was the "Unique." The first manager was A. E. Ireland, better known in town as a fuel, feed, lumber and coal dealer. The theater was located in the building on the lot later occupied by the Stambaugh Brothers Garage on Lot 8 Block 21 of the Original Townsite. Shows of a sort for several days a week continued intermittently through 1909 and the attendance was good during the first few months of the year. There were live features as well as motion pictures, vocalists, etc. and dances shown were not announced except in two instances. During the week of February 18, 1909 the program consisted of 3 two-reelers, "Life of Lincoln, " "Engaged Against His Will, " and "Troubles of a Coat." There was to be a new song, "Because You Were an Old Sweetheart of Mine." The following week, on Friday and Saturday, the program included "Grandfather's Pill, " "The Red Specter, " and "Honeymoon at Niagara" and the new song, "Only an Old-fashioned Cottage but it's All the World to Me." Amadon's orchestra played a concert after the shows with dancing following.

The Passion Play was scheduled to come on March 19 and 20, 1909 at 8 o'clock in the evening with a Saturday matinee at 2:30, with Amadon's Orchestra furnishing special music. The admission charged was 15 and 25 cents. This performance may not have come off since the feature was rescheduled for May 28 and 29 when it drew large crowds. "Talks by Father McDonald of Sacred Heart Church at the performances greatly added to the proper understanding of the picture."
Good patronage continued during the spring and early summer, an electric sign was placed over the entrance in June‑ "Upper Main Street is beginning to look like a Great White Way." In July 1909 Manager Ireland left town and was replaced by Charles Summers. The entertainment policy was changed somewhat in conjunction with the motion pictures vaudeville acts were added to the program. About this time the projector broke down and performances did not resume until about August 1 with lowered admission prices, now 151 and 201. A phonograph was installed at the front of the‑theater to attract customers. The newspaper states, "The management expects to put on first class pictures and eliminate much of the immoral French films." On August 19, 20 and 21st the Williams and Mayer Comedy performed and an acrobatic team was on the program a few weeks later. Either a lack of talent or lack of audiences caused the management to discontinue vaudeville at the end of October 1910. From then on the shows consisted of motion pictures and illustrated songs with 2 shows of silent motion pictures at 8 and 9 every evening. The accompaniment to the pictures was a single pianist. At the end of the year the theatre closed due to lack of patronage.

New owners of the Unique took over early in 1910 but Summers continued as manager. At first there were shows only on Wednesday and Saturday with roller skating on Thursday evenings. Ownership changed again in February with L. D. David and R. R. Mooney as the new proprietors. Shows continued with an orchestra to furnish the accompaniment, with dances after the show. The operation could not have been profitable since Mooney decided instead to show the wonders of the film world to the nearby towns. He bought an improved projector and a portable gasoline engine and dynamo to provide electric power for the film machine. Accompanied by a violinist and a pianist he gave shows, one night stands, in the villages north and south and along the Turtle Lake Branch. He returned to Carrington for Saturday night shows only. Nothing more appears in the newspapers until late in December when it is reported that the theatre had been sold to P. A. White of Williston and that it would be reopened with a new projection machine and two vaudeville acts would be booked each week. Apparently the deal was never consummated because the theatre never did reopen. In February 1911 the building which had housed the Unique was rented to the H. I. Baney Harness Company and remodeled into a retail establishment.

After the demise of the Unique the Buchanans tried again to promote picture shows. At first there were shows for three nights a week, then biweekly, they even bought a new projector but the effort was discontinued in September. When the Buchanan store and Opera House burned down on December 1, 1912, their entertainment enterprises came to an end.

In the meantime the old courthouse building had been purchased by Henry Bruening and moved to a location in the middle of the block on First Street South. The building was remodeled so that the second floor court room became an auditorium seating about 200. Some of the partitions of the first floor were removed and a new floor put in for a skating rink. Now named the Bruening Opera House it showed motion pictures occasionally during 1912 and 1913 interspersed with road shows of various kinds. Very little can be ascertained about the pictures shown. Only two are mentioned in the Independent: Dame's "Inferno" was shown ‑in February 1913 and in April scenes from the Ohio flood were on the program.

The Grand Theatre came into existence in March 1913 in the fairly new building on Main Street between the First National Bank and the Galehouse Drug Store (Lot 15, Block 29, of the Original Townsite) owned by the Wing estate. It was rented by Claud M. (Slim) Blaisdell of Luverne, Minnesota. He was a nephew of Mr. and Mrs. T. W. Baker longtime Carrington residents. The building had been built shortly after the March 26, 1908 fire and had been occupied by the A. J. Smith Hardware Store until he moved across the street to his newly built premises (Lot 10, Block 28) on January 1, 1913. Blaisdell remodeled and redecorated the interior of the building and the first picture (name not ascertained) was shown late in April 1913 after a long delay in obtaining seats. He announced that the theatre would be open six nights a week with changes in program on Monday, Wednesday and Friday. Although no mention can be found of the titles of the pictures shown the patronage must have been satisfactory. In July he had an advertising curtain painted and a four piece orchestra (piano, violin, cornet and drums) accompanying the pictures in August. A little later the theater was remodeled to increase the seating by 25 seats and subsequently electric fans were placed along the walls to improve the ventilation during the hot summer months. An electric sign was installed over the entrance.

For the most part the pictures shows at the Grand were seldom advertised in the newspapers. On Tuesday, February 24, 1914 the four advertised in the newspapers. On Tuesday, February 24, 1914 the four reel feature "Absinthe" with King Biggot and Leah Baird was presented as a special attraction with reserved seats obtainable at the Galehouse Drug. In March "Ivanhoe" was featured and in May the four reel "Legend of Provence, " a reel adaptation of Adelaide Proctor's famous poem, and a comedy were shown. In June the "Mexican Picture" was described: "The pictures are the real thing and not set. The pictures depict the horrible conditions in Mexico and after looking at these pictures one has a better grasp of the Mexican problem and the utter hopelessness of trying to find a solution."
At this time the pictures were accompanied by a pianist and violinist. Different ones who kept coming and going are reported in the newspapers. One of them Marion Rude the daughter of John Rude, a Carrington plumber, married Blaisdell.

"Joan of Arc" in five parts was shown on July 24, 1914 and in August a three reel feature entitled "The Heart of a Woman, " a war drama of Revolutionary days, was shown together with a comedy "Fatty's Flirtation" on a Keystone reel. "There will also be music furnished by a five piece orchestra and the orchestra will give a thirty minute musical concert from 8 to 8:30. All adults will be given a souvenir." Another reserved seat show came on September 28, it was "A Stirring Story of Civil War Days" in five reels with five big acts, 215 thrilling scenes. An eight part photoplay de luxe "Anthony and Cleopatra" was shown in October.

In March 1915 a two reel serial became a part of the Friday and Saturday programs. "The Exploits of Elaine" starring Pearl White was shown in weekly installments for 10 to 12 weeks. Each episode always concluded at a most suspensful moment ‑ it was absolutely essential to be on hand next week to see how the hero and heroine escaped from their dire straits in the clutch of the villain. The serial was the second of this type, the first was "The Perils of Pauline", made in 1914 with the same star; there is no record of its being shown at the Grand.

A washed air cooling system was installed in May 1915 to improve the ventilation during the hot summer months. D. W. Griffith's six-reeler, "The Avenging Conscience or Thou Shalt Not Kill" was shown one night only on July 9, 1915. The ad states:

"The most mysterious masterful and sensational motion picture ever devised‑ taken from Edgar Allen Poe's 'The Telltale Heart'‑ photographic effects never before attempted."
In September 1915 Blaisdell took a position on the road with the Mutual Film Company to call on theater operators but he continued to manage the Grand until it was sold to Herman E. Poole of Enderlin, a man with some experience in theater management. Poole retained the ownership for a little over a year and in May 1916 he sold the Grand to John Lang, a Carrington barber and Ralph Botts, formerly of Arlington, Minnesota, who had come to town a year earlier to be leader of the Carrington band.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Botts were excellent musicians and she usually played the piano at the Grand. When there were special attractions he joined her on the violin. Besides leading the Carrington Band his dance orchestra played locally and elsewhere throughout the area. Botts managed the theater until 1925 except for approximately a year's time while he served in the army in World War I. During his absence Val Wagner who had been employed in the grocery department of Walker and Company was in charge of the theater.

When the Grand first opened in 1914 the program consisted of two or three 2‑ and 3‑ reel films with a short comedy. The films became longer as the years progressed and in the late teens and 20's the feature picture would consist of a six or eight reel picture with a two reel comedy or serial and a newsreel. There were always shows six nights of the week but never on Sunday. The first show started at about 7 to 7:30 in the evening and lasted until about 9:15 when the entire program was repeated after a short intermission. Usually there were only a scattering of early birds in their seats when the pictures started rolling but by the time the feature was half over most of the seats were well filled for weekend shows. A surge of people started leaving stumbling over the late comers when the picture reached the point when they could say, "Here's where I came in."
In the earliest years before electric current was available the projectionist in his little booth in the back of the theater had to crank the machine by hand and had to stop at the end of each reel to change to the next one. A slide, sometimes an advertisement for a local concern or a cartoon joke, was projected on the screen while the leader of the new reel was being threaded through the projector. Later it became possible to run two reels through without interruption and finally with two projectors the entire picture from opening title and credits to "THE END" or "FINIS", flowed without a break. Price in those days were 25 cents for adults and 10¢ to 15¢ for children and students. For an extra special attraction sometimes, a few occasions with reserved seats, the prices were as high as 50¢ and once or twice 75 cents.

On Friday and Saturday a western or an adventure story with stars such as Tom Mix, Hoot Gibson, Will Rogers and once in a while the Wonder Dog, Tin‑Tin‑Tin together with a serial and comedy would fill the house early in the evening. On Saturdays when the farmers and their families came to town the children were usually allowed to go to the movies while the weekly grocery shopping and other errands were attended to.

The story of the hundreds, maybe thousands of silent pictures shown, features, shorts, comedies, travelogues, news reels has already been the subject of many books and only a few of the high lights will be mentioned here. The names of many of the actors and actresses who played and starred in the years before the pictures began to talk mentioned in newspaper stories or advertisements are listed here in a somewhat chronological order starting with the earliest: Mary Pickford, Annette Kellerman, Anita Stewart, Theda Bara (The Vamp), William Farnum, Anna Q. Nilsson, Charlie Chaplin, Clara Kimball Young, Mae Marsh, Pearl White (the Serials star), Fatty Arbuckle, Mary Miles Minter, Douglas Fairbanks, Sr., Ben Turpin, Louise Fazenda, Charles Ray, Nazimova, Norma and Constance Talmadge, Wallace Reid, Mabel Normand, Sessue Hayakawa, Dustin Farnum, Mack Sennett Comedies, Bessie Barriscale, Blanche Sweet, Lon Chaney, Agnes Ayres, Colleen Moore, William S. Hart, Jackie Coogan, Jackie Cooper, Irene Rich, Dorothy Devore, Ramno Novarro, Monte Blue, Marie Prevost, Ronald Coleman, Reginald Denny, Rudolph Valentino, Buster Keaton, John Gilbert, Lillian and Dorothy Gish, Marion Davies, Eddie Cantor, Bebe Daniels, Gloria Swanson, Florence Vidor, Ricardo Cortez, Tom Mix, Adolph Menjou, Alice Joyce, Norma Shearer, John Barrymore, Ken Maynard, Wallace Beery, Raymond Hatton, Hoot Gibson, Milton Sills, Clara Bow, Richard Dix, William Boyd (better known later as Hop‑a‑Long Cassidy), Greta Garbo, Will Rogers, and there were, of course, many others well known to the movie fans of the day.

In looking over the feature pictures mentioned or advertised in the Carrington newspapers during the silent film era it would appear that a number of the more famous and historically significant films passed the city by and were never shown at the Grand. For example, D. W. Griffith's "The Birth of a Nation" (1915) was shown as a road show in Jamestown and later in a cut version in New Rockford but never at the Grand. Charlie Chaplin's feature length comedies, "The Kid" (1921), "The Gold Rush" (1925) and "The Circus" (1926) were never advertised in the Independent. The same is true of Harold Lloyd's "The Freshman" (1924), "The Covered Wagon" (1923) and Douglas Fairbanks "The Thief of Baghdad" (1924) to name only a few.

Ralph Botts sold the Grand theater to W. W. Arnold of Ellendale in October 1925. Botts continued to lead the boy's band and his dance orchestra and also sold Chrysler automobiles for a year or so before he and his wife moved to Medford, Oregon. Arnold managed the theater for a little over a year and then sold it to Don L. Tracy of Linton. Tracy had been the manager of a hotel and cafe in Linton which had burned down and there was no incentive for him to rebuild. He was looking around for an opportunity in North Dakota and the idea of managing a movie house in a prosperous town appealed to him. He bought the Grand late in 1925 and took over the management on January 17, 1926. He continued to operate the theater and be active in local affairs until he retired in 1954.

After the departure of Mr. and Mrs. Botts from the theater business the position of accompanist to the silent pictures was filled by local young people. Among them, at various times were Myrtle Buchanan, now Mrs. Otto Rogelstad, Myra Thurston now the late Mrs. Connie Smith and Bill Hensel. Theirs, however, was a dead‑end job since there were beginning to be rumors that the pictures were soon going to talk. Although the arrival of talking pictures was still several years in the future the first feeble effort in this direction came in an experiment in 1928. When Al Jolson's "The Jazz Singer" which was produced in both a silent and a part talking versions the silent one was shown at the Grand in this way: "Several of Jolson's records were played on a phonograph while he was shown on the screen singing the songs."
Nevertheless, changes in the Grand soon began after Tracy's purchase of the theater. The Sell Brothers, who had purchased the Walker and Company's hardware and furniture business some years previously, decided, as an investment, to construct a building 75 by 140 feet on the three lots facing the city park at the northwest corner of Main and Central (Lots 13, 14 and 15, Block 37 of the Original Townsite). These lots had been vacant for many years since the 1912 fire destroyed the former Guslander Hotel and some other business establishments. Before construction had started the double building at the corner had been leased to the J. C. Penney Company for 20 years and similarly to Tracy for the new Grand Theater on the 25 foot building between the Penney store and the bakery.

It was an opportune time to make the move since the old theater had become too small to handle the Saturday evening crowds; and the installation of the soon‑to‑come sound equipment would be difficult in the old structure. Construction began in September 1928 with Alex Nelson of Perham, Minnesota as the contractor. He was already well known locally as at the time he was the contractor for several other business buildings in town and had been in charge of the building of the Foster County Courthouse in 1909-10.

The New Grand Theater was ready for occupancy late in 1928 and opened with a gala performance on New Year's Eve, Monday, December 31, 1928. All the equipment and furnishings were new. The floor with the 400 leather upholstered seats sloped downward toward an orchestra pit and stage with additional gallery seats in the rear over the lobby. The stage was equipped and lighted for vaudeville acts and small road productions. There were dressing rooms beneath the stage.

The dedicatory program consisted of a speech by Mayor W. F. Boylan, a dance by Lila Meissen, daughter of the manager of the Carrington Mercantile store, saxophone music by four Shaeffer sisters, daughters of E. K. Shaeffer formerly of Barlow. The featured picture was the silent film "The Toilers" starring Douglas Fairbanks, Jr. and Robyna Ralston. It was advertised as a special production "where brawny men hew their livelihood out of the earth's bowels and women's happiness lives in the shadow of fear for the dangers the men flirt with." The cinema portion of the show also included a "Color Classic", "The Tenderfoot" and comedy "Felix the Cat."
Talkies in the true sense of the word had not yet arrived at the New Grand. The pictures shown during the first few months of 1929 were still of the silent variety such as "Wings" and "The Hunchback of Notre Dame", together with some photographed singing and dancing vaudeville acts with some sort of synchronized sound. The equipment (Vitaphone for projecting sound pictures came on May 28, 1929 and the first all talking picture "Submarine" was scheduled for three days starting on June 10. The premier did not take place as first advertised because of poor performance of the equipment and silent films continued to be presented for a month or so. The first 100% sound film, "Shopworn Angel" was finally shown during the week of July 4. It was only part talking with filmed music during the remainder of the feature. The next to come was Buster Keaton's "Steamboat Bill." The feeling of the exhibitors, including Tracy, that the rentals of these sound films were too high for the theaters in the small towns was one reason for the slow changeover to all talking films. Admission prices had to be raised to 25¢ and 60¢ but by the end of the year all the pictures were 100% sound and a new era of motion picture history had begun.
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Sports 

By Mrs. William Smith

The field of sports had its place in the early life of Foster County even though the country was new and largely unsettled.

We do not think of those days as being connected with sports; still they undoubtedly had a more important place in the lives of the people living in town or near towns, than the sports of the present time. Now we sit by our radios and TVs and listen and watch the champions engage in important contests. In the 80s and 90s if one wanted recreation of this sort he had to make it himself. Therefore all entered into the life of the day and promoting the sports they loved best.

Undoubtedly hunting, fishing and baseball were the common forms of recreation of this kind, and races were a part of every celebration or get-together. However, we hear and read of a variety of others: tennis, boxing, skiing, sleighing, football, golf, horse racing, bicycling and the games of pool and billiards.

In the summer of 1882 when some of our first settlers arrived in Foster County the only forms of recreation for a man were hunting and fishing. However, as these first arrivals were men, they were satisfied and enjoyed nothing better than taking a gun and going on the wild prairies to shoot antelope, wild ducks and geese; all of which were plentiful. Also they appreciated the meat to vary the regular salt pork and bacon. There were also other wild creatures to hunt, though not for food. Gophers and blackbirds were a real menace to the first crops and fox and coyotes were numerous.

The James River was filled with large fish which were very good eating. However, through the earliest years it was a slow and difficult trip to the river and so it was infrequent. In the early 90s many young fellows or even whole families would go to the eastern shore of the river for a camping and fishing trip of several days or a week, catching a large number of fish during their stay.

In the early 90s Spiritwood Lake became a favorite spot for summer camping parties and many families would go there for an outing. An item in an early paper tells of Richard Tenborg catching some 90 fish in Spiritwood Lake before breakfast one morning. It has been many years since one could think of Foster County as being known for fish‑filled lakes or rivers or even as being a good hunting ground.

Baseball was undoubtedly the popular game of the day in the 80s and 90s and has continued to be a favorite game with all Americans, though not so enthusiastically entered into as in the past. In the early years whenever there is mention of a picnic celebration or get‑together, there are races and baseball games.

The first celebration was held in Carrington on July 4th, 1883, the year Carrington became settled. Although the town was a handful of crude frame buildings, with only the simplest of entertainment, nevertheless the day was one of festivity, and the main events of the day were races of all sorts; potato races, foot races, greased pig races and others.

In the spring of 1885 several young men from Oshkosh, Wisconsin arrived in Foster County and settled in the most easterly part, that time unsettled. They were Dan Clancy, Mac Turner, Ed. Beans, Ralph Walker, who had accompanied the McKinnons, father and sons, to the new country. These young men worked hard on their homesteads during the week but on Sundays they would spend the day together, playing baseball. In 1887 they were joined in their games by newer settlers and they then organized a team which would play teams from other districts on Sunday and holidays. Baseball was their only form of recreation through the first few years.

Carrington had organized baseball clubs during the early 90s with games played regularly. The first game in the season of 1889 was played on a Saturday, the 23 of April. The game was between the single men and the married men and is described in the paper in glowing and most descriptive terms. The married men's team was made up of the following players: George H. Soliday, 1st Base; Don Smith, 2nd Base; Green, 3rd Base; Tom Buchanan, pitcher; Jim McKechnie, Centerfield; Dickenson, Leftfield; M.F. Smith, Rightfield; Wing and Shelly, catcher. The single men's team: Kell 1st Base; E. Hall 2nd Base; Jack Buchanan, 3rd Base; Tommy Burke, pitcher; Ralph Hall, catcher; Steve Lewis, shortstop; Popplestone Rightfield; Hamel, centerfield; McFarland Leftfield; Pepple, substitute shortstop.

Remarks of the merits of the team and the game are most interesting and amusing. "Burke tossed a pretty dew drop to wing who lit onto it like a June‑bug onto a potato vine, sending her out for two bases."
"Tom Buchanan was well acquainted with the ball and was on speaking terms with it. When he saw his old friend coming across the plate he swiped her into right field for four sacks, getting home before the ball could shake hands with him."
"Jack Buchanan pasted the ball out for a single and sent Kelly to third and the "oh's" and "ah's" of the admirers of the boys who pay board could be heard on all sides."
"Kelly was six times at bat, had six hits, and six runs."
"Shelly made a neat fly catch‑ both he and the ball were surprised."
"Jack Buchanan throwing from third to first was like throwing five aces every time."
"When Jack fired a hot one to Kelly on first someone in the bleachers yelled 'see the big lobster muff it'. However the 'big lobster' froze onto the ball like a porous plaster."
Regarding the crowd was also a trite line: "The crowd of ladies at the game, in new spring bonnets, showed that baseball in Carrington is not dead in the feminine heart." The game was won by the single men by a score of 26‑10.

(This report from the Independent 1934)

"When Billy Waiters moved into Melville a few days ago, he looked through some long forgotten mementos of the early days and ran across an interesting relic‑ a baseball record book printed on a sheet of muslin by Ex‑secretary of State, Ed Porter. Mr. Porter was a player on the champion Melville team in the early days. Some of the records are June 6, 1883, Melville vs. Jamestown, score: Melville 169 1/2, Jamestown 74. Obe Wiseman, pitcher; time of game 8 hours.

July 4, 1884, Melville vs. Carrington, score: Melville 173, Carrington 3; game called in 7th inning on account of its being good haying weather. Billy Sunday and Ed Porter were the star players in this game.

The record skips the games of the following years up to 1896 when it mentions the addition of three new players, Billy Walter, Matt Ohner and Philip Wiseman, but gave no account of the games played. Another list of new players was added to the record in 1907: Home Run Highley, Handsom Jordan, Race Horse Clark, and Strike Out Loesch joined the team. The latter was Louis Loesch, a brother of N.N. Loesch, who played first base. Louis was the star Melville pitcher that year.

Back from 1883 to 1896 Melville had what was known as the champion baseball team of the state and drew immense crowds to their games.

When one looks at the scores run up at the games these days and the length of time taken, one wonders how many of the present day pitchers could go the route for an entire game. As the players gained in experience the huge scores were eliminated, the games began to be decided by skill and better teamwork.

From 1883 to 1924 Melville always had a good ball team.

"Other games have been described in even earlier papers, some in very expressive terms. Games between towns were also hotly contested. The New Rockford team at that time was called the "Never Sweats." The Haven team was called "the River Rats." Playing faults or unusually high scores were, of course, laid to the roughness or the wetness of the ground, even as today.

Although hunting and fishing and baseball were the commonest of the sports indulged in during the early years of settling Foster County, occasionally there is mention by a pioneer of an early newspaper of some more unusual sport.

As early as 1885 there was a tennis court in Melville. This was their center of social life in the summer and was the property of E.S. Leavenworth, postmaster and storekeeper.

In the early 80s Richard Sykes, one of the partners in the firm of Sykes‑Hughes Land Company, which owned great tracts of land in Foster and Wells counties, was to be seen playing golf on the rough prairie near Sykeston. In a newspaper of 1898, we find the following item: "Mr. Richard Sykes, who is here looking after his vast farm interests, is an enthusiastic golf player, and every evening he may be seen practicing his favorite game on the gold links on the west side. This was in Carrington. Golf is a vigorous game, requiring great skill and exactness of strokes, but Mr. Sykes has the game down fine, a proof of which is the accuracy with which he makes long and difficult strokes. Some of the citizens had become so interested in the game that efforts are being made to organize a golf club here." However we do not find mention in following papers of an organized golf club in Carrington.

Play, "The Destrick Skule, " presented at the Federated Florence Tillson, Mrs. Jessie McKenzie, J.O. Robertson, Thomas Church April 26, 1912. Identifiable persons include R.R. Pryor, Hecker, Mrs. T.N. Putnam, Avery Morgan, T.H. Cousins and James P. Dunn.

Another paper describes golf as follows: "You hit the ball, walk a mile looking for it. If you find the ball you win. If you do not find the ball you send someone to look for it the following morning and if he finds it he wins."
Another favorite recreation of early years was bicycling and there are many mentions of trips in the papers of the 90s and early 1900s. It seems sometimes one would have to be towed home, even as they do in their automobiles of today. One paper tells of a record trip: "Rankin Farquer was in town today on his way home from a bicycle trip as far as Harvey, where he visited friends for several days. He made the trip in three hours and forty minutes."
The winter's of the 80s brought severe temperatures and deep snows; and transportation or travel was almost impossible even with sleds and teams. However in Nordmore and Estabrook townships lived a number of Norwegian settlers who solved this problem beautifully. They traveled as they did in their native country on skis. This was a sport they loved and at which most of them were proficient and it was also a good way to get about on the snow covered prairies.

Newspapers of the late 90s and early 1900s tell of many other sports as they became popular. On May 30, 1894, a football game was played between the married men and the single men of Carrington. According to the description one would have thought the men who played went through a cyclone or battle. The married men were captained by J.D. McKechnie and single men by Dr. MacKenzie. The married men won by a score of 1‑0.

The block where the Chevrolet garage and several residences are now located was in those days a large slough, popular for skating and boating. In the summer of 1897 a boating club was organized with three of the town's young swains the members. The following is taken from a write up of the first meeting of the club: "At the end of the first lesson two of the members were seen wading to shore‑ the water was only two feet deep at the place. One member, being afraid he would get his waterproof overcoat wet, carefully held it aloft as he waded to the shore. The third member however, oblivious of the other two swam as far as he could, resolving to die game and have his boot on when he fell."
There was no pool or billiard in these days but in the spring of 1902 the Comus alleys were opened by George Peabody and were enthusiastically received, the four alleys being full the greater part of the time.

In February of 1901 a snow boat was modeled by two of Carrington's young men and built by Henry Carroll. When put on trial it proved a great success, making the trip from Carrington to Larrabee and back in two hours and forty‑five minutes. The boat was rigged with ordinary sail and jib, containing 113 yards of 8 oz. duck and cost $73. It set on three runners, 14 feet long 28 inches wide and 2 inches thick; made of oak. There were seats to carry thirty passengers. The boat was propelled by the wind.

In 1897 the hunting laws required a person to buy a hunting license which endured for the entire year, except the month of April in which hunting was prohibited.

Finally going back to the popular baseball, we find an amusing account of a game played on July 4, 1905 by the Fats and the Leans. The game was won by the Leans by a large score and the following appeared in the paper: "As soon as the official scorekeeper and his force of accountants figure up the score we will endeavor to give it."
This item in the Independent May 13, 1926: Piling up 27 points for his school when the united efforts of high school teams from five other schools could reach only 25 1/2 points, George Multz of Kensal walked away with an athletic cup and most of the first prizes at a track meet held at Fessenden last week by New Rockford, Maddock, Sykeston, Harvey, Fessenden and Kensal.

Multz won first place in the hundred yard dash, making the sprint in 11 seconds; won first in the shot putt when he threw the missile 40 feet and eight inches; won first in the discus throw with a husky sling of 100 feet and two inches; first in the javelin throw and first in the running broad jump, winning the deciding points of the meet when he placed third in the high jump.

Multz made a jump of 18 feet 11 1/2 inches in the broad jump, and in the javelin throw set the meet record with 116 feet and 10 inches."
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Holidays

Regardless how short the money was or how tough things were for the pioneers they always managed to find something to make the Christmas celebration a very special occasion. Christmas was a day of prayer and feasting in Dakota's Territorial days even as it is at the present time.

The earliest settlers had little with which to celebrate but made the most of what they did have. Older people with families who had come to Dakota to make a permanent home, were as a whole in better financial circumstances than the single man or newly married couples who came almost penniless, believing they would soon make a fortune in the new land. However, there were few who were really wealthy enough to have money to squander.

Mrs. Anna Wiseman, who lived in Melville tells this story:

"Christmas was a great day to her when she was a child. There were few things to be secured and little money with which to buy them but they planned and worked for the day for weeks ahead of time. The children would hang up their stockings, often a week ahead of time, and would find them filled with candy, nuts and small presents on Christmas morning.

When the Farquers first arrive in Foster County there were no trees for miles around their home and so they had no tree on Christmas. Later on they would go some distance from home in order to get a branch of a cottonwood tree to decorate. Throughout the year they would save bits of colored paper, ribbon and other materials, also the tinsel from tobacco and the cars which came in packages of coffee. These things would then be fashioned into tree ornaments, the tinsel working up particularly well. Popcorn and cranberries were strung and hung on the tree also. The cranberries had to be handled carefully so that they could be cooked later on; nothing could be wasted. Candles were used to light the tree and when it was completed to their entire satisfaction it was a joy to the eyes."
Although they would have a small supply of candy and nuts, fruit was difficult to secure and very high in price and was not included for many years. A dinner later than the usual ones would be served and Mrs. Wiseman remembers that neighbors would often be invited for the feast. Once it was a blizzardy day and the neighbors arrived in a bobsled with umbrellas to protect them from the icy blast. Those Christmas's are happy memories as they are undoubtedly the greatest day of a child's life.

In Norway Christmas is a time of feasting and religious services. E.T. Halaas states that there was great celebrating in his native land during that season of the year. All stop their work on Christmas eve and large dinners are served with religious services afterward. Many guests would be invited for the meal, the menu containing fried mutton ribs and Norwegian pastries. The children would have new suits which they would be allowed to wear for two weeks or more; all work was suspended for that time and the vacation spent in enjoying themselves and worshipping God. Christmas Day itself was spent quietly.

After coming to Dakota territory in 1883 these Norwegian settlers who made their home in Nordmore and Estabrook townships, carried on their Christmas festivities as near like those of their native land as possible. However, their dinner would be only the daily fare with the addition of lefse and lutefisk. Several families would join to celebrate and thoughts of their birthplace would be in the midst of all. In the later 80s and 90s these settlers were more prosperous and then trees were decorated, stockings hung and gifts exchanged and the old days of their youth were renewed for their children.

In the northern part of Pleasant Valley township or Longview Township Christmas was a time for all to gather at the home of Mr. and Mrs. P.J. Kallberg. A big dinner was served. Sometimes a large rooster would be saved for the occasion; rice was a dish for all special occasions, being a dish dear to the Swedish people, and cranberries would also be on the bill‑of‑fare.

In the winter of 1886‑87 the Will Kallbergs had their first Christmas celebration. The first day of the Christmas festivities had been spent at the home of Will's father and the next day all of the family and neighbors came to the Will Kallberg home for a big dinner. There one room only held six at a time for dinner and the dishes and silver would serve only that many. Therefore they ate in relays; those who were not eating would stay outside and luckily it was a beautiful day. Between relays the dishes would have to be washed and the table made ready for the next six.

Throughout the land Christmas has always been a day on which to be happy and as the years went by all of our Dakota settlers prospered and conditions improved. However, no one gave more thought or preparation to the day or season than in those earliest days of little money and isolation from other people.

Although the Christmas festivities in town centered about the church and school those in the country were entirely dependent on the settlers themselves and they were not at a loss as to how they would have a Merry Christmas.

The Christmas season also brought back memories of other days of celebration in their home countries at another time. Here are some of these stories as reported in the Independent in 1928:

Company F of the National Guard contained many men from Foster County. They spent an uneasy Christmas in 1917. They were two days out from port on the transport liner, plowing through the submarine zone. A chicken dinner was served by the army cooks and the men spent the day lounging around in their life belts according to Hugh Putnam.

"Early Christmas morning an officer stuck his head down the hatch and yelled, "Well we've got a bunch of sub‑chasers for a Christmas present boys.' That cheered everybody up but it was a pretty quiet day."
The Christmas of 1918 we spent in Germany, in the army barracks. This was the first Christmas after the Armistice. The Red Cross cheered everybody up with presents of cigarettes, socks or pipes, and some of the boys tried to stage an entertainment, but they couldn't seem to find anybody that could do anything on the stage. So we had to let that go, but we had a Christmas tree and a holiday dinner."
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Old Rites at Danish Holiday

With butchering, baking, the semi‑annual washing and the housecleaning to be done, the work of preparing for Christmas must start at least a month ahead of time among the Danish housewives, Mrs. H.P. Nielsen, who spent her girlhood in Denmark declares. Fruit cakes, the everyday rye bread, white bread for the holiday, coffee cakes and meats and cookies must be cooked. The big Christmas dinner is served on Christmas Eve.

Christmas Day and the day following are spent quietly in the home and attending church services, then the celebration begins, lasting until the evening of January 6, the anniversary of the date when the three kings reached Jesus with their gifts. The evening is marked by the burning of candles in a 5 arm holder, while the family watches until the lights burn out.

New Years Eve is marked by Hallow 'en pranks, when householders try to catch the mischief makers who throw broken dishes in to their porches or rattle on their windows with noisemakers. When caught, the revelers are brought into the house and treated to a fine lunch. Rice and ableskiver cakes are the national dish for the New Year dinner, Mrs. Neisen reports, while roast goose is the holiday dish at Christmas time.

A Christmas sermon was given at 11 o'clock on Christmas Day.
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Long Holiday in Norway

Preparations that begin six weeks before Christmas make the holiday season a merry one in Norway, 0.1. Hjellum, former resident there, declared. Baking must be done, the lutefisk prepared, and all chores and farmwork done in advance as much as possible, so that nothing will interfere with the celebration that lasts well over the New Year.

For 24 hours, from the time the Christmas bells ring Christmas eve until late the following day, there is an absolute lull in business, even the railroads and steamships do not run. The stores and business buildings close up until after the New Year. Among many families a big dinner is served on Christmas eve, three or four times as much as the family will eat, then the used dishes are cleared away and the rest is left for the Christmas feast of Yule Sevein or Santa Claus when he comes in the night with presents for the children. Among the Lutheran families the Santa Claus tale is not taught according to Mr. Hjellum, since they teach their children that their presents come from the Savior.

Visiting from house to house is the main diversion during the week's holiday, while villages and communities will give a big ball and invite the residents of another village as guests. New Years Day brings added incentive to the celebration and the two‑day event ends the long holiday.
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Three Day German Holiday

Christmas brings three days of celebrating in her old home in Dresden, Germany according to Mrs. Alvin Doering.

Santa Claus, the same jolly old saint visits the children Christmas eve, leaving toys, for the little folks and gifts of candy and nuts. The best singer and musicians available furnish music at the churches.

"Stores and offices stay closed the second day after Christmas and everybody goes to the theatre or to the dances, " Mrs. Doering said. "On the third day the stores open up but the factories are still closed while the people celebrate. Feasting goes on, roast goose furnishes the holiday dinners, much wine is drunk, and other fine food enjoyed. Each housewife bakes about 20 big rich fruit cakes for Christmas, much like the American kind, except that they are nearly two feet long and five or six inches thick. These are brought out on Christmas day and served every day thereafter until all are eaten."
"In the mountains districts near the city people still keep up many of the old time customs, " Mrs. Doering reported, "they carry lighted candles to and from the church on Christmas day, carve wooden angels holding lighted candles to decorate their home and hang in the windows."
"We didn't use the same paper and tinsel decoration for our Christmas tree, we hung our tree with angels and lighted candles."
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New Year Carnival Time

Christmas is rung in at sundown Christmas eve when the church bells peal out for an hour or more, Ole Yound said in telling about the grand old holiday as it is celebrated in his native Sweden. Santa Claus visits the children during Christmas night, filling their stockings. Bright painted toys, little wagons, and warm woolen clothing are his favorite gifts.

The Christmas holiday is celebrated for two days. Early morning finds every resident walking to the 6 o'clock services that are an important part of the day's observance.

New Years Day is carnival time, when the young people dress as ghosts or tramps or blacken their faces and tromp to the homes of their neighbors to serenade them or to make a big noise. Everyone is invited into the homes and treated to candy, nuts, cakes, and other fine food that is more plentiful at the Christmas time.
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Religious Event in Italy

It takes four days to celebrate Christmas properly in sunny Italy, according to Mr. and Mrs. Bosloetti, Carrington's only Italian residents. The church festival begins at midnight Christmas eve when high Mass is celebrated in the Catholic churches. On Christmas day big religious pageants and festivals are held, with the priests and altar boys and little girls dressed in white leading the parade throughout the city. Pictures of Jesus and Mary and the saints are carried in the parade, and sometimes people are dressed to impersonate the holy family. Three or four masses are held every day during the four‑day period and while most people go to mass just once a day during Christmas, some of the old men and women will spend nearly the whole time in the churches attending masses. Santa Claus visits the children Christmas eve. After the first day at the churches everyone has a merry time at feasting with plenty of fine wine and dancing.

Mrs. Ella Mae Hargrave gave this report in the December 24, 1975 edition of the Independent.

My own thoughts turn to a doll, the most beautiful doll in the whole world. It was in the window of the drug store in Morris, Minnesota. I never expected to have it for my very own, but I would gaze at it longingly every time I passed the store. I believe the druggist took pity on me and it was put on the tree at the church with my name on it. I can still feel the thrill of that episode in my life. I am sure many of you have had experiences such as that.

I have been reading about the Christmas season in Carrington during the early days. There were no stores selling Christmas trees in the early days, but Mr. T.N. Putnam, father of Hugh Putnam, was in the lumber business and when the holiday season was near he would order out a load of trees, always the tall ones for the churches and the smaller ones for every home in town. They were left near the track, where the parking lot is now, and everyone was welcome to pick out a tree, no charge. No one ever took a tree unless he first went to Mr. Putnam's office and asked for one.

The trees were lighted with candles and I am sure you all remember how exciting it was when the tall trees were lighted at the churches. Usually two men with lighted candles attached to a long pole were in charge of lighting the candles. There were also two buckets of water ready for an emergency.

They had a Santa Claus too, Mr. Boylan. He was the mayor of Carrington and acted as Santa at the Congregational church, now called the Federated Church.

After the services people went to their homes to enjoy the evening. The neighbors gathered at the Putnam home, the Montgomerys live there now, and the third floor was filled to capacity. On the pool table in the center of the room was the tree surrounded with gifts, and then Santa Claus would appear, usually Leslie Putnam, amid songs and laughter he would give out the gifts, then Mother Putnam would appear with her helpers and serve a real Christmas feast.

There is a delightful story when Mr. Putnam planned to surprise his wife with a grandfather's clock. It was a beautiful mahogany clock about seven feet tall and fitted into a place in the hallway. Mrs. Putnam went to church and her husband, with three men assisting, put the clock in its place in the hallway and then waited for her to come home. She came, hung up her coat, walked past the clock into the kitchen. They couldn't believe she had passed the clock without seeing it. She came back, passed the clock again, and sat down with them to visit. They had just decided they would have to tell her when the chimes rang and startled her and she rushed out and finally saw it. This beautiful clock is now in Alexandria, Va. in the home of Frank Lewis Putnam.

I have questioned different ones asking them how they celebrated Christmas when they were young. Mrs. Gerda Johnson tells us that in Sweden they always had a tree lighted with candles and the tree was left up for 21 days and lighted every evening. The gift most cherished was one orange for each child. Signa Hazel told me the same thing.

I asked Mrs. Mayo Meadows about her early recollections of Christmas. She said they always had a tree at the church but never in the homes as trees were very scarce in their area. Here too, they watched with awe as the men lighted the candles on the tree. The first time when she was on the church program she sang, "Away in the Manger" and she said her father was so proud of her because she sang all three verses without a mistake.

Comparing the trees of yesteryear with those of today, they had more of a personal touch. The young people would gather at the homes and string popcorn and cranberries and these were festooned around the tree and with the lighted candles, it was a beautiful sight.

Our trees today are swathed in gold and silver festoon, many ornaments and novelties and dozens of twinkling lights. Of course it goes with the times. But I think it might be fun to try the old fashioned way sometimes."
Mrs. O.H. Berg tells this story about her Christmases:

"My father, Glen Sutherland, farmed a few miles southeast of Brantford. How well I remember the Christmases we had there. My mother always made us a new dress‑ she never had a pattern, we just picked the kind of dress we liked from the Sears Roebuck catalog, and she cut out the material and made it for us. She always curled the front of our hair with an old curling iron she heated in an old kerosene lamp. Somehow she always seemed to burn my forehead in the process, and I would try and ease the pain by pressing my forehead against the frosted window pane, but generally it hurt all evening. We always had a Christmas program to present to the parents, and invariably, I would have to be a man or a boy in the dialogues, as there were not enough boys for all the male parts. I remember the boy I liked best always traded around to get my name for the exchange gifts, that we had drawn names for. (The school was Nordmore No. 1)"
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Neighborhood Parties

Neighborhood parties were a popular means of entertainment in the early days. They varied from dances with local talent furnishing the music, card parties, ice cream socials, to just plain getting together to visit.

Mrs. H.O. Berg tells this story:

"The neighborhood parties were the main fun we had in the winter time: Mother would bake a cake, fix sandwiches, or make a salad, to take for the potluck lunch we had at midnight. Dad would put fresh straw in the bottom of the bobsled, and we took heated flat irons heated on the kitchen range to keep our feet warm, and then we wrapped ourselves in horsehide robes. The whole family went‑ there were no such things as babysitters in those days, the family all had fun together, and when the babies and younger children went to sleep, they were piled on the beds along with the guests wraps. I remember how hard it was for me to stay awake until the wee hours of the morning. Our horses always had sleigh bells on, and sometimes we kids would run along back of the sled or ride the runners. I remember one fiddler who played for our country parties was a redheaded fellow, named Ralph Halaas, and when he got tired of playing he would always break a fiddle string, and that broke up the party. The men who did not dance, such as my father, played whist in the kitchen."
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Old Settler's Picnic

The Old Settler's Picnics were usually held at Holcomb's Grove east of Carrington. That was one of the first grove of trees to be planted in Foster County. It provided shade and shelter for many a celebration in the early years.
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Young People Had Dances

In and near Melville there lived many young people and a sociable lot they were, enjoying many good times together. Often in the winter evenings the Wisemans would make the rounds with their sled, over which was built a wooden box which was heated with a small stove. They would pick up the other young folks in the surrounding countryside and eventually wind up at one of the homes for singing, dancing, and cards.

In Carrington itself there were occasional social events in the early year of the town. The Kirkwood Hotel was built during the late summer and fall of 1883 and on Thanksgiving Day a grand ball was held to celebrate the hotel's opening. This beautiful hotel would undoubtedly be the scene of many parties during the winter and the winters to come. However they were brought to an abrupt end when the hotel burned a month and a half after completion. It was however rebuilt and was the site for many social functions.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 437

Churches a Social Center.

In Carrington and Melville and also some of the farming communities of Foster County, religious services were held through the greater part of the year and much of the social life centered around their churches. After the construction of the Congregational church in Carrington in 1884, many socials were held to raise money for necessary equipment. One of these events was a "Soap Bubble Social". Other events were suppers of various kinds that specialized in such food as oysters.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 437
Communication

Radio

by Ross Bloomquist

The transmission of sounds, that is, words, music, messages and information in general by wire, by means of the telephone system on wires strung from home to home, farm to farm and city to city was wonderful enough in the early days of the twentieth century. Some of the elderly pioneers had never become fully accustomed to the casual use of telephone communication when an even newer invention came upon the scene‑ communication over long distances without the use of wires was completely beyond their comprehension.

Wireless telegraphy, the sending of information over the air to be received at a distant point, was the invention of Guglielmo Marconi in 1895. Messages were sent over the Atlantic in 1901. This new scientific development had an almost instant appeal to the young and as early as 1914 and 1915 several high school students in Carrington were experimenting with wireless as it was called.

Information on how to construct simple wireless sets was readily available in publications such as "Popular Science, " "Popular Mechanics, " "The Scientific American, " the Hugo Gernsbach Publications, and even the Sunday newspapers of the day. Some of the needed equipment was not hard to come by, dry cells and storage batteries, wire to be wound in coils and strung high in the air to catch the signals were usually at hand. More specialized parts such as sending keys, condensers, rheostats, head phones were available from suppliers advertising in the above named publications. Besides the construction of their own equipment the young amateurs had to become proficient enough in the use of the radio telegraphy dit‑, dit‑, dah‑ code to be able to communicate with others. The most important requirements were the imagination, ingenuity and persistence of the young people.

The first successful wireless station was reported in the Record for December 17, 1914: "Finley Sapp, a 16 year old pupil in Carrington High School, has erected at the yard in the John C. Gooden home in the vicinity a wireless station that is quite complete. The pole is 30 feet high and on this is suspended a 50 foot aerial. With this apparatus he can hear Grand Forks each day as they give out the weather report and at exactly 5 o'clock he catches the time report. He has also intercepted messages from greater distances and will soon have the plant perfected to the extent that he will be able to hear messages from Colon at a distance of 3000 miles. At‑an early date the Record will give its readers a complete detailed write‑up of Finley's wireless plant which we believe to be the first in Foster County." Finley's parents lived in Minot and he was, apparently, temporarily living with the Goodens. The write‑up promised did not appear in the newspaper.

In January 1916 there were three wireless operators in Carrington, Lawrence Boylan, Earl Hansch and Lewis Lemert. Each of them had built a receiving and sending station capable of reaching out 10 to 20 miles. There were no other stations in this radius so the three had to be satisfied with exchanging messages with each other. They could, however, pick up more distant station, 10 or 12 in North Dakota, and the Naval Station at Arlington, Virginia. During World War I Lemert was the radio operator on a submarine but he did not pursue this career in later life.

Wireless communication by amateurs was closed down during the years of World War I. Soon after, in the early 1920's the Carrington young men put together a sending and receiving station on the third floor of the Lincoln school building and an elaborate multi‑wire aerial was strung up between the two school buildings. The operators, not named in the newspaper item dated September 8, 1921, offered to send messages anywhere in an 800 mile radius of Carrington between 7 and 10 o'clock in the evening. It is not known if this service had much use at the time but in the years to come the network of such amateurs across the country and indeed the world (The Amateur Radio Relay League) had provided an extremely valuable service whenever other methods of communication have broken down.

An important development in wireless transmission was taking place in the early 1920's when it became possible to transmit over the air the actual sound of voices and music rather than just the coded dit, dit, dah's. Radio, as it now was called, became not only a much more convenient method of communication but also a medium for entertainment and the dissemination of news and information understandable by all. The Westinghouse Electrical Company of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania established the first commercial radio station, KDKA, in 1920. The signals and programs broadcast by the sending station could be received by anyone with the proper equipment. The first broadcast, it is said, reported the results of the voting in the November 1920 General Election when Harding was elected president.

The Carrington amateurs were quick to master this new technical development and built receiving sets to catch the signals which were filling the air with music and talking from all over the country. One night's activities were described in the November 10, 1921 Independent: "The other night atmospheric conditions were good and wireless conversations were held between Carrington and an amateur in Pittsburgh, Pa. Lewis Lemert, wireless operator on a submarine chaser during the war, was at the key for the Pittsburgh talk and the operator at the Smoky City was mainly interested in hearing about the outcome of the Recall Election.

"Several boys are at the school house almost nightly and remain up to as late as 2 o'clock sending and receiving messages. It is the custom among wireless operators over the country when they hear a distant station to drop a card in the mails. A card was received a few days ago from an operator from Syracuse, New York who said he had heard Carrington talking to Denver, Colorado.

"Almost every Thursday night from Pittsburgh a musical concert is put on the wireless circuit and can be heard here. One evening recently Galli‑Curci was plainly heard in recital. "
The other radio amateurs in town took up the building of radio sets with great enthusiasm. They were of two kinds. The simplest, the crystal set, used a small chunk of the mineral galena in the hook‑up in contact with a fine wire called the "cat's whisker". This combination acted as detector to transform the high frequency radio waves into the audible frequency range. The rest of the equipment, coils, dials, batteries, etc. selected the wave length to be received and supplied the power needed to amplify the extremely weak signal from the sending station. Even so, the sound from stations not too far away could be heard only with headphones clamped over the listener's ears. The other more sophisticated and versatile receiving type which was the prototype of all radios for years to come used vacuum tubes to detect and amplify the sounds to any degree of loudness desired.

In the fall of 1921 the Masonic Lodge planned to install a radio set in their meeting rooms. The set in its large bulky box never worked satisfactorily. After much tinkering by Professor Jackson of Jamestown College on Monday night May 15, 1922 "They heard distinctly some talking that was going on between Minneapolis and Fargo." The local amateurs, Van Cousins, Perry Goss and Haney Robertson and possibly some others, were much more successful. On November 16, 1922 it is noted that "The first radio party was enjoyed by guests. Mrs. Cousins invites many to listen to music picked from the air." At the same time the crystal set amateurs were also meeting with success, among them were Herbert Hagen, Leon Galehouse, Thomas Lowery and LaVerne Wolf.

In 1922 and 1923 radio broadcasting stations began proliferating all over the country and in Canada, Mexico and Cuba but it was not yet possible to receive broadcasts from overseas. The stations were owned or promoted by newspapers, electrical equipment manufacturers and in the Midwest by seed companies. The stories of the interesting programs, speeches, news that the amateurs were receiving aroused the great interest of the public. Among the first to purchase radios were George Beier who installed a Grebe set in his elevator in November 1922 and E.L. Beaty in his restaurant on Main Street about the same time. Beaty's radio attracted a great deal of attention when people dropped in for their morning or afternoon coffee. Reception was often poor during daylight hours but in the evening a crowd of people would fill the seats along the counter as they listened for the sound coming out of the loud speaker while Mrs. Beaty twisted the dials for the clearest reception. Sometimes there was only static and noise and then music or speech would emerge with amazing clarity out of the feedback howls and squeals.

The early commercially built radios came in bulky wood or metal boxes with three, sometimes only two, tuning dials and a few other knobs to fiddle with to improve the quality of the reception. A jack for the insertion of headphones was usually provided but in these models the sound originated from a loud speaker shaped much like the old‑fashioned phonograph horn. A little later a cone speaker 12 or 15 inches in diameter provided somewhat better sound reproduction. The receiver was usually placed on a table with a mass of batteries connected to the set. There were three kinds, "A", "B", and "C". The "A" battery was a six volt automobile wet cell which was the standard of that era. The "A" batteries furnished power to heat the filaments of the tubes and the others provided the voltages needed to make them function. Depending on the hours of usage, of course, the "A" battery's charge was used up in about a week's time. More often than not the long awaited program came on the air just as the battery died. If another freshly charged battery was not at hand there was nothing to be done except take it to the local garage or tire shop for recharging. The two or three 45 volt "B" dry cells needed replacement only after several months' service, the 4 1/2 volt "C" battery was replaced at the same time.

To catch a strong signal from the broadcast stations, never closer than Fargo. or Bismarck required an aerial high in the air. These were of several different types, single wire, pairs of wires or even four wire aerials were used. All had to be carefully insulated from their supports or they would not function. A separate ground was essential, the best was an iron stake driven several feet in the ground or a wire clamped to the water pipes in the house.

Listening to the radio became a popular diversion for almost everyone in a very short time. Instead of going to the movies the whole family would cluster around the living room radio. A forest of aerials, no two alike, sprang up on almost every house in town. On the farm, if there was a windmill, the aerial wire would be stretched from the tower to the house. On January 31, 1924 the Independent notes, "An amateur on the first night at the radio dial falls into thrills. The air is now filled with jazz to prayer, lessons for housewives, choir sings in a poker deck factory. Davenport, Cleveland, Chicago, Hastings, Nebraska, Minneapolis were picked up."
The first advertisement for radios noted appeared in the Independent for November 20, 1924. Perry J. Goss' Dakota Electric Shop offered: "Radio. Long Distance Four Tube Radiola, $100.00. Four radiotrons, WD415, headphones, loud speaker." Reception with these first sets was never good during the day except for the two North Dakota stations WDAY at Fargo and KFYR at Bismarck, CKY at Winnipeg and WNAX at Yankton, South Dakota. The last was owned and operated by the Gurney Seed and Nursery Company and often transmitted personal messages of people who dropped in at the station. After dusk the dial became full of stations and the reception of the more distant stations was loud and clear. Among them were WGN, WLS, and WMAQ in Chicago, WOC in Davenport, Iowa, WLW in Cincinnati, Ohio, KOA in Denver and KRLD in Dallas‑Fort Worth to name only a few. A pleasant pastime in those days was to locate and listen to the faraway stations in other time zones. Sometimes late at night it was possible to tune in KNX in Los Angeles after the eastern stations had gone off the air. Listening to the Coast stations was seldom satisfactory, the sound would sometimes fade out completely for a minute or two and then come back as loud as ever. Then, too, there were evenings when static arriving in noisy bursts would make listening to the programs and music unbearable.

At first broadcasting stations operated on a strictly local and individual basis with local performers and talent supplying the programming. However, it was not long before the stations in New York City supported by the major electrical manufacturers, General Electric, Westinghouse and Radio Corporation of America began to dominate the air waves. It was found that the long distance telephone circuits could carry the programs to faraway stations for re‑broadcasting and the formation of the radio networks began. Two stations in New York, WEAF and WJZ, controlled by RCA formed the National Broadcasting Company with the Red and Blue Networks in 1927. In the same year the Columbia Broadcasting System was organized. In 1934 the Blue Network was purchased by the American Broadcasting Company and these three, NBC, CBS, and ABC have been the chief purveyors of broadcast programs nationwide, first on radio and later on television until the present day.

All the stations continued to send out local news and special programs of interest to the nearby audience.

The radio receiving sets were undergoing improvement rapidly; they became more sensitive and stable and easier to tune. A big advance came in 1925 when the sets became self‑contained and no longer needed external batteries. Transformers within the cabinets supplied the proper voltages and currents for the various parts of the circuit. Such "all electric" sets were advertised by P.J. Goss' Electric Shop in August 1925. Another development, the complete revolution in the internal circuitry of the set occurred at about the same time. The TRF, tuned radio frequency, became obsolete and was replaced by the super heterodyne circuit which remained standard until its replacement by solid state electronics. Speakers also became smaller and made into a part of the cabinet and even the external aerials and grounds were no longer necessary.

By the early 1930's there were radios in nearly every home. They were of many different manufacturers. Among the dealers besides the Electric Shop which offered RCA and Atwater‑Kent sets, the Carrington Drug was selling Crosley, Brunswick and Sonora brands. Cummings Brothers Garage offered Stewart‑Warner models as did Wiley's Variety Store. The prices ranged between $100 and $150 for a console model. All electric table sets were available with prices as low as $25.

The first large bulky receiving sets of the late 1920's and early 1930's became more compact but the cabinets tended to become larger as time went on. Instead of the strictly functional metal box the cabinet became the cabinet maker's dream. These cabinets, called consoles, stood solidly on the floor or had long spindly legs in all styles of furniture ranging from Gothic and French Provincial to Art Noveau and stark Modern. The dials in various colors and shapes were usually illuminated from the rear and other red and green lights further decorated the set.

These radios were extremely reliable and often needed no maintenance for years. If a set failed to work at all or functioned poorly the tubes were probably at fault and replacing them would remedy the difficulty. The usual procedure was to pull out all the tubes which were readily accessible and take them to the local radio shop or hardware store for testing., When the suspected tube was inserted in the proper socket of the tester the pointer on the indicating dial told immediately if the tube was in good condition or needed replacement because it was dead or weak. P.J. Goss and later C.C. Richardson of the Electric Shop had an inventory of the most commonly used tubes. The replacement tubes were not expensive, usually no more than $5. If the set still failed to work properly with the good tubes the technician at the radio shop or some other local expert could diagnose the trouble and put the set back into good operating condition.

Innovations and improvements in the sensitivity, stability and sound quality continued all through these years. The sets became smaller and cheaper. Excellent reception was obtained with sets costing no more than $15 to $50 in the Depression years if electric power from the high line came to the house. Five or six tube table radios were probably the most popular. Another development eliminated the need for an alternating current supply. Small light weight dry cell batteries were all that was needed to operate these small radios in colorful plastic cases. Radios now were easily portable and the programs could be heard almost anywhere. A parallel development was taking place in automobile radios. Their power was derived from the electrical system of the car and in the 1940's and 1950's radios became standard equipment for all makes of automobiles from Fords to Cadillacs.

In the late 1930's all wave radios were being offered to the public. Besides the standard wave band of the American Broadcasting stations, 550 to 1600 kilocycles, both ‑longer and shorter wave length bands could be tuned in. The shorter waves traveled much longer distances and with the high sensitivity sets and proper aerials broadcasts from Europe, South America and even Africa and Asia could be heard. Reception was seldom good but as World War II approached the ability to receive broadcasts from England and Germany was a big selling point for the radio dealers. Combination radio‑phonographs were also promoted in those days. At this time phonographic reproduction had changed little over the years except that now the sound on the 78 rpm records was reproduced through the audio amplification and speaker of the radio set.

The years of the Great Depression and World War II were the Golden Years of radio broadcasting. The dials were full of every imaginable kind of live entertainment, news, sports, religion and, of course, advertising now known as commercials. Some of the long remembered highlights of these years come to mind:

Comedians: Will Rogers, Amos 'n' Andy, Ed Wynn, the Perfect Fool, Eddie Cantor, George Burns and Gracie Allen

Variety: Eddie Cantor, Edgar Bergen and Charlie McCarthy, Lum and Agner, Jack Benny, Fred Allen, Bob Hope, Fibber McGee and Molly and their closet, Major Bowes Original Amateur Hour

News: Lowell Thomas, Gabriel Heatter, Elmer Davis, William L. Shirer, H.V. Kalterborn, Edward R. Murrow broadcasting from Berlin just before the war, The March of Time

Sports: Ted Husing, Graham MacNamee, the Army‑Navy game, the Rose Bowl, the World Series, The Kentucky Derby Quiz Programs: Information Please, Quiz Kids, Truth or Consequences, The Sixty‑Four Dollar Question

Daytime Serials (now soap operas): Just Plain Bill, Ma Perkins, Stella Dallas, Vic and Sade, Myrt and Marge, The Guiding Light and many others which had 15 minute spots on NBC every weekday afternoon.

Drama and Mystery: Inner Sanctum with its creaking door, The Shadow, Superman, The Lone Ranger, Jack Armstrong All American Boy, The Aldrich Family, One Man's Family, Lux Radio Theater

The Big Bands: Vincent Lopez, Rudy Vallee, Paul Whiteman, Guy Lombardo, Tommy Dorsey, Duke Ellington, Ben Bernie, Wayne King, Your Hit' Parade

Classical Music: The Ford Sunday Evening Hour, The New York Philharmonic, Arturo Toscanini and the NBC Symphony, The Voice of Firestone

There were also many unforgettable special programs and events that thrilled the nation. Some of them were: The National Republican and Democratic Conventions, Lindbergh's flight across the Atlantic in 1927, the Lindbergh kidnapping and the trial and execution of Bruno Hauptmann, the two Joe Louis‑Max Schmeling fights, King Edward VIII abdicating the throne of England for "the woman I love", Franklin D. Roosevelt's Fireside Chats, the Lindenburg disaster, the Japanese attack of Pearl Harbor interrupting the Sunday afternoon Symphony. And, most of all, the suspense during the last days of the war in Europe culminating in the V‑E Day celebration.

These programs and events gave all much cheer and enjoyment during Depression Days and a lift during the World War II because they made us almost instant participants in these great events. But, again, there were changes in the air; the development of television slowed by the war came as a landslide to replace radio, almost completely as the chief source of home entertainment.
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KDAK Central Broadcasting, Inc.

by Lucile Zink

Operating under the name of Central Broadcasting, Inc., "Top of the Dial", KDAK went on the air October 16, 1961. The station was owned by a partnership consisting of F.W. Carr, Jud Tracey and Claire Ihringer. It presently operates on a license of pre‑sunrise authority, 6 a.m. to sunset.

The life blood of the station is advertising; which is prepared by the staff and is fitted into "spots" either directly into the mike or on tape prepared for broadcast. Since 1977 the station had been affiliated with the Mutual Broadcasting Company.

KDAK is prepared for emergency service, if necessary. A teletype machine provides immediate weather information from throughout the state, region and the nation with regular updates on the local weather. If an emergency arises the station is allowed to stay on the air after hours.

The station has a listening audience within a radius of around 60 miles. Since KDAK first went on the air, it has been very co‑operative in assisting the community in its various activities from sports to special celebrations. KDAK has definitely been an asset to this community.
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Newspapers

Newspapers were a vital source for information 100 years ago. Radio, television and telephone, the extras that came with modern day life, were not discovered then‑ so it was print on paper people depended upon for communication.

A newspaper originally called the Carrington News was started in 1883. The paper was born with the city as they both celebrate 100 years in 1983.

The Carrington News was managed by Jay Morley Wyard from its creation in July 1883 until 1888 or 1889. Morley sold the news business to Harry Hogue in 1888 or 89 and the name changed to the Carrington Independent. Hogue was one of Carrington's earliest settlers coming to the territory to help lay out railroad lines. When Hogue took over the editorship of the Independent, H.W. Soliday was apparently trustee in his business. Hogue stayed at the Carrington paper for ten years until he moved to California.

In 1898, H.H. Palmer became editor and started leasing from Soliday until he decided to purchase the paper. Palmer tried to make the Independent a daily but failed. He also started a paper in Barlow which went broke. In 1902, Palmer advertised that a daily or weekly paper plus a job plant were for sale. The paper's location was at 4th and Charles, Carrington. With no immediate buyers, the paper went completely broke and Palmer disappeared. November 17, 1904 was the last time Palmer's name appeared on the Independent masthead.

In the two weeks following Palmer's retreat, a paper was published weekly but no name appeared on the masthead. The paper continued until another buyer came along.

On December 15, 1904, George and L.K. Estabrook bought into the paper. Three years later, the paper was sold to Carl Craven, a lawyer, and E.D. Lum, a news man. It was at the start of this partnership, records of the Independent began to be filed. The paper began to take off and an ad for subscription sales would appear: "If you buy a subscription - we'll give you a goldfish".

In June 1908, Craven and Lum moved their operations into the building located at 60 Central Ave. No. Little did they know the Independent would fill this building for 75 years to follow. Craven set his law office in the front half of the building with a telephone exchange in back. The news office took the downstairs.

In 1909, Lum was still editor and subscription rates ran $1.50 per year.

George P. Collins came to Carrington in August 1909 to become managing editor under Lum. One month later, Collins was promoted to editorship and Lum left to work on other area papers. Collins would publish the paper for 19 years.

During the years of Collins' editorship, the capacity of subscriptions would be doubled and Craven would sell out his interests.

The paper's price rose to $2 in 1920 and in 1922, the first noticeable sports coverage appeared with a local legion baseball game.

In 1927, Collins started office supply sales which would continue through the years. That same year a larger press was installed and E.K. Thompson, a journalist who would go on to be editor for Life magazine, joined the summer staff during his college years.

Collins, in January 1929 sold the paper to E.D. Seekins and the average size of the paper increased to 12 pages weekly. After 12 years of business, Seekins sold out to J. Arnie Gilje in 1943.

Gilje stayed with The Foster County Independent for 27 years. In July 1958, the 75th anniversary of the paper, Gilje wrote of the newspaper's role in the community:

"We are extremely proud to be continuing the newspaper tradition in Carrington and the community. And we are also proud that the Independent is one of the oldest businesses in the city.

"In observing our birthday we renew our pledge to produce a newspaper which reflects the community. We strive to report the news in an unbiased manner. We believe in equality for all. We strive to be factual and thorough in our coverage of the news field.

"We shall further, strive to give the service our advertisers expect and to which they're entitled.

"We shall continue our integrity also in our commercial printing department. Again, quality and service shall be our guide.

"We'd like to serve the community for generations to come."
J.A. Gilje continued to serve the community with writing until October 1, 1970 when L.N. Strand purchased the paper.

Strand converted the printing process to offset and although the local plant was still operated as usual the final completed copy of the publication was run in Devils Lake. Strand came to the Independent from Minnewaukan, where he was former publisher.

With the switch to offset, more pictures began to appear in the paper. Five years to the date of purchase, Les Strand unexpectedly died in his home. Laura, his wife, continued publishing the Independent for three months until Allen Stock, present publisher, began his term on January 7, 1976.

The paper continues to grow in circulation and reaches a wide audience. The Foster County Independent has been a primary recorder of the past days of Foster County.

It should be noted that the Independent did have some competition during the early days. Stephen A. Lewis started an opposing paper called the Carrington Record. He was publisher until 1909 when the paper was sold to H.C. Darland. Darland was involved with the non‑partisan league and his publication became full of political mudslinging. Farmers were going to take over the newspaper but when the depression hit the newspaper folded in 1922 and would never again appear.
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The Telephone

by Ross Bloomquist

The invention of the telephone in 1876 was the first step in the revolution of communications that in a hundred years has far exceeded the wildest imagination of the early pioneers. It was almost 20 years before this newfangled invention appeared in Carrington.

The usefulness of the gadget became apparent when the Soo Line Railway began passenger service in 1892 or 1893 to provide direct rail connections with the Twin Cities, Chicago and the East. Many of the traveling men, called drummers in those days, arrived and departed from the Soo depot at the north east edge of town. There was, however, no place around the station for the travelers to lodge or show their wares. The three‑quarter mile trip to the town's largest hostelry, the Kirkwood Hotel, was not difficult since Jim McCoy's Bus Line (horse drawn cab) met all the trains. The return trip to the station presented problems since the train arrivals were often delayed and the only way to inform the traveler that his train was going to be late was by some sort of courier.

The first telephone line in the city solved this problem. With the assistance of the Soo Line, probably both financial and physical, a line with telephones at either end was put up between the Kirkwood and the station. It began operation in July 1894. Now when a train was delayed the salesman could be notified and his pitch could be lengthened or other customers visited.

Apparently the system worked well and in 1896 another station was put on the line in McCoy's Livery Barn located on the present site of the Independent building. McCoy is quoted as saying, "He don't see how he can get along without one. It's as handy as a pocket in a shirt."
The limited system served its users well but it wasn't long before other people began to realize the usefulness of carrying on conversations father than a loud voice would carry. The entrepreneur who started the business was not a Foster County resident. He was Charles L. King of Harvey, an 1882 arrival in Dakota Territory from Michigan. In the summer of 1893 he was employed by the Soo Line as a civil engineer and later at Harvey station as clerk and cashier. It is not known how he obtained his telephone expertise but in 1896 he organized the North Dakota Telephone and Electric Company at Harvey with King as president, Otto H. Grethen as secretary and Anton Erne as treasurer.

It appears that their first line ran from Harvey to Manfred and then on to Fessenden. King saw that telephone communication was the wave of the future and later that year began promoting the extension of the lines to Sykeston, New Rockford and Carrington. Apparently he had obtained sufficient financial backing by a sale of stock in his company over the winter and in May 1899 began construction of the line from Harvey to Anamoose and an extension to Cathay, New Rockford and Carrington was in the works. He secured a franchise from the Foster County Commissioners giving him the right to construct lines through the county. The line reached Carrington on June 15, 1899 and setting poles in town and installing instruments began.

The line connected Harvey, Fessenden, Cathay, Sykeston, Barlow, Guptil, and Manfred but not New Rockford, "The business men there not taking enough interest to subscribe for stock." The indifference of the New Rockford people causes inconvenience to the present day. The system there is a part of the privately owned Continental Telephone Company and not a part of the Bell System. New Rockford directories are not readily available in Foster County and the Eddy County seat is always "long distance".

Telephone service began in Carrington on August 5, 1899. According to Hugh Putnam, Mrs. S.E. Nelson's millinery store had one of the first connected and she would call out to other business places in the block when they received a call. The list of original subscribers is not mentioned, neither is there a description of the telephone instrument. It was undoubtedly of the battery operated magneto type where a call to central or another party was initiated by turning the crank at the side of the box to cause the other telephone's bell to ring. The need for a directory was expressed by the editor of the Independent shortly thereafter: "The management of the telephone line here should get out a directory for the subscribers to the line so that people would know where they were when they wanted to call up someone." A second plea for a directory was made in October but there is no indication that one was issued until several years later.

Even in those days there was a little experimentation‑ a broadcast concert. "Last Thursday the central office of the telephone exchange connected up a number of subscribers on the main line and treated them to a concert over the wires. Central had a large gramophone in the office and placed it close to the switchboard and those who were on the wire could hear plainly all the music and songs. Anyway, the Independent heard the whole works." It should be noted that the gramophone at the turn of the century was as much a novelty as the telephone. The first mention of the mechanical reproduction of sound was only two years earlier, April, 1894, when some sort of a "talking machine" was exhibited by a Professor Wadams at the Courthouse.

The telephone service was accepted enthusiastically by the subscribers but all did not work well for Charles L. King. He was declared bankrupt in the summer of 1900! Attorneys T.F. McCue and C.E. Leslie of Carrington representing the telephone company's creditors petitioned Judge Glaspel to have the North Dakota Telephone and Electric Company insolvent and a receiver appointed. The judge agreed and appointed J.A. Murphy of Jamestown receiver. He managed the company for a year and arranged for a private sale of the property which consisted of 74 miles of line with exchanges at Carrington, Fessenden and Harvey. The property was purchased by the former treasurer Anton Erne who immediately transferred it to C.E. Leslie for $3,510. The creditors got 80 cents on the dollar in the final settlement. King protested by saying that part of the system was his private property but Leslie prevailed and took possession of the entire system in October 1901.

At the time of the sale of the bankrupt telephone company it appears that the Bell Telephone Company was already stringing long distance wires across the county, and engaged in litigation with several of the landowners over right‑of‑way. There was an exchange in Eisenhuth's Drug Store in Carrington and in the hotel in Barlow. The company, however, was not interested in purchasing the bankrupt King system.

Charles E. Leslie, with the help of his young sons, Myron and Charles, managed the telephone company until 1908. A building to house the exchange was constructed on the south end of the lot on 9th Street just north of the alley and across the street from the First National Bank Building. This building subsequently became the Olson Brothers Plumbing shop and the Shoe Hospital. It was gutted by fire on December 30, 1971 and razed.

When the building was completed, a line to Valley City was added to the system to tie in with the long distance lines. The rate for a one minute call to Minneapolis was 80 cents. All night service was started in 1903. In 1905 the North Dakota Central Telephone Company was incorporated with $50,000 capital stock. The incorporators were C.E. Leslie, M.J. and C.C. Leslie, S.S. Comee and North Dakota Robinson of Madison, Wisconsin. Of these besides C.E. Leslie the only one who can be identified is S.S. Comee who was C.E. Leslie's father‑in‑law.

Managing the telephone company was not a full time job for attorney Leslie. His professional card, "Attorney at Law" appeared regularly in the local newspapers and in 1904 was the Democratic candidate for States Attorney for Foster County. He was the only Democrat to win in the general election. He served only the one term and in the Spring of 1906 sold the company to George B. Young of Valley City. The Leslie family moved to Minneapolis in 1907 after the expiration of his term as States Attorney.

The smaller towns and farmers began to take an interest in telephone communication as soon as they were able to observe the usefulness of the Carrington system. One of the first was a four party line connecting the Schmid Brothers, Leonhard Schmid, and the August and William Wiltschko farms in Birtsell Township. During the years between 1902 and the start of World War I many more lines sprung up here and there in the country. Often these were started by a group of neighboring farmers; they were usually tied in with the Carrington exchange. Among them were lines from Melville to Bordulac, in Haven, Pleasant Valley, Wyard and a line between Grace City and McHenry and one to Miller's Spur. The telephone company also extended its lines west to the towns along the Turtle Lake Branch of the railroad.

Probably the most extensive system in the county had its central office in Barlow. At that time Barlow was the trading center of a large area extending almost to Cathay on the west and into Larrabee Township and Grace City on the east. The Farmer's Mutual Telephone Company was formed by the Barlow, Birtsell, Estabrook and Nordmore residents who were stockholders and managed by an elected board of directors. They applied for and received a franchise in May 1906. The system provided individual lines for the residents and business establishments of Barlow and rural service by six rural lines, three east and three west. A frame building was built on Lot . , Block 7 in 1907 to house the exchange and provide living quarters for the manager. This building continued in use as the central office until the Dakota Central Rural Telephone Cooperative took over the system in 1951. The building was razed in 1979.

The six rural party lines were designated by colors: black, white and red to the west of town and green, brown, and blue to the east. There were 20 or 30 subscribers on a, line each with its own combination of long and short rings for identification. The instruments were powered with two dry cells which had to be replaced periodically. These were furnished by the telephone company whose annual rate for service was $18 per year. The local system was tied in with the Bell long distance lines but making such a call even to Carrington or New Rockford was often a time consuming procedure. First you rang to reach Central and as soon as she answered you gave the name and location of the party desired. Then you hung up and waited. Eventually, often in ten minutes, sometimes in half an hour, the operator would call back to tell you that your party was on the line. Connections were often poor and so bad sometimes that the central operator had to be an intermediary in the transmission of the message. Conversations were usually very brief since there was always a toll charge for long distance calling.

In the early years the Board of Directors of the Barlow Telephone company engaged men with some telephone know‑how to manage the exchange, install instruments and extend and maintain the lines. Two whose names are remembered were Trefather and Charlie Wesner in the days before World War I. Both of them were husband and wife teams. In later years the system more or less ran itself although Frank and Leonhard Schmid did the maintenance work that needed to be done‑ replacing poles, splicing broken wires and tending to the company's books. Almost every young woman in the Barlow area served some time as switchboard operator, there are too many to recount.

Besides providing for two party conversations the farmers' lines also served for the general dissemination of information to the often news starved residents. On the Barlow lines a series of short rings alerted the subscribers that there was important news as, for example, a fire, 'the war is over', a lost or strayed animal or the announcement of some social or political event at a schoolhouse or in town. A more frequent use of the system was "rubbering", the surreptitious listening to the conversation of other parties on the line. It was a way to keep up with the activities of the neighbors. The calling and called parties had to be circumspect in the conversations because there was no assurance that the remarks made could be kept confidential. Generally, however, it was harmless entertainment‑ the soap operas of the day. The passing of the party line in spite of the poor connections and the unreliable service was a loss. Nevertheless, the impersonal black or white or colored box with a dial that lets one reach the party desired almost anywhere on the earth without human intervention is certainly one of the most indispensable gadgets of our modern world.

In the meantime the Dakota Independent Telephone Company, no longer a local concern, prospered while extending their lines and improving service. The first manager was Allen Fairbanks who put in a new switchboard and added subscribers. The quarters in the 9th street building were outgrown by 1908 and larger ones were secured in the rear of Jim McCoy's new building on Central Avenue which had just been constructed on the site of the McCoy Livery Barn. Craven and Lum, Attorney and Abstractor, occupied the front rooms in the building and the Foster County Independent had the entire basement floor for its plant. Now, 1980, the Independent occupies the entire building. The telephone exchange remained in that location until their new quarters across the street on Central Avenue were built in 1929.

Expansion of the Independent Telephone's system began immediately under the new management and managers. In the first few years most of them stayed only for a year or two. Among them were F.W. Barron and a Mr. Weberg in 1908 followed by a Mr. Herschel and then a Mr. Chapel. Louis S. Craswell came in 1912 and remained in Carrington until 1918 when he went to Bismarck as District Manager. In the same year, he married a local girl, Irene Phoebe Farrell, the daughter of William and Maria (McVey) Farrell, pioneers of Barlow and Birtsell Township.

The Carrington Telephone Exchange was purchased from Jones, Weiser & Cox by the North Dakota Independent Telephone Company on August 1, 1906, and was acquired by the Northwestern Company in a merger in March, 1924.

A one‑story brick building was constructed in Carrington in 1929 which, according to Company records, had modern conveniences including a hot water heating system. Central Office equipment included two local and two toll positions. The terminal room equipment had been manufactured by the Western Electric Company.

The Company converted to a dial system in 1957. Work also began that year on an addition to provide space for a Business Office and new Central Office equipment. A news release written in 1957 says, "Converting Carrington's telephone system to dial is going to be largely a matter of 'pulling strings' when it's time for the final step. On the old Central office equipment frame, a series of carefully threaded strings will be pulled at a given signal which will flick tiny heat coils out of their sockets breaking the circuits they now connect. An instant later, a pair of larger cords will be pulled in the new dial equipment room and with this movement, the strings will pull dozens of fiber separators from between contact points which will then close and connect every telephone in the Carrington Exchange to the new dial equipment."
The conversion to a dial telephone system on November 3, 1957, marked the completion of a $100,000 telephone improvement project in Carrington.

Direct distance dialing was made available in 1965, and in 1970, Touch‑Tone service was being offered. In 1970, there were 1,665 telephones serving Carrington customers.

In 1976, a $150,000 project to replace mufti‑party lines with one‑party lines was undertaken. With the project completion, all customers had zone telephone service and buried cable. Automatic Number Identification also went into effect in 1976.

Today, there are 2,795 telephones in Carrington.
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Talking Wires 

The Story of North Dakota's Telephone Cooperatives

Jerry and Mary Nagel, North Plains Press, Aberdeen, South Dakota 1979

"Dakota Central really started just two or three months after the telephone amendments were passed by Congress. The Stutsman County Farmers Union asked to have someone sent from Washington to explain the new act at a county Farmers Union convention in Jamestown, so they sent out a guy by the name of Saminaw and he didn't know as much about it as we did, " claims Oliver Sund, chairman of the Dakota Central board of directors. "But he told us that there was such an act and that there would be a telephone for everybody."
This introduction, to the rural telephone loan program was followed by efforts led by the Farmers Union and REA field representatives to organize county telephone cooperatives. About 500 farmers met at Jamestown March 31, 1950, to organize the Stutsman County Rural Telephone Cooperative. The Wells County Telephone Cooperative was organized at the Heaton Hall July 20, 1950, and a Foster‑Eddy County organization was formed November 30, 1950, at a meeting attended by over 150 people at the courthouse in Carrington.

Many meetings were held at the township level to explain the program and sign up members. The meetings were held at the Streeter schoolhouse, the Kensal fire hall, the Clementsville township hall and at Stott's Hall at Montpelier. Meetings started at eight and were held at Sykeston on Monday, Bowdon on Wednesday and at Hurdsfield on Thursday. Organizers worked hard and fast in hopes of bringing reliable telephone service to the farmers and townspeople in their areas. The paced slowed, however, as it became apparent that the number of subscribers in each area would be too low to support telephone cooperatives on the county level.

December 29, 1950, members of the telephone committees in Stutsman, Foster, Eddy, and Wells counties met in Carrington and decided to unite to form one organization. A temporary organizing committee was selected. Its members were Peter Friezen, Cathay; Mr. and Mrs. Roland Erman, Heaton; Joe Strauss, Manfred; Orval Hart, Chaseley; Fred Neumiller and Leo Widicker, Bowdon; and A.A. Houghton, Hurdsfield.

April 11, 1951, Dakota Central Rural Telephone Cooperative elected its first board of directors. The board was composed of two representatives from each county and one representative at large, The representatives were Fred R. Topp and Russell Belquist, Eddy County; Peter Friezen and Mrs. Roland Erman, Wells County; J.H. Lyman and Walter Krueger, Foster County; Albert Deede and Oliver Sund, Stutsman County; and Lawrence Utke, member at large. Oliver Sund was elected chairman of the board.

At a meeting in Carrington six days later, the four county organization decided to incorporate. Although the meeting was characterized by serious discussion, the memories of all who met in the Foster County Courthouse that night are enlivened when their thoughts turn to Albert Deede.

Albert Deede came in late and was quick to gauge the sober tone of the meeting and note an earnest discussion of the imperative issue: incorporation. He did not wish to disturb the setting. But anyone who has sat quietly through long and often wearisome meetings knows the temporary relief of watching a late arrival attempt noiselessly to find a chair, just as those assembled that night know that Albert Deede carefully tiptoed in from the back. They saw him tiptoe down the side of the room and they know that he was just as quiet as a man can be as he slowly lowered himself onto a chair and CRASH! Down went Deede amidst fragments of oak. To say that Albert Deede is not a small man would be to issue understatement, but Deede claimed the chair was much older than he, and nobody doubted that it was. The laughter which followed significantly lightened the tone of the meeting that was to last until midnight for some and 3 a.m. for others.

After discussion drew to a close and most members called it a night, Dakota Central's attorney and board of directors remained to complete the process of incorporation. The bylaws and Articles of Incorporation were drafted, adopted, and signed late that night which history will recognize as the morning of April 18, 1951.

At 3 a.m. the attorney prepared to leave for Bismarck in his old '41 Buick to file the articles with the secretary of State. But much to the weary lawyer's dismay, a troublesome tire had gone flat. While lingering board members looked on, the attorney pumped it up by hand and then headed for the capital city, hoping the tire would hold out. He was waiting outside the office of secretary of State when it opened at eight. Although tired that morning as he drove back to Jamestown where he was to put in another day as attorney for the Farmers Union, Quentin Burdick must have felt true satisfaction knowing that Dakota Central was now on record and could apply for an REA loan.

Dakota Central's first REA loan ($419,000) was approved March 5, 1953. It financed the first phases of a telephone project that now covers most of Wells, Foster, and Stutsman counties and parts of Barnes, Kidder, and Eddy counties.

Elmer Wilson, New Rockford, was hired as temporary manager of the cooperative in 1953, and meetings were held at the Tri‑County Electric building in Carrington. In January 1955 a vacated hatchery building was rented from North American Creameries for office space. This building was later purchased and remodeled and still serves as headquarters. In the fall of 1955, Howard R. Wolle became the first permanent manager of Dakota Central.

Dakota Central's first exchange was acquired when the Medina Telephone Company was purchased in 1953 from its owner, Elmer Kohloff. Kohloff operated the manual exchange until 1954 when an automatic switchboard was installed.

The second acquisition, the Woodworth Telephone Company, was purchased from Hugo Bohl in 1956. The Fairview and Woodworth Northwest telephone companies, both farmer‑owned switcher lines, were also purchased in 1956. Dakota Central purchased the Barlow Mutual and the Grace City telephone companies in 1957, the Retzlaff Telephone Company of Cathay in 1958, the Bowdon Independent Telephone Company in 1961, and the Hurdsfield Telephone Company in 1963, along with many other farmer‑owned switch& lines operating out of these magneto systems.

Facilities serving the communities of Sykeston, Heaton, Edmunds, Ypsilanti, Cleveland, Windsor, Eldridge, and Montpelier were purchased from Northwestern Bell in 1957. These were multi‑party lines operating out of Jamestown and Carrington. The Ontario Telephone Company of Bowdon and the Crystal Lake Telephone Company of Hurdsfield were the last to be acquired. They were farmer‑owned lines that had been switched by Dakota Central since dial service was initiated in the Bowdon and Hurdsfield areas and were purchased at the time the Bowdon exchange was upgraded to one‑party service in 1976.

Until 1974 Dakota Central owned eight mufti‑party switcher lines serving sixty subscribers adjacent to Carrington. The lines were switched into the Carrington Office of Northwestern Bell, and in 1974 approximately half of the subscribers nearest Carrington were sold to Northwestern Bell. The remainder were taken into the Grace City exchange when it was upgraded in 1974.

In the fall of 1956, the Medina and Woodworth exchanges became the first operated by Dakota Central to be cut over to modern dial service. After several years of inactivity due to the unavailability of loan funds, the Windsor, Ypsilanti, Sykeston, and Grace City exchanges were cut over to modern dial service, followed by the Bowdon and Edmunds exchanges.

Since 1964, when work in the Hurdsfield area of the Bowdon exchange was completed, Dakota Central has provided all modern dial service.

In 1971 Dakota Central made plans to upgrade its entire system: aerial lines would be replaced with weatherproof buried cable and all subscribers would have one‑party service. In December of 1973, Ypsilanti became the first exchange to receive the upgraded service and was followed by the Grace City exchange in 1974 and the Woodworth, Medina, and Windsor exchanges in 1975. The project was completed in 1976 when the Bowdon, Sykeston, and Edmunds exchanges were upgraded.

Dakota Central Rural Telephone Cooperative Association

	Directors
	Years Served

	Oliver Sund, Cleveland
	1951‑present

	Albert Deede, Woodworth 
	1951‑present

	J.H. Lyman, Grace City 
	1951‑1964

	Lawrence Utke, Glenfield 
	1951‑1954

	Charlotte Erman, Heaton 
	1951‑1960

	Peter Friezen, Cathay 
	1951‑1960

	Russell Belquist, New Rockford 
	1951‑1955

	Fred R. Topp, McHenry 
	1951‑1956

	Walter Krueger, Carrington 
	1951‑1959

	Leslie Hewitt, Sykeston 
	1954‑present

	James Anderson, Carrington 
	1955‑1959

	Rudolph Topp, Grace City 
	1956‑1959 and 1964‑1971

	Edward Strom, Ypsilanti 
	1959‑1968

	M.A. Jablonski, Medina 
	1959‑present

	Reuel Harrison, Edmunds 
	1959‑present

	Robert Sucket, Bowdon 
	1960‑1975

	Dale Riedesel, Cathay 
	1960‑1975

	Andrew Headland, Ypsilanti 
	1968‑present

	Marie Pfeifer, Grace City 
	1971‑1976

	Louis Bibelheimer, Cathay 
	1975‑present

	Oscar Fuhrman, Bowdon 
	1975‑present

	Calvin Topp, Grace City 
	1976‑present

	
	

	Managers
	

	Elmer E. Wilson
	1953‑1955

	Howard R. Wolle
	1955‑1968

	Lowell D. Swart 
	1968‑present

	
	

	Attorneys
	

	Quentin N. Burdick 
	1951‑1953

	James R. Jungroth
	1953‑1957

	Thomas A. Roney
	1957‑1959

	Fabian Noack
	1959‑present
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Automobiles

Automobiles

In the 1890s cars were so new that they were one of the feature attractions at the traveling circuses. Today over 207 million passenger cars, not to mention trucks, pickups and other motor driven vehicles, travel on the highways of the world.

The "new" mode of transportation changed the lives of the people, especially in the rural areas and less populated sections of our country. Farm families no longer had to live the lonely, secluded lives to which they had been accustomed because now they had a means of transportation to the towns and the cities. It didn't have to be a major trip of two or three days to conduct their business in town. Now the city people could get away from the noise and commotion of their environment to spend some time enjoying the peace and quiet of the countryside, to maybe do some fishing, skiing or camping out.

The automobile created all kinds of new businesses too, such as motels, restaurants, super highways, shopping centers, drive‑in movies, Laundromats, just to name a few.

Before this period anyone going a short distance would walk or ride a bike. Long distances were accomplished with riding a train, street car, or horse drawn carriage.

The early cars were dubbed the "horseless carriages". Only the wealthy people were able to afford them at first. But as the industry developed, more and more people were able to purchase them. This brought a demand for such materials as steel, zinc, and aluminum. Service stations and repair shops became a necessity. Engineers were called on to develop roads as well as safer cars.

In 1901 two developments occurred that accounted for the rapid growth in the automobile industry. First there was a sharp drop in gasoline prices, due to the discovery of the oil deposits in Texas. Second the industry was introduced to the mass production method in manufacturing cars. The first assembly line was started in Detroit. A fire destroyed the Olds factory. To compensate for the loss and to stay in business, small machine shops were set up to manufacture various parts which were then sent to a factory to be assembled. In 1901 Olds built 425 cars, 1902 ‑ 3,750; 1903 ‑ 5,000. Soon other manufacturers were following the same method.

By 1908 interchangeable parts were introduced. Up, until this time parts would only fit one particular car.

Henry Ford improved the assembly line in 1908 to further cut the cost of production, thus making his cars easier for the people to obtain. A 1908 Model T Ford could be purchased for $850.

A moving assembly line was introduced in 1913. The frame of the car would be placed on a conveyor belt and moved through the factory. Workmen on each side of the belt added parts to the car as it passed by them. The Ford workman could assemble a Model T Ford in a little more than one and a half hours using this method while the old method would take about 12 1/2 hours. By 1916 the Model T could be purchased for $400, the very lowest price ever. Ford sold over 15 million cars from 1908 to 1927.

As people in the area began to purchase cars, there was enough excitement that these purchases and subsequent happenings were news items that appeared in the local papers. It took some education to learn how to operate these "horseless carriages" especially on the trails that were supposed to be used for roads. There was some resentment from horses and the pedestrians when these new machines were first on the scene.

As early as June 1902 an article appeared telling of our cars that were seen in the Grand Forks area. By 1903 cars started to appear in Foster County. C.H. Davidson and Harry Wheeler were two of the first owners. Some of the experiences of these new car owners were not always pleasant. These stories provided entertainment for the people who had not as yet purchased one of these machines.

1 1/05/03 "Al Halstead was up from Jamestown in his auto last week. On Sunday afternoon we had our first ride in one of these animals. It is a first class machine and somewhat of a surprise to us to learn that at one stage of the game we were traveling at the rate of 25 miles per hour even though we did not have to hang on. Mr. Halstead is an expert chauffeur and can steer his machine at the rate of 35 miles per hour on ordinary prairie road.

05/12/04 "George F. Peabody's horse became frightened at a passing automobile and made such a short turn endeavoring to get away from the machine that the buggy was wrecked. Mr. Peabody held onto the horse until both the driving lines broke, the animal got away and went out in the prairie. Neither the driver or the horse were hurt in the mix-up"
07/27/05 "A.P. Halstead started for New Rockford in his buggy auto and when he got near Barlow the machine thought he "auto" go back, Halstead had to get a Barlow liveryman to tow him home."
1 1/23/05 From the McHenry Tribune: Joe Doyle and friend were over in their buggy auto from Carrington after exhibiting the rig to the astonished populace they started out and the ‑‑‑‑ thing went bump. He gave a farmer $9 to haul it to Carrington!

5/16/07 R. The Buchanan boys are having the time of their lives with their new Buick touring car which arrived last week. The firm has the local agency for the car and very much pleased by the way the new machine runs and all are fast becoming expert chauffeurs.

07/18/06 I. C.K. Wing has his automobile running again about six weeks ago it was taken with severe pains in his hind quarters and gradually became worse until it was found necessary to take it to Dr. George Bauley for treatment. For a time the case baffled the doctor's skill but his knowledge of auto bone setting at last overcame the difficulty and Charlie's machine is as good as new.

08/08/07 A.J. Smith's auto got a severe case of congestion of the differential gear last week and was obliged to go to the hospital for treatment.

04/16/08 Art Swanson started out for Barlow in his big touring car, Monday. The last report is that he was sticking in a mud hole north of Guptil.

06/28/08 W.J. Doyle and H. Postlewait started for McHenry Monday. About 6 miles from town they lost the bottom of the carburetor. While Joe forgot votes for the moment in the vain search for the missing article, Homer walked two and a half miles to the Ben Holcomb farm to telephone Will Doyle to come out bringing the necessary repairs. Will engaged the services of B.S. Newberry's automobile and shortly thereafter they arrived on the scene. The boys were again bound for McHenry. Joe has, however, established a new record for the greatest number of mild remarks made in a minute and all the boys agree Homer as a pedestrian is hard to beat.

08/20/08 One of the most prominent citizens and considered one of our most level headed businessmen, Thomas Doughty, has been seen driving a dark brown automobile. It is an Olds, bred about the year autos were first discovered. He is nursing a hand as a result of a vigorous kick from its front left leg not withstanding its balkiness, the owner says it is a wind‑splitter and occasionally works like a charm.

09/17/08 Joe Doyle drove to McHenry in his auto. He was accompanied by the Independent man. Joe's machine is surely a wonder. When Joe approached a large and formidable looking hill he informed his passenger to get out. His slow gear was out of commission and chances were that he could not make this rise. Sure enough when he tried he failed by a big majority but that is where his Yankee (?) ingenuity came into play. He merely turned the machine end for end and backed up the hill without effort. Joe's surely the fellow who knows how.

10/15/08 Evidence of prosperity in Carrington; beautiful city of about 1800 people with 36 automobiles ranging in value from $500 to $7000.

1 1/12/08 The first automobile accident occurred last evening on Main Street in front of the Nichols' Pool Hall. Mr. Nihill with his fast car, Knud Christianson with a Buick tried to pass on the same side of the street. It was a miracle that someone did

not get hurt. Mr. Christiansen's car was not damaged being a much heavier touring car but Mr. Nihill's being a very light car was smashed almost beyond recognition.

11/26/08 There is a heavy fall of snow and a number of autoists had to resort to the old‑fashioned method of attaching horses to their autos.

As more cars appeared on the scene more uses were found for them. In 1909 Billy Bronaugh purchased a Ford touring car to be used as "an automobile livery service." Dr. Cusack was using his "Maxwell runabout" to make house calls. Speculation was that if something happened to the innards of his car that his veterinary experience wouldn't be of that much help to him.

L.L. Walton was described as the first man in the state to use an auto to haul livestock. Would he soon be using it to milk cows and do other odd jobs too?

Mr. Ballard, commissioner from McHenry, made use of his auto to campaign for the upcoming election.

C.R. Wing took an auto tour over the north and western part of the state to inspect the crops. He made stops at Velva, Plaza, Underwood, Garrison, Wilton and Pingree in 1911.

The Foster County Bank purchased a Flanders touring car to be used for outside work for the bank.

The feud between the automobiles and the horse drawn carriages continued. A new law was passed in 1909 to describe in detail the ‑right of way of each vehicle. It went like this:

"The law states that any driver or operator of any automobile or motorcycle on any public road or highway outside the limits of any town when signaled by any driver of any vehicle propelled by horses or other animals which signal shall be given by raising hand or in any such manner shall stop such automobile or motorcycle until the vehicle is passed and if in approaching said vehicle from behind the driver or operator in charge of said automobile or motorcycle shall stop for a reasonable time and the driver of said vehicle shall as soon as the condition on the road will permit turn to the right and allow at least half of the road on his left for the passage of said automobile."
Accidents were common where the horses would become frightened of this new monster on the road. Many times they would shy causing the buggies to overturn tossing their passengers out and wrecking the buggy.

By 1910 more and more cars came into the area. People became braver and began to make longer trips. A committee consisting of T.N. Putnam and C.R. Wing, and Dr. Goss traveled to Edgeley to inspect the hospital facilities there.

A demand for better roads became uppermost in the minds of the auto enthusiasts. As early as June 1909 an organization known as "The Carrington Auto Club" was formed. The purpose of the organization was roads. The first road to be graded was the one going to Barlow. They hoped to interest the surrounding town and township officers to help in the project., 

09/0810 Monday, September 19 has been designated "pick and shovel day." It is hoped that there will not be a rock or badger hole in the roads of the county. The culverts will also have attention and approaches filled so there will be less bumping the bumps in the future. The automobilists in Carrington will divide into different groups, each autoist will take with him one or two men and pick and shovel and given a certain piece of road to be held responsible for putting it in condition. Other crews will move from Barlow, Bordulac, and McHenry meeting their Carrington cohorts half way. Farmers will be expected to clean up the roads bordering their farms. People in towns are expected to clean the streets of sticks, stones, glass, etc.

It was decided by the state to collect $3 per automobile for a license. The money would be used to improve the highways. Counties were allocated a portion of the funds for their area.

Breakdowns were common‑ many motorists being stranded miles from home. Other owners were then called on to come to the rescue with the necessary repairs.

07/15/09 George Bauley has an automobile that will loop the loop without a loop. While speeding along at a 20 mile per hour clip last Thursday the steering wheel broke and the machine turned two complete somersaults before landing in the ditch. Mr. Bauley was pinned under the machine and had three ribs broken. His companion went out at the first revolution and was not hurt. The auto was not seriously damaged.

7/25/12 ‑ Yesterday at Barlow Edwin, the son of ex‑governor Frank White and his company set the engine of their big Elmore auto in slow speed to get the auto out of the ditch. When once upon the road the big auto lunged forward and the boys were unable to get to the wheel and guide it. It rushed across the street into the sidewalk some feet above

the ground. The front axle was twisted into a letter "S" and smashed beyond repair. The whole machine was more or less damaged. Even the sidewalk will need $25 worth of repairs. Mr. White was in Barlow adjusting hail losses.

8/23/13 R, . Auto breaks horses leg. E. T. Halaas, postmaster attempting to pass William Blake on a grade three and a half miles west of town last Friday struck one of the mail‑carriers horses with his auto breaking the animal's leg and it was necessary to shoot the horse. Mr. Blake is the carrier on Route 1 and was just starting his delivery.

This poem was published in the Independent February 5, 1914.
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The Last Ride To‑Gether

He owned a handsome touring car, 
To ride in it was heaven, 
He ran across a piece of glass‑
Bill $14.97.

He took his friends out for a ride, 
'Twas good to be alive;
The carburator sprang a leak‑
Bill, $40.95.

He started for a little tour, 
The finest sort of fun;
He stopped too quick and slipped a gear‑
Bill, $90.51.

He took his wife to town to shop, 
To save the carfare was great;
He jammed into a hitching post‑
The bill, $2.78.

He spent his little pile of cash, 
And then in anguish cried
"We'll put a mortgage on the place
And just take one more ride! "
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 451
Trip from Barlow to Farm Near Jamestown in a 1915 Model T

A trip of 50 miles was a major excursion, with all kinds of things happening along the way, not the least of which was the excitement of traveling over unfamiliar territory. Here is a story by Ross Bloomquist as published in the Independent April 30, 1975.

It Was a Long, Eventful Trip from Barlow to Farm Near Jamestown in a 1915 Model T

Late in June 1915, when I was seven and a half years old, the whole Bloomquist family made their first long distance trip by automobile. Their objective was to visit the old folks, Winberg, at their new place in the "Valley." Andrew and Hannah Winberg, both Swedes and intimate friends of my grandparents, Charles and Mary Bloomquist, had lived until recently on a farm in Wells County, four miles west of the Bloomquist place.

A year or two earlier the Winbergs had decided to leave their place and purchased land in the valley of the Pipestem Creek about 15 miles northwest of Jamestown and 50 miles from the Bloomquist farm near Barlow. Andrew Winberg was a carpenter as well as a farmer. He was building his dwelling, barns, etc. in the new location himself. I suppose it was somewhat curiosity that the Bloomquists decided to make the trip to see how they were getting along.

The Bloomquists were still horse and buggy people in those days so John Holth, who lived in Barlow, was engaged to chauffeur the family there and back in a single day. Holth was a carpenter by trade and handy with machines and mechanical devices. He had driven automobiles as long as I can remember and at this time had a nearly‑new Model T. Ford.

The expedition required careful planning and its success depended on the weather. The road, which paralleled the tracks of the Northern Pacific Railroad from Barlow to Buchanan, was for the most part unimproved and might be impassible in wet weather. Grandpa had some misgivings that the trip could be accomplished at all considering the unreliability of all non‑horse driven vehicles. The rest of us, however, were sure that the Model T could negotiate anything we might encounter even when carrying five adults and two children. John was scheduled to be at the farm no later than six o'clock Sunday morning; we were to be ready to leave immediately.

Sunday dawned bright and clear. Mother was clearing away the breakfast dishes when John drove in right on time. He was invited in for a cup of coffee while we made last‑minute preparations. Besides John there were six of us and a suitcase to be squeezed into the Model T. Mother, Grandpa and Grandma filled the back seat snuggly. Mother held two‑year‑old Doris on her lap. Dad sat beside John and I sat more or less on Dad's lap. The suitcase was wedged between the right front fender and the hood. Since it was going to be a clear but not hot day, John decided to leave the top down. The windshield was folded down in the middle. Very little wind resistance.

We all got into our places except John. He went to the front of the car and gave a crank and a quick twist. The Ford started with a roar and John quickly climbed in over the non‑existant door on the driver's side. The road, mainly ruts in the prairie, was deserted as we sped along; we may have been going as fast as 25 miles an hour. The wheat fields shone bright and green in the early morning sun. The Greitls were going out to milk as we drove by. We turned off the road into Barlow and stopped briefly at the Holth house to pick up another spare tire, which John thought might be needed.

We turned south on the road to Carrington which ran beside the west side of the railroad tracks. (As a road it was only slightly improved.) There had been a few half‑hearted attempts to grade the road in Birtsell Township and over the Big Slough by Major Hall's farm. From there on to the Soo Line tracks the road was only a series of parallel ruts meandering over the prairie along the Northern Pacific right of way. After crossing the Soo Line tracks near Carrington the road was graded with shallow ditches on both sides of the road. We turned eastward onto Carrington's Main Street a little before seven o'clock. We traversed the mile long Main Street without slowing down, and turned south again at the corner by the McCue house with its red tiled roof. Instead of following the railroad tracks to Melville in a generally southeast direction, the main traveled road angled along the section lines‑ a mile or two east, then two or three south and so on until the road merged with the Main and only street of Melville. As far as Melville, all was familiar to Dad and John.

Again the unimproved road followed along the railroad tracks. The Hawksnest appeared bluish but not hazy in the morning sun. It seemed to be rising higher almost peceptibly and the air was becoming, warmer as the elevators of Edmunds came into sight. Suddenly the road, which had been paralleling the tracks on the east turned sharply, crossed the tracks, and followed along on the west side. They, a few miles farther along the road, crossed the tracks again to the east side. A car or two met us on the road‑ both drivers slowed down and turned out carefully. Greetings were always exchanged between the drivers.

The road continuing along on the east of the tracks passed the village of Pingree which lies mainly on the west side of the tracks. Just south of the village the terrain becomes less level and just as we were nearing the base of a slight decline we heard a loud report. The car seemed to stop instantly and we came to rest listing slightly. The left front tire had blown out! Grandpa was aghast. The trip was ruined, we would have to turn around and go back home. John quickly reassured him that he would have the tire fixed in less than half an hour. Didn't he have three spares with him? First everybody had to get out so he could get the jack and tire tools which were under the cushion on the rear seat. We looked at the tire, there was no hole showing in the casing. Nevertheless, changing tires was no easy job since demountable rims were considered a luxury by Henry Forts. The wheel was jerked up and Dad and Johr vent to work with the tire irons to pry the tire off the rim. It came off easily since the tire was pretty well worn. The innertube was pulled out of the casing and John examined the tube carefully for holes. He found a tear about an inch long, the slightly jagged edges fit together exactly. "It's a pretty new tube, " John remarked. "I ought to get that hole fixed in about ten minutes. I guess the tube must have gotten pinched in the casing somehow."
He rummaged around in the tool box and brought forth a small cardboard tube. He unskrewed the cap and pulled out a couple of gadgets, a collapsible tube and some squares of rubber sheeting. John read the instructions and then proceeded to scratch the surface of the inner tube around the tear. Dad and I watched very closely, the others walked a few yards away down the road. John took the cap from the tube and squirted a generous amount of gooey cement on the abrased area and on a piece of the rubber sheeting which he had cut out a piece large enough to cover the tear and an inch around it. The smelly solvent evaporated while John stirred the cement to spread it evenly, using a short stick he had picked up beside the road. I asked why he didn't stick the patch on right away. He replied, "She won't stick good until she's almost dry‑ I think she'll do now." He carefully laid the patch down over the hole pressing it on tightly with his fingers. He waited a few minutes and then attached the air pump to the valve stem. Two or three strokes were all that were necessary to inflate the limp tube. The patch held.

The repaired innertube was slipped back into the casing, the liner replaced and the tedious job of getting the tire back on the rim began. It took a lot of careful prying but finally the tire slipped into place.

I thought we were ready to go, but no, the tire still had to be pumped up. This laborious task seemed interminable. The Model T tires required 60 pounds of pressure. John pumped awhile and then Dad spelled him. The jack was removed and John put his weight on the protruding hub cap and said. "That's enough, I guess. All right, we are on our way." We got in as before, John cranked up and we started south again.

We were up to speed and ascending the rise then there was another loud report, this time the rear wheel.

Again the car seemed to stop instantly. John got out and looked at the wheel. Dad and I were right behind. This time there was a real blowout! A hole two inches across gaped in the sidewall. Now we would have to put on one of the new tires. The slow process of removing the tire from the rim was repeated and the tire was unstrapped from the left side of the car. The tire was wrapped with three‑inch strip of paper which Dad tore off while John opened a box containing an innertube.

Getting the new tire in back on the rim was difficult since it was much less pliable than the old worn one. This time, however, the operation and pumping it up did not seem to take so long since I was now familiar with what had to be done. When we were ready to start again John looked at his watch, "It's ten minutes to eleven, how much farther do we have to go?" Dad replied that he thought it could not be more than twenty miles. John looked at his watch again, "If the tires hold out from now on we should be there by half past twelve."
The tires did hold up and soon we caught a glimpse of two elevators four or five miles ahead. When we reached them at Buchanan, we crossed the railroad tracks to get on the Main Street of the village where the stores and hotel were situated. We stopped at the hotel and found a man there who had a general idea of the way to go to reach the Winberg farm although he did not know them personally. "Just follow the street in front of here south‑ it's a good road and you will get to the Pipestem‑ about 12 miles, I guess, and you won't be too far off. Somebody on one of the farms near there will be able to tell you better. " We thanked him and started south.

For the first three or four miles the graded dirt road was lined with cottonwoods, behind them the fields stretched away as level as in Foster County. (There were large and prosperous appearing farms along either side of the road. The large barns showed that the farmers engaged in cattle raising as well as growing small grains, wheat, oats, and barley.)

When we were seven or eight miles beyond Buchanan the character of the landscape changed gradually , from wheat fields to large fenced pastures. The farm buildings were farther apart, the road was becoming less well traveled and began to rise preceptibly.

Finally we climbed a hill, it was flat for about fifty feet at the summit and then to our dismay the road appeared to descend precipitously. "We can't go down that hill, " exclaimed Grandpa, "The brakes won't hold!" John Holth stopped obligingly and we all looked around. Ahead and to the right the valley of the Pipestem Creek stretched away to the east and west under the cloudless sky. The green hills were criss‑crossed by an occasional fence; a few cattle were grazing here and there. We saw no buildings which could be identified with the Winberg farm. The creek itself was not visible because there were still low hills in the way which prevented us from looking directly into the floor of the valley.

"I'm going to get out and walk down, " announced Grandpa. So he, Grandma, Mother and I got out and walked down the road. John and Dad stayed in their seats as the little Ford negotiated the "steep" slope at about five miles an hour in low gear. Actually, it was not nearly as steep as it appeared from our seats in the car.

Back on level ground we all got back in and continued south on the road that now was only ruts in the prairie. Some shack‑like farm buildings appeared a short distance ahead. Dad suggested that it might be a good idea to ask directions there. As we stopped in front of the house a nondescript collie dog crawled out from the shade of a wagon and barked loudly but kept his distance. There was no sign of movement within‑ obviously there was no one at home. "We might as well go ahead some more until we get to the Pipestem, " said Dad. "We ain't lost yet."
The prairie ruts curved along the hills for about a mile more, then, as we rounded a hill the floor of the valley lay before us. Pointing to his right to a low barn and a small house on the far side of the creek, Dad said: "That's the Winberg place, all right, I can tell that A.P. built that house. I recognize the steep roof‑ he always builds them steeper than anyone else."
The road followed the gentle slope toward the creek when suddenly I saw the road end at the bank of the little stream. "I guess I can ford it, " John remarked without even slowing down. The car plunged into the water, it reached only halfway up to the hubcaps and in less time than it takes to tell it we were up on the other bank and into the dry prairie ruts again.

We were only a quarter of a mile away from the house, the ruts led directly toward it. We stopped in front of the house and John killed the engine. Almost immediately the door opened and a small mustached man in overalls stepped out. We yelled our greeting to him and he replied, "For golly sake if it ain't the whole Bloomquist family. Come on in." We piled out of the car and went into the house.

"We thought we would surprise you, " Dad said, "we didn't know if we could make it."
"I'm glad you came, but Hannah went to McClusky to stay with Bessie for a week." This disappointed all of us for , we had hoped to have some of Mrs. Winberg's excellent cooking.

"You know, I got up early this morning and worked on the granary for a while and I made myself some dinner a little while ago. I know you are hungry so I'll get some stuff out and you can help me get a lunch ready, Emma." The last was addressed to my mother. She found an apron and set to work.

The interior of the house was really only a single large room. There were two closets on the west wall blanking the stove, one was used as a pantry. The inside walls of the house were still unfinished, instead of plaster the studdings were covered with a light green wallboard. The bare nailheads were yet to be covered. A rectangular dining table stood near the center of the room. A double bed occupied one of the corners opposite the stove, in the other there was a pair of rocking chairs upholstered with fancy crochet work for antimacassars. The phonograph with the blue petunia horn was missing. In its place was a new Edison‑ cylindrical records of course, but the arms were concealed in the cabinet below the playing mechanism.

While Mother, assisted by Winberg, prepared the meal, Dad, Grandpa and I went out for a tour of the farm buildings.

Just out of curiosity we were going to look at the farm implements when we heard Winberg call, "Charlie, Perry, come we've got dinner ready. I do not remember anything about the meal. After the dishes were washed John Holth got out a blanket and pillow and napped in the shade on the north side of the house. Grandpa, Grandma and Winberg sat and talked on the east side of the house sitting on apple crates. At Winberg's suggestion Mother, Dad and I walked over the little hill to the creek at a point where there was another ford. The little stream no more than 8 or 10 feet wide, was shallow and the water ran swiftly over the gravelly course.. Along the banks there were a few scrubby willows which shaded portions of the stream somewhat. We took off our shoes and stockings and waded in the cool water.

I was entranced by this new world of water and did not want to leave when Dad said it was time to get back to the house.

"It's quarter to four, already, John will want to start back pretty soon." I decided then and there that I was going to come back and I hoped it would be soon.

John was just waking up from his nap when we got back from the creek. Grandpa, Grandma and Winberg were still sitting on the crates by the house. It

was not excessively warm and the low humidity made the outdoors just the place to be on a Sunday afternoon. Winberg insisted that we have a cup of coffee before we started home.

It must have been half past four before we were ready to leave. Winberg suggested an alternate route out of the Valley to Buchanan so the "steep" hill could be avoided.

We piled back into the Ford and started out. We all waved as the Model T snorted and jumped ahead. Winberg waved and shook hands with himself as we rounded the curbs to the ford. Crossing the little stream was not a great thrill the second time. We followed the road Winberg had suggested; it climbed a little and then paralleled the stream until we were directly opposite the farm buildings nestled close together. Then the road turned away and the place was hidden by the rolling hills. The ascent from the Valley was gradual and soon we were back on the flat Dakota prairie.

The trip the rest of the way home was relatively uneventful. We passed Buchanan and Pingree without slowing down. The discarded paper wrapping from the tire was just where we had left them except now they were covered with a film of dust. There were numerous cars on the road‑ Sunday driving was practiced then as now. Their wheels picked up clouds of dust in the still late afternoon air.

Edmunds and Melville were passed without mishap, but as we neared Carrington we had another flat. Several solicitous motorists stopped to offer help. I was disappointed when John waved them on because I was tired and anxious to get home.

Only one more memory remains; as the sun sank lower in the west the air became full of gnats. One of them landed in my eye. It burned and was very painful until Dad managed to wife it out with his handkerchief. Then he and John raised the upper half of the windshield and we were protected from flying insects. 
I must have fallen asleep by the time we reached Carrington. Every detail of the last ten miles is gone from my memory.

These stories hit the Independent:

1934: "Rosehill Ford. Driver  Runs Over. His Own Leg"
Earl Thornton met with an unusual accident one day last week when the car he was driving ran over his leg. He was speeding along in his Motel T bug when he struck some sand. There was no windshield and Earl found himself on the ground in front of the car, which passed over his legs, bruising them slightly.

1935: Moral: Look out whose car you take a kick at

A Wells County high school boy, who admitted himself that he had "kind of a high polish on" took a hard kick at the wrong car on Main Street in Carrington Monday night.

He left his heel print on the fender of a shiny gray DeSoto sedan as the driver pulled away from the curb. It so happened that the car belonged to States Attorney C. W. Burnham, and the states attorney was at the wheel.

In a matter of minutes the boy was locked in jail where he was given a few hours to sober up. His school friends offered to dig into their own pockets to pay the cost of taking the dent out of the fender but deep as they dug they could raise only 30 cents among them. The boy was released and the garage bill was turned over to the Fessenden sheriff for collection.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 451
Modern Day Automobiles 

As the years rolled by the automobile industry continued to make improvements on their cars. In the 1980's almost any type of car that a customer may want is available with all the luxury and comfort that adds enjoyment to the owner. Automatic transmissions, as well as the standard transmissions, can be found. These new cars come equipped with electric seats, windows, tape players, radios, air conditioner, and other devices to add to the comfort of the owner and his passengers.

Besides passenger cars, there are luxury vans and mobile homes available for those who want that special comfort for a weekend vacation or other longer trips. The automobile had definitely come "a long way" since the very first ones appeared on the market.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 457
Family Histories (by Township)
Birtsell Township
Andrew and Emma (Paulson) Amundson.

Andrew Amundson, born in Norway on February 11, 1874, came to America with his parents who first settled in Wisconsin. In September 1900, he married Emma Paulson, who was born in Wisconsin, May 20, 1879. They came to North Dakota in 1903 to be employed on the J.R. Engberg ranch near Barlow. Later he farmed in the Barlow area.

The couple had four children; Bayard and Carrie (Mrs. Merle Wenstrom); and Pearl and Robert who died as small children.

Mr. Amundson died in January, 1932, and Mrs. Amundson in January, 1952. They are buried at Clam Falls, Wisconsin.

 Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 1B
Bayard and Ruth (Cornelius) Amundson

Bayard, son of Andrew and Emma Amundson, born July 3, 1901 at Waterloo, Iowa, came to Barlow with his parents in 1905. In June 1942 Bayard married Ruth Cornelius of New Rockford.

Bayard farmed in the Barlow area until 1934 when he bought the Barlow Grocery, which he operated until 1961. In 1940 he built and operated a cold storage locker system and meat processing plant which he operated until 1956. He served as Postmaster at Barlow from November 1934 until November 1965 when the post office was discontinued.

Bayard and Ruth continue to maintain their home in Barlow and spend their winters in Arizona.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 1B
F.G. and Harriet (Beach) Barlow

Frederick George Barlow was born in New Hampshire in 1839. He later moved to Quebec, Canada, where he received his education and taught school. In 1867 he moved to Eau Claire, Wisconsin, where he was engaged in farming and the lumber business. In 1869 he married Mrs. Harriet Beach, the widow of a Civil War veteran. In 1883 they came to Foster County and homesteaded in Estabrook Township, Southeast 1/4 of section 6.

Frederick kept store in Barlow for several years, retiring in 1891. He was appointed postmaster in 1884 and continued in that position until his death in 1901.

He was a delegate to every Republican convention since statehood and was elected to , the State Senate in the first legislative session but declined to serve.

Mr. Barlow died in May 1901 and is buried in the Barlow Cemetery. Mrs. Barlow died in Seattle in 1915.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 1B
Charles Blomquist

Charles Blomquist born August 20, 1849 was the son of Joan Blomgren and his wife Maria Ericksdotter. As a child he had been apprenticed to a tailor and after serving out his apprenticeship he was a member of the Swedish Army for 15 years. During that time he married on June 7, 1873 Maria Petersdotter who was born December 22, 1847. Three children were born to them in Sweden before they immigrated to America. Charlie came over first about 1882 to Minnesota where some of his in‑laws were already living. After working several years on railroad construction in Minnesota he sent for his family who arrived in 1885. They lived on rented farm near Amenia until 1896 when land was purchased in Foster County, the South 1/2 of Section 3, Birtsell Township in 1896. The farm remained the Blomquist home of both Charlie and his son Perry and grandson James until 1960.

The children were Perry, Carl A. and Annie Sophia who died tragically in a fire while the family was still living in Ameania.

Maria Blomquist died August 16, 1916 and Charlie on July 9, 1925; they are buried in the Barlow Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 1B
Perry and Emma (Anderson) Blomquist

Perry Blomquist, born in Sweden August 26, 1875, the son of Charles Blomquist, a pioneer in the Barlow area, came to Birtsell Township in 1896. On December 14, 1906 he married Emma Anderson, the daughter of Hens and Stina Anderson, who were pioneer settlers of Rosefield Township, Eddy County. Emma was born July 11, 1879 in Sweden. Perry and Emma were the parents of three children; Ross, Doris and James.

Mr. Blomquist died January 20, 1949 and Mrs. Blomquist on March 2, 1975. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

 Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 

Patrick and Ellen (McVey) Byron

Patrick Byron was born March 17, 1860 and he came to Birtsell Township in 1881. In 1883 he married Ellen McVey at Devils Lake. Both Mr. and Mrs. Byron filed on homesteads in Birtsell Township.

The couple had 8 children: John, Walter, Sadie, Marie, James, Nellie, Katherine and Charles.

Mrs. Byron died in 1921. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 1B
Magni and Freda (Johnson) Carlson

Gustave Magni Carlson was born in Sweden on May 8, 1867. He came to the United States and purchased land in Birtsell Township on section 8.

On February 12, 1903 he married Freda Johnson in Minneapolis, who was born in Sweden on September 3, 1876. They were the parents of two daughters; Edna and Verna.

They retired to California in 1915 where Mr. Carlson died September 3, 1933 and Mrs. Carlson died September 30, 1953. They are buried at San Gabriel, California.

 Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 1B
Laverne and Vonda (Garland) Cellmer

Laverne Cellmer was born July 8, 1939 at Woodworth. He was the son of Leonard and Lydia Cellmer.

He married at Carrington on November 27, 1960. Vonda Garland was born December 24, 1940 at New Rockford, the daughter of Hamlin and Anna Anderson Garland.

The couple lives in Barlow. They have three daughters, Tammy, Holly and Derby.

The family attends the Lutheran Church in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 1B
Walter E. and Frances (Stambaugh) Dalzell

Walter Dalzell was born in 1870 and married Frances Stambaugh in Nebraska in 1896, Frances was born in Illinois.

The couple came to Carrington in 1897 and settled on a farm near Guptil, where they lived for sixteen years before they moved to Minnesota.

Mr. Dalzell died in 1930.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 1B
John Eggleton

John Eggleton and his brother George, both born in England, were among the earliest to settle northwest of Carrington. George lived in Birtsell Township and Carrington until 1899 when he and his family moved to Payette, Idaho.

John Eggleton homesteaded in Wells County but sold his land and moved to Barlow after the death of his wife Amy (1861‑1895). He was Assessor and Justice of Peace for Birtsell and Estabrook Townships and a professional photographer. Many of his photographs of the people and scenes in and around Barlow are in the Foster County Historical Society's collections.

John and Amy Eggleton had three children, a daughter who died young, Cora who died as a teenager and Harold born June 14, 1892, died April 23, 1967 unmarried.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 1B
J.R. Engberg

J.R. Engberg was in his early twenties when he came to the Barlow area from Iowa in 1882. He had various interests‑ selling machinery as well as real estate. He also operated the farm on Section 1, Birtsell Township and other lands.

He was instrumental in platting out the village of Barlow, the streets were named after his children, May and Sumner, Thaddeus and Guy. He died in 1907 and was buried in Iowa. His wife and four children survived.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 1B
George E. and Lois (Klein) Erickson

George Erickson was born at Carrington on August 20, 1933 to Lloyd and Blanche Bijold Erickson. He was educated in the Birtsell schools and Carrington High School.

In October of 1952 he married Lois Klein at Jamestown. Lois was born August 28, 1935 to Gust and Emma Kuehn Klein.

The couple now lives on the farm in Birtsell Township on Section 33. George is the third generation to live on this farm.

George and Lois have five children: Mark, Michelle, Robert, Timothy and Cathy.

George has served on the township board and the school board.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 2B
George and Louise (Zeigler) Erickson

George Erickson was born at Peotone, Illinois on March 5, 1865.

Louise Zeigler was born at Chicago on March 5, 1869.

The couple was married on June 23, 1892. They farmed in Illinois until they came to Foster County in 1913. They bought land on section 33 in Birtsell township.

The couple had five children: Franklin, Adeline, Harold, Lloyd, and Caroline.

Mr. Erickson died April 15, 1936. Mrs. Erickson died June 7, 1946. They are buried at Carrington.

Their daughter Adeline now makes her home in Carrington. She was employed in Jamestown for a number of years until she. retired in 1970.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 2B
Lloyd and Blanche (Bijold) Erickson

Lloyd Erickson was born August 9, 1901 to George and Louise Zeigler Erickson at Peotone, Illinois.

He came to Foster County with his parents in 1915. Later he farmed the land on section 33 in Birtsell township, formerly owned by his parents.

He was married to Blanche Bijold of Sykeston on July 31, 1928 at Jamestown. Blanche, the daughter of Fidele and Yvonne Mador Bijold, was born September 17, 1905 at Sykeston.

They have four children: George, James, Robert and Muriel.

The family is active in the church and community. They came to live in Carrington as Mr. Erickson is a J. I. Case dealer.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 2B
Claude and Sarah (Stewart) Garland Sr.

Claude Garland, born in 1870 in Quebec, Canada came to North Dakota in 1883. He came to file a claim, later he bought land on section 20 in Birtsell Township. In 1894 he married Sarah Ann Stewart at Carrington, who was born in 1878 in Ontario. Besides farming Mr. Garland was a livestock buyer.

The Garlands were the parents of fifteen children: Marie, Claude B., Hamlin, Erna, Howard, George, Celia, James, Theodore, John, Thomas, Stella, Keithel, Lahoma and William.

When the Garlands retired they moved into Carrington. Mrs. Garland died in 1943 and Mr. Garland died in 1950. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 2B
George S. and Ellen (Murphy) Garland

George Garland was born on September 9, 1904 to Claude and Sarah Stewart Garland.

June 10, 1928, he and Ellen Murphy were married. They were the parents of two children Syvil and George Jr.

The family lived on the farm in Birtsell township and they bought the farm from his father in 1944. Their son George now owns and operates the farm.

Mr. Garland died April 4, 1965. He is buried in Carrington.

Mrs. Garland, who is active in the Rebekah Lodge and the Federated Women's club, resides in California.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 2B
Hamlin and Anna (Anderson) Garland

Hamlin Garland, the son of Claude and Sarah Stewart Garland, was born November 17, 1900 at Carrington. Anna Anderson was born January 16, 1905 at Cathay. Her parents Peter and Karoline Olson Anderson moved to Barlow area soon after Anna was born and Anna has lived in or near Barlow ever since.

Hamlin and Anna were married October 2, 1923 at Carrington. They have four children, Lila, Alice, Vonda and Kenneth.

Mr. Garland farms in the Barlow area. Mrs. Garland is active in the Barlow Friday Club and the Rebekah Lodge.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 2B
Roy and Millie (Cope) Greitl

Roy Greitl, son of Michael and Mary Greitl, was born in Pennsylvania on September 15, 1879. He came to the Barlow area with his parents in 1882. Roy spent a number of years on the family farm and in 1094 took up the trade of blacksmith. He homesteaded in Montana near Forsyth, but came back to help on the home farm after the death of his brother, Fred on November 20, 1918. On January 16, 1929 he married Millie Cope of Sykeston. They had no children.

Mr. Greitl lost his life in February 1930 after being struck by a car on the Barlow main street. He is buried in the Barlow Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 2B
Randy and Mary Ringsaker) Habeck

Randy Habeck was born at Breckenridge, Minnesota on February 7, 1947. Mary Ringsaker was born at Sisseton, South Dakota on December 1, 1940. The couple was married at Sisseton on August 31, 1968.

They have four children, Kelly, Kristy, Karrie, and Randy.

Mr. Habeck is manager at the Barlow Elevator in Barlow.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 2B
John and Minnie (Nielson) Holth (Tressa Greitl Holth)

John Holth, born September 25, 1881 at Larvik, Norway came to the United States in 1904 and lived in Barlow from 1905 until his death. He married Minnie Nielson who died November 15, 1913.

On March 23, 1918 John married as his second wife, Tressa, the widow of Anton Winberg, who died in 1913. Tressa, the daughter of Michael and Mary Greitl, was born May 7, 1889 at Barlow. John Holth had learned the carpenter trade in Norway‑ he built many of the farm buildings in the Barlow-Cathay area.

John and Tressa made their home at Barlow until they moved to the farm in Section 24, Birtsell township which is now the home of their son Roy.

The Holths were the parents of nine children: Agnes and Caroline by his first wife, Mary, Tressa, Roy, Norman, Fred and Lewis.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Holth resided at the Odd Fellows Home in Devils Lake the last months of their lives. Mr. Holth died in August 1970. Mrs. Holth died in October 1971. They are buried in the Barlow Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 2B
Christian Kuehn

Christian Kuehn was born at Atmagea, Rumania on October 20, 1875. He married Sophia Bucholtz on January 30, 1902 in Rumania and they came to the United States the same year to homestead near Kief, North Dakota. Two children were born to them: Arthur who died as a small infant, and Elsie.

After the death of his first wife, Mr. Kuehn married on February 18, 1906, Sophie Arendt who was born in Rumania on February 28, 1885. They had six children: Emma, Alice, Tillie, Benny, Herman, and Willie. The family moved to the Barlow area in 1918 where the sons farmed with their father.

Mr. Kuehn died August 30, 1934 and Mrs. Kuehn died July 8, 1948. They are buried in the Barlow Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 2B
Frank J. and Amelia (Mittelsdorf) Lemert

Frank Lemert, the son of Richard and Anna Lemert, was born January 25, 1885 at Nelsonville, Ohio. He came to Foster County with his parents who settled in the Lemert community. Frank married on May 23, 1911, Amelia Mittelsdorf, born January 6, 1888, who came from Saxony, Germany in 1907. She had been employed in Carrington before her marriage.

The Lemerts lived on Section 32, Birtsell Township until 1942 when they moved to Carrington where Frank was employed in construction work.

They were the parents of eight children: Ann, Don, William Cooper, Frank Jr., Kiethel, Emily, Alyce, and Russell.

Mrs. Lemert died July 1959 and Mr. Lemert died May 22, 1962. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 2B
Joshua and Mary Caroline (Blackwell) Lemert

Joshua Lemert was born in 1829 in Ohio.

He was married to Mary Blackwell on May 1, 1851.

Joshua Lemert attended Westyan University in Ohio taking classes in English.

He served in the War Between the States as a Captain in the 7th Ohio Volunteer Infantry.

When the family came to North Dakota, they settled on a farm in Birtsell Township and established the town of Lemert. The town was plotted for residential lots but did not grow. In one room of their house, they had the post office.

Joshua Lemert served as County Judge in Foster County, making the trip daily from his home. Mrs. Lemert served as midwife and nurse to many neighbors.

The couple had two sons and a daughter; Richard D., Frank and Ruth Ann.

Joshua was a charter member of the Masonic Lodge in Carrington, having taken his original Masonic work in Illinois.

Mrs. Lemert died February 4, 1904. Mr. Lemert died November 22, 1918. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 3B
Richard D. and Anna Cathryn (Ucker) Lemert

Richard (Dicky) Lemert, son of Joshua and Mary Blackwell Lemert, was born in Ohio. During the War between the States, he tried to enlist, but was too young. He was born April 19, 1852.

He worked on the railroad and later was a mining engineer in Ohio.

On June 6, 1$81, Dick married Anna Ucker, daughter of August and Mary Warner Ucker. Anna was born June 3, 1861 in Ohio.

In 1887 the family moved to North Dakota to farm. They had 8 children, the 3 oldest were born in Ohio; they were Maude, Don and Frank. The others born in Foster County were: Scott, Nell, Lewis, Ruth and Leslie.

Dick Lemert was a charter member of the Masonic Lodge in Carrington. He had joined the order in Ohio.

Mr. Lemert died July 29, 1924 and is buried at Carrington.

Mrs. Lemert spent her last years with a daughter in Seattle. She died October 1, 1949 and is buried at Seattle.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 3B
Eugene Linderman
Eugene Linderman, the son of Ross and Marie Garland Linderman was born March 21, 1918 at Barlow. He lived in Foster and Eddy counties all of his life. He was a farmer, an aviation enthusiast and also engaged in the construction business. In September, 1941 he married Edna LaRoque at Hays, Montana. They were the parents of four children: Carol, Danile, Wendell and Mark.

He later married Darlene Christopherson of New Rockford. Their children were Kelly and Kevin. Gene died in August 1969. He is buried in the Carrington cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 3B
George and Christine (Valer) Linderman Margaret Davidson

George Linderman, son of Charles and Ada Rands Linderman was born January 2, 1894 at Valparaiso, Indiana. He came to North Dakota with his parents as a small boy. He farmed in both Wells and Foster County until he bought a farm on Section 20 in Birtsell Township in the early 1920's. On November 18, 1919, he married Christine Valer, born December 25, 1884 in Eddy County.

George and Christine were the parents of three children: Phyllis, Maxine, and Dale.

Mr. Linderman served in the Army during World War I and on the school and township boards and the ASCS board. They retired and moved to Carrington in 1967.

Christine died September 19, 1969.

In April 1972, George married Margaret Davidson at Gladstone, Oregon.

George died at Apache Junction, Arizona, on April 18, 1975. George and Christine are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 3B
George Dale, Jean (Hanson) Linderman

Dale Linderman, son of George and Christine Valer Linderman, was born March 20, 1924 in Wells County. He came to Birtsell Township with his parents in 1931.

He and Jean Hanson were married on September 1, 1946 at Carrington. Jean, the daughter of Victor and Jessie McLeod Hanson, was born on March 21, 1925, in Rolling Prairie Township.

The couple's children are Kent, Georgia, Monica, Roxanne, and Nadine.

Dale and Jean as well as all their children are graduates of Carrington High School.

The family lives on the North 1/2 of Section 20 in Birtsell township which they purchased in 1942.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Linderman have served in a number of official capacities. Mr. Linderman served in the state legislature for four terms.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 3B
Lawrence and Lila (Garland) Linderman

Lawrence Linderman, son of Charles and Ada Rands Linderman was born in Wells County on October 1, 1915.

On February 23, 1946 he married at New Rockford Lila Garland, the daughter of Hamlin and Anna Anderson Garland, who was born March 3, 1925. The couple have three children, Peggy, Cheryl and Jay.

They live in Birtsell Township on the South 1/2 of Section 24, where they are engaged in farming.

Both Lawrence and Lila are active in the Democratic Party and have served in both local and state offices.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 3B
John E. and Phyllis (Linderman) Lura 

John E. Lura was born in Birtsell Township on November 11, 1914, the son of Peter and Inga Harstad Lura. He married on November 18, 1943, Phyllis, the daughter of George and Christine Valer Linderman, who was born September 1, 1920 at New Rockford. John served in the Army during World War II. Phyllis taught school before her marriage. She is active in the Homemakers Club. The Luras farm in Birtsell Township on Section 5 which they purchased in 1941.

They are the parents of seven children: Larry, Philip, Karen, Kevin, Kristin, Mitchel and Randal.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 3B
Kevin and Jane (Zink) Lura

Kevin Lura was born April 10, 1952 to John and Phyllis Linderman Lura at New Rockford. He married at Carrington on June 14, 1974. Jane Zink the daughter of Russell and Cecilia Zink.

The Luras have two daughters: Shannon and Suzanne.

The Luras live in Section 34 in Rosefield Township, Eddy County.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 3B
Larry, John and Janice (Byrum) Lura
Larry Lura, son of John and Phyllis Linderman Lura, was born at New Rockford on April 26, 1944.

On December 9, 1967 he married at New Rockford. Janice Byrum, the daughter of Ralph and Maxine Byrum.

The Luras have two sons: Troy and Travis.

They lives on Section 21 in Birtsell Township.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 3B
Mitchel and Karla (Zink) Lura
Mitchel Lura, son of John and Phyllis Linderman Lura, was born July 19, 1958 at New Rockford. On August 29, 1981 he married at Carrington Karla Zink, the daughter of Leo and Lola Townsend Zink.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 3B
Peter and Inga (Harstad) Lura
Peter Lura was born at Stavanger, Norway on May 29, 1883. He came to America as a youth. On March 19, 1910 he married Inga Harstad, born at Stavanger, Norway, on February 27, 1887. She came to Cathay in 1909. They farmed in the Barlow area until 1945 when they retired and moved to Carrington. Mr. Lura continued his farming interests and also occupied part time as a meat cutter at the Barlow Locker plant.

The couple had five children: Elmer, John, Olga, Alma and Ruth.

Mr. Lura died August 16, 1955. Mrs. Lura died January 2, 1982. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 3B
Philip and Darnell (Byrum) Lura
Philip Lura was born June 26, 1947 to John and Phyllis Lihderman Lura at New Rockford. He married on July 9, 1971 at New Rockford, Darnell Byrum, the daughter of Ralph and Maxine Byrum of New Rockford.

They have three sons: Aaron, Brock and Tyler.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 3B
Wesley and Caroline (Smith) Nicholson

Wesley Nicholson was born in Ontario on April 14, 1868. The Nicholson family came to the Barlow area in 1884, one of the first to settle in Birtsell Township. Wesley later became owner of the farm, and stayed on while the other family members returned to Ontario. Wesley was active in township and school affairs. He married Caroline Smith in Ontario. They had one daughter, Margaret. Mrs. Nicholson died in 1916.

In April 1922, Mr. Nicholson married Mrs. Celesta Pettit at Carrington. She was born at Vernon, Indiana, on April 23, 1879. She had five children by a previous marriage, Ellen, Penny, Marie, Kenneth, and Russell Murphy. Wesley Nicholson died in May 1928 and Celesta Nicholson on June 26, 1954.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 3B
Martin and Mattie (Hill) O'Hara

Martin O'Hara was born 1861 in England and came to Foster County as a small child with his parents, the Patrick O'Hara's, who homesteaded on the Southwest 1/4 of 12 in Birtsell Township in 1883. Martin remained on the home farm after his father retired and bought his own land later. The family remained on the farm until 1933 when they moved into Carrington.

On April 10, 1898 he married Mattie Hill of Sykeston. Three children were born to the family, Inez, Joseph, and James.

Mr. O'Hara died in November 1934.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 4B
Alf and Jennie (Moe) Oien

Alf Dien was born at Canton, South Dakota on April 24, 1901. His wife Jennie was born at Hurdsfield, North Dakota on October 28, 1909. The Oien family moved to the Barlow area in 1944 and later lived in Carrington. Jennie taught school for twenty years.

The Oiens had three children, a daughter, deceased, and two sons, Alfred and Rober.

Mr. Oien died October 26, 1977 and is buried in the Carrington Cemetery. Mrs. Oien resides in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 4B
M. P. and Myrtle (Ridgeway) Roberts

M. Pierce Roberts, who was born December 18, 1880 at Oshkosh, Wisconsin, the son of Peter and Matilda Roberts, came to North Dakota with his family in 1882. His father homesteaded on the West 1/2 of Section 28 in Birtsell Township. On February 15, 1905 he married Myrtle Ridgeway, the daughter of James and Mary Whittler Ridgeway, who was born July 15, 1884 at Virden, Illinois.

The Roberts lived on the original homestead for twenty‑two years. In 1909 he purchased land of his own and acquired a third interest in the homestead. He lived on the farm until 1945 but no longer operated the farm after 1932. Mr. Roberts served as County treasurer for four years, Register of Deeds, Clerk of Court and County judge for twenty years. He was Birtsell Township's treasurer for 33 years.

Myrtle was active in many church and community activities and a lifetime member of the Eastern Star.

The Roberts had one daughter: Ione.

Mr. Roberts died February 3, 1978 and Mrs. Roberts died April 16, 1980. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 4B
Andrew and Helene (Seibold) Roth

Andrew Roth was born in Rumania on March 14, 1885. At the age of 14 he homesteaded at Max, when he came to North Dakota. He married Helene Seibold, who was born in Rumania on December 27, 1893. He came to Foster County and bought a farm in Section 18, Birtsell Township. His son Walter now lives on the farm.

The couple had six children: Victor, Viola, Esther, Walter, Elmer and Deloris.

Mr. Roth died December 25, 1956. Mrs. Roth died April 3, 1960. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 4B
Douglas and Myrtle (Heinle) Schmid

Douglas Schmid, son of Zeller and Norma Saastad Schmid, was born at Carrington on July 17, 1939. He grew up in the Barlow area and attended high school in Carrington and attended college. Douglas Schmid and Myrtle Heinle were married December 22, 1968 at Medina. She was born at Woodworth on May 6, 1944, the daughter of Carl and Frieda Heinle.

Douglas is the third generation to live on the farm, the Northeast quarter of Section 13, first acquired by his grandfather Lenard Schmid.

The couple has three sons: Christopher, Nathan and Timothy.

The Schmids are active in the Federated Church in Carrington, as well as in their community.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 4B
Frank and Katherine (Zeller) Schmid (Carrie Lunde Schmid)

Frank Schmid, the son of John G. Schmid was born in Illinois on July 23, 1877. He lived in Illinois and Wisconsin before coming to Birtsell Township with his parents. Frank lived on the family farm for many years, and later in Carrington where he worked as a mechanic. In Carrington he also operated "Frank's Fixit Shop" until 1945.

In 1908 on February 22, he married Katherine Zeller at Lewiston, Wisconsin. Katherine was born April 8, 1878 at Lewiston. She died March 17, 1919. They had three children: John, Myrtle and Chester.

In 1921 Frank married Carrie ‑Lunde at Kenyon, Minnesota. Carrie was born January 18, 1887 and died June 23, 1956. They had one daughter, Joyce.

Mr. Schmid died September 17, 1963. He arid his first wife are buried in the Barlow Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 4B

John G. and Elise (Scherschwizy) Schmid

John G. Schmid was born to Leonard and Catherine Schmid of Wurtenburg, Germany on March 18, 1849.

In 1868 he came to America and first settled in Wisconsin, coming to Dakota Territory in 1882. That fall he came north from Jamestown to locate a homestead. Because of deep snow he settled in Carrington temporarily.

He had married Elise Scherschwizy but left her and the children in Wisconsin until he could find a place. Elise Scherschwizy was born in Germany on May 26, 1851.

In April she and the three older boys arrived. The family later consisted of six boys: Leonhard, Frank, George, Paul, Benjamin and Samuel.

For years the Schmids were the only ones living north west of Carrington. Later the family moved into Barlow where Mr. Schmid had a hardware store.

Mrs. Schmid died July 10, 1930.

Mr. Schmid died March 1940.

They are buried at Barlow.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 4B
Leonhard and Lydia (Zeller) Schmid

Leonhard G. Schmid, the son of John G. Schmid was born at LaSalle, Illinois on July 11, 1876. He came to North Dakota with his parents in 1885. His father homesteaded on Section 14 in Birtsell Township. Leonhard continued to live on the farm until 1933 when he retired and moved into Barlow. Lydia Zeller was born April 5, 1873 at Lewiston, Wisconsin. She and Leonhard were married at Lewiston on February 25, 1903.

The Schmids had one son, Zeller and raised their nephew, Chester, the son of Frank and Lydia Zeller Schmid. They were active in community and church affairs.

Mr. Schmid died May 5, 1961. Mrs. Schmid died October 30, 1971. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 4B
Samuel and Dorothy (Johnson) Schmid

Samuel Schmid, the son of John G. and Elise Schmid, was born in Birtsell Township August 26, 1893. A farmer, he married at Barlow on November 16, 1916, Dorothy Johnson, born in Bergan, Norway January 10, 1895, who came to Barlow in 1915.

Mr. Schmid was an active member of the Barlow Odd Fellows Lodge and he served as a County Commissioner. Mrs. Schmid was active in the Rebekah Lodge and the Homemakers Club.

The couple were parents of four sons: Harold, Duane, Donald and Fredrick and foster parents of Mrs. Joseph (Barbara) Fugere.

Mr. Schmid died in February 1969. Mrs. Schmid died September 29, 1976. They are buried in the Barlow Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 4B
Zeller and Norma (Saastad) Schmid

Zeller Schmid was born at Barlow on July 23, 1909, the son of Leonhard and Lydia Zeller Schmid. He attended school in Barlow and Carrington. He farmed in Birtsell Township. He served as Township Supervisor and County Commissioner. On March 19, 1936 he married Norma Saastad of Sawyer, North Dakota.

The couple had four children: Roger, Douglas, Neal and Ginger.

Mr. Schmid died October 13, 1964 and is buried in Carrington.

Mrs. Schmid continues to reside on the farm in Section 13, Birtsell Township. The farming operations have been taken over by their son, Douglas.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 4B
Nathaniel and Kate (Skelton) Semmens

Nathaniel James Semmens was born April 30, 1872 in Cornwall, England. He married in Colorado on December 24, 1902, Kate Skelton, who was born in Fairfield, Illinois on December 21, 1878. The couple moved to Barlow in 1903 where Mr. Semmens was the manager of the Barlow Elevator. In 1918 the family moved to Luverne, North Dakota.

They were parents of thirteen children: Laura, James, Fred, Arthur, Opal, Catherine, Kitchner, Wilson, John, Thomas, Oliver, Lily and Maud.

Mr. Semmens died in 1934. In 1944 Mrs. Semmens came back to Carrington to live. She died August 10, 1977, age 98. They are both buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 5B
Samuel and Pauline (Albus) Siebold

Samuel Siebold was born in Rumania in 1884. He came to America at the age of one with his parents, who first settled in Canada. In 1917 he came to Carrington where he was employed by Heinrichs Chemical Company. Later he operated a cream station.

On June 11, 1908 he married Pauline Albus, the daughter of pioneers Christian and Katherine Albus. Samuel and Pauline were the parents of twelve children; Clara, Maude , Charles, William, Ann, Paul, Rose, Julia, Edna: Lorraine, Robert and Mitzi.

Mr. Siebold died in 1948 and is buried in the Pleasant Valley Cemetery. Mrs. Siebold died January 26, 1980 with burial at Lincoln Memorial Park, Lincoln, Nebraska.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 5B
John and Mamie (Stokes) Skadberg

John Skadberg, son of Solomon and Inger Skadberg, was born at Stavanger, Norway on December 28, 1894. He came to North Dakota in 1914, he settled first in Wells County but in 1916 he rented a farm in Section 6, Birtsell Township which he later purchased. Mr. Skadberg married Mamie Stokes at the Stavanger Lutheran Church near Cathay on June 18, 1920. Mamie, the daughter of Andrew and Anna Holt Stokes, was born in Fairville Township, Wells County on May 25, 1898. The Skadbergs remained on the farm until his death in a farm accident in 1952. Mr. Skadberg was a grain farmer and breeder of Aberdeen Angus cattle.

The Skadbergs had eight children: Stanley, Jerrold, Arlys, John, Kermit, James, Judith and Sonia.

Mr. Skadberg died August 22, 1952. Mrs. Skadberg died October 26, 1974. They are buried in the Stavanger ‑Cemetery, near Cathay.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 5B
Curtis and Peggy (Linderman) Stern

Curt Stern was born at New Rockford on January 13, 1949, to Robert and Mildred Stern. He married at Carrington on September 8, 1968, Peggy Linderman, born April 10, 1948, the daughter of Lawrence and Lila Garland Linderman.

Curt is associated with the Sigco Sunflower Company and also has farming interests.

They have two sons: Korey and Chad. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 5B
Cornelius and Anna Katrina (Poss) Vande Hoven

Cornelius Vande Hoven was born in Holland, June 29, 1867.

Anna Poss was born in Holland on May 14, 1880. She was married to Cornelius Vande Hoven in 1912. They came to Foster County to live.

The couple had eleven children‑ one died as a small boy. The 10 living children were: Henry, Chris, Marie, Anna, John, Rose, William, Cora, Matt and a four day old infant; when Mrs. Vande Hoven died. She died October 15, 1921.

Mr. Vande Hoven, who had come to Foster County in 1906, lived on the farm until his death. He died in July 1950.

They are buried at Carrington. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 5B
Henry and Doris Louise (Walton) Vande Hoven

Henry Vande Hoven, son of Cornelius and Anna Poss Vande Hoven, was born November 19, 1915.

In 1944 he and Doris Walton were married. She was the daughter of Guy and Vada Heinmiller Walton. Both Doris and Henry were born in Birtsell Township, and their farm is on Section 26 in the township.

Their children are: Gary, Joann, Micheal, Pamela, Judy, Randy and Paula.

The family is active in various community affairs. Doris is an active member of the Rebekah Lodge in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 5B
Guy A. and Vada (Heinmiller) Walton

Guy Walton, son of Luther L. and Jane Norton Walton, was born July 24, 1869, at Farmington, Michigan. He came to North Dakota with his parents in 1882. He married Vada Heinmiller at Carrington on March 4, 1909. Vada, the daughter of the George Heinmillers, was born August 22, 1884, in Indiana.

The Waltons farmed in Birtsell Township for many years.

They had eight children: Luther, Charles, Evelyn and Edith (twins), Amy, Theodore, Guy, and Doris. The children were very young when their mother died‑ from 3 1/2 months to 14 years.

Mrs. Walton died November 10, 1923 and Mr. Walton died on April 28, 1933. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 5B
E. W. and Mary (Kopan) Wheeler

Edward Willis Wheeler (Bill) was born at Woodstock, Illinois on August 1, 1881. He spent his youth in Slayton, Minnesota with his parents, Edwin and Elize Clock Wheeler. He married Mary Kopan at Soldier's Grove, Wisconsin, on June 17, 1908. She was born July 25, 1876, in Wisconsin to Alex and Takla Hellmund Kopankiewicz. She came to North Dakota to teach school.

Bill Wheeler came to North Dakota to work as a grain buyer. He operated the Osborne-McMillan elevator at Lemert, on the Soo Line from 1906 to 1943. Later he operated the elevator in Carrington for a short while.

The Wheelers had four children: Kenneth, Keith, Jean and Robert.

Mr. Wheeler died on October 2, 1945. Mrs. Wheeler died December 26, 1968. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 5B
Thomas B. and Mary (Laber) White

Thomas B. White, the son of Thomas S. and Katherine Sweeney White was born at Carrington in 1902. He married at Sykeston on October 6, 1925, Mary Laber, the daughter of John and Mary Laber, who was born at Sykeston in April 1907.

The Whites farmed in Wells and Foster Counties until purchasing a farm in Birtsell Township. They retired and moved to Carrington. Both Mr. and Mrs. White are active in church and community affairs, the Foster County Fair, 4‑H and Homemakers. Mr. White is active in the County Historical Society.

The couple had seven children: Glyndon, Mary Lou, Alice, Ila, Judith and Timothy. A son, Thomas, died in infancy.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 5B
Thomas S. and Katherine (Sweeney) White

Thomas S. White, born in Canada in 1872, came to the United States in 1888 to settle in Wells County. In 1899, he married Katherine Sweeney, the daughter of James Sweeney, who was born on May 31, 1878 at Cheyenne, Wyoming. The family moved to Montana where the mother died in 1881. Katherine and her sister Mary came to North Dakota in 1883 with her father who homesteaded in Birtsell Township. In 1900 Tom White came to Foster County to farm on his father‑in‑law's land on Section 30 in Birtsell Township.

The Whites had nine children: James, Thomas, Frank, Charles, George, John, Ray, Winnifred and Katherine.

Mr. White died in 1928. Mrs. White then moved into Carrington to live. She died July 7, 1968. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 5B
August and Luella Smith (Smith) Wiltschko

August Wiltschko, born October 16, 1880 at Green Bay, Wisconsin, came to the United States with his parents, Mathias and Margaret Wiltschko in 1883. The family homesteaded on Section 24 in Birtsell Township. The sod house built by Mathias Wiltschko is still in use being a part of the home on the Roy Holth farm. August Wilschko also filed a homestead on Section 26.

On March 16, 1915 he married Luella Smith, the daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Albert Smith. She was born in Ontario on December 19, 1893 and had come to Foster County with her parents in 1897.

The Wiltschkos had two daughters: Margaret and Carol.

The Wiltschkos lived on their farm all their married life. August spent some years in Carrington after his wife's death in July 1940. Mr. Wiltschko died in January 1945. Both are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 5B
Benjamin and Emma (Messer) Zeller (Daisy Tressler Zeller)

Benjamin Zeller was born June 11, 1876 at Lewiston, Wisconsin, to Augustina and George Zeller. He farmed in Wisconsin, Oklahoma and South Dakota before coming to the Barlow area in 1911 where he purchased the West 1/2 of Section 11 in Birtsell Township. In 1912 on February 14, he married Emma Messer at Portage, Wisconsin. Two children were born to the couple: Frances and George. Emma Zeller died December 4, 1940.

On December 31, 1945, Ben married Daisy Tressler at Aberdeen.. The couple lived in Carrington and also Lakeland, Florida. Daisy Zeller died July 3, 1969.

Mr. Zeller then lived at the Lutheran Home of the Good Shepherd at New Rockford the last three years of his life. He died November 14, 1971. He and his first wife are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 6B

Bordulac

James J. and Golda (Sands) Atkins

James J. Atkins was born in Kentucky, October 3, 1872, and grew up there. He came to the Bordulac area in 1900, where he farmed until 1908 when he was elected sheriff of Foster County. He served for two terms. After his term was over he operated a farm west of Barlow for several years before moving to a farm south of Carrington.

James Atkins married Golda Sands in Carrington on June 17, 1909. Golda was born January 21, 1886, in Iowa.

Nine children were born to the couple: Turner, Lillian, Robert, Roland, Harold, Helen, Jack, Lyle and Edwin.

Mr. Atkins died in March 1926. Mrs. Atkins died in July 1927. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 6B
Ellery and Edna (Burnham) Barnes

Ellery Barnes was born March 27, 1850 at St. Albans, Vermont. In 1876 he married Edna Burnham, the daughter of Ebenezer and Charlotte Burnham. The couple came to the Melville area in 1882 and homesteaded in Melville Township on the Northwest 1/4 of Section 28. He later acquired land on Section 20. The family later moved to Carrington to give the children the benefit of school. In 1902 they moved to Minneapolis.

The couple had four children: Edwin, Helen, Mrs. Emil Larson and Raymond.

Mrs. Barnes died September 22, 1908 and Mr. Barnes February 26, 1912. Both are buried in Minneapolis.

Helen Barnes was a member of Carrington High School Class of 1902. She was a graduate of Pharmacy of the University of Minnesota. She married John Hamilton and lived in Canada until her death in 1919. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 6B
Charles and Yanka C. (Papatian) Bauer

Charles Bauer was born July 29, 1879, at Milwaukee, Wisconsin. On June 3, 1907 he married Yanka Papatian at Milwaukee. That year the couple came to North Dakota where he was engaged in business before farming in the Bordulac area. He retired in 1956.

The couple had seven children: Ferdinand, William, Charles Jr., Arthur, Margaret, Christine and Harriet.

Mr. Bauer died in September 1961.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 6B
Percy L. and Mary (Zink) Beckley

Percy L. Beckley, the son of Mr. and Mrs. Elmer A. Beckley, was born November 25, 1888. He came to the Bordulac area in 1907 and lived in the area the rest of his life. Mr. Beckley married at Bordulac, on June 20, 1928, Mary Zink, born January 14, 1890, the daughter of Wendelin and Theresa Lettner Zink. Their only son Percy Jr. still operates the farm at Bordulac.

Mr. Beckley died in July 1951. Mrs. Beckley died July 22, 1982, age 92. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 6B
August and Susie (Lettner) Brandt

August Brandt, born January 4, 1878, at Hickory Grove, Wisconsin, came to North Dakota in 1906 and settled in the Bordulac area. He married Susie Lettner on November 12, 1912, who was born at Bordulac, September 12, 1891, the daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Erhard Lettner. The couple farmed in the Bordulac area except for a few years when they lived in Carrington.

They were the parents of four children: Bethel, Marvin, LaVerne and Adolph.

Mr. Brandt died November 30, 1964 and Mrs. Brandt died July 11, 1970. They are buried in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 6B
Joseph Maurice Carr

J. M. Carr born December 20, 1930, at Carrington is the son of Joseph E. and Lucetta Wagner Carr. He married at Bordulac on December 10, 1953, Virginia Wolf, born May 11, 1933, the daughter of John R. and Margaretta Rensch Wolf. The Carr farm home is in Section 9, Bordulac Township.

There are ten children: Loretta Margaret, Jean Lucetta, Andrew Jerome,  Robert Maurice, Clinton Christopher, Linda Susan, Douglas Lynn, Charles Philip, Keith Edward and Jonathon Jay. The last died June 12, 1971, aged five years.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 6B
P. J. and Neva (Young) Carr

P. J. Carr was born in Ireland in 1864 and came to the United States with his parents when he was a small boy. As a young man he came to Foster County in 1886 and settled near Carrington.

On April 10, 1901, he married Neva Young.

They were the parents of fourteen children: Eight of the children survived: Edward, Herbert, Joseph, John, Ida Lee, Patricia, Laurette, and Margaret.

Mr. Carr died in April 1929.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 6B
John R. and Florence (Lonski) Clancy

John Clancy, born February 14, 1904, at Courtenay, was the son of Daniel and Sara Jane Hoggarth Clancy. He lived in the Kensal area until 1929, when he moved to Carrington. On June 23, 1936, he married at Carrington'. Florence Lonski, who was born at Kensal on September 9, 1909.

The couple farmed in the Bordulac area until 1943.

Mrs. Clancy was a registered nurse and had been employed at the Carrington Hospital. Mr. Clancy managed the Foster County Cooperative Credit Union and the Farmers Union Insurance in Carrington until retiring in 1978.

They had three children: Daniel, John and Berndatte.

Mrs. Clancy died in June 1953. Mr. Clancy died in February 1980. They are buried in St. John's Catholic Cemetery at Kensal.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 7B
Soren and Ruth (Hill) Clausen

Soren Clausen is a native of Denmark. He came to the United States in 1912 and settled in Benson County. In 1918 he married Ruth Hill at Hesper, North Dakota. They came to the Bordulac area in 1947. Their farm is a large well kept place with plenty of trees. In their farming they are careful to practice conservation.

The Clausens have three children: Hilton, Grace and Jean.

Hilton is married to the former Grace Luidahl. They have four children. Hilton and his father have a farming partnership.

Their daughter is Mrs. Clinton Thurlow and lives in the area. Their daughter June Day and her husband are missionaries to Africa.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 7B
Raymond S. Connell

Raymond Connell, born June 4, 1889, married June 26, 1918, at Kensal, Sylvia Katherine Frownfelter, the daughter of Lenard Frownfelters, who was born on August 25, 1893, at Bancroft, Iowa.

The family lived in the Bordulac‑Kensal area until moving to Fargo. Two sons were born to the couple, Leroy and Derald.

Raymond died September 9, 1963, and Sylvia died November 3, 1968. They are buried at Kensal.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 7B
Hope and Stella (Turner) DeBolt

Hope DeBolt was born near Newton, Ohio, on January 23, 1847. On January 19, 1880, he married Stella Turner of Covington, Kentucky, who was born January 25, 1864 in Ohio.

The DeBolts and their son, Earl came to the Bordulac area in 1887 and homesteaded on the Northeast 1/4 of Section 4 in Bordulac Township. The DeBolts were active in the community and were instrumental in having the stone church built in Rose Hill Township. It was a Congregational Church and in 1913 the organization transferred to Bordulac Congregational Church.

Mr. DeBolt died June 29, 1926 and is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Mrs. DeBolt continued to live on the farm for a few years, then in Bordulac, then in Carrington and finally she moved to Jamestown. She died in January 1957.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 7B
Frank and Bertha (Schmidt) Erickson

Frank Erickson, born February 9, 1892, in Michigan, the son of Oley and Rosa Erickson came to the Bordulac community in 1905. He served in World War I and on June 20, 1917, married at Carrington, Bertha Schmidt, who was born September 3, 1892, at Lincoln, Nebraska. She was the daughter of Karl and Martha Cook Schmidt; he was native of Germany. They farmed in Section 13, Bordulac Township.

They had one son, Richard, who took over the operation of the farm after his father's death.

Frank Erickson died May 13, 1959 and his wife on March 19, 1968. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 7B
Ole and Rose Maria (Rohrmore) Erickson

Ole Erickson was born July 3, 1859, near Racine, Wisconsin. His parents moved to Michigan when he was a boy.

He married Rosa Rohrmore at Fountain, Michigan on May 6, 1885. Rosa was born at Fusen, Germany on May 9, 1857. She came to America in 1883. She lived in Iowa before moving to Michigan.

Mr. and Mrs. Erickson came to the Bordulac area in 1905 to farm in the area.

They had one son, Frank.

Mrs. Erickson died August 11, 1921. Mr. Erickson then made his home with his son until he died.
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 7B
Richard and Shirley (Nihill) Erickson

Richard Erickson, son of Frank and Bertha Schmidt Erickson, was born July 9, 1927, at Carrington.

He was married to Shirley Nihill at Kensal on May 29, 1944. Shirley was born at Kensal on April 23, 1927. Her parents were John and Myrtle Syvertson Nihill.

The couple had six children: Diana, Linda, Richard, Elaine, Joyce and Robert. Linda is no longer living.

The Ericksons made their home on Section 13, Bordulac Township, where they were engaged in farming. The last few years they have spent the winter in Arizona.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 7B
Walter Fleming

Walter Fleming was born in Wisconsin. He farmed in the Melville and Bordulac area for forty‑five years. During World War II he worked in a defense plant on the west coast. Later he made his home at the Buchanan Hotel.

Walter died in 1961. He was a brother of Percy Fleming.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 7B
Fred J. and Mary (Marlow) Freeman

Fred J. Freeman, born in Denmark, on October 10, 1860, came to America in 1881. In 1891 he married Mary Marlow in Minnesota. Mary was born February 6, 1869, in Boston and came to Minnesota with her parents in 1891.

In 1902 they came to farm in the Bordulac area. They had lived near Kensal a year before coming to Bordulac.

They had one son, Arthur.

Mrs. Freeman died in September 1926. Mr. Freeman died in July 1928. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 7B
Carl and Lizzie (Groskereutz) Greger

Carl Ott Greger, born in Posin Province, Germany, November 9, 1882, came to America with his parents, Herman and Julie Ann Greger, as a young boy. The family located at Wheaton, Minnesota. When Carl became of age he went to Cole harbor to homestead. A few years later he came to the Bordulac area and remained there the rest of his life.

On October 29, 1908, he married Lizzie Groskereutz at Kensal.

The couple had six children: Albert, Walter, Reihbold, Leona, Anna and Ramona.

Mrs. Greger (Lizzie) died October 27, 1916.

On November 2, 1918, he married Bertha Kienitz. She died May 17, 1937.

On August 13, 1938, he married Mathilda Krueger. Matilda Schmidt was born December 29, 1884, at Fort Ransom. She had been married to Herman Krueger. They had six children: Alice, Evelyn, (Mrs. George Doeling), Pearl, Dorothy, Joy and Merna.

Mathilda Greger died December 1965. Carl Greger died August 7, 1962.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 7B
Beatrice Grove

Beatrice Grove was born January 20, 1904, near Chaseley, North Dakota. She attended school at Chaseley and Heaton. The family moved to Bordulac in 1930. After the death of her parents, Beatrice kept house for her brother, Homer. After his death she moved to Carrington in 1976.

Beatrice is active in church and community affairs. She is an active volunteer at Golden Acres Manor.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 8B
Homer Grove

Homer Grove, born October 11, 1907, at Chaseley, was the son of John and Hannah Grove. He graduated from the Bowdon High School and Hanson Auto School.

During World War II he served overseas with a tank destroyer company. From 1955 to 1972 he was a rural mail carrier out of Bordulac. After retiring he was a radio and television repairman at Bordulac.

Homer died in October 1975 and is buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 8B
William and Julia (Schultz) Haines

William Haines was born at Tenney, Minnesota on October 3, 1882. On April 3, 1907, at White Rock, South Dakota, he married Julia Schultz, who was born October 14, 1887, at Rockford, Iowa, the daughter of J. P. and Harriet Sharp Schultz. The couple lived in Tenney, Minnesota and St. Paul before coming to the Bordulac area in 1912. They had five children: Leslie, Milton, James, William and Ruth (Mrs. Wilfred Rosenau).

They lived in Bordulac area until his death. Mrs. Haines died March 3, 1973 and Mr. Haines died March 15, 1976. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 8B
Terry and Elmay (Young) Hale

Terry Hale was born in Kingsville, Missouri, on June 14, 1883. On August 18, 1903, he married Elmay Young, who was born in 1886, near Dawson. The couple lived in Kansas City until 1903. In 1910 they moved to North Dakota and lived in the Bordulac area until moving to Carrington in 1930.

They were the parents of six children: Harold, Clifton, Louise, Ruth, Arlene and Ida Leah.

Mr. Hale died on September 10, 1967 and is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 8B
Janet Hart

Janet Hart, the daughter of Earl and Anna Nysted Hart was born January 9, 1930 at Carrington. On November 4, 1950, she married Henry Kanwischer.

The couple had three children: Lynn, Anne and Rita.

Janet died in December 1959. She is buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 8B
John and Blanche (Beaty) Hoffman

John Hoffman, born in Bavaria, Germany, on June 25, 1878, came to America in 1895. He lived in California and Iowa until 1906, then he came to the Bordulac area. On March 22, 1911, he married Blanche Beaty, the daughter of Amos R. and Annie Gill Beaty, Carrington. She was born in Iowa in 1884 and came to Carrington with her parents in 1888.

They had three children: Anna, George, and Herbert.

Mrs. Hoffman died in September 1932 and Mr. Hoffman in 1934. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 8B
John W. and Sandra (Nihill) Ihringer

John W. Ihringer, son of 0. W. and Theresa Zwick Ihringer, was born at Carrington on February 9, 1938. He married Sandra Nihill at Kensal on December 27, 1961. She was born at Kensal on December 2, 1941, to John and Myrtle Syvertson Nihill at Kensal.

One of Sandra's ancestors was also a homesteader. Thomas Nihill homesteaded on Section 28 in McKinnon Township.

They had four children: Kenneth, James, Dennis and Mark.

The family makes their home on Section 8 of Bordulac Township. The land was homesteaded by Joseph Ihringer in March 1890.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 8B
Joseph and Barbara (Rumbach) Ihringer

Joseph Ihringer was born in Germany. He came to Foster County to homestead in 1886. He homesteaded on Section 8 in Bordulac Township. His grandson now lives on the farm.

He was married in Germany about 1880.

The couple had nine children: Mary, J. H., Matt, Tracy, Englebert, John, Fred, Otto and Annie.

Mr. Ihringer died in November 1918. He and Mrs. Ihringer are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 8B
O. W. and Theresa (Zwick) Ihringer

Otto W. Ihringer, youngest son of the Joseph Ihringers, was born at Bordulac, August 5, 1892. He left home in 1912, going to Canada to be employed in oil drilling operations. He was drafted in the U.S. Army during World War I and spent 14 months in foreign service. After the War he returned to Bordulac and opened a garage business, later opening a bulk oil business, too. He also took over the operation of the Ihringer homestead.

He married Theresa Zwick. The couple had the following children: Claire, Alfred, Lynn, Barbara and John, who lives on the homestead farm.

Mrs. Ihringer passed away in 1960. O.W. married Rachel Bauer in 1965. He served 30 years on the Bordulac School Board.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 8B
Otto and Rachel (Partlow) Ihringer

Otto Ihringer, son of Joseph Ihringer, was born at Bordulac August 5, 1895.

On January 2, 1954, he married Rachel Partlow Bauer.

In a previous marriage, Mr. Ihringer had 5 children: Claire, Lynn, AI, Barbara and John. His son, John, now lives on the farm where his father lived and the grandfather had homesteaded.

Rachel Partlow was the daughter of Fred and Anna Dresin Partlow. She was born November 18, 1911, at Kensal.

In a former marriage to Mr. Bauer, she had six children: Delores, Phyllis, William, Gary, Marlene and Paul.

The Ihringers make their home in Bordulac. They are active in the Senior Citizens at Carrington and other community activities.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 8B
Ben and Margaret (Pease) Johnson

Ben Johnson was born February 1, 1890, at Clement, North Dakota. Ben homesteaded near Miles City, Montana, in 1915. He served in the Infantry in France during World War I. He married Margaret Pease of Lisbon on May 26, 1921, and the family moved to Bordulac in 1924, where he managed a lumber company and a grain elevator. Later he worked as a carpenter and painter. He served as temporary postmaster at Bordulac, was township clerk, and school district treasurer. He was a member of the V.F.W. at Carrington.

The couple had six children: Russell, Forrest, Laverne, Marjorie, Lou and Beverly.

Mr. Johnson died March 31, 1965, and is buried in the Veteran's plot in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 8B
Robert arid Laura (Stewart) Kerlin

Both Robert Kerlin and Laura May Stewart were born in Pennsylvania, Robert on May 28, 1852. Laura on October 27, 1858. They were married February 10, 1878.

The family moved to Steele in 1886, where Mr. Kerlin drove the stage coach from Steele to Napoleon. In 1895, they moved to Bordulac, where they lived until Mr. Kerlin's death.

The Kerlins had four children: Stephen, Lena, Nevin and Rhoda.

Mr. Kerlin died in November 1907. Mrs. Kerlin died February 4, 1942.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 8B
Jesse and Ella (Partlow) Kollman

Jesse Kollman was born at Rock Valley, Iowa, February 4, 1905. His family moved to Church's Ferry, North Dakota. He married there, Ella Partlow on June 3, 1925, who was born at Kensal, August 26, 1907. The family moved to Bordulac in 1935, where Mr. Kollman was employed by the Soo Line.

The couple had five children: Bethel, Arlene, Norma, James and Darrell.

Mrs. Kollman died in September 1959. Mr. Kollman died in September 1964. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 8B
Julius and Emma (Zink) Kleb

Julius Kleb was born in Germany on July 1, 1853.

He was married to Emma Zink, the daughter of Peter and Anna Bohnert Zink. Emma was born in Germany.

In 1884 the couple was married in Foster County.

Mr. Kleb first settled in Iowa before coming to Foster County in 1882.

Mr. Kleb is said to have built the first house in Bordulac Township. It was made of prairie grass and clay and burned into blocks similar to bricks.

The Klebs had 5 children: Paul, Anna, Harry, William and Hilda.

Mrs. Kleb died in 1912. Mr. Kleb died in 1921. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 9B
William and Martha (Westphal) Kleb

William Kleb, son of Julius and Emma Zink Kleb, was born in 1891 at Bordulac.

He married Martha Golz at Fargo in 1926. Martha Westphal was the daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Herman Westphal. She was born September 13, 1888 at Enderlin, 

In 1906 she was married to Helmuth Golz and they lived at Bordulac.

They had three children: Angeline, Edna and George.

Mr. Golz died in 1922. Mrs. Kleb died October 8, 1969. Mr. Kleb died. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 9B
Franz and Elizabeth (Wiench) Lamm

Franz Lamm was born in Germany in 1868 on October 8. He came to the United States in 1891. On June 27, 1898, he married at Jamestown, Elizabeth Wiench, born in Germany in 1878. The couple farmed in the Bordulac area.

They had five children: Emma, Francis, Mary, Lucille and Robert.

Mr. Lamm died in July 1945. Mrs. Lamm died in September 1949.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 9B
John J. and Elizabeth (Enderson) Lee

John Joseph Lee was born at Princeton, Wisconsin, on October 7, 1870, the son of August and Julia Masgar Lee. At Mikana, Wisconsin, he married Elizabeth Enderson, also born in Wisconsin. The family lived in Wisconsin until coming to Foster County in 1917. In 1927 they moved from the farm in Rose Hill Township to Bordulac, where Mr. Lee operated a repair shop.

Seven children were born to them: Eleanor, Mildred, Dorothy, Josephine, Beatrice, Francis and Leonard.

Joseph J. Lee died in August, 1952.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 9B
Joseph Percy and Augusta (Diehl) Legg

Percy Legg, born at Fargo, North Dakota on August 19, 1884, came to Bordulac in 1910 to work in the general merchandise store owned by H. J. Shaw. He became manager and later bought the store. Percy married at Jamestown on July 15, 1925, Augusta Margaret Diehl, who was born July 13, 1895, at Defiance, Ohio. The Leggs had two daughters: Dolores (died in 1946) and Shirley.

Mr. Legg died October 6, 1964 and Mrs. Legg died May 5, 1978. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 9B
Thomas D. and Catherine (Harry) Lewis

Thomas Lewis and Catherine Harry were married February 5, 1884. Catherine was born in South Wales on June 6, 1856. The Lewis' came to the Bordulac vicinity in 1884. Mr. Lewis took a homestead, a pre‑emption, and a tree claim on Section 10 in Bordulac Township.

The couple were parents of seven children: William, John, Thomas, Gladys, Mabel, Albert and Glynn.

Mr. Lewis was appointed Commissioner from the First District in 1895, then elected for two terms.

The family moved to Alberta, Canada, in 1904 and later to Calgary.

One of the four oil paintings in the dome of the Foster County Courthouse was taken from a photograph of the T. D. Lewis farmstead. It represents a modern up‑to‑date farm at the time the courthouse was built in 1909‑10.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 9B
Anton and Eva Mary (Bassett) Messmer

Eva Mary Bassett was born July 12, 1892, at Blue Earth, Minnesota. She married Anton Messmer at Verona on October 15, 1912.

Five children were born to the couple: Ervin, Clarence, Robert, Gladys (Mrs. Jerry Glaser) and Jeanette (Mrs. Fred Partlow).

Mr. Messmer died in February 1951 and Mrs. Messmer died on July 1, 1954.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 9B
Edward and Nellie (Lavelle) Moriarty

Edward Moriarty, the son of Sylvester Moriarty, was born September 30, 1865, in Postville, Iowa. He lived with his parents and assisted with the farm work until he was twenty‑one years of age when he went to Spencer, Iowa, to learn the carpenter trade.

Edward married Nellie Lavelle on October 11, 1897. They moved to Carrington in 1901, and to Bordulac in 1905, where they made their home. Mr. Moriarty was spoken of as "The man who built Bordulac, " as he erected nearly every building in town and the surrounding county.

The couple hay seven children: Kathleen, Sylvester, Harold, Francis. Merril, Jerome and Cecilia.

Mr. Moriarty died October 25, 1927.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 9B
David and Martha (Henderson) Morris

David Morris, born in Wales, on July 26, 1863, came to the United States in 1884. He married at Cincinnati, Ohio, in 1891, Martha Henderson, who was born March 23, 1859 at Cincinnati. After their marriage, they came to North Dakota to live on the Morris homestead in Bordulac Township. Their only son, James, who was born on the farm, later became Chief Justice of the North Dakota Supreme Court.

Mr. Morris died on December 24, 1903. After his death, Mrs. Morris continued to live on the farm until she went back to Ohio, where her son could be educated. Mrs. Morris made her home with her son until her death on July 26, 1937. She and her husband are both buried in Ohio.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 9B
Price and Elizabeth (Garvey) Morris

Price Morris, born in Ohio, in 1857, was one of the first settlers in the Bordulac area. The family moved to Carrington in 1908 but he continued with his farming interests in the Bordulac area and in Canada.

In 1889 he married Elizabeth Garvey, who had come to Foster County with many of her relatives in 1887. She was born in Iowa in 1864.

Mr. and Mr. Morris had three children: Jane, (Mrs. Charles Winum), Kathleen and William.

Mr. Morris died on September 5, 1923. Mrs. Morris died on April 14, 1930. They are buried in the Catholic cemetery in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 9B
William Garvey Morris

William Garvey Morris, barn May 22, 1899, served in the U.S. Army in World War I. After his discharge, he managed the Bordulac farm property. He entered the oil business in Carrington in 1926 and became owner of the Carrington Oil Company and a director of the Foster County State Bank.

Unmarried he died December 10, 1968.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 9B
Frank and Augusta (Schroeder) Multz

Frank Multz, born in Staab, Austria, on December 19, 1877, the son of George and Margarete Multz, came to America in 1881 and lived first at Defiance, Ohio. In 1896, he came to the Bordulac area to work at the Casey Ranch. Later he farmed in the area. On January 24, 1906, he married Augusta Schroeder Miller, the daughter of Rudolph and Henrietta Schroeder, who was born in West Germany on January 25, 1878. She came to the United States in 1881 and lived at Fall Creek, Wisconsin, until coming to Bordulac in 1894. She married Frank Miller on July 8, 1894, who died in 1903.

Frank and Augusta Multz had one son, George.

Mr. Multz died on February 8, 1971, and Mrs. Multz died on November 8, 1970. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 9B
Arthur C. and Alma (Hoehn) Murphy

Arthur Cletus "Clete" Murphy was the son of John W. Murphy.

Alma Hoehn was born in Wisconsin on June 1, 1898.

She was a teacher at Bordulac.

The Murphys later moved to California, where Mr. Murphy was employed at a bank.

Mrs. Murphy died in 1975.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 10B
Clarence Murphy

Clarence Murphy, son of Martin Murphy, was a cartoonist. He was born at Bordulac and attended an art school in Minneapolis.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 10B
John and Bertha (Seitz) Murphy

John W. Murphy, son of Terrence and Lenora Zink Murphy was born at Bordulac on July 5, 1929. He married Bertha Seitz , daughter 'of Alex and Rose Seitz on September 2, 1953, at Bordulac. Bertha was born December 15, 1932, in South Dakota.

The Murphy's have five children: Louise, Michael, Eileen, John and Paul.

They live on Section 6 in Bordulac Township. John is of the third generation living on the farm.

His grandfather had homesteaded and also had a tree claim‑ living on the farm since 1882. John has been active in community affairs and has served as county commissioner since 1972. Bertha is a registered nurse and a doctor's assistant. She had nursed at the Carrington Hospital and at present is an assistant to Dr. Voglewede.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 10B
John W. and Mary (Fitsimmons) Murphy

John Murphy was born in Ohio on August 2, 1854. Later he moved to Iowa.

He came to North Dakota in 1880 and worked in Cass County until coming to Foster County in 1882. He picked out some fertile land in the Bordulac area where he decided to settle.

In 1881 on March 17, he married Mary Fitsimmons. Mary was born in Iowa in 1863.

They had four children: Raymond, Arthur, Terrence, and a daughter. When the daughter died in 1918 they took her child into their home.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Murphy were active in work for the betterment of the community. Their memory will be cherished by many.

Mr. Murphy died in 1926 and Mrs. Murphy died in 1927. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 10B
Leo Murphy

Leo Murphy, son of M. J. Murphy, was born at Bordulac on January 26, 1908.

He died in 1939.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 10B

Martin and Laura (Fletcher) Murphy

Martin Murphy was a son of Michael Murphy.

Laura Fletcher was born August 1, 1873, in Indiana. She came to Jamestown and graduated from Jamestown College in 1890. She taught school in Foster County.

Her marriage to Martin Murphy was on December 28, 1892.

They lived on a farm near Bordulac. They had four children: Eileen, Ruth, Lee and Clarence.

Mrs. Murphy died in October 1915. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 10B
Terrence and Lenora (Zink) Murphy

Terrence (Tony) Murphy was born at Bordulac on January 17, 1894, to John W. and Mary Fitsimmons Murphy.

He was married on July 13, 1928, to Lenora Zink. Lenora was the daughter of Wendelin and Theresa Lettner Zink. She was born at Bordulac on April 17, 1901.

Lenora completed a nurses training course in Fargo and was employed as a nurse until her marriage.

The Murphys had three children: John, Daniel and Mary K.

Mrs. Murphy died January 5, 1941 and Mr. Murphy died October 26, 1967. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 10B
David H. and Catherine Ann (Jordan) Niccum

The Niccums came to the Bordulac area in 1896. They lived for a time in Indiana where they were married in 1871.

They had four children, only one of whom survived. Their son, Alva lived in the area for a number of years.

Mr. Niccum died June 15, 1915. Mrs. Niccum died March 30, 1926. They are buried at Flora, Indiana.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 10B
Edwin and Alma Olson

Alma was born July 3, 1889 at Fingal. The family lived at Fingal, North Dakota, and Nashua, Minnesota before coming to Bordulac in 1931.

Edwin Olson and Alma were married at Valley City on July 18, 1907. The couple had four children: Earl, Harley, Addie, and Vernice.

Mr. Olson died in 1951. Mrs. Olson died in October, 1964.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 10B
George and Susie M. (Armitage) Palmer

George Palmer was born in Wayne County, Illinois on March 9, 1855. In 1887 he married in Detroit, Michigan, Susie Armitage, who was born in Michigan on September 27, 1855. George came to North Dakota in 1884 and farmed in Barnes County.

L. M. Casey of Carrington‑Casey Land Company, was impressed with Palmer's knowledge of farming and business and in 1887 they hired him to supervise the operations of their bonanza farm in the Bordulac area, which he managed for 18 years. When the Carrington‑Casey Land Company decided to sell their holdings, he and former governor L. B. Hanna purchased the land with the buildings and the partnership of these two continued until 1919.

Mr. Palmer was elected to the State Legislature for one term and then to the Senate for two terms. He was a member of the Elks Lodge in Jamestown.

George Palmer died in October 1927 and his wife on December 23, 1930. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery. There were no immediate relatives.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 10B
Albert and Loretta (Foley) Pepoon

Albert Pepoon, born at Grinell, Iowa, on December 16, 1883, came to North Dakota as a young man and was engaged in farming and operated an elevator at Bartlett. On June 26, 1907, he married Loretta Foley at Bartlett, who was born at Bartlett on September 12, 1886.

The family moved to Bordulac in 1923. Mr. Pepoon managed the elevator there and was postmaster.

The couple had five children: Mary, Edward, Ben, Roy and Margaret.

Mr. Pepoon died in February 1963. Mrs. Pepoon died November 1972.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 10B
John and Clara (Beaty) Rogers

Clam Beaty, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. A. R. Beaty was born June 29, 1867, at Jerseyville, Illinois. She came to the Melville area with her parents in 1888 and moved to Carrington soon after..

On March 1, 1900, John Rogers and Clara Beaty were married.

Mr. Rogers was one of the first foreman on the Carrington Casey Ranch and continued as manager of the Hanna Ranch until about 1933.

The couple had one daughter, Susie.

Mrs. Rogers died in 1934.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 10B
Gary and Helen (Neumiller) Rosenau

Gary Rosenau was born at Carrington, December 16, 1934, to Wilfred and Ruth Haines Rosenau.

He married Helen Neumiller, the daughter of Theodore and Jennie Radke Neumiller.

Helen was born at Heaton on December 22, 1938.

The Rosenaus have four children: Tanya, Troy, Thad and Tyrone.

Gary farms in the Bordulac and surrounding area.

Helen is a former school teacher and now manages the seed company the couple owns. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 10B
Albert and Lydia (Aipperspach) Schieb

Albert Schieb was born in Ohio in June 1889 and came to the Bordulac area in 1903 with his parents.

In 1916 he married Lydia Aipperspach.

They were the parents of three children: Fay, Maurene, and John.

Mr. Schieb died in 1927. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 11B
Joseph and Jane (DuPries) Schieb

Joseph Schieb, son of Martin and Anna Schieb was born in Defiance, Ohio, on July 3, 1875. He came to the Bordulac area with an older brother in 1894 and was employed at the Casey Ranch. He became a grain buyer later. In 1905 he married Jane Duprius.

They were the parents of three children: Jane, Jerry and Alvin. Mr. Schieb retired in 1948 and died in August 1949.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 11B
Martin and Anna Schieb

Martin Schieb was born in 1838 in Bohemia. He came to America in 1868 and lived in Ohio until coming to Bordulac in 1903. He was a blacksmith.

They were the parents of nine children.

Mr. Schieb died on July 11, 1907.

Michael and Margaret (Houlihan) Schieb

Michael Schieb was born November 23, 1869, at Defiance, Ohio. He came to North Dakota in 1886. He was a foreman at the Carrington Casey Ranch for several years, later homesteading near Arrowwood Lake.

In 1902 he married Margaret Houlihan. Before her marriage Margaret taught school coming to the Bordulac‑Carrington area in 1896. Margaret was born October 20, 1872.

In 1905 the family moved to a farm near Bordulac. Three children were born to the couple: Donald (died February 21, 1919), Mrs. George Nogosek and Mrs. Edward Pepoon.

Mr. Schieb died in August 1947. Mrs. Schieb died in October 1959.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 11B
Hubert and Anna (Youngers) Schmit

Both Hubert and Anna Youngers were born at Bellchester, Minnesota. Hubert on June 15, 1888, and Anna on April 3, 1892, were married January 21, 1915. The family came to North Dakota and settled in the Bordulac area in 1915, where he engaged in farming and raising livestock. His farm on Section 23 had been part of the Hanna ranch. In 1954 the couple retired and moved into Bordulac.

They were parents of five children: Stephan, Vernon, Vincent, Rosalie, and Eleanore.

Mrs. Schmit died in May 1965. Mr. Schmit died September 29, 1966. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 11B
Larry and Candace (Clark) Schroeder

Larry Schroeder, son of Paul and Elsie Holland Schroeder was born at Carrington, August 27, 1953. He married Candace Clark at Carrington on October 4, 1975. Candace was born at Jamestown to Ted Jr. and Lucille Hallwachs Clark, on November 3, 1956.

Both Larry and Candace graduated from Carrington High School. Candace is employed at Holy Family Guest Home.

Larry is the township assessor and a 4‑H leader.

They have one son, Timothy.

Larry is the fourth generation to farm this land, Northeast 1/4 of Section 2 in Bordulac Township.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 11B
Paul and Elsie (Holland) Schroeder

Paul Schroeder was born at Bordulac on July 5, 1921, to Albert and Clara Grager Schroeder and has lived in the area all his life. On November 19, 1948, he married Elsie Holland, the daughter of Ole and Vivian Harding Holland, who was born at Carrington on September 17, 1927. Paul is an auctioneer and a farmer. He is the third generation living on this farm. The farm was originally the homestead of his Grandfather Rudolph Schroeder.

The Schroeders have two children, Larry and LuAnn.

Mrs. Schroeder is employed in Carrington. The family belongs to the Grace Lutheran Church and is active in the Church.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 11B
Rudolph and Ida Elizabeth (Rosenaui Schroeder

Ida Elizabeth Rosenau was born in Rippon, Wisconsin on May 24, 1867. The couple was married in 1890.

They had four children: Theodore, Herman, Eddie, and Minnie.

The family came to Foster County in 1891 and established a farm home in Bordulac Township on Section 2, which is now the home of a grandson, Paul Schroeder.

After Mr. Schroeder died, Mrs. Schroeder lived with her children until 1963 when she entered the Lutheran Home of the Good Shepherd at New Rockford. She returned to Carrington in 1965.

Mrs. Schroeder died August 4, 1966 and is buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 11B
Joseph and Ellen (Garvey) Sheehy

Joseph Sheehy was born in Massachusetts in 1842. He lived at Postville, Iowa, until in 1880, when he came to Fargo and in 1882 to the Bordulac area and homesteaded on the Southwest 1/4 of Section 28.

On March 5, 1886 he married Ellen Garvey. Ellen was born in Ohio on March 17, 1854, and had also lived in Missouri before moving to Iowa with her parents.

The couple had two sons: Eill and Park.

Mr. Sheehy assisted in building the first Catholic Church in Foster County in 1888, which is now at Bordulac.

Mr. Sheehy died in April 1910. Mrs. Sheehy died in December 1934. They are buried in Iowa.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 11B
Park Sheehy

Park Sheehy, son of Joseph and Ellen Sheehy was born June 23, 1891. He spent most of his life farming in the Bordulac area. In later years he lived in Carrington. He never married.

He died January 3, 1952 and is buried beside his parents in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 11B
Lewis and Mary (Wolf) Smith

Lewis Smith was born February 16, 1883, at Decorah, Iowa. On September 28, 1904, he married Mary Wolf at Ramona, South Dakota.

The couple homesteaded near Clark Butte in South Dakota in the Black Hills area. In 1926 they moved to Bordulac. After 1934, Mr. Smith moved to Jamestown and was employed. In later years he lived with his children.

The couple‑ had seven children: Gene, Henry, Harold, Jessie, Cora, Johanna, and Marie.

Mrs. Smith died in 1934. Mr. Smith died March 16, 1961.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 11B

Curtis and Tanya (Rosenau) Timm

Curbs Timm, son of Robert and Helen Neva Timm, was born July 30, 1958, at Carrington.

He and Tanya Rosenau were married at Carrington in November 1981.

Tanya was born January 13, 1962, at Carrington to Gary and Helen Neumiller Rosenau.

Tanya is employed as a bookkeeper.

Curtis is employed by the Soo Line Railroad.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 11B
William Wales

William Wales was born on July 9, 1845 at Wexford, Ireland. His parents moved to Liverpool, England, when he was a small bay. He had a colorful career before he came to the Carrington and surrounding area in 1907. He had been apprenticed as a shipwright, served in the English army in Malta, Africa and India. In England he served as a prison guard and later as an overseer of a poor farm at Lancaster. While at Lancaster he married a London girl, Elenor Gibbs. They had one child, a son, Henry. When Mrs. Wales died the child was adopted by her sister. He never saw the child again.

He came to Canada in 1892, taking a job as a woodsman in the Hudson Bay area, he was employed by a railroad company. In Carrington and later in Bordulac he worked as a carpenter and mechanic, also a grain buyer. He owned several houses in Bordulac.

He died in March 1932.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 12B
Andrew Wentland

Andrew Wantland was born in 1885 near Carrington. He attended business school in Minneapolis. He worked in a bank in Carrington until he became cashier at the Bordulac State Bank.

He lived in North Dakota and Minnesota until 1944 when the family moved to Lodi.

He had four children: Mrs. Harlan, Bettifae, C. A. and Dr. George.

Hilda his first wife, died in 1955.

Bertha, his second wife, died in 1972.

Mr. Wantland died in July 1974.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 12B
John L. Wolf

John Wolf, born January 28, 1892, at Ramona, South Dakota, was the son of Henry and Rose Jacomet Wolf. He married at Ramona on October 24, 1916, Margaretta (Margaret) Rensch, the daughter of Joseph Anthony and Maria Amelia J. Derunga Rensch. The Wolfs came to Foster County in 1917 and purchased the farm on Section 17, Bordulac Township.

They had 15 children: Elizabeth Ann, Lawrence J., Syril, Ruth Eileen, John, Casper who died April 15, 1546, Ceclia Marie, June Margaret, Rita and Richard (twins), Theresa Mary and Patricia Mary (twins), Jerome, Virginia Louise and Amelia Janice.

John L. Wolf died October 31, 1943 and his wife April 11, 1980; both are buried in the Carrington Cemetery, 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 12B
Charles and Ruth (Robinson) Zink

Charles Zink, son of Wendelin and Theresa Lettner Zink, was born at Bordulac on December 19, 1895.

He farmed in Bordulac and Pingree area until he moved to Carrington in 1951. He was a well-known horseman, having several horses He was president of Dakota Riders Saddle Club and often rode in local parades.

He was married October 28, 1922 to Ruth Robinson.

They had two sons, Charles and Gerald.

Mr. Zink died December 11, 1954. Mrs. Zink resides in Carrington. She prepared the school lunches for several years.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 12B
Eugene and Rachel (Gaffney) Zink

Eugene Zink, son of Peter Zink Jr., was born in 1919.

He married Rachel Gaffney. They have eight children: Mark, Cletus, Timothy, James, Paul, Rosemary, Teresa and Susan.

Mr. Zink farmed near Bordulac and have made their home in Carrington for a number of years.

He is a member of the Farm Home Administration and the County A.S.C.S. Committee.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 12B

Lawrence and Francella (VanHorn) Zink

Lawrence Zink was born in 1903 to Gustav and Anna Lettner Zink, in Rose Hill Township.

He married Francella VanHorn.

They had nine children: Laverne, Gerald, Marilyn, Raymond, Lucille, Lester, Margie, Carole and Kathy.

The family lived on a farm in Bordulac Township until retiring and moving to Fargo.

Mrs. Zink died January 25, 1982.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 12B
Wendelin and Theresa (Lettner) Zink

Wendelin Zink, son of Peter and Anna Bohnert, was born in Germany, on October 20, 1862.

He came to Foster County in 1883 because his brother Peter was here. He homesteaded on Section 18 in Bordulac Township.

In 1888 on March 22, he married Theresa Lettner.‑Theresa was born in Michigan on October 3, 1869.

The couple had twelve children: Anna, Mary, Emma, Katherine, Rose, Charles, Fred, Maude, Lenora, Josephine, Theodore and Alice.

Mr. Zink first settled in the area when the nearest trading post was Jamestown.

He served as County Commissioner for 8 years. He also was president of the Farmer's Elevator in Bordulac and a director of the Melville Bank.

Mr. Zink died May 1, 1914. Mrs. Zink died February 2, 1956. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 12B
Gerald and Sylvia (Nohrenberg) Zink

Gerald Zink, son of Charles and Ruth Robinson Zink, was born at Bordulac, attended schools in the area and high school at Pingree, North Dakota He married Sylvia Nohrenberg at Pingree May 3, 1946. He farmed with his father until 1949. He was a Standard Oil agent at Bordulac until 1951 when he rented the Zink farm. He bought the farm in 1955 after his father's death. This farm was settled by his grandfather, Wendelin Zink in 1883.

Gerald and Sylvia have six children: Patricia, (Mrs. Havery Nicolson), Roger, Ross, Deborah (Mrs. Tim. Skadberg), Charles, and Christine (Mrs. Christopher Beach). 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 12B
Bucepbalia
Ambrose Ableidinger

Ambrose Ableidinger, born in Austria in December 3, 1877, came to, America with his parents in 1897, settling first in Wisconsin. Ambrose came to Foster County in 1897 to homestead. He proved up on the Northeast 1/4 of Section 2 in Bucephalia Township in 1903.

In 1905 he married Tana Nelson who was born in Wisconsin, May 16, 1884.

They lived on the homestead land all their lives.

Mr. Ableidinger rode a bicycle to Durand, Wisconsin in 1900.

The Ableidingers were parents of five children: Gordon, Earl, Nellie, Dwain, and Wilfred.

Ambrose died February 16, 1940, Tana also died February 16, 1940. They are buried in Saint John's Catholic Cemetery at Kensal.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 13B
Earl Ableidinger

Earl Ableidinger, son of Ambrose and Tana Ableidinger was born July 19, 1907, in Bucephalia Township. He married Margaret Nelson, daughter of Anton and Mabel House Nelson in June, 1944.

Their only daughter was born April 19, 1918. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 13B
Edward Ableidingler

Edward Abledinger was born June 13, 1907, to Vincent Sr. and Mary Liebel Ableidinger in Bucephalia Township; where he farmed for a few years.

He married in 1930 Olga Spitzer. Olga, daughter of the Fred Spitzers, was born October 2, 1912, at Kensal. They had one son, Dalton. Edward died in 1972 and is buried at the Sunset Memorial Cemetery in Jamestown.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 13B
Gordon Ableidinger

Gordon, son of Ambrose and Tena Ableidinger was born July 14, 1906 in Bucephalia Township. He married Zelda Brooker of Grace City.

Gordon served in the U.S. Navy.

Later they moved to Michigan. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 13B
Nellie Ableidinger

Nellie was born September 18, 1908 to Ambrose and Tana Ableidinger in Bucephalia Township.

She married S.F. Lowe of Wimbledon.

They lived in Kensal until moving to Jamestown.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 13B
Sylvester Albeidinger

Sylvester Abledinger, the son of Vincent Sr. and Mary Abledinger was born December 12, 1905, in Bucephalia Township.

He was a barber in Carrington before moving to Fargo.

He served in the U.S. Army. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 13B
Vincent Ableidinger Sr.

Vincent Ableidinger Sr. was born in Austria on January 1, 1872. He came to the United States with parents, settling in Wisconsin.

In 1903 he married Mary Leibel, who had been born in Minnesota, May 8, 1878.

Vincent homesteaded on Section 19 in Bucephalia in 1897, where he lived the remainder of his life.

Five children were born to the family‑ Leo, Sylvester, Mildred, Edward and Vincent Jr.

Vincent Sr. died in August 1948, Mrs. Ableidinger died in May 1942. They are buried in the St. John's Catholic cemetery at Kensal.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 13B
Vincent Ableidinger Jr.

Vincent Ableidinger Jr. was born January 26, 1909, to Vincent Sr. and Mary Ableidinger in Bucephalia Township. He purchased land in Bucephalia Township on Section 12.

He married Irene Sandvold of Juanita in June 1933. Irene was born October 27, 1911 to Oscar and Amy Reed Sandvold.

The couple were parents of three children: Moneen, Seen and Michael.

Vincent Jr. died in July, 1964 and is buried in the St. John's Catholic cemetery at Kensal.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 13B
Christian and Melene (Holand) Eriksen

Both Christian and Melene Holand Eriksen were born in Varhaug, Stavanger, Norway. He on August 30, 1874 and Melene on December 31, 1871. They were married in Norway on April 7, 1892. Mr. and Mrs. Eriksen came to make their home in Foster County in April 1895. They homesteaded in Bucephalia Township on the Southeast 1/4 of Section 24. Mr. Eriksen proved up on his homestead and became a citizen in 1902.

The Eriksens had eight children: Sivert, Martin, Bjerge, Richard, Marie, Christine, Myrtle, and Elsie.

In later years they retired and moved to Kensal. His son Bjerge lives on the farm.

Mr. Ericksen died June 25, 1954 and Mrs. Eriksen died March 8, 1964. They are buried in the Kensal cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 13B
Peder Florhaug

Peder Florhaug was born in Norway on August 11, 1896. He married at Moorhead, Minnesota, on March 2, 1920, Mary Pitra, born February 21, 1897 at Cedar Rapids, Iowa.

The Florhaug's lived at Kensal after moving from their farm in Bucephalia Township. They were the parents of four children: Myron, Peder Jr., Phyllis and Mary Jean.

Mr. Florhaug died October 22, 1970 and is buried at Kensal.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 13B
Ira and Frances (Lonski) Frownfelter

Ira Antone Frownfelter was born May 4, 1902, in Bucephalia Township, the son of Leonard and Mary Frownfelter. Ira was married in Kensal on January 5, 1933, to Frances Maria Lonski who was born May 30, 1912. They lived in Bucephalia Township.

Ira and Frances had seven children: Donald, Raphael, Bernadine, Kenneth, Dennis, Christine, and Roy who died as an infant.

Frances Frownfelter died March 3, 1965 and is buried in the Kensal Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 13B
Leonard and Mary (Schleder) Frownfelter

Leonard Sherman Frownfelter (Pete) was born in 1861 in Harrisburg, Pennsylvania. He married at Algona, Iowa, in 1884, Mary Schleder who was born in Germany on April 4, 1864. Mary came to America with her parents as a small child.

The Leonard Frownfelters came to Foster County in 1900 where they bought land on Section 2, Bucephalia Township. He also homesteaded on Northeast 1/4 of Section 2 in the same Township. The family moved to Texas after living here for a number of years.

They had eight children: Clara, George, Sylvia, Leo, Gertrude, Rose, Ira and Robert.

Mr. Frownfelter died in October 1931. He is buried at Harlingen, Texas. Mrs. Frownfelter died December 1927 and is buried in the Kensal Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 13B
Robert L. and Catherine (Baldwin) Frownfelter

Robert Lee Frownfelter was born May 4, 1905 in Bucephalia Township, the son of Leonard and Mary Frownfelter.

Robert married Catherine J. Baldwin who was born at Duluth, Minnesota, June 23, 1940. They lived in Bucephalia Township and later moved to Seattle.

Their children are: Robert Jr., March C. and Lawrence.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 13B
Earl and Olga (Stene) Hart

Earl Hart was born October 9, 1904 at Fort Wayne, Indiana to Louis and Alta Hart.

He married Olga Stene on September 10, 1938 at Sheyenne. Olga was born September 21, 1917 at Brantford.

The couple lived on a farm in Bucephalia Township until 1976 when they retired and moved to Carrington.

Mr. Hart served on both school and township boards; also was Democratic Committeeman.

The couple had four children: Janet, Virgil, LeRoy, and Dennis.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 14B
John W. and Mary (Christian Nelson) Johnson

John W. Johnson (known as J.W.) was born at Maple Valley, Wisconsin on October 4, 1878 and came with his family to Foster County in 1890. He married at Carrington in 1890 Mary Christian Nelson who was born October 9, 1885 in Wisconsin and came to Foster County with her family in 1885. Both families were of Danish origin.

John and Mary were married at Carrington, November 22, 1905 and lived on Section 27 in what was known as Johnson Township. The name was later changed to Bucephalia. Mr. Johnson served on both Township and School Boards for over 20 years.

The Johnsons were the parents of four children: Clyde, Merlin, Dorothy and June.

Mr. Johnson died in 1938 and Mrs. Johnson died in 1957. They are buried in the Kensal Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 14B
Carl and Anna (Norheim) Jorgenson

Carl Walter Jorgenson was born in Denmark on April 5, 1890. He came to the United States as a young man because he had sisters already in America. He lived in Wisconsin and Minnesota until 1913 or 1914 when he came to be near a sister in the Kensal area. Carl served in the army in 1918‑1919 in France during World War I.

On November 10, 1920 he married Anna Norheim at the Norheim farm home near Kensal. She was born January 21, 1897 in Bucephalia Township. The Jorgensons bought land on Section 13 in Bucephalia Township where they lived until they retired and moved to Kensal in 1955. Their son, Alfred, now lives on the home farm.

The Jorgensons had three children: Alfred, Arlean and Dennis.

Mr. Jorgenson died July 3, 1966 and is buried in the Kensal Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 14B
John and Bridget (O'Neill) Kienast

John Kienast, a native of Rochester, Minnesota, was born December 2, 1879. He came to Foster County to buy land for farming and purchased land in Bucephalia Township on Section 20. John married Bridget O'Neill who was born in Ontario on April 8, 1884.

The couple had three children: Mary Kathleen, Charles and Aida.

Mrs. Kienast died April 16, 1924 and is buried in the Kensal Cemetery. Mr. Kienast died March 28, 1948 and is buried at Rochester, Minnesota.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 14B
Alfred and Daisy (Drew) Kreps

Alfred Kreps was born in 1868. Daisy Drew Kreps was born in 1872 in Illinois.

They came to North Dakota in 1897. They homesteaded on the Northeast 1/4 of section 8 in Bucephalia Township. In 1903 they bought section 18 in Haven Township. In 1912 they moved to Estabrook Township.

Mr. and Mrs. Kreps were charter members of the James River Brethren Church. Mr. Kreps served as the pastor from 1903 to 1012. He also served as pastor in the Carrington Brethren church.

They had two children: Joseph and Anna. Mr. Kreps died in 1923. Mrs. Kreps died in October 1963. They are buried in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 14B
Victor and Frances (Prodzinski) Lonski

Victor Frank Lonski was born April 2, 1878 at Winona, Minnesota. He married in Jamestown on January 14, 1902, Frances Anna Prodzinski who was born in Poland on March 22, 1879. Victor and Frances came to Foster County in 1902 to homestead on the Southwest 1/4 of Section 12 in Bucephalia Township. They later retired and moved to Jamestown.

The Lonskis had seven children: Mary, Helen, Cecilia, Florence, Frances, John and Clement.

Mrs. Lonski died May 30, 1938 and Mr. Lonski died May 5, 1952. They are buried in the Kensal Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 14B
Perry and Ada (Townsend) Molyneux

Perry T. Molyneux was born in Okee, Wisconsin on August 29, 1866 to Enoch and Lydia Pierce Molyneux.

He married at DeSmet, South Dakota on October 24, 1894 Ada M. Townsend who was born on August 24, 1875 in Bamboo, Wisconsin. The couple came to Foster County in 1897 to homestead. They settled on Section 14, Bucephalia Township, where they farmed until moving to Vancouver, Washington. ‑

They had five children: Enoch T., Earl D., Lydia M., John R., and Harvey W.

Perry‑died January 29, 1948; Ada died May 29, 1939. Both are buried at Vancouver.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 14B
James Peter and Anna Johanna (Jepson) Nelson

Both the Nelsons were born in Denmark and were married before coming to America. James Peter Nelson was born in 1862, Anna Johanna Jepson in 1856 and they were married in 1880. The family settled in Wisconsin, before coming to North Dakota to homestead in 1886. They bought Section 34 in Bucephalia Township where they were engaged in farming. Mr. Nelson was elected sheriff of Foster County in 1904 and served until 1912. He operated a livery stable in Carrington until they moved back to the farm.

James and Anna were the parents of ten children: Martin, Henry, Mary, Alvina, Willie, Andrew, Edward, Alice, Jane and Hubert. In 1916 the Nelsons moved to California with their son, Hubert.

Mr. Nelson died in October 1919. Mrs. Nelson died in 1936. They are buried in the Kensal Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 14B
Carl and Anna (Eriksen) Norheim

Carl Norheim was born October 22, 1859, in Norway. He came to America in 1883 and was married at Jamestown in 1888 to Anna Eriksen who was also born in Norway on July 20, 1858. When Carl first came to America he worked on  railroad construction. Carl homesteaded in 1885 on the Northeast 1/4 of Section 26 in Bucephalia Township.

Carl and Anna were the parents of five children: John, Emma, Halvor, Gustav and Anna.

Mrs. Norheim died in September 1923. Mr. Norheim died December 1939. They are buried in the Kensal Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 14B
Halvor and Alice (Packard) Norheim

Halvor Norheim, son of Carl and Anna Eriksen Norheim, was born at Kensal on July 16, 1899. He married at Jamestown on March 1924, Alice Packard, who was born December 5, 1901 in Minnesota. The Norheims lived on the farm on Section 26 in Bucephalia Township, which he inherited from his father, Carl Norheim. Halvor was the field man for the Farmers Union for a number of years.

There were four children in the family: Leonard, Gerald, Kenneth and Phyllis..

The Norheims later moved to Pasadena.

California. Mr. Norheim died in February 1964 and is buried in the Kensal Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 14B
Leonard and Edna (Rosenau) Norheim

Leonard Norheim was born at Kensal on March 31, 1925 to Halvor and Alice Packard Norheim. He married Edna Rosenau, daughter of Edward and Rose Rosenau, who was born December 14, 1929 at Jamestown.

The Norheims make their home on Section 26 in Bucephalia Township, the farm where his grandfather, Carl Norheim homesteaded.

Leonard and Edna have four children: Sandra, Larry, Kim and Jason.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 14B
Anton and Maria (Fait) Pitra

Anton Pitra was born March 10, 1863 in Czechoslovakia and Maria Fait was born there also on April 9, 1873. After their marriage on September 27, 1892, they lived in Czechoslovakia for several years where he was a blacksmith. They first made their home at Cedar Rapids, Iowa after coming to the United States and in 1906 they came to Foster County and purchased the Northwest 1/4 of Section 12 in Bucephalia Township.

The couple had four children: Louis, Mary, Eugenic and Wilma.

Anton Pitra died May 10, 1941, Maria Pitra died January 9, 1922. They are buried in the Kensal Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 15B
Louis and Frances (Tanner) Pitra

Louis Pitra, born to Anton and Maria Pitra on October 8, 1893 at Cedar Rapids, Iowa, came to Foster County with his parents in 1906. He purchased the land in Section 12, Bucephalia Township, which his father had owned.

On December 9, 1919 Louis married Frances Tanner at Carrington, born April 24, 1896 at Milnor, North Dakota. She taught school for a number of years in Foster County.

The couple were parents of five children: Harriet, Frances, Margie, DeLayne and Keith.

Mr. Pitra died February 14, 1980 and Mrs. Pitra died September 19, 1981. They are buried in the Kensal Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 15B

Harold and Nora (Manz) Schroeder

Harold Schroeder was born at Bordulac on January 11, 1920 to William and Freda Grager Schroeder. He has lived in the county all his life and now lives on land in Section 6, Bucephalia Township, purchased in 1947 formerly owned by the Gragers.

On June 20, 1943 he married at Wimbledon, Nora Menz who was born at Wimbledon on April 21, 1923 to Martin and Clara Mahlke Menz.

They have six children: Roger, Lynn, Peggy, Betty, Barbara, and Nancy.

Mr. Schroeder is well known as an auctioneer.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 15B

Lynn and Rebecca (Wobbema) Schroeder

Lynn Schroeder was born June 18, 1948 at Carrington, the son of Harold and Nora Menz Schroeder. On September 19, 1971, he married at Carrington, Rebecca Wobbema, the daughter of Peter Jr. and Donna Parks Wobbema. Rebecca was born at Carrington on January 26, 1952. Both are graduates of Carrington High School. They purchased their farm on Section 4 in Bucephalia Township in 1974. Lynn Schroeder is a 4‑H leader and has served on the Foster County Fair Board for a number of years. He is also township clerk.

Lynn and Rebecca have two children: Kyle and Wendy.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 15B
Carrington

Enoch and Josephine (Randall) Adams

Enoch Adams was born in Indiana in 1843. He lived in Carrington for twenty‑five years. He served in the Civil War where he was wounded twice‑ at Gettysburg and at Fredricksburg. After the war, he married Josephine Randall in Indiana. They came to North Dakota to make their home about 1900. He worked for the Putnam Lumber Yard for many years.

They had ten children; two were long‑time residents of Carrington, Perry and Mrs. Joseph Homel.

Mrs. Adams died in 1904 and Mr. Adams in 1929. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 15B
Perry and Mary Elsie (Stevens) Adams

Perry Adams, son of Enoch Adams, came to Carrington with his parents in 1900.

On March 17, 1903 he married Elsie Stevens at Carrington. She was born in 1895 in Pennsylvania to Christian and Sarah Stevens, who came to Carrington in 1898.

Perry and Elsie Adams had three children: Edna, Edgar and Milton.

Mr. Adams died April 1945 at Glendale, California.

Mrs. Adams died on September 18, 1958. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 15B

Arthur J. and Lydia A. (Bensky) Albus

Arthur Albus, son of Christian and Kathrine Albus, was born in Longview Township on December 11, 1906. He came to Carrington with his parents when he was a young boy and attended the Carrington schools.

On December 28, 1927 he married Lydia Bensky at Fessenden.

Lydia, the daughter of George and Rosina Bensky was born at McClusky on October 20, 1907.

The couple had one daughter, Alice Jane.

Mr. Aibus was a rural mail carrier from Carrington until his retirement in 1973.

The Albuses make their home in Carrington. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 15B
Ivan and Selma (Moberg) Alfstad

Ivan Alfstad was born June 1‑5, 1909 at Juanita to John and Dena Sandvol Alfstad.

He made his home in Carrington. He worked for the Foster County Highway Department for 43 years, the last 20 as superintendent.

He married Selma Moberg on July 6, 1934.

They had 2 sons: Duane and Darwin.

Ivan Alfstad died January 9, 1972. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 15B
Esther Aljets

Esther Aljets, daughter of George and Mabel Trullinger Aljets, born July 21, 1905, is a retired schoolteacher. She taught in elementary grades for forty‑four years. The last nineteen years she taught fifth grade in Carrington, North Dakota.

Born in Wyard Township, Foster County, she lived in Carrington all her life and was a member of the United Church of Christ, Barlow Friday Club, Retired Teachers and the Rebekah Lodge.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 15B
George Aljets, Sr.

George Aljets was born February 21, 1882 at Wellington, Kansas. He came to North Dakota in the summer of 1902 for the harvest season. He liked the state, but especially the girl he later married‑ Mabel Trullinger. Mabel was born at Maryville, Missouri on March 26, 1883. She came to North Dakota with her parents on an emigrant train in the spring of 1900. George and Mabel were married March 29, 1903 and lived in and around Carrington.

George was active in the I.O..O.F. Lodge. Mabel was a charter member of the Rebekah Lodge. Both were life‑time members.

In 1911‑12 George was Chief of Police in Carrington. In the spring of 1912 they moved to their farm in Wells County where they lived until 1941, when they returned to Foster County. They retired and moved to Carrington in 1946. George continued to work for the Bank of North Dakota and Richardson Land Company until his health failed. He served in the State Legislature for ten years, from 1927 through 1935. He was chairman of the Appropriations Committee for two terms. He represented the Non‑partisan League. The Aljets were the parents of eight children: Nellie, Esther, Pearl, Francis Lee, Maude, George, Dale and Lyle. Mabel died January 23, 1952 and George died April 27, 1952. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 15B
George E. and Dorothy (Schaack) Aljets

George Aljets was born in Carrington on December 29, 1918 to George and Mabel Trullinger Aljets. On December 18, 1939 he married Dorothy Schaack of Sykeston. They have seven children: Robert, George L., Connie, Ronald, Thomas, Shirley and Joan.

George served as Sheriff of Foster County from 1949 to 1953.

In 1965 the couple purchased the Buchanan Hotel, which they operated until 1980.

George served in the South Pacific during World War II, and later in the National Guard. He is a member of the Odd Fellow and Masonic Lodge.

Both George and Dorothy are active in the V.F.W. They reside in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 16B
E.S. and Sophie (Westad) Andrews

Sophie Westad was born in Norway on April 22, 1876. She came to the United States with her parents, Mr. and Mrs. Hans Westad, in 1881.

The family lived in Rothsay, Minnesota until 1886 when they came to file on a homestead in Larrabee Township.

On December 8, 1898, Sophie Westad and E.S. Andrews of Carrington were married. They had five children: Russell, Gerald, Myrtle Ethel and Ivadell.

Mr. Andrews was a painter.

Mr. Andrews died in 1949. Mrs. Andrews died February 24, 1958. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 16B
Dr. Russel A. and Florence (Thune) Andrews

Russel Andrews was born at Carrington on January 21, 1902 to E.S. and Sophie Westad Andrews. After completing school in Carrington, he attended North Dakota State before entering Marquette University School of Dentistry where he graduated in 1925.

In September 1925 he established a dental practice in Carrington and continued for fifty-six years.

On August 16, 1934 he and Florence Thune were married. Florence Thune of Redwood Falls, Minnesota had come to Carrington in 1926 to teach music.

Mrs. Andrews had graduated from Macalestor College in St. Paul. She has taught many young people both piano and organ. She has served as church organist for nearly fifty years. She lives in Carrington and continues with her music.

Both Dr. and Mrs. Andrews were active in the Masonic and Eastern Star. They were also active in community activities.

Dr. Andrews died October 15, 1981 and is buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 16B
William and Ella (Stambaugh) Await

William Await came to North Dakota with the Brethren Colony in 1898. He was born in New York, June 26, 1858. He married Ella Stambaugh in February 1890 who was born in Illinois in June 1861. They had no children.

They came to Carrington to farm in 1897. They retired and moved into town in 1921.

Mrs. Await died March 28, 1929. Mr. Await died December 30, 1937. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 16B
Thomas W. and Amanda (Santee) Baker

Thomas Baker was born March 22, 1859 at Davenport, Iowa. He married Amanda Santee in Illinois in 1887.

Mr. Baker was the president and the largest stockholder in the Livestock and Meat Produce Company in Carrington. The meat market was established in 1909. He also had the controlling interest in a livestock-buying agency. He was widely known over North Dakota, Montana, and Calgary, Alberta through his forty years as a horse buyer and trader.

In Carrington he also operated a livery barn and pool hall.

Mr. Baker held a contract to build a railroad through this region.

Mr. Baker died in 1934.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 16B
Floyd Brown and Ida (Landis) Bales

Floyd B. Bales was born at Wythville, Virginia on March 4, 1876.

Ida Landis was born at Akson, Indiana on January 18, 1878.

The couple came to the Carrington area at separate times. Mr.. Bales came to homestead in about 1901.

The family was composed of 10 children: Bertha, Ruth, Paul, Roy, Mary, Alice, Floyd, Violet, Bill and James.

Mr. Bales was a lumberman in Carrington.

He died April 3, 1962 and is buried at Carrington. Mrs. Bales died January 18, 1967 and is buried at Corning, California.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 16B
A.F. and Georgianna (Dickerson) Barnes

A.F. Barnes was born December 30, 1862 at Searsport, Maine. His boyhood and early manhood were spend in Maine. Later he moved to Grinnell, Iowa where he lived until coming to Carrington in 1903.

In 1875 he married Georgianna Dickerson at Grinnell.

They had no children but they raised Helen Carnahan, a niece.

Mr. Barnes was a blacksmith. 
He had a vast storehouse of classics and poetry‑ much of which he could recite from memory.

Mr. Barnes died in October 1925.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 16B
E.E. and Amelia (Mustchler) Bauley

Ernest Bauley was born at Tower City on July 28, 1884.

He operated a service station in Carrington at the time of his death.

He married Amelia Mustchler on January 10, 1915. Amelia was born at Eureka, South Dakota on December 8, 1896.

The couple also lived in Goodrich for a few years.

They had two sons: James and John.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 16B
Harry and Frances (Greenup) Beach

Harry Beach was born May 12, 1886 near Motley, Minnesota.

He came to North Dakota in 1904.

He married Frances Greenup on August 24, 1909 at Fargo.

They lived on a farm south of Carrington for about twenty years, before moving to town.

They were in the restaurant business for a number of years, and Mr. Beach was employed in a hardware store.

The couple had three sons: Elmer, Merle and Melvin.

Mr. Beach died December 9, 1965. He is buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 16B
A.R. and Annie E. (Gill) Beaty

A.R. Beaty was born February 21, 1844 at Collinsville, Ohio. He moved to Illinois with his parents when he was a child.

In 1865 he married Annie Gill. They lived in Illinois and in Nebraska before coming to North Dakota in 1889, locating in Carrington. Mr. Beaty operated a meat market and also a bakery and restaurant in Carrington.

The Beatys had five children: Edwin L., Hatte Clara, Blanche and Mary K.

They united with the Congregational Church in 1893. He was a trustee.

Mr. Beaty died on October 1, 1907. Mrs. Beaty died in July 1923.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 16B
Edwin L. and Laura (Lingofelt) Beaty

Edwin Beaty was born in Nebraska in 1872. He received his education in Illinois.

In 1889 he came to Carrington with his parents and farmed with his father until 1895. He then operated a meat market until 1900, when fire destroyed the meat market. He then operated a hotel and restaurant; he continued operating a restaurant for many years.

In 1901 he married Laura Lingofelt. Laura was born on June 10, 1884. Their children were Irma and Edwin Louis. The Beatys made their home in Carrington and took an active part in the community. Mr. Beaty was active in the Odd Fellows Lodge.

Mrs. Beaty died in December 1949.

Mr. Beaty died April 10, 1955.

They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 16B
Henry O. and Esther (Retzloff) Beck

Henry Beck was born at Cooperstown on April 30, 1905. He graduated from the University of North Dakota.

He married Esther Retzloff at Minneapolis on February 18, 1927.

He operated grocery stores in Binford and Jamestown before coming to Carrington in 1938. He operated a grocery store here for a number of years. The family was active in the community. The last few years, Mr. Beck was associated with the First National Bank.

He was serving his third term as senator from the 13th district, comprising Foster, Eddy and part of Benson Counties.

The couple had three children: Keith, Donna and Carl.

Mr. Beck died in August 1968.

Mrs. Beck makes her home in Carrington. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 16B
Keith and Ruth (Watson) Beck

Keith Beck, son of Henry and Esther Retzloff Beck, was born at Binford on October 14, 1927.

He came to Carrington with his parents in 1938. He attended school in Carrington.

He served in the Army Air Corps in Japan from 1945 to 1947.

After leaving the service, the attended the University of North Dakota and graduated from Northwestern University in 1954.

He practiced dentistry in Carrington from 1954 until he became ill in 1966.

In 1951 on June 17th, he married Ruth Watson of Carrington. They had three children: Kathryn, Thomas and John.

Dr. Beck died July 22, 1966. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 17B
Fred and Katherine (Heitzman) Beier

Frederich Beier was born in Prussia in February 1860.

He came to America as a youth and worked as a carpenter in New Jersey. Later he homesteaded near Emery, South Dakota and in 1883 he married Katherine Heitzman. They lived in South Dakota, and later at Cooperstown before coming to Carrington. Mr. Beier operated an elevator in Carrington. He was prominent in civic affairs and served on the city council.

Mr. Beier died in October 1945. Mrs. Beier died in 1923.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 17B
Theodore and Elsie McCarty) Berglund

Theodore Alfred Berglund, son of Erick and Sara Hegquist Berglund, was born in Sundsvall, Sweden on September 23, 1891. He came to the United States with his parents in April 1894 who settled in Nordmore Township. Ted came to Carrington where he operated a hardware store for many years.

On October 21, 1914 Ted married Elsie McCarty at Carrington. Elsie was born at Anderson, Indiana on March 18, 1894. She owned and operated a beauty parlor for many years.

The Berglunds had one son, Gerald. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 17B
Emil J. and Lydia (Remjeski) Bestgen

Emil Bestgen was born at St. Cloud, Minnesota on April 1, 1898. In 1929 he married Lydia Remjeski at St. Cloud. The family moved to Carrington in 1936. Mrs. Bestgen was employed as a jeweler of the Lee Jewelry Store and later by Dr. Toring. For fourteen years he owned his own jewelry business.

The Bestgens had one son: Ross.

Mrs. Bestgen died in May 1953. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 17B
C. Ross and Lois (McLeod) Bloomquist

Ross Bloomquist, son of Perry and Emma Anderson Bloomquist, was born in Birtsell Township, on December 24, 1907. He attended school in Birtsell Township and graduated from Carrington High School. He received a ‑Masters Degree from the University of North Dakota. He was employed as a chemist in the eastern states.

On August 10, 1941, he was married at Westerville, Ohio to Lois McLeod. Lois was born at Westerville on August 22, 1911. She attended school and three years of college at Westerville. She did secretarial work before her marriage.

The Bloomquists had three children, Sara, William and Robert.

Mr. and Mrs. Bloomquist returned to Carrington to make their home in 1975. Since returning Mr. Bloomquist has been interested in researching local history.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 17B
Forrest and Betty (Nording) Bold

Forrest Bold was born at Chaseley on April 7, 1925 to the Verval Bolds.

Betty Nording, the daughter of the Gustav Nordings, was born November 2, 1928 at McClusky.

Forrest and Betty were married at McClusky on July 27, 1947.

They have five children: Timothy, Michele, Richard, David and Roberta Jo.

Mr. Bold is an electrician for the Tri‑County Electric and has been with the cooperative for over 30 years.

Mrs. Bold has been employed at the Foster County Bank for nearly 20 years.

Mrs. Bold is active in Eastern Star and the Federated Church.

Kenneth Bonderud

Kenneth, the son of O. O. and Ella Silseth Bonderud, was born at Carrington on July 28, 1927.

He now resides in California.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 17B
Olaf O. and Ella (Silseth) Bonderud

Olaf Bonderud was born in Toten, Norway on March 20, 1878. He came to America in 1884 and settled first in Minnesota. He came to Nordmore Township in 1904. He married in 1904 Ella Olson Silseth born April 27, 1886 the daughter of Ole and Ellen Halaas Silseth.

The couple lived in Nordmore Township until 1914 when they moved into Carrington, where Mr. Bonderud worked as a mechanic for J. Buchanan and Sons, and later at the Cummings garage.

The Bonderuds had thirteen children: Oscar, Sidney, Thelma, Earl, Orville, Kenneth, Wesley, Blanche, Edna, Norma, Dorothy, Alice and Clarence.

Their son, Clarence served in World War II and lost his life on Guadalcanal.

Mrs. Bonderud died in July 1945. Mr. Bonderud died in December 1971. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 17B
John Bort

John Edward Bort was born July 4, 1858, at Niagara Falls, Ontario, Canada. He married Jannet Niven at Bay City, Michigan, March 29, 1893. She was born at Bay City on August 16, 1870. Mr. Bort had come to Foster County in 1882 in a covered wagon. He was accompanied to Dakota by the Holcomb brothers. He helped Ben Holcomb plant his tree claim on the Southwest 1/4 of Section 14 in Carrington Township. This became the well‑known "Holcomb's Grove". Mr. Sort homesteaded on Section 24 Southeast 1/4, claiming his land in 1884. Later the family moved to Section 25. The farm still remains in the family. John's son Lloyd purchased it in 1942. Lloyd's son Rodney now lives on the farm. John and Janet lived on the farm for over 60 years. They had three children, Ralph, Lloyd, Ruth. Mr. Sort died October 17, 1942, Mrs. Sort died November 28, 1958. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 17B
Lloyd and Ruth (Willows) Bort

Lloyd John Sort, son of John E. and Janet Sort was born December 3, 1896. He farmed with his father on the farm his father had purchased on section 25 of Carrington Township.

He married Ruth Willows of Juanita on November 22, 1934. Ruth, the daughter of Walter and Alice Palmer Willows, was born August 3, 1914.

They had one son, Rodney, who now resides on the farm.

Lloyd died March 27, 1968. He is buried in the Carrington cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 17B
Rodney and Connie (Aipperspach) Bort

Rodney Sort was born at Carrington on November 28, 1939 to Lloyd and Ruth Willows Bort. He attended the Carrington schools and later farmed with his father. He lives on the farm his grandfather purchased, the West 1/2 of section 25. The grandfather built the buildings on this farm. Rodney is the third generation living on the farm.

On July 27, 1970, Rodney married Connie Aipperspach of Carrington. Connie is the daughter of Fred and Alitta Kasman Aipperspach.

The Sorts have one son, David.

Rodney has served on the township board as supervisor. Connie is employed by the County Auditor and is active in church and community affairs. The family attends the Federated church.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 17B
Arne and Cecilie (Henry) Boyum

Arne Boyum was the son of Dr. P.A. and Mrs. Boyum of Harvey.

Cecilia was the daughter of Mrs. Claudine Henry of Jamestown.

The couple came to Carrington in 1948 with their family. There were three children in the family: Arne Jr., Kelley and Katherine.

All members of the family including spouses are graduates of the University of North Dakota. Both boys Arne and Kelley also have received their law degrees.

The family was very active in the community. The Arne Boyums Sr. now live in Bismarck.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 17B
Kelley and Patricia (Roney) Boyum

Kelley Boyum, son of Arne and Cecilia Boyum, was born at Harvey on February 12, 1948. He came to Carrington with his parents in 1949.

Patricia Roney was born in Carrington on August 19, 1949 to Thomas and Margaret Roney.

Both Kelley and Patricia are graduates of Carrington High School and the University of North Dakota.

On June 7, 1970, Kelley and Patricia were married at Grand Forks.

They have two daughters: Rachel and Amanda.

The Boyums spent two years in Georgia where Kelley was stationed. He was a second lieutenant in the United States Army.

Kelley is a graduate from the school of law at Grand Forks.

He is now employed at the Foster County Bank and Trust Company. He served as a trust officer until 1982 when he was promoted to executive vice president and elected to the board of directors of the bank.

He served two terms in the State Legislature.

Patricia and Kelley are active in various community activities. She is on the Arts and Humanities council and Library board. She was instrumental in starting a community theatre group.

The family resides in Carrington. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 18B
James A. and Doris (Sharpe) Bronaugh

James Bronaugh was born in Carrington on October 9, 1915 to William and Magne Berglund Bronaugh. James grew up in Carrington where he lived until 1931 when his father went to Glenfield to operate a hardware store. When his father died in 1947, he assumed ownership of the store until it burned in 1957. They then came to Carrington. James served in the Coast Guard during World War II, in both eastern and western theaters. On January 16, 1944 he married Doris Sharpe at Glenfield.

The couple had four children: Jean, James, Thomas and Joni.

In Carrington Mr. Bronaugh operated his own construction business. The Trinity Lutheran Church and many other buildings are testimonials to his craftsmanship.

His son Tom now owns the construction business.

Mr. Bronaugh was also on the City Council for a number of years.

Mrs. Bronaugh, a graduate of Jamestown College, taught school for many years. She has served as County Superintendent of schools since 1968. She was very active in her church and had served in several positions of honor and rank.

Mr. Bronaugh died December 26, 1980 and is buried at Carrington, 

Mrs. Bronaugh died in February 1983.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 18B
John and Nora (Simpson) Bruhn

John Bruhn was born in Sweden on April 9, 1870 to John and Amelia Johnson. He came to America in the early 1900's and homesteaded near Edmunds and retired. The family moved to Carrington in 1920.

He married Nora Simpson at Carrington on March 31, 1903. She was the daughter of Earl I. and Dora Elliott Simpson, born at Warrensburg, Missouri on April 8, 1885. She came to Carrington at age twelve years.

Mr. Bruhn served as county commissioner for several terms.

They had two children: George and Dora.

Mr. Bruhn died May 12, ‑1960. Mrs. Bruhn died October 28, 1962. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 18B
Mary Jane Brummet

Mary Jane Brummet was born December 16, 1841 at Calhoun, Missouri.

In 1861 she married James Elliot who died.

In 1871 she married at Osceola, Iowa, George W. Johnson, a Civil War veteran.

They lived in Carrington for a number of years.

The couple had eight children: George, J. Freiden, Robert, Dora, Josephine, Addie, Jennie and Sadie.

Mary Brummet Johnson died July 1, 1919. Mr. Johnson died in 1936. They are buried at Palouse, Washington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 18B
Ozius and Lucy (Farnum) Burdick

Ozius Burdicks were married in Sparta, Wisconsin in May 1858.

Lucy Farnum was born at Westport, New York on September 4, 1838.

They came to North Dakota in 1883, settling near Holcomb's Grove. Later they moved near Devils Lake.

They had six children: George, Orlin, Ida, McKechnie, Carrie and Usher.

Usher Burdick served as a United States Congressman from North Dakota and his son Quentin, is now a United States Senator from North Dakota in Washington.

Mrs. Burdick died in 1929 at the age of 91.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 18B
C.W. and Jamima (Buchanan) Burnham

Chilo W. Burnham was born August 19, 1879 near Johnstown, Vermont. He came to Foster County with his parents in 1883 who settled on a homestead south of Carrington. He attended schools in Melville, Carrington and Minneapolis and in 1905 he graduated from the University of Minnesota.

On January 29, 1907 he married Jemima Buchanan. Jemima was born in 1882 in Glasgow, Scotland, the daughter of John and Margaret Buchanan Sr. She came to North Dakota with her parents in 1883.

Mrs. Burnham was her husband's assistant in his law office. He was Foster County Auditor while he studied law, States Attorney for twenty‑five years, and also served as City attorney.

He was a charter member of Kiwanis Club and served in both local and district offices. Mrs. Burnham was an accomplished artist.

The Burnhams had three children: Jeanette, Lucille and Chilo Jr. Chilo Jr., also a lawyer, was associated with his father for several years.

Mr. Burnham died on August 13, 1960. Mrs. Burnham died on February 9, 1971. They are buried in Carrington Cemetery, 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 18B
Alan and Linda (Nelson) Butts

Alan Roger Butts, son of Lloyd and Loretta Hoeckle Butts was born June 3, 1945 at Jamestown. Alan attended school in Carrington and graduated from North Dakota State University in 1967 with a B.S. in Agricultural Economics. At the University he met and married Linda Nelson of Dickinson on July 19, 1969. Linda, a native of New England, North Dakota was born in Chatham, Alabama on July 23, 1947. Her parents were in the medical field during World War H. She graduated from NDSU with a B.A. degree in mathematics in 1969.

After graduation Alan returned to Carrington to assist with his father's farming operations. He continues to operate the farm.

The Butts have two children, Tonya and Nicholas.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 18B
Lloyd and Loretta (Hoeckle) Butts

Lloyd Arthur Butts, son of Rueben and Nellie Butts was born at Sykeston on November 11, 1909. He graduated from Sykeston High School in 1927. In 1928 he attended the North Dakota Agricultural College in Fargo for one quarter.

On November 30, 1940 he married Loretta Hoeckle of Pirigree. Loretta, the daughter of Phillip and Etta Clara Hoeckle was born at Petersburg; Nebraska on October 29, 1916. She came to North Dakota with her parents in 1917. In 1948 Lloyd purchased land on section 6 in Carrington Township and in 1950 after building a home and buildings moved in. Lloyd had large land holdings‑ farming 4500 acres‑ much of it under irrigation. He also had a feedlot which grew from about 400 head of cattle to about 11,000. He pioneered in the feeding of cattle in this climate. He was active in civic and farm organizations.

Lloyd died April 27, 1981 and is buried at Carrington, 

Loretta continues to live on the farm and in Mesa, Arizona.

The couple had four children: Betty, Alan, Lloyd and Richard.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 18B
Lloyd Butts, Jr.

Lloyd Butts Jr. was born at Jamestown on May 26, 1947 to Lloyd and Loretta Butts. After graduating from Moorhead State in 1972 he worked in Minneapolis. In 1976 he returned to Carrington to farm with his brothers and operate a trucking business.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 19B
Richard and Nancy (Ostenrude) Butts

Richard Loren Butts was born August 2, 1950 to Lloyd and Loretta Hoeckle Butts at Jamestown. Richard attended school in Carrington and graduated from NDSU in 1972 with a degree in Agricultural Economics.

He married Nancy Ostenrude on September 23, 1972, she was born at Grafton on January 24, 1950 and grew up in the Hoople area. She graduated from NDSU with a degree in Home Economics in 1972.

They live in Carrington and Richard has joined his father and brothers in the farming operation.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 19B
Nels and Helen (Lowrie) Carlson

Nels Carlson, born in Sweden on November 8, 1885, came to America with his parents in 1898. They settled at Enderlin. From Enderlin, he went to Minneapolis to work as a streetcar conductor.

On December 25, 1920 he married Helen Lowrie at Osakis. The couple came to Carrington to buy the photo studio previously owned by H.E. Cherrey. In later years, they added a gift shop to the studio.

Helen Lowrie was born November 13, 1899 at Butte, Montana. The family later moved to Minnesota.

The Carlsons had three children: 'Doris, James and John.

Mr. Carlson died in April 1961. Mrs. Carlson died September 1967. They are buried at Carrington. The photo studio is now operated by Jerrold and Doris (Carlson) Skadberg.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 19B
C.C. and Helen (Barnes) Carnahan

Helen Barnes was born January 15, 1887. Her mother died when she was four years old and Helen was reared by an aunt, Mrs. A.F. Barnes.

Helen was a 1904 graduate of Carrington High. School and a practical nurse. She was a charter member of the Carrington Chapter of the D.A. R.

The Carnahans had two daughters: Virginia and Clare.

Mr. Carnahan died in 1935. Mrs. Carnahan died on July 25, 1957. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 19B
James P. and Lorraine (Polries) Carr

James Carr was born July 8, 1921 at Carrington. He is the son of Joseph M. and Mabel Bachlund Carr. He married at Sykeston on October 15, 1946 Lorraine Polries born at Sykeston on November 28, 1923, the daughter of Mathias and Elizabeth Thury Polries.

The couple has twelve children: Thomas, Joanne, Jeanette, Geraldine, James, Jeanine, Jerome , Karen, Patrick, Paul, Robert and David.

The family lives on a farm north of Carrington in Carrington Township.

Mr. Carr has served on the township board for 31 years. Mr. Carr died August 23, 1982 from injuries received in a farm accident the same day.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 19B
Joseph M. Carr

Joseph M. Carr was born April 2, 1893 at New Hampton, Iowa. He married Mabel Baklund at Lawler, Iowa. She was born on March 3, 1896 and came with her family to Bordulac in 1918. Mrs. Carr died June 26, 1965.

The Carr's came to North Dakota in 1914. Over the years he acquired much acreage of farmland in Foster County and ranch land in Burleigh and Kidder counties as well. He was in the implement business in Carrington with Don Nicholson and Joe Polries.

The Carr's had seven children: James, Francis, Clifford, Evelyn, Helen, Joseph and John. Mr. Carr is now married to the former Lola Sheehan.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 19B
Lyman R, and Harriet Casey

Lyman Casey was born in New York State on May 6, 1837. He was reared and educated at Ypsilanti, Michigan. Mrs. Casey was also born in 1837 in Ohio.

The Caseys came to the Carrington area in 1882. Mr. Casey was the general manager of the Carrington‑Casey Ranch while in North Dakota.

He served as county commissioner when the county was organized and was elected North Dakota's first United States Senator, serving from 1889 to 1893.

Mr. Casey died January 26, 1914. The funeral was in Baltimore. Mrs. Casey died in 1931.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 19B
Andrew R. and Terri (Kutz) Caylor

Andrew Caylor, the son of Raymond and Elaine Fornshell Caylor, was born at Carrington September 17, 1954.

He married Terri Kutz at Sykeston on January 13, 1979. Terri, the daughter of Clinton and Catherine Huss Kutz was born at Carrington on September 16, 1958.

Terri graduated from Sykeston High School.

After graduating from high school Andy attended Bismarck Junior College where he graduated from linemen's school.

Andy is a member of the Masons, Shriners and the fire department.

The couple live in Carrington where Andy is an electrician.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 19B
Raymond C. and Elaine (Fornshell) Caylor

Raymond Caylor was born September 11, 1908 at Cicero, Indiana, and came to North Dakota with his parents in 1911. He attended School in Carrington.

On October 20, 1953 he married Elaine Fornshell, the daughter of Charles and Flora Steel Fornshell of Carrington. The couple had three children: Andrew, Barbara, and Donald.

Mr. Caylor served in the Army Signal Corps in France during World War II.

Mr. Caylor worked for Goss Electric, also for Otter Tail Power in Jamestown. In 1949 he returned to Carrington as local superintendent for Otter Tail Power Company. He retired in 1966. He was a licensed embalmer and often aided the local mortician.

He was very active in the community, and in the Kiwanis Club, the Masonic Lodge, and the fire department.

Mr. Caylor died November 17, 1970 and is buried at Carrington.

Mrs. Caylor lives in Carrington and is employed by Central Insurance Company.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 19B
Edward L. and Norma Jean (Gimbel) Christ

Edward Christ was born July 5, 1951 at Valley City to the Edward D. Christs.

On July 12, 1974 he married at Valley City Norma Jean Gimbel, who was born at Bismarck on February 4, 1954 to the Albert Gimbals.

Mr. Christ came to Carrington in 1977 to be the director of the Foster County Social Services.

Both are active in the church.

Mrs. Christ is also active in Homemakers and the Literary Club.

They have two children: Julie and Michael.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 19B
Patrick C. and Myrtle (Pearson) Clark

Patrick (Pat) Clark was born at Bismarck on March 31, 1885. He came to Carrington in 1906 to be employed as a clerk in the Farnham‑Tenborg store and later in the Wallace-Galehouse clothing store owned by J.E. Galehouse. On November 7, 1910 he married Myrtle Pearson, who had been born in New York State on June 21, 1891. In 1923 Pat Clark entered into a partnership with Olaf Rusley. They opened a clothing store known as Olaf and Pat. It continued with that name even after Olaf left the partnership. Mrs. Clark aided her husband in the store, as did their son, Gordon. After Mr. Clark's death, they continued in the business.

They had two sons, Gordon and Jack.

Pat Clark died in February 1951. Mrs. Clark died in May 1975. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 19B
Theron Cole

Theron Alsie Cole was born in Ohio on December 20. 1878 and came to Carrington in the early 1890's. He operated a photo gallery and later an agency for Hupmobile autos. For a time he operated a restaurant in Carrington. He was serving his second term as Sheriff for Foster County when he died during the influenza epidemic on March 23, 1919. He is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

He married Alice Luella Hamel on November 9, 1903. She was born October 10, 1883 the daughter of Joseph Hamel, Sr. and Margaret Hamel. She was one of the two graduates of the second graduating class of Carrington High School. They were the parents of five children, two died as small children. The three surviving are Theron and Mae who live in California and Helen (Mrs. J.L. Hendrickson) of Carrington.

Alice Cole was prominent in Foster County politics, having served in County offices for a number of years. In 1922 she was elected as County treasurer, serving the four years then allowed by law. From 1928 to 1932 she served as County Clerk of Court. Soon after she was elected the Judge decreed that the county lacked population to merit a Clerk of Court, however, Mrs. Cole took the census and found the county did have a large enough population. By the next election the office was eliminated and Mrs. Cole was again elected as County treasurer serving until 1938.

In the early 1940's Mrs. Cole moved to Seattle where she spent several years before moving to California where she has since resided.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 19B
John A. and Charlotte (Austin) Cook

John Cook, born at Waterloo, Iowa on January 13, 1897, came to the Carrington area with his parents the William Cooks.

John married Charlotte Austin on March 14, 1922 at Fessenden. Charlotte was born March 7, 1905 at Chaseley. The couple lived near Hurdsfield on a farm until coming to Carrington in 1942.

In Carrington Mr. Cook operated a cream station until his retirement in 1971.

The couple had one daughter, Arvilla. Mr. Cook died May 24, 1977. He is buried in Hurdsfield.

Mrs. Cook resides in Carrington. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 20B
Wayne and Lynnette (Davis) Cook

Wayne Cook was born August 12, 1949 at New Rockford, ND, raised in the Cathay area and graduated from Cathay High School.

Lynnette was born May 10, 1951 at Carrington to Les and Lillian Davis, graduating from Carrington High School.

They were married December 10, 1971, and have two daughters, Cortnie and JoDee. Wayne is manager of GTA Feeds, Carrington. Lynnette is employed by the Foster County Independent.

Stanley and Elsie (Kerber) Copenhaver, Sr.

Stanley Copenhaver, son of S.H. and Alice Houndshell Copenhaver was born at Carrington on April 3, 1899. He attended high school in Carrington and Dakota Business College in Fargo.

On December 19, 1923 he married Elsie Kerber at Carrington. Elsie, the daughter of W.R. and Minnie Kerber, was born at Fessenden on November 3, 1903. The couple had two sons, Stanley, Jr. and Cyrus.

Mr. Copenhaver purchased the farm from his father, second generation on the farm. He has been the township treasurer for fifty‑one years, and served on the school board for twelve years.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 20B
Thomas H. and Nellie (Van Meter) Cousins

Thomas Cousins was born December 14, 1858 at Port Alkien, Iowa. He spend his early life in Iowa, and in 1882, he married Carrie Harris who died later. In 1891 Mr. Cousins came to North Dakota. He married Nellie M. Van Meter in 1895 at Sykeston. The couple lived in Fargo until they came to Carrington in about 1907.

Mr. Cousins owned and operated several grain elevators.

He was a civic‑minded man and a great friend to the schools.

Nellie Van Meter was born at Burlington, Iowa on May 28, 1883, and came to North Dakota with her parents in 1889. She taught school before her marriage.

They had four children, Hazel, who died in infancy, Dorothy, Van Meter and Thomas Jr.

Mr. Cousins died in June 1919. Mrs. Cousins died in June 1932. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 20B
Carl B. and Mae (Alvey) Craven

Carl Craven was born March 30, 1880 at Kellogg, Iowa. He was educated in Iowa and came to Carrington in 1902 to set up a law office. In 1901 he married Mae Alvey at Forest City, Iowa. The marriage ended in divorce and C.B. Craven married Minnie Pepple as his second wife in 1921.

Mr. Craven served as States Attorney, Mayor, and president of Kiwanis. He served as fire chief, fair chairman and many other responsible positions.

He had five children by his first wife: Lucille, Alvey, Bruce, George and Lyle and three by his second: James, John and Barbara.

Mr. Craven died in August 1941. He is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 20B
Paul S. and Sarah Helen (Wolf) Cruchet

Paul Stone Cruchet was born at Carrington on April 23, 1894 the son of Walter and Mary Stone Cruchet.

On February 16, 1941 he married Sarah

Helen Wolf. Sarah Helen, , the daughter of Howard and Alta Farquer Wolf, was born at Carrington on September 12, 1908.

Paul was in the insurance business after serving in the army during World War I. Sarah Helen taught school before her marriage.

The Cruchets had four children: Dorothy, Janet, Walter, and Alfred.

Paul died January 8, 1956 and is buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 20B
Walter and Mary Amelia (Stone) Cruchet

Walter Mark Cruchet was born March 24, 1860 in Quebec, Canada. Mary Amelia Stone was born November 9, 1864 in Michigan. The Cruchets were married in Michigan, November 21, 1884, where Mr. Cruchet had a small workshop. They came to Devils Lake that year where he worked in a wood working shop.

The family came to Carrington in 1885 where Mr. Cruchet became the proprietor of his own woodwork shop. He continued in business for 50 years until he retired in 1935. He was a wood carver and wood worker par excellence. Many people in the area have some of his carvings. Walter Cruchet was a Master Mason in Aurora Lodge in Carrington.

The Cruchets had six children: Winona, Alfred, Nellie, Paul, Tell, and Walter.

Mrs. Cruchet died March 12, 1927. Mr. Cruchet died January 5, 1937. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 20B
W.E. and Carrie (Dage) Cummings

William Cummings, born at Albany, New York in 1863, lived in Illinois and Iowa before coming to Carrington in 1899 where he operated a number of farms near‑by. In March 1899 he married Carrie Dage at Waterloo, Iowa. Carrie Dage was born at Waterloo on October 28, 1870.

Mr. Cummings served as city alderman for several years, was one of the organizers of the Farmers' Elevator and the Livestock Meat and Produce Company.

He was the president of the Carrington Racing Association and was responsible for purchasing "Budweiser", the most notorious racehorse to be brought into the state.

The couple had five children: Maude, Lee, Clarence, Walter and Thomas.

Mr. Cummings died in March 1928. Mrs. Cummings died in 1935. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 20B
Edna Cusack

Edna Olivia Cusack was born September 16, 1908 at Carrington to Frank and Thea Lund Cusack. She received her grade and high school education in Carrington and a degree from Valley City State Teachers College. Edna taught in elementary schools in North Dakota and Montana for seven and one‑half years and then served as Foster County Superintendent of Schools from 1935 to 1953. During this period the schools were faced with financial problems and during World War It a shortage of teachers. This was followed by several years of school district reorganization.

For eight years Edna worked for the North Dakota Easter Seal Society, she then continued her work with the physically handicapped as principal at the Crippled Children's School in Jamestown for twelve years. She has now retired and lives in Seattle.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 20B
Dr. F.L. Cusack

Frank Lawrence Cusack was born November 22, 1872 in Wisconsin. He came to Carrington about 1905 to establish a veterinary practice. He spent his lifetime as a veterinarian, except for four years when he served as Sheriff of Foster County.

He did much of his traveling to farms with a team, he later had one of the first cars in the area, a Maxwell. He served as Sheriff in prohibition days and filled one spare room in the residence with confiscated liquor.

On November 28, 1907 he married Thea Lund. She was the daughter of the pioneer family of Gottfried Lund. She was born in Norway on August 18, 1883 and came to America with her parents when eight months old.

The Cusack's were the parents of three children: Edna, Harold and Dorothy.

Mr. Cusack died May 18, 1931 and Mrs. Cusack died July 15, 1975, they are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 20B
E.G. and Sarah (Quarton) Cushen

Edgar Cushen was born at Hagerstown, Maryland in 1867. He came to North Dakota with his parents in 1882, and lived in Carrington until his death.

He married Sarah Quarton in 1888. They had two sons: Harry and Willie.

Mr. Cushen was elected treasurer in 1896.

He died in May 1898. He is buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 21B
C.H, and Louise (Robinson) Davidson

Charlie Davidson, the son of C.H. Davidson, Sr., was born at Austin, Minnesota, January 24, 1869. He held his first position in a bank at age 16. He came to Carrington in 1893, with about $5,000, and started the Carrington State Bank, which later became the First National Bank. In 1908 he had the bank building erected, still standing on Main Street.

At his death, he had an interest in twenty-five banks as well as some farm loan companies and extensive Canadian interests.

In 1900 he married Louise Robinson. They had two daughters: Dorothy and Elizabeth.

He died in Minneapolis in February 1915.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 21B
Davy Davidson

Davy Davidson was born November 2, 1882 at Farmington, Long Island. His parents died when he was a small child and he made his home with an uncle, James Barclay in Carrington. Davy was a jockey in the east until coming to North Dakota in 1906.

He was married and the couple separated, the daughter lived with her mother, Mrs. Em ma Davidson.

He worked as a bus driver with a horse drawn rig. He also worked on a dray line.

In his later years he helped at the Buchanan Hotel. He died in July 1938.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 21B
Orville and Ann (Nelson) Dawalt

Orville Dawalt was born in Hitt, Missouri, later lived in Minnesota, coming to Carrington in 1906. He married Ann Nelson in Estabrook June 16, 1896 to Andres Nelsons in Estabrook Township.

Mr. Dawalt worked as an assistant in the T.H. Cousins elevator, was the sheriff of Foster County from 1929 to 1933, and a member of the city council for sixteen years.

Mrs. Dawalt was a community worker and well known for her hobbies, especially collecting pioneer artifacts.

The Dawalts had two children: Robert and Kay.

Mr. Dawalt died in June 1967, and Mrs. Dawalt died in December 1967. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 21B
LH. And Ada (Brainerd) Day

Isaac Day was born in December 1849 in West Virginia. He lived in Ohio and Missouri before coming to Carrington. He married in St. Louis Ada Brainerd who was born at Utica, New York in 1876.

The couple, with their children, came to Carrington in 1905. Their children were Charles, Myrtle, Maude, Hortense, Ruby and Dewey.

Mr. Day died in April 1925. Mrs. Day died in 1946. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 21B
James and Nellie (O'Hara) Derrick

James Derrick was born August 25, 1860 in New Brunswick, Canada. He lived in Illinois and Nebraska with his parents until he came to Dakota in 1883. On February 2, 1900 he married Nellie O'Hara. They had three children. In Dakota he took up a claim.

In the 1890's he served as sheriff of Foster County for two terms.

He later became interested in real estate and had a real estate and loan business.

He died January 3, 1970. In 1910 Mrs. Derrick homesteaded in Alberta, Canada.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 21B
John and Ida (McCreary) Dick

John Dick, born June 28, 1882 at High Coats, Scotland, came to Carrington in 1905.

He lived with his mother in Carrington for a number of years. He was employed at the post office until his retirement.

On October 25, 1944, he married Ida McCreary. Ida was the daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Thomas McCreary Sr. She was born October 22, 1888 in Carrington Township and spent much of her life on the farm. He was especially interested in promoting herds of Aberdeen Angus in Foster County and was honored as "Mr. Aberdeen Angus of 1953."
Mr. Dick died in 1953. Mrs. Dick died December 25, 1963. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 21B
Lee and Mary L. (Slusher) Dickerson

Lee Dickerson, son of Ira and Matilda Quesenberry Dickerson, was born at Willis, Virginia on April 3, 1879. In 1901 he married Mary Slusher at Willis. Mary was the daughter of Stanton and Sarah Staples Slusher and was born November 2, 1879.

The family came to North Dakota in 1905. They lived northeast of Carrington. Later they left the area:

They were the parents of six children: Cecil, Walter, William, James, Donald and Virginia.

Mrs. Dickerson died in 1929 and Mr. Dickerson died in 1949. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 21B
Norman and Bertha (Bales) Dickerson

Norman Dickerson, born June 15, 1882 at Willis, Virginia, was the son of Ira and Matilda Quesenberry Dickerson. He was married in Virginia on September 21, 1915 to Bertha Bales, the daughter of Floyd B. and Ida Landis Bales. She was born June 26, 1901. Mr. Dickerson came to Carrington because he had a brother here and he bought land. However, he is remembered as a blacksmith, a business he operated from 1924 to 1955.

The Dickersons had three daughters: Viola, Susan and Maxine.

Mr. Dickerson died May 22, 1955. He is buried at Carrington. Mrs. Dickerson resides in Carrington, where she is busy sewing and gardening.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 21B
Walter and Florence (Buchanan) Dickerson

Walter (Snip) Dickerson was born on January 21, 1905 in Nebraska to Lee and Mary Slusher Dickerson. He married Florence Buchanan in Carrington on December 25, 1939. Florence was born at Carrington on March 8, 1908 the daughter of John J. and Minerva Rich Buchanan. Both Walter and Florence are graduates from Carrington High School. Walter was a member of the Shrine, Masons, and Elks lodges. Florence is a member of the Eastern Star.

The Dickersons lived in Minot when Dickerson was employed by the Great Northern and Burlington Northern Railway as a conductor for 43 years. Both he and his wife attained the life master ranks in the American Contact Bridge League.

Mr. Dickerson died January 6, 1979 and is buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 21B
Herman R. and Shirley (Welter) Doeling

Herman Doeling, the son of George and Evelyn Krueger Doeling was born November 1, 1929 at Carrington.

On May 13, 1956 he married Shirley Welter.

Shirley is the daughter of George and Jemima Summers Welter, was born June 3, 1925 in Estabrook Township.

Mr. Doeling resided at Bordulac until coming to Carrington in 1956. He has a Master's Degree from LIND, is an accountant and he has been clerk of the Carrington School District since 1958.

Mrs. Doeling attended Carrington High School and Walker Business College.

The Doelings have four children: Dee Rene, Paul, Linda and Mary Jo.

The family resides in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 21B
Dr. A.E. and Mattie (Von Brodhurst) Donker

Adrian Donker was born May 23, 1882 at Grand Rapids, Michigan. He graduated from the University of Michigan. Dr. Donker married Mattie Von Brodhurst at Austin in August 1909.

In 1914 he began his medical practice in Sykeston, after several years at Goodrich. In 1924 the family moved to Carrington.

They were the parents of three children: Marguerite, Dorothy and Aldrich.

Mrs. Donker died in June 1925. She is buried at Austin, Minnesota. Son Aldrich drowned on June 25, 1925‑ at age 10.

In 1928 Dr. Donker was married to Helen Kramer of Harvey.

Dr. Donker died July 29, 1957 and is buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 21B
Joe and Kathyrn (Leonard) Doyle

Joe Doyle was born in March 1871 at New Marlbora, Massachusetts. He received his education in his native town and at a business college in Poughkeepsie, New York. He came to North Dakota in 1892 and after living in Grand Forks and Forgo came to Carrington in 1899, where he established a farm machinery business. He later dealt in real estate.

Mr. Doyle served in a number of political offices. In 1909 he was elected to the House of Representatives from the 32nd district, composed of Foster and Eddy counties. He served two terms. He was responsible for sponsoring and establishing a nonpartisan judiciary system.

He was married to Kathyrn Leonard of Sherbrooke, Quebec.

They had two daughters.

Mrs. Doyle died in June 1925. Mr. Doyle died in 1940.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 21B
S.D. and Adele (Hoover) Dunn

S.D. Dunn was born in New York on August 24, 1864. He grew up there. He learned his trade as a telegraph operator at Sauk Rapids, Minnesota.

He came to Mandan in 1881, then the end of the Northern Pacific Railroad. In 1883 he married Adele Hoover in Minnesota.

In 1894 he came to Carrington. He also worked for the Soo Line.

The couple had three children, Harry, J.T. and Jessie.

Mr. Dunn died in May 1927. Mrs. Dunn died in February 1928. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 22B
H.C. and Myrtle (McNelly) Duntley

Harry Duntley was born October 3, 1893 at Hutchinson, Minnesota. He came to North Dakota to be employed by the Great Northern Railway in 1909. Later he was employed in banks in Verendrye, Cathay and Carrington.

On September 27, 1916 he married Myrtle McNally at Walhalla.

Myrtle, born October 14, 1891 at Cavalier, attended the University of North Dakota. She was a school and piano teacher. She also played the pipe organ.

Mr. Duntley was instrumental in getting the first 4‑H clubs started in Wells and Foster Counties. He was a member of Kiwanis Club and active in other service clubs. He was especially active in bringing about the federation of the Methodist and Congregational churches in Carrington.

They had two sons Vernon and Warren.

Mr. Duntley died September 25, 1959. Mrs. Duntley died December 14, 1959. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 22B
Vernon and Dorothy (Reed) Duntley

Vernon Duntley, son of Harry and Myrtle McNally Duntley, was born at Verendrye, on August 14, 1918. He came to Carrington with his parents in 1927.

He served in World War II in England. After he was discharged, he entered the Northern Illinois School of Optometry in Chicago. He opened an office in Carrington in 1948. On September 7, 1946, he married Dorothy Reed of Carrington in Chicago.

The couple had three children: Craig, Dianne and Janelle.

He died March 23, 1961. He is buried at Carrington.

His widow and children now make their home in the state of Washington. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 22B
Charles and Elizabeth (Heine) Ebbert

The Ebberts came to North Dakota from Indiana in 1908. They lived on a farm until 1915 when they moved into Carrington.

Mr. Ebberts served as a rural mail carrier until 1945.

The Ebberts were married in Indiana in July 1893. The couple had five daughters: Elva, Edna, Ruth, Blanche, and Catherine.

The Ebberts were active in the Congregational and Federated church.

Mr. Ebbert died in 1945. Mrs. Ebbert died in 1969. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 22B
Arthur H. and Sarah J. (Darcy) Ebentier

Arthur Ebentier, born January 26, 1896 in Griggs County, received his education in Sutton, Cooperstown and the Dakota Business College in Forgo.

Sarah Darcy was born February 28, 1895 at Mazeppa, Minnesota and was reared at Detroit Lakes. She graduated from Sacred Heart Academy, Forgo, and Valley City Teachers College. She taught school before her marriage.

On July 1, 1920 she married Arthur Ebentier at Detroit Lakes. They lived in Grace City until they came to Carrington in 1926.

Mr. Ebentier worked for North American Creameries, served on the selective service board for 21 years, was county treasurer for two terms and served as city auditor. He was a veteran of World War I.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Ebentier were active in community affairs. They were members of the Sacred Heart Catholic Church.

They were parents of three children: Patricia, Mary Ellen, and James.

Mr. Ebentier died October 26, 1969. Mrs. Ebentier died September 8, 1981. They are buried in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 22B
Willis H.B, and Laura (Kelly) Eisenhuth

Willis Eisenhuth was born at Millburn, Pennsylvania in 1857. He came to North Dakota in 1882. He made a pre‑emption entry of the S.E. quarter of section 14 in Wyard Township in May 1883, immediately after coming to Carrington.

He was engaged in farming, also in business. He had a fine store in Carrington and did a good business.

He was the first coroner appointed in Foster County.

He was married to Laura Kelly, a schoolteacher and educator. She also served as State Superintendent of Schools.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 22B
George and Ann (Peterson) Engstrom

George Engstrom was born at Aitkin, Minnesota, September 19, 1890. He was a traveling salesman and operated hotels in Forgo and Grand Forks before coming to Carrington in 1946 to manage the Buchanan Hotel.

George Engstrom served in World War I. He was prominent in the Kiwanis and Junior Chamber of Commerce. He took an active interest in the Boy Scouts. He served as Mayor of Carrington.

In 1950 Mr. Engstrom married Ann Peterson, he died in May 1960.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 22B
James L. and Charlotte (Pulst) Erickson

James Erickson was born June 4, 1938 at Carrington to Lloyd and Blanche Bijold Erickson.

He married Charlotte Pulst at Carrington. Charlotte was born in February 1942.

They have three children: Bradley, Cindy, and Sherri.

James is a J.I. Case dealer in Carrington. He also serves on the city council.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 22B
Robert F. and Linda (Eide) Erickson

Robert Erickson, son of Lloyd and Blanche Bijold Erickson, was born in Carrington on February 28, 1941.

He married Linda Eide on July 25, 1970 at Carrington. Linda was born October 2, 1945 at Moorhead to the Bert Eides.

They have four children: John, Steven Susan, and Michel.

Robert is a J.I. Case dealer in Carrington.

Both Robert and Linda are college graduates.

Linda taught school before her marriage, .

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 22B
Edward and Margaret (Hogan) Fandrich

Edward Fandrich, the son of Samvel and Charlotta Fandrich was born at Goodrich on February 21, 1920.

On December 27, 1944 he married Margaret Hogen at New Rockford, who was born at Duluth, Minnesota on September 24, 1918. She came to New Rockford with her parents.

The Fandrichs live on a farm in Carrington Township.

They had seven children: James, Janet, Fay, Dennis, Gail, Marvin and Cletus.

The family is active in church and community activities.

Mr. Fandrich died January 9, 1982. He is buried at the Carrington Cemetery.

Mrs. Frandrich continues to live on the farm.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 22B
G.L. and Martha (Morris) Farnham

Gardner Farnham was born November 5, 1860, at Libertyville, Illinois. He came to Carrington in 1884 to accept a position in Mr. Meecham's Bank of Carrington. Later he was engaged in a mercantile business in partnership with Richard Tenborg. He was also associated with Charles Davidson. In 1887 he married Martha Morris.

The couple had 2 children, Glen and Doris.

The Farnhams later moved to Spokane; when he retired they moved to California. Mr. Farnham died in 1943.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 22B
Kenneth and Violet (Gwynn) Ferguson

Kenneth Ferguson, son of Kenneth and Ingeborg Elton Ferguson, was born in Rosehill Township on January 21, 1903.

On February 27, 1928 he married at Carrington Violet Gwynn, the daughter of Carl and Ada Pattesary Gwynn, born February 16, 1908 at Bordulac.

Mr. Ferguson was employed as a bookkeeper for many years at North American Creameries.

The couple had three children: James, Eugene and Lorraine.

Mr. Ferguson died October 4, 1979. He is buried at Carrington.

Mrs. Ferguson resides in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 23B
Joseph and Marie (Dzuick) Firlus

Both Joseph Firlus born in 1857 and Marie Dzuick born on November 1, 1864, were German natives. They were married in Germany October 23, 1883.

They came to Carrington in January 1903 where Joe was blacksmith for many years.

They had four children: Mary, Pauline, Anna and Rosie.

Mrs. Firlus was a lover of flowers and found great pleasure in her garden.

Mrs. Firlus died in May 1945 and her husband in 1941.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 23B
Rose Firlus

Rose Firlus was born October 27, 1906 in Carrington, North Dakota. She was a daughter of Joseph and Marie Dzuick Firlus.

Rose is quite well known as she was a waitress in Carrington restaurants and cafes for a number of years.

Rose died April 2, 1983, in Carrington. She never married.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 23B
Clifford and Jannette (Klusman) Flegel

Clifford Flegel, son of Mr. and Mrs. Reynhold Flegel, Jamestown, North Dakota, was born in McIntosh County, attended Dickson State Teachers College, enlisted in the United States Army and served three years during World War II. He graduated from Bismarck Junior College, entered the life insurance business, married Jeannette Klusman, and settled in Carrington in 1949, beginning a career in the insurance and real estate business and owns the Carrington tree farm. He served as president of the Jaycees and the Chamber of Commerce in 1959. He instrumented the beginning of the Foster County Historical Society and organized the North Dakota 7th Cavalry Regiment and formed a local C company, Cavalry unit in Carrington. He is an active member in the American Legion, Veterans of Foreign Wars and was appointed Foster County Veterans Service Officer in 1959.

Jeannette Flegel, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. C.C. Klusman, deceased, New Salem, North Dakota, was born in Morton County, graduated from New Salem High School, attended North Dakota State University, entered Bismarck Hospital School of Nursing and graduated from Bismarck Junior College, Bismarck. She practiced nursing at Carrington Hospital and is director of nurses at Golden Acres Manor.

Son, Daniel Craig Flegel, was born April 14, 1950. He graduated from Carrington High School in 1968, attended Minot State Teachers College, Minot. He enlisted during the Vietnam era and served two years. He graduated from North Dakota State University, horticulture. Daniel married Virginia Ruth Barka, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Howard Barka, Minot, December 22, 1972. They have one daughter, Jessica Carly Flegel, born September 2, 1981. He is employed with Chem-Lawn Company and reside at 77 East‑1420 South, Farmington, Utah.

Son Thomas Jay Flegel was born January 21, 1952, graduated from Carrington High School in 1970, graduated from North Dakota State University, Grand Forks, business administration. He entered Huntington Bible College, Huntington, . Indiana, Master of Divinity and is serving as pastor of Grove Park United Brethren church. He married Janet Kathleen Yockey, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Ernest Hockey, Bremen, Indiana, June 19, 1976. They have one son, Joshua Thomas Flegel, born September 8, 1981. They reside at 1011 ‑ East 26th Street, Muncie, Indiana.

Daughter, Nancy Louise Flegel was born February 21, 1961. She graduated from Carrington High School in 1979 and from Jamestown College in 1983, music education.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 23B
Edward and Irene (O'Donnell) Foley

Irene O'Donnell, the daughter of Thomas and Jane O'Donnell, was born June 22, 1888. She came to Carrington with her parents as a child. Irene married Edward Foley at Jamestown in 1915.

Mr. Foley died July 24, 1962. Mrs. Foley died February 3, 1973. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 23B
Lester and Florence (Posey) Footitt

Lester Footitt, son of Albert and Nina Hallwachs Footitt, was born on June 4, 1914 at Carrington. He married Florence Posey. Florence was born October 4, 1914 at Revello, South Dakota, to Dick and Carrie Lasher Posey.

The couple had three girls Joanne, Sandra, and Suzanne.

Mr. Footitt farmed and was a potato grower for a number of years.

Mrs. Footitt operated a small lunchroom for several years; and has been employed at the hospital.

The Footitts have lived in Carrington all their lives.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 23B
Charles and Flora (Steele) Fornshell

Charles Fornshell was born in Minnesota on January 1, 1885. He came to North Dakota to work as a farm laborer.

On August 10, 1906 he married Flora Steele. She was born in Missouri on August 15, 1890. The couple farmed in the Barlow area for several years before buying a farm in the Carrington area.

The couple had five children: Iona, Curtis, Coyle, Amelia and Elaine.

Mr. Fornshell died in 1953. Mrs. Fornshell died March 24, 1967. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 23B

LaVerne and Marlys (Moe) Fornshell

LaVerne Fornshell was born at Carrington on January 31, 1936 to Coyle and Edna Vollmers Fornshell.

On December 5, 1953 he married at New Rockford Marlys, the daughter of Julius and V. Shroyer Moe who was born at New Rockford on August 31, 1934.

The couple farm in Carrington Township. They have seven children: Vicki, Michael, Steve, Ronald, Donald, Gail and Timothy.

Mrs. Fornshell is a member of Homemakers and is a Sunday school teacher.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 23B
Lee G. and Edna (Fandrich) Fornshell

Lee Fornshell was born August 1891 at Hower Lake, Minnesota. He came to North Dakota as a young man with his parents. Edna Fandrich was born at Goodrich on‑ March 2, 1908. They were married at Jamestown on June 29, 1929.

Mr. Fornshell worked for the highway department, he also drove the fuel wagon of Ober Oil Company. He bought land in Rose Hill Township on section 24 where the family lived for several years until moving into Carrington in 1945. Mr. Fornshell served in the Army Hospital Corps during World War I.

The Fornshells had five children: Leo, Betty, Dorothy, James and Thomas.

Mr. Fornshell died August 12, 1976 and Mrs. Fornshell on December 26, 1971. They are buried in the Carrington cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 23B
Michael and Teresa (Laber) Fruhwirth

Michael Fruhwirth was born at St. Andrea, Austria on August 14, 1885. He came to the Sykeston area in 1912.

He married at Sykeston on October 12, 1920 Teresa Laber, born July 26, 1898 at St. Andrea, Austria to Matt and Elizabeth Laber. She came to the Sykeston area with her parents in 1904.

They farmed at Sykeston until 1940 when they moved to the Carrington area. They retired to Carrington in 1952.

The Fruhwirths were the parents of five children: John, Kenneth, William, Alfred and Mary (Mrs. James Fornshell of Hurdsfield).

Mr. Fruhwirth died February 14, 1974. Mrs. Fruhwirth died November 16, 1974. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 23B
Leon and Lucia (Nelson) Galehouse Sr.

Leon Galehouse was born July 24, 1869, at Danville, Illinois to James E. Mary Gohn Galehouse. He came to Carrington in 1883 with his parents. His father came to manage the Kirkwood Hotel.

Leon secured a position at the Warren Drug Store. The store had been established by Willis H.B. Eisenhuth in 1883. After working in the store for two years, he bought the business and operated the store until 1938 when he retired due to poor health. His son Leon Jr. then took over the business.

Mr. Galehouse married Lucia Nelson on August 29, 1903 at Carrington. Lucia was the daughter of Thomas and Sarah McHenry born at St. Charles Minnesota on September 6, 1885.

There were three children Mary Elizabeth, Leon Jr. and Virginia.

Mr. Galehouse died June 10, 1941. Mrs. Galehouse died May 17, 1973. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 24B
Leon and Thelma (Bonderud) Galehouse
Leon Galehouse, son of Leon and Lucia Nelson Galehouse was born December 25, 1906, at Carrington. He was a graduate of North Dakota State University with a degree in pharmacy.

On July 13, 1940, he married Thelma Bonderud. Thelma was the daughter of Olaf and Ella Silseth Bonderud. She was born at Carrington.

The Galehouses had four children: Omar, Leon III, Pamela and Jane.'
Mr. Galehouse lived in Carrington all his life and operated the Galehouse Drug Store until he retired in 1975. He was a 50-year member of the Kappa Phi, Pharmaceutical Fraternity, member of the Masons, and the El Zagel Shrine.

Mr. Galehouse died on March 29, 1981. He is buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 24B
Elias and Mary (Hamilton) Garber (Rosella Stair Garber)

Elias Garber was born May 4, 1855, at Dayton, Ohio. He was married to Mary F. Hamilton on May 24, 1876. The couple had two children: Samuel and Nettie (Irons). Mary Garber died April 5, 1886.

On March 5, 1888, Mr. Garber married Rosella Stair. They had two children, Lawrence and Edith (Ober).

Elias Garber died April 28, 1925. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 24B
Jack and Charlotte (Lacey) Garrett

Jack Garrett was born January 12, 1903, to Henry and Minnie Hewitt Garrett.

Charlotte Lacey, daughter of Jesse and Laura Hurd Lacey, was born August 17, 1904, at Big Sandy, West Virginia. She came to North Dakota with her parents in 1913.

The couple had two children: Lyle and Jaqueline.

They lived on farms in both Wells and Foster counties. They sold the farm in Longview Township and moved to Carrington in 1969.

Jack has served as police and deputy in Foster County for 35 years.

Charlotte was a schoolteacher for 24 years and later worked as desk clerk at the Chieftain Motor Lodge. She retired in 1974.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 24B
Charles R. and Clara (Mover) Getty

Charles Getty was born July 14, 1860, at Orangeville, Pennsylvania. He lived in Pennsylvania until 1885 when he moved to Shelby, Michigan.

In 1887 he married Clara Mover. They came to Carrington in 1895.

Clara Mover was born April 14, 1868.

They had four children: Chester, Henry, Nathan and Thelma.

Mr. Getty was a carpenter by trade.

Their son, Chester, and his wife died during the flu epidemic leaving several small children, which the C. R. Getty's raised.

The Gettys were active in the Odd Fellow and Rebekah Lodges.

Mr. Getty died March 27, 1926. Mrs. Getty died October 2, 1948. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 24B
David D. and Dorothy (Bonderud) Gilbert

Dorothy Bonderud was born in Carrington on September 27, 1925, to 0. 0. Bonderud and Ella Silseth Bonderud.

By a previous marriage, Dorothy had two children: Christine and Bradford Mosely.

Dorothy grew up in Carrington but has lived in California for several years.

She is now married to David Gilbert. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 24B
Levi and Isa (Harding) Graham (Charlotta Gilbertson Graham)

Levi Graham was born March 16, 1889, in Indiana. He came to North Dakota in 1898 with his parents, the David Grahams.

On October 25, 1910, Levi married Isa Harding. Isa was born May 29, 1886, to the Albert Hardings.

The couple farmed the various areas in Foster County and later was employed by the Archie Campbell Road Construction Company. In 1959 the couple retired and moved into Carrington.

The couple had six children: Curtis, Vera, Norma, Evelyn, Nellie and Shirley.

Isa Harding Graham died February 23, 1973. She is buried at Carrington.

On October 2, 1974, Levi Graham married Charlotta Gilbertson Graham. They make their home in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 24B
N. A. Graves Sr.

Nathan A. Graves Sr. was born in Crawfordsville, Indiana, in 1870. He first came to North Dakota in 1891, but returned to Indiana a year later. He came back to North Dakota to establish a permanent home in 1897. He married Myra Jane Hollister in 1901, who came to Carrington from Austin, Minnesota, to work for C. H. Davidson. Mr. Davidson founded the bank, which later became the First National Bank.

Three children were born to the Graves family. Clare, who died as a child, Lester and Albert (N. A. Jr.). The Graves built in 1910, the house which still stands at 612 Main Street.

When Mr. Graves first came to Carrington, he was a barber. Later he went into partnership with W. F. Moore in the real estate and farming business. They built and developed what was known as "The Sterling Farm" one mile east of Carrington in Carrington Township on Section 16. The farm became a showplace, and was also developed to prove the value of diversified farming raising corn, purebred horses cattle, hogs and sheep. They also owned and operated a seed cleaning plant, and cooperated with North Dakota Agricultural College in experimental farm work. 

The real estate business also took Moore and Graves into Canada.

Mr. Graves died in 1932 and Mrs. Graves died in 1963. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Lester Graves born in 1906 married Margaret Pederson and resides in Spokane.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 24B
N. A. Graves Jr.

Nathan Albert Graves Jr. was born September 12, 1908, to N. A. and Myra Graves in Carrington. N. A. (Bud) grew up and received his schooling in Carrington. He worked for International Harvester Machine Company both in Carrington and Fargo. He was in the certified seed potato business and was part owner and manager of Graves‑Noraker International Agency for 23 years, until he retired. He served in the army for 4 years during World War II.

Mr. Graves married Clara Prestbo in 1942. Clara was employed at the Foster County Bank for many years. She served as Financial secretary for the Federated Church for 11 years. She died in 1966 as the result of a car mishap. Mr. Graves built and donated to the city the "Clara Graves Memorial" building located on the corner of Central Avenue and Main Street block.

On November 15, 1972, Mr. Graves married Elva Prestbo. He died May 1, 1981, in Phoenix, Arizona and is buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 24B
William and Mary (Morgan) Griffith

William Griffith was born in Wisconsin on November 23, 1868. In 1899 he married Mary Morgan. The couple came to Carrington in 1908. Mr. Griffith was associated in business with Walker and Company hardware and furniture store for a number of years. In 1921 Mr. Griffith moved to Melville to operate a hardware store.

The couple had two children: Lura and Earl. Both the daughter and son preceded their father in death.

He died in 1952. The family is buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 25B
Wilbur and Irene (Higley) Grover

Wilbur Grover was born at Elbow Lake, Minnesota on February 4, 1884. A carpenter he lived in Hurdsfield before coming to the Carrington area in 1915. Mr. Grover married Irene Higley at Hurdsfield on July 20, 1908.

The couple had six children: Louise, Virginia, Betty, Bonnie, LaVern and Duane.

Mr. Grover died December 5, 1968 and is buried at Carrington.

Mrs. Grover is a resident of Golden Acres Manor.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 25B
Peter and Alice (Werner) Gudmundson

Peter Gudmundson was born September 13, 1928, at Mountain, North Dakota. He was married to Alice Werner at Cavalier. Alice was born at Cavalier on June 18, ‑1929. ‑

The couple operated the Coast-to-Coast Store in Cavalier for ten years before coming to Carrington in 1972. They purchased the Coast-to-Coast Store in Carrington and operated the store for seven years.

The Gudmundsons had two sons, Peter and John.

By a previous marriage Alice had two sons, Richard and Robert Thurston. Mr. Thurston died November 17, 1954.

The Gudmundsons were active in community affairs.

Mr. Gudmundson died December 19, 1978. He is buried at Cavalier.

Mrs. Gudmundson resides in Carrington. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 25B

Mervin and Marie (Carry Gussiaas 
Mervin Gussiaas, son of Andrew and Thea Edwardson Gussiaas, was born at Carrington on November 15, 1928. He married Marie Carr on December 24, 1956 at New Rockford. Marie was born at Carrington on February 6, 1933 to Ed and Irene Theis Carr.

The couple have four children: Kevin, Karen, Roger and Kathleen.

The family lives on Section 3 in Carrington Township.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 25B
Herman and Eleanor (Wild) Hafner

Herman Hafner, son of Ben and Rose Nolz Hafner was born November 28, 1916, at Parkston, South Dakota.

Eleanor Wild was born May 4, 1916 at Sykeston to Joseph and Anna Lindmyer Wild.

Herman and Eleanor were married June 11, 1946. They had five children, Paul, Shirley: Darlene, Albert and Judy.

Herman Hafner died after being struck by a car in 1951. Son Paul, died in an automobile accident in 1957. Mrs. Hefner lives in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 25B
Randy M, and Henrietta (Hannig) Hagen

Randy M. Hagen, born January 23, 1959, to Virgil and Darla Hagen, Sheyenne, North Dakota He went to Sheyenne High School and also attended Valley City State College.

On October 6, 1979, he married Henrietta J. Hannig, born August 3, 1960, daughter of James E. and June Hannig Sr., Valley City, North Dakota.  She attended Oriska High School.

In July 1979, Randy moved to Carrington and worked at a seed company. In December, 1980, Randy started work for Seed Tec International, Inc. and is presently employed with them.

Henrietta has been employed with the Foster County Independent the past three years.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 25B
Reinhold and Lydia (Leich) Hager (Amelia Kold Hager)

Reinhold Hager was born in Russia on June 1, 1888. He came to the Cathay area in 1903. He was employed in the area for several years. He married Lydia Leich, who died in 1932. They had six children:‑ Benjamin, Gideon, William, Herman, Leona and Ida.

In 1933 he married Amelia Kold at Jamestown.‑She and a daughter, Mildred, survive.

Mr. Hager died June 5, 1960. He is buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 25B
John A. and Addle (Pease) Hale

John Hale was born in Wisconsin on February 8, 1864. He lived in St. Paul until he came to North Dakota in 1882. In 1883 he came to the Carrington area to farm. He also operated a steam-threshing rig, as well as being interested in raising cattle.

In 1891 he married Addie Pease; she, too, had been born in Wisconsin.

The couple had three children: Ruth, Leslie and Harry.

Mr. Hale died in May 1901.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 25B
Allen R. and Edna (Thurston) Hall

Allen (Pat) Hall was born at Carrington on December 8, 1889, to the George Halls. He attended the Carrington schools. He enlisted in Company F‑second Infantry of the North Dakota National Guard. He was called to active duty in World War I serving in France. He was discharged in May 1919.

On June 24, 1919, he married Edna Thurston at Carrington. Edna came to Foster County in 1902 from Wisconsin with her parents, the W. E. Thurstons. She attended the Carrington schools. Mrs. Hall served as deputy County treasurer for a number of years; also as treasurer. Mr. Hall served as County Sheriff and also as a city police for a number of years.

The Halls had three children: Edith, Allen Jr. and William. Both sons served in the armed services during World War II. Allen Jr. was in the Air Force and William was in the Navy.

Mr. Hall died February 1, 1962.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 25B
Edna Hallberg

Edna Hallberg was born on November 28, 1892, in Pleasant Valley Township (Longview). She was the daughter of John and Christina Hallberg. She received her education in the Longview and Carrington schools and Valley City Teacher's College. Miss Hallberg taught for one year at Bisbee and joined the Carrington school system in 1919, retiring in 1961 after 41 years service. During her long tenure as sixth grade teacher she had missed only one‑half day of school.

Her dedication to her work earned her the American Legion Auxiliary Valley Forge Freedom Foundation Award for her outstanding work in teaching.

In 1950 she was chosen North Dakota Teacher of the Year.

Miss Hallberg died October 11, 1966. She is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Her father John Hallberg died in 1916 and her mother in 1950.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 25B
Joseph Hamel Sr.

Joseph Hamel Sr. lived in Quebec until 1870 when he moved to Houghton, Michigan, where he married Margaret Perkins of Houghton in 1879. They came to Carrington on one of the first trains to arrive in 1883.

He came to homestead and filed on the South 1/2 of Section 14 in Haven Township but he learned that workers were needed on the railroad, he applied for work on the Northern Pacific. He worked for the railroad for forty years, serving as section boss part of the time and retired in 1923.

Two children: Amelia and Joseph Jr. were born in Michigan. They were the parents of fourteen children.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 25B
Joseph and Eva (Adams) Hamel Jr.

Joseph Hamel was born in Michigan on March 17, 1882, to Joseph and Margaret Perkins Hamel. He came to Carrington with his parents in 1883. He lived in Carrington for 45 years. He was associated with the Livestock Meat and Produce Company, served as mayor and held other municipal offices. On June 15, 1903, he married at Carrington, Eva Adams, the daughter of Enoch Adams. The Hamels were the parents of seven children: Henry, Albert, Fay, Josephine, Virgil, Melvin and Molly.

Mrs. Hamel died and is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

In 1939, Mr. Hamel married the Rev. Pearl Perrine, the pastor of the Carrington Nazarene Church. In 1945 they moved to Pasadena, California.

After Mrs. Hamel died in 1962, Mr. Hamel made his home with their daughter Cheryl March. '
Mr. Hamel died on March 17, 1976.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 25B
William and Myrtle (Mosey Brecelyn) Hanlon

William Hanlon was born January 31, 1889, at Osakis, Minnesota. He came to Dover community in 1928 and became owner and operator of the elevator known as the Hanlon Grain Company.

He married Mrs. Myrtle Bracelyn (nee Mosey) on August 17, 1956, born August 30, 1884, at Pawnee City, Nebraska. She married Henry Bracelyn in 1903 and they had one daughter, Dorothy. After living in Nebraska, Myrtle came to Ryder, North Dakota in 1908 and to the Dover community in 1928. She was active in various community organizations and was a 4‑H leader for 28 years.

The couple moved into Carrington in 1963.

Mr. Hanlon died on April 10, 1964. Mrs. Hanlon on November 4, 1965.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 26B
Lloyd and Edith (Olson) Hanson

Lloyd Hanson was born October 12, 1916, to James and Emma Sommars Hanson of Turtle Lake. He married at Carrington, August 2, 1941, Edith Olson, born July 11, 1915, the daughter of Isak and Sophie Kallberg Olson of Wells County.

The couple have one son, Gary.

Lloyd served in the army during World War II. He was employed at the Carrington post office for many years until he retired. Edith did secretarial work the last seventeen years at the Carrington school.

They are now retired and continue to make their home in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 26B
Lydia Hanson

Lydia (Lyd) Pepple was born near Martin, North Dakota. She attended high school at Denhoff and Valley City State Teacher College. She taught school before her marriage to Emil C. Wahl at McClusky on March 4, 1933. .

They had two children: Dewey and Constance. Emil Wahl died in 1960.

Lyd worked in the McClusky post office for 29 years, the last 3 1/2 years as postmaster. Mrs. Hanson has been active in the affairs of the communities as well as statewide. She is treasurer for the Foster County Centennial Board. She has served as state president of the American Legion Auxiliary, also National Chairmanship. She has been state president of the National Federation of Music Club. Has served as chairman of band mothers, bridge club, County Homemakers Council, bowling league, Fine Arts Club, Heart Fund and served on church council.  She was Worthy Matron of Center Chapter No. 62 of the Order of the Eastern Star.

Lydia Wahl and Norman Hanson were married June 1, 1969. They reside in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 26B
Martin and Evelyn (Pierce) Hanson

Martin Hanson was born at Barlow on August 21, 1909, the son of Peter M. and Serina Hanson, 1891, settlers of Estabrook Township. In 1934 he married Evelyn Pierce, born July 18, 1911, the daughter of Sam Pierces of Juanita. The Hansons lived in Carrington where he was employed at the Shamrock Bar. They were the parents of three children: Marlin, Dianne and Darlene.

Mr. Hanson died in June 1959. Mrs. Hanson died just five days later in July 1959. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 26B
Norman H. Hanson

Norman Hanson was born at Mayville, North Dakota in 1914. He attended schools there and graduated from the Mayville State Teachers College in 1935. Mr. Hanson taught in several schools in the state in Dawson, Sanborn, Harvey, McClusky, and Carrington. He spent thirty years in the teaching profession and superintendent at Carrington Public Schools from 1947 to 1966. He has a Masters degree in education from the University of North Dakota.

During World War II he served as a chemist in a munitions plant in Kankakee, Illinois, and in 1943 enlisted in the Navy as a commissioned officer. After a brief stay at Cornell University he spent the rest of the war as an officer on the destroyer U.S.S. Howorthy.

He married Selma Bjornsrud of Sanborn, born October 25, 1913, the daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Mads Bjornsrud of Sanborn. They had two daughters: Bonnie and Beverly, she died May 13, 1966.

Mr. Hanson was Superintendent of the Carrington Schools when an addition to the grade school and the new high school was built. From December 1966 until December 1979, he served as loan officer, insurance salesman, real estate salesman and as a vice president of Foster County State Bank.

He was active in many capacities in the community serving as president of the Trinity Church board, the Chamber of Commerce, Kiwanis and commander of Legion Post No. 25. He has also served on district, regional and state boards of the American Legion. He is a member of the Veterans of Foreign Wars. In 1978 he was elected Mayor of Carrington.

On June 1, ‑1969, he married Lydia Pepple Wahl at McClusky.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 26B
Victor W. and Jessie Mae (McLeod) Hanson

Victor Hanson was born June 17, 1901, to Peter M. and Anna Blomquist Hanson in Rolling Prairie Township.

He married Jessie Mae McLeod, who was born at Redwood Falls, Minnesota, on April 25, 1898, to Alexander and Louisa Payne McLeod.

The Hansons had three girls, Fern, Marlys and Jean.

The family moved to Glenfield in 1929, where Mr. Hanson farmed, maintained roads. He delivered mail every other day. Later he served as deputy sheriff for eastern Foster County. In 1937 he was elected sheriff‑serving for four years. He became a highway patrolman in 1941, served for 25 years and retired in 1966.

After he retired he operated a coin launder mat from 1966 to 1977. He presently is serving as city municipal judge in Carrington.

Mrs. Jessie Hanson died on April 25, 1962. She is buried at Carrington.

On October 16, 1965, Mr. Hanson married Blythe Nord Marcussen at Mandan. Blythe Hanson died in 1981, and is buried at Enderlin.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 26B
Robert W. and Ella Mae (Anderson) Hargrave

Robert Hargrave was born August 23, 1883, in Madrid, New York. He graduated from the Madrid High School and attended business school.

He worked in banks in several towns in North Dakota before coming to Carrington in 1913. In Carrington, he was cashier at the First National Bank.

On June 24, 1917, he married Ella Mae Anderson at Morris, Minnesota. Ella Mae was born at Morris on March 26, 1890.

The couple had two children: Robert and Peggy.

In 1926, Mr. Hargrave joined the Carrington Motor Company. In 1937 he formed his own company, which he operated until he sold it in 1955.

Mrs. Hargrave was a schoolteacher before her marriage; she came to Carrington in 1914.

Mrs. Hargrave served as City Librarian for many years. She served on the school board, the Community Betterment Committee and was Carrington's first polio fund drive chairman. She was active in the church and choir‑ she was a choir member for over sixty years.

In 1975; the City honored "Ella Mae" with a .Ella Mae Hargrave Day.

Mrs. Hargrave died December 18, 1981. Mr. Hargrave ‑died January 23, 1957. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 26B
Dr. O. J. and Edith (Thompson) Harmon

Dr. O.J. Harmon was born in Westbrook, Maine, August 23, 1866. He married Edith Thompson on November 8, 1897. He practiced dentistry in Carrington for twenty years. The Harmons had one daughter, Jean.

Dr. Harmon died August 24, 1925.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 26B
Jerry and Mary (Goggins) Harrington

The Jerry Harrington family lived in Michigan until 1882 when they came to Foster County. They settled on a farm southeast of Carrington at the time there were very few living in the area.

The family consisted of Mike, John, Julia, Maggie, Johanna and Kate.

Julia died in 1967 at the age of 90. She was the last surviving member of the family.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 27B
Harry T. and Anna (Firlus) Hayashi

Harry T. Hayashi was born in Tokyo, Japan April 24, 1894.

Anna Firlus was born in Carrington, North Dakota, February 1, 1904, the daughter of Joseph and Marie Dzuick Firlus.

Harry and Anna were married January 24, 1924, in Fargo, North Dakota.

Mr. Hayashi built up the beautiful Rainbow Gardens which was a tourist attraction in Carrington for many years. He also operated a restaurant.

They had six children, Harry, Frank, George, Alfred, Mary Ann and Robert. Mr. Hayashi died February 7, 1954 and is buried at Carrington. Mrs. Hayashi resides in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 27B
Signa Hazel

Signa Hazel was born June 16, 1894, in Sweden. In 1897 her family came to America, settling in South Dakota. Later they moved to Lidgerwood.

Signa Hazel came to Carrington where she operated the "Hazel Shop" for more than forty years.

She retired in 1978.

Signa died on January 5, 1978.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 27B
Henry Healy

Henry Healy was the son of Con and Katherine Cain Healy. He was born July 3, 1910, at Carrington where he spent the greater part of his life.

He attended the Carrington schools and graduated from high school with honors.

He spent much of his life as a bartender, receiving the "Bartender of The Year" award in 1972. He was a bartender in the Carrington area for forty‑four years. He was a storehouse of information about Carrington and Foster County on account of his phenomenal memory of people, dates and events.

He never married. He was a member of the Sacred Heart Catholic Church. He died February 23, 19$2 and is buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 27B
Andrew and Lenora (Lucas) Heilman

Andrew Heilman was born at Harvey on January 9, 1914 to Conrad and Lena Sanders Heilman. On January 27, 1945, he married Lenora Lucas at Towner. Lenora was the daughter of Jake and Christina Ballert Lucas of Harvey and was born December 10, 1911.

The couple has three children: Andrea, James and JoAnn.

The family came to Carrington in 1945. Mr. Heilman operates a barbershop and his son James works with him.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 27B
Andy and Charlotte (Covell) Heinitz

Andy Heinitz was born May 28, 1906, at Mountain Lake, Minnesota, the son of Andrew and Marie Steinley Heinitz. He married November 13, 1932 at Hillsboro, Charlotte Covell , the daughter of A. G. and Esther Butts Covell: who was born February 27, 1908, at Sykeston.

Mr. Heinitz is employed by the John Deere Implement Company.

Mrs. Heinitz is active in the Eastern Star and the church organizations, serving as church organist part of the time. She gave piano lessons for a number of years.

The Heinitz's have one son, Donald. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 27B
G. W. and Tenia (Gilbert) Heinmiller Mary (Herron Goodard) Heinmiller

On June 30, 1855, George Heinmiller was born in Indiana. He was married to Tenia Gilbert in 1883. They came to Carrington in 1897 where he was a carpenter and contractor. He was engaged in the building business until he became the County surveyor; an office he held until his death. Tenia Heinmiller died in 1898.

On October 1, 1903, he married Mrs. Mary Herron Goodard, a widow with six children. She had been born in Quincy, Illinois, on January 20, 1860. Mary Heinmiller was active in the Women's Christian Temperance Union.

Mary Heinmiller died in December 1924. Mr. Heinmiller died in 1933.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 27B
John J. and Esther Marie (Allan) Held

John J. Held was an automobile dealer in Carrington, having been in the implement business in several towns before coming to Carrington.

On October 11, 1916, John Held and Esther Allen were married at Fairmont. Esther, the daughter of John and Harriet Nicola Allan, was born June 28, 1896, at White Rock, South Dakota. The family later moved to Fairmont.

The Helds were active in the community.

Mrs. Held was active in the church and guild, Fine Arts Club and the Eastern Star.

The Helds had one son, John Allan.

Mrs. Held died September 10, 1979. She is buried at Carrington.

Mr. Held resides at the Holy Family Guest Home.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 27B
Fred and Lydia (Reddig) Helm

Fred Helm was born October 30, 1900, at Cathay. His parents were Fred S. and Kathrina Knoll Helm.

He married Lydia Reddig, the daughter of Gustave and Johanna Broschat Reddig, who was born May 14, 1902.

The couple lived on a farm near Cathay until 1952 when they moved to Carrington. In Carrington, Mr. Helm was in business with Massey Harris, later Nicolson and Carr Implement dealers. The couple had three children, Marvin, Vernamae and Doris.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 27B
John L. and Helen (Cole) Hendrickson

John Hendrickson was born on April 18, 1911, at Starkweather to John and Sena Erickstad Hendrickson.

He married on April 18, 1935 at Carrington, Helen Cole, born July 5, 1911, the daughter of Theron and Alice Hamel Cole. She served as deputy County Superintendent and taught school for several years.

Mr. Hendrickson was a postal clerk at the Carrington Post Office for 39 years until he retired on July 1, 1976.

The couple are the parents of two children: David and Joan.

They are active in the church and community affairs.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 27B
George and Amelia (Footitt) Herman

George Herman was born in Germany on January 29, 1874.

He came to the United States in 1893. He spent some time in Chicago and some time in Nebraska with an uncle.

In 1898 he came to Carrington. In a short time, he was operating a meat market. He was one of the founders of the Livestock, Meat and Produce Company and was associated with the business for many years.

He was a director in the Federal Land Bank.

On April 21, 1901, he married Amelia Footitt. They had four children: Russell, Fred, Christine and Mildred.

Mr. Herman died in May 1948. Mrs. Herman died in 1952. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 27B
William Edward and Margaret (Mason) Hewitt

Ed Hewitt was born at Sykeston on July 20, 1906. He lived in that area until coming to Carrington in 1942, where he worked as a bartender. On September 28, 1931, he married Margaret Evelyn Mason at Sykeston, who was born at Leal on July 26, 1907. She was employed at the Carrington Hospital for eleven years.

The Hewitts had three children: Doreen, Marlys and Allen. Allen lost his life in the service of his country during World War It.

Mrs. Hewitt died June 7, 1972. Mr. Hewitt died June 19, 1972. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 27B
Shearn and Arlene (Trullinger) Hirsch

Shearn Hirsch was born March 13, 1941, to George and Freida Hirsch.

He and Arlene Trullinger were married on February 23, 1963, at Carrington. Arlene, the daughter of Alan and Evelyn Kline Trullinger, was born September 6, 1943.

They have four children: Dean, Todd, Dawn and James. They also have two adopted children: Jessica and Kimberly.

Arlene is also employed as a bookkeeper and has been a beautician.

Shearn was employed at the radio station, KDAK at Carrington for over twenty years. He is presently employed at Central Steel Building and Construction.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 27B
O. I. Hjellum

Olav Iverson Hjellum was born in Underdahl, Sogn, Norway, on March 27, 1881. Belle Ingeborg Ohnstad was born June 17, 1889 at Aurland, Sogn, Norway. The couple were married December 24, 1905, at Valley City, North Dakota.

Mr. Hjellum left Norway to come to America the land of opportunity in 1899. He first settled in Valley City and later homesteaded in the Tioga area. He came to Carrington in January 1904 because it had become recommended to him as a good location. He opened his Tailoring and Cleaning business with a partner, Oscar Dahl, who remained in the business about a year. Mr. Hjellum had been employed in St. Paul and he brought bolts of cloth, trimmings and other materials necessary to tailoring. In 1905 dry cleaning was unknown, clothes were cleaned by washing in naphtha gas in a washtub as early as 1920. In 1935 he installed a dry cleaning machine. Because of health problems the dry cleaning business was sold about 1950 to Henry White, a son‑in‑law, and the Hjellum's daughter Lucille, both Mr. and Mrs. Hjellum continued working part time for over eight years. Both the Hjellums were expert tailors.

In 1909 the Hjellums decided to go back to Norway to visit relatives. Because they had become citizens in 1905 their visas only allowed them to stay two years. Their small daughter Lucille accompanied them. While in Norway son John was born. Mr. Hjellum worked with a former employer who had taught him the profession. Their daughter Mae was born several years later in Carrington. In 1927 the Hjellums adopted twin boys, Robert and Richard.

The Hjellums were active in the Methodist Church.

Some of their employees over the years were Andrew Lindelow, Margret Getty, Mrs. Wooten, Mrs. E. G. White, Anna Halaas and Mrs. Howard Wolfe. Mr. Hjellum died February 27, 1960 and Mrs. Hjellum died August 26, 1962. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 27B
Jeff and Cathy (Miller) Hjelseth

Jeff Hjelseth, son of Eilert and Lois Graham Hjelseth, was born at Carrington August 15, 1952. On March 9, 1974, he married Cathy Miller at Carrington. They are now divorced. She was born at Powers Lake on September 22, 1954, to Gary and Joyce Nelby Miller. Mrs. Hjelseth, a graduate of LIND, came to Carrington in 1959. She teaches classes of handicapped children in Carrington.

The Hjelseth have two children: Nathan and Sarah.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 28B
Martin and Olga (Johnson) Hjelseth

Martin Hjelseth was the son of Eilert Sr. and Elisa Johnson Hjelseth. He was born in Nordmore Township.

Olga Johnson was born January 20, 1903, at Cooperstown.

On December 20, 1926, she and Martin Hjelseth were married. The couple had six children: Elva, Orlo, Roger and Ruth, Joyce and Gene.

Mr. Hjelseth farmed for several years until he became a shop mechanic and overseer for a division of the state highway department. He served as Sheriff of Foster County for several years.

Olga Johnson Hjelseth died in 1937. She is buried at Kvernes Cemetery.

A few years later, Mr. Hjelseth married Ella Mae Hanson. Ella Mae also had several children by a former marriage. Ella Mae was born November 30, 1900.

She died in 1975.

Mr. Hjelseth lives in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 28B
John Charles and Eugenic (DeKay) Hoffert

J. Charles Hoffert was born at Havana, North Dakota, on June 15, 1887. He later lived in Iowa and received his education in Iowa and Minneapolis.

His first employment was in a bank in Wimbledon in 1908. In 1910 he came to Carrington as cashier at the Foster County State Bank; later he became president of the Bank. He was in the banking business for fifty-two years.

On February 27, 1916, he married Eugenic DeKay. Eugenic was born August 18, 1882 at Morris, Minnesota. She taught school in Carrington before her marriage.

The Hofferts were active in civic affairs. Mr. Hoffert was a charter member of the Kiwanis Club and Mrs. Hoffert was a member of the D.A.R.

The Hofferts had two children: John and Eugenic.

Mr. Hoffert died September 13, 1978 aged 91. Mrs. Hoffert, age 96, died January 1, 1981. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 28B
Gustav and Juliana (Missal) Hoffman

Both Gustav Hoffman and Juliana Missal were born in Poland. He on June 14, 1866 and she on June 23, 1872.

They were married in 1893 and came to America in 1898 at the invitation of friends. He proved up on his homestead in northern Stutsman County.

The Hoffmans had nine ‑children: Tillie, Henry, William, Martha, Daniel, Sally, Regina, George and Ernest.

Mrs. Hoffman died May 6, 1933 and was buried in the Longview Cemetery. Mr. Hoffman died January 1, 1955 and is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 28B
Harry and Hattie (Beaty) Hogue

Harry Hogue was born at Crawfordsville, Indiana February 4, 1848. A civil engineer, he came to Dakota in 1882 where he was a surveyor locating railway rights of way north from Carrington and west to Turtle Lake. In 1889 he established the Foster County Independent which he purchased from J. Morley Wyard. Wyard had called his newspaper the Carrington News. Hogue changed the name of the paper to the Independent but retained the volume numbering system started in 1883 by Wyard. He continued publishing the paper until 1897 or 1898, when the paper was sold to H.H. Palmer. Hogue was at least part time in the real estate business while running the newspaper and continued in that line of business in Carrington until 1910 when he moved with his family to Dickinson. He was also in the real estate business in that city.

He married at Carrington in 1890 Hattie, the daughter of A.R. Beaty. They had three children, two daughters and a son. Harry Hogue died at Dickinson July 22, 1931.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 28B
Benjamin and Alice M. (White) Holcomb

Ben Holcomb was born August 17, 1848 in Ontario. He also attended school in Michigan as well as Ontario.

On October 2, 1878 he married Alice White in Pennsylvania. Miss White had been raised in New York State.

The couple lived on a farm in Ontario for several years before coming to Dakota in 1882.

He came to North Dakota with two brothers and a friend, Mack and Elias and John Bort. The first winter, Ben went back to Canada and in the spring, brought his wife back here. The Holcomb brothers, with the aid of John Bort, planted trees. He is said to have planted 4,000 trees. He planted about 12 acres of seeds but only the boxelder and ash grew. He had the only trees in the area nearer than the Hawksnest.

The Holcombs had six children: Bessie, Creighton, Pearl, Lloyd, Chester and Charles.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 28B
Malcolm and Mary (Buchanan) Holcomb

Malcolm Holcomb was born in Ontario in December 1854. He came to North Dakota in 1881 and worked in the Casselton area. The next year 1882 he came to Foster County and took a homestead on Section 26, Carrington Township.

In 1896 he married Mary Buchanan, the daughter of John Buchanan Sr. They lived on a farm for a number of years and lived in town before moving to Alberta in 1921.

They were the parents of three children: Evelyn, Jemima and John.

Mr. Holcomb died in 1928.
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 28B
J.L. and Edith (Brumwell) Howe

John L. Howe was born in 1874.

Edith Brumwell, daughter of William and Martha Cassidy Brumwell, was born August 20, 1880 at Lakefield, Ontario.

She and J.L. Howe were married April 9, 1902. Mr. Howe was a grain buyer for a number of years, and was also associated with a lumber company before coming to Carrington.

The family came to Carrington in 1927 where Mr. Howe established the Carrington Lumber Company, which operated until 1942.

The Howes had five children: Clifton, Leonard, Eloise, Kenneth and Paul.

Mr. Howe died in 1942. Mrs. Howe continued to live in Carrington until her death June 14, 1973. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 28B
Marvin and Betty (Grabinger) Hoye

Marvin Hoye was born December 18, 1929. Betty Grabinger was born February 22, 1932. The couple was married November 26, 1951 at Windsor, North Dakota. The couple has seven children: Dennis, Geri, Kathy, Cindy, Andy, Jeff and Patti. The family moved to Carrington in 1966.

Mr. Hoye, on the line crew for Otter Tail Power Company, has been employed by Otter Tail for twenty‑four years.
Mrs. Hoye is optometric assistant to Dr. Tuhy in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 29B
John and Florence (Ober) Imler

John Imler was born in Pennsylvania on August 21, 1874. He came to North Dakota in 1896. Mr. Imler was a Spanish American War veteran.

' In 1901 he was married at Carrington, to Florence Ober, who was born in Pennsylvania on March 15, 1884. He was a carpenter by trade.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Imler were charter members of the Odd Fellow and Rebekah Lodges.

Mr. Imler died in August 1924. Mrs. Imler died June 2, 1974. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 29B
Robert and Eileen (Giesler) Jaff

Robert Jaff, son of Lawrence and Nellie Jaff, was born July 16, 1930, in Stutsman County. Eileen Giesler was born in Kidder County on July 5, 1937, to Arthur and Inez Nelson Giesler.

Robert and Eileen were married October 7, 1955, at Crystal Springs. They came to Carrington in 1962.

They had two children, Loren and Tami. The family was active in the Federated Church. Mr. Jeff died June 1, 1979, and is buried in Carrington, Eileen is the assistant activity director at Golden Acres Manor.

On August 14, 1981, she married Maynard Aultman at Carrington. They reside in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 29B
Edward Jakobsen

Dr. Edward Jakobsen and Mrs. Jakobsen came to make their home in Carrington in 1950.

They were originally from Latvia. They lived in Germany for 5 years before coming to this country.

Their son, Ivar, was born in Germany. They also have a daughter, Rita, born in Carrington.

Dr. Jakobsen was engaged in testing programs in several counties in North Dakota. He has been a practicing veterinarian in Carrington since coming here.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 29B
Ed A. and Mary (Smith) Johnson

Ed A. Johnson was born November 6 1888, at Enderlin. He grew up in Enderlin and Oakes. He came to Carrington in 1919 to open a laundry, which he continued to operate until 1944. On November 12, 1910, he married Mary Smith of Kensal, who was born in Wisconsin on September 18, 1890.

The couple had six children: none of which lived past child hood.

The Johnsons were active in the Odd Fellows and Rebekah Lodges.

Mr. Johnson served as city assessor, fire chief and president of the State Firemen's Association.

Mrs. Johnson died on May 8, 1956; Mr. Johnson in 1964. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 29B
Hilding and Esther (Snyder) Johnson

Hilding Johnson was born in Sweden on June 24, 1903. His parents were Jens and Ingrid Olson Johnson.

He married at Fargo on February 2, 1935.

Esther Snyder, the daughter of A.O. and Mary Miller Snyder, who was born in Nordmore Township, December 20, 1902.

The Johnsons came to Carrington to live in 1935.

Mr. Johnson was a Master Carpenter. He was active in the church, Kiwanis, Fire Department. He served on the Carrington Park Board.

Mr. Johnson died June 14, 1961. He is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Mrs. Johnson resides in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 29B
Robert C. and Annie (West) Jordan (Gussie Walter Jordan)

Robert C. Jordan was born April 11, 1853, at London, England, where he received his technical education. In 1874, he came to America, settling in Ottawa, Canada.

While living in Ottawa, he married Annie West. They had two daughters.

While in Ottawa he executed some of his most brilliant work as a contractor and was known throughout region of the Great Lakes and the Northwest.

In Carrington he built the Kirkwood Hotel, the first Foster County Courthouse and several fine houses.

Mrs. Annie Jordan died in 1900.

In 1905 he married Gussie Walter of Carrington. They had five children: Elizabeth, Robert, Bonnie, Niland and Nancy.

Mr. Jordan died April 13, 1916 in California.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 29B
William R. and Minnie (Rappuhn) Kerber

William R. Kerber and Minnie Rappuhn were married November 27, 1902. Minnie was born May 5, 1884, in Russia.

The couple had eight children: Elsie, Alma, Luella, Lauretta, Evelyn, William, Roland and Wardell.

Mrs. Kerber came to the United States with her parents in 1886. They lived in Wells County.

The Kerbers came to Carrington in 1918. After retiring they moved to Washington.

Mr. Kerber died in 1972. Mrs. Kerber died January 12, 1979. She is buried at Sultan, Washington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 29B
Harold and Marion (Rohrer) Kivley

Harold Kivley was born at Sisseton, South Dakota, on December 25, 1900. His parents were Gilbert and Malina Kaldahl Kivley.

Harold N.R. Kivley came to Carrington about 1927, as a dispatcher for the Otter Tail Power Company. He was an electrical contractor in Carrington until illness forced his retirement in 1968.

He married at Carrington December 16, 1934, Marion Rohrer, born March 4, 1910, in St. Paul the adopted daughter of W. R. Rohrer of McClusky and later Carrington. Mrs. Kivley served as police magistrate for nine years. She was active in the Federated Sunday School for years.

Mr. Kivley died in September 1, 1969. He is buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 29B
Harry M. and Margry (Holm) Knott

Harry Knott was born July 14, 1901, at Birstol, South Dakota. He attended Dunwoody Institute in Minneapolis and Worsham School of Mortuary Science in Chicago. On December , 1924, he married Margry Holm at Westport, South Dakota.

The Knotts came to Carrington in 1933, to manage the Robertson Funeral. Home, which he purchased later. Mr. Knott was active in community affairs, Masonic Lodge and the Federated Church.

Mrs. Knott had taught school, but music was her hobby. She gave piano and voice lessons for years. She was the choir director at the Federated Church.

They had two daughters: Natalie and Harriet.

Mrs. Knott died December 3, 1974. Mr. Knott died December 22, 1978. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 29B
John and Bessie (Jones) Konok

John Konok was born in Austria on July 6, 1894. He came to the United States from Canada as a young man.

He served in the United States Army Alaskan Division on the Aleutian Islands for a few years as a non‑combatant.

In Carrington he worked at various jobs and for the railroad. He did yard work for others while keeping his own yard and garden in perfect condition.

He married Bessie Leota Jones on December 4, 1923, at Moorhead. Bessie Konok can be remembered by many in town as one saw her almost daily selling greeting cards.

The Konoks had six children: Lee, Johnnie, Mary Ann, Edna, Emma and Donna.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 29B
Leo and Pauline (Firlus) Kranz

Leo Kranz, born in Germany, on April 22, 1888, was a master carpenter. He was one of the finishing carpenters on the Titanic, which sank in April 1912 after colliding with an iceberg in the North Atlantic on its maiden voyage from England to New York.

Mr. Krenz came to Canada in 1913, and the next year to Carrington.

On August 14, 1915, he married Pauline Firlus, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Joe Firlus. Pauline had been born in Oppelin, Germany, on June 15, 1886 and came to Carrington with her parents in 1902.

They had two daughters: Marguerite and Delores.

Mrs. Krenz died in October 1963. Mr. Kenz died April 4, 1976. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 30B
Howard and Myrtle (Andrews) Kriewald

Howard Kriewald and Myrtle Andrews were married January 28, 1930.

Myrtle, the daughter of Edward and Sophie Westad Andrews, was born November 15, 1904, at Carrington. She was a life‑long resident of this City.

The couple had four children: Beverly, Jean, Walter and Robert.

Mrs. Kriewald died January 28, 1973. Mr. Kriewald died in 1976. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 30B
James Nelson and Hattie (Chisholm) Kunkel

J. N. (Nets) Kunkel, was born at Osceola, Nebraska, on August 24, 1885. He came to North Dakota in 1890 by himself and his family didn't come to Fessenden until 1896. In 1908 he married Hattie Chisholm at St. Cloud, Minnesota. Mr. Kunkel served in the state legislature, as sheriff for nineteen years of Wells County and in the automobile business from 1917 to 1925 in Fessenden.

In 1925 the family moved to Carrington, where Mr. Kunkel gained prominence as a Ford dealer. In 1953 he gave up his position with the Ford agency. His only son, William, was his partner.

Mrs. Kunkel died January 17, 1963. Mr. Kunkel died April 20, 1972.  They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 30B
Thomas and Alice (Trodden) Lacey

Thomas Lacey was born December 12, 1849, in Tipperary. His parents died when he was 7 and his sister took him to England to live with her. In 1885 he came to America. For two years he was a steel worker in Pittsburg.

When he came west, he first settled in Jamestown, there he married Alice Trodden. Alice was born in England on May 12, 1861. She married Thomas Lacey in 1887.

The family moved to Carrington where Mr. Lacey was employed by the Northern Pacific Railway for thirty‑seven years.

The couple had six children: Edwin, John and Marie survived; three died as small children.

Mr. Lacey died in February 1927. Mrs. Lacey died in July 1930. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 30B
Vernus and Vivian (Silkey) Land

Vernus Land was born at Carrington on October 25, 1917, to the George Lands.

He married on September 22, 1941, at Fargo.

Vivian, the daughter of Henry and Emma Abraham Silkey, born at Carrington on August 18, 1919.

The couple made their home in Carrington Township. They had two children: Dennis and Diane.

Mr. Land died on September 18, 1953. He is buried at Carrington.

Later Vivian married Mr. Price. They had one daughter, Patty. Mr. Price is no longer living.

Vivian Silkey Price makes her home in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 30B
William D. and Mary (White) Land

William Denny Land was born in Kentucky on September 28, 1874. He married Mary White on June 5, 1895 at Irvington, Illinois. They came to Carrington from Indiana in 1916 and lived on a farm in Carrington Township until moving to Carrington in 1953.

The couple had ten children: Vernus, Homer, Harold, George, Virgil, Clyde, Eunice, Ruth, Mattie and Wilma.

Mr. Land died in 1957. He is buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 30B
Harold and Ann (Gullickson) Larson

Harold Larson, born at Viking, Minnesota on August 16, 1903 married Ann Gullickson, born in Canada on January 4, 1902. They lived at Thief River Falls, Minnesota until coming to Carrington in 1960.

They have three sons: Wallace, Steven and Michael. Mr. Larson has a plumbing and heating business.

They are active in the Odd Fellow and Rebekah Lodges and the Sons of Norway.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 30B
Thomas Edward and Margaret (McRae) Lawler

T.A. Lawler, born at Green Bank, Ontario on June 23, 1878, came to the United States in 1885. For a number of years, he lived in Ramsey and Towner Counties. He married Margaret McRae at Devils Lake on November 15, 1904, who was born in Ramsey County on September 1, 1883.

The Lawlers operated a bakery in Carrington from 1936 to 1941. Later Mr. Lawler was employed part‑time at the bakery until his retirement.

The Lawlers had seven children: Joseph, William, John, Robert, Leo, Ann and Peggy.

Mrs. Lawler died July 21, 1955, and Mr. Lawler on November 13, 1956. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 30B
Ludwig K. and Betsy (Arnegard) Lee

Ludwig Lee and Betsy Arnegard were married in November 1896, at Hillsboro.

Betsy Arnegard was born November 15, 1878, in Minnesota.

The family had 10 children: Llewellyn, Albert, Eldo, Eveline, Florence, Mae, Clara, Emma, Lillian and Mildred.

Mr. Lee is no longer living. Mrs. Lee died December 1, 1960. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 30B
Martin K. and Annetta (Arnegard) Lee

Martin K. Lee was born May 31, 1873, in Wisconsin. He came to Carrington in 1913. He married at Mayville, July 10, 1902, Annetta Arnegard, who was born in Minnesota on March 6, 1880, the daughter of Mr. and Mr. Ole Arnegard.

The Lees owned and operated a wholesale soft drink and bottling works in Carrington.

The couple had two children: Myrtle and Orando.

Mr. Lee died in June 1937. Mrs. Lee died December 20, 1965. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 30B
Joseph and Josephine (Flaning) Leppke

Joseph Leppke was born in 1872 in South Russia. In 1875 the family came to the United States and settled in Kansas. Mr. Leppke attended school at McPherson College in Kansas. He taught school for four years before becoming a farmer. He married Josephine Flaning in 1901 at Hillsboro, Kansas.

The family came to the Longview area in 1923 to settle on a farm.

The couple had six children: Bertha, Albert, Arnold, Clara, Harold and Roselle.

Mr. Leppke died August 22, 1927.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 30B
George and Mary Ann (Wenger) Liddle

George Liddle, son of George and Pauline Liddle, was born at Carrington on May 1907.

He married Mary Ann Wenger at Minot on April 29, 1946, the daughter of Enos and Addie Mary Wenger, she was born July 25, 1905.

George was custodian at the Post Office; also care taker at the cemetery for several years. 

He served in the armed services during World War II.

Mary Ann is active in church activities.

Mr. Liddle died on May 24, 1975. He is buried at Carrington. Mrs. Liddle continues to live in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 30B
Charles and Ellen (Hiedeman) Linderman

Charles Linderman was born at Carrington on September 15, 1944, the son of Harry and Pearl Aljets Linderman.

On June 15, 1968, he married Ellen Hiedeman at Wheaton, Minnesota. Ellen, the daughter of Raymond and Julia Fredricks Hiedeman was born March 8, 1948, at Breckenridge, Minnesota.

The Lindermans have three children: Kathleen, Wayne and Jana.

The family came to Carrington from Lincoln, Nebraska in June 1976. They are engaged in farming.

Ellen attended Moorhead State.

Charles has a Masters and Bachelors degree in Agricultural Engineering from NDSU.

The family is active in the Catholic Church, Farmers Union and the Democratic Party. Charles also is a member of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers. He is presently the president of the Foster County Farmers Union and a member of the Board of Directors of the Farmers Union Oil Company of Carrington.

The family resides in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 31B
Harry and Pearl (Aljets) Linderman

Harry Linderman was born at Valparaiso, Indiana, on June 20, 1890. He came to North Dakota with his parents C. B. and Ada Rands Linderman in the spring of 1897.

The family lived in Birtsell Township for a few years.

Harry bought a farm in Woodward Township just across the county line.

He married on June 28, 1934, at Carrington, Pearl Aljets, who was born March 9, 1907, in Wyard Township to George and Mabel Trullinger Aljets. Pearl taught school a number of years before her marriage.

The couple have four children: Margaret, Charles, Edwin and Kathleen.

The family moved to Carrington in 1950. They are active in the Federated Church, Farmers Union and Democratic Party and Senior Citizens. Pearl is also active in Federated Women's Club and the Rebekah Lodge.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 31B
Stanley and Irma (Brunko) Linderman

Stanley Linderman was born August 28, 1910 in Wells County to Charles and Ada Rands Linderman.

On June 25, 1939, he married Irma Brunko at Deer Creek, Minnesota.

Irma was born at Wadena on November 29, 1915, to Otto and Elizabeth Greb Brunko.

The couple lived in Wells County until 1941 when they bought a farm on Section 8 of Carrington Township, where they now reside.

They have two daughters: Sharon and Marleen.

Irma taught school before her marriage.

The family attends Trinity Lutheran Church. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 31B
Isaac and Dora (Harding) Loeppke

Isaac Loeppke, born October 12, 1890, at Tampa, Kansas to Edward and Elizabeth Toews Loeppke married Dora Harding, born near Sykeston on April 26, 1893, to Harry and Estella Cole Harding.

Isaac and Dora had three daughters: Ruth, Jean and Estella.

Mrs. Loeppke was the postmaster at Heaton for many years.

Mr. Loeppke was a dealer in hardware and lumber at Heaton, 

The couple retired in 1969 and came to Carrington, where they make their home.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 31B
Werner and Maude (Dunbar) Lutz

Werner Lutz, son of Thomas and Marie Liebig Lutz was born at Carrington on February 18, 1908. He married Maude Dunbar, daughter of Lee and Sarah Burns Dunbar, was born November 3, 1908, at Wauzeka, Wisconsin.

The couple farmed in the Glenfield area until moving to Carrington.

Mr. Lutz is employed by the Farmers Union and Mrs. Lutz teaches school.

They have five children, Gary, Lowell, Sandra, Douglas and Patricia. •

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 31B
Frank and Clara (Jason) Mann

Frank Mann was born May 1, 1887, at Girard, Illinois. On April 27, 1911, he married Clara Jason, born November 14, 1891, at Lacon, Illinois. When Mr. Mann first came to North Dakota, he was employed on ranches. In 1918 the family moved to Bordulac and in 1930 the family came to Carrington, where Mr. Mann as employed as superintendent of wastes department until 1960.

There were three children in the family: Clarence, Delbert and Marie, (Mrs. Wesley Kallberg).

Mr. Mann died September 9, 1967, and Mrs. Mann died in August 1973. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 31B
Merle and Ethel (Sullivan) Marcotte

Merle Marcotte was born at McHenry on September 1, 1910, to the Fred Marcotte's, married Ethel Sullivan, born May 12, 1907, at Lidgerwood to Hugh and Marie Sullivan.

Merle and Ethel were married January 24.

They had three children: Eugene, LaVonne and Colleen.

After Mr. Marcotte's death, Mrs. Marcotte moved to Carrington in 1967.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 31B
Thomas and Katherine (Lentz) McCarty

Thomas Cyril McCarty was born November 19, 1901, at Cicero, Indiana. Tomey McCarty, a mechanic worked at the Buick garage in Carrington for many years.

On July 9, 1941, he married Katherine Lentz at Carrington.

Katherine was the daughter of the William Lentz Sr.  She was born at Redfield, South Dakota on March 1, 1910.

The McCarty's had four children: Shirley, Thomas, Jerry and Sherry.

Mr. McCarty died November 27, 1979. He is buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 31B
David and Hazeldean (Baston) McCleery

David McCleery was born at Edmunds on April 2, 1907, to Ed and Mary Wheeler McCleery.

Hazeldean Baston was born January 3, 1911, at Blair, Oklahoma. Her parents were John and Allise Lee Zinn Baston.

They had three children: Davidean, Lillian and Geary.

They farmed in the Edmunds area until they retired and came to Carrington in 1973.

Mr. McCleery died April 20, 1982. He is buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 31B
Rev. N. E. and Lillian (Melam) McCoy

Noah E. McCoy was born in Logan County, West Virginia in about 1902. His life ambition, to become a "preacher", has been fulfilled. He came to North Dakota to serve in the Baptist Church at McClusky. There he met and married Lilliam Melam.

Reverend McCoy served in Carrington Baptist Church for several years before going to Jamestown. In Jamestown, the McCoys conduct religious services over the radio station each day. He also reports on hospital patients.

He has conducted services in many places in the central part of the state including the State Prison at Bismarck.

They have two children: Arva Dell and Noel.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 31B
Thomas and Mary Ellen (Crosby) McCreary Sr.

Thomas and Mary McCreary came to Foster County in 1886 from Pennsylvania. They settled on Section 20 in Carrington Township.

They had six children: Thomas, Hugh, James, Joseph, Lizzie and Ida.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 31B
Thomas and Minnie (Gast) McCreary

Thomas McCreary was born June 6, 1878, at Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. He came to North Dakota with his parents in 1882. The family homesteaded in the Bordulac area, and later settled on a farm near Carrington. Mr. McCreary was interested in growing trees. His son, Lyndon now owns and operates the farm.

Mr. McCreary married Minnie Gast on February 14, 1912. She was born in Germany on April 2, 1888. The couple had three sons: Lyndon, Otis and James.

Minnie McCreary returned to Iowa, coming back to Carrington in 1970. She was a Gold Star Mother, her son, James lost his life during World War II. She was also a member of the V.F.W. Auxiliary and the Rebekah Lodge. In 1942, Mr. McCreary married Lulu Nicholson.

She died in January 1972 and Thomas died on August 19, 1969. They are both buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 31B
Emil and Margaret (Rensimer) McMiller

Emil McMiller was born June 3, 1861, at Theresa, Wisconsin. He was married to Margaret Rensimer at Unity, Wisconsin. She died in 1900. The couple had five children: Blanche, Paul, Rosswell, Olive and Margaret. Mr. McMiller was a telegrapher and after being employed several places, he came to Carrington and was engaged by the Soo Line for twenty‑four years. He then went to Canada for a few years, returning here in 1919.

Mr. McMiller died in November 1932. 
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 32B
Dr. R. W. and Sara (Teigen) Meadows

Reuben Meadows was born at Thamesford, Ontario, on October 8, 1879. He graduated from the medical school at Western University at London, Ontario. In 1905 he opened a medical practice at Maddock and was there until 1911.

Dr. Meadows spent a few years as the director of the hospital at Medicine Hat. In 1915 he came to Sheyenne where he practiced medicine until 1929 and then spent two years in New Rockford, before he came to Carrington in 1931. He continued his practice until ill health forced him to retire.

On May 10, 1905, he married Sara Teigen at Maddock. Sara was born in Norway on July 11, 1878.

The couple had two children: Mayo and LaVerne.

Dr. Meadows died March 21, 1953. Mrs. Meadows died June 8, 1968. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 32B
Larry and Lise Metcalfe

Larry L. Metcalfe arrived in Carrington at the age of 18 on August 15, 1961. He began his first teaching position in the city on the 28th of that month. He taught sixth grade in the elementary school that first year replacing Ms. Hallbert, who had retired. The next year he was moved up to the eighth grade and was named Junior High basketball and track coach. Teaching was his only love until August 17, 1968, when he married Lise Susan Rousseau. Lise, a registered nurse began work at the Carrington Hospital that same year.

In 1969, the Metcalfe's moved to Grand Forks for one year where Larry attended LIND and Lise worked at Deaconess Hospital. Obtaining his B.S. degree in elementary education in 1970, the Metcalfe's moved back to Carrington until 1973 when Larry worked for an insurance company as a field man for one year. He missed teaching so much that he resigned that job after only one year and the family moved to Hettinger, where Larry taught Junior High English and history and coached basketball and football. Lise worked at the Hettinger Hospital.

In 1974, the Metcalfe's moved back to Carrington again.

The Metcalfe's lived in Carrington until 1977, at that time Larry gave up teaching, with a great deal of remorse and entered the banking and insurance management career that he is still in. That year involved a move to Hersey, Nebraska for two years, a move to Devils Lake, North Dakota for three and one half years and then finally a move in August of 1982 back to their home town of Carrington, where Larry works for the Farmers State Bank and Lise is once again at the Carrington Hospital.

The Metcalfe's have two children: Brian William, born in Hettinger on February 6, 1974 and Christopher Neil, born at North Platte, Nebraska on April 10, 1978.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 32B
Steve and Jane (Ermer) Metzger

Steve Metzger, son of Syl and Madeline Karter Metzger, was born August 27, 1951, at Langdon. He and Jane Ermer were married at Forgo on September 1, 1973. She was born January 20, 1952, at Forgo to Albert and Ottilia Gapp Ermer.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Metzger are graduates of NDSU. He has a Master's degree in Vocational Agriculture and she has a degree in Speech Pathology.

The couple came to Carrington in 1974.

They have four children: Jennifer, Daniel, Rebecca and Matthew.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 32B
Albert G. and Lydia (Schmidt) Meyer

Albert Meyer was born in Germany on August 26, 1876. He came to America with his parents, when he was fourteen years of age. They first settled in Milwaukee, Wisconsin. In March 1898, he came to North Dakota searching for a homestead. He homesteaded on Section 34 in Hawksnest Township, Wells County.

On January 30, 1902, he married Lydia Schmidt at Fessenden. Lydia was born in Russia on September 5, 1881.

The family lived on the farm until 1929, when they retired and moved to Carrington.

The couple were parents of four children: Emma, Edward J., Wilfred and Walter, the last two are deceased.

Mr. Meyer died June 9, 1963, Mrs. Meyer on October 17, 1962. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 32B
Edward and Clara (Kubzik) Meyer

Edward Meyer, the son of Albert and Lydia Schmidt Meyer, was born June 21, 1905. He married on November 15, 1928, Clara Kubzik, born February 17, 1910, the daughter of Ingatz and Rose Thesner Kubzik.

The couple farmed in the area until 1956 when they moved to Carrington.

Mr. Meyer has served as deputy sheriff and a city police.

He is a member of the Masonic Lodge.

They had four children: Alice, Albert, Glenn and Curtis.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 32B
Nola and Martha (DeBolt) Meyers

Nola Meyers, born at Tipton, Indiana, on August 6, 1982, came to Carrington with his parents in 1907. On March 16, 1917, he married Martha DeBolt, daughter of Hope and Stella Turner DeBolt of Bordulac. She was born at Bordulac on March 16, 1896.

Later the family moved to Carrington and Mr. Meyers was employed on the State Highway and the Foster County Highway Departments.

Mrs. Meyers was a Gold Star Mother and a member of the Auxiliary of the local servicemen's organizations.

The family had nine children: Henry, Robert, Harold, Glenn, Leonard, Anna, Vivian, Mary and Neala. One son lost his life in World War II.

Mrs. Meyers died March 14, 1966. Mr. Meyers died on December 28, 1978. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 32B
William F. and Cora (Leonard) Meyers

William Meyers was born in Wabash County, Indiana on September 1, 1866, he married in Indiana on October 6, 1891, Cora Leonard, who was born in 1870 at Atlanta, Indiana. They lived in North Dakota from 1907 to 1917, when they moved to Montana.

Mr. Meyers farmed for some years there before coming to Carrington in 1922 where he was engaged in carpentry.

The Meyers had six children: Bessie, Viola, Beulah, Hazel, Nola and Harry.

Mr. Meyers died on February 18, 1937. Mrs. Meyers died in 1956. They are buried at Carrington, 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 32B
Gustav A. and Emelia (Hjelseth) Miller

Gustav Miller, the son of Gotfried and Minnie Radki Miller was born at Perry, Oklahoma, on August 16, 1907. He married Emelia Hjelseth on November 10, 1927, at Sheyenne. She was the daughter of Eilert and Eliza Hjelsth, and born at Carrington on July 8, 1908. The Millers farmed for a number of years before moving to Carrington.

They had four children: Edith, Joan, Jerome and Gordon.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 32B
James W. and Mary (Sands) Miller

James Miller was born June 16, 1874, at West Concord, Minnesota.

He and Mary Sands were married September 15, 1897, at Red Wing, Minnesota.

The Millers had three children: Nellie, Marian and Roy.

The family came to Carrington in 1903.

Mr. Miller established a dray line which he operated for thirty‑eight years. With his horse drawn dray, he met trains on both the Northern Pacific and Soo Railways.

Mr. Miller died August 13, 1942. He is buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 32B
Hugh and Marian (Morton) Moore

Hugh Purfield Moore was born on August 2, 1912, in Carrington to Frank and Emily J. Moore. He received his education in the Carrington schools and the University of North Dakota. He later moved to California. Hugh married Marian France Morton at Pasadena on April 5, 1941. She was born August 18, 1914, at St. Paul, Minnesota, the daughter of Ralph and Laura Morton.

The Moores have two sons, Michael and William.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 32B
John G. and Rebecca (Perkins) Moore

John Moore was born in' Ohio on January 16, 1829. He came to Foster County in 1883 to make his home.

In 1851 he was married to Rebecca Perkins. They had four children.

Mr. Moore was a member of the Masonic Lodge and was one of the founders of the Methodist Church in Carrington.

Mr. Moore died November 11, 1903. He was buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 33B
James and Ameila (Nagel) Morris

James Morris, son of David and Martha Henderson Morris was born in the sod house on his father's homestead near Bordulac on January 2, 1893. He attended grade school in Bordulac and Rose Hill districts. His mother took him to Anamati, Ohio, where he graduated from Woodward High School and in 1916 received the L.L.B. from the University of Cincinnati Law School. He was admitted to the bar in Ohio in 1916 and North Dakota the next year. He came back to Bordulac, where he opened an office but soon moved his practice to Carrington, where he was associated with attorney, C.B. Crone.

Mr. Morris was very active in civic and community affairs. He was States Attorney of Foster County, City attorney for Carrington, North Dakota Attorney General, Judge of the Supreme Court, and Chief Justice. He served as a judge at the Nuremberg trials in Germany.

He was a member of Kiwanis Club and post president of both Carrington and Bismarck clubs, and past district governor. He was a member of the American Legion since 1919, served on the constitutional convention for the National charter. The founder of North Dakota Boys State and served as counselor and instructor for twenty years. He was a member of the Masonic Lodge and the El Zagal Shrine.

He married Amelia Nagel at Cincinnati on April 28, 1917. They had one daughter, Jeanette.

Mrs. Morris was active in church and civic affairs as well. She is a past president of the American Legion Auxiliary.

James Morris died July 20, 1980. He is buried at Bismarck.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 33B
Kathleen Morris

Kathleen Morris was born November 15, 1890, at Bordulac, the daughter of Price and Elizabeth Garvey Morris. She taught in the 'Carrington schools for a number of years, and was a member of the Cemetery Association for over forty years. She was active in her church and its societies. She never married.

Miss Morris died on April 3, 1973, and is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 33B
Arthur E. and Clemma (Chaffee) Morton

Arthur Morton was born in 1884. Clemma Chaffee was born December 14, 1889, in Carrington to Mr. and Mrs. Frank Chaffee. She received her education in Carrington and St. Mary's School for Girls in Fairbault, Minnesota. Arthur Morton and Clemma Chaffee were married in Carrington on September 7, 1910. They had four children: Gertrude, Marjorie, John and Arthur Jr.

Mr. Morton was engaged in the implement business in Carrington.

Mr. Morton died in December 1940. Mrs. Morton died October 16, 1969. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 33B
Thomas and Sarah Elizabeth (McHenry) Nelson

Thomas Nelson was born in Yorkshire, England, his wife, Sarah Elizabeth McHenry was born May 25, 1866 at Rushford, Minnesota.

They were married at St. Charles, Minnesota in 1883. They had three daughters: Lucia, (Mrs. L. Galehouse), Ada (Mrs. Peck) and Neita (Mrs. Pope).

The couple lived in Grand Forks when Mr. Nelson died. Mrs. Nelson's only property was a small amount of insurance. She came to Carrington, as her brother lived here and built a millinery shop. Her business was very successful and in later years through the sale of the shop and wise investments, she was able to retire financially independent. She traveled widely after her retirement.

Mrs. Nelson died May 16, 1937. She is buried in Minnesota.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 33B
Betty Neumiller

Betty Neumiller was born at Harvey on July 26, 1951. Her parents were Rudolph and Isabelle Rodacker Neumiller. She came to Carrington to attend high school when she was a senior.

She is employed at the Carrington Beauty Salon.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 33B
Gottlieb George and Louise (Freier) Neumiller

Gottlieb Neumiller was born in Germany in 1899. He married at Beulah in 1922, Louise Freier, who was born in 1904 at Garrison.

Mr. Neumiller managed an elevator at Cathay for several years. He served in the U.S. Army during World War I.

He died in 1936 and is buried at Cathay.

Mrs. Neumiller moved to Carrington in 1956.

The couple had two sons: Leslie and Gene.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 33B
James Nevland

James Nevland, son of Jens and Esther Boesch Nevland, was born at Carrington on May 7, 1953. He is employed by Forde Construction doing cement and steel work.

He makes his home in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 33B
Jens and Esther (Boesch) Nevland

Jens Nevland was born April 3, 1911, at Hannaford. Jens served in the United States Army from 1932 to 1937. In 1941 he joined the Coast Guard, where he served until 1947.

On June 1, 1948, he married Esther Boesch at Carrington.

Jens was employed by the Farmers Union Oil Company in Carrington for many years. He is now retired and Esther is presently employed at the Prairie Inn.

They make their home in Carrington.

The couple had five children: Jerold, Joseph, James, Jean and Jens Jr.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 33B
Jens Nevland Jr.

Jens Nevland was born in Carrington on December 29, 1958, to Jens and Esther Boesch Nevland. He enlisted in the Army in 1976 and spent time in Alaska and in North Carolina. He was a paratrooper and was discharged in 1981.

He is presently attending North Dakota State University at Fargo.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 

Jerold and Melody (Tracy) Nevland

Jerold, the son of Jens and Esther Boesch Nevland, was born at Carrington on June 19, 1949. Melody is the daughter of Ray Tracy of Carrington and was born March 3, 1959, at Carrington, 

Jerold is employed by Burlington Northern Railroad. They make their home in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 33B
Joseph and Norma Jean (Harildstad) Nevland

Joseph Nevland was born April 23, 1951, at Carrington to Jens and Esther Boesch Nevland. He is a carpenter in Carrington. Norma works as a secretary. She and Joseph were married on October 2, 1972, at Carrington.

Norma was born at Cavalier on July 5, 1954.

They have two children: Stacy Joe and Rolen.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 33B
George S. and Mayme (Sheehy) Newberry

George "Sankey" Newberry, born in Manvers, Ontario, October 21, 1876, came to Cooperstown with his parents in 1883. He began his banking business working for the Ross‑Davidson chain of banks.

In Carrington he married Mayme Sheehy on January 8, 1901. They had two sons: James H. and George Jr.

Mr. Newberry was cashier of the old First National Bank for many years and become the president when the bank became locally owned. The bank was forced to close in 1928. After the demise of the bank he had an insurance agency in Carrington.

Mayme Newberry died in 1943 and George married in 1948, Ann Westly. They made their home in Minneapolis.

Sankey Newberry died in 1965. He is buried in Sunset Memorial Gardens, Minneapolis.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 33B
Alva M. and Carrie (Liddle) Niccum

Alva Niccum, born September 4, 1875, at Flora, Indiana, came to Carrington in 1896. He was employed as a telegrapher at the Carrington and Barlow depots until 1907, when he joined his father in farming in Bucephalia Township. He retired in 1933.

He married Carrie Liddle in Carrington on December 15, 1901. She was born in Missouri February 17, 1876. She attended schools there and later was a schoolteacher. She came to North Dakota in 1897 to teach.

Mr. Niccum worked as a bookkeeper after moving to Carrington.

Mr. Niccum died in 1961. Mrs. Niccum died in 1964. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 34B
Allen and Nettie (Guenther) Nichols

Allen Nichols was born at Heaton on May 8, 1904, to Frank and Armina Ankrum Nichols. He married Nettie Guenther at Sykeston. Nettle, the daughter of Cornelius and Lena Gasen Guenther, was born February 17, 1906.

The family lived on the farm for a number of years until Mr. Nichols retired. In 1958 they moved to Carrington. He assisted as custodian at the School for several years.

The couple had two children: Don and Janice.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 34B
Ervin and Martha (Taverns) Nicholson

Ervin Nicholson was the son of Malcolm and Lena Nicholson.

Martha Taverns was born and reared at New Rockford. She was born April 28, 1910.

Ervin and Martha were married July 12, 1930, at New Rockford. They had one son, Duwayne.

The family lived in Carrington where Mr. Nicholson was employed by the North American Creamery. Later he became Chief of Police, a position he held for years.

Mrs. Nicholson worked at the hospital and also the Del Claire Motel for a period of time.

The last two years, she lived at Holy Family Guest Home.

Mrs. Nichols died in 1982. She is buried in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 34B
Donald and Katherine (Reimers) Nicolson

Donald Nicolson was born December 23, 1982 at Carrington, the son of Norman and Annie Ferguson Nicolson. He attended Carrington schools, farmed with his father. He took over the management of the farm after his father's death.

He married on June 17, 1925, Katherine Reimers, daughter of C. H. Reimers, who was born at Boone, Iowa, on August 23, 1902. She came to Carrington with her parents in 1906 and attended schools in Carrington at Carleton College, and Valley City State , College.

Mr. Nicolson had several business interests, the elevator east of Carrington on the Soo Line and the Nicolson‑Carr Implement. He was active in community and fraternal affairs. He served in the North Dakota State Legislature for several years.

They were parents of three children: Mary K., Linda and Donald.

Mr. Nicolson died on February 8, 1963, Mrs. Nicolson died on March 10, 1971. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 34B
Norman and Annie (Ferguson) Nicolson

Norman Nicolson was born June 10, 1851, in Canada.

Annie Ferguson was born in Lindsay, Ontario, on November 14, 1862.

In March 1891, she was married to Norman Nicolson and they came to Foster County to live on their homestead. The couple had four sons: Donald, Norman, Samuel and Kenneth.

Mrs. Nicolson died in 1938. Mr. Nicolson died December 18, 1917.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 34B
Samuel and Olive (Anderson) Nicolson

Samuel Nicolson was born February 2, 1898, at Carrington to Norman and Annie Ferguson Nicolson.

Mr. Nicolson was married April 12, 1941, to Olive Anderson at Jamestown. Olive was the daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Glen Anderson of Brantford.

They had four children: Ralph, Glenn, Sandra and Donna.

Mr. Nicolson was active in the church and community. He served as township assessor for forty‑six years and was on the ASCS Committee for twenty‑five years. He also served on the Water Management Board and the County Weed Control Committee.

He retired from farming in 1965.

Mr. Nicolson died on June 1, 1979. He is buried at Carrington. Mrs. Nicolson resides in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 34B
H. P. Nielson

Hans Peter Nielson, born at Glagelas, Denmark, on May 31, 1865 and Ane Marie Jorgenson, born January 6, 1875, at Store Andit, Denmark, were married in Denmark. They came to the United States and first settled in South Dakota. Mr. Nielson received his high school education after coming to the United States. The Nielsons came to Sykeston in 1902, to establish a creamery but moved to Carrington in 1904. He operated a Carrington Creamery for a number of years. He received many awards for his butter making, trade he had learned as a young man in Denmark. He made the first Eskimo pies, all homemade in Carrington.

In later years when he could no longer compete with the Bridgeman‑Russell Company of Jamestown, he sold his business to them. He continued working for them until in 1940.

The Nielson's were parents of ten children: Einar, Thorwald, Alma, Ella, Marius, Viggo, Eric, Walter, Helen and Edna. Five of the sons served during World War II. Einar, who also served during World War I, Marius, Viggo , Eric and Walter. Einar and Marius are now retired from the Navy. Alma was employed by the telephone company for many years. Ells taught school also worked at the Foster County Bank.

The elder Nielsons retired to California where several of their children live. Mr. Nielson died May 17, 1947 and Mrs. Nielson died February 3, 1949. They are buried at Long Beach, California.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 34B
John Norden

John Norden, born in Sweden, August 22, 1861, came to America, at the age of 20 and spent several years in the Duluth, Minnesota area. He came to Carrington in 1893 and homesteaded in the New Home vicinity. He married Mary Hagen of St. Paul on December 7, 1911. They farmed in the Pleasant Valley area until moving into town in 1919.

They were the parents of three children, John Jr., Mabel and Effie. Mr. Norden served as County Commissioner from the First District from 1908 to 1916. He was a member of the county board that made arrangements for the building of the present Foster County Courthouse.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 34B
Charles Ross Ober

Ross Ober was born at Maria, Pennsylvania on April 21, 1879. He came to North Dakota in 1896 with his parents D. K. and Anna May Ober.

He worked for the Northern Pacific Railroad and later The Standard Oil Company. In 1911 he established his own business and 1924 he had his own station built.

He never married.

Mr. Ober died August 30, 1936 and is buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 34B
D.K. and Anna May (Samel) Ober

Both David Ober and Anna Samel were born in Pennsylvania. He was born on November 30, 1855. D. K. and Anna were married December 26, 1878.

They had seven children: Ross, George, Clarence, James, Florence, Dessie and Ada.

The Obers came to Carrington in 1896. Both were active in the Odd Fellows and Rebekah Lodges.

Mr. Ober died in September 1923.

They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 34B
Thomas and Alice (Godgrey) O'Donnell (Sarah Wilson O'Donnell)

Thomas O'Donnell was the son of Irish immigrants, Thomas and Bridget O'Donnell. They lived in Ontario where Thomas Jr. was born on August 12, 1852.

In 1874 he married Alice Godgrey at Ontario. They had six children: Nellie, Irene, John, Jean, Leo and Thomas.

In 1882, Mr. O'Donnell came to North Dakota. He married Sarah Wilson of Jamestown. She died in 1938.

The O'Donnell's came to Carrington 1897. Mr. O'Donnell worked for the Northern Pacific Railroad for forty years.

Mr. O'Donnell died September 26, 1946. He is buried in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 34B
J. P. O'Leary

Joseph Patrick O'Leary was born in Wexford, Ireland, on March 16, 1862. On November 18, 1897, he married Mary Drummond at Oberon, North Dakota. Mary was born to Scottish parents in Ontario, Canada, on September 16, 1864.

In 1882, Joseph O'Leary had moved to Michigan where he had relatives, but came to Jamestown in 1883. In 1897, he came to Carrington where he bought lots for his home. Mr. O'Leary was a stonemason and contractor. He practiced his art in the area for the rest of his life. He made the blocks and built the Congregational Church (now the Federated Church), also many stone foundations which he made are still standing. He made most of the original cement walks in the city.

The O'Leary's had five children: Edna, Lawrence, Marcella, Alger and John. Mr. O'Leary died January 1945 and Mrs. O'Leary in May of 1945. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 34B
Clarence and Agnes (Holth) Olson

Clarence Olson was born in Wells County to Isaac and Sophia Kallberg Olson on April 16, 1906. He farmed in the Carrington area, moving to Carrington in 1921. In 1929, he married Agnes Holth, the daughter of John and Minnie Nielson Holth. She was born at Barlow in January 1908. She taught school for 35 years and Sunday School for 43 years.

In 1982 she was delegate to the Silver Haired Legislature‑serving as a Senator.

She serves as the local correspondent for the Foster County Independent.

The couple had one daughter, Cynthia (Mrs. Alan Willyard).

Clarence Olson died October 13, 1970. He is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 35B
Howard M. and Barbara (Johnson) Olson

Howard Olson was born in Ransom County on April 22, 1921, to Herman and Della Walberg Olson. Barbara Johnson was born at Quincy, Massachusetts on May 7, 1925, to Walter and Garda Johnson. Howard and Barbara were married August 7, 1946, at Wollaston, Massachusetts.

They have three children: Cynthia, Priscilla and Paul.

Both, Mr. and Mrs. Olson are graduates of NDSU.

Mrs. Olson taught school until she retired in 1982.

The Olsons came to the Carrington area in June 1960. Mr. Olson is the Superintendent of the Carrington Irrigation Station.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 35B
Charles and Nancy (Speers) Page

Charles Page, son of Thomas Page, was born October 11, 1862, in Illinois. He had homesteaded in Wyard Township in 1885. He married Nancy Speers in 1891 at Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania and brought his bride to their farm home northwest of Carrington.

In 1894, they moved into Carrington. They had no children, but raised Mrs. Page's nephew, Horatio Sprague.

Mrs. Page died in April 1932 and Mr. Page died on August 19, 1941. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 35B
T. M. Page

Thomas Page was born at Jerseyville, Illinois, in 1829. He was a wagon maker by trade and took an active part in the community. He served as Clerk of County Court for many years, and clerk of Wyard School District for over twenty years.

He had two sons: Harry and Charles and a daughter, Mrs. B. L. Russell.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 35B
Vernen and Edna (Seller) Pederson

Vernen Pederson was born December 4, 1913, at Jud, North Dakota. He was the son of Seth and Willhelmina Hanson Pederson. He married at Jamestown on May 29, 1942, Edna Seller the daughter of Eddie and Floy Rathman Seller, born at Jamestown on March 10, 1911.

Coming to Carrington in 1945, Mr. Pederson operated a shoe repair shop until he retired in 1981.

Mrs. Pederson taught school for a number of years.

They have three children: Mary Kay, Beth and Kenard.

Dr. Ferdinand B, and Dorothy (Cousins) Palk

F. B. Peik was born in 1890. He was the son of a pioneer Methodist minister. He graduated with a degree in Dentistry from the University of Minnesota in 1913. He was employed in Minneapolis until 1916, when he came to Carrington to start his business.

On June 5, 1919, he and Dorothy Cousins were married at Carrington. Dorothy was born November 10, 1897 to Thomas and Nellie Van Meter Cousins, a pioneer couple, coming here in 1905. The couple had three children: Ferdinand Jr., Dorothy and Mary Dee.

Dr. Peik was active in North Dakota Dental Association and the Kiwanis Club. He was a member of the Kiwanis Club over fifty years. He retired from dentistry in 1963.

Mrs. Peik was a graduate of the University of Minnesota with a Liberal Arts major. She was active in many organizations in town. Two of her favorites were "Youth" and "Patriotism". Mrs. Peik died in 1978 and is buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 35B
Curtis and Dorothy (Schuster) Peterson

Curtis Peterson was born September 27, 1916, at Rice Lake, Wisconsin, to David and Anna Peterson. On June 1, 1947, he married Dorothy Schuster at Carrington, North Dakota. She was born at Carrington on May 24, 1924, the daughter of A. J, and Helen Linde Schuster.

Mr. Peterson served in the armed services during World War II. He had operated a transport truck until his retirement.

Mrs. Peterson is serving as the County treasurer.

They have four children: Lynne, Roger, Richard, and Bruce.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 35B
Raymond and Lois (Husby) Peterson

Both Raymond and Lois Peterson were born at Ellendale and attended school there. They came to Carrington in 1975. Raymond Peterson was born June 9, 1933, to Martin and Lola Filbert Peterson. On August 31, 1958, he married Lois Husby. Lots was born April 30, 1939, to Adolph and Helen Husby.

The couple has two children: Cheryl and Keith.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 

F.E. and Cara (Stanley) Pickett

F. E. Pickett was born near Noblesville, Indiana, March 28, 1873, and married at Noblesville, Cara E. Stanley, who was born January 25, 1882, at Deming, Indiana. They farmed in Indiana until 1909 when they settled on a farm near Carrington. In 1927, they moved into Carrington, where he was employed at the North American Creamery. Mrs. Pickett operated a board house.

Their two children Fred and Esther were born in Indiana and attended the Carrington Schools. Both were employed by the J. C. Penney Company for years.

Esther married Franklin Wenstrom and now lives in Williston.

Mr. Pickett died on August 16, 1960 and Mrs. Pickett on August 5, 1962. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 35B
Robert R. and Lucy (Jones) Pryor

Robert Pryor was born April 16, 1865, in Waupon, Wisconsin and as a child he attended school in Milwaukee. He lived in Chicago and Minneapolis before coming to North Dakota in 1902 to engage in the abstract and insurance business. For a time he was a partner of W. Frank Moore. He married Lucy Jones of Minneapolis on September 17, 1906.

They had one son, Robert R. Jr.

Mrs. Pryor died in 1926. Mr. Pryor died in 1932.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 35B
Frank L. Putnam

I was born in Carrington, North Dakota on July 22, 1895. I grew up through the Carrington grade school and graduated from high school in the spring of 1914. That fall I entered the University of North Dakota at Grand Forks.

In the spring of 1916 the North Dakota Guard was called into service to help stabilize the Mexican border and to train for the possibility of ‑a world war. With parental consent, I immediately took the train to Bismarck and enlisted in the 1st North Dakota Infantry at Old Fort Lincoln, a few miles south of the city of Bismarck. I was assigned to the Medical Detachment in the unit from Lisbon, North Dakota.

The regiment entrained for the Mexican border on July 22, 1916, and made camp in Mercedes, Texas, where we went into training for the next eight months. It was a rugged and trying experience which put the regiment into front line fighting condition. We were mustered out of service at Fort Spelling, Minnesota in February, 1917.

I returned to the University for the midwinter semester, but was recalled to service on April 11 and was assigned to Company A of Bismarck in guarding the bridge over the Missouri River. By the end of the year the 1st North Dakota Infantry had landed in England on Christmas Eve and I was sent over to France two days later. I remained in France until after World War I was over and returned to Carrington in July of 1919. I again returned to the University and graduated in June of 1920.

During the ensuing years I became a partner in the Putnam and Sons Lumber Company. I helped organize Company F and was appointed 2nd Lieutenant on January 17, 1923, and worked myself up to Captain of the Company on February 18, 1926. I remained the Company Commander for the next 14 years.

It was about this time in my life that I married Mabelle L. Cook, a teacher of the 2nd grade in the Carrington school. We resided in Carrington, where our two daughters were born, until I was appointed Superintendent of the State Highway Patrol in July, 1935. Under my administration, we inaugurated the first Driver's License Law in the State of North Dakota. Shortly thereafter, we organized the first School Crossing Patrol in every school in the state that requested our assistance. I remained with the Highway Patrol until the Guard was again called to active duty for World War II in February, 1941, and we were sent to Camp Claiborne, Louisiana, for training. Prior to this time, while the North Dakota Guard was in training in Minnesota in July, 1940, the Regular Army gave an examination for Lt. Colonel. I passed the examination and was promoted to the rank of Lt. Colonel on October 8, 1940.

I was assigned as Battalion Commander of the 1st Battalion, 164th Infantry. A few months later, I was ordered to join the 34th Division Staff as the Chemical Warfare Officer. This appointment broke my ties with the 164th Infantry as they were ordered to the West Coast and I to the Embarkation Point in New York.

The 34th Division trained in Northern Ireland and later participated in the invasion of North Africa. It was quite a coincidence that I embarked on Christmas Eve, 1942, for the African invasion from the same dock in Liverpool that I had disembarked at an arrival in England on Christmas Eve, 1917. Twenty-five years to the day! After the campaign in Africa we participated in the invasion of Italy and fought up the Italian boot to the top. When we took Pisa I was granted a leave and returned to Naples to await a ship for the United States. On arriving home, I completed several assignments for the Chemical Warfare Service as Tactical Inspector of Troops and remained in that capacity until the war was over. I was released from active duty at the Pentagon and immediately found employment with the Veterans Administration. I remained with that organization for the next 15 years retiring in 1960. Since the war we have resided in Richmond, Virginia and Alexandria, Virginia. We now live in Alexandria.

My oldest daughter, Mary Lea, grew up in Carrington and graduated from Carrington High School Class of 1945. Her husband, Hugh Munro Adamson, is a retired Foreign Service Officer. They also live in Alexandria as does their son, Tod Munro Adamson. My daughter, Eleanor Ann, graduated from high school in Alexandria and received her B.A. Degree from George Washington University in 1966. She is employed by the National Endowment for the Arts in Washington D.C. She and her daughter, Leslie Rea Snyder, live in Arlington, Virginia.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 35B
Hugh R. Putnam

Hugh Rodney Putnam was born at Carrington on February 22, 1892. Hugh has spent his life in Carrington. He was a 1917 graduate of the University of North Dakota. He is active in community affairs and in the church. He was active in organizing the County Historical Society.

Hugh's number of the draft in World War I was the first drawn. He served with the Carrington unit, the 162nd, Field Hospital Company of the 41st Division in France.

He was a charter member and the first Adjutant of the American Legion. He was also a charter member of the Veterans of Foreign Wars.

On December 30, 1919, he married Maude Ethel Cummings, born August 17, 1896, the daughter of William and Carrie Cummings. They had one son, John Rodney. Maude Putnam died April 24, 1921.

On October 26, 1927, Mr. Putnam married Blanche Ebbert, born January 19, 1902, at Noblesville, Indiana, the daughter of Charles and Elizabeth Ebbert, who came to Foster County in 1908.

The couple had four children: Hugh D., Robert, Joanne and Jean.

Blanche Putnam died January 20, 1969. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 36B
T. N. and Clara Belle (Rood) Putnam

Thomas Nichols Putnam was born at Seneca Falls, New York, on December 3, 1855. The family later moved to Iowa. Mr. Putnam became interested in the lumber business, working in a local lumberyard. He later went to work in a lumber company at Brainerd, Minnesota. In 1886, he came to Carrington to start a lumberyard. His slogan in later years was "Quality lumber since 1886".

In June 1886 he married Clara Belle Rood at Clear Lake, Iowa. Clara was born near Fort Dodge, Iowa, in November 1861.

The Putnams were very active in social, religious, fraternal and political life. They were active in the Masonic and Easter Star Lodges. Mrs. Putnam was a member of the D.A.R. Mr. Putnam was a county commissioner, County Treasurer, City alderman, representative of the State Legislature, and a State Senator.

They were members of the Congregational church. They were parents of three sons: Leslie, Hugh and Frank Lewis. Also a daughter who died in infancy.

Mr. Putnam died November 11, 1919. Mrs. Putnam died July 8, 1937. They are buried at. Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 36B
Dorothy Quenemoen

Dorothy Quenemoen, born April 1, 1907, was the daughter of Kenneth and Ingeborg Ferguson of Rose Hill Township. She attended the Carrington schools and Valley City Teachers College. She was a schoolteacher in Foster and Wells Counties for 21 years and County Superintendent of Schools for Foster County from 1950 until 1968, when she retired.

Dorothy was married to Arthur Quenemoen. They had one daughter Jean Ann, who is married to Robert Putnam, son of Hugh Putnam.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 36B
Charles and Elizabeth (McCreary) Reichert

Charles W. Reichert was born in Sangamon County, Illinois, on November 17, 1862. He married Effie Leonard on September 5, 1889. They were the parents of three sons: Roy, Walter and Ross. After the death of his wife he moved to Carrington where he spent the rest of his life. On March 31, 1901, he married Elizabeth McCreary of Carrington. They were the parents of seven children: Harold, Arthur, Glenn, Myrtle, Leta Mae, Homer and Bruce.

Mr. Reichert was active in farm and community activities, serving in the State Legislature in 1920 during the Non‑Partisan League days. He served on Consumer United Stores board and the Equity Packing Plant at Fargo‑ both were co‑operatives. He served as chairman of the County of Defense during World War I. He was a charter member of the Masonic Lodge in Carrington.

Mr. Reichert died April 1932 and Mrs. Reichert in 1943. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 36B
Charles A. and Louise (Tweet) Reichert

Charles (Art) Reichert was born January 12, 1904, at Carrington to Charles W. and Elizabeth McCreary Reichert. On June 21, 1942, he married at Rugby, Louise Tweet, born at Berwick on January 25, 1917. Her parents were Nels and Augusta Feton Tweet.

Art attended the Carrington schools. He was a North American Creamery manager for many years, and serves as City treasurer and City Alderman. A Mason, he is a member of the Fire Department and the Chamber of Commerce, and was the Red Cross armed services relief officer. Louise taught school for a number of years, and retired from the Carrington school in 1982.

The Reichert's have one son, John.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 36B
Arnold and Helen (Mehlhoff) Reimers

Arnold Reimers, son of Herman and Annie Reimers married Helen Mehlhoff, daughter of Philip Mehlhoff of Tuttle on October 7, 1956. Helen was born April 25, 1936. She was living in New Rockford when she married Arnold.

The couple had six children: Jean, Mark, Julie, Sandra, Susan and Kerrie.

Helen Reimers died in April 1976. Several years later Arnold married Maxine Linderman Roaldson. The family lives east of Carrington in Carrington Township.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 36B
C. H. and Linda L. (Kerns) Reimers

Claus Henry Reimers was born in Boone County, Iowa, August 8, 1871. He married in Iowa on September 8, 1896, Linda Lucille Kerns, born on January 9, 1872 at Sidney, Nebraska. The couple came to Carrington in 1902, where Mr. Reimers was in the real estate and loan business for many years.

There were four children in the family. The youngest son, George Dale, never married. F. F. Reimers married Alice Waiters; David married Edith Thurston; Katherine married Don Nicolson.

Mrs. Reimers died January 12, 1962; Mr. Reimers died April 14, 1968. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 36B
William and Elsie (Hayden) Rich

William Rich was born in Quebec on January 27, 1844. He came with his parents to a farm in Minnesota. As soon as he was eighteen he enlisted in the Union Army for the Civil War. Because of the trouble with the Indians in Minnesota and North Dakota, he was kept in the area.

In the early 1890's he and his wife, the former Elsie Hayden, came to the Dakota Territory to farm. They settled near Melville.

Later they moved to Carrington.

The couple had two children: Guy and Minerva (Mrs. Jack Buchanan).

Mr. Rich died in May of 1925. He is buried at Jamestown.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 37B
J.O. and Lillie (Morgan) Robertson

J. O. Robertson was born in Downs, Illinois, on March 13, 1871. He came to Carrington with his parents in 1883. They homesteaded Section 8, Melville Township. In 1895 he entered the employ of the Walker Brothers firm. In 1906, when they incorporated, he became a stockholder and took over the undertaking business.

On November 30, 1897, he married Lillie Morgan. Lillie was born November 23, 1875, at Ring, Wisconsin, and after her father's death, had come to Carrington to live with her sister, Mrs. R. E. Walker.

Mr. Robertson served as Mayor, councilman and coroner.

The Robertsons had two children: Haney and Ellen.

Mr. Robertson died April 13, 1933; Mrs. Robertson died May 24, 1937. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 37B
Thomas A. and Margaret A. (Blumer) Roney

Thomas Roney was born July 4, 1920, at Aberdeen, South Dakota, to Charles and Marcy C. Smith Roney of Oakes, North Dakota.

He grew up in Oakes and received a degree from the University of North Dakota in law and commerce.

He served in the Army in the European theater during World War II. He was a prisoner of war. He also served in the Korean conflict.

Thomas Roney and Margaret Blumer were married in 1942. Margaret was born April 11, 1920, at Ellendale to Fred and Maude Barnes Blumer. She had a degree in Home Economics from the University of North Dakota. She taught at Ellendale. She served in the W.A.A.C. for a year.

The Roneys have two daughters: Meg and Patricia.

Mr. Roney established a law practice in Carrington and served as the Foster County States Attorney for twelve years.

He was elected to the North Dakota Constitutional Convention in 1972.

He was named president of the Foster County Bank in 1960. He has served as president of the North Dakota Banker's Association.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 37B
B.F. and Rose (Walsh) Rousch

Berthel Rousch was born December 13, 1874. As a child, he came to a farm east of New Rockford. As a young man, he operated a dray line in Norwich and New Rockford. The family also farmed in Nordmore Township.

Rose Walsh was born in Ontario, August 30, 1884. She came to Eddy County with her parents in 1891.

She and 8. F. Rousch were married at New Rockford on January 10, 1905.

They had two daughters and two sons: Leona, Mildred, Jerald and Merle. Merle lost his life in Germany during World War II.

After coming to Carrington, Mr. Rousch operated a filling station, and was employed by the State Highway Department.

Mrs. Rousch died in April 1974. Mr. Rousch died in 1977. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 37B
James and Phoebe (Rainey) Rusk Sr.

James Rusk was born July 19, 1861 in Ireland. Soon after coming to America, he came to this area as he heard the Northern Pacific was opening up virgin soil. Being Irish, he was anxious to get a piece of land on his own.

He settled just west of the Carrington Township in 1882.

He held office of County treasurer and was County Commissioner for many years. His foresight for good roads was of great value to the County and the City of Carrington.

He was an active Democrat.

He married‑ Phoebe Rainey of St. Charles, Minnesota, on November 14, 1894. She was born June 1, 1870. They had three children: Harry, James and Vera.

Mrs. Rusk died August 7, 1939. Mrs. Rusk died September 30, 1928. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 37B
John Henry and Mabel (Tenborg) Rusk

John H. (Harry) Rusk was born at Carrington on August 28, 1896, to James Rusk Sr.

Harry Rusk and Mabel Tenborg were married at Carrington July 31, 1926. Mabel was born at Carrington, November 21, 1904, the daughter of the Richard Tenborgs.

Harry served in the infantry during World War I. He was a salesman for Standard Oil Company and employed by the North American Creamery. He later owned and operated the Shamrock Bar.

Mabel was active in civic affairs. She served as deputy to the Register of Deeds; and was employed at the post office for twenty‑five years. Harry and Mabel Rusk had one son, John.

Mr. Rusk died January 26, 1958. Mrs. Rusk died November 5, 1978. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 37B
Olaf and Ellen (O'Brien) Rusley

Olaf Rusley was born in Iowa on December 11, 1877. He lived in Enderlin before coming to Carrington in 1905.

In 1905 he married Ellen O'Brien of Turtle Lake, Wisconsin. They had one son, Kenneth. They also took two nieces of Mrs. Rusleys into their home for a number of years; Jeanette and Genieve McChesney.

Mr. Rusley was employed by J. E. Galehouse in the retail business, becoming a partner in 1913.

In 1923, Mr. Rusley and Pat Clark took over the clothing business which operated as "Olaf and Pat", even after Olaf was no longer a part of the business. He was then in the insurance business.

Mrs. Rusley died in 1968. Mr. Rusley died in December 1943. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 37B
Burton L. and Lulu (Page) Russell

Burton Russell was born October 4, 1863, in Vermont and came to Dakota Territory in 1886. He settled near Melville. On December 12, 1888, he married Lulu Page. Lulu, the daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Thomas M. Page, who was born at Jerseyville, Illinois, on September 21, 1867. She had come to North Dakota with her parents in 1885, to homestead near Melville. Lulu taught school before her marriage.

The Russells moved to Carrington in 1890. Mr. Russell operated a meat business. He was elected county treasurer in 1896 and served two terms, then served as deputy.

Mrs. Russell was the first librarian in Carrington and was active in the Methodist church and the community, was a member of the Literary club for 52 years.

The Russells had no children of their own but took care of two girls and a boy.

Mr. Russell died in 1919. Mrs. Russell died on December 22, 1958. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 37B
William and Beatrice (Brady) Schaffer

William Schaffer was born in 1913 to Christopher and Katharina Schaffer. He married at Jamestown in 1935, Beatrice Brady, daughter of the Thomas Bradys, who was born in 1917 in Jamestown.

The family lived in Glacier Township, Wells County, on a farm. Mr. Schaffer served on both township and school boards. After Mr. Schaffer's death in 1981, Mrs. Schaffer moved into Carrington.

They had five children: Marvin, Audrey, Ronald, Kenneth and Mary Kay. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 37B
Charles and Cathern (Kiennanz) Schimelfenig

Charlie Schimelfenig was born in Germany on March 21, 1885, the son of Gustav and Amelia Liedke Schimelfenig. He came to America with his parents to Goodrich as a child. On December 31, 1923, he married Cathren Kiennanz. They farmed until they moved into Carrington in 1952'
They had six children, Theodore, Lloyd, Lucille, Catherine, Agnes and Hazel.

Mr. Schimelfnig died in November, 1971.

He is buried in the Carrington Cemetery. Mrs. Schimelfenig resides in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 38B
Roger and Vicki (Ryum) Schlotman

Roger Ralph Schlotman, the son of Ralph and Helen Bata Schlotman, was born on November 6, 1948. On July 12, 1974, he married Vicki Ryum, born October 2, 1953, the daughter of Ernest and Mildred Michaelson Ryum.

They have two children: Rodger Jerel and Jennifer Joy.

They reside in Carrington. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 38B
Fred and Carrie (Hallwachs) Schroeder

Fred Schroeder was born January 21, 1892, in Minneapolis. He came to Carrington in 1913 and entered the ice and coal business. In 1913 he was married at Jamestown to Carrie Hallwachs of Carrington. In about 1950 the Schroeders purchased the Westside Grocery, which they operated until his death. Mr. Schroeder was a member of the I.O.O.F. lodge and the Junior Chamber of Commerce., 

They had three children: Gerald, Russell and Denise.

Mr. Schroeder died March 22, 1953. He is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 38B
Russell O. and Clara (Hjelseth) Schutt

Russell Schutt, the son of Otis and Marie Warren Schutt, was born August 16, 1903, at Fairmont, North Dakota. He married Clara Hjelseth July 7, 1935. Clara, the daughter of Eilert Sr. and Eliza Johnson Hjelseth, born March 20, 1901, in Nordmore Township.

Mrs. Schutt attended school in Nordmore Township. Mr. Schutt graduated from Carrington High School in 1923. He was employed by the North American Creamery for fourteen years. He became well known as a cook, in Carrington and elsewhere including the Chocolate Shop and Hotel Cafe in the Buchanan Hotel. He bought the latter in 1954 and operated it until he retired in 1977. He now lives in Ada, Minnesota.

The couple had one son, Gene.

Clara Schutt died March 7, 1969. She is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 38B
E. K. and Bertha (Burton) Sheaffer

Edwin Sheaffer was born in Iowa on January 4, 1889. He came to Carrington in 1902. Bertha Burton, born in Indiana October 30, 1889, came to Carrington in 1897 with her parents the G. W. Burtons.

The two were married July 17, 1909. They were the parents of eleven children: Alice, June, Daisy, Luella, Edwin, Fay, Ima, Jeanne, Betty, Kay and John. The children were active in school activities, especially band. They had a saxophone quartet which performed frequently.

Mr. Sheaffer was County Auditor for many years and State Vehicle Registrar, and adjustor for the Hail Insurance Department.

Mr. Sheaffer retired and he and his wife went to Couer d'Alene, Idaho to live in 1955. Mr. Sheaffer died April 27, 1967. Mrs. Sheaffer died August 19, 1978.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 38B
William and Mary (McCoy) Sheehan Sr.

William Sheehan Sr. was born in Nebraska in 1866. He came to Dakota Territory as a Missouri River steamboat hand.

He came to Carrington about 1890 and worked as a carpenter and steam engineer. Later he owned his own steam-threshing outfit. He served as police chief in Carrington for a short time.

He married Mary McCoy in August 1893. Mary was the daughter of an early pioneer, Patrick McCoy.

The Sheehans had six children: William Jr., Loretta, Louise, Cecilia, Marguerite, and James.

Mr. Sheehan spent his last years living with a daughter in Seattle. He died in December 1937. Mrs. Sheehan died in 1944. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 38B
William and Lola (Zink) Sheehan Jr.

William Sheehan Jr. was born at Carrington on October 6, 1899, to William Sr. and Mary McCoy Sheehan.

He married Lola Zink, the daughter of the Franz Zinks on February 18, 1925. Lola was born in 1906.

The couple had two daughters, Fayona and Rhea.

They lived in Ohio for a number of years, coming back to Carrington in 1953. In Ohio, Mr. Sheehan was employed by the railroad as a stationary engineer at a manufacturing plant.

Mr. Sheehan died January 4, 1969.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 38B
Ivan and Freda (McCarty) Sheets

Ivan Sheets was born in Indiana on May 3, 1888. He came to North Dakota and soon acquired a team of horses and ‑started farming. In February 1917, he started carrying mail, but quit after a few months as the wages were too low to support himself and take care of a team. In 1941 he was again persuaded to carry mail which he did for nearly forty years.

In 1913, Ivan Sheets married Freda McCarty. Freda had also come from Indiana.

They had six children: Glenn, Mildred, Dorothy, Jack, Laverne and Donald.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Sheets are now residents of the Holy Family Guest Home in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 38B
Alvin and Carrie (Patterson) Shenkel

Alvin Shenkel and L. Carrie Patterson were married at Carrington. Alvin was born in Carrington October 9, 1909. Carrie was born in Hawksnest Township, Wells County March 11, 1910.

Alvin Shenkel worked for Foster County independent from 1928 until July 1948. The family moved to Nampa, Idaho, where Alvin started his own printing press in 1949.

Alvin and Carrie were the parents of one son, Gary Allen, who now lives in Portland Oregon.

Alvin retired in 1975.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 38B
Clifford and Margaret (Leick) Silkey

Clifford Silkey, the son of Henry and Emma Abraham Silkey, was born on November 29, 1913, at Madison Lake, Minnesota.

On June 30, 1936 he married at New Rockford, Margaret Leick, the daughter of Julius and Emma Hoefel Leick at Wimbledon.

They have a daughter Phyllis; two children, Richard and Judith, are deceased.

Mr. Silkey came to Carrington in 1917. He is a painter by trade.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 38B
Elmer and Doras (Reichert) Silkey

Elmer Silkey and Doras Reichert were married at Carrington in 1939. Elmer, the son of William and Anna Silkey was born at Smith's Hall, Minnesota in 1913 and came to the Carrington area with his parents in 1916. He married in 1939, Doras the daughter of Ross and Grace Carter Reichert, who was born in Carrington, November 25, 1920.

Both Elmer and Doras attended school in Wyard Township and Carrington.

Elmer was a postal worker in Carrington for twenty‑nine years, until he retired in February 1979.

The Silkeys had two sons, Richard and Roger.

The Silkeys reside in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 38B
Henry and Emma (Abrahamson) Silkey

Henry Silkey was born January 8, 1881, at South Mills, Michigan.

His marriage to Emma Abrahamson took place in South Mills, October 8, 1903.

The couple had seven children: Lydia, Leona, Luella, Clifford, Vivian, Inez and Lea.

The family came to Carrington in 1917. After 1918, they lived in their home on the west side, operating a dairy and chicken farm.

Mr. Silkey died November 18, 1937. Mrs. Silkey died in 1946. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 38B
Earl Ira and Dora (Elliott) Simpson

Earl Ira Simpson was married to Dora Elliott on January 2, 1881, at Warrensburg, Missouri. She was born at Osceola, Iowa, on August 18, 1865, the daughter of James and Mary Jane Brummet Elliott. The Simpsons came to Carrington in 1897. They bought a lot near the courthouse where they built their home and spent the remainder of their life.

They had four children: Mary, Ira, Nora (Mrs. John Rruhn) and Maud (Mrs. Will Chapel).

Mr. Simpson died January 4, 1918. Mrs. Simpson died in 1945. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 38B
A. J. and Margaret (Sproat) Smith (Inger Sorenson Smith)

A. J. Smith, born in Ontario, June 18, 1868, came with his parents to Sheldon in 1888. On June 18, 1895, he married Margaret Sproat at Sheldon, also born in Ontario. To the union, four children were born: William, John, Lester and Marian.

Mr. Smith had operated a hardware store in Fessenden before coming to Carrington in 1899 to be employed by the First National Bank. In 1906 he opened the Smith Hardware Store in Carrington. He operated this until 1940.

Margaret Smith died in April 1922. She is buried at Carrington.

In 1926, Mr. Smith married Inger Sorenson. They had a daughter, Betty.

Mr. Smith died December 1, 1942.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 39B
E. Delafield and Annie May (Sneden) Smith

E. Delafield Smith was born in New York City on February 1, 1862, to E. Delafield and Charlotte Elephal Smith. The father was a lawyer. He came to North Dakota with his brother Herbert in 1882. He purchased Sections 17 and 19 in Larrabee Township.  This was railroad land and he purchased it at $3 an acre with railroad stock, which he had inherited from his mother.

In 1889 he married Annie May Sneden in New Jersey.

The couple returned to their farm near Lake Juanita where they farmed and prospered. Mr. Smith bought stock, notes or anything he could make a profit on. In 1891, he purchased a general store in Carrington, which he later sold. In 1895 he started the Foster County State Bank in Carrington, which he operated with the help of his wife and brother. He sold his banking interests in 1903. 

Mrs. Smith was a talented musician. Mr. Smith was well known as a horse trader. In later years he also operated a collection agency. He built several nice homes in Carrington. They had no children.

Mr. Smith also owned property in Canada. He did a great deal of traveling. He spent his last year living at the Buchanan Hotel in Carrington. He was truly a legendary figure in the area.

He died in August 1949 and is buried at Jamestown.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 39B
Edward L. and Peggy (Rosenau) Smith

Edward Smith was born at Carrington on October 13, 1939, to Lester and Ivadell Andrews Smith.

He married Peggy Rosenau, daughter of Wilferd and Ruth Hains Rosenau. Peggy was born at Carrington on December 13, 1940. The Smiths have three sons Cory, Kyle and Ryan.

Ed attended North Dakota State University and graduated from Dakota Business College. He is active in church and community affairs. He owns and operates an insurance and real estate business.

Peggy is a University of North Dakota graduate. She is employed at the real estate office, and is active in the community.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 39B
Frank E. and Elsie (Ankrum) Smith

Frank Smith was born June 9, 1899, at Minneapolis. His parents were Sloan J. and Welthea Challand Smith. On July 27, 1931, he married Elsie Ankrum at Heaton, the daughter of Elwood and Carrie Willcuts Ankrum, who was born at Des Moines, Iowa, on July 31, 1908. They had one daughter Lois Arlene.

Frank Smith was a barber by trade for 46 years. Mrs. Smith a teacher and educator. Mrs. Smith also served as Deputy Treasurer in Griggs County.

The Smiths lived a number of places in North Dakota before retiring and coming to Carrington in 1978.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 39B
William S. and Constance (Tucker) Smith

William Smith, the son of A. J. and Margaret Sproat Smith, was born at Sheldon on August 16, 1901. He came to Carrington with his parents in 1906.

He was united in marriage with Constance Tucker on February 22, 1926, at Minneapolis. The couple had two sons: William and Robert. William lost his life in the Air Force in Korea.

Mr. Smith was active in Junior Chamber of Commerce, Kiwanis, fire department and was assistant manager of the County fair. He was County Chairman of the democratic committee. Mr. Smith was also active in the National Guard.

Mrs. Smith is no longer living. Mr. Smith died June 25, 1956. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 39B
John and Mathilde (Berget) Solberg

John Solberg was born November 17, 1886, in Norway. He came to the United Sates in 1903. He was employed by the railroad at Leeds, Devils Lake, Newton, Oakes and Glover before coming to Carrington in 1938. He retired in 1956:

On December 28, 1911, he was married to Mathilde Berget at Devils Lake. They had seven children: Ingrid, Margaret, June, Roy, Earl, Alfred and Melvin.

Mr. Solberg died January 19, 1973. Mrs. Solberg died November 1937. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 39B
Henry and Margaret (Hansen) Soli

Henry Soli was born at Stanley, Wisconsin, on October 28, 1902, to Victor and Malina Ness Soli. On August 18, 1928, he married Margaret Hansen at Minneapolis, the daughter of Niels and Carrie Larson Hansen and was born at Thorpe, Wisconsin. The couple lived at Fargo and Jamestown before coming to Carrington in 1949.

Mr. Soli was manager of the Thompson Yards lumber company.

Mrs. Soli taught school for a number of years. She is active in church, Retired teachers, Senior Citizens and Eastern Star.

The couple had three children: Janis, Barbara and Robert.

Mr. Soli died in 1962 and is buried at Thorpe, Wisconsin.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 39B
George and Virginia (Rutledge Warren) Soliday

George Soliday was born in Ohio, February 22, 1869. He came to Carrington with his parents and sister, Jessie (McKenzie), in 1881. They were the first children in Carrington. He received a law degree and took an active part in social as well as other activities in Carrington.

He married Mrs. Virginia Rutledge Warren, the widow of Dr. Warren, who was among the first physicians in Foster County.

Mr. Soliday was also a collector of valuable books and acquired a large library.

Mr. Soliday died in Seattle on August 23, 1950.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 39B
Henry A. and Sarah Anne (Galehouse) Soliday

H. A. Soliday, born in Pennsylvania on February 25, 1836. He married Sarah Anna Galehouse on November 29, 1860, in Ohio. Mr. Soliday had a merchandising business in Ohio. He came to Dakota in 1882 and settled and built a home where the townsite of Carrington would eventually be.

He was the county judge, also at one time, served as a county commissioner; was chairman at the time the courthouse was built.

He operated a merchandising firm, later becoming manager of the Kirkwood Hotel.

The Solidays had two children: George, who at one time, served as states attorney for Foster County; and Jessie, who became the wife of Dr. J. Ross MacKenzie.

Mrs. Soliday died in 1918. Mr. Soliday died in 1923. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 39B
Eugene and Eleanor (Nolz) Sondag

Eugene Sondag was born December 7, 1911, at Nicollet, Minnesota, to Henry and Margaret Boor Sondag, who later moved to Sykeston. On June 27, 1939, he married Eleanor Nolz of Sykeston. Eleanor was the daughter of Andrew and Elizabeth Pfann Nolz, who was born at Sykeston on April 6, 1920.

The Sondag family came to Carrington from Sykeston in 1947.

They owned and operated the Carrington Hotel until 1967. They built and operated the Fireside Inn in 1960 until they sold it in 1973.

They have three children: Yvonne, Elaine and Glenn (now a doctor). 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 39B
John H. and Bunny (Morrison) Spink

John Spink was born March 27, 1904, in Minnesota. He was the former president of the First National Bank in Carrington. He came to Carrington in 1948.

He was married to Bunny Morrison on December 12, 1929, at Minneapolis.

The couple had one son, John‑a doctor in Alabama.

The family lived in Ada, Minnesota, before coming to Carrington.

Mrs. Spinks died May 18, 1967. Mr. Spinks died January 10, 1978. He is buried at White Bear Lake, Minnesota.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 39B
Frank and Emma (Tuttle) Stambaugh

Frank Stambaugh was born in Iowa on February 27, 1877, the son of Reverend George and Susan Wonders Stambaugh. He came to Carrington in 1897 and continued to make his home here. On February 19, 1904, he married Emma Tuttle. Emma was born in Iowa, June 3, 1880. They had one child, Susan. Mr. Stambaugh farmed until his health failed. He then bought and shipped stock.

Mr. Stambaugh died July 13, 1930. He is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Later Mrs. Stambaugh married Frank Wingirt, who died in 1945.

Emma Stambaugh Wingirt died June 4, 1971. She is also buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 40B
G. W. and Susan (Wonders) Stambaugh

George W. Stambaugh was born in Pennsylvania on August 13, 1844. He grew up there. In 1865 he married Susan Wonders. They moved to Illinois and later to Iowa.

He was a clergyman for the Church of the Brethren. He was also an immigrant agent for the Northern Pacific Railroad and was responsible for a colony of the members of the Brethren Church coming to Dakota from Nebraska. He and his family came to North Dakota in 1898. He continued his work as a clergyman until 1914 when he suffered a stroke.

The Stambaughs had twelve children: John, Frank, Jesse, Maggie, Ella, Dora, Frances, Albert and Lulus. Seven survived.

Mr. Stambaugh died November 7, 1919. Mrs. Stambaugh died February 3, 1921. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 40B
George and Sylvia (Kriewald) Stambaugh

George Stambaugh was born June 11, 1898, in Carrington to John and Anna flock Stambaugh. He graduated from Carrington High School and lived in the area all his life.

On November 1, 1933, he married Sylvia Kriewald at Carrington. Sylvia was born April 8, 1899 in Minnesota and came to Carrington with her parents Frank and Matilda Kriewald, in 1914.

The Stambaughs had one son, Jerry.

The family lived on a farm east of town until George retired and moved to Carrington in 1972.

George was active in community affairs and politics.

Mrs. Stambaugh died July 6, 1972.

Mr. Stambaugh died October 29, 1979.

They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 40B
Jesse and Elnora (Myers) Stambaugh

Jesse Stambaugh, son of the Reverend and Susan Wonders Stambaugh, was born in Nebraska on May 27, 1885. He came to Carrington with his parents in 1889. On December 30, 1908, he married Elnora Myers, who was born at Lena, Illinois, May 26, 1886. After their marriage, the couple came to Foster County and settled on a farm a mile north of Carrington. They spent the rest of their days there.

Mr. Stambaugh was active in civic affairs and was one of the founders of the Foster County Wild Life Club.

They had two daughters, Ila and Ruby.

Mrs. Stambaugh died April 15, 1964. Mr. Stambaugh died August 9, 1977, age 92. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 40B
John W. and Anna (flock) Stambaugh

John Stambaugh was born February 6, 1867, in Illinois. He was son of Rev. and Mrs. George Stambaugh.

He also lived in Iowa and Nebraska for several years. In 1895, he married Anna flock of Fairmount, Nebraska.

In 1897, they moved to Carrington where they farmed north of Carrington.

The couple had six children: Molly, Grace, George, Henry, John and David.

Mr. Stambugh served as postmaster for 9 years and later 2 years as acting postmaster. He was a power in the Democratic Party in both the County and the State. He was a member of the IOOF lodge.

Mr. Stambaugh died March 13, 1942. Mrs. Stambaugh died in 1952. They are buried in Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 40B
Mollie Stambaugh Clapp

Mollie, the daughter of John and Anna Ploch Stambaugh, was born in Nebraska, September 30, 1895. She came to Carrington with her parents in 1897. She worked at the post office for twenty‑eight years and acted as postmaster for 2 1/2 years.

Mollie was active in church and community affairs. She lived in Carrington all her life.

Mollie was married to Duane Clapp on July 20, 1945. He died January 20, 1961. Mollie Clapp died December 18, 1978. She is buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 40B
Maggie Stambaugh

Maggie Stambaugh was born at Dixon, Illinois, on July 28, 1872, to Reverend George and Susan Wonders Stambaugh.

She came to Carrington in 1898 and remained here the rest of her life.

Miss Stambaugh died April 23, 1955. She is buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 40B
Norton and Blanche (Rood) Stangeland

Norton Stangeland was born June 24, 1913, at Fillmore, North Dakota, the son of Milford and Sophia Rendahl Stangeland. He graduated from North Dakota State University ;n 1935.

He married Blanche Rood of Cooperstown. Blanche, the daughter of Martin and Hannah Hanson Rood, was born December 23, 1920.

The Stangelands came to Carrington in 1944, where he was employed as a Soil Conservationist for Foster County from 1944 to 1974. Mrs. Stangeland was Clerk of the Selective Service Committee for over 15 years. She is presently the City Librarian.

The family is active in the Lutheran church.

Mr. Stangeland died November 21, 1974.

He is buried at Carrington.

The Stangelands have two children: Jeffrey and Deborah.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 40B
Ernest and Alice (White) Steinman

Ernest Steinman, son of Les and Mary Walz Steinman was born on March 15, 1927.

Ernest married Alice White at Carrington on June 28, 1954. Alice, the daughter of Thomas B. and Mary Laber White, was born September 25, 1931, in Birtsell Township.

The Steinmans have eight children, David, Dennis, Daniel, Judith, Paul, Mary Alice, Cathleen and Christina.

Mr. Steinman operates United Farm Tools, Inc., also Steinman Manufacturing.

Mrs. Steinman taught school before her marriage.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 40B
Leo and Mary (Walz) Steinman

Leo Steinman was born November 29, 1899, at Storm Lake, Iowa.

On May 6, 1926, he married Mary Walz. They farmed at Oriska until 1932 when they moved to Edgeley where Leo was manager of the Farmers Union Oil Company.

In 1936 they came to Carrington, where Mr. Steinman managed the Farmers Union Oil Company until 1942. He opened a repair shop, which later became Steinman Manufacturing. The Steinmans had five children: Irene, Ernest, Vernon, Harvey and one son deceased.

Mrs. Steinman died in 1957.

Mr. Steinman has lived in Florida since 1966. In 1967 he married Marie Robedeau, who survives. Mr. Steinman died December 17, 1982. He and Mary Steinman are buried in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 40B
Erling S. and Erma (Helm) Stokes

Erling Stokes, son of Solomon and Amelia Stokes, was born at Cathay on May 1, 1912. He married at Cathay June 29, 1939 Erma Helm who was also born at Cathay. She was born August 14, 1918, to Jacob and Emma Putz Helm.

They had four children: Douglas, Lavon, Charlene, and Kim.

The family moved to Carrington in 1943. Their son Douglas now farms the land in Section 20 Carrington Township.

Mr. Stokes died October 6, 1977. He is buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 40B
Ben and Iona (Fornshell) Straley

Ben Straley was born December 28, 1903. Iona Fornshell was born May 22, 1908, in Birtsell Township to Charles and Flora Steele Fornshell.

The Straleys farmed in the Carrington area after they were married on March 7, 1926. In 1941 they moved into Carrington.

They have two children: Doris and Keith.

Mrs. Straley was employed as a nurses aide at the Carrington Hospital for seventeen years.

Leslie and Laura (Legacie) Strand

Leslie Strand was born April 17, 1919, in Wells County but grew up in Benson County. He married Laura Legacie of Lawson on March 1, 1943.

Mr. Strand published a paper in Minnewaukan and was a reporter for the Fargo Forum before coming to Carrington to become owner and publisher of the Foster County Independent in 1970. The son, Leslie James also publishes a newspaper. Mr. Strand was stationed with , the Army in Okinawa during World War II.

He died on October 8, 1975, at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 40B
Otto and Edna (Hust) Struxness

Otto Struxness was born June 17, 1897, at Milan, Minnesota. On June 27, 1929, he married at Woodworth, Edna Hust, born September 10, 1911, at Medina to George and Rose Moser Hust.

The family operated a farm in the Woodworth area until 1966 when Mr. and Mrs. Struxness retired and came to Carrington. They are active in the Farmers Union.

The couple had three children: Adeline, Willie and LeRoy.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 41B
Albert R. and Lydia (Bauer) Suckut

Albert Suckut was born September 5, 1906, in Kidder County. He attended Sheyenne River Academy and College of Walla Walla, Washington. He married Lydia Bauer on November 25, 1931, at Steele. They farmed in Kidder County for nine years before coming to Foster County. In 1946, when they moved into Carrington.

He was an agent for State Farm Mutual Insurance, until he retired in 1972. He served as Mayor of Carrington from 1960 to 1966 and was a supervisor for the Soil Conservation District until his death. He was an active lodge member of the I.O..O.F., Eagles and Elks. He served as the Grand Master for North Dakota in the I.O..O.F. Lodge.

Mr. Suckut died January 17, 1974. He is buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 41B
Harry L. and Inez (O'Hara) Summers (Anna Kadoun Summers)

Harry Summers was born at Carrington, May 8, 1906, to Mr. and Mrs. John Summers.

In 1927 he married Inez O'Hara. They had six children: Faye, Marie, Ila, Detain, Lois and John. Mrs. Inez Summers died in 1950. In 1951 Mr. Summers married Ann Kadoun.

Mr. Summers was chief of police in Carrington for a number of years.

Mr. Summers died June 6, 1969. He is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 41B
L. A. and Minnie (Frieberg) Swanson

Leonard A. Swanson was born at Winthrop, Minnesota, on August 20, 1893.

He married Minnie Frieberg at Carrington on May 16, 1914. Minnie was a Minneapolis girl but made her home with Mr. and Mrs. W. H. Stricker in Carrington.

The Swansons had three children: Margaret, Betty and William.

Mr. Swanson began his career with the railroad at fifteen. He was employed at several places.

When he was twenty years old, he was agent at Carrington. He was a member of the ‑City Council, Masons, Elks and Kiwanis. He was candidate for Lieutenant Governor with S J. Doyle.

Mr. Swanson died February 10, 1935. Mrs. Swanson died in 1979.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 41B
Nels and Vollie (Olsen) Swenson

Nels Swenson was born April 19, 1862, at Alexandria, Minnesota. He married Vollie Olsen at Alexandria, who died in April 1934.

Mr. Swenson came to Carrington as a collector for a farm implement firm and worked for the firm for a number of years. He had a varied career fur trapper, coal miner, and a railway worker. He lived in Fargo and Carrington. After he retired to Carrington, he spent his time working in his garden and orchard. His home became a show place in the community.

He died in 1963 at the age of 101.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 41B
W. H. and Frances (Allen) Swinton

William H. Swinton was born in New York in 1859. In 1877 he went to St. Paul where he was a bank clerk.

In 1902 he married Frances Gray Allen. The couple came to Carrington to make their home. They purchased the Davidson house; a large, beautiful house on the east side.

They were parents to seven children: Edith, Mae, William, Jean, Allen, Robert and Frances.

Mrs. Swinton was prominent in the business world, in the schools and civic affairs. He was a charter member of the Kiwanis Club and the Men's Literary Club; was on the building committee for the Lincoln school and the courthouse.

Mrs. Swinton was an active worker in many affairs. She had a flower shop for a while.

The Swinton son, Allen, an aviator, was killed in a plane accident during World War It.

Mr. Swinton died January 16, 1938. Mrs. Swinton died in 1955. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 41B
Harry E. and Arvilla (Laughlin) Tenborg

Harry Tenborg was born on March 21, 1899, to the Richard Tenborgs. He was married to Arvilla Laughlin on April 21, 1938. Arvilla was the daughter of Henry and Jennie Laughlin of Carrington.

Mr. Tenborg enlisted in Company "F" of the 164th Infantry in 1922. In 1941 when the company was called into duty he was the Commander and served until. 1944. He served in the South Pacific during World War II.

After the war he served in Senator Young's office in Washington before coming back to Carrington where his interests were may; insurance business, restaurant business and farming. He was a director of the First National Bank, an president of the Hospital board.

He was a member of the Masonic Lodge; the Elks, the American Legion and Veterans of Foreign Wars.

Mr. Tenborg died November 1, 1978. He is buried at Carrington.

Mrs. Tenborg makes her home in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 41B
Thomas and Darlene (Hafner) Tennyson

Thomas Tennyson, son of Thomas and Mary Pahl Tennyson, was born October 28, 1942, at Milbank, South Dakota. He came to Carrington in 1956. On August 3, 1965, he married Darlene Hafner at Carrington, the daughter of Herman and Eleanor Wild Hafner, who was born in San Francisco on June 23, 1944. Darlene came to Carrington with her parents in 1946.

Mr. Tennyson is employed at Jack and Jill grocery store.

The Tennysons have three children: Shawn, Amy and Darin.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 41B
Lewis and Martha Jane (Early) Thomas

Lewis Thomas was born February 11, 1856, in Ohio. His pioneering parents later moved to Indiana where Lewis grew to manhood working as a woodsman and carpenter. On November 30, 1879, he married Martha Jane Early, who was born in Ohio on July 14, 1858.

The couple lived in Indiana until 1896 when they came to Carrington with a group of Brethren settlers. Mr. Thomas helped start the Carrington Brethren Church of which he was a deacon for forty years. They farmed for twenty years before retiring to Carrington.

The couple had four sons: Dayton, Albert, Walter and Lloyd and two who died in infancy.

Mrs. Thomas died December 14, 1929. Mr. Thomas died in 1935. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 41B
W. T. N. and Viola (Fowler) Thornhill

W. Thornhill was born in Ontario on December 28, 1877. In 1880 the family moved to Jamestown. Mrs. Thornhill worked for the Beck Clothing Company in Jamestown.

In 1906 he came to Carrington to manage the store of the Beck Clothing Company of Jamestown. After twenty years he bought the business and it became known as Thornhill, Inc. On July 12, 1917, he married Viola Fowler at St. Cloud, Minnesota. They had two daughters: Rosemary and Jane.

Mr. Thornhill was a charter member of the Kiwanis. He died in 1933.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 41B
W. E and Fannie E. (Webb) Thurston

William Thurston was born on May 25, 1868, at Beaver Dam, Wisconsin.

He married Fannie Webb, who was born September 11, 1870, at her home in DeSmet, South Dakota. The couple went back to Beaver Dam to live until they came to Foster County.

The family settled on a farm south of Carrington.

In 1914, Mr. Thurston was elected County treasurer and the family moved into Carrington.

The family consisted of ten children, Loren, Clarence, Edna, Edith, Raymond, Charles, Grace, Myra, Lulu and Lola. Loren lost his life during World War I.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 41B
Henry Dale and Genevieve (Bosch) Townsend

Dale Townsend was born October 14, 1936, at Aikin, Minnesota, to Russell and Esther Gieske Townsend. He married at Bismarck June 26, 1962, Genevieve Bosch, born at Linton on March 2, 1940, to Clemens and Marie Hager Bosch. They make their home in Carrington. Mr. Townsend has served as street commissioner for a number of years. Mrs. Townsend, a beauty operator, owns the Carrington Salon.

They have three children, Barbara, Bryan and Bradley.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 41B
Don L. and Marie (Fritz) Tracy

Don Lemuel Tracy, the son of Hal P. and Helen Tracy, was born in Dakota Territory on May 29, 1899. He married Marie Fritz at Milbank, South Dakota, on February 18, 1915. She was born at Milbank on November 11, 1889.

The couple had two sons: Judson and Raymond.

The Tracy family lived at Linton until 1927 when they came to Carrington. At Linton had been in the photographic business and County Judge of Emmons County.

In Carrington the Tracys owned and operated the Grand Theater until 1955. Mr. Tracy was a member of the Masonic Lodge and the Kiwanis Club.

Mrs. Tracy died April 13, 1964. Mr. Tracy died October 30, 1967. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 42B
C. A. Trullinger

Curtis A. Trullinger, the son of Francis M. and Mary Jane Shell Trullinger was born April 1, 1885, at Maryville, Missouri. He came to North Dakota with his parents in the spring of 1900. He farmed with his father until 1908 when he formed a partnership with R. E. Walker and others in the hardware store. In 1922 he bought the plumbing and heating business from the company and operated it as his own business. In 1940 he purchased the L. C. Green building on Main Street for his shop. Mr. Trullinger, a master plumber, had the plumbing contract for the Carrington Hospital built in 1915 and for a number of schoolhouses, business buildings and residences in Carrington. He was a director of the North Dakota Plumbers Association for a number of years. He retired in the early 1960's and the business was taken over by his son Alan, who had been associated with him.

Curbs was married to Helen Gertrude Webster at Lemmon, South Dakota, on June 30, 1909. The Trullingers were the parents of three children, William, who died in infancy, Alan and Geneva. Geneva worked for the Internal Revenue Service for a number of years. Geneva, born May 25, 1915, died October 19, 1970. Gertrude died July 6, 1959 and Curbs on March 7, 1974. All are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 42B
Frank and Dorothy (Sculthorp) Votava

Frank Votava was born at Pisek on June 4, 1913, to Frank and Barbra Hadney Votava. He married Dorthy Sculthorp, who was born to James and Alice Pearce Sculthorp on April 9, 1917.

The family came to Carrington in 1955, where Mr. Votava managed the O and M Elevator for 14 years and G.T.A, elevator for 9 years. He served in the army in World War II. Both he and his wife, Dorthy are active in the Military organizations.

They have two daughters: Patricia and Cynthia.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 42B
Carl and Catherine (Hertel) Wagenman

Carl Wagenman was born February 5, 1871, in Odessa, Russia. On May 15, 1900, he married Catherine Hertel in Odessa, Russia, who was born there on November 10, 1874. They left Russia because of upheaval in that Country, settling first in Canada. In 1895 they came to Foster County to homestead. Mr. Wagenman was a carpenter and he followed that trade. The family lived in Jamestown for a period of time.

The couple had one daughter, Emma.

Mr. Wagenman died June 5, 1927 and Mrs. Wagenman died May 3, 1961. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 42B
Luther L. and Jane E. (Norton) Walton

Luther Walton was born at Farmington, Michigan on March 5, 1844. His maternal grandfather was a Quaker preacher in Michigan. He was married at Farmington on June 10, 1868, to Jane Elizabeth Norton. She was born December 30, 1842, at Bennington, Vermont. He served as Corporal in Company F, First Michigan Engineers during the Civil War.

L. L. Walton came to North Dakota in 1882 with his brothers, E.I. and Charles. He homesteaded in Wells County.

After L. L. Walton retired and moved to Carrington, his son Jacob lived on the farm.

L. L. Walton's great grandson, Michael Van de Hoven, now owns and operates the farm.

L. L. Walton represented Wells County in the first and second Legislative sessions.

The Waltons had four children: Guy, Hugh, Cynthia, Elizabeth and Jacob.

Mr. Walton died September 3, 1922. Mrs. Walton died May 14, 1923. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 42B
James W. and Marie (Parkhill) Watson

Both James Watson and Marie Parkhill were born in Illinois. James was born August 7, 1899 and Marie was born August 12, 1902. They were married October 10, 1920, in Illinois.

J.W.'s parents were John and Narcie Watson. Marie's parents were C. M. and Ella Brown Parkhill.

The couple came to North Dakota to farm until their retirement when they moved to Carrington.

The Watson's had eight children: Kenneth, James, Dorothy, Ruth, Betty, Charles, Mary and Alice.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 42B
Anton and Frances (Brossart) Welk

Anton Welk was born in Pierce County on May 16, 1909, to Balzar and Margret Welk. He married Frances Brossart at Rugby on October 10, 1939. She was born November 16, 1914, to Joseph and Catherine Valk Brossart in Pierce County.

The Welks had five children: Denis, David, Joseph, Marvin and Raymond.

The Welks farmed in Pierce County until 1973 when they retired and moved to Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 42B
George S. and Jemima (Summers) Welter

George S. Welter was born December 19, 1898, at Brooten, Minnesota to Joseph and Mary Dracteh Welter. He came to North Dakota in 1918 and lived in Estabrook Township for a few years. The family moved to Carrington in 1928 where George was employed at the North American Creamery.

On January 30, 1924, he married Jemima Summers, the daughter of John and Kate Weaver Summers, who was horn March 24, 1902, in Estabrook Township.

The Welters had two daughters: Shirley Mae and Mary Catherine.

Mrs. Welter died February 27, 1967 and is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Mr. Welter continues to reside in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 43B
R. A. and Mabel (Grebe) Wenstrom

R. A. Wenstrom, son of James and Anna Kringstad Wenstrom was born December 2, 1905.

On July 9, 1939, he married Mabel Grebe at Rugby, who was born at Rugby on January 19, 1904. Her parents were John and Elizabeth Miller Grebe.

The Wentsrom's have two children, Carol and Richard. Mrs. Wenstrom taught school for a number of years. Mr. Wenstrom is a painter and an artist. They now reside in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 43B
F. Kenneth and Gertrude (Morton) Wheeler

Kenneth Wheeler, the son of E. W. and Mary Wheeler, married Gertrude Morton, the daughter of R. C. Morton.

Kenneth and Gertrude lived in Carrington until the 1950's when they moved to Kenmare. Kenneth operated the Standard Oil Service Station for about twenty years.

They have one son, Arthur Willis, who is a mortician.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 43B
Keith Wheeler

Keith Wheeler, also a son of E. W. and Mary Wheeler, is a journalist of note.

He wrote for the Chicago Sun‑Times, also Time‑Life. He was a war correspondent during World War II, traveling in the Pacific and Aleutian Islands, later the Near East. He has written several works of fiction, including "Peaceable Love" which appeared on the best seller lists.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 43B
Robert Wheeler

Robert Wheeler, a son of E. W. and Mary Wheeler, also served in World War II. He owns and operates "Wheeler's Native Stone Jewelry" at Lemmon, South Dakota.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 

Jean Wheeler

Jean Wheeler, daughter of E. W. and Mary Wheeler, married Minard McCrea, an educator. They now live in Bismarck. They have two daughters.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 43B
George W. and Anna (Rodabough) Wiley

George Wiley and Anna Rodabough were married February 19, 1890, at Logansport, Indiana. They lived in Indiana until 1899, when they came first to Melville and to Carrington.

Mr. Wiley worked at the carpenter trade, and at the Putnam Lumber Yard. He also served as county surveyor for a few years.

Ws. Wiley is best remembered for her variety store which she opened in 1912 and operated until 1931. Children growing up in Carrington and vicinity between 1912 and 1931 can fondly remember going to Mrs. Wiley's for candy, marbles, school supplies and hair ribbons; and homemade ice cream in the summer.

The Wileys had one son: Ortho.

The Wileys are no longer living. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 43B
Mae Willey

Laura Mae Willey was born in New London, Iowa, on August 6, 1897, to Loren and Lillie G. Leedham Willey. She came to North Dakota with her parents in 1913, when the family bought a farm near Dover. Besides helping on the farm, Mae also helped with the operation of a grocery store at Dover and later at Millers' Spur, east of Bordulac. Mae received her education at a one room rural school and later at Hebron Consolidated school. During the winter Mae helped make cane brooms, which they sold during the summer. After moving to Carrington in 1941, Mae worked in the Gamble store and J.C. Penneys.

She lived with her mother until her mother's death on October 20, 1964. Mae still lives in the family house and maintains the house with many beautiful flowers in a large yard.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 43B
Alan and Cynthia (Olson) Willyard

Alan Willyard, son of Warren and Edythe Zink Willyard was barn at Melville in 1931.

In 1952 he married Cynthia Olson, the daughter of Clarence and Agnes Holth Olson, born in 1935 at Carrington.

They have three children, Pamela, Bruce and Staci.

Both Alan and Cynthia attended the Carrington schools.

Alan owns and operates an excavating business. Cynthia is interested in crafts of rosemaling, being a Rosemaler.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 43B
Charles K. and Hattie (Manley) Wing

C. K. Wing was born at Castleton, Vermont in January 1851. He came to North Dakota in 1881, establishing the first store in Foster County at Newport‑later Melville. In 1884 he married Hattie Manley in Vermont. They had three children: Charles Kleber, Alice and William. Mrs. Wing was born in 1862.

Mr. Wing later enlarged his store including hardware and farm machinery. The business was later moved to Carrington.

He homesteaded and purchased land, at one time owning as much as 12,000 acres.

Above all he was interested in promoting North Dakota as a state. His land company laid out the town sites of McClusky, Pingree, Robinson, Wing and Regan.

Mrs. Wing died in 1943; Mr. Wing in 1917. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 43B
Edward and Olga (Ferguson) Winterer

Edward Winterer, the son of Henry and Emily Green Winterer was born at Carrington. He married at Moorhead on January 11, 1941, Olga, the daughter of John and Gina Lund Ferguson, who was also born at Carrington. Both attended school in Carrington. They lived in Fargo, where they worked at the State Agricultural Adjustment Administration. Edward served in the European theater during World War II.

After the War the couple came to Carrington and Edward took over his father's insurance business, which became the Central Insurance Agency. Olga worked in the office also until the business was sold in 1975.

Retired, the couple lives in Carrington but spends some time in Arizona.

Mr. Winterer is active in the community in Kiwanis, Chamber of Commerce and City Council. Mrs. Winterer is active in the Federated church and the American Legion Auxiliary.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 43B
Henry L. and Emily (Green) Winterer

Henry Winterer was born September 2, 1870, at Le Sauer, Minnesota. His parents, Otto and Francesca Winterer had come to America from France. Henry Winterer married on June 22, 1898 at Bathgate Emily Green, who was born January 27, 1875 at Anoka.

In June, of that year they came to Carrington to live, where Winterer was in the real estate and insurance business. He served on the City Council, as, on the school board as auditor of the City of Carrington.

The couple had six children, Roscoe, Lawrence, Helen, Louise, Mary Catherine and Edward.

Edward took over his fathers business and it became the Central Insurance Agency.

Mr. Winterer died on August 29, 1958 and Mrs. Winterer died August 3, 1958. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 43B
Howard and Alta (Farquer) Wolf

Howard Wolf was born at Lone Rock Wisconsin on March 25, 1879 and married Alta Farquer on August 22, 1906, at Carrington. She was the daughter of William and Sarah Farquer, who was born in October 29, 1883, at Eldridge, North Dakota. The family lived in Carrington, where they operated a grocery store, and Mr. Wolf was a salesman. Alta Wolf worked in a store for many years.

The couple had five children: Laverne, Sarah Helen, Helen, Lois, Wallace and Alfred Theodore. The children attended school in Carrington and were members of the Congregational Church.

Mr. Wolf died December 26, 1958. Mrs. Wolf died January 21, 1971. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 43B
C. W. and Ella (Bloomquist) Yoder

Charles Yoder was born October 21, 1905, at Fargo. He received his education in Fargo and at NDSU. In 1925 he started working for Northwestern Bell and continued in the service until he retired. In 1939 he came to Carrington as manager of Northwestern Bell.

He was a hunter, fisherman, fireman, Red Cross worker, a member of Jaycees, Kiwanis (president) and Elks.

By a previous marriage he had two children: Warren and Lynetta.

On November 25, 1944, he married Ella Bloomquist at New Rockford. Ella Bloomquist, the daughter of Carl and Lena Greitl Bloomquist, was barn at Barlow on October 15, 1916.

Mrs. Yoder died July 30, 1980. Mr. Yoder died December 19, 1966.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 44B
Melvin and Florence (Lange) Zaun

Melvin Zaun was born February 6, 1930, at Valley City to John and Olive Dahl Zaun. He married Florence Lange, the daughter of George and Josephine Phlyssin Lange. Florence was born at Max on July 3, 1930.

The family came to Carrington from Valley City in 1966. Mr. Zaun is the manager of the Farmers Union Oil Company.

They have six children: Terri, Vicki, Jean, Steven, Gayle and James.

The Zaun's are very active in the Catholic Church and the community.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 44B
Philip and Geneva (Hewitt) Zimmerman

Philip "Toadie" Zimmerman was born in 1901 in Minnesota. He was the son of Joseph and Dollie Zimmerman. As a young man he started farming but it wasn't for him ‑ he came to Carrington as a mechanic. He has a successful business in town.

He married on February 6, 1928, Geneva Hewitt. Geneva grew up at Sykeston, where she had been born on May 30, 1908.

The couple had 10 children: Alan, Samuel, Gail, Dean, Joel, Douglas, Marian, Delores, Elaine and Joan.

Mrs. Zimmerman died February 20, 1972. She is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 44B
Eastman

Elmer and Nanna (Jacobson) Bakke

Elmer Bakke was born June 9, 1896 at Roselyn, South Dakota.

He married Nanna Jacobson in Minneapolis.

They lived on section 32 in Longview Township.

They had three children: Mildred, Charman, and Winton.

Mr. Bakke attended college at Brookings, South Dakota for four years.

He was very active in community affairs, being especially interested in the welfare of the people.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 44B
J.H. and Ruth (Beach) Bond 
John Harrison Bond, born May 20, 1889, in Eastman Township, married Ruth Agnes Beach on October 27, 1909.

Ruth Beach was born April 3, 1889 at Long Prairie, Minnesota. Ruth had taught school before her marriage.

John and Ruth lived on several farms in and near Glenfield and Courtenay in Eastman Township. Although John lost one leg in early life, he never considered himself handicapped.

The Bonds had three children: Leona, Leora and Leiva.

Mr. Bond died September 10, 1974. He is buried in the Eastman Cemetery in Foster County.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 44B
Gilbert and Julie (Bjornerud) Fadness

Gilbert Fadness was born March 1, 1880 in Iowa. He came to Foster County in 1902 and settled in Eastman Township on section 10, where he homesteaded.

On June 20, 1916 he married Julie Bjornerud at Fosston, Minnesota. Julia had been born at Rothsay on January 4, 1885.

The couple had eight children: Amanda, Cora, Clifford, John, Olga, Esther, Genora, and Julie Ann. Son John died August 23, 1944 in England of wounds received at Normandy Beach. The children all attended school in Eastman township.

In 1947 the Fadness couple retired and moved to Cooperstown.

Mr. Fadness died April 15, 1953. Mrs. Fadness died May 6, 1971. They are buried at Glenfield.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 44B
Adolph and Anna (Hockert) Haugen

Adolph Haugen, son of John and Mary Engbretson Haugen was born January 6, 1907 at Kensal. On November 6, 1940 he married Anna Hockert at Kensal. Anna was born at Kensal on April 2, 1913 to Math and Mary Mertz Hockert.

The couple farmed in Eastman Township until moving to Carrington in 1974. They have five children: Dorothy, Danes, Dennis, Michael and Duane.

Mrs. Haugen lives in Carrington, she is active in Senior Citizens, Altar Society and the VFW Auxiliary.

Mr. Haugen died June 27, 1980. He is buried in Sunset Gardens in Jamestown.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 44B
John and Josephine (Johnson) Hendrickson

John Hendrickson was born in Sweden on May 6, 1861. He came to Foster County in 1895. He purchased land on section 10 in Eastman Township.

In 1901 he married Josephine Johnson at Kensal. Josephine was born in Sweden on December 6, 1879. She had come to Foster County in 1887.

The couple had six children: Agnes, Nora, Arnold, Henry, Elva and Leila. 
Mr. Hendrickson died May 18, 1919. Mrs. Hendrickson died August 31, 1962. They are buried in the Eastman cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 45B
Math and Mary (Mertz) Hochert

Math Hochert was born in Germany, August 31, 1873. He came to America when he was 13 and the family lived in Minnesota. He married Mary Mertz in Minnesota on April 11, 1899. Mary was born in Minnesota on March 4, 1879. The couple farmed in Eastman Township after coming to North Dakota in the early 1900s.

They had seven children: Joe, Arthur, John, Herman, Elizabeth, Angeline, and Anna.

Mrs. Hochert died December 2, 1961. Mr. Hochert died January 10, 1962. They are buried in the Catholic cemetery at Kensal.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 45B
Vern and Irene (Kramer) Hoggarth

Vern Hoggarth was born July 5, 1911 in Bucephalia Township to Thomas and Amanda Timm Hoggarth.

On April 16, 1942 he married Irene Kramer. She was born August 31, 1923 to Joe and Helen Nogosek Kramer of McKinley Township.

The family bought a farm in Eastman Township in 1942 and lived on the farm for twenty-seven years. The last thirteen years they have resided in Kensal.

They have eleven children: DeVern, Darwin, Cleon, Eloise, Russel, Roger, Odis, Ramonna, Clinton, Vernon and Fay.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 45B
Zachariah and Eva (Timmy Hoggarth

Zachariah Hoggarth, born May 18, 1878 in Ontario, came to Glenfield before 1900 to find employment. He married on April 5, 1900, at Courtenay, Eva Timm who was born October 31, 1876 in Wisconsin. They lived on rented land; the north half of section 2 in Eastman township.

They had three children: Viola, Etta and Joseph.

Two of Eva's sisters married brothers of Zachariah's. Amanda married Thomas Hoggarth and Natty married William Hoggarth.

Zachariah died while plowing on September 22, 1914. Eva died February 26, 1961. They are buried at Courtenay.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 45B
John Hutchinson

, john Henry Hutchinson was born February 5, 1863 in Harrison County, Missouri. The family had lived in Kentucky before moving to Missouri. In 1891, John came to Jamestown to purchase land and to homestead. He filed for a homestead on the Northeast 1/4 of Section 6 in Eastman Township.

In 1901, John married Sarah Gertrude Golden, in Minnesota. Sarah was born in Wisconsin on December 8, 1880. They were the parents of six children: Robert, Lauretta, Charles, Thomas, Margarette and John.

Mrs. Hutchinson died October 26, 1935 and Mr. Hutchinson died August 12, 1942. They are buried in the Eastman cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 45B
Lee and Anna (Dybwad) Lampert

Lee Lampert was born July 25, 1902 at Belvidue, Illinois. He and Anna Dybwad were married November 24, 1955. Anna was born on a farm near Glenfield on October 24, 1902.

Lee came to North Dakota with his parents in 1912. They lived in Eastman Township. Later he bought the south %x of section 22 in Glenfield township. He served on the township board for over 20 years. He also drove school bus. The Lamperts are now retired.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 45B
Phillip and Inge (Nelson) Lampert

Philip Lampert was born in 1878 in Garden Prairie, Illinois. In 1900 he married Inge Nelson at Elgin, Illinois. Inga was born in 1875 in Norway. They came to the county in 1912 and rented land in Glenfield Township, after having lived in Eastman Township. In 1915 they moved to the Brantford farm.

The Lamperts had seven children: Elliott, Lee, Kenneth, Anita, Boyd, Gordon, and Lorraine.

Mr. Lampert died in 1938. Mrs. Lampert died in 1960. They are buried at Glenfield.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 45B
Roy and Agnes (Bausch) Lipetzky

Roy Lipetzky, son of Joe and Merle Evans Lipetzky was born April 4, 1926 in McKinnon Township.

On June 18, 1947 he and Agnes Bausch were married at Kensal.

Agnes Bausch was born at Mott on June 4, 1928 to Anton and Margaret Bausch. They still live on the farm where they started farming.

They have four children: Gary, JoAnn, Kevin and Thomas. Gary served in the United States Army.

The Lipetzkys are active in their church and community.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 45B
Anna Nilson

Anna Nilson, born in Norway in 1848, came to America in 1888 with her daughter, Inga settling first in Wisconsin and coming to North Dakota in 1896.

She had three children: Nils, Christ, and Inga. Nils had come to America early and with the help of an uncle and with his earnings sent for his mother and sister.

Nils and Christ later came to North Dakota and homesteaded in Eastman township, Southeast 1/4 of section 8.

Inga married Philip Lampert in Illinois. They came to Foster County in 1912, living first in Eastman Township and later in Glenfield Township.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 45B
Estabrook

Lloyd and Joanne (Perkins) Becker

Lloyd Becker, son of Matt and Lydia Becker, was born at Carrington on August 20, 1927. On June 16, 1958 he married Joanne Perkins, the daughter of Willard and Mary E. McBride Perkins. She was born September 20, 1937 at Carrington.

The Backers are the second generation to live on the farm on Section 22 in Estabrook Township. They have six children: Debroah, Thomas, Daniel, Jane, Jerome and Kevin.

The Beckers raise Shorthorn cattle besides grain on their farm.

They are active in the church and community.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 46B
Stephen H. and Anna V. (Houndshell) Copenhaver

Stephan Harvey Copenhaver was born August 7, 1871 at Blytheville, Virginia. He married at Roanoke, Virginia on February 15, 1894 Anna Virginia Houndshell who was born at Rural Retreat, Virginia on September 4, 1870. Soon after their marriage they came to Foster County and worked on a farm south of Carrington until they were able to purchase Section 28 in Estabrook Township. Mr. Copenhaver was a cattle buyer as well as farmer. He served on the school board and on the board of the Farmers' Supply Company in Carrington. The Copenhavers lived on the farm until they retired to Carrington. A few years later they moved to California. Their son Stanley and a grandson still operate the farm.

The Copenhavers have five children: Roxie, Stanley, Gladys, Violet and Paul who died as a child.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 46B
E. T. and Lina B. (Rusten) Halaas

Edward T. Halaas was born in Norway on August 8, 1863 and came to America in 1882 and worked on a farm at Milan, Minnesota. The next spring (1883) he worked on the Great Northern main line near Devils Lake. In the summer he came to Foster County and settled on government land, the Southwest 1/4 of Section 24 in Estabrook Township, it had not yet been surveyed. On July 14, 1887 he married Lina Rusten, who was born in 1858. They lived on the farm in Estabrook Township until 1903 when they retired and moved to Carrington. Their daughter, Ida Beaton, lives in the family home in Carrington at 1011 North Third Street. Mr. Halaas was a reader, writer, collector, and traveler. He and his brothers visited Norway in 1914. A book can be found in the city library telling of his trip. He was a politician and claimed to have held more offices than any man in the county; treasurer of Estabrook Township, Foster County Assessor, County Commissioner, Country treasurer, State Representative and Carrington Postmaster appointed by president Taft from 1910 to 1914.

The couple had seven children: Ralph, Leonard, Olga, Ida, Theodore, Bernard and Cora.

Mr. Halaas died in April 1951. Mrs. Halaas died in 1937. They are buried in Kvernes Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 46B
Allen and Mayvis (Westerlund) Linderman

Allen Linderman, the son of Ross and Marie Garland Linderman was born at Carrington on December 12, 1919. Allen farmed with his father until he purchased a farm of his own in Section 7, Estabrook Township. On November 12, 1947 he married Mayvis Westerlund who was born at Kathryn in 1926.

Allen was a pilot and at one time was an oil well driller in North Dakota. He wrote several books on geology. Allen died February 17, 1983.

The couple have one daughter, Nancy Allyn.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 46B
Ross and Marie (Garland) Linderman

Ross Linderman was born at Valparaiso, Indiana on April 16, 1892, the son of Charles B. and Ada Rand Linderman. He came to North Dakota with his parents in 1897. They lived in Birtsell Township for three years before moving over the line into Wells County. On December 6, 1916 Ross married Marie Garland, born January 1, 1898, the daughter of Claude and Sarah Stewart Garland.

The couple farmed in both Wells and Foster counties. They later moved into Barlow after purchasing Section 14 in Estabrook Township.

The Lindermans had seven children: Eugene, Allen, Bonnie, Jeanette, Harold, Jack and Donald. Mr. Linderman died on July. 17, 1967 and Mrs. Linderman March 27, 1977. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 46B
Paul and Ada Mae (Hadley) Marriage

Paul Marriage was born at Mount Ayr, Iowa, on October 26, 1881, and attended college at Ames, Iowa. His first venture in North Dakota was to homestead near Max. In 1910 he came to Foster County to take over his uncle's farm. He farmed in Estabrook Township for many years.

Paul married Ada Mae Hadley, born at Emporia, Kansas, February 10, 1889. Her family later moved to West Branch, Iowa, where the marriage took place on February 10, 1909. She had been a schoolteacher before her marriage.

Paul served on both township and school boards in Estabrook Township. He was active in the Farmers Union and the Credit Union. He served in both boards and was Credit Union Manager for several years. He also served on the ASCS Committee.

The Marriages had three daughters: Phyllis, Loie and Betty.

Mr. Marriage died August 27, 1966 and Ms. Marriage on July 16, 1980. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 46B
John Gustave and Anna (Cholberg) Moberg

John Gustave Moberg came to the United States in 1895 and came to North Dakota in 1897. He ‑was born in Sweden. Anna Cholberg, born April 19, 1883, in Norway, came to the United States in 1900 and the Barlow area in 1900 because her sister Mrs. Jens Ugelstad already lived there. The couple was married on November 10, 1902. They lived on a farm they purchased until 1935. In 1937 they moved into Carrington.

The Mobergs had nine children: Gustav, Jennie, Agnes, James, Mabel, Selma, Arthur and Gladys. A daughter, Anna, died as an infant.

Mr. Moberg died February 14, 1947. Mrs. Moberg died March 6, 1976. They are buried in Kvernes Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 46B
Sivert and Ingeborg (Gorseth) Roaldson

Sivert Roaldson, born in Appdal, Norway on January 5, 1830, was a watchmaker and jeweler in Norway. He married Ingeborg Gorseth on May 30, 1871, in Norway, who was born April 24, 1847. They came to the United States and settled in Minnesota until coming to Foster County in 1882 to homestead on the east half of Section 14 in Estabrook Township.

They were the parents of twelve children; several born in Norway: Bertha (Mrs. John Indergaard), May, Carrie, Serina (Mrs. Martin Anderson), Iver, Roger, Gilbert I (who died in infancy), Ida, Gilbert II, Willie (married Ingartha Edwardson), James (married Ella Crandall), and Oliver (married Jennie Westerlund.)

Sivert served as dentist and barber.

Sivert died June 7, 1912 and Ingeborg on May 22, 1920. They are buried in the Kvernes Cemetery in Nordmore Township.

Mrs. Roaldson's parents Iva and Kari Gorseth had come to America in 1881 when he was 75 years old and she was 66.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 46B
John and Alice (Saastad) Schmid

John William Schmid, the son of Frank and Katherine Zeller Schmid was born on November 20, 1909 in Birtsell Township. He attended schools in Barlow and Carrington and is a graduate of Carrington High School.

On June 8, 1935 he married Alice Margaret Saastad, the daughter of Ole and Bertha Berg Saastad of rural Sawyer, North Dakota. Alice taught school before her marriage. The Schmids lived on the farm in Estabrook Township on Section 8 which had been homesteaded by George Estabrook from whom the township received its name. The Schmids reside on the farm and spend the winters in Mesa, Arizona.

John and Alice are the parents of three sons: Dale, Gary and Ron.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 47B
Florence

George M. and Ida (Mathison) Allen

George M. Allen was born in Comstock, Michigan on August 21, 1887, son of Mr. and Mrs. George Allen. He was graduated from Comstock High School and attended the Kalamazoo Business College before coming to North Dakota in 1910.

He married Ida Mathison on December 31, 1913 at Jamestown. She was born on March 28, 1886.

The couple made their home at Juanita where he operated the Farmers Elevator for eight years. They moved to Grace City in 1921 where he managed the Farmers Elevator and later the Peavey Elevator until he retired. They later moved to Jamestown.

George died on July 8, 1961; Ida died May 19, 1971.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 47B
Kevin R. and Judy (Harry Black

Kevin R. Black, son of William and Leona Tonn Black, was born March 28, 1956 in New Rockford. He married Judy Lynn Harr from Binford June 11, 1977. Judy was born March 11, 1957 in Valley City to Robert and Olga Standal Harr.

Kevin farms with his father the Southeast 1/4 of Section 30 which was homesteaded by George Bakken in 1895. The farm is known as Prairie Rose Farm. Judy is owner and operator of The Cosmo beauty shop in Binford. Kevin has served as clerk of Florence Township for five years.

They have a daughter, Kimberly. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 47B
William R. and Leona (Tonn) Black

William R. Black, son of G.C. and Estella Peterson Black was born October 12, 1926. He married Leona Tonn October 19, 1947. Leona was born November 27, 1928 to Edwin and Etta Mae Fraser Tonn of New Rockford.

They have lived on the Southeast 1/4 of Section 30 in Florence Township, known as Prairie Rose Farm since 1947.

They have four children: Becky, Barbara, Donetta and Kevin. A son died in infancy.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 47B
John and Maggie (Toms) Boe

John Boe was born in Germany in 1870. He was married to Maggie Toms. He emigrated to the United States in 1909 and settled Section 25 in Florence Township.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 

Charles and Jessie (Hopkins) Bowdon

Charles Bowdon was born at Elizabeth, Illinois in 1880. Jessie Hopkins was born at Joplin, Missouri in 1883.

They were married in St. Louis, Missouri, on October 31, 1904. Their children were: Henry, Frank, Elizabeth and Laura.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 47B
C. F. (Frank) and Rose (Hoppa) Burk

Frank Burk, born at Reppy, Iowa, on December 30, 1879, received his grade and high school education there. The family moved to North Dakota in 1900. On December 30, 1904, he married Rose Hoppa of Mantorville, Minnesota. She was born May 4, 1884, the daughter of Paul and Josephine Hoppa.

Frank and Rose Burk lived in Florence Township for a time, later moving to the Grace City area and residing in a farm home which was once the post office in Larrabee Township.

Their children were: Harold and Lloyd.

Frank Burk died in 1929; Rose in 1966. Both are buried in the Grace City Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 47B
George and Emma (Bonderud) Burk

George Burk married on November 23, 1911, Emma Bonderud, who was born on June 3, 1888 at Rothsay, Minnesota, to Mr. and Mrs. Helmer Bonderud. She had come to Larrabee with her parents in 1896. They made their home on a farm near Juanita until 1918, when they moved to Juanita. Emma Burk was postmaster at Juanita from 1926 to 1928 and was treasurer of Florence Township and the Dewey School District for a number of years.

George died in 1922; Emma died on January 5, 1935.

Their children were: Phyllis and Maynard.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 47B
Leslie and Malinda (Werner) Burk

Leslie "Les" Burk was born on October 24, 1894 at Perry, Iowa. He came with his parents to North Dakota in 1899, who settled near Juanita. There he lived and farmed most of his life.

He was married to Malinda Werner on June 25, 1940 at Moorhead, Minnesota. They had one son: Charles.

After retirement, the Burks moved to Juanita.

Les died on January 18, 1968. His wife now resides at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 47B
Arloene Ellingson

Arloene Ellingson was born May 23, 1917 to Theodore and Cora Bjorgo Ellingson.

She was born in Florence Township and attended school in McHenry. ‑

She was employed as Cashier for the Chevrolet Garage at Sioux Falls, South Dakota.

When she retired she came to Carrington to live.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 47B
Lannes and Susan (Falla) Ellingson

Lannes Ellingson was born March 14, 1907 in Eddy County to Joseph and Gertrude Bjorgo Ellingson.

Lannes Ellingson and Susan Falla were married November 27, 1935. Susan was born December 16, 1915 to Anton and Gena Kassa Falla.

Both of the parents were pioneers who homesteaded in North Dakota.

The Ellingsons purchased their farm in 1943 which is on Section 1 in Florence Township.

Mr. Ellingson served as county commissioner for ten years. He has also served on the township board.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Ellingson are active in their church.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 47B
Quentin and Dorothy (Vandeveer) Ellingson

Quentin Ellingson, son of Theodore and Cora Ellingson, was born in Florence Township on February 8, 1921.

He was educated in McHenry.

He served in World War II and the Korean conflict. He was in the Army Air Corps.

He was a second lieutenant and received many distinguished awards and Bronze Oak Leaf Clusters. He retired from service in 1962.

On December 24, 1948 he married Dorothy Vandeveer at Newport News, Virginia. Dorothy was born July 22, 1929 in Virginia.

Mr. Ellingson died March 8, 1974. He is buried at Satellite Beach, Florida.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 48B
Leo and Laura (Klemstein) Gauderman

Leo Gauderman was born in Sheridan County on June 1, 1915 to Wenzell and Mary Gauderman. Leo attended the Juanita schools and after graduating from high school he spent several years in construction at the Fort Peck and Grand Coulee Dams. Afterwards he worked as a welder and supervisor in the Kaiser shipyards in San Francisco. On June 25, 1941, he married Laura Klemstein, daughter of Frederick and Ida Zink Klemstein who was born September 30, 1916, at Melville.

In 1943 the Gaudermans returned to North Dakota to live on Section 17 Florence Township.

Their children are: Joann, Carol, Janet, Bonnie, Leo Jr. and Terra. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 48B
Wenzel and Mary (Beranek) Gauderman

Wenzel Gauderman was born in Bohemia on January 16, 1875. Mary Beranek was born March 3, 1881 in Bohemia and came to the United States in 1895. She settled in New Ulm, Minnesota, where she met Wenzel, and they were married there on February 18, 1901.

In 1917 the Gaudermans moved to Foster County and established a farm home in the Juanita community. They retired and moved to Carrington in 1944.

Their children are: Celia, Rose, Agnes, Joe, Edward, and Leo.

Mary Gauderman died on October 26, 1947 and Wenzel on November 26, 1964. After the first Mrs. Gauderman's death he married Anna Sonasel of Salt Lake City, Utah.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 48B
Frank and Ellen (Johnson) Glassner

Frank Glassner was born in Wisconsin on August 6, 1872. He was married to Ellen Johnson in 1897. Ellen was born in Sweden on January 28, 1872. They had one son, Ralph.

The couple moved to Kensal in 1904 and operated a hotel for a few years. Then they moved to a farm north of Kensal where they lived until 1947, when they moved to Juanita. He continued his farming interests after leaving the farm.

Frank died in January 1955; Eilen died in 1957.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 48B
Christ and Edith (Barrett) Guessing

Christ Gluessing was born at Charlotte, Iowa, on August 24, 1881 and in 1910 came to the McHenry‑Juanita area where he farmed.

He married Edith Barren on November 29, 1916. They had two children: Gordon and Margaret.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 48B
Leslie W. and Colleen (Stangeland) Greger

Leslie Greger was born May 5, 1950 at Carrington the son of Walter and Mary Kolman Greger. He married October 25, 1971, the daughter of Alf and Margaret Wright Stangeland, Colleen Stangeland. They live on a rented farm near Juanita. They have two children: Lee and Cara.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 48B
Ray and Audrey (Nelson) Harrington

Ray Harrington was born May 2, 1911 at Sterling, North Dakota. On June 4, 1935, he married Audrey Nelson at Carrington, the daughter of the John Nelsons, who was born March 16, 1916 at Glenfield. Both Ray and Audrey attended school in Juanita.

The couple had three children: Harland, Bruce and Alan.

The family moved to St. Paul in 1939 where they presently reside.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 48B
William Walter and Nettie (McCoy) Hazlett

William "Bill' Hazlett was born November 30, 1861 in Newcastle, Pennsylvania. He came to North Dakota and settled at Hope in 1882. He married Nettie Louise McCoy on January 11, 1887. They later moved to Juanita where he became postmaster in 1911, a post he held for many years.

Four children were born to the Hazletts: Howard, Frank, Charles, and Grace.

' 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 48B
Ole and Aletta (Winther) Hegvik

Both Ole Hegvik and Aletta Winther were born at Hoybakken, Norway. Ole on August 5, 1876, and Aletta on July 8, 1884. They were married on November 28, 1909.

They came to Foster County in 1918, after living in Iowa and at Binford. They purchased a farm in Florence Township. Later they moved into Juanita.

Mr. Hegvik had served in the military in Norway.

The Hegviks had four children: Martha, Lasse, John, and Alton. All three bays served in the Armed Forces during World War II.

Mr. Hegvik died November 4, 1955, and Mrs. Hegvik died March 31, 1971. They are buried at Cooperstown.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 48B
Peter and Lily (Reed) Ibsen

Peter Ibsen was born and raised in Denmark. He married Lily Reed of Juanita. He farmed in the Juanita community, later moving to Carrington.

Their children were: Elton, Leonard, Clifford, and Kathryn.

Peter died in 1937. His wife survived him by three weeks.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 49B

Julius and Vera (Harrington) Knuth

Julius Knuth, born July 22, 1888, came to North Dakota from Holstein, Iowa with his brother in 1900. He farmed in the Juanita area. He served overseas during World War I. Mr. Knuth married Vera Harrington in Carrington on May 22, 1935.

They had two sons: Kenneth and Thomas.

Mr. Knuth died January 12, 1977. He is buried at Carrington. Mrs. Knuth resides in Juanita.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 49B

Frank J. and Gurina (Storkson) Koenig

Frank Koenig was born June 6, 1892 at Independence, Wisconsin to the William Koenigs.

He married Gurina. Storkson at New Rockford in February of 1919. Gurina was born in Norway on July 7, 1896.

The couple had four children: Shirley, Jack, Betty, and Elaine.

The family lived on a farm between Juanita and Glenfield from 1925 to 1934.

Frank was a farmer, a brakeman on the railroad, dairy farmer, and an auctioneer. For fifteen years he worked as a hustler on switching engines.

After moving to Washington, he was employed by a lumber company.

Mrs. Koenig died July 18, 1940. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 49B

Archie and Marian (Dean) Larson

Archie Larson, son of Arthur and Anna Lien Larson, was born at Harvey, on August 3, 1916.

He and Marian Dean were married in Michigan, on September 6, 1944. Marian, the daughter of Charles and Oro Dean was born July 31, 1919.

Their children are: Larry, Oro Ann, and Anita.

Archie served in the United States Navy joining in 1937. He was employed at the post office until he retired in 1971. He is presently area manager for the Sons of Norway in Michigan.

Marian received a degree from the Eastern University of Michigan and taught school in Michigan until she retired in 1977.

The Larsons make their home in Benton, Michigan.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 49B
Gustav and Selma Moos

Gustav Moos was born in Germany on September 12, 1884. He married Selma Moos. Gustav died in 1959 at Carrington.

Selma later married Russell Nelson. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 49B
Lloyd and Ida (Burns) Nelson

Lloyd Nelson came to the Juanita area about 1909. He farmed in the area for several years. In 1924 he operated an elevator at Berthold and later at Juanita.

In January 1916 he married Ida Burns at Prairie du Chien, Wisconsin. Ida taught school near Glenfield and in Juanita for several years.

The Nelsons had one daughter Harriet.

Mrs. Nelson died in June 1937, and Mr. Nelson died in October 1973.

Their daughter Harriet married Lasse Hegvik.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 49B

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 

Gustav Jo and Amanda (Bergland) Pewe

Gustav Pewe was born at McHenry on October 30, 1905, the son of John and Margarita Speck Pewe. On June 14, 1941 at Carrington he married Amanda Bergland who was born at Lawton on January 25, 1905. Mrs. Pewe taught school for twenty‑nine years and served as treasurer of the North Dakota Retired Teachers for ten years.

There were no children.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 49B
John H. and Margarita (Speck) Pewe

John H. Pewe was born in Hamburg, Germany on January 15, 1861. He came to North Dakota to be with other members of his family and because he opposed compulsory military training in Germany. Mr. Pewe had been a bricklayer there. He married Margarita Speck. The couple farmed near Juanita. They had seven children: Alma, Carl, Frieda, Ella, Gustav, Ernest and Hilda. He died in September 1936 and is buried at McHenry. Mrs. Pewe is also buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 49B
Louis Resler Julia Evans Resler Delia Hanson Resler

Louis Resler was born in Pembina County on April 24, 1889. He married Julia Evans in 1918. They had one son, Francis. They operated a general merchandise store at Juanita.

Julia died, in 1956 and Louis married Delia Hanson in 958.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 49B
Rutherford and Deana (Vining) Short

Rutherford Dewey Short, son of Will and Myrtle Short, was born at McIntyre, Iowa on January 20, 1899. His wife, Deana Vining, daughter of David and Jennie Mork Vining, was born at McHenry on February 7, 1909.

They were married at Carrington on November 20, 1927.

Rutherford and Deana bought their farm in section 13, Florence Township fifty years ago; now their son David owns the farm which he bought twelve years ago.

The Shorts were the parents of twelve children: Kendall, Maxine, Roberta, Terrance, David, Douglas, Brian, Linda, Judith, Ruth, Jonathan, and Timothy.

Mr. Short died November 20, 1981 and is buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 49B
Herbert and Mildred (McDaniel) Smith

Herbert Smith was born in Wisconsin on November 8, 1892 and came to the Juanita area with his parents in 1896. He served in the armed forces in World War I.

Herbert married Mildred McDaniel and they had one son, Lloyd; and one daughter.

Herbert Smith died on November 4, 1956. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 50B
Ernest Solberg

Ernest Solberg was born to Oscar and Margaret Solberg June 20, 1911 at Juanita. He died at Carrington in April 1973.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 50B
Alf and Margaret (Wright) Stangeland

Alf Stangeland was born at Cooperstown on November 8, 1921 to Trygve and Karen Volstad Stangeland. He married Margaret at Grace City on March 24, 1951. Margaret Wright, the daughter of Lester and Dorothy E. Wright, was born December 14, 1932 at Grace City.

The couple purchased their present farm on Section 35 in Florence Township in 1962. Mr. Stangeland served on the ASCS Board and has served as township supervisor for 24 years. He was in the United State Air Force in 1946 and 1947.

They have four children: Colleen, Jon, Jeffrey and Ron.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 50B
Trygve and Karen (Valstad) Stangeland

Trygve Stangeland was born March 28, 1892 in Sandnes, Norway. He married at Sandnes, Norway on April 28, 1920 Karen Volstad who was born there on August 22, 1898. They came to North Dakota in 1921 because they had relatives living there. They lived first in Rolling Prairie Township and then bought a farm in Florence Township in 1945. Mr. Stangeland served in the United States Army during World War I.

The couple had eight children: Christian, Sigurd, Alf, Kenneth, Solveig, Lloyd, June and Harold.

Mr. Stangeland died October 7, 1968. He is buried in the James River Lutheran cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 50B
Stanley and Kathleen (Engstrom) Tufte

Stanley Tufte was born May 9, 1920 at Mose to Peder and Anna Larson Tufte.

He and Kathleen Engstrom were married on October 24, 1942 at McHenry. Kathleen was born at Glenfield on January 22, 1923. Her parents were David and Olga Erickson Engstrom.

The couple had five children: Renee, Barbara, Michael, Wanda, and Darla.

Their farm was acquired in October 1948. It is located on section 11 in Florence Township.

Mr. Tufte served in the army from 1941 to 1945 during World War II. He was stationed in Europe.

The family is active in the community.

Mr. Tufte died August 24, 1981 and is buried at McHenry.

Mrs. Tufte resides on the farm. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 50B
David H. and Jennie (Mork) Vining

Both David Vining and Jennie Laura Marie Mork were born in Frontenac, Minnesota, David on November 30, 1874 and Jennie on April 3, 1874. David had come‑ to North Dakota to homestead in 1901 and settled on the Northeast 1/4 of section 24 in Florence Township.

The next year (February 22, 1902) David Vining and Jennie were married and came to Foster County to live. They lived on the farm for many years; he until his death and she until she was 101.

Mr. Vining owned and operated a threshing rig. Mrs. Vining was a kind, neighborly woman and always busy. She lived in her home until she broke her hip when she was 101, and then spent her last five years in a nursing home.

The couple had seven children.

Mr. Vining died in February 1935; Mrs. Vining died in May 1980 aged 106.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 50B
Frederick and Ella (Berg) Wallbridge

Fred Wallbridge married Ella Berg on December 5, 1907. Ella was born on March 7, 1885 at Hannaford. They lived in the Cooperstown area and later in Florence Township, where they farmed.

Their children were: Ralph, Ethel, Ann, Gladys and Inez.

Fred died September 21, 1965.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 50B
Ralph and Ardyce (Stephenson) Wallbridge

Ralph H. Wallbridge was born January 12, 1909 at Hannaford to the Fred Wallbridges. He married Ardyce Stephenson on September 21, 1936 at Carrington. Ardyce was born at Juanita on January 15, 1914.

They are the parents of one daughter, Mary Ann.

The couple live in Florence Township on Section 8 near Grace City.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 50B
Clarence and Mary (Merchant) Wold

Clarence Wold was born August 23, 1894. He married on October 7, 1914 at Wahpeton.

Mary Melvina Merchant was born January 19, 1898. The family came to Juanita in 1918 where Mr. Wold was employed by the Great Northern Railway.

Six children were born in the family: Everett, Clayton, Vivian, Einer, Arnold, and Joel.

Mrs. Wold died February 16, 1955. Mr. Wold died August 5, 1960. They are buried at Juanita.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 50B
Glenfield

Darold D. and Evelyn (Dramstad) Anderson

Darold Duane Anderson, son of Arnold and Evelyn Thompson Anderson was born September 1, 1927, at Sutton, North Dakota.

His wife Evelyn Dramstad was born August 4, 1927, in Cooperstown, North Dakota. They have four children, Jayne, Muriel, Donna and Becky.

Mr. Anderson was a member of the Skymasters Flying Club and president of the Glenfield Development Corporation.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 51B
Lee O. and Sarah (Burns) Dunbar

Lee Ott Dunbar was born January 10, 1877, at Wazeka, Wisconsin. His wife, Sarah Louise Burns was born May 4, 1886, at Soldier's Grove, Wisconsin. The couple came to Glenfield in 1907, where they purchased a farm.

They were the parents of four daughters: Maude, France, Dorothy, and Ruth.

A grandson Lowell Lutz now lives on the farm.

Mr. Dunbar died in 1942. Mrs. Dunbar died July 10, 1968. They are buried at Glenfield.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 51B
John and Dorothy (Dunbar) Edlund

John Edlund was born August 3, 1892 in Norway, son of John Edlund who was born in Norway‑ and now deceased and buried in Norway.

Dorothy Dunbar, daughter of Lee Dunbar and Sarah Burns Dunbar was born May 10, 1912 at Glenfield, North Dakota.

John and Dorothy were married October 4, 1934 in Carrington. They were the parents of five children, James, Thomas, Judith, Roger and David.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 51B
Hjalmer J. Erickson

Hjalmer Erickson was born at Glenfield on December 26, 1896.

He was a carpenter during World War II in Alaska. Afterward he came back to Glenfield to live.

He was the father of 6 children: Harland, LeRoy, Dale, Calvin, Doris and Lois.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 51B
Haakon and Josephine (Langraff) Halvorson

Haakon Halvorson was born in Solar, Norway, on January 14, 1881. He came to Cooperstown in 1902 and later began farming in the Glenfield area. He continued farming until 1951.

On December 21, 1910, he married Josephine Langraff. Josephine was born June 1, 1887 at Biri, Norway. She had come to the Glenfield area in 1907.

The couple had 8 children: 4 boys; John, Ragnar, Manley and Alvin; and 4 girls.

Mr. Halvorson died April 17, 1968. Mrs. Halvorson died June 22, 1970.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 51B
Ragner and Marion (Stephens) Halvorson

Ragner Halvorson was born March 24, 1916 in Griggs County to Haakon and Josephine Halvorson. On July 26, 1947 he married Marion Stephens at Moorhead. Marion, the daughter of Frank and Christine Stephens, was born March 31, 1923 at Minneapolis.

The couple have three children, Dennis, Darlene and Christine.

The couple belongs to the Sons of Norway.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 51B
John and Regina (Anderson) Hedquist

John Hedquist was born June 22, 1892 in Sweden. He came to America in 1911 and lived in Duluth until 1914 when he came to the Glenfield community.

He was a carpenter. In 1948, he retired and moved to New Rockford.

In 1915, he married Regina Anderson at Moorhead.

They had 4 children: Marvin, Arnold, Percy and a daughter, Mrs. Shubring.

Mr. Hedquist died January 21, 1962.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 51B
Alton and Janice (McDonald) Hegvik

Alton Hegvik, son of Ole and Alette Winther Hegvik, was born at McHenry on November 4, 1922.

On June 24, 1950, he was married to Janice McDonald at Jamestown. Janice was born at Wheatland, Wyoming, on July 26, 1930, to Francis and Mae Dyce McDonald.

The Hegviks have five children: Richard, Donna, Alan, Mark and Shari.

Mr. Hegvik belongs to the American Legion and the Veterans of Foreign Wars.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 51B
Henry G. Hendrickson

Henry Gordon Hendrickson, born near Glenfield on September 3, 1908, married Hildred Katherine Ordahl on June 21, 1938, at Glenfield, where her father was the Lutheran minister. Hildred was born May 2, 1912, at Holt, Minnesota. The couple have three children: John, David and Rachel.

Henry Hendrickson became a rural mail carrier out of Glenfield in August 1930. Later his route consolidated with Grace City. He experienced all the trials of early rural carriers, snow, mud and cold.

Mr. Hendrickson retired in 1977 after nearly forty‑seven years of service. They continue to make their home in Glenfield.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 51B
Lewis E. and Clara (Thompson) Hennings

Lewis Hennings was born May 11, 1888, at New Holstein, Wisconsin. He came to North Dakota with his parents, William and Magdalena Boji Hennings in 1902. Lewis Hennings married Clara Thompson at Cooperstown on June 26, 1912. Clara, the daughter of Tollef and Regina Thue Thompson, was born March 3, 1892, at Glenfield. The couple made their home at Glenfield. They were the parents of two daughters, Leona and Lucille.

Mrs. Hennings died January 24, 1977, and' is buried in the Sunset Gardens at Jamestown. Mr. Hennings resides at Glenfield.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 51B
S. E. and Dorothy (Overbeck) Isgrig

S. E. Isgrig was born March 18, 1904, at Superior, Iowa, to Edwin and Sybil Isgrig. On July 30, 1928, he married Dorothy Overbeck at Moorhead. Dorothy, the daughter of George and Nellie Overbeck, was born January 29, 1908.

They have two children, Elvin and Shirley. They reside in Glenfield.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 51B
August William and Christina (Person) Johnson

Both August Johnson and Christina Person were born in Sweden. August, on August 28, 1871 and Christina on April 12, 1879. They were married August 5, 1901 at Carrington.

They first settled in Pennsylvania but later came to Foster County because they had some relatives here.

They purchased land on Section 29 in Glenfield Township. A grandson, David Utke, now lives on the farm.

The Johnsons had five children: Alice, Ruth, Eileen, Joyce and Arthur.

Mr. Johnson died February 1, 1942, and Mrs. Johnson died June 16, 1948. They are buried at Glenfield.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 51B
Carl Leonard and Leona (Halvorson) Johnson

Carl Leonard Johnson was born July 12, 1907, in Glenfield, North Dakota, son of Edward and Julia Pierson Johnson.

Leona Halvorson was barn September 20, 1912, at Kensal, North Dakota, daughter of Lewis Hennings and Clara Thompson Hennings.

Carl and Leona were married November 22, 1947, at Dickinson, North Dakota.

They had two children, Theodore and Raymond.

Mr. Johnson was a member of the Farm Bureau and served as township supervisor.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 52B
Edward G. and Julia (Person) Johnson

Edward Johnson was born in Sweden on August 28, 1879. He came to the area in 1898.

He married Julia Person on February 2, 1907, at Valley City. Julia was born April 4, 1882, in Sweden. She lived in Canada before coming to Glenfield.

The Johnsons probably came to the area because they had relatives here.

They purchased a farm on Section 16 in Glenfield Township, where they spent their life. A son now operates the farm.

The Johnsons had seven children: Carl, Walfred, Edith, Dorothy, Audrey, Ernest and Elaine.

Mr. Johnson died June 7, 1952. Mrs. Johnson died October 1, 1971. They are buried at Glenfield.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 52B
Herman and Hildur (Lund) Johnson

Herman Johnson was born in Sweden on November 15, 1878. He came to America with his parents in 1886. They first settled in Glenfield Township on Section 30.

On December 31, 1906, he married Hildur Lund. Hildur was born in Sweden on September 8, 1888. Her parents were John A. and Anna Johnson Lund.

The Johnsons had eight children: Francis, Elsie, Margaret, LeRoy, Leona, Willmar, Hyllis and Betty.

Mr. Johnson bought land in Glenfield Township which was purchased by his son LeRoy in 1942. Now the farm is being operated by LeRoy's sons Barton and Jon.

Mr. Johnson died April 30, 1942. Mrs. Johnson died August 22, 1969. They are buried in the Eastman Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 52B
LeRoy and June Johnson

LeRoy Johnson, son of Herman and Hildur Lund Johnson, was born April 7, 1914, at Glenfield. He married June Johnson at Kensal on June 23, 1945. June was born June 23, 1919, at Kensal to John and Mary Nelson Johnson. The couple lived on the Johnson farm in Section 30 in Glenfield Township. The third generation is now living on the farm.

They had five children: Robert, Brach, Barton, Jon, and Julie.

Mr. Johnson is active in the I.O..O.F. lodge, township and school; serving on both boards for many years. He has been a County Commissioner for six years.

Mrs. Johnson is active in church and two fraternal organizations. She served as state president of the Rebekah Assembly and is now in her second year as assembly secretary. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 52B
Kenneth and Delalah (Eli) Knapp

Kenneth Knapp was born December 2, 1914, in Crookston, Minnesota, the son of Boyd and Myrtle Knapp, He married at Glenfield on November 7, 1970, Delalah Eli, was born July 11, 1913, in Binford, North Dakota. She was the daughter of Hessen and Kathryn Libby Eli.

The Knapps had six children, Josephine, Jeannette, Dorothy, Charlotte, Charles and Irene. Mr. Knapp died May 15, 1981 and was buried at Binford, North Dakota.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 

Arnold and Margaret (Johnson) McDaniel

Arnold McDaniel was born at Juanita on November 27, 1910, to James and Fern McDaniel. On February 19, 1936, he married Margaret Johnson at Carrington. She was the daughter of Herman and Hildur Lund Johnson, born November 15, 1911, at Glenfield.

The couple had three sons, Monte, Joel and Paul.

They acquired their farm in 1941, which is the North 1/2 of Section 22 in Glenfield Township.

Mr. McDaniel was township clerk for 20 years.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 52B
James S. and Fern E. (Brock) McDaniel

James McDaniel was born July 30, 1882, in Wisconsin to Albert and Belle Smith McDaniel. He came to Foster County with his parents in 1896. They retired to Glenfield.

James McDaniel and Fern Ellen Brock were married at Carrington on February 4, 1910. Fern was born in Wisconsin to Joseph and Martha Graham Brock on April 1, 1889.

The McDaniels had eleven children: Arnold, Beryl, Isabelle, James, Glen, Raymond, Richard, Donald, Ardath, Russell and Joseph.

Mr. McDaniel died January 12, 1966. He is buried at Glenfield.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 52B
Nels Nelson

Nels Nelson was born in Oslo, Norway, on December 15, 1870. He left Norway in 1886 and settled in Wisconsin until 1895 when he came to Foster County to homestead. His claim was near where Glenfield is now. Glenfield had not been established at the time.

He lived on his farm until 1936 when he retired and moved into Glenfield .

He died in December 1936.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 52B
Raymond and Edith (Jungck) Olsen

Raymond Olsen was born October 24, 1887. He came to the Glenfield area with his parents, Hans and Ella Klemm Olsen, in 1907.

He married Edith Jungck in Wisconsin on March 7, 1913. They had 2 daughters: Marian and Hazel.

The family lived on a farm near Glenfield.

Mr. Olsen died September 17, 1968. He is buried in Riverside Cemetery at Fargo.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 52B
Mathias and Inga (Gunderson) Ordahl

Mathias Ordahl was born November 22, 1874, in Norway. He came to America in 1889 to live with an uncle in Glenwood, Minnesota.

In 1908 he became an ordained minister and served in northern Minnesota for several years. He also filed on a homestead.

In 1926 he was called to serve the Lutheran parish in Binford, Sutton and Glenfield. He served this parish until he retired in 1935.

He was united in marriage with Inga Gunderson in Minneapolis on June 6, 1911. Inga was born in Norway on May 5, 1883.

The couple had seven daughters: Hildred, Valborg, Esther, Florence, Dagny, Myrtle, and Evangeline.

Rev. Mathias Ordahl died October 6, 1939. Mrs. Ordahl died October 31, 1966. They are buried at Glenfield.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 53B
Vern and Thelma (Kraft) Overbeck

Vern Overbeck was born August 1, 1897, in Elgin, Iowa, to Henry John and Hannah Lange Overbeck, both are now deceased and buried in Carrington Cemetery.

He married in Oelwein, Iowa, on February 3, 1920, Thelma Kraft, daughter of John and Etta Kraft, born August 21, 1900, in West Union, Iowa.

They had two sons, Robert and John. They now live in Glenfield.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 53B
Kevin and Virginia (Zimprich) Pedersen

Kevin Pedersen was born November 7, 1955, at Kensal to Gordon and Lillian Ellingson Pedersen.

He is a diesel mechanic, receiving his training at Wahpeton.

He married Virginia Zimprich at Jessie on April 28, 1979. Virginia was barn to Carl and Irene Zimprich at Cooperstown on October 19, 1957.

They have one son Derek.

The couple has lived in Glenfield since 1979.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 53B

Lottie Posey

Louie Posey, the daughter of Zack and 'Della McDaniel Posey, was born on October 13, 1888, in Crawford County, Wisconsin. Lottie came to North Dakota in 1906 with her parents and in 1908 they settled south of Glenfield.

Miss Posey taught school for several years. She was the postmaster at Glenfield for 46 years and served as the correspondent for the Foster County Independent for about 60 years.

Both her grandfathers served in the Civil War.

Miss Posey resides in Glenfield. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 53B

Benjamin C. and Henrietta (Hendrickson) Ryum

Benjamin Ryum was born June 18, 1934, and Henrietta Hendrickson was born June 21, 1841. They came from Rorvik, Norway in 1884 to homestead on the Southwest 1/4 of Section 24 in Glenfield Township with eleven of their thirteen children, two had died in infancy. The children were: Hans, Hava, Andreas, Bernt, Karen, John, Christian, Edward, Julian, Johnes and Ana. The Ryums helped found the Glenfield Lutheran church. Henrietta donated part of the land for the cemetery.

Benjamin died January 15, 1888 and Mrs. Ryum on June 19, 1916. They are buried at Glenfield.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 53B
Christian and Anna Marie (Sandvold) Ryum

Christian Ryum, born in Norway, September 24, 1870, came to the Glenfield area with his parents in 1884. On August 12, 1900, he married Anna Marie Sandvold, daughter of the Andrew Sandvolds.

They had six children: Helen, Chester, Bertha, Alice, Ernest and Ruth.

Christ died October 15, 1949 and Anna died January 1943. They are buried at Glenfield. After Christ's death his son Chester took over the farm.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 53B
Ernest and Mildred (Michaelson) Ryum

Ernest Morris Ryum, son of Christian and Anna Sandvold Ryum was born April 5, 1908. On November 13, 1932 he married Mildred Michaelson at Homer, Nebraska.

They had four children: Mylerna, Gary, Ricky, and Vicki.

The family lived in Glenfield.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 53B
Andrew I. and Janna (Vatne) Sharpe

Andrew Sharpe was born November 26, 1886, in Norway. He came to North Dakota in 1903 and settled in Cooperstown.

On October 9, 1910, he married Janna Vatne at Cooperstown. For twelve years Mr. Sharpe was a grain buyer at Sheppard, before he moved to Glenfield where he continued as a grain buyer until 1958, when he entered the insurance business and moved to Carrington.

Mr. Sharpe was an organizer of Tri‑County Electric and served as a director and president for sixteen years.

He served in the state legislature from 1939 to 1945 from Foster and Eddy Counties.

He belonged to the Masonic Lodge, Shriners, Elks, and Modern Woodmen of America.

The Sharpes had three daughters, Mrs. Leroy Alfson, Mrs. John Cooley, and Mrs. James (Doris) Bronaugh.

Mrs. Sharpe died in 1961. Mr. Sharpe died in 1968.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 53B
Tollef E. and Regina (Rasmusdotter) Thompson

Tollef Thompson was born at Telemark, Norway, on October 21, 1861. He married Regina Rasmusdotter at Lisbon on February 2, 1885. She was born at Stavanger, Norway, January 23, 1864.

The couple came to the Glenfield area in 1890 to homestead on the Northeast 1/4 of Section 26. They also resided on two other farms in Rolling Prairie Township.

They had ten children: Thea, Thorvold, Throvel, Clara, Raynard, Inga, Mirl, Elizabeth, Evelyn and Norman.

Mr. Thompson died April 22, 1941. Mrs. Thompson died October 12, 1959. They are buried at Glenfield.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 53B
Lawrence and Eileen (Johnson) Utke

Lawrence Utke was born at Enderlin on February 19, 1914, to Mr. and Mrs. William Utke.

He married at Glenfield on December 27, 1938, Eileen Johnson, the, daughter of August and Christina Person Johnson. She was born at Glenfield on December 6, 1914.

Eileen taught school before her marriage.

The couple had two children: Judith and David.

Mr. Utke died June 29, 1973 and is buried at Glenfield.

Mrs. Utke resides at Glenfield. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 54B
Warren and Selma (Opperude) Vandewerker

Warren Vandewerker was born at Golva, Illinois, on April 2, 1865.

He married Selma Opperude in 1925 at Valley City. It was his second marriage.

They had nine children.

He was a well driller and had operated a cafe in Juanita before he came to Glenfield to make his home in 1920.

Mr. Vandewerker died September 24, 1960. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 54B
Andrew H. and Gladys (Hoyt) Walen

Andrew Walen, son of Elmer and Helen Dybwad Walen, was born March 20, 1918.

On June 20, 1948, he married Gladys Hoyt at McHenry. Gladys was born August 28, 1925, to Fred and Agnes Hoggarth Hoyt. The couple has two children Gary and Alden.

They purchased their farm in 1940. The family is active in the Farmer's Union. Andrew has served on the Oil Board at Sutton and is presently a board member of the Griggs County Farmer's Union.

Gladys has been a Farmer's Union youth leader in Griggs County for 21 years, the last eleven as the Griggs County Youth Leader. She has also served as a 4‑H leader. She taught school for three years.

Mr. and Mrs. Walen are members of the Sutton Senior Citizens.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 54B
C. Adolph and Alma (Dybwad) Walen

Adolph Walen was born in Griggs County on April 12, 1890, to A. L. and Johanna Peterson Walen. He married Alma Dybwad at Minneapolis on January 22, 1927. She was the daughter of Andrew and Alma Dybwad and was born September 15, 1904 in Griggs County.

They are the parents of four children, Milton, Nelda, Leander and Margrethe.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 54B
Elmer Andrew and Helen Alice (Dybwad) Walen

Elmer Walen, son of Anders and Johanna Peterson Walen, was born near Binford on May 21, 1888.

He and Helen Dybwad were married at her home near McHenry on June 27, 1917. Helen was the daughter of Andrew and Anne Hegre Dybwad, and was born August 23, 1898.

The couple had six children Andrew, Arthur, Harry, Ernest, Arlene and Raymond.

The family lived on a farm in Glenfield Township, Section 5. The farm, which was first purchased by Elmer and his brother Adolph, was later purchased by Elmer's son Raymond. Mr. Walen was active in the community. He served on the ASCS committee for 24 years.

Two of the sons served during World War

II. Harry in the Army and Arthur in the Signal Corps.

Elmer Walen died August 18, 1965. He is buried at Glenfield. Mrs. Walen is a resident at Golden Acres Manor at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 54B
Raymond and Carol (Olson) Walen

Raymond Walen, son of Elmer and Helen Dybwad Walen, was born September 12, 1938.

On August 12, 1962, he married Carol Olson at Kloten. Carol was born at McVille, on May 11, 1943, to Oscar and Thelma Trostad Olson.

The couple has two daughters Joan and Marsha.

The family lives on the farm formerly owned by his father. They purchased the farm in 1965.

The family is active in their church activates.

Ray also serves on the township board. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 54B
Haven

George R. Black

George Robinson Black was born in Ontario, Canada, on March 12. 1869. He was married in May 1898 at Carrington to Eliza Emily Harbottle also born in Ontario on February, 9, 1877.

He came to Carrington in 1883 to homestead in Haven Township on the Northwest 1/4 of Section 30. His brother James Black also homesteaded in the same township on the Southwest 1/4 of Section 30.

George and Eliza were the parents of six children; Harry, Ellen, Violet, Joseph, Robert and Mary. They lived on the farm until his death in 1928. Mrs. Black died in November 1961. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 55B
James Black

James Black came to North Dakota from Ontario, Canada in March, 1891, with the Fergusons, John and Kenneth, and several other young men.

He acquired land in Haven Township where he spent a number of years on the Southwest 1/4 of Section 30.

Marie Pratt Beaver, an elderly woman, came in to be both mother and grandmother to his two young daughters, May and Mertie, after their mother died, when Mertie was a small baby.

In March 1912, Mrs. Beaver died leaving the girls then 12 and 10 to take on the housekeeping chores.

James Black died in March 1935 and is buried in Duncan Creek Cemetery at Bloomer, Wisconsin.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 55B
J. C. Blakely

Jay C. Blakely was born September 21, 1875, at Pine River, Wisconsin. He married Anna Pease, after her death he married Lulu Lamb. Anna Pease Blakely was buried in the Brethren Church Cemetery in Haven Township. Jay Blakely's mother, Mrs. Ellen L. Blakely homesteaded on Southwest 1/4 of Section 20.

He later moved to Phoenix, Arizona, where he died in 1921. He is buried in Phoenix.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 55B
Elroy and Marlys (Sandval) Ellingson

Elroy Ellingson was born at Carrington on August 13, 1932 to Fanuel and Marie Stangeland Ellingson. He married at Grace City.

Marlys, daughter of Jerry and Martha Skaar Sandval, was born May 29, 1936 at Carrington.

They have three children: Craig, Joan, and Malina.

The family lives on Section 1 in Haven Township, formerly Mrs. Ellingson's grandfather's farm.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 55B
Fanuel Ellingson

Fanuel Ellingson, born March 29, 1887, and Marie Stangeland, born August 2, 1890 at Sander, Norway, were married at Cooperstown, North Dakota on July 12, 1917. Fanuel came to Cooperstown in 1904 and to Foster County in 1905. He bought land on Section 25 in Haven Township, in 1917 he moved to Section 24. Mr. and Mrs. Ellingson were charter members of the James River Lutheran Church. The Ellingson's had five children: Lillian, Marvel, Clifford, Franklin and Elroy.

Mr. Ellingson died June 2, 1966. Mrs. Ellingson died December 4, 1974. They are buried in the James River Lutheran Cemetery. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 55B
Gunder Ellingson

Gunder Ellingson was born March 30, 1889, in Norway. He and his wife Inger were married in Norway. She was born December 12, 1901. Gunder came to North Dakota to be with his brother Fanuel and he bought land in Haven Township.

The couple had five children: Einer, Gerhard, Arvill, Lester and Dennis.

Mrs. Ellingson died October 6, 1969. Mr. Ellingson died June 8, 1970. They are buried in the James River Lutheran Cemetery in Haven Township.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 55B
David and Mary Graham (Dora Wilcox Graham)

David Graham, born in Huntington County, Indiana came to Dakota in 1887 with his wife Mary, daughter Martha and son, Benjamin, Levi and William. Mary died in 1911 and is buried in the Brethren Cemetery in Haven Township. In 1920 David Graham married as his second wife Dora Wilcox. David farmed in Haven Township until the early 1930's when they moved into Carrington where he became well known for his large garden and the sale of fresh vegetables.

The creative David Graham among other things invented a harvester, the Graham Roach Slacker. Instead of tying the cut grain it is transported directly from the aprons of the binder to a box on wheels pulled by a team of horses. When the box was filled the contents are deposited at the side of the field in a stack which shed water. For threshing the grain the thresher was pulled alongside the stacks at the farmer's convenience. Several of the large implement manufacturers were interested in the slacker which was used successfully for several seasons just before the start of World War I. Plans for commercialization of the slacker had to be postponed on account of the war. In the early 1920's efforts made to sell the patent came to naught. The invention is disclosed in United States Patent 1,104, 885 dated July 28, 1914 to David M. Graham of which one-half was assigned to E.A. Roach of Bordulac.

David Graham died January 30, 1950 at the age of 93. After his death his widow returned to Virgins to be with her sister and brother.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 55B
Albert Harding
Albert Leonard Harding was born on December 5, 1850, in Wisconsin. He married in July 1870, Emma Rose Sloan, born May 25, 1850 in Wisconsin.

They came to North Dakota and settled in Haven Township in 1900. Mr. Harding filed for a homestead in Northeast 1/4 and Southeast 1/4 in Section 26.

Nine children were born to the couple: Melvin, James, Ids, George, Lizzy, Erick, Thomas, Isa and Mattie.

Mrs. Harding died April 23, 1908, and he died October 1, 1908. They are buried in a rural cemetery southeast of Glenfield.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 55B
George Harding
George Harding was born August 6, 1879, is Wisconsin. He married November 25, 1907, at Jessie, Alma Posey, born in Wisconsin on July 20, 1889, the daughter of Joseph and Grace Posey. She came with her parents to McHenry in 1900.

Until 1910 they rented land. They bought land on Section 21 in Haven Township.

Fourteen children were born to the couple: Violet, Rose, Helen, Carl, Theodore, Gerald, Delta, Emma, Gladys, Harriet, Pearl, Joseph, Angus and Clifford.

Mr. Harding died September 18, 1954 and is buried in Grace City Cemetery.

Mrs. Harding lived at the Holy Family Guest Home in Carrington until her death on December 15, 1979. She is also buried at Grace City.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 55B
Martin Hightower

Martin Hightower who was born in Missouri on November 13, 1875, came to North Dakota to be with brother Robert. He filed a homestead claim in Haven Township. He never married.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 56B
Robert Hightower

Robert Hightower born in Missouri on May 15, 1872, came to North Dakota to homestead in 1892. He homesteaded on the Southeast 1/4 of Section 24 in Rosehill Township and later lived in Haven Township. On December 21, 1898 at Carrington he married Allie Blakely born in Wisconsin on August 18, 1872. They had four children, Gladys, Carl, Ethel and Leslie.

Robert died June 19, 1931 and is buried in the Brethren Church Cemetery in Haven Township. Allie died October 22, 1956 and is buried in Wisconsin.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 56B
Samuel Hoffman

Samuel Aaron Hoffman was born August 20, 1875 in Pennsylvania. He came to North Dakota in 1911 and settled in the Grace City area. He bought land from John Whipple on Section 4 in Haven Township.

On November 27, 1923 he married Ruth Martin Ratz, born November 18, 1898 in Greencastle, Pennsylvania. Ruth had a son George Leslie Ratz born October 27, 1920, born during her marriage to Mr. Ratz. Sam took the boy to raise. Sam and Ruth had two children Zola and Marvin.

Ruth died March 18, 1928 and is buried at Greencastle, Pennsylvania. Sam married Bertha in November 1928, who was born May 5, 1911. She had come back to North Dakota with Sam in March to care for Ruth's children.

Sam and Bertha had six children: Ray, Gladys, Duane, Doris, Cora and Ora. Samuel died November 9, 1948 and is buried at Greencastle, Pennsylvania.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 56B
Ole John and Violet (Harding) Holland

Ole Holland, the son of Sigvart and Elen Holland, was born in Haven Township on November 26, 1904. Violet Harding was born August 31, 1908, in Rolling Prairie Township, the daughter of George and Alma Posey Harding. After being married in Carrington on October 12, 1926, Ole and Violet bought land in Section 9, Haven Township, where they have lived for some fifty years.

The Holland's have two children: Elsie and Orville, to whom the farm land was sold.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 56B
Sigvart Holland

Sigvart Holland born October 7, 1870 in Norway, married on June 14, 1890, Elen Holmene, born on September 8, 1870 in Norway.

Sigvart, a farmer in Norway, came to North Dakota in 1897 to homestead and found a place in Haven Township in Northeast 1/4 and Southeast 1/4 of Section 22.

The Holland's were Charter Members of the James River Lutheran Church.

They had five children: Olava, Rakel, Ole, Selma and Erling. Sigvart died September 30, 1960, Elen had died July 2, 1948. They are buried in the James River Lutheran Church Cemetery in Haven Township.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 56B
Raymond and Cecilia (Wolf) House

Raymond House, son of Thomas and Ruth McCarron House, was born at Grace City on September 2, 1925.

Mr. House and Cecilia Wolf were married June 1, 1948.

Cecilia was born October 13, 1925 at Bordulac to John and Margaret Wolf. After her high school graduation Cecilia worked for the Bell Telephone Company at Laramie, Wyoming for several years.

Mr. House was employed by Burlington Northern Railway for 27 years.

The couple lived on a farm near Grace City in Haven Township.

They had four children: John, Thomas, Christopher and Clarice.

Mrs. House died November 11, 1980.

Mr. House died January 13, 1981.

They are buried at Carrington. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 56B
Keith and Ethel (Norby) Jensen

Keith Jensen, son of Alfred and Gilma Jensen, was born at Grace City on July 11, 1920.

He married Ethel Norby, the daughter of George and Esther Norby, who was born at Carrington on June 13, 1927.

They have two children: Colleen and Jeffrey.

The couple makes their home on Section 19 in Haven Township where he is the township assessor.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 56B
D. T. and Luella (Edgerton) Jones

Delmar Jones was born December 5, 1871, near Logansport, Indiana. He came to Carrington in‑ 1899, where he established a bicycle and tin shop. He knew the carpenter trade as well. Luella Edgerton came from Crown Point, Indiana to marry him on June 1, 1899. She was born December 18, 1878.

The couple had six children: Othello, Clyde, Vivian, Geneva, Eunice and Gwendolen.

In 1910 the family moved to a farm in Haven Township.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 56B
Christ and Dorothea (Wachtel) Kanwischer

Christ Kanwischer was born in Poland on December 25, 1895. Dorothea was born on June 26, 1904 to Ludwig and Katherine Wachtel at Dawson, Russia. She came to the United States with her family and they settled near Woodworth, North Dakota. She married Christ Kanwischer at Bismarck on October 4, 1923.

They came to Foster County to farm in 1929. They rented farms in Bordulac, Rose Hill and Haven Townships before buying the farm in Haven Township in Section 18.

The Kanwischers had eleven children: Adeline, Emma, Henry, Mabel, Robert, Elsie, George, Fred, Donald, Dona and Dennis.

Mr. Kanwischer died July 27, 1955, and is buried in the Carrington Cemetery. Mrs. Kanwischer lives in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 56B
Glenn and Marvel (Ellingson) Lindstrom

Glenn Lindstrom was born at Grace City on June 6, 1919 the son of John and Victoria Lindstorm. He married on June 16, 1964, Marvel Ellingson, who was born at Cooperstown on October 9, 1925, the daughter of Fanuel and Marie Ellingson. They live on a farm in Haven Township.

They have two children: Leanne and Byron.

Marvel taught school for a number of years before her marriage.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 56B
John and Elen (Holmene) Munson

John Munson was born in Norway on January 14, 1865. He married in Norway in 1887, Elen Mathea Holmene, who was born October 30, 1863. The family came to America to make their home because relatives were already here.

The family came to Foster County to homestead in Haven Township about 1905.

The Munsons had seven children, Magnus, Eric, Jarina, John, Tollef, Magnus and Edwin. Mr. Munson died July 10, 1933 and Mrs. Munson died June 3, 1942. They are buried in the James River Lutheran Church Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 56B
Martin Nevland

Martin Nevland was born in Stavanger, Norway on February 29, 1872. He married Dina Hetland, November 1, 1895, in Norway, who was born April 17, 1878.

They came to the United States settling first at Cooperstown in 1916. He bought Section 14 in Haven Township.

Before coming to America Martin was a carpenter.

The Nevland's had nine children: Harold, Jorgine, Carsten, Magnus, Alf, Jens, Fred, Edwin and Arnold.

Mr. Nevland died in April 1946. Mrs. Nevland died August 1947. They are buried in the James River Lutheran Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 56B
Bernhart Nysted

Bernhart Nysted, son of Isak and Anna Nysted was born April 15, 1899 in Haven Township. He lived and farmed with his parents until he was married in March 1933 to Gladys Schlotman. They lived in Rose Hill and Bucephalia Townships until 1943 when Bernhart bought his parent's farm‑ Section 19 in Haven Township.

Gladys attended high school in Carrington and college in Valley City. She taught school in Haven and Nordmore Townships before her marriage.

The Nysted's are the parents to eight children: Lots, Gloria, Walter, Mabel, Arlene, Sonja, Richard and Nora.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 57B
Isak and Anna (Johnson) Nysted

Isak Nysted, born in Stavanger, Norway on December 18, 1872, came to Dakota Territory in 1889. He worked on the Carrington‑Casey Ranch for seven years where he became the barn boss. In 1896 he homesteaded on the SEA of Section 20 in Haven Township. He changed his name from Olson to Nysted when he came to Carrington because there was another Isak Olson living in Foster County. Anna Johnson, born near Stavanger, Norway, March 19, 1876, came to America to marry Isak in 1898. They lived in Haven Township until 1944 when they retired and moved to Carrington.

They were charter members of the James River Lutheran Church.

Isak and Anna were the parents of seven children: Bernhart, Emma, John, Anna, Ethel and Irwin.

Mr. Nysted died June 1961. Mrs. Nysted died February 9, 1955. They are buried in the Carrington cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 57B
John and Ruth (Schlotman) Nysted

John Nysted, the son of Isak and Anna Johnson Nysted was born August 8, 1902, in Haven Township. He married Ruth Schlotman on November 15, 1928. Ruth, born September 15, 1905, was the daughter of John W. and Gertrude Whipple Schlotman. Ruth attended high school in Carrington and Valley City Teacher's College. She was a schoolteacher before she was married. John and Ruth lived on Section 20 in Haven Township until moving into Carrington.

The Nysteds have four daughters: Mrs. Henry (Phyllis) Gussiaas, Mrs. Evan (Inez) Brown, both of Carrington, Mrs. Charles (Elsie) Polulnik and Mrs. Jack (Carol) Sutherland, both of Missoula, Montana.

John Nysted died November 5, 1963 and. his wife on March 29, 1982. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 57B
Clarence and Anna (Wentworth) Parker

Clarence Parker was born in Minnesota on August 20, 1862. He later moved to South Dakota and to Saskatchewan before coming to North Dakota in about 1896.

On April 30, 1887 he married Anna Wentworth at Ashton, South Dakota. She was born in Minnesota on January 10, 1868.

They had ten children: Myrtle, Annie, Olive, Mabel, Clarence, Ethel, Elsie, Alma, Edna and an adopted son Clayton.

The Porkers lived in Haven and also in Florence Township and took an active part in the community.

Mrs. Parker served as midwife for Dr. A. S. LeBein of McHenry and Dr. Longstreth of Kensal.

Mr. Parker died January 7, 1947 and Mrs. Parker died January 20, 1952. They are buried at Grace City.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 57B
Elva and Marie (Kistler Stedman) Pfeifer

Marie Kistler was born August 25, 1907 at Randolph, Minnesota. She came to North Dakota with her parents Abner and Nellie Eleanor Ruff Kistler in March 1912. Her parents purchased land in Haven Township and later lived in Grace City. Marie Kistler married Neal V. Stedman on June 26, 1927. Neal was born October 4, 1902, to George and Lura Stedman at North Hampton, Iowa. The couple had one son: Gary.

Neal Stedman died September 10, 1969 and is buried at Grace City.

Marie married Elva L. Pfeifer on May 6, 1976, at Grace City, where they reside. Elva was born in Illinois on July 17, 1895.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 57B
David and Georgina Posey

Dave Posey, born July 20, 1898, in Wisconsin, came to Foster County about 1903 to make his home first in Nordmore Township and then in Haven Township. Later purchasing Section 14 in Haven Township.

He married Georgina Nevland on December 16, 1920. Georgina was born in Stavanger, Norway, November 23, 1899, the daughter of Martin and Dina Hetland Nevland, who came to Cooperstown in 1906.

The couple lived at Juanita and later at Grace City.

They had a son, Gene and four daughters, Dorothy, Alice, Erma, and Arlene.

Mr. Posey died January 14, 1973 and his wife on March 17, 1979. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 57B
George and Alvina (Koch) Ruble

Both George Ruble and his wife, Alvina Koch Ruble, were born in Iowa in 1872. They came to Foster County in 1898 and homesteaded on the North 1/2 of Section 6 in Haven Township. He later sold his rights and the family left North Dakota to live in St. Louis, Missouri about 1915.

The Rubel's had three children: Herbert, Raymond and Eleanor. Herbert died as a small child and is buried in the Brethren Cemetery on Section 20 in Haven Township.

Mr. Ruble died in January 1941. Mrs. Ruble died in March 1941. They are buried at St. Louis, Missouri.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 57B
John William Schlotman

John Schlotman was born May 12, 1874, in Nebraska. He married Gertrude Whipple, who had been born in Colorado, July 11, 1885, who was living near Carrington. She had come to North Dakota with her parents in a covered wagon.

Mr. Schlotman came to North Dakota in a covered wagon to homestead in 1898. He homesteaded on Northwest 1/4 of Section 4 in Haven Township. Later bought North 1/2 of Section 6.

Mr. and Mrs. Schlotman were charter members of the James River Brethren Church.

They were parents of eight children: Paul, Ruth, Samuel, Glenn, Gladys, Orville, Ralph and Shirley.

Ralph Schlotman was born in 1926. He married Helen Bata. They reside on Section 6 in Haven Township. They have four children.

Ruth and Gladys Schlotman reside in Carrington. They married the Nysted brothers, John and Bernhart.

Mr. Schlotman died August 1948. Mrs. Schlotman died in June 1975. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 57B
Roy and Gertrude (Burk) Spickler

Roy Spickler was born on March 11, 1875, at Taylor Ridge, Wisconsin, and lived in that state until 1897. He then came to New Rockford, North Dakota, where he worked on a farm for one year and then homesteaded on Section 1 in Haven Township, Foster County, in 1898. He was married January 1, 1901, to Gertrude Ellen Burk, daughter of Charles and Eva Burk.

Roy and Gertrude had three children, two died in infancy. Upon the death of Roy's sister Emily, her daughters, Roberta and Ardath Moore came to live with the Spicklers. In their later years Roy and Gertrude lived with their son, Howard, in Larrabee Township.

Gertrude died on January 10, 1952; Roy died on April 22, 1963.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 57B
Vernon and Leona (Greger) Topp

Vernon Topp, son of Eli and Anna Topp was born at Grace City on November 5, 1911. His parents came to Foster County in 1901.

On April 8, 1937, Vernon married Leona Greger of Bordulac. She was born August 29, 1914, to the Carl Gregers.

Vernon Topp was one of the first to raise Charolais cattle in the area, starting his herd in 1960.

Vernon and Leona Topp are the parents of three children: Richard, Rolland and Janice.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 57B
Louis Edward and Anna (Paffenbach) Treichel

Louis Treichel, born in Schwesin, Germany, on December 22, 1870, came to America in 1889, settling first at Hammond, Indiana. He married at Hammond on April 11, 1896, Anna Paffenbach, who was born at Quincy, Illinois, on March 31, 1870. They came to Foster County in 1906 and bought land in Haven Township, the Northeast 1/4 of Section 18.

They were the parents of six children: Lawrence, Amelia, Gertrude, Lily, Marie, and Clarence.

The Treichels moved back to Indiana, where Anna Treichel died September 26, 1956 and Louis on June 4, 1967. They are buried in the Maplewood Cemetery at Crown Point, Indiana.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 57B
Alfred Whipple

Alfred Whipple, son of John and Anna Whipple was born March 9, 1879, near Mound City, Missouri. He farmed in both Missouri and North Dakota and came to Foster County to file for a homestead on the Southeast 1/4 of Section 4 in Haven Township. Later moving to Klamath Falls, Oregon, he married Golde Patch in 1905.

They were the parents of six children: Ethyel, Naomi, Harry, Lee, Eldora and Otis.

Alfred died at age 97. On his 94th birthday he had worked in his garden and sawed logs for fuel.

He is buried in the James River Brethren Cemetery in Haven Township.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 58B
John N. and Anna (Hildebrand) Whipple

John Whipple was born February 18, 1855 at Asthsbnea, Ohio, to Mark and Elizabeth Whipple. The family later moved to Holt County, Missouri, where in June 1877 John married Anna Hildebrand. John came to Foster County to homestead in May 1898, settling on the Southwest 1/4 of Section 4 in Haven Township. He brought his family to North Dakota the next spring.

Twelve children were born to the family: Daisy, John A., Agnes, Susie, Gertrude, Edith, Zelma, Georgia, Elsie, Ralph, Robert and Harlo.

Mr. and Mrs. Whipple spent their later years in California.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 58B
Larrabee

John and Dena (Sandval) Alfstad

John Alfstad was born at Red Wing, Minnesota on April 7, 1882, son of Knute and Guri Alfstad. He married Dena Sandval on January 27, 1904.

They farmed in Grace City and Brantford area.

The couple had eight children: Gilman, Ivan, John, Clarence, Dean, Bruce, Jane, and June.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 59B
Glenn and Bernice (Wightman) Anderson

Glenn Anderson was born June 23, 1893 at Exira, Iowa, a son of Albert and Evaline Anderson. He came to North Dakota with his parents in 1900. On December 25, 1913 he married Bernice Wightman, who was born June 4, 1894 at Underwood, Iowa.

The couple farmed in Nordmore and Larrabee Townships until they retired and moved into Grace City.

The couple had ten children: Clifford. Wayne, Gerald, Olive, Keith, Robert, Jack, Alan, Phyllis and Sharon.

Mr. Anderson died December 1, 1965; Mrs. Anderson died January 20, 1964. They are buried at Grace City.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 59B
Homer S. and Fannie (Barber) Ballard

Homer S. Ballard was born in Iowa in 1878. He came to Larrabee Township in 1900. He married Fannie Barber. Homer was the owner of "Olive Dairy Farm" and commissioner from the Third District at the time the courthouse was built. Shortly thereafter, the family left Foster County to homestead in Bowdon County.

They had two children. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 59B
Calvin Eugene and Vina (O'Connell) Bertram

Calvin Eugene Bertram was born November 21, 1917, at Grace City. His father was George Weston Bertram. His mother's maiden name was Simmons.

In 1943 he married Vina O'Connell who was born May 15, 1921.

Calvin died November 30, 1971 and his wife died in 1967.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 59B
Frank Albert and Elinora (Larson) Bertram

Frank Albert Bertram was born in Grace City on March 3, 1916. His father was George Weston Bertram and his mother's maiden name was Simmons. He married Elinora Larson on October 7, 1939, at Tacoma, Washington. Elinora was born August 5, 1918 to Gus and Agnes Peterson.

They had three children: Carole, Ronald and Gary.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 59B
Alvin and Helga (Bonderud) Bjorgo

Alvin Bjorgo, born October 5, 1893, married Helga Bonderud, who was born February 2, 1899, daughter of Helmer and Lisa Bonderud. She attended the Larrabee rural schools and worked at the Otto Topp store.

They had one son; Brian. She lived in Grace City for some years after Mr. Bjorgo's death on December 19, 1934, then moved to Bremerton, Washington where she lives with her son.

Alvin Bjorgo, is buried in the Grace City Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 59B
Grover C. and Estella (Peterson) Black

Grover "Cleve" Black was born at Cheney, Kansas, on October 15, 1884 to Albert and Alice Barrier Black. He came to Larrabee Township in 1906 to work for an uncle, William Black. On October 24, 1908, he married Estella Peterson. Estella was a schoolteacher.

Mr. Black served on the Welfare Board in Foster County for 28 years. He was also a County Commissioner. The Blacks farmed in Larrabee and Florence Townships until retiring and moving into Grace City.

They were the parents of five children: Paul, Alice, Norvin, Esther and William.

Mr. Black died in October 1964; Mrs. Black in October 1977. They are buried at Grace City.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 59B
Paul and Borghild (Rusten) Black

Paul A. Black was born in Larrabee Township on October 3, 1910, a son of Grover C. and Estella Peterson Black. He attended the Grace City schools and is a graduate of the high school. On June 8, 1940 he married Borghild Rusten, daughter of Ole and Elise Rusten. Borghild was born in Nordmore Township. She attended Nordmore and Carrington schools, and the Capital Commercial College in Bismarck.

After living near Brantford and farming in both Eddy and Foster Counties, the Blacks moved to a farm near Grace City. They retired and moved to New Rockford in 1980.

The couple have three daughters: Margery, Judith and Mary.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 59B
Walter and Annie (Gast) Black

Walter Black was born at Mercersburg, Pennsylvania in 1882, the son of Luther and Alice Barrier Black. The family moved to Kamas in 1883. Walter came to North Dakota in 1903.

In 1905 he married Annie Gast, She was born in Germany on October 31, 1885 and came to the Grace City area in 1903.

The couple had two sons: Virgil and Leo.

Mr. Black died in 1960; Mrs. Black in 1974.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 59B
William W. and Amanda (Metcalf) Black

Both William Black and Amanda Metcalf were born at Mercersburg, Pennsylvania. William in 1867 and Amanda in 1870. The couple came to North Dakota seeking farmland in 1899 and bought railroad land on section 21 Larrabee Township. In 1917 they moved to Grace City, where they built a house and a flourmill. After the mill closed Mr. Black managed an elevator and later had a grocery store and meat market. He retired in 1941.

Mr. Black died in 1941 and Mrs. Black died in 1953. They are buried in the Grace City Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 59B
Charles and Zeta (Anderson) Bohner

Charles F. Bohner was born November 23, 1887 at Berrysberg, Pennsylvania, and while an infant moved with his family to Iowa. When a young man he came to Grace City, where he had farm and business interests. He operated a garage there and also was engaged in trucking livestock. He was married to Zeta Anderson, daughter of Perry and Katherine Anderson, on December 25, 1908.

Zeta was born May 3, 1892 at Grace City. They had a daughter, Evelyn born at Grace City.

Charles and Zeta Bohner moved to Fargo in 1947, where he operated a furniture store in West Fargo for several years.

Charles Bohner died April 22, 1968; Zeta died March 1, 1976. Both are buried at Fargo.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 59B
Edwin and Cora (Stenehjem) Bonderud

Edwin Bonderud, born July 14, 1890, the son of Helmer O. and Lise Froslie Bonderud. He was married to Cora Stenehjem.

They farmed near Grace City. She died January 10, 1941 and Edwin October 7, 1945. They are buried in the Grace City Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 60B
Hans A. and Ingeborg (Peterson) Bonderud

Hans A. Bonderud was born in Norway on March 24, 1868. He came to Rothsay, Minnesota in 1884, where he lived until 1896 when he came to North Dakota and homesteaded two and a half miles west of Grace City. He was married to Ingeborg Peterson in 1916. They moved to San Francisco, California, in the 1930's.

The couple had three children: Bjarne, Orville and Ingvald.

Hans Bonderud died February 2, 1933; Ingeborg died January 28, 1981.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 60B
Helmer O. and Lise (Froslie) Bonderud

Helmer Bonderud was born in Norway on October 3, 1859. He came to America in December 1881. On board ship he met Lise Froslie, also born in Norway, whom he married in December 1882. They settled at Rothsay, Minnesota until 1897 when he came to North Dakota, taking land on Section 24 in Larrabee Township.

The couple had seven children: Bertha, Ole, Emma, Edwin, Ida, Anna and Helga.

Mrs. Bonderud died on April 11, 1919; Mr. Bonderud died November 29, 1943. They are buried at Grace City.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 60B
Ida Louise Bonderud

Ida Bonderud was born April 30, 1893 in Minnesota to Helmer and Lise Froslie Bonderud. She came to North Dakota with her parents in 1896. She attended the rural schools and Carrington High School.

She worked in the post office in McClusky and later in Grace City. She was a clerk in the post office in Grace City before becoming Postmaster, a position she held for forty years.

After her retirement she moved to Bremerton, Washington. She died December 15, 1974.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 60B
Ole and Cleole (Ridgeway) Bonderud

Ole Bonderud was born in Ottertail County, Minnesota on January 26, 1885 to Helmer and Lise Bonderud. He came with his parents to Larrabee in 1896. He was postmaster of Larrabee Post Office at their farm home and then in Grace City until 1914. When Grace City was started he opened up a confectionery store, and later a drug store. Finally he went into general merchandise.

He married Cleole Ridgeway of Carrington and they had three children: Vincent, Carol and Beatrice.

He is buried in the Carrington Cemetery. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 60B
Mr. and Mrs. C. H. Bradbury

Mr. and Mrs. C. H. Bradbury were early residents in Grace City. She was born in New York State in 1847, lived in Iowa and Pennsylvania before coming to North Dakota in 1908; first to McHenry, then to Grace City. Mrs. Bradbury died January 24, 1924. The couple had one daughter.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 60B
Edgar R. and Grace (Enos) Bradley

Edgar Ralph Bradley was born January 26, 1866 at Prairie du Chien, Wisconsin, a son of David and Elizabeth Bradley. As a young man he operated a business in South Dakota and helped to found a new town which was named Bradley in his honor.

He was married to Grace Enos February 22, 1900 and three children were born to them: Mary Elizabeth, David Enos and Dorotha Jean.

Bradley was self‑trained in law, and while there is no record of his having been admitted to the bar, he did plead some cases in court. He started farming in the Grace City area in 1900. The Bradleys were in Grace City when the town was started, and the town was named in Grace Bradley's honor.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 60B
Price J. Brown

Price J. Brown, born in Ohio, September 25, 1877, married Edna G. Culver at McHenry on January 20, 1902, who was born in Iowa on May 1, 1882.

John came to North Dakota to homestead. He first settled in Griggs County. They came to Foster County in 1915, settling near Grace City, later near Glenfield.

The Browns were parents of eight children; Ina, Maynard, Millard, Roy, Daisy, Harold, Kenneth and Victor. Mr. Brown died February 19, 1932 and Mrs. Brown died November 19, 1964. They are buried in the Grace City Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 60B
Ronald C. and Marilyn (Engelstad) Bucholz

Ronald Bucholz was born September 24, 1930 at Grygla, Minnesota, the son of Fred and Minnie Franzman Bucholz. Ronald married Marilyn Engelstad on December 27, 1956 at Gatzke, Minnesota. She was born July 9, 1936 at Gazke, the daughter of Eddie and Nora Leshar Engelstad. The family came to Grace City in 1958; where they own and operate an Amoco Oil Bulk dealership. They are active in community affairs.

Ronald and Marilyn have four children: Lori, Charles, Robert and Jodi. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 

John and Irene (Johnson) Carmichael

Irene Johnson, daughter of Ernest and Emma Topp Johnson was born at Grace City in 1912. After graduation from Grace City High School, she attended College at Minot and Valley City. She taught School in Foster and Eddy counties until she moved to Washington in 1937. There she worked at a printing office and later as a librarian.

In 1939 she married John Carmichael, They have three children: William, Judith and James.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 60B
Joseph and Audrey (Thompson) Chapman

Joseph Chapman was born in Iowa on November 6, 1889. He came to Grace City in 1906. On October 27, 1936 he married Audrey Thompson of Cooperstown. In 1960 they retired to Brantford in Eddy County.

The couple had five children: Joyce, Fred, Charles, Ralph and Guy.

Joseph Chapman died November 8, 1968 and is buried in Grace City Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 60B
Thomas and Evelyn (Bohner) Cummings

Thomas E. Cummings, the son of W. E. Cummings was born at Carrington November 9, 1907. He married in 1932, Evelyn Bohner, who was born at Grace City on July 12, 1914 to Charles and Zeta Bohner. She was a graduate of Grace City High School.

The couple first lived in Carrington, where he was a mechanic and pilot. Then they moved to a farm near Grace City and farmed for several years. In 1940 they moved to Fargo, where Tom was employed by Doyle Cab Company as a radio technician.

Evelyn Bonner Cummings, died April 18, 1967; Tom died April 5, 1978.

They had six children: Thomas E. Jr., Charles, Charlotte, Beverly, Perry and Carole.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 60B
Olaus and Olivia (Fossag) Dahl

Both OI us Armanson Dahl and Olivia Fossag w e born in Norway. Claus on March 30, 1864 and Olivia on May 9, 1865. They came to the United States with their parents as small children. They were married December 17, 1890 at Minneapolis and came to North Dakota in 1896. The Dahls lived on a farm and Mr. Dahl was a mechanic.

The couple had six children: Olga, Alf, Mabel, Jennie, Emma and Henry. The four younger children were born in Foster County.

Mrs. Dahl died October 10, 1915 and is buried in Kvernes Cemetery. Mr. Dahl died May 28, 1954. He is buried at Grand Forks.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 60B
Fred and Millie (Mitchell) Dreher

Fred Dreher was born at Long Prairie, Minnesota in December 1880. Ha married Millie Mitchell at McHenry on February 4, 1910. She was born in 1893 and lived in Nordmore Township in Foster County throughout her girlhood. The Drehers farmed near Grace City until retiring and moving to Grace City.

The couple had seven children: Raymon, Glenn, Lester, Dean, Mae, Bernadine, and Edna.

Fred died September 30, 1960 and is buried in the Grace City Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 61B
Arthur and Catherine (Snider) Fenneman

Arthur Fenneman was born March 7, 1900 at Fredericksburg, Iowa to John and Emma Schmudlock Fenneman. The family came to Foster County in 1907 settling in Larrabee Township. He attended school in rural Larrabee and in Grace City. He married Catherine Snider on November 6, 1926, at New Rockford. Catherine was born ‑ at McHenry on October 27, 1905 to George and Mary Cler Snider. She attended schools in the Grace City area.

The couple lived on their farm in Columbia Township in Eddy County until retiring to New Rockford.

They have two daughters: Ellen and Edith.

They are members of the Methodist church.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 61B
Fred Arnold and Alice (Binns) Fenneman

Fred Arnold Fenneman was born at Fredericksburg, Iowa, on March 16, 1892 to John and Emma Schmudlock Fenneman. He came to Foster County in 1907 with his parents and attended school in Larrabee Township.

He married Alice Hannah Binns in Eddy County on October 23, 1913. She was born October 31, 1896 to Sam and Emma Parson Binns.

The couple farmed in Larrabee Township until they moved to Briton, Alberta, Canada, where they farmed until his death.

They had ten children: Lucille, Laurel, Chester, Warren, Eva, Beulah, Duane, Allen, Wallace and Kathleen.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 61B
John Arnold and Emma (Schmudlack) Fenneman

John Arnold Fenneman was born at New Hampton, Iowa, on February 8, 1879 to Mr. and Mrs. Arnold Fenneman. He was married to Emma Edith Schmudlack at Fredericksburg, Iowa, in November 1890. Emma was born in Germany on March 7, 1867 to Mr. and Mrs. Fred Schmudlock.

The couple came to North Dakota in April 1907 and bought section 31 in Larrabee Township where they farmed until his death July 7, 1912. He was buried in the Brethren Church Cemetery.

Emma Fenneman died on October 5, 1949 and is buried in the Grace City Cemetery.

The couple had two children: Fred and Arthur.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 61B
Isaac Andrew and Hattie (Arrick) Flatters

Isaac Andrew "Andy" Flatters, son of Isaac and Isabelle Carr Flatters, was born at Sheldon, Dakota Territory on December 31, 1888. He was married to Hattie Arrick, daughter of Converse and Elizabeth Arrick, in Indiana, on March 6, 1912.

They came to Grace City soon after their marriage, and farmed there one year; then homesteaded at Chinook, Montana. They returned to Grace City in 1919, but spent the war years in Seattle.

Hattie died in 1968 and Andy in 1975. Both are buried at Grace City.

They had seven children: Alice, Ruth, Bessie, John, Dana Bell, Mary Lou and Rae.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 61B
William C. and Anna (Pearse) Goddard

William Clark Goddard was born at St. Ansgar, Iowa, on August 27, 1871. In 1912 he and a partner started the Farmers and Merchants Bank in Grace City. In 1933 they moved to New Rockford. He retired in 1954 to Cheyenne, Wyoming. He married Anna Pearse in 1900 and they had two daughters: Vera and Billie.

Anna died at Grace City in 1927 and William later married Florence R. Brown.

William died in 1959 and is buried at Cheyenne Memorial Gardens, Cheyenne, Wyoming.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 61B
Merlin and Katherine (Gross) House

Merlin House, son of Thomas and Ruth McCarron House, was born December 9, 1916 at Grace City.

Merlin married Katherine Gross at Minnewaukan on April 29, 1943. Katherine was born June 19, 1921 at Balta to Andrew and Mary Schell Gross.

Merlin and Katherine had three children: Lynne, Muriel and Francis.

The Merlin House family bought a farm on Section 15, which is now being operated by son Francis.

Mr. House has served on both school and township boards.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 61B
Thomas and Ruth (McCarron) House

Thomas House and Ruth McCarron were married at Saulte St. Marie, Michigan on October 14, 1915.

Ruth McCarron was born September 28, 1892 at Saulte St. Marie, to John and Rose McCarron.

The couple moved to North Dakota in 1915 and farmed in the Grace City area.

They had eight children: Merlin, Thomas, Delores, Harland, Frederick, Raymond, Eleanor and Jean.

Thomas died in 1945. Ruth moved to Grace City in 1952 and passed away on October 29, 1967.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 61B
Alfred and Gilma (Scanson) Jensen

Alfred Jensen was born February 24, 1894 at Pelican Rapids, Minnesota to Mr. and Mrs. Anders Jensen. He came to the Grace City area with his parents a few years later. He was married to Gilma Scanson at McHenry on June 26, 1918. They resided in Grace City for many years where he worked as a railway maintenance man.

They had five children: Ardyce, Lorraine, Keith, Vernon and Dean.

Alfred died April 24, 1974. Gilma now lives in New Rockford.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 61B
Anders and Ingeborg (Kristiansen) Jenson

Anders Jenson was born April 1, 1861 in Norway. He married in Minnesota, Ingeborg Kristiansen, who was born in Norway on October 21, 1854. They first settled in Minnesota when coming to the United States and came to North Dakota in a covered wagon in 1895. They homesteaded on Northeast 1/4 of Section 28 in Larrabee Township. Mr. Jenson had been a shoemaker in Norway.

The couple had nine children: Ida, Matilda, Karen, Jens, Emma, Alfred, Isabel, Ole and Henry. Henry still lives on the homestead.

Ingeborg Jenson died December 4, 1942 and Anders died August 11, 1947. They are buried in the Grace City Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 61B
Henry and Ina (Brown) Jenson

Henry Jenson was born in Larrabee Township on May 24, 1901 to Anders and Ingeborg Jenson. He married at Carrington on March 10, 1927, Ina Brown who was born in Griggs County on August 23, 1903. They lived on the land homesteaded by Henry's father on Section 28 in Larrabee Township until they retired.

The Jensons had six children: Shirley, Robert, Lloyd, Joyce, Melva and Carol.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 61B
Ernest and Emma (Topp) Johnson

Ernest Johnson was born in Rock Island, Illinois in 1886. He was a telegrapher on the Rock Island Railroad. On June 14, 1911 he married at Sherman, Iowa, Emma Topp, who was born at Sherman in 1888. In 1912 the couple moved to North Dakota and settled on a farm in Foster County.

Ernest was president of the county Agricultural Adjustment Agency for 13 years; vice‑president of Grace City Elevator Association for 10 years. He also served on Larrabee Township Board; as Foster County Auditor 11919‑1920) and a legislator for two terms.

The couple had five children: Irene, Helen, Walter, and twins Lynn and Warren.

Emma Johnson died in 1959 and Ernest died in 1961. They are buried in Riverton Cemetery in Seattle, Washington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 61B
Abner R. and Nellie (Ruff) Kistler

Abner Reece Kistler and Nellie Eleanor Ruff were born at Clinton, Illinois, where they were married on August 22, 1906. Abner was born March 26, 1886 and Nellie on February 13, 1887. After living in Illinois and then Minnesota, they came to North Dakota in 1912 to work on the E. R. Bradley Ranch near Grace City. They arrived at McHenry on the train and made the rest of the trip by wagon. Later the Kistlers purchased land near Grace City. They had one daughter, Eva Marie lives in Grace City and is now married to Elva Pfeifer. Her first husband, Neal Stedman is deceased.

Mr. Kistler died March 4, 1955 and Mrs. Kistler died May 26, 1973. They are buried in the Grace City Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 62B
John G. and Victoria (Nordeen) Lindstrom

John G. Lindstrom, born in Grant County, Minnesota, on April 17, 1885 to Nels and Bengta Olson Lindstrom, came to Foster County in 1906 and worked on the Peterson ranch. The next year he herded cattle for some farmers near Carrington. He also dug trenches for sewer pipes. He married November 15, 1917, Ellen Victoria Nordeen, who was born on September 7, 1888. The following year they began farming in Larrabee Township.

They had two children: Maynard (died in 1953) and Glenn.

Mrs. Lindstrom died November 20, 1963 and Mr. Lindstrom, on June 21, 1980 (age 95). They are buried at Grace City.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 62B
Maynard and Eleanor (Johnson) Lindstrom

Maynard Lindstrom was born at Grace City on February 18, 1918 to John and Victoria Lindstrom. He married Eleanor Johnson on November 10, 1937. She was born November 17, 1920, the daughter of the Ted Johnsons of Brantford.

They lived on a farm near Grace City.

The couple had eight children: Dennis, Royce, Richard, Arthur, JoAnn, Merlin, Jay and Janel.

Mr. Lindstrom died February 19, 1953 and is buried at Grace City.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 62B
Rueben and Anna (Bonderud) Luttschwager

Rueben Luttschwager was born in Iona Falls, Iowa, on October 12, 1894. On February 3, 1921 he married Anna Bonderud at Juanita, who was born July 24, 1896, the daughter of Helmer O. and Lise Froslie Bonderud.

Mr. Luttschwager farmed and worked as a carpenter in the Grace City area.

They had six children: Delores, Gail, Arlene, Wilbert, Ray and Marlys.

Anna Bonderud Luttschwager died July 24, Rueben Luttschwager died in 1974.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 62B
Walter H. and Esther (Potter) Luttschwager

Walter H. Luttschwager was born in Iowa on May 16, 1898. He came to Grace City in 1915. Esther Potter was born in Florence Township, daughter of James and Isabelle Potter, on August 29, 1905. She attended school at Juanita and took nurses training in Fargo. Walter and Esther were married December 22, 1931. They farmed in the Grace City area and later moved into Grace City. Esther was employed at the Carrington Hospital and Golden Acres Manor in Carrington.

Esther died October 11, 1975 and Walter died on February 27, 1976.

They had three children: Ronald, Myron and Mavis.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 62B
John Harvey and Lazetta (Klemstein) Lyman

J. H. (Harvey) Lyman was born at Madison Lake, Minnesota, on March 4, 1894, son of Mr. and Mrs. Sam Lyman. He came to McHenry with his family from Plover, Iowa in 1901. He married Lazetta Klemstein at McHenry in 1921 and they farmed there for three years before buying a farm in the Grace City area.

Mr. Lyman served on the Foster County Fair Board, was a director of Dakota Central Telephone, and was a supervisor of the Foster County Soil Conservation District. He was the first 4‑H leader in Foster County and served as a leader for twenty‑five years.

Children born to them were: Jeanette, Marilyn, Donna and Roger.

Mr. Lyman died July 4, 1974 and Lazetta April 2, 1978. Both are buried in Grace City Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 62B
Olaf and Serene (Dahl) Melby

Olaf Melby was born in Wisconsin and came with his parents to North Dakota in 1881.

He married Serene Dahl on September 5, 1887. They moved to a farm in Larrabee Township in 1910.

They had five children: Ann, Olga, William, Stefan, and Melvin.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 62B
 Fred and Olga (Gilbertson) Melgard

Fred Melgard was born at Cooperstown on September 27, 1896. He came to Grace City as a young man and operated a radio shop and worked in a drug store. He married Olga Gilbertson on December 6, 1919 at Cooperstown. She was born December 3, 1893 at Cooperstown. She attended a Miss Woods Kindergarten school at Minneapolis and later taught school at Sutton. Fred operated a farm and drove a rural mail route at Grace City for many years.

The couple had six children: Gordon, Robert, Frederick, Peter, Thomas and Rodney.

Olga died November 28, 1966 at Fargo; Fred died at St. Cloud, Minnesota March 8, 1971. Both are buried at Grace City.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 62B
Yorke M. and Grace (Haley) Moorhouse

Yorke M. Moorhouse was born at Pinconning. Michigan on July 2, 1892. He moved to Devils Lake in 1909. He was married to Grace Haley of New Rockford in 1923. She was born August 23, 1893 at Rosemount, Minnesota. During World War I she became the first woman telegrapher in America while employed by Great Northern Railroad.

Yorke and Grace Moorhouse settled in Grace City, where they operated a grocery store, and were also engaged in farming until their retirement.

Yorke died March 10, 1968 and Grace moved to Fargo, then later to Kalispel, Montana, where she died July 9, 1977. Both are buried at Fargo, North Dakota.

The couple had two children: Duane (Joel and Marilyn.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 62B
Fred and Mary Irene (Ridgeway) Mowry (Harda Stokke Mowry)

Mary Irene Ridgeway was born in Illinois in 1890, the daughter of Mr. and Mrs. James Ridgeway. She came to Foster County in 1898 and was married to Fred Mowry in 1910. They farmed in Nordmore Township.

Their children were: Lydle, Marlene, Elma.

Mary died in 1918 and is buried in Grace City Cemetery.

Fred Mowry married as his second wife Harda Stokke. They had one daughter, Dorothy.

Fred and Harda are both deceased. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 62B
Edwin and Gladys (Whitman) Munson

Gladys Whitman was born Gladys Lovejoy but changed her name to Whitman after her parents died and her grandparents adopted her.

Gladys grew up at Warwick and went on to become a registered nurse. She worked in various hospitals including Carrington, , until she could no longer work.

Gladys is a victim of multiple sclerosis. She now travels in a motorized wheel chair..

She was married to Edwin Munson on June 1, 1942. They had four children: Eric, Alan, Victor and Mary.

Mr. Munson served in the armed forces during World War II.

The Munsons moved to Carrington in 1975.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 62B
Claus and Ernestine (Rieter) Otto (Clara Kluck Otto)

Claus Otto, born November 6, 1884 at Bergenhausen, Germany, came to America with his parents in 1893 who settled first in Wisconsin. Mr. Otto came to North Dakota in 1911 and in December 1915 he married at McHenry, Ernestine Rieter, the daughter of Charles Rieter of Grace City. The couple farmed in the Grace City area. They had one son: Russell.

Mrs. Otto died in 1948 and in 1949 Mr. Otto married Clara Kluck. Mr. Otto served as a Foster County Commissioner.

Mr. Otto died in October 1967 and Clara died April 22, 1970.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 62B
John and Ella (Hurlbert) Otto

John Otto, born in 1886, married in 1911, Ella Hurlbert Merbach, born April 11, 1886, at Raymond, South Dakota. She was the widow of George Merbach, who died in 1909. She came to the Grace City area in 1911 farming in Larrabee Township and near Juanita. Ella Otto had one daughter by her first marriage and she and John Otto had one son, Darrell and five daughters. , 

John died in 1948.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 63B
Ole Peterson

Ole Peterson was born in Vermland, Sweden, on April 6, 1859. He came as a young man to America, at first working as a lumberman at Prairie Island near Red Wing, Minnesota. In 1892 he came to Foster County and homesteaded near Grace City. Later he and G. L. Farnham operated a large ranch on the banks of the James River south of Grace City. This ranch had as many as 350 head of purebred Herefords as well as other stock and hundreds of acres were cropped at the same time.

Ole married and had three children: Dons, Leon and Dean. His death came November 24, 1927.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 63B
Joe Bird and Grace (Grossman) Posey

Joe Bird Posey was born in Eastman (Crawford County) Wisconsin on May 3, 1863. He married Grace Grossman in Crawford County on July 22, 1888. Grace was born July 9, 1867 in Jackson County, Ohio.

They lived in Boscobel, Wisconsin, before coming to Foster County in 1902 or 1903. Joe Posey farmed, worked for other farmers, and on the railroad.

Children born to the Poseys were: Gregory, Dick, David, Alma, Alta, Cyrus, Seth and Wallace.

Joe Posey died December 13, 1934; Grace in 1928. Both are buried at Grace City.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 63B
James and Isabelle (Smith) Potter

James Potter was born at Riceville, Iowa, on August 26, 1877. He came to Foster County and filed on a homestead in 1898. He was married to Isabelle Smith November 2, 1904. She was born in Grand Valley, Ontario, Canada, on August 23, 1887, a daughter of Mr. and Mrs. James Smith. Her family moved to Wisconsin in 1895; and to North Dakota a few years later. They homesteaded in the Juanita area.

James and Isabelle farmed in the Juanita area before coming to Grace City in 1920 to operate a hotel. He was custodian at the school there for some time.

They had five children: Esther, Ernest, Dale, Harold and Delores.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 63B

William Herbert and Minnie (Bursack) Potter (Adeline Horton Potter)

William Herbert (Bill) Potter was born at River Falls, Wisconsin on April 28, 1868 to William C. and Ellen Lester Potter. He married Minnie Bursack. They had three daughters:

Mabel, Bernice, and Mildred. Minnie Bursack Potter died in 1898.

Bill married as his second wife Adeline Horton on November 17, 1902. She was born March 30, 1866 to William Horton and Mercy Carolie Bears Horton on Prince Edward Island, Canada.

They came to Grace City in 1911. Two daughters were born to them: Constance and Norma.

Mr. Potter ran a livery stable in Grace City before his death in 1938. He is buried at Grace City.

His family later moved to the state of Washington where Adeline Potter died in 1949. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 63B
Odin and Ida (Sayles) Ramsland

Odin Ramsland was born at Sacred Heart, Minnesota August 14, 1888 to Ole T. Ramsland and Julia Thompson Ramsland. Odin attended the University of Minnesota. He was married to Ida Myrtle Sayles at Dupree, South Dakota on September 30, 1911. She was born at Primghar, Iowa, on October 17, 1887, the daughter of Elmer Sayles and Lydia Melissa Stiles.

The Ramslands came to Foster County in 1918, established a bank in Grace City and owned land in the area and in Grand Forks and Larimore, North Dakota.

Children of the couple are: Odin, Ruth, Jenane and Royce.

Odin Ramsland died August 31, 1945; Ida Ramsland died December 11, 1965. Both are buried at Minneapolis, Minnesota.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 63B

Edward and Minnie (Scanson) Randklev

Edward Randklev was born at Lacrosse, Wisconsin on December 11, 1873 to Peter and Karen Randklev. He married Minnie Josephine Scanson on August 30, 1900 at Rothsay, Minnesota, where she was born on April 4, 1865, the daughter of Guttorm Scanson and Karen Maasjo Scanson. That same year they came to North Dakota to homestead on North 1/2 of Section 4 in Larrabee Township.

Their children were Palmer Gerhard, Amos, Esther Constance, Henry, William, Omar, Earl and Wallace.

Edward died April 28, 1948; Minnie died September 20, 1958. Both are buried at South Lutheran Cemetery at Grace City.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 63B
Syvert and Maria (Mobeck) Rood

Syvert Rood was born in Norway in 1871. He was married at Hatton, North Dakota, in December 1897, to Maria Mobeck, who was born in Caledonia, Minnesota.

They came to Grace City in 1912, where he worked as a blacksmith; Mrs. Rood was often called upon to help out in cases of sickness or when babies were born.

The Roods had three children: Hazel, Lauren and Arnold.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 63B
Robert and Bertha (Bonderud) Ruthven

Bertha Bonderud was born September 27, 1884. She was married to Robert Ruthven. He preceded her in death. She died June 30, 1965 and is buried in Eugene, Oregon.

Children of the couple are: Robert, Glenn, Orville, and Lucille, 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 63B
Joseph and Claretta (Johnson) Sandvol

Joseph Sandvol, born in Norway, December 27, 1872 came to Foster County with his parents in 1896, who homesteaded near Glenfield. On January 3, 1901 he married Claretta (Clara) Johnson at Choice, Minnesota and they made their home at Choice before coming to the Grace City area.

The couple had five children: Ellsworth, Melburne, Raymond, Myrtle and Jerome, 

Mr. Sandvol died December 28, 1950 and Mrs. Sandvol died September 10, 1967. They are buried in the Grace City Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 63B
Carl Tiedmon (Tim) and Emma (Hatch) Scanson

Carl Tiedmon "Tim" Scanson, son of Gutform and Karen Maasjo Scanson, was born April 11, 1895 in Rothsay, Minnesota.

He married Emma Laura Hatch of Wimbledon on September 27, 1917. She was born November 28, 1896, the daughter of George and Laura Luther Hatch.

Tim came to North Dakota with his parents in 1900, who settled in Larrabee Township on the N 'h of Section 33. After his father's death, Tim took over this farm.

The following children were born to them: Ardyce, Geraldine, Odes, Oveda, Kennard, Tilman, Wininfred, Owen, Bill and John.

Tim is buried in the Grace City Cemetery. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 63B
Edwin and Jennie (Randklev) Scanson

Edwin Bergman Scanson was born at Pelican Rapids, Minnesota on June 30, 1877 to Guttorm and Karen Maasjo Scanson. He came to Larrabee Township in 1898 and homesteaded Southwest 1/4 of Section 26 and Southeast 1/4 of Section 27.

He married Jennie Theodora Randklev at Pelican Rapids on August 24, 1901. She was born there on January 6, 1882 to Peter and Karen Grunden Randklev.

Their children were: George, Cora, Ernest, Inez, Lawrence and Edna.

Edwin died July 14, 1940; his wife died February 11, 1930. Both are buried in the Grace City Lutheran Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 64B
Guttorm and Karen (Maasjo) Scanson

Guttorm Scanson was born in Norway May 5, 1839. He was married to Karen Maasjo of Fillmore County, Minnesota, on April 19, 1876, who was born to Mr. and Mrs. Ole Maasjo on February 24, 1861.

They came to the Grace City area in 1900. The couple purchased North 1/2 of 33 in Larrabee Township, where they lived and farmed the remainder of their lives.

Children born to them were: Edwin, Ida, Minnie, Gustav, Anna, Melvin, Emil, Emma, David, Tiedmon, Selma, Gilma and Thomas.

Guttorm Scanson died August 20, 1914. Karen Scanson died May 5, 1946. Both are buried in Grace City Lutheran Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 64B
Larry and Marsha (Topp) Scanson

Larry Scanson, son of Billie and Erma Posey Scanson, was born at Carrington on May 22, 1957. On July 3, 1977 at Grace City he married Marsha Topp, the daughter of Royce and Mary Meier Topp. She was born February 28, 1958, at New Rockford. Both Larry and Marsha are graduates from Grace City High School. Marsha graduated from the Medical Institute in Minneapolis and Larry is a graduate of the Hanson Mechanical Trade School.

They live on a farm near Grace City.

They have a daughter Carrie Beth.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 64B
George and Lura Mae (Whitman) Stedman

George Clinton Stedman was born June 10, 1881 at Fredricksberg, Iowa. Lura Mae Whitman was born at Marshaltown, Iowa, on September 15, 1881. They were married at Fredricksberg on September 25, 1901 and came to North Dakota in 1906 to settle in Larrabee Township.

The Stedmans were parents of eleven children: Neal, Merle, Violet, Margureite, Lareen, Florence, Clarence, Cora, Keith, Leona and Luella.

Mr. Stedman died June 9, 1945. Mrs. Stedman died October 10, 1974. They are buried in the Grace City Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 64B
Ernest and Alma Stewart

Alma Stewart was born at Valley City on May 14, 1884. Alma married Ernest Stewart at Valley City. For a time they lived near Sutton, then farmed a number of years near Grace City. Later, they moved to Grace City and operated a store there. After Mr. Stewart died, Alma moved to Fargo.

They had an adopted daughter, Elaine, and twins, Irene and lone Schroeder, who were nieces of Mrs. Stewart and made their home with the Stewarts.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 64B
Andrew and Martha (Lucht) Swart

Andrew "Andy" Swart was born in 1896 at Rock Valley, Minnesota. He came with his family to Tower City, North Dakota, where he married Martha Lucht on July 3, 1922. She was born May 7, 1887 at Slayton, Minnesota.

The couple farmed at Tower City for several years and came to Juanita in the fall of 1924, where Andy worked in a garage. They moved to Grace City in 1932, where Andy operated his own garage until 1956, when he worked for International Harvester.

Andy died on February 16, 1958, in Carrington; Martha died in Miles City, Montana, on September 29, 1962. Both are buried at Grace City.

Their children are: Lawrence, Lowell, and Claude.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 64B
Donald and Marguerite (Stedman) Topp

Donald Topp, son of Eli and Anna Haberlein Topp, was born December 7, 1906 at McHENRY.

Marguerite Stedman was born September 24, 1909 at Grace City. She was the daughter of George and Lura Whitman Stedman.

The Topps bought their farm in 1946.

Donald Topp married Marguerite Stedman in 1928.

The couple had five children: Laverne, Leonard, Eleanor, Della and Dennis.

Mr. Topp died July 29, 1965. He is buried at Grace City.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 64B
Eli and Anna (Haberlein) Topp

Eli Topp was born in Iowa on November 6, 1880. He came to North Dakota in 1899 to work, but came back in 1900 to take a claim.

On October 10, 1906, he married Anna Haberlein.

They had six children: Donald, Orin, Vernon, Woodrow, Odin and June.

The family lived in the area for many years.

Mr. Topp died in 1943.

Mrs. Topp lived in Grace City until residing in Central Dakota Nursing Home.

Mrs. Topp died in 1973.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 64B
Ervin and Thelma (Westley) Topp

Thelma Westley was born in Sandnes, Norway, on December 24, 1910. She lived in Hannaford until she was married to Ervin Topp on December 10, 1936.

They farmed in Larrabee Township. Four children were born to them: Shirley, Marilyn, Glenda and George.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 65B
Fred and Carrie (Eller) Topp (Martha Awe)

Fred Topp, the son of Joseph and Matilda Luttschwager Topp, was born in Iowa.

He came to North Dakota in 1900. His wife, Carrie Ellen came soon after, bringing their possessions. Fred had settled on a farm. He filed on a homestead in 1902.

In 1900 they started building a house which was finished in 1906.

The couple had six children: Rueben, Clarence, Roy, Ervin, and Wallace.

Mrs. Topp died on March 26, 1910.

In 1912 on January 12, Fred married Martha Awe.

They had two children: Ward and Darrell.

Fred died in 1952 and Martha in 1965.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 65B
Gustave and Bertha (Haberlein) Topp

Gustave Topp was born at Hubbard, Iowa, on September 15, 1875. He was the son of Joseph and Matilda Luttschwager Topp. Gustave was married to Bertha Haberlein on February 16, 1898.

They came to North Dakota in 1900.

There were ten children in the family: Henry, Arthur, Caroline, Elmer, Mable, Laura, Howard, Wilson, Norman and Maynard.

In 1928 they took a small girl, Lucille Mock, into their home.

Mr. Topp died May 26, 1926 and his wife September 20, 1964. They are buried in the Grace City Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 65B
Howard and Florence (Stedman) Topp

Howard Topp was born April 7, 1910 at Grace City to Gustave and Bertha Haberlein Topp. On April 9, 1932 he married Florence Stedman, the daughter of George and Lura Whitman Stedman, who was born at Grace City on March 9, 1914. The family lived on a farm in the Grace City area until 1977.

They were the parents of two daughters: Phyllis and Carol.

Mr. Topp died April 26, 1977 and is a buried in the Grace City Cemetery. Mrs. Topp resides in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 65B
Joseph and Dora (Butt) Topp (Matilda Luttschwager Topp) (Johanna Radke Topp)

Joseph Topp was born August 23, 1846 at Mecklenberg, Germany. When he came to America he first settled in Wisconsin. Later he brought some of his sons to North Dakota and started them farming.

In 1871 he married Dora Bult.

They had one son John who lived at Grace City.

Dora Topp died in 1872. 
In 1873 Joseph married Matilda Luttschwager.

They had six children: Gustave, Fred, Eli, Otto, Henry and Ellen.

Matilda died in 1883.

In 1884 Joseph married Johanna Radke.

They had six children: William, Ernest, Arthur, Benjamin, Carl and Emma.

Several of the children have lived in the Grace City area.

Mr. Joseph Topp died February 13, 1925. He is buried at Radcliffe, Iowa.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 65B
Merlin and Kathy (Hafner) Topp

Merlin Topp was born at New Rockford to Woodrow and Anna Greger Topp on October 24, 1941.

He grew up in the Grace City area and was a farmer in the area. He was especially interested in Polled Herefords. He was active in the community.

On June 12, 1970 he married Kathy Hafner at Sykeston.

They have three sons: Mark, Ryan and Paul.

Mr. Topp died August 27, 1979. He is buried at Grace City.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 65B
Otto and Anna (Voigt) Topp

Otto Topp, son of Joseph and Matilda Luttschwager Topp, was born March 9, 1882 in Sherman, Iowa. While living there he was the manager of a grain elevator and the Sherman Mercantiles until 1910. In 1909 he was united in marriage to Anna Voigt at Kankakee, Illinois.

In 1910 the family moved to Grace City. He built the first store for general merchandising. The town was an inland town until 1912 when the railroad came through. He had to haul his merchandise from McHenry until then. He operated the store for thirty‑two years.

The couple had four children: Lawrence, Esther, Myrtle, and Calvin.

Mr. Topp was elected to the State Senate for the 32nd district in 1934 serving four terms. He was the first Democratic Senator elected from the 32nd district.

Mr. Topp died on August 14, 1945, and his wife July 19, 1975.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 65B
Royce and Mary (Meier) Topp

Royce Topp, son of Rueben and Lily Hart Topp, was born July 4, 1935 at Grace City. He married Mary Meier, born July 4, 1937, the daughter of David and Rose Schaack Meier at Sykeston on October 9, 1955 at Carrington.

The family lives on a farm near Grace City, across the line into Eddy County. Royce is the third generation to live on this farm. He has served on the township board in Cherry Lake Township.

They have six children: Candace, Marsha, Jacqueline, Brenda, Cora and Paula.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 65B
George and Ovid (Lucia) Trembley

George Trembly was born in Middleboro, Vermont, on September 15, 1843. He married Ovid Lucia of Fond du Lac, Wisconsin. Three children were born to them: Arden, Frank and Dick.

They came to Grace City in 1901, where they made their home. George died May 31, 1930.

Mr. Trembley was one of the "Hundred Day Men" of the Civil War, seeing active service during the last 100 days of the war. He was with Company B 41st Wisconsin regiment.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 65B
Erick and Karen (Mattson) Tysk

Erick Tysk was born in Sweden on May 18, 1859, and was married there to Karen Mattson in 1885.

They emigrated from Sweden in 1888 and settled in Portland, North Dakota. They came to Grace City in 1919, where they operated a pool hall.

He died October 13, 1940. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 65B
Jerome C. and Mary Jane (Delay) Warren

Jerome C. Warren born August 26, 1858, was the son of Hiram and Susan Lamb Warren of Kingsburgy, New York. He was an iron molder of stoves before coming to Foster County to farm. Jerome married at Rock Island, Illinois, January 1, 1881, Mary Jane Delay born at Warren, Pennsylvania.

The family first lived in Larrabee Township near the "Fort Totten Trail". Jerome was postmaster at Larrabee from 1891‑1901. M. Warren served as County Commissioner from 1903‑1907. In 1906 the family moved to Carrington. They also lived in the Melville area.

The Warrens were the parents of nine children: Arthur, Jerome, Irving, Harold, Grace, Susie, Elsie, Olive and another daughter who died as an infant.

Mr. Warren died March 3, 1909 and Mrs. Warren died March 16, 1939. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 65B
Hans and Olena Westad

Olena Westad was born in Stange, Norway on July 7, 1842. She was married there to Hans Westad and emigrated, to America with him and their four daughters in 1881. They came to Larrabee from Minnesota in 1886 and homesteaded there. They lived there for ten years.

Hans Westad died in May 1896 and the family moved to Carrington. Olena died July 5, 1929.

They had four daughters. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 65B
Lewis and Sarah Whitman

Lewis Whitman was born in Wisconsin in 1847. He joined the army at the age of 18 and fought in the battle at Gettysburg and witnessed the surrender of General Lee at Appomatox Court House.

Shortly after the war Mr. Whitman married. He lost his wife, a small son and a daughter within a month of each other of typhoid fever.

Another child, aged 4, was burned to death in a fire accident. His only other child was Lura. He married again later.

After leaving the army, Mr. Whitman worked as a laborer, then retired and moved to Grace City.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 65B
Daniel and Helen (Dahl) Willoughby

Dan Willoughby was born at Grace City, son of Ellis and Sarah Elija Willoughby. He married Helen Dahl. She was born on January 27, 1896 at Valley City. Dan and Helen farmed near Grace City and later moved into town, where they lived throughout their married lives.

The following children were born to them: Anna, Fern, Phyllane, Kermit, Marjorie, Darwin and Dee.

Helen died on May 20, 1937; Dan died in 1981. Both are buried at Grace City Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 65B
Ellis and Sarah Elija (Wilson) Willoughby

Ellis Willoughby was born at Sault Ste. Marie, Michigan on February 26, 1864. His parents were Daniel and Martha Passen Willoughby. He married Sarah Elija Wilson on March 19, 1890. She was born in Temple, New Hampshire on June 10, 1863. Mr. Willoughby came to Larrabee, where he homesteaded, in 1886.

In the spring of 1900, they were in the hardware and implement business in McHenry for five years. At this time he was a deputy sheriff in Foster County and was seriously wounded in 1903 while trying to settle a shooting affair. They moved back to their farm in 1905 and to Grace City in 1917.

Sarah died on November 5, 1926; Ellis died on February 23, 1933. They are buried in the Grace City Cemetery.

Their children were: Wilson, Daniel, Eugene, Calvin, and Lucy.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 66B
E. Wilson and Florence (House) Willoughby

Ellis Wilson Willoughby was born in Larrabee Township on April 29, 1891, the eldest son of Ellis and Sarah Willoughby. The family moved to McHenry in 1900 and to a farm near Grace City in 1910.

He was married to Florence House on November 8, 1914 and they had three children: Lucy, Naida and Ellis. They lived on the farm until 1945.

Florence died in November 1948 and Wilson on December 13, 1963. Both are buried at Grace City Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 66B
Dwight and Dorothy G. (Posey) Wright

Dwight Wright, son of Lester and Dorothy E. Topp Wright, was born May 9, 1922.

Dorothy Posey was born October 31, 1921. She was the daughter of David and Georgians Nevland Posey.

Dwight and Dorothy were married May 1946. They live on a farm in Larrabee Township on the Northwest 1/4 of Section 22.

They have three children, Dana, Leon and Melva.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 66B
Lester and Dorothy (Topp) Wright

Lester Wright was born April 9, 1897 at Wayers Cove, Virginia. He came to North Dakota with his mother in 1931, living first at Edgeley. On December 14, 1919 he married Dorothy Ernestine Topp, the daughter of John and Minnie Topp, who was born October 20, 1890 at Esterville, Iowa. She came to North Dakota with her parents who had settled in Eddy County. The Wrights began farming on Section 22 in Larrabee Township, but in 1943 moved to Section 20, where they are now living.

The couple have three children: Dwight, Keith and Margaret (Mrs. Alf Stangeland).

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 66B
Longview

Christian Albus

Christian Albus, born September 15, 1855, in Austria, came to America in 1883 to homestead. He had married Magdalene Rodacker and they had two sons: Christian Jr. and Fred.

After her death he married Katherine Edinger, born January 20, 1860 in Russia. They lived in Rumania until coming to America. They first lived on the Southeast 1/4 of Section 14 in Longview Township as a tree claim, later moving to a homestead on Northwest 1/4 of Section 22, where they lived until moving to Carrington.

Mr. Albus later acquired more land in Longview Township. After coming to America ten more children were born: Jake, Frank, Caroline, Pauline, Dorothy, Rose, Emma, Henry, Marie and Arthur.

Katherine died in 1934 and Christian in 1941. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 67B
Frank Albus

Frank Albus, son of Christian and Katherine Albus, was born March 17, 1885, in Foster County. He was married on December 12, 1912 to Louise Kuehn, born in Romania on January 20, 1889 and came to America in 1907 with her parents, to settle in the Cathay area.

Frank Albus homestead on the Southwest 1/4 of Section 11 in Longview Township, later the family moved into Carrington. They were the parents of three children: Ella, Leslie and Marie.

Mrs. Albus died June 8, 1967 and Mr. Albus died on June 4, 1978. They are buried in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 67B
Leslie and Phyllis (Woermke) Albus

Leslie Albus, son of Frank and Louise Keuhn Albus, was born June 1, 1915, in Longview Township. Leslie attended school in Longview and high school in Carrington. He went on for further education to become a minister of the Baptist church. He married Phyllis Woermke on August 25, 1943 at Arnpriar, Ontario, Canada.

They have one son: Jerome.

Mr. Albus served as chaplain in armed services from 1943‑1969‑during World War II and the Korean and Viet Nam conflicts.

He retired in July of 1969 as a Colonel.

He now resides in Grand Forks where he is a clergyman.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 67B
Carl A. and Amanda (Kallberg) Berg

Carl Berg was born on a farm in Osterjotland, Sweden, on January 27, 1867. As a young man, age 20, he came to the United States and settled at Aurora, Nebraska. He came to Carrington in 1898 where he worked as a farm laborer and a homesteaded in Hawksnest Township. On August 1, 1900, he married Mrs. Amanda Smith, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. P.M. Kallberg, who was born November 1, 1869, at Center City, Minnesota. The Kallbergs had come to the area in 1883 and Amanda Smith had filed on a homestead, which later became the family home.

The Bergs had four children: Alice, Esther, Wilfred and Harold. Mrs. Berg had a son by her previous marriage to Emil Smith.

Mrs. Berg died in 1951; Mr. Berg on May 22, 1961, age 94. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 67B
Norvin and Phyllis (Brandt) Black

Norvin Black, born June 18, 1919 at Grace City to G.C. and Estella Peterson Black attended NDSU. In 1947 he married at Fargo, Phyllis Brandt, the daughter of Carl and Leona Gettle Brand, who was born at Pound, Wisconsin on May 12, 1923. She is a graduate of Valley City State College.

They acquired their farm on Section 11 in Larrabee Township in 1948.

The couple have five children: Betty, Lyle, Gilbert, Wesley and Louanne.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 67B
Andrew and Mary (Johnson) Carlson

Andrew Carlson, born November 25, 1891, in Sweden, came with his parents to Minnesota. At seventeen he began working for the railroad being built north from Jamestown toward Carrington and in 1883 he homesteaded in Pleasant Valley Township.

He married on November 25, 1891, Mary Johnson, born April 27, 1871, in Luehe, Sweden, who came to America in 1890. Four children were born to the couple: Louis, Howard, Helmer and Eva.

Mr. Carlson died in 1932. Mrs. Carlson died in September 1964. They are buried in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 67B
George and Ethel (Willey) Clapper

George Clapper was born in Foster County in the Hawksnest area on April 8, 1901. He married at Fessenden on November 8, 1923, Ethel Willey, the daughter of Loren and Lillie Willey. She was born at New London, Iowa, June 24, 1900 and came to the area with her parents in 1913.

The couple farmed in the Hawksnest area until 1959.

The couple had two sons: Russell and Oscar.

Mr. Clapper died March 25, 1957 and Mrs. Clapper died May 5, 1959. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 67B
Frank and Lucille (Packard) Ganske

Frank Ganske was born October 5, 1890, at Essic, Minnesota to the August Ganskes. On June 15, 1915, in Santiago, Minnesota, Frank married Lucille Packard, daughter of Samuel and Jennie Reed Packard, who was born at Santiago on May 18, 1895. They came to Carrington in 1915.

The couple had four children: Merton, Dolores, Warren and Donna.

Mr. Ganske died October 31, 1936 and is buried at Carrington.

After Frank Ganske's death Lucille married Frank Guenther and now resides in Minneapolis.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 67B
Ted and Sarah (Garrett) Guenther

Ted Guenther was born at Parker, South Dakota, on December 30, 1904 to Frank and Nettie Guenther. On October 14, 1925, he married Sarah Garrett. Sarah, the daughter of Henry and Minnie Hewitt Garrett was born on May 19, 1906.

The Guenthers bought the farm owned by the Garretts and lived there until Mr. Guenther's death on November 20, 1967. He is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

The couple had two daughters, Ardell and Sharon. Mrs. Guenther now makes her home in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 67B
Martin Haba

Martin Haba, born in Raczyce, Poland, in October 1882, came to the United States in 1905 or 06 and homesteaded on South 1/2 of Section 30 in Longview Township. He came to the U.S. to avoid serving in the army and for the opportunities offered here.

He was married in 1910. Mrs. Haba was also born in Poland. They were the parents of fifteen children: Nellie, Rose, Amelia, John, Eleanor, Irene, Edward, Eugenic, Henry, Clara, Louis, Helen, Lorraine, Mary Ann, and Leonard.

The family later moved to Washington to spend their last years. The coupe is buried at Sunnyside, Washington. Mr. Haba died in 1951 and Mrs. Haba in 1968.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 67B
Charles and Helen (Paluh) Hallwachs

Charles Hallwachs, born December 20, 1906 in Indiana, was the son of Herman and Sarah Meyers Hallwachs. They came to North Dakota in 1907 and settled in the Hawksnest area. On September 27, 1927, Charles married Helen Paluh at Woodworth. Helen, the daughter of John and Katherine Huba Paluh was born December 6, 1911. The couple live on a farm in Longview Township.

They have six children: Lucille, (Mrs. Ted Clark); Ann (Mrs. Leonard Geskel; Catherine, (Mrs. Elmer Hertel); Betty, (Mrs. John Schockl; Carol (Mrs. John Mehring Jr.); and Marvin.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 67B
Herman and Sarah (Meyers) Hallwachs

In 1896, Herman Hallwachs married in Indiana, Sarah Meyers, who was born January 21, 1868 in Will County, Illinois. The Hallwachs family came from' Indiana in 1907 and settled in Hawksnest Township, Wells County. After Mr. Hallwachs died in April 1945, Mrs. Hallwachs moved into Carrington.

They were the parents of six children: Leslie, Charles, William, Morgan, Nina and Carrie.

Mrs. Hallwachs died on March 13, 1963. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 68B
Marvin and Audrey (Schaffer) Hallwachs

Marvin Hallwachs was born to Charles and Helen Paluh Hallwachs on May 9, 1933. He married on November 24, 1952, Audrey Schaffer, the daughter of William and Beatrice Brady Schaffer, born June 28, 1936, in the Federated Church at Carrington. They have three children, Deborah, Harley and Bryon.

Marvin is the third generation living on the farm in Longview Township. He has served on the township board for several years.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 68B
William and Agnes (Davis) Hennings

William Hennings, born August 19, 1885, at Holstein, Wisconsin, came to North Dakota in 1901. He farmed in both Stutsman and Foster Counties. In 1912 he operated a store in Barlow. In 1939 he moved to a farm in Longview Township. On June 29, 1909 William married Agnes Davis, born in 1900.

Seven children were born to the family: Howard, Virgil, Forrest, Roy, Leona, Lillian and Dorothy.

Agnes Davis Hennings died December 23, 1923.

In 1934, Mr. Hennings married Gena Whipple, the widow of N. E. Whipple, who died November 22, 1960. She had six children by her first husband.

William Hennings died on August 14, 1962. He and both his wives are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 68B
Adolph Huff

Adolph Huff was born near Costive, Poland in 1881. He left Poland and came to Canada in 1897, where he spent several years before coming to the Melville area in 1900, where his father had gone earlier, to help with the threshing.

He spent the winter with a farmer near Melville and attended the Melville school for two years to learn to read and write English. Later he spent a year in the Carrington schools.

He had homesteaded on land in Stutsman County just across the line from Longview Township. His son Ben lives on this place at the present time.

In 1903 he attended Union College in Lincoln, Nebraska and joined the Adventist faith.

Adolph married Mathilda Pepple of Cathay in 1904. They were the parents of eight children.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 68B
G. W. and Ada R. (King) Kallberg

G. W. Kallberg was born near Vex, Sweden, April 7, 1869. At the age of six he came to America with his parents, the Peter Kallbergs, who settled in Minnesota. In 1882, Mr. Kallberg came to North Dakota, where he worked on the railroad construction. On November 22, 1883, he married Ada King. Ada was the daughter of William King, who had a claim near Jamestown. Ada was born in New York State on August 6, 1866. The Kallbergs homesteaded on the Northwest% of Section 8 in Longview Township, where they lived until 1906, when they moved to Carrington.

Mr. Kallberg died in April 1942 and Mrs. Kallberg died in August 1947.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 68B
Peter John and Katrina (Johansdotter) Kallberg

Peter Kallberg, born in Sweden, on February 18, 1837, married Katrina Johansdotter, born June 20, 1840, in Sweden. The couple came to America and settled in Minnesota. Peter and Katrina came to Foster County in 1882 to homestead and take a tree claim. The homestead was on Section 8 in Pleasant Valley now known as Longview Township.

They had nine children: Charlie, Christina, Gustaf, Andrew, August, Amanda, Emma, Amelia and Sophie.

The couple moved into Carrington in 1906. 
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 68B
Leonard and Anna (Weber) Kriewald

Leonard John Kriewald, born May 10, 1893, at Mapleton, Minnesota, came to North Dakota with his parents in 1914. In 1916 he married Anna Weber of Minneapolis. The couple farmed in Longview and Carrington Townships until they moved into Carrington in 1943. Mr. Kriewald was a promoter of purebred livestock, raising purebred cattle, sheep and hogs. He was one of the organizers of the Foster County Fair and was a Fair Board Manager. He also served on the Township Board.

The couple had one son, Lloyd.

Mr. Kriewald died April 8, 1969 and is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 68B
Thomas and Lydia (Shell) Lutz (Marie Liebig Lutz) (Eva Andre Lutz)

Thomas Lutz was born on August 18, 1863, in Romania to Thomas and Anna Marie Lutz.

He came to America in 1884 with eight neighbors. They came to Quebec and later settled on a farm, which he homesteaded, southwest of Carrington in 1885.

In 1890 he married Lydia Shell at Java, South Dakota.

The couple had six children: John, Herman, Christina, Anna, Thomas and Albert.

After Lydia Lutz died, Mr. Lutz married Marie Liebig at Denhoff on July 13, 1905.

They had five children: August, Werner, Frederick, Lillian, and Gustav. Gustav served as a chaplain in the United States Army.

Marie died August 6, 1925.

In 1929 Mr. Lutz married Eva Andre.

She died in 1934.

Mr. Lutz died June 5, 1944. He was the last member of the group coming to the area together.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 68B
Chester and Cecelia (Lira) Malinski

Chester Malinski, son of Joseph and Victoria Freize Malinski, was born at Cicero, Illinois, on November 11, 1917. He married Cecelia, the daughter of Tom and Anna Blaskowski Lira at Sykeston on December 28, 1942. Cecelia was born February 20, 1923 at Kensal.

They live on a farm on Section 22 in Longview Township.

Mr. Malinski is the second generation to live on the farm. He has served as assessor and also on the township board.

The couple had one daughter: Sharon.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 68B
Isak and Sophia (Kallberg) Olson

Isak Olson born in Sweden on October 25, 1874, came to America as a young man of 18. In 1895 he homesteaded six miles west of Carrington where he lived until retiring in 1943. On March 27; 1901, he married Sophia Kallberg of Longview Township. Sophia, the daughter of Mr. and Mrs. J. P. Kallberg, was born September 8, 1875, in Minnesota, and came to North Dakota at the age of seven.

The Olsons were parents of three children: Anna, Clarence and Edith (Mrs. Lloyd Hanson). Mrs. Olson died on January 24, 1957 and Mr. Olson on March 17, 1962. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 69B
Christian and Jessie (Montgomery) Pepple

Chris Pepple, the son of Mr. and Mrs. John Pepple, pioneers in Longview Township, was born on April 29, 1888. He married in 1912, Jessie Montgomery, the daughter of William and Jessie Montgomery, born May 20, 1889 at Glasgow, Scotland. She came to North Dakota with her parents in 1894. The Montgomery family homesteaded in Wyard Township where Jessie received her education.

They were the parents of one son, Chester.

They moved to Washington where they resided until their deaths in a car accident in July 1959.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 69B
Fredrick and Isabelle (Wagner) Pepple

Fredrick Pepple, the son of John and Caroline Albus Pepple was born May 8, 1882, in Romania and came to America with his parents in 1882. He homesteaded in Longview Township in 1909 and lived there until 1944 when he retired and moved into Carrington.

On June 3, 1909 he ‑ married Isabelle Wagner at Edenwold, Saskatchewan. The couple were parents of five children: Delford, Fredrick, Millicent, Betty and Ann. The Pepples were active in the Baptist Church, Mr. Pepple served on both the township and school board for many years. Mr. Pepple died on September 21, 1954. He is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 69B
John and Caroline (Albus) Pepple

John Pepple born in Russia and Caroline Albus born in Austria on July 8, 1857, met and were married in Romania in November 1873. In 1882 they came to America with their two children John and Fredrick. A third son died in Jamestown during the first winter they were in America.

They homesteaded in Longview Township on the Northwest 1/4 of Section 14 and made their home there until 1914 when they moved into Carrington. The Pepples were parents of fourteen children, four died in infancy.

Mr. Pepple died in February 1934, Mrs. Pepple died in September 1937. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 69B
William Y. Quarton

William Young Quarton was born November 12, 1862, at Burnt Island, Scotland. He was a legal apprentice before coming to the United States. After arriving in New York at age 18, he worked his way across the country until he reached the Red River Valley area. He worked here for a few years to learn about farming until he was old enough to homestead.

He came to Foster County in 1883 or 1884 and filed a homestead in Longview Township on the Southwest 1/4 of Section 2. He lived on this farm until 1911, when he retired and moved to Carrington. He became a citizen in 1892 when he proved up on his land. His sister Barbara homesteaded on the Southeast 1/4 of Section 2.

Mr. Quarton sent money to Scotland for his mother and five sisters to come to the United States in about 1890.

William Quarton married Anna Laura Cushen in 1886. They had five children: three died in infancy. The two daughters who lived were Nellie and Barbara. Nellie married Frank Trullinger and they lived on the Quarton farm for several years.

Anna Laura died July 14, 1897 and is buried at Carrington.

He married Anna Mae Lower as his second wife. She died in October 1927 and is buried in the Carrington Cemetery. They had one daughter, Nancy (Mrs. Myron Sharrard).

Mr. Quarton was a charter member of the Masonic Lodge in Carrington. He died in January 1955 and is buried in Snohomish, Washington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 69B
Adam and Beatrice (Paul) Schmidt

Adam Schmidt and Beatrice Paul were born in Russia. Adam was born August 11, 1882. The couple was married November 13, 1907 in Russia.

They emigrated to Canada in 1913, coming to the United States settling in the Sykeston area in 1915. They lived in Longview Township from 1937 to 1943 when they moved to Carrington.

They had seven children: Leona, Ann, Helen, Rose, Minnie, Mike and Pete.

Mr. Schmidt died in October 1964. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 69B
Emil and Jennie (Knoll) Smith

Emil Smith was born in Longview Township on May 15, 1887. His mother was Amanda Kallberg Smith. His father died when he was a small boy and he spent much of his time with his grandparents. Mr. Smith graduated from Carrington High School and attended the University of North Dakota for two years. He spent some years as a bookkeeper and as a salesman.

On February 25, 1919, Emil married Jennie Knoll, who was born at Fulton, Illinois, on September 19, 1888. Jennie was one of the first nurses at the Carrington Hospital and later was the Superintendent of the hospital. The Smiths lived on farms in the Longview area until 1963 when they retired and moved to Carrington.

They had three daughters: Janice, Phyllis and one who died in infancy. They adopted a son, Lloyd, as an infant. The Smiths also cared for nine foster children; some for months and some for years.

Mr. Smith served as treasurer of the Seventh Day Adventist Church for over 20 years. He was active in the County Historical Society.

Mrs. Smith died March 19, 1975 and Mr. Smith died March 18, 1981. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 69B
W. J. and Delight (Hunt) Taylor

W. J. (Joseph) Taylor was born in Pennsylvania on October 13, 1880. His parents died when he was a small child and he was adopted by the Taylor family. He came west with them in 1898. The family settled in Longview Township where Mr. Taylor and his family continued to live. His sons still reside on the farm. In 1919 Joseph Taylor married Delight Hunt at Lewistown, Montana. Mr. Taylor served on both township and school boards. The couple had five children: Joseph, Theodore, Virginia, Betty and Ruea.

Mr. Taylor died in April 1932.

Later Delight married Glenn Laughlin. They had one son.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 69B
David and Meta (Kastner) Thiesen

David Thiesen and Meta Kastner were married at the New Home church on March 17, 1932. Meta was born in the New Home area on June 16, 1912. The couple farmed in the Longview area for a number of years. They had one daughter, Judy. Mrs. Thiesen died March 26, 1974 and is buried in the Carrington Cemetery. ‑

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 69B
Jacob and Elizabeth (Hinger) Thiesen

Jacob Thomas Thiesen, the son of John and Anna Thiesen, was born September 26, 1893, at Napoleon, North Dakota. After the death of his father in 1897 the family moved to New Home and later to the Sykeston area. In 1923 Jacob married Elizabeth Hinger at Steele. They farmed in Longview Township until 1958 when they moved to Carrington.

They were the parents of six children: Dallas, Donald, Lyle, Merland, Virginia and Beatrice.

Mr. Thiesen died February 8, 1966 and is buried in the Carrington Cemetery. His widow married Earl Straley.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 69B
Anton (Tony) and Amelia (Haba) Waliser

Tony Waliser was born December 18, 1910. His parents were of German ancestry living in Russia. Tony married on September 29, 1932, Amelia Haba, the daughter of Martin and Agnes Zdeb Haba, who was born September 15, 1913, at Carrington. The couple purchased their farm in Section 4 of Longview Township in 1943 where they still live.

Mrs. Waliser has been a 4‑H leader for 30 years and has held several local offices.

Tony and Amelia have three children: Arlene, Allen and Antonetta.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 70B
Henry and Mary (Thiesen) Wetzstein

Henry Wetzstein, son of Mathias and Mary Wetzstein was born at Glen Ullin on January 18, 1900. He was a farmer in Longview Township. He served in the army during World War II.

In May 28, 1943, he married Mary Thiesen, who had been married to Ben Slough. They had a son, Walter. She had also been married to B. N. Hedin and had two children, Anton and Violet.

Mary Thiesen was born in Minnesota on March 18, 1902.

Mr. Wetzstein died in 1960. After his death Mrs. Wetzstein lived with her daughter until her death in 1963.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 70B
Mathias and Mary (Gerving) Wetzstein

Mathias Wetzstein was born October 2, 1872, at Spier, a German colony in Russia. He came to the United States in 1893 and settled in the Glen Ullin area. There he met and married Mary Gerving on October 7, 1895. She was born July 1, 1877, in Holland and had come to North Dakota with her parents who homesteaded in Morton County. In 1917 the family came to Carrington and settled in Longview Township until his death.

The couple had eight children: Henry, Math, Mike, Margaret, Rosa, May, Mary and Theresa.

Mr. Wetzstein died January 5, 1957 and Mrs. Wetzstein died in December 1965. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 70B
Joseph P. and Dollie (Slough) Zimmerman

Joseph Paul Zimmerman, born June 29, 1873, at Albany, Minnesota and Dollie Slough, also born at Albany on September 29, 1877, were married June 28, 1895. The couple farmed near Alexandria, Minnesota, before coming to Foster County in 1909, where they lived in Longview Township for 34 years. They moved into Carrington after their buildings were severely damaged by a tornado in 1943.

The Zimmermans had three children: Elinor, Phillip (Toady) and Doris.

Mrs. Zimmerman died in 1945.

In 1946 Mr. Zimmerman married Mrs. Victoria Aver of Albany, Minnesota.

Mr. Zimmerman died in August 1963. Joseph and his first wife Dollie are both buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 70B
McHenry

John and Marie (Torrison) Aarestad Sr.

John Aarestad was born in Griggs County near Cooperstown on November 25, 1889. On July 20, 1922 he married Marie Torrison at McHenry. He served in the Army overseas in World War I. In 1922 he bought a meat market in McHenry and later he added groceries to the store. In 1955 he turned his business over to his son, John Jr.

John Aarestad, very much interested in hunting and trapping, was an active sportsman all his life. He did big game hunting in Canada and Alaska and collected many trophies. He is probably best remembered for his museum in McHenry, which he built in 1960 where he has exhibits of his trophies and many antiques as well.

Mr. Aarestad was active in the American Legion. He served on the Foster County Welfare Board for 27 years.

Mr. Aarestad died in January 1964. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 71B
Anton and Emma (Opdahl) Aasland

Anton Aasland was born August 20, 1888 in Norway. He came to North Dakota to homestead in McKenzie County. In 1908 he moved to Manfred where he operated a general store. He married Emma Opdahl at Manfred on June 22, 1919. The family also lived in Harvey. In 1944 the family came to McHenry where they operated a general store.

The Aaslands had six children: Arnold, Charles, Richard, Palmer, Anna, and Mrs. Saint.

Mr. Aasland died in July 1975.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 71B
Richard A. and Yvonne (Kofoid) Aasand

Richard Aasand was born April 20, 1937 at Detroit Lakes, Minnesota to A.S. and Emma Aasand.

Yvonne Kofoid was born October 18, 1938 at Bottineau to Henry and Ann Kofoid.

Richard and Yvonne were married in 1958 at Bottineau.

They have two children: Steven and Dean.

Richard farms and operates a T.V. repair shop. He serves on the school board and town board.

Yvonne taught school.

The family lives in McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 71B
Alfred W. and Elaine (Faytle) Anderson

Alfred Anderson was born at McHenry on September 18, 1916 to Edward and Sina Wesley Anderson.

On March 8, 1937 he was married to Elaine Faytle at Carrington. Elaine was the daughter of Matt F. and Anna Faytle of McHenry. She was born at McHenry on August 19, 1919.

The Andersons are the parents of four children: Lola, Rodney, Lonnie, and Gerald.

The Andersons are active in church and community affairs.

Mr. Anderson served in the U.S. Army during World War II. He was the manager of the Peavey Elevator at McHenry for thirty‑one years.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 71B

Clinton J. and Caroline (Anderson) Anderson

Clinton Anderson was born April 19, 1919 in Wisconsin.

Caroline was born in North Dakota on February 25, 1927.

The couple has seven children: James, Marjorie, Dennis, Deane, Joy, Cathy and Amy.

They live on a farm near McHenry in Eddy County.

They are active in the McHenry community where they have lived since 1960.
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 71B
Peter and Mary (Kubzik) Becker

Peter J. Becker was born at Clare City, Minnesota on March 1, 1895 to Eugene and Elizabeth Becker. He came to Sykeston with his family in 1907.

He married Mary Kubzik at Sykeston on November 18, 1924. Mary was born February 28, 1905 in Germany to Ignatius and Rose Kubzik.

The Beckers had six children: Eugene, Marjory, Betty, and Edward. Robert and Lavurne died as infants.

The family lived at Sykeston for a few years before moving to Larrabee Township. In 1970 they retired and moved to McHenry where Mrs. Becker still resides.

Mr. Becker died in 1974 and is buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 71B
Selmer and Jennie (Strand) Benson

Selmer Benson was born at McHenry on March 26, 1892. He married Jennie Strand.

The couple had two daughters, Beatrice and Geneva. Mr. Benson served in the army during World War I.

He died in September 1937.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 71B
Chester M. Berg

Chester Berg was born November 22, 1906 to Martin and Carrie Ellingson Berg in Foster County.

He lived in McHenry with his parents.

He died October 2, 1930.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 71B
Clarence O. (Dave) and Jeannette (Kirkeby) Berg

Dave Berg was born June 18, 1899 at Kensett, Iowa to Martin and Carrie Ellingson Berg.

He married Jeannette Kirkeby at Deadwood, South Dakota on July 31, 1933. She was born at Leal on April 27, 1907.

The couple lived in McHenry and Jamestown.

Dave Berg was a rural mail carrier in McHenry for many years. He also carried mail in the Carrington area and helped with farm work at McHenry, Later he bought a farm near McHenry. His last years were spent in his home in Jamestown.

Mrs. Berg taught school for a number of years.

Mrs. Berg died May 28, 1962.

Mr. Berg died January 27, 1963.

They are buried at Woodbine Cemetery in Valley City.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 71B
Edva O. Berg

Edva Berg was born February 5, 1903 at McHenry to Martin and Carrie Ellingson Berg.

Edva was a schoolteacher, teaching in Oregon for nine years, also in McHenry, Carrington, and Jamestown.

She came back to Jamestown to be near her parents.

Miss Berg died April 18, 1957.

She was buried at McHenry. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 71B
Martin and Carrie (Ellingson) Berg

Martin Berg was born in Norway on October 11, 1871. When coming to America, he first settled in Iowa.

He married Carrie Ellingson in Iowa. Carrie was born October 30, 1873 to the Elling Ellingsons.

The couple had eight children: Clarence, Glennis, Edva, Tracy, Chester, Lucille, and Winnifred. One child died at two years.

The family lived on a farm in McHenry after 1902, when they came to Foster County.

In 1945 they retired and moved into town.

Mrs. Berg died April 9, 1958.

Mr. Berg died December 26, 1960.

They are buried at McHenry. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 72B
Tracy and Dorothy (Lowe) Berg

Tracy Berg, son of Martin and Carrie Ellingson Berg, was born December 23, 1904.

He married Dorothy Lowe at Moorhead on January 10, 1943.

Dorothy was the daughter of the Emil Lowes and was born March 13, 1923 at Cooperstown.

The couple had two children: Chester and Allan.

After graduating at McHenry, Tracy was employed in Kansas City, Detroit, and Los Angeles. He came back to farm near McHenry in 1943. He retired in 1956 and moved to Jamestown.

Mr. Berg died April 18, 1957‑ a few hours after his sister had died. He was buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 72B
Winnefred C. Berg

Winnefred Berg was born June 1, 1917 to Martin and Carrie Ellingson Berg. She grew up in McHenry.

She was attending the Dakota Business College in Fargo when she became ill. After several weeks of illness, death came. She died January 28, 1937. She is buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 72B
Anton and Kari (Bergh) Bjorgo

Anton Bjorgo was born in Norway on July 21, 1858. He came to America and settled in Iowa before coming to McHenry in 1905.

On December 12, 1886 Anton Bjorgo and Kari Bergh were married in Iowa.

Kari was born July 7, 1860 in Wisconsin.

The couple had six children: Gertrude, Cora, Molla, Alvin and Hannah. A son died when born.
Anton Bjorgo came to the United States when he was twenty. In Iowa he worked as a cook. He was also employed as a cook in McHenry. He was a butter maker in Iowa also.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Bjorgo were blind in their last years.

Mr. Bjorgo died on January 3, 1948 and Mrs. Bjorgo died on January 13, 1956. They are buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 72B
Arthur Oliver Borlaug

Arthur Oliver Borlaug, born December 8, 1890, graduated from Luther College, Decorah, Iowa and attended the Lutheran Seminary in St. Paul: He was ordained in 1917. During his first pastorate in Alberta, Canada he married Alvild Constance Jordhog who was born at Knox, North Dakota. Subsequently he served Lutheran churches in Nebraska, and went to Carpio, North Dakota in 1929, to Driscoll in 1937 and to McHenry, Foster County in 1943. He served in the McHenry pastorate until he retired and lived in the parsonage there until his death in 1970.

His wife died in 1933 before his five children were grown. They are: Constance (wife of the Rev. Bruce Cleveland of Sturgis, South Dakota), Donald, a ‑Lutheran pastor ‑ in Chicago, Paul, Leonard and Oliver. A grandson Bruce Borlaug is attending the St. Paul Seminary.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 72B
Edward and Carolina (England) Brown

Edward N. Brown was born at Woodstock, Illinois on October 20, 1858.

Carolina England was born at Decorah, Iowa on November 8, 1863.

The couple lived at Brainerd, Minnesota until coming to North Dakota in 1894. They lived in Florence Township a few years before moving to McHenry Township in 1896.

They had eleven children: Edward, Harrison, Reuben, Goldie, Eva, Louise, Mabel, Newton, Alice, Pearl and Walter.

Mrs. Brown died June 7, 1925. Mr. Brown died August 29, 1937. They are buried at Glenfield.

Clayton R. and Theresa (Fadness) Christiansen

Clayton Christiansen was born at Juanita on December 25, 1921 to Paul and Alma Tams Christiansen.

On June 22, 1947 he married Theresa Fadness, the daughter of Seven and Tilda Bergstad Fadness. Theresa was born September 26, 1925 at Binford.

They had eight children and a foster child: Beth, Becky, Robert, Joan, Russell, Jerome, Jill, John and An Sook.

In 1942 ‑1945 Mr. Christiansen served in the Air Corps. He belongs to the American Legion and Veterans of Foreign Wars. He owns and operates a service station and bulk plant.

Mrs. Christiansen taught school.

They are active in the community.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 72B
Paul and Alma (Tams) Christiansen

Paul Christiansen was born in Germany on July 19, 1878. He came to Foster County with his parents when he was eight years old.

On October 11, 1909 he married Alma Tams at Carrington. Alma was born in Wisconsin on April 20, 1881.

The couple bought a farm on section 32 in McHenry Township in 1928.

The couple later moved into McHenry where he operated a farm implement business. Later he had a service station.

The couple had three children: Doris, Lois, and Clayton Robert.

Mr. Christiansen died December 26, 1964.

Mrs. Christiansen died May 27, 1969. They are buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 72B
Herman and Margaret (Tauk) Delfs

Herman Delfs was born in Schleswig, Holstein, Germany on April 23, 1844. On January 17, 1870 he married Margaret Tauk in Germany where they lived until 1880. They first settled at Holstein, Iowa and come to the McHenry area in 1899.

The Delfs were parents to twelve children, eight of whom were still living in 1917: Mrs. William Weimer of Holstein, Mrs. C. Ehlert (Tena), Mrs. W. Schwenk, Lena, Melva, Christ, Marcus, and Charles.

Mrs. Delfs died January 6, 1917. Mr. Dells died in April 1929. They are buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 73B
Mabel Delfs

Mabel Delfs, the daughter of Marcus and Annie Knuth Delfs, was born at McHenry on January 23, 1912.

She lives in McHenry where she is active in the community affairs.

She has never married.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 73B
Marcus and Anna (Knuth) Delfs

Marcus Delfs, the son of Herman and Margaret Delfs was born August 21, 1874 in Germany, and came to America with his parents who settled in Iowa. He came to the McHenry area in 1899. In 1901 he married Anna Knuth who was born at Holstein, Iowa, on November 30, 1882. Mr. Delfs served as county commissioner for eleven years.

The couple had nine children: Elmer, Herman, Lena, Mabel, Marcus, Jr., Loretta, Julius, Myrtle, and Ellen. The family lived in the McHenry area for fifty‑seven years.

Mr. Delfs died in January 1925 and Mrs. Delfs died in March 1957. They are buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 73B
Andrew and Eva Mae Greb) Diemert

Andrew Diemert was born February 10, 1886.

Eva May Greb was born in Eddy County on September 21, 1890 to Joseph and Mary E. Shannon Greb. She lived at McHenry as a child.

On October 20, 1909 Eva May Greb and Andrew Diemert were married at Sanborn.

Eva Greb had gone to Sanborn where she was employed as a dressmaker.

Soon after their marriage, the couple moved to Fargo. Mr. Diemert was a truck driver for several businesses, later operating a service station.

The couple had six children: Elvira, James, Joseph, Roberta, Robert, and Dorothy.

Mr. Diemert died in June of 1962.

Mrs. Diemert died March 21, 1979.

They ate buried in the Holy Cross Cemetery in Fargo.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 73B
Ben Ellingson

Ben Ellingson, son of the Elling Ellingsons, was born December 12, 1882 in Iowa.

He came to North Dakota about 1908 because his brothers Joseph and Theodore lived here.

He had a farm, which he purchased, southwest of McHenry.

After farming for a few years he went to Detroit where he was employed in automobile manufacturing.

Mr. Ellingson died in 1944 and is buried at McHenry.

He never married.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 73B
Custer Ellingson

Custer Ellingson was born October 8, 1912 and died July 4, 1972.

Both are sons of Joseph and Gertrude Bjorgo Ellingson, They are buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 73B
Ellsworth Ellingson

Ellsworth Ellingson was born September 23, 1908. He died June 10, 1973.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 73B
Glenn and Lucille M. (Berg) Ecker

Glenn Ecker was born July 3, 1908 at Dazey to George and Jessie Steams Ecker.

On September 30, 1930 he and Lucille Berg were married at Valley City.

Lucille was the daughter of Martin and Carrie Ellingson Berg. She was born at McHenry on May 10, 1911.

The Eckers had two children: Glyndon and Janice.

Mr. Ecker was an airplane pilot and flew many to the doctor in Fargo.

Mrs. Ecker attended Valley City State and taught in North Dakota for thirteen years.

In 1966 the family moved to the west coast where Lucille continued her education and taught twelve more years. She retired in 1978.

Mr. Ecker died June 5, 1973. He is buried at Valley City.

Mrs. Ecker is the last living member of the Berg family.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 73B
Joseph and Gertrude (Bjorgo) Ellingson

Joseph Ellingson was born in Hardin County, Iowa in October 11, 1870. He grew up there and attended the Lutheran College at Decorah. Later he graduated from Teachers College at Cedar Falls, Iowa. After teaching in Iowa for four years he came to McHenry in March 1900 where he became engaged in extensive farming operations. He was the first teacher in the McHenry Schools, teaching there in 1901‑1902. On August 12, 1906 he married Gertrude Bjorgo, who was born on May 28, 1887 at Kensett, Iowa. She came to the McHenry area with her parents.

The Ellingsons were the parents of seven children: Sherman, Shirley, Lannes, Ellsworth, Custer, Dora and Robert.

Mr. Ellingson died April 2, 1929. After his death Mrs. Ellingson lived with her daughter, Mrs. Julius Delfs, until a few months before her death when she became a resident of Golden Acres Manor in Carrington. She died September 27, 1981 aged 94.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 73B
Robert C. and Josephine (Ehli) Ellingson

Robert Ellingson was born to Joseph and Gertrude Bjorgo Ellingson at McHenry on April 9, 1926.

He married Josephine Ehli at Mandan on June 3, 1961.

They had three daughters: Mary, Linda, and Kathy Jo.

Mr. Ellingson died August 26, 1981. He is buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 73B
Sherman Joseph William and Luella (Peterson) Ellingson

Sherman Ellingson was born November 17, 1916 in Eddy County to Joseph and Gertrude Bjorgo Ellingson.

He married Luella Peterson.

They had one son Joseph William.

The family resides at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 73B

Theodore and Cora (Bjorgo) Ellingson

Theodore Ellingson was born December 15, 1878 in Iowa. He was the son of Elling and Aaslaug Knutson Ellingson. Theodore was one of the early settlers in the McHenry area, although both settled in Eddy County on homesteads. He later purchased land in Foster County.

Theodore Ellingson married Cora Bjorgo on November 12, 1908 at McHenry. Cora was born in Iowa on September 2, 1889.

The couple had five children: L. Avanelle, Arloene, Arabella, Arloene, and Quentin.

Mr. Ellingson died December 28, 1940.

Mrs. Ellingson died January 3, 1956.

They are buried at McHenry, 

Theodore and his brother Joseph married sisters Cora and Gertrude Bjorgo.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 73B
Severt H. and Tilda (Bergstad) Fadness

Severt Fadness was born March 30, 1890 at Fosston, Minnesota.

He was married in Iowa to Tilda Bergstad on March 10, 1915. Tilda was born October 4, 1898 at White Earth, Minnesota.

Severt and his brothers came to North Dakota and farmed in Eastman Township. In 1934 Seven bought a farm south of McHenry.

The couple had eight children: Hildur, Sydney, Norma, Russell, Theresa, Donald, Elton, and Walter.

Mr. Fadness died June 24, 1957. Mrs. Fadness died January 14, 1979. They are buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 74B
Bruce and L. Avanelle (Ellingson) Farnsworth

Bruce Farnsworth was born April 23, 1921 in Eddy County to Lee Roy and Pearl‑Greb Farnsworth.

He was married at New Rockford on March 31, 1943 to L. Avanelle Ellingson. Avanelle was born March 10, 1909 in Florence Township. She was the daughter of Theodore and Cora Bjorgo Ellingson, 

The Farnsworths had five children: Bryce, Douglas, and Edmund. Two children died in infancy‑ Barbara Ann and a baby boy.

Avanelle graduated from McHenry High School and two years at Valley City State. She taught for twenty‑five years in North Dakota.

After her retirement she lived on the family farm until her death.

Mrs. Farnsworth died December 15, 1975. She is buried at McHenry. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 74B
Lee Roy and Pearl Laura (Greb) Farnsworth

Lee Roy Farnsworth was born June 14, 1883 in Wisconsin.

He was married December 11, 1918 at New Rockford to Pearl Greb. Pearl was the daughter of Joseph and Mary E. Shannon Greb and was born in Eddy County on October 25, 1893. She came to McHenry with her parents in 1902. She was educated in McHenry and also attended Valley City State Teachers' College. She taught school in various places in the state.

After her marriage the Farnsworths moved to Eddy County to a farm, where she still lives.

The couple had three children: Edmund, Bruce and Veronica.

Mr. Farnsworth died February 10, 1981. He is buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 74B
Mathias and Anna (Strand) Faytle

Mathias Faytle, born October 15, 1891, at Wahpeton came to McHenry in 1907 to work with his brothers on the McHenry Free Press. Later he was employed by the Northern Pacific Railway. In 1915 he married Anna Strand at Lake Park, Minnesota. She was born in Norway on September 17, 1891 and came to the United State with her parents in 1900. The family lived in Lake Park where Anna received her education. Mathias and Anna lived in Cooperstown a year before moving to McHenry.

A skillful organist and choir director, Anna Strand Faytle was well known in the Mc Henry area as church organist for over fifty years at Our Saviors Lutheran church in McHenry. She was also the choir director.

The Faytles had two daughters.

Mr. Fatyle died in 1963. Mrs. Faytle died in 1965. They are buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 74B
Stephen and Jessie Clara (Falla) Fintoski

Stephen Fintoski was born Stephen Liprarski in Rybna, Poland on August 27, 1902. The family made their home in Krakow, Poland.

After his father died his mother came to America to seek employment. She settled in Pennsylvania.

A year later, when Stephen was twelve years old, he came to America with three younger children. When his mother remarried he took his stepfather's name‑ Fintoski.

Stephen lived in Wisconsin and Chicago before coming to Foster County in 1947.

While living in Griggs County, he married Jessie Falla at Cooperstown on October 4, 1926. Jessie was born on October 4, 1904.

The couple had one daughter Betty.

Mrs. Fintoski died January 20, 1958 and Mr. Fintoski died October 28, 1973. They are buried in Noreen Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 74B
Dr. Edward and Grace (Parvis) Fitch

Edward Fitch was born February 3, 1873 in New York City. He moved to Vail, Iowa as a small boy, where he grew to manhood. He married Grace Parvis on May 31, 1900 who was also born at Vail, Iowa on December 8, 1879. The couple lived in Iowa and Nebraska before coming to McHenry. Mr. Fitch was engaged in farming a short while before he attended and graduated from the Chicago Veterinary College. He was employed by the United States Bureau of Animal Husbandry for ten years. Dr. Fitch served on the McHenry town board and as mayor.

Mrs. Fitch died in July 1962. Dr. Fitch died in 1944.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 74B
Clifford J. and Grace (Peterson) Grafsgaard

Clifford Grafsgaard was born November 2, 1916 at Binford. His parents were Albert and Julia Paulsrud Grafsgaard.

He and Grace Peterson were married at Minneapolis on February 28, 1958. Grace was born at Nome on November 26, 1912.

They have three children: Louise, Kenneth, and Beverly.

Mr. Grafsgaard is a member of the American Legion. He serves on the church council.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 74B
George J. and Mildred (Ney) Greb
George Greb, the son of Joseph and Mary Ellen Shannon Greb, was born in Illinois on February 11, 1886.

He was married at Glendive, ‑Montana on June 8, 1913 to Mildred Ney. Mildred was born June 4, 1894 in Missouri.

They had four children: Marjorie, Leonard, Arnold, and George.

George Greb left McHenry to homestead in Montana in 1910.

Later he returned to McHenry and worked as a carpenter and also in Lucht's store.

In 1918 he went to Kansas City where he worked for the Santa Fe Railroad as a carpenter. He also operated a cabinet shop before becoming maintenance supervisor for Sears, Roebuck.

Mr. Greb died August 26, 1940.

Mrs. Greb died November 25, 1971.

They are buried at Lathrop, Missouri. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 74B
Henry Robert and Edna (Nordstrum) Greb (Reed)

Henry Greb was born to Joseph and Mary Ellen Shannon Greb on April 14, 1898.

'Henry was one of the twins born to the Grebs. When the mother died, the Reeds took Henry and he was given the name Robert Henry Reed.

The Reeds were homesteaders near the Grebs.

In 1901 the Reeds moved to Iowa and Robert grew up there.
He married Edna Nordstrum in Iowa on June 28, 1920. Edna was born February 1, 1902.

The Reeds had six children: Roland, Wendell, Carl, Elizabeth, James and Patrick.

Mr. Reed served in the army a short while during World War I.

He was an insurance adjuster.

Mr. Reed died May 1, 1971. He is buried at Fort Dodge, Iowa.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 75B
John C. and Fern (Buttrey) Greb
John Greb, the son of Joseph and Mary E. Shannon Greb, was born in Stutsman County on January 20, 1889.

He married Fern Buttrey of Warwick. They had one son Donald.

John Greb worked as a carpenter in McHenry until 1940 when he purchased partnership in the Ford Garage.

After he retired he made his home with his son in New Rockford.

Mrs. Greb died in February of 1926.

Mr. Greb died July 29, 1967. They are buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 75B
Joseph Greb Mary Ellen (Shannon) Greb Nellie (O'Donnell) Greb
Joseph Greb was born in Wisconsin on November 27, 1860.

On April 7, 1885 he married Mary Ellen Shannon in Illinois. She was born in Illinois in November of 1864.

The couple had eight children: George, Ellen, John, Eva, Pearl, Ethel, Oscar and Henry.

The mother (Mary Ellen) died the day after the twins Oscar and Henry were born in April 1898.

The Grebs had left Wisconsin for Iowa and then came to North Dakota where they homesteaded in Stutsman County and later in Eddy County.

In 1901 Mr. Greb married Nellie O'Donnell. She was born June 3, 1866 in Massachusetts.

They moved into McHenry in 1902, where Mr. Greb did carpenter work. He also served as Deputy Sheriff.

Mr. Greb died December 22, 1930.

Mrs. Greb (Nellie) died in 1940.

They are buried at McHenry. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 75B
Duwayne and Gladys (Grafsgaard) Hoyt

Duwayne Hoyt was born at McHenry on July 12, 1930 to Fred and Agnes Hoggarth Hoyt.

He was married to Gladys Grafsgaard on January 6, 1951 at Fargo. Gladys was born July 18, 1932 at McHenry to Henry and Bertha Odland Grafsgaard.

The Hoyts have six children: Rita, Barbara, Arlyn, Melody, Leslie and Cindy.

The Hoyts started farming in 1951 in Eddy and Foster Counties. They live in McHenry.

Mrs. Hoyt taught school before her marriage.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 75B
Elery and Delores (Lockner) Hoyt

Elery Hoyt, the son of Leo and Eva Brown Hoyt, was born at McHenry on March 23, 1922.

He was married to Delores Lockner at McHenry on February 16, 1948. Delores was born at Cooperstown on December 30, 1925.

They had four children: Larry, Judy, Neil, and Ardys.

The family lives on a farm on section 32 in McHenry Township.

Mr. Hoyt served in the armed services during World War II. He is a member of the American Legion. He has served as an ASCS committeeman.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 75B
George and Fannie (Merrick) Hoyt

George Hoyt, born July 11, 1882 at Benton Iowa, married in 1902 Fannie Merrick at Benton. They came to McHenry to farm in 1904.

They were the parents of ten children: Lillian, Teta, Pearl, Lois, Ada, Jean, Kenneth, Chester, Dennis and Keith.

Fannie Hoyt died in 1931. In 1955 George married Sena Ehlers as his second wife. Mr. Hoyt died in March 10, 1976. He is buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 75B
LaVerne C. and Darlene (Harding) Hoyt

LaVerne, son of the John Hoyts, was born at McVille on August 28, 1938.

On November 18, 1960 he was married in McHenry to Darlene Harding. Darlene, the daughter of Ralph and Ann Harding, was born on March 25, 1943 in Durant, Oklahoma.

The Hoyts have three children: Yvonne and the twins Darin and Leon.

Mr. Hoyt is owner and operator of Hoyt's Construction. He is a member of the McHenry Fire Department.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 75B
Leo and Eva C. (Brown) Hoyt

Leo Hoyt and Eva Brown were married on June 29, 1916 at New Rockford. She was born at McHenry on October 7, 1895. The couple lived at McHenry, where they engaged in farming.

They had three children: Elery, Harvey, and Myrtle (Mrs. Oscar Tufte).

Mrs. Hoyt died July 20, 1968 and is buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 75B
Fredrick A. and Ida Emma (Zink) Klemstein

Fredrich Klemstein, born September 22, 1872 in Luxembourg, Germany, came to America as a young man and first lived in Wisconsin. On November 9, 1896 he married Ida Emma Zink at Augusta, Wisconsin. Ida Zink had come to Wisconsin as a small child. She was born October 27, 1874 in Germany. When the couple came to North Dakota they settled in the McHenry area.

They were the parents of nine children: Henry, Edwin, Alma (Mrs. Asley Blank), Laura (Mrs. Leo Gauderman), Lazetta (Mrs. J.H. Lyman), Louise (Mrs. I. Lovell), Margaret (Mrs. M.W. Dow), Lena (Mrs. C. Powers), and Lillian (Mrs. Leonard Pierson).

Mr. Klemstein died in October 1947. Mrs. Klemstein died March 9, 1960.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 75B
Thomas and Mazdelena (Heitman) Knuth

Thomas Knuth was born in 1841 in Germany.

He came to America, first settling in Iowa. In 1901 he came to McHenry.

He was married to Mazdelena Heitman. She was born in 1855.

In Germany the Knuths were known as huntsmen.

The couple had six children: Henry, Willie, Annie, John, Julius, and Loretta.

Mr. Knuth died in 1922. Mrs. Knuth died in 1934. They are buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 76B
Larry and Debbie (Stage) Larson

Larry Larson, son of Albert and Selma Holland Larson, was born January 3, 1950, at Carrington.

He received his education at McHenry and Valley City State College.

He and Debbie Stage were married at McHenry on August 11, 1972.

Debbie, the daughter of James and Maxine Conant Stage, was born September 29, 1953.

The Larsons have one child‑ Melanie, 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 76B
Lester and Sherrile (Midgley) Larson

Lester Larson, son of Lawrence and Gertrude Lynne Larson, was born November 16, 1934 in Griggs County.

He married Sherrile Midgley on June 1, 1954 at Jessie. Sherrile was born at Casselton on March 2, 1937 to Arthur and Agnes Becker Midgley.

The Larsons have seven children: Denise, Roxann, Kimberly, Karl, Wesley, Jean, and Shereen.

The family resides at McHenry. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 76B
Hans C. and Marie (Sandvold) Leean

Marie Sandvold was born in Norway and came to America with her parents in 1879. Marie was born March 18, 1878. The family first settled in Wisconsin, coming to the Glenfield area in 1895 to settle on a homestead. On January 12, 1896 she married Hans Leean, a homesteader in the area. The couple farmed in the area until 1935 when they retired and moved into McHenry.

They were the parents of five children: Hartivg, Edward, Sena (Ehlers), Clara Smith) , and Inga (Pederson). Two children died in infancy.

Mrs. Leean died in January 1937 and is buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 76B
W.E. and Cassie (Parvis) Liddle

Cassie Agnes Parvis was born February 12, 1876 in Indiana. She married W.E. Liddle at Vail, Iowa in 1904. She was a nurse by profession and spent much of her life engaged in her profession.

Mrs. Liddle died in September 1956. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 76B
Sherman and Cleo (Halvorson) Lillethun

Sherman Lillethun was born at Nome, North Dakota on June 1, 1911. On December 31, 1940 he married Cleo Halvorson at Pekin. Mr. Lillethun served in the army during World War II. He was engaged in various businesses in McHenry, operating a grocery, locker plant, hardware store, and lumberyard. He served on the city board, school board, and was mayor of McHenry for eight years. He was a member of the Foster County planning committee.

He died in July 1973.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 76B
Svend and Mabel (Gjesvold) Lillethun

Svend K. Lillethun was born September 8, 1877 in Norway. He came to the United States with his parents as a small child. They settled in Minnesota.

On October 27, 1909 ‑he married Mabel Gjesvold at Nome, North Dakota. Mabel was born at Nome on November 23, 1889.

The couple had two sons: Sherman and Francis.

Mr. Lillethun was employed in Fargo until he came to McHenry in 1915 as a grain buyer. Later they operated a cafe with Mrs. Lillethun doing the cooking. She also cooked for the Archie Campbell Construction Company.

Mr. Lillethun died April 21, 1954.

Mrs. Lillethun died February 18, 1977.

They are buried at McHenry. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 76B
Richard F. and Avis (Anderson) Lowe

Richard Lowe was born to Emil and Laura Fadness Lowe on April 8, 1920 at Cooperstown.

On October 10, 1948 he married Avis Anderson at Sutton. Avis was born on September 15, 1928 at Cooperstown to Arthur and Palma Dybwad Anderson.

They have five children: Richard David, Anthony, Daniel, Donald and Paula.

The Lowes purchased their farm in 1948. They are the second generation living on the farm.

Mr. Lowe served in the U.S. Air Force during World War II.

The couple is very active in civic affairs. Mrs. Lowe is especially active in the "Loop" Association in McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 76B
Oscar and Mary (Berg) Mabeck

Oscar Mabeck was born in 1875 in Minnesota of Norwegian parents. In 1878 the family moved to the Hoton area. In December 1899 he married Mary Berg and they moved to McHenry where Mr. Mabeck operated a blacksmith shop for about forty years. He was one of the last remaining blacksmiths of the old school who made their own tools, used an old‑fashioned forge, shod horses, and sharpened plowshares and made other tools and implements for farmers.

The Mabecks were the parents of four children: Myrtle, Clara, Esther and Oliver.

In 1942 the Mabecks moved to Seattle where Mr. Mabeck worked at Boeing Aircraft until retiring after the age of 80. Mrs. Mabeck died in 1955. Mr. Mabeck died in May 1961.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 76B
Thomas and Olga (Runge) McCormick

Thomas McCormick was born in Minnesota on August 30, 1897.

He and Olga Rungs were married January 29, 1925 at Carrington. Olga is the daughter of Herman and Minnie Runge and was born on January 29, 1904.

Mr. McCormick was a grain buyer. They later moved to Sanborn.

Mrs. McCormick taught school and also was correspondent for several newspapers.

The couple had one daughter, Elaine.

Mr. Runge died December 13, 1980 and is buried at Sanborn.

Mrs. Runge resides at Sanborn.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 76B
James and Sarah (Swann) McKinney

James McKinney married on March 16, 1897 at Bellville, Wisconsin, Sarah Swann who was born August 29, 1872 in Wisconsin. The couple farmed in Wisconsin until 1907 and then in the McHenry area. They retired and moved into McHenry village in 1946.

The couple had two daughters, Beudette and Isabelle (Mrs. P.J. Goss).

Mr. McKinney died in 1952. Mrs. McKinney died in 1963.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 77B
Frank and Rose (Schmaker) Merrick

Frank Merrick was born at Madison, Wisconsin on July 19, 1882 and moved to Iowa as a child. On December 28, 1905 he married Rose Schmaker in Iowa. The couple farmed in the McHenry area until 1960 when they retired and moved to the Golden Acres Manor in 1969.

Mr. Merrick served on township and school boards.

The couple had four children: Wilmet, Lowell, Mrs. Ralph Leichtman, and Mrs. Eberson Eiler.

Mrs. Merrick died in June 1969. Mr. Merrick died in September 1972.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 77B
Arthur M. Midgley Amelia (Becker) Midgley Agnes (Becker) Midgley

Arthur Midgley was born June 28, 1892 at Wheatland. He married Amelia C. Becker. Amelia was born February 12, 1895.

The couple had two daughters: Margaret and Luella.

Amelia died March 22, 1930.

On January 27, 1931 Arthur married Agnes Becker. Agnes was born March 30, 1909 at Casselton.

The couple had five children: Melvin, Marlys, Barbara, Sherrile, and Ryneta.

The Midgleys came to McHenry in 1919.

Mr. Midgley was agent‑telegrapher for the Northern Pacific Railway.

Agnes Midgley died January 17, 1952.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 77B
Lewis C. and Garda (Watne) Mills

Lewis (Lew) Mills was born on January 11, 1886 at Iowa Falls, Iowa. He came to the McHenry‑Grace City area in 1906 and in 1923 he moved to Carrington where he worked as the county road superintendent for twenty-five years. On April 10, 1925 he married Garda Watne at Carrington who was born October 18, 1895 at Binford.

The couple had three children: Francis, Elaine (Mrs. Hollis Hall), and Carol (Mrs. Robert Montgomery).

Mr. Mills died August 7, 1966. Mrs. Mills died April 13, 1976. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 77B
Hans and Christina (Larson) Morck

Hans Morck married in 1873 at Red Wing, Minnesota, Christina Loken Larson who was born in Norway August 2, 1837. She came to Quebec Canada with her parents in 1862, who had lived in Ohio and homesteaded in Minnesota. They came to North Dakota in 1902 to be near their daughter, Mrs. Jennie Vining of McHenry.

Mr. Morck died in 1914. Mrs. Morck died in 1927. They are buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 77B
Andrew and Carrie (Braaten) Nerby

Andrew Nerby was born in Norway in 1856. He came to Iowa before coming to North Dakota in the 1800's. He homesteaded in Eddy County and bought land east of McHenry where he built his home.

He married Carrie Braaten.

They had eight children: Clara, Gertrude, Beatrice, Annette, Carl, and Bennet and two who died as infants.

Mr. and Mrs. Nerby are no longer living. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 77B
John and Margaret (Falconer) Nicoll

John Nicoll was born in Dundee, Scotland on November 20, 1822.

Margaret Falconer was also born in Scotland. She was born January 27, 1833.

They were married in Ontario, Canada in 1853.

Margaret had come to Canada with her parents when she was a child.

The couple came to North Dakota in 1883.

They had six children.

Mr. Nicoll died June 29, 1908.

Mrs. Nicoll died January 3, 1916.

They are buried at McHenry. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 77B
John L. and Elizabeth (Howden) Nicoll

John L. Nicoll was born in eastern Canada on November 3, 1858. He was the son of John and Margaret Falconer Nicoll.

He was married to Elizabeth Howden on June 3, 1885. Elizabeth was born May 12, 1858 in Ontario.

The couple had two children: Mabel and Raymond.

The couple came to McHenry in 1903.

They lived on a farm. He was also a director of the bank.

Mr. Nicoll died September 27, 1918.

Mrs. Nicoll died July 14, 1932.

They are buried at McHenry. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 77B
Raymond G. and Molla (Bjorgo) Nicoll

Raymond Nicoll was born at Sutton on May 10, 1891. He was the son of John L. and Elizabeth Howden Nicoll.

He married Molla Bjorgo on November 28, 1917. Molla was born December 10, 1891 in Iowa. Her parents were Anton and Kari Bergh Bjorigo.

The couple had one child Shirley Rae.

Mr. Nicoll farmed near Grace City and later near McHenry. He was a butcher and helper butcher and cut meat for the locker plant.

Mr. Nicoll died May 12, 1979 and is buried in California.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 77B
Frank and Frances (Schutt) Paczkowski

Frank Paczkowski, born February 20, 1909 at Genseo, the son of Joseph and Hattie Kulla Paczkowski, who came with his family to Foster County in 1916 to live on a farm in McKinnon township.

On June 1, 1931 he married Frances Schutt. They had four children: Jean, Loren, Leon and Cleone.

The family moved to the McHenry area where Frank was a farmer and an auctioneer. He died on February 19, 1967. He is buried at Kensal.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 77B
Charles and Rose (Barnes) Pewe

Charley Pewe was born in Holstein, Germany on January 22, 1873. Herman Pewe was his twin. The family came to America in 1882 living first in Holstein, Iowa. They came to Foster County in 1899 and settled near McHenry. On November 9, 1909 he married Rose Barnes who was born October 15, 1885 at Holstein, Iowa. The Pewes farmed in the McHenry Township in Section 22 until retiring to the village in 1942. Mr. Pewe was one of the first community committee members of the Agricultural Conservation program.

The couple had four children: Louis, Edmund, Irene (Mrs. Wolfred Johnson) and Marie (Mrs. Manvil Anderson).

Mr. Pewe died April 14, 1969. Mrs. Pewe died January 14, 1974. They are buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 77B
Edmund and Cleone (Stein) Pewe

Edmund Pewe was born March 9, 1914 at McHenry to Charley and Rosa Pewe. He farms in McHenry Township on section 22.

In December of 1941 he married Cleone Pewe at Valley City. Cleone was born at Wimbledon on August 10, 1915 to Arthur and Bertha Lund Stein.

They have one daughter Karen.

They are active in church and the community.

Mr. Pewe is the third generation living on the farm on section 22.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 78B
Henry Pewe

Henry Pewe was born in Holstein, Germany on February 2, 1883. He came to America with his parents‑ Hinrick and Anna Margareta (Junge) Pewe‑ from his native Germany when he was a baby and settled at Holstein, Iowa where they farmed.

In 1899, the Pewe brothers, including Bill Pewe, bought out a homesteader's rights in McHenry Township. In 1900 they came to McHenry and settled on this farm‑ section 22‑ township 147‑62.

Bill Pewe died in the flu epidemic in 1919. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 78B
Herman Pewe

Herman Pewe was born at Holstein, Germany on January 22, 1873. He was a twin to Charles Pewe. Herman and his brother William came to the McHenry area to farm in 1898. Herman remained on the farm the rest of his life. In 1939 he sold the farm to his nephew, Carl Pewe, but continued to make his home on the farm.

He died in October 1958. He is buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 78B
Louie C. and Ruby (Anderson) Pewe

Louie Pewe, son of Charley and Rose Barnes Pewe, was born May 10, 1911 at McHenry. He attended school in McHenry.

On June 15, 1938 Louie was married at Bismarck to Ruby Anderson. Ruby was the daughter of Hans and Milla Ihlen Anderson. She was born February 10, 1912 at Kentyre, but most of her childhood was spent on a farm south of Juanita. She graduated from Carrington High School and attended Valley City State Teachers College. She taught school for nineteen years. She is active in her church and women's organization.

Mr. Pewe has served on the church council, McHenry city council, school board and fire department. Also he has served as Mayor. He served on the Foster County Selective Service Committee for twenty years.

The couple has two sons: Larry and Allan. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 78B
James and Betty (Fintoski) Pound

Betty Fintoski was born June 26, 1929 to Stephen and Jessie Falla Fintoski. She came to McHenry in 1947 with her parents.

She married Milton Ekren but later was divorced. She married James Pound in 1956.

They have 3 children: Miles, Darby and James.

Mrs. Pound teaches school in McHenry. They live on the farm.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 78B
Herman W. and Minnie (Kronemann) Runge

Herman Runge was born September 19, 1877 at Rock Creek, Iowa.

He married Minnie Kronemann at Rock Creek on January 9, 1902. Minnie was born at Rock Creek on September 9, 1877.

They came to McHenry in 1905 where they farmed. Mr. Runge also owned and operated a threshing rig. He was an engineer.

They had two children: Olga and Clifford.

The family was active in civic affairs.

Mr. Runge died April 21, 1939 and Mrs. Runge died February 14, 1954. They are buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 78B
Emil and Marguerite (LaPine) Saint

Emil Saint, born in Belgium on February 9, 1880 came to America with his parents, the J.B. Saints. Emil Saint married April 7, 1908 at McHenry, Margeurite LaPine who was born in Quebec, Canada November 7, 1888 and had come to Foster County in 1904.

Mr. Saint was a rural mail carrier at McHenry for many years.

The couple had eight children: George, John, Albert, Emil, Marcel, Emilie, Mrs. Jack Fosson, and Mrs. Orris Sandbeck.

Emil Saint died in 1960 and his wife in December 1974. They are buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 78B
J.B. Saint

J.B. Saint and his wife Eva, both born in Belgium, came to the United States about 1888 and settled in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. They came to Foster County in 1899 and homesteaded in McHenry Township and later lived in McHenry village.

The couple had five children: Emil, Armand, Lena, Mrs. Nomiche and Mrs. Linderman.

Mr. Saint died in 1934. Mrs. Saint died in 1937.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 78B
Marcel F. and Marilyn (Aasand) Saint

Marcel Saint was born March 30, 1922 at McHenry to Emil M. and Marguerite Saint.

Marilyn Aasand was born at Harvey on March 20, 1931.

The couple was married January 1, 1951 at McHenry. They had six children: Rhea, Randy, Angela, Jon, Annette, and Jennifer.

The family resides in McHenry.

Mr. Saint served in the armed services during World War II. He is a member of the American Legion and Veterans of Foreign Wars. He has served as mayor of McHenry, also several other positions.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 79B
Oscar and Amy (Reed) Sandvol

Oscar Sandvol, born October 20, 1884, married at McHenry on July 30, 1907 Amy Reed, born in Minnesota on March 4, 1889 to John and Anna Hanson Reed.

They farmed in the McHenry area before moving to Juanita in 1942.

Their children were: Arietta, Irene, Bernie, Dorothy, and Elwood.

Oscar died on September 8, 1958 in Juanita. Amy lived for several years at Golden Acres Manor in Carrington, and died on September 11, 1976. Both are buried at Glenfield.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 79B
William and Myrtle (Miles) Short

William Short was born February 7, 1863 at Wyskoff, Minnesota. His family moved to Iowa near Riceville. He married Myrtle Miles of Riceville on May 3, 1890. After making their home in Iowa they came to McHenry about 1903. Mr. Short was a carpenter and he built many of the structures in McHenry. Later the family moved to Juanita when the Great Northern Railroad was being built and the new town was being established.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 79B
Anton and Alma (Delfs) Smith

Anton Smith was born in Poland on July 11, 1894.

In 1928 he married Alma Delfs at Carrington. Alma was born April 5, 1904 at McHenry to Marcus and Anna Knuth Delfs.

The family first settled at Grace City, but later purchased a farm in McHenry Township.

The couple had four children: Stanley, Helen, Irene, and Marian.

Mrs. Smith died in 1965. Mr. Smith died in May of 1982. They are buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 79B
Stanley and Betty (Becker) Smith

Stanley Smith was born at McHenry March 26, 1929 to Anton and Alma Delfs Smith.

On December 27, 1951 he married Betty Becker at McHenry. Betty was born February 1, 1931 at Carrington to Peter and Mary Kubzik Becker.

The Smiths live on section seven in McHenry Township.

The Smith children are Jeffrey, Kerry, Kirk, Stuart, and Andrew. A son Joseph died at birth.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 79B
Dean S. and Margaret (Kadry) Somerville

Dean Somerville was born January 30, 1944 at Hamar.

Dean was married to Margaret Kadry on October 3, 1964 at Binford. Margaret was born at Binford on November 27, 1947.

The couple has three children: Tamara, Stacy and Cristofer.

Mr. Somerville is engaged in farming and the manufacturing business.

He is a city alderman and president of the Town and Country Club. He is also a member of the McHenry Fire Department.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 79B
Harry and Mary Ellen (Greb) Spickler

Harry Spickler was born in Illinois.

On September 5, 1905 he married Mary Ellen Greb at Valley City. Mary Ellen (Nellie) Greb was born in Iowa on April 8, 1887. She was a daughter of Joseph and Mary Ellen Shannon Greb.

In 1907 the Spicklers moved to Seattle where Harry was engaged as a bookkeeper. Nellie was a seamstress.

After Mr. Spickler died Mrs. Spickler came back to McHenry to live with her sister, Mrs. Pearl Farnsworth. She lived in McHenry from 1972 until recently when she entered the Home of the Good Shepherd in New Rockford.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 79B
Frank and Hannah (Bjorge) Stafford

Frank Stafford was born in Edmunds county; South Dakota March 19, 1884. He was educated at Portland, Oregon. He was operator for the Soo Line in Velva for a number of years. On June 20, 1912 he married Jessie Penn at Velva. She died in 1919. The Staffords moved to McHenry in 1912 where he was cashier in the bank until 1929. He was on of the original board of directors of the Tri-County Electric and was manager of the coop's Glenfield office and later in the Carrington office. He retired in 1948.

On July 19, 1924 he married as his second wife, Hannah Bjorge at Crookston, Minnesota. He had two daughters: Ruth (Mrs. Harvey Sletten) and June (Mrs. Irvin Lande).

Mrs. Stafford died in October 1961. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 79B
James A. and Maxine (Conant) Stage

James Stage, son of James R, and Edna Lott Stage, was born at McHenry on March 30, 1929.

On October 31, 1952 he married Maxine Conant at McHenry. Maxine was born December 26, 1934 to Warren and Myrtle Conant.

The Stages have three daughters: Debra, Wanda and Brenda.

They make their home at McHenry. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 79B
James R. and Edna Pearl (Loft) Stage

James Stage was born in Iowa on November 7, 1900.

Edna Pearl Lott was born in Iowa on October 12, 1906. The couple was married on November 16, 1923 at Carrington. They had two children: Viola and James.

Mr. Stage died September 17, ‑1‑956 and is buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 79B
Russet and Solveig (Stangeland) Thompson

Russell Thompson, son of the Raynard Thompsons, was born at Kensal on September 8, 1922. Solveig Stangeland was born May 13, 1929 at Cooperstown. The couple was married July 4, 1952 at Moorhead.

Russell is of the second generation to live on the farm in Section 19 McHenry Township. He is a graduate of NDSU with a degree in Agricultural Economics. Mrs. Thompson attended the State Teachers College at Valley City. At one time both were schoolteachers.

They are the parents of five children: Jacquelyn, Penny, Nathan, Lyndon and Scott.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 79B
Thorvel and Malinda (Johannsen) Thompson

Thorvel Thompson, son of Tollef and Regina Rasmusdotter Thompson, was born at Sheldon on December 24, 1888. He came to Foster County with his parents in 1890. On December 21, 1911 he married Malinda Johannsen at McHenry. She was the daughter of Frederick and Gina Christianson Johannsen, born January 6, 1889.

The family lived in Rolling Prairie area. They had ten children: Alta, Florence, Melva, Rachel, Eileen, Clifford, Orville, Jeanne, Melvin and Perry.

Mr. Thompson died November 27, 1974. Mrs. Thompson died October 11, 1976. They are buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 80B
Oscar and Myrtle (Hoyt) Tufte

Oscar Tufte was born in Griggs County on June 21, 1913 to Peder and Anne Larson Tufte.

On December 27, 1944 he married Myrtle Hoyt, Myrtle was the daughter of Leo and Eva Brown Hoyt. She was born on February 4, 1918 in Eddy County.

The Tuftes have five children: Jerry, Marlys, Elton, Sheryll, and Bonnie.

The family came to Foster County in 1946. Their farm is on the west %x of section 21 in McHenry township.

Mr. Tufte died December 4, 1981. He is buried at McHenry.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 80B

Frank and Ethel Lucy (Greb) Van Steenvoort

Frank Van Steenvoort was born December 18, 1890 in Belgium.

On June 20, 1917 he married Ethel Greb at McHenry. Ethel was the daughter of Joseph and Mary Ellen Greb and was born March 20, 1896.

The couple had eight children: Frances, Ellen, Jack, George, Thomas, Eugene, Stanley and Daniel.

Ethel Greb came to McHenry with her family in 1902. She attended school in McHenry and Valley City. She taught school.

Mr. Van Steenvoort died July 28, 1952. He is buried at Crary, North Dakota.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 80B
Martin and Mary Ann (Dohrer) Zimmerman, Sr.

Martin Zimmerman, Sr. was born at Elizabeth, Minnesota on March 13, 1868 to Thomas and Afra Knobel Zimmerman. His parents originally came from Switzerland.

Martin Zimmerman, Sr. married Mary Ann Dohrer at Souris, North Dakota on December 24, 1901. Mary Ann was born‑in Minnesota on April 5, 1875.

The Zimmermans owned and operated a store in Souris from 1901 to 1910. In 1910 they purchased the general store in McHenry.

The Zimmermans had two children: Mabel and Martin, Jr.

Mr. Zimmerman died December 14, 1955. Mrs. Zimmerman died February 25, 1969. They are buried at Valley City.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 80B
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 80B
Martin F. and Merle (Linn) Zimmerman, Jr.

Martin Zimmerman, Jr. was born at Souris on August 25, 1903.

He came to McHenry with his parents in about 1910.

He was married to Merle Linn at Jamestown on July 14, 1937. Merle was born at Valley City on December 14, 1910.

They have four children: Martin, Judith, Joel, and Catherine.

Mr. Zimmerman bought the grocery store in McHenry from his father in 1937. He operated the store until leaving for Seattle in 1944, where he managed a Safe‑Way store until his death in January of 1946.

While in McHenry the family was active in the community.

Mrs. Zimmerman taught school. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 80B
McKinnon

Dwain and Opal (Lipetzky) Ableidinger

Dwain Ableidinger, son of Ambrose and Tena Nelson Ableidinger, was born December 21, 1912 in Bucephalia Township.

On June 7, 1945 he married Opal Lipetzky at Kensal. Opal, the daughter of Joe and Merle Evens Lipetzky was born September 1, 1917. Dwain and Opal have one son, Kent.

Dwain served in the Army during World War II serving in the South Pacific. He was commissioned as First Lieutenant in the field in December 1943.

Opal attended Valley City State College and taught school for several years.

The couple, though retired, still live on the farm‑ the one where Opal was born.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 81B
Kent and Lyle (Safely) Ableidinger

Kent Ableidinger was born December 13, 1952 to Dwain and Opal Lipetzky Ableidinger.

Kent attended Lake Region Junior College and University of North Dakota He has taken over his father's farming operations. The farm was also formerly owned by Kent's maternal grandfather, Joe Lipetzky.

On April 4, 1981, Kent was united in marriage with Lyla Safely.

Lyle graduated from Dickinson State College and taught school. She was assistant Junior Leader in the Farmers Union State office. At present she is personnel director at the Carrington Hospital.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 81B
Benjamin and Anna Mina) Chmelik

Benjamin Chmelik was born June 27, 1884 in Czechoslovakia. He married at Carrington in 1910, Anna Klina who was born in Czechoslovakia on June 19, 1889. Mr. Chmelik came to the United States settling first in Texas before coming to Foster County in 1905. He bought land on Section 8 in McKinRon Township.

The Chmeliks had four children: Edward, Mary, William and Nlasta.

Ben Chmelik died September 13, 1941 and Mrs. Chmelik died March 9, 1976. They are buried in the Kensal Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 81B
Daniel and Sarah (Hoggarth) Clancy

Daniel Clancy was born in Wisconsin in 1863. His parents Daniel and Mary Moriarty Clancy had come from Ireland in 1851 and settled in Wisconsin.

Daniel Jr. came to North Dakota in 1885 and homesteaded on section 24 in McKinnon Township.

In 1893 he married Sarah Hoggarth. They were the parents of seven children: Daniel, James, Frank, John, Grace, Cecilia, and Mary.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 81B
Daniel Clancy, Jr.

Daniel Clancy, Jr. was born in April 1895 near Kensal on his parents' farm. He operated the family farm until 1939. He received his education in rural schools. Sacred Heart Academy at Fargo and graduated from the Kensal high school. In 1917 he joined the army and served in France and Germany during World War I. He returned in 1919 and farmed until 1967 when he retired, due to illness. He died in March 1972.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 81B
Rudolph and Mary (Stekl) Horesji

Rudolph Horesji, born in Czechoslovakia on June 23, 1882, was married at Detroit, Michigan on April 7, 1907 to Mary Stekl, born in Czechoslovakia on September 5, 1884. The couple immigrated to Detroit in 1906 and he worked as a butcher there. In 1912 they came to Kensal where they purchased the Southwest 1/4 of Section 6 of McKinnon Township, where they spent the rest of their lives.

The couple had four children: Joseph, Henry, George, and Albert. Two other children died at birth.

Mr. Horesji died June 21, 1958 and Mrs. Horesji died March 3, 1973. They are buried in the Kensal cemetery.

Their son, Joseph who was born in Detroit, still lives on the farm in McKinnon Township.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 81B
Martin and Betsy (Evanson) Larson

Both Martin Larson and Betsy Evanson were born in Minnesota, Martin on August 13, 1879 and Betsy on December 14, 1883.

They were married at Rockwell, Minnesota on March 30, 1901.

They came to Foster County to find a farm in 1916 and bought land in McKinnon Township.

They later moved to Eastman Township and moved to Courtenay when they retired.

The Larsons had ten children: Charles, Andy, Mabel, Irvan, Carl, Woodrow, Edna, Ames, Irene and Allen.

Mr. Larson was one of the first rural mail carriers out of Kensal. He carried mail on Route 1 from 1908 to 1918.

Mr. Larson died September 19, 1960. Mrs. Larson died February 4, 1969. They are buried in the Sunset Memorial Gardens at Jamestown.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 81B
Joe and Merle (Evens) Lipetzky

Joe Lipetzky was born July 3, 1890 near Springfield, Minnesota. Merle Dell Evens was born near Wand, Minnesota on June 23, 1896. Joe and Merle were married at Wanda on September 19, 1916. They came to Foster County to live in 1916. They purchased Northeast 1/4 of section 27 in McKinnon Township. Later they lived in Eastman and Bucephalia townships before retiring and moving into Kensal.

The couple had three children: Opal, Eleanor, and Roy. Opal still lives in McKinnon Township and Roy lives in Eastman.

Mr. Lipetzky died April 26, 1975. Mrs. Lipetzky died April 1, 1981. They are buried in St. John's Catholic cemetery at Kensal.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 81B
John and Mary (Foy) Lipetzky

John Lipetzky was born in Redwood County, Minnesota on March 30, 1889. He was married to Mary Foy on September 16, 1915. Mary was born on October 4, 1895 in Redwood County. He came to Foster County to farm in 1915 and shipped a carload of livestock to Kensal. He bought land on section 26 in McKinnon Township where the family lived until he retired and moved to Kensal in 1954.

The Lipetzkys had seven children: Cleo , Elaine, Dolores, Cletus, Mary Lorraine: William, and Donald. Cletus served in the armed services during World War II. He was killed in action.

Mr. Lipetzky died September 2, 1972 and is buried in the St. John's Catholic cemetery at Kensal. Mrs. Lipetzky lives in Kensal.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 81B
C.E. and Orpha (Claflin) McKinnon

Charles Edward McKinnon was born April 10, 1870 at Lacrosse, Wisconsin. In 1883 he came to North Dakota and settled in Cass County. In 1886 he came to Foster County settling in what was then McKinley Township‑ later to be McKinnon Township in honor of the pioneer family. The McKinnons homesteaded in the township.

In 1898 Mr. McKinnon married Orpha Claflin. They were the parents of four children: Merritt, Ella, Ervin and Florence.

Mr. McKinnon was active in lodge work, belonging to the Woodmen, Odd Fellows and Elks.

Mr. McKinnon died September 1927. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 82B
Joseph and Anna (Pitra) Miklas

Joseph Milas was born December 24, 1884 in Czechoslovakia. He married Anna Pitra at Carrington on April 1, 1909. Anna was also born in Czechoslovakia on December 14, 1882. Joseph came to America in 1901 and settled in Nebraska where two brothers and a sister lived. In 1906 he came to North Dakota to buy cheap land. He purchased the east 1/2 of section 7 in McKinnon Township. A son still lives on the farm.

The couple had four children: Joseph, Rudolph, Mary and Anna.

Mrs. Miklas died October 21, 1943. Mr. Miklas died November 11, 1971. They are buried in the St. John's Catholic cemetery in Kensal.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 82B
Joseph and Hattie (Kulla) Paczkowski

Joseph F. Paczkowski was born July 6, 1886 at Denver, Colorado.

He married Hattie Kulla at Wells, Minnesota on June 2, 1908. Hattie was born at Wells on October 12, 1886, to John and Mary Hennilar Kulla.

The couple lived near Wells until coming to North Dakota. They bought a farm in McKinnon Township.

When they retired they moved to Jamestown. They had six children: Frank, Anna, Dorothy, Ursula, Joseph and John.

Mr. Paczkowski died July 10, 1964. Mrs. Paczkowski died January 23, 1973. They are buried in Calvary Cemetery in Jamestown.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 82B
O.K. and Tilda Louise (Arneson) Ronholm

The Ronholms were originally from Norway. They came to the Kensal area in 1910. O.K. bought the north 1/2 of section 33 in McKinnon Township where they lived the rest of their lives. The Ronholms had four daughters: Alma, Gladys, Clara and Emma.

Mr. Ronholm was born January 12, 1874 and died in March 1941.

Mrs. Ronholm was born April 30, 1879 and died June 2, 1961.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 82B
William J. and Alma (Ronholm) Spitzer

William Spitzer and Alma Ronholm were married October 22, 1927 at Kensal, North Dakota. William was born in Gilette, Arkansas on July 22, 1896. Alma was born January 1, 1904 at Colton, South Dakota to O.K. and Tilda Arneson Ronholm. The Ronholms came to Foster County in 1910 to purchase land in McKinnon Township.

Alma and William later lived on the farm of the Ronholms.

They had four children: Kenneth, Norma, Clarice and Carol.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 82B
Melville

Henry and Violet (Hedin) Biel

Henry Biel and Violet Hedin were married on September 22, 1945 in New York. They were both serving in the United States Army at the time.

After they were discharged they made their home in South Dakota until 1949 when they came to Melville.

In Melville they operated a grocery store and gas station.

The Biels had ten children: Robert, Charles, Daniel, Richard, Debra, Michael, Patrick, Raymond, Jerry and Melvin.

Mr. Biel died November 13, 1967.

Mrs. Biel continued to operate the store until her health failed.

Mrs. Biel died September 29, 1980.

They are buried at Carrington.

Robert and Charles Biel served in the United States Air Force. Raymond is now serving in the Air Force. Daniel served in the Army. Jerry is a member of the National Guard.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 83B
Everett and Mary (Driessen) Blood

Everett Blood was born in 1877 in South Dakota, on November 21, 1902, he married Mary Driessen who was born in Holland on December 7, 1877. She came to the United States in 1886 with her parents, who settled at Milbank, South Dakota. The Bloods farmed in Milbank until 1910 when they purchased a farm near Melville. In 1937 they moved into Melville where they built and operated a store and post office. They had one child, Eva, (Mrs. Fred Miller).

Mr. Blood died on July 6, 1951, and Mrs. Blood died in December 1959. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 83B
G. J. and Emma (Bohn) Bower

Gilbert J. Bower was born April 11, 1884, in Wisconsin and when a small boy moved, with his parents, to Milbank, South Dakota, where they farmed. On June 2, 1907 he married Emma Bohn. The couple came to Foster County in 1911 and bought a farm near Melville. Mr. Bower operated a farm and was also the manager of an elevator. He retired from farming in 1919 and was a partner in a farm machinery business until 1930.

Mr. Bower was elected a County Commissioner in 1932 and served as chairman of the Board in 1940. In 1935, when the Foster County Welfare Board was organized, he was the first chairman.

Mr. Bower died in January 1940. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 83B
Ebenezer and Charlotte Burnham

Ebenezer Burnham homesteaded in the Melville area and lived on the farm. He came in 1882 and stayed until 1884 when they moved to Louisiana.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 83B
Frank H. and Emma (Rorabaugh) Burnham

Frank Burnham was born at St. Albans, Vermont, on December 18, 1851. He married Emma Rorabaugh December 6, 1873. Emma was born in Pennsylvania January 1, 1852. The couple lived in Vermont for several years. They came to Foster County in 1883 and homesteaded in Melville Township on Section 30. They lived on the homestead until 1898, when they moved into Carrington.

The couple had three children: Chilo, George and Pluma.

Mrs. Burnham died in December 1929. Mr. Burnham died in May 1930. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 83B
George and Bessie (Dodge) Burnham

George Burnham, born in Fairfield, Vermont on December 2, 1878, the son of Frank and Emma Burnham came to Foster County with his parents and brother, Chilo, in 1883. They settled south of Carrington.

At Tuttle on April 8, 1914, George married Bessie Dodge, who was born at Tuttle on April 5. The couple farmed in Melville Township until 1943 when they moved into Carrington.

The Burnhams had four children: Mrs. Kenneth (Dorothy) Rusley, Mrs. Fred (Lorraine) Weeks, Mrs. Robert (Betty) Wumkes and Roland.

Mr. Burnham died in April 1962. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 83B
Joseph and Mary (Blinsky) Caron

Joseph A. Caron, born March 15, 1879, in Canada, came to North Dakota in 1900 and worked as a carpenter and farm hand in the Melville and Carrington areas. In 1920 on December 8, he married Mary Blinsky.

The couple lived on a farm near Melville until 1925 when they moved to Carrington where Mr. Caron worked on the section of the Northern Pacific railroad.

The couple had one daughter, Isadora (Mrs. Otto Bohmann of Los Angeles).

Mr. Caron died in March 1963.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 83B
Joe E. and Lucy (Wagner) Carr

Joe E. Carr, the son of Pat J. and Neva Young Carr was born in Melville Township July 16, 1904. He married Lucy Wagner at Milbank, South Dakota, November 15, 1930. Lucy was born at Milbank on May 21, 1902. Joe has lived in the Carrington‑Melville area all of his life. The Carrs are the parents of five children: Maurice, Donald, Mary Ann, Judy and William. They have nineteen grandchildren.

Mr. Carr has served on both the township board and school board for many years.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 83B
Herbert J. and Ida (Rice) Chadwick

Herbert J. Chadwick was born January 25, 1889, in Wisconsin. He married on July 25, 1901, Ida Mae Rice, born August 20, 1881, at Gay Mills, Wisconsin. Herbert first came to North Dakota to work for Dan Nieman and ran his threshing machine in 1914 and 1915. The family came to Foster County to live in 1916; they purchased and rented land.

There were six children in the family: Thelma, Gertrude, Esther, Wilfred, Lyle and Harold. Thelma and Wilfred died in infancy. Gertrude died in 1962.

Esther lives in Carrington; now married to Eldon Laughlin. She was formerly married to Lyle McAfee and lived at Melville and had three children. Harold is married to Jean Davis, They live in Carrington. They have five children. Lyle is living in Wisconsin and is married and has six children. Both Lyle and Harold served in World War II.

Herbert died in 1934 and Ida Mae in July 1958. They are buried in the Melville Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 83B
Edwin I. and Selma (Olson) Davis

Edwin Davis was born May 11, 1893, at Alexandria, Minnesota. He came to North Dakota in 1907, with his parents, Herbert and Ida Mae Chadwick Davis and settled near Cathay. Edwin married in Canada on February 7, 1920, Selma Evelyn Olson, who was born July 26, 1903 at Penn, North Dakota. The couple came to the Melville area to live in 1923. In 1929 they moved to Carrington where Mr. Davis worked as a carpenter.

The couple had seven children: Evelyn, Gladys, Jean, Roy, Lloyd, Ernest and Jerry.

Mrs. Davis died in May 1957. Mr. Davis died in March 1973. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 83B
Erick and Margaret (Hayes) Erickson

Erick Erickson was born in 1865 in Wisconsin. He homesteaded on Section 1 in Melville Township in 1888. His farm was known as the Maple Leaf Farm. He married Margaret Hayes in 1915, who was born in 1873. They had no children.

Margaret died in 1949. Erick died in 1936. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 83B
Elmer and Emma (Wiley) Farquer

Elmer Farquer was born October 24, 1861, in Illinois, the son of William and Sarah J. Beans Farquer. He married Emma Wiley in April 1884, she was born in October 26, 1863. He came to Jamestown in 1883 and in 1884 took a farm near his parents homestead.

They had five children: Amos, Wiley, George, Harry and Grace, (Mrs. William Montgomery Jr.).

Mr. Farquer died July 15, 1932 and Mrs. Farquer on July 3, 1923. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 84B
William and Sarah Jane (Beans) Farquer

William Farquer was born September 7, 1835 near Trenton, Ohio. On May 19, 1859, at Vermont, Illinois, he married Sarah Jane Beans, who was born in 1839. The family lived in Illinois for a number of years. Mr. Farquer served in the Union army during the Civil War. After the war he served as superintendent of schools until the family decided to move west to Kansas and Nebraska. In 1883 they came to North Dakota and homesteaded on the Southwest Y4 of Section 2 in Melville Township. About 1889 they sold the farm and moved to Carrington.

Mr. Farquer was County superintendent of schools in Foster County, being elected to the third term. He also served as Justice of Peace.

The Farquers had five children: Anna (Mrs. Philip Wiseman), Alta (Mrs. Howard Wolf), Abby (Henry), Elmer and Rankin.

Mr. Farquer died February 26, 1912. Mrs. Farquer died June 15, 1939. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 84B
Percy and Hilda (Kleb) Fleming

Percy Fleming, the son of James and Margaret Dow Fleming was born November 24, 1888 at Stanley, Wisconsin. He came to North Dakota in 1906 and worked in the Bordulac area. On December 11, 1913, he married Hilda Kleb, the daughter of Julius and Emma Zink Kleb, who was born January 4, 1893, at Bordulac.

The Flemings farmed in the Carrington area several years before moving to the Melville area. After Mrs. Fleming's death Mr. Fleming moved to California.

The couple had ten children: Percy Jr., Keithel, Lois, Colleen, Beverly, Lillian, Dorothy, Jean, Evelyn (Mrs. Elton Galt) and Geraldine.

Mrs. Fleming died in April 1942 and Mr. Fleming died in 1946.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 84B
Fern F. and Marjorie E. (Posey) Galt

Fern Galt was born July 4, 1908, near Melville to William and Cora English Galt. He married Marjorie Posey, the daughter of Forest and Carrie Lasher Posey, who was born on April 4, 1910, at Anoka, Minnesota. The Galts lived on a farm near Melville. They were in Carrington from 1943‑1955 and then came back to Carrington when they retired in 1969. Mr. Galt was a grain farmer and has been a licensed livestock buyer for 52 years.

He has served on the church board and several township officers in Melville Township.

The couple has nine children: Darlene, Fern (Bill), June, Rollin, Monte, Marlene, Sharon, Darryl, and Jewel.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 84B
Lyle G. and Esther (Bettenhausen) Galt

Lyle Galt, son of William and Cora English Galt, was born at Carrington on January 31, 1920, and grew up in the Melville area. He is the second generation to live on the farm south of Melville. On June 8, 1943, he married Esther Bettenhausen at Wishek, who was born at Wishek on June 27, 1917, to William and Alvina Kramer Bettenhausen. Mr. Galt attended a vocational school and has served as township assessor.

The couple have three sons: Brian, Robert and Kevin.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 84B
William and Cora (English) Galt

Both William Galt and Cora English were born in Freeborn County, Minnesota. Cora on April 6, 1879 and William on September 1, 1881. They were married at Albert Lea on March 22, 1906 and the same year settled in Waiters Township, Stutsman County, residing there until they retired to Carrington in 1946. Mr. Gait was one of the organizers of Waiters Township in Stutsman County and served his township as assessor, clerk, and on the school board.

The Gaits had three sons; Fern, Elton and Lyle. Lyle operates the home farm.

Mrs. Gait died in 1957. Mr. Gait died in 1965. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 84B
Warrel P. and Clara (Meyers) Glass (Josephine Arrowood Glass)

Warrel Glass, born in September 1890 at Dawson, North Dakota married Clara Meyers on April 18, 1914. Clara was living at Melville at the time of their marriage. The Glass family farmed in both Foster and Wells Counties. They moved back to Melville in 1926.

Warrel and Clara were the parents of five children: Charles, Melvin, Ralph, Mildred and Lois.

Mrs. Glass died April 12, 1932, following a car accident. She is buried in the Melville Cemetery.

In 1933 Warrel Glass married as his second wife, Josephine Arrowood. They had two sons, Marvin and David.

Warrel died March 1960 and is buried at LaRue, Ohio. His second wife, Josephine died in 1981.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 84B
Olaf and Lilly (Jensen) Hansen

Olaf Hansen, born January 7, 1895, in Denmark, came to the United States in 1913 and lived in South Dakota until 1918, when he came to Melville.

He married Lilly Jensen on July 20, 1918.

The couple had four children: Norman L., Vernon, Velora and Mary Ellen.

Mr. Hansen died November 18, 1968. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 84B
Bradley and Kathy (Hove) Hertel

Bradley Hertel was born at Carrington on May 23, 1954, to Mr. and Mrs. Wilfred Hertel.

On July 20, 1974, he married Kathy Hoye of Carrington. Kathy was born January 25, 1956, to Marvin and Betty Grabinger Hoye of Carrington.

The Hertels have two sons: Jason and Justin.

Mrs. Hertel is a bookkeeper for Randy's Electric. Bradley is a farmer and rancher in Melville Township.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 84B
Emmett E. and Clara (Zink) Highley

Emmett E. Highley was born at St. Louis, Missouri. In September 1911 he married Clara Zink, the daughter of Peter and Theresa Lettner Zink, who was born at Melville in April 1887. The Highleys lived in Melville all their married lives where Mr. Highley was a carpenter and painter. In the early days of their marriage Emmett had a general merchandise store in Melville.

The Highleys had four children: Marian, Lewis, Rena and Janice.

Mr. Highley died December 25, 1971, and his wife died January 31, 1972. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 84B
J. P. and Jennie (Smith) Kidder

The Kidders, J. P. and Jennie (Smith) came from Huntington, Pennsylvania. They were married there in 1882. She was born July 15, 1858, and he was born the same year. They came to North Dakota in 1885, where they first settled in Steele and then at Dawson. They arrived in Melville in 1888. Mr. Kidder was employed by the Leavenworth and Porter store. Later he bought the business where both he and Mrs. Kidder operated the store and post office.

Mrs. Kidder died in 1927. Mr. Kidder in 1933. They are buried at Huntington, Pennsylvania.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 84B
Kevin and Renee (Brandt) Klein

Kevin Klein, son of Kenneth and Ruth Klein, lives in Melville Township. He married Renee Brandt, daughter of Ellis and Arlene Posey Brandt. They have a son, Kelly. Another son died in infancy:

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 85B
C.L. and Caroline (Hundley) Kyte

Charles Lee Kyte was born June 22, 1867, at Montague, New Jersey; his wife Caroline Hundley was born April 2, 1881, in Virginia. They were married at Montague, New Jersey in 1896 and came to Melville in 1904.

Mr. Kyte was a carpenter, a merchant, and postmaster. He served as township clerk and on the school board for many years. He was a correspondent for the Foster County Independent for many years. From 1908 to 1919 the family lived on a claim west of Melville, moving back to Melville in 1919 and lived there until they retired to Detroit Lakes, Minnesota.

The Kytes had five children: Ila, James, Harry, Mary and Daisy.

Mrs. Kyte died April 8, 1957. Mr. Kyte died January 7, 1961. They are buried at Detroit Lakes, Minnesota.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 85B
William and Sarah (Trauger) Leasure

William Leasure, born in Greensburg, Pennsylvania, in 1830, served in the Calvary during the Civil War. He married Sarah Trauger in 1869 and they came to the Melville area in 1882 and built their home. The lumber was hauled up from Jamestown since the railroads had not yet reached Melville. His farm was just over the line into Stutsman County. Later his son, William Jr. farmed the land.

The couple had four children: one daughter died in her late teens. A son was killed in an accident in 1930.

Mrs. Leasure died on June 21, 1899; her husband died August 11, 1910. They are buried in the Melville Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 85B
William and Katherine (Oeschle) Lentz Sr.

William W. Lentz was born May 22, 1881, at Forreston, Illinois, and as a young man went to South Dakota. He married Katherine Louise Oeschle at Redfield, on May 18, 1908. She was born September 2, 1889, at Ida Grove, Iowa, to John and Louise Oeschle. The family came to the Carrington‑Melville area to farm in 1926.

They had two children, Katherine (Mrs. Tomie McCarty) and William Jr.

William Lentz died September 26, 1963 and Mrs. Lentz on February 16, 1972. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 85B
William Lentz Jr.

William Lentz Jr. was born near Redfield, South Dakota on February 6, 1911. He farmed in the Carrington‑Melville area until his death. Never married, he died January 14, 1982, and is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 85B
Herman and Julia (Hoffman) Linde

Herman Linde of German descent, was born July 12, 1888, in Warsaw, Poland. He came to the United States in 1913 and lived in Detroit, Michigan, until coming to North Dakota in 1914 where he began farming in the Melville area. On December 4, 1924, he married Julia Hoffman, who was born May 18, 1888, in Warsaw, Poland. Julia had come to the United States in 1910 and homesteaded in Stutsman County. She worked in Carrington before her marriage to Mr. Linde. The family moved to the Bordulac area in 1930 and farmed there until they retired and moved to Carrington in 1958.

The couple had three children: Edward, Leonard and Janet.

Mr. Linde died May 30, 1964, Mrs. Linde March 26, 1975. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 85B
Nicholas N. and Caroline (Zink) Loesch

Nicholas Loesch was born March 28, 1884, in Iowa. He also lived in South Dakota. He came to the Melville area in 1900. On June 10, 1918, he married at Denver, Colorado, Caroline Zink, the daughter of Peter P. Zink Sr. and Theresa Lettner Zink. She was born on May 10, 1880. They had five children: John, Bonita, Monica, William and Lavonne.

Mr. Loesch was a grain buyer as well as a farmer. He was an early breeder of Shorthorn cattle which he showed at local fairs. He served on both the township boards and school boards. Later he operated a business in Melville.

He died in November 1958.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 85B
Lyle L. and Esther (Chadwick) McAfee

Lyle McAfee born at Rock Lake, North Dakota, on March 17, 1906, came to the Melville area in 1927, where he was employed by Peter Zink. In 1932 he started farming in the Melville‑Edmunds area and in 1953 he moved into Melville to operate a blacksmith shop. He married Esther Chadwick, the daughter of Herbert and Ida Chadwick, born in Wisconsin on June 17, 1908.

The McAfee's had three children, Calvin, Wayne, and Marlys.

Mr. McAfee died January 4, 1957. He is buried in the Edmunds Cemetery. Mrs. McAfee later married Eldon Laughlin and now resides in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 85B
John and Helen (Anwiler) Mehring Sr.

John Mehring was born June 22, 1905, in Indiana, the son of Frank and Theresa Herburt Mehring. On September 10, 1935, he married Helen Anwiler. Helen, born in Canada January 13, 1913, the daughter of Henry and Lydia Lutz Anwiler.

The couple had three sons: John Jr., Charles and Glenn. Helen attended high school in Carrington and had nurses training.

Helen moved to Carrington after Mr. Mehring died in 1974.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 85B
John Mehring Jr.

John Mehring Jr., son of John Sr. and Helen Anwiler Mehring, was born on August 10, 1936.

On July 18, 1956, he married Carol Hallwachs. Carol was born September 5, 1938, to Charles and Helen Paluh Hallwachs.

He has farmed in the Melville area, on the farm formerly owned by his father.

They are the parents of two children: David and Karen (Mrs. Ron Munkeby.)

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 85B
Albert Miller

Albert Miller, son of Amos Miller was born in Iowa on March 26, 1897. He came to the Melville area with his parents in 1916. As a young man he helped his father with his farming operations. Later he became a barber and had shops in Melville and Buchanan before coming to Carrington, where he operated a barbershop for many years. He was active in the I.O..O.F. Lodge. His hobbies were his garden and his woodworking.

Unmarried, Mr. Miller died in March 1977. He is buried in the Melville Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 85B
Amos Miller

Amos Miller was born at Marshalltown, Iowa; in 1875. Mrs. Miller was born in Iowa in 1866 and moved to Oldham, South Dakota, with her parents as a young girl. The Millers were married at Oldham on September 29, 1895. They came to Melville in 1916, where Mr. Miller farmed and operated a blacksmith shop. The Millers had 'two sons: Fred and Albert.

Mr. Miller died in 1935. Mrs. Miller died in August 1959. They are buried in the Melville Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 85B
Fred and Eva (Blood) Miller

Fred Miller born in Iowa, April 22, 1899, came to Melville in 1916 with his parents the Amos Millers. He married on March 27, 1923, Eva Blood the daughter of Everett and Mary Driessen Blood, who was born at Milbank, South Dakota, on December 31, 1900. Fred Miller was a carpenter and also farmed in the Melville vicinity.

They had three children: Merle Jean, Mavis and Roland, who died in November 1972.

Fred Miller died in July 1966 and his wife in 1980; both are buried in the Melville Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 85B
Myron and Bertha (Ohrner) Miller

Myron Miller was born January 1, 1856, at Ripon, Wisconsin. He married Bertha Ohrner on April 4, 1884, who was born February 6, 1862, at Jefferson, Wisconsin. She came to North Dakota with the Anton Ohrners in 1882. They came first to Jamestown and then came north to the end of the Jamestown and Northern railroad line which at that time reached to the settlement of Newport; later to become Melville. After the Millers were married, they took a homestead east of Bordulac on the Southwest 1/4 of Section 24. They retired and moved to Carrington in 1906.

The couple had two daughters: Rhoda and Grace.

Mr. Miller died March 9, 1921. Mrs. Miller died in September 1930. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 86B
Hosea and Minnie (Minkle) Page

Hosea Page Sr. was born November 16, 1879, in Wisconsin. In 1911 he came to North Dakota, where he homesteaded at Hague and in 1914 he came to the Melville area to engage in farming. On July 15, 1916, ha married Minnie Minkle at Carrington.

The couple had eight children: Lyman, Bailey, Hosea Jr., Jerry, Gail, Fern, Blanche and Fawn.

Mr. Page died in April 1964 and is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 86B
Ness and Jorine (Rohr) Peterson

Ness Peterson was born July 30, 1879, in Denmark, his wife Jorine Rohr was born in Denmark on February 5, 1885, and immigrated to the United States in 1907 to live at Oldham, South Dakota, where the Petersons were married on May 30, 1908. They came to the Melville area in 1916.

They had seven children: Erna (Zink), Ella (Pentice), Ruth, Laura, Dorothy, Harry and Harland.

Mr. Peterson died December 30, 1957. Mrs. Peterson died April 22, 1974. They are buried in the Melville Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 86B
Edward F. Porter

Edward F. Porter born November 26, 1858, in Maine was educated at Yale College and graduated with a degree in Arts and Law in 1882. He came to the Melville area in 1883 to farm. In 1890 Mr. Porter was elected county treasurer in 1886 and in 1894, he was elected to the North Dakota House of Representatives, where he served on the Committee of Supplies and Expenditures.

Mr. Porter died in October 1896.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 86B
Forest Burdell and Carrie (Lasher) Posey

Forest (Dick) Posey was born at Stubben, Wisconsin, on June 4, 1884.

He married Carrie Lasher, who was born at Osseo, Wisconsin.

The couple had six children: Lawson, Janet, Marjorie, Thomas, Florence, and Richard.

Mrs. Posey came to Carrington in the early thirties. She worked in the kitchen of the Carrington Hospital for a number of years.

Mrs. Posey died October 3, 1977. Mr. Posey had died May 3, 1919. They are buried at Melville.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 86B
Louis and Alice (Davis) Pothier

Louis Pothier was born in Quebec on April 29, 1871. He came to the United States as a young man and lived in Minnesota for a number of years. He married in Canada, Alice Maria Davis, who was born in Minnesota on March 14, 1881. They came to North Dakota in 1900 to settle in the Melville area.

The Pothiers had three children: Arthur, Wilfred and Bernadetta.

Mrs. Pothier died August 13, 1946 and Mr. Pothier died March 7, 1949. They are buried in the Melville Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 86B
F. F. and Clara Alice (Waiters) Reimers

Fernando F. Reimers was born August 29, 1897, in Boone County, Iowa, to C. H. and Linda Kerns Reimers.

He was married to Alice Waiters, who was born February 7, 1898. She was the daughter of William and Georgia Wiseman Waiters.

The couple had 5 children: Robert, Steven, Patricia, Mae and William.

The Reimers settled on land originally belonging to L. B. Hanna Ranch. They are now retired and live in Florida.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 86B
Robert F. and Carol M. (Fortney) Reimers

Robert F. Reimers was born at Melville on June 15, 1923, to F. F. and Alice Waiters Reimers. He married Carol Fortney, born at Jamestown on March 25, 1920. Both Robert and Carol are graduates of North Dakota State University.  Carol was a schoolteacher and both are interested in civic affairs. Mr. Reimers is, especially interested in farm and crop improvements.

The couple are parents of two children: Stephen and Ann.

Mr. Reimers served in the State Legislature for sixteen years representing the Republican Party. He served as Speaker of the House and Chairman of the Appropriation Committee as well as other positions.

The Reimers reside in Stutsman County.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 86B
Anthony and Helen (Linde) Schuster

Anthony John Schuster, born June 13, 1881, at Tintah, Minnesota, came to Melville in 1910. On October 22, 1914, at Tintah, he married Helen Linde, who was born in Germany on August 18, 1881. The Schusters farmed in the Melville area until his death in 1943.

The couple had three children: Ruth, (Mrs. Ervin Messmer) Dorothy (Mrs. Curtis Peterson) and Ben.

Mrs. Schuster died April 22, 1967. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 86B
J. W. Shearer and Lulu (Cunningham) Shearer

John Shearer was born October 25, 1868, at Pleasant Unity, Pennsylvania. He came to North Dakota in May 1891 to work at the A. O. Elder ranch. In 1896‑97 he operated a store in Edmunds. In 1898 he built a grocery store in Melville and in 1906‑97 he operated a branch store in Bordulac. In 1922 the Melville store burned but he continued to operate his business for a few years in another building. Then for a few years he farmed in the Melville area.

On January 25, 1910, John married lulu Cunningham at Ursina, Pennsylvania. Lulu was born in West Virginia on December 19, 1886 and educated in Pennsylvania. Mrs. Shearer served as mid‑wife and nurse's aide in the community.

The Shearers had four children: David, Earl and two daughters.

Mr. Shearer died in 1937 and Mrs. Shearer died in December 1973. They are buried in the Melville Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 86B
Oscar and Clara (Sorbet) Shelly

Oscar Shelly born December 25, 1879, at Hanska, Minnesota, farmed south of Carrington from 1903 to 1944. He married at Mankato, Minnesota, Clara Sorbet, who was born May 1, 1894, at Hanska.

They had five children, Cora (Mrs. James Mathews), Alice, (Mrs. James Turlington), James and Herbert. A son Miles was killed in action on Bougainville, Solomon Islands during World War II.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 86B
John M. and Luella (Blakely) Trecker

John M. Trecker, born September 16, 1891, at Humboldt, South Dakota, married Luella Blakely on November 25, 1919, at Sioux Falls, South Dakota. Luella was born in New York State on April 30, 1898. The Trackers farmed in the Jamestown area before coming to the Melville area in 1940.

The couple had six children: John (died May 1953), Dorothy, Mazie, Bernadette, Robert and William. Their son, William still lives on the farm.

Mrs. Trecker died April 18, 1955. Mr. Trecker died March 27, 1962. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 86B
William and Georgians Mae (Wiseman) Waiters

William Waiters was born September 11, 1869, at Chillicothe, Missouri. In 1897 he married Georgians Mae Wiseman at Jamestown. She was the daughter of the Merritt Wisemans and was born in 1863 and sister of Obed and Philip Wiseman of Melville.

Mr. Waiters served in the army during the Civil War.. Mr. Waiters came to North Dakota to homestead and settled in Stutsman County. He helped build the Northern Pacific Railroad from Jamestown to Melville with his mules. Later the family moved to Melville, where they owned the hotel.

The couple had one daughter, Alice (Mrs. F. F. Reimers).

Mrs. Waiters died in April 1935; Mr. Waiters died in July 1950. They are buried at Melville.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 87B
John C. and Rose (Mac Elroy) Warner

John Warner was born in 1865 in Canada. In 1882 he entered a claim on the S.E. quarter of Section 12, in Melville Township. His farm was known as the "Garden Farm of Foster County." He kept a hotel in Melville and did carpenter work. He built the first building in Carrington for Mr. Halsey. He was the first sheriff of Foster County.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 87B
Warren W. and Edythe (Zink) Willyard

Warren Wells Willyard, the son of Judson C. and Hattie Estabrook Willyard, was born June 9, 1888, at Edmunds. He attended the local schools and the Agricultural College at Forgo. On April 9, 1928, at Jamestown he married Edythe Zink, the daughter of Franz and Elizabeth Pepple Zink. The couple farmed first near Edmunds and moved to their farm in Section 28, Melville Township in 1935.

The Willyards had six sons: Wells, Howard (Jerry, Alan, George, Edward and James.

Mr. Willyard died March 11, 1979. He is buried in the Melville Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 87B
Obed and Petra (Krogstad) Wiseman

Obed Wiseman was born at Santiago, Minnesota, in January 1866. He came to Melville with his parents and brother Philip in 1882. In 1917 he married Petra Krogstad at Northwood, Iowa.

The couple had one daughter, Maxine.

The Wiseman brothers were connected with the bank in Melville for twenty years. His brother Philip was associated with him in the bank and also in a general store. He was active in church and community affairs.

Mr. Wiseman died in April 1928. He is buried at Melville.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 87B
Philip and Anna (Farquer) Wiseman

Philip Wiseman was born February 8, 1869, near St. Cloud, Minnesota. Mr. Wiseman taught school a few years before entering into partnership with his brother Obed. He was vice president and cashier in the bank at Melville. They also operated a general store. The family moved to Carrington in about 1917. He was a member of several lodges in Melville, the Modern Woodmen, A.O.U.W and I.O..O.F.

On November 27, 1899 he married Anna Farquer, the daughter of William and Sarah Beans Farquer at Carrington, born May 14, 1874, at Oakwood, Illinois.

The couple were the parents of eight children: Merritt, Philip, Susie (Mrs. C. M. Homer), Lois (Mrs. Sam Prentice), Phyllis (Mrs. J. Tauchalo) and Anne (Mrs. Don Anderson). Doyle and Harold.

Mr. Wiseman died on August 17, 1929. Mrs. Wiseman died August 6, 1977, at Cardova, California, age 103. The Wisemans are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 87B
Peter and Sophia (Zuling) Wobbema Sr.

Peter Wobbema born May 1, 1894, in Holland came to South Dakota in 1908. On December 20, 1916, he married Sophia Zuling at Brookings, South Dakota. She was born at Hamburg, Germany, on December 7, 1893 and came to the United States in 1909. They farmed in the Brookings area until 1921 when they came and farmed in various locations in Foster County, until they retired to live on Carrington.

They had fourteen children: Margaret, Nellie, Emma, Mildred, Pearl, Jennie, Anna Mae, Susie, Helen, Peter Jr., Henry, Harold and John. A son Peter, died in 1927.

After farming in the Melville and Grace City areas the Wobbemas moved into Carrington in 1957. Mrs. Wobbema died June 7, 1979 and Mr. Wobbema died June 23, 1982. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 87B
August and Olive (Henry) Zink

August Zink, son of Peter and Theresa Lettner Zink, was born at Melville on August 7, 1888.

On December 4, 1912, he married Abbie Olive Henry at Carrington. Olive was born September 1, 1892, to Mr. and Mrs. John Henry of Melville.

The couple had two daughters, Vera and Mildred.

Mrs. Zink attended school in Melville and Carrington High School.

The Zinks lived on farms in the Melville, Edmunds and Bordulac areas.

In 1950 they moved to Jamestown and Mr. Zink was the State Dairy Inspector until 1964.

Mrs. Zink died June 1964. Mr. Zink died in July 1968. They are buried in the Melville Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 87B
Franz and Elizabeth (Pepple) Zink

Franz Zink, the son of Peter and Theresa Leaner Zink, was born September 22, 1885, at Melville. On January 30, 1906, he was married to Elizabeth Pepple at Carrington. Elizabeth, the daughter of John and Caroline Pepple, was born at Pleasant Valley on May 22, 1886.

The couple had twelve children: Lola, Sherman, Edythe, Margaret, Dorothy, Caroline, Marie, Franz Jr., Elizabeth, Ella Mae, Imogene and Susan. Franz Jr. accidentally drowned in 1945 while in the service. Mr. Zink farmed in the Melville area until 1934 when he retired and moved to Carrington, where he did carpenter work. He served as a Foster County Commissioner.

Mrs. Zink spent her last few months at Golden Acres Manor.

Mr. Zink died January 16, 1954. Mrs. Zink died March 31, 1979. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 87B
Maurice and Donna (Beck) Zink

Maurice Zink, son of the Peter Zinks, was born in 1933, at Melville.

He married Donna Beck of Carrington. She was daughter of Henry and Esther Beck.

They have six children: Jeffrey, Gregory, Richard, Michael, Andrew and Ann.

Both Maurice and Donna graduated from Carrington High School.

The family lives on a farm near Edmunds.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 87B
Peter P. and Theresa (Lettner) Zink

Peter P. Zink was born in Germany on June 27, 1854. He was the son of Peter and Anna Bohnet Zink.

On January 30, 1884, he married Theresa Lettner at Jamestown. Theresa was born in Germany in April 1851.
The couple had 5 children: Franz, Clara, August, Caroline and Peter Jr.

The Zinks saw the railroad come into Foster County and extensive livestock raising in the County.

Mrs. Zink was the first woman resident of Melville.

Mr. Zink died in 1923. Mrs. Zink died February 7, 1929. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 87B
Peter and Ruth (Murphy) Zink Jr.

Peter Zink Jr., son of Peter and Theresa Lettner Zink, was born at Melville on October 9, 1891.

Ruth Murphy, daughter of Martin Murphy, was born at Bordulac on September 10, 1895. She and Peter Zink Jr. were united in marriage at Bordulac on December 31, 1917.

They had seven children: Eugene, Adelle, Russell, Eileen, Maurice, Margaret, and Peter Paul.

The family lived in the Melville area and farmed in Foster and Stutsman Counties. They were active in community affairs.

Mr. Zink served on the Foster County Fair board, Carrington Hospital Board and both school and township boards.

Mr. Zink died October 22, 1957. Mrs. Zink died November 8, 1963. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 88B
Russell and Cecilia (Wescom) Zink

Russell Zink was born in 1926 to Mr. and Mrs. Peter Zink Jr. at Melville.

He married Cedy Wescom of Edmunds. They have 10 children: Peter, Dean, Jane, Jerome, Dan, Tom, Anthony, Mary T., Wayne and Robert.

The family lives on a farm near Melville.

The four older children are married and live in or near Carrington or Melville. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 88B
Nordmore
Ronald and Marcella (Hoffort) Ames

Ronald Ames was born April 18, 1921 at Bancroft, Iowa. On October 29, 1946, he married Marcella Hoffort at Sanborn, North Dakota. Marcella was born at Eckelson on May 10, 1924.

The couple has six children, Karen, Kenneth, Delores, Kathy, William and Paul. The family lives on a farm. They are active in church and community activates.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 89B
Elmer and Carol (Cook Klemin) Anderson

Elmer Anderson was born September 18, 1905 in southern Eddy County to Martin and Serina Roaldson Anderson. On August 26, 1957 he married Carol Cook Klemin. Carol had three sons: Lawrence, John and James Klemin. The family lived in Nordmore Township where Mr. Anderson owned and operated a sand and gravel company.

Elmer Anderson died April 17, 1968 and is buried at Kvernes Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 89B
Perry T. and Catherine (Walker) Anderson

Perry Anderson was born on March 9, 1866 at Green River, ‑Illinois. On July 15, 1891, he married Catherine Walker in Iowa. Catherine was born on August 5, 1870, in Michigan.

Their children were Zeta, Virgil, Lisle and Gordon.

The family came to Foster County in 1902. Mr. Anderson bought land on Section 1 in Nordmore Township from the Northern Pacific Railway Company.

Mr. Anderson died September 28, 1949.

Mrs. Anderson died June 25, 1957.

They are buried at Grace City. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 89B
Erick and Sara (Hegquist) Berglund

Erick Alfred Berglund, born July 23, 1859, at Sundsvell, Sweden, married in Sweden, Sara Olivia Hegquist, who was born at Stanvas, Sweden on April 20, 1867. Mr. Berglund served in the Swedish Navy. The Berglunds came to Nordmore Township in 1894. They acquired land in Section 26 in Nordmore Township through the Homestead Act.

The couple were the parents of ten children: Theodore, Henrietta, Magne, Jennie, Fritz, David, Gustav and three who died in infancy.

Mr. Berglund died in April 1939. Mrs. Berglund died in March 1952. They are buried in Kvernes Cemetery in Nordmore Township.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 89B
Fritz and Alma (Anderson) Berglund 

Fritz Berglund was born August 28, 1901 in Nordmore Township to Erick and Sara Hegquist Berglund. On November 14, 1935 he married at Sheyenne, Alma Anderson, who was born on May 1, 1912 in Eddy County to Martin and Serena Roaldson Anderson. The couple farmed in Nordmore Township and later moved to Carrington.

They had one daughter, Evelyn.

Mr. Berglund died July 4, 1960 and is buried in the Kvernes Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 89B
Joe R. and Mary T. (Voglewede) Carr

Joe R. Carr, son of Joseph M, and Mabel Backlund Carr, born April 13, 1934 a! Carrington, married on October 3, 1964, Mary T. Voglewede, daughter of Dr. William C. and Rosemary Voglewede, who was born August 17, 1945, at Toledo, Ohio. Mary T. came to Carrington with her parents as a small child. Joe and Mary T. were educated in the Carrington schools and Mr. Carr attended the North Dakota State School of Science at Wahpeton. He served in the Army in Korea.

The family purchased in 1974 the original homestead of Joe's father, the south half of Section 31 in Nordmore Township. Joe belongs to the Knights of Columbus, Elks, and is a life member of the V.F.W. Club.

They have four children: Theresa, Christina, Stephan and Alicia. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 89B
Frank and Kathleen (Beaton) Davis

Frank Davis, the son of Leslie and Lillian Friezen Davis was born at Carrington on November 29, 1948. He was married on July 8, 1974, to Kathleen Beaton, the daughter of Walter J. and Irma Beaton of Carrington, who was born July 13, 1955 at Jamestown. They purchased the Southeast% of Section 28 in Nordmore Township in 1978.

The Davises have three children: Casey, Karen and Roberta.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 89B
Leslie and Lillian (Friezen) Davis

Leslie Davis and Lillian Friezen were married at Sykeston on March 25, 1935: Leslie was the son of Hyland and Susie Walton Davis, born November 2, 1910 at Cathay. Lillian, the daughter of William and Theresa Kubesh Friezen was born at Olivia, Minnesota, on November 21, 1916. Beth Leslie and Lillian attended the Cathay schools. The Davis family lived near Cathay until moving to a farm on Section 28 in Nordmore Township.

There are thirteen children in the family: Donald, Janice, Connie, Suzanne, Sharon, Patsy, LeAnna, Frank, Lynnette, Mary, Kathy, Julie and Randy. All are living except Randy, who lost his life in a car accident October 25, 1981. The Davises also have forty‑three grandchildren and seven great‑grandchildren.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 89B
Edward and Elvida (Halvorson) Edwardson

Edward Edwardson was born January 24, 1893 to John and Ellen Halaas Edwardson, He married Elvida Halvorson on July 3, 1936. The couple lived in both Nordmore and Estabrook Townships until they retired to Carrington.

They were life long members of Kvernes Lutheran Church.

Their children are: Mary Ellen, James (died November 1964), Elma, Edwin, Elvin and Norman.

Mr. Edwardson died January 12, 1977. He is buried in the Kvernes Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 89B
Eugene and Clara Ann (Reise) Edwardson

Eugene Edwardson, son of Olaf and Willett Carlson Edwardson, was born October 29, 1931, at Carrington.

Clara Reise was born August 3, 1936 at Fargo, to Julius and Mary Kopperud Raise.

Eugene and Clara were married on October 3, 1954 at the Kvernes Lutheran Church.

They have one son Steven Eugene.

The Edwardsons live on the Southeast 1/4 of Section 30 in Nordmore Township. Eugene is the fourth generation to live on the farm, which was originally homesteaded by Ellen Edwardson in 1883.

The family is active in the Kvernes church and the community.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 89B
Johann and Ellen (Halaas) Edwardson

Johann Edwardson was born at Smola, Norway, on March 28, 1866. He married in 1890 Ellen Halaas, who was born at Nordmore, Norway, on February 6, 1858. She was the daughter of Torris Halaas. Ellen Halaas homesteaded on the SEA of Section 30 in Nordmore Township. She also acquired land by pre‑emption. She married Ole Silseth in 1885, he also had filed a claim, the Northeast 1/4 of Section 22. The couple had one child, Olea (Eleen) who later became Mrs. Olaf Bonderude of Carrington.

Ellen and Johann had four children: John E., Olaf, Ed and Thea, (Mrs. A.K. Gussiaas).

Mr. Edwardson died March 30, 1901. Mrs. Edwardson died April 9, 1933. They are buried in the Kvernes Cemetery in Nordmore Township.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 89B
John and Bessie (Hegland) Edwardson

John Edwardson was born June 18, 1894 at Brantford. He spent all his life farming in Eddy and Foster County.

He married Bessie Hegland of Fisher, Minnesota. They had four children: Rudolph, Merril, Paul and Mrs. E.T. Stene.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 90B
John E. and Rhoda (Wraalstad) Edwardson

John E. Edwardson was born May 27, 1896, in Nordmore Township, the son of Johann and Ellen Halaas Edwardson. On June 22, 1938, John married Rhoda Wraalstad, born January 27, 1899, in Wisconsin. Rhoda taught school before her marriage. They lived on a farm in Nordmore Township. They had no children.

John Edwardson died May 13, 1977 and Rhoda on February 26, 1979. They are buried in the Kvernes cemetery in Nordmore Township.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 90B
Olaf M. and Willett (Carton) Edwardson

Olaf Edwardson, son of Johann and Ellen Halaas Edwardson, was born in Nordmore Township on April 14, 1900. On June 28, 1928 he married at Sheyenne, Willett Carton, born February 24, 1908 at Moorhead, Minnesota. The Edwardson's lived on a farm in Section 30, Nordmore Township. Mr. Edwardson played in the Carrington band for several years. He also played in a dance band that played for public dances and home parties. Olaf was an assessor in Nordmore Township for forty‑five years.

The Edwardsons had five children: Elinore, Eugene, Martin, Myrna and Nancy.

Mr. Edwardson died February 22, 1972. He is buried at Kvernes Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 90B
Rudolph Edwardson

Rudoph Edwardson was born in Norway April 7, 1857. Pauline Rosa Johnson, also born in Norway on March 18, 1857. The Edwardson's were fisherman by trade before coming to the United States. They first settled in Chicago but came to North Dakota about 1883 to acquire land. They settled just across the line in Eddy County.

Ingartha married Willie Roaldson and lived in Foster County for many years. The Edwardson's had five children; Mary, Baunhild, Ingartha, John and Rosa.

Mr. Edwardson died November 5, 1937, Mrs. Edwardson died January 1, 1931. They are buried in the Kvernes Cemetery in Nordmore Township.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 90B
Gerhard M. and Darlene (Hins) Ellingson

Gerhard Ellingson was born February 8, 1932 at Carrington to Gunder and Inger Ellingson. On November 10, 1957, he married Darlene Hins at Medina. Darlene was‑born at Medina on April 11, 1936, the daughter of

Gottlieb and Emma Hins. The Ellingsons live on Section 1, Nordmore-Township.

The Ellingsons have two children: Mitchell and Janine.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 90B
Emil Elton

Emil Elton born April 15, 1872, at Stange, Norway, came to Foster County in May 1888 and homesteaded in Nordmore Township. He worked at a number of farms in the area.

Mr. Elton was never married. He died in 1937.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 90B
Jerrold and Sue (Bale) Goheen

Jerrold Goheen was born July 30, 1935 at Ambrose to Ivan and Illian Hansen Goheen.

Jerry grew up in the Minot area and came to Nordmore Township to farm in 1957.

He married Sue Bale at Minot on May 23, 1953.

They had four children: Randy, Todd, Kim and Lori.

The Goheens farmed in the Minot area before coming to Carrington.

The vocational building at the Carrington High School is the "Jerry Goheen Vocational Agricultural Building", so named in May 1978 in honor of Jerry and because of his interest in agriculture.

Mr. Goheen died January 26, 1978 and is buried at Carrington.

Mrs. Goheen is an L.P.N. and resides in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 90B
Randy and Karen (McCreary) Goheen

The Randy Goheens live on the Southeast 1/4 Section 13 in Nordmore Township. Randy, the son of Jerry and Sue Bole Goheen was born at Minot on November 16, 1953. He came to the Carrington area with his parents as a small child. He married, September 2, 1978, Karen, the daughter of Lyndin and Doris Nelson McCreary who was born at Carrington on March 26, 1959. Both Randy and Karen are graduates of Carrington High School and Randy had one and one half years of college.

They have one son: Elliot born September 7, 1981.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 90B
Todd D. and Tamera (Sharbono) Goheen

Todd Goheen was born on May 5, 1961, at Carrington to Jerry and Sue Bale Goheen. He was married to Tamera Sharbono on March 7, 1981 at Carrington. Tamera was born December 2, 1960, the daughter of Roland and Mary Lou Moriarty Sharbono of Carrington.

Both Todd and Tamera are graduates of Carrington High School and Todd attended auctioneering school. The Goheens live on the Northeast 1/4 of Section 35 in Nordmore Township. Todd is the second generation to live on the farm.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 90B
Andrew K. Gussiaas

Andrew K. Gussiaas was born in Norway on February 14, 1886 and came to America as a young man to avoid the compulsory military training. He also believed America was a land of opportunity. He first settled in Canada but came to Foster County to seek employment. He bought land on Section 17 in Nordmore Township where the family spent their lives. Mr. Gussiaas married Thea Alea Edwardson at Carrington in May 1907. Thea was born June 8, 1890 in Nordmore Township. The Gussiaas couple was active in church and community affairs.

Andrew and Thea were the parents of fifteen children; Carl, Emma, Gilbert, Olga, Anna, Thelma, Olaf, Edwin, James, Henry, Norma, Mervin, Luverne, Mabel and Julia. Many of the family still live in Nordmore Township where they are active in community affairs.

Mr. Gussiaas died May 10, 1961 and Mrs. Gussiaas on February 14, 1966. They are buried in the Kvernes Cemetery in Nordmore Township.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 90B
Anna Gussiaas

Anna Gussiaas was born in Nordmore Township on June 19, 1915 to Andrew and Thea Edwardson Gussiaas.

Anna is active in the Kvernes Lutheran Church. She has served on the board of directors for the Home of the Good Shepherd at New Rockford.

She never married.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 90B
Bruce and Merleen (Bickett Mehring) Gussiaas

Bruce Gussiaas was born July 11, 1958 at Jamestown. He is the son of Gilbert and Elvira Pedersen Gussiaas. On May 3, ‑ 1980 he married Merleen Bickett Mehring, the daughter of Merle and Emma Lee Drissen Bickett, born March 3, 1947.

Merleen had three children by her first marriage, Tammie, Bonnie and Scott.

Both Bruce and Merleen attended school in Carrington. Bruce also attended the State School of Science at Wahpeton.

The family lives on a farm in Section 18 Nordmore Township.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 90B
Carl Gussiaas

Carl Gussiaas was born August 22, 1907 in Nordmore Township to Andrew K. and Thea Edwardson Gussiaas. He was a farmer on Section 17 in Nordmore Township all his life. He served on the township board for a number of years and on the Soil Conservation committee for twenty years. He was treasurer of the Kvernes Lutheran church for thirty-three years.

He died December 21, 1967 and is buried in the Kvernes Lutheran Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 90B
 Donald and Janice (Stensgaard) Gussiaas

Donald Gussiaas was born August 24, 1951 at Jamestown, the son of James and Elaine Kuehn Gussiaas. He married at Brookings, South Dakota on June 29, 1974, Janice Stensgaard, born at Volga, South Dakota on August 20, 1954, the daughter of Lloyd and Darlene Phelps Stensgaard. The couple live in Nordmore Township on the Southwest 1/4 of Section 18, which they purchased in 1978.

They have three children: Darcy, Melissa and Gregory.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 90B
Gilbert and Elvira (Pedersen Liddle) Gussiaas

Gilbert Gussiaas was born December 3, 1911 in Nordmore Township, the son of Andrew and Thea Edwardson Gussiaas. On December 16, 1956, he married Elvira Pedersen Liddle, who was born in Rolling Prairie Township to Andrew and Anna Sorensen Pedersen on July 27, 1917. She married Roy Liddle; they had three children, Janice, Judith, and Jerry.

Gilbert and Elvira Gussiaas had one son, Bruce. The family makes their home on Section 20 in Nordmore Township.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 91B
Henry and Phyllis (Nysted) Gussiaas

Henry Gussiaas, born January 14, 1924 to Andrew and Thea Edwardson Gussiaas married Phyllis Nysted, born November 3, 1929 to John and Ruth Schlotman Nysted. They were married November 15, 1948 at the Trinity Lutheran Church in Carrington. They purchased their farm in 1947, located on Section 33 in Nordmore Township.

The couple have two daughters: Debra and Donna.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 91B
James A. and Elaine (Kuehn) Gussiaas

James Gussiaas born January 1, 1922 in Nordmore Township was the son of Andrew and Thea Edwardson Gussiaas. He married on November 11, 1950, Elaine Kuehn born November 13, 1936, in Wyard Township, the daughter of William and Sophia Vollmers Kuehn.

They have five children: Donald, Darla, Duane, Kent and Brenda.

The family lives on the Northeast quarter of Section 22 in Nordmore Township.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 91B
Luverne and Beatrice (Heintz) Gussiaas

Luverne Gussiaas was born November 15, 1931, the son of Andrew and Thea Edwardson Gussiaas. Beatrice Heintz was born November 15, 1935 at Rugby, to Mr. and Mrs. Anton Heintz. Luverne and Beatrice were married on November 24, 1959 at Saint Elizabeth Catholic Church at Sykeston. The Gussiaas family live on Section 7 in Nordmore Township.

They have five children: Janet, Julie, Mike, Becki and Joel.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 91B
Norma Gussiaas

Norma Gussiaas, a daughter of Andrew and Thea Edwardson Gussiaas was born June 24, 1926 in Nordmore Township.

Norma is active in the church and community. She is a member of Homemakers, and A.L.C.W.

She never married.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 91B
Olaus and Anne (Olson) Gustad

Olaus Gustad, his mother and a neighbor girl came from Norway together, coming to Nordmore Township in 1883. The land had not yet been surveyed so they squatted land, near that of E.T. Halaas and John Indergaard, whom they had known in Minnesota. On November 4, 1885 Claus and Anne were married. Mr. Gustad was one of the charter members of the Kvernes Church. He was born in Norway in 1856 and died in 1943. Mrs. Gustad was born 1859 and died in 1936. The mother of Mr. Gustad was born in 1826 and died in 1908. They are buried in Kvernes Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 91B
Aslak Halaas

Alsak Halaas was an early settler in Nordmore Township where he homesteaded.

He had four children: Lars, Torris, Gertrude (Mrs. Harry Semmens) and Anna (Mrs. Irvin Rusley).

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 91B
John T. and Johanna (Furseth) Halaas

John T. Halaas, the son of Torris and Gertrude Johnsen Halaas, was born January 19, 1870, at Christiansund, Norway. He came to America at the age of six with his parents, who settled in Minnesota for several years. The family homesteaded in Nordmore Township in 1883. On December 3, 1911 he married Johanna Furseth who was born at Christiansund, Norway in 1882. She had come to New York in 1909 and to Carrington to make her home in 1911. The couple farmed in Nordmore until Mr. Halaas retired in 1954.

The Halaas had three children: Gina, Jennie and Thorval.

Mrs. Halaas died in January 1929. Mr. Halaas died in April 1955. They are buried in the Kvernes Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 91B
Lars Halaas

Lars Halaas was born March 25, 1898 in Nordmore Township. He served in the armed services in World War II. After 1926 he made his home in Carrington.

He died March 23, 1967. He is buried at Kvernes Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 91B
O. T. and Christine (Smith) Halaas

O. T. Halaas was born at Christiansund, Norway on August 11, 1854. He came to Carrington in 1883 and was the first person to prove up on his farm in Nordmore Township; the Northwest 1/4 of Section 18. He worked on the railroad crew building the Great Northern main line. After farming a few years he went back to his former work as a contractor and builder helping build the Kirkwood Hotel and elevators in Pingree and Edmunds. He later became a grain buyer and lived in Cass and Richland Counties for forty years.

In 1893 he married Christine Smith of Hickson. They had four children: Eugene, John, Milton, and Martha.

He died in 1930.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 91B
Ralph and Minnie (Shawndt) Halaas

Ralph Halaas was born in 1889 in Carrington, the son of E.T. and Lena Rusten Halaas. On November 27, 1922, he married Minnie Shawndt, who was born April 22, 1894, the daughter of August and Hilda Stalter Schawndt. Always interested in music, Ralph played both the violin and piano in dance orchestras and at the Grand Theater in Carrington. The Halaas family quit farming and moved to Seattle in 1943, where Ralph worked at Boeing Aircraft.

Ralph and Minnie had two children: Lillian and Russell. Both Russell and his son are ministers.

Mrs. Halaas died in February 1980 and is buried in Kvernes Cemetery. Mr. Halaas resides at Golden Acres Manor in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 91B
Torris and Hildur (Roos) Halaas

Torris Halaas was born July 11, 1894 in Foster County and on June 30, 1930 he married Hildur Roos. They lived in Carrington where he was a carpenter for fourteen years before moving to Lignite in 1944.

The couple had one daughter.

Mr. Halaas died in June 1975.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 91B
Torris Alaskson and Gertrude (Johnsen) Halaas

Torris Halaas was born in Norway in 1827 and married Gertrude Olava Johnsen there. After living in Milan, Minnesota, the couple came to North Dakota and homesteaded on Section 30 in Nordmore Township. They also had a tree claim in the township. He farmed, taught school and was song leader at the church.

The couple had three children: Aslak, Ellen and John T.

Mr. Halaas died in March 1905 and is buried in Kvernes Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 91B
Eilert and Elisa (Johnson) Hjelseth Sr.

Eilert Hjelseth, born January 15, 1871 in Molde, Norway, came to North Dakota in 1888 where he bought land. In 1898 on June 26 he married in Carrington, Elisa Johnson, the daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Carl Johnson, who had come to the Nordmore community in 1882. She was born at Milan, Minnesota on December 18, 1877. The Hjelseths moved into Carrington in 1950. The farm is now operated by grandson Lynn Hjelseth.

They were the parents of nine children: Martin, Eilert Jr., Elmer, Clara, Ella, Julia, Ameila, Elfrieda and Carl.

Mr. Hjelseth died in 1952. Mrs. Hjeiseth died in September 1963. They are buried in Kvernes Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 91B
Eilert E. and Lois (Graham) Hjelseth Jr.

Eilert Hjelseth, the son of Eilert Sr. and Elisa Johnson Hjelseth was born in Nordmore Township on August 1, 1913. He grew up and attended school in Nordmore and farmed on Section 20, Nordmore Township.

On October 19, 1944, he married at Carrington, Lois Graham, the daughter of William and Lottie Gilbertson Graham, who was born in Haven Township on October 19, 1922.

The couple had four children: Joy, Lynn, Jeffrey and Joel.

Their son, Lynn, who now operates the farm is the third generation of the family to farm the land.

Mr. Hjelseth died November 12, 1979 and is buried in the Kvernes Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 91B
John and Bertha (Roaldson) Indergaard

John Edward Indergaard was born January 14, 1861 at Christiansund, Norway. He came to America in 1881, settling first in Chippewa County, Minnesota and came to North Dakota in 1882. He homesteaded on Section 10 in Nordmore Township. John married Bertha Roaldson, daughter of Sivert Roaldson, on December 31, 1894. She was born April 3, 1869 in Opdahl, Norway and came to America with her parents. The Indergaards moved to Barlow to live when they retired.

John and Bertha were the parents of six children: Elling, Sidney, Edna, Jennie, Alice and Grace.

Mrs. Indergaard died June 2, 1945 and Mr. Indergaard on June 2, 1949. They are buried in the Kvernes Cemetery in Nordmore Township.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 92B
John M. and Anna (Stene) Indergaard

John M. Indergaard, born in Norway on April 16, 1891 came to the United States as a young man to seek work. He first settled in Eddy County but later bought land in Foster County in 1907. In 1924, March 25, he married Anna Gurine Stene at Sheyenne. She was born in Foster County on August 8, 1904. They lived on the farm he had purchased until they retired to live in Carrington.

The couple has one son: Merland.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 92B
Frank H. and Christina Johnson

Frank Johnson, a North Dakota native was born on September 1, 1887, in Nordmore Township. On July 16, 1905 he married at Evansville, Minnesota, Christina Johnson, who was born in Sweden on July 11, 1865 and came to Minnesota as a small child. They came to Nordmore Township to farm in Nordmore Township and in Eddy County until he moved to California.

The couple had four children: Edd, Frank, Maude, and Mrs. Fred Dahl. 
Mrs. Johnson died in August 1944.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 92B
Christ F. Klein

Christ Klein, born at Silva, North Dakota, May 1, 1926, was the son of Frank and Christina Ripplinger Klein of New Rockford. He married at Selz on June 7, 1948, Betty Richter, born September 27, 1928, at Selz the daughter of Anton and Catherine Rise Richter. Besides his farming operations, raising Tarentaise in Nordmore Township he owns and operates the Chieftain Motel in Carrington.

Christ and Betty are the parents of eleven children: Carlotta, Dale, Mark, Christie, Charmain, Carol, Frank, Colleen, Brian and Darren.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 92B
Ara Landon

Ara Landon, the son of John and Almeda Landon was born at Cathay on November 11, 1914. He married on June 18, 1949, Thelma Gussiaas, the daughter of Mr. and Mrs. AX Gussiaas.

The couple had four children: John, Sandra, Sheryl, and Sharla.

Ara Landon served in the army during World War II. He died January 29, 1975. He is buried in the Kvernes Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 92B
Frank and Anna (Brazauskus) Marmo

Frank Marmo, a native of Lithuania was born October 4, 1873. He came to the United States as a young man, living first in Chicago, where he met and married Anna Brazauskus, born May 30, 1886, she came to Chicago from Lithuania in 1910. The couple were married in Chicago in 1912.  In 1919 they moved to Fessenden, North Dakota and farmed there until 1930, when they moved to Nordmore Township.

The couple had five children John, Charles, Benedicta, Justina and Agnes.

Mr. Marmo died in 1953. Mrs. Marmo died in September 10, 1958.

Charles Marmo was born in Chicago on September 18, 1917. He farmed in the Carrington area before entering the U.S. Army in 1941. He served in the African campaign and European theater for four and a half years. He was a slight man and resided at the soldier's home at Hot Springs, South Dakota from 1958 until his death in May 1969.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 92B
August and Emma (Gussiaas) Miller

Emma Gussiaas was born August 15, 1909 in Nordmore Township to Andrew and Thea Gussiaas. She married August Miller on November 25, 1927 at Sheyenne. They lived in Nordmore Township where they were engaged in farming.

The Millers had ten children: Merlin, Alice, Betty, Wayne, Shirley, Gladys, James, Wesley, Dianne, and Joyce.

They were active in the Kvernes Lutheran Church and the community affairs. Mr. Miller died in 1975 and is buried at the Kvernes Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 92B
Gordon E. and Dorothy (Simon) Miller

Gordon Miller was born at Carrington on November 29, 1937. His parents are Gustav and Emelia Hjelseth Miller. He married at Hampden on September 18, 1960, Dorothy Simon, born March 29, 1939, the daughter of Norman and Frances Simon of Hampden.

They live on the Southwest 1/4 of Section 29 in Nordmore Township. They are the second generation living on the farm, as Gordon's parents occupied the farm until 1926.

They have two sons: Robert and Paul.
Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 92B
Herman M. and Hattie (Ferguson) Miller

Herman Miller, born at Lidgerwood on December 23, 1903, the son of Gottfried and Minnie Radke Miller attended the Lidgerwood schools. On October 3, 1939, at Sheyenne, Herman married Hattie Ferguson, the daughter of John and Gina Lund Ferguson, who was born July 23, 1904. The family lived on a farm on the West 1/2 Section 14 in Nordmore Township. The family was active in church and community activities. Herman was Chairman and Supervisor on the Township Board for many years. Hattie had attended Valley City State College and taught school before her marriage.

The Millers had six children: Lois, Wallace, Milton, Howard, Karen and Verna.

Mrs. Miller died June 15, 1980 and is buried in the Kvernes Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 92B
Howard and Jean (Anderson) Miller

Howard D. Miller, born July 13, 1940, at Carrington, is the son of Herman and Hattie Ferguson Miller. He married at Sheyenne on July 10, 1966, Jean Anderson, the daughter of Emil and Marian Anderson, who was born July 10, 1946 at New Rockford. The Howard Millers farm in Nordmore Township on the Northeast 1/4 of Section 15. They are the second generation to farm the land.

Howard attended Nordmore schools and graduated from Carrington High School. He is now a member of the Carrington School Board. Jean attended shoot in New Rockford and is a graduate of Valley City State College. She was a teacher in Carrington for five years.

The Millers have two sons: Mark and Matthew.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 93B
Wallace and Emilee (Kessler) Miller

Wallace Miller was born May 12, 1933 at Carrington to Herman and Hattie Ferguson Miller. He is the second generation to farm the Northwest 1/4 of Section 14 in Nordmore Township. On December 30, 1970 he married Emilee Kessler of Astoria, Illinois. Mr. Miller has been 4‑H leader for 24 years.

They have four children: Lori, Lisa, Donald and Mavis.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 93B
Westly and Grace (Harmon) Pattee

Westly Pattee was born at Perry, Iowa, on April 13, 1876. He married Grace Harmon at New Rockford on December 23, 1902, who was born in Iowa on August 18, 1878. Mr. Pattee was a man of many interests. He was a mason, Implement dealer and a farmer. He was also owner of racehorses. The Pattees lived in Nordmore Township, in Brantford and later in New Rockford. Mrs. Pattee had attended Normal school and was a teacher before her marriage.

The Pattees had five children: John, William; Evelyn, Hyla and Josephine.

Mr. Pattee died in June 1960. Mrs. Pattee died in March 1973. They are buried in the Prairie Home Cemetery at New Rockford.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 93B
Andrew Reiniger

Andrew Reiniger was born December 4, 1912 to Joseph Sr. and Elizabeth Reiniger. He lived in Nordmore Township. He served in the Air Force during World War II.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 93B
Joseph and Elizabeth (Reiss) Reiniger Sr.

Joseph Reiniger Sr., born at Linz, Austria on October 14, 1873, came to the United States with his parents in 1880. They settled at Sleepy Eye, Minnesota. Joseph farmed first in Wisconsin and came to Foster County in 1900 where he purchased land in Nordmore Township. On January 27, 1901, he married Elizabeth Reiss at Long Lake, Wisconsin. Elizabeth was born August 2, 1881 at Ada, Minnesota.

The Reinigers had ten children: Mary, Rose, Magdalen, Matilda, Elizabeth, Clara, Henry, Andrew, Lawrence and Joseph Jr. The family was active in the Catholic Church. They were interested in improving the farmstead and planted many trees.

Mr. Reiniger died December 6, 1948 and Mrs. Reiniger died May 5, 1956. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 93B
Oliver and Jeannie (Westerlund) Roaldson

Oliver Roaldson, the son of Seven and Ingeborg Roaldson, was born in Nordmore Township on September 18, 1891. On February 7, 1917, he married Jeannie Westerlund, the daughter of Carl and Margaret Westerlund, who was born on September 10, 1893 in Nordmore Township. The couple farmed for a number of years before moving into Carrington in 1941, where Mr. Roaldson was employed as a carpenter.

The couple had one son: Vernon.

Mrs. Roaldson died June 27, 1956 and Mr. Roaldson died in May 1964. They are buried in Kvernes Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 93B
Roland Roaldson

Roland Roaldson, son of Willie and Ingartha Edwardson Roaldson was born September 25, 1916, in Nordmore Township. He farmed in Section 28 of Nordmore Township.

On November 18, 1943 he married Maxine Linderman, daughter of George and Christine Valer Linderman, who was born July 3, 1922.

The couple had three sons. Ronald, Ryan and Robin.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 93B
Willie and Ingartha (Edwardson) Roaldson

Willie Roaldson, son of Sivert and Ingeborg Roaldson was born in Nordmore Township on April 8, 1886. He married Ingartha Kristine Edwardson, the daughter of Rudolph and Pauline Johnson Edwardson at their home on November 27, 1911. Ingartha was born April 21, 1890.

Mr. Roaldson was active in politics, served as County Commissioner for sixteen years, served on the Township and School Boards, on the Barlow elevator board and on the telephone company board.

The Roaldsons were the parents of five children: Stanley, Roland, Gerald, Pauline and Shirley.

Mrs. Roaldson died April 12, 1966 and Mr. Roaldson died April 17, 1968. They are buried in the Kvernes Cemetery in Nordmore Township.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 93B
Ole and Elise (Hjelseth) Rusten

Ole Borgerson Rusten, son of Borger and Eli Rusten, was born at Hamar, Norway on August 5, 1863. He came to America with his sister, Lena, in 1882. They lived in Rothsay, Minnesota and Fargo before coming to Nordmore, where Ole filed on a homestead and tree claim. In 1903 he married Elise Hjelseth, the daughter of Martin and Eli Hjelseth. She had been born in Norway and came to America in 1901.

The couple's children were: Edwin, Emma, Olga, Margaret, Hilda and Borghild (Mrs. Paul Black).

Ole Rusten died March 9, 1950; Elise Rusten died July 5, 1956. They are buried at Kvernes Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 93B

Walter and Susan (Landon Cook) Silkey

Walter Harry Silkey was born at Smiths Well, Minnesota, on March 3, 1910, the son of William and Anna Silkey. He came to the Carrington area with his parents in 1916. He attended school in Wyard Township and in Carrington. He married Susan Landon Cook at Carrington on June 1, 1950. Susan was born March 27, 1920 at Cathay to John and Almeda Winer Landon. She married first William Cook of Carrington, who died in 1948. They were the parents of two girls: Eileen and Sonja.

Walter and Susan Silkey had two children: Douglas and Becky.

Walter died January 8, 1966. Susan died February 16, 1974. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 94B

Alva Oran and Mary L. (Miller) Snyder

A. O. Snyder, son of Henry and Catherine Heiny Snyder, was born June 13, 1871 at Cicero, Indiana. He married Mary Lavina Miller at Arcadia, Indiana on August 7, 1892. She was born May 26, 1874 at Arcadia, the daughter of Henry and Susanna Lewis Miller.

The Snyders came to Carrington in 1899 and settled on a farm in Section 28 in Nordmore Township. In 1938 the family moved to Carrington when Mr. Snyder was elected County treasurer.

The couple had four children: Charles, who died as a child, Laura, Esther and Oran Fredrick.

Mr. Snyder died June 10, 1950. Mrs. Snyder died October 11, 1958. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 94B

David L. and Sue (Stangeland) Swanson

David Swanson, son of Erwin and Judy Gussiaas Swanson, was born July 6, 1957 at Jamestown. He graduated from Carrington High School and has a two-year degree in Diesel Mechanics from the State School of Science at Wahpeton. He farms in Section 17 Nordmore Township.

On December 2, 1977 he married Sue Stangeland, the daughter of Kenneth and Noma Pederson Stangeland, who was born March 20, 1956, at Cooperstown. Sue has a degree in elementary education from Valley City State College and taught school in Carrington before her marriage. The Swansons have one daughter: Lynnette.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 94B

Dennis and Mary Jean (Schroeder) Swanson

Dennis Swanson, born August 9, 1955, at Jamestown, is the son of Irwin and Judy Swanson. He married at Carrington on September 1, 1979, Mary Jean Schroeder, the daughter of Clarence and Lorraine Schroeder, who was born at Carrington on March 22, 1955.

The family lives on Section 8 in Nordmore Township. Both Dennis and Mary graduated from Carrington High School. Mary graduated from NDSU and Dennis attended Lake Region Junior College. Mary is employed at the Foster County Bank.

They have one son Michael.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 93B
Irwin and Judy (Gussiaas) Swanson

Irwin Swanson was born at Rugby on March 15, 1931 to Herbert and Rubelle Romfra Swanson. He married on November 14, 1953, Judy Gussiaas, born May 29, 1935, the daughter of Andrew and Thea Edwardson Gussiaas.

They have three children: Dennis, David and Dawn. They live on the Southeast 1/4 of Section 15 in Nordmore Township.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 94B
O. L. and Lenore (McGrann) Vennes

O. L. Vennes was born March 14, 1896, at Colfax, Wisconsin. He moved to the Minnewaukan area with his parents, Mr. and Mrs. H.L. Vennes and farmed there until he moved to Nordmore Township in 1932. He married Lenore McGrann on July 2, 1927.

The couple farmed there for a number of years. Ole was active in church and civic affairs. He was active in the I.O.O.F. Lodge, serving as Grand Chaplain of North Dakota at the time of his death.

Mr. and Mrs. Vennes had spent 13 winters in Arizona before his death at Phoenix on March 19, 1971. He is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 94B
Carl and Margrita (Tengberg) Westerlund

Carl Westerlund was born November 5, 1858 in Sweden, his wife Margrita Tengberg was also born there in 1860. They were married in 1879 at Sundswald, Sweden and came to the United States in about 1885. After living at Battle Lake, Minnesota, for a year they came to Foster County and homesteaded on the South 1/2 of Section 22 of Nordmore Township. They lived on the farm until Mr. Westerlund's death on September 4, 1916.

They had nine children; Charles, Leona, Olaf, Jennie, Rose, Ralph, Roy, Carrie and Helen.

Mrs. Westerlund died in April 1944. They are buried in Kvernes Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 94B
Rolling Prairie

Hans C. and Myrtle I. (Anderson) Anderson

Hans Anderson was born April 5, 1901 in Denmark. He came to the United States with his foster parents Niels and Marie Andersen in 1911. He married on December 21, 1939 at Las Vegas, Nevada, Myrtle Anderson who was born January 19, 1909 in Logan County.

The couple farmed in Rolling Prairie Township until 1959 when they retired to Carrington.

Mrs. Anderson was a legal secretary for the States Attorney of Foster County for over twenty years. She also held this position before she moved into town.

Hans Anderson served in both World War I and World War II.

He died October 13, 1981. He is buried at Glenfield.

Mrs. Anderson continues to live in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 95B
Hans M. and Mille (Ihlen) Anderson

Hans M. Anderson was born in Rock County, Minnesota on October 9, 1876 to Hans M. and Maren Ausen Anderson.

He married Milla Ihlen at Ihlen, Minnesota on December 17, 1902. Milla was born at Ihlen, Minnesota on July 18, 1880.

In 1912 they came to North Dakota and purchased land on section 22 in Rolling Prairie Township. The couple had nine children: Mabel, Lester, Helen, Annie, Myrtle, Lillian, Ruby, Wilma and Arthur.

Mr. Anderson died on October 2, 1931 and Mrs. Anderson died May 14, 1935. They are buried at Glenfield.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 95B

Niels J. and Marie (Helgeson) Andersen

Niels Andersen was born in Denmark on February 12, 1884. He married Marie Helgeson February 12, 1909 in Denmark. She was born December 27, 1887 in Denmark. Mr. Andersen had served as the King's Guard at Kronbey Castle.

The couple came to America for the economic opportunities; first settling in Wisconsin. They came to North Dakota in 1912 and bought a farm in Rolling Prairie Township in 1923.

Mr. Andersen served on the Triple A committee and on the township board for a number of years.

The Andersens had seven children and a foster son. The children were: Helge, Elly, Frimoth, Elmer, Esther, Evelyn and Henning. Hans Anderson was their foster son.

Mr. Andersen died January 26, 1964 and Mrs. Andersen died September 23, 1975. They are buried at Hope.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 95B
Frank and Marilyn (Nelson) Balvitsch

Frank Balvitsch, son of Adolph and Elizabeth Bowden Balvitsch, was born at Carrington on March 27, 1933. He married Marilyn Nelson at McHenry on October 1, 1959. Marilyn was born at Belle Fourche, South Dakota on November 16, 1932 to August and Yolanda Nelson.

The Balvitschs live on a farm in Section 22, Rolling Prairie Township his father had owned which Frank bought in 1961. Frank served in the armed services.

The couple has two children: Charles and Darcy.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 95B
George and Deana (Dean) Barrick

Deana Dean was born on August 23, 1923 to the Charley Deans in Rolling Prairie Township. She married George Barrick on June 5, 1953 at Flint, Michigan.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 95B
Robert and Kathleen (Rahlf) Bear

Robert Bear, son of Sebastian and Helen Somsen Bear, was born January 7, 1919 at Jamestown. He married Kathleen Rahlf, daughter of William and Alice Leininger Rahlf, at Binford on October 17, 1945. She was born July 26, 1927.

The couple had seven children: Ramona, Robert, Rahlf, James, Kathleen, Matthew and Virginia.

The Bears bought their farm on section 28 in 1946.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 95B
Frank and Amelia (Fornshell) Bowden

Frank Bowden and Amelia Fornshell were married in 1934. They farmed near Grace City until 1943 when they moved to their farm in Rolling Prairie. They retired from farming in 1980. Now Frank spends his time in his rock shop, where he make and sells agate jewelry.

The Bowdens had two sons, Charles and Martin. Both boys have served with the United States military service. Charles in Korea and Martin in Germany.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 95B
Victor and Marjory (Dean) Brown

Victor Brown was born in Griggs County on May 1, 1914.

He married Marjory Dean on August 14, 1937 at Flint, Michigan. Marjory Dean, the daughter of Charley and Ora Grounds Dean was born in McKinley Township on August 31, 1914.

The couple had three children: Bruce, Vicki and Kent.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Brown were educators. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 96B
Knud and Christiane (Pedersen) Christensen

Knud Christensen was born March 1, 1860 in Denmark. While he was still in Denmark, he was married to Christiana Pedersen on November 5, 1893.

The family came to North Dakota, first settling in Barnes County. They came to Foster County to homestead in Rolling Prairie Township just south of Juanita, on the northeast 1/4 of section 28.

In 1905 the family moved to Kensal where Mr. Christensen was engaged in the real estate business.

There were ten children in the family: Maren, Marie, Christian, Holger, Astrid, George, Dagmar, Louis, Gerda and Gerda Harriet.

Mr. Christensen died June 15, 1950. He is buried at Kensal.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 96B

Morgan and Sharon (Nelson) Davis

Morgan Davis was born at Jamestown on January 5, 1946 to Richard and Dorothy Devine Davis. He married at Kensal on July 11, 1970 Sharon Nelson, the daughter of Chester and Gwendolen Jones Nelson. She was born March 14, 1948.

The couple purchased the farm in Section 32 which was originally owned by Sharon Davis' father and grandfather.

The couple has two children: Kari and Clark, 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 96B

Charley and Ora Mae (Grounds) Dean

Charley Dean was born at Olney, Illinois on June 26, 1888. He married on February a1, 1913 at Dugger, Indiana Ora Grounds. She was born September 11, 1888 at Bridgeport, Illinois.

They came to Foster County in 1913 and rented a farm in McKinnon Township.

Land in Rolling Prairie was purchased in 1913.

The couple had seven children: Marjory, Marian, Lorna, Deana, Wayne, Dorothy and Beverly. The last three are no longer living.

Mr. Dean died December 9, 1943 and is buried at Flint, Michigan.

Mrs. Dean now resides at Flint, 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 96B
Wayne and Joan (Drew) Dean

Wayne Dean, the son of the Charley Deans, was born in Rolling Prairie Township on June 19, 1932. He married Joan Drew in December 1960, at Flint, Michigan.

They have 2 children: Richard and Dawn.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 96B
Myron and Sharon (Bakkegard) Gader

Myron Gader, son of Charlie and Mercedes Sorenson Gader, was born August 30, 1940 in Carrington. He married Sharon Bakkegard at Valley City on March 26, 1964. She was born at Veblen, South Dakota on September 16, 1942.

They live on section 15 in Rolling Prairie Township. The farm was formerly homesteaded by Walter Willows. Mr. ‑Gader served in the armed services. Mrs. Gader taught school for many years in the high school and music department.

The couple has two children: Kevin and Ann. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 96B
Peter M. and Anna (Blomquist) Hanson

Peter Hanson was born Pehr Hanson in Sweden on April 27, 1867. He changed his name to Peter when he came to America. His employer brought him to America because he was an expert mason and plasterer. He settled in the Glenwood, Minnesota area. On December 18, 1899 he married Anna Blomquist at Glenwood, Minnesota. Anna was born in Sweden on November 25, 1867.

In 1896 the couple came to Foster County and homesteaded on section 26 in Rolling Prairie Township. The couple had three children: Victor, Milleanna, and Alice.

Mr. Hanson died in 1947 and is buried at Glenfield. Mrs. Hanson was first married to John Reed and raised four stepchildren: Henry, Amy, Lilly and Arthur.

Anna Blomquist Reed Hanson died December 26, 1931 and is buried at Glenfield.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 96B
Charles E. and Inger (Pedersen) Hutchinson

Charles Hutchinson was born March 2, 1904 in Eastman Township. His parents were John H. and Sarah Golden Hutchinson. He married Inger Pedersen at Carrington on December 4, 1935. She was born August 13, 1902 in Rolling Prairie Township to Andrew and Anna Sorenson Pedersen.

The Hutchinsons purchased land on sections 28 and 29 in Rolling Prairie Township.

After Mr. Hutchinson's death Mrs. Hutchinson sold the farm and moved to Carrington.

Mr. Hutchinson died September 15, 1970 and is buried at Glenfield.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 96B
Oscar and Marilyn (Topp) Knutson

Oscar Knutson was born March 17, 1908 at Cooperstown to Knut and Hulda Knutson. He married Marilyn Topp, daughter of Lawrence and Minnie LaMotte Topp, at Jamestown on December 26, 1953. She was born January 23, 1933.

The couple had two children: Kathy and Calvin.

The Knutsons purchased their farm  in Rolling Prairie Township in 1963.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 96B
Merle J. and Eunice E. (Forsberg) Munson

Merle Munson, son of Tollef and Sophia Veen Munson, was born at Cathay on March 30, 1935.

On July 2, 1955 he married Eunice Forsberg at McHenry. Eunice was born at McHenry on July 18, 1935.

The couple has three children: Clinton, Merdyna, and Darla.

The family lives in Rolling Prairie Township. They belong to the Farmers Union.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 96B
Tollef and Sophia (Veen) Munson

Tollef Munson, born in Norway, July 8, 1899 came to America with his parents when he was a year and a half old. They settled first in Chicago and in 1905 they came to Foster County and purchased land in Rolling Prairie Township. Tollef lived in Rolling Prairie Township until he sold his farm and moved to Grace City.

Tollef married at Manfred on November 3, 1933 Sophia Veen who was born near Cathay on October 25, 1907.

The Munson had four children: Merle, Dale, Kenneth, and Thomas.

Mrs. Munson died June 5, 1978. She is buried in the Grace City cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 97B
Andrew and Clara (Rud) Nelson

Andrew Nelson, son of John and Anna Anderson Nelson, was born August 22, 1890 at Sanborn. He married Clara Rud on August 28, 1913 at Moorhead. She was the daughter of Thor and Marit Skaaden Rud and was born at Starbuck, Minnesota on October 30, 1885.

The couple purchased a farm in Section 34 in Rolling Prairie Township in 1914, where they lived until retiring and moving to Carrington in 1967.

They had seven children: Hazel, Chester, Morris, Marjorie, Lyla, Willard, and Helen.

Mrs. Nelson died July 4, 1974 and is buried at Carrington.

Mr. Nelson is a resident of the Holy Family Guest Home in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 97B
John and Christeen (McKinnon) Nelson

John Nelson, son of John and Anne Anderson Nelson, was born December 1, 1896 at Sanborn. He came to Juanita with his parents in 1923.

He and Christeen McKinnon were married at Fargo on December 1, 1914. Christeen was born December 30, 1894 at Glenfield to Don and Ida Weber McKinnon.

The couple had seven children: Audrey, Milan, Warren, Dorothy, Clinton, Lois, and Lola.

The family farmed in the area until 1935 when they left the county.

Mr. Nelson died September 14, 1965. Mrs. Nelson died November 8, 1975. They are buried at Columbia Falls, Montana. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 97B
Gordon and Lillian (Ellingson) Pedersen

Gordon Pedersen was born January 31, 1915 to Andrew and Anna Sorenson Pedersen in Rolling Prairie Township.

He and Lillian Ellingson were married at McHenry on October 11, 1947. Lillian, the daughter of Fanuel and Marie Stangeland Ellingson, was born June 12, 1921 at Cooperstown.

The Pedersens have six children: Sherman, Corvine, Kendal, Mark, Kevin and Sheila.

The Gordon Pedersens purchased their farm, which is on Section 27, from his father. The Pedersens are active in their community.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 97B
Henry and Mabel (Anderson) Pedersen

Henry Pedersen was born January 27, 1901 to Andrew and Anna Sorensen Pedersen in Rolling Prairie Township.

On November 13, 1926 he married Mabel Anderson, daughter of Hans M. and Milla Ihlen Anderson at Carrington. Mabel was born at Pipestone, Minnesota on November 24, 1903.

The couple made their home on the farm they purchased in Rolling Prairie Township. Mabel taught school for several years.

The couple had five children: Stanley, Arlen, Bonita, Norma and Gloria.

Mr. Pedersen died April 7, 1953. He is buried at Glenfield.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 97B
William O. and Carrie M. (Eaton) Pierce

William O. Pierce, born on January 21, 1874, in Chickasaw County, Iowa, came to Foster County in 1895 and settled near Juanita. On October 23, 1899 he married Carrie Mae Eaton at Carrington. Carrie was also born in Iowa January 8, 1883 and came to North Dakota with her parents.

The couple had ten children: Henry, Ellen, Francis, Goldie, Vernon, Charles, Ida, Margaret, James, Elmer and Alma, twins, died in infancy.

Mr. Pierce died October 16, 1955. Mrs. Pierce died August 12, 1956. They are buried at Kensal.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 97B
Arne and Jorina (Lura) Ravndal

Both Arne Ravndal and Jorina Lura were born in the vicinity of Stavanger, Norway. Arne in 1879; Jorina in 1884. Mr. Ravndal served in the military in Norway before coming to America.

Arne came to Foster County to buy land after living near Cooperstown for a while. Jorina first settled in South Dakota with relatives and later homesteaded in Colorado. Arne Ravndal and Jorina Lura were married December 29, 1909.

They have five children: Jasper, Elsie, Agnes, Henry and Lillian.

They came to their Rolling Prairie home Section 7 in 1909.

Mr. Ravndal died November 25, 1942; Mrs. Ravndal died March 4, 1971. They are buried in the James River Lutheran Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 97B
Ernest and Emma (Norheim) Stangeland

Ernest Stangeland, born December 19, 1894 in Sandnes, Norway, came to North Dakota in 1910. He lived near Hannaford until he came to Rolling Prairie Township to farm.

At Juanita on November 10, 1923 he married Emma Norheim who was born November 12, 1894 at Kensal, the daughter of Carl J. and Anne Norheim.

The couple had four sons: Elleri, Lawrence, Carl, and Gustav.

Mr. Stangeland served in the First World War. He died January 21, 1953. Mrs. Stangeland died June 29, 1981. They are buried in the James River Cemetery.

Their farm in Section 30 of Rolling Prairie Township is now operated by their son, Lawrence.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 98B
Lawrence and Theone Stangeland

Lawrence Stangeland was born at Carrington on October 22, 1928, the son of Ernest and Emma Norheim Stangeland.

They were married at Maple Lake, Minnesota on July 7, 1962. Theone was born November, 1928.

They had four children: David, Ruth, Esther and Nathan.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 98B
Arlo and Elaine (Scheck) Stedman

Arlo Stedman, son of Clarence and Anna Nygaard Stedman, was born at Carrington on September 16, 1937.

He married Elaine Scheck at Carrington on September 22, 1957. She was born on April 30, 1939, the daughter of John and Ella Schaeffer Scheck.

They have two children: Randy and Peggy.

The Stedmans farm with his father Clarence Stedman, the second generation on the farm.

Arlo Stedman is the township clerk. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 98B
Clarence and Anna (Nygaard) Stedman

Clarence Stedman was born in Foster County on July 10, 1915 to George and Lura Whitman Stedman. On February 4, 1936 he married Anna Nygaard, daughter of Emil and Anna Johonason Nygaard. Anna was born February 2, 1918 in Montana. They purchased a farm on section 18 in Rolling Prairie Township.

The couple has four children: Arlo, Clinton, Charlotte and Marion. Their son Arlo farms with them.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 98B
Frank and Mary (Umphlet) Strouse

Frank Alpheus Strouse was born in Laurens, Iowa on August 29, 1891 to Ferdnando Wood Strouse and Rachel Ellen Pierce Strouse. Frank came with his family to Foster County in 1900 and married Mary L. Umphlet of Warrensburg, Missouri in 1915, who was born in 1896.

They farmed in Section 2 of Rolling Prairie Township.

Their children were: Orval Kenneth, Warren Theodore, Floyd Virgil, Frank Newton, Violet Irene, Dorothy Elaine, Fern May, Leona Fay, twins Mirl and Pearl, and Dale Eugene.

Mary Strouse died in 1959. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 98B
Raynard and Etta (Smith) Thompson

Raynard Thompson, son of T.E. and Retina Thu Thompson, was born in Rolling Prairie Township on September 21, 1894.

He married at Carrington on June 9, 1921 Etta Smith who was born in Canada on October 31, 1898, the daughter of James and Elizabeth Crawford Smith.

The Thompsons were the parents of three children: Russel, Betty Lou and Patricia Ann.

Mr. Thompson died in November 1965 and Mrs. Thompson died November 5, 1976. They are buried in the Glenfield Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 98B
Walter and Alice (Palmer) Willows

Walter Willows was born February 2, 1863 at Shropshire, England. He came to America - the land of opportunity‑ settling first in Iowa and in 1901 he came to Foster County to purchase farmland. He settled on section 15 in Rolling Prairie Township. On February 22, 1898 he married Alice Palmer at Winterset, Iowa. She was born January 18, 1876.

The Willows were parents of eight children: Forest, Nellie, Lillie, Ruel, Cora, Maude, Alvina, and Ruth.

Mr. Willows died February 27, 1939. Mrs. Willows died March 11, 1944. They are buried at Kensal, North Dakota.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 98B
Rosehill

Harry and Edna (O'Leary) Black

Harry Black, the son of George and Eliza Harbottle Black was born February 23, 1899 in Haven Township, where he grew up.

On June 29, 1922 he married Edna O'Leary. Edna was born March 23, 1899 in Carrington to Joseph and Mary Drummond O'Leary. Edna taught school before she was married.

The Blacks had four children: Edna, Marjorie, Mary Evelyn (Mrs. Wallace Emerson) and Lester.

The Blacks lived in Rosehill until 1973 when they retired and moved to Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 99B
Ralph and Blanche (Solberg) Bort

Ralph Bort was born June 28, 1894 to John and Janet Bort at Carrington. On September 28, 1926 he married Blanche Solberg. They were the parents of two children: Beverly and John. The Borts farmed in Rose Hill Township until Mr. Bon's death in November 1970. He is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 99B
Harry and Louise (Neiman) Bragg

Harry Bragg was born in Indiana on October 18, 1890. He married Louisa Christine Neiman in 1910 at Carrington. She was born July 31, 1890 to Mr. and Mrs. Lars Hellings. She was adopted by the Dan Neimans when she was about six years old. Her brother, Clive, who was also adopted, was a newborn child.

The couple had four children: Lizell, Thelma, Leonard, and William.

Louisa died in 1924, she is buried at Fargo, North Dakota. Harry died in February 1929 and is buried at Kennan, Wisconsin.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 99B
L.C. and Mary (Waite) DeBolt

Lewis Cass DeBolt was born October 28, 1848 at Cincinnati, Ohio. He worked as a store clerk in Cincinnati and Indianapolis for a number of years and later he worked as a railroad mail clerk in Kansas and Oklahoma. He came to Carrington and homesteaded on Section 34 in Rose Hill Township in 1884. On March 28, 1891 he married Mary Waite at Newton, Ohio. They lived on the farm in Rose Hill Township until 1921 when they moved to Carrington. Mr. DeBolt was a life long Democrat and active worker in the party. He was the Foster County Clerk of Court, 1891 and 1892.

They were the parents of five children: Elmer, Frank, Cassie, Velma and Martha.

Mr. DeBolt died in May 1937, Mrs. DeBolt died November 1941. They are buried in the Carrington cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 99B
Edwin and Dolores (Pederson) Doeling

Edwin Doeling, son of George and Evelyn Doeling was born at Carrington on January 12, 1931. He married Dolores Pederson, the daughter of Albert and Sophia Fredrickson Pederson of Bordulac.

They have three grown children: Gary, Barbara and David.

Edwin is the fourth generation to live on the farm. He also has an interest in operating "Doeling's Dairy".

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 99B
George and Evelyn (Krueger) Doeling

George Doeling was born April 13, 1906 at Anselm, North Dakota. He was the son of Herman and Minna Zuelke Doeling. He married Evelyn Krueger, daughter of the Herman Kruegers. Evelyn was born July 9, at Sheldon, North Dakota.  The couple came to Foster County and they live in Rose Hill Township, where he operated a farm and a dairy.

The couple have four children: Herman, Edwin, Gene and Dorothy.

Mr. Doeling served as township treasurer for over forty‑two years.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 99B
Herman and Minna (Zuelke) Doeling

Herman Doeling, born in Germany on December 21, 1871, came to the United State in 1895. He first settled at Spencer, Iowa. On May 20, 1899 at Spencer he married Minna Zuelke who was born in Germany, November 26, 1870 and came to Spencer with her parents in 1891. After living at Sheldon, they came to the farm in Rose Hill Township in 1910. The farm they established is now the home of the George Doeling family.

Herman and Minna were the parents of three children: George, Alice (Mrs. Frank Schroeder) and William.

Mr. Doeling died in June 1944. Mrs. Doeling died in September 1959. They are buried in the James River Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 99B
Carl and Ethel (Hightower) Elton

Carl Elton, son of Ole Elton, Jr. was born in Rose Hill Township on December 22, 1888. On May 27, 1920 he married Ethel Hightower. The couple had two children, Ole L. and Delores.

Mr. Elton lived on the farm for a number of years. He also worked in West Fargo. He died April 23, 1962.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 99B
Mekkel Elton

Mekkel Elton, the son of Ole Elton, Sr. was born in Norway on April 13, 1856. Mr. Elton came to the United States in 1903. He served as janitor at the Courthouse. Mr. Elton was a master sea captain and was an expert navigator.

He died August 11, 1924 and is buried in the Kvernes Cemetery in Nordmore Township.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 99B
Nels and Emma (Balsiger) Elton

Nels Elton, born November 28, 1885 in Larrabee Township, was the son of Ole Elton, Jr. In 1912 he married Emma May Balsiger. Emma was born at Detroit Lakes, Minnesota on April 2, 1885 and came to Carrington in 1910. The couple farmed in Rose Hill Township until 1942 when they moved to Oregon.

The couple had two children: Earl and Marguerite (Mrs. Harry Hayashi).

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 99B
Ole Elton, Sr.

Ole Elton, Sr. was born in Norway on June 29, 1823. Mrs. Elton was also born in Norway in 1833. The couple came to America in 1903 to be near their children. They spent their last years living with their daughter Ingeborg (Mrs. Kenneth Ferguson).

Other children were: Ole, Jr., Mike, Peter, and Emil.

Mrs. Elton died in 1907. Mr. Elton died in 1913. They are buried in Kvernes Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 99B
Ole and Lesa Lena (Erickson Wald) Elton, Jr.

Ole Elton, Jr. was born in Norway, February 9, 1854. He came to America in 1883 and filed a pre‑emption on Southeast 1/4 of section 32 in Larrabee Township where the family lived until 1888 when they moved to Rose Hill Township. In 1883 Ole Elton married Lesa Wald at Moorhead, Minnesota. She was born in Norway on June 24, 1850.

The couple had five children: Oscar, Nels, Carl, Paul and Deana (Mrs. Lars Tollefson).

Mr. Elton died in July 1924. Mrs. Elton died in February 1924. They are buried in Kvernes cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 100B
Oscar and Emma (Hahna) Elton

Oscar Elton, son of Ole Elton, Jr., born at Moorhead on February 14, 1884, came to Foster County with his parents. On November 28, 1904 he married Emma Hahna, born August 22, 188 '1 Illinois. The family farmed in Rose Hill Township until moving into Carrington in 1933. In Carrington Mr. Elton operated a trailer court, later he was custodian at the post office.

The Eltons had six children: Oscar, Jr., Elaine (Mrs. Oscar Zink), Rose (Mrs. Richard Thurlow), Hugh, Bernice (Mrs. Marvin Troseth), and Marvin, 

Mrs. Elton died in May 1948 and in 50 Mr. Elton married as his second wife Caroline Albus Bauer at Minot. Mr. Elton died August 18, 1976. He is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 100B
Peter Elton

Peter Elton, son of Ole Elton, Sr., born in Norway on March 27, 1863, came to the United States in 1882 and to Foster County in 1884.

He filed a claim but was employed by the Carrington‑Casey Land Company for 25 years and later worked for George Palmer and L.B. Hanna.

Mr. Elton died July 25, 1936. He is buried at Kvernes Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 100B
Henry S. Ewen

Henry Simon ‑Ewen was born at Jackson, Michigan on January 22, 1863. Gurine Knutson was born September 28, 1863 at Iola, Wisconsin. They were married January 18, 1888 at Casselton. Mr. Ewen homesteaded in 1886 in Rosehill Township on the Northwest 1/4 of Section 14. The Ewens were the first to build permanent buildings on their farm. He planted many trees in the area. Mr. Ewen, an active man, walked to Mayville, nearly 100 miles, to help his brother several times. He walked from his farm home to town a distance of ten miles on his seventieth birthday. Mr. Ewen was a charitable man as his neighbors would testify.

The Ewens had seven children: Mabel, Nellie , Edith, Loren, Lillie, Harry and Edwin. The three, Lillie, Harry and Edwin died young. Mr. Ewen died January 21, 1938 and Mrs.

Ewen died May 5, 1949. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 100B
Garrett and Alice (Berg) Ferguson

Garrett Ferguson, son of John and Gina Lund Ferguson, was born April 2, 1902 at Carrington, 

On January 1, 1941 he married Alice Berg at Carrington. She was born in Wells County on September 19, 1903, the daughter of Carl and Amanda Kallberg Berg.

The Fergusons had one daughter, Kathryn. In 1922 Mr. Ferguson bought Section 20 in Rose Hill Township. The farm was originally the tree claim of his Uncle Angus Ferguson. Mr. Ferguson served as township supervisor for many years.

Mrs. Ferguson was a schoolteacher. The Fergusons, now retired, make their home in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 100B
John Ferguson

John Ferguson was born May 18, 1872 at Glen Arm, Ontario to Peter and Ann Nicolson Ferguson. He came to Carrington in 1890 to homestead on Section 32 in Rosehill Township. On April 24, 1899 he married Gina Lund, daughter of Gottfried and Oleanna Lund, who was born in Norway on January 29, 1880.

They lived on the farm during John's lifetime. He served as assessor and on the Rosehill School Board for 28 yeas.

Six children were born to the Fergusons: Jemina, Garrett, Harry, Hattie, Leslie and Olga. Mr. Ferguson died April 19, 1948 and Mrs. Ferguson died October 5, 1972. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 100B
Kenneth Ferguson

Kenneth Ferguson was born in Glen Arm, Ontario, Canada, March 8, 1870. He married Ingeborg Elton, born in Norway on February 2, 1870.

Kenneth came to North Dakota in 1893 and homesteaded on Northeast 1/4 of Section 22 in Rosehill Township. He later sold his homestead and bought land six miles east of Carrington in the same Township. The Ferguson family also lived in Carrington at various times.

Mr.. Ferguson served in several county offices. He was County Commissioner when the present Court House was built, and as chairman of the board for 12 years, he later served as County Auditor and County Sheriff. He was the Democratic candidate for State treasurer in 1928. He served as a member of the Democratic State Central Committee for years from the 32 Legislative District, when it comprised Eddy and Foster counties. He attended the National Democratic Convention in St. Louis in 1916 when Woodrow Wilson was renominated.

Kenneth and Ingeborg Ferguson had eleven children, including three sets of twins. Their first children, Peter and Dora died at eight months, their other children were Peter, Ross and Roy, Donald, Kenneth, Jr., Annie, Dorothy, Wallace and a twin who died in infancy.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 100B
Peter Ferguson

Peter Ferguson came from Glenarm, Ontario, Canada in 1890. He bought land in Rosehill Township also filed on a homestead and later a tree claim.

He married Annie Nicholson who was born on the Isle of Skye, Scotland and came to Ontario with her parents at the age of three. The Fergusons had four children: Annie, Kenneth, John and Christine. Christine died after they came to North Dakota. Annie later became Mrs. John Graham.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 100B
Peter S. Ferguson

Peter Ferguson was born June 25, 1897 to Kenneth and Ingeborg Elton Ferguson. He was born in Rosehill Township and spent most of his life on the farm. His last few years he spent in Carrington.

He never married.

Mr. Ferguson died May 31, 1975. He is buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 100B
Leo and Doris (Anderson) Fornshell

Leo Fornshell, son of Lee and Edna Fandrich Fornshell was born at Carrington, May 7, 1930. He married at Sheyenne on October 14, 1962, Doris Anderson who was born at Sheyenne October 31, 1935.

Leo and Doris live on the farm formerly owned by Leo's father, Lee Fornshell.

They have two children: Pamela and Terry. They are active in church and community affairs.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 100B
Avolt and Leisetta (Triechel) Grager

Avolt Grager and Leisetta Treichel were married in 1927, and lived on a farm they purchased in 1941. They remained on the farm until 1974 when they moved into Carrington. They had four children: Clifford, Ray, Loretta, and Louise.

The Gragers have been active in community affairs. Avolt was a county commissioner for eighteen years. They are active members of the Grace Lutheran Church in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 100B
John A. and Annie (Ferguson) Graham

John Graham, born in Ontario, Canada April 19, 1850, came to the United States in 1893. He married on January 28, 1887 Anna Ferguson, the daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Peter Ferguson who was born June 28, 1865 at Fenlon Falls, Ontario. They lived at Oberon before moving to Rose Hill Township in 1901. They continued farming until 1915 when Mr. Graham was elected Foster County Judge. He held that office for 12 years. '
The Grahams had ten children: Milton, John C., Kenneth, Duncan, Robert, Edwin, Annabelle, Dora, and Mary.

Judge and Mrs. Graham moved to Aberdeen, Washington in 1927. He died in June, 1927, Mrs. Graham died in 1933. They are buried at Aberdeen, Washington.

They were members of the Congregational church.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 101B
Henry C. and Mary (Fiebiger Boschee) Kanwischer

Henry Kanwischer was born June 19, 1927 in Wells County to Christ and Dora Wachtel Kanwischer. Mary Fiebiger was born October 23, 1926 at Cooperstown.

Mary was married to Mr. Boschee and the couple had four children: Karen, Barbara, Roger and Beverly.

Henry has three children by a previous marriage: Lynn, Ann and Rita.

The Kanwischers make their home on the southeast 1/4 of section 34 in Rose Hill Township.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 101B
Ervin W. and Agnes (Cellmer) Lambrecht

Ervin Lambrecht was born December 23, 1908 in Germany. He married Agnes Cellmer, who was born at Woodworth on May 9, 1915, the daughter of Gottfried and Emilie Leapaldt Cellmer. The couple live on a farm in Rose Hill Township on North 1/2 of section 33.

They had six children: Victor, Diana, Wayne, Beverly, Karen and Arden. Arden lost his life in a drowning accident July 1975. He is buried in the Carrington cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 101B
Arthur Langseth

Arthur Langseth was born November 22, 1911 at Barnet', North Dakota, the son of Nels and Dolly Griggs Langseth. He attended school at Cleveland, North Dakota and the Valley City Teachers College. He moved to Rose Hill Township in 1928 where he farmed for several years. On March 16, 1938 he married Iva College at Mountain Lake, Minnesota. Mr. Langseth served in the State Legislature from 1947 to 1959. After retiring from farming in 1960 he was engaged in various business activities.

On son, Lynn, was born to the couple.

Arthur Langseth died February 8, 1982 and is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 101B
Helen Langseth

Helen Fern Langseth was born November 7, 1908 at Barnet', North Dakota to Nels and Dolly Langseth. Helen came to the Carrington area with her parents in 1928. She attended school in Cleveland, Valley City, and Jamestown. She taught school in McHenry, Brantford, Kensal, and Carrington until she retired in 1975. She was active in church and community affairs and a member of the Nazarene church.

After her retirement she cared for her aged mother. Miss Langseth died June 1, 1978. She is buried in the Carrington cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 101B
Nels and Dollie (Griggs) Langseth

Nels Bernard Langseth was born March 31, 1877 at Kensett, Iowa, the son of Hans and Annie Langseth. He came to North Dakota in the early 1900s. At Cando, he was a contractor and on the police force. While at Cando he married Dollie Griggs, on January 18, 1906, who was born February 6, 1888 at Fulton, Missouri, the daughter of John and Mattie Works Griggs. The couple lived in Richland County until they moved to Foster County in 1929 and lived on a farm in Rose Hill.

They had three children: Arthur, Helen and Bernice and three who died in infancy.

Mr. Langseth died in May 1958. Mrs. Langseth lived in Carrington until her death September 6, 1980. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 101B
G.T. Lund

Gottfried Thomasen Lund was born in Norway on December 11, 1850. In April 1879 he married Olianna Wally also born in Norway on August 5, 1860.

The Lunds came to the United States in 1883 and settled first in Minnesota near relatives. In 1885 they came to North Dakota to homestead. They had a tree claim on Section 34 in Nordmore Township and later purchased two other quarters in Section 34, Nordmore Township. Later he acquired land in Rosehill Township.

They retired to Carrington in the early 1900's when their son Herbert took over the farm in Rosehill Township. The Lunds had eight other children: Herbert, Sigward, Gina, Thea, Emma, Olga, Gerhard, Gilbert and Arnt. Mr. Lund died in 1938 and Mrs. Lund in 1956. They are buried in the Carrington cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 101B
Herbert and Violet (Black) Lund

Herbert Lund, son of Mr. and Mrs. G.T. Lund was born in Rose Hill Township on May 31, 1893. He married Violet Black on June 14, 1922, the daughter of George and Eliza Black, who was born in Haven Township. The couple farmed in Rose Hill Township.

They were parents of three children: Edson, Lucille, and Leo.

Violet died in September 1951 and Herbert died in March 30, 1966. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 101B
Daniel and Eliza Jane (Railsback) Neiman

Daniel Starr Neiman was born in 1850 in Lancaster County, Pennsylvania. In 1871 he married Eliza Jane Railsback. They lived in Indiana where Dan worked for the Soo Line railroad. They came to North Dakota in 1882 and lived in Fargo for a time before coming to Foster County in 1883. He homesteaded on the Northeast 1/4 of Section 26 in Rose Hill Township.

The Neimans adopted two children: Louisa (Mrs. Henry Bragg) and Clive.

Mr. and Mrs. Neiman were quite deaf, consequently they did not hear the approaching Soo Line train which struck the car at an intersection. Mr. Neiman died soon after reaching the hospital but Mrs. Neiman was not seriously injured. He died on April 23, 1918 and Mrs. Neiman in 1929. They are buried in the Melville Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 101B
Malcolm and Lena (Kerlin) Nicholson

Malcolm Nicholson, son of Samuel and Kathryn Nicholson was born May 29, 1871 in Ontario, Canada. He came to Carrington to farm in 1889. He married on June 1, 1898 Lena Kerlin, who was born at Port Royal, Pennsylvania on January 25, 1883. She came to North Dakota with. her parents coming to the Bordulac area in 1895, who had lived in Kidder and Logan counties before coming to Foster County.

The Nicholsons moved to their homestead in Rose Hill Township where they lived until 1923 when they moved into Carrington. Mrs. Nicholson operated a nursing home for several years.

Mr. Nicholson died in September 1964. Mr. Nicholson died in 1945. They are buried in the Carrington cemetery.

They had six children: Turrell, Clytes, Laura, Ervin, Havery and Leland.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 101B
Herman and Annie (Pitra) Reimers

Herman Reimers, born December 30, 1893 at Wheaton, Minnesota, came to the Bordulac area with his parents where he farmed until 1943. The family then moved to Rose Hill Township.

He married Annie Pitra, born November 11, 1903 in Domanice, Czechoslovakia, who came to America with her parents in 1905. She was a daughter of the Josef Pitras, who settled near Kensal.

The couple were the parents of eight children: Anna, Viola, Elizabeth, Howard, Myron, Arnold, Joyce and Verna.

Mr. Reimers died July 1, 1962. He is buried at Carrington.

Mrs. Reimers continues to live on the farm in Rose Hill Township. Her sons, Howard and Myron also live on the farm, farming the home place as well as their own farms.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 101B
Albert and O'Tillie (Klingsbeil) Rosenau

Albert Rosenau was born in Augusta, Wisconsin on November 5, 1872. A farmer in Wisconsin, he came to Carrington in 1892 to homestead. He acquired land on section 24 in Rose Hill Township. He married O'Tillie Klingsbeil on November 1895 at Carrington. She was born at Fall River, Wisconsin, November 13, 1876. They spent their life on the farm in Rose Hill Township.

Both are deceased and are buried at Jamestown.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 102B
Jack and Carol (Tuntland) Rosenau

Jack Rosenau, son of Wilferd and Ruth Hains Rosenau was born at Carrington on January 28, 1939. He married Carol Tuntland, the daughter of Ivan and Myrtle Tuntland at Sheyenne.

The Rosenaus have three children: Jodi (Mrs. Daryle Beckley), Daniel and Gaylan. The children attend the Carrington schools. Jack and Carol attended North Dakota State University
They attend the United Church of Christ and are active in the church and the community.

They built up their farm home on section 16 in Rose Hill Township in 1961.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 102B
Dan and Clara (Otto) Schander

Dan Schander was born September 27, 1907 to Fred and Doris Geier Schander in Kidder County.

Clara Otto was born at Eagle Butte, Alberta, Canada on December 19, 1908 to Jacob and Katherine Nothen Otto.

After the couple married they lived in Wells County before moving to a farm in Rose Hill Township where they made their home for a number of years.

Their children are Arlie, Carmen and Maynard. Carmen is their only living child.

Mr. Schander died September 28, 1966. He is buried at Fessenden.

Mrs. Schander lives in Carrington. She is employed at Golden Acres Manor. She is a member of the Rebekah Lodge.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 102B
Clarence and Lorraine (Fredrickson) Schroeder

Clarence Schroeder, son of Albert and Clara Schroeder was born in Bucephalia Township on March 21, 1919. Lorraine, daughter of Sophus and Christine Fredrickson was born near Kensal on December 29, 1922. They acquired their farm on section 35 in Rose Hill Township in 1946.

The couple have three children: Linda, Mary and Carol. Twin girls Jean and Jane died as infants and are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 102B
Frank A. and Alice (Doeling) Schroeder

Frank Schroeder was born near Bordulac on February 23, 1900. On September 12, 1923 he married Alice Doeling who was born in Iowa on May 22, 1900. The family lived on their farm in Rose Hill Township until 1959 when they moved to Carrington. Mr. Schroeder served on both township and school offices in Rose Hill Township. He was an elder of Grace Lutheran Church in Carrington.

The Schroeders had three children: Wilfred, Arnold and Lorraine (Mrs. Delmar Wells).

Mr. Schroeder died in March 1963. He is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 102B
Wilfred and Betty (Wells) Schroeder

Wilfred Schroeder, son of Frank and Alice Schroeder was born at Bordulac on July 8, 1927. He married Betty Wells, the daughter of Leonard and Ruth Wells, who was born on March 9, 1925. The couple live in Rose Hill Township on south half of section 29. He is the second-generation occupant on the farm.

The Schroeders have five children: Jerome, Allen, Jeffrey, Wesley and Becky.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 102B
Oscar and Margaret (Richardson) Solberg

Oscar Solberg was born in Norway on April 26, 1871.

Margaret Allen Richardson was born December 10, 1878 in Pennsylvania. The family moved to Wisconsin when Margaret was a child.

Margaret was married to Oscar Solberg in 1904.

They had eight children: Edward, Isaac, Myrtle, Blanche, Oliver, Ernest, Arnold, and Gertrude. She had one son, Louise, by a previous marriage.

The couple lived on a farm in Rosehill Township.

Mrs. Solberg died December 2, 1937. Mr. Solberg died July 10, 1953. They are buried at Carrington.

The couple's son, Arnold Solberg, lost his life in France during World War II.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 102B
David and Caryl (Kleinsasser) Stedman

David Stedman was born October 9, 1945 at New Rockford, the son of Keith and Bernice Langseth Stedman. He married Caryl Kleinsasser of Chaseley. Caryl was born February 1, 1945. The Stedmans purchased their farm on Section 1 of Rose Hill Township in 1974. The family is active in church and community activities. Caryl taught school before her marriage.

They have two children: Rhonda and Rial. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 102B
Keith and Bernice (Langseth) Stedman

Keith Stedman, the son of George and Lura Whitman Stedman was born in Foster County on August 27, 1918. He grew up in the rural area and became a farmer in Rose Hill Township.

He married Bernice Langseth, born April 2, 1916 in Richland County who came to Foster County with her parents Nels and Dolly Griggs Langseth in 1929.

Bernice taught school before her marriage. She was a graduate of Moorhead State College.

The Stedmans have‑one son, David.

The family is active in church and community affairs.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 102B
Joe Templeton

Joe and Nellie Templeton came to Foster County in 1883 from Bloomington, Illinois. They purchased a quarter section of land in Rose Hill Township. They built their home here and spent several years in the place.

Templeton Lake, which is located on the farm, is a small but a deep body of water that furnished ice to the town of Carrington for many years.

The Templetons lived in Carrington for a short time and moved to Iowa in 1887.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 102B
Edwin and Mae (Thompson) Tollefson

Edwin Tollefson, son of Lars and Deana Elton Tollefson, was born January 22, 1920 in Rose Hill Township. On February 10, 1947 he married Mae Thompson of Sheyenne at New Rockford. The couple lived in Carrington for a few years until moving to the Tollefson farm in Rose Hill Township.

The couple have four children: Mary Dee, Charles, Valerie and Lisa.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 102B
Lars and Deana (Elton) Tollefson

Lars Tollefson, born in Skudeneshavn, Norway on April 23, 1888, came to Foster County in 1905 because he had an uncle living near Barlow. When he arrived he worked as a carpenter with his uncle and also helped out as a farm hand.

Lars met and married on February 6, 1910, Deana Elton while helping build a barn for her father, Ole Elton. Deana was born September 25, 1887 in Larrabee Township and moved to Rose Hill with her parents when she was very young.‑

Lars and Deana built the buildings on their farm in Rose Hill Township where they spent the rest of their lives. He was County Com• missioner for 12 years and Township Supervisor for 28 years.

The couple had four sons: Gerald, Olaf, Edwin and LeRoy.

Mrs. Tollefson died February 5, 1969 and Mr. Tollefson died August 11, 1972. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 102B
Albert and Carrie (Peters) Triechel

Albert Triechel came from Germany in 1888 and homesteaded Southeast 1/4 of section 12 in Rose Hill Township in 1887. In 1900 he married Carrie Peters, who was born in Chicago.

They were the parents of three children:

William, Emily and Leisetta.

Albert Triechel died in 1918 and Mrs. Triechel died in 1951. They are buried in the Carrington cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 102B
Gustav and Anna (Lettner) Zink

Gustav Zink was born July 26, 1869 in Germany. He came to America and first settled in Wisconsin, but came to Foster County in 1887 because his brothers Peter and Wendelin were here.

He homesteaded on the Northeast 1/4 of Section 28, in Rose Hill Township.

On April 11, 1899, he united in marriage with Anna Lettner. Anna was born in Wisconsin in 1873.

The couple had 6 children: Andrew, Oscar, Lawrence, Henry, Harold and Hazel.

The farm was later farmed by a son Harold; now his son, Richard, lives on the farm.

Mrs. Zink died October 6, 1956. Mr. Zink died May 20, 1957. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 103B
Harold and Erna (Peterson) Zink

Harold Zink, son of Gustav and Anna Zink was born in 1908.

He married Erna Peterson, daughter of the Ness Petersons. Erna was born in 1909. They had six children: Jorene, Joyce, Judy, Richard, Merlin and Marlene.

The family lived on the farm where Harold's father had homesteaded. Later they moved to Carrington and their son Richard took over the farming.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 103B
Henry and Mary (VanHorn) Zink

Henry Zink was born in 1906. His parents were Mr. and Mrs. Gustav Zink.

He married Mary VanHorn on June 15, 1936 at Bordulac. They had 1 son, Leo.

They lived on a farm on Section 27 in Rose Hill Township. Their son now lives on the farm.

Mr. Zink is a member of the K.C. Lodge.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 103B
Oscar and Elaine (Elton) Zink

Oscar Zink, son of Gustav and Anna Lettner Zink, was born January 25, 1902 in Rose Hill Township.

On March 9, 1929 he and Elaine Elton were married. Elaine was the daughter of Oscar and Emma Hahna Elton. She was born March 17, 1907.

The couple had four children: William, Virgil, Delrose and Marlys.

The Zinks lived on a farm in Rose Hill Township. Their son, Virgil, and family now live on the farm.

Elaine attended Valley City State Teacher's College and taught school before her marriage.

After the Zinks retired, they moved into Carrington.

Mrs. Zink died February 7, 1972.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 103B
Virgil and Ilia (White) Zink

Virgil Zink, son of Oscar and Elaine Elton Zink, was born in 1933.

He married Ilia White. Ilia, the daughter of Thomas and Mary Laber White, was born in 1935 in Birtsell Township.

They have five children: Karen, Douglas, Mary, Laurie and Jane.

The family lives on the farm in Rose Hill Township where Virgil's parents had lived.

Ilia is a member of the Carrington school board.

The family is active in the church, school and community.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 103B
William and Lucite (Clancy) Zink

William Zink was born in 1929 to Oscar and Elain Elton Zink.

Lucite Clancy was born in 1932 to John and Frances Clancy of Valley City.

The couple have nine children: John, Ronald, Peggy and Patti (twins), Brian, Neil and Sheri, and two adopted sons Billy Joe and David.

The Zinks live on a farm in Rose Hill Township.

The family is very active in the church, school and community. Mrs. Zink is involved in many activities, one of her chief concerns is a youth center; she is also involved in the county history.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 103B
Wyard

Francis Lee and Mary Ellen (Butts) Aljets

"Lee" Aljets, born in Carrington on August 3, 1909 to George and Mabel Trullinger Aljets, attended school in Bilodeau Township (Wells County). He farmed with his father until 1933 when he purchased a farm in Section 36, Wyard Township. Lee married Mary Ellen Butts on June 21, 1933, the daughter of Rueben and Nellie Perbernet Butts who was born at Sykeston on February 23, 1911. The couple farmed in Wyard Township until 1973 when they moved to Carrington.

They had five children: John, Leonora, Curtis, Cheryl and Francis.

Lee was active in the co‑ops, serving on the board of directors for many years: The Foster County Co‑op Credit Union and the ASCS committee. He was active in the I.O..O.F. lodge. He was a member of the Calvary Baptist Church.

Lee died on January 26, 1976. He is buried in the Carrington cemetery.

Mary Ellen lives in Carrington. Two of their sons served in the army, John in Germany and Vietnam and Curtis in the Korean conflict.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 104B
George and DeEtta (Hagel) Aljets

George L. Aljets, son of George and Dorothy Schaack Aljets was born in Carrington, North Dakota June 12, 1944. He married at Carrington, December 17, 1966 DeEtta Hagel who was born November 4, 1945 to Harlow and Ellen McDonald Hagel.

They make their home on the south one-half section of 35 in Wyard Township. He lives on a third generation farm which was first farmed by his grandfather Francis Trullinger and he bought the farm from his Uncle Lee Aljets in 1973.

They have 3 children, Timothy, Daniel and Amy.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 104B
James and Mattie (Jarvis) Barclay

Mattie Jarvis was born June 19, 1868 at Huntington, Long Island. Her mother died when Mattie was 2 years old. Mattie was raised by an aunt.

She married James Barclay on February 11, 1902. They lived in Massachusetts until 1906 when they came to North Dakota.

They lived on a farm west of Carrington for nearly twenty years.

Mrs. Barclay died May 1920. Mr. Barclay died a few years later.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 104B
Ralph and Lulu (Mock) Batesole

Ralph William Batesole was born September 9, 1872 at Fremont and later moved with his family to Iowa. He married at Gilman, Iowa, on February 24, 1897 Lulu Mae Mock who was born in Illinois on August 30, 1875.

In 1909 they came to Foster County to make their home, settling on a farm in Wyard Township, where they lived until after Mr. Batesole's death.

The Batesoles had seven children: Kiethel (Mrs. John Buchanan), William, Horace, Dorothy and Door, Jack, and Vern.

Mr. Batesole died on November 28, 1914 and Mrs. Batesole died July 24, 1924. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Vern lived in Pingree for a number of years.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 104B
John William Brandt

After having operated a meat market in Boyd, Wisconsin, John and Emma Hasse Brandt came to Foster County in 1912 to farm. They spent a short time at Page, ND with relatives and to buy horses. They purchased a farm on the Northwest 1/4 of Section 31‑146‑66 where they lived for many years. Their four children were born in Wisconsin‑ Arnold, Ether, Elsie and Milton.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Brandt are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 104B
Milton J. Brandt

Milton J. Brandt was born at Juneau, Wisconsin on April 16, 1900. He married at Jamestown Susan Bitz of Medina, ND on March 10, 1926. She was born to Mr. and Mrs. George Bitz of Medina on March 16, 1900. They purchased a farm on the Northwest 1/4 of Section 26 Wyard Township in 1952.

They had two sons‑ Milton L. and John W. Milton taught school in Barlow, Juanita, Grace City and Carrington. He is presently teaching and is the school librarian for Billings County.

John is a territorial manager for the John Deere Company in Green Bay, Wisconsin. He is married to Swanee Tweet. They have two daughters‑ Carmen and Allison.

Susan Brandt died in May 1968 and Milton J. died in November 1970. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 104B
Henry Bruening

Mr. Bruening was born in Germany in 1843; and came to America as a young man settling in Cleveland, Ohio. He married Catherine Buscher, who also was born in Germany in 1850, on July 7, 1874. They lived in Cleveland until they came to North Dakota to homestead in 1882. He proved up on his claim in 1893. He also had a tree claim on the same section. The homestead was on the Northeast 1/4 of Section 8 in Wyard Township. They were the parents of five children: John, Mary Anna, Henry, Katherine and Joseph. The two youngest children were born in North Dakota.

They lived in a sod house and had just moved into a new frame house shortly before Mrs. Bruening died on September 16, 1892. Mr. Bruening died June 6, 1896, leaving the children without parents at an early age. The older ones took care of the younger ones. Old school records show that Henry Junior took the responsibility of guardianship of the younger ones.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 104B
Henry Bruening Jr.

The farm was operated by the son for many years. He married Josephine Minnick in 1915. He retired and moved to Salem, Oregon, where he died February 12, 1957. He is buried at Salem.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 104B
Joseph Bruening

Joe Bruening was a famed bird lover and established a reputation throughout the state with his observations and opinions as to the bird life in the state. He had a large collection of stuffed birds and animals. He also had bird eggs on authentic nests. He was a loner and seldom left the farm. He made his home with his brother Henry. He died February 1, 1928. He is buried at Carrington. 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 104B
George W. and Elizabeth (Wyard) Burton

George Burton, born in Ohio in 1860, lived as a young man in Indiana. He married Alice Smith in Rockford in 1885. The family came to Carrington in 1897 where Mr. Burton worked at the carpenter trade for twenty years.

They had three children: Roy, Bertha (Mrs. EX Shaeffer), and Mrs. Charles Carlson.

Mrs. Burton died in 1901 and is buried at Logansport, Indiana.

A few years later Mr. Burton married Elizabeth Wyard, the daughter of James Wyard. She was born in 1863 in London, England and came to the United States in 1881 with her family. They settled in Philadelphia, later moving to Cincinnati and coming to Carrington in 1883.

Elizabeth Burton was a piano teacher. She served as organist at the Congregational Church for many years. There were no children by his second marriage.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 104B
Earl Butts

Earl Vinton Butts was born July 10, 1908 to Rueben and Nellie Pebernat Butts at Sykeston. He attended school in Sykeston, graduating from High School in 1927.

In 1935 he purchased land in Wyard Township. He was farming with his brother, Lloyd until 1943. Earn now has five quarters of farmland and raises registered Polled Shorthorn cattle. He continues to farm and also maintains a home in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 104B
Rueben C. and Nellie (Pebernat) Butts

Rueben C. Butts, the son of Daniel and Ellen Butts was born April 7, 1874 at Austin, Minnesota. In 1882 his family settled near Sykeston. While attending school in Minneapolis, he met and married Nellie Eva Pebernat on December 6, 1904. She was born August 14, 1889 in Tulsa, Oklahoma.

The Butts family lived in Sykeston until 1916 when Mr. Butts operated a pool hall and movie theater. In 1916 he purchased a farm southwest of Sykeston. In 1935 the Butts family moved to a farm in Wyard Township where two sons, Earl and Lloyd had purchased land.

The couple were parents of six children: Sylvia, Earl, Lloyd, Mary Ellen, Genevieve and LeRoy. The couple moved to Carrington in 1954.

Mrs. Butts died August 7, 1961. Mr. Butts died May 2, 1968 aged 94. They are buried in the Carrington cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 104B
John H. and Osneath (Packer) Carter

The couple came from Iowa in 1899 and settled on a farm west of Carrington, where they lived until 1927.

They had 8 children: Milton, Harold, Grace, Ruth, Mildred, Joseph, Gordon and Elwood.

Several of the Carter children attended high school in Carrington.

The Garters are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 105B
F.N. Chaffee

Frank Newton Chaffee was born at Troy, Vermont on September 26, 1861. His parents were native farmers.

Frank attended school at Troy and later attended Derby Academy. He married at Mansonville, Quebec, Emogene Perkins who was a native of Quebec. Emogene was born December 1, 1863.

Frank Chaffee came to Foster County on the first passenger train to come into the county on April 2, 1883. He homesteaded northwest of Carrington on the Southwest 1/4 of Section 10 in Wyard Township. He later acquired more land until he had an 800-acre farm.

He was involved in many enterprises‑ and was active in the organization of both Foster County and Wyard Township.

In 1898 he moved into Carrington to make his home and the next year he built one of the finest homes in town. It was "supplied with modern conveniences and perfect appointments, " at a cost of $4000.

In 1898 Mr. Chaffee established a general merchandise firm under the name of "F.N. Chaffee and Company." He and his brothers later established a business in Barlow, where his sister Mrs. E.A. Albee lived.

Later his general merchandise firm became the "Carrington Mercantile Company" and "Chaffee Bros. Company"‑ an implement business.

He was president and principal stockholder in the Foster County State Bank for several years. He owned much land around Carrington and Barlow and was also involved in business in Duluth and Minneapolis.

Mr. Chaffee served in the North Dakota Legislature for two terms‑ 1900 ‑ 1904. He was mayor of Carrington 1911 ‑1913.

The Chaffees were parents of four children, one died in infancy: Mollie, born July 14, 1888; Clemma, born December 14, 1889; Harry Perkins, born December 4, 18‑.

Mr. Chaffee died July 27, 1914 and Mrs. Chaffee died September 25, 1956. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Mollie Chaffee married Raymond Hewitt December 25, 1909. They were parents of three children‑ one died in infancy.

Alice‑ born October 28, 1911 at Bowdon, married Gerald Tollefson June 20, 1936 at Carrington and resides in California.

Frank‑ born April 12, 1914 married Eleanor Smith on February 15, 1936. Four children: Dennis, Frank Jr., Gerald and Kathleen.

Clemma Chaffee married Arthur E. Morton who was born February 26, 1884. He was associated with Chaffee Bros. Company while living in Carrington. They had four children‑ Gertrude, Marjorie, Arthur Jr. and John.

Gertrude married Kenneth Wheeler, who was a Standard Oil dealer in Carrington for many years. Kenneth was the son of Willis and Mary Wheeler.

Harry Perkins Chaffee married Eva M. Malin. Harry managed Chaffee Bros. Company after his father's death. He was a graduate of the University of Minnesota. Eva Malin, a former teacher in Carrington schools, was born October 27, 1890 at Milwaukee, Wisconsin. They have two sons‑ Frank N. Chaffee, born January 10, 1921 and William K. born April 9, 1930. Another son died at birth.

William is married and has five children.

The children of Frank and Emogene Chaffee are all deceased and buried in Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 105B
Ted and Jeanette (Laughlin) Clark, Sr.

Ted Clark Sr. was born September 5, 1891 at Kingman, Kansas, the son of George and Edna Hersey Clark. He farmed in Kansas and South Dakota before coming to North Dakota and farmed in Wyard Township for several years before moving into Carrington, where he raised potatoes for a number of years. On Jane 23, 1926 he married Jeanette Laughlin, the daughter of Henry and Jennie Laughlin who was born in Wyard Township on December 5, 1900. She taught school for a number of years before her marriage. She was active in the Eastern Star, the American Legion, and the Federated church. She was a member of the church choir for a number of years. She was a Gold Star Mother.

The Clarks were parents of three children: Ted, Jr., Joanne, and James. James lost his life while serving during World War II.

Mrs. Clark died in January 1972. Mr. Clark died July 17, 1979. They are buried in the Carrington cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 105B
Clifford W. and Ovedia (Lane) Conklin

Clifford Conklin was born in Holt County, Nebraska on January 19, 1885. He came to North Dakota with his parents in 1903. The family lived in Wyard Township. Clifford went to Minneapolis in 1918, where he was a streetcar motor man for five years. He married Ovedia Lene in 1919. The couple returned to Carrington in 1924 and lived on a farm in Wyard Township anti! Mr. Conklin's death. Clifford Conklin died February 27, 1961 and is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Mrs. Conklin lives in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 105B
George and Addie (Bissell) Hall

George Hall was born at Troy Corners, Michigan, on February 5, 1854 to William and Jane Robinson Hall.

He was married to Addie Bissell on March 10, 1875, at Pontiac, Michigan. Addie was born in Pontiac, Michigan, on September 4, 1854.

In 1881 George Hall came with his brother Ralph and the Walton brothers, to Sanborn, which was then the end of the railroad. After the crop was in, the men came further into the state seeking homesteads. Mr. Hall preempted Section 24 and took a tree claim on Section 22, both in Wyard Township. The Halls lived on the farm for many years before he retired to Carrington.

The Halls had eleven children: Frank, LeRoy, Clarence, Charles, Herbert, Gertrude, Allen and Alfred (twins), Hozel, Porter and Rowland.

Mrs. Hall died June 17, 1912 and Mr. Hall died July 11, 1932. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 105B
Ralph and Mary (McConnahay) Hall

Ralph Hall was affectionately called "Major Hall" around Foster County. He was born at North Farmington, Michigan on December 17, 1848. He came to this area with his brothers George and the Walton brothers, Luther, Edward and Charles. They came in 1880 with a surveying party that laid out the township lines in an area that later became Foster County.

On June 29, 1886, he married Mary McConnahay at Jamestown. They had one daughter, Marie.

Mrs. Hall was active in the church and civic affairs. She was a charter member of the D.A.R. in Carrington.

Mr. Hall was appointed the first sheriff of this territory which covered what is now Foster, Eddy, and parts of Wells and Benson Counties. He was appointed in 1883, and most of his travel was on horseback, even in winter. Later he was elected sheriff and served until 1890. In 1890 he was elected to the State Legislature.

In 1893 president Cleveland appointed him Indian Agent at Fort Totten. He held this position until 1898. He endeared himself to the natives living on the reservation. They often stopped to visit him later, when traveling through.

Though Mr. Hall was in the area early, he never filed a claim or homestead. He purchased all his land; more than 2,000 acres.

His home, north of Carrington, still stands. The farm is operated by his grandson, Ralph Harmon, and a great‑grandson.

Mr. Hall died in 1937. Mrs. Hall died in 1942. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 105B
Leo M. and Marie (Hall) Harmon

Leo Harmon was born August 29, 1889 at Franklin, Illinois. He was educated at Franklin and in Chicago. He came to Carrington in January 1913 to be associated with Beck Clothing Company. He served in the U.S. Army in France during World War I. On June 24, 1919 he married Marie Kirkwood Hall, the daughter of Ralph and Mary Kirkwood Hall who was born July 15, 1893. She attended the University of North Dakota where she was a member of Alpha Phi sorority.

The Harmons were very active in community affairs and organizations. Both served on the county welfare board and in other organizations. Mrs. Harmon was a 50‑year member of the American Legion Auxiliary and had served as the district president and state Americanism chairman. She‑was a member of the Carrington Chapter of the D.A.R.

The Harmons spent most of their married life on their farm.

They had two children: Ralph and Mary (Mrs. Frank Johnson).

Mr. Harmon died October 15, 1952. Mrs. Harmon died October 1974. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 105B
Ralph and Arlys (Skadberg) Harmon

Ralph Harmon, son of Leo M. and Marie Hall Harmon, was born at Carrington on December 19, 1921. He married Arlys Skadberg at Carrington on December 27, 1946. Arlys was born at Carrington on March 21, 1926, the daughter of John and Mamie Stokes Skadberg. They are of the third and fourth generation on the farm. Both Mr. and Mrs. Harmon are graduates of Carrington High School. Mr. Harmon also graduated from NDSU in 1948. They live on section one in Wyard Township. The land was bought by Mr. Harmon's grandfather, Ralph Hall, from the Northern Pacific Railroad.

The Harmons have seven children: Michael, Jane, Mary, Joan, James, Thomas and Anne.

James Harmon farms with his father.

He was a pilot in the China, Burma and India theaters during World War II. He has served on various community committees, including the Garrison Conservancy District.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 106B
Andrew and Sophia (Wagner) Klein

Andrew Klein, born January 20, 1900 in New Danzig, Russia, came to America with his parents in 1907 who settled in the Cathay area. He farmed in that area for several years and moved to a farm on Section 3, Wyard Township. Andrew married Sophie Wagner on November 28, 1924 at Lincoln Valley, North Dakota. She was born at Lincoln Valley on July 21, 1899. Mr. and Mrs. Klein retired and moved into Carrington in 1948, when their son took over the farm.

Two children were born to the couple: Kenneth and Gladys. They also had a foster daughter, Donna (Mrs. Duwayne Weber).

Mrs. Klein died August 2, 1977. She is buried in the Carrington cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 106B
Kenneth and Ruth (lesser) Klein

Kenneth Klein, son of Andrew and Sophia Wagner Klein was born at Carrington September 16, 1927. He owns the farm on Section 23, Wyard Township, previously occupied by his parents in 1936.

He married Ruth Jesser of Washburn. They have three sons: Kevin, Robert and Douglas.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 106B
William and Sophia (Vollmers) Kuehn

William Kuehn, born in Romania on August 30, 1886, came to the United States with his parents, living first in South Dakota. He married at Claire City, SD on November 28, 1918 Sophia Vollmers, born March 29, 1895 at Stephens, Minnesota. She was the daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Richard Vollmers. In 1918 they settled on a farm in Wyard Township. They lived on the farm until 1965.

Their seven children were: Leonard, Luverne, 

Elaine, Donald, Janice, Lois and Mary Ann.

Mr. Kuehn died in 1961, Mrs. Kuehn in

January 1965. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 106B
Reinhart and Evanda (Stuckle) Lange

Reinhart Lange, son of Reinhold and Martha Hoffman Lange was born May 31, 1921 in the Hawksnest area. He married Evanda Stuckle at Jamestown on July 3, 1948 who was born at Streeter on November 17, 1927 to John and Elizabeth Donat Stuckle.

The Langes moved to their present home on section 24 of Bilodeau Township in 1949. They bought the farm in 1957.

The couple are the parents of four children: Carol, Kathryn, Sandra, and Alan.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 106B
Reinhold Lange

Reinhold Lange was born in Volynia, Russia on March 24, 1892. He came to America in 1913 first settling at Leona, Wisconsin. He came to Carrington to farm in 1915, settling first in the Hawksnest area. Later he bought a farm in Wyard Township on Section 20 where he spent the remainder of his life.

On November 11, 1917 he married Tillie Hoffman at Carrington, she died in 1922. On September 10, 1923 he married Martha Hoffman of Jamestown.

Mr. Lange was a charter member of Trinity Lutheran Church. He served on the school board for a number of years.

The Lange's had eight children: Herbert, Hugh, Reinhart, Gustav, Luella, Eunice, Margaret and Louise. Mr. Lange died May 18, 1981 ‑ and is  buried. in the Carrington Cemetery.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 106B
Henry Laughlin

Henry Laughlin was born February 24, 1858 at Warsaw, Indiana. Mrs. Laughlin, the former Jane (Jennie) Doman Currough, was born in Saintfield, Ireland on November 7, 1861. They were married at Bondurant, Iowa in 1881 and came to Foster county in 1884 to homestead on the Northeast 1/4 of Section four in Longview Township (then known as Pleasant Valley). Mr. Laughlin proved up on his land in 1898. He had been farming with oxen. Later the family moved to the Southeast 1/4 of Section 33 in Wyard Township where they lived for many years. After the death of Mr. Laughlin, the sons took over the farming. The Laughlins were the parents of fourteen children. Vesper and Hugh died while very young. Those living: Francis, John, Rose, Elizabeth, Glenn, Ruth, Grace, Thomas, Jeanette, Eldon, Arvilla and Raymond. Several of the family lived in or near Carrington for years. Eldon and Arvilla (Mrs. Harry Tenborg) still live here.

Mr. Laughlin died August 1, 1905 and is buried in the Pleasant Valley Cemetery. Mrs. Laughlin died July 15, 1945 and is buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

Francis Laughlin was a mechanic and operated steam engines.

Elizabeth was a seamstress and did sewing for many neighbors.

Jeanette taught school in the area, married Ted Clark and lived in Wyard Township before moving to Carrington.

John married Alice McKee. They lived in the township for many years.

Eldon farmed in the area, also was employed at the Dover Elevator. He married Janice Harrington who died October 18, 1962. In 1966 he married Esther McAfee, 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 106B
Albert and Emma (Rosenau)Leppke

Albert Taylor Leppke was born January 8, 1904 at Hillsboro, Kansas. He came to the Carrington community in 1925 with his parents, Jacob and Justina Leppke. On October 11, 1931 he married Emma Rosenau at McClusky. The couple farmed in Longview township where Mr. Leppke served on the school and township boards. He was a 4‑H leader for 25 years.

They had two sons, Dewayne and Robert.

Mr. Leppke died February 19, 1979. He is buried in the Carrington cemetery.

Mrs. Leppke resides in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 106B
Arnold and Mary (Ediger) Leppke

Arnold Leppke came to North Dakota in 1925 from Hillsboro, Kansas. His parents and their family also came. They settled in Wyard township.

Arnold married Mary Ediger at Hillsboro, Kansas on June 1, 1927.

The couple had three children: Lowell, Elton, and Patricia.

The Leppkes bought land and built a farmstead which Mr. Leppke planned.

Their son Elton served in the Air Force with the U.S. Occupation Force, mostly in Japan. He now lives in Milwaukee.

Lowell lost his life in an accident in 1972.

The Leppkes are active in the Baptist church in Carrington.

They are now retired.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 106B
Lowell and Eleanor (Dutt) Leppke

Lowell Leppke, son of Mr. and Mrs. Arnold Leppke was born at Carrington, September 15, 1929. He grew up in the area, and graduated from Carrington High School. He farmed with his father. They had a large cattle feeding operation. Lowell married Eleanor Dutt of Grand Forks on October 1, 1950. They had one daughter, Cyndee.

Lowell lost his life in a farm accident on January 18, 1972. He is buried in the Carrington Cemetery. After his death his widow and daughter left Carrington to make their home in Grand Forks, 

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 106B
Elmer and Anna (Jorgenson) Lofstedt

Elmer Lofstedt, born at Copenhagen, Denmark on November 13, 1889, came to the United States in 1910. He farmed in Wyard township for a number of years.

He married Anna Jorgenson in September 1926. They were the parents of three children: John, William and Anna.

They were members of Trinity Lutheran church and the Odd Fellows and Rebekah Lodges. '
Both Mr. and Mrs. Lofstedt are deceased and are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 107B
David B. and Ardell (Rindy) Montgomery

David Montgomery was born January 8, 1894 at Glasgow, Scotland. He was the son of William and Jessie Buchanan Montgomery. He came to the United States with his parents in 1894. They settled in Wyard township.

David served in the U.S. Army in France during World War I. He was a member of the American Legion and was active in the Farmers Union.

On December 13, 1922 he married Ardell Rindy who was born December 1, 1903 at Battle Lake, Minnesota. She came to Foster county with her parents in 1917. Her parents were the H.A. Rindys.

The couple had two sons, David and Robert.

Mr. Montgomery died October 26, 1957. He is buried in the Carrington Cemetery. His widow resides in Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 107B
Keith and Merrianne (McCaffree) Montgomery

Keith, son of Thomas and Virginia Montgomery, married Merrianne McCaffree. They own and operate an appliance business in Carrington.

They have three daughters‑ Jadonne, Jeanette, and Jaci.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 107B
Kenneth and Dora (McCleary) Montgomery

Kenneth, son of Thomas and Virginia Montgomery, lives in the Carrington area where he farms. He is active in church and community affairs. He has served on County boards of the Farmers Union for a number of years.

Kenneth married Dora McCleary of Edmunds. They have three children‑ Debra, Dennis, and Dwight. Dennis and Dwight farm in the Longview area. Dennis married Betty Schroeder of Bordulac. They have one child, a girl.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 107B
Robert and Carol (Mills) Montgomery

Robert Montgomery, son of David and Ardell Rindy Montgomery, was born August 25, 1925 at Carrington. Carol Mills was born January 24, 1926 at Valley City. Her parents were Lewis and Garda Watne Mills.

Robert and Carol were married January 6, 1945 at Carrington. They made their home in Wyard township until they moved to Carrington. They have seven children: James, Ann, Scott, Mary Sue, Lee, Jennifer and Ron, Two of their children, Richard and Kay, are deceased. During World War II, Robert served in the 13th Airborne Division.

Robert followed in his father's and grandfather's footsteps as he raised pure bred Aberdeen Angus cattle for many years. He also raised registered quarter horses for a time.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 107B

Sherman and Merl Jean (Miller) Montgomery

Sherman, son of William Jr. and Grace Montgomery, was born November 20, 1916. He is engaged in farming.

He married Merl Jean Miller of Melville on September 12, 1942.

They are the parents of six children:  Gerald, LaDonna, Vicki, Janell, Mitchell and Kelly.

Merl Jean is active in the Rebekah Lodge, serving as the State Assembly president in 1977‑1979.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 107B
Thomas and Virginia (Grover) Montgomery

Thomas, son of William Jr. and Grace Montgomery was born March 15, 1910.

He married Virginia Grover, daughter of Wilbur and Irene Grover, at Carrington January 21, 1932. Virginia was born July 15, 1913.

The couple farmed in Foster County in the Carrington area until 1975 when they retired and moved into Carrington.

Thomas was active in church and community affairs. They were the parents of five children‑ Kenneth, Stanley, Hugh, Marilyn and Keith.

Thomas died February 10, 1979 and is buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 107B
William, and Jessie (Buchanan) Montgomery

William Montgomery was born at Helens. burgh, Scotland on September 10, 1850. He married Jessie, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. John Buchanan, in Scotland on October 29, 1879. Mrs. Montgomery was born in 1863. The first fifteen years of their married life were spent on a rented farm in Scotland. They came to Carrington in 1894 with the six oldest children to join Mrs. Montgomery's parents and other relatives.

They acquired a farm in Wyard Township on Section 32. They had soon become owners of 1700 acres. The farm was known as Rossdhu, as the home in Scotland was.

Mr. Montgomery took great pride in his fine horses. In 1909 he made a trip back to Scotland and purchased a carload of Clydesdales to bring back to North Dakota.

Mrs. Montgomery was a faithful war worker during the World War I and spent many hours knitting, often until late at night. She knit 150 sweaters, many pairs of socks and other small articles. They had three sons serving in France: James, David and Hugh.

The Montgomerys had 14 children. Three infants died in Scotland and one in Carrington. The other children were William, Thomas, Jessie, David, Helen, Margaret, Isabelle, James, Jemima, and Hugh.

Mr. Montgomery died October 5, 1934 and Mrs. Montgomery died in 1940. They are buried in the Carrington cemetery.

Mrs. Montgomery was a sister of Thomas, Jack and David Buchanan, Mrs. Chilo Burnham Sr., Mrs. James Wyard and Mrs. David Wyard and Mrs. Mark Holcomb.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 107B
William and Grace (Farquer) Montgomery, Jr.

William was born to William and Jessie Buchanan Montgomery on May 8, 1880 in Scotland and came to the United States with his parents in 1894. He married Grace Farquer on June 7, 1903. Grace, the daughter of Elmer and Emma Wiley Farquer was born on May 6, 1885.

In 1909 they purchased a farm on the North 1/2 of Section 10 in Wyard Township where they lived until 1945 when they retired and moved to California. Mr. Montgomery served on the school board and township boards for many years.

Eight children were born to the couple: William, Thelma, Thomas, Elmer, Jessie, Sherman, Mary and Irene.

William died January 23, 1953 and Grace died on March 9, 1972. They are buried in California.

Their son Elmer died in 1943.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 107B
Harry and Juliette (Rogers) Page

Harry Page was born at Bunker Hill, Illinois on December 18, 1956. He came to Foster County to work in the harvest for several years before making it his home in 1885.

In 1890 he married Juliette Rogers and the couple homesteaded in Wyard township.

Mrs. Page was born in Kentucky in 1859. She taught school in the rural area and later in Carrington. She was a charter member of the Carrington Chapter of the Daughters of the American Revolution. She was very active in the community.

The couple later moved into Carrington. They had no children.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 107B
John Prentice

John Prentice, born in January 1844 at Saintfield, Ireland, came to America for the opportunity it offered. He first settled in California and later moved to Washington where he worked on the railroad. He came to North Dakota in 1884 and acquired land by the Homestead Act, he also had a tree claim. He settled in Wyard Township on Section 30. He first farmed with oxen. He spent the rest of his life on this farm. John married Anna Bella Hewitt on April 5, 1894 who was born in Ottawa, Canada, May 12, 1874.

Eight children were born to the couple, Annabelle, James, Eliza Jane, Henrietta, Margaret, Marian, John and Samuel.

Mr. Prentice died in December 1932 and Mrs. Prentice died in April 1962. They are buried in the Carrington Cemetery.

John Prentice Junior was born in October 1904. He married Ella Peterson. "Jack" farmed with his father, later taking over the farm. He farmed far many years even after moving into Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 107B

Ross and Grace (Carter) Reichert

Ross Reichert was born in 1892 in Illinois, the son of Charles and Effie Leonard Reichert. He came to North Dakota with his father in 1897 after his mother's death. He married in 1918, Grace Carter who was born July 19, 1895 at Albion, Iowa to the John Carters. They came to North Dakota in the early 1900s. The Reicherts farmed in the Carrington area for a number of years, before moving to eastern North Dakota and later to Minnesota.

They had three children, Florence, Doras and Robert.

Doras, now Mrs. Elmer Silkey resides in Carrington. Florence married Elmer Mickelson and lives in Minnesota. Robert was a Marine pilot during World War II and was reported missing in action in 1944. Grace died in 1976. Ross lives in Wadena, Minnesota.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 108B

Halvor A. and Martha M. (Frye) Rindy

Halvor A. Rindy was born at Mt. Horeb, Wisconsin on January 9, 1869. He married at Emmetsburg, Iowa on July 9, 1896. Martha Frye was born in Wisconsin on February 15, 1877. The family lived in Minnesota until 1917 when they moved to Foster County pur​chasing a farm on section 5 in Wyard town​ship. Mr. Rindy served in the state legislature in 1934. He also served on the township board. They retired in 1944.

The couple had six children: Morris, Robert, Agnes, Gladys, Grace and Ardell.

Mr. Rindy died on April 20, 1944. Mrs. Rindy died on April 27, 1957. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 108B
William and Anna (Krause) Silkey

William Silkey was born in Minnesota in 1884. Anna was born in 1889. They came to Carrington in 1916 and bought a farm in Wyard township, where they spent the remainder of their days.

The Silkeys had two sons, Walter and Elmer. Mrs. Silkey died in 1935 and Mr. Silkey died in 1948. They are buried at Carrington.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 108B
James A. and Anna (Kringstad) Wenstrom

James Wenstrom was born at Fergus Falls, Minnesota on October 10, 1874.

He came to Wells County in 1897, settling near Dover in Bilodeau Township on a farm, He served in several township and school of​fices.

He was elected to the state senate from the 33rd district in 1918, and served several sessions.

On June 16, 1900, he married Anna Kringstad at Carrington. She had been born in Norway on February 22, 1874. She had come to Fergus Falls in 1893.

The Wenstroms had four children: Frances, Franklin, Richard A., and Merle.

The Wenstroms spent their last few years in Carrington.

Mrs. Wenstrom died in 1963. Mr. Wenstrom died in 1967.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 108B
J. Morley Wyard

J. Morley Wyard came to Carrington in the early 1880s and homesteaded on the NE'A of section twenty-four in Wyard township, He proved up his land in 1884. Mr. Wyard took a prominent part in organizing Wyard Township and the school district. He was requested by the County commissioners to set up an organizational meeting which was later held in his home.

Mr. Wyard was one of the leading spirits in organizing the first Congregational Church in Carrington in 1883. He served on the first board of deacons and as the Sunday school superintendent. This church was the first church society in Foster County. J. Morley Wyard was a newspaper man, beginning as a reporter for a Montreal paper. He was the editor of the first newspaper in Carrington, the Carrington News. In 1889 the family moved to Park River where he published a paper for many years until moving to Minneapolis to retire in 1906. Mr. Wyard was prominent in the Republican party and was influential in shaping the policy of that party in Walsh County.

He died in Minneapolis in April 1914, sur​vived by his wife and a daughter.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 108B
Walter P. Wyard

A, general merchant of Cathay, Walter P. Wyard was born in England of Scotch descent. His father was James Wyard, a manufacturer of picture frames and ornamen​tal moldings in the old country. Walter was the third son in a family of seven children. He came to America in 1881 and was employed in a wholesale and retail grocery store in Philadelphia. He left that city in 1882 with his brother J.G. Wyard, and went to Chicago where he worked for a short time and then came west arriving in Fargo May 1882. He and his brother J.G. walked the 100 miles to Jamestown where they were engaged by the large English Sykes-Hughes syndicate which was opening up an extensive farming area in what is now Wells County. The city of Sykeston was named after the senior partner. The boys were employed driving oxen and breaking the prairie sod for the farmers the corning year. They returned east for the win​ter but decided to return the following spring with their families. They filed on government land near Carrington on the SWI/s of Section 18 in Wyard Township. They lived in a shanty 8' x 14' and farmed with one yoke of oxen. Walter proved up on his claim in 1890 and then went into the mercantile business in Carrington with Farnham, Tenborg and Mar​tin.

In 1893 he and G.L. Farnham operated a store in Cathay for many years.

In 1887 he married Barbara Quarton, who was born in Scotland. They had two children, Barbara born in 1892, died in 1918 and Noel Osborne Wyard born in 1894.

Source: A History of Foster County 1983 Page 108B
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